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ORDERS OF REFERENCE

House of Commons,
Thursday, 13th February, 1947.

Resolved,—That the following Members do compose the Standing Com­
mittee on Public Accounts:

Messrs.
Arsenault, Fournier (Hull), Kirk,
Beaudry, Fournier (Maisonneuve- McCubbin,
Black (Yukon), Rosemont), Marshall,
Boucher, Fraser, Maybank,
Bradette, Gibson (Comox-Alberni), Picard,
Burton, Gladstone, Pinard,
Case, Golding, Raymond (Wright),
Cleaver, Grant, Probe,
Cockeram, Green, Richard (Gloucester),
Cote (Verdun), Hamel, Rinfret,
Cloutier, Harris (Danforth), Rowe,

Smith (Calgary West),Cruickshank, Homuth,
Dechene, Howe,

Isnor,
Stewart (Winnipeg North),

Denis, Stuart (Charlotte),
Diefenbaker, Jackman, Thatcher,
Dionne (Beauce), Jaenicke, Warren,
Ferguson, Johnston,

(Quorum 15)
Winkler—50.

Ordered,—That the Standing Committee on Public Accounts be empowered 
to examine and inquire into all such matters and things as may be referred to 
them by the House ; and to report from time to time their observations and 
opinions thereon, with power to send for persons, papers and records.

Tuesday, February 25, 1947.
Ordered,—That the Public Accounts and the Report of the Auditor General 

for the fiscal year ended March 31, 1946, be referred to the said Committee.

Wednesday, 26th March, 1947.
Ordered,—That the name of Mr. Fleming be substituted for that of Mr. 

Rowe on the said Committee.

Monday, 14th April, 1947.
Ordered,—That Bill No. 22, an Act to continue the Revised Regulations 

respecting Trading with the Enemy (1943), be referred to the said Committee.

Monday, 28th April, 1947.
Ordered,—That the said Committee be empowered to print, from day to 

day, 500 copies in English and 200 copies in French of its minutes of proceed­
ings and evidence, and that Standing Order 64 be suspended in relation thereto.

88256—1J
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4 STANDING COMMITTEE

Ordered,—That the quorum of the said Committee be reduced from 15 to 10 
members, and that Section 1(e) of Standing Order 63 be suspended in relation 
thereto.

Ordered,—That the said Committee be granted leave to sit while the House 
is sitting.

Attest.

ARTHUR BEAUCHESNE.
Clerk of the House.



REPORTS TO THE HOUSE

Monday, April 28, 1947.

The Standing Committee on Public Accounts begs leave to present the 
following as a

First Report

Your Committee recommends:
1. That it be empowered to print, from day to day 500 copies in English 

and 200 copies in French of its minutes of proceedings and evidence, and that 
Standing Order 64 be suspended in relation thereto.

2. That its quorum be reduced from 15 to 10 members, and that Section 
1 (e) of Standing Order 63 be suspended in relation thereto.

3. That it be granted leave to sit while the House is sitting.
All of which is respectfully submitted.

GORDON B. ISNOR,
Chairman.

Monday, April 28, 1947.
The Standing Committee on Public Accounts begs leave, to present the 

following as a

Second Report
Your Committee recommends that it be empowered to inquire into, and 

report upon, the administration of all regulations respecting Trading with the 
Enemy made since the tenth day of September, 1939.

All of which is respectfully submitted.

GORDON B. ISNOR,
Chairman.





MINUTES OF PROCEEDINGS
Monday, April 28, 1947.

The Standing Committee on Public Accounts met at 11.30 o’clock a.m.
Members present: Messrs. Boucher, Burton, Case, Cleaver, Dechene, 

Diefenbaker, Fleming, Gibson (Comox-Alberni), Gladstone, Golding, Isnor, 
Jackman, Johnston, Marshall, Probe, Rinfret, Smith (Calgary-West), Warren, 
Winkler.

In attendance: Hon. C. W. G. Gibson, Secretary of State.

On motion of Mr. Golding:—
Resolved,—That Mr. Gordon B. Isnor be Vice-Chairman.

Mr. Isnor took the Chair.

The Clerk read the Orders of Reference.

On motion of Mr. Dechene:—
Resolved,—That the Committee recommend that it be empowered to print, 

from day to day, 500 copies in English and 200 copies in French of its minutes 
of proceedings and evidence.

On motion of Mr. Gibson :—
Resolved,—That the Committee ask leave to sit while the House is sitting.

On motion of Mr. Burton:—
Resolved,—That the Committee recommend that its quorum be reduced 

from fifteen to ten members.

On motion of Mr. Golding:—
Resolved,—That a steering committee be appointed to consist of the fol­

lowing members, viz.: the Chairman, the Vice-Chairman and Messrs. Burton, 
Fleming, Gibson (Comox-Alberni,), Marshall and Stuart (Charlotte).

Mr. Gladstone suggested that economies might be effected if fewer copies 
of committee proceedings and evidence were printed. The Vice-Chairman 
promised that he would make inquiries and report his findings to the Committee.

The Hon. Mr. Gibson addressed the Committee regarding Bill 22, An Act 
to continue the Revised Regulations respecting Trading with the Enemy (1943).

On motion of Mr. Smith:—
Resolved,—That the Committee recommend that its Order of Reference 

be extended to include inquiry into the administration of the Regulations 
respecting Trading with the Enemy ; and that the drafting of the recommendation 
to the House and the question of procedure be referred to the Steering Committee.

At 12 o’clock noon the Committee adjourned to the call of the Chair.
7



8 STANDING COMMITTEE

Tuesday, April 29, 1947.

The Standing Committee on Public Accounts met at 11.30 o’clock a.m., the 
Vice-Chairman, Mr. Gordon B. Isnor, presiding.

Members present: Messrs. Boucher, Burton, Case, Cleaver, Cookeram, 
Cote (Verdun), Fleming, Gibson (Comox-Alberni), Gladstone, Golding, Hamel, 
Isnor, Marshall. Probe, Raymond (Wright), Smith (Calgary-West), Stewart 
(Winnipeg-North), Stuart (Charlotte), Thatcher, Winkler.

In attendance: Dr. E. H. Coleman, C.M.G., K.C., Deputy Custodian of 
Enemy Property.

The X ice-Chairman presented the First Report of the Steering Committee, 
which is as follows:—

Your Steering Committee met on Monday, April 27, and begs to 
submit the following as a First Report:—

In accordance with a resolution of the Committee passed on April 
27, your Steering Committee has instructed the Chairman to present the 
following report to the House: —

Your Committee recommends that it be empowered to inquire 
into, and report upon, the administration of all regulations respecting 
Trading with the Enemy made since the tenth day of September,

It. is recommended that the Committee proceed immediately to con­
sideration of Bill 22, An Act to continue the Revised Regulations 
respecting Trading with the Enemy (1943) ; that the schedule to the 
Bill be first taken up and then the clauses, and that the Deputy Custodian, 
Dr. E. H. Coleman, C.M.G., be heard today.

On motion of Mr. Cockeram:—
Resolved,—That the First Report of the Steering Committee be concurred in.
1 he Committee proceeded, accordingly, to consider the Schedule of Bill

No. 22, An Act to continue the Revised Regulations respecting Trading with 
the Enemy.

Dr. Coleman was called, heard and questioned.
Paragraph 1. Adopted with the exception of subparagraph (k), which stood 

over.
Paragraph 2. Adopted.
Paragraph 3. On motion of Mr. Fleming, subparagraphs (c) and (/) were 

deleted, and the paragraph was adopted as so amended.
Paragraphs 4 and 5. Adopted.

The Committee adjourned until Thursday, May 1, at 11.30 o’clock a.m.

A. L. BURGESS.
Clerk of the Committee.



MINUTES OF EVIDENCE
House of Commons

April 28, 1947.
The Standing Committee on Public Accounts met this day at 11.30 a.m. 

The Vice-Chairman, Mr. Gordon B. Isnor, presided.
The Vice-Chairman : Gentlemen, we have here this morning, the Honourable 

Mr. Gibson, who has some remarks to make to you with respect to bill 22. 
If it is your pleasure we will now hear Colonel Gibson.

Mr. Fleming: Mr. Chairman, in your remarks you have mentioned only 
bill 22. Colonel Gibson can correct me if I am wrong, but my understanding 
is that along with the bill there was the auditor’s report, and the report of 
Mr. Mathieu, the assistant, or deputy custodian.

The Vice-Chairman: I think I have a copy of the order of reference in 
connection with that and it refers to the bill only.

Monday, 14th April, 1947.
Ordered—That Bill No. 22, an Act to continue the Revised Regula­

tions respecting Trading with the Enemy (1943), be referred to the said 
Committee.

ATTEST.
ARTHUR BEAUCHESNE, 

Clerk of the House.

I will check on that but perhaps the minister could clear it up.
Hon. Mr. Gibson : Mr. Fleming is quite right, and I think we would be 

glad to have the whole matter considered. I would like to say a few words here 
with regard to this bill. As you know, the powers under which the custodian 
deals with enemy property were passed under the War Measures Act which' 
expires on the 15th of May. Now I would like the committee to consider the 
matter as rapidly as possible so that we can get the bill reported or get it passed 
before that date. Otherwise Mr. Ilsley will have to ask for an extension of the 
transitional powers that will enable the custodian to control enemy property 
until such time as permanent legislation is provided. I do not know whether 
it ran be done but I suggest that you examine the regulations at an early date 
and go into the setup of the custodian’s office to whatever extent you feel 
desirable, and, if necessary, have the reference of this committee extended 
so that the whole setup of the custodian’s office can be thoroughly examined. 
As you know there has been very little publicity given that office during wartime 
for obvious reasons but I now have the officials here. I have brought Mr. Shears 
down from Vancouver. He is in charge of the Vancouver office and I hope it 
will be po-sible to examine him at an early date. He has been here about a week 
now and is an extremely busy man in Vancouver. He is in charge of all the 
Japanese business out there. I hope therefore, that he can be heard early in 
your sessions in order that he may go back to Vancouver. Of course, he will 
stay here until he can be heard. Also, Doctor Coleman, the deputy custodian,
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and Mr. Mathieu, the assistant deputy custodian, will be here to deal with things 
since the start of the war, and to answer any questions with respect to their 
operations since the start of the war. They will cover the procedure adopted 
in carrying on the work of the custodian. As you know, there have never been 
any accounts filed in the House. I do not think that it was desirable to do that 
while the war was on but I see no reason why the accounts should not be filed 
annually now. The accounts are audited by private firms and they have been 
audited by private firms since the custodian’s office was first formed in 1920. 
I feel it is a matter that the Auditor General should take over and I have 
arranged with him that he will, for the year 1947, and continuously thereafter, 
do the auditing of the custodian’s office. I do not think there is anything more 
that I want to say except, if possible, we would like to get the bill reported 
as soon as possible even if the entire work of the committee cannot be com­
pleted in the short time that remains until May 15. .

The Vice-Chaibman : Thank you, Colonel Gibson. You have heard the 
statement by the minister, and there are two courses open as I see it, gentlemen. 
One is to proceed with the bill and come back for a thorough overhauling and 
discussion with regard to the custodian’s methods of carrying on; and also we 
could hear witnesses in connection with that overhauling; and the other course 
is to refer the matter to the steering committee for them to decide as to the 
procedure we should follow.

Mr. Smith: I move that be done. I think it is the way it should be handled 
in order that we might get along faster.

The Vice-Chairman: That is you mean we should refer it to the steering 
committee.

Mr. Smith: Yes.
Mr. Fleming: Mr. Chairman, could the steering committee also consider 

asking the House to extend the terms of reference so that in view of the rather 
limited terms that exist now the reference might be enlarged to include questions 
of the accounts and the administration of the office of the custodian.

The Vice-Chairman : I think so, but it is a matter for the committee to 
decide. Would Mr. Smith be good enough to include that in his motion?

Mr. Smith: I was assuming that is the way it would be put forward.
The Vice-Chairman : You have heard the motion by Mr. Smith, seconded 

by Mr. Fleming, that the matter of procedure be referred to the steering 
committee for action.

Carried.
The Vice-Chairman : Those are the items of business for this morning 

gentlemen. Now, instead of immediately referring this matter to the steering 
committee, may I have an expression of opinion as to what days would be 
suitable to the members of the committee for our further sittings. There are a 
'urge number of committee meetings being held.

( Discussion on this point followed.)
The meeting adjourned at 12.00 o’clock to be reconvened at the call of the 

chair.



MINUTES OF EVIDENCE
House of Commons,

April 29, 1947.
The Standing Committee on Public Accounts met this day at 11.30 a.m. The 

Vice-Chairman, Mr. G. B. Isnor, presided.
The Vice-Chairman: Gentlemen, we have our quorum and w-e can proceed.
Immediately following the meeting of the main committee yesterday we 

had a meeting of the steering committee and I shall now ask the clerk to present 
the report of the steering committee.

(See minutes of proceedings)
Dr. E. H. Coleman, K.C., C.M.G. (Under-Secretary of State) : Mr. 

Chairman. I do not like to interrupt, but I should point out that the first regula­
tion was made on the 2nd of September, 1939.

The Vice-Chairman : Subject to amendment in that respect shall the report 
of the steering committee be adopted?

Carried.
And now, gentlemen, we have with us as arranged by the steering committee 

Dr. E. H. Coleman, Under-Secretary of State, who appears before this committee 
in his capacity of Deputy Custodian of Enemy Property. Is it your pleasure that 
we now hear Dr. Coleman?

Agreed.
May I suggest, as was brought out at the steering committee meeting 

yesterday, that Dr. Coleman be allowed to proceed to complete his statement 
before questioning.

Dr. E. H. Coleman, C.M.G., K.C., Under-Secretary of State and Deputy 
Custodian of Enemy Property, called :

The Witness: Mr. Chairman, the short title of this bill is “The Trading 
with the Enemy (Transitional Powers) Act”. Every member of the committee 
is of course familiar with the fact that no definitive treaties of peace have yet 
been agreed upon with respect to the principal enemies, Germany and Japan; and 
that the treaties with the so-called satellites have not yet been ratified. In 1918 
the Armistice which was agreed upon came into force on November 11th and the 
treaty of Versailles was signed on the 28th of June, 1919, a period of less than 
eight months. Had conditions permitted similar expedition regarding the recent 
war I have no doubt the department would not have presented this particular 
piece of legislation but through the ratification of related treaties by parliament 
would have given effect to those treaties and provided for the setting up of 
machinery to take care of any obligations imposed on Canada by such treaties.

When war broke out in 1939 there was in existence a custodian’s office set up 
under the treaty of peace German order of 1920, and similar orders related to 
Austria, Bulgaria and Turkey. It had a very small staff and was engaged in 
an endeavour to clear up the loose ends which remained after the treaty of 
Versailles and the subsequent arrangements relating to reparations with 
Germany. You may think it is somewhat extraordinary that nearly twenty

11
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years after the close of the last war there should be even such a small staff as 
three or four people engaged in that task ; but I have been told by my distin­
guished predecessor, the late Mr. Mulvey, that when he was in England in 1934 
or 1935. he was visiting the Board of Trade Offices and remarked that he was 
rather worried that we had not been able to complete all transactions. An 
official of that department took him into an adjoining room and pointed to two 
or three gentlemen working away at ledgers and said, “You will be interested to 
know that these gentlemen are winding up affairs relating to the Crimean war 
which ended seventy-four years ago”.

I think we have already remarked in our report, Mr. Chairman, that the 
( anadian government did not wait until the outbreak of war to pass under 
the ar Measures Act regulations respecting trading with the enemy. You may 
recall that the li ar Measures Act provided a power in the governor in council 
to take measures in the case of war or apprehension of war, and that a proclama­
tion was issued I think about the last day of August, 1939, declariag that there 
was a period of apprehended war, and various orders in council of great import­
ance touching on the security of the state were passed before the actual declara­
tion of war on September 10.

In 1938 the Hon. Mr. Rinfret, then Secretary of State and Custodian, and I 
happened to be in Europe at the time of the trouble which ended in the short 
settlement of Munich. I think he knew, and I knew, the shape things were 
taking and we were impressed with the possibility of the outbreak of war, 
with the result that we gave some earnest thought to measures which might be 
necessary in connection with property of enemies, the economic phases of war. 
As members of the committee know there were set up various interdepartmental 
committees to advise the government as to measures and steps which it might be 
desirable for them to take in the event of a sudden outbreak. I happened 
to be chairman of the interdepartmental committee on enemy property and 
trading with the enemy. H e discovered in examining the records of the war 
1914-18 that the code, if you might so describe it, which was in force at the 
end of the war had been built up by piece-meal orders as necessity arose, and 
the consequence was that after looking at these carefully, as experts could,— 
and the committee comprised experts from the various branches of the govern­
ment—it was decided that we should endeavour to avoid that policy and to 
recommend that whatever necessary powers should be taken should be taken 
in one order following the outbreak of war.

There were during the war several amendments and consolidations of the 
orders, but the basis of them are the orders in council which were in force in 
1918 in the light of the experience of that war. There were certain features 
however in which the order brought in in December of 1939 differed. One 
feature was the provision for the automatic vesting in the Custodian of Enemy 
Property, there was a provision which still is in, that enemy property is vested 
in the custodian without any necessary procedures or steps being taken. The 
only other country in the war which has this feature is India, which copied 
the Canadian regulations. Now, there is no provision for automatic vesting 
in the legislation of the United Kingdom or in the legislation or regulations of 
the United States, but the difference is more nominal than real because the 
United Kingdom regulations conferred on the President of the Board of Trade, 
who is a minister, the power to make a vesting order ; and the regulations 
respecting trading with the enemy in the United States confer a similar power 
on the custodian of alien property, permitting him to make a similar order, and 
many of these orders have been made; that is, there is no recourse in other 
countries to any outside authority. Our regulations, of course, also provide 
an additional one, that the custodian may, if he desires and there is question, 
apply to the Exchequer Court for a vesting order. There is a great advantage
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in the automatic vesting procedure, and a great protection which we have now 
discovered, to the people of a friendly country which is over-run by the enemy, 
the Germans were quite well aware of that the time they over-ran Belgium, 
Luxemburg and Holland. The business man or banker in those countries who 
happened to have in his portfolio let us say for example 1.000 shares of Inter­
national Nickel, a Canadian corporation, had nothing which would be any use 
to the enemy, and the enemy, Germany, knew that any shares registered in the 
name of a person in such countries were vested in the Canadian custodian and 
that the International picket company were precluded from recognizing any 
assignment which might be presented to them with respect to such shares. In 
other words, there was no use in putting a pistol to the head of a Netherlander, 
a Dutchman, or a Belgian, and compelling him to endorse a certificate and then 
endeavouring to pass it and realize on it through a neutral country.

I would not be candid with the committee if I did not say with all respect 
that in administering the regulations we had this difficulty between the years 
1931 and December 1941. The United States was officially neutral and, as I 
think I will be able to explain in a moment, while we had shall I say suspicions 
of enemy interest in certain companies or firms operating in the United States 
yet at the head office we could not in any way interfere with the property of an 
enemy in a neutral country, unless we had very direct and definite proof which 
would satisfy United States authorities. After the war broke out in September, 
1939. it was discovered that there was not a terrific amount of German enemy 
property in this country.

There is a* point which I think perhaps I should make clear at this stage. 
The mere fact that a man living in Canada was a German national did not make 
him an enemy within the scope of these regulations, did not bring his property 
within the net of the custodian, because one of the orders made under the War 
Measures Act was one assuring enemy aliens who were peaceful and law-abiding 
and guilty of no misconduct while they were in this country of security of their 
person and property subject to regulations necessary under the circumstances. 
There has been not a great deal of German property directly in this country. I 
think there was only one operating plant; a plant which by the way operated 
during the war and supplied certain needed material for the armed services, and 
which it is now alleged at this late date is owned by a neutral, Switzerland; 
something which I fancy the claimants will have to prove very definitely before 
anything will be released to him. There were one or two machinery houses, 
particularly in the large cities of Canada, such as Montreal, Toronto, Winnipeg, 
Vancouver and the like, where they had started small businesses in the supply 
of engines and I think possibly some X-ray equipment, where they had sold 
these goods to purchasers in Canada, in many cases on credit instalments and 
with the undertaking that they would service the equipment for a period of five 
or ten years—that became an anomalous problem as it was quite apparent that 
they could not service the equipment nor collect payments from the purchasers. 
That has brought both the purchaser and the government a great deal of 
trouble.

Then there was another, and I mention it merely because it is a thing which 
is most likely to be mentioned to a number of members of parliament, and I 
quite understand it; the Hamburg-American and the North German Lloyd, 
two of the large German steamship companies had agencies in one or two Cana­
dian cities and any residents of Canada who desired to bring let us say member s 
of their family from the continent had entered into contracts with these large 
German steamship companies for the purchase of prepaid tickets. In some 
cases they had paid very considerable amounts of money for the prepaid tickets 
for relatives in some part of Europe to be brought out by one of the German 
ships. V hen we came in we discovered that these ticket agencies were mere
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shells in that the custom was that the manager of that agency took the day’s 
receipts which were paid to him by the customers, if you like, and immediately 
remitted them to the regional agency of the line in New York, in the United 
States, with the result that all the custodian had was a few sticks of office 
furniture and equipment, but absolutely no money because of their practice of 
remitting direct to the head office in New York instead of depositing with the 
local bank. We made representations through diplomatic channels and otherwise 
to the United States alien property custodian who took over the New York offices, 
suggesting that it would be a very gracious thing on his part if he could see his 
way clear to recognize the Canadian claims, in view of the fact that this Cana­
dian money finally reached him. The alien property custodian, however, found 
hi- hands tied by virtue of the legislation of the United States which prevent him 
recognizing claims from anyone resident outside the borders of the United 
States unless they arc American citizens, something over which we had no 
control.

In April 1940 came the invasion of Denmark and Norway over-night which 
made a considerable expansion of work ; but it was relatively slight compared to 
the situation which arose on May 10, 1940, when members of the committee will 
recall the Netherlands were invaded and the despatches of the first few days 
indicated that the armies of Holland itself were resisting the invaders but there 
was no authentic information as to how much territory had been over-run or 
occupied by the enemy. On the other hand, it was realized, particularly in 
Amsterdam and in Brussels, there were people holding very considerable 
amounts of Canadian securities and it was decided rather than to describe these 
territories as enemy territories or enemy-occupied territories as they are under 
the English regulations to describe them under a new heading of proscribed 
territories. That is defined here as meaning:

(c) “Proscribed territory” means any area in respect of which the 
Governor in Council, by reason of real or apprehended hostilities or 
otherwise, has ordered the protective custody of property of person> 
residing in that area or the regulating of trade with such persons, or both. 

In June of 1940 came the most severe blow in the fall of France, which 
a> you all know had very extensive financial relations with Canadian enterprise; 
and Italy entered the war.

In the summer of 1941, the situation from our point of view was alleviated 
in that the United States made its freezing orders against Germany, and Japan,— 
Italy and Japan. In December of 1941 the attack on Pearl Harbor occurred, 
the United States entered the war and our declaration of war against Japan was 
made. We realized then that any business relations with Japan were very 
largely centered on the Pacific coast and it would be very inconvenient to the 
public and to everyone else, to have this work channelled entirely through the 
Ottawa office and therefore we set up a very small office in Vancouver. This 
office, I think, opened on December 10, 1941, Pearl Harbor having been 
attacked on December 7. An experienced officer was sent by air to open this 
small office. I want to make it clear that this office in Vancouver was not 
dealing entirely with enemy property of the type belonging to Japanese evacuees 
or Japanese who were later evacuated. That was extraneous matter of which 
you will hear more. What I wish to point out here is that the bill presently 
before the committee does not relate in any way to the property of those 
evacuated Japanese. The situation with respect to them is covered by legislation, 
by the order in bill 104 presently before the House of Commons.

In concluding these rather rambling and probably tedious remarks. Mr. 
Chairman, I think it is onlv right that I should tell the committee that the 
work of the custodian’s office has been greatly facilitated by the cooperation 
which the officers had from banks, trust companies, business men, and 
individuals of all kinds throughout Canada.



PUBLIC ACCOUNTS 15

In 1939 an advertisement was issued giving the substance of the regulations 
requiring people who had dealings with the enemy involving money to report, 
and there seemed to be almost 100 per cent degree of cooperation. I think in 
all that time, although there have been rather wide powers in the regulations, 
we have only had two or three prosecutions and I am inclined to think in at 
least one of those cases the individual erred through ignorance rather than 
design and the court must have had the same impression for it imposed a 
nominal fine. We have had great cooperation from the departments and 
agencies of the government, the Department of External Affairs, the Department 
of Trade and Commerce, the present Department of Reconstruction and Supply, 
the Department of Justice and the Royal Canadian Mounted Police. I should 
also mention the Department of Finance, the Foreign Exchange Control Board, 
the Bank of Canada, Department of Insurance, the army, and the Royal Cana­
dian Navy. Finally I have to pay a tribute, a very well deserved tribute, to 
the men and women employed in the staff who were taken and thrust into 
situations they had never contemplated. They had to deal in emergencies 
with questions which were complex and which contained many ramifications. 
On their behalf I would like to say, as deputy custodian throughout the entire 
period, that, while I am quite conscious of the fact there have been errors in 
judgment and that hindsight is a great deal better than foresight in many of 
these matters, I feel quite confident that on the part of no member of the staff 
has there been any serious dereliction of duty and that they have assiduously 
and conscientiously devoted themselves to their duty. During the period I have 
been connected with the office there have been seven custodians. The first was 
the late Mr. P. H. Cahan, who devoted a good deal of work to the expediting 
of winding up certain affairs. He had something to do with the negotiations 
with respect to the scaling down of reparations as provided for by the Versailles 
Treaty; the late Mr. Rinfret, who died almost on the eve of the war; the late 
Mr. Lapointe, who was acting custodian and secretary of state when the war 
broke out and for the first nine months of the war; Mr. Justice Casgrain, still 
living; the late Mr. McLarty, who paid day to day attention to its work from 
December, 1941 until his retirement in 1945; the former secretary of state 
Mr. Martin, who came in after hostilities had ended; the present custodian 
Mr. Gibson.

Now, Mr. Chairman, yesterday I understood that it was decided to go 
through the schedule and to, in all probability, defer the detailed discussion on 
administration. However, if any member of the committee has any question 
which he thinks he would like to ask on a general point I would be glad to deal 
with it now. If the members are dealing with particular cases I think it would 
be preferable that we have notice and an opportunity to consult nearly 70,000 
files which are in our office. As you will see the transactions now cover a period 
of nearly eight years. I would not like to speak offhand, although my memory 
is reasonably good, as to the details of any particular transaction.

The Vice-Chairman: Gentlemen, you have heard this very interesting 
recital. Doctor Coleman referred to it as rambling remarks but I would say 
it has been an interesting story, as interesting as any written by either Upton 
Sinclair or Philip Gibb, and is perhaps more useful because it is based on fact. 
Vhat is your wish? Shall we go on immediately with this schedule or are there 
any questions arising out of the statement made by Doctor Coleman that have 
direct bearing on the schedule?

Mr. Burton: Mr. Chairman, if you will allow me, I first want to express 
my personal appreciation for having an opportunity of hearing the story to 
which you have just referred, presented to us by Doctor Coleman. For those 
of us who have not had an opportunity to be closely in contact with his depart­
ment, it gives us a considerable background to work on. I also appreciate the 
closing remarks that Doctor Coleman made in that he would be prepared to deal
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with that part before going into the regulations or the schedule. I think myself 
any general remarks in so far as his statement is concerned would much better 
be made now than later on when we deal with different clauses of the schedule 
and in that connection I have a question or two that I would like to ask. 
Doctor Coleman’s statement has been made to us as a general review of the work 
of the department for a considerable number of years. Now. I think the 
committee should have some idea as to the amount of property still in the hands 
of the custodian, the number of persons involved, and the number of firms that 
would be involved. And then having put this question I possibly would be 
allowed just one step further and I would appreciate, before we start with the 
detailed examination of these regulations, if Doctor Coleman would just give 
a word or two as to why the department considers it necessary to have these 
elaborate regulations at this time. I think if we had that cleared up in so far 
as I am concerned, I would be prepared to go on with the schedule.

Mr. Fleming: I think Mr. Burton’s suggestion is quite good.
The Vice-Chairman : Gentlemen, I do not wish to interrupt, but just to 

maintain proper order I think it would be better if you were to stand up and 
instead of three or four talking at once, just one should speak at a time. I want 
the reporter to get your remarks down carefully.

Mr. Fleming: I think in fairness to the committee it might be well to say 
a word or two about the ideas discussed yesterday by the steering committee 
with reference to the committee’s procedure. The committee is faced with this 
immediate problem. The trading with the enemy regulations depend for their 
continued existence on the Emergency Transitional Powers Act which comes to 
an end on May 15. It would be much more logical and much more orderly to 
approach the problem with a review of the whole administration of the custodian 
of enemy property, including not only enemy property but also the other two 
branches, namely, Japanese evacuees and illegal organizations, nevertheless we 
are faced with a situation where we have only a matter of about a fortnight 
to get this bill back to the House and through the Senate as well. The steering 
committee feel that we have no alternative but to proceed with the bill in 
advance of a detailed review, or as detailed a review as the committee might 
have thought necessary, of the administration itself. The scope of the com­
mittee's reference has been extended to include a review of the administration 
in the department and that, in the recommendation of the steering committee, 
would be followed by an actual review of the terms of the bill Now as to the 
statement we have heard this morning it is obviously an excellent background. 
1 think Mr Chairman, it would be useful to the committee to have now a some­
what more detailed statement from Doctor Coleman concerning the revisions 
that have been made in the regulations hitherto. The committee is aware that 
there was a substantial revision of the regulations in 1943 and then in. January 
of this year there was a further revision carried out which had the effect oï 
eliminating a number of the regulations. I think it would be interesting to the 
committee to know what policy was followed in the elimination of part of the 
regulations and then we might be given, as Mr. Burton has suggested, something 
a little more detailed as to the reasons why these powers that are still provided 
for in the schedule of the bill are needed.

Mr. Stewart: Mr. Chairman, I find myself in agreement with the steering 
committee but I would like to make this further point. We are not going to be 
finished with our work on this committee before May 15 it we are going to do 
anything like a detailed study of the custodian’s work during the last few years. 
I think it would be of considerable benefit to myself and probably to other mem­
bers of the committee if there were supplied to us the audited accounts ot the 
custodian for each of those years. I think, then, we would have some time to 
peruse them and study them and perhaps we could then attack this problem 
more intelligently.
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The Vice-Chairman: May I just make a report to you gentlemen. It is 
proposed to issue a copy of the general report of last January to each member 
of the steering committee, who in turn would place it at the disposal of the 
members of his body or group, and if a second copy is required I would be 
pleased to try and procure that and place it at your disposal. There will also 
be copies of the audited reports, as mentioned by Mr. Stewart.

Mr. Smith : I have a suggestion to make. Perhaps I speak from ignorance 
which may be abysmal but I would like Doctor Coleman to tell us how the 
department operates by taking a typical case and tracing it through. It would 
be of assistance to those of us who are not familiar with the subject. Let us 
assume, that in Calgary, for instance, the A.B.C. company gets off the rails. I 
want to get some idea, a practical idea, of what happens in dealing with that 
company. I am sure I do not know and I think many of the members of the 
committee are perhaps in the same situation. That would only take a minute 
and if the Doctor did it I think we would have a more practical approach to the 
problem.

The Witness: If I may, Mr. Chairman, deal first with the point raised by 
Mr. Smith. I think if you look at clause No. 8, regulation number 8 on page 6 
of the schedule, you will see, “Where it appears to the secretary of state— 
(a) that there is reasonable ground for suspecting that an offence under any of 
these regulations has been committed by any person;” (/) “that an enemy has 
an interest in any property; the secretary of state, if he thinks it expedient for 
the purpose of satisfying himself that the person, firm or company is not trading 
with the enemy, may in writing appoint an inspector to inspect the affairs of the 
person, firm or company or the administration of the property ; and the secretary 
of state may appoint an inspector to inspect any business to ascertain (i) 
whether the business is carried on for the benefit of or under the control of an 
enemy or enemy subject; or (ii) the relations existing or which have, either 
before or after the commencement of the present war, existed between a person 
interested in the business and an enemy or enemy subject.”

As you see there is the power enabling the secretary of state to appoint an 
inspector who takes over all the files and documents.

Now that has been done in a reasonably large number of cases and if it 
were ascertained, I think it only happened in one or two cases, that there had 
been any transactions with the enemy after the regulation came into force there 
would be a prosecution. If it appeared that the business was entirely owned by 
the enemy it was vested in the custodian and he would either take steps to 
liquidate it, employ a comptroller for that purpose—it might or might not be 
but in most cases it would be the inspector—and proceed to realize it as profit­
ably as he could and the proceeds would then be placed to the credit of the 
custodian. That would be in the case of enemy property.

Mr. Smith : He goes right in and takes physical possession.
The Witness: Yes.
Mr. Smith : That is what I had in mind.
The Witness: Now, if I might deal with other points raised by other com­

mittee members. Mr. Burton, I think, first asked what property was under 
control. That was in the report which was tabled in the House as of December 
31. 1946 on pages 12 and 13. Now the belligerent enemies—Austria, Bulgaria, 
Finland, Germany, Hungary, Rumania—there was upward of $20,000,000. The 
property of persons in occupied countries aggregates about $218,000,000 and the 
doubtfuls another $13,000,000 make a total of $243,000,000. A great deal of 
this was represented by securities which were owned by the people, particularly 
those in the occupied countries, and at present value or market quotation would 
be worth an estimated $320,000,000.
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Mr. Smith : Your proscribed group goes out of that.
The Witness: It is included in that, it is the great bulk of the amount.

Real enemy properties, which may or may not be confiscated and is more or 
less dependent on the treaties of peace, aggregate at the moment something 
over $20,000,000.

Mr. Fleming: Mr. Chairman, these figures do not include the property 
of Canadian Japanese and the illegal organizations.

The Witness: No, no.
Mr. Fleming: This is just the enemy schedule.
The Witness: That is what I am dealing with. Now, Mr. Burton also 

asked me to state whether we felt it was necessary that we should have these 
extended powers. I endeavoured to cover that but perhaps I did not make 
myself clear by alluding to the fact that if there had been treaties of peace 
reached and ratified a year or two after the war and before the orders under the 
War Measures Act expired, we would not have found it necessary to come here 
at all but we had to in view of the existing situation. The fact that there does 
not seem to be a treaty with Germany in particular, and even with Japan, in 
the offing for a considerable period, made it desirable, on the advice of the law 
officers of the Crown, to continue the matter. One reason it was felt desirable 
that the substance of the regulation should be continued was to avoid the 
possibility of falling between two stools. There are a great number of powers 
here which are still in force in the United Kingdom or substantially the same 
powers are still in force in the United Kingdom today which we feel are neces­
sary to preserve. There is litigation pending. There is always litigation pend­
ing. There is litigation threatened, and something which might appear unim­
portant at first glance may prove to be very important in determining the 
custodian’s rights. The whole object of the custodian. I am sure the com­
mittee realizes, is to get as much genuine enemy property as we can for the 
state and have it available anyway, because of the claims which are already 
being put forward by Canadians—although the custodian only records them, and 
has no power and has no intention of seeking power as far as I am aware to 
settle them, that would be a matter of government policy which remains to 
be determined—greatly exceed the assets of the enemy in his hands. Mr. 
Fleming asked if I could indicate that revision which took place in the first 
regulations which came into force, became effective on the 2nd December.
1939. Well, as a result of these studies they were necessarily rather hastily 
thrown together, and I may say after consultation with financial officials, the 
department of insurance, and the Bank of Canada and other departments and 
agencies of the government which had a particular interest in this matter.
But as time went on it was realized that there were weaknesses until there 
was considerable amendment I think made in 1941 ; there was a consolidation 
in 1943, which is the blue book generally used; and then when it was decided 
that it would be desirable to have legislation the officers of the department 
with the custodian and the other departments of government concerned we 
arrived at what we thought might be recommended to the Governor in 
Council in January with the result that there was the deletion of a very con­
siderable number of regulations which appear in the schedule under the head- { 
ing of items revoked. That was to avoid renumbering. I propose to deal with 
them at the proper time, but if you like I can deal with that one which we 
revoked as a particular example. Take for instance the one defining “enemy", 
that is on page 2 of your draft bill.

Mr. Fleming: I do not know, Mr. Chairman, that we want that much 
detail at this particular stage. I thought just a general statement as to the 
reasons for the action taken.
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The Witness: I see. May I say they were rather extraordinary powers ; 
and when I use the term extraordinary I am using that in the normal sense of 
powers out of the ordinary; with the result that it is no longer necessary to 
continue then. In most cases either it had not been found necessary to invoke 
them, or they had not been used, even in time of wars. One was regulation 
8-2 (6), in the blue book of January 1943.

It was felt that it was unlikely that any case would arise in the future where 
this would have to be done. I do not think that was ever done. As a matter 
of fact, I am sure that it was never even moved. The changes were all of that 
nature, relief rather than greater restriction. I am not at all sure, subject to 
correction by my legal adviser (sitting here on my left), Mr. Black, that certain 
regulations now might not be modified as the result of discretion.

And there is one other point, if I may again refer to what Mr. Burton said; 
it is only within the last year or a little longer that we have any chance at all 
in parts of Germany which are under control of the British or Americans to 
make any check-up with the records of German enterprises in those zones. May 
I refer to one in particular, the notorious I. G. Farbenindustrie, of Frankfurt. 
We have had a large number of valuable reports and they are still coming in; 
and these reports indicate that if misrepresentations had been made by anyone 
it might be necessary to invoke some of these clauses in respect to it. That 
is about the only reason of which I can think for retaining them, but I do think 
it is quite important that they should be retained pending final determination 
of the treaty of peace. For all we know Canada and the other allied powers 
may determine in the treaty of peace to return all this property to Germany. 
That is not the concern of the custodian. He has nothing to do with that; but 
it is his duty to accumulate all the enemy property in Canada so that those 
who negotiate the treaty may know what it appears to be on hand.

The Vice-Chairman: Well, gentlemen, are you prepared to proceed with 
the schedule?

Mr. Stewart: I should like to make a suggestion, if I may, Mr. Chairman. 
There is a great deal of interest in the reports of the custodian. I think it would 
serve the interests not only of members of the committee but also of members 
of the house if some of these auditors’ reports were printed as an appendix to 
our proceedings. We realize, of course, that some of these reports cannot be 
made available; but I find them of special interest to myself; and, speaking 
for myself, I think one report among five of us is quite inadequate. I do think, 
Mr. Chairman, it would serve a useful purpose if we could be supplied with 
copies of them in the manner in which I have indicated.

The Vice-Chairman: Yes. That point was raised yesterday and it was 
left more or less with the chairman of the committee to look into the matter 
of printing, the volume of material and so on, and if it was found that it was 
not too bulky that it be considered as an appendix to the Minutes of Proceedings 
when they are tabled. I am going to ask Dr. Coleman to table those auditors’ 
reports. Is that agreeable.

Some hon. Members: Agreed.
Mr. Smith: May I ask Dr. Coleman a question; has he considered the 

desirability of continuing some of these orders in force; has he given thought 
to the other side of the picture. I was getting just a little concerned that some­
thing might be left out which should remain.

The Witness: You should not be, sir. In view of the fact that many of 
these powers were probably exercised in time of war, or might have been 
exercised but never were exercised, there seems to be little use in continuing 
them.
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Mr. Smith : I heard you say that. Are there any additional reasons for 
keeping them in force?

The Witness : No, I cannot see that there are. There is one to which I 
might call attention. On the original order property vested in the custodian 
was not subject to any tax. You will find that on page 50 of the blue book, 
regulation 43. As a matter of policy the custodian has paid municipal taxes 
as they fall due out of funds accruing, and it was felt that that might be 
modified as it was in the revision of January:—

50. Property vested in the custodian is liable for any tax, mortgage, 
lien, charge, rent, interest or payment thereon but the custodian is not 
liable with respect thereto.

It was felt that that was an unfair burden on the municipalities and other 
people and that where funds were available it should be charged against the 
property.

By Mr. Fleming:
Mr. Chairman, if Doctor Coleman has completed his answer; that raises 

the question about the form of the schedule. The schedule as printed indicates 
in each case where a particular regulation from the 1943 revision has been 
removed. The amendment in regulation 50, to which he has just referred, is 
not noted.—A. No.

Q. As having been amended in the schedule by them. Are there any other 
cases? For my part, in reading the bill, I would assume—A. There are three 
noted.

Q. That are amended?—A. Yes. Regulation 38 of 1943; and the second one 
is on page 16. The other one is on page 20 of the 1943 printed blue book; and 
regulation 50 of 1943 was revoked and the present No. 50 which appears on 
page 18 was substituted; and regulation No. 51 was revoked and the present No. 
51 substituted. Those are the three.

Q. I think it would be well if Dr. Coleman would add a word to his answer 
to this question as to the line followed in connection with the revision of 1947. 
Would it not be fair to say that the department is proceeding cautiously and if 
there is any thought at all that the power might be required under any circum­
stances it is retained in the schedule?—A. That being that in keeping with the 
tenor of public opinion. Whenever possible the regulations should be relaxed, 
and if, as I say, there had been peace treaties negotiated by the powers and 
ratified by parliament we would be very near repeal of the whole lot of it, 
providing some measures could be taken to carry on the necessary winding up. 
We are very anxious, for example, to get rid of the property belonging to the 
people in former occupied countries providing necessary evidence can be obtained 
to show that they are not holding any part of it for or on behalf of an enemy; 
which is a very important thing. Only in February of this year I was in one 
of the European capitals, although we do not hear very much about this here, 
when a person of considerable prominence, a Mr. Drayton—they were conduct­
ing trials of people in those countries—he had acted as an alleged agent and 
collaborated with the enemy. We have to have assurance in some way that 
property claimed by persons in one of these countries is his own property and 
not held for or on behalf of an enemy. Possibly I could not give the committee 
any better example than the late Field Marshal Hermann Goering. He would 
not have accumulated the vast wealth which he is reputed to have accumulated 
without having taken the precaution of taking at least some of it out of 
Germany, as he may very well have done, and deposited it in another name. 
He would have a front, probably; a resident at least, if not a national, of the 
country concerned. That is a very simple illustration. But when you have a
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series of companies all over the world it is exceedingly difficult to get back to 
the No. 1 man or the No. 1 group controlling it. I have seen both here, in 
Washington and in London, records and charts showing as many as fifteen hold­
ing or parent companies of one kind or another altogether before you get back 
to what appears to be the ultimate source of control.

Mr. Smith: You should read Mr. Dimm, Doctor, that illustrates it very
well.

The Witness: I beg pardon.
Mr. Smith: There is a book called Mr. Dimm that illustrates that point. 

It is the best satire in the world.
The Witness: If you will permit me to say so, you get a company operat­

ing here which is controlled by a company operating in a friendly or neutral 
country. You may say, “we think that has an enemy taint”. They answer, 
“no, we are controlled by another company in another neutral country”. It goes 
back and back. We have obtained some very useful information as a result 
of getting a peep at what appears to be the records of certain parts of Germany. 
There were certain other parts of Germany where no British, American, nor 
Canadian investigator could possibly obtain information. Unfortunately they 
had restrictions as to movements in all of these zones but we have had a reason­
able amount of cooperation.

Mr. Stewart : Doctor Coleman, there is another point which I might ask 
by presenting a fictitious case. Let us assume a resident of Poland had, at the 
outbreak of war, been living in Canada. Poland was overrun. A new govern­
ment inimicable to his interests was set up in Poland and he is not able to go 
back to Poland to re-establish himself, what would happen to his property in 
that case? Probably you can enlarge upon it for me.

The Witness: For many reasons I prefer that you take a hypothetical 
country rather than the one you have chosen. Astoria, or something of that 
nature. I would say the custodian has always taken provision that he is the 
trustee for the individual only and not for the country.

Mr. Stewart: The nation.
The Witness: Not the country. Now we have had certain agreements, 

one of which was placed on the table of parliament more than a year ago, one 
with France, and there are others which have been partially negotiated and not 
yet completed, which provide that a man living in that country has to obtain 
a certificate from his own authority that he is a resident, that he holds property, 
and that there is no gain on behalf of the enemy and that he is not charged 
with any collaboration.

Mr. Winkler: Mr. Chairman, I have a question which I would like to ask. 
I think Doctor Coleman may not consider it as general enough and probably 
in that case the answer can be deferred. He might describe the bounds of the 
activities of the custodian. The question is this. Take the case of the sale of 
an X-ray machine. A great many were sold in this country, I believe, just 
prior to the war, and suppose I, just a week before the war began, had bought 
one of those machines and had made a small payment down on what I believed 
to he a very expensive machine. What would be the attitude of the custodian 
in such a case?

The Witness: I take it, Mr. Winkler, that you have made a down payment 
to a German firm operating in Canada and that you had not received the 
machine.

Mr. Winkler: I was thinking of a case where I had the machine.
The Witness : Oh, well if you got the machine the custodian becomes 

entitled to the purchase price. That is one of the very instances I was pointing 
out, where it relates actually to the X-ray machine. A lot of these were sold
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on instalments whereby the company undertook to sell the machine and give 
credit, allow you to operate it and they undertook to service it and supply parts. 
The knotty question which the business comptroller had to determine was if 
you got a machine for which you agreed to pay $1,000 and had been promised 
you could get the parts for it and that it would be serviced for you for five 
years, the question was, what is that covenant worth? What should you get 
knocked off if you only get the machine? Well we settled it as well as we 
could in the judgment of the comptroller. There were not many, but there 
were a few engines, deisel engines, which were sold by a company w'hich had 
just opened in Montreal.

Mr. Fleming: Mr. Chairman, Doctor Coleman has made it clear these 
regulations were made to deal with the case of enemy property and the property 
of persons in the proscribed territories. Now with the two latter adjuncts to his 
responsibility, namely the property of persons of the Japanese race in Canada 
and the property of organizations declared to be illegal, to what extent did he, 
in administering those estates, use any of the powers contained in the schedule.

The Witness: The evacuees and the illegal associations? Well we did not 
use them at all in the illegal associations for this reason. When the order was 
made by the Governor in Council putting out the list of illegal organizations, 
the police force, the Royal Canadian Mounted Police, took charge of the 
buildings and turned them over within a week or ten days after.

By Mr. Fleming:
Q. Where did the custodian derive his powers then to retain physical of 

those or to realize on them?—A. There was an extraordinary order in council 
which was repealed when the order in council prescribing these things was 
issued.

Q. Then none of the orders in council under which the custodian acted with 
reference to illegal organizations or the property of persons of the Japanese 
race were introduced by reference to any of the powers contained in the 
Act.—A. Yes, it.said they were to be applied “mutatis mutandis”.

Q. I was just wondering whether the committee, when it reviews the 
schedule would find a possibility of any of these powers being used today in 
the case of property of persons of the Japanese race or in the case of property 
of organizations that were declared illegal.

The Vice-Chairman: May I suggest, Mr. Fleming, that you bear your 
question in mind and apply it to the particular section.

Mr. Fleming: I was just wondering whether there was some general answer 
that would apply and save us time.

The Witness: In relation to the Japanese evacuees the only real estate 
not liquidated consists of about 20 to 25 parcels. The Secretary of State in 
Bill 104 gave a specific undertaking he would not proceed to liquidate that 
without the consent of the owner. I do not think there is any other thing 
relates to that. There is nothing in relation to illegal organizations, and that 
no powers went with the repeal in October 1943. I must confess I am puzzled 
in looking at this report to see that there appears to be a balance of $698.27 
owing an illegal organization. I will look into that and find out what it is. 
There may have been one or two that were not taken off the list.

Mr. Case: Mr. Chairman, may I ask Doctor Coleman a question? There 
was a seizure made of some Hungarian property in Toronto, was there not? 
And later it was cancelled, then some doubt arose and I believe the property 
has been returned. Just how was that handled?

The Witness: Well, I understood that I would not deal with particular cases 
today, Mr. Case. It is a long story about these illegal organizations and I 
would like to have the appropriate officer with me when I deal with it, together 
with the files.
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Mr. Case: I think that is fair, Mr. Chairman, but I was just wondering 
if Doctor Coleman would give us the explanation at a later time.

The Vice-Chairman : I think, under “distribution”, you would be justified 
and quite within your rights to ask that.

Mr. Case: When, Mr. Chairman?
The Vice-Chairman : Prior to you joining us this morning a report was 

presented by the steering committee in which the work was divided under two 
headings. The first dealt with the bill, taking the schedule first, and secondly 
after we had disposed of that we are to deal with the administration in a general 
way.

Mr. Stewart : Mr. Chairman, if I understood Doctor Coleman correctly, 
he said that if there was any particular case any of the members would like 
to discuss he would like to have a little warning in order to make some 
preparation. If I am in order, all right. If I am not you can tell me. 
The particular case I have in mind has to do with a patent on fish oil and this 
is the way that I have it. When the Germans took over in Norway they 
had a patent for taking fish oil and refining it so that it could be used as an 
edible oil, something that never had been done before in the history of the 
world. That process was carried on in Norway during the war. Since the 
war, or when the Germans were driven out by the allied nations, the Norwegians 
obtained the patent and today they are developing what they call markoil 
M-a-r-k-o-i-1. I have seen it and tasted it and in fact today there is a firm 
in Montreal offering it for sale. With the great shortage that there is of oil in 
the world, when we are sending to Europe all that we can spare, they are offering 
oil for sale in this country which comes from Norway. The reason I want to 
discuss this thing in detail is due to the fact that in our canning industry in 
eastern Canada we are using thousands of barrels of edible oil. Years ago it 
was cottonseed oil, during the last few years we have been using soya bean 
oil, peanut oil and different kinds of other edible oil. We depend, to a great 
extent, on our American friends for our supply of edible oil and the price has 
advanced 25 cents per pound in the last two years. Today it is up to around 
41 cents. My point is this. Norway only produces ten per cent of the fish 
oil in the world. In other words 90 per cent of the fish oil produced in the 
world, now goes into cheap paints and such things whereas it might possibly 
be used for food. If that patent belonged to the Germans, which I feel quite 
sure that it did, why should not the allied nations today have the same right 
of using that patent as the Norwegians have. As I stated, the Norwegians 
today are offering that oil for sale in Canada, even when there is a very very 
short supply of fats and oils in Europe. Now if that can be discussed under 
this bill I would like to have an opportunity of so doing.

The Vice-Chairman: Mr. Stewart, I think that comes under the same 
heading and I will have to give you the same reply as I gave to Mr. Case. 
I suggest you bring it up under “administration”.

Now, gentlemen, we have only five minutes and I am rather anxious to get 
under way. In order to save time may I suggest that we deal just with these 
titles, the schedules.

Mr. Fleming: Definitions.
The Vice-Chairman: Definition.
“Interpretation.” Any objections?
Mr. Fleming: Mr. Chairman, there is one genera) observation I have to 

make about part 1. The point will come up in connection with the other 
sections of the bill or at least of the schedules. We have to decide whether 
we are legislating here on a permanent basis or simply passing regulations that 
are temporarily in effect to deal with the present situation. Now we come to 
questions like the definition under 1(6), “enemy territory”. These people will
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he our enemies presumably only so long as we are awaiting conclusion of the 
treaties of peace. Then there is (k), “commencement of the present war” that 
would obviously apply to the war which began in the case of Germany in 1939. 
Italy in 1940, Japan in 1941, and so on. That would' mean the bulk of these 
regulations could not have any relation to property which is still in the hands 
of the custodian through the war of 1914-1919. I wanted to clear that up. 
We are dealing in these regulations simply with the powers of the custodian 
with reference to assets of certain persons as from 1939 and none of this 
legislation is to have any application to property in the hands of the custodian 
prior to that date even though it came into his hands as a result of the first 
great war.

The Witness: The treaties of peace and ratification in 1919 or early 1920 
gave the Governor in Council power to provide by order for dealing with German 
property affected under that treaty. The same applies to Austria as well as 
Germany. It was all done by the treaties of peace made on November 5, 1918. 
and the Treaties of Peace Act 1919.

Mr. Burton : In other words, the wording of the terms of the peace treaties, 
would, to a certain extent, govern how far and how much of this could be done 
under the regulations.

The Witness: Quite.
The-Vice-Chairman: Dealing with number 1, “interpretation”.
Carried.
The Vice-Chairman: “Person”.
Carried.
Section 1(h), “enemy territory”.
Carried.
Section 1(c), “proscribed territory”.
Carried.
Section 1(d), “enemy”.

By Mr. Fleming:
Q. As to the enemy proviso at the bottom of the page, Mr. Coleman dealt 

with that in his general remarks. May I ask if he has any occasion— —A. A es, 
there have been a number of occasions when that has had to be put into effect in 
a very limited measure. These were not enemies in the ordinary sense. They 
were only technical enemies. I can remember I think two or three. I will have 
to look it up to refresh my memory on the details, where that was invoked.

Q. It is considered desirable to deal with each ease by special orders and 
exempt them from the definition of “enemy”, persons who are simply enemy 
subjects?—A. Oh yes.

Q. Rather than bringing enemy subjects generally within the terms of the 
definition?—A. Quite.

The Vice-Chairman: Agreed.
Section 1(e), “enemy subject”.
Carried.
Section 1(/), “enemy currency”.
Carried.
Section 1(g), “securities".
Carried.
Section 1(A), “dividends, interest or share of profits”.
Carried.
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Section 1 (i), “property”.
Carried.
Section 1 (j), “enemy property”.
Carried.
Section 1 (k), “commencement of the present war”.
Mr. Stewart: What date is that ; is that the 10th of September, 1939?
The Vice-Chairman : That is our official date, but I will ask Dr. Coleman 

if that is the date officially recognized.
The Witness: Going back to September 10; these regulations came into 

force on September 2.

By Mr. Case:
Q. What about the commencement of the present war?—A. We are still 

technically in the state of war.
Q. The government has declared that the war was over as from the first of 

the year?—A. No, not yet.
Mr. Fleming: The war is still on, at any rate in the House of Commons.
The Vice-Chairman: I think we should have the date.
Mr. Fleming: That would have to be September 10 in the case of Germany. 

As far as this country is concerned what existed between the 2nd and the 10th 
was only a state of apprehended war, not a state of war; and this evidently 
applies only to a state of war, or rather I should say to a state of apprehended 
war.

The Vice-Chairman: Would you like to have that stand, Mr. Stewart?
Mr. Stewart : Stand, yes.
Section l(t), “Secretary of State.”
Carried.
Section 1 (m), “proclamation”.
Carried.
Section 1 (n).
Carried.
Section 2(1), offence of trading with enemy.
Carried.
Section 2(2), prima facie proof.
Carried.
Section 3, trading with the enemy.
Mr. Fleming: In this section, subsections (c) and (/) are no longer 

necessary?
The Witness: That is right.
Mr. Fleming: And that is in view of the fact that regulation No. 4 has 

been revoked?
The Vice-Chairman: Yes. Shall we take them subsection by subsection? 
Section 3, subsections (a), (6), (c) and (d) carried.
Section 3, subsection (e).
Mr. Fleming: Subsections (e) and (/) should be struck out, Mr. Chairman. 

They involve a reference to regulation Na 4 which has since been revoked.
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The Vice-Chairman: Subsections (e) and (/) are struck out.
Mr. Case: What have you done in striking them out?
The Witness: They refer to regulation No. 4 which has already been 

revoked.
Section 3, subsection (g).
Carried.
Section 3, subsections (ft) and (i).
Carried.
The Vice-Chairman : Section 4, revoked ; section 5, revoked.
Mr. Bvhton : Mr. Chairman, may I draw your attention to the fact that 

it is now one o’clock.
The Vice-Chairman: Pardon me. I am so used to keeping on working all 

night. Gentlemen, it is one o’clock and I do now leave the chair. We will meet 
on Thursday next at 11.30 o’clock a.m.

I want to thank you gentlemen for the work the committee has been able 
to do this morning. We have certainly gotten along nicely.

The committee adjourned at 1.07 o’clock p.m. to meet again Thursday next, 
May 1st, at 11.30 o’clock a.m.
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MINUTES OF PROCEEDINGS

Thursday, May 1, 1947.

The Standing Committee on Public Accounts met at 11.30 o’clock a.m., the 
Vice-Chairman, Mr. Gordon B. Isnor, presiding.

Members present: Messrs. Boucher, Burton, Cleaver, Cote (Verdun), 
Dechene, Fleming, Fraser, Gladstone, Golding, Isnor, Marshall, Probe, Richard 
(Gloucester), Rinfret, Stuart (Charlotte), Warren, Winkler.

In attendance: Dr. E. H. Coleman, C.M.G., K.C., Deputy Custodian of 
Enemy Property.

The Committee resumed consideration of the Schedule to Bill 22, An Act 
to continue the Revised Regulations respecting Trading with the Enemy (1943).

Paragraph 6: Adopted with the exception of subparagraph (2), which stood 
over.

Paragraph 7 stood over.
Paragraph 8: On motion of Mr. Stuart, subparagraph (/) (?) was amended 

by the deletion of the words or enemy subject in the second and third lines 
thereof.

Paragraph 8, as amended, and paragraphs 9 and 10 were adopted.
Paragraph 11: On the motion of Mr. Probe, subparagraph (2) was amended 

by the deletion of the words or enemy subject in the sixth line thereof.
Paragraph 11, as amended, and paragraphs 12, 13 and 14 were adopted.
Paragraph 15 stood over.
Paragraph 16, on motion of Mr. Fleming, was deleted and the following 

substituted therefor:—
16. Where, on the application of the Secretary of State, it appears 

to a Judge of the Exchequer Court of Canada that a contract entered into 
prior to or after the commencement of the present war with an enemy or 
with a person in respect of whose business an order has been made under 
regulation fifteen of these Regulations is injurious to the public interest, 
the judge may by order cancel or determine the contract either uncondi­
tionally or upon such conditions as he deems proper, and thereupon such 
contract shall be deemed to be cancelled or determined accordingly.

Paragraphs 17 to 24. inclusive, were adopted.
Paragraph 25, on motion of Mr. Cote, was deleted.
Paragraph 26 was adopted.
Paragraph 27 stood over.
Paragraphs 28 to 35, inclusive, were adopted.
Paragraph 36 stood over.
Paragraphs 37 to 44, inclusive, were adopted.
Paragraph 45: On motion of Mr. Fleming, subparagraph (2) was amended 

by the deletion of the word will in the third line thereof and the substitution 
therefor of the word shall.

Paragraph 45, as amended, and paragraphs 46 to 67, inclusive, were adopted.
Paragraph 68 stood over.
Paragraph 69 was adopted.
Paragraph 70 stood over.
At 1.15 o’clock p.m. the Committee adjourned until Tuesday, May 6, at 

11.30 o'clock a.m.
A. L. BURGESS,

Clerk of the Committee.
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MINUTES OF EVIDENCE

House of Commons,

May 1, 1947.

The Standing Committee on Public Accounts met this day at 11.30 a.m. 
The Vice-Chairman, Mr. Gordon B. Isnor, presided.

The Vice-Chairman : Gentlemen, now that we have our quorum we will 
proceed to business. At our last meeting we had reached section 6, “The Cus­
todian”. If I remember rightly, Mr. Fleming wished to speak to that particular 
section. I might mention that section 1, subsection (fc) stood over, and Dr. 
Coleman has asked me to allow that section to stand for a further period so as 
to give him an opportunity during the week-end to further consider the matter.

Mr. Fleming: The point I raise on that section, Mr. Chairman, relates to 
the second clause. Shall I proceed with that clause or has anyone anything to 
say with regard to the first clause?

The Vice-Chairman: Shall clause 6(1) carry?
Carried.
Mr. Fleming: Now, under clause (2) :—

Any power or duty conferred or imposed by or under these regulations 
upon the Secretary of State or the Custodian may be delegated by him 
to such person or persons as he thinks proper.

My point is that the language is too broad ; there should be some narrower con­
finement of power or delegation to senior officials of the department. It says, 
“any power or duty conferred or imposed by or under these regulations upon 
the Secretary of State” may be delegated by him or the custodian to such 
person or persons as he thinks proper. Now, actually as I understand it, nearly 
all of those powers were delegated by the Secretary of State to the Under 
Secretary of State during the war, and there was some further delegation to 
the deputy.

Dr. E. H. Coleman, C.M.G., K.C., Under Secretary of State and Deputy 
Custodian of Enemy Property, recalled:

The Witness: Assistant deputy; and limited in specific matters to the 
director in Vancouver; that is about all. I have discussed the suggestion with 
the present Secretary of State, and I think he feels that he is responsible. He 
would deprecate any amendment; but it is a matter of policy upon which he 
might like to be heard. I might say that I have served under seven custodians 
and they have been exceedingly jealous of parting with any of their authority.

The Vice-Chairman: Has the same policy been pursued during the full 
course of the seven custodians?

The Witness: Yes.
The Vice-Chairman: And you have not run into any obstacles or troubles 

because of that power?
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The Witness: No; and if the matter is being proposed I think it is 
desirable—

The Vice-Chairman: I am hoping we may be able to clear this up as we 
go along.

The Witness: —that you see Colonel Gibson. He would have been here 
this morning but he was called to a committee of the cabinet. He may be in 
later in the morning, sir.

Mr. Golding: It might be wise to let this stand for the time being. On the 
other hand, I think, after all, the Secretary of State or any minister must take 
the responsibility for what he does, and I would not imagine that he would do 
anything very foolish in the discharge of his duties as minister. I do not think 
anything has happened that would cause any trouble in leaving the matter as it 
is, would you?

Mr. Fleming: I think the reason for that is this, that the need for such 
broad power or delegation does not exist in the light of the experience in the 
custodian’s office during war. If, in the stress of war it was not necessary to 
delegate any powers beyond the Under Secretary of State to the assistant Under 
Secretary of State then that is as far as the power of delegation need extend 
now, surely ; that is my point.

The Witness: I do not wish to interrupt you, but I find that this clause is 
taken word for word from the Treaty of Peace order of 1920.

Mr. Fleming: We had some correspondence quite recently in the House of 
Commons and objection was taken to these wide powers or delegation ; maybe 
we had better leave this matter open, Mr. Chairman, until the minister comes.

The Vice-Chairman: Section 6(2) stands. Now 6(3), “Establishment of 
Custodian’s office”.

Carried.
Mr. Fraser: There are wide powers given there also. I feel that they 

would not open more offices than they should. Would they have to open any 
more offices now?

The Vice-Chairman: I doubt very much if it is necessary to open further 
offices, but I would think it would be a necessary clause to have there in the 
event that action along those lines became necessary.

By Mr. Fraser:
Q. Can we have Mr. Coleman’s views on that? Is there any chance of any 

more offices being opened?—A. No, there would be no more established.
Q. Is there any chance of any offices being closed?—A. Yes.
Q. What offices are going to be closed?—A. We hope in a reasonable time 

to be able to close the Vancouver office. As you will see from our report tabled 
in parliament the number of employees has been very substantially reduced. 
Only the Japanese, really, I think, would be taken at a later stage ; but the 
expectation is that that office will wind up as promptly as possible.

By Mr. Boucher:
Q. There is the other point where they may hire such officers and advisors 

and pay such remuneration as the custodian determines. Now, I think the 
feeling is that this bill, once it is passed, will continue on for probably many 
years, and bearing in mind your statement recently whereby we are still work­
ing on previous wars, do you not think that the officials—officers and clerks— 
appointed under this section should be under the Civil Service Commission so 
that there will be some limitation?—A. That, of course, is a matter of policy ; 
I do not wish to make observations on that matter. I can simply state that the
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vast bulk of the work is of an entirely transitory nature, and had there been 
treaties of peace at the end of the war, which would have enabled the bulk of 
the work to be completed, I have not any doubts that by now it would be down 
to skeleton proportions.

Q. My point is that with regard to clerks who hold tenure of office for any 
considerable length of time they should be appointed by the Civil Service Com­
mission so that they could get the same rates, privileges and benefits as other 
civil servants, rather than be taken out of the Act. If this were only a matter 
of temporary employees I could see some justification for it, but as far as the 
permanent employees or employees with considerable service are concerned I 
do feel that this matter should be limited there.

Mr. Cleaver: Do you think they should be permanent?
Mr. Boucher: I think they should be employed in the same manner as 

other civil servants. This Act will continue for a considerable length of time; 
it is not limited to a short period.

Mr. Golding : There will be a large number—
The Vice-Chairman: Now, gentlemen, we got along very nicely at our 

last meeting because we were a little more formal. I requested members to 
stand when they spoke. I disregarded that instruction this morning;, but if 
you are going to talk to one another I shall have to ask you to accept that 
instruction again for the sake of keeping order.

Shall the subsection earn-?
Carried.
Subsection (4) : “Department of Government.”
Carried.
Section 7:
Mr. Fleming: This subsection brings us into a major problem under the 

whole of the regulations. Under this section, as you will see, very wide 
immunity is given to the Secretary of State or custodian.

No person has any rights or remedies and no action lies or may be
brought against any person in respect of:
(a) an act or omission that was required by the Secretary of State or 

Custodian ;
(b) an act or omission that the person acting in good faith reasonably 

believed to have been required by these regulations or any regulations 
heretofore in force with respect to trading with the enemy or enemy 
property ; or

(c) property transferred, delivered or paid to the Secretary of State or 
Custodian or pursuant to his direction either before or after these 
regulations came into force.

Now, obviously, people who act on the instructions of the custodian must 
have some immunity if they come within the scope of the instructions of the 
custodian, otherwise I should think there would be a complete breakdown. The 
custodian could not hope to have co-operation from people like the banks and 
trust companies from whom the custodian has need of co-operation at all times. 
It seems to me that this goes too far in curbing the rights of other persons 
where those rights have been, perhaps, negligently interfered with—perhaps 
interfered with by officials exceeding their powers. My criticism is that those 
regulations go too far in restricting the rights of individuals whose property 
or other rights have been seized or taken in possession or otherwise interfered 
with by the custodian. Now, what redress has he got? There are two other 
regulations which bear on this question: 27 and 36. No. 27 refers to court pro­
ceedings. It says:—
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Where a dispute or question arises as to whether property is subject 
to these regulations, the Custodian may proceed in the Exchequer Court of 
Canada or in any superior court of record for a declaration as to whether 
the property is subject to these regulations.

That is a proceeding on the part of the custodian. Then clause (2) of that 
section reads :—

Any person may, not less than ninety days after giving the Custodian 
notice of his claim . . .

The time limit is not particularly important because I believe the custodian 
has never taken advantage of his technical position as to time limit. Clause (2) 
then reads:—

Any person may, not less than ninety days after giving the Custodian 
notice of his claim, proceed in the Exchequer Court of Canada for a 
declaration that he is not an enemy and
(a) that property held or controlled by the Custodian is not subject to 

these regulations and he is the owner thereof or of an interest therein ; 
or

(b) that he was the owner of property or manages any enemy property 
immediately prior to its vesting in the Custodian under these 
regulations.

I direct your attention to the fact that right given to the person there to apply 
to the court is confined to an application for a declaration in the first place. 
In the second place, it is confined in this way, that he can only apply for a 
declaration that he is not an enemy. Then, in (a) and (b) it has to be on the 
basis of his not being an enemy.

The other regulation is 36, and it has to do with recovery by the minister, 
by the custodian, in the event of any person’s failure to pay to the custodian 
any money payable to him under the regulations and it reads as follows:—

In the event of failure by any person to pay to the Custodian any 
money payable to him under these regulations the Custodian may take 
action in the Exchequer Court of Canada or in any superior court of 
record to recover such money.

I notice there that if the custodian takes action, under section 36, for the 
recovery of money that he contends is payable to him there is no provision made 
for any kind of counter-claim where the person who is being sued considers that 
he has rights which, if the custodian were a private person suing in an ordinary 
action, he would be entitled to set up by way of counter-claim. It seems to 
me that while we want to see the custodian clothed with ample power to do 
everything in the way of taking property under the Act for the protection not 
only of the state but of the rights of individuals whose rights might otherwise, 
perhaps, be lost or prejudiced, these regulations do not leave enough right 
in the person whose property may have been seized or taken in possession 
by the custodian. Suppose an individual feels that he is not an enemy and 
that property has been improperly taken from him, what can he do? There 
is nothing in these regulations to say that the declaration is binding on the 
custodian. I have no doubt that as a matter of practice the custodian would 
honour a declaration of the Exchequer Court, but it is only a declaration of 
the court ; it is not a judgment.

Now, take another case where the issue is not simply as to whether a man 
is or is not an enemy, but he contends that he has an interest in property that 
has been taken by somebody else. He has not got any right to go to the courts. 
Now that we are in peace times I think this is the sort of provision that does 
admit of amendment with a view to restoring more equality toward two 
individuals in the matter of access to the courts where, at the present time,
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they certainly are not in a position of equality with the custodian, since they 
may want to have access to the courts, and having got into the courts they may 
want to find themselves in the position of equality before the courts with the 
custodian.

Mr. Bubton : After listening to Mr. Fleming’s presentation of that case and 
after checking over that section, it appears to me that the only resort that person 
would have would be, first, to prove that the person acting on behalf of the 
custodian had not acted in good faith. That is what it says in (b). The whole 
matter is put in the position that the person who feels aggrieved would first 
have to prove that the official did not act in good faith. It says: “(b) an act 
or omission that the person acting in good faith reasonably believed to have 
been required . . .”

Mr. Fleming: Mr. Chairman, I think that these clauses in section 7 are 
disjunctive; the person has no rights or remedies in any of these cases; in other 
words, a claimant cannot bring an action or cannot succeed in an action if the 
defendant can prove that he satisfies the requirements of any one of these clauses.

The Witness : I think the purpose of (a), to which Mr. Fleming objected, 
is to protect the debtor to an enemy who had paid over the amount of his debt. 
He turned over the property which he held for the enemy to the custodian. 
It is an essential protection for the Canadian debtor or trustee for the enemy. 
It is not the intention by section 7 to protect—which I think Mr. Burton had 
in his mind—officials of the custodian’s office at all; this is simply a protective 
measure for the people who have, acting under the regulations, paid over moneys 
which they have held for enemies. That deals with (a). Clause (b) protects 
them in a wider way. Perhaps it might be modified. We will be ready to 
consider any practical suggestion along those lines. Clause (c) is really a part 
of (a). I do not know why they put in “before or after these regulations came 
into force,” unless there was a consolidation in 1943. Usually it applied back to 
1939. There was no property turned over before the war in 1939. If it is 
agreeable to the committee to allow the matter to stand—Mr. Henry is here— 
we will be glad to consider the points raised and see what we can do. Would 
any member of the committee care to make any important suggestion?

Mr. Fleming: I appreciate Mr. Coleman’s willingness to consider this mat­
ter. I do not want to anticipate any discussion that we might wish to have on 
these sections. I think section 27 will have to be considered.

The Witness: Yes, I think section 27 will have to be considered along with 
it; and I confess in section 36—

Mr. Cleaver : Shall we carry section 7 and deal with Mr. Fleming’s point?
Mr. Fleming: There may be an amendment to 7(b); possibly not to (a), 

but to (b) or (c).
Mr. Cleaver : I judge from your remarks that your point could be ade­

quately covered by an addition to section 27.
Mr. Fleming: That may be; but I think it will be necessary to leave section 

7 to be considered by Dr. Coleman and Mr. Henry.
The Vice-Chairman: Section 7 will stand.
Section 8: “Appointment of inspector.”
Mr. Burton : In (c) I notice the words “the commencement of the present 

war.’ You let that one stand before—the one dealing with the commencement 
of the present war—(k) of the first section.

The Witness: That was the definition section.
Mr. Burton : Consequently, if there should be any change in the other you 

have to make the necessary change here.
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The Vice-Chairman: No, I doubt that very much. • (fc) is the definition of 
the commencement of the war, while this deals with that section as it might be 
revised or amended.

Mr. Fleming: Are you going to call these in order. I was going to ask a 
question about (/).

The Vice-Chairman: Shall (a), (b), (c), (d) and (e) carry?
Carried.
Mr. Fleming: The power is given the Secretary of State in writing to appoint 

an inspector to inspect the affairs of a person, firm or company or the administra­
tion of the property. I was wondering how often it has been necessary to use 
that power and if reports were made in all such cases, and in what form, and 
how the reports were kept.

The Witness: It would depend on the individual file. As far as the office 
is concerned we are quite willing that they be deleted, and I think they are amply 
covered by (o), (b), (c), (d) and (e).

Mr. Fleming: This provision applies to the cases in 8(/) inclusive in any of 
these cases: “the Secretary of State may appoint an inspector.” My opinion 
perhaps, bears on the use of the section rather than the terms of the section itself.

The Witness: We have appointed a great •number of inspectors, and if 
when a report is received it appears necessary to appoint a controller or super­
visor, that has been done. As I say, they were related mostly to the very early 
stages of the war when there were suggestions that certain firms had substantial 
enemy interests, and in the great majority that provision did prevail and nearly 
all controllers were then appointed and some of them are still acting.

Mr. Fraser: May I ask a question Mr. Chairman? In the case of a person 
not being satisfied with the inspector or whatever they call him, the supervisor, 
is there any chance of having that party changed?

The Witness: Well, he would have the right, if he held enemy property, to 
apply under section 27 (2) to have it declared by the court as non-enemv prop­
erty and we would not interfere.

By Mr. Fleming:
Q. Well, what would happen in the case of an individual or firm or company 

who might feel the inspector himself was not a suitable person and was not con­
ducting himself properly?—A. Well, in no case that I can recall have the people 
concerned made the slightest objection to the inspector. In fact some of them 
have been very grateful for his help.

Q. Mr. Chairman, perhaps it is not like me to object to having powers 
which are not broad but in line 32 I raise such a question. The secretary of 
state may appoint an inspector to inspect any business to ascertain “whether 
the business is carried on for the benefit or under the control of an enemy or 
enemy subject.”—A. We would like to delete the words "enemy subjects.’

(j. I suppose there must be very few cases now where new discoveries would 
be made.—A. It was mentioned in my preliminary statement the other day and 
we are not completely able but we are beginning to get a little access to the 
records of business concerns in Germany to verify or perhaps disprove the 
explanations made to us by agents of Canadian enterprises in that country.

Q. That brings me to my question. This would only apply to the extent 
where business is carried on at the present for the benefit or under the control 
of an enemy. What about the case, if it is found now, that during the war the 
business was carried on (or the enemy but it is not so carried on to-day. Y\ e will 
say it has either been transferred, the ownership has been transferred, or the
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company has not been functioning latterly. Would it not be well to provide 
in broader terms for the company which has been carried on for the benefit of 
or under control of the enemy.—A. The enemy interest was vested under 
section 21.

Q. There is a similar expression elsewhere in the regulations, for instance 11 
(2). You have the same expression on page 7, line 13, and again in section 15, 
clause 1 on page 8, line 25.

The Vice-Chairman: Well, Mr. Fleming the suggestion is three words in 
subsection 1 and 2, lines 33 and 34, and in one case in 37 and 38, be eliminated. 
Those words are “or enemy subject”. Is it agreed?

Moved by Mr. Stewart seconded by Mr. Fraser those words be struck out. 
Agreed?

Agreed.
Subsection 2, the inspector’s authority.
Carried.
Section 11, shall it carry?
Carried.
Section 12, appointment of controller by court.
Mr. Fleming: Mr. Chairman, in this one, at line 34 “there is power for the 

secretary of state to apply to the same court within the province wherein the 
said person owns property or carries on the said business or trade have juris­
diction to appoint a receiver or liquidator”.

I would like to ask first if it is necessary to resort to this power very often, 
and secondly whether the regulation is clear enough, what the effect would be 
on property located in other provinces than that in which the court has 
jurisdiction.

The Witness: I can only recall one appointment of a controller by the 
court and that was in the province of Quebec. It related to very extensive pro­
perties owned by a resident in an occupied country and in that particular case, 
I mean there was no suspicion of enemy tie-ups, but in view of the involved 
state of this man’s affairs and his very wide interests it was thought expedient to 
have a controller appointed by the court. The controller was a gentleman whom 
he hall sent out himself immediately prior to the war to represent him, should it 
become necessary in order to preserve certain of his assets and real property still 
there. We felt that a controller of his own selection or his own executive might 
be appointed by the court so that he could apply to the court with respect to 
certain of those assets in order to conserve others. That was the only instance.

Br. Mr. Fleming:
Q. Well in that case no question arose about the effect on property in any 

other province?—A. No, it was all property in the province of Quebec and the 
appointment was made by the Superior Court of Toronto.

Q. May I ask, Doctor Coleman, if he interprets this regulation 12 in such a 
way that the jurisdiction of the court in which application is made will be 
confined to the appointment of_a receiver for property located within the 
province?—A. I would think so.

Q. Say for instance a firm had property in the six provinces you would have 
to make the application to the courts of all six provinces.—A. Yes.

The Vice-Chairman: Shall rule 12 carry?
Carried.
Gentlemen, may I revert to section 11(2), line 14, it is moved by Mr. Probe 

seconded by Mr. Marshall that the words “enemy property” be struck out.
Carried.
Section 13.
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Mr. Probe: In connection with 13, Mr. Chairman, I should like to ask 
Doctor Coleman if he can give any statistics on the number of times that the 
secretary of state has presented a petition.

The Witness: We have not had any.
Mr. Probe: Then may I ask has the secretary of state investigated any 

alleged cases where this clause might be applicable?
The Witness: Many.
The Vice-Chairman: They have investigated many.
The Witness: Investigated many.

By Mr. Probe:
Q. I recall during the war there was some reference to the sale, by a very 

large nickel corporation, of interests in Petsamo, Finland, to an enemy corpora­
tion or an enemy government. Now on the surface, a deal of that, nature would 
constitute trading with the enemy. —A. It does not come within the scope of 
the regulations.

Q. herein does it differ?—A. The regulations apply but now you have 
said there has been a sale to an enemy. I know only what was reported 
in the House of Commons and to the members at that time. Was it not the 
Falconbridge nickel company?

Q. I thought it was International Nickel—A. It was sold to the govern­
ment of the USSR, which was of course not an enemy. I think what you had 
in mind is this. It was characterized by the Times as a very stupid statement 
by the president of the company or some officer of the company.

Q. It was in the annual report.—A. Yes, that they had property in Finland 
at the time, and Finland was at war but had not been interfering with their 
property and they rather congratulated the shareholders.

Q. I recall it that way.—A. There was no suggestion there was any act 
on the part of the Canadian company to turn over the plant to the enemy. He 
simply made what I would call a very foolish statement, that is the term I 
would use. The statement was to the effect that the enemy, although they 
had control of it, had not destroyed the assets of the company.

Q. A satisfactory arrangement had been entered into?—A. I do not think 
it went that far.

Q- You do not think so? As I recall the annual report it raised a big 
query in my mind, although I was not thinking in terms of this bill at that 
time. You would say however, that what took place did not contravene section 
13.—A. If the Canadian company had entered into a transaction or contract 
with the enemy that would have been an infringement of the trading with 
the enemy regulations. I recollect, and again I am subject to correction on 
examination of the records, that it was foolishness. That was what you might 
term it.

Q. Indiscretion?—A. I think they went a little further than indiscretion.
Q. I do too.—A. They congratulated the shareholders of the company 

on the fact that the enemy had maintained their plant intact although they 
were presumably using it for the productions of materials with which to wage 
war.

The Vice-Chairman: I think he wanted to build up the assets of this 
company.

The Witness: After Finland made the treaty with Russia, and Russia 
occupied that area, Russia made a contract as I recall it with the Canadian 
company and they acquired the property.

Mr. Probe: Then, in so far as the secretary of state was concerned, it 
was a bona fide transaction and did not involve dealing with the enemy-
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The Witness: It did not.
The Vice-Chairman : Mr. Stewart, did you have something to say to us 

about fish oil?
Mr. Stewart : I do not think it comes in there.
The Vice-Chairman: Shall section 13 carry.
Carried.
Section 15, the appointment of controller.
Mr. Fleming: Mr. Chairman, under subsection 1, I draw attention to the 

fact there is very wide power given to the secretary of state where it appears 
to him that “the business is carried on within Canada by any person wholly 
or mainly for the benefit of or under the control of an enemy. The secretary 
of state may make an order either:— (a) prohibiting such person from carrying 
on business except for the purposes and subject to the conditions if any specified 
in the order, or (6) requiring the business to be wound up.” Now again that 
provision may have been required in time of war to meet the urgency of 
conditions then existing. I wonder whether the power should be continued in 
peace time. It is a very drastic power to confer on an official, the right to just 
step and prohibit somebody from doing business and require that the business 
be wound up. Now I am not suggesting for one minute this power would be 
used arbitrarily or improperly but it is a thing we have to consider in legis­
lating. I raise the question now as to whether or not that power should not 
be transferred to the court on application by the secretary of state or the 
custodian. It seems to me in time of peace it is a power much broader on 
the face of it, than can be justified-

The Witness : Well that might still apply but I do not think it is likely 
to be invoked. Its purpose was for speedy action. If we got some information 
from Germany and made application to the court, quite likely some assets would 
disappear while the proceedings were going on. I think the department is 
willing to place themselves in the hands of the committee.

The Vice-Chairman: It is a protective measure as far as the assets are 
concerned.

Mr. Fleming: What Doctor Coleman has said might be justification for 
power to suspend, the carrying on of business by an individual but I do not 
think it should be sufficient to put him out of business and require the business 
to be wound up without reference to anybody. It is putting that power in the 
hands of the custodian.

The Witness: As I have said, if the committee will let this stand I will 
see what we can do with it over the weekend. I do not want to make a snap 
judgment that it might not be needed but we would be disposed to the suggestion 
of the committee to delete some items which might not be suitable to the 
committee.

The Vice-Chairman: That will stand.
Mr. Rinfret: Another thought has arisen in my mind. This definition of 

“enemy” seems to include only those presently our enemies due to the war but 
this Act may want to continue after we are not officially at war with the countries 
we are assuming are enemies. It just occurred to me that point might be 
considered in order to include those countries who were enemies during the 
war after a state of war has ceased to exist.

The Witness: You would have to make new regulations in accordance 
with the treaties of peace or whatever statute is made then.

Mr. Fleming: As I understand it, the intention is, and it is so indicated 
by section 3 of the bill, to provide separate regulations to deal with property 
after peace has been ratified.
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The Witness: We will have to.
Mr. Rinfret: You are quite satisfied with that position?
The Vice-Chairman: Section 16.
Mr. Fleming: Just ‘before you come to section 16, I wonder if Doctor 

Coleman would include in his consideration of section 15 over the week-end, 
clause 11. “The secretary of state may from time to time prepare and publish 
in the Canada Gazette lists of the persons as to whom orders have been made 
under this regulation.”

The Witness: I would be prepared to change it to “shall” in the first line. 
I think it was worded in that way for security reasons. I think that- was the 
purpose.

Mr. Fleming: We could change that now.
The Vice-Chairman: Rule 16, cancellation of contract.
Mr. Fleming: I do not want to be doing all the talking.
The Vice-Chairman: Doctor Coleman advises me, Mr. Fleming, before 

you go on, that there is a modification in that section.
The Witness: This is our proposal for section 16:—

16. Where, on the application of the secretary of state, it appears 
to a judge of the Exchequer Court of Canada that a contract entered 
into prior to or after the commencement of the present war with an 
enemy or with a person in respect of whose business an order has been 
made under regulation fifteen of these regulations is injurious to the 
public interest, the judge may by order cancel or determine the contract 
either unconditionally or upon such conditions as he deems proper.

We are proposing to delete 16 and substitute what I have just read to you. 
The idea there was to substitute “court” for “the minister”.

Mr. Fleming: That amendment meets the point I was going to raise.
The Vice-Chairman: To bring it before the meeting, it is moved by Mr. 

Fleming, seconded by Mr. Golding, that the amendment as read be substituted 
for 16.

Mr. Fleming: May I ask Doctor Coleman about the last clause of 
section 16 which is not carried over. “And thereupon such contract shall be 
deemed to be cancelled or determined accordingly”.

The Witness: We are agreeable to have those words added.
The Vice-Chairman: Is it agreed?
Carried.
Section 17, notice to enemy.
The Witness: That is a necessary provision. There are companies with 

enemy shareholders or with shareholders residing in enemy territories and they 
could not hold their meetings unless they had some authority to direct their 
statutory notices to the custodian.

Mr. Fleming: Has it been the practice of the custodian to endeavour to 
communicate to persons under such circumstances.

The Witness: Now that postal communications are restored to most of 
the countries we direct the company to send the notices in the usual way. There 
are, however, still areas where there as no postal facilities that I know of, such 
as Japan and in some areas of Germany.

The Vice-Chairman: Shall section 17 carry?
Carried.
The Vice-Chairman: Shall section 18 carry?
Carried.
The Vice-Chairman: Shall section 19 carry?
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Mr. Burton : May I ask Doctor Coleman under what circumstances would 
the secretary of state exercise the power given to him here.

The Witness: Well there have been very few cases of that and I think 
I can only remember one where we did allow the company to retain an Italian 
director for a considerable period.

Mr. Burton : Here it says “except by leave of the secretary of state”. 
Apparently the secretary of state has the power to say that someone might act 
as a director.

The Witness : Yes, but as I say, I can only recall one case where there 
was a very large board and there had been an Italian who had founded that 
particular business and they allowed him to remain on the board because there 
were eight others who could perform functions. It subsequently developed, 
I may say, at the end of the war, we received information from certain British 
authorities that the Italian in question had been an anti-Fascist.

Mr. Probe: Did you have that information at the time the decision was 
made?

The Witness: No, we did not, but he was only one of eight and he could 
not attend and there was a quorum to carry on.

The Vice-Chairman: Shall section 19 carry?
Carried.
Section 21?
Mr. Rinfret: I am sorry I could not attend the first meeting where the 

vesting of the enemy property was discussed. Does the word “enemy property” 
cover the case of a company incorporated by persons who are not enemies, within 
the meaning of the Act, operating in a country which is not presently at war 
but which becomes at war and the territory is occupied at a later date.

The Witness: Yes, it would apply if the company is incorporated in either 
enemy territory as defined in regulation 1 or in proscribed territory, the 
definition (c).

The Vice-Chairman: Page 2, Mr. Rinfret.

By Mr. Rinfret:
Q Yes, but suppose a Canadian incorporated a company in Holland, before 

it was occupied by Germany. The office of the company, the head office moves 
ahead of the Germans and the head office is never in occuped territory.—A. You 
mean it is a Dutch corporation.

Q. One which was incorporated in Holland and Holland was not at war 
at that time and its territory was not occupied by the enemy.—A. I know. And 
this company under the law of the incorporating country, which is Holland, 
has effectually transferred its head office to—

Q. Paris. And before Paris was occupied, to Portugal.—A. Well, it would 
not come under this, would it?

Q. I do not think so, but your department seems to think so.—A. Well in 
connection with the case you have in mind I do not think you really 
appreciate our point but I could not say offhand without refreshing my memory 
and looking at the file.

Q. I would like to look at the file with you.
The Vice-Chairman: Shall rule 21 carry?
Carried.
Section 23, real estate.
Carried.
Section 24, patent copyrights, trade mark or design. I believe this was the 

section you referred to Mr. Stewart.
88260—2 ,
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Mr. Stewart : I think I gave you a pretty good outline at our last meeting 
of the matter I have in mind. There is some information I would like to have. 
It was in connection with a patent which exists at the present time in Norway for 
the refining of fish oil and it is used in the canning of sardines and that sort of 
thing. I cannot say whether the information I have is correct and I was hoping 
to get some confirmation here. I remember that a short time ago, a year ago, 
the Honourable Henry Wallace made a statement and he said that scientists 
from England, Russia, and the United States had carried on an investigation 
in Germany and were bringing back to their respective countries hundreds of 
new inventions covering processes practically unknown heretofore outside of 
Germany, and that these new processes and inventions would be the basis 
for starting new business enterprises in our countries. This oil today is being 
offered for sale in Canada even with the great shortage of oil that is worldwide 
to-day. Now as I stated the other day there is only ten per cent of the fish oil 
of the world produced in Norway. Ninety per cent of the fish oil in the world 
is being used for other purposes not nearly as essential as food. I believe in this 
country fish oil is used in the manufacture of cheap paints and so on. Now, if 
we had that patent for the refining of fish oil it would be a very great help to the 
canning industry in Canada. I do not know how many other industries it would 
affect but it would be of great benefit to the fish industry in Canada. The 
question I would like to ask is this. Is there any reason why these patents 
should not go to the allied nations? Why should one country monopolize a 
German patent?

The Vice-Chairman: I think Dr. Coleman can give you an answer.
The Witness: This question was raised in February. We have had com­

munication with the Department of Finance and a search was made, first in 
our own records and there is no patent in Canada covering this Norwegian fish 
oil and its process. I have a note from the commissioner.

A search of our records fails to disclose any patents to a resident 
of Norwav or Germany since 1930. I have also searched the issues of the 
Bibliography of Scientific and Industrial Reports issued by the office of 
technical services, United States Department of Commerce without finding 
anything. The reports referred to, contain technical information received 
from civil and military agencies of the I nited States government and 
co-operating foreign governments. Many of the reports cover information 
captured in enemy countries.

I am writing the officer in charge of patents in the United States Alien 
Property Custodian’s office for his assistance in locating the process and 
on receipt of his reply will notify you.

And then the commissioner writes to us further on the 10th of March.
Further to my letter of. February 18. 1947, respecting Senator A. N. 

McLean’s enquiry re fish oil treatment I am now in receipt of a letter 
from the United'States Office of Alien Property in which they suggest 
that United States Vested Patent No. 2,021,562 may be of interest. This 
patent was granted on November 19, 1935, to Dietrich Ilildisch, Oslo, 
Norway, for Process of Improving the Taste of Hydrogenated Oils. I lie 
United States Official Gazette shows that a patent was applied for in 
Germany on January 5, 1932. Fish oils are specifically mentioned in this
patent. .

A search of our indexes under the name of Ilildisch does not disclose
a corresponding Canadian patent.

From the point of view of the custodian’s office, there being no patent in 
Canada, and from the point of view of the Patent Office, there being no patent 
in Canada, it is not a matter with which we have to deal. Now. it it ''ere a 
German patent, an enemy patent in Norway, as Norway is a party to the 1 atent
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Accord which was signed last summer or last autumn, under which enemy patents 
are dedicated to the public it would be a different matter. Now the first point 
is that there is no patent in Canada. Therefore, if anyone acquired the knowl­
edge of the process and proceeded to manufacture this oil, the Norwegian holder 
of the patent could not bring an action for infringement because he was never 
protected himself by patenting the process under Canadian law.

Mr. Stewart: I would like to know whether it is a German patent or a 
Norwegian patent?

The Witness : I beg pardon ?
Mr. Stewart : Is it a German patent or a Norwegian patent?
The Witness: Well according to the only trace we can find there is a 

patent in the United States by a man in Norway and it would appear therefore 
that it is a Norwegian patent but they have never applied here.

Hon. Mr. Gibson : They also said he applied for a patent in Germany.
The Witness: But when we are referring to German patents we are refer­

ring to patents owned by Germans and which are being used by countries which 
are members of the Accord.

The Vice-Chairman: I trust that' will give you the information you wanted, 
Mr. Stewart.

The Witness : I may also say the commissioner of patents will be very 
glad to show a copy of the United States patent. We have got a copy of the 
United States patent.

Mr. Gladstone: I do not know if the question I would like to ask has any 
relevancy. What I have in mind is the property of Canadians who were located 
in countries overrun by the enemy as for instance Singapore, overrun by the 
Japanese, where property of Canadians was destroyed. I understand in such 
cases details of the destroyed property were filed with the custodian and I am 
wondering what the situation is with respect to probable settlement.

The Witness: Well that is not a custodian matter, Mr. Gladstone. There 
being no other agency of the government with facilities, the custodian was 
instructed at the beginning of the war and it is provided here, to record the 
detaild. The first point is when the treaties of peace are made with the enemy 
who presumably destroyed the property, it will rest with those who negotiate 
those treaties to determine whether the enemy will be required to make repara­
tions for damages done to the property of allied citizens and their country. After 
that is done it will rest with the countries which execute the treaty to determine 
what machinery will be set up to deal with the claims. I think you will see by the 
report which was submitted and placed on the table of the House of Commons 
that the recorded claims vastly exceed in amount the enemy property in Can­
ada. There will have to be set up some machinery to deal with that and it will 
not be a custodian matter at all. The government will have to consider whether 
they will set up a body authorized to examine those claims in order to see what 
will be presented to the enemy, and, after that, what amount can be collected. 
It does not, however, touch the work of the custodian.

Mr. Gladstone: There is a machinery here for recording.
The Witness: There is machinery for recording. It is under section 45 

which the committee has not reached.
The Vice-Chairman: Will you make a note of that, Mr. Gladstone?
Shall section 25 carry?
Carried.
Mr. Cote: Mr. Chairman, this section 25 seems to have lost its purpose in 

the light of section 21 which we have passed. Would the judgment or the ruling 
of the exchequer court be retroactive? Section 21 (1) says, “all enemy property
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is hereby vested in and made subject to the control of the custodian whether 
or not the property has been disclosed to the custodian as required by these 
regulations.” Now, if the exchequer court decides that any such property is 
owned by an enemy what would happen if any transaction or dealing may have 
taken place since the entry into force of the regulations and until such judgment 
is rendered.

The Witness : I think it has never been resorted to. Section 21 is dealing 
with enemy property and gives the power of applicants to apply to exchequer 
court in cases of suspicion but it has never been invoked.

Mr. Fleming: Do you need the power?
The Witness: I think we do need it, but the departmental officers are 

inclined to think we might agree to delete it. It has never been applied.
The Vice-Chairman: Do you wish it struck out?
Mr. Cote: I do not see any purpose if it has never been used.
The Vice-Chairman: Moved by Mr. Cote, seconded by Mr. Rinfret that 

section 25 (1) and (2) be struck out.
Carried.
Mr. Cote: Then passing to the next section, Mr. Chairman. This point 

should have been raised by me under section 21 and 23. What happens if the 
business operated between the entry of the regulations and the date of dis­
closure of the owning of any such property by an enemy.

The Witness: I do not quite get your point, Mr. Cote, I am sorry.
Mr. Cote: Well, this refers to the point which I think should be discussed 

with regard to section 25. I know I am out of order, but as a matter of informa­
tion “all enemy property is hereby vested in and made subject to the control 
of the custodian whether or not the property has been disclosed to the custodian 
as required by these regulations”.

What happens with bona fide third persons who happen to deal with agents 
or proxies of enemies owning any property in Canada in that interval.

The Witness : We have never had an instance.
Mr. Fleming: I suppose, Mr. Chairman, the vesting took effect in any event 

from the date the regulations came into effect. You did not have to wait for 
an order of the court. This is an additional power under section 25 if the 
property belongs to, or if it is enemy property within the regulations, it was 
vested automatically on the date the regulations came into effect.

The Witness: Yes.
The Vice-Chairman: Are we agreed on 25?
Carried.
Shall section 26 carry?
Carried.
Shall section 27 carry?
Mr. Fleming: That had better stand.
The Vice-Chairman: Section 27 will stand.
Section 28?

By Mr. Rinfret:
Q. Mr. Chairman, in connection with this, if a bank decides what they 

hold is enemy property does that make it enemy property ? If a bank is holding 
some property which, in its judgment, it decides is enemy property, does that 
make it enemy property?—A. Enemy property is defined.

Q. Yes, but would the person who holds the property or manages it, decide 
whether it is enemy property?—A. Well he has to interpret the Act in the same 
manner he would have to interpret any other duty imposed upon him by law.
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Q. If he does decide that it is enemy property and then afterwards decides 
it is not enemy property what becomes of the proceeds from any sale that 
might have arisen in the meantime?—A. Well I presume the custodian would, if 
it is decided that it is not enemy property, return what he gets as proceeds.

Q. Then, in the meantime if some of the property has been dissipated what 
happens?—A. What do you mean by that, that it has been sold?

Q. Well we have given to the custodian all the rights to this property.— 
A. Yes.

Q. Now if between the moment the bank decides it is enemy property and 
vests it with the custodian, the custodian goes along and sells some of the 
property and afterwards it is decided it is not enemy property, what recourse 
is there for the man who has seen his property sold by the custodian? What 
is his relief?—A. Well he would be entitled to whatever relief would be given 
by the court, in the same fashion as anyone else.

Q. By the fact the bank has decided it was enemy property he would 
have to go to the courts.—A. Yes, well if the bank acted otherwise than in 
good faith and in accordance with the law he would have any rights of action 
for damages that were open to him under the law.

Q. That seems a pretty wide power to give a bank or any person who holds 
or manages.

The Vice-Chairman: You are not giving power to the bank.
Mr. Rinfret : You are giving the power to any person who holds or manages.
The Witness: You are imposing power, you are not giving power.
Mr. Rinfret: They have to decide whether it is enemy property or not.
The Vice-Chairman : They have to get advice from the legal department.
The Witness: Yes, if they had any doubt.
Mr. Fleming: That brings you back to section 7 does it not?
Mr. Cote: Yes, that is right, what would be the effect of section 7?
The Vice-Chairman: That one is standing at the present time.
Mr. Rinfret: Section 7 is standing is it?
The Vice-Chairman: Yes. We will go on to 28. Shall section 28 carry?
Carried.
Shall section 29 carry?—payment of moneys to custodian.
Carried.
Section 31, payment of bearer securities, shall that section carry?
Carried.
Section 32, shall that section carry?
Carried.
Shall section 33 carry?
Carried.
Section 34.
Mr. Fleming: Mr. Chairman, there is a point raised in the third clause of 

this section which deals with the currency which is paid to the custodian, “where 
any money is payable or becomes payable to any enemy by contract, law or 
custom or in any other manner in other than Canadian currency, it shall, unless 
the custodian allows or directs otherwise, be paid to the custodian in Canadian 
currency at the rate of exchange equal to the average cable transfer rate pre­
vailing in Canada during the month immediately preceding the commencement 
of the present war.” The question is, what rate is the prevailing rate? This 
provides that the rate at which money or currency is to be translated into Cana­
dian currency is at the rate of exchange equal to the average cable transfer rate 
during the month immediately preceding the commencement of the present war
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or at such rate as may be fixed by the Foreign Exchange Control Board. Now I 
assume that the first part of that has not been applied for a good many years 
now, and that the Foreign Exchange Control Board has been fixing a rate from 
time to time.

The Witness : Well, practically all debts which were due to the enemy have 
long since been paid and they were cleared at this rate of exchange as provided 
here, a rate of exchange equal to the average cable rate of exchange prevailing 
in Canada.

Mr. Fleming: Does that provision serve any useful purpose in 1947?
The Witness: I think we still might run across an old debt and one of our 

problems was the situation regarding the rate of exchange. I think it is necessary.
Mr. Fleming: What rate has the Foreign Exchange Control Board been 

applying in more recent transactions?
The Witness: Well I would have to inquire about that.
The Vice-Chairman : Have you any particular country in mind with your 

question? ,
Mr. Fleming: No, but it would be very difficult to strike a rate on some of 

thpse currencies.
The Vice-Chairman: I would judge that it is safeguarded in that para­

graph. I will have to trust to the controller.
Will we pass on to section 34?
Carried.
Shall section 35 carry?
Carried.
Shall section 36 carry?
The Witness: That was the one that was standing along with 27.
The Vice-Chairman: Oh yes, section 36 shall stand. Shall section 37 

carry?
Carried..
Section 38?
Mr. Fleming: Mr. Chairman, on section 38. The minister, when the ques­

tion of the disposal of the Japanese property was up in the House, said that no 
further real estate owned by persons of the Japanese race in Canada, in which 
they had an interest, would be disposed of without their consent.

The Witness: That applies to people of the Japanese race.
Mr. Fleming: Yes.
The Witness: The evacuated Japanese.
Mr. Probe: Has the present custodian power over the Japanese Canadian?
The Witness: Yes, but it is not under this bill, it is bill 104.
Mr. Fleming: But bill 104 applies to the custodian “mutatis mutandis” the 

regulations under this schedule. '
The Vice-Chairman : Shall section 38 carry?
Carried.
Section 39.
Carried.
Section 40.
Carried.
Section 41.
Carried.
Section 42.
Carried.
Section 43.
Carried.
Shall section 44 carry?
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Mr. Fleming: Mr. Chairman, 44 is-the section prescribing the fee that may 
be charged by the custodian that may not “exceed 2 percentum of the value of the 
property including the income therefrom”. I would like to ask what variations 
there have been from that maximum of 2 per cent. I am not asking for it in 
detail now but it might throw some light on the wisdom of continuing that 
particular form.

The Witness: I think there is a provision exactly similar to that in the 
United Kingdom. I think it is 3 per cent in the United States. It was not 
collected with respect to property of British subjects, Canadian and other 
British subjects residing in parts of the British Commonwealth which might have 
been invaded. As you well know, for five years the Channel Islands were under 
the control of the enemy. Similarly, Singapore, and certain parts of the far 
east. That is no charge was made with respect to those people who had been 
under the protection of the Union Jack or its local equivalent when their country 
or a particular area was overrun by no fault of theirs. In respect of British 
subjects who had elected to live in a foreign country which happened to be 
overrun the general rule is to charge approximately one per cent.

The Vice-Chairman: Shall section 44 carry?
Carried.
Mr. Fleming: Well the second clause there, Mr. Chairman, provides that 

“the custodian may employ such part of the property vested in him or the 
proceels therefrom as may be necessary the expenses incurred in the adminis­
tration of these regulations”. I do not want to ask any questions about that 
but it is just this sort of thing that we will have to watch in our review of the 
accounts later because these accounts have been outside the scope of public 
accounts entirely. The custodian under this provision was asking his own fees 
and expenditures.

The Vice-Chairman : Yes, well our reference is broad enough to cover that.

By Mr. Rinfret:
Q. Am I correct in saying this 2 per cent is charged on all properties vested 

in the custodian whether it is declared lafer on that it is not enemy property? 
—A. If it were declared later not to be enemy property it would not have to 
be paid.

Q. The Rothschild case in the Supreme Court decided against that. They 
decoded that Rothschild was responsible for 2 per cent even if his property 
was not declared enemy property.—A. Well I would not go quite that far.

Q. It is not the custom of the department to charge it when it is not 
declared enemy property.—A. No.

The Vice-Chairman : Shall section 45 carry?
Mr. Fleming: There is one line that bothers me, “the action of the custodian 

will be confined”. That is odd language.
The Witness: That was just to make it clear that he just has to keep the 

record. I think the intention was to make it quite clear that he was not, by 
recording, admitting any liability.

Mr. Fleming: Well, should it not be imperative?
The Vice-Chairman: It is, practically.
Mr. Fleming: Do you not think it should be “shall”?
The Witness: We will be quite willing to accept “shall”.
The Vice-Chairman: Moved by Mr. Fleming, seconded by Mr. Winkler 

that the word “will”, in line 38, shall be changed to “shall”.
Shall section 46 carry?
Carried.
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Shall section 47 carry?
Mr. Probe: With respect to 47, I presume that when this clause became 

effective, that is when war was declared there was some opportunity for persons 
who had claims for passage for relatives to record their claims against German 
transport companies.

The Witness: That is precisely the point I raised the other day in connec­
tion with the Hamburg-American line and the North German Lloyd, and I then 
pointed out these ticket offices, principally in Montreal and Toronto, were 
mere agents for the collection of money and they remitted payments which they 
took in each day to the New York office of the German lines. When the 
custodian came in, all they had was a lease of the premises and a few odd 
sticks of office furniture which was not sufficient to pay the rent and claims 
for wages. Well, in most cases they did have enough to pay the rent and 
wages and under the Bankruptcy Act we did make some representations to the 
Alien Property Custodian in the United States concerning these Canadian people 
who had prepaid their money for passages and he pointed out that under an 
Act of Congress he was precluded from entertaining claims-from persons outside 
the United States. I have since heard unofficially that the custodian’s staff in 
Washington is trying to obtain legislation which would enable them to deal with 
claims of that nature.

Mr. Probe: As far as your department is concerned you were willing and 
are willing to entertain a record of the claims even beyond the thirty days 
prescribed under the Act.

The Witness: Yes.
The Vice-Chairman: Shall section 50 carry?
Carried.
Section 51.
Carried.
Section 52.
Carried.
Section 53.
Carried.
Section 54.
Carried.
Section 55.
Carried.
Section 56.
Carried.
Section 57.
Carried.
Shall section 58 carry?
Mr. Fleming: Mr. Chairman, the shifting of the onus of proof here to 

the person claiming an interest in the property gives the custodian an advantage 
and I think we should have some evidence of substantiating the need of this 
in time of peace.

The Witness : I think this is really more important now than in time of 
war because the claims are only beginning to come in. People are claiming 
this property was not enemy property at all and it is really owned by someone 
in a neutral country and I would think the only way you could deal with it is 
having them substantiate the fact that it is Swiss property or Portuguese 
property and not German.

The Vice-Chairman: Shall section 58 carry?
Mr. Fleming: How about subsection 2?
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The Witness: That is evidence that they submit in respect to making an 
application or petition. They shall present certified copies or photostatic copies 
to satisfy us that it is not enemy property. The idea was those should be on 
the file for the future if any question ever arose about it.

The Vice-Chairman: Shall section 58 carry?
Carried.
Section 59.
Carried.
Section 60.
Carried.
Section 62.
Carried.
Section 63.
Carried.
Section 64.
Carried.
Section 65.
Carried.
Shall section 68 carry?
Mr. Fleming: 68, Mr. Chairman, why is that required now?
The Witness : I will have to look into that, if it might stand over with the 

others.
The Vice-Chairman: Section 68 will stand.
Shall 69 carry?
Carried.
Shall 70 carry?
Mr. Fleming: Is it desirable to designate the regulations in that form now 

that the statutory provisions take effect?
The Witness: I think section 70 could stand, we would like to talk that 

over.
The Vice-Chairman: Gentlemen, shall we adjourn until this afternoon at 

4.00 o’clock or will we carry over and give Doctor Coleman an opportunity of 
reviewing these sections?

Mr. Fleming: Doctor Coleman suggests he might have the weekend.
Mr. Stewart: I suggest Tuesday morning.
Mr. Fleming: At our next meeting, Mr. Chairman, we were going to confine 

ourselves to the sections that are being held over and start on these other matters 
afterwards?

The Vice-Chairman : We hope to do both.
Mr. Fleming: I was wondering if it would not be better at the next meeting 

to finish up the bill and at the next following meeting we could be prepared to 
discuss the other matters.

The Vice-Chairman: I suggest we clean up the schedule.
Mr. Fleming: Yes, but I was thinking our next main task is the reviewing 

of the accounts of the custodian and I would think we might save time if the 
steering committee met and discussed that point. We could easily waste a lot 
of time on that kind of an enquiry. My suggestion would be at the next meet­
ing we clean up the schedule and the bill, and the steering committee might plan 
the next phase of our program.

The Vice-Chairman : That is what I had in mind. We will follow that 
procedure. t

The meeting adjourned at 1.10 p.m. to meet again next Tuesday May 6.
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REPORT TO THE HOUSE

Tuesday, May 6, 1947
The Standing Committee on Public Accounts begs leave to present the 

following as a
Third Report

Your Committee has considered Bill No. 22, An Act to continue the Revised 
Regulations respecting Trading with the Enemy (1943), and has agreed to 
report it with amendments.

A reprint of the said Bill has been ordered.
All of which is respectfully submitted.

GORDON B. ISNOR,
Vice-Chairman.
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MINUTES OF PROCEEDINGS

Tuesday, May 6, 1947.

The Standing Committee on Public Accounts met at 11.30 o’clock a.m., the 
Vice-Chairman, Mr. Gordon B. Isnor, presiding.

Members present: Messrs. Burton, Boucher, Cleaver, Cockcram, Cote 
(Verdun), Cruickshank, Fleming, Fraser, Gladstone, Golding, Hamel, Harris 
(Danforth), Isnor, Jackman, Johnston, Kirk, Marshall, Pinard, Probe, Stewart 
(Winnipeg North), Stuart (Charlotte), Warren, Winkler.

In attendance: Dr. E. H. Coleman, C.M.G., K.C., Deputy Custodian of 
Enemy Property, and Mr. K. W. Wright, Counsel; Mr. D. H. W. Henry, 
Department of Justice.

The Committee resumed consideration of the Schedule to Bill 22, An Act 
to continue the Revised Regulations respecting Trading with the Enemy (1943).

Paragraph 1: On motion of Mr. Golding, subparagraph (k) was amended 
by the addition of the following words after the word enemy in the last thereof : 

; and for the purposes of this Regulation the war between His Majesty 
and the German Reich shall be deemed to have commenced on the second 
day of September, nineteen hundred and thirty-nine.

Paragraph 1, as amended, was adopted.

Paragraph 6: On motion of Mr. Golding, subparagraph (2) was amended 
by the deletion of the words the Secretary of State or in the second line thereof.

Paragraph 6, as amended, was adopted.

Paragraph 7, on motion of Mr. Golding, was deleted and the following 
substituted therefor:

7. No person shall be liable for any act or omission in the exercise 
or performance or purported exercise or performance, in good faith and 
on reasonable grounds, of any power, discretion, authority or duty 
conferred or imposed by or under these Regulations.

Paragraph 15: On motion of Mr. Fleming, subparagraph Gl) was amended
by the deletion of the word may in the first line thereof and the substitution 
therefor of the word shall.

On motion of Mr. Golding, paragraph 15 was further amended by the 
addition of the following:

(14) Notwithstanding anything in this Regulation, where the 
Secretary of State has made an order under this Regulation, any person 
affected by the order may, within fifteen days from the day on which he 
receives notice of the order, apply to a judge of the Exchequer Court of 
Canada or of a superior court in the province in which the business is 
situated, to review the order and the judge may thereupon confirm or 
set aside the order.

Paragraph 15, as amended, was adopted.
53
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Paragraph 27 : On motion of Mr. Golding, subparagraph (2) was deleted 
and the following substituted therefor:

(2) Any person may, not less then thirty days after giving the 
Custodian notice of his claim, proceed in the Exchequer Court of Canada 
for an order declaring that he is not an emeny and
(а) that the property held or controlled by the Custodian is not subject 

to these Regulations and he is the owner thereof or of an interest 
therein ; or

(б) that he was the owner of property or an interest in property immedi­
ately prior to its vesting in the Custodian under these Regulations ;

and if the Court makes such an order, the Court may thereupon direct 
the Custodian to deliver the property to the owner or to such other person 
as the Court may determine.

Paragraph 27, as amended, and paragraph 36 were adopted.

Paragraph 68, on motion of Mr. Golding, was deleted.

Paragraph 70 was adopted.

The Schedule, as amended, was adopted.

Clause one of the bill was adopted.

- On motion of Mr. Golding, Clause two was deleted and the following 
substituted therefor:

2. (1) The Revised Regulations Respecting Trading with the Enemy 
(.1943), set out in the Schedule to this Act, as established by an Order of 
the Governor in Council made under the IPar Measures Act on the 
thirteenth day of November, nineteen hundred and forty-three, and 
continued in force by an Order of the Governor in Council made on the 
twenty-eighth day of December, nineteen hundred and forty-five, under 
section four of The National Emergency Transitional Powers Act, 1945, 
and amended by an Order of the Governor in Council made on the 
fourteenth day of January, nineteen hundred and forty-seven, and by this 
Act shall, while this Act is in force, continue and be in. full force and effect.

(2) The Revised Regulations Respecting Trading with the Enemy 
(1943) shall be read and construed as if the following provisions had been 
duly enacted as amendments thereto to take effect from the commencement 
of this Act:

(a) Paragraph (k) of Regulation one is amended by adding 
thereto the following:

; and for the purposes of this Regulation the war between His 
Majesty and the German Reich shall be deemed to have com­
menced on the 2nd day of September, nineteen hundred and 
thirty-nine;
(b) Paragraphs (c) and (/) of Regulation three are revoked;
(c) Section (2) of Regulation six is revoked and the following

substituted therefor:
(2) Any power or duty conferred or imposed by or under 

these Regulations upon the Custodian may be delegated by him 
to such person or persons as he thinks proper. ;
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(d) Regulation seven is revoked and the following substituted 
therefor:

7. No person shall be liable for any act or omission in the 
exercise or performance or purported exercise or performance, in 
good faith and on reasonable grounds, of any power, discretion, 
authority or duty conferred or imposed by or under these 
Regulations.;
(e) Subparagraphs (i) and (ii) of paragraph (/) of Regulation 

eight are revoked and the following substituted therefor:
(1) whether the business is carried on for the benefit of or 

under the control of an enemy ;
(ii) the relations existing or which have, either before or 

after the commencement of the present war, existed between a 
person interested in the business and an enemy. ;
(/) Section (2) of Regulation eleven is revoked and the following 

substituted therefor:
(2) The power of the Secretary of State to appoint a super­

visor under this Regulation shall include a power to appoint a 
supervisor of the business carried on by any person for the 
purpose of ascertaining whether the business is carried on for the 
benefit of or under the control of an enemy, or for the purpose 
of ascertaining the relations existing, or which before the com­
mencement of the present war existed, between such person and 
any enemy.
(g) Section (11) of Regulation fifteen is revoked and the follow­

ing substituted therefor:
(11) The Secretary of State shall from time to time prepare 

and publish in the Canada Gazette lists of the persons as to whom 
orders have been made under this Regulation.;
(h) Regulation fifteen is amended by adding thereto the follow­

ing as section (14):
(14) Notwithstanding anything in this Regulation, where 

the Secretary of State has made an order under this Regulation, 
any person affected by the order may, within fifteen days from 
the day on which he receives notice of the order, apply to a 
judge of the Exchequer Court of Canada or of a superior court 
in the province in which the business is situated, to review the 
order and the judge may thereupon confirm or set aside the order. ;
(i) Regulation sixteen is revoked and the following substituted 

therefor:
16. Where, on the application of the Secretary of State, it 

appears to a judge of the Exchequer Court of Canada that a 
contract entered into prior to or after the commencement of the 
present war with an enemy or with a person in respect of whose 
business an order has been made under Regulation 15 of these 
Regulations is injurious to the public interest ,the judge may by 
order cancel or determine the contract either unconditionally or 
upon such conditions as he deems proper and thereupon such 
contract shall be deemed to be cancelled or determined 
accordingly. ;
O’) Regulation twenty-five is revoked;
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(k) Section (2) of Regulation twenty-seven is revoked and the 
following substituted therefor:

(2) Any person may, not less than ninety days after giving 
the Custodian notice of his claim, proceed in the Exchequer 
Court of Canada for an order declaring that he is not an enemy
and
(a) that the property held or controlled by the Custodian is not 

subject to these Regulations and he is the owner thereof or 
of an interest therein ; or

(b) that he was the owner of property or an interest in property 
immediately prior to its vesting in the Custodian under 
these Regulations ;

and if the Court makes such an order, the Court may thereupon 
direct the Custodian to deliver the property to the owner or to such 
other person as the Court may determine ;

(i) Section (21 of Regulation forty-five is revoked and the 
following substituted therefor :

(21 Any person desiring to record such claims or property 
may obtain the necessary forms for that purpose from the 
Custodian but the action of the Custodian shall be confined to 
entering upon the record claims of which particulars are supplied 
to him, and it shall in no way commit the Custodian or the 
Government of Canada cither to responsibility for the correct­
ness of the claim entered or to taking action on the conclusion 
of hostilities or otherwise for the recovery of the claim or 
property in question. ;
(m) Regulation 68 is revoked.

On motion of Mr. Golding, Clause three was deleted and the following 
substituted therefor:

3. The Custodian appointed by the Revised Regulations Respecting 
Trading with the Enemy (1943) shall, as soon as possible after the 31st 
day of December in each year and in any event within three months 
thereof, prepare an Annual Report of the affairs and operations of the 
Custodian’s Office during the twelve month period ending on the 31st day 
of December, and the Secretary of State shall forthwith lay the said 
Report before Parliament if Parliament is then in session or within fifteen 
days of the commencement of the next session of Parliament.

Clause four, the preamble and the title were adopted.
The Bill, as amended, was adopted and the Vice-Chairman ordered to 

report to the House accordingly.
On motion of Mr. Fraser:
Ordered,—That the Bill, as amended, be reprinted.
At 12.10 o’clock p.m. the Committee adjourned to meet at the call of 

the Chair.
A. L. BURGESS,

Clerk of the Committee.



MINUTES OF EVIDENCE

House of Commons,
May 6, 1947.

The Standing Committee on Public Accounts met this day at 11.30 a.m. 
The Vice-Chairman, Mr. Gordon B. Isnor, presided.

The Vice-Chairman : Now, gentlemen, we have a quorum and we will at 
once proceed with the business before us. An inquiry was made of me this 
morning as to when I thought this bill would be ready to report and, knowing 
the members of the committee, and appreciating the manner in which they have 
cooperated, I took the liberty of saying that we would report this bill this 
afternoon. Mr. Probe, as usual, smiles. My thought is that I at once place 
before you the unfinished sections and those which have beeit stood over. They 
are eight in number, only, so I think I will be able to report the bill unless we 
run across some unexpected obstacles.

Mr. Golding: Would you give us a list of the sections concerned?
The Vice-Chairman: Yes, paragraph 1, subsection (fc) ; Paragraph 6, sub­

section (2); paragraph 7; paragraph 15; paragraph 27; paragraph 36; para­
graph 68; paragraph 70.
Mr. Fleming asked that certain of these paragraphs be stood aside and others 
were stood aside in order that Dr. Coleman might give them some study over 
the week-end. Shall we take up first paragraph 1, subsection (fc).

Dr. E. H. Coleman, C.M.G., K.C., recalled :

The Witness: After consultation with the officers of the Department of 
Justice we propose that the committee approve, and that the members move, 
that we add thereto the following, that is, paragraph (fc) of regulation 1 is 
amended by adding thereto:—

And for the purpose of this regulation the war between His Majesty 
and the German Reich shall be deemed to have commenced on the second 
day of September, nineteen hundred and thirty-nine.

The regulations which were first passed under a state of apprehended war 
were made applicable from the second day of September. The subsequent 
regulations which were passed after war was declared were likewise made 
applicable from the second day of September, 1939, and it would have a rather 
disastrous effect on the regulations if that amendment were not to be made 
here.

May I ask why the second of September was chosen?
The day before war was declared.
By Britain and France?
Yes, after the invasion of Poland.
The invasion of Poland commenced on the first of

Mr. Fleming: 
The Witness: 
Mr. Fleming: 
The Witness: 
Mr. Fleming: 

September.
The Witness :

first.
Yes, and Britain and France presented their notes on the

57
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Mr. Fleming: If I may ask, why does Dr. Coleman choose the first?
The Witness: I did not choose it, it was chosen at the time and it has been 

operating on that basis. I think there was still some hope on the first that there 
might be a withdrawal and it was not until the second that it became clear the 
invasion was underway.

The Vice-Chairman: For the benefit of the latecomers, particularly Mr. 
Stewart, I would say that we are now dealing with subsection (k) of section 1, 
and an amendment has been proposed by Dr. Coleman to cover the point raised 
by Mr. Stewart.

The Witness: The amendment is, “and for the purposes of this regulation 
the war between His Majesty and the German Reich shall be deemed to have 
commenced on the second day of September, 1939.”

The Vice-Chairman : Is the amendment agreeable? Shall the amendment 
carry?

Carried.
The next item is paragraph 6, subsection (2).
The Witness : In connection with this matter I have had the advantage 

of conferring with the minister and it would be agreeable, if the committee 
approves, to stroke out the words “The secretary of state or”.

Mr. Burton: Whereabouts is that?
The Witness: Page 5.
The Vice-Chairman: Yes, page 5.
The Witness : Paragraph 2 of regulation 6 is revoked and the following 

substituted therefor:
(2) Any power or duty conferred or imposed by or under these 

regulations upon the custodian may be delegated by him to such person 
or persons as he thinks proper.

That is, any of the powers out of the ordinary under these regulations, provid­
ing for the exercise of such powers by the Secretary of State. It is actually 
taken care of by the section of the interpretation Act. The department feels 
it is not necessary to have it in any longer.

The Vice-Chairman: Is it agreeable?
Mr. Fleming: It does not touch the matter of delegation as far as the cus­

todian is concerned, and while I don’t want to be dogmatic about this, it seems 
to me important powers like this, conferred on the custodian, should not be open 
to unlimited delegation. I agree that the amendment proposed helps a good 
deal, but I think there should have been some limit imposed on the extent of 
powers of delegation.

Mr. Cote: Would you have any suggestions to offer?
Mr. Fleming: What I suggested when this item was reached at an earlier 

meeting was that the power of those delegations should be confined to certain 
individuals like the deputy assistant. Actually, as I understand it, the powers of 
the custodian under the regulation have never been exercised as a result of 
delegation by more than about two officials.

The Witness: Other than the inspectors and so forth.
Mr. Fleming: These individuals derive their powers under other sections 

of the regulations and not by delegation under subsection (21 of section 6. Now, 
here, unlimited power of delegation is being preserved in time of peace where, 
even in time of war, it was not necessary' to have the power of delegation extend 
beyond a couple of officials of the department.

Mr. Johnston: What is the purpose of having the power in here.
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The Vice-Chairman : I think Dr. Coleman explained that at the last meet­
ing. 'Would you enlarge upon it again, doctor?

The Witness: It is a pure matter of administration. The custodian him­
self cannot possibly do all the things in his own person, things which he is 
required to do under the regulations, and he has to appoint agents or officials 
to do those things for him.

Mr. Johnston: It has been suggested he never used the powers during the 
war and is not likely to use them again.

The Witness: No, that is not quite correct. He has given limited powers 
of delegation to certain people but the only people to whom he gave general 
powers happened to be the deputy custodian and the assistant custodian, but 
he gave them plenty. In specific matters he gave limited powers to various 
people.

The Vice-Chairman: Shall paragraph 6, subsection (2) carry?
Carried.
The Witness: As a matter of technical procedure, a representative of the 

Department of Justice has asked me if you would give consideration to a motion 
in the form which I read a minute ago,

Paragraph (2) of regulation 6 is revoked and the following substi­
tuted therefor:

(2) Any power or duty conferred or imposed by or under these 
regulations upon the custodian may be delegated by him to such 
person or persons as he thinks proper.

The object in that is to comply with ordinary parliamentary practice when 
a section is altered.

Agreed.
The Vice-Chairman: The next is section 7.
The Witness: This regulation, No. 7, which was held over, was carefully 

considered by the department, together with the representatives of the Depart­
ment of Justice, and it is proposed to revoke that regulation and put in a 
substitution which reads,

7. No person shall be liable for any act or omission in the 
exercise or performance or purported exercise or performance, in good 
faith and on reasonable grounds, of any power, discretion, authority or 
duty conferred or imposed by or under these regulations.

I understand that is substantially the amendment as made in bill 104 and in two 
or three of the orders in council which were covered there.

The Vice-Chairman: Mr. Fleming raised that point. Is that agreeable 
to you, Mr. Fleming?

Mr. Fleming: Well, if one might have seen the important amendments 
of that kind together, it would have made it easier to follow. I think, as far as 
I can tell at the moment, that it meets some of the objections, but you will 
remember that section was tied up with some points raised in connection with 
sections 27 and 36. If we could see all of them together it might help in 
following each of them.

The Vice-Chairman: Gentlemen, I am sorry but I have not sufficient 
quantities to pass around. Mr. Fleming raised this point, and if you will not 
misunderstand me. I will pass this copy which I have along to Mr. Fleming. It 
has been suggested that we deal with 7, and 27 together. We will pass up 15 
and come back to it later. Will you read regulations 7 and 27 together, gentle­
men? You will find 27 on page 12.
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The Witness: The proposal is that paragraph (2) of regulation 27 is 
revoked and the following substituted therefor:

(2) Any person may, not less than ninety days after giving the cus­
todian notice of his claim, proceed in the Exchequer Court of Canada for 
an order declaring that he is not an enemy and
(a) that property held or controlled by the custodian is not subject 

to these regulations and he is the owner thereof or of an interest 
therein; or

(b) that he was the owner of property or an interest in property immedi­
ately prior to its vesting in the custodian under these regulations;

and if the court makes such an order, the court may thereupon direct 
the custodian to deliver the property to the owner or to such other person 
as the court may determine.

The vital section is of course in ihe last part, “and if the court makes such 
an order, the court may thereupon direct the custodian to deliver the property 
to the owner or to such other person as the court may determine.

Mr. Fleming: Mr. Chairman, may I ask is there any amendment pro­
posed to regulation 36?

The Witness: It was thought, if regulations 7 and 27 were adopted in the 
amended form it would obviate any necessity of amending regulation No. 36. 
My colleague, Mr. Henry of the Department of Justice is here and he might 
have a word or two to say about it.

Mr. Fleming: What about the question that I raised at the last meeting? 
Does it prevent a defendant in an action commenced in the Exchequer Court 
or an action commenced by the Custodian, to counter-claim?

The Witness: It seems to be the opinion of the Department of Justice 
that would be involved in any case.

Mr. Fleming: Would Mr. Henry speak up?
Mr. Henry: I do not like to say dogmatically that the individual would 

have a right to counter-claim in the same action in the Exchequer Court, but, 
if section 7 as amended is adopted, he would have a right of action according 
to law for the remedy which he is seeking in whatever court has jurisdiction to 
entertain it. We have not limited it to any court whatsoever. I would not 
like to say he could proceed by way of counter-claim in the Exchequer Court 
in an action brought by the custodian under section 36, but he would have a 
remedy if the Exchequer Court has jurisdiction. Then he could proceed. Also 
he could proceed in any other court in an action instituted by himself.

Mr. Fleming: He might conceivably be thwarted by the time limit in 
section 27. I do not suppose the custodian is going to take a severe stand 
with respect to the time limit, but suppose the ninety days has gone by and 
no action has been taken by the individual and the custodian then takes action 
against him. I think under those circumstances it would be fair to allow him to 
make his counter-claim. I think Dr. Coleman indicated in the last meeting 
that in no case had the custodian insisted on his rights under the section 
requiting that notice to be given within the ninety-dify period. Now. so long 
as that practice is followed by the custodian, I suppose there is no serious 
difficulty that could arise without a specific provision for making a counter­
claim.

Mr. Henry: I think, Mr. Fleming, I am right in saying this. There are 
cases in which the Crown, quite apart from these regulations, can proceed in 
its own court, the Exchequer Court, where there is no provision for the subject 
to bring action himself in that particular type of claim against the Crown and 
you have there the same proposition. The situation is usually worked out by
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the Crown, in that case, bringing its action in the court where the subject 
himself can bring a counter-claim. The situation is not much different in this
case.

Mr. Fleming: I think these amendments, Mr. Chairman, are a big 
improvement.

The Vice-Chairman: Well, gentlemen, shall the sections carry, sections 
7, 27 and 36?

Carried.
. The Vice-Chairman: We will go back to 15, on page 8, the appointment 

of controller.
The Witness: I think you have covered, if I may say so, sir, all the 

subsections until (11), where it was proposed by a member of the committee 
that the word “may” should be altered to the word “shall”.

The Vice-Chairman: That change was made.
The Witness : We propose that paragraph (11) of regulation 15 be revoked 

and the following substituted therefor: “(11) The Secretary of State shall from 
time to time prepare and publish in the Canada Gazette lists of the persons 
as to whom orders have been made under this regulation.”

And then the other point raised in connection with regulation (14) was 
dealt with by adding thereto the following:

(14) Notwithstanding anything in this regulation where the Secretary 
of State has made an order under this regulation, any person affected 
by the order may, within fifteen days from the day on which he received 
notice of the order, apply to a judge of the Exchequer Court of Canada 
or of a superior court in the province in which the business is situated, 
to review the order and the judge may thereupon confirm or set aside the 
order.

That would meet the objection which was made.
Mr. Fleming: May I ask on what ground the judge may proceed under 

the proposed subclause?
The Witness: The view of the Department of Justice is that he would 

then put himself in the position of the Secretary of State and hear evidence 
if there were grounds upon which that order had been made and should be 
confirmed.

The Vice-Chairman: Shall the section carry?
Carried.
Then there is 68 on page 21.
Mr. Fleming: Mr. Chairman, what about this new section 16 that was 

proposed?
The Vice-Chairman: Was not that passed the other day?
The Witness : Yes, it covers all the ones that were passed. Now the 

proposals of the officers of the minister are that we revoke section 68.
The Vice-Chairman: Shall section 68 be revoked?
Carried.
The Vice-Chairman: What about section 70?
The Witness: That was held over for technical reasons in the event of 

the bill changing the year of the regulations. Our proposal is that it continue 
in these words and the main form of the bill be conformatory to the regulations 
of 1943. If that clause of the bill is accepted we would want regulation 70 
to be retained.
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Mr. Fleming: I may be dense on this, but I still do not see the cause for 
retaining 70. Surely from now on reference is going to be to this bill by whatever 
bill may appear as an Act of parliament, and all reference will be made to the 
schedule of the statute. Therefore I do not see any reason now for retaining 
the designation for the schedule other than that it should be referred to as the 
schedule of the statute.

Mr. Henry: Mr. Fleming, the only purpose of the bill is to continue the 
order in council in force without allowing it to expire, as will the other orders in 
council not continued in force and which were passed under the War Measures 
Act and which will remain in force by virtue of an order made under, the War 
Emergency Powers Act. The name of the regulations is “revised regulations 
respecting trading with the enemy, (1943)” and they are to be considered or 
deemed to be amended by this Act in the same way that orders in council appear­
ing in bill 104 were deemed to be amended by the parliamentary amendments 
written into the schedule of the Act. Now, all you have done here is that you 
have printed regulations under the schedule as it has been practical to do, but 
it has not been practical to do so under bill 104, and you are continuing these 
regulations in force. Now we are trying to show amendments which parliament 
has made somewhere in the bill and it is an unwieldy thing to have to do. The 
amendments must be shown in the bill and if you change the date of the regu­
lations you then have a new set of regulations and it is difficult to show the 
amendments to them because if you were to call them by date, 1947, you have 
a completely new set of regulations, not the old set as amended by parliament.

Mr. Fleming: It is not a matter, perhaps, of supreme importance.
Mr. Henry : No, it is just a matter of a practical set-up of the bill.
The Vice-Chairman: Shall the section carry?
Carried.
Now, gentlemen, we will deal with the bill itself. The short title, shall it 

carry?
Carried.
Section 2.
The Witness: Under 2 it is proposed, if agreeable to the committee, that 

the present regulation 2, with the addition of two or three words, shall be para­
graph (1) of section 2.

2(1) The revised regulations respecting trading with the enemy 
(1943), set out in the schedule to this Act, as established by an order 
of the Governor in Council made under the War Measures Act on the 
thirteenth day of November, nineteen hundred and forty-three, and 
continued in force by an order of the Governor in Council made on the 
twenty-eighth day of December, nineteen hundred and forty-five, under 
section four of the National Emergency Transitional Powers Act, 1945, 
and amended by an order of the Governor in Council made on the four­
teenth day of January, nineteen hundred and forty-seven, and by this 
Act shall, while this Act is in force, continue and be in full force and 
effect subject to amendment under this Act.

Mr. Fleming: That is just incorporating the amendment here.
The Witness: Yes. Then it is proposed to put in subsection (2):

(2) The revised regulations respecting trading with the enemy (1943' 
shall be read and constructed as if the following provisions had been duly 
enacted as amendments thereto to take effect from the commencement of 
this Act.

And then it is proposed, if the committee approves, to set out fully all the 
amendments, am I right, Mr. Henry, right in the body of the bill.
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Mr. Fleming: Mr. Chairman, if the matter is open for discussion, no doubt, 
it will be said that there is a precedent for this sort of thing in the omnibus bill, 
but personally I do not like the precedent. I think it is a very cumbersome and 
unwieldy method of legislating. I do not know why we should not be making our 
own amendments under these regulations as though this schedule is what a 
schedule normally is, part of a bill, and appended to the bill for special reasons. 
Here we are showing the schedule as part of the bill and it is deemed to have 
force and effect of law, then we go and in another section we say, “no, that is 
not just so, it is a schedule as printed, but it is not the law.” Having said in 
paragraph (1) it is the law, then we say we will make more amendments under 
subsection (2). Now surely that is, on the face of it, a most cumbersome and 
unwieldy type of manner in which to legislate. We are trying to make our 
legislation as simple and direct as possible. If that is so, why do we not say in 
the bill that the second schedule is the law and write the schedule in terms of the 
law as it is to be after we have finished with the amendments.

Mr. Henry : Mr. Chairman, that is what we intend to do. The amendments 
must be shown in the Art to show what parliament has done because you are not 
setting up a new set of regulations, you are continuing the old ones in force.

Mr. Fleming: Would not that be taken care of in the reprint of the bill in 
the schedule?

Mr. Henry : Yes. Your schedule will be complete, that will be the schedule 
as amended by parliament.

The Vice-Chairman : Mr. Fleming’s point is if they are reprinted as 
amended by this committee why is there a necessity to add this third 'clause?

Mr. Fleming: Well, it is clause (2) of section 2.
Mr. Henry : The reason for that is to show the amendments which parlia­

ment has made.
Mr. Fleming: On the basis of Mr. Henry’s explanation, it is at least 

repetition, because these regulations will come to an end on the 15th of May, 
in any event.

Mr. Henry: Yes.
Mr. Fleming: What we are trying to do now is to legislate something that 

will take its place after May 15.
Mr. Henry: You are continuing in force the order in council and parliament 

has said they wished certain changes made and the changes which parliament 
has recommended are shown in the bill and for convenience we print the complete 
regulation as amended and not the schedule. It was not practical to do that in 
the case of bill 104, but here we have something to continue, at least we presume 
it will continue, until "the peace treaties are signed, and how long that will be 
we do not know.

Mr. Fleming: Let us be quite clear on this. The official version of the 
revised regulations respecting trading with the enemy shall be in force and 
effect from the date of enactment of this bill and after that the official version 
is to be the schedule appended to the bill.

Mr. Henry : That is correct.
Mr. Fleming: And there will not be any question of going back to the 

order in council?
Mr. Henry: No, you do not have to read the amendment because the 

schedule will be correct.
Mr. Fleming: But we do not want to have a situation like we have with 

respect to bill 104, where you have to go back to the Privy Council to get the 
original order in council. Now, just one question, Mr. Chairman, do the words 
in what will be subsection (1) of section 2 continue as before, “and be in full 
force and effect subject to amendment under this Act”?
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Mr. Henry: That is correct.
Mr. Fleming: I might as well say I do not like the idea that is embodied 

in that phrase, and also in section 3. I do not think we ought, speaking as 
members of parliament now, to be continuing a power of the Governor in 
Council to make or change the regulations which now give force to statute as a 
schedule to this Act. The reason given is that changes may be necessary in the 
light of the peace treaties. Well, surely that situation can be dealt with by 
parliament when the treaties are presented to parliament for ratification. If 
there are any changes necessary in this measure, assuming it is then statute 
law, any other parliament can make it at that time. I do not believe parliament 
ought to be saying, “All light, we will make these regulations today and we 
will give them force and effect of statute but in case there are some treaties 
of peace presented later on to parliament and some changes may be necessary 
then, we will now give the Governor in Council power to change those regulations 
which are part of this Act”. Surely to goodness when parliament comes to deal 
with the ratification of those peace treaties parliament can say what changes 
ought to be made in the provisions of this Act. For my part I think we ought 
to cut out those words in section 2, now subsection (1), the subject of amendment 
to this Act, and I think we ought to cut out section 3 from the bill entirely.

The Vice-Chairman: Dealing with the words in section 2, Mr. Fleming, 
what words do you refer to particularly?

Mr. Fleming: The last line, “subject to amendment under this Act”.
The Vice-Chairman: Would not this Act more or less automatically go out 

of force when the peace treaties are signed?
Mr. Fleming: They would only go out of force and effect subject to the 

terms of the peace treaties and the measure by which parliament proposed to 
give those peace treaties force and effect under the law in Canada.

The Vice-Chairman: What would you say to that, Mr. Henry?
The Witness: Well, I have had the opportunity, while you have been 

talking, to discuss this with Mr. Henry. This bill, as you understand, has been 
prepared by the officers of the law but I now think we would be prepared to 
drop it altogether.

Mr. Fleming: And with it, the words “subject to amendment under this 
Act” in subsection (1) of section 2.

The Witness: Yes.
The Vice-Chairman: Section 3 is deleted.
Carried.
The Witness: Then we have another suggestion to make, sir, for the time 

when this will be discussed by the House of Commons.
The Vice-Chairman: Let us have it now.
The Witness: The Secretary of State lias no objection to the custodian 

being required to file an annual report and it is proposed to insert in the bill 
the following:

The custodian appointed by the revised regulations respecting trading 
with the enemy (1943) shall, as soon as possible after the 31st day of 
December in each year and in any event within three months thereof, 
prepare an annual report of the affairs and operations of the custodian’s 
office during the twelve month period ending on the 31st day of December, 
and the Secretary of State shall forthwith lay the said report before 
parliament if parliament is then in session or within fifteen days of the 
commencement of the next session of parliament.

Mr. Fleming: I am glad to have that.
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The Vice-Chairman : Would that be No. 3 now?
The Witness : Yes.
Mr. Fleming: I would be very happy to move that.
The Vice-Chairman : The new provision would now be known as No. 3. 
The Witness : Yes.
The Vice-Chairman : Shall the proposed section No. 3 carry?
Carried.
The next is section 4, “Duration”. Shall the section carry?
Carried.
Shall the Act carry?
Carried.
Shall I report the bill?
Carried.
A motion to reprint is in order.
Mr. Fraser: I so move.
The Vice-Chairman: Moved by Mr. Fraser, seconded by Mr. Cote, that 

the bill be reprinted.
And now a motion that the bill as amended be reported to the House?
A Hon. Member: Moved.
Carried.
The Vice-Chairman: Thank you very much, gentlemen, we will adjourn

now.
The committee adjourned at 12.10 p.m. to meet again at the call of the 

chair.
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MINUTES OF PROCEEDINGS
Thursday, May 8, 1947.

The Standing Committe on Public Accounts met at 11.30 o’clock a.m., 
the Vice-Chairman, Mr. Gordon B. Isnor, presiding.

Members present: Messrs. Boucher, Burton, Cockeram, Cote (Verdun), 
Cruickshank, Fleming, Gladstone, Golding, Grant, Green, Isnor, Jaenicke, Kirk, 
Marshall, Pinard, Probe, Raymond (Wright), Rinfret, Stewart (Winnipeg 
North), Stuart (Charlotte), Thatcher, Warren, Winkler.

In attendance: Dr. E. H. Coleman, C.M.G., K.C., Deputy Custodian of 
Enemy Property, Mr. F. G. Shears, Director, Vancouver Office, and Mr. K. W. 
Wright, Counsel.

The Chairman presented the Second Report of the Steering Committee, 
which is as follows:

Your Steering Committee met on Tuesday, May 6, and begs to present 
the following as a Second Report:

It is recommended that the Committee proceed immediately with an 
inquiry into the administration of the Regulations respecting Trading with 
the Enemy, in accordance with its Order of Reference dated April 30. It is 
also recommended that the various subjects be dealt with in the following order :

1. Examination of the Officer in charge of the Vancouver office of the
Custodian, Mr. F. G. Shears;

2. Review of the administration of the property of illegal organizations ;
3. Investigation of the Ottawa office of the Custodian ;
4. Examination of the Custodian’s accounts.
Mr. Burton moved that a representative of the Cooperative Committee on 

Japanese Canadians be invited to appear before the Committee.
After discussion, it was agreed that Mr. Burton’s motion be referred to 

the Steering Committee.
Mr. Shears was called, heard and questioned.
Mr. Shears filed a copy of a registration form completed by persons of the 

Japanese race having property in any protected area, which is printed as 
Appendix A to this day’s minutes of proceedings and evidence.

Mr. Shears filed a copy of Catalogue of Real Property for Sale by Public 
Tender, issued by The Custodian, Vancouver, B.C., and dated June 19, 1943.

At 1.00 o’clock p.m. the Committee adjourned until Friday, May 9, at 
11.30 o’clock a.m.

A. L. BURGESS, 
Clerk of the Committee.
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MINUTES OF EVIDENCE
House of Commons,

The Standing Committee on Public Accounts met this day at 11.30 a.m. 
The Vice-Chairman, Mr. Gordon B. Isnor, presided.

The Vice-Chairman : Order, please. The first order of business today is to 
receive a report from the steering committee which met on Tuesday, May 6; and 
I shall ask the clerk to read that report.

(See minutes of proceedings).
Now, gentlemen, it is moved by Mr. Golding and seconded by Mr. Fleming 

that the report as read be adopted.
Mr. Burton: Mr. Chairman, I regret that at the meeting of the steering 

committee I did not have all the information I required, otherwise I would have 
moved my motion at that time; but with your permission I would like to move 
now that a representative of the Cooperative Committee on Japanese-Canadians 
be invited to appear before this Public Accounts committee.

The Vice-Chairman: Gentlemen, you have heard the report of the steering 
committee; is it approved?

Carried.
Now, you have heard Mr. Burton’s motion with regard to Japancse-Cana- 

dians. Shall we pass that on to the steering committee?
Mr. Golding: I suggest, Mr. Chairman, that matters of that kind should be 

dealt with by the steering committee.
The Chairman : I think that is the general procedure.
Mr. Fleming: Perhaps I am at fault in this matter. As a matter of fact I 

was late in getting to the meeting of the steering committee; it had just about 
adjourned; but I was interested in that same question. I have had some com­
munications from that committee. I was tempted to open up the question of 
how far and in what direction we proposed to go in reference to this present 
inquiry. It certainly would not be practicable for this committee to undertake a 
review of individual cases or individual claims of which there must be a great 
many. In this committee we will have to give some consideration to administra­
tion conducted in this matter by the custodian’s office, and it may be that we 
shall have some recommendations to make concerning the treatment of claims 
that may be made by some of these persons. I know there are some claims in 
the process of being made and which have been under consideration by the gov­
ernment. What kind of forum should be appointed to deal with such claims, or 
what should be the scope of the powers of that body is a matter of consideration ; 
but if we can shorten the labours of this committee by having an organized pre­
sentation of views on behalf of those who may have been affected by tbe admin­
istration of the custodian’s office, I think that would be infinitely better than 
having a number of individuals come forward with presentations and individual 
experiences; and others who would not have those views at all.

It seems to me that to achieve a full understanding of this problem we will 
want some presentation of views from people representing the interest wc are
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concerned with. I think that we will make time in the long run and hear a more 
complete presentation of the whole case, perhaps, if we invite these organizations 
to send a representative along to a meeting to put forth their views.

The Vice-Chairman : I think we would be following the general practice if 
we refer not only this but similar questions to the steering committee. There 
will be others which we will have to decide; requests with regard to the calling 
of witnesses. I do not think we are in a position to make that decision until 
we have heard the statement which will be made by Mr. Shears and others who 
will appear before the committee, as outlined in the report. Is that agreeable 
to honourable members?

Mr. Burton : Mr. Chairman, that will be quite acceptable to me. As I 
pointed out at the beginning had I had this information at the time I would 
have made a motion in the steering committee.

The Vice-Chairman: Gentlemen, you have heard Mr. Burton’s motion. 
Shall it be referred to the steering committee?

Carried.
Now, following your recommendation of approval I shall call on Mr. 

Shears as the first witness. You will recall that at our meeting of April 28 we had 
before us the Secretary of State, Hon. Mr. Gibson, and Dr. E. H. Coleman. 
Dr. Coleman made a complete statement and a very interesting one, and it. was 
agreed at that time that he be allowed to complete his statement before being 
questioned. I suggest that we might follow the same procedure now, because it 
worked so satisfactorily before, and that we allow Mr. Shears to make his state­
ment before we question him. Is that agreeable to the committee?

Carried.

Frank G. Shears, Director of the Office of the Custodian, Vancouver, 
called :

The Witness: Mr. Chairman and gentlemen, as director of the office of the 
custodian at Vancouver I am pleased to have an opportunity of presenting a 
brief summary of the general administration and liquidation of Real Property 
and of the problems in regard to personal effects of the Japanese who were 
evacuated from the protected area. It was as a result of the policy of evacua­
tion that the control and management of all property left in the protected area 
had to be administered by the custodian. The protected area is defined by a 
government order. Briefly, it extends along the whole of the coastline for several 
hundred miles and into the interior, roughly bounded by the Cascade mountains. 
In addition to that it takes in Vancouver island, the Queen Charlotte island', and 
other small islands known as the Gulf islands. In that area there were approxi­
mately 1,700 parcels of real property which were owned by Japanese or in which 
the Japanese had an equitable interest ; and in addition to that, of course, there 
were the businesses and household economy of approximately 22,000 Japanese 
who resided in that area, many of them not living in their own property but 
in rented homes or in rooms. Many of them were concentrated in small areas 
as, for instance, in the city of Vancouver, in one particular section. Others lived 
in fishing villages, for example, Steveston, about twenty miles from Vancouver. 
Then there was a considerable group who lived and made their livelihood in the 
Fraser Valley, on both the north and south sides of the river ; and in addition 
to them there were the Japanese who were located here and there in isolated 
places throughout that protected area. Now, their property became vested in 
the custodian, either upon registration by themselves or automatically when 
they were evacuated and left that protected area.
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During the period of evacuation which lasted several months—I think it 
was September or October before it was really finally completed—there did exist 
in the minds of the Japanese a considerable amount of confusion; they were 
not quite sure, so to speak, which way they were going: some of them were 
reluctant to place their affairs in the hands of the custodian, and quite a number 
of transactions were arranged by themselves during that period. Many of them 
had confectionery stores, fruit stores, dry cleaning establishments, dressmaking 
places, and they considered it desirable in their own interests that they should 
make their own arrangements for the disposition of their own businesses. 
Several hundreds of that type of property did change hands by the Japanese own 
negotiations.

By Mr. Gladstone:
Q. You said September or October ; September or October of which year?— 

A. 1942. The evacuation commenced in March, 1942, but it continued to 
September and October 1942. I think it is true to say that in that period when 
many of these Japanese were making such arrangements certain sections of the 
general public took advantage of the situation and the Japanese disposed of 
property at prices which probably were not adequate. In any case, up to that 
point the custodian was not in the picture.

Q. What was the date of Pearl Harbour?—A. December 7, 1941. In order 
that the custodian might secure correct and adequate information with regard 
to all this property which was being left in this area a form was prepared for 
use in registration. I would like you to understand that this registration was not 
compulsory, it was purely voluntary. The statement made by them reads as 
follows: “I, the undersigned, hereby voluntarily turn over to the custodian all 
my property in the protected area as set out above ...” and it goes on further 
and says, “I certify that the above information is true and complete and fullv 
discloses all my property of every description in any protected area in British 
Columbia ...”

(Form appears as Appendix “A”.)
Now, unfortunately, from the custodian’s point of view these registrations 

were not always true, and very often they were not complete. In a considerable 
number of instances they were certainly not accurate; and for the most part 
they were all inadequate. That is a fact without a shadow of doubt.

Mr. Pinard: What do you mean when you say they were not true?
The Witness: The statements the Japanese made in regard to what property 

they were leaving, the location and so forth, as subsequent events proved, were 
not correct. I will not say it was done deliberately ; but the information on 
which the custodian had to base some of his initial work was largely taken from 
this form, and he was not supplied in many cases with correct and adequate 
information.

By Mr. Cockeram:
Q. Do you mean a description of the property?—A. Yes, a description of 

the property that he was leaving in the hands of the custodian.
Q. Does that include personal property?—A. Real property and personal 

property. There were a few exceptions which I will mention a little later on. 
Broadly stated, I am speaking of real and personal property.

By Mr. Boucher:
Q. It did not include money or securities?—A. No. As a matter of fact, 

it excluded money, bonds, stocks, shares, certificates and fishing vessels.
The Vice-Chairman: AVe will have this tabled before us.
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Mr. Fleming: Will it be printed in the proceedings?
The Vice-Chairman: If that is the wish of the committee.
The Witness: I think, perhaps, you might look at some other exhibits which 

I have. In regard to real property, gentlemen, the securing of information in 
regard to same, was not of course particularly difficult. We were able to secure 
information from the Land Registry offices and municipal authorities, and those 
departments co-operated in a very fine way. We were able to obtain 
the necessary information regarding ownership of Japanese real estate.

The first thing which we did was to appoint inspectors who would inspect 
these properties and make reports to our office. These inspections had to be 
made in a somewhat rapid and cursory manner, of course, and then, based upon 
these investigation reports, agents were appointed for the administration of 
those properties. These Japanese were being moved out of their homes. In 
some cases they had found a tenant for their property and in some cases they 
had not. It became one of our first responsibilities to find tenants for those 
properties and that was done fairly rapidly. There were very few properties 
that after a medium length of time were not occupied and revenue-bearing. As 
a matter of fact, the approximate amount of revenues which the custodian has 
collected from these properties was about $550.000.

There was another type of property which the custodian had to deal with 
and that was the farms which I have mentioned situated in the Fraser Valley. 
There were somewhat over 700 of them. The situation was this, that at the time 
the Japanese were being evacuated the crops were already growing. For the 
most part these Japanese were members of co-operatives, and with the assistance 
of the management of these co-operatives the Japanese themselves entered into 
negotiations with white people under which they leased their farms; these 
farms were half an acre or one acre or five acres—small farms—berry-growing 
farms. The Japanese made arrangements to lease their property for one 
year for an amount including the value of the growing crop. In that way to some 
extent these farms were protected; but as you can appreciate that type of farm 
might have rapidly deteriorated, but that condition did not arise—certainly 
not to the fullest extent because all of these farms were occupied by some white 
persons who took over after having made some arrangement with the Japanese 
through the co-operatives in which they were interested. The Japanese usually 
received some cash payments and the balance was all collected by the custodian 
subsequent to the owners’ evacuation.

By Mr. Pinard:
Q. Did they have their own cooperative?—A. There was the cooperative 

called the Pacific Cooperative Union in which the membership was largely 
Japanese, but I do not know whether you would call it their own cooperative.

Q. Was it for their own people?
The Vice-Chairman: Gentlemen, I am afraid I shall have to ask you to 

respect the ruling with regard to interrupting the witness, because if I grant 
permission to one member to question the witness I shall have to do so to other 
members. It was agreed, may I say for the benefit of those who came in late, 
that Mr. Shears would complete his statement and then be open to questioning.

The Witness: Another problem, of course, was the matter of chattels and 
of personal property, household furniture of all those 22,000 people. In quite a 
number of instances the Japanese did show some initiative. Living in certain 
communities they gathered their effects together and stored them in one of their 
own buildings, a church or a school building; but for the most part all of their 
goods and chattels had to be handled by the custodian and moved to storage for 
protection. As a matter of fact, over thirty storage locations had to be secured 
in order to take care of the personal effects of these Japanese. In Vancouver—
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speaking of one building in particular, a Japanese-owned building at 992 Powell 
street with four floors and a basement, something over, I think, 12,000 square 
feet of space, with each floor being higher than this room—that building was 
simply crowded with chattels and furniture and general effects of the Japanese. 
The position in which the custodian found himself in regard to the matter of 
chattels was this; he would go into a home from which the Japanese had been 
evacuated, in some cases we have found even the last meal on the table and not a 
thing done to the goods which were left; in other cases things had been packed 
very well. In quite a number of cases a certain amount of packing had been 
done by throwing certain small items into boxes without lids—sometimes in card­
board cartons. Now, I think you can imagine the condition. Even in our own 
homes, after having lived in them for a few years and moved out, we have quite a 
lot of stuff to either destroy or move. The Japanese did not destroy anything. 
We had the whole of the household effects of the 22,000 Japanese throughout all 
that protected area to handle in some way. I believe, gentlemen, that only by 
seeing that particular situation could you fully appreciate what a problem it was. 
Dr. Coleman, during one of his visits to Vancouver, was able to see some part of 
the type of chattels which we were handling. There were two advisory committees 
to which I will refer later. Mr. Justice Sydney Smith, Judge Whiteside, and 
other members of these committees on several occasions visited the storage places 
and were simply appalled at the detail of the problem which had to be faced. 
Even in regard to the matter of identification; because" of the manner in which 
goods were often packed, we were not aware as to whose goods they were. For 
instance, Mrs. Takahashi would run across to her neighbour Mrs. Kobayhashi 
and borrow some boxes which might have Mrs. Kobayhashi’s name on them, but 
she would put her own chattels in them and it would appear as though you were 
dealing with Mrs. Kobayhashi’s chattels when you were really dealing with Mrs. 
Takahashi’s chattels. I am simply giving some of the details of the problem 
which faced us. Now, gentlemen, that was all as a result of the policy of 
evacuation.

I would now like to come to what resulted from the policy of liquidation, 
and that, of course, is another phase. We are all aware that many complaints 
have been made—these complaints have appeared in the press ; statements have 
been made on the floor of the House—that the custodian appears to have given 
away and sold for a song much of the property which was placed in his hands for 
protective custody. I should like on this occasion to make very clear the method 
by which the custodian has liquidated the real and personal property of Japanese 
who were evacuated from the protected area, and first of all I should like to deal 
with the real properties which were sold to individuals. No sale, not one sale, has 
been made by private negotiation ; all properties have been advertised and tenders 
have been called for. The type of advertising is not the hole-in-the-corner 
method; you might look at these advertisements afterwards. This was the type 
of advertising which appeared in the newspapers ("indicating clippings) : “Real 
property for sale by tender, Department of Secretary of State. . . .” and so forth. 
These advertisements appeared in twenty-three newspapers, several insertions in 
each paper, never less than one month given for the general public to submit their 
tenders. This is the first advertisement and it is dated in British Columbia on 
the 19th day of June, 1943, and says that tenders will be received by the under­
signed up to noon, daylight saving time, the 19th day of July, 1943, on those 
properties designated in the catalogue as group A. The catalogue was something 
which the custodian prepared, and I have a copy here which you might also look 
at. I his catalogue gives the civic address, the legal description, and a brief 
classification of the type of property, such as a dwelling, rooming house, vacant 
land, nursery and so forth, and against each property there is the name of 
a real estate agent residing in the district in which the property is situated.
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The Vice-Chairman: Gentlemen, do you wish this catalogue printed as 
appendix to the minutes? It contains fifteen pages.

Mr. Pinard: What does the catalogue contain?
The Vice-Chairman: Largely a list of the names of properties to be sold.
The Witness: I have several copies here and we have some in Vancouver.
Mr. Stewart: It should be sufficient for our purpose to have copies of the 

catalogue and thus save money in printing.
Mr. Gladstone: Were the newspaper advertisements large advertisements? 

Would you give us an estimate of the size in inches for the record?
The Vice-Chairman: They are twelve by three.
The Witness: This is more than three, sir.
The Vice-Chairman: Twelve by three columns in the newspaper.
The U itness : So the general public was well aware by the advertisements 

and by the fact that catalogues were available, that information could be 
obtained in regard to rental values, fire insurance, and everything concerned 
with any particular piece of property in which they might be interested. Then, 
in addition to that Mr. Chairman, every property was independently appraised. 
That is a valuation was made by appraisers who in the first instance were 
suggested to the custodian by the real estate boards of Vancouver and by the 
real estate boards of Victoria. Those names were submitted to our advisory 
committee and there again, if you will permit me, I will defer specific reference 
to that committee until later, and those names were approved by that com­
mittee. I had one meeting with this group of appraisers in Vancouver and 
another meeting with those in Victoria. The whole policy of the custodian 
was outlined to tliem. It was indicated that they were to make a fair, unbiased 
appraisal and that their appraisals were to be considered as confidential. The 
appraisals were sent in to myself as director of the custodian’s office and were 
not even known to the members of the office until after the first tenders were 
opened. These valuators had no axe to grind. As a matter of fact, as those 
properties were to be offered for sale and an ordinary real estate agent might be 
able to participate in the sale, if anything, it would have been to his advantage 
to obtain as high a price as possible in order that the commission might be more 
favourable. There were approximately 900 of these properties sold to individuals 
on the valuation basis which I have just explained.

And now I would like to mention here what we do know in Vancouver, 
and I believe it is so in Ottawa, that there has been quite a change in the 
value of real estate. The situation in Vancouver in 1943 and 1944 was, however, 
not very much above normal and as an indication of this, I think it is fair to 
say, that as a result of this extensive type of advertising, the time which the 
public was given to make an offer on these properties, the facilities for inspection 
and so on, we only received, and I say only, we only received bids on 60 per 
cent of the properties when they were first advertised. That is to say they were 
not so attractive as to create 100 per cent demand. Not all of those 60 per cent 
were acceptable tenders. As a matter of fact, and I am not quite sure of this 
figure, but it was about 45 per cent of the tenders that were accepted. The 
others were refused. Those people who had made tenders which were not 
acceptable were informed that their offer had been rejected. They were not 
at that time told what price would be acceptable. They were advised that 
if they wished to revise their offer such revised offer would be given consideration. 
The type of property of course, varied, but I have here, gentlemen, just a few 
photographs of properties in the Vancouver area and some others on the islands 
and if you are interested afterwards I would like you to look at these photographs 
and they will give you some indication of the type of property which the 
Japanese owned throughout the protected area. I would like to mention this 
so that the story will be complete. After these properties had been advertised,
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that is after this particular group of properties had been advertised, another 
group of properties was also advertised and another catalogue was printed and 
subsequently a further catalogue was issued of the unsold properties, where 
for the first time, it was indicated what the minimum acceptable price would 
be. That minimum acceptable price was the valuation. That only occurred 
several months after all tenders had been considered. The 900 properties have 
all been sold and the approximate returns were $1,750,000. There was another 
group of farm lands situated in the Fraser Valley. These were small fruit 
farms to which I previously referred and which were not offered to the general 
public but by government policy they were purchased and held for returned 
soldiers. The sale was made on the basis of_a valuation which was made under 
an order in council whereby the Soldier Settlement Board of Canada valued 
all these properties. Negotiations took place between the director of the 
Veterans’ Land Act and the custodian’s department and there were exactly 741 
properties included in the final deal. A certain number of properties included 
in the offer had to be withdrawn as some of them did not belong to the Japanese 
or the Japanese had previously sold them. The 741 properties were sold on the 
basis of the Soldier Settlement Board valuation, or at least within two per cent 
of that valuation, for the sum of $836,000.

Mr. Fleming: Are those the ones in the Fraser Valley?
The Witness: Yes, with the exception of about 20 they were in the Fraser 

Valley. There remained unsold about 50 other properties. 25 of these arc 
registered in the names of associations, a number of church buildings and so forth, 
and they have not been offered for sale. In regard to the 25 other properties 
which have not yet been sold, ten of them are in a place called Port Essington, 
across from Prince Rupert. I have not been to that particular location, but I 
have been to Prince Rupert. I understand that Port Essington is kind of a 
ghost town and there have been no offers for these properties.

Mr. Cbuickshank: That is not the Fraser Valley you are speaking of now?
The Witness: No, no, I should say not, sir.
Then I think I would like to say something about the liquidation of the 

chattels and personal effects of these Japanese. There again the method adopted 
was surely sound. Advertisements were placed in newspapers in the areas in 
which the goods were located, sometimes calling for tenders if the type of 
property warranted it, such as certain types of machinery, but generally speaking 
it was all sold by public auction by licensed auctioneers. In the advertisement a 
rough description is given of the properties to be sold at such and such a date, 
electric washing machines, sewing machines, bread slicers, bread wrappers, tables, 
chairs, dressers, etc. That is to say, there was a pretty good indication given 
as to what was to be sold at the public auction. At all of those auctions there 
were representatives from my office and quite a number of times I attended the 
auctions. It can be said that they were always crowded and competition was 
quite keen. I think perhaps you will agree with me here, Mr. Chairman, in 
regard to auctions when I say there is a certain type of property which does 
often fetch as much or more than it is worth. Those are items of medium valu". 
Articles which are valued at around $4 or $5 if you went down to buy them at 
a store, somehow or other in the heat of the auction, even though the article 
has been in use for a number of years find people who are prepared to pay four 
or five or even six dollars for the article. There is however, a type of property 
which sometimes does not, because of the demand not being there, fetch its 
highest value. Because of the type of property which the custodian had to sell, 
I think without a doubt it could be said the goods which were sold at publie 
auction fetched good, fair, market prices. It is a fact of course that not all of 
the goods and chattels received from the Japanese, in the protected area have 
been sold by the custodian and that is on account of theft and vandalism which
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undoubtedly has taken place. Now there has been criticism in regard to that. 
The statement has been made that it looks as if the custodian did a poor job. I 
am suggesting that if anyone had 7,000 units of chattels to protect which were 
distributed throughout the whole of the protected area that to give adequate 
protection, the custodian would have needed 7,000 watchmen. The fact was that 
in many cases before it was possible for any representative of the custodian even 
to see, let alone to take actual possession of the property, other people had been 
there before him. Reference has been made in the House to the property of the 
Japanese Consul. That was situated in one of the best residential districts of 
Vancouver. Because it was consular property it did not come into the hands 
of the custodian but it was under the protection of the protecting power. The 
first power was Spain and afterwards it was Switzerland. They took charge 
of that property and the officials boarded it up, and then they boarded it up 
again and they boarded it up again after that. After the cessation of hostilities 
the custodian was charged with the responsibility of taking over that property. 
Mr. V right and myself went with the Spanish authorities to take over. As I 
have already said, this property was located in one of the best districts in 
Vancouver and it was situated almost in its own spacious grounds. Leaded 
glass windows and doors had been completely taken out. Every light fixture had 
been taken out and even the grates were taken away and that was the condition 
in which that particular house was left. Now that illustration has been used 
to show the public the way in which protection has been given. The force of 
that illustration is in just the opposite direction. If that was the problem in 
connection with a house right in Vancouver in one of the best districts, what 
was the problem of protecting as I have already said, the 7.000 units which 
were spread here, there, and everywhere? It is a fact that theft and vandalism 
did take place before the custodian was able to get physical possession and it is 
also a fact that theft and vandalism did take place even after he was in possession 
in spite of having night watchmen and night patrols and so on. These places 
were broken into. It was not only the actual quantity of goods that was 
removed but it was the fact that you would go into the storage room and you 
would find box after box had been dumped right onto the floor making it 
difficult to identify the ownership of many of those small articles, pots and pans 
and so forth, of which there were numbers galore. I do not want you to think all 
assets of that nature have been dissipated. As from chattels, and fish netting, 
something over $650,000 has been realized by the sale of that type of asset.

Mr. Fleming: $650,000?
The Witness: $650,000. I am giving you round figures on it but the figures 

are approximately correct.
I have just mentioned fish netting which causes me to introduce the matter 

of fishing vessels because I think it should be understood by this committee 
that as far as the custodian is concerned fishing vessels were excluded from 
the original order in council. Fishing vessels were impounded by the navy, and 
by order in council a Japanese Fishing Vessels Disposal Committee was set up 
and I believe about 950 of those vessels were disposed of by that committee for 
the sum of approximately $1,400,000. I believe it is also a fact that the majority 
of those sales were made by negotiations between the Japanese and the purchaser 
through the committee before he was evacuated. I would not venture to give 
the exact percentage but the majority of those sales were negotiated by the 
Japanese and the Japanese himself signed the transfer of the registry of his 
vessel to the white purchaser. There were a certain number of vessels left 
over and the order in council speaks of, I think, about 220, but some more were 
sold by the Japanese Fishing Vessels Disposal Committee and 180 were finally 
taken over by the custodian. As you can imagine they were the poorest of the 
whole fleet. They were the unsold ones. They were advertised by the method
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that I have already indicated and those 180 vessels have also been sold which 
means to say that all of the fishing fleet of the Japanese has been disposed of 
either through the fishing vessels committee or through the custodian.

Now, gentlemen, I think perhaps I should hurry on to the end.
May I just give a few general remarks concerning the course of the cus­

todian’s administration. Municipal taxes have been paid off, and arrears 
of taxes have been paid where it was advisable. Mortgages have been settled 
and unpaid vendors have been paid. That is in cases where property was being 
sold by white persons to Japanese, the white persons equity has been paid off 
out of the sale. We advertised in the early stages for the filing of claims 
from creditors. We received thousands upon thousands of them and the claims 
were submitted to the Japanese and where there was money available those 
creditors have been paid. Where it has been the wish of the Japanese, his life 
insurance policy has been kept in force, and the premium has been paid, if he 
had available funds. As you well know in our order in council, I think it is 
P.C. 1665, one section indicates that no charge shall be made by the custodian, 
“provided however that no commission shall be charged by the custodian in 
respect of such control or management”. The money which has accrued through 
these sales has all been placed to the credit of the individual evacuees. The 
money, as far as the custodian has been concerned, was at all times available 
to them. In cooperation with the Department of Labour these Japanese who 
were living in what was termed their interior housing settlements, were sent 
money, so much per month, or whatever arrangement was made between the 
Japanese and the Department of Labour. As far as the custodian was concerned 
the money was to the credit of the individual Japanese and was available for 
payment at any time.

I would like now to deal with the advisory committees to which I have 
referred, and perhaps I should have dealt with it more fully before. Two 
advisory committees were set up. One was under chairmanship of Mr. Justice 
Sidney Smith, with Alderman Charles Jones and a Japanese representative. 
The other was under chairmanship of Judge Whiteside with Mayor Mott, Mr. 
D. A. MacKenzie and Mr. Harold Menzies, a citizen of the Fraser Valley area 
for many years. Every sale to which I have referred has been reviewed by 
these committees before final acceptance.

Mr. Fleming: That is in connection with real estate only?
The Witness: Well, thank you for asking that. In connection with real 

estate the offer was submitted and the valuation made on the facts as they 
were known and the offer was approved or rejected upon the advice of these 
advisory committees. In regard to the chattels, they were not put up to 
these committees specifically but these committees did agree upon the principle 
of selling this type of goods by public auction, by specified auctioneers, whom 
it was thought it would be desirable to use and the committee ratified sales 
which were made on that basis. I think I am right in saying that these two 
committees have not just considered their duty in an offhand rubber-stamp 
type of way. In regard to the rural committee, their meetings have sometimes 
extended, as I know, to over three hours at a session and they have asked 
questions and have asked for evidence to be produced to substantiate statements 
which I might have been making and it was only upon their knowledge of the 
situation, their knowledge of the facts as presented to them, that they agreed 
finally to recommend or approve of the sale.

Mr. Stewart : Was a Japanese on the committee all the time?
The Witness: No, there were two Japanese, one was Kumora and the other 

name escapes me but they were on the committees in the early days and later had 
to resign. They were evacuated and they sent in their resignations which had 
to be accepted and no appointment was made in their place.
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Mr. Stewart : When the principle business was being done the Japanese 
were not represented on the committee?

The Witness: That would be largely true. They were both there at the 
time that the policy of liquidation was being introduced but they really did not 
deal with any approving of the sales.

Just on that point we have received many complaints from the Japanese. 
There have been two types of complaints. The chief complaint was, it was not 
their wish that the property should be sold. That is to say they objected to the 
principle. Then there have been a certain number of complaints which have 
been more specific and they said “not only do we object to it being sold but we 
consider the price is not adequate”. However, I would say, from my knowledge 
of the situation, many of those claims have been greatly exaggerated. In the 
light of the method which has been adopted as I have outlined here this morning, 
you can see for yourself the extent to which we went to protect the Japanese 
against the sale of their property at less than actual value.

Mr. Chairman, I would be very glad if I could answer any questions but I 
would just like to add another word or two. I know from experience that the 
task has been by no means an easy one. It was a type of problem that, as far 
as I know, was almost without precedent. In the early days we had a small 
staff which grew rapidly. The people employed had no special training for the 
job which had to be done. Those early days were certainly hectic and there 
was no such thing as not working regular hours. By the time six o’clock came 
and the desks were cleared it was necessary to come back in order to get some­
what of a fresh start for the following morning. That situation applied to 
Sundays as well. I think it is only right to say that with respect to the staff 
at Vancouver everyone has always acted in consonance with their position as 
custodian employees and on behalf of the Japanese.

The Chairman: Thank you Mr. Shears for this very full statement. Now, 
gentlemen, you are at liberty to ask any questions and I have the first signal 
from Mr. Stewart, I will try to keep you within bounds and not allow one par­
ticular member of the committee to monopolize the whole time, subject of course 
to your ruling. I will try to catch your signals as quickly as possible and I will 
call on the respective members. The first is Mr. Stewart.

By Mr. Stewart:
Q. The question I was going to ask now is based solely on Mr. Shears’ 

statement. I think I speak for the committee when I say we appreciate what 
you have said and I think we can appreciate the difficulties which the custodian 
out there had in connection with the protection of this property. The first thing 
I would like to ask is whether as you said, registration of property on the part 
of the Japanese was entirely voluntary. What would you have done to them if 
they had not registered?—A. It was voluntary. The order in council read “That 
upon evacuation property left in the protected area became vested”. The purpose 
of the registration form was only that the Japanese might help supply informa­
tion. In the main they co-operated very well. On the other hand, there were 
certain numbers who moved out and they did not register and we simply dis­
covered the property afterwards.

Q. They had no alternative but to register?—A. Well it was all to their 
advantage to register, but they were not forced to register.

Q. You said later on that inspectors were appointed to examine the property. 
How many inspectors did you have at the peak time, could you tell me offhand 
or give me their names?—A. The inspectors who, first of all, looked at these 
properties in Vancouver xvcre, sometimes, chartered accountants. This was 
for the purpose of investigation. This is going back some while, but I think 
probably there would be nine or ten employed in that area. Then, in the other
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areas where a person was appointed, for example, in a place such as Cumberland 
someone—as a matter of fact, in that case I was over myself and had an interview 
with a bank manager. I found out that such and such a person would appear 
to be the right type of person to act in a temporary way on behalf of the 
custodian. This particular person was approached. He was given a list of the 
properties of which we knew. He went around and made his report saying that 
this was a property which was vacant. He suggested it might easily be rented 
and so forth. Real estate agents were then appointed. You will get the names 
of a considerable number of them from these catalogues.

Q. In connection with the farms in the Fraser Valley, you said there were 
some 741 sold. Were the valuations made by the D.V.A.?—A. The valuations 
were made by the Soldiers’ Settlement of Canada.

Q. How did those valuations compare with the assessed value?—A. On the 
741 properties, the assessment was $1,250,940 and the appraisal was $847,878. 
The offer accepted, which I said was within 2 per cent, was $836,256.

Q. Many of these matters I intend to pursue later. I just wanted to get 
certain facts for the moment. With regard to the chattels the vandalism which took 
place, can you tell the committee if any suspects were apprehended by the police 
and whether there were any prosecutions?—A. There were no prosecutions. In 
some cases there was some suspicion. The police suggested it was usually a group 
of youths who did it. No one was prosecuted any way.

Q. Who is going to bear the loss caused by this vandalism? Is it the 
Japanese themselves?—A. I can only refer to the statement which was made 
by the Honourable Colin Gibson in the House a few days ago. I do understand 
that the matter is under active consideration by the government, that is, in regard 
to the payment of any claims in regard to such matters as you have mentioned.

Q. When the chattels were sold by auction, what expenses were charged 
against the gross amount received?—A. The usual auctioneer’s fee in Vancouver, 
for an individual, is that he will sell your goods for a 15 per cent commission. 
We made arrangements with the auctioneer, in view of the exceptional circum­
stances, that he would charge 10 per cent and we would do the advertising. As 
a matter of fact, our advertising only came to about 3 per cent so, as far as 
we have gone, it was about 13 per cent instead of 15 per cent. However, because 
of the very nature of the case, it did cost us almost, I think, 9 per cent 
of the value to collect up these goods. We could not just hand them over to the 
auctioneer. We, ourselves, had to do the unpacking and sorting out and that 
charge has been assessed against the Japanese.

Q. That was an expense, but it was an office expense, and that means 22 
per cent would be charged against the gross?—A. Yes, I think about 21 per cent; 
that would be the average. In some cases it would not be as much as that.

Q. Then, you would credit that amount to the various Japanese’s accounts? 
—A. Yes.

Q. Was any allowance made for interest on credit balances whenever there 
were credit balances?—A. No, no interest has been allowed.

By Mr. Gladstone:
Q. Could we have a word picture of some of the localities, the coast homes, 

the area in Vancouver, the Steveston location, and a picture of the Fraser 
Valley, just briefly?-—A. I am just wondering, in that regard, whether this might 
not be the answer. This, as you can see contains pictures, mostly of the area 
of which you are speaking. Then, I have here what we called “Little Tokio”, 
the Powell Street area, and another one for one of these sections of Vancouver. 
I brought this as a sample from Vancouver. We have nine or ten of them. These 
deal with Vancouver and the municipal area.
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Q. I had in mind something which might go in the record.?—A. Well, I 
think it is certainly true to say this, when speaking of the Powell Street and 
Cordova Street area in Vancouver, that the Japanese property consisted of a 
group of sub-standard properties. Many of them were in terrible shape. As a 
matter of fact, when wre came to make rental arrangements for that type of 
property, wre could not get a tenant to go in unless we made an arrangement 
whereby he would, himself, make certain improvements which were absolutely 
necessary. To that extent, we rebated an amount of the rental.

The city authorities, after the evacuation of the Japanese, came to us. 
We attended a meeting of their board on one occasion. It was their hope this 
would be an opportunity to improve the standard of the properties in that area. 
Taking the custodian’s point of view we said, “Well now, you have allowed these 
properties to exist in this condition until now. Should you be quite so strict 
just at the moment the custodian steps in?”

From that time on, the city authorities were co-operative and, providing 
a new tenant approached them and made arrangements that he would do 
certain things to the lighting fixtures or sanitary facilities, the city authorities 
allowed the new tenant to take possession of that property. This Japanese 
property was definitely sub-standard and this was true of the Japanese property 
in the main. Of course, there are some very nice properties but, in the main, 
the majority of the properties were not of any particularly fancy type. As in 
everything else, there would be some good properties. I do not know whether 
that answers you or not.

Q What about the upper coast properties?—A. Would it be in order for 
Mr. Wright to say something about that? He visited some of those properties. 
Some of those properties were situated on the foreshore. In quite a few cases 
I have seen them housed on posts, with the water running right underneath 
them. Many of them were just shacks.

Then, there are some areas in the Fraser Valley facing the Fraser River, 
where the land is described as a peat bog district. In order to get from the 
front of the property up to the house, a walk has to be made. Between the 
property and the river, there w'ould be a road, but between the road and the 
property a ditch had to be put in.

Mr. Cruickshank: Just a moment, to keep the record straight in connection 
with this matter, my friend is entirely wrong in his description of the property. 
I defy him to name me any area in the Fraser Valley where that is true. I know 
the area to which you are referring down at Lulu Island, but that is not the 
Fraser Valley.

The Witness: I apologize, that is correct. I had the Lulu Island district 
in mind when I was making that statement.

By Mr. Cruickshank:
Q. I should like to ask one question. Is it not true, I am speaking of the 

farms in the Fraser Valley, that a large percentage of them were what is known 
in farm language as, burnt out farms?—A. The information which came to us 
was this, that the type of farming which the Japanese did, I am just passing 
on the information which was given to me, that they were not farmers in the 
real sense of the word but- they were miners. I mean to say that they produced 
good crops, but they did so definitely at the expense of the land itself. Now,
I am not a farmer and cannot say whether that is true, but that is the information 
I have been given.

Q. In other words, the land was burnt out?—A. ^ es, that expression has 
been used, not of all, but of certain of the valley properties. The land was 
burnt out.
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By Mr. Boucher:
Q. Is my understanding correct that you said the properties had sold at 

approximately 60 per cent or approximately 80 per cent of the assessed value? 
I think you said about $800,000 was received for the property.—A. The appraised 
value was—

Q. The sale value was less than the appraisal value?—A. The sale value 
was 2 per cent less than the appraised value.

Q. The appraised value was how much less than the assessed value?— 
A. I will have to do a little bit of arithmetic. The chairman says it is If per 
cent. It is about two-thirds, about 66 per cent of the assessed valuation, is that 
what you mean? The sale price to the V.L.A. was two-thirds of the assessed 
value, but it was within 2 per cent of the appraised value.

By Mr. Winkler:
Q. In regard to the sale of the fishing vessels, were those sold freely and if 

so were any sold by auction?—A. They were sold freely by the Japanese 
Fishing Vessels Disposal Committee. When the balance came into the hands 
of the custodian, the custodian took over this certain number of boats, 170 I 
think it was, and also what was termed the unfinished business of the Japanese 
Fishing Vessels Disposal Committee. The unfinished business consisted of 
collecting money from purchasers who had not yet paid the full sale price. 
These boats were all valued, advertised and sold on that basis. So far as the 
boats which the custodian handled, I can assure you that the 170 were 
not the worth-while boats by any manner of means. They were different 
types of boats. There were what are called seiners, packers, gill netters and 
cod fishers, all having a relatively different purpose and a different scale of 
prices. In the main the custodian has not been responsible for the sale of fishing 
vessels except the odd ones left over which we cleaned up.

' By Mr. Cndckshank:
Q. I should like to ask one question. Do you say anything in your records 

of the amount of chattels such as washing maohines and that type of thing 
which were not turned in or not taken over by any branch of the government, 
but which were left with private friends of the Japanese? What I am trying 
to get at is this, that it is not fair—I am not defending the custodian’s branch 
at all—but it is hardly fair to say that there were a lot of cases in which the 
Japanese were not paid for their chattels by some branch of the government 
when they were left with private white friends of the Japanese. I presume your 
department has knowledge of that. For instance, there were frigidaires, beautiful 
stoves and even a piano left with private individuals in my own district. So far 
as I knoxv, they arc still in those private homes.

Mr. Probe : Those all came from these sub-standard houses?
Mr. Cruickshank: No, from farms, but it is not fair to say the custodian’s 

branch has not paid a proper amount for the chattels. In other words, the 
Japanese have no right now to say they were not paid for a frigidaire by the 
custodian if it was not handed over but was left with private individuals. 
That is correct, is it not?

The Witness: That is correct. We think the amount of that type of 
chattel now is relatively small, but we cannot be certain. As has been stated, 
the Japanese, in certain cases, did not divulge to the custodian on this registra­
tion form all the information concerning these chattels. We were not aware 
of it. In one way and another, we did find out about it. In some cases, it may 
have been left with white friends just as you have stated. There were certain 
items of furniture and, from time to time, these have been disclosed. .Sometimes
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they have been taken over by the custodian and sold, but there are still1 some 
of them, I would say a limited amount, which are in the hands of other people 
and have not been handed over to the custodian.

By Mr. Warren:
Q. I should like to ask this question, before we get too far away from these 

burnt out lands, would you be able to give us an approximate idea at what price 
per acre this land was sold?—A. At the moment, I think I would prefer not 
to attempt to answer that, that is, on an acreage basis. I have not, immediately 
in front of me, any figures on that.

By Mr. Green:
Q. AX as the price for this land set by the custodian or the Veterans’ Land 

Act people?—A. Negotiations were carried on precisely in this way. Under 
the order in council, the Soldiers’ Settlement people were appointed to make 
a valuation of the Japanese rural properties, the farm properties. They made 
that valuation, during which time the custodian was withdrawn from the 
picture. After the valuation had been made, the custodian again became the 
vested owner of those particular properties. The next step was that the 
custodian received an offer from the director of the Veterans’ Land Act to buy 
840, that is not quite the number, but that does not matter, of these properties 
for the sum of $750,000.

At that time, negotiations took place. A gentleman who came from Ottawa 
to Vancouver sat in with me in the advisory council on it. There was a 
representative of the director of the Veterans’ Land Act and a representative 
of the custodian’s office. Their offer, as I say, was $750,000 against a valuation 
of $867,000. I do not want to get you confused. The offer was for more 
properties than we eventually sold. The figures which I have given you and 
which are accurate are for what was actually sold. The offer was $750,000 
for properties which, according to the Soldiers’ Settlement valuation were 
worth $867,000. This offer of $750,000 was rejected. Negotiations were carried 
on and eventually the director of Veterans’ Land Act offered $850.000 for those 
properties which were valued at $867,000. On that basis, the deal was con­
summated. Then, the exact number of properties were adjusted.

As I say, certain properties had to be withdrawn. The encumbrances were 
more than the offer in some cases and in some cases the properties belonged to 
deceased persons and had to be administered by an official administrator. Those 
properties were withdrawn from the sale which was made to the director of 
the Veterans’ Land Act.

Q. Was the position that you were only allowed to sell these farms to the 
Veterans’ Land Act people? The Veterans’ Land Act people made the valuation 
and then offered $100,000 less than the valuation and finally came up slightly 
below their own valuation; is that the picture? AVere you or were you not 
free agents? AA'ere you able to sell to anyone outside or did you have to sell 
to the Veterans’ Land Act department, really on their own terms?—A. AA'ell, 
of course, I do not know. It is not for me to say. It was the Soldiers’ 
Settlement people who made the valuation and the director of the Veterans’ 
Land Act who made the offer. I am just mentioning that. Then it was a 
question of negotiation. It was, definitely, a suggestion of the government 
department that it would he desirable for these properties to be held for 
returned men. The negotiations were carried out, as I have said, on the basis 
of a valuation which was considered by the advisory committee as being a fair 
offer; that is to say, the obtaining of within 2 per cent of the valuation for a 
group of farms on the basis of a cash payment within a limited time. It was 
considered that would be quite a good deal.
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By Mr. Jaenicke:
Q. I have a question or two which I should like to ask. I do not know 

whether or not I understand this situation correctly. You have mentioned 
the assessment of those properties as being $1,250,000, approximately, is that 
right?—A. Yes.

Q. Those are the properties which were finally sold for $850,000?—A. They 
were sold for $836,000.

Q. They are only rural properties?—A. They were all small farms.
Q. What about the urban properties?—A. They were those 900 properties 

about which I have spoken in the first instance which were advertised and 
placed in catalogues or specially advertised from time to time. You must have 
in your mind two groups of real estate sales, the 900 properties which were 
sold to individuals by this method which I have indicated and the 700 odd 
which were sold to the Veterans’ Land people.

Q. How does the sale price of those properties compare to the assessed 
value?—A. You mean the urban properties?

Q. Yes.—A. The figures in the greater Vancouver area—I have a record 
here of 466 sales. The assessed value was $1,183,313; the appraisal was 
$915,600 and they were sold for $1,004,785.

Q. Are the assessments on improvements in Vancouver to the full value 
or only 60 per cent?—A. The question of relating sale price to assessment, 
while I presume it has some bearing, is a difficult thing because, I think I am 
right in saying in different areas there are different assessors, of course, and 
different methods of assessment.

Q. How are the improvements assessed in Vancouver, at the full value? 
—A. On the improvements, it is 50 per cent. We have been told by the 
officials in Vancouver that over a period of quite a few years, I believe almost 
ten years, no drastic change has been made in assessment values. At times, the 
court of revision was convened because of complaints put in, but by and large, 
they had been side tracked. There has been practically no change in assessment 
values for a long time.

Q. What about the rural areas, are they "assessed each year and is there 
any change made each year?—A. I am sorry, I am not in a position to answer 
that question.

Q. Did you make any enquiries when you received the valuation from the 
Soldiers’ Settlement people and found them to be so much lower than the assessed 
value? Did you make any enquiry as to how that came about?—A. The deal 
was consummated more on the basis of the valuation, not on the assessed value.

Q. You made no enquiries as to why there should be a difference between 
the assessment and appraised values by the Soldiers’ Settlement people?—A. I 
do not recall that that point was brought up. I should like you to understand 
I am not shelving any responsibility but I was sitting in at that time with an 
official from Ottawa.

Q. I do not know how it is in British Columbia, but in our province the 
assessed values are usually lower than the actual valuation.

The Vice-Chairman: Are you speaking of the rural property?
Mr. Jaenicke: I am speaking of the rural property.
The Vice-Chairman: I wish all the members would keep in mind the fact 

that there are three separate headings under which these sales go, namely, those 
in the greater Vancouver area, those in the urban area at large and the rural 
properties which were handled, as I understand it, 741 sales through the Veterans’ 
Affairs Department and the Soldiers’ Settlement Act.

By Mr. Boucher:
Q. Can you give me any information as to the relationship of assessed value 

in the rural area to the relationship of sales in the year 1943, generally in the
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municipalities? In other words, most municipalities can give you a calculation 
as to what portion of the current sale value the assessed value is. Do you have 
any information on that, or was any investigation made in that regard?—A. I 
think we hate to have this in mind ; we are thinking back to the year 1942 or 
1943 and I think it would be right to say that, in the rural areas, the prices 
at which properties were changing hands were considerably less than the assessed 
value. I mention that with a certain amount of diffidence, but I am not making 
a wild statement. I have been given to understand that, in that area, apart 
altogether from the custodian’s property, when properties were sold, the value 
obtained did not measure up to the assessed valuation.

By Mr. Cruickshank:
Q. Is it not true that in every rural municipality in British Columbia, the 

assessed value has practically no relationship to the sale price?—A. That is 
perfectly true. As an indication of that, just take a jump for one minute to the 
city areas. The city was selling vacant lands, I am not speaking of improved 
lands but there were some of them improved, but the city was selling these lands 
at 60 to 70 per cent of the assessed value.

By Mr. Probe:
Q. But they were conditional sales, conditional upon building, were they not? 

—A. That may be so, but in any event the purchaser had something which was 
not improved and it was sold at a proportion of its assessed value. In the rural 
areas, I think I am right in saying that the municipalities were prepared to sell 
land at from 50 to 60 per cent of the assessed valuation. If you are going to get 
into the question of the relationship of sale price to assessment, you would have 
to consider individually every municipality because it is not the same all the 
way through.

By Mr. Boucher:
Q. Is it not a fact that in almost every registry office they can give you that 

data as to the relationship of the sale value of land sold each year to the assessed 
value of the same land?

By Mr. Pinard:
Q. I should like to get some information in so far as the disposal of business 

concerns owned by the Japanese is concerned. They must have had business 
concerns. What happened to them? Were they sold, and if so, what was the 
policy followed in that respect?—A. In regard to businesses, as I indicated at 
the start, I believe quite a few hundred were sold by the Japanese themselves. 
If they were not sold, the custodian was in this position ; he had a dry cleaning 
establishment, we will say, situated in rented premises. While the Japanese 
was there, he was carrying on and he had a business. The Japanese was 
evacuated and the custodian comes into the picture, having dry cleaning equip­
ment in a rented building. We really sold the dry cleaning equipment, that is 
to say, we were not in a position, generally speaking to sell the goodwill or the 
concern as a business. That type of article was advertised and sold Tenders 
were called for on the actual equipment and, of course, the purchaser of that 
equipment had to move it unless he made some arrangement with the owner of 
the building.

Q. What happened to the accounts when there were credits to be collected 
from the customers?—A. This form provides for a declaration of monies owing 
to the Japanese. Any debts owing to the Japanese were collected, in so far as 
possible. Extensive correspondence was carried on and numerous collections on
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behalf of the Japanese were made. I mean to say the custodian has collected, on 
behalf of the Japanese, any debts which were made known to him, where it has 
been possible to collect.

Q. Were the services of lawyers required in that respect in some cases? 
—A. I do not recollect any. There have been cases where the debtor refused to 
acknowledge the debt, in which case we got in touch with the Japanese and told 
him that this man disputed the debt.

Mr. Stewart: In eonection with the Fraser Valley farms which were sold, 
they were sold on a basis of about $1,100 each, approximately, li e have been 
told they were burnt out and were mined. If that is the case, the income result­
ing from the operation of those farms would have been low. How was it that 
the tenants or owners of those farms were able to acquire so much money that 
they could purchase frigidaires, pianos and washing machines in such vast 
quantities they could distribute them among their friends?

Mr. Cruickshank: I would be glad to answer that, if I were permitted.

By Mr. Stuart:
Q. The thing I have in mind is that I remember, after the last war, property 

was worth much more than it was 15 years previous. I wonder if we could be 
told what the price of that property in question would be today compared with 
the price about ten years ago; has the value increased? In my province, property 
which would be worth $5,000 today would have been worth about $2,500 a few 
years ago.—A. I am very sorry, but I did not catch the import of that statement. 
Would you mind repeating it?

Q. In short, all I want to ask is this, is the property today, in those areas 
of which you spoke, worth far more money than it was prior to the war? The 
value today might be much greater—A. The value today is undoubtedly greater 
than it was in 1943. I do not think there is any doubt of that. Speaking gener- 
ally, Vancouver real estate or property in that area has a considerably enhanced 
value.

The \ ice-Chairman : Gentlemen, it is now after one o’clock. Mr. Shears, 
as you know, is from Vancouver. I do not know whether he is anxious, but I 
think the government is anxious that he return to his duties as soon as possible. 
He is here at your request and he will stay just as long as you need him, but I 
am naturally anxious to expedite the business, so we might sit to-morrow instead 
of waiting until next week. We will meet to-morrow at 11.30 in the hope of 
winding up his evidence.

I he committee adjourned at 1.00 p.m. to meet again on Fiidav, May 9, 
1947, at 11.30 a.m.



86 STANDING COMMITTEE

APPENDIX “A”

Form “JP” File No.

OFFICE OF THE CUSTODIAN 

Japanese Section

To be completed by persons of the Japanese race having property in any 
protected area. The proper administration of this property requires such persons 
to give full particulars as requested in this form.
Personal Information

Name ...................................................................................................................
Home Address ...................................................................................................
Registration Number ......................................Sex..................... Age................
Occupation .........................................................................................................

(If any business or businesses carried on. state where, under what name and. whether 
ca rried on by yourself or in partnership with anyone ; if partnership, give partner's
name.)

Employer ...........................................................................................................
Married? .............................................................................................................
Name of Wife or Husband.................................................................................
Address of Wife or Husband.............................................................................
Names of Any Living Children.........................................................................

Address of Children ..........................................................................................
Age of Children ..................................................................................................

Statement of All Real Property (Each parcel must be mentioned and particulars 
given)

1. Location and Description .............................................................................

2. Buildings and Other Improvements

3. Insurance (Give particulars; state where policies arc)................................

4. Taxes (Amount and where payable)............................................................
5. Encumbrances (Including any unregistered claims or deposit of title deed)
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5. Sub-Tenants, If Any (Give name, address, rent and to what date paid)...
6. Occupancy and Leases (If vacant so state)..................................................

7. State Whereabouts of Title Documents.........................
8. State if any Other Person Has an}- Interest...................
9. If Farm Land State Crops Sown.....................................

Statement of Real Property Occupied
1. Location and Description................................................

2. Landlord’s Name and Address........................................

3. Particulars of Lease and Rent and Date to Which Paid

4. State Whereabouts of Lease............................................

6. If Farm Land, Particulars of Crops Sown

Statement of Personal Property Owned:
1. Give Brief Description and State Location of Furniture, Fixtures, Equip­

ment and Machinery, Stock in Trade and Personal Effects:

2. Horses, Livestock and Other Animals, Poultry and Pets

3. Give the Name and Address of Any Person Having Any Interest in, or 
Claim on Any Such Property...........................................................................

Form “JP” File No
4. Insurance Carried on Above Property..........................

5. Mortgages, Liens and Other Claims on Property in Possession of Others

6. Moneys Owing to You (State if any of these debts assigned and if so, 
to whom).......................................................................................................
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7. Bonds, Debentures, Shares, Stocks or Other Securities (State whereabouts)

8. Bank Accounts..............................
9. Life Insurance..............................

10. Interest in Any Estates or Trusts

11. Safety Deposit Box.....................

Liabilities:
1. Personal Debts..............................

2. Trade Debts

I, the undersigned, hereby voluntarily turn over to the Custodian all my 
property in the protected area as set out above, excepting fishing vessels, 
deposits of money, shares of stock, debentures, bonds or other securities, 
if any.

I certify that the above information is true and complete and fully 
discloses all my property of every description in any protected area in 
British Columbia and sets forth all my liabilities' direct and indirect.

Dated this............. day of.................................... 1943.

(Signature)

Witness

For Departmental Use
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MINUTES OF PROCEEDINGS

House of Commons, Room 497, 
Friday, May 9, 1947.

The Standing Committee on Public Accounts met at 11.30 o’clock, a.m. 
The Vice-Chairman, Mr. Gordon B. Isnor, presided.

Members present: Messrs. Burton, Case, Cleaver, Coté (Verdun), Cloutier, 
Cruickshank, Fleming, Fraser, Gladstone, Golding, Green, Isnor, Jaemcke, 
Marshall, Probe, Raymond (Wright), Rinfret, Smith (Calgary West), Stuart 
(Charlotte), Thatcher, Warren, Winkler.

In attendance: Dr. E. H. Coleman, C.M.G., K.C., Deputy Custodian of 
Enemy Property ; Mr. F. G. Shears, Director Vancouver Office; Mr. K. W. 
Wright, Counsel.

The Committee resumed. examination of Mr. Shears respecting the admini­
stration of the Vancouver Office of the Custodian.

Mr. Jaenicke tabled certain documents relating to inventory of chattels 
left on property of, and owned by, one named Naochi Karatsu. The witness, 
Mr. Shears, was questioned thereon and, after some discussion, he agreed to 
supply the Committee, at the earliest possible moment, with a full report on 
the said matter.

The witness also agreed to supply the Committee with certain information 
relating to the sale of certain evacuees’ lands requested by Mr. Cruickshank 
and Mr. Fleming.

At 1.05 o’clock p.m., the Committee adjourned to meet again at 11 o’clock 
a.m., Monday, May 12, 1947.

ANTOINE CHASSÉ, 
Acting Clerk of the Committee.
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MINUTES OF EVIDENCE

House of Commons,

May 9, 1947.

The Standing Committee on Publie Accounts met this day at 11.30 a.in. 
The Vice-Chairman, Mr. Gordon B. Isnor, presided.

The Vice-Chairman: Gentlemen, shall we come to order. We have the 
necessary number to form a quorum and unless there is other business to be 
brought before the meeting we will continue to hear Mr. Shears.

Frank G. Shears, Director of the Office of the Custodian, Vancouver, 
recalled :

The Witness: Mr. Chairman, I think I would like to make one brief 
statement in clarification of something which was mentioned yesterday. In 
regard to the sale of the properties in the Fraser Valley area a question was 
asked as to what was the average price. I think the figure given was about 
$1,130. I do not think that is quite a fair picture of that deal because I have 
an individual list here and there was a property that sold for $10,768, another 
for $7,200, another for $5,500, and three others at $4,500, $3,000 and $2,000. There 
were also a number of properties that brought very small amounts such as 
$125, $200, $400, so that in saying the average was $1,130, it really does not 
give a picture. I just wish to indicate that in that group of properties there were 
varying types and the prices varied considerably. I would like to mention 
that for the purpose of the record.

The Vice-Chairman : All right, Mr. Cote?
By Mr. Cote:

Q. Yesterday, Mr. Shears referred to some advisory committees that had 
been set up for the purpose of assisting the custodian’s office in Vancouver in 
carrying out the duties and policies of the custodian. How many committees 
did you say, Mr. Shears, were set up for this purpose?—A. There were two 
advisory committees. One committee concerned itself with what we call the 
greater Vancouver properties and the other concerned itself with the properties 
out-ide that area. The greater Vancouver area committee was presided over 
by Mr. Justice Sidney Smith, and the other one was presided over by Judge 
Whiteside.

Q. Were thev both in the city of Vancouver?—A. No, the greater Vancouver 
advisory committee sat in Vancouver, usually in Mr. Justice Sidney Smith’s 
office. The other committee, except for a few initial meetings in Vancouver, 
always sat at New Westminster and usually sat in the Judge’s office. Mayor 
Mott of New Westmiaster was also one of the advisory committee members.

Q. How many members were in each of these committees?—A. I will iust 
give vou the exact set-up. Two independent committees were established. One 
was known as the advisory committee for the greater Vancouver properties and 
the following members were appointed to the committee on March 8, 1943: 
Honourable Mr Justice Sidney Smith, the chairman, of the Appellate Court, of 
British Columbia ; Alderman Charles Jones, and Mr. Kishizo Kimura. Mr. 
Kimura resigned on July 20, 1943. The other committee was known as the
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advisory committee on rural properties. The following members were appointed 
on March 15, 1943: His Honour Judge David Whiteside of New Westminster 
v.as the chairman. The others were Messrs D. E. MacKenzie and J. J. McLellan 
and Mr. Hal Menzies.

Mr. MacKenzie is now deceased and Judge Whiteside quite recently died. 
Mayor W. Mott of New Westminster was appointed to take the place of Mr. 
McLellan who attended only one or two meetings and then resigned. Mr. Hal 
Menzies was a real estate gentleman who had lived in that vicinity for many 
years. The Japanese, Mr. Yasutaro Yainaga, who was the representative on 
this committee resigned on May 26, 1943.

Q. By whom were the members of these two committees appointed?—A. I 
Teg pardon?

Q. By whom were the members of those two committees appointed?— 
A. The committees were appointed directly by the Secretary of State 
Department.

Q. You have mentioned, Mr. Shears, that the two Japanese representatives 
had resigned of their own accord at the beginning of the activities of the two 
committees. Would you have the date of their resignations in each case?— 
A. Mr. Kimura resigned on July 20. 1943 and Mr. Yamaga resigned on May 
26, 1943.

Mr. Bi'rton: Did they give any reason for resigning or what were the 
reasons?

The Witness: I recollect that a letter from one of them said that he felt 
his services or the services which he could render had been completed and there 
would be no particular reason for his remaining on the board. That letter was 
from Mr. Yamaga and I think Mr. Kimura just merely sent in his resignation 
stating that he preferred not to be on the committee and of course both of those 
Japanese persons had been evacuated and were living, quite a distance from 
Vancouver and New Westminster.

Mr. Cote: Had they been engaged individually in the business of the 
committee? *

The Witness: For the first few meetings they did and they agreed in prin­
ciple that the policy the custodian was following on management and also on 
liquidation was satisfactory. They were not in attendance at any meeting when 
specific offers were being dealt with.

Mr. Jaenicke: Could they have been there?
The Witness: They had resigned.
Mr. Jaenicke: Was there some correspondence leading up to their resigna­

tions?
The Witness: I only recollect the letters in which they resigned.

By Mr. Cote:
Q. Would you have in writing.any expression of satisfaction on their part 

with the policy followed by the custodian?—A. As I have already mentioned, I 
feel sure that the letter that came in from Mr. Yamaga indicated satisfaction 
with the principle. I could not go further than that without producing the letter.

Q. Was there any attempt made, Mr. Shears, to have these two Japanese 
representatives replaced on the two boards?—A. No, when their resignations 
were received both those committees considered the matter and made no recom­
mendation that they should be replaced and the remaining members of the board 
carried on.

Q. Have you, or has anyone else, received any request from the evacuees or 
the Japanese to have these two members replaced following their resignations? 
—A. Definitely no.
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Q. Now did you start liquidating the assets of the evacuees before the 
evacuation was completed?—A. No, not at all. The only properties that were 
sold previous to the evacuation were the properties which were sold by the Jap­
anese themselves. The policy of liquidation, as a matter of fact, did not come 
into effect until the 19th of July, 1943. That was the date when the tenders first 
closed for the properties which were advertised. That is of course apart from 
the sale which was made to the director of the Veterans’ Land Act.

Q. I heard you say yesterday, Mr. Shears, that one of the complaints that 
you received from the evacuees was that they were absent when their property 
was sold. Did you receive a great number of protests of that kind?—A. Yes, 
we did. As I intimated yesterday there were two types of complaints. A con­
siderable number of the complaints simply said, “We do not wish to have our 
property sold,” or “We do not wish that it shall be liquidated.” Then there 
were a number of Japanese who wrote to the office and said, “Not only do we 
not wish our property to be sold, but having been sold we do not think that the 
amounts realized have been adequate.” In some cases they mention in their 
letters that they thought the price should have been such and such. Just broadly 
speaking, there were those two types of letters and they have all been acknowl­
edged by the department stating that their letters remain on the record and we 
indicated that we were carrying out a policy which had been outlined by the 
government.

Q. Were they individually notified when tenders were called, for instance, 
for the sale of real properties and when their chattels were to be sold or when 
any of their other assets were to be sold?—A. No, not at all.

Q. Could they have had any way of following the procedure of the cus­
todian in the disposition of their own personal assets?—A. No, I would not say 
they could. They were not living in the area and of course they were all aware 
of the policy, of evacuation. The Japanese had the option of having anything 
that they wished shipped to them. That was not real property of course but it 
applied as far as household chattels and so on were concerned. Those things 
were available on request. They were also aware that the policy of liquidation 
of chattels was coming into effect. The policy was widely known in the camps 
in which they were living, and they .knew their goods were to be sold under the 
government’s policy.

Q. What did you mean Mr. Shears when you stated they could have some 
of their assets shipped to them?—A. If, by any chance, they wanted all their 
furniture or everything they owned they could have had it shipped but we did 
not have any requests for shipment. I think one of the reasons for that would 
be that a lot of it would never have justified the cost of shipment. Up until 
those household effects were sold by auction the custodian was willing and ready 
at any time to ship the goods to the Japanese. I know that in some cases we 
have shipped certain quantities.

Mr. Chuickshank: At whose expense?
The Witness: At the expense of the Japanese.

By Mr. Cote:
Q- Where were the goods shipped?—A. To the place where they were 

residing. In regard to the Japanese that were living in what they called the 
interior housing settlements, they were provided with all that was considered 
necessary to provide a home and subsistence. If they wanted anything further 
vc‘ shipped it in co-operation with the Department of Labour. If they requested 
shipment they were advised that they would have to take care of the charges but 
that the goods were available for shipment at any time.

Q. Did you have a substantial number of requests for shipment?--A. No, 
just a limited number.
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Q. Now after any assets had been disposed of were the Japanese individually 
notified as to the proceeds of those sales?—A. They have all been notified. I 
would not care to say that they were notified immediately. The accounting of 
all those items was considerable but they were all definitely notified, and in fact 
long since, every Japanese has had a statement of his account. If he has not 
had a statement it is an omission. The statements were made in many cases 
continually, starting from his first balance and continuing on up to his present 
balance. I would say that if any Japanese requested information he was given 
immediate consideration but if he did not request it he would only get it in the 
normal course and there would be some little delay. However, there was no 
purposeful delay in not revealing to him what his credit was if his goods had 
been sold.

The Vice-Chairman: Mr. Cote, I do not know how much more you have to 
take up but I am keeping in mind the ruling which I made yesterday.

Mr. Cote: I am very sorry, but I am about through.
The Vice-Chairman: I do not want to interrupt but I am just trying to live 

up to what I said.

By Mr. Cote:
Q. I will be very brief. I was going to ask, Mr. Shears, about what he said 

in regard to the complete record of the Japanese. I am wondering how you would 
learn of the new places in which they were living?—A. I did not get the import 
of that.

Q. I say that on the 19th of July when you first closed off the tenders, you 
could not at the time have communicated with each and all of the evacuees 
because you were not at that time aware of their addresses.—A. We did not 
communicate with any of them.

Q. But later on you did?—A. We were aware of the addresses of these 
Japanese at all times by inquiries which we were able to make through the 
Department of Labour and our files were kept definitely up to date with respect 
to the location of these Japanese. Our department had no concern with that 
matter but we had all the information that we wanted at any time with respect to 
where any Japanese was living.

Q. I understand you opened individual accounts for each of these evacuees 
from the moment that you had something on deposit?—A. Yes, we opened 
individual accounts for every Japanese who had any money to his credit.

The Vice-Chairman : You are next Mr. Jaenicke.
By Mr. Jaenicke:

Q. I was just going to follow up some of the matters brought out by Mr. 
Cote. I have here an example of some of the goods and chattels handled. I am 
predicating my remarks by saying we heard Mr. Shears yesterday on the diffi­
culty that his office had in keeping track of the goods and chattels and that 
there was a lot of theft and vandalism and things of that nature. However, I 
think the committee should have some information on this particular case and I 
should like, after I am through, to have Mr. Shears comment on it. I have here 
a copy of an inventory of a Japanese by the name of Maochi Karatsu, registra­
tion number 12051, and file number 8666. This inventory is an inventory of 
all his go oils and chattels which was compiled by this Japanese in the presence 
of a Mr. W. E. Anderson of your office. I believe he is in the farm department of 
your office.—A. What date is that, may I ask?

Q. October 28, 1942. My information is this Japanese was still at that time 
at his home and that is where this inventory was made. All the goods and 
chattels were valued in the presence of and apparently with the consent of Mr. 
Anderson and I think the valuation is reasonable. Chairs are valued at $1 apiece,
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some at 50 cents apiece, and they are very small valuations. A box contained a 
quantity of fishing tackle valued at $160 including one good condition high- 
tension magnet, the cost of which was $80. There was a one-quart water kent 
coil which cost $15; one dozen bearings $15; ten sprockets, $12; twelve paint 
brushes, $30. Another large item is a tool-box containing fishing gear for 
commercial purposes. Two hundred fathoms of stainless trolling wire, (cost 
$30) ; one hundred new fish-hooks for pilchard bait, (cost $7.50) ; two hundred 
spoon hooks, (cost $70). The total valuation of the articles contained) in that 
box was $107.50. The other valuations on the inventory are just small, ranging 
anywhere from 15 cents to about $5.00. The total valuation on this inventory 
is $723.45. Apparently on March 15 this Japanese, Mr. Karatsu, wrote to the 
office requesting that certain articles be sent to him. I may say certain articles 
were sent to him according to the inventory, including three steel bedsprings 
which were sent, but which, by the way, were valued at $2. Also a chesterfield 
chair which had no valuation on this inventory was sent. Apparently he
requested some further articles to be sent to him and on March 15, 1947 he
received a letter from the office of Mr. Shears, signed by Mr. W. E. Anderson 
reading in part as follows:

In reply to your letter of March 15 in which you ask that certain
chattels be sent to you, we have to advise that we are unable to ship
these articles as some have been sold at auction and others are missing. 
The bocks were badly mildewed and damaged and were discarded as 
being of no value. We are enclosing an itemized statement of the 
articles sold at auction and the balance not shown on this sheet were 
either stolen, or damaged and declared of no value.

Referring to your enquiry as to expenses against your boats; these 
expenses are proportionate charges covering supervision, insurance and 
survey expenses actually paid out. No office expenses or commission on 
the sales have been charged.

Your account has now been credited with the sum of $43.50 repre­
senting $21.75 on each boat covering a transportation claim from Steves- 
ton to Tofino. These amounts have been credited as it is understood 
that you delivered one boat and paid the expenses on the other one on 
the trip down and return to Tofino. We would appreciate your confir­
mation that this is correct.

A statement of your account is enclosed and these funds are available 
to you on request.

Yours truly,
I may say I mention nothing about the boats but I simply refer to the 

goods and chattels of which I gave you a description and an explanation of 
the inventory. Now here is thé statement of the goods and chattels which 
were sold by auction at Mission, B.C., on March 7, 1945. The total is given 
as $10.40. On an inventory that was originally $723. There was an expense 
i'f $4 04 against it leaving a balance of $6.36 for this inventory. Now as I say, 
Mi\ Shears has explained there has been a lot of theft and vandalism going on 
but I shold like to put these documents on the record if the committee wishes 
so that in the end we may make some recommendation to the House or to the 
government that cases like this may be looked into and that justice be done 
to some of these Japanese whose property has been disposed of in such a way. 
I should like to hear Mr. Shear’s comments. •

Mr. Gladstone : Was your statement in error in one respect, as you gave 
it. Mr. Jaenicke? 1 hat is did the realization of $10 against the original value 
of $700 include boats.
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Mr. Jaenicke: No, it does not include boats. If the committee likes I 
would put the statement on the record.

Mr. Cruickshank: Was this appraisal done in the presence of Mr. Ander­
son?

Mr. Jaenicke: Yes.
Mr. Cruickshank: I just want the point perfectly clear. It should be 

definite that Mr. Anderson was an official employee of the custodian’s branch 
and he was present when the original estimate was made.

The X ice-Chairmax: May I suggest, Mr. Cruickshank, that you ask that 
question of Mr. Shears.

Mr. Cruickshank: Mr. Jaenicke has just made the statement and this 
happens to be in my riding and I have been accused of a lot of things in 
connection with the Japanese so I would like to know.

Mr. Jaenicke: I am not accusing you of anything.
Mr. Cruickshank: Just a moment, Mr. Chairman, if the valuation of 

the Japanese property was prepared by an officer of the government and was 
approved as $700 and the Japanese only got $10 out of it, I am very much 
interested.

The Vice-Chairman: XX'ould you be good enough to table that inventory Mr. 
Jaenicke?

Mr. Jaenicke: Yes.
Mr. Cote: Before there is any motion put I would like to say this.
The Vice-Chairman: There is no motion.
Mr. Cote: But we had better hear Mr. Shears.
The \\ it ness: Mr. Chairman, and gentlemen, I think you will appreciate 

it is not possible for me to have all the details of any specific case which you 
may bring to my attention. However, I would like to say this in regard to 
what has been read by Mr. Jaenicke. Mr. Anderson was an employee of 
the office of the custodian. Never, at any time, did he have any authority, 
nor did he attempt in any way to value any properties. If the Japanese was 
with him at that time, and it does seem rather likely, it is possible that he was 
in the area, if he were there at the time the inventory would probably be 
made when they were together. It is quite possible they listed all the articles 
together. The placing of any price against those articles would, however, be 
entirely the responsibility of the Japanese and no consent or approval in any 
shape or form would have been given by Mr. Anderson because that has been 
quite a distinct rule in our department. Mr. Anderson is not an appraiser. 
I think probably, because of his contacts with Japanese property, he has a 
better idea than I would have, or than some of you gentlemen would have 
He was not there in any way to place prices on articles sold. I admit, if 
those figures are in any way accurate there Seems to be a wide gap between 
what they were sold for and the original valuation. The point would be, what 
articles were actuallv sold of the original list? A number of them, for some 
reason or other, would not seem to have been sold at all. A specific analysis 
of the file would be necessary to reveal all the facts.

Mr. Cote: XX'ould it be possible to get some information on this particular 
point in which I am very interested. I understand you arc about to leave to 
return to the coast but would it be possible to send to the chairman or to Doctor 
Coleman all the particulars and facts jiertaining to this particular case'.’

The XX’itness: I would certainly be willing to do that. The only thing 
which crosses my mind, and I think I am in order in saying this, is it has been 
indicated has it not, on the floor of the House, by the minister, that active 
consideration of claims is under wav. XX'ould that not be the time when the
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details of specific cases would be of greatest use. However if any particular case 
is requested we would only be too happy to supply the details.

Mr. Cote: If you require a motion I would be glad to put it.
Mr. Smith: Even at $700. and taking the value at half of that, do you not 

think the committee should have some explanation. If you just take the articles 
which have been read off by Mr. Jaenicke. and, using our own figures as to what 
they might be worth, there is a discrepancy. A man gets less than $10 for the 
whole lot, and I think some explanation should be forthcoming.

Mr. Jaenicke: You can see for yourself the values are very reasonable.
Mr. Cote: I would be quite prepared, to move that you send these particulars 

on to the chairman, Mr. Shears, leaving it to the chairman and to his steering 
committee to decide whether it is worth while opening a discussion on the 
particular case in the full committee.

Mr. Fraser: I wonder if the witness would say whether any other occasions 
such as this have come to his attention, where the depreciation has gone on to 
this extent.

The Witness: Yes, I would say that is true. I would say this too. It will 
be without a doubt possible for you to introduce some cases along the line of 
that which has now been indicated but there will be thousands where you will 
not find the same situation. I am not making this as a definite statement in 
regard to this particular case because I am not in a position to do so but just 
supposing it was shown the articles sold fetched a fair value for what was sold, 
and all the other articles disappeared. That would have been one of these 
cases, I admit, an extreme one, where our file might reveal something with regard 
to the disappearance by theft of all the articles. I do not want the committee 
to get the impression that in many cases everything in the house had dis­
appeared. I am taking this as an extreme case. Possibly if such a considerable 
amount of goods were short of the amount of goods which were sold, the answer 
would be that the goods had been stolen.

Mr. Fraser: In this case you mentioned and these other cases, were these 
inventories made by men of your department or how were they made?

The Witness: In some cases they were supplied in the original declaration, 
then at a later date our men, as and when it was possible for them to do so, went 
around to all these various farm" and checked up on the articles that were there. 
In this particular case it would appear Mr. Anderson was there when the 
Japanese waf there and that would be proof positive that these articles were 
there. It would not, in my judgment, be proof positive of their value. It may 
or it may not have been right.

Mr. Fleming: Mr. Chairman, I have a number of questions but to spread 
this around among the members quickly, I will confine myself to just one phase.

The Vice-Chairman : Is it on this particular question?
Mr. Fleming: No, I want to turn now to the Fraser Valley farms.

1 he Vice-Chairman: May we dispose of this first? Is it your request that 
the Chairman ask Doctor Coleman or Mr. Shears to give us further information 
with respect to this particular case?

Agreed.
Mr. Probe: Mr. Chairman. I think the information contained there in the 

documents given to you by Mr. Jaenicke should be retained on the record. 
As I understand it that inventory form is the regulair form of the custodian’s 
branch or a copy of it. It looks as though it has some official value and 
I believe the thing should be printed as it is there and reference made later 
on to it.
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Mr. Cbuickshank: I would like to follow that up. I am also interested 
in this Fraser Valley. I think even- member wants to do the fair thing by the 
Japanese. We may have been indiscreet in some things but not with respect 
to the value of goods taken. I do not know how much is involved, there may­
be hundreds of thousands of dollars, I cannot say. However, with my limited 
experience in Ottawa I do not see that there is any particular rush for 
Mr. Shears to return to British Columbia. It is a delightful country out there 
at any time of the year and I would like to be there myself now, but if there 
are hundreds of thousands of dollars involved I am not particular whether 
Mr. Shears goes back to British Columbia to-morrow or a month from now. 
As I understand it, the minister made a statement in the House that adjustments 
were necessary and they would have to be made. I think this committee is 
set up for the purpose of discovering whether any injustice has been done and 
we are then to make our recommendation. I think we are entitled to all the 
information we can get and I am not particularly worried about Mr. Shears 
going back to Vancouver. I would like to go back tomorrow, as I said. After 
all, Mr. Shears is an official and I think this committee should have whatever 
information is necessary from Vancouver. Mr. Shears might get that information 
and explain it to us when he gets it.

The Vice-Chairman: I as-ure you, Mr. Cruickshank, that Mr. Shears will 
be kept here until such time as the committee decides otherwise. I mentioned 
that he was from British Columbia and the governement is anxious that he 
return as quickly as possible but that is not sooner than he is able.

Mr. Cruickshank: I would like to have this information as brought out 
by Mr. Jaenicke. I do not know whether it is correct and I do not think 
Mr. Jaenicke knows whether it is correct but I would like to have details and 
information brought from the office in Vancouver in order to have Mr. Shears 
explain it to this committee.

The Vice-Chairman : You shall have that information.
Mr. Cote: Speaking to that request, Mr. Chairman, I rather think it would 

be more advisable, before printing the inventory tabled by Mr. Jaenicke, 
and the other documents, that we get the full reports on the other side of the 
picture and if necessary at that time we can have the whole thing printed in 
the same'minutes of evidence.

Mr. Jaenicke: The only thing is, it will give you information as to the 
valuation of these articles and you can form your own opinions.

Mr. Cote: That is an individual case, Mr. Jaenicke. If it was a matter of 
higher policy you would be quite right, but this is an individual case. There 
may be a full explanation to account for this particular case and it would 
be unfair to let all this go into the minutes of evidence here without a proper 
answer which Mr. Shears is not in a position to give today.

The Witness: Just for the purpose of the record it is written right at 
the top of this sheet, “List made by custodian, owner’s valuation added”. I am 
merely putting that down for the purpose of the record. I definitely do not 
agree that this is a valuation made by an employee in my office.

Mr. Jaenicke: I did not say that.
Mr. Fleming: We all understand that.
Mr. Smith: Mr. Chairman, if we are going to print anything it should 

be printed in one piece, that is the only fair way.
The Chairman: In the meantime, we will table it and the clerk will be 

the custodian of the papers.
By Mr. Fleming:

Q, Mr. Chairman, may I ask a group of questions in regard to the farms 
of the Fraser Valiev area? As I followed the evidence given by Mr. Shears
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yesterday it indicated that in this group of farms there was a total of 769 of 
which about 20 were not in the Fraser Valley.—A. Yes. I said that. There 
may have been 30 to 40 relatively the bulk of them were in the Fraser Valley.

Q. Were those outside the Fraser Valley included in the sale to the 
Soldiers’ Settlement Board?—A. Definitely yes. They were in the same offer 
but some of them were on the mainland and there were a few over on Vancouver 
Island but it was quite a limited number.

Q. The Soldiers’ Settlement Board got the full 769 for the price which you 
mentioned yesterday, namely $836,000?—A. No, excuse me, I think we should 
have this just right. There was an offer on 768 parcels. That was the original 
offer. There was a subsequent offer.

Q. What was the amount of that offer?—A. That was an offer from the 
Soldiers’ Settlement Board?—A. Yes, 768 parcels, and the offer was $750,000. 
It was raised to $850.000 and that is the point, gentlemen, that we have got to 
make clear. The offer was for 768 parcels but we were not able to deliver title to 
all those 768 parcels.

An Hon. Member: For what reason?
The Witness: I will come to that in a minute. There were 768 parcels in 

the first offer; 55 properties in a second offer which was considered by the 
advisory committees; and we had to withdraw some 60 odd properties and the 
actual number finally sold to the Veterans’ Land Act was 741. The reason for 
the withdrawal of those 60 parcels was in part this: 20 of them, approximately, 
had no Japanese interest at all. The other 41, in a number of cases, were in 
the name of a deceased Japanese and the sale of that property had to be handled 
through an official administrator. In some cases there were encumbrances 
against the property greater than the Veterans’ Land Act offer and for that 
reason they were withdrawn. When the sale was consummated in was consum­
mated on the basis of an acceptable offer of $850.000 against $867,000 valuation 
of the properties in the first offer. Could I put it this way?

This is a copy of the offer. The Japanese name the appraised value, and 
the sale price. The sale price is 1 - 7 per cent, a little less than 2 per cent, lower 
than the appraisal. After a property was withdrawn it was just withdrawn on 
that basis.

By Mr. Fleming:
Q. I do not know whether that was quite clear Mr. Shears. Probably we 

can clear it up with a question or two. Now the offer whjeh was finally accepted 
was 741 properties all of which belonged to Japanese?—A. Yes.

Q. They were sold for a total of $856,256?—A. Definitely.
Q. And some other properties were taken out of the larger group because 

they were not the property of Japanese?—A. Yes, and also 41 properties that 
belonged to Japanese which we could not convey were taken out because they 
belonged to deceased persons and they were not sold to the Veterans’ Land Act 
people.

Q. Some of those would be included in those 50 that you said were not sold? 
—A. I think they have all been sold.

Q. Let us confine ourselves to the 741 that were sold. An appraisal was 
made by the superintendent of the Soldiers’ Settlement Board.—A. By the 
Soldiers Settlement Board of Canada, I think that is the title.

Q. Yes, and their appraisal of those 741 properties was exactly how much? 
I think you gave the figure yesterday of $847.000?—A. Yes, $847,878.

Q. We are clear on that.—A. That would be right, yes.
Q. Now had your office made any appraisal apart from the appraisal of 

the Soldiers’ Settlement Board?—A. Not at the time the offer was being dealt 
with. The advisory committee made some examination into some of the
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properties before they recommended the acceptance of the offer. That was a 
valuation they made then.

Q. May I inquire if there was any general valuation made by your office 
before this offer was received or made by the Veterans’ Land Act officials?— 
A. There was not.

Q. Now you say there was a check made of some properties. How many 
properties were checked as to valuation before the acceptance of the offer?— 
A. I think 17 or 18 properties.

Q. 17 or 18 out of 741?—A. Yes.
Q. And remembering apart from the fact this was a cash offer and a bulk 

offer, were there any other reasons you would like to mention which would 
lead your office to recommend government acceptance of this offer? I want to 
get the whole picture and to make sure you are perfectly fair.—A. This offer 
was negotiated between the advisory committee of the custodian and the com­
mittee of the Department of Veterans’ Land Affairs. Representatives of the two 
committees sat together and as a result of their negotiations the advisory 
committee under Judge Whiteside recommended to the custodian that, in view 
of all the circumstances, the purpose for which those lands were required, the 
fact that the custodian would be relieved of a certain amount of carrying 
charges, the offer should be accepted and that offer was finally accepted.

Q. Those are the points I mentioned, and I take it we have before us all 
the factors that led to the acceptance of this offer?—A. Yes.

Q. You mentioned yesterday a figure of assessment of $1,250.940. I take it 
that figure is the assessment of the 741 properties.—A. Yes.

Q. Now, have you within your knowledge information as to the terms on 
which these properties were then sold from the Soldiers’ Settlement Board to 
the veterans?—A. That is not our department of course, but I am advised that 
when the director of the Veteran’s Land Act sells these properties to a returned 
man he sells them at precisely the amount which he paid the custodian plus any 
improvements that they themselves have made. That is to say the Veterans’ 
Land Act bought the property for $2,000 and the returning soldier would buy 
the property for $2,000 from the director of the Veterans’ Land Act. I think 
I am right in that statement but of course it is not my department.

Q. Well you feel quite certain about it and perhaps the chairman could 
arrange to have that information confirmed. Now, let us go on to the distribution 
of the proceeds. You start with a certain valuation made by the Soldiers’ 
Settlement Board. When you started to break down the proceeds of the $836,000 
among the Japanese owners on what basis did you proceed?—A. Originally the 
offer was for that number of properties for that sum of money, giving an 
itemized list of all pro[>erties on which they were bidding. For example our 
file number 11,060, Veterans’ Land Act number 75, the Japanese ngme was 
S. Sukawa. Their appraisal of that property was $1,158. Then if you added 
up all the totals of the 700 odd parcels it would have come to $857,000 all from 
the first offer. The sale was then computed to the exact decimal point because 
of the fact that the advisory committee recommended acceptance of the 
$850,000 as against the valuation of $867,000.

Q. To put it briefly the distribution of the proceeds among the Japanese was 
based on the appraisal of the Soldiers’ Settlement Board and worked out on a 
pro rata basis against the total price?—A. Correct.

Q. What steps did you take to notify the Japanese concerned of that 
appraisal?—A. There was a statement sent out to each Japanese showing the price 
at which his property had been sold to the director of the Veterans' Land Act. 
On the same statement there would show the disbursements, that is his share of 
the taxes and fire insurance and 1 think that would be about all.

Q. And how many owners were there in the 741 properties? Were they all 
individually owned?—A. I would say yes. There would be some slight difference
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because there would be joint interests in a few cases but I would say approxi­
mately 700 owners would be concerned.

Q. Did you have replies from them?—A. I would say in the Vancouver office 
we might have had 300 letters of complaints. That, of course, may or may not 
indicate that all the people who wished to complain did so because when we 
received these letters of complaints we replied, stating as I have mentioned before, 
that their letter was being filed for record purposes. I think it is a fact that the 
Japanese population as a whole, living in these camps, would understand that if 
one Japanese complained and received that letter they would all receive such 
letters and they might not have troubled to write us. I do not know whether that 
is the explanation but it could be.

Q. How does that number of complaints with reference to the total number 
of persons affected, compare with the record of complaints that were received 
regarding the disposal of other types of Japanese property?—A. Well, I am 
frank in saying here that practically all complaints which have been received 
have been in connection with these farm lands which were sold to the director of 
the Veterans’ Land Act.

Q. I take it to be a fact from what you said yesterday that your office really 
had not any particular part to play beyond accepting this particular offer. It 
was a matter of government policy.—A. It was a matter of negotiation between 
these two government departments and our local Vancouver office did not enter 
into the picture in regard to the sales of that group as we did in regard to other 
properties.

Q. The decision was a government decision?—A. Yes.
Q. A matter of government policy. Just a question in passing. Of the 

owners of the 741 properties would you know how many were naturalized British 
subjects resident in Canada?—A. No, I am sorry.

Q. You did not keep any records?—A. In so far as our department is con­
cerned in administering the affairs of the Japanese there was no distinction. An 
evacuee was not an enemy and whether he was a national or naturalized or 
Canadian born. It made no difference to the administration of his property and 
the disposal of it when liquidation came into effect.

Q. That answer would apply to all property of persons of the Japanese 
race?—A. All evacuees.

Q. There was no distinction drawn between their status in any respect?— 
A. No, there were of course some Japanese classed as enemies but I am speaking 
of evacuees.

Q. Have all the owners of the 741 properties now received the proceeds of the 
sales or in some cases are the proceeds still held by the custodian?—A. The 
overall picture at the moment is this, that we have approximately 1,600 accounts 
which have credit balances. They are being sent out just as fast as they can 
be sent out. They are not being held for any reason at all. In some cases we 
have sent out money to a Japanese and the cheque has been returned saying that 
he does not wish to accept it and so that money of course goes back to the credit 
of his account.

Q- You are speaking of the overall picture?—A. Yes.
Q. When you speak of 1,600 accounts?—A. Yes.
Q- I am speaking only of the persons intitled to sale proceeds from the sale 

of the 741 properties.—A. I could not give you that proportion but as I say 
there arc credit balances for 1,600 Japanese.

Q. That is another subject to which I would like to come back a little 
later. You cannot, however, from the knowledge of your records now, tell me 
how many cases of owners of the 741 properties have received in full the proceeds 
of the sale of their parcel.—A. No, I can only say that the majority have received 
their money.



100 STAXD1XG COMMITTEE

Q. And amongst them how many do you think have refused to accept it?— 
A. I think about 30 or 40.

Q. Thirty or 40 out of the majority?—A. Yes, that number returned their 
cheques.

The Vice-Chairman: Ten per cent roughly.
The Witness: Yes.

By Mr. Probe:
Q. Mr. Chairman, I would like to ask a few questions to follow up what 

Mr. Fleming has been asking wTith respect to the land held at one time by 
Japanese nationals, or naturalized Japanese.

Mr. Fleming: You had better not call them Japanese nationals.
Mr. Probe: No, I will change that to persons of the Japanese race. 

Yesterday, in the evidence, the witness accepted a phrase with respect to this 
land. Perhaps I should ask him whether he did accept the statement with respect 
to this land but the suggestion was it was already burned out in the sense that 
it was no longer productive farming land. Might I have his comment on that 
for the record to-day because I would like to get that matter cleared up? 
That is as to whether or not it was or was not fit for production.—A. As I 
stated yesterday I am not a farmer and I merely stated that I have been 
advised that a number of these properties were in the class of what was termed 
burned out lands. I do not think that means they were entirely non-productive. 
I think by putting in more fertilizer and that sort of thing the land would 
still be productive. That is somewhat of a technical matter and beyond my 
knowledge but this information has come to us in a general way.

Q. In general would you say these lands were suitable for further farming? 
That is, they are still suitable for the use of the soldiers to whom they were 
ultimately sold. —A. I would say that was true, but as I say that would be a 
question for a person who understood agriculture more than I do.

Q. As far as burned out valuation is concerned the suggestion came from 
one of the members of the committee rather than from the custodian’s depart­
ment.—A. No, that statement, as a matter of fact, has been a general state­
ment in and around the Vancouver area and the statement did not come from 
the committee. I am just saying that is generally accepted in Vancouver and 
the Fraser Valley area that many of the Japanese farms wTould have been 
termed as burned out, but they were still producing and I take it can still be 
productive.

Q. Would you be able to inform us as to what is the general nature of the 
production of the lands that were occupied by these evacuees from their own 
production or production that has been obtained since they left? I am not as 
familiar with that area as would be the member from Fraser Valley. I do not 
know the country as a whole.—A. They are what might be called small berry 
farms, raspberries, strawberries and so on, but Mr. Cruickshank might be able 
to say something there.

Mr. Cruickshank: I certainly intend to say something when you are 
through.

By Mr. Probe:
Q. Well, was the land productive generally, following the removal of 

these persons from the Fraser Valley? Was it kept in production?—A. Very 
little of it went out of production. Arrangements were made by the Japanese 
themselves before their evacuation, in co-operation generally with the Pacific 
Co-operative Union, that white tenants be placed on the farms. Sometimes 
the white persons were on the land even before the Japanese were evacuated. 
Broadly speaking, all the farms had some tenant placed upon them within a 
limited time.
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Q. That would be covered by some form of cropping arrangement whereby 
the evacuee would receive his proper share of the produce of that farm?—A. In 
all cases, I think I might say, it wafe an outright sale of the crop for that 
particular year. That is to say the Japanese contacted a white tenant and 
the white tenant said “I will pay you $600,” for instance, “for the use of your 
property and for the growing of the crop”. From that time on, of course, the 
white tenant had to cultivate it and had to take the crop off.

Q. Might I ask further, in connection with these holdings, was the farm 
machinery which had been part of each farm left on the farm when the Japanese 
evacuee left?—A. The farm machinery stayed with the land for the use of the 
white tenant during the term of his lease. That lease was for one year and in 
most cases it was renewed for the following year. It was renewed up until 
the time when these properties were sold to the director of the Veterans’ Land 
Act. At that time the tenants who were on the land became the tenants of the 
Veterans’ Land Act.

Q. Was the machinery valued separately in connection with the appraisal 
that was made for the purpose of selling out their interests?—A. The offer of 
the Veterans' Land Act was for the real estate only, the buildings and so on, 
but not the equipment.

Q. And such things as machinery, livestock, automobiles, and trucks would 
be disposed of through ordinary channels other than those involved in this 
arrangement between the custodian and the Soldiers’ Settlement Board?— 
A. Those items were vested in the custodian and were disposed of by the means 
I outlined yesterday, that is advertising and calling for tenders or, if it was the 
type of article that could be sold at auction it was sold at auction.

Q. With respect to the land, I presume the land was asked for by the 
officials of the Veterans’ Land Act rather than offered by the custodian to the 
Veterans’ Land Act. I would just like to know whether your department 
suggested to the Veterans’ Land Act that they buy these properties or whether 
that came about with the offer?—A. I can only say in regard to this particular 
offer, as already indicated, that it was the result of negotiations between the 
two governmental departments and not at Vancouver. The Vancouver office 
did not really come into the picture until after the deal had been consummated.

Q. That is the custodian is simply a third party in negotiations that 
happened to take place between the Veterans’ Land Act or shall we say, the 
secretary of state and the Department of Veterans’ Affairs. Those would be 
the two departments involved in those negotiations.—A. My understanding 
is that the deal originated, and of course it would naturally come from the 
Department of Veterans’ Affairs. Knowing of these properties in the Fraser 
Valley and considering it desirable that they should be held for returned soldiers, 
I presume the Department of Veterans’ Affairs would approach the department 
which had control of these lands by vesting at that particular time. Those 
two departments entered into negotiations and the deal was considered by the 
advisory committee and acceptance was made. It was only at that time that 
the Vancouver office came into the picture for the purpose of the mechanics 
of transferring the properties.

Q. May I ask if the Department of Veterans Affairs rejected any parcels 
because of the burned out feature? I presume they would have had their own 
inspectors working on this?—A. No, all the properties on which they offered 
except those which were withdrawn by the Custodian were sold.

Q. Now, then, what was the total acreage that was bought out at this 
price of $850,000 or is it $836,000?—A. I am afraid that on an acreage basis 
I could not venture an opinion.

Q. \ ou could not give me or the committee an idea of the average acreage 
of the farms9—A. Yes, but there again, as I mentioned before in connection 
with the average price of $1,158, one property was sold at $10,000 and another
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at $200. These farms were generally small farms, one acre, two acres, five acres 
and so on.

Q. Would it be more correct to say they were small holdings rather than 
farms and surely there is an average that we could strike with respect to 
this?—A. They were small holdings, yes.

Q. Have you any comments to offer on what the assessment procedure is 
in the Fraser Valley with respect to these lands because I judge, since you 
have had numerous letters protesting the sale price, the owners xvanted more 
than they got. Is there any basis for their complaint? How is the assessment 
worked out in the areas where this land was sold? In my city, for example, 
we have an arbitrary assessment for land and a 30 per cent valuation for 
buildings.—A. I would not be positive about this but I think land is assessed 
at its full value and improvements are assessed at 50 or 60 per cent. However, 
I would rather not make a positive statement in regard to that.

Q. Mr. Jaenicke corrects me and tells me that in Saskatchewan they set 
the assessment at 60 per cent of the value of the buildings.—A. As a matter of 
fact they sometimes have an assessed value and a value for taxation purposes 
but just what the valuation is I do not know.

Q. In general would you say it is incorrect to say that the custodian has sold 
poor quality land to the veterans in this proposition, the 741 parcels? That is 
to say the land generally was quite productive.—A. The land was certainly 
productive.

Q. I wonder why it was that there were 60 properties that were originally 
offered that were withdrawn from the sale?—A. It has been indicated before that 
60 odd properties were withdrawn. Twenty were withdrawn because the Japanese 
had no interest. In 41 cases there was a Japanese interest but the custodian 
was not in a position to deliver the title. These properties have been sold 
since. They have been sold in many cases by the official administrator in 
co-operation with the custodian but in other cases they have been sold directly 
by the custodian when at a later time the custodian had cleared up defective 
titles. The reason they were withdrawn was at that time the custodian wras 
not in position to deliver title. At a later date either the custodian or the 
official administrator was in a position to deliver the title and those properties 
w'ere then sold.

Q. Not necessarily to the Veterans’ Land Act?—A. No, not necessarily to 
the Veterans’ Land Act.

Q. To private individuals.
Mr. Cruickshank: Mr. Chairman, I would like to ask a couple of questions 

myself regarding the Fraser Valley. I would like to have as a matter of record 
the sale price by the custodian to the Soldiers’ Settlement Board. I want this 
on the record in the case of each parcel of land. In other words I want the 
price that was paid to the Japanese. The reason I want that is that I happen 
to be a member of the Veterans’ Affairs Committee and interested in seeing that 
the government should not be allowed to exploit the veteran by buying a piece 
of land for $1,000 and selling it to the veteran for $2,000. I want the exact price 
on each parcel of land bought from the Japanese. I think too much has been 
said about this burned out land and I am only sorry that the farmers from 
Saskatchewan are not familiar with the good farming husbandry that- we have 
in the Fraser Valley. They will not know what we mean by burned out land. In 
the province of British Columbia it has quite a different meaning from, for 
instance, burned out lands in the province of Saskatchewan. Burned out land 
in the province of British Columbia in particular the berry farm, is not caused 
from such things as drought. I want to make this quite clear because nobody 
is going to say that the Fraser Valley is burned out. Berry farming by the 
very nature of it is intensified farming as everyone will appreciate. On the 
average berry farm fertilizer is used and I trust there are no representatives
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here of firms selling the stuff. If anybody knows anything about farming and 
using chemical fertilizer they know that such fertilizer will eventually burn out 
the land. In the Fraser Valley the average berry farm is a small farm. This 
might be an Irish way of saying it, but the largest farm would not be over ten 
acres and the average farm will have about five acres under cultivation. The 
farm is very intensively farmed and as I have said it has to be kept in condition 
by the use of chemical fertilizer. That is what we mean by burned out land or 
farm land which has been mined. I made a statement, and I repeat it now, a 
very large percentage of these farms in the Fraser Valley were burned out, 
being over mined, because such fertilizers had been put on the land. In most 
cases, of necessity, it was chemical fertilizer which was put on the land. 
Nobody is here to dispute the fact that the Japanese were energetic and good 
workers, and nobody is here, so far as British Columbia is concerned, at least, to 
say they were not capable arid efficient farmers, particularly in small areas. I 
am sure Mr. Green will agree with me in that.

I am digressing slightly at the moment because too much attention has been 
paid to a remark made by Mr. Probe yesterday, “How could they afford to buy 
these frigidaires if the land was burned out?” I could give you one reason for 
that. I know of one Japanese farmer who was working at the age of 94, seven 
days a week; that is one of the reasons. They were able—while the land may 
have been to a certain extent mined out—to buy frigidaires and such equipment 
because of their long hours of work. Incidentally, I may say a very small 
percentage of them had frigidaires because a very small percentage of the 
Japanese farmers had electricity on their farms. I was just using the word 
as a term. However, the-Japanese work from the time they are four years old 
until they are ninety years of age, seven days a week.

I heard someone say, “What hours do they work,”? They work up to 18 
hours a day. In my own municipality, adopting some of the methods of the 
lawyers, I had a by-law passed to prohibit them working on Sunday. By pure 
bluff, I got away with it. They told me I had to go to the Lord’s Day Alliance 
Act. You might just as well try to get something out of one of these government 
departments as to get something from the Lord’s Day Alliance Act. However, 
I bluffed it through and stopped them working on Sundays. It was for this 
reason they were able to buy those things. They worked long hours.

Last year, we paid berry pickers in the province of British Columbia as 
much as we received for the berries in the previous year. We actually paid the 
pickers as much as we received for the product. By working 18 hours a day, by 
working all the members of the family from the grandmothers to the grand­
children, the Japanese were able to do these things.

I want to make that very clear. I do not want to dwell on the burned out 
land. Any land must be kept up. I think everybody knows it.

I disagree with the witness as to the condition of the farms when the 
Japanese vacated. They were not properly farmed and had not been properly 
farmed. I am speaking of 90 per cent of the farms. In the production of berries, 
you must keep your farm replanted and heavily fertilized to keep it up. These 
farms were leased on a year-to-year basis. I leave it up to anyone of you; 
do you think anyone is going to take a farm, go in and clean it up and replant 
it when he is only there for a year? Those farms were not kept in condition 
and are not in condition now.

As the Fraser Valley has been mentioned, and as most of these Japanese 
berry farms are in my riding, I must say that now they are just pieces of land. 
They are not farms in most cases. They have grown up with willows, and to 
take them over would be like taking over a piece of raw land. They would 
have to be cleaned up.

The Chairman: What would be the average size?
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Mr. Cruickshank: Ten acres. There is one farm which has been sold in 
the Mission area. I understand it has been sold for a monastery. It is not 
worth $100 for the whole farm, as a farm. The Japanese, apparently being so 
accustomed in their own country, were capable and willing to farm the hillsides 
and the mountain slopes. The average berry farm, I am confident, would not 
equal ten acres. Although the property in question might be over ten acres—it 
might have 25 acres according to the tax notice—there would only be seven 
acres of that land under cultivation. I think that is general throughout the 
province of British Columbia. It certainly applies to the Fraser Valley. The 
assessment roll might indicate there was more property, but only a small 
percentage of that is actually under cultivation.

Mr. Jaenicke: What is the customary rental basis for these farms in that 
district?

Mr. Cruickshank: Previous to this evacuation of the Japanese, it was very 
seldom a berry farm was rented. I do not think there would be half a dozen 
berry farms rented in the province of British Columbia. It is not practical 
because of the limited scale of operations in berry farming.

The Chairman : Are there any further questions?
Mr. Green : What about the difference between the assessed value and the 

appraisal value?
Mr. Cruickshank: In the Fraser Valley, there are about 17 municipalities 

affected. Each municipality has a different scale of assessment. Some munici­
palities have never assessed or taxed improvements at all. Let me put it another 
way. The city of New Westminster, l think, is the only city of any size in 
Canada which does not tax improvements. I do not think you could arrive at 
a valuation of farm land from assessed value. Some municipalities adopt the 
principle of a high mill rate and a low assessment, and other municipalities adopt 
the principle of a low mill rate and a high assessment: that is common.

Mr. Probe: You have no assessment commission?
Mr. Cruickshank: Each municipality sets its own assessment. I think 

that was true until this year. I think the Goldberg report suggests there be a 
new assessment made by the provincial authorities for school purposes; that is 
for the 1947 assessment. I know nothing about it. I have had mostly municipal 
farm experience and I would say you cannot arrive at a valuation of the land 
on the basis of the assessment. I believe that is so in most municipalities across 
Canada.

There was one statement made by the witness with which I disagree. He 
said there was an assessed value and a value for taxation purposes. I disagree 
with that entirely.

The Witness: I say there are assessment notices without doubt which 
are in our office which have the assessed valuation and the valuation for taxation 
purposes. I would not say that was so in the Fraser Valley, but there are such 
notices.

Mr. Fleming: In some cases there are exemptions?
Mr. Cruickshank: Oh well, there may be exemptions but I am saying it is 

not possible to have an assessed value and a value for taxation in the province 
of British Columbia. I am speaking from memory. Until this year, we were 
only permitted to tax 50 per cent of the improvements; I think 50 per cent which 
was the maximum. This year it was raised to 75 per cent.

I am speaking for the veterans who are acquiring these farms, have acquired 
them or are acquiring them. They arc not able to enter into a discussion as to 
what we paid—when 1 say “we" I mean the Department of Veterans Affairs 
paid the Japanese for the lande We are determined the government shall not 
exploit those prices on the resale to the veterans. If there is an adjustment to
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be made—I want this to be put on the record to be perfectly clear—I do not 
think there is anybody in the Fraser Valley who wants to see any injustice done 
to those Japanese. Whether they were paid enough, I do not know. I do not 
think anybody else can tell. I do know the men who were on the advisory board. 
Judge WTiiteside, is one of the men of whom I am speaking and Mr. Menzies is 
another. Mr. Menzies has lived in the centre of the Japanese area for thirty 
years. I happen to be the person who recommended Mr. Menzies as a member 
of that board. He is a capable man in real estate. He is a man who resided 
right in the area. I presume he gave a fair valuation.

There is such a vast difference between the value of farm land, as between 
1942 and 1947 in any part of British Columbia, that to-day’s values cannot be 
taken into consideration. Values have trebled in the Fraser Valley. Land 
which sold in 1942 for $150, which was considered a good price at that time, has 
sold this year for $600. In so far as farm values are concerned, there can be 
no comparison between 1942 and 1947.

I do want that point to be clear. When I referred to burnt out land, that 
is common in any part of Canadp, and particularly in connection with intensive 
farming. For instance, your Niagara Peninsula is one of the finest districts in 
Canada, and certainly the only good district you have in Ontario, but it would 
be burnt out if you did not constantly keep that property up. It is the same 
wherever you have intensive farming.

Mr. Jaenicke: How can you recondition that land?
Mr. Cleaver: By adding humus to the land.
Mr. Fleming: May I have a couple of minutes to ask a few questions in 

connection with this matter?
The Chairman: I caught Mr. Cote’s signal, so you will have a couple of 

minutes and Mr. Cote will be the last.
By Mr. Fleming:

Q. Mr. Shears, do you know who made the valuation on behalf of the 
Soldiers’ Settlement Board?-—A. No, I do not. It was the Soldiers’ Settlement 
Board valuators, that is the only title I have.

Q. We will have to get that from that department, then?—A. Yes.
Q. You mentioned that you have had valuations made of 17 of the 741 

properties. I presume that was as a sort of check against the offer, is that 
correct?—A. The Advisory Committee had that check made.

Q Who made the valuation of the 17 properties?—A. The members of the 
committee themselves, Mr. MacKenzie and Mr. Menzies.

Q. Did they take along an independent valuator?—A. I could not say. 
They reported back to the committee that they had appraised 17 properties 
and they brought the result to the committee.

Q. Have you those results?—A. I am not sure whether I have them here, 
but those valuations they brought back to the committee were all higher than 
the Soldiers’ Settlement appraisal.

Q. Within what area were those 17 properties located?—A. They just 
checked the spot valuations throughout the group of lands.

Q. Then, you can furnish the committee with the particular properties, the 
valuations made by the committee in each case?—A. Yes.

Q. And you are gong to do that along with these other items for which 
Mr. Cruickshank has asked, namely, the settled purchase price of each property? 
—A. Yes.

Q. You mentioned later there were 60 additional properties sold. Did I 
understand you correctly?—A. There was what was called an addition to this 
number of properties and that was also sold on the same basis, that is to say, 
it was the Soldiers’ Settlement appraisal and the properties were sold exactly
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at the same percentage differential, less than 2 per cent of the valuation. So 
you could put the whole deal together.

Q. That is to say, these properties were all sold to the one private purchaser, 
is that correct?—A. They were sold to the Veterans’ Land Act, a second offer, 
an additional offer, I will call it.

Q. And the- basis was precisely the same?—A. Precisely the same, yes.
Mr. Probe: That is not the way I understood your answer.

By Mr. Fleming:
Q. That is not what I have noted when Mr. Probe was questioning you. 

You said they were sold to private purchasers.—A. They were properties with­
drawn from the Veterans’ Land Act. There were 60 odd properties withdrawn, 
20 did not belong to the Japanese and 40 have been advertised and sold either 
by the custodian or the administrator.

By Mr. Cruickshank:
Q. Is it not correct that some of these properties were sold by the Japanese 

direct, themselves?—A. No, not these particular properties. There were prop­
erties sold by the Japanese, but not these particular properties.

By Mr. Fleming:
Q. We have it straight; there were 60 sold through your office to private 

purchasers?—A. Forty-one.
Q. What was the valuation of those properties on w’hich you based your 

selling price; how was it made?—A. They were independent appraisals which 
I had made in line with the valuations which were made on the other 900 
properties to which I referred yesterday.

Q. They were made by independent valuators in the area?—A. In the area,
yes.

Q. Were appraisals made on any of those by appraisers for the Soldiers’ 
Settlement Board?—A. I did not catch your question. Originally in the offer, 
they had been valued by the Soldiers’ Settlement people, but they were with­
drawn and then they were valued—

Q. Then, you had a fresh appraisal made of them?—A. Yes, we had a fresh 
appraisal made.

Q. Can you give us a list of the forty-one properties with the two appraisals, 
the first appraisal by the Soldiers’ Settlement Board and the second appraisal 
made by your independent appraiser?—A. Yes, that is quite easily available, 
except, I would say this, rather than give the two appraisals we could give the 
prices at which the properties were sold.

Q. To give the committee the complete picture then, would you submit a 
list of the 41 properties with the three figures opposite each, the first appraisal 
by the Soldiers’ Settlement Board, the second appraisal made by your office’s 
independent appraisers and third, the selling price in each case?—A. Yes, I can 
give you the first two right here and will secure from Vancouver, the second 
appraisal-—I can give the Soldiers’ Settlement appraisal and I can give you the 
custodian’s selling price.

Q. It would be better to give it to us complete, would it not?
Mr. Case: I had a suggestion to make in connection with a question asked 

by Mr. Cruickshank. He has asked for a list of the properties, their values 
and so on, and there have been some questions asked about the average number 
of acres per farm. Would it be helpful to have the acreage of each of the 
properties?

Mr. Cruickshank: I presumed that would be on the list of properties?
The Witness: I would not be able to give you the acreage.
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The Chairman : If you want the 741 properties listed along the lines as 
outlined by Mr. Fleming, it is within your power to ask for it—

Mr. Cruickshank: That is exactly what I do want.
The Chairman: I do not know whether you heard the answer given by 

Mr. Shears. He said all the 741 properties sold to the DVA were re-sold to 
the veterans at exactly the same price.

Mr. Cruickshank: With all due deference to you, that is not according 
to the facts which I have. I am not saying Mr. Shears is responsible for the 
Department of Veterans Affairs, that is out of his jurisdiction.

The Chairman: The committee desires the 741?
Mr. Fleming: Yes, and that can be compared with the witness from the 

Department of Veterans Affairs.
The Chairman: Gentlemen, just before you leave, would it be possible to 

meet this afternoon? Is it your pleasure to do so, otherwise we would not meet 
until next week. I am not, as a rule, in favour of holding meetings while the 
House is in session. I have stated myxposition on that on more than one 
occasion in other committees. If it is your wish we should meet this afternoon, 
we could meet again at four o’clock.

Mr. Fleming: I doubt very much now if we are going to finish Mr. Shears 
to-day. Of course, that may not be a reason why we should not meet this after­
noon, but there are a lot of other matters to be covered yet.

The Chairman: Then, we will adjourn until Monday morning at eleven 
o’clock.

The committee adjourned at 1.05 p.m. to meet again on Monday, Mav 12, 
1947, at 11.00 a.m.
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MINUTES OF PROCEEDINGS
Monday, May 12, 1947.

The Standing Committee on Public Accounts met at 11 o’clock a.m.
Members present: Messrs. Boucher, Burton, Case, Cockeram, Cruickshank, 

Dechene, Fleming, Gladstone, Golding, Grant, Jaenicke, Johnston, Kirk, Pinard, 
Smith (Calgary IFest), Stewart (Winnipeg North), Winkler.

In attendance: Dr. E. H. Coleman, C.M.G., K.C., Deputy Custodian of 
Enemy Property ; Mr. F. G. Shears, Director of the Vancouver Office; and 
Mr. K. W. Wright, Counsel.

On motion of Mr. Golding,
Resolved: That in the absence of both the Chairman and the Vice-Chairman, 

Mr. Roch Pinard act as Chairman.
The Acting Chairman, Mr. Roch Pinard, took the Chair and thanked 

the members for the honour bestowed upon him.
The Committee resumed its investigation into the administration of the 

Vancouver office of the Custodian,
Examination of Mr. Shears was continued.
The witness supplied the Committee with information requested at the 

meeting of Friday, May 9, 1947, relating to the sale of 741 parcels of land, and 
was questioned thereon.

The witness filed a copy of Order in Council P.C. 5523, dated Monday, the 
29th day of June, 1942, which is printed as Exhibit “A” to this day’s minutes of 
proceedings and evidence.

On motion of Mr. Stewart (Winnipeg North),
Ordered,—That the minutes of the Advisory Committee to the Custodian, in 

the matter of the sale of 741 parcels of land, be produced at the earliest possible 
date.

On motion of Mr. Fleming,
Ordered,—That the balance of the correspondence between the Advisory 

Committee to the Custodian, the Department of the Secretary of State and the 
authorities of the Veterans’ Land Act, relating to the sale of the 741 parcels of 
land, be made available to the Committee.

The witness supplied the Commitee with a full report concerning the disposal 
of inventory of chattels left on the property of one Naochi Karatus.

On motion of Mr. Jaenicke,
Ordered,—That the original papers concerning the said Naochi Karatus, 

which were tabled by Mr. Jaenicke at» the previous meeting of the Committee 
be printed as Appendix “B” to this day’s proceedings and evidence.

At 1.05 o’clock p.m., the Committee adjourned until Tuesday, May 13, 
1947, at 11 o’clock a.m.

ANTOINE CHASSE,
Acting Clerk of the Committee.
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MINUTES OF EVIDENCE
House of Commons,

May 12,1947

The Standing Committee on Public Accounts met this day at 11.00 a.m. 
The Acting Chairman, Mr. Roch Pinard, presided.

Mr. Golding: Gentlemen, we have a quorum. Mr. Isnor will be away 
to-day, so I will move that Mr. Pinard take the chair for this meeting.

Carried.
The Acting Chairman: Gentlemen, I wish to express my appreciation of 

this privilege you have extended to me. I hope I will be able to conduct the 
meeting properly. I understand the order of business for to-day is to have 
Mr. Shears resume his testimony. Before we proceed with that, I think Mr. 
Shears has a statement to make in connection with his testimony at the last 
meeting. I should like to ask that the privilege be given Mr. Shears of making 
such a statement.

Frank G. Shears, Director of the office of the Custodian, Vancouver, 
recalled :

The Witness: Mr. Chairman, on several occasions during this enquiry 
reference has been made to the figures in connection with the sale of farm lands 
to the Veterans’ Land Act. For the purpose of the record, I should like to 
clarify this matter in the minds of the members of the committee and show the 
reconciliation between the offer and the actual sale. I have a few copies of 
a statement containing those figures which some members of the committee 
might wish to have in order to follow the statement as I read it to you.

Two offers were received from the director of the Veterans’ Land Act, one 
in May, 1942, for 768 parcels, the appraised value of which was $865,672. This 
appraisal was made by the Soldier Settlement of Canada under order in council 
No. P.C. 5523. dated the 29th of June, 1942. The offer was $850,000, and that 
offer was finally accepted by the custodian. On a certain number of parcels, 
the offer was increased to the extent of $3,817.

In October, 1943, a further offer on 42 parcels was received. The Soldier 
Settlement appraisal on this land wras $45,484. The offer accepted was $44,573, 
making a total offer on 810 parcels, with an appraised value of $911,156, and an 
accepted offer of $893,390.

As has been previously indicated, the custodian was not in a position to 
give title to those 810 properties. Twenty-six of them had either been previously 
sold by the Japanese or, in some cases, there wras no Japanese interest in the 
properties at all. These 26 properties were, therefore, withdrawn.

Then, there were 43 properties of deceased estates or where the encumbrances 
on the property were greater than the amount of the offer or w'here the title 
was in such shape that it needed to be cleared up before a conveyance could be 
made. The number of such properties was 43. The Soldier Settlement appraisal 
on these parcels was $39,591, and the V.L.A. offer was $38,876. Then, when 
the deduction of these two items is made, you have the figures wdiich have been
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quoted before, a sale of 741 properties appraised at $847,878 and sold for 
$836,256. The municipal assessment on that group of 741 parcels was $1215,940, 
and the approximate acreage of those 741 parcels was 10,000 acres.

Now, with those figures I think we at least know to what reference has 
been made in the past. There has been a little confusion between the difference 
in the number of parcels on which offers were made and the number of properties 
sold. These offers, gentlemen, were received by the custodian. Negotiations 
took place between the regional commitee of the Veterans’ Land Act consisting 
of Mr. J. Godfrey, Mr. J. J. McLellan and Mr. G. Carncross. Negotiations 
were carried on between that committee and the advisory committee of the 
custodian under the chairmanship of Judge Whiteside. The advisory committee 
were informed that the Soldier Settlement valuators had been actively engaged 
in valuating farm lands since 1935 for farm adjustment and other purposes and 
that that board was an oEcial agency with an adequate trained staff, qualified 
to make appraisals.

The members of that regional committee stated that, in regard to these 
properties on which they were making an offer, only 10 per cent of the properties 
were what they described as being low land where, apparently a higher 
productivity takes place. It was stated there was no comparison of the yield 
between high and low land, and that the high land had been farmed intensively 
and the soil values were petering out. It was also stated that an average of 
several hundred dollars would have to be spent on the various houses in order to 
make them habitable. The recommendation of the advisory committee was 
conveyed to the Honourable Secretary of State at Ottawa on June 14, 1943, by 
Judge David Whiteside. The letter reads as follows:

Dear Sir,—A meeting of the advisory committee at which I presided 
was held in my chambers on Tuesday, 1st June, 1943. at 2.30 p.m. 
Members of the committee present were Mr. D. E. MacKenzie and Mr. 
Hal Menzies.

Mr. F. G. Shears, Acting Director of the Custodian’s oEce in 
Vancouver, submitted and read correspondence which had taken place 
since the last meeting of the committee held on May 24, between Mr. 
I. T. Barnet, District Superintendent of the Soldier Settlement of Canada 
and Mr. G. W. McPherson.

A letter from Mr. G. Murchison, Director of the Soldier Settlement 
and Veterans’ Land Act, dated from Ottawa, May 29, 1943, addressed to 
Mr. G. W. McPherson, Executive Assistant, oEce of the Custodian, 
Department of the Secretary of State, Ottawa, was also read in which a 
revised offer of $850,000 was submitted covering the purchase of 769 
parcels of land.

After the committee had fully considered the proposal a unanimous 
recommendation was made that the offer be accepted. In making this 
recommendation, consideration was given to the following facts:
(a) That the committee concurs in the policy of liquidation of Japanese 

properties in the protected area of British Columbia as provided 
for in order in council P.C. 469.

(b) That the purpose for which such lands are required is for the 
rehabilitation of returned soldiers.

(c) That the offer is not for selected individual parcels but for a block 
of 769 parcels which include a large proportion of uncultivated land 
and a considerable amount, of bush land.

(d) That while the appraisals of 17 farms made by this committee 
were in excess of the appraisals of the Soldier Settlement of Canada, 
it was realized that present values are enhanced due to war con­
ditions and do not represent ordinary land values as in normal times.
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(e) That the present offer is for cash and can therefore be reasonably 
expected to be less than the appraised value in view of the interest 
which may accrue by investment of the purchase funds.

(/) That the Custodian will be relieved of the cost of administration, 
taxes, fire insurance, depreciation.
The committee, therefore, are of the opinion that the offer of $850,000 

was fair and reasonable and recommend to the Custodian that the offer 
be accepted.

This recommendation is set forth in the Minutes of the Committee.
(Signed) D. WHITESIDE,

Chairman of Advisory Committee.

Mr. Fleming: May I interrupt? I think the whole letter should go in 
the record. I did not hear the name of the person to whom it was addressed.

The Witness: The Honourable, The Secretary of State at Ottawa.
The Acting Chairman : I see no objection to that.

By Mr. Burton:
Q. May I enquire as to the municipal assessment? The municipal assess­

ment was $1,250,000, and is it the custom of the municipalities in that part 
of the country to assess higher than the real value of the land?—A. That 
question has been raised before. It has been stated there is no uniformity of 
assessment throughout the B.C. area. Broadly speaking, I think the land is 
assessed at full value and improvements at some proportion, 50 or 60 per cent 
of the valuation; that has not been clearly established.

Q. It is your opinion that the valuations of these two different organizations 
were fairer valuations than the municipal assessment was?—A. I would not 
care to make any statement with regard to that in view of the appraiser’s 
valuations. I mean to say, I would not consider myself a qualified appraiser 
by any manner of means.

The Acting Chairman : Would the committee not prefer to have the 
witness’ statement completed before questions are put?

Mr. Fleming: Agreed.
The Witness : The letter which I have read making the offer was accepted on 

June 23, 1943. by a letter written by the Secretary of State and signed by 
Norman A. McLarty. This letter was addressed to Gordon Murchison, the 
Director of the Veterans’ Land Act at Ottawa. I do not think I need to read 
the letter. It is an acceptance of the offer outlined in the letter which I have 
just read.

Mr. Fleming: Could we have the letter read? I think the letter should be 
put in the record and in order to follow the testimony being given at the 
moment, I think we should hear the letter read by the witness.

The Witness: The letter reads as follows:
Re: Japanese Evacuee Lands

Dear Sir, Your offer to purchase seven hundred and sixty-nine (769) 
parcels of land for eight hundred and fifty thousand ($850,000) dollars, 
subject to the terms and conditions set forth in your Mr. Barnet’s 
letter of May 17, as amended by your letter of May 29, is hereby 
accepted subject to the following conditions which I understand Mr. 
McPherson has discussed with you and with which you agree. These 
conditions are as follows:

1. All taxes, charges and fire insurance for the crop year of 1943 
will be assumed by you.
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2. All rents paid or payable for the crop year 1943 will be assigned 
to you less such adjustments as may be necessary to take care of any 
taxes, charges or fire insurance paid for the 1943 crop year.

3. All existing lease agreements covering the lands included in your 
offer will be assigned to you by a general assignment, you already having 
duplicate copies of all such leases.

I would appreciate receiving a letter from you confirming these varia­
tions in the conditions of your offer.

Yours very truly,
(Sgd) N. A. McLARTY,

Secretary of State.

The Acting Chairman: Would the committee prefer this letter be filed with 
the clerk?

Mr. Fleming: It should be made part of the running record.
The Witness: At the last meeting I was asked to secure—'before I say that, 

you will notice in the recommendation of the advisory committee a reference is 
made to the 17 valuations which they had made being in excess of the Soldier 
Settlement appraisal. I was asked at the last meeting to secure those spot 
valuations which numbered 17. Four of them were for properties in the 
municipality of Surrey; five in Maple Ridge; four in Mission; two in Pitt 
Meadows and two in Matsqui. I am not going to read the individual amounts, 
but I will read the totals. Unless you wish, I will not read those figures for 
the time being. You will notice that the total municipally assessed value on the 
17 properties was $31,119.

Mr. Fleming: I am sorry to be interrupting, but are we going to put this 
right in the record.

The Acting Chairman: I think it would be better, and if the committee has 
no objection it will be put right in the record.
SPOT VALUATIONS ON SEVENTEEN (17) PROPERTIES MADE BY MEMBERS OF 

THE ADVISORY COMMITTEE DURING THE MONTH OF MAY. 1U43
Assessed Value Advisory Committee's 

Valuation
Soldier Settlement 
Hoard's Valuation

$ 2,900.00 
1,425.00 
1,900.00 
1,100.00 
1,700.00 
2,200.00 

950.00 
2,000.00 

400.00 
3,500.00 
3,729.00 
1,400.00 
1,050.00 
1,000.00 
1,100.00 
1,200.00 
2,700.00 
2,865.00

$ 31,119.00

$ 5,400.00 
1,600.00 
2.000.00 
1.750.00 
1.450.00 
2.500.00 

850.00 
3,250.00

4.400.00
4,000.00
1,750.00

950.00
950.00

1,100.00
3.500.00
3.550.00
4,150.00

$43,100.00

800.00
1,060.00

816.00
986.00

1,350.00
500.00

1,110.00

3,610.00
2.085.00
1.100.00

988.00
1,222.00

727.00
2.723.00
3.278.00
2.100.00

$28,232.00

The Witness: The total municipal assessed valuations were $31.119. Now 
if you will just go to the last column you will see that the Soldiers’ Settlement 
Board valuation was $28,232 on the Î7 properties. The advisory committee's 
valuation on the same property was $43,1(K). The approximate acreage of those 
17 properties was 250 acres and the cultivated part was about 140 acres.
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Now then gentlemen, that is my statement in answer to the question raised 
at the last meeting regarding these spot valuations. Then, in addition to that 
I was asked to secure or to give you information in regard to the number of 
properties which were withdrawn from the original offer which figures show on 
this statement that I produce. Here again I have a number of sheets that 
perhaps would be of some use.

LIST OF PROPERTIES WITHDRAWN FROM THE V.L.A. OFFER 
AND SUBSEQUENTLY ADVERTISED AND SOLD.

V. L. A.

No. Appraisal Offer
87.............. 323.00 $ 317.00

146.............. 2,000.00 1,964.00
19.............. 850.00 835.00

120............ 1.300.00 1,276.00
489.............. 453.00 445.00
121.............. 3,698.00 3,631.00
78.............. 1,600.00 1,571.00
51.............. 460.00 452.0029.............. 555.00 ,545.00
23.............. 1,875.00 1,841.00
13.............. 1,000.00 982.00

375.............. 25.00 25.00
148............. 521.00 512.00313.............. 257.00 252.00390..............
138.............. 504.00 495.0095.............. 133.00 131.00129.............. 507.00 498.00101
37.............. 336.00 330.00347.............. 1,088.00 1,068.00237............... 2,224.00 2,184.00

226.............. 672 00 660.00333.............. 161.00 158.00334.............. .50.00 49.00693.............. 1,720.00 1,689.00668 . . . 447.00 439.00445.............. 683.00 671.00444.............. 382.00 375.00438 ............ 3,750.00 3,682.00486 . 346.00 340.0064-'............ 650.00 638.00463............ 691.00 678.00525.............. 1,350.00 1,326.00491........... 3,828.00 3,759.00491........... 1,006.00 988.00056.......... 650.00 638.00500............ 1,.589.00 1,560.0023.............. 875.00 859.00<48..............
502........ 1,032.00 1,013.00
43..............

props.
$39,591.00 $38,876.00

Custodian

Appraisal Sale Price Date Sold
$ 700.00 $ 7,50.00 July 1944

3,100.00 3,,500.00 Jan. 1945
2,400.00 2,.500.00 May 1945
2,750.00 2,750.00 Dec. 1945
1,000.00 1,500.00 June 1944
7,845.00 8,050.00 April 1944
2,850.00 2,850.00 June 1945
1.000.00 1,000.00 Aug. 1945
1,000.00 1,310.00 April 1946
1.850.00 2,500.00 June 1944
1,800.00 1,800.00 June 1946

250.00 325.00 Jan. 1945
9.50.00 1,030.00 April 1944
800.00 800.00 June 1944
400.00 400.00 June 1945
800.00 800.00 Oct. 1942
650.00 1,000.00 June 1944
550.00 980.00 June 1944
50.00 50.00 May 1945

1,600.00 1,620.00 Sept. 1945
3,2,50.00 3,2.50.00 June 1945
2,900.00 3,000.00 Sept. 1945
1.300.00 1,500.00 Jan. 1945
1,442.00 1,500.00 Sept. 1945

350.00 332,50 Mar. 1945
1,800.00 2, ,500.00 June 1946
1,000.00 1,050 00 Sept. 1944
1,375.00 2,110.00 June 1944
1,200.00 1.400.00 April 1946
4,235.00 4,000.00 July 1945

600.00 1,050 00 Nov. 1944
1,845.00 1,851.00 Fev. 194.5

800.00 800.00 Dec. 1944
1,782.00 1,900.00 Aug. 1944
6,250.00 8,000.00 April 1946
1,750.00 2,7.50.00 April 1946

8.50.00 8,50. mi Oct. 1943
1,688.00 2,000.00 May 1945
4,375.00 4,650.00 Aug. 1944

3,50.00 350.00 Aug. 1944
1,825.00 1,825.00 Sept. 1944

$73,312.00 $82,183.50 18 during 1944
18 before June 1945 

6 after June 1945 
6 during 1946

- °" unless you wish I will not read these individual amounts but that is a 
is 0 Properties withdrawn from the V.L.A. offer and subsequently advertised 

ana sold t hey were withdrawn for the reasons that I have already indicated.
you add them all up you may find that there are only 41 properties, but one 

proper y, the sixth one down, was divided into three. And for the purpose of 
reconciliation we use the total of 43 properties. The first column shows the 

V ,lcr® i M/.fment Board appraisal under the order in council previously 
,e.01111 °- ‘ , sÇcond column is the N.L.A. offer which is something within 
two per cent of the appraisal. Then these properties being withdrawn, the 
custodian Proceeded to deal with them in the same manner which he dealt 

th the other 900 parcels to which reference has been made in previous com- 
mi ees. APPraisals were made by the custodian and the total appraised 
valuation was $73,312. These parcels were advertised by the same method as
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adopted in regard to the other properties and they were either advertised by 
the custodian or by the official administrator in co-operation with the custodian 
but they were all advertised and tenders called for. As a result of calling for 
tenders, offers were finally accepted, the total amount being $82,183.50.

Mr. Johnston: Were those all sealed tenders?
The Witness: Yes, sealed tenders.
Mr. Johnston: And they went to the highest bidder?
The Witness: Yes, to the highest bidder, providing it was equal to or more 

than the appraisal, and then it was accepted. The provision was, of course, made 
that no tender of necessity would be accepted. The practice was, however, 
to accept the highest tender providing that it was equal to or higher than the 
appraised valuation. That tender was usually accepted. You will find in one or 
two cases where the sale value was less. Can you see an item of $350 in the 
third column? Now that property was sold for $332.50. That was simply a
case, where, in reviewing the tender, it was thought that it was close enough
to warrant acceptance. I think that in the list you will only find one other
case like that. Otherwise the accepted offer was either equal or in excess of
the valuation. Now you might see, gentlemen, that on the list there are a 
number of cases where the appraisal and the sale price are identical. For 
example, you will see about the fifteenth item down in the third column where 
the appraisal was $800. The sale price was also $800. There is an appraisal of 
$400 and a sale price of $400. You might say, “Well, how would the tenderer 
know what the appraised value was?” He did not know and what happened 
in those cases was that a tender was received which was less than the amount 
of the appraisal and such offer was rejected. Then we went back to the person 
making the tender and said, “We will not sell it to you for that amount, but if 
you are prepared to pay such and such a price, and we named the appraised 
price, the matter will be given consideration”. That is why, in a number of 
cases, the accepted tender actually equalled the appraisal. In many cases 
the offers were higher and they were immediately accepted.

Then, of course, I should like to point out that the offer from the Veterans’ 
Land Act, received during 1943, was consumated on the basis of a sale as at 
January 1, 1943. These sales made by the custodian were not made in 1943. 
Eighteen of them were made in 1944, eleven made before June 1945, six after 
June 1945, and six during 1946. I mention that because I think it has already 
been established that there has been a continuous increase in real estate 
valuation. That, Mr. Chairman, I think is my statement in regard to the 
V.L.A. matters.

Now there was the question in regard to Karatsu’s file.
Mr. Cruicksiiank: Have you the assessed value on those 17 properties?
The Witness: I am afraid I have not. As far as the Vancouver office is 

concerned the assessments all appear in the files but we have not tabulated the 
assessments. We have been dealing with the properties on the appraised value 
rather than the assessed value.

Mr. Johnston : Can you account for the tremendous difference between the 
appraisal of the V.L.A. and the custodian?

The Witness: No, beyond the fact there would be an increase because of 
advance in real estate values.

Mr. Johnston : For instance, the first one on the list is over double the 
appraisal made by V.L.A.

Mr. Cruickshank: Well, would the V.L.A. not take these properties over 
as farm lands and the custodian might take into consideration the fact that it 
might be a gas station or something else.
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The Witness: Yes, there are those factors. We assume the valuation made 
by the Soldiers’ Settlement Board was in the light of the purpose for which they 
required the properties.

Mr. Fleming: Let me just interrupt there. The witness says he assumes 
that fact. Now as a ground for that assumption is there something on the record 
from D.V.A. to that effect?

The Witness: The only thing is they thought those houses, for instance, 
would need several hundred dollars spent on them in order to make them 
habitable for the returned soldier whom they expected to place upon the 
property.

Mr. Fleming: If that is the only statement on which this assumption is 
based I do not think it is a foundation at all. I think it would be well to avoid 
statements based on assumptions.

The Witness : Well I would be prepared to withdraw that. You have the 
fact that the Soldiers’ Settlement Board appraisal was made under the order in 
council and you have had given to you the qualifications of that board. That 
was the basis on which this deal was made. When I came into the picture as 
director of the office having to sell these properties individually, I just followed 
the ordinary course, having them reappraised and calling for tenders and the 
results are shown.

Mr. Golding: Mr. Chairman, I wonder if the witness can tell the 
committee at what stage the Veterans’ Land Act made their appraisal and when 
the custodian made his.

The Witness: The order in council was dated the 29th of June, 1942. I 
have a copy of the order in council.

Mr. Fleming: Will you put it on the record?
Mr. Golding: And then what time was the custodian’s valuation made?
The Witness: The custodian’s valuation was made from time to time as 

these properties became available for sale. The fact that 18 were sold in 1944 
would indicate it was during 1944 that those 18 particular properties would be 
reappraised and it would be before the first half of 1945 that another 11 were 
appraised. That is to say when the custodian was in a position to deliver the 
title to these properties the appraisals were made.

Mr. Cruickshank: There was one piece of land had a hops kiln and hops 
were brought in from the various parts of the district to dry in this kiln. 
Obviously the Soldiers’ Settlement Board would not be buying the land for that 
particular purpose. I think that you will find that is one reason for the differ­
ence in appraisal.

Mr. Golding: The situation would likely be that the property would have 
increased by this time, would it not?

The Witness: There was an increase in the value of real estate during the 
whole time.

Mr. Golding: From 1942.
The Witness : Well I would not care to make that statement, I do not 

think there was any increase in 1942 and not very much in 1943.
Mr. Johnston: The valuation would not have increased 100 per cent. That 

would not account for the difference in valuation or appraisals made by the two 
different organizations.

Mr. Golding: I think you will find that property increased here 100 per 
cent between 1942 and 1945, and in many other towns.

Mr. Fleming: I doubt if you will find that in the case of farming lands 
anywhere.
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I think it would be better if we were to clear up our questions on this 
matter before Mr. Shears goes on to the next subject.

The Acting Chairman: J am in the hands of the committee. It might 
be done that way.

Agreed.

By Mr. Fleming:
Q. Mr. Shears, you introduced some correspondence this morning which had 

passed between the office of the Secretary of State and the Veterans’ Land Act. 
Is there any other correspondence on record bearing on this sale of the Fraser 
\ alley lands to the Veterans’ Land Act administration?—A. The original offer 
from Mr. Murchison was for $750.000. Negotiations did take place between the 
two committees that I have referred to and they brought their offer up to 
$850,000. There was correspondence between the two departments but it was 
just relative to the increase in the offer.

Q. I think, Mr. Chairman, as part of the correspondence has been intro­
duced, the full record should be laid before the committee and the balance of 
the correspondence produced.

The Acting Chairman : I do not see any great necessity of producing all 
those documents unless the honourable gentleman wishes to tell the committee 
what his reason for asking is.

By Mr. Fleming:
Q. If any correspondence is relative to the matter and of interest to the 

committee, then surely it would be in the interests of the committee to know 
what the reasons were for the increase of the offer from $750,000 to $850.000 
and the correspondence would be of some considerable value to us.—A. I can 
give the over-all reasons for that. The advisory committee said to this regional 
board which was set up that, “You are offering $750,000 and the Soldiers’ Settle­
ment Board appraisal is $862,000 and we will not accept the offer”. Then later 
they came back and said after consideration that they would offer $850,000. 
The advisory committee then considered that the difference was so small, 
between $862,000 and the $850,000 that, taking into consideration the fact that 
it was for all the properties and not selected parcels, they should accept, and 
Judge Whiteside wrote the letter of acceptance.

Q. I take it the witness has not got the other correspondence so I will not 
delay proceedings or the questioning of the witness by asking for further corre­
spondence. T will, however, offer a motion to that effect in due course. Now 
coming to the second of the statements submitted this morning. The spot 
valuations of the 17 properties made by the advisory committee were made 
during the month of May 1943. Now those valuations I take it were made at the 
date of receipt of the offer of $850,000?—A. Yes.

Q. Up to that time the advisory committee had rejected the offer of 
$750,000 without waiting to make these spot valuations?—A. That is correct, 
yes.

Q. And when the offer was increased by the V.L.A. to $850.000 the 
advisory committee arranged to have these spot valuations made. You out­
lined in your evidence at the last meeting why that was done. I see of the 17 
properties the offer in the case of 15 is higher than the appraisal and lower 
in only two cases. Those two are small properties, and they are the 12th and 
13th propertes on the list. In one case the advisory committee valuation is $950 
and the Soldiers’ Settlement Board $988. The second case shows $950 for the 
advisory committee and $1,222 by the Soldiers’ Settlement Board. In the other 
cases the advisory committee valuation is higher than the Soldiers’ Settlement 
Board valuation.—A. What was that?
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Q. In all of the other 15 cases the advisory committee valuation is higher 
than the Soldiers’ Settlement Board valuation, in some cases it is twice as much. 
Then, in the last statement submitted by the witness we have an appraisal made 
by the custodian. Now, were those appraisals of the 43 properties made at the 
same time or were they made from time to time as offers for the properties 
were received?—A. They were not all made at one time and they were not 
made until such time as we had cleared the question of title and were able to 
offer these properties for sale. For example, here is a deceased estate and we 
were not in a position to offer that property until the administrator, through 
his legal processes, said, “I am prepared at this time to offer this particular 
property for sale,” and in connection with that an advertisement was placed in 
the newspapers calling for tenders on that particular property, and that started 
to take place during 1944.

Q. I understand that in relating the date of the appraisal to the date of
the sale-------A. The date of the appraisal would be approximately the time of
the sale.

Q. It would be approximately the time of the sale. Then when we are 
comparing the columns of appraisal by the custodian and the sales price by the 
custodian we are comparing appraisals and sales made at the same time?— 
A. Relatively at the same time.

Q. And the sale price of those 43 properties when sold by the custodian 
were running substantially in excess of the custodian’s appraisal; even then your 
aggregate is advanced by $9,000 on an aggregate appraisal of $73,000?— 
A. That is correct.

Q. In other words, the sale was running roughly 12 per cent above the 
custodian’s appraisal made at the same time?—A. That would be correct; and, 
of course, that would result from the fact they were offered for tender and 
the person placing offers made their own bid.

Q. I do not know whether it would be accounted for as simply as that, 
but that is the fact. Turning back to the V.L.A. appraisal, the appraisal in 
that case—you have indicated it was made some time between June, 1942, 
and May, 1943, between the date of the order in council and the date of the 
first offer?—A. Yes.

Q. When was the custodian’s office in Vancouver made aware of the amounts 
of the appraisals of the V.L.A. administration?—A. At the time the offer was 
made. That would be the letter I have read from Mr. Murchison.

Q. That would be in May, 1943?—A. That would be in May, 1943.
Mr. Johnston: Offered by the custodian?
Mr. Fleming: No, by the Veterans’ Land Act for a group of properties 

involved.
Mr. Johnston: How does it come that the V.L.A. made an appraisal 

until such time as the custodian was in a position to offer a bill of sale?
Mr. Fleming: However it may be, the fact is that that appraisal made 

by the Veterans’ Land Act was not communicated to the custodian’s office in 
Vancouver until the time the first offer was submitted in May 1943?

The Witness: That is correct.

By Mr. Fleming:
Q I do not know whether there is any further comment required apart 

from the fact that the custodian’s appraisal, various appraisals, total almost 
twice the figure of appraisals made by the Veterans’ Land Act, and on that an 
advance of probably 12 per cent is made in all the custodian’s sales. Now, in 
the light of that experience, Mr. Shears, do you think there is any advantage to 
the custodian in selling the whole area en bloc, or would the custodian have 
been able to obtain higher prices in the aggregate if he had been allowed to sell
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individual parcels? I wonder if there is any great value—any great importance 
to he attached to the selling en bloc as a consideration to be taken into account 
in dealing with the offer of the Veterans’ Land Act administration?—A. I would 
assume that this might have happened, that there might have been certain 
parcels that would have been left on our hands, and as has been previously 
indicated of the total acreage of these properties only a fraction was usually 
developed and cultivated; but by and large I think if the properties had been 
offered individually those that were sold would possibly have realized higher 
prices but the custodian might have certain properties unsold.

Q. I think we will all agree that other things being equal there is less cost 
to the vendor if he can sell the whole group en bloc rather than sell individually, 
but I think you will agree, Mr. Shears, that in the light of subsequent experience 
better results are obtained when the sales were made in individual parcels. 
In your last statement of the 43 properties, 41 were sold at prices in advance 
of the custodian’s appraisal and all of them at prices very substantially in 
advance of the Veterans’ Land Act appraisal.—A. Yes, that is true. The only 
thing is that the V.L.A. offer was on the basis of an offer made in 1943. These 
properties were sold in 1944 and the early part of 1945.

Q. Yes, I think we are bearing that in mind. That is why I point out the 
relevance of the date of the appraisal made by the custodian himself, and that 
was a very substantial advance. Now, what was your experience, your com­
parable experience with the sale of other properties elsewhere in British 
Columbia? I am not speaking now of the urban properties sold in Vancouver ; 
but you had experience with other rural properties, farm properties. How did 
your experience there with advancing prices, say in 1944. 1945 and 1946, compare 
with the statement you have just given as to the advances in values in the 
Fraser Valley area in that period?

Mr. Gladstone: Does your statement preceding that mean that in your 
opinion the lands ought not to be sold until later—

Mr. Fleming: No, I have not expressed any opinion ; I am getting informa­
tion. I want to establish the weight to be attached to some of these factors 
that the witness has set up to explain the very great discrepancy in the third 
statement we got this morning.

Mr. Gladstone: I got the inference that you think they ought not to have 
been sold until later.

Mr. Fleming: No, I did not say that. You will hear my conclusions when 
I have heard all the evidence.

The Witness: The other properties, sir, were offered for sale—the first 
offer was the 19th of June, 1943, and the second group of lands was offered 
the 1st of September, 1943, and the third group on the 30th of March, 1944. 
That is the list. And the custodian made appraisals just prior to those dates 
covering the properties that he was offering for sale. There were after that 
date in 1945 considerable increases in real estate values which continued up 
until the end of 1946.

By Mr. Fleming:
Q. Now, you have indicated that in the case of each of these sales in other 

areas, rural properties, the valuation by the custodian’s office was made at the 
time of sale.—A. Approximately at the time of sale.

Q. You have not got earlier valuations to compare that would indicate any 
trend in prices according to the custodian’s book valuations?—A. No, I have not. 
The appraisal was made prior to the properties being offered for sale.
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Q. Did you get any information from competent persons in British Columbia 
as to advancing prices in those years?—A. I think it can be stated that those 
sales—it is an accepted fact that real estate prices continued to advance and 
have advanced very much as the years progressed.

Q. We were trying to get at the rate. Someone in the committee said this 
morning something about 100 per cent. I think it will be news to a great many 
that the valuation of farm properties advanced 100 per cent. You would not go 
that far?—A. Oh, no.

Q. In the period 1943 to 1945—1945-46 there was not any advance like 
100 per cent in the value of farm properties.

Mr. Cbuickshank: What date?
Mr. Fleming: 1944, 1945 and 1946. The order in council was made in 

June, 1942. The valuation made by the Veterans’ Land Act administration 
was made sometime between that and May, 1943—we do not know exactly when 
that period was. I suppose it is fair to say it may have been made in the spring 
of 1943.

Mr. Cbuickshank: The difference between the value under the Veterans’ 
Land Act and the present date of 1945?

Mr. Fleming: We are trying to get a basis of comparison with the values 
that were obtained on sale of these properties in 1943. Eighteen were sold in 
1944; seventeen, in 1945 and just six in 1946. Now, we are trying to get the 
basis of comparison of the valuation made by V.L.A. in the spring of 1943 with 
the prices obtained in those sales in about half of 1944 and about half in 1945.

The Witness: I am prepared to say that I do not think there was an 
increase of 100 per cent from the time of 1943 to 1944.

By Mr. Fleming:
Q. And 1945?—A. I would still not think it would be 100 per cent. There 

were some properties, of course, that I believe might have been sold in 1946 
where the seller was able to obtain 100 per cent more than had he sold that 
property in 1942.

Q. There will always be individual cases, but we are dealing with gene­
ralities.—A. All I can say is that the trend was upward from 1943 up to the end 
of 1946. The trend was gradual in 1943 and 1944 and became more accentuated 
in 1945 and 1946.

Q. Having regard to the fact that the Veterans’ Land Act appraisal was 
made presumably in the spring of 1943 or thereabouts, and about half of these 
properties were actually sold in 1944 and about half in 1945, is it your opinion 
that advancing real estate prices in general do not account for an advance of 
more than 100 per cent between the Veterans’ Land Act appraisal and the 
prices obtained on sale of these properties?—A. I do not think it can all be 
accounted for by 100 per cent rise in valuations during that period.

By Mr. Cruickshank:
Q. How many of those properties were sold by the custodian as farms?— 

A. They were all farm lands—
Q. I do not agree with that. The list of properties, these 43 properties— 

—A I cannot tell without looking at the files, but definitely 70 or 80 per cent 
will be farm lands. There will be some that were not, but they were all farm 
lands in the Fraser Valley area—village and farm lands.

Q. V hy were they withdrawn from sale?—A. They were withdrawn—
Q. I have that list— —A. —because at the time of the offer the custodian 

was not able to give title to those particular properties due to title difficulties.
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Mr. Cruickshank : I want to get this straight. With due deference to 
Mr. Fleming, -I cannot follow his line of argument in connection with farm lands 
in the Fraser Valley.

Mr. Fleming: I did not have any line of argument.
Mr. Cruickshank: I do not think those were all withdrawn for farm lands. 

I mentioned a gas station in Mission City. If you could give me a commission, 
I could sell one for $15,000 because the gas companies are going around buying 
these properties.

The Witness : That particular property is not on this list.
Mr. Cruickshank: But I presume there are properties such as that. I do 

know of one property on this list which was sold at Haney to a garage concern. 
This firm was in a better position to pay a good price than a person would be 
buying it as farm land.

Mr. Johnston: Which property was that?
Mr. Cruickshank: I could not give you the number.
Mr. Johnston: You said it was on this list.
Mr. Cruickshank: It was withdrawn by the custodian and was certainly 

not sold by the custodian as farm land. You cannot arrive at farm values by 
taking into consideration those lands which were withdrawn and were not sold 
for farm purposes.

By Mr. Jaenicke:
Q. I should like to refer to this first document filed. The statement shows 

23 parcels withdrawn as having been previously sold by the Japanese?— 
A. Twenty-six, I think.

Q. Twenty-three on my list.—A. It should be 26 and 43.
Q. They were sold by the Japanese. The Japanese made the deals direct 

with the purchasers without the intervention of the custodian?—A. I am glad 
you brought up that point. Kindly have this in mind; the offer included those 
26 parcels and, in the land registry office, those properties were still in the name 
of the Japanese. These Japanese, not recently, probably several years previously, 
had made agreements for sale.

Q. When were those properties sold?—A. The Japanese had either com­
pleted the sale themselves or had already negotiated the sale and therefore, we 
were not in a position to convey.

Q. Now, the last item, $23,258 which appears under the heading “V.L.A. 
offer accepted,” that offer was not accepted?—A. It was under that heading but 
it was not accepted.

Q. Was that the amount which the Japanese received?—A. No, that was 
the amount which the V.L.A. offered for those 26 parcels.

Q. Did you find out what the price was for those 26 parcels when you found 
they had been sold?—A. No, we had no reason to make any enquiries. They 
were not vested in the custodian. They had already been sold.

Q. The purchase price had already been paid in full?—A. It had eithef been 
paid in full, or, if it had not been the custodian was only interested in collecting 
the balance.

Q. In connection with how many of those properties were there any balances 
left?—A. I would not care to say.

Q. You would not know the price of the farm, the price at which the 
Japanese sold?—A. I would say our files might indicate, in a few cases, the deal 
the Japanese had made, but, gentlemen, you may appreciate my position out 
there. We had no interest in these properties at all. We had no reason to 
enquire.
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Q. Except as to this, whether there was still a balance unpaid?—A. We just 
accepted the statement of the Japanese who said such and such a person owed a 
balance of $500. We collected it, the same as we collected other accounts.

Q. On page 57 of your report, you have an item of income $503,397.35?— 
A. What page is that?

Q. Page 57.—A. Yes, I see that.
Q. I presume that represents rentals?—A. The fourth item from the end, 

real estate income, is rentals.
Q. That is the one I mean.—A. Yes.
Q. Does that include rentals from urban and rural property?—A. That is 

the total rental, rural and urban.
Q. Could we have a breakdown of that?—A. I cannot give it to you here.
Q. What period does that cover?—A. It covers the period from the date 

of the evacuation up until the time the properties were sold.
Q. That is approximately 1942-1943?—A. And 1944.
Q. What would be the average period, a year’s rental or two years’ rental? 

—A. In realing with 2,000-odd parcels, I would not care to say what the average 
would be. It would vary. Some properties may have been sold in the middle 
of 1943, others were not sold until perhaps 1945.

Q. I realize that, but I thought you might be able to give an opinion as to 
the average.—A. I think if I give an opinion as to the average time, it might 
or might not be right and I would prefer not to make a statement.

Q. Could you give us a breakdown of the figure, $503,000? Could you 
get it?—A. By going through the 2.500 files we could give it to you.

Q. I did not mean that.—A. That would be the only possible way to do it. 
We have the total revenues from all our properties, $503,000, but a breakdown 
could be given to you. It is just a matter of bookkeeping and accounting; it 
could be done.

Q. Would you not keep the urban and rural properties separate in your 
books?—A. No.

By Mr. Boucher:
Q. Bearing in mind the valuations of the farm properties as given by the 

VLA were much below the assessed values of them, bearing in mind also that 
on the properties which were withdrawn from sale to the VLA, a considerable 
increase in price over those valuations was had, and bearing in mind that you 
had some means of ascertaining the prices received by the Japanese who, them­
selves, sold their properties, was any attempt made at the time to obtain 
independent valuators to give a more satisfactory valuation or appraisal of the 
property? I say that by virtue of some experience the government had in 
buying airports when the government relied very substantially on valuators 
from the Canadian National Railways or the Canadian Pacific Railway who 
had experience in valuing land of this kind. I say that, also, in view of the fact 
that the facts revealed to us would indicate or might indicate to some, at least, 
there was a difficulty in getting a proper appraisal of this land and that the 
circumstances revealed to the custodian would indicate or might indicate the 
valuations he had received or appraisals he had received were not such as could 
be relied upon. My question is, therefore, was there not sufficient evidence in 
the custodian’s hands to require him to ask for a better appraisal before selling 
even to the VLA? What attempt was made to get that better appraisal?—A. At 
the time of the offer there was no information in the hands of the custodian 
relative to prices. As I have previously indicated, the advisory committee 
considered the matter and it was their opinion that the valuation on which they 
were basing their negotiations was a sound one. It had been made by qualified 
appraisers of the Soldier Settlement Board of Canada who had been actively
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engaged in valuing land for government purposes for a considerable number of 
years. The committee accepted that appraisal as a sound basis upon which to 
carry on negotiations. The only indication of any change was in the 17 spot 
valuations which were made and I have read Judge Whiteside’s letter in which 
he referred to that.

Q. You think the fact that the valuation was very substantially below the 
assessment valuation and that the valuation was very substantially below the 
prices received for properties withdrawn from the VLA was not sufficient to 
have you enquire into the prices received by the Japanese who sold their own 
property?

By Mr. Stewart:
Q. Could the witness tell us when the offer was received from the Soldier 

Settlement appraisal—

By Mr. Boucher:
Q. I do not think the witness answered my question. Do you think those 

facts were not sufficient to cast any doubt on the efficiency of the VLA 
valuation?—A. I can only repeat that the negotiations for these deals took 
place between the regional committee of the VLA and the advisory committee 
for the custodian. I have indicated all the facts which were placed before 
those committees and the correspondence which took place as well as the 
recommendation of the advisory committee and the acceptance of the offer by 
the Department of the Secretary of State. Those are all the relative facts I 
can give to you.

Q. That does not answer my question. Should not those relative facts, in 
vour opinion, have cast some suspicion upon the efficiency of the valuation?— 
A. The only possibility would be in regard to the 17 spot valuations. At that 
time, the custodian had no information at all in regard to the values, or 
whether the Soldier Settlement valuation was correct. He had no possibility of 
knowing whether that was a fact or not.

By Mr. Golding:
Q. As a matter of fact, if you had sold those properties for a much higher 

price, the soldiers and returned men would, of necessity, have had to pay more 
for their property when they bought it?—A. I am sorry, I did not hear that.

Q. If you had sold those properties for a much higher price than the V.L.A. 
put on them, then, in turn, the returned men purchasing those properties would 
have to pay much more for them?—A. That, of course, would be a matter 
outside of my department, but I think that would likely be true. So far as 
these particular deals are concerned, gentlemen, I think it has been stated, 
but I must repeat it, these particular deals were negotiated on behalf of the 
custodian by the advisory committee under Judge Whiteside and the regional 
committee of the V.L.A. The consideration of it and the recommendation for 
its acceptance was entirely in the hands of the advisory committee.

By Mr. Burton:
Q. Would your department know, in connection with those 43 parcels 

which were sold, how many ex-service men bought those properties?—A. We have 
no information regarding that at all.

Q. In connection with the sales, while you have mentioned before that the 
highest offer was accepted, you had no riding or regulation that, all other things 
being equal, the returned men would get tihe preference?—A. If, by any chance, 
we had somewhat similar offers, and one was from a returned man, I think,
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undoubtedly, the returned man would have been given the preference. At the 
time those properties were sold, by and large, we did not have offers from 
returned men. It was the general public who bid for them.

Q. You do not know whether there were any returned men who took 
advantage of the sale of the 43 properties?—A. I am not positive ; I would say 
no.

By Mr. Fleming:
Q. There was no regulation giving veterans a priority in such cases?— 

A. No.

By Mr. Stewart:
Q. I should like to make enquiry in connection with 768 parcels for which 

an offer was received in May of 1943. For the most of May, 1943, there was a 
Japanese representative on the advisory committee? Did Mr. Yamaga resign 
because of this offer, or did he have any comment to make on that offer?— 
A. Mr. Yamaga was not at the meeting when the offer was finally considered 
and the advisory committee made its recommendation. He had resigned previous 
to that.

Q. Was he at the meetings when this matter was under consideration?— 
A. Oh yes, decidedly. He was at the meeting when the first offer was received 
and he was agreeable, in principle, to the sale of these lands. Mr. Yamaga 
farmed in that area for 35 years. He told the committee friends of his had 
written indicating that they thought deterioration would be taking place in 
regard to their farms. Mr. Yamaga told the committee he was convinced by 
and large, the best interests of the Japanese would be served by the liquidation 
of these properties.

The policy of liquidation was agreed upon by all the members of the com­
mittee. The only thing about which Mr. Yamaga hesitated was, I think his 
expression was, “I hope that adequate prices will be obtained.” The answer 
to that was that adequate prices would be obtained because the valuation of the 
Soldier Settlement Board which was considered as sound, and would be the 
basis of the negotiations.

Q. Did Mr. Yamaga believe adequate and proper prices were paid?— 
A. As I have said, he was not there when the final deal was made.

Q. He merely approved of the principle of selling these properties?— 
A. He approved of the principle of selling the properties.

Q. He had no opportunity of approving the prices?—A. He had resigned 
before the deal was consummated.

Q. Had he anything to say at any time about the appraisal?—A. I do not 
think he did. I can say he was quite agreeable to the principle but did not 
have anything, so far as I recollect to say in regard to the actual deal.

Q. Were minutes of the meetings kept?—A. Yes.
Q. Could those be produced, Mr. Chairman?
The Acting Chairman: I am entirely in the hands of the committee. If 

the committee thinks it would be of any advantage to have those minutes, it 
is for the committee to say. I do not see the necessity for producing the 
minutes because the witness has said the gentleman was not present when the 
deal was consummated.

Mr. Stewart : There might be something of importance contained in those 
minutes had Mr. Yamaga, at any time, signified his approval of the valuation 
which was offered.

Mr. Fleming: I would support Mr. Stewart in that connection. After all, 
we have been told about some of the things which were done by that committee 
in the course of its deliberations, and we have had some of the correspondence
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which had a place in the eventual consummation of the agreement. Now, it 
seems to me the committee is entitled to the production of all the correspondence 
and entitled to the production of all the minutes. Nothing may come of it. 
After we have perused these documents we may be satisfied there is nothing 
which requires further questioning. However, I would strongly urge the com­
mittee is entitled to the production of all those records.

The Acting Chairman : I am entirely in the hands of the committee on the 
matter. If the committee thinks such documents should be made available to it, 
it is for the committee to say.

Mr. Stewart: I would move that such minutes be filed.
The Acting Chairman: In that case, I ask the witness to be good enough 

to bring those documents here for the committee.
The Witness: If that is your wish, I will have to send to Vancouver for 

them. I have not copies here.
The Acting Chairman: Does the houourable gentleman insist that the 

witness produce these documents himself, or that such documents be filed by 
some official of the department?

Mr. Stewart: All I ask is that they be made available to the committee 
as rapidly as possible.

The Acting Chairman : It is agreed, then, that the witness will secure these 
documents and will have them produced for the committee.

Mr. Fleming: It might be a proper occasion to put forward a motion 
that the balance of the correspondence relating to the sale of the Fraser Valley 
farm lands to the Veterans’ Land Act administration be also produced. I 
ask that it be made available to the committee. If there is nothing contained in 
it which requires to be brought before the committee, then we need not take 
up the time of the committee with it, but, for my part, I would be willing to 
facilitate the despatch of the committee’s business by looking these documents 
over if they are made available. If there is no particular relevance in them, 
then I certainly will not trouble the committee or take up its time with them.

The Acting Chairman: Would you prepare a motion to that effect?
Mr. Fleming: I have just made it a motion that the balance of the 

correspondence relating to the sale of the Fraser Valley lands to the Veterans’ 
Land Act administration be made available to the committee.

Mr. Cruickshank: You should have the words “Fraser Valley Japanese 
land” in that motion.

Mr. Fleming: That is all we have been speaking about.
Mr. Cruickshank: Make it Japanese land. I do not think it is any busi­

ness of any Toronto member at the next campaign to discuss what was sold 
privately. This is only Japanese land.

Mr. Fleming: Obviously, Mr. Chairman, the motion has reference to any 
lands which were the subject of correspondence between the custodian’s office 
or the advisory committee and the Veterans’ Land Act administration. Now, 
they started, if I remember correctly, corresponding about 768 parcels. The 
sale which was consummated embraced 741 parcels, so we want the correspond­
ence bearing on all these properties.

Mr. Cruickshank: I am not objecting to that, but there may have been 
some other lands purchased by the Soldier Settlement, I do not know whether 
there was or not, in the Fraser Valley. It is not the business of this committee 
to consider such purchases.

Mr. Fleming: We are dealing with those which were under the administra­
tion of the custodian of enemy property.
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The Acting Chairman: I think Mr. Fleming has referred to those which 
were sold through the custodian.

Mr. Fleming: To all those which were vested in the custodian of enemy 
property.

Mr. Cruickshank : Of enemy property?
Mr. Fleming: Yes.
The Acting Chairman : Does the committee agree to the motion?
Agreed.
Mr. Stewart: Will that motion be wide enough to include not only the 

advisory committee on rural properties, but also the advisory committee on the 
greater Vancouver properties?

The Witness: The advisory committee on greater Vancouver properties 
would have no bearing on this particular deal. They had no negotiations. 
Judge Whiteside’s committee was purely a rural committee.

The Acting Chairman: The committee has agreed to the motion. Are 
there any other questions?

Mr. Cruickshank : I am not trying to stick up for the Fraser Valley at 
all, but if you are going to take in any part, why not take in Vancouver and 
all the area. There are farms in Victoria, for instance. There are some would-be 
lawyers with property in the city of Vancouver, and I want to know how they 
came off in dealing with that property.

Mr. Fleming: I do not know whether Mr. Cruickshank is asking me why 
I did not make the scope of the motion broader, but the reason is we have been 
dealing, in the questions this morning, with the sale of Fraser Valley properties. 
We have not, yet, come to the sale of the other properties. I assume, if the 
records which are made available to the committee at that time are not 
complete, we shall ask for the balance of the records in connection with these 
properties.

Mr. Cruickshank: You must expect us to be here until September or 
October.

Mr. Fleming: I hope I am not here then. It is quite open to any member 
of the committee to enlarge the motion.

The Acting Chairman : If Mr. Cruickshank cares to move that the other 
correspondence in connection with the greater Vancouver area be produced, I 
have no objection at all.

Mr. Cruickshank: I was trying to speed matters up. We will receive this 
correspondence in about a week, then the week after that if we are to send to 
Vancouver for another batch of correspondence, it will drag our work out. I was 
just trying to get it all at once.

Mr. Fleming: Could we not get it by air mail? We do not have to wait 
a week.

The Witness: We could have the minutes sent by air mail. If you are 
going to make any suggestion with regard to the minutes of the committee for 
the greater Vancouver properties, I do not think I am in a position to assure you 
anything can be sent. The set-up of the committees was quite different. In the 
case of the committee on rural properties, I was asked by Judge Whiteside, 
always to be present at their meetings. I was always there. The minutes of 
these meetings were written up. In regard to the meetings of the greater 
Vancouver committee, I was only there on a few occasions when I was specially 
asked to be present. I submitted the offers as they were received and all the 
available information, such as appraisals, offers and rentals and received from 
that committee, through its secretary, either their acceptance or otherwise. I do 
not know what records you could obtain from that particular advisory committee.
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I have not their minutes. I do have a copy of the minutes of the rural advisory 
committee, as I have said. Very definitely those minutes or those records of the 
greater Vancouver committee would have no bearing at all on this matter with 
which you are now dealing.

Mr. Fleming: There is, perhaps, one other point which ought to be cleared 
up as a result of Mr. Cruickshank’s observation. Was there, Mr. Shears, any 
correspondence with the Veterans’ Land Act or with the department of the 
Secretary of State concerning sales of these other rural properties or the Van­
couver property? As I understand it, there was not any correspondence dealing 
substantially with those sales.

The Witness: None at all.

By Mr. Fleming:
Q. After all, the only correspondence to which the Veterans’ Land Act was 

a party or the Secretary of State was a party, was in connection with the sale of 
the 741 properties to the Veterans’ Land Act?—A. Yes. I was asked a question 
once before as to how many properties were not in the Fraser Valley and I said 
20 or 30. I think the exact number is 30 and they were on Vancouver Island or 
the Gulf Islands. So, in this connection, there were 710 in the Fraser Valley and 
30 or 31 were possibly in other areas.

The Acting Chairman : Is that all, gentlemen?
Mr. Fleming: Yes, on that point.
The Acting Chairman: The motion was made and carried that the corres­

pondence exchanged in connection with the sale of the 741 properties by the 
custodian would be made available. So far as the rest is concerned, the other 
properties, if there is no other correspondence of interest to the committee, I see 
no necessity for insisting on that point.

Mr. Fleming: The correspondence with the committee will include the 31 
properties on Vancouver Island, they were not differentiated, but we were dealing 
with the properties which were the subject of the offers from the Veterans’ Land 
Act, the most of which were in the Fraser Valley but some on Vancouver Island.

The witness had another statement he wished to make on another matter, 
did he not?

The Acting Chairman: The witness has a statement to make on another 
matter relating to his previous testimony at the last sitting of the committee. I 
shall ask him to make that statement now, if he so desires.

The Witness: This is in connection with Naoichi Karatsu, custodian’s file 
8666. I was asked to secure some information regarding this person. I have 
prepared a statement, but I should like to say this first.

At the last committee meeting, in answer to a question, I said this:
I would say this, too, it will be without doubt possible for you to 

introduce some cases along the line of that which has now been indicated, 
but there will be thousands where you will not find the same situation.

I have read in the Toronto Globe, that I said,
There are thousands of cases where you will find this is the situation. 

This is so directly opposite to what I said, that I just wanted to make that fact 
plain and I will be happy to see some correction made in the newspaper regarding 
this matter. This article says,

Mr. Shears admitted this was quite a typical case but added there 
are thousands of cases where you will find this is the situation.

As I quoted my evidence I said,
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It will be, without doubt, possible for you to introduce some cases 
along the line of that which has now been indicated, but there will be 
thousands where you will not find the same situation.

I just wanted to make that correction.
Then, in connection with this particular matter, Karatsu left his property— 

rather, he registered his property with the custodian on the 8th day of May, 1942. 
In connection with the registration he made a statement of his personal property 
which was as follows:—

Chesterfield, chairs, carpenter’s tools, kitchen utensils, two beds, farm 
tools and implements, one bureau, gramophone, galvanized chain, flower 
covering, fishing gear and coil of \ inch cotton rope.

This was his declaration on the 8th of May, 1942. It is evident Karatsu was 
not evacuated until some months later. He was at Hastings Park in Vancouver 
on the 8th day of September, 1942, and, just about that time he was being 
moved away and he made an additional registration which reads as follows: 
There are 23 items.

3 mahogany planks 
1 boat box of supplies^
1 large box of school supplies 

14 pieces of glass
A package of school books 

3 steel bed springs
1 chesterfield chair
2 mattresses
1 willow patterned platter
3 boxes of Mason jars and caps
1 basket of kitchen utensils
2 packages of paste 

Gramophone and records
2 double beds, iron 

A rice bowl 
1 5-gallon crock
4 kitchen chairs
1 stool
2 pieces linoleum 
2 rubber mats
1 office file 
1 bed spring 
1 iron kettle.

That is what I would like you to have in mind just for the moment. At that 
time his place was under lease by an arrangement made as of the 1st of May, 
1942. for the following nine months to a Mr. Bernard Ryan. Mr. Bernard Ryan 
together with Mr. Karatsu signed a document which reads: This affidavit made 
in duplicate is a certified agreement between both parties that inclusive with 
The farm lands the lessee shall have the use of the miscellaneous farm tools and 
household effects until the termination of the lease. The twenty-three items 
are listed down and the document is signed by Mr. Bernard Ryan and Mr. 
Karatsu. That was on September 8. 1942. Then on September 12, 1942, Mr. 
Karatsu was vacuated to Sanden. During September of HM2 this particular 
property became vacant and it remained vacant until March, 1943, a period of 
about seven months. Shortly after it became vacant, on October 28, our field 
men went to this particular farmhouse and inventoried what was found there. 
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Everything which appeared on Mr. Karatsu’s list at that time, October 28, 
1942, was there. I wonder if that list which was presented to me at the last 
meeting is here and could I see it?

Everything on Karatsu’s list was there plus a large number of other items 
which had not been mentioned at all in the file up to that time. There were 
thirty or forty additional articles. A copy of a list containing those was 
mailed to Mr. Karatsu at Sanden and he was asked if this was a complete list 
and he sent it back, signed as being correct. There is nothing in our files or 
any suggestion there of anything over the twenty-three items which Karatsu 
listed himself until the additional items were added by our field men. The 
statement was made at the last meeting that the Japanese considered that the 
articles tvere worth $700 odd and as I pointed out then this was the owner’s 
valuation which he supplied as a value for these items. It is a fact that on 
March 4, 1947, Karatsu complained about the sale and he thought then the 
articles might be worth approximately $500. As I say, after October 28, this 
property remained vacant until March, 1942. The property was boarded up. It 
was in an isolated position at the end of the 19th road and our file indicates 
that it was an easy mark for vandalism. I would say that my field staff showed 
great zeal when the inventory took place, because they certainly went the limit. 
They had added thirty items which, when our own men came to have them 
auctioned, were found to be of no value and they were abandoned. Those items 
were:—

1 poor umbrella 
4 shallow empty boxes 
3 sheets brass w’ire 

10 bundles books 
1 pair gum boots
3 lengths stove pipe 
1 gas lamp shade
4 posts 2x26' long
1 lamp base, (cracked)
1 box old clothes
4 hats
1 candy pail
5 pounds grease paper
1 chest drawers (no drawers)
2 small home-made tables 
2 wooden bowls
1 home-made bed 
1 sea shell ash tray
1 small piece kitchen linoleum 

Japanese decorations on wall 
Magazines by tons

5 window blinds
2 pails
1 lid for 5-gallon crock 
1 bag brass wire 
4 Japanese calendar pictures 
1 food cupboard.

Now our field men listed all those things and it made an imposing list of 
thirty extra items but they were items which, at a later date, were just abandoned 
by our own men when they came to move them for auction. There are also
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goods which are unaccounted for most of which were not on the original list of 
twenty-three but were on the list which our own field men made. These items 
were unaccounted for:

3 mahogany planks
1 box school supplies
2 boxes glass
1 parcel-dragon kite
1 willow pattern platter
3 boxes mason jars
2 double bedsteads (iron)
1 five gal. crock
1 piano stool
4 chairs
2 rubber mats 
1 office file
1 iron kettle
1 box boat supplies
Ship’s compass
Water pump
Steering wheel
Fog horn
Tin shears
Small vise
Fishing tackle
Pipe fittings
Brass odds and ends
Nuts and bolts
1 gas iron (with fish line)
1 box loose books 
4 bundles lumber
1 roast tin 

10 cups
4 bowls
3 salers
2 Japanese flash lights
3 small Xmas decorations 
1 eight foot belt
1 large funnel
1 crock bowl
2 bake pans
1 canvas life preserver 
1 large hammer
3 deep sea fishing lures 
1 sad iron
4 pictures
1 gal. candy jar
1 Japanese tub full miscellaneous articles 
1 metal box 
1 wedge.

The point is this. Of a total of about eighty items, only fifteen were actually 
sold. Three items were shipped; thirty were abandoned, and we have lost track 
of those others, the last group that I have read.

Now gentlemen. I am not a valuator and have not looked at Karatsus 
valuations set opposite that list but from the items which I have read I would 
doubt very much at this time, whether, by any conceivable stretch of the
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imagination you could make such goods value up to $700 or even $500. One 
item which I think might have some value is that contained in the box of boat 
supplies. The ship’s compass, however, is one of that little type which they use 
in their fishing boats and which can be bought for $3 or $4 or $5. In addition 
there was the water pump, steering wheel, fog horn, tin shears, small vise, fishing 
tackle, pipe fittings, brass odds and ends, nuts and bolts. On the face of it, 
those are t'he items and there is the story. The Japanese declared twenty-three 
items of which fifteen have been sold and the others have not been accounted 
for. The list is largely made up of numerous small items which our own field 
men have listed. There is a list of those abandoned and others were taken by 
vandals before the property was again rented in March, 1943. I think that is 
perhaps all that I wish to state in respect of this matter.

Mr. Jaenicke: Mr. Chairman, after hearing Mr. Shears and his explanation 
of the matter I may say that, as I indicated at the last hearing when I presented 
the case, Mr. Shears had already told us there was vandalism and theft and 
things of that nature going on and I fully appreciate the difficulties which he 
and his men had. He has given us the particulars as to what Mr. Ivaratsu had 
when the articles were listed and then they were later listed and I presume the 
list I produced was the list that was made by an official of your office. As I 
said at the last meeting I think the members ought to be able to judge for 
themselves. I move that this list and the latter statements be printed in the 
proceedings so that the members may form their own conclusions, keeping in 
mind the explanations made by Mr. Shears.

Agreed.
The Acting Chairman : Well, gentlemen, if there are no other questions of 

the witness could we discuss the adjournment?
Mr. Fleming: I have a number of questions on other matters arising out 

of this original testimony.
The Acting Chairman : Well, will you go ahead now.

By Mr. Fleming:
Q. Mr. Shears, did the custodian have some responsibility for these assets 

from the very beginning? You referred at the outset of your testimony to the 
first order in council, No. 9590, dated December 7, 194Î, vesting property of 
Japanese occupying or holding territory, in the custodian.—A. What number?

Q. The first was 9590; and then we go down to order in council No. 469, 
of January 1942, that was the one that established the protected area in British 
Columbia ; and then in February 1942 there is the government notice requiring 
enemy aliens to leave the protected area; and then comes order in council 1665 
of March 4, 1942 establishing the British Columbia Securities Commission 
with power to remove Japanese. There are subsequent orders; the registration 
of Japanese on March 13, 1942 by order in council 2483, and March 27, 1942 
number 5523 and so on. Now, has there been at any time any administration in 
Canada of property in Canada of persons of the Japanese race by anyone 
apart from the custodian? Has there been any other administration of their 
property?—A. As far as evacuees were concerned nothing was vested or came 
into our hands before P C. 1665 which was amended by P.C. 2483, and with 
regard to liquidation, by order in Council 469. With regard to evacuees’ property, 
this became vested in the custodian, if the Japanese registered his property with 
the custodian before he was evacuated, or it was automatically vested upon his 
evacuation. The only Japanese properties which the custodian dealt with prior 
to P.C. 1665 was the property of Enemy Japanese.

Q. Now I take it that there is no other government official or government 
department or government body that was responsible for administration until 
the custodian of enemy property took over under these orders in council.



PUBLIC ACCOI XTS 133

Doctor Coleman : May I have your permission to answer Mr. Chairman?
I think I can answer a little better than Mr. Shears. He was not in the office at 
that time. I think you will find if you will look up the record that early in 
February, if not before, early in 1942, I issued certain orders affecting people 
of the Japanese race requiring them to turn in radios, motor cars, and I 
recollect they were supposed to be turned over to the police officers. I, myself, 
after the policy of evacuation was announced in February, the latter part of 
February, after consulting Mr. McLarty, then the custodian, proceeded to 
Vancouver very early in the month of March 1942. I would have to look up my 
diary but I am sure I arrived there on the 9th of March and that was just 
four days before registration began. Now at that time there were certain , 
preliminary security measures taken requiring the people of the Japanese race 
living in the coastal areas to turn into the R.C.M.P., or persons designated by 
them, certain equipment which was regarded as dangerous if left in their hands. 
The articles I remember particularly are radios, cameras, firearms, and motor 
cars. With those, the custodian, as such, had nothing to do. I also discovered 
when I reached Vancouver in 1942, early in March 1942, that it was reported, 
and I could only go by what I was told by people there, that there were a 
number of persons of the Japanese race who had been anticipating the order of 
evacuation and had, in many cases, disposed of their chattels. Some of those 
chattels were probably disposed of at a very improvident price. One of the 
purposes or one of the reasons for getting them to register, in addition to the 
danger lying in their retention of the chattels, was to afford a certain measure 
of protection to them. I arrived in Vancouver realizing there was a large 
number of very small and petty businesses conducted by the Japanese people 
which eventually would have to be closed up. I called a meeting of all of the 
licensed trustees under the Bankruptcy Act in Vancouver, and assembled them 
in the Hotel Vancouver. I told them of this rather formidable task which was 
confronting the custodian for which, at the moment, he had to improvise a 
staff and I requested their co-operation. I might say that co-operation was very 
widely extended. From memory I said that I arrived in Vancouver on March 9, 
and I find here that I held a meeting on the 10th of March at which every 
licensed trustee in bankruptcy for the area attended. There was a large number 
of gentlemen present and they agreed to give assistance to the custodian’s 
staff, more particularly in relation to these very small businesses. Those gentle­
men did, I believe, contribute very substantially in the way of advice and help in 
handling this situation. The custodian as such, however, had nothing to do 
with these motor vehicles, cameras, radio receiving sets, etc., which were turned 
over to the police under orders, which were all matters of record.

Mr. Fleming: All other assets apart from those were vested in the 
custodian?

The Witness: Yes.
Mr. Stewart: Might I ask what happened to these radios and automobiles?
The Witness: In line with what you are asking, we did sell the radios. They 

were turned over to us. They were taken possession of by the R.C.M.P. and were 
turned over by the R.C.M.P. to the custodian who disposed of them along with 
the other effects of the Japanese.

By Mr. Fleming:
Q. And was that done in the same manner as the other chattels were disposed 

of?—A. Precisely the same procedure was followed.
Q. Was the basis of the valuation and sale the same as you have referred to 

in your opening testimony about the other chattels?—A. Identical. We sold them 
by public auction.
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Q. I think you have made it clear, but I just want to clarify this additional 
feature. All sales made at any time by the custodian, whether real estate, 
chattels, or other forms of property were in all cases sold for cash?—A. Excuse 
me, I am sorry if I have left that impression. The greater Vancouver property 
was sold for cash. With respect to rural properties outside of the sale to the 
Veterans’ Land Act, the committee did agree that in certain cases properties 
could be sold with a substantial cash payment, at least fifty per cent, and 
limited terms would be allowed. Payment in full was to be made within two 
years at five per cent interest. There were quite a number of properties sold on 

t that basis but all of those properties now, with the exception of perhaps half a 
dozen, have been fully paid off because the terms were short. It was a substantial 
cash payment and the terms were not more than two years. There were quite a 
number of rural properties sold on that basis but there was no urban property 
sold in that manner.

By Mr. Jaenicke:
Q. That would be those on the third sheet?—A. No, those were just the 

forty-three which were withdrawn from the Veterans’ Land Act, but we had four 
or five hundred other properties outside of Greater Vancouver.

Q. They were all sold for cash?—A. You are speaking of the Veterans’ Land 
Act deal and the question now is on other deals and I am saying the greater 
Vancouver properties were sold for cash but the other properties, the other 400 
odd, were sold in some cases on terms.

By Mr. Fleming:
Q. The question was a little different I think. Were those 43 properties 

referred to in the third list this morning sold for cash?—A. Not of necessity. 
They were rural properties and some of them may have been sold on terms.

Q. Was there any variety in those terms or was the proposition always in the 
same form, either cash, or at least 50 per cent cash and two years with 5 per cent 
interest?—A. That was it.

Q. And these credit terms were not given in the case of the sale of chattels? 
—A. No, no. '

Q. Only real estate?—A. Yes.
Q. Dealing with the basis of the valuation of the other properties, and here 

we get away entirely from this sale to the Veterans’ Land Act, you have indicated 
that there was a valuation made at the time of the sale. Does that apply 
generally to all the real estate in the hands of the custodian, greater Vancouver, 
and the rural areas, excluding of course that land sold to the Veterans’ Land Act 
administration?—A. Yes, appraisals were made somewhat prior to the time that 
they were offered for sale by our department.

Q. Well on page 55 of the report I see these figures. The sale of 466 
properties in greater Vancouver were appraised by your office, on page 55.— 
A. Yes.

Q. Appraised by your office at $915,600 and sold at $1,004,785.—A. That is 
correct, yes.

Q. The sales there netted about ten per cent in excess of vour appraisal?— 
A. Yes.

Q. And those appraisals were made within a reasonable period prior to the 
sale so that the appraisal was strictly relative to the sale?—A. Definitely.
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Q. And now, in connection with the other rural properties, excluding the 
741. your appraisal was $529,146.25 and the sale yielded $570,244.—A. That is 
correct.

Q. That is eight per cent in advance of the appraisal?—A. Yes.
Q. And your remarks about the time of the appraisal would apply to those 

properties also?—A. Yes. The appraisal would be within a few months prior 
to that.

Q. Now when you had the appraisals made, you referred to the fact that 
you selected a number of leading experts in real estate values. Were those 
experts located first, the group in greater Vancouver and then the rural prop­
erties, in the respective areas?—A. Yes.

Q. Now did you spread those around in order to have a good cross-section 
of opinion in your appraisals?—A. Yes, I would say so. You will remember 
that I mentioned the appraisers were suggested to us by the real estate board 
of Vancouver and the real estate board of Victoria. That is, those boards 
stated certain people might be available and also qualified to make appraisals. 
In the greater Vancouver area there were just six real estate appraisers used. 
I could not give you the number in the rural areas because that was a large 
number. If we were dealing in Nanaimo it would be a real estate agent at 
Nanaimo who would make the appraisal and if it were at Cumberland it would 
be a Cumberland man. The men who made the appraisal had knowledge of 
the district in which they were appraising.

Q. I had intended to ask you how many men actually made appraisals for 
you in those two groups, first of all, the greater Vancouver group?-—A. I could 
give you that, there were six appraisers.

Q. Any two on the same property?—A. In a few cases that was done. If 
there appeared to the committee to be any particular reason why any appraisal 
might be challenged we had another appraisal made or perhaps two appraisers 
went together but that was not the usual procedure.

Q. When you spoke of making the sale at the appraised value, which 
valuation would you take in those cases where you had the check valuation 
made?—A. It was submitted to the advisory committee and, usually, the reason 
for having another valuation would be this. Supposing the valuation was 
$3,000 and we called for tenders and the tenders that were received indicated 
that nobody wanted to pay more than $2,300. In that "case the committee would 
say they would have another appraisal made. Assuming that the other 
appraisal came back and was a little less than the first appraisal, the committee 
would compromise and take the average between the two.

Q. But it was based on the valuation?—A. It was based on the valuation,
ves..

Q. Now, continuing on to another subject entirely. Arc you in a position 
to make any estimate of the losses by theft and vandalism?—A. No, I do not 
think I am. I would like the committee to have in mind, that as I have 
described, there was a considerable amount of theft and vandalism. That is 
quite true and we cannot get away from it. However, I do not want the 
committee to feel that the major portion of the Japanese goods disappeared in 
that way. In some areas and in some places a particular Japanese may have 
been unfortunately in the position of having a large amount of his stuff pilfered 
but in other cases none, or very little disappeared. I would not care to give an 
overall estimate in dollars and cents. That is what you are thinking of?

Q. Well, some approximation.—A. No, I do not think I would care to.
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By Mr. Johnston:
Q. Was there any protection, when you took over the property, to look 

after it and prevent that sort of thing?—A. As I indicated we had 8,000 units 
of chattels and they were spread around the whole ef the protected area. We 
did have co-operation from the police and we had our own policemen in one 
location.

Q. How many would you have of your own police?—A. We only had one 
employed by ourselves and that was at the request of the local police at Steveston. 
Then we had night patrols in Vancouver.

Q. How many patrols did you have?—A. Just one night patrol.
Q. Consisting of one man?—A. It was Wilson’s night patrol and whether 

they employed more than one I do not know but they made regular inspections 
at stated and irregular hours. They operated in the same fashion as a night 
patrol usually operates.

By Mr. Fleming:
Q. Do you attach responsibility to anyone in connection with these losses 

by theft and vandalism? Are there any eases where the local authorities did 
not measure up to their responsibilities?—A. Just what is that?

Q. Can you place responsibility for theft and vandalism on anyone?— 
A. No, we cannot. The police informed us on different occasions that places 
had been broken into. Their conclusion usually was that it was juvenile delin­
quents who were the cause of it.

Mr. Case: Was there any action or any criminal proceedings taken against 
anyone?

The Witness: Not at all.
The Acting Chairman : Gentlemen, it is now after 1.00 o’clock and I would 

ask your opinion as to the next sitting. I would say that to-morrow there are a 
great number of committees sitting, six committees as a matter of fact, in 
the morning and two in the afternoon. I do not know if you feel that we should 
sit this afternoon instead of to-morrow morning because of that fact. I leave it 
entirely up to the committee to decide.

Mr. Stewart : Could the steering committee get together on this?
The Acting Chairman : In other words we will adjourn to the call of the 

chair? •
Mr. Fleming: Well, had we not better leave the meeting stand as arranged. 

I understand it is on the list for to-morrow. After all, Mr. Shears wants to get 
back to Vancouver sometime. However, perhaps he likes it so well down here 
he will want to stay.

The Acting Chairman: Well we will adjourn until 11.30 o’clock to-morrow 
morning.

The meeting adjourned at 1.05 p.m. to meet again to-morrow morning, 
May 13, at 11.00 o’clock.



APPENDIX “A”
P.C. 5523

AT THE GOVERNMENT HOUSE AT OTTAWA
Monday, the 29th day of June, 1942.

present:
His Excellency

the Governor General in Council:
Whereas the Minister of Mines and Resources and the Minister of Pensions 

and National Health report that persons of the Japanese race ordinarily resident 
in the protected areas of British Columbia have been required by Orders of the 
Minister of Justice, under Regulation 4 of the Defence of Canada Regulations 
(Consolidation) 1941, to leave such protected areas;

That many such persons of the Japanese race were or are engaged in 
agriculture and have been or shall be compelled to abandon farming operations 
on land owned by them or by companies which they control ;

That it is in the public interest to ascertain the actual number of such 
Japanese farms, to carry out an appraisement of their fair present day value, 
and to consolidate the control of the disposition of these lands by sale, lease, 
or otherwise ;

And whereas the Ministers are of the opinion that by reason of the state of 
war now existing it is advisable for the security of peace, order and welfare of 
Canada to make provision for the matter aforesaid;

Now, therefore, His Excellency the Governor General in Council, on the 
recommendation of the Minister of Mines and Resources and the Minister of 
Pensions and National Health and under the authority of the War Measures 
Act, Chapter 206 of the Revised Statutes of Canada, 1927, is pleased to make 
the following regulations and they are hereby made and established accordingly:

regulations

1. In these regulations, unless the context otherwise requires :
(a) “Director” means the Director of Soldier Settlement of Canada;
(b) “Japanese Company” means any corporation of which the majority 

of the shares isèued by it are owned by persons of the Japanese race, 
or of which the majority of the directors are persons of the Japanese 
race;

■ (c) “Agricultural land” means land and any real or immovable property 
and any interest, legal or equitable therein, and the right to possession 
thereof, situated otherwise than within the boundaries of any incor­
porated city or town;

(d) “Minister” means the Minister of Mines and Resources ;
(e) “person of the Japanese race” means any person wholly of the Japanese 

race;
(d) “protected area in British Columbia” means any area in the province 

of British Columbia, now or hereafter declared, pursuant to the pro­
visions of Regulation 4 of the Defence of Canada Regulations (Con­
solidation) 1941, to be a protected area for the purpose of such 
Regulation.

137
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2. Except with the approval in writing of the Director and in accordance 
with any terms or conditions therein set out, no person shall, after the date 
hereof,

(i) purchase, lease or otherwise acquire or agree to purchase, lease or 
otherwise acquire, or

(ii) either for himself or on behalf of the owner, sell, lease or otherwise 
dispose of or agree to sell, lease or otherwise dispose of,

any agricultural land in a protected area of British Columbia, owned by any 
person of the Japanese race or by any Japanese Company.

3. The Director may, in his sole discretion, refuse to approve or approve, 
either unconditionally or subject to such terms or conditions as to him seem fair 
and reasonable, the purchase, sale, lease or other acquisition or disposition, or 
any agreement therefor, of any agricultural land in a protected area of British 
Columbia owned by any person of the Japanese race or by any Japanese 
company.

4. The Director shall cause an appraisal to be made of the fair present-day 
value of all agricultural lands in any protected area of British Columbia owned 
by persons of the Japanese race or by Japanese companies, and shall report 
thereon to the Minister.

5. Any person authorized in writing by the Director to act as an inspector 
under these regulations may, for the purpose of making any appraisal under the 
last preceding section, or for the purpose of ascertaining whether any person 
of the Japanese race or any Japanese company is the owner of any agricultural 
land in a protected area of British Columbia, or for the purpose of determining 
whether the provisions of these regulations are being or have been complied with,

(i) enter at all reasonable times and inspect any agricultural land in a 
protected area of British Columbia, owned by any person of the 
Japanese race or by any Japanese company, or which is reasonably 
believed by such inspector to be or to have been owned by any such 
person or company ;

(ii) examine orally any person occupying or having any interest in agri­
cultural land in a protected area of British Columbia, which is reason­
ably believed by such inspector to be or to have been owned by a person 
of the Japanese race or a Japanese company ;

(iii) require any person occupying or 'having any interest in agricultural 
land in a protected area of British Columbia, which is reasonably 
believed by such inspector to be owned by a person of the Japanese race 
or a Japanese Company, or having in his possession any documents 
relating to any such land, to furnish any information in his possession

or such documents to such inspector.
6. The production by any person of any document purporting to be signed 

by the Director and purporting to authorize such person to act as an inspector 
under these regulations, shall be evidence of the authority of such person to act 
as an inspector.

7. Any person,
(i) who purchases, leases, or otherwise acquires, or sells, leases or other­

wise disposes of or agrees to purchase lease or otherwise acquire, or to 
sell, lease or otherwise dispose of, any agricultural land in any pro­
tected area of British Columbia, owned by any person of the Japanese 
race or by any Japanese company otherwise than in accordance with 
these regulations ; or

(ii) who wilfully delays or obstructs an inspector in the exercise of any 
power conferred upon him under these regulations ; or
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(iii) who fails to give any information or to produce any documents in his 
possession if required to do so under these regulations; or

(iv) who refuses to reply to any reasonable question asked him by an 
inspector acting under these regulations,

shall be guilty of an offence and liable, on summary conviction, to a fine not 
exceeding one thousand dollars or to imprisonment for a period not exceeding 
six months or to both such fine and such imprisonment.

8. The burden of proof that any purchase, sale, lease or other acquisition 
or disposition, or any agreement therefor, of any agricultural land in a protected 
area of British Columbia, is not a violation of any of the provisions of these 
regulations, shall be upon the accused.

9. Nothing in these regulations shall be deemed to apply to, or to affect 
enemy property as defined by the CONSOLIDATED REGULATIONS 
RESPECTING TRADING with the ENEMY (1939).

10. All expenses or costs incurred by the Director in connection with this 
Order shall be payable out of the moneys appropriated by Parliament to carry 
out measures deemed necessary in consequence of a state of war.

(Sgd.) A. D. P. HEENEY,
Clerk of the Privy Council.

APPENDIX “B”

LIST MADE BY CUSTODIAN—OWNER'S VALUATION ADDED
File No.: 8666 October 28, 1942.
Name : Naochi Karatsu
Registration No.: 12051
Address: 19th Avenue, Whonnock, B.C.

Inventory of Chattels Left on Property
Articles Value
3 mahogany planks 1" x 12" x 4'....$ 3.001
1 large box school supplies................ 5.00
2 boxes containing 14 pieces glass.... 2.50
1 parcel containing Jap. Dragon kite 2.00
3 steel bed springs.............................. 2.00

2 mattresses ......................................... 8.00
1 willow pattern platter.................... 1.00
3 boxes Mason jars and caps............. 2.50
1 basket kitchen utensils.................... 4.00
2 packets wall paste....................................50
1 gramophone and records................ 50.00
2 double bed steads............................ 15.00
1 rice bowl brass bound.................... 1.00
1 5-gal. crock....................................... 1.50
1 piano stool........................................ 1.00
3 dining chairs..................................... 3.00
1 kitchen chair.............................................. 50
2 piece linoleum mats......................... 5.00
2 rubber mats..................................... 1.00
1 office file............................................ .75
1 spring bed........................................ 2.00
1 iron kettle........................................ 1.00

Remarks

(2) were sent to Sandon where this man 
was living upon his request.

80 records.
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Inventory of Chattels Left on Property—Con.

Articles Value
1 large box containing:

ship’s compass.................................  18.00
water pump..................................... 8.00
steering wheel................................. 2.50
fog horn.......................................... 1.00
tin shears........................................
large quantity fishing tackle......... 160.00

small vice........................................ 2.00
quantity pipe fittings..................... 2.00
quantity brass odds and ends..........  2.00
large quantity nuts and bolts..........  1.00
mise, boat fittings.......................... 1.00

large box containing Christmas
decorations ................................ 2.00

Approx. 6 lbs. sheet lead......................... 75
5 window blinds................................... 1.25
1 poor umbrella...................................
4 shallow boxes................................... 1.00
1 tool box containing..........................  107.50

1 carton Christmas decorations........ 1.00
3 small sheet brass (approx. 2 lbs.)... 1.50

small quantity wire.......................... 1.50
1 box containing:

2 clocks............................................
thermos bottles................................ 1.50
small quantity dishes..................... 2.00

2 biscuit tins containing 5 pint sealers
1 wooden tray.....................................

10 bundles books tied.......................... 5.00
1 pair gum boots................................. 1.00
3 lengths stove pipe......................................15
2 lanterns ............................................ 1.00
1 gas iron............................................. 1.00
1 box books.......................................... 1.00
1 gas lamp shade...........................................15
4 bundles lumber................................ 4.00
4 posts 2" x 2" tied 6' long................
1 lamp base (cracked).......................
1 roast tin containing:

10 cups............................................ 1.00
4 wooden bowls..............................
3 quart sealers.......................................... 25

2 pails ................................................. .50
1 box old clothes.................................

Japanese flashlights..........................
small Christmas decorations....................50

1 bag containing brass wire................ 1.00
I hats .................................................

1 aluminum pulley 10"....................... 1.00
1 8' belt............................................... 2.00
1 candy pail................................................. 25
4 Japanese calendar pictures............
1 large funnel...................................... 1.00

Remarks

Including: 1 good condition high-tension 
magnet (cost $80.00) ; 1 quart water 
kent coil (cost $15.00) ; 1 doz. bear­
ings, $15.00; 10 sprockets, $12.00; 
12 paint brushes, $30.00.

Fishing gear for commercial purpose. New 
200 fathoms stainless trolling wire 
(cost $30.00) ; new, 100 fish hooks for 
pilchard bait (cost $7.50) ; 200 spoon 
hook for Cohoe trolling (cost $70.00).
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Inventory of Chattels Left on Property—Con.

Articles Value
1 crockery bowl...................................
2 aluminum pots..................................
2 bake pans...................................................25
1 canvas life preserver......................... 1.00
1 large ball peen hammer 
5 lbs. grease proof paper. 
3 deep sea fishing lures.... 
1 sad iron..........................

Remarks

Downstairs

1 chesterfield chair.............................. Was sent to owner upon request.
1 chest of drawers (no drawers)......... 3.00
2 small tables (h.m.)..........................
i pictures and frame..........................

2.00

1 food cupboard...................................
2 wooden bowls (small)....................

1.00

1 home made wood bed.......................
1 gal. candy jar..................................
1 Japanese tub full cont. unknown...
1 Japanese bowl (2 piece)................
1 metal box..........................................

1.00

linoleum on front room..................
1 sea shell ash tray..............................

2.00

1 wedge .............................................. .15
small quantity fishing tackles.........

1 pair binoculars (poor)...................
2.00

small piece linoleum on kitchen floor 
few Japanese decorations on wall..

1.00

Basement
3 shallow boxes...................................
1 lid for 5-gal. crock............................

small quantity fir wood...................
This represents all my chattels remaining in any protected area of British Columbia. 

Confirmed :
Date : .............................................................. Signed : ..................................................
Please sign and return one copy to the Custodian.

CANADA

DEPARTMENT OF THE SECRETARY OF STATE 
OFFICE OF THE CUSTODIAN

Japanese Evacuation Section

Phone Pacific 6131 506 Royal Bank Bldg.,
Please Refer to Hastings and Granville,
File No. 8666 Vancouver, B.C.

April 25, 1947.
Mr. Naoichi Karatsu,
Registration No. 12051,
Harris Ranch,
New Denver, B.C.

Dear Sir,—In reply to your letter of March 15 in which you ask that certain 
chattels be sent to you, we have to advise that we are unable to ship these 
articles as some have been sold at auction and others are missing. The books
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were badly mildewed and damaged and were discarded as being of no value. 
We are enclosing an itemized statement of the articles sold at auction and the 
balance not shown on this sheet were either stolen or damaged and declared of 
no value.

Referring to your enquiry as to expenses against your boats ; these expenses 
are proportionate charges covering supervision, insurance and survey expenses 
actually paid out. No office expenses or commission on the sales have been 
charged.

Your account has now been credited with the sum of $43.50 representing 
$21.75 on each boat covering a transportation claim from Steveston to Tofino. 
These amounts have been credited as it is understood that you delivered one boat 
and paid the expenses on the other one on the trip down and return to Tofino. 
We would appreciate your confirmation that this is correct.

A statement of your account is enclosed and these funds are available to 
you on request.

Yours truly,
W. E. ANDERSON,

Farm Department.

WEA:OH
Enc.
Name, Karatsu, Naoichi
Registration No. 12051. File No. 8666.

The following chatties were sold by public auction at Mission, B.C. on
March 7 and 14, 1945.

Spring ........................................................................................... $ 1.25
2 Springs and bed......................................................................... .35
Kitchen utensils............................................................................ .25
Broken gramophone .................................................................... 1.10
Kitchen chair and mat................................................................ .45
Box fittings and sundries............................................................ 2.25
Fishing tackle and old net ....................................................... 1.00
Christmas decorations ................................................................ .35
Box of sundries ............................................................................ .50
Lantern ......................................................................................... .25
Kitchen utensils .......................................................................... .60
Aluminum pulley.......................................................................... .50
Bowl ........................................................................................................ 60
2 Pots ........................................................................................... .35
Fish lines and iron........................................................................ .60

Total ............................................................................................  $10.40

[Auctioneer's Fee. $1.04

[Moving ............. 2.87 $ 4.04

Net Proceeds Credited ................................................................ $ 6.36

Members of Custodian Staff Present: Mr. W. E. Anderson. 
Extracted from Auctioneering List No.: Mission 18. 
Remarks:
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MINUTES OF PROCEEDINGS

Tuesday, May 13, 1947.

The Standing Committee on Public Accounts met at 11.30 o’clock a.m., 
Mr. Roch Pinard presiding.

Members present: Messrs. Burton, Case, Cleaver, Cote {Verdun), Cloutier, 
Cruickshank, Fleming, Fournier {Maisonneuve-Rosemont), Gladstone, Golding, 
Jaenicke, Kirk, Marshall, Pinard, Raymond (Wright), Richard (Gloucester), 
Stewart lWinnipeg North), Stuart (Charlotte), Thatcher.

In attendance: Dr. E. H. Coleman, C.M.G., K.C., Deputy Custodian of 
Enemy Property ; Mr. F. G. Shears, Director of the Vancouver Office, and Mr. 
K. W. Wright, Counsel.

The Committee resumed its investigation into the administration of the 
Vancouver Office of the Custodian.

Examination of Mr. Shears was continued.
Mr. Shears answered certain questions put to him at the last meeting 

regarding the policing of Japanese property.
On motion of Mr. Cruickshank :
Ordered, That a copy of a General Report to the Minister, (fated January 15, 

1947, be made available to each member of the Committee.
Mr. Shears undertook to supply the Committee with a breakdown of 

certain items in the Statement of Receipts and Expenditures, Japanese Evacu­
ation Section, for the period March, 1942 to July 31, 1943.

Mr. Shears tabled Original Offer of the Director, The Veterans’ Land Act, 
for the Purchase of 769 Parcels of Farm Lands from the Custodian of Enemy 
Property and an additional offer for the purchase of 42 parcels, which are 
printed as Appendices A and B to this day’s minutes of proceedings and 
evidence.

Dr. Coleman undertook to furnish the Committee with the audited state­
ment of accounts of the Vancouver office to December 31, 1946, at the earliest 
opportunity.

At 1.00 o’clock p.m. the Committee adjourned to meet at the call of the 
Chair.

A. L. BURGESS, 
Clerk of the Committee.

88943—1J
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MINUTES OF EVIDENCE

House of Commons,
May 13, 1947.

The Standing Committee on Public Accounts met this day at 11.30 a.m. 
The Acting Chairman, Mr. Roch Pinard, presided.

The Acting Chairman : Will you come to order gentlemen? As I mentioned 
yesterday, we will proceed with the same item of business, that is the examina­
tion of Mr. Shears. Now as Mr. Fleming mentioned yesterday, Mr. Shears is 
anxious to go back to Vancouver and I hope the questions will be brief and 
to the point and that perhaps we will be able to dispose of this this morning. 
Mr. Shears would like to make a brief statement and I will give him the floor.

Frank G. Shears, Director of the office of the Custodian, Van­
couver, recalled:

The Witness: Mr. Chairman, in reply to a specific question asked by Mr. 
Johnston yesterday regarding the number of policemen employed by the 
custodian you will recall that I gave the answer that we employed only one 
policeman and used one night patrol. That statement is correct as far as it 
went. We did only have one man who was sworn in as a policeman and that 
was done at the suggestion of the police authorities in the Steveston area. We 
only had one night patrol service and a night patrol is of course only suitable 
for a city district. We had the Wilson night patrol in Vancouver. I would 
not like the committee to think, however, that was the only supervision that 
was given. We had a protection department of our own and in Vancouver we 
had four men all the time, who were specifically employed for this purpose. 
Also in the Fraser Valley we had four men continually going around that area 
who were supplied with automobiles to help them. From time to time, when 
places were broken into it was reported to the office and such places were 
boarded up. For purposes of the record I would just like to add this statement 
that I have made. I would not want the committee to think we just had one 
night patrol and one policeman.

Also, in respect to the question regarding prosecutions, while no actual 
prosecutions were taken by the custodian, on several occasions the police did 
recover stolen things and our protection department was able to identify them. 
No specific charge however was laid.

Mr. Stewart : In connection with that, Mr. Shears, would you mind looking 
for a moment at exhibit A, the Ross account. That is a statement of receipts 
and disbursements by the protective department. The P. S. Ross account. You 
will see it a little way down from the top.

Mr. Fleming: At the back of the report.
Mr. Stewart: Under travelling, hotel, and living expenses of the protection 

department, can you give a breakdown of the expenditure which occurred between 
March, 1942, and July, 1943?

The V itness: That would be in connection with the department to which 
I have just made reference and in addition it would cover what I might call the
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initial protection work, that is to say, the visiting of all property and the arrang­
ing for movement of goods from individual houses where the Japanese had been 
living to the central storages. I could not possibly give you a breakdown here 
in Ottawa, but it could be broken down by the accounting records at Vancouver. 
That definitely is a charge, I would say, made up entirely of salaries and expenses 
of the men employed in that specific service and it was called our protection 
department. e

By Mr. Stewart:
Q. Salaries and travelling expenses?—A. Yes, salaries and travelling 

expenses and car expenses, and I think that would be the bulk of it.
Q. Have you had any accounts after the 31st of July, 1943, in connection 

with this division?—A. There is a monthly statement taken off by our accounting 
department, that is done continually each month.

Q. AVere the transactions audited after the 31st of March, 1943?—A. There 
has been no complete audit since that date. There is, however, an audit in pro­
gress now. It has been in progress for about seven weeks now.

Q. AA’ho has been doing it?—A. P. S. Ross & Sons have been engaged to 
audit the evacuee section of the \rancouver office.

Q. I take it there was no yearly audit.—A. No, there was no yearly audit.
Q. Can you tell me why there was no yearly audit carried out? I am think­

ing that it would have been in your interests and for your own protection and 
it would have been very advisable, would it not?—A. It was a matter regarding 
which I just waited to receive instructions. As I say statements were prepared 
every month and forwarded to Ottawa.

Q. A complete and detailed audit is being done now up until what date?— 
A. The 31st of December.

Q. Of last year?—A. Of last year.
Mr. Gladstone: Mr. Chairman, the witness has in his hand a large book, 

apparently containing figures relating to this whole story. I notice also a 
similar book is in the hands of Mr. Fleming and in the hands of Mr. Stewart, 
but there is no such book apparently in the hands of any member of the govern­
ment. I am just wondering why, for instance, my friend Mr. Cruickshank who 
is very interested in this matter has got a copy of that information?

The Acting Chairman : Well, these books are in possession of members of 
the steering committee and they are not available for distribution to the other 
members but one can easily be borrowed from the chairman.

Mr. Cruickshank: I just want to register my own objection. I just want 
to say that I have asked already for some things but I would like now to ask 
for all the information, all the little letters and all the other things that are 
concerned here. AA'e have spent the last couple of days discussing the Fraser 
Arallcy and I can quite modestly say that I am the only member of this com­
mittee who knows anything about the Fraser ATallev in spite of the fact that I 
keep trying to put its name before the public. I strenuously object to all this 
discussion by people from Toronto and people from Saskatchewan who never 
saw a Jap or a Japanese farm in their lives And it is not so much the dis­
cussion I object to but until a while ago they were not very much interested in 
the whole matter. I, however, have to report back to the people of British 
Columbia as to whether we have done the fair thing by the Japanese or not and 
whether we can justify any recommendation which we make or not. My legal 
friends have been cross-examining the witness as if he was up on the Dick 
murder trial and I notice lie refers frequently to the book and I have no idea 
what is in that book.

The Acting Chairman : AVell, if you will just let me explain.
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Mr. Cruickshank : Just a moment Mr. Chairman. We are here to decide 
on perhaps the spending of hundreds of thousands of dollars and if the members 
of the committee cannot have a few dollars to print extra books I do not know 
why. How can any member of this committee make a recommendation one 
way or the other? I certainly intend, when these recommendations go before 
the House, whatever they are, from this committee, I am going to have quite a 
bit to say. Apparently, it was arranged that those who had no information and 
knew nothing about this matter, never had the slightest interest in the Japanese 
problem and said nothing about it ever since the war started, now having 
become eminent counsel, have this all at their fingertips and those of us who 
know something about it have not those facilities.

The Acting Chairman: I am inclined to believe that Mr. Cruickshank is 
right in some respects. When the procedure was first discussed by the com­
mittee it was then understood that the members of the steering committee would 
get copies of this report and it seemed to be agreed at the time. That is the 
reason why only the members of the steering committee have'copies.

Mr. Cruickshank: I would like to know how many copies were originally 
printed and the names of those who received them?

The Acting Chairman : I think some of the members of the steering 
committee who are here could explain the way it was done.

Mr. Burton : Mr. Chairman, I was waiting until you were through with 
Mr. Cruickshank before I was going to ask for the floor. I may say, for the 
information of those members who were not present at the first meeting, that 
while it was pointed out that there were not sufficient copies of this book to go 
around to every member of the public accounts committee, we were asked that 
each member of the steering committee make his copy available to the members 
of the party that he was representing on the steering committee. I have done 
that and that is the book that Mr. Stewart has in so far as the group he 
represents is concerned. It was pointed out at that time that if more copies 
were needed, and if the committee felt that it would warrant the expense, 
consideration would be given to printing more. This, however, is the first time/ 
that it has been brought to the attention of the committee and I would suggest 
in all fairness to the members of the steering conimittee that Mr. Cruickshank 
contact his represenative of the steering committee. As far as his comment 
about people from Saskatchewan taking up the time of this committee—

Mr. Cruickshank: I did not say that.
Mr. Burton: You said substantially that. I would point out to the 

committee that we members from Saskatchewan have taken up very little time 
of the committee. We have followed not only the discussion very closely but 
we have followed the explanations given by Mr. Shears very closely because 
it is something that we want to familiarize ourselves with. Again I would say, 
Mr. Chairman, that if more copies of this report are required by government 
members and if they need them in their work and the steering committee cannot 
supply them, then I am quite prepared to support the motion that more copies 
be made available.

Mr. Cruickshank: I want to make it clear I did not say that you gentle­
men were taking up too much time of the committee. I said they had not taken 
an interest in the past. I am not objecting to Mr. Stewart or to anybody else 
and I think you should support me in what I am saying because it is true that 
every member of the committee should have one of these copies. I am not 
objecting to Mr. Fleming or to Mr. Stewart at all and I think Mr. Fleming and 
Mr. Stewart would be the first ones to endorse what I am saying. This is my 
motion and you can express your opinion. I do not know who the member of
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the Liberal party on the steering committee is and I do not care. Surely we are 
not here as parties. I am going to move now that each member of the committee 
be provided with a copy of this book.

The Acting Chairman: In the meantime I might add there are two extra 
copies in the possession of Mr. Isnor and I am sure that Mr. Cruickshank and 
Mr. Gladstone could get those copies but as far as the motion is concerned I leave 
it in the hands of the committee to decide.

Mr. Stewart: May I ask for some information? I think at the first 
meeting when we were discussing this I asked that they be made available for 
each member. I suggested that the report be printed as an appendix at least 
and that I thought everyone should have a copy. Now the steering committee 
took that under advisement and I would like to know what decision they came 
to? I would like to know why only one copy was- made available for the five 
members of our group.

The Acting Chairman: I am told that the members of the steering com­
mittee who received copies of the report were: Mr. Burton, Mr. Fleming, Mr. 
Gibson, Mr. Marshall, and Mr. Stewart. There are also two extra copies as I 
have said which are still in the possession of the chairman. Those copies were 
to be made available to the members who needed them. Now I think it might 
take a little time to have these copies printed but I think the motion is in 
order and I will ask the committee to decide on it.

Mr. Fleming: Mr. Chairman, it is unfortunate this question was not raised 
at the first meeting when this matter was considered, because if members, such 
as the honourable member for Fraser Valley, feel that they have been under 
handicap in following the examination then it may be that it will be necessary 
to detain Mr. Shears here for questioning on the basis of the need for perusal 
of these reports, by members of the committee who have not yet seen them. 
Now this matter arose in the first meeting of the steering committee because it 
was stated to us by the government that they had just eight copies of the report 
available. There was a desire expressed that we should not go to the expense 
of having additional copies printed or mimeographed unless the members really 
wanted it. Now the volume itself, as you can see, is very bulky and in view of 
that suggestion from the government that printing and mimeographing of copies 
be obviated unless strictly necessary. The suggestion was advanced not from 
the opposition parties but from the government party representatives and the 
steering committee that we see if we could get along with the copies that were 
available for distribution among the parties through their representatives on 
the steering committee and then if it was found impossible to get along with the 
limited supply the question could be raised. It was expected each member of 
the steering committee would make his copy available to the members of his 
group. Now I recall that I pointed out to the representatives of the two main 
parties, who have more members, that it would mean that there would be a 
great many members competing for the use of one copy. It was left that way 
and apparently these two copies have not been drawn on. If the information 
that those reports were available was not more widely known to the members 
of the committee it was perhaps due to the fact that there were members absent 
from the first business meeting of this committee when the matter was fully 
discussed.

Mr. Cruickshank: Before the motion is put I would say that I was not 
present at the first meeting and I am not complaining of the distribution made 
so far. I do think, however, in. a matter which is as important as this, the 
information should be available. Somebody has said the government did not 
want to go to the expense of printing additional copies and I would say that I 
do not always agree with some of the ideas of the government and I do not intend 
to agree in the future. This would only amount to a very little expense and
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there are a lot of unemployed stenographers in Canada whom we might get to 
work on it and we might even get hold of some of these Japanese to type a few 
of the copies. I would like to see the motion put.

Mr. Richard: No one has said anything about how much it would cost 
and how long it would take to have these copied. Personally I have not got a 
copy and I have not seen one and I think some of the members of the committee 
may be in the same situation. I think some of the members here, including 
Mr. Cruickshank, certainly should have a copy available but I do not want 
to see us waiting to get copies of the report unless it is absolutely necessary. 
I certainly do not complain because I did not get one myself and I think we 
should find out first what it will cost and secondly how long it will take.

Mr. Fleming: Mr. Chairman, the short way would probably be to find 
out how many of the members of the committee want a copy of the report and 
who are not content with the copies on the present basis. I have no doubt Mr. 
Cruickshank who has a special interest in this matter, should have one. There is 
not, however, much point in our passing the resolution unless other members want 
the copies and are going to use them.

Mr. Cote: Mr. Chairman, I would like to clear up one point. Mr. Fleming 
has indicated that Mr. Cruickshank was a little late in raising this question. 
Now if I refer to the minutes of the proceedings I see that on May 8 the steering 
committee made its recommendation that the officer in charge of Vancouver 
office of the custodian be examined. I would assume that it is only on May 8 
that this matter was brought up and inquiries were to be made regarding printing 
and availability of these financial reports so I do not see that Mr. Cruickshank 
is late in bringing up this point. I am also interested in what he is claiming as 
a privilege to the members of the committee. I have not had a report to study 
and I think it should be left to the committee to decide if it is advisable to print 
more copies at this time.

The Acting Chairman: I am informed the matter was brought up on the 
28th of April at the first meeting.

Mr. Cote: Not according to the official record.
The Acting Chairman : It was not reported but it was discussed at the 

very first meeting. Now I shall add this, also. We have gone quite far already 
into the evidence and the examination of Mr. Shears and I do not know how 
long it will still take and I have not the faintest idea as to the cost of printing 
of this report but as far as delay is concerned it will probably take a week 
or so.

Mr. Cruickshank: May I point out that it would delay Mr. Shears as I 
see it. This is not printed, it is only typed and I do not see it delaying us at 
all. I am not asking that we start all over again by any manner of means. 
If I have to justify to the people of British Columbia any action I have taken in 
this committee or that anybody else has taken, I can only justify it from one 
part of the score and I can see very little cost involved in typing a few of these. 
I would say that as far as these binders and so on are concerned that I have 
thrown away thousands of them every day which come from eastern Canada 
advertising various things. If the motion is defeated it is all right with me and 
I will know exactly where I stand about having the information available.

Mr. Stewart: Might I point out in this statement here there was one item 
dealing with the Ottawa section of the custodian. There was also the matter of 
illegal organizations, both of which items I think would be interesting to the 
members and I think if we are going to do anything constructive or intelligent we 
ought to know what is being done in connection with those. I know that Mr. 
Jaenieke has 'had to go without this when I have had it and I know Mr. Burton 
has had to go without it when I have had it and we should evolve some method 
by which all of those who are interested can have copies.
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The Acting Chairman : Certainly I have no objection and I would like 
to see the committee decide it immediately and take their stand on it.

Mr. Cote: How long would it require, Mr. Chairman, to obtain sufficient 
copies?

The Acting Chairman: I could not be definite, but I am informed that it 
would take about seven days.

Mr. Cruickshank: What difference docs that make.
The Acting Chairman: I do not say it makes any difference. The only 

thing I am pointing out is that there would be a delay.
Mr. Cote: May I just inquire there whether it is worthwhile to continue 

to sit until such time as we all have copies?
The Acting Chairman : Well, is the motion agreeable?
Carried.

Now can we, in the meantime, continue the examination? I am in the hands 
of the committee as far as that is concerned.

Mr. Fleming: I think we should continue.
Mr. Stewart: There is another question I should like to ask Mr. Shears 

in connection with exhibit A, the Ross company’s account. There were 466 
properties appraised in greater Vancouver and 400 in the rural areas and I 
notice at the bottom of schedule A the advisory committee expenses in greater 
Vancouver were $3,761.02 whereas in connection with the rural property the 
expense was $1,151.03. Could Mr. Shears tell us why there is this discrepancy 
in the expenses? I would have thought the expenses in Vancouver would be 
much smaller than those in the rural areas.

The Witness: I indicated previously there was a somewhat different set-up 
in regard to the committees. In the greater Vancouver advisory committee 
under the chairmanship of Mr. Justice Sidney Smith it was his wish that the 
committee should have their own secretariat and their own office. Office space 
was rented and they had an executive officer and they had a stenographer and 
that was the reason for the expenses incurred by that particular committee. In 
regard to the rural committee under the chairmanship of Judge Whiteside, they 
met in the Judge’s chambers and later on they met in Mayor Mott’s office and 
they dispensed with any paid salary employees. Members are allowed an 
honorarium for attending committee meetings, and travelling expenses where 
required ; very definitely the expenses of the greater Vancouver advisory com­
mittee are very much higher than those of the rural committee for the particular 
reasons given.

Q. Do we have a breakdown of those expenses?—A. That can be produced,
yes.

Q. Then, further on, in that same exhibit, exhibit A, there is an amount of 
$15,402.01, in connection with storage, etc. I take it from that that not all 
chattels and goods stored were on Japanese property?—A. No, they were not. 
Referring to Vancouver again, because that is where we concentrated most of 
these chattels; at 992 Powell street, we had a storage space of four floors and 
the basement, and we paid $150 a month for the rental of that one building; 
and there were other buildings for which we paid rental in Vancouver and in 
some other areas; and it mentions freight as well. That item, I believe, would 
also include the charges for moving into storage.

Q. Yes?—A. But generally speaking that is the meaning of that item.
Q. Were there any break-ins, entries, made?—A. Yes, even at 992 Powell 

street, on several occasions entries were made. In some cases windows were 
removed. It was not in a particularly good district, right in the heart of Van­
couver. That was one of the places, incidentally, which was under the pro-
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tection of the night patrol. That simply meant of course that the patrol would 
be there perhaps around two o’clock in the morning and then again at five. And 
I understand their instructions *were not always to be there at the same time. 
They would vary the time and the next night they might be there at two o’clock 
and four o’clock. But definitely 992 Powell street was broken into on several 
occasions.

Q. And I take it from what you have said that there would be no inventory 
of the goods held?—A. Yes. As it was placed in 992 Powell—there was no 
inventory actually made when the goods were put in there, but the Japanese 
name was marked on the goods.

Q. And they are all out of that Powell street storage now?—A. Yes, it is 
empty.

Q. And you made an inventory of the stuff that was removed?—A. Well, it 
was not actually an inventory. When the goods were moved to auction, a list 
of what was sold at auction was made. The auction list constituted an inven­
tory of the property sold.

Q. Can you say how much was missing from that one building?—A. In 
volume, or value?

Q. Volume, roughly.—A. I believe I should tell you that this building was 
filled from floor to ceiling on more than one occasion. We had auctions held 
there on the ground floor over the period and the goods on the other floors were 
moved down and the spaces vacated on these other floors would be filled again. 
That building was filled on several occasions. I would not like to estimate the 
actual quantity. As a matter of fact it was not always a question of the goods 
being actually stolen, there was so much damage done and a mixing up of 
articles and so on took place. One would go in and here would be a lot of 
stuff pulled down and just thrown all over the floor.

Q. This is rather an important point, Mr. Chairman. There may be claims 
against the custodian for damage to goods. Apparently we do not know from 
official records just what this amounts to. There has been some measure of loss 
which either the federal government, or somebody, is going to have to pay the 
Japanese for. I think it would be very desirable for us to know just how much 
had been destroyed or lost. You say that from your books and records you have no 
certain way of knowing how much has been lost. Suppose a claim comes up for 
pertain articles which are lost, how are you going to decide it?—A. We have 
files. We have a file for each individual Japanese, and we have the Japanese 
declaration as to what he left. In other cases subsequent declarations were 
made. In many cases it was possible to check these inventories. I would say 
the over-all basis on which claims, if claims are entertained, would have to be 
considered, would be by the file itself; and I believe, broadly speaking, that 
would substantiate what the Japanese lost; the records would show what had 
been sold, and in that way the discrepancy would be established. I will admit 
that it will not tie up one hundred per cent; but there again I ask your con­
sideration to visualize not only the number of items, but the type of items— 
when you have to keep track of pots, pans and that sort of thing, it is 
understandable.

Q. It is understandable.—A. I would say an additional test would be 
w hether the Japanese could prove what he left. As I say, that would be on our 
files. Then we could check that against what we sold, and in that way would 
know what was short.

(Discussion off the record.)

Mr. Cleaver: Mr. Fleming, are you finished with the witness?
Mr. Fleming: I don’t want to monopolize the questioning. I can be 

finished in about twenty or twenty-five minutes.
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Mr. Cruickshank: May I interrupt and ask one question before you go on?
Mr. Fleming: Certainly.

By Mr. Cruickshank:
Q. I asked you, Mr. Shears, for a list of the sale prices to the VLA, that 

the sale price with respect to each property be put on the record. Has that 
been done?—A. I do not think it is actually in the record.

Q. It will be done?—A. Yes.
Mr. Cruickshank: Another point is this; as I understand it, Mr. Chair­

man—and I do not profess to know anything about the value of property in the 
Fraser Valley—I am not even going to say whether this is a just complaint, I do 
not know whether it is or not. I want to find out. My point is as to the value 
of the properties. As I said before mention has been made by myself and 
others with respect to this matter. What I want to find out is the actual price, 
the actual cost of this land at the several stages, the price that was paid to the 
Japanese, the price that was paid by the V.L.A. administration, and the price at 
which it was sold to the veterans. I am particularly anxious to have that on 
the record. Although I come from that district I do not think anyone here 
would expect me to express an opinion either publicly or privately as to the 
value of that land. I think the list is one which should be on the records of 
this committee.

Mr. Fleming: I think they all want to know that, and I think the com­
mittee has no intention of winding up its labours without getting that 
information.

Mr. Cruickshank: That is the information I want.
Mr. Fleming: I understood the chairman was going to arrange to have 

that evidence adduced before the committee by representatives from the 
Veterans Affairs department.

The Chairman: No, he is not.
Mr. Fleming: I raised the question as to how we were going to get this 

information at the last meeting and the chairman intimated that a witness 
would be called from the Veterans Affairs department to testify as to the price 
charged to the veteran on re-sale by Veterans’ Land Act officials. I understood 
from the vice-chairman that arrangements were being made to call someone 
from the Veterans Affairs department presumably Mr. Murchison, because he 
is the official who conducted the correspondence which was referred to yesterday 
on behalf of the Veterans’ Land Act.

Mr. Cruickshank : Mr. Chairman, following up what Mr. Fleming says, 
I agree with him in this, that it is the Veterans Affairs department obviously, 
the Veterans’ Land Act officials, who are the ones who can answer about the 
sales. That matter is entirely in his department. In the meantime I am asking 
that this report be put in as an appendix to our records so we can have an 
opportunity of studying it. Apparently the price paid to the Japanese was 
$750, and we want to follow that through and see the price at which it was sold 
to the veteran. In the meantime, I am asking that that material be placed in 
our record.

The Acting Chairman: It will be put in the record.
The Witness: I would like to say to Mr. Cruickshank that all I am in a 

position to put in is this. It gives the custodian file number; it gives a certain 
number which relates itself to the veteran’s land file; and it gives the Japanese 
name, the soldiers’ settlement appraisal and the price paid to the Japanese.

Mr. Cruickshank: That is what I am asking for.
Mr. Fleming: And it includes the price paid the Japanese?
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The Witness: It gives the sale price of the property.
Mr. Cruickshank: Of course, I appreciate that the witness can only 

give such information as he has.
The Witness: But there is no legal description of the property here, but 

it relates itself in two places; to the file number and also to the V.L.A. offer.
Mr. Cruickshank: By price do you mean the assessed value?
The Witness: The assessed value would have to be obtained and added 

to this list.

By Mr. Fleming:
Q. Mr. Chairman, before we adjourned yesterday Mr. Shears was giving 

testimony as to the vesting of property of all kinds in the custodian. What 
was the function of the custodian with respect to property? Was it his function 
to conserve and protect, and in due course when it was decided to sell, to sell 
at the best possible prices? How would you describe the proper function of 
the custodian?—A. Initially, the function of the Custodian’s office in Vancouver 
was to protect and administer the properties of the Japanese which were either 
registered by the Japanese or, upon evacuation, became vested in the Custodian. 
This entailed the work which I have already indicated, the renting of properties, 
protection of their chattels so far as could be done, and so on. Then, when the 
policy of liquidation came into effect, the instructions were we were to proceed 
with liquidation in an orderly fashion; that properties were not to be sold unless 
there was a justification for the price obtained. In order to do that, the process 
which I have already outlined was adopted, public advertisement and tender. 
Does that answer your question?

Q Not fully, but perhaps we can break it down. The orders in council 
themselves do not lay down a procedure to be followed with reference to 
advertising or obtaining valuations, do they? That was a matter of internal 
administration for the Custodian’s office?—À. Yes, definitely.

Q. What was the overriding purpose of the Custodian’s administration in 
that respect? Was it to obtain the best possible price for these properties and 
when I say “properties” I am speaking not only of the real estate but the 
chattels, all properties of the people of the Japanese race?—A. It was the 
purpose of the Vancouver office to obtain adequate prices.

Q. In other words, to get for those properties, whether real estate or 
chattels, all they were worth?—A. A fair market price.

Q It was not any part of the function of the Custodian to sacrifice any­
thing simply for the sake of a quick realization?—A. I would say not, no.

Q. Apart from the realization, the function and duty was to protect and 
conserve the assets?—A. Yes.

Q. Now, as to the Fraser Valley properties in this sale to the Veterans’ 
Land Act. In the light of the information which has been detailed to the 
committee, do you think that the fair market price on those 741 properties, 
most in the Fraser Valley but some on Vancouver Island, was obtained in 1943? 

■—A. From the evidence before the Custodian and the Advisory Committee at 
the time, it would appear that the best possible prices were obtained. In the 
light of some subsequent events and individual sales which were made, it might 
appear that some properties, had they been sold individually would have brought 
larger prices. I think there might have been some properties which would have 
been hard to sell in individual units and might still not be sold. I can only 
say that there was some upward trend in values which took place from the 1st 
of January, 1943, onwards. A slight increase took place in 1943, a little more 
in 1944, but the real upswing did not take place until 1945 and onward.
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Q. You said yesterday the general increase in the price of real estate did 
not fully account for this great discrepancy as between the Custodian—at least 
the VLA appraisal and offer on the one hand and the realization on the 
properties in the same group later on?—A. It would not appear that way.

Q. You say it was the best possible price which could be obtained. 
Actually, no one else was ever invited to bid on these properties; is not that 
true?—A. That is true, but I say the best possible price in the light of the fact 
that the committee was considering selling these properties on the basis of the 
valuations which they believed were sound valuations due to the fact they were 
made by a qualified board of appraisers. That is the basis upon which the deal 
was consummated.

Q. We have these facts, that these properties were never offered for sale 
to anyone else?—A. They were not.

Q. No one else ever had an opportunity to bid on them?—A. No.
Q. The offer comes forward from the VLA which is eventually accepted 

after some negotiation. When you say it was the best possible price that could 
be obtained, what you mean I take it is, it was the best possible price you 
could obtain from the VLA purchasing en block under these conditions?— 
A. That is true.

Q. What charges have been made against the proceeds of the sale of both 
real estate and chattels? On the chattels you have indicated that there was a
total of 21 or 22 per cent charged for auditor’s charges-------A. Auctioneer’s, not
auditors.

Q. I should not say auditors, I meant auctioneers. You paid 10 per cent 
to the auctioneers, 3 per cent was allotted for advertising and about 9 per cent 
was your own expense in handling?—A. Yes.

Q. Now, that total of 22 per cent was charged against the sale of chattels, 
did that cover all the expense of the Custodian’s office in connection with the 
sale of those chattels?—A. No.

Q. There was overhead, was there?—A. Simply the charges which related 
to the movement of these goods from perhaps one storage place to the auction 
room. It definitely related to the movement of these goods for the purpose of 
sale at auction.

Q. In other words, there is no overhead from the Custodian’s office charged 
in?—A. No, not one dollar.

Q. Are those accounts available? I am not concerned, for the moment, 
about the details, but I think the committee ought to know what was the total 
charge of this kind made in respect of the realization on the chattels, those that
were sold. If you have not that information handy do not take the time-------
A. Yes, I think perhaps I can give you the totals. There was a total of 255 
auctions.

Q. Excuse me, is that the total number of auctions on all chattels?—A. Yes.
Q. That is the total?—A. 255 auctions, the gross returns were $245,583. 

The auctioneers’ fees were $24,873 which, you will notice, is approximately 
10 per cent. There is one case in which there is a very slight variation. Adver­
tising cost us $6,593 and the handling charge to which I have previously referred 
was $25,775.

Q. What was the net, then?—A. The net would be $188.341.76.
Mr. Stewart: May I interrupt to ask whether these figures appear on the 

accounts in the hands of some of the members of the committee?
The Witness: These auction sales figures will be included, with chattels 

sold by advertisement and tender. The proceeds would be included in the sale 
of chattels or something of that nature in exhibit A. The figures I have jufet 
read will not appear separately.
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By Mr. Stewart:
Q. They do not appear in the auditor’s accounts?—A. Oh no, that report 

is 1943. ' . ,
Q. All these expenses took place after 1943?—A. Yes, right up to December, 

1947.

By Mr. Fleming:
Q. December, 1946?—A. Oh yes, December, 1946.
Q. We have not the details before us in any form. Now, in the exhibit to 

which you have just referred, Mr. Shears, the report of P. S. Ross & Sons, of 
October 20, 1943, there were some recommendations made with regard to admi­
nistration in the Vancouver office. You were in charge of Vancouver office?— 
A. At that time, yes.

Q. Was that report with its recommendations brought to your attention?— 
A. Yes.

Q. I am not going to trouble you now about the details, but what, in general 
did you do in the light of the recommendations contained in that report?—A. We 
put them into effect.

Q. All of them?—A. I have not looked at the report for years, but I believe 
we did. They related, more or less, to internal management and the manner of 
keeping files. Have you anything specific in mind?

Q. There was just one point in particular on page 12 under the heading, 
evacuated persons, where the auditors speak of the custodian’s 14,500 files 
concerning evacuated individuals. They say they examined a number of them 
and noted the information was generally in chronological order. Then, they 
made a statement.

Adequate information relating to the sales of assets did not appear 
to be in the files.

Was that information available elsewhere? Was it just the fact that it was 
not in the statement?—A. It was available elsewhere and now is available in all 
files. In other words, that recommendation was carried out. The information 
was in the office but it was not, at that time, on all the files.

Q. Perhaps I did not clear up fully this point about charges made against 
the Japanese property. You dealt with the chattels and you have explained 
that. Now, what about the real estate. Apart from the expenses you incurred 
we will say, in the way of valuators’ fees or expenses for sale, tender, auctioneer­
ing fees and so on, was there any charge made by the Custodian’s office in 
connection with the realization on the real estate of the Japanese?—A. All 
properties, as you know—no, not all properties, but practically all properties, 
appeared in these two catalogues. Against each item of property you will have 
noticed the name of the real estate agent. The arrangement which was made 
was this; when that particular property was sold that real estate agent would 
be entitled to the usual real estate agent’s commission of 5 per cent. This was 
paid and was deducted from the sale price. The cost of advertising the property 
was pro rated amongst all the Japanese properties and it was not particularly 
heavy. This was so because of the fact we advertised so many properties and 
assessed a proportion of the advertising. The charges for a particular indi­
vidual were naturally fair.

Q. That was just a matter of pro rating, I suppose, in relation to the price 
of the real estate in each case?—A. Yes.

Q. That would just be an out of pocket expense and I am going further 
in my question and asking if there was any additional charge made by the 
Custodian’s office, say for the expense of administration of Japanese property ; 
first of all, the collecting, conserving and storing of it, and second, the realizing 
of it, was that borne by------ A. That was borne by the department.
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Q. Now, the source of the money out of which these charges were met was 
not the taxpayers money. Are you familiar with the details of that?—A. No, I 
can simply say in that connection we had advances from Ottawa for adminis­
trative charges in Vancouver.

Q. You are not in a position to offer information concerning the source of 
that money, whether it came from charges made on the administration of other 
property?—A. No, the accounts in Vancouver, at the present time show an 
indebtedness for advances made from Ottawa.

Q. Were these expenses all charged up, that is allowable expenses, all 
charged up against the individual account in each case?—A. Oh yes.

Q. You did keep individual records on all files?—A. Yes.

By Mr. Cleaver:
Q. I believe the witness said, in regard to the sale of all the real estate, a 

commission of 5 per cent was paid to designated real estate agents. Was that 
commission paid with respect to the sale of properties to the Veterans’ Land 
Act?—A. Not only outside the V.L.A. deal. There was no commission paid on 
the VLA deal.

Q. Your general answer was rather inclusive?—A. I am sorry, outside the 
VLA deal.

By Mr. Fleming:
Q. The figures you have supplied to the committee are the realization of 

the sale of real estate were gross figures, then?—A. Gross figures.
Q. From them should be deducted 5 per cent paid to agents?—A. Yes.
Q. Are there any other figures of any account which should be borne in 

mind in that respect?—A. No, I do not think so.
Q. We were just speaking about individual accounts and there is a state­

ment which appears on page 57 of the report of Mr. Mathieu, to which reference 
might be made now to complete the picture. The summary of cash which has 
been collected from the realization of various assets and revenues has been as 
follows, and in the exacuee section the total is $5,373,317.64, while on the enemy 
section, that would be Japanese enemies I take it, $1,074,753.74, a total of 
$6,448,000. As I understand it, that is complete down to December 31. 1946, 
is that correct, Mr. Shears?—A. That is complete. Just what would you mean 
by complete there, Mr. Fleming?

Q. Is it a complete statement of the amounts realized through your office 
in Vancouver on the sale of property of Japanese persons of all kinds?—A. No, 
that is not strictly accurate. So far as the evacuee section is concerned, it 
is correct. The second column which deals with enemies includes accounts in 
the Vancouver ledgers covering persons who were interned. There were 700 of 
them at one time and they have now all been released. So far as the administra­
tion is concerned they are now being treated on the same basis as évacués. While 
they were in the internment camps we had separate ledgers. They were treated 
as enemies. This took care of the 700.

Then, there was a limited number of persons who were residents of Japan, 
living in Japan, but who had property in Vancouver. They were specifically 
enemies and their assets were included in this total. In addition to that, there 
was other Japanese property in the protected area belonging to Japanese persons 
or companies which were controlled by enemies and those properties have been 
administered by the appointment of controllers and liquidators. The figures for 
the realization of these assets do not all appear in this statement; that is to say, 
there have been other assets realized by the liquidator which have not yet come 
into the hands of the Custodian, but that would be directly in regard to Japanese 
enemies or enemy companies. It does not affect the evacuee situation at all.
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Q. In the case of these liquidators or controllers to which you refer——A. 
That, as a matter of fact, is taken care of in the Price. Waterhouse audit which is 
attached to this report. It is the audited account of the enemy section of X an- 
couver office.

Q. Then, the liquidators and controllers report to your Vancouver office 
and not to Ottawa?—A. They are reporting to our office.

Q. What is the number of individual files open at this time?—A. The 
individual files which have cash balances at the end of last month, would be just 
about 1,500.

Q. Altogether?—A. That is all the accounts which have credit balances. 
The rest of the money has been paid out.

Q. In your Vancouver office, there are just 1,500 accounts?—A. I say 1,500 
because I know specifically there were 1,780 two months ago and the number 
is being continuously reduced. There are about 1,500 accounts and the amount 
of money, at the present time, would be about $800.000.

Q. This represents a great diminution since the peak of three or four years 
ago?—A. Oh, definitely, yes.

Q. It is less than 10 per cent of your peak?—A. We have the files, of course. 
WTe have approximately 17,000 files, but not all of those files were concerned 
with assets which were realized.

Q. Have you any figures that you would like to refer to if you are trying to 
make up the difference?

Q. Well for instance, on page 50 of the report, “the number of evacuee 
accounts in our Vancouver ledger is as follows: December 31, 1944, 3,575; 
December 31, 1945, 3,820; December 31, 1946, 2,433.’•—A. Yes.

Q. I want to get your figure that compares now with that figure of 2,433 
at December 31, 1946?—A. 1,500 or 1,600.

Q. So that you have made a reduction of one third in the last four 
months?—A. Yes, and the amount, instead of being $1,076,000 would be approxi­
mately $800,000 at the present time.

Q. Within what space of time do you expect to complete this liquidation?— 
A. I would say it could be completed this year.

Q. There were no other funds held for evacuees other than those which you 
have just mentioned now?—A. Not any funds. We have bonds to the extent of 
$250,000 belonging to individual evacuee accounts.

Q. This is simply a cash statement?—A. A cash statement.
Q. And you have bonds worth about a quarter of a million dollars’— 

A. Yes.
Q. What else remains?—A. Nothing at all except we have 25 unsold 

evacuee properties.
Q. You are down to 25 real estate properties, $250,000 in bonds, and $800.000 

in cash?—A. Yes.
Q. That represents the complete inventory of the assets?—A. Yes, of 

evacuee assets on hand and there are those 25 association properties.
Q. Now are there any other properties or assets being administered through 

your Vancouver office for persons of the Japanese race that are not included 
in the evacuee section?—A. Apart from evacuees you mean?

Q. Yes.—A. There is about $250,000 in cash and $560,000 in bonds which is 
in the hands of the liquidators of enemy properties which have not been turned 
over to the custodian.

Q. That is all?—A. That is strictly enemy money and the final disposal 
of enemy assets I believe depends on the signing of the treaties of peace.

Q. You expect, in the ordinary course, that you will be complete this year- 
by the end of this calendar year?—A. Yes, the payment out of those funds on 
hand should be completed.

88943—2
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Q. You testified at an earlier day Mr. Shears that some of the Japanese 
had returned their cheques. They were not satisfied with the sale price and they 
returned their cheques. Now are the cheques that were returned included in 
the $800,000?—A. Yes, they are included in the $800,000 and those amounts 
are credited back to their accounts.

Q. Those accounts are just being carried as open accounts?—A. Yes.
Q. What is the total of that now?—A. I can only hazard a guess. There 

would not, however, be more than $4,000 or $5,000. They were relatively small 
amounts. In the 1,500 accounts of which I spoke I believe about 800 would be 
small amounts, of not much over $100 and the next group would be about 600 and 
they would involve around $1,000 each, and there would not be more than 100 
evacuee accounts whose balances would run over $1,000.

Q. When you close out an account do you make any attempt to obtain a 
release from the person entitled to the proceeds?—A. It has been our usual 
practice when closing out Japanese accounts to send him his final balance indi­
cating to him that this was all the money that was being held by the custodian 
and we ask him to acknowledge its correctness. Sometimes they did acknowl­
edge its correctness. Sometimes they did acknowledge and sometimes they did 
not but they were given a statement of their account.

Q. How ample is the statement given? Can you file a sample copy?—A. I 
have not one here but it would be this. There would be a credit for the net sale 
of his property and there would be auction sales credit from a certain auction 
and a credit from another auction and so on. This Japanese may have been 
receiving $50 a month, every month, and there would be a debit of that $50. 
It would be an itemized statement and of course it would be possible for him 
to come back and ask for more information.

Q. In respect to the credit item from the sale of his property and the details 
of that, would you just have given him the gross figure?—A. The statement 
would have a record of what the property was sold for and the charges against it.

Q. In what proportions did the Japanese sign the release which was sent 
indicating the correctness of the account?—A. We did not make any estimate 
but they were asked to acknowledge the cheque. Sometimes they came back 
and acknowledged it in full settlement and in other cases they avoided the issue 
and we did not press it further.

Q. You are not prepared to make any estimate of the proportion?—A. No.
Mr. Cote: Did I understand you to say Mr. Shears that you included in 

the statement a special release form which you asked the Japanese to sign and 
return?

The Witness: No, there was no particular form but in our letter we indi­
cated this was the balance to his credit and that everything had been sold and 
we asked him to acknowledge that he was satisfied.

Mr. Fleming: Mr. Chairman, I do not want to be monopolizing the time of 
the committee and if any one wants to interrupt me at any time I would ask 
that they please do so.

Mr. Cruickshank: Mr. Fleming asked some questions regarding the sale 
of the land in the Fraser Valley en bloc to the Veterans’ Land Act and he asked 
whether anybody else was requested to tender or whether individual sales 
had been asked for. I would just like to ask Mr. Shears if it is true that this 
land was not in general demand at the time that the sale to the Veteran’s Land 
Act took place? Is that true? Is that the information you had?

The Witness: I could not say. We had no specific information as at that 
time the custodian’s office was not offering any properties for sale.

Mr. Cruickshank: Just to make the point clear my information is that 
small berry farms were not in demand at the time this sale was made to the 
Veterans’ Land Act.
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By Mr. Fleming:
Q. I just want to clear up a point or two and I want to make good my 

promise to the committee that I will finish this morning. Dealing with the 
matter of employees in the office, Mr. Shears, on page 51 of the report you give 
figures as to the numbers in the office at the end of the various years. At the end 
of 1943 there were 93; at the end of 1944 there were 70; at the end of 1945 
there were 49 ; and at the end of 1946 there were 30.

What would the figure be to-day?—A. It is 28 and, as a matter of fact, 
I do not think there will be much change until the final winding up. We 
now have 11 men and 17 girls.

Q. Now I turn to the matter of the fishing vessels. There were only 1,000 
of those which were taken over by the Japanese fishing vessels advisory 
committee and most of them were sold by them but 180 were eventually turned 
over to the custodian?—A. Yes.

Q. My question is of a rather different nature from what we have had. 
If you have not all the information perhaps Mr. Wright can supplement your 
answer. Was there anything found in those fishing vessels of any nature which 
reflected on the activities of persons of the Japanese race as far as the security 
of Canada is concerned?—A. The vessels were of course seized by the navy and 
they did not come into the possession of the custodian until some months after­
ward. 950 had been sold and 170 came into the hands of the custodian. As 
far as evidence that came from the vessels directly to the custodian I would say 
there was none.

Q. You have not any personal knowledge of anything that reflected possible 
activities against the security of Canada?—A. No, I would not care to say so. 
All I can say was that on one occasion there came into our possession a map, 
probably about the size of this table, written in Japanese, and it appeared to be 
quite a detailed chart of the coast. That was forwarded to Ottawa to the 
security department. That is the only particular incident that I recall. Mr. 
Wright was there in charge at the time.

Mr. Cruickshank: May I interrupt a moment? My understanding is that 
we are not here, and if I am wrong I will be corrected ; but my understanding 
is we are not here to discover whether any Japanese was loyal or disloyal. We 
are here to see that the Japanese get a fair deal under British fair play. I do 
not think the matter of loyalty or disloyalty enters into our terms of reference.

Mr. Cote: My own opinion is, Mr. Cruickshank, that you are misunder­
standing the point raised by Mr. Fleming. This, I think, comes under our terms. 
If there was anything found in those vessels that was entrusted to the custodian 
for disposal I think we should know. Mr. Fleming is just enquiring whether 
among those assets there were any things present which reflected upon the loyalty 
of the owners.

Mr. Cruickshank: I still do not think it has anything to do with this. I 
have two lawyers against me but my understanding is that we are here to find 
out, and I think my friends from the prairies will support me, whether the 
Japanese were fully paid and as far as the British Columbia members are con­
cerned, and myself, in particular, that is the issue. We threshed that out down 
on the floor of the House and I do not think it has anything to do with it. We 
are here just to see if the Japanese lias been paid a sufficient price for the 
chattels and boats and farms and anything else. I certainly do not think this 
committee should discuss at this time whether any Japanese was loyal or dis­
loyal. I still think that in spite of the legal opinions from the two central 
provinces.

The Acting Chairman : I think the question was given quite a complete 
answer.
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Mr. Fleming: The reference was made by Mr. Wright and I wonder if Mr. 
Wright could add anything to this now. It is in connection with properties that 
came into the possession of the custodian.

Mr. Cruickshank: If an atomic bomb was found among those boats is it 
of any value to us?

Mr. Fleming: I would think it would be of a great deal of value. Can Mr. 
Wright add anything to the answer?

Mr. Wright: As Mr. Shears has said, all these vessels were taken over by the 
navy. There have been statements made from time to time that equipment other 
than fishing equipment was found but this equipment did not come into the hands 
of the custodian. We had no personal knowledge of those things. We have had 
information from fishermen and a number of others who were coming into the 
office. As a matter of fact the custodian was charged with the responsibility of 
administering the assets and security was left to the R.C.M.P. We did get 
information, however, from time to time which, if it was considered to be of use 
to the R.C.M.P., was turned over to them. Actually we had no personal know­
ledge of any equipment being found in boats because those boats were taken over 
by the navy.

Mr. Fleming: I would simply put the question this way. Have you or 
have you not information that property which came into the hands of the 
custodian, from or through persons of the Japanese race, reflected or suggested 
activities detrimental to the security of Canada on the part of such persons?

Mr. Wright: I do not recall any such equipment coming into the hands of 
the custodian. Of course radios were taken over by the R.C.M.P. and afterwards 
they came into our possession. Firearms were taken from the Japanese, turned 
over to the R.C.M.P. and their cameras were seized by the R.C.M.P.

Mr. Fleming: Your answer would be that nothing of that kind came into 
the hands of the custodian but it did go into the hands of the R.C.M.P.

Mr. Wright: Yes.
Mr. Cruickshank: Well, I want to follow you up there. All these boats and 

equipment were seized immediately after Pearl Harbour.
Mr. Wright: Yes.
Mr. Cruickshank : In your opinion, as a responsible Canadian citizen, is 

it not reasonable to surmise that if an atomic bomb or any other weapons had 
been on those boats they would have been immediately dumped overboard? In 
your opinion is that not a reasonable supposition? Mr. Chairman, I think this 
has just as much relevancy as Mr. Fleming’s questions. He is bringing up the 
question of whether the Japanese was loyal or disloyal. Is it not reasonable to 
assume that if a Japanese had several machine guns in a fishing boat that after 
Pearl Harbour, knowing his boat was to be seized by the R.C.M.P. he would 
have dumped that stuff overboard?

It is good reasoning in British Columbia but apparently it is not good 
reasoning in Ontario.

Mr. Stewart : Did he know his boat was to be seized?
Mr. Cruickshank: Yes, of course he did.
Mr. Fleming: If the witness would go on—
Mr. Cruickshank: Now, Mr. Chairman, Mr. Fleming is trying to put 

this matter aside. These gentlemen, in my opinion, should answer the question. 
The seizing of property was not done by the custodian, it was done by the 
Mounted Police. I asked this question and I want it on the record and I want 
an answer from the two witnesses. Is it not reasonable to surmise the Japanese 
would have taken the action I indicated immediately after Pearl Harbour?
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The Acting Chairman: Mr. Cruickshank is perfectly entitled to make his 
supposition and the witness is there to answer.

Mr. Fleming: I will agree entirely with Mr. Cruickshank. I think it 
would have been a perfectly reasonable thing to do.

Mr. Cruickshank: Well that is all right then.

By Mr. Fleming:
Q. I think it would have been a very reasonable thing to expect. Did it 

come within the scope of the custodian’s office in Vancouver to know of the 
departure, of persons of the Japanese race from Canada in the period leading up 
to Pearl Harbour? In the custodian’s search for Japanese assets did he have 
occasion to enquire into the departure of persons of the Japanese race in the 
weeks or months leading up to Pearl Harbour?

Mr. Wright : All the information I can give you is that about the middle 
of July 1943, and the information is in a report here, a number of persons of 
the Japanese race left to go back to Japan.

Mr. Fleming: Have you any information as to the number?
Mr. Wright: As to the number of Japanese properties?
Mr. Fleming: No, the number of Japanese who left this country in the 

weeks immediately preceding Pearl Harbour?
Mr. Wright: There was some information in a report that was submitted 

by the B.C. security commission and if you will give me a moment I just might 
find it for you. The custodian had no information except that contained in 
this report.

Mr. Stewart : Mr. Chairman, I would just like to have two things cleared 
up in my mind. We are trying to let Mr. Shears away today. Will the audit 
of the custodian’s department in Vancouver be put in the hands of the com­
mittee as soon as it is prepared.

The Acting Chairman : That is what I gathered from yesterday’s evidence 
of Mr. Shears.

Doctor Coleman : If I might interrupt, I think I can answer a little more 
authoritatively than Mr. Shears. On behalf of the office of the secretary of 
state I give you our unreserved promise that the committee will receive, before 
it ends its deliberations, the full report.

Mr. Stewart : The second thing is that, in spite of the fact Mr. Shears is 
going, we will still get the reports.

Doctor Coleman : Mr. Shears is not going. He has decided to stay until 
this thing is through.

1 he Acting Chairman : I will leave it in the hands of the committee to 
decide when we should sit again.

Mr. Cote: Is there any reply coming from Mr. Wright?
Mr. Wright: I will get the information out of this report.
The Acting Chairman : It is now after 1.00 o’clock and I think it would 

be in order to adjourn at this time. We will adjourn at the call of the chair.

The meeting adjourned at 1.05 p.m. to meet again at the call of the chair.

88943—3
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APPENDIX “A”
ORIGINAL OFFER OF THE DIRECTOR. THE VETERANS’ LAND ACT. FOR THE 

PURCHASE OF 769 PARCELS OF FARM LANDS FROM THE CUSTODIAN 
OF ENEMY PROPERTY

File No. J.L. Name Appraisal Sale Price Increased Withdrawn

S cts. $ cts. $ cts. $ cts
2862 92 Adachi, A................................ .......... 988 00 970 00
5058 93 Adachi, M. K........................ .......... 1,222 00 1,222 00
5442 178 Amemori. A........................... .......... 855 00 839 00
5432 85 Araki, T................................... .......... 850 00 834 00
9363 110 Undo, H................................... .......... 419 00 411 00
9363/4 111 Endo, T. and H..................... .......... 2,038 00 2,001 00
2864 116 Fukami, K.............................. .......... 1,400 (X) 1,374 00
2864 116 Fukami, K.............................. .......... 225 00 221 00
2851 172 Fukami, K. M....................... .......... 424 00 416 00

11060 75 Fukawa, S............................... ........ 1,15800 1,137 00
5573 31 Fujino, K................................. .......... 2,085 00 2,047 00
5573 31 Fujino, K................................. .......... 125 00 123 00

Int. 132 87 Hirai, S.................................... .......... 323 00 317 00 X
2853 89 Hashimoto, R....................... .......... 1,560 00 1,532 00
4999 82 Hayashi, G............................ .......... 550 00 .540 00
6620 33 Hayashi, K............................ .......... 977 00 959 00
5438 143 Hashizume, E........................ .......... 570 00 560 00
5438 143 Hashizume, E........................ .......... 2,326 00 2,284 00
5438 143 Hashizume, E........................ .......... 120 00 118 00
5438 143 Hashizume, E........................ .......... 1,795 00 1,763 00
4965 18 Hinatsu, Y.............................. .......... 1,488 00 1,461 00
4461 46 Hisaoka, I............................... .......... 250 00 245 00
4461 46 Hisaoka, I ............................. .......... 1,351 00 1,327 00
5437 94 Ikebuehi, T............................ .......... 1,450 00 1,424 00
5444 .50 Inouye, V................................ .......... 755 00 741 00
6622 146 I to, D....................................... .......... 2,000 00 1,964 00. X
4612 84 Kadoyama, 1......................... .......... 770 00 756 00

13862 171 Kadonaga, T.......................... .......... 731 00 718 00
9937 112 Kamirnura, K....................... 279 00 274 00
2859 117 Kato, K................................... .......... 887 00 871 00
5439 19 Kitagawa, Y.......................... 8.50 00 835 00. X
5440 27 Konno, Y................................. .......... 769 00 755 00
5440 27 Konno, Y................................ .......... 214 00 210 00
5574 118 Nagata, F................................ .......... .500 00 491 00
6618 118 Kudo, M.................................. .......... 068 00 656 00
.5424 141 Kunimoto, S.......................... .......... 623 00 612 00
5424 141 Kunimoto, S........................... .......... 1,835 00 1,802 00
2525 20 Mitsunaga, T.......................... 610 00 .599 00
2861
.5441/ 32 fMoriyama, T.........................

Miyagawa, H.........................
........ } 280 00 275 00

5428 24 Miyagawa, T.......................... .......... Mm oo 982 00
4741 107 Mori, Y.................................... .......... 2,179 00 2,140 00
4742 108 Mori, Y.................................... .......... 512 00 503 00
2861 17 Moriyama, T.......................... .......... 500 00 491 00

12875 17 Moriyama, M........................ .......... 890 00 874 00
2861 17 Moriyama, T.......................... .......... 79 00 78 00. X

15607 120 Nakamura, II........................ .......... 1,300 00 1,276 00. X
5419 408 Nakashima, T....................... .......... 820 00 805 00
2865 2 Nishiyama, K....................... .......... 2,386 00 2,343 00
5430 196 Nomura, Y............................. .......... 1,216 00 1,194 00
2883 77 Ogawa, K................................ .......... 970 00 952 00
1352 49 Oda, K..................................... .......... 1,26500 1,242 00

10220 3 Ohashi, S................................ .......... 4,526 00 4,444 00
10220 3 Ohashi, S................................ .......... 449 00 441 00
10220 3 Ohashi, S................................ .......... 297 00 292 (X)
5435 90 Okabe, D................................ .......... 2,100 00 2,062 00
5435 90 Okabe, D................................ .......... 96 00 94 00
5575 489 Okamura, M.......................... .......... 4.53 00 445 00. X
.5445 1 Okuma, Y ............................. ............ 2,677 00 2,628 00
9332 113 Onisaki, S............................................ 328 00 322 (X)
5443 45 Ohno, K............................................... 974 00 956 00
9331 30 Saito, K............................................. 1,600 00 1,571 00
28671
2705/ 86 f Saito, K .................................

Mrs. Shizu Saito...................
..........| 1,000 00 982 00

12227 220 Sakon, B................................. 4,22900 4,152 IX)
4601 80 Sakon, M............................... ............ 1,796 (X) 1,764 (X)
4601 80 Sakon, M............................... ............ 424 00 416 00

88943—31
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File No. J.L. Name Appraisal Sale Price Increased Withdrawn

133821
13587/
4616
5425
5578 
9336 
2873 
3265 
5434 
3265 
2525

Int. 1248 
Int. 713 
let. 718 
Int. 1111 
Int. 1111

2875
5579 
5579

Int. 1113

49621
6581
9320

5434 
3267 
3267 
2881 
5421 
5421 

Int. 736

5060
2857
2855
5433
6620
5437
1572
4529
2889
4963
4960
5441

2287
5445
5425
2871

.5420
13222

11525 
7008 
8654 
5993 
27631 
5992/ 

12585 
53181 
5831 

Int. 1263 
5284 
6399 
2761 
5069 
5401 
3368 
7348

Int. 131 
5481 
5431

91
142
28

135
23
26

129

76

64
121
121
34
48
78
79 
21 
22

114
25
51

47
47
88
88
83
29
29

181
184
1X4
145
145
173

94
198
168
170
119
177
179 
182 
183

1
174 
144
23
23

168
180 

7
217

56
164
153

391

188
195
374 

63
349

13
375 
148

6
6

(Sakon, M..............................
\Sakon, I................................
Sasaki. C.............................
Sato, S...................................
Sends, K..............................
Oikawa, M. N...................
Shimomura, T...................
Shimoda, K........................

fUyemura, I.........................
Shimoda, K........................
Mitsunaga, T......................
Shiono, N. (In Trust)..
Shirakawa, T.....................
Shirakawa, T.....................
Towomura, M..................
Towomura, M....................
Tashiro, G........ ..................
Tashiro, E.........................
Tatebe, K.........................
Tatebe, K..........................
Tateyama, S....................
Tsuji, K................................

fTsuji, T.................................
(Tsuji, S.................................
Vmetsu, K. (In Trust).
Vyemura, I.........................
Uyemura, I.......................
Watanabe, Y....................
Watanabe, Y....................
Yako, T...............................
Yanoshita, T......................
Yanoshita, T...................
Aoki, V...............................
Aoki, K..............................
Aoki, K. ..........................
Hattori. S............................
Hattori, M........................
Hayashi, T.........................
Hayaahi, K........................
Ikebuchi, T......................
ho, Y..................................
Kimura, 1..........................
Kinoshita, A....................
Kodama, T.........................
Matsushita, J...................
Miyagawa, H...................
Nakashima, U..................
Okumura, S........................
Okuma, Y.........................
Sato, S................................
Shigehiro, K......................
Shikaze, K........................
Shikaze, K. .........
Takamoto,' S.....................
Yahiro, Kin .................
Abe. M..............................
Aomoto, I..........................
Arinobu, H..........................
Arinobu, M.........................

/Ariza, E. 
Ariza, M.
Fuiii, Y.
Fujita, H............. .......

■: Nuknno. R........................
Iwato, S.............................
Otani, K............................

' Otani, Y
Fujita, Y.......................
l'ujino, S..................
Fujishige, T......................
F'ujiwara, T......................
Fukuda, T.........................
Fukunaga. S ...............
Furuya, M. & Co. Ltd.
Furukawa, G...................
Furukawn, G...................

$ cts.

514 00
763 00 
715 00 

1,775 00 
1,622 00 
1,190 00 

775 00

492 00

$ cts. 

505 00 
749 00 
702 00 

1,743 00 
1,593 00 
1,168 00 

761 00

483 00

$ cts.

577 00 567 00
450 00 442 00

1,422 00 1,396 00
600 00 589 00
539 00 529 00

1,600 00 1,571 00...................... X
499 00 490 00

1,100 00 1,080 00
760 00 746 00
565 00 555 00
800 00 786 00 402 60
460 00 452 00.....................

1,861 00 1,827 00
1,325 00 1,301 00

260 00 255 00
1,200 00 1,178 00

235 00 231 00
360 00 353 00

1,850 00 1,817 00 278 00
555 00 545 00.....................
195 00 191 00
8S5 00 869 00
188 00 185 00

1,377 00 1,352 00.....................
110 00 108 00
793 00 779 00 353 00
368 00 361 00.....................
615 00 604 00
850 00 835 (10

1,420 00 1,394 00
880 00 864 00
880 00 864 00

91 (XI 89 00
340 (X) 334 00

2,19000 2,15000
299 00 294 (X)
240 00 236 00
130 00 128 00

1,1511X1 1,13000
1,875 00 1,841 00.....................

552 00 542 00
225 (HI 221 00

1,785 00 1,7.53 00 288 00
1,831 00 1.798 (X)
1,885 00 1.851 00

612 00 601 00.....................
1,593 00 1,564 00
1,509 00 1,482 00
1,21800 1,19600

x

2,808 00 2,757 00

729 00 716 00
1,094 0(1 1,074 (X)
1,537 (XI 1.509 (XI
1,15500 1,13400.................... x

264 (X) 259 00
1,000 00 982 (XI   X

25 00 25 00 ................. x
521 (HI 512 (X) ..................... x

1,400 00 1,375 00
731 00 718 00

K K
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File No. J.L. Name Appraisal Sale Price Increased Withdrawn

7346
4230
2281
4820
2860
7376

Int.

6930
6930
6930

564
6659
93741

767/
4620
7000 
7001/ 
4833 
4846 

Int. 1621 
8794/ 
8662 
5403 
5403 
5403
73521 

Int. 1437 
Int. 1302 

7353 
Int. 402 

6988 
6996 
69331 
6929- 
7378, 
6995 
8823 
9379 
6990 
6983 
3413 

736 
3415 
7349 
80591 

13606/ 
12278 
87911 

14172/ 
8796 
8667 
5281 
7342 
8670 
9386 
4981 

11970 
8790 
2759 
2885 
8272 
83081 
8673/ 
5283 
69811 
6980- 
6982; 
3425i 
2924/ 
6994 
6987/ 
7362, 
9351 / 
7361 : 
7360/ 
9587

12
98

313 
321

16
61

151
151
151
128
106
156
288
213
211
192
361
150
105
137
137

54

682
683
314 
216

345

254
366
390
309
310 
376
358
359 
35

289
684 
342
353
149
187
194
68

154
127
138 
3.50
175 
166 
246
279
263

176

348

176

73

74 
55

Furukawa, K........
Furuse, K...............
Go, T......................
Goryo, Y...............
Goto, G........,........
Gyotoku. V..........
Hamaura, S............
Hamaura, S............
Hamaura, S............
Hara, K. ..............
Hayami, M...........

,'IUdaka. T..............
{Hidaka. K.............
Hiramatsu, T.........

fHirowatari, H.
(Hirowatari, T........
Hisanaga, M.........
Hisanaga, II....

/Hori, G....................
iHori, S.....................
Horiuchi, Y............
Hosaki, S.................
Hosaki, S.................
Hosaki, S.................

'Hoyano. T..............
Yamasaki, K.........
Okasaki, I...............
Hoyaho (Mrs.) Y.
Ichikawa, H...........
Ikeda, K..............
Imada, K..............
Imada, T.................
Imada, K...............
Imada, T.................
Imada, Y............
Iinuma, T................
Inouye, Y................
Isoshima, T............
Isoshima, Y..........
Itaya, W. .............
Iwamoto, T............
Iwamoto, S.............
Iwase, T...................

IKajuira, H..............
(Kajuira, D............
Kanzaki, T............

/ Kato, K..................
(Sato, S....................
Kato, S.. ..........
Katsuno, C............
Kawashima, A.. . 
Kawamoto, M....
Kawamoto, S.......
Kido, K.................
Kido, S...................
Kika, T..................
Kobayashi, K....
Koga, S..................
Koga, T..................
Kobara, C.............

JKohy, T. Mrs.. .
Kohy, Y................
Kojima, I..............

( Kosaka, J..............
( Kosaka, T.............
{Kosaka, M...........

Kosaka, K............

Kosaka, M.............
Kosaka, M............

lKosaka, K. 
/Kumamoto, H. .. 
i Kumamoto, T.... 
/Kumamoto, K . 
(Kumamoto, T.... 
Kusano, K............

$ cts. 
1,700 00 

170 00 
257 00 
531 00 
6.54 00 

1,127 00 
47 00 
96 00 

202 00 
836 00 

1,147 00
292 00
203 00 

1,680 00 
1,680 00 

924 00 
150 00
350 00
878 00 

3,170 00 
285 00 
744 00

940 00

3,635 00 
2,760 00 
1,986 00 
3,038 00

392 00

1,350 00 
252 00 
Nil 
866 00 

2,269 00 
501 00 
366 00 
771 00 

1,305 90
1,660 00 
3,728 00 

49 00
552 00 

1,870 00 
627 00 
270 00 

1,770 00 
1,000 00 
1,196 00 

504 00 
281 00 

1,516 00 
1,434 00 

684 00
1,558 00 
1,571 00

3,145 00

496 00 

418 00 

1,482 00

701 00 
430 00

$ cts. $ cts. 
1,669 00 

167 00
252 00 ......................
522 00 
642 00 

1,106 00 
46 00 
94 00

198 00
821 00 ......................

1,126 00
287 00
199 00 

1,6.50 00 
1,650 00

907 00 
147 00
344 00
862 00 

3,113 00 
280 00 
731 00

923 00

3,569 00 
2,710 00 
1.950 00 
2,983 00

385 00

1,326 00 
248 00
Nil ......................
850 00 

2,228 00 
492 00 
359 00 
757 00 

1,281 00
1,630 00 
3,661 00 

48 00
.542 00 

1,836 00 
616 00 
265 00 

1,738 00 
982 00 

1,174 00
495 00 ......................
276 00 

1,489 90 
1,408 00 

672 00
1,530 00 
1,543 00

3,088 00

487 00 

410 00 

1,455 00

688 00 
422 00

X

X

X

X
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File No. J.L. Name Appraisal Sale Price Increased Withdrawn

9587
9588 
4652 
7004 
5282 
20011 
2633,' 
8674 
8677 
5285 
5402

3445
4836 
48311 
4830) 
2757 
34011 
3403/ 
8797 
3360 
6986 
6984 
7366 
86801 
8682/ 
7351 
7351 
3409 
3409 
7375

Int. 201 
47961 
4832 
69771 
6972/ 

12001

69281

7368

5974

7377
7364

10*57
13949/

1927
5821
8047
3955
28391
2843/
8685
8689
86871
8688/
5230
8802
59721
8676/

4837 
48381 
4841 
6008 
86921 
8665 
4222 
2837 
5278 
69741 
6970/

55
161
162
287
285
199
209 
686 
261 
284

36
346
270
264
210 
320
130
130
290
286 
248
193
42
42

3.54
354

71
363
157

307
256

69
322

66

43 
43

Kuaano, K..............
Maehara, K...........
Maehara, M...........
Makino, M.............
Matsume, T...........

/Matsuo, K..............
i Matsuo, S...............
Matsuoka, T..........
Miyasaki, M..........
Matsunic, I.............
Mataumoto, Y....
Mende, S.................
Miki, Y...................
Mishima, T...........

/Miyake, T ..........
/Miyake. N.............
Mitani, H .........

/ M iyanaga, Y 
\M iyanaga, Mrs, K 
Morishige, F 
Nishikawa, S. 
Mochixuki, N....
Mochizuki, S.........
Morikawa, K

(Morikawa, M........
\Morikawa, F.........
Mukai, O...................
Mukai, 0.................
Mukaida, K...........
Mukaida, K...........
Mukuda, N............
Naheta. M 

INabuto, 1’. Mrs.
Nabuto, K.............
Yoshihara, I..........
Yoshihara, R
Nagao, M...............
Nakahara, H 

/Nakamura, M . 
(Nakamura, H .
Nakano, A.............
Nakano, A.............
Nakano, J...............
Nakano, J...............

}

1
}

}

}

57
67
41

281
274

352
65

247
318
277
317
367
341
308

24’
283

11
305
95

186
255
243

Nakano, S 
Nakano, Y 
Nakata, Y. .. 

fNamba, A.... 
\Namba, S.... 
Namba, M . 
Nikaido, M 
Natsuhara, K 
Nishimoto, K 

/Odaguchi, F. 
(Odaguchi, E.. 
Odamura, T 
Odamura, T.. 

/Odamura, T 
(Odamura, N..
Ogawa, S........
Ogawa, Y . 

/Ohta, Y .... 
\Miyamota, S. 
(like, K.
Oka, S.............

/Oka, T . . 
(Oka, M 
Okabe, K. ... 

fOkada, T 
\Karatsu, N 
Okahashi, M 
tlkano, K 
Okano, M

/Oki, 11.............
(Oki, T..............

}

}

:}

j
}

}

}

$ cts. 
2,241 00 

500 00 
1,110 00 
1,300 00 
1,100 00

755 00 
1,443 00 
3,345 00 

484 00 
419 00 
131 00 
939 00 

1,000 00
402 00 
997 00 
765 00 
503 00 
722 00 

2,258 00 
2,074 00 
3,156 00

1,577 00 
2,384 00 

590 00 
2,558 00 

237 00 
894 00 
212 00
466 00

1,000 00 
1,728 00 
2,405 00
2,187 00
1,000 00 

818 00 
2,913 00 
Included

770 00 
1,249 00 

572 00
2,482 00 

207 00 
644 00 

2,363 00 
250 00

598 00
2,955 00 

47 00
304 00 
53 00 

1,343 00
1,050 00 
3,454 00 
1,300 00
1,900 00 
1,139 00 
1,051 00 

133 00 
2,404 00 

210 00
1,579 00

$ cts. $ cts.
2,200 00........................

491 00 
1,090 00 
1,276 00 
1,080 00

741 00
1,417 00 
3,284 00 

475 00 
411 00 
129 00 
922 00 
982 00
395 00 
979 00 
751 00 
494 00 
709 00 

2,217 00 
2,036 00 
3,099 00

1,548 00 
2,341 00 

579 00 
2,512 00 

233 00
878 00........................
208 00

458 00........................

982 00 
1,697 00 
2,362 00
2,147 00 

982 00 
803 00 

2,560 00 
300 00

756 00 *
1,226 00 

562 00

2,437 00
203 00 
632 00 

2,320 00 
246 00
587 00 

2,902 00 
46 00

299 00 
52 00 

1,319 00
1,031 00 
3,392 00 
1,276 00
1,866 00 
1,118 00 
1,032 00

131 00.......................
2,360 00 

206 00
1,551 00

X

X
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File No. J.L.

6970 219
4980 357
8699 4
8698 5
2835 163
9214 115
2543 212
4835 100
6991 316

10105 103
7359 59
7374 58
3419 460
7369 10

Int. 879 304
6989 214
2887 38
3370 362
2797 159

11297 129
8815 351
8703 2.58
9327 276
9401 123
9402 311
6993 282
3417 360

12276 365
Int. 1347 147

61611
8706/ 280
5453 378
1496 415

11617 185
4971 40
8710 275
8710 275
7357 15
8003 60
6409 70
9612 134
9410 133
9405 155
9405 126
8714 101
6661 1.58
6968 215
52801
5316/ 224
5279 725286/
4840 273
4840 273
4840 273
4844 272
4845 271
5287 262
5287 262
6978 241
59.58 .52
59.58 52
2925 379
4220 102
2852 152
33991 1313411/
3411 344

13554 37
9321 160
9621 132
4821 323
94161 

Int. 1414 
4842

347
189

4839 206
Int. 366 124

3366 380

Name Appraisal Sale Price Increased

Oki. T................................................
Oku bo, F...........................................
Omura, S...........................................
Omura, S...........................................
Onagi, K............................................
Mori, H. Mrs. (formerly Ooto)..
O sa to, S.............................................
Ozamoto, M......................................
Ryoji, K...........................................
Sakaki, T..........................................
Sakamoto, M...................................
Sano, S...............................................
Sawada, T.........................................
Sawayama, G..................................
Seko, S..............................................
Seo, M................................................
Seto, M.
Shigemi, T........................................
Shimizu, J.........................................
Shimoda, K......................................
Shimizu, R.......................................
Shimoji, S.........................................
Shimoji, K........................................
Shin, S. Z..........................................
Shin, Y. ....................................
Shishido, E.......................................
Shono, K...........................................
Shoji, G. Y.......................................
Sunada, T........................................

(Tada, G............................................\
ITada, T............................................J
Tahara, R.........................................
Tahara. T.........................................
Takagi, D.........................................
Takahashi, R. K............................
Takasaki, S..................................... <
Takasaki, S......................................
Takashima, T..................................
Takashima, Y.................................
Takashita, T....................................
Takeuchi, M.....................................
Takeuchi, Y.....................................
Takiguchi, H. (Mrs.).....................
Takiguchi, H...................................
Takimoto,, Y....................................
Kakumasu, S...................................
Tamura, J.........................................

(Tamura, M...................................... \
Tamura, Y...................................... /

/Tamura, M.....................................
[Tamura, T....................................... /
Tanaka, S.........................................
Tanaka, S.........................................
Tanaka, S.........................................
Tanaka, Y........................................
Tanaka, M........................................
Taniguchi, R....................................
Taniguchi, R....................................
Tateishie, T.....................................
Tazumi, A........................................
Tazumi, A........................................
Tokuyasu, Y....................................
Teramura, N....................................
Tomita, M........................................
Ikeda. Y........................................... i
Tsujita, T.........................................;
Tsujita, T.........................................
Tsujiura, T.......................................
Tusuyuki, I......................................
Uchimaru, I.....................................
Uchimaru, K...................................
Umetsu, K...................................... )

Umetsu, T................................. j
Ura, I..............................................
Utsonomiya, G...............................
Uyeno, H......................................
Wada, K...........................................

$ cts. $ cts. S cts.
48 00 47 00

94 7 00 930 00
600 00 589 00

3,010 00 2,955 00
750 00 736 00
330 00 324 00

1,812 00 1,779 00
995 00 977 00

1,405 00 1,380 00
100 00 98 00
268 00 263 00

2,145 00 2,106 00
986 00 968 00
847 00 832 00

1,324 00 1,300 00
363 00 356 00

1,415 00 1,389 00
901 00 885 00

2,028 00 1,991 00
507 00 498 00 ..
276 00 271 00
918 00 901 00
900 00 884 00

1,861 00 1,827 00 227 00
752 00 738 00

1,000 00 982 00
699 00 686 00

1.305 00 1,281 00 123 28
96 00 95 00

505 00 496 00
1,260 00 1,237 00

102 00 100 00
525 00 516 00

1,116 00 1,096 00 84 00
1,200 00 1,178 00

260 00 255 00
1,300 00 1,277 00

240 00 236 00
2,184 00 2,145 00

468 00 460 00
833 00 818 00
495 00 486 00
179 00 176 00
Nil Nil

274 00 269 00
2,161 00 2,122 00
2,130 00 2,091 00

676 00 664 00
750 00 736 00
522 00 513 00 .

1,797 00 1,765 00
1,125 00 1,105 00

196 00 192 (XI
2,572 00 2,525 00

90 00 94 (XI
295 00 290 00

1,200 00 1,178 (X)
175 00 172 00
388 00 381 00
930 00 913 00

1,012 00 994 00
488 00 479 00
605 00 594 00
336 00 330 00 .
434 00 426 00

1,219 00 1,197 00
174 00 171 00

1,088 00 1,068 00 .
1,265 00 1,242 00
1,750 (XJ 1,718 00

563 00 553 00
293 00 288 00

Withdrawn

X

X

X

X

X



e No.

4823
13057
5451
.54511
3405/
6660
7371
7371
7370

11243
8716
8717
6992

12228
6663
6664
6662
6976
8719
8721
5288
6975
6972
7383
1357

10660
7373
376

5995
5994
9364
3941
5989
5990
6685
5988
4965
5977

13930
13930
4988
4498
4618
4528
5983

305
4619

13387
5981
86521
3961/
4530
5979
6624
8675
4524
3945
4506
7366
4990
5976
3957
3955
4512
4512
44961
1268/
4226
7832
3949
4991
9310
5577
5964
7038

STANDIXG COMMITTEE

J.L.

392
97

356
253

44
44
62

207
278
139
315

165
218
291
312

190 
164 
691
99

257
9
8

231
228

244 
227 
202 
266 
743

18
191 
678
678 
295

112
301
340

200
265
245
252
269

203
238
679 
251 
225
248 
294 
233 
298

65
267
267
237
239

249 
300 
260 
222 
223 
174
204

Name Appraisal Sale Price Increased Withdrawn

Wakahara, S....................................
Wakayama, K.................................
Yakashiro, T...................................

fYakashiro, T................................ 1
\Taniguchi, K................................. /
Y'amaga, Y......................................
Y'amamoto, K................................
Y'amamoto, K.................................
Yamamoto, R.................................
Y'amamoto, T. now Taku, T.......
Yamamoto, U.................................
Y'amasaki, N...................................

/Yamasaki, G..............................
Yoshizaki, Yr..............................

j Y'okoyama, A............................
\Yokoyama, T............................

Yokoyama, T..................................
Yoneyama, 11..................................
Yoshida, G.......................................
Yoshida, M......................................
Yoshida, Y.......................................
Y’oshida, E.......................................
Yoshihara, R...................................
Yoshikawa, S..................................
Y’oshino, K.......................................
Y'oshioka, A.....................................
Y'oshioka. K....................................
Aratake, S........................................
Adachi, Y.........................................
Amano, S..........................................
Endo, T.............................................
Eto, S................................................
F’ugikawa, S.....................................
Fujikawa, G....................................
Manda, M...........
Haraga, M. ..................................
Hinatsu, Y........................................
Morizaki, F......................................
Imamura, K.....................................
Imamura, K.....................................
Imamura, K....................................
Inouye, S...........................................
Kamimura, K..................................
Katsura, S........................................
Kawana, Y......................................
Kinoshita, M....................................
Kodama, S.............................................
Kunimoto, S.....................................
Kusano, A.........................................

/Maruyama, S................................. 1

Masuda, S...............................................
Matsui, K. ..................................
Matsumoto, S..................................
Matsuoka, H....................................
Miki. M.............................................
Mimura, T. J....................................
Miyasaki, S......................................
Morikawa, K...................................
Morikawa, T....................................
Murakami, H...................................
Nakamura. S. ................................
Nishimoto, K.................................
Noda, G...........................................
Noda, G...........................................

/Ogata, K..................................... 1

Oka, V. (Mrs.)...............................
Orida. 1............................................
Orida, M...........................................
Oye. C..............................................
Saito, T............................................
Sameshima, M
Sasaki, R.........................................
Sato, S..............................................
Shikaze, Y.......................................

$ cts. $ cts.
1,580 00 1,551 00
2,726 00 2,677 00
1,514 00 1,487 00
1,222 00 1,200 00
1,614 00 1,585 00

50 00 49 00
50 00 49 00

1,416 00 1,390 00
685 00 673 00

2,080 00 2,042 00
590 00 579 00
738 00 725 00

1,028 00 1,009 00
755 00 741 00

1,420 00 1,394 00
978 00 960 00

2,765 00 2,715 00
1,681 00 1,651 00
1,925 00 1,890 00
3,689 00 3,622 00
1,550 00 1,522 00
1,705 00 1,674 00
1,822 00 1.789 00
1,376 00 1.351 00

943 00 926 00
431 00 423 00
475 00 466 00

1,081 00 1,061 00
2,887 00 2,835 00
1,255 00 1,232 00

980 00 962 00
78 00 76 00

1,246 00 1.223 00
870 00 854 00

1,694 00 1,663 00
1,009 00 991 00
1,649 00 1,619 00

389 00 382 00
840 00 825 00

1.379 00 1,354 00
1,251 00 1,228 00
2,094 00 2,056 00

485 00 476 00
2,114 00 2,076 00
1,639 00 1,609 (XI
1,653 00 1,623 00

726 00 713 00
797 00 783 00

1,385 00 1,360 00
340 (XI 334 00
738 (XI 725 00

2,555 (X) 2,509 00
656 00 644 00

2,255 (X) 2,214 00
998 00 980 00

1,007 (X) 989 (X)
450 (X) 442 (XI

1,250 00 1,227 00
2,942 00 2,889 00

192 00 189 (X)
1,075 00 1,055 00
2,224 00 2,184 00.

488 00 479 00
620 00 609 (X)
663 (X) 651 (X)

2,100 (X) 2.062 IK)
792 (X) 778 00

1,892 (X) 1,858 00
3,278 (X) 3,219 00
1,555 (X) 1.527 00

390 00 382 00



PUBLIC ACCOUNTS 169

File No. J.L. Name Appraisal Sale Price Increased Withdrawn

t cts. $ cts. $ cts.
5430 204 Shikaze, Y.................................... 292 00 287 00

Int. 713\ 
4602} 121 Shirakawa, T...............................

Jnaba, M........................................
•| 1,826 00 1,793 00...................... X

5961 230 Sugiyama, K............................... 1,84900 1,816 00
4653 302 Tahara, S...................................... 726 00 713 00
4500 303 Taise, H........................................ 812 00 797 (X) .................... X
5531 292 Tajiri. K........................................ 475 00 466 00
8708 201 Takake, K.................................... 610 00 600 00
7040 324 Tanaka, T................ .................... 456 00 448 00
4.504 319 Taniyama, S................................ 921 00 940 00

14885 Tatcishi, I. (Dec’d)...................
39411 226 Eto, S............................................. A 672 00 660 00...................... X
.5000, Oka be, T....................................... J

13386 259 Tsutsum i, II................................. 2,06700 2,030 00
4502 299 Tsutsumi, M................................. 1,22600 1,204 00

14041 296 Yamada, S.................................... 2,37000 2,327 00
13385 240 Yamamoto, I ............................. 1,340 00 1.316 00
5044 268 Yamamoto, K............................. 800 00 785 00

13142 235 Yamamoto, S.............................. 1,79500 1,762 00
5582 Yanoshita, S ............................ 470 00 461 00
5953 229 Yasumatsu, K............................. 2,453 00 2,409 00

Int. 725 297 Yonemitsu, K (In U.S.A.).... 1,55500 1,527 00
3965 371 Abo, K........................................... 735 00 722 00
8052 333 Akaye, K...................................... 161 00 158 00.................... X
3333 335 Chiba. K....................................... 245 00 241 00
8653 394 Eto, B............................................ 1,136 00 1,115 00
3967 370 Eto. K............................................ 1,73200 1,701 00
3967 370 Eto, K........................................... 453 00 455 00
6642 332 Fujimoto, M................................. 1,659 00 1,629 00

Int. 12761 
7384/ 336 (Ishikawa, J...................................

vIshikawa, I...................................
Kinoshita, S.................................

•j 200 00 196 00
8640 327 1,483 00 1,456 00
3923 328 Fukumoto, K............................... 1,290 Of) 1,267 00

1022.5 330 Kamachi, O................................. 1,00000 982 00
3959 334 Kinoshita, K............................... 1,263 00 1,240 00
3959 334 Kinoshita, K............................... 50 00 49 00 .................... X

13004 326 Kinoshita, K............................... 465 00 456 00
13004 326 Kinoshita, K................................ 110 00 108 00
3921 676 Kitagawa, M................................ 2,08000 2,042 00
9053 744 Masuhara, A................................ 1,03000 1,011 00...................... X
8650 381 Mochizuki, T............................... 569 00 559 00

11.544 373 Morishita, N................................ 2,6.54 00 2,606 00
3119 339 Nagara, G..................................... 182 00 179 00
8648 406 Nako, 11........................................ 1,867 00 1,833 00

11519 329 Nishiguchi, M., Co. Ltd..........
Nishiguchi, M., Co. Ltd..........

120 00 118 00 .................... X
11519 329 660 00 048 00 .................... X
11519 329 Nishiguchi, M., Co. Ltd.......... 1,023 00 1,005 00 .................... X
3963 372 Nitta, M........................................ 1,481 00 1,4.54 00

Int. 1377 337 Oseki, N........................................ 300 00 295 00
1656 338 Oshiro, E....................................... 174 00 171 00
8981 325 Ota, U............................................ 496 00 487 00
9072 355 Ovama, S...................................... 1,833 00 1,800 00
8645 393 Sakamoto, Y............................... 750 00 736 00

11415 382 Shibata, C.................................. 607 00 596 00
3947 404 Shigehiro, O............................... 986 00 968 00
3943 369 Takaoka, H.................................. 1,312 00 1,288 00
3953 368 Takeda, F................................... 2,242 (X) 2,201 00
3953 368 Takeda, F................................... 1,173 00 1,152 00
3969 331 Yokoyama, M........................... 1,49500 1,468 (X)
7551 719 Asano,M...................................... 111 00 10!) (X)
8780 692 Fujino, B..................................... 1,021 00 1,002 00

536 005401 63 F ujishige, T................................ .546 00
4939 587 Furutani, C................................. 1,915 (X) 1,880 00
8630 652 Goto, B........................................ 589 00 578 00

Int. 1298 717 Goto, M....................................... 56 00 55 00
5612 588 Goto, T........................................ 425 00 417 00
8044 6.50 Goto, Y........................................ 23 00 23 00
8044 6.50 Goto, Y........................................ 1,567 (X) 1,539 00

13566 718 Goto, Y....................................... 598 00 587 00
4891 553 Hamanishi, S. ........................ 121 00 119 00

Int. 959 041 Hashimoto, Y............................ 46 00 45 00
4938 434 Ilikida, K................................... 3,284 (X) 3,225 fX)
5592 .590 Ibuki, M...................................... . . 2,411 00 2,367 (X)

12519 591 Ikeda, T...................................... 94 00 92 00
6897 646 Inaba, T....................................... 1,91000 1,875 00
4942 673 Inaba,Y.............................. 1,285 00 1,262 00
4931 674 Kamada, T................................. 1,728 00 1,697 00
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File No. J.L. Name Appraisal Sale Price Increased Withdrawn

7545
8633 

13763
8643
6895
86211
6183,
8640
5591

80511

4.588
8632
4948
5613
3377
5590
8639
16541
5127'
8617 

10352
8626
5125
7544
8631

5598
8638
8635 

Int. 190
4944

4945

56021 
55571 

11499 
7540 
8625 
4893 
8620 
1894
8634 
8623 
5148
8636 
9518 
9.518 
9518
8618 
1718 
49261 
4889, 
.5421
4928 
8642 
5606 
7531 
3839

13800
4929 
6893 
7882 
9831

10034
4938
3841
4890
49401
4941/

10036
3912
3912

$ cts. $ cts. $ cts.
439
663
693 
716
647
648
694 
MS
664

593

640
6.51
608
635
715
666
594
634
595 
714 
632 
606
596 
631
667 
607
695
668 
712
669 
552
670 
670
598
633
713
599 
630 
711 
601 
675
671 
628 
710
600 
600 
600
672 
629
602

29
709

402
437
445
397
568
485
621

589
434
477
547
572
906
413
413

Katsumi, K..................
Kawata, T....................
Koizumi, Y. (Dec’d.)
Maruyama, T...............
Miyazaki, S..................

fMukai, Y.......................
\Mukai, K.......................
Naga, H. ..................
Nagamori, M...............
Nagasaka, K...............

/Nishiyama, T..............
■ Nishiyama, M.............
/Nishiyama, Y..............
Note, K.........................
Oikawa, E.....................
Oikawa, H....................
Oikawa, T.....................
Oikawa, U.....................
Okabe, K......................

(Onotera, H....................
/Onotera, T....................
Otsuki, N......................
Oyakawa, T.................
Sakai, S.........................
Sakurai, S......................
Sakurai, S....................
Sano,N..........................
Saruwatari, H..............
Sato, K..........................
Sasaki, K......................
Sato, M..........................
Shudo, S........................
Sugawara, U.................
Sumioka, T...................
Suzuki, G.......................
Suzuki, K......................
Suzuki, K......................

/Suzuki, S........................
/Suzuki, J........................
Suzuki, T.......................
Suzuki, G......................
Tagushi, K...................
Takahashi, K..............
Takahashi, S...............
Taka ta, 11. Y..............
Takahashi, T...............
Takayama, Y..............
Takahashi, S................
Takenaka, S.................
Tamaki, F.....................
Tamaki, F....................
Tamaki, F.....................
Uno, A............................
Ura, T............................

fWakai, S........................
\VVakai, ('.......................
Yanoshita, T................
Yukawa, Y...................
Yukawa, Y. ................
Enta, T..........................
Fujii, Y..........................
Fujiki, 11.......................
Fujinami, S...................
Fukunaga, G.................
Fukushima, T..............
Hase be, Y.....................
Hashimoto, N.............
Higa, K.........................
Hikida, K. .
Hirasawa, T.................
llirose, A.......................

fllirose, T.......................
\Hirose, O.......................

Honda, G......................
Iloshiko, T...................
Hoshiko, T...................

}

}

}

)

}

56 00 
1,836 00 
1,720 00 
1,045 00 

613 00
780 00

1,380 00 
1,610 00 
2,066 00

2,634 00

269 00 
240 00 
183 00 
144 00 

1,601 00 
1,963 00

626 00
5,533 00 
2,845 00 
1,206 00 

190 00 
474 00 

1,775 00 
1,241 00 
2,337 00 

652 00 
524 00 
447 00 

47 00 
926 00 
285 00 

1,394 90 
384 00
418 00

1,967 00 
116,00 
376 00 
242 00 
791 00 
681 00 

1,013 00 
1,287 00 

948 00 
1,042 00 
2,057 00 

269 00 
94 (X) 

1,908 00 
148 00

1,786 00 
45 00 

1,011 00 
1,380 00 
1,459 00 

606 00 
683 00 
42 00 

445 IX) 
1,112 00 

53 00 
222 00 

2,115 IX) 
1,476 00 
2,421 00 

36 00 
621 00
575 00 

1,476 (XI 
55 00

55 00 
1,803 00
1,689 00 ....................
1,026 00 

602 00
766 00

1,355 00 
1,581 00 
2,029 00

2,586 00

264 00 
236 00 
180 00 
141 00 

1,572 00 
1,927 00

615 00
5.433 00 
2,793 00 
1,184 00

187 00 
465 00 

1,743 00 
1,219 00 
2,295 00 

640 00 
514 00
439 00 ....................

46 00 
909 00 
280 00 

1,369 00 
377 00
410 00

1,931 00 
114 00 
369 00 
238 00 
777 00 
669 00 
995 00 

1,264 00 
931 00 

1,023 00 
2.020 00 

264 00 
92 IX)

1,873 00 97 00
145 00

1,754 00
44 00 

993 00 
1,355 00
1.433 00 

595 00
671 00 .....................

41 00 
437 IX)

1,092 00
52 00 .....................

218 00 
2,077 00 
1,449 00 
2,377 00 

35 00
610 00
565 00 

1,449 00 
54 00



B No.

3885
6775
6906
5080
4979
8788

10039
3875
4240
4242
6894

13495
4935

11862
7545
6916

7991
1249,
3845
6910
7558
3851
3851
6892
3877
3881
7719
6903
4236i
3873,
7532
6904
3847
3847
6899

13433
10203
6366
9602
7041
3320
8555
4943
4936
1652
8980
1186
1186
3628
5615
3769
8982
4626
7528
6902
3835
3887
7536
3918
7.538
2298
6908
1.506
3891
3914

14856
14856
3879
8782
4937
3853
906

8780
4930

10156
7424

PUBLIC ACCOUNTS 171#

J.L. Name

436 Ikeda, G...............................................
440 Imahashi, I.........................................
471 Imahashi, T........................................
441 Imamasu, H. Y.................................
433 Inokuchi, Y.........................................
653 Inouye, Z..............................................
638 Ioki, H.................................................
401 Ito, G.....................................................
399 Ito, K...................................................
398 Ito, S......................................................
443 Kado, S................................................
444 Kado, S................................................
438 Kanai, F...............................................
494 Kato, T................................................
439 Katsumi, K........................................
414 Kimura, T...........................................
RV7 [Kimura, S............................................\
M7 \Imahori, K......................................... j
442 Kosugi, U............................................
468 Kubodera, Y......................................
499 Kurahara, C........................................
478 Kurio, K...............................................
478 Kurio, K...............................................
403 Maeno, K..............................................
448 Maruno, T............................................
745 Mori, S..................................................
569 Morimoto, S........................................
644 Morioka, K..........................................
c7R IMototsune, K..................................... \
0,0 Mototeune, T....................................../
461 Naganobu, C......................................
643 Nakamura, H....................................
432 Nakamura, J.......................................
432 Nakamura, J.......................................
475 Nakamura, S....................................
546 Nakano, S. S.......................................
329 Nishiguchi, M.....................................
573 Nishihata, J........................................
498 Nishioka, S..........................................
574 Nobuhara, Z......................................
579 Obana, E...............................•............
578 Obana, K.............................................
508 Ohori, M...............................................
446 Ohori, Y..............................................
577 Onishi, E..............................................
487 Onishi, T.............................................
400 Ono, S...................................................
405 Ono, S....................................................
482 Onodera, K..........................................
469 Osaka, G.............................................
470 Otani, T...............................................
450 Otsuki, S.............................................
450A Otsuki, T.............................................
449 Hiujin, M.............................................
583 Sano, S...................................................
506 Sassa, T................................................
482 Sa to, A.................................................
476 Sato, T.................................................
412 Shigehiro, S......................................
597 Shimamoto, T...........................
488 Shinmoto, S.......................................
483 Shinohara, K.....................................
486 Shintani, N.........................................
571 Sunada, N.........................................
545 Takahashi, M....................................
447 Tamaki, K.........................................
447 Tamaki, K.........................................
642 Tanaka, G.........................................
636 Tanizaki, M.......................................
740 Tashima, H.......................................
575 Tomita, H. (In trust).....................
481 Tsuchida, S.......................................
680 Tsuchimoto, Y...................................
480 Tsukishima, H...................................
581 Tsumura, A.............
462 Tsumura, C.......................................

Appraisal Sale Price Increased
t cte. % cts. $ cts.

308 00 302 00
2,026 00 1,989 00
3,693 00 3,626 00

376 00 369 00
1,650 00 1,620 00
3,980 00 3,908 00

679 00 667 (XI
1,041 00 1,022 00

228 00 224 00
3,777 00 3,709 00
1,101 00 1,081 00

382 00 375 00 .
3,750 00 3,682 00

296 00 291 00
617 00 606 00
225 00 221 00
472 00 463 00

1,060 00 1,041 00
1,430 00 1,404 00

502 00 493 00
95 00 93 00

799 00 785 00
1,870 00 1,836 00
1,325 00 1,301 00

661 00 649 00
550 00 540 00

3,373 00 3,312 00
387 00 380 00

1,159 00 1,138 00
2,992 00 2,938 00

260 00 255 00 80 00
245 00 241 00

1,600 00 1,571 00
299 00 294 00

3,822 00 3,753 00
757 00 743 00

3,513 (X) 3,449 00
821 00 806 00
1.50 00 147 00
525 00 516 00

1,994 00 1,958 (XI
214 00 210 00
225 00 221 00

1,045 00 1,026 00
1,114 (X) 1,094 00
1,357 00 1,232 00
1,060 (XI 1,041 00

178 00 175 00
2.50 00 246 00

3,346 00 3,286 00
069 00 657 IX)
737 00 724 00

1,618 (XI 1,589 00
800 00 785 00

1,278 00 1,255 00
3,579 00 3,514 00
1,114 00 1,094 00

418 00 411 00
1,064 00 1,045 00
1,587 00 1,558 00

346 (X) 340 00
1,314 00 1,290 00

565 00 555 00
.50 00 49 00
32 (XI 42 00

6.50 00 638 00
1,000 00 982 (X)
1,342 (X) 1,318 00
1,402 00 1.377 (X)
1,194 (X) 1,173 00

525 00 515 00
816 00 801 00
143 00 140 00

1,641 00 1,611 00

Withdrawn

x

X X
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le No. J.L. Name Appraisal Sale Price Increased Withdrawn

S cts. $ cts. $ cts.
5614 544 Ujiye, F.............................................. 824 00 809 00
3837 507 Ujiye, S ........................................... 179 00 176 00
8781 510 Vrano, S............................................. 1,611 00 1,582 00
6900 540 Watanabe, T...................................... 1,488 00 1,461 00

11116 472 Watanabe, U...................................... 3,037 00 2,982 00
7527 463 Yamasaki. S...................................... 116 00 114 00
7527 463 Yamasaki. S..................................... 691 00 678 00 ................... X
5447 570 Yamashita, M................................... 1,617 00 1,588 00
3889 484 Yasui, S............................................... 691 00 678 00

12336 479 Yoshioka, Y...................................... 270 00 265 00
3783 422 Fujii, H............................................... 750 00 736 00 64 00
3783 422 Fujii, H............................................... 1,741 00 1,710 00 140 34
3362 396 Ilinatsu, K......................................... 2,492 00 2,447 00
4004 429 Hirashima, Y................................... 892 00 876 00

10465 428 Hosaka, C.......................................... 985 00 967 00
7363 424 1 to, M ............................... 373 00 366 00

10657 453 Kaita, K............................................. 241 00 237 00
3765 464 Kaita, S ........................................... 778 00 764 00
8664 431 Kaita, T 1,200 00 1,178 00
8664 431 Kaita, T............................................. 284 00 279 00
4218 455 Kamiya, .1.......................................... 1,024 00 1,005 00
3830 430 Katsumoto, J.................................... 775 00 761 00
4603 417 Kishiyama, K................................. 700 00 687 00

10987 420 Kitagawa, S....................................... 614 00 603 HO X
4216 4.54 Kobayashi, S.................................. 727 00 714 00
4206 423 M inaki, K ....................................... 800 (X) 785 00
7380 388 Miyada, Y......................................... 883 (X) 867 00
8679 419 Mori, K............................................... 1.465 (K) 1,439 00
7281 383 Nagamatsu, D.................................. 2,723 00 2,674 00
8684 421 Nagamatsu, G.................................. 775 00 761 00
1540 427 Nagamatsu, N.................................. 550 00 .540 (X) X
7379 418 Nagamatsu, S................................... 93 IX) 91 00
1482 426 Nagamatsu, T 1,224 (X) 1,202 00
4202 384 Nishizawa, U.................................... 600 (X) 589 00
4200 411 Nishiziki, T....................................... 809 00 794 00
4198 416

395
> 459

Osaki, K ............................... 852 00 837 (X)
1720 Osiit.o F. S....................................... 838 00

1,16300
823 00

4249) fSait.o, S ........................................... ) 1,142 004247J iSaito, T.............................................j
8273 387 Saito, S............................................. 775 00 761 00
5969 385 Sakamoto, K................................... 2,089 00 2,051 00
4235 425 Suzuki. S............................................. 1,238 00 1,216 00
4235 425 Suzuki, S.............................................

Tatsumi, S..........................................
363 00 356 00

4233 410 850 00 835 00
4231 f 457 .fTeramura, C.................................... 422 00 414 00 114 0036631 Teramura, K...................................
4209 458 Umemoto, Y'..................................... 83 IX) 82 00
5002 677 Yamada. K. 3,001 (X) 2.947 00
5005 456 Yamada. Y........................................ 421 00 413 00
5004 389 Yamasaki, I..................................... 790 (X) 775 00

10835 557 Doi, T................................................ 1,800 00 1,767 00
3293 474 Ebata, G........................................... 3,100 00 3.004 00

741 732 Fujino. M.......................................... 80 (X) 79 00
3319 733 Fukushima, J................................... 2,066 00 2,029 00

12136 528 Furukawa, S...................................... 1,009 IX) 982 00
1396 525 llamamoto, U.................................. 1,3.50 00 1,326 (K)................. X
6643 734 H am aura, M...................................... 2,081 (X) 2,043 00

12252 533 llashimoto. Y.................................. 700 IX) 687 00
3385 519 Hayashi, K......................................... 600 00 589 00
4967 515 Hayashi, K........................................ 1,998 00 1,962 00
4970 566 Hikida, M. 1,80000 1,767 00
4973 561 Hikida, T........................................... 1.198 00 1,176 00
3308’
1467
2915 ' 703 1| Shivakawa, K.................................. ! 355 00 349 00
7039 1 Takahashi, G.................................. '
33081 1 Hikida, Y......................................... 1

. 14011 
112751

> 491 | Yoshida, S....................................... 1
Koshiba, T.......................................1 3,828 00 3,759 00..................... X

7039 [Takahashi, G.................................. '
3308 j Hikida, Y......................................... )

. 1401 
112751

1 491 1' Yoshida, S........................................
i Koshiba. T....................................... i

- 1,006 00 988 00...................... X

7039 [Takahashi, G.................................. J
1,681 003429 620 Hirata, 1............................................. 1,712 (X)

1755 562 Hi rose, T............................................ 201 00 197 00
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File No. J.L. Name Appraisal Sale Price Increased Withdrawn

6646 
1444 
4972 
160S 
5552 
2304 

691 
17861 
1758; 
9943 
1785' 
5133 

Int. 484 
5448 
2296 
4976 
45851 

10056 
14369 
49691 
49751 
4489j 
7294 
3465 
3917 

661 
661 

13720 
689 

9062 
5.551 

11009 
9208 
9208 
4966 
3919 
4997 
39191 
3859/ 
5156 
4968 
4968 

13542 
8837 
8837 
8837 
62251 
4586’ 
5408 
5408 

13808; 
1516/ 
5963 
1512 
5571 
1739 
17431 
699/ 

4608 
9861 
5457 

12885 
6684 

11164 
11929 
13499 
3389 
4974 
4964 
6095/ 
4229 
1733 

» 4593
Int. 1401 
Int. 1401 
Int. 722 

2315/

735 
493
524
736 
543
548 
555
707

473
565
517
737 
505 
527
5-56
514

605

662
738
549 
.536
536
537 
645 
656 
559
518 
564 
564 
.541
525
534
522
542
535 
535 
539

612
612
526
503
509
500
504
497
5.58
516
529
551
661
.501
532
550
530 
502 
521 
739 
538
513
531 
600 
660 
492 
492
520

Hommura, K. 
Nakamura, G. 
Kawabata, B. 
Kawamoto, C. 
Kawase, T.. 
Kobayashi, K
Kochi, Y..........
Komori, H.. .
Komori, F.......
Komori, M.
Komori, T.......
Konishi, I.......
Koyanagi, R.. 
Koyanagi. S... 
Kumagai, S.. 
Matsuba, S. .. 
Miyamoto, M. 
Miyamoto, H. 
Mineoka, T....
Mori, M......................

■ Mori, K......................
Mori, S........................
Mori, T.......................
Motomura, K...........
Murakami, A............
Murakami. I............
Murakami, I.............
Murakami, K...........
Myzuguchi, D..........
Nakade, S...............
Nakane, M................
Naruse, H. K...........
Nishida, M................
Nishida, M................
Nishii, K...................
Nishi, S......................
Nishi.S.....................

/Nishi, S......................
/Nishi, H....................
Nishii, T...................
Okamoto, H.............
Okamoto, H.............
Okimi, N...............
River Fish Co. Ltd. 
River Fish Co. Ltd. 
River Fish Co. Ltd.

/Sakiyama, F.............
\Sakiyama, K...........
Sasaki, C...................
Sasaki, G.C.............

/Sasaki, S....................
; Sasaki, T...................
Sasaki, S....................
Sato, I........................
Shiho, S.....................
Shimano, K..............

(Shimano, 8............
1 Shimano, M..........
Shoji, T......................
Saimoto, Y...............
Suda, K.....................
Suzuki, Y.................
Taguchi, K...............
Takahashi, F...........
Takeda, II...............
Teranishi, F..........
Teshima, N..............
Yamamoto, Y.........

J Yamamoto, Y.........
I Yamamoto, M.. .
Yoneda, H...........
Yonemoto, G.........
Yoshida, K...........
Yoshida, S..............
Yoshida, S..............

JYoshisaki, Y........
\Isomura, T..............

}

}

}

}

}

$ cts. $ cts.
133 00 131 00

1,000 00 982 00
1,200 00 1,178 00

137 00 134 00
10,568 00 10,377 00
3,100 00 3,044 00

500 00 491 00
1,779 00 1,747 00.

3,419 00 3,357 00
2,650 00 00

258 00 253 00
84 00 82 00

1,793 00 1,761 00
1,105 00 1,085 00

675 00 663 00
2,026 00 1,989 00

2,350 00 2,307 00

80 00 79 00
80 00 79 00

2.945 00 2,892 00
575 00 565 00
896 00 880 00

1,407 00 1,382 00
80 00 79 00

650 00 638 00.
2,776 00 2,726 00
4,1.50 00 4,075 00
1,500 00 1,473 00
1,000 00 982 00
2,125 00 2,086 00
1,500 00 1,473 00

975 00 957 00
500 00 591 00
877 00 861 00
218 00 214 00
417 00 409 00

1,100 00 1,080 00
5,142 00 5,049 00

120 00 118 00
80 00 79 00

850 00 835 00
761 00 747 00

1,135 00 1,114 00
1,589 00 1,560 00
1,391 90 1,366 00
3,033 00 2,978 00
1,100 00 1,080 00
1,912 00 1,877 00

725 00 712 00
875 00 859 00

1,640 00 1,610 00
1,268 00 1,245 00

912 00 896 00
925 00 908 00

2,695 00 2,646 00
1,032 00 1,013 00
1,062 00 1,043 00
2,076 00 2,038 00
1,927 00 1,892 00
1,920 00 1,885 00
1,300 00 1,277 00
1,500 00 1,473 (X)
1,512 00 1,485 00
2,092 00 2,054 (X)
3,875 00 3,805 00
1,570 00 1,542 00

X

X

X
X
X
X

X

X
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File No. J.L. Name Appraisal Sale Price Increased Withdrawn
$ cta. $ cts. $ cts.

9668'
11337/ 306 fTsuchihashi, G....................

\Yasuda, T.............................
..........| 1,075 00 1,056 00

10.583 236 Adachi, A.............................. ............ 7,213 00 7,083 00
Int. 1352 140 Nagamine, N....................... ............ 191 00 189 00

5419 408 Nakashima, T..................... ............ 3,829 00 3,760 00
5420 23 Shikaze, K........................... ............ 875 00 859 00 X
2312 407 Shikaze, M........................... 1,440 00 1,414 00
2877 114 Tateyama, I......................... ............ 2,867 00 2,815 00
6623 409 Yamanouchi, K.................. ............ 467 00 459 00
6623 409 Yamanouchi, K.................. ............ 1,54300 1,515 00
4647 465 Akagawa, Y......................... ............ 478 00 469 00 3,531 00

Int. 422 452 Konishi, K............................ ............ 102 00 100 00
12895 512 Kumagai, M......................... ............ 203 00 199 00
12900 511 Kumagai. .1. ............ 3,112 00 3,056 00

1626 451 Matsushita, C...................... ............ 570 00 560 00
11490 . 496 Mitsui, S.. ............................ ............ 2,457 00 2,413 00
4241 386 Sakamoto, M....................... ............ 450 00 442 00

10021 466 Takahira, S............................ ............ 1,231 00 1,209 00
1759 490 Takahira, F. R................... ............ 169 00 166 00

Int. 1342 495 Yasuzawa, S....................................... 50 00 49 00
12995 742 Hamagaki, I.......................... ............ 110 00 108 00

1596 746 Kawasaki, M......................... .......... 1710 00 697 00 . X
10873 748 Konishi, H............................. .......... 1,547 00 1,519 00
10873 748 Konishi, H.............................. .......... Nil Nil X
10875 747 Konishi, S............................... .......... 750 00 736 00 . X
10875 749 Konishi, S............................... .......... 196 00 193 00
3441 741 Yamazaki, B......................... .......... 48 00 48 00

768 . .......... 865,672 00 849,999 00 3,818 22 61,552 00
3,818 22

768 . .......... 865,672 00 853,817 22
68 .......... 62,684 00 61,552 00 . X

700 . .......... 802,988 00 792,265 22
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APPENDIX “B”
ADDITIONAL OFFER OF THE DIRECTOR, THE VETERANS’ LAND ACT, FOR THE 

PURCHASE OF 42 PARCELS OF FARM LANDS FROM THE 
CUSTODIAN OF ENEMY PROPERTY

File No. J.L. Name Appraisal Sale Price Increased Withdrawn

$ cts. $ cts. t cts.
5427 925 Ayukawa, K.......................... .......... 708 00 694 00
4611 918 Ayukawa, S............................ 1,434 00 1,405 00
54371
5333/ 921 (Ikebuchi, T ........................

Hayashi, T.............................
........ | 477 00 467 00

9781 920 Takahashi, Y........................ .......... 752 00 737 00
5.580 912 Tomomitsu, H .................... 640 00 627 00
5580 913 Tomomitsu, H...................... .......... 123 00 121 00
5581 919 Tsuji, S. T............................... .......... 350 00 343 00
3006 911 Yamada. S .................... 863 00 846 00
9340 924 Nakashima, F................... ............ 9.35 00 916 00
6909 917 Hinatsu, Y.............................. 207 00 203 00
48161
4983 916 /Ikeda, A..................................

\Ikeda, R..................................
..........| 345 00 338 00

4241 386A Sakamoto, M......................... .......... .584 00 572 00
1534 799 Morisawa, N.......................... 594 00 582 00 .................. x
5511
.5452, 759 fTamura, T..............................

Tamuka, K............................
..........| 1,127 00 1,104 00

9599 806 Nishimura, C........................ .......... 1,052 00 1,031 00
11357 804 Sakata, M............................... .......... 867 00 850 00
5201 803 Yoshida, C................... ...... 964 00 945 00
.5360 775 Nakashima, E....................... 550 00 539 00
1362 771 Nagata, K.............................. ............ 746 00 731 00
5959 902 Sumi, C................................... 1,4.54 00 1,425 00
4996 762 Kato, F. T.......................................... 1,041 00 1,020 00

Int. 1251 760 Uchiyama, T..................................... 2,148 00 2,105 00
Int. 1251 760 Uchiyama, T....................... ............ 616 00 604 00

4004 7.54 Tateishi, I.............................. ...... 1,616 00 1,.584 00
4952 

Int. 1330, 894 fKobayakawa, M.................
i Kobayakawa, H.................

..........| 1,400 00 1,372 00
3273 781 Mikada, M............................ ............ 1,576 00 1,544 00
1364 782 Murakami, K....................... ............ 1,31000 1,284 00
3277 784 Murakami, T....................... .......... 1,008 00 988 00
3277 784 Murakami, T....................... ............ 177 00 174 00
3269 780 Ito, N..................................... 989 00 969 00
3275 785 Murakami, M....................... ............ 2,39000 2,342 00
3281 795 Okano, K.............................. ........ 2,986 00 2,926 00
32811
2139/ 795 /Okano, K..............................

\Okano, M..............................
.......... | 250 00 245 00

2137 SOI Okano, J. S........................... 193 00 189 (X)
5141 794 Minamide, B........................ ............ 2,84000 2,783 00
5141
5162/ 797 JMinamide, li ......................

Minamide. M.......................
.......... | 1,516 00 1,486 00

5166 813 Nagata, K............................ ............ 3,000 00 2,940 (X)
5139 796 Sumi, K................................. ............ 1,174 00 1,150 00
5143 792 Sumi, J. K............................ ............ 1,932 00 1,893 (X)
51.58 800 Kadonaga, T........................ ............ 1,68900 1,655 00
2869 793 Sasaki, K.............................. ............ 661 00 648 00
5164 814 Konishi, K........................... 200 00 196 00

42 ............ 45.484 00 44.573 00 NIL 582 00
1 .......................................................................... 594 00 582 00

582 00
X
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MINUTES OF PROCEEDINGS
Tuesday, May 20, 1947.

The Standing Committee on Public Accounts met at 11.30 o’clock a.m., the 
Vice-Chairman, Mr. Gordon B. Isnor, presiding.

Members present: Messrs. Beaudry, Burton, Cleaver, Cockeram, Cote 
(Verdun), Cloutier, Cruickshank, Dechene, Diefenbaker, Fuming, Fournier 
(Maisonneuve-Rosemont), Gladstone, Golding, Homuth, Isnor, Jaenicke, 
Johnston, Kirk, Marshall, Rinfret, Smith (Calgary West), Stewart (Winnipeg 
North), Stuart (Charlotte), Thatcher.

In attendance: Mr. Gordon Murchison, Director, Soldier Settlement and 
Veterans’ Land Act; Dr. E. H. Coleman, C.M.G., K.C., Custodian of Enemy 
Property ; Mr. F. G. Shears, Director, Vancouver Office of the Custodian, and 
Mr. K. W. Wright, Counsel.

The Vice-Obairman presented the Third Report of the Steering Committee, 
which is as follows:

It was agreed:
1. That the next meeting of the Committee be called for today 

at 11.30 a.m.
2. That Mr. Gordon Murchison, Director, Soldier Settlement and 

Veterans’ Land Act, be heard today in connection with the purchase of 
properties in the Fraser Valley from the Custodian of Enemy Property, 
and their resale to veterans under the provisions of The Veterans’ Land 
Act.

3. That should an application to appear before the Committee be 
received from the Co-Operative Committee on Japanese Canadians a 
convenient date be arranged for their hearing.

4. That the Steering Committee recommend that no invitations to 
appear before the Committee be extended to representative organizations 
or persons until applications have been received and considered by the 
Steering Committee.

On motion of Mr. Burton, the third report of the steering committee was 
concurred in.

The Committee resumed its investigation into the administration of the 
Vancouver office of the Custodian.

Mr. Shears filed a copy of the minutes of the Advisory Committee to the 
Custodian together with a copy of the correspondence exchanged between the 
Advisory Committee, the Custodian and the Director, Soldier Settlement and 
Veterans’ Land Act, respecting the sale of 741 parcels of land.

Mr. Shears informed the Committee that certain typical individual files had 
been furnished the clerk of the Committee and were available to any member 
thereof for inspection.

Mr. Murchison was called, heard and questioned.
At 1 o’clock p.m. the Committee adjourned until Thursday, May 22, at 

11.30 o’clock a.m.
A. L. BURGESS,

Clerk of the Committee.
89213—14
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MINUTES OF EVIDENCE
House of Commons,

May 20, 1947.

The Standing Committee on Public Accounts met this day at 11.30 a.m. 
The Vice-Chairman, Mr. Gordon B. Isnor, presided.

The Vice-Chairman: Gentlemen, would you be good enough to come to 
order now, please. The first order of business is the report, from the steering 
committee, unless Mr. Burton wishes to make his correction now.

Mr. Burton : Mr. Chairman, as a member of the steering committee I wish 
to draw your attention to an error in the report of the last meeting of this 
committee. On page 148 where the acting chairman said" “I am told that the 
members of the steering committee who received copies of the report were: 
Mr. Burton, Mr. Fleming, Mr. Gibson, Mr. Marshall and Mr. Stewart.” I wish 
to draw the attention of the committee to the fact that the Mr. Stewart should 
be Mr. Stuart, the member for Charlotte not Mr. Stewart, the member for 
Winnipeg.

Mr. Fleming: Mr. Chairman, there is one other error in the minutes at 
page 118. It is in connection with the question I asked of Mr. Shears, I am 
quoting his reference to the list of 17 properties on which spot valuations had 
been taken by the custodian’s office in Vancouver, or at least the advisory 
committee. “I see of the 17 properties the offer in the case of 15 is higher 
than the appraisal and lower in only two cases”. It is quite clear from what 
follows, Mr. Chairman, there are two errors. It should read “I see of the 
17 properties the valuations by the custodian and the advisory committee in 
the case of 15 is higher than the appraisal of the Soldiers’ Settlement Board 
and lower in only two cases”.

The Vice-Chairman: Thank you Mr. Fleming. Now Mr. Burgess, would 
you be good enough to read the report of the steering committee.

(See minutes of proceedings).
The Vice-Chairman : You have heard the reading of the report of the 

steering committee of the standing committee on Public Accounts, what is your 
pleasure?

Mr. Cruickshank: Is it George Murchison or Gordon Murchison?
The Vice-Chairman: I think it would be Gordon. With that correction 

it is in order to move the adoption of the report.
Mr. Burton : I would move the adoption of the report.
Mr. Golding : I second it.
The Vice-Chairman: The report is moved by Mr. Burton and seconded 

by Mr. Golding and is presented for approval.
Carried.
Mr. Cruickshank: I would like to make a correction on the record before 

we start. It is a very minor one but on page 103 of the minutes I am reported 
as having said “Last year, we paid berry-pickers in the province of British 
Columbia as much as we received for the berries in the previous year”. It 
should be “years”.

179
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The Vice-Chairman : Thank you Mr. Cruickshank. Gentlemen, before 
we call on Mr. Murchison, I wish to inform you that Mr. Shears has tabled 
certain minutes and correspondence as requested in the meeting of May 12. 
The correspondence will be available and obtainable in the clerks office at 
any future time. There is also a considerable number of files regarding indi­
vidual cases. After Mr. Shears had consulted with the clerk and myself, I felt 
that I should have him place these before us and I was going to suggest to you 
that these be placed in the custody of the clerk for a period of a couple of 
weeks anti they will be available for any member who might wish to look 
them over. They are all individual eases which have been dealt with and are 
now closed. Would you care to make any further statement in connection 
with them Mr. Shears?

Mr. Shears: Mr. Chairman, if I might have just a minute or two before 
dealing with those files. The matter of assessment has been mentioned on 
several occasions to this committee. A committee member disagreed with my 
statement in which l said there is an assessed valuation and a valuation for 
taxation purposes. I have had that checked up both in the municipalities of 
greater Vancouver and in Vancouver and I really find my statement is correct. 
The assessment figure in ever)' case covers the full value of the poreptry at 
which the real estate and improvements is valued by the assessor. Then, 
for taxation purposes, the full value of the land is taken and then a percentage, 
usually 50 per cent, is deducted. In that connection it simply amounts to a 
higher percentage as far as the mill rate" is concerned. I would like to have it 
on the record that any time I have mentioned figures that the assessment, 
from the assessor’s point of view, covers the full value of the property. There 
is just one other thing. I was asked if other assets were being administered 
in the Vancouver office, exclusive of the property of evacuees, and I said there 
were such assets being administered. I mentioned that there were some assets 
in the hands of liquidators but I find that I did not mention the amount to 
the credit of the enemy accounts in Vancouver. For the record these are 
the approximate figures for all assets now on hand. We are holding presently 
a credit to evacuee accounts of $820,000; we hold bonds for evacuees of $250,000; 
we have a credit to enemy accounts of $1,150,000; we have bonds belonging 
to enemies of $320,000; cash in the hands of liquidators amounts to $250,000; 
bonds in the hands of liquidators amounts to $560,000; outstanding payments 
not yet due on the sale of timber limits $300,000; making an over-all total 
of $3,650,000.

Then making reference to the files which arc on the table before me I shall 
explain that I was asked to secure these various files from the Vancouver office 
in case members of the committee might like to see them and to see how the 
records are kept. There arc files in connection with eight Japanese covering 
areas in Vancouver, New Westminster, Coquitlam, and Port Alberni. There is 
a file dealing with fishing vessels and a file dealing with chattels. In this 
particular case this is a file of one Japanese. It is in seven sections. I admit 
it is large but we have hundreds of files where the individual Japanese 
correspondence and the taking care of his affairs has needed files of that size. 
Files of that nature are quite average. Then, of course, there are a few which 
arc relatively small, where the assets of the Japanese were not of very much 
consequence, that is in amount. Just for your information I would like to say 
this. These files where real estate in concerned have a section at the back in 
which the documents relative to real property are kept. For example there is 
the search of title, the search of the encumberances, and the rental agreements. 
Then- is a statement regarding taxation, the sale, and all the documents relative 
thereto. They are all filed together in that particular section of the file. Then 
I would like also to mention that in the front of the file we have what we call
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brief summaries of the complete file, using, as a matter of fact, different colours 
of paper. The white one is really a paper summary. It just gives a brief history of 
what will be found in the file relative to the administration of the property. 
That is to s.ay it includes information as to how it was sold, to whom it was 
sold, and the basis of the sale, and what happens to the funds. Then there is 
another colour where we deal with fire insurance, and the question of liability. 
This file reveals no claim against the Japanese in this particular case. There 
is what is called the personal summary in the file which covers life insurance, 
accounts receivable and any shares and so on which he may have held. The 
yellow sheet is the chattel summary, which indicates the chattels that were left 
in the district, how they were handled and how they were disposed of finally. 
I thought I would just mention that so that if you were looking at these files 
the first thing would be to look at the summary at the top of the file. I may 
say that in some cases you will find that it states the Japanese has acknowledged 
receipt of the money that has been sent to him and in fact in quite a few cases 
the Japanese have expressed entire satisfaction with what the custodian has done 
on their behalf. I will admit that is not always so but there are quite a number 
of cases where the Japanese have expressed definitely their satisfaction in regard 
to the handling of their affairs. These files came to me and were immediately 
sent over to Mr. Burgess. I have not gone any further than just to look at them 
and to see the summaries on the top. I have not studied the files at all and so 
they come to me just as they will come to you as typical files which are in use 
in the Vancouver office.

Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
The Vice-Chairman: Thank you, Mr. Shears. Perhaps, gentlemen, I should 

explain these files are here today because of an inquiry made by members of 
the steering committee so that they would be available for study if required. 
Now is it your wish gentlemen to hear Mr. Murchison now?

Mr. Fleming: Just before we go on to that, I take it Mr. Shears is going 
to be available for further questioning after we have heard from the Department 
of Veterans Affairs.

The Vice-Chairman: Yes, as Doctor Coleman stated at a recent meeting 
he will be available until the whole matter is cleared up.

Gordon Murchison, Director of the Soldiers’ Settlement Board and 
the Veterans’ Land Act, called:

The Witness: Mr. Chairman, and gentlemen, I find myself in a room this 
morning with which I am fairly familiar, although I see some newer faces around 
the table. I have many happy recollections of meetings which I attended before 
parliamentary committees in this room and I am happy indeed this morning, 
Mr. Chairman, to have this opportunity of appearing before ymir committee. 
I hope that I may be able to clear up any doubts that may be in your minds 
as to the manner in which the responsibilities and the duties of the department 
which I have the honour to head were carried out with respect to Japanese 
property. In a matter of this importance, sir, I have felt it desirable that I 
prepare a statement for presentation here this morning which I think will give 
the committee a good idea of the main background upon which the activities 
were undertaken, together with an outline of the activities as they proceeded. 
I will, therefore, with your permission, Mr. Chairman, present this statement 
to you.
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I do not know what other witnesses said to this Committee, because I was 
not present during their testimony nor have I had the time to read the records 
of your proceedings.

For these reasons it may be that some of the things I say will be largely a 
repetition of things you have already heard. But in order to present a cohesive 
outline of my association with the appraisal, the purchase and resale of lands 
formerly owned by people of the Japanese race, it is necessary for me to out­
line the background upon which these activities were undertaken.

At the time I was asked and empowered to take an inventory and carry 
out an appraisement of these Japanese lands, the coastal areas of Ë.C. were in 
a position of some peril. All over the world the war was going extremely well 
for our enemies.

In the Spring of 1942 there was considerable anxiety as a result of reports 
of Japanese activity in the North Pacific. Lieutenant-General K. Stuart, Chief 
of the General Staff, went to the Pacific coast and himself assumed the duties 
of General Officer Commanding-in-Chief Pacific Command.

The Japanese invaded the Aleutian Islands in June 1942, opening the 
offensive with air attacks on the American base at Dutch Harbour on 3rd and 4th 
June. They landed troops on the Islands of Kiska and Attu on 7th June and pro­
ceeded to set up defences and establishments there.

On 20th June shells fell on Canadian soil when an enemy submarine fired 
at the wireless station and light at Estevan Point, ancouver Island. 1 his 
naturally caused much anxiety on the west coast. In September Major-General 
G. R. Pearkes, V.C., formerly Commander of the 1st Canadian Division, 
returned from England and took over the appointment of G.O.C.-in-C. Pacific 
Command, relieving General Stuart.

During this period of danger units of the R.C.A.F. were sent forward to 
reinforce Alaska and took part in the air offensive which the United States air 
forces conducted against the Japanese in the Aleutians.

The threat to the Pacific coast was removed when L nited States forces 
recaptured Attu, after fierce fighting (May. 1943), and when a combined 1 nited 
Statcs-Canadian expedition arrived at Kiska to find that the Japanese had 
evacuated the island (15th August, 1943).

These conditions did not impress me or responsible members of my shift 
that, the spring months of 1942 was the time to take an optimistic view ot the 
value of Pacific coastal real estate, Japanese or otherwise. I venture to say 
there was no man living who could accurately forecast how long the war would 
last nor what the precise outcome would be.

If I recall correctly approximately ten months elapsed between the time 
the decision was made to evacuate the Japanese people from the defence area 
and the time the actual evacuation was completed.

I have some recollection of the difficulty in finding or providing housing foi 
these people in other parts of Canada. In the meantime it became kno\\n that 
Japanese land owners—in the certain knowledge they would be obliged to 
leave the defence area, were making emergency rentals ot their properties. 
Having regard to the uncertainty as to how long the war would last and to 
the specialized type of agriculture for which these lands were being used by 
their owners—it appeared a practical certainty that future trouble "a;- in tlu 
making if rental agreements or term sale agreements negotiated by the Japanese 
were not brought under control bv competent authority. T might mention heie 
that the British Columbia Security Commission lacked the authority to deal with 
this aspect, and the official custodian was not empowered to deal with the land 
until the owner had been actually evacuated.

I think this committee will have a better appreciation of some of the 
problems involved when I tell you that these Japanese farm properties averaged 
a little less than 14 acres in size and with an average of slightly more than o
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acres under cultivation. There were greenhouses with an aggregate of 450,216 
square feet of glass, used mainly in the production of tomatoes and cucumbers. 
There were poultry houses sufficient to accommodate 190,000 birds. There was 
a total of approximately 1,850 acres used for the production of small fruits, 
rhubarb, asparagus and hops—fully 50 per cent of this acreage was in straw­
berry plantations. Agriculture of this type requires a great deal of hand labour 
and patience, which is characteristic of the Asiatic people. But in their absence— 
it seemed highly problematic that there would be sufficient labour available 
to maintain such properties—and particularly because of the attractive rates 
of pay for labour required in war industry.

So here was another factor which indicated that caution was needed in 
appraising these properties.

Added to this was the fact that there was an annual municipal tax bill of 
approximately $40,000 to be paid regardless of who operated or occupied these 
lands and regardless of whatever revenue might be derived from rentals.

The appraisal of real estate is not an exact science. It is at best an 
expression of opinion based on factors which create or diminish dollar values. 
We did not appraise these properties from the standpoint of their potential 
speculative real estate value—or of their speculative value for sale during the 
war to persons in Canada who were participating in the financial prosperity 
produced by a state of war. We appraised them as the accredited agents of 
the Dominion Government to determine what in our judgment was the value 
of these properties, having regard to the hazards and uncertainties which existed 
in the early months of 1942. I submit that the appraisal made of these lands 
placed the Dominion Government in possession of a safe index upon which to 
determine the equity of the Japanese owners when they were evacuated. It 
provided a sound reflection of the problems that would inevitably be encountered 
if the lands were held under administration for an indefinite period ahd it 
provided an index to the compensation that might be paid to these people if a 
programme of liquidation were decided upon and sales made at prices less than 
appraised values.

The appraisal work actually commenced on May 4, 1942, and by the end 
of August 1942 the work had been practically completed. By that time 939 of 
these properties had been examined, with an aggregate appraisal of $1,059,419.

At this point I should like to make it clear—if this has not already been 
done by previous witnesses—that order in council P.C. 5523 of June 29, 1942, 
authorized the Director of Soldier Settlement to make this appraisal and also 
empowered the Director “to refuse to approve or approve either unconditionally 
or subject to such terms or conditions as to him seem fair and reasonable, the 
purchase, sale, lease or other acquisition or disposition, or any agreement there­
for, of any agricultural land in a protected area of British Columbia owned by 
any person of the Japanese race or by any Japanese Company”.

I think it is proper for me to say that the Dominion Government considered 
such control advisable to guard against private individuals or Japs trafficking 
in these properties and to enable the appraisal agency to carry out its work in 
an orderly fashion.

As an illustration of the need of control of this land I mention a situation 
which existed in the area surrounding Mission City. Here it was found that 
some 224 Japanese farmers were members of a co-operative marketing and 
shipping agency. The majority of the share capital of this co-operative was 
owned by these Japanese farmers, and under the terms of their membership 
there was a clause by which they were bound to deliver their total product to 
the co-operative or expose themselves to rather severe penalties. It appeared 
that immediatelv following decision by the Dominion Government to evacuate 
the Japanese, the management of this co-operative (which for all practical 
purposes centred in a certain white man, since deceased! by arrangement with
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the Jap shareholders—took immediate action to rent Japanese farms to white 
people under terms which, to say the least, were somewhat novel. The arrange­
ment was that the co-operative borrowed funds from the local bank and after 
arriving at the rental consideration in each case the Jap owner was paid one- 
half of the tfental consideration in cash and given a post-dated cheque for the 
balance. In turn the tenants gave the co-operative promissory notes for the 
total amount and these notes were in turn endorsed by the Jap owners. The 
rental agreements contained a clause obligating the tenant to deliver all his 
1942 and 1943 product to the co-operative. Because of the inexperience of some 
of these tenants—or because of some misrepresentation or misunderstanding as 
to the actual acreages in production crops—or because of unfortunate climatic 
conditions which occurred during the crucial growing and marketing period, 
considerable dissatisfaction resulted among the tenants. So far as I am aware 
the Bank and the co-operative came out of the deal in good order due to the 
careful administration of the Custodian. But the tenants did not fare so well.

It was administrative problems of this character which doubtless had some 
bearing on the Government’s decision to proceed with a general programme of 
liquidation of Jap assets including these farm properties. This decision was 
embodied in P.C. 469 of January 19, 1943, and I wish to emphasize that the 
first operative clause of that order in council revoked the authorities which had, 
up to that time, vested certain powers in the Director of Soldier Settlement. 
There were obvious reasons why these powers should be withdrawn, namely, 
that if the Director of Soldier Settlement and the Director the Veterans’ Land 
Act ( who were one and the same person) was to take any official interest in the 
purchase of any of these lands for the purposes of the Veterans’ Land Act, he 
could not very well occupy the position of both judge and jury.

Another point which I wish to emphasise to this Committee is that when 
the Director of Soldier Settlement was instructed in April of 1942 to proceed 
with the appraisal of these lands there was no Veterans' Land Act on the statute 
books of Canada. It was enacted as of August 1, 1942. but there was no 
Director appointed until November 25. 1942. It would be preposterous to 
assume relationship between the appointment of a Director to administer an 
Act which would have effect all over Canada—and the liquidation of Japanese 
lands.

I am not so naive, however, as to suggest to this Committee that the 
Director the Veterans’ Land Act was not in a good strategic position from the 
standpoint of acquiring some of these lands for Veterans’ Land Act purposes.

From this point on my position and activities can be stated very simply. 
Examination was made of the inspection reports of 1942. We disregarded those 
we deemed to be quite unsuitable or beyond the scope of the Veterans’ Land 
Act, such as greenhouses or other types of property which were of considerable 
value and involving a lot of administrative difficulty. Our selection narrowed 
down to 768 parcels, which carried our valuation of $867,021. XX e included 
a few which we might just as well have eliminated but there was the minimum 
or no improvements on them. I make no apologies for offering the custodian 
$750.000, or $117,021 less than the appraised value. I did not know how long 
the Veterans' Land Act would have to hold them or what the overall future 
problems would be. The custodian on the advice of his advisory committee, 
declined to accept this offer and in June 1943, I made a final offer iff $850.000 
which was accepted. XVhen it came to taking title from the custodian it was 
found that some 41 properties had to be dropped from the deal for various 
reasons, such as the Jap owner having died and his affairs being administered 
by the official administrator. In some cases title difficulties were encountered 
or in others the encumbrances were in excess of the purchase price. I under­
stand these properties were subsequently sold by the custodian elsewhere. It
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was one of the conditions of mv offer of $850.000 in June, 1943, that this price 
would include rentals collected by the custodian for the year 1943. These 
collections amounted to approximately $41,800. Payment of this sum to the 
director was asked for because the director the Veterans’ Land Act assumed 
liability for municipal taxes from January 1, 1943, and the taxes for that year 
were reported to be approximately $40.000.

It subsequently developed—November, 1943—that we purchased from the 
custodian an additional 12 parcels on the mainland and 33 on Vancouver 
Island and other gulf islands. The price paid for these additional properties 
was $45.812. Our appraised value was $46,747.

It required quite a period of time to obtain title in fee simple for each 
parcel of land, and payments to the custodian were made only as registerable 
titles were secured. This was spread over a period of approximately nine months. 
It was firm administrative policy—approved by my minister—that these Jap 
lands should be withheld from sale to veterans until men who were serving 
overseas had a ehance to get home and have an opportunity to buy them.

There were practically no veterans established under the Veterans’ Land 
Act until the close of hostilities in Europe, which was in May, 1945. Thus we 
had these properties under administration for a period of approximately two 
years before we started to sell them.

In making plans for the sale of these lands to veterans—it has been deemed 
advisable to subdivide some of the larger parcels into two or more units and 
also to consolidate two or more of the smaller places into a single unit.

As of April 30 it was reported to me that 216 of these places have been 
sold in their original identity—100 more in the. same category have been 
tentatively sold. 123 of the original units have been broken up into 394 units 
and of these subdivided places, 213 units have been sold and 75 tentatively 
sold. All these sales were to veterans. In other words, 604 Canadian veterans 
have been taken care of, and there is sufficient land left to take care of approxi­
mately 400 more if they are interested in what xve have to offer.

Here I want to emphasize to this committee that sales made to veterans 
were at the prices paid by the director as provided by Section 9 The Veterans’ 
Land Act. I hope that statement will put an end to any rumors or suspicions 
that the government—through the agency of the Director the Veterans’ Land 
Act, has been doing any profiteering at the expense of Canadian veterans.

Sale has been made of a few parcels to non-veterans. They were as follows:
1. A property consisting of approximately 78 acres sold to a religious order. 

The cost to the director was $4.725. The sale price was $5,500 cash. This 
sale was in accordance with Section 22 of the Veterans’ Land Act, which author­
izes the director, among other things, to sell land which is at his disposal for sale, 
for religious purposes.

2. A parcel containing 100 acres on Salt Spring Island in the Gulf of 
Georgia. This property consists chiefly of rocky wooded hill, without any 
improvements. It could be used as a base for a commercial fisherman or as 
a firewood proposition. The director bought it for $245. There was no 
demand for it by veterans. It was advertised for sale by public tender—four 
offers were received ranging from $750 to $2,000. It was sold to the highest 
bidder under authority of P.C. 5285 of January 3 this year, pursuant to Section 
21 of the Veterans’ Land Act.

3. 1 hree bush lots comprising approximately 38 acres 5 miles from
Haney B.C. These were undeveloped places which had been logged off years 
ago and growing up with fair sized second growth softwood interspersed with 
stumps. I lie director paid $433 for these parcels. There was no demand by 
veterans. They were advertised for sale by public tender and brought a price 
oi $3,050. 1 his price doubtless reflects the demand there is at the present
time for any kind of small logs and firewood.
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There may be some differences of opinion as to the sales policy pursued 
by the director, having regard to the rapid rise in real estate values in the area 
centering on the largest Canadian city on the Pacific coast—once the perils 
of war had abated. I have three principal observations to make on that point 
if any one cares to raise it;

1. When these lands were purchased I was acting for the Dominion Govern­
ment in the capacity of a trustee looking to the long range interests of Canada’s 
fighting men who were overseas. It would have been a breach of the trust 
reposed in me to recommend a general increase in sale prices to correspond 
with local inflation.

2. The great majority of these Jap lands require substantial repairs to the 
more or less ramshackle buildings before they are habitable, or new homes 
have to be built. The cost of construction nowadays is just about double pre­
war costs. The Director and veterans and members of this Committee have a 
pretty clear appreciation of this and in my judgment the cost price to the 
Director of the improvements needed, plus the cost of the land—will produce 
a sale price to a veteran which is as equitable as it can be made under present- 
day conditions.

3. The Japanese farms are by no means the only properties acquired by the 
Director the V.L.A. prior to the commencement of active settlement of veterans. 
Lands were purchased all over Canada at close prices which a couple of years 
later could have been resold in the open market for very considerable increases— 
but they weren’t—they were sold to Canadian veterans at cost to the Director, 
as provided by Section 9 of the V.L.A.

In conclusion—may I shy a word on behalf of the branch of the Public 
Service which I have the honour to head.

Regardless of some criticism we get now and then, and I suppose some of it 
is merited—there has developed over the past twenty odd years a considerable 
degree of both Government and public confidence in the reliability, rugged 
honesty and efficiency of these people in matters relating to land and land values.

Commencing in the early twenties this staff was designated as the land settle­
ment branch of the Department of Immigration and Colonization. During the 
tough thirties it was this organization that was mainly called upon to service the 
appraisal requirements of Boards of Review under the Farmers’ Creditors' 
Arrangement Act of 1935. Many thousands of farm properties, all over Canada, 
were inspected and appraised for that purpose. During the war we were fre­
quently called upon by the Department of National Defence to assist and advise 
on land matters of considerable magnitude. We represented the Dominion 
Government in acquiring the freehold lands required for the construction of the 
Alaska Highway. During and since the war we have purchased many millions 
of dollars worth of real property for the establishment of Canadian veterans. I 
mention these things to this Committee to indicate that a great fund of practical 
knowledge and experience was brought to bear on the part assigned to us in 
connection with Japanese lands.

Acting for the Dominion Government, we examined this situation in a 
spirit of realism—justice and equity for all parties concerned. We were con­
siderate and prudent in our estimates as became those who were asked to under­
take serious responsibilities of this nature during the grim and perilous days 
of 1942.

When that duty had been discharged in good faith we proceeded to act 
in equally good faith on behalf of Canadian veterans by buying these lands at 
the fairest price we could obtain.

I submit that, in the circumstances, the Japanese people were dealt with 
justly and equitably. The Canadian public was protected and Canadian veterans 
have been given whatever advantage arose from the purchase of these lands in
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the midst of a great war which, but for the grace of God and our lighting men 
and allies might have lasted much longer and turned out quite differently than 
it did.

The Vice-Chairman: Gentlemen, the witness is yours.

By Mr. Fleming:
Q. May I ask a few questions, Mr. Chairman?
Taking the last part of the evidence tendered by Mr. Murchison, first, I 

would like to ask a few questions with reference to the disposal of the properties. 
First of all you mentioned the cost of construction. What works of construc­
tion were undertaken on those lands by your department before the sale to the 
veterans, if any?—A. I could not answer that question precisely. That is a 
matter on which I would have to make inquiries. I believe that a limited number 
of those Japanese lands were used in the development of small holdings and I 
judge few houses were constructed before the property was made available for 
sale to the veterans. In other cases single units sold to veterans would provide 
for the cost price of the land plus a loan necessary to carry out the repairs to 
existing buildings and for the construction of a new home.

Q. In each case, I take it, you have a record of any expenditures made and 
its inclusion in the sale price to the veteran?—A. Yes, sir.

Q. Now we have, as appendix A to the proceedings of the last meeting 
of this committee, at pages 163 and following, a list of the properties that were 
included in the sale to your department. Could we have the corresponding 
information with reference to those properties inserted on the list to show inclu­
sion of any cost of construction work done by your department? That, I 
take it, could be prepared Mr. Murchison?—A. That could be prepared. It 
might produce a little bit of confusion in cases where it is found that say parcel 
number 143 on the list and say another one a good deal further down in the 
schedule were combined in one unit and a loan approved for the price of the 
land and the improvements required.

Q. Well I do not want to take time on it now because obviously you have 
not the information in these individual cases but I think the committee would 
like to have that. Now turn for a moment to those sales of other properties 
which you made. The first property was sold pursuant to section 22 of the 
Veterans’ Land Act to whom?—A. To a religious order, the Westminster Priory.

Q. Would gou give us the two prices on those? You went pretty quickly 
over them and I did not get a note of them.—A. The cost price was $4,725 and 
the sale price was $5,500.

Q. And the date?—A. I have not got the date but I recall it was late in 1946.
Q. The next one? Were those all sold at public auction? Has there been 

any advertisement?—A. Not respecting the first one that was sold to the religious 
order.

Q. There was no auction?—A. No.
Q Just private negotiation?—A. It was sold to the religious order under 

the authority of section 22 of the Act and approved by the minister.
Q. And the next one?—A. There was a parcel of 100 acres on Salt Spring 

Island bought for $245. It was advertised for sale by public auction and the 
four offers received ranged from $750 to $2,000. It was sold to the highest bidder 
on January 3 of this year and it was confirmed by order in council.

Q. Then the last, the bush lots you bought for $433 and sold them at what? 
—A. They were sold for $3,050.

Q. At public auction?—A. Yes.
Q. Now having regard to the fact that you made an offer in 1943 and it 

took nine months to get the titles, you did not begin to sell the properties until 
two years later? Bo you say it was necessary for you to have acted in 1943 to 
acquire the properties?—A. How is your question put?
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Q. You have referred to the long delay before you began to make sales 
of these properties to the veterans?—A. That is right.

Q. Was there any occasion to have acquired those properties so early? 
What you did in 1942, or at least what was done in 1942 through the agency of 
that order in council, was to blanket these properties so that they could not be 
sold to anybody else? That is correct, is it not?—A. That is right.

Q. The values were made, as you said, when the war was at its darkest in 
1942. The properties were purchased in 1943, but you did not begin sales to 
veterans until the conclusion of the war?—A. That is right. That was the general 
policy all over Canada.

Q. In other words you were acquiring properties at that time with a view 
to reselling them sometime later. In this case it was two or three years later?— 
A. That is correct.

Q. Now what about your procedure in approaching this question. We will 
leave now the resale but I want to address this question to you. You purchased, 
on behalf of your department, seven hundred and forty-one Japanese farms. You 
view that purchase, I take it, with some satisfaction in view of what you have 
said this morning.—A. I certainly do.

Q. And I suggest to you that the valuation was admittedly a conservative 
valuation as made in 1942 by your appraisers?—A. I think I have so stated.

Q. It was a conservative valuation, made with a view to purchase of the 
properties.—A. No.

Q. What was the basis of the original appraisal?—A. As I said in my 
evidence, I can perhaps find it here if you will wait.

Q. Well you probably can give that to us?—A. We appraised them as 
accredited agents of the Dominion of Canada to determine what, in our judg­
ment, was the valuation of the properties having regard to the hazards and 
uncertainty which existed in the early months of 1942.

Q. Yes, with a view to what?—A. Establishing an index, a safe index, upon 
which to determine the equity of the Japanese owners when they were evacuated. 
It provided a sound reflection of the problems that would inevitably be encoun­
tered if the lands were held under administration for an indefinite period and it 
provided an index to the compensation that might be paid to these people if a 
program of liquidation were decided upon and sales made at prices less than 
appraised values.

Q. You had in mind as one purpose that the appraisal might be used for 
the sale of these properties?—A. Yes, of course.

Q. And purchase of them by your department?—A. I could not say that, sir, 
because at that time there was no Veterans’ Land Act in existence and there had 
been no director appointed.

Q. Very well. Now you say the work of appraisal commenced *>n May 4, 
1942? I think that is the date you said.—A. That is right.

Q. And it was completed by August of 1942. Now the order in council 
under which you were proceeding, P.C. 5523 was not made until June 29, 1942? 
—A. That is right.

Q. You were ahead of the gun on the appraisal?—A. I was acting in 
accordance with instructions from the dominion government.

Q. Your minister instructed you to proceed?—A. Yes, and he said the 
necessary statutory authority would be provided as quickly as possible.

Q. And were the instructions that you received at that time to the effect 
that you have quoted in your evidence?—A. No, our instructions were to carry 
out an inventory and appraisement of those properties.

Q. There was no indication as to the basis of the appraisal or the purpose 
of it?—A. No, as appraisers we faced the realities as we found them on the 
ground.
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Q. When you came to make your offer in the spring of 1943, your appraisals 
were then almost a year old, were they not?—A. Yes.

Q. And what had been the direction in which land values in the Fraser 
Valley area had been moving in that year?—A. Well I should say that the peril 
on the Pacific coast had pretty well abated by midsummer in 1943 and conse­
quently that would have an effect on improvement of land value in that 
particular area. Of course there was a great influx of war workers and other 
people to the Pacific coast at that time who were finding difficulty in securing 
housing. There was a tremendous demand for accommodation by those people 
and that would have an inflationary effect. Possibly it would have been 
temporary.

Q. That does add up to this fact that valuations in the area in question 
had advanced between your valuation in the spring of 1942 and your offer in 
the spring of 1943?—A. I should not be surprised.

Q. And your original offer was for substantially less than your own 
appraisal?—A. That is right.

Q. Now does that suggest to you that you were proceeding on the basis of 
the appraisal and that you were seeking to make a good buy on behalf of your 
department?—A. I was just seeking to make the best buy I could on behalf of 
the department and the boys who were fighting overseas and I considered in 
making the offer of $750,000 cash, that that amount of money was entitled to 
some respect. It was not accepted and I made a final offer of $850,000. In other 
words I made the best deal I could for those men.

Q. In other words you bought at the lowest price you could for the reasons 
you have given?—A. That is right.

Q. You bought at the lowest price you could, that is a fair statement?— 
A. Yes.

Q. So far as the interests of the owners are concerned, it is fair to say that 
you left it to the custodian to protect those interests as vendor in the trans­
action?—A. Yes.

Q. The protection of the Japanese was his concern, and it was not y<mr 
concern? I take it your principal concern was to get the farms at the lowest 
price you could get them?—A. That is right.

Q. And you had representatives from your department present at some of 
the meetings in Vancouver? I mean the meetings of the advisory committee who 
the custodian appointed to advise him in connection with the liquidation of 
the properties?—A. Yes. I had an advisory committee to advise me, the same 
as the custodian had an advisory committee advising him.

Q. You had your representatives present at the meetings when these matters 
were discussed?—A. That is right.

Q. And I take it you may not be personally familiar with the course of 
those discussions in those committees or the reasons which interested the 
committee appointed by the custodian? That was not your concern I take it? • 
—A. No.

Q. Now on the basis of your valuation, at one point in your evidence, if 
I am correct, you said farms were not to be valued from the point of view of 
their potential value or valuation for resale but, the valuation was to be made 
having in mind the hazards and uncertainties which existed in 1942?—A. That 
is not just what I said.

Q. Pardon?—A. I said we did not appraise those properties from the stand­
point of their potential speculative real estate value or of their speculative value 
for sale during the war to persons in Canada who were participating in the 
financial prosperity produced by a state of war.

Q. Yes, and you proceeded to do what you did under the protection of an 
order in council which, in effect, took those lands out of the public market 
entirely ?—A. I had the appraisal made but the decision was reached by the 
dominion government as to what was to be done with them.
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Q. The lands were never taken out of the scope of that blanket order in 
council until this sale was completed?—A. Oh yes.

Q. Will you give the date?—A. Yes.
Q. We are referring now to order in council P.C. 5523 of June 29, 1942, 

are we not?—A. Yes, and P.C. 469 of January 19, 1943.
Q. Yes, that authorized liquidation did it not?—A. Yes. I think if you 

read the order and if you have it before you you will find as I said the first 
operative clause in it revoked the authorities which had up to that time vested 
certain powers in the Soldiers’ Settlement Board.

Q. Yes, but you are familiar with what the custodian was doing with 
respect to those properties and no public offer was made of any of those properties 
before you completed the purchase of those properties? That is correct, is it 
not?—A. As far as I know, but I cannot be absolutely sure on that because 
I do not know just what properties the custodian disposed of in the interim.

Q. If you do not know I will not pursue the question because we can get 
the information from another source. You concerned yourself with your side 
of the transaction?—A. Yes.

Q. And your interest as you have indicated was to get this property at the 
best price you could?—A. Yes.

By Mr. Cockeram:
Q. Mr. Murchison stated that 604 veterans had been established and had 

purchased property and there are still 400 more properties to be disposed of. 
Could Mr. Murchison tell the committee what was received for those 604 pro­
perties that have already been sold?—A. I have not got the figure before me 
but I assure you that the places were sold at their cost to the director, that 
is the price we paid to the custodian.

Q. I think we should have that figure.—A. I can get it for you but I have not 
got the figure here.

By Mr. Stewart:
Q. Mr. Chairman, arising out of what Mr. Murchison said I take it when 

you want to value this property on the coast that you did not believe the 
Japanese were going to win the war, otherwise you would have placed a value of 
nil on those properties?—A. Will you state that question again sir?

Q. I take it, when you valued those properties first in 1942, you did not 
believe the Japanese were going to win the war?—A. I should say in reply, 
and I am not trying to dodge the question, that we had the same hope as the 
rest of the allied world that ultimately we were going to win but we did not 
know when nor under what conditions.

Q. But you were not optimistic about this state of affairs?—A. No.
Q. And that lack of optimism might have had some effect on your judgment 

as to the value of the lands?—A. Certainly it would. And very necessarily it 
should have had some effect.

Q. So the valuation you arrived at was not necessarily the true value 
from the point of view of those who were working on it?—A. Not if the people 
were going to be evacuated and the government was to be faced with the great 
problem of administration and security and the specialized type of agriculture 
for which there was an inadequate labour force available. That would be an 
entirely different set of conditions.

Q. But from the point of view of those who had the land at that particular 
time, the value you placed on it would probably be lower than that which they 
would place on it, and it was certainly lower than the assessed value?—A. Of 
course the assessed value is only an index of the taxation that the municipality 
requires.
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Q. Have you any knowledge of the value placed on this land by the custodian 
or the agents of the custodian?—A. Not the details but I recall when my first 
offer of $750,000 was made that representatives of the custodian’s advisory 
committee made a spot check on possibly a dozen of those properties and on 
that basis advised the custodian that in their judgment my offer was too low.

Q. So in the opinion of the custodian the lands were valued at more than you 
would give?—A. I do not know what the custodian valued it at but apparently 
it was more than $750,000.

Q. Now you say you bought the land at the lowest price and you also 
said you approached the whole problem from the point of view of realism, 
justice, and equity, which is right and proper; but justice and equity has 
occasionally more than one' face. Which point of view were you approaching 
from? Was it the equity of the owners of the land or was your department 
getting the best possible buy?

Mr. Gooderham: Are you speaking of the appraisal by the Soldiers’ Settle­
ment Board or the purchase price?

By Mr. Stewart:
Q. The purchase price?—A. When it came to the matter of purchase I was 

not concerned with anybody’s welfare but the veterans for whom I was buying.
Q. Therefore, your approach to the whole problem had nothing to do with 

what the owners might be considering was their value? You were not approach­
ing it from that particular point of view.—A. When it reached that stage my 
intention was to acquire those lands at the best price I could, knowing that it 
would eventually be sold to veterans.

•
By Mr. Smith:

Q. I have a couple of general questions. In answer to Mr. Stewart you 
said the assessed value was only an index of the taxes the municipality requires. 
You did not mean that, did you?—A. I did not get your question, sir.

Q. You stated, in answer to Mr. Stewart, that the assessed value of the 
land was only an index of the taxes the municipality required. You did not mean 
that, did you?—A. Yes, I did.

Q. Well let us assume that the assessment is low. You could raise the mill 
rate and get the same amount of money could you not?—A. That is right.

Q. So the assessed value is not the only index?—A. The assessed value 
has a relation to the mill rate, yes.

Q. But all you have to do is to raise the mill rate on a low assessment to 
get the same amount of money that you would if you had a high assessment 
and a low mill rate so that the mill rate, perhaps is an index of the tax.

Now only a general question about the method of assessment. I may say 
that I appreciate your efforts in doing what you could for the returned men but 
you said to Mr. Fleming a moment ago that these hazards were there. Did you 
in 1942, find any depreciation in the value of sales of real estate in the Fraser 
Valley? In fact were they not advancing in 1942 in the Fraser Valley?— 
A. We had not entered the market at that time to buy any real estate.

Q. In valuing any real estate there are a couple of books which you can 
get on the matter?—A. Certainly.

Q. Whether they are any good or not, there are some books published on 
real estate valuation. Is not the main ground for valuation the sales of similar 
property in the area? Is that not accepted as one of the main grounds?— 
A. That is one.

Q. All right, and you discarded that.—A. I did not say I discarded it.
89213—2
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Q. I think if you look back through your evidence you will find that, or 
at least that is what I understood. You did not bother about sales?—A. We 
did not pay any attention to sales. We were dealing with what we considered 
to be the equity of the Japanese having regard to the problems confronting the 
dominion government in looking after these lands.

Q. You did discard any evidence of other valuation or sale?—A. It was 
not taken into account.

Q. Then my word is discard. It was not taken into account?—A. That is 
correct.

Q. Then in all valuation of land, speculative value is another element?—■ 
A. Yes.

Q. So that you discarded the two main elements in valuing these properties? 
Correct?—A. Well, as I indicated in my general statement we did not consider 
speculative value of real estate on the Pacific coast very much at the time in 
view of the conditions which existed.

Q. I will use your words. You did not take into account either of those 
elements in making your valuation?—A. No.

Q. Thank you.

By Mr. Jaenicke:
Q. Mr. Murchison, you described to us the serious situation at the coast in 

1942, that was with respect to the war. Did you mean to intimate there was a 
danger of invasion?—A. Yes.

Q. And you took that into consideration when you made these appraisals? 
—A. That is what I stated.

Q. I see now on May^?9 you wrote Mr. McPherson in Ottawa, the Depart­
ment of Secretary of State and you said this, “Our appraisement of these lands 
was made on the basis of ordinary terms of sale and without regard to any 
temporary boom or speculative value brought about by a state of war.” Now, 
would that not contradict your statement here?—A. It may sound contradictory.

Q. But you say, or you try to intimate, because of the war values had gone 
down, and in this letter you stated there was a boom on.—A. It had gone down 
in our judgment.

Q. There was a boom then at the time when you made the valuation?— 
A. There was a brisk demand by temporary war workers in Vancouver which 
we regarded as purely artificial.

An Hon. Member: And transitionary.
The Witness: And transitionary.

By Mr. Jaenicke:
Q. Is that boom still on or has it subsided?—A. I should say it is beginning 

to subside.

By Mr. Cruickshank:
Q. Is it not true at the time the department bought this land that there 

was no demand by the general public for small berry farms?—A. I should say 
that was generally correct.

Q. One reason being that there was not labour available for that class of 
farm?—A. That is right.

Mr. Gladstone: In connection with your purchase of farms in Ontario for 
veterans, in 1942, would the speculative value be upwards or would it be down­
wards due to war conditions?

The Vice-Chairman: Mr. Gladstone, you are not getting into a discussion 
of land values and appraisals in Ontario, are you?
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Mr. Gladstone: No.
The Vice-Chairman : I just want to guard against that.
The Witness: We feared right from the date that the Veterans’ Land Act 

was enacted, on August 1, 1942, that the statute itself would have an inflationary 
effect on lands throughout Canada. It created a potential demand for tremendous 
amounts of farming land all over the dominion. There is no doubt about that. 
That is one of the reasons why the government and parliament authorized the 
administration to proceed as quickly as it did after the Act was passed, to 
assemble lands as a hedge for the settlement of veterans when they returned 
from overseas. There would be at least something to show.

By Mr. Jaenicke:
Q. Just one more question, which is about these rentals. You were going 

pretty fast then, and I was trying to make some notes but I could not get it 
down. You said that the rentals for 1943 amounted to $41,800?—A. That was 
the amount.

Q. Did you collect that?—A. No, that was collected by the custodian.
Q. Did the custodian pay it over to you?—A. He did.
Q. And you mentioned something about taxes.—A. I in turn assumed 

responsibility for the year’s taxes, for 1943.
Q. The correspondence would bear out, as far as I can see, that you were 

only assuming the taxes from the date of purchase?—A. No, there was a con­
dition in the purchase that I would undertake payment of taxes as of January 
1, 1943.

Q. And those taxes amounted to how much?—A. Approximately $40.000.
Q. Not quite as much as you collected in rentals?—A. Not quite, but 

very close.
Q. Approximately the same?—A. Approximately the same figure.

By Mr. Fleming:
Q. Just dealing with the last point first. The rentals that you spoke of 

were rents that had been collected between January 1 and the date when the 
contract was entered into?—A. That is right.

Q. The taxes of $40,000 were the taxes for the full calendar year, 1943, 
were they not?—A. Yes.

Q. And the proportion which would have accrued up to June would be 
approximately $15,000 or $16.000?—A. It would be roughly 50 per cent, I 
suppose.

Q. A trifle under 50 per cent, so that in respect of the adjustment of rents 
against taxes you probably were $25,000 better off on the deal?—A. Probably, 
but it was part of the negotiation.

Q. It was one of the elements that makes you feel that you made a good 
bargain for those for whom you were concerned, namely, the veterans who were 
going to buy?—A. That is right.

Q. Now, then, in connection with the proceeds of the sale of those three 
properties you referred to, which were not sold to veterans but were sold 
to private interests, what steps have been taken, if any, by your department to 
account to the owners, the former owners, for the excess over and above the 
amount you paid for those properties?—A. None.

Q. None. You are retaining that. If, in the course of the disposal of the 
remaining lands any of them are not sold to veterans but to private pur­
chasers at an advance over the amount you paid, there will be no accounting 
to the former Japanese owners, I take it?—A. That is a matter of government 
policy.
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Q. But there has been no indication as far as you are aware that anything 
will be done to make that excess realized available to the former Japanese 
owners?—A. No, and at the moment there is no guarantee for the sale of these 
Japanese lands which are left, which as might be expected are the least 
attractive we have. There is no guarante that the veterans are going to be 
prepared to buy them at the price we paid for them.

Q. With reference to the "least attractive,” that also applies to those you 
sold elsexvhere. I think you did very well on those, if they were the least 
attractive of the group you purchased. You resold them at a price considerably 
in advance of the price you paid for them and all in all I think you are going 
to do very well.—A. I hope so.

Q. It does not look to me as if you are going to be in for a loss; it looks 
like a profit.—A. I would be very glad to be in that position.

Q. That also would lend to the feeling you have about the good bargain you 
drove with the custodian?—A. Probably, very probably.

Q. Now you have indicated you were not aware of any steps, and I hope 
I interpreted you correctly, taken by the custodian while you were negotiating 
for the 741 properties and the sale of other properties elsewhere. I had difficulty 
following that. Surely you must have known that at that time there was no 
other offer being made by the custodian of those lands to anyone else. You 
were the only person who was being permitted to dicker for those lands.— 
A. I should just like to clear up a point there. We had appraised some 950 
properties owned by the Japanese and our offer was narrowed to 768. As I 
said we did not know what other lands the custodian was disposing of in the 
meantime because our offer had not included all the Japanese land.

Q. All right, there might have been about 125 or 130 properties that you 
did not include in your offer but they had been the subject of appraisals by your 
department?—A. That is right.

Q. And for reasons that seemed good to you, you did not include them in 
the offer? You did not want them.—A. That is right.

Q. They could not have been desirable for resale afterwards?—A. Some 
were much too valuable for us to buy.

Q. But as to the remainder you say you do not know what the custodian 
was doing about those 130-odd properties, but you must have been aware 
that as to the lands that you were offering on—the 769—there was nobody else 
being allowed to compete with your offer; you were aware of that, were you 
not?—A. Yes, I think that is a fair statement.

Q. Once you had made an offer for the 760 or 768—whatever it was—those 
were frozen by the custodian ; and you were aware that nobody had been per­
mitted to offer—there was no public offering of them in any way, shape or form, 
and you were not facing any competition?—A. I presume that would be the 
case. But I cannot state what the custodian was doing with those other lands, 
because they were entirely within his control.

Q. Yes, but being quite fair, you were aware, I assume—you must have 
been aware that you had no competitors to face for those properties?—A- 
Absolutely no; there was nobody else cared to pay $750,000 or $800,000—

Q. And by reason of the policy being followed—government policy. Nobody 
was being permitted to offer for any of the properties, let alone the whole 
group en bloc.—A. That is probably true. As I say, I cannot say precisely 
what the custodian was doing.

Q. Now you keep using the expression “my offer” and “I offered”. I take it 
that so far as the internal arrangement of your department is concerned, you 
would take the responsibility for this matter because you were the director of 
soldier settlement?—A. Yes. The director was established as a corporation sole 
with powers to do certain things.
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Q. To what extent was what you did or what you offered approved by your 
minister? Did you consult*your minister in connection with these offers or 
appraisals?—A. No, sir, I referred our offer to our advisory committee at New 
Westminster. There was not a move made by me without acting on their advice. 
When the negotiations had reached a stage of final offer and acceptance I referred 
my offer to the Secretary of State, the official custodian. Here is my final offer 
of $850,000. There was a letter prepared by our district superintendent in 
Vancouver; and the formal acceptance of that offer was over the signature of 
the Secretary of State.

Q. You received a letter from the Hon. Norman McLarty dated June 23, 
1943, purporting to accept your offer?—A. That is right.

Q. Now, he was the minister concerned on the side of the vendor. What I 
was asking you was whether you had acquainted your minister with the offer, 
or kept in touch with him with regard to the offer you were making and which was 
accepted by Mr. McLarty by that letter?—A. Yes, orally.

Q. You kept in touch with the progress of negotiations?—A. I saw him 
almost constantly. My minister at that time was the Hon. Mr. Crerar.

Q. I suppose it goes without asking that what you did you did with his 
full approval?—A. That is right.

Q. And we can infer that whatever you did in the course of having appraisals 
made, making the offer, negotiating purchases and finally consummating, was 
done with the full knowledge and approval of the minister to whom you were 
responsible?—A. Yes, I would say that is fair.

By Mr. Cleaver:
Q. In regard to this matter we must, of course, be fair to the custodian 

as well as to you, and there were one or two answers which you made to 
Mr. Fleming’s questions that I feel might lead to a misapprehension. When you 
made the offer to the custodian—made the initial offer—was the custodian under 
any responsibility to you to not accept a better offer from someone else if a better 
offer had come along?—A. None whatever, as far as I was concerned. No, he 
was quite open and under no responsibility.

Q He was quite open to accept a better offer if a better offer was 
available?—A. I should say so.

Q. But you were in the happy position that you were prepared and able to 
make a blanket offer for a large percentage of these properties and you naturally 
negotiated the best deal that you could for the veterans?—A. That is right.

Q. And he, on the other hand, would be getting from you the best price 
that he could get from you?—A. That is right.

By Mr. Burton:
Q. You said when your final offer was accepted you assumed the responsi­

bility for the paying of the taxes for the whole year, starting from January 1, and 
in the meantime the custodian had turned over to you approximately the same 
amount in rents that had been collected. I presume that was up to that 
time?—A. That is right.

Q. Could you tell us how much more was collected in rents for the balance 
of that year?—A. Speaking from memory only I believe the additional amount 
we collected was somewhere in the neighbourhood of $8,000. I would have to 
check on that.

Q. According to that, most of the rents had already been collected by the 
custodian?—A. Yes.

Q. Now, the excess of rent collected over taxes—what was done with those 
funds?—A. They were remitted to the Receiver General.

Q. It was not put in to offset some of the improvements made?—A. No.
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Mr. Fleming: May I clear up one point before we conclude our sitting 
before 1 o'clock?

Mr. Cbuickshank: May I ask one question? Is it possible for us to have 
a similar list in this case as is filed by the custodian as to what the properties 
had been sold for?

The Vice-Chairman: Which page do you refer to?
Mr. Cruickshank: Is it not possible to have the same list prepared of the 

oroperties that have been sold to veterans?
The Witness: I will get it for you as closely as I can. However, I direct 

your attention to this fact that this list supplied by the custodian identifies 
names and numbers; it does not identify legal descriptions of property. Now. we 
found in completing this transaction there would be several individual titles 
relating to one composite property held by a single Japanese.

Mr. Cruickshank: What I am interested in finding out is 2,862. I am 
interested in knowing about file No. 2,862. That property was sold to the 
department for $970. Now, presuming that piece of property is sold to the 
veteran I want to know what it was sold for?

The Witness: I will get that as closely as I can for the committee.

By Mr. Fleming:
Q. With regard to the matter of adjustment. Mr. Murchison, your original 

offer, which was $750,000, contemplated the adjustment of the taxes to the rents 
at May 31, did it not?—A. No, I do not think that condition was attached to 
the $750,000 offer, because that was made quite a time before June 1943.

Q. Mr. Barnet was making an original offer on your behalf?—A. Yes.
Q. Will you look over Mr. Barnet’s letter dated May 17, 1943, written on 

behalf of Soldier Settlement of Canada to The Custodian of Japanese Properties, 
and you will find that he is offering $750,000. Speaking about the adjustment he 
says first of all that the taxes and charges are to be paid or adjusted to May 31, 
1943.—A. What is the date of the letter?

Q. May 17, 1943. This is the first offer of $750.000.—A. Addressed to Mr. 
McPherson?

Q. This is addressed to The Custodian of Japanese Properties in Vancouver, 
B.C. And then we find this provision: “Assignment to the Director, the 
Veterans’ Land Act, of all leases and unpaid rentals as at May 31, 1943. You 
will recall that from that point on your raised your offer to $800.000? 
—A. $850,000.

Q. First of all you raised it to $800,000, and you could not get the custodian s 
advisory committee to accept that?—A. That is right.

Q. And the custodian’s advisory committee talked first of all about 
$1,000,000, but you were not prepared to go that far? Then you came up to 
$825,000 on the terms as to adjustment contained in the first offer, aecom- 
paning the letter of May 17, 1943; is that right?—A. You have the correspond­
ence there. That is right. I have not got it before me.

Mr. Cleaver: I think the witness should have the correspondence before 
him. It is not fair to the witness otherwise.

Mr. Fleming: I am nearly through. The correspondence is before the 
witness now.

By Mr. Fleming:
Q. You have the letter of May 17, 1943, before you?—A. \cs.
Q. Then you will recall that the next step I refer to was that Mr. Barnet on 

your behalf raised the offer to $800,000—is that correct—on the same terms as 
the adjustment?—A. Is that in the correspondence you have before you, sir?
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Q. Yes. That is contained in the correspondence there. I do not want to 
belabour the details. I think it is quite clear. The point I am getting at is 
on the matter of adjustment. Do you recall that the next step was that the 
custodian’s committee came down from $1,000,000 to $900,000; do you remember 
that?—A. I do not recall him coming down to $900,000.

Q. Then you recall that your offer came up to $825,000?—A. Yes, I 
recall that.

Q. You recall that that was on the basis as to adjustment contained in the 
original offer of May 17?—A. I would have to check the correspondence on that.

Q. Would you mind doing that?—A. My mind does not cover all that.
Q. Will you look at Mr. Barnet’s letter of May 25, 1943—the last paragraph 

of that letter?—A. “On further consideration I beg to offer the sum of eight 
hundred and twenty-five thousand i $825,000) dollars for the said lands on the 
terms and conditions set out in our leter of May 17.” Yes.

Q. The terms and conditions. The adjustments wrere as of the end of May 
which would have permitted the custodian to retain all those rents—$41,000; 
is that correct?—A. That would be the effect.

Q. And he would be responsible for the taxes up to the end of May? 
—A. Of course, the taxes, I think, are due when they are assessed.

Q. No, you talk about adjustment. You know from your long experience 
you are adjusting on the basis of the broken period during the year; I think you 
and I agreed a while ago that the change in the assessment as between the 1st 
of January and June was worth about $25,000?—A. Yes, it would be; but the 
deal was still in the negotiation stage.

Q. Then, having offered $825,000 with adjustments set forth in the letter of 
May 17—that is adjustments at the end of May—you increased your offer to 
$850,000 and you changed the basis of adjustment?—A. Yes.

Q. Which had the effect in the result of reducing the $850,000 by $25,000?— 
A. In other words, it is about the same offer stated in a different way.

Q. Exactly. In other words, you have the property at $825,000 with rela­
tion to the former terms set out in the original offer?—A. Yes.

Q. It really was an offer of $825,000, and you got your second last offer 
accepted in another form?—A. Yes.

Q. And as to the $850,000, the extra $25,000 as compared with the offer of 
$825,000 which preceded it just does not mean that?—A. It means this much, 
that we took an assignment of $41,000 from the custodian and we paid it out 
in taxes for 1943.

Q. Apart from that, there was $850,000 on the terms eventually agreed upon 
compared with the $825,000?—A. There was not much difference.

Q. There was not any difference—a few cents. I am not suggesting it is 
your responsibility because you were looking after the purchaser’s end of it; 
but the other $25,000 was just window dressing as far as the vendor was 
concerned.

Mr. Jaenicke: Mr. Chairman, we should have a copy of the matter that 
Mr. Fleming is referring to. I was given one copy but I was asked to return it. 
This is a matter that takes days of study. Why have we not a copy for our 
party?

The Vice-Chairman: You have been treated exactly the same as Mr. 
Fleming. You have a member on the steering committee and he has been 
supplied with a copy, as I understand it.

Mr. Burton : No, this correspondence that Mr. Jaenicke is referring to 
was supplied by the clerk but Mr. Jaenicke had to return it before he had time 
to go over it.
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Mr. Jaenicke: I glanced over it; but this is a matter that would take 
days and days of study. I see that Mr. Fleming has his copy all marked up. 
I did not dare mark up my copy because I was told I had to return it.

The Chairman: I think if you apply to the clerk’s office you will be able 
to get a copy, and you can mark it up if you like.

Mr. Fleming: I got my copy on the same terms aà others.
The committee adjourned at 1 p.m. to meet on Thursday, May 22, at 

11.30 a.m.
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MINUTES OF PROCEEDINGS
Thursday, May 22, 1947.

The Standing Committee on Public Accounts met at 11.30 o’clock a.m., 
the Vice-Chairman, Mr. Gordon B. Isnor, presiding.

Members present: Messrs. Boucher, Burton, Cleaver, Cote (Verdun), 
Cruickshank, Ferguson, Fleming, Fraser, Gladstone, Golding, Hamel, Isnor, 
Jackman, Jaenicke, Marshall, McCubbin, Pinard, Probe, Raymond (Wright), 
Smith (Calgary West), Stewart (Winnipeg North), Stuart (Charlotte), Warren, 
Winkler.

In attendance: Dr. E. H. Coleman, C.M.G., K.C., Deputy Custodian of 
Enemy Property, Mr. F. G. Shears, Director, Vancouver Office of the Custodian, 
and Mr. K. W. Wright, Counsel ; Mr. Gordon Murchison, Director, Soldier 
Settlement and Veterans’ Land Act.

The Committee resumer its investigation into the administration of the 
Vancouver office of the Custodian.

Examination of Mr. Murchison was continued.
Mr. Murchison retired.
Mr. Shears was recalled and questioned.
Mr. Shears filed a copy of Order in Council P.C. 469 of January 19, 1943, 

which, on motion of Mr. Pinard, was ordered to be printed as Appendix “A” to 
this day’s minutes of proceedings and evidence.

Mr. Shears retired.
It was agreed that a representative of the Cooperative Committee on 

Japanese Canadians be heard at the next sitting.
At 1.10 o’clock p.m. the Committee adjourned until Tuesday, May 27, at 

11.30 o’clock a.m.
A. L. BURGESS,

Clerk of the Committee.
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MINUTES OF EVIDENCE
House of Commons,
May 22, 1947.

The Standing Committee on Public Accounts met this day at 11.30 a.m. 
Mr. Gordon B. Isnor, Vice-Chairman, presided.

The Vice-Chairman: Gentleman, would you be good enough to come to 
order. W have a quorum now and I wish to thank the members for being so 
punctual.

I have requested Mr. Murchison to appear again before the committee for 
further questioning. As I understand certain of the members desire to ask him 
further questions. I also have asked Mr. Shear's to be present because of a 
question raised by Mr. Fleming at our last meeting. I understand that Mr. 
Murchison wishes to make a short statement before you begin questioning him.

Gordon B. Murchison, Director of the Soldier Settlement Board and 
the Veterans’ Land Act, recalled:

The Witness: Mr. Chairman, it will be recalled that during the course of 
my evidence on Tuesday I was asked to supply the committee with details of the 
sale price of lands to veterans in order to complete the schedule which had been 
filed with the committee, by Mr. Shears. In that schedule the name of the 
former Japanese owner is given, the appraisal, and the sale price to the director. 
I think it was the wish of the committee that I should furnish as well tho sale 
price of the same lands as sold to the veteran. Now that work is under way 
but it is not altogether a simple matter to get it ready because we have to make a 
search of'approximately 1,000 files to obtain the actual legal descriptions of the 
land. Those legal descriptions are not included in the schedule of the land 
submitted by the custodian. The work is in hand but it will take some little time 
to procure the details and I can assure you that it will be forthcoming as quickly 
as possible. Our staff at this time of the year is generally loaded up with current 
work but as I say I can assure you this request is in hand and the information 
will be forthcoming as quickly as possible.

The other statement I wish to make this morning is a brief one. It is in 
regard to a report which appeared in the May 21 issue of the Globe and Mail. 
I feel, Mr. Chairman, that I am entitled in my official capacity to take at 
least some exception to the manner in which this article was developed. I realize, 
of course, that it is the right of any newspaper to develop his own material as he 
sees fit but after all I do feel in a matter of this kind the situation could have 
been placed before the public of Canada by this newspaper in a manner which 
follows more closely the chronological order of the evidence I gave last Tuesday. 
I feel that there has been a certain amount of what might be termed a practice 
of lifting from its context certain parts of the evidence and so developing the 
story that the true intent and meaning of what was stated has to a large extent 
been obscured. There are a few samples of this, such as’ the reference made in 
the opening part of the article (which opens and closes on the subject of what 
was realized on the sale of land to non-veterans.) It is stated “that Murchison
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gave the committee two examples of profits”. I did not give two examples in 
that sense. I gave the committee a factual statement of all the sales that had 
been made to non-veterans with the details of each one. The article goes on to 
say “There are still 400 parcels of land which will be sold to the public if veterans 
do not take them up. Murchison admitted he was hoping to make further 
profit.” Now that is not what I stated to the committee ; first for the reason that 
the director of the Veterans’ Land Act has no statutory authority to sell these 
lands to anyone without the approval of the Governor in Council ; secondly I did 
not say I was hoping to make further profits. An observation was made by a 
member of the committee that if the few sales made to non-veterans was taken 
as an index, the department was in a position to make a profit. My statement was 
I would be happy to be in that position, which is an entirely different thing from 
I was hoping to make profits. Further on in the article there is a refernce to 
juggling lands around so that it was difficult for the director to furnish informa­
tion to this committee as to the sale prices to veterans. Now I object. Mr. 
Chairman, to the word “juggling”. There has been no juggling. As I explained 
quite frankly to this committee we found it desirable and good business to sub­
divide some of the larger parcels sold and to combine some of the smaller parcels 
in order to make suitable units. I object to the word juggling because it was 
ordinary sensible administration.

Mr. Ferguson : May I ask Mr. Murchison what he means. He admits the 
statement “I will be happy if this profit is made”, or “to be in that position”; 
“I would be glad to be in that position”. Does he not mean what he says? That 
statement may be quite easily interpreted by the Globe and Mail to the 
effect that you would be happy to make a profit.

The Witness: I do not know what interpretation the Globe and Mail would 
put on it but I stated I would be happy to be in that position.

Mr. F'ergubon : You stated you would be happy for the government.
The Vice-Chairman : Is it your wish that the witness continue to make his 

statement?
Mr. Cleaver: Yes, without interruption.
Mr. Ferguson: Why without interruption?
Mr. Cleaver: It is only ordinary common decency to the witness.
Mr. Smith: Mr. Chairman, I am going to make a suggestion. I suggest 

that we let the witness go on without interruption but I am going to suggest that 
the witness make similar comments on an article which appeared in the Toronto 
Star which was to the same effect. I think we had better cover the whole field 
if we are going to cover any of it.

The Witness : I have very few more comments to make but I do feel, when 
I am ordered to appear before a committee of the House of Commons or Senate 
that I am expected to state the facts and not present a scrambled story. Now I 
endeavoured very conscientiously last Tuesday to do that very thing and I feel 
a little distressed that a newspaper of the status of the Globe and Mail should 
publish an article which to me was certainly a scrambled article. It lifted things 
from the context and changed the order of presentation. That procedure created, 
I am sure, a different impression from what was created here last Tuesday. One 
illustration which I might mention was this. “The minutes of the advisory 
committee of a meeting of March 18, 1943 reveal that the Soldiers’ Settlement 
representative, Mr. Barnet, had agreed to a stipulation that if the department 
made any profit on the land deal the excess should be paid back to the custodian 
for distribution to the Japanese owners”.

Now there is not a thing wrong with that statement the way it is mentioned 
but the unsatisfactory part of it to me is it does not relate to the rest of the
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minutes of the meeting of that advisory committee. That is an illustration of 
lifting a sentence or two from the context of the minutes of a very important 
meeting. In other words it is trying to create a situation where the representative 
of the director of the Veterans’ Land Act in Vancouver, without any reference 
to head office at all, or to itiy responsible minister, was making a commitment 
on behalf of the dominion government which at that time he was not authorized 
to do. Had the writer of the article pursued the minutes further he would have 
seen that Mr. Barnet had qualified this, to the extent that it was subject to 
review by his superiors.

That is all I have to say, Mr. Chairman, but I do not feel that justice was 
done in this report.

Mr. Smith : Well, would the witness now make similar comments on an 
article which appeared in the Toronto Starf It is to the same effect.

The Witness: I have not seen that article.
Mr. Smith: I do not suppose so.

By Mr. Burton:
Q. Mr. Chairman, I have no desire to enter the controversy that has arisen 

between Mr. Murchison and certain sections of the press but there is further 
information that I would like to have on the sale of these lands. When we 
adjourned at the last meeting it was already passed the hour of adjournment 
and there were some further questions that I had which I would like to ask 
Mr. Murchison now. Just to refresh your memory, Mr. Murchison, if I remember 
correctly at that time you informed us that in the year 1943 you had paid 
municipal taxes amounting to somewhat over $40,000, and that the rents acquired 
from those properties for you were in excess of the taxes, amounting to another 
$8,000 and that had been remitted to the Receiver General. The question I had 
intended to ask at that time if the adjournment had not interfered was this. In 
the sale price of those lands to the veterans were the taxes you had paid added to 
the price of the land that you were selling to the veterans?—A. No?

Q. They were not added to the price of the land?—A. No.
Q Then in subsequent years there were other taxes that you had to meet? 

—A. That is right.
Q. And none of those accumulated taxes that your department had paid 

were added to the sale price charged the veteran?—A. No.
Q. And in arriving at your sale price of the land to the veteran did you use 

the basis of that $850,000 which you informed us at the previous meeting was the 
price that you had bought those lands from the custodian? In other words the 
sale price to the veteran was based on the $850,000?—A. That is right.

Q. And your rents and taxes did not enter into that part of it at all?— 
A. No sir.

Q. And in obtaining those lands for the sum of $850,000 you considered 
you had made a good buy for the veterans and you sold the land to the veterans 
for the same amount, as nearly possible, for which each parcel had been bought? 
—A. That is correct.

Q In arriving at those figures for those different parcels would you mind 
just telling us how you made the breakdown between the selling of the individual 
parcels where you had bought them in a lump?—A. The difference between 
the appraised value and the price which was finally agreed upon, I stated the 
other day, was something like $17,000. That was allocated on a percentage 
basis over all the parcels involved. I think it required an average of 1-8 per 
cent reduction on the appraised value in order to establish the price at which it 
was actually bought.
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Q. In buying this land which you bought in a lump there was a certain 
number of parcels. Then there were some parcels you disposed of to people 
other than veterans where you did realize a considerable amount more than 
what you had to pay for it. Now that money went to the Receiver General of 
Canada and it did not enter into lowering the price of the land you were selling 
to the veterans?—A. No sir.

Mr. Cleaver: On the other hand, I do not suppose you charged the veteran 
any interest or carrying charges?

The Witness: No sir.

By Mr. Fleming:
Q. Mr. Chairman, there are one or two matters on which I would like to 

ask Mr. Murchison questions. I take it from the remarks you have made on 
the article in the Globe that you have read fully, since our last meeting, the 
minutes and the correspondence. I gathered at the last meeting that you were 
not familiar with them but I take it you have read them since?—A. I have read 
the relative parts of the custodian’s meeting of March 18, 1943. I have not had 
time to read the balance of the minutes.

Q. We can proceed then, on that basis. You will recall that in the minutes 
of March 18, on page 2 reference is made to the fact that Mr. Barnet, who was 
your representative, indicated that the department had completed their survey 
and the appraisals had been made. Actually it had been completed a good 
many months before. He went on to say, as is recorded in the minutes, that 
he did not wish to disclose the value of any particular properties at that time. 
And then later, at the meeting of May 19, if you will just turn forward you will 
see that on the first page it says—

The Vice-Chairman: What is the page number?

By Mr. Fleming:
Q. It is not numbered but it is on the first page in the first long paragraph. 

Mr. McPherson is making a statement and he says “That while lie had been 
advised of the amount of a total bulk offer, he had only received a few minutes 
prior to this meeting figures which related to each individual property”.

That is referring to the figures of your appraisers which the committee 
apparently thought they ought to have through Mr. Barnet. Did Mr. Barnet 
have any instructions at this stage of the negotiations not to disclose to the 
committee the contents of the appraiser’s report which had been received by 
your department? That is, was he not to disclose them to the custodian's 
committee?—A. Yes, I recall, if my memory is correct, in the inceptive stages 
of negotiations we did not feel that it was good practice on our part to disclose 
all the details of the appraisals we had made on those properties when we were 
concerned with the purchase. Subsequently that was modified and according to 
the best of my recollection the details of the appraisals were made available to 
the custodian..

Q. At a somewhat later date in the negotiations. Am I correct in inferring 
from the reading of the minutes that, when the negotiations began and the first 
offer was made, on instructions from your department your representatives did 
not disclose the appraiser’s reports which they had made to your department.— 
A. I think that is right sir.

Q. And I take it the reason is, and I am just bringing out the facts, I am 
not quarrelling with your motive in doing so, your reason was that you were 
acting for a buyer and the custodian and his committee were acting for a seller 
and you were dealing at arm’s length? You were not disclosing all of the 
information you had when you were dealing with him with a view to buying on 
the best terms you could get.—A. I think it is fair but I would not say that we 
were dealing at arm’s length.
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Q. Well is there any qualification you would like to make?—A. Well I would 
say there was some caution on our part at the inceptive stages in disclosing all 
the details we had in regards to the individual valuations.

Q. Is it fair to use the expression that, as you were purchasing this land 
you were not “tipping your hand” to the custodian and his committee who 
represented the vendors?—A. I think that is a fair statement.

Q. There is one other matter Mr. Murchison which arises from the minutes 
of the meeting of May 24, the sixth page.

Mr. Burton : What page?

By Mr. Fleming:
Q. It is on the sixth page. Now let me say, just in explanation of my ques­

tion, I am recalling Mr. Murchison, that at the Tuesday meeting you indicated 
you were not taking the responsibility for protecting the interests of the 
custodian. That was not your function. Now about half way down on that 
page you will see a paragraph which relates to a discussion of the negotiations 
and it was suggested that “if a deal was made some protection should be given 
to the custodian in the event that the Soldiers’ Settlement of Canada resold any 
parcels of land at a price in excess of the value at which it had been purchased. 
The Veterans’ Land Act committee were not prepared to consider this matter 
and it was decided that this might be a question to be decided at Ottawa.”

Now did you have a report on that matter from your representative?— 
A. I do not recall offhand that I had a report on the specific matter. I men­
tioned that according to my best recollection Mr. Barnet was under general 
instructions from me to be very careful about making any further commitments 
with regard to future disposal of these lands if they were to be purchased by the 
\ eterans’ Land Act because we did not know how long we would have to hold 
them under administration. That was in 1943 when the war was at a very 
serious stage and I think it was only natural and prudent on my part to avoid 
any long-range commitments with respect to what would be done if the property 
were purchased. I say that applied not only with respect to the purchases from 
the Japanese but all over Canada.

Q. In short, Mr. Barnet in taking that position was acting under your 
instructions?—A. My general instructions.

Q. And you did not want any commitments attached to the purchase as 
far as you were concerned?—A. No.

Q. And if there was to be any attempt made to share with the Japanese 
owners any advance in price, that definitely was not to be the concern of your 
department and you were leaving that to the custodian?—A. Well that would 
be a matter of general government policy on which I was not competent to make 
any decision at that time.

Q. Was this matter the subject of any further discussion or instructions on 
the part of the minister to yourself—your minister?—A. Not according to my 
recollection. I think it is on the record that in the final stages of the trans­
action an offer in writing was prepared by our Vancouver superintendent at a 
price of $850,000 including certain conditions that were attached to the sale, 
one being the assignment of leases in existence ; another being the refund to the 
director of the taxes collected by the custodian for the year 1943.

Q. Excuse me, but I think we have had all that before. The fact is that 
there was no reference to any commitment of this kind in the contract? You 
were saying there was no further discussion of that as far as you are aware, 
from the time this position was taken on your behalf by your representative at 
the meeting of May 24, 1943?—A. No.
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By Mr. Jaenicke:
Q. I think you told us at the last meeting that you made your survey in 

1942 by virtue of an order in council passed in January 1942; is that right?— 
A. No, it was passed in June 1942.

Q. I think you also told us that you made these appraisals not with a view 
to buying these lands ; is that right?—A. That is right.

Q. Now, tell me if there has been a misunderstanding. I find in the 
minutes of the advisory board, the first meeting of March 15, Mr. McPherson 
explains to the advisory board his conversation with Mr. Barnet ; is that it?— 
A. Yes.

Q. He is an official of your department. Mr. McPherson explains—and I 
quote from the minutes of that meeting—

The Vice-Chairman: What page?
Mr. Jaenicke: Page 6. I have marked this from beginning to end. It is 

on the first page of the minutes:

Frank G. Shears, Director of the Office of the Custodian, Vancouver, 
recalled :

By Mr. Jaenicke:
Q. Mr. Chairman, I wish to put on the record certain excerpts from the 

minutes which have been tabled so they might be printed in the proceedings. 
Mr. Shears might sit down because I have not very many questions to ask, but 
I should like to read some excerpts from the minutes and then ask Mr. Shears 
questions with respect to some of them.

I might also say I have carefully perused these minutes, and it is my 
opinion, so far as Mr. Shears is concerned, he has done a good job. Of course, 
he was acting under instructions. If there was anything "hot just right, if we 
came to the conclusion that these lands were sold for less than they should 
have been. I do not think the Vancouver office over which Mr. Shears presided 
had anything to do with it. I must pay him a compliment for the very fine 
way in which he has kept the minutes of the proceedings of the committee 
presided over by Judge Whiteside. I wish there were minutes of the other 
committee as well.

On page 3, I wish to read an extract from the minutes as follows:
Mr. McPherson who had come in from Ottawa ... in his intro­

ductory remarks outlined the history behind the present situation, explain­
ing the developments whereby the custodian took over the administration 
of evacuee property . . . Mr. McPherson also explained that the Soldier 
Settlement of Canada were now anxious to obtain land for the re-settle­
ment of returned men and that they desired to purchase a large percent­
age of the formerly owned Japanese land.

I am now turning to page 8.
Mr. McPherson said that it was his understanding in the meetings 

held at Ottawa, at which the chairman attended, that it was definitely 
indicated that as a matter of policy it was the government’s desire that 
the Soldier Settlement of Canada should have the first option to purchase 
any or all property if they so desired. Mr. McPherson pointed out, how­
ever, that while the Soldier Settlement of Canada had a first option to 
purchase, it did not necessarily follow that they could purchase at their 
price, that any sale to the Soldier Settlement of Canada would be for 
a reasonable price.
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Now, was that the first time, Mr. Shears, that you had any intimation 
that the V.I.A. was interested in purchasing this property?—A. Yes, that was 
the first time.

Q. How long before had you been keeping your office in Vancouver?—A. 
The evacuee section of the office, the first of March, 1942.

Q. Prior to that time you had just been administering the lands, that is 
renting the property and etc.?—A. Yes.

Q. Now, the minutes I have just read would indicate to you there were 
some negotiations in Ottawa prior to the meeting in Vancouver? I mean, there 
had been a meeting between the departments about purchasing this land. Would 
not the minutes I have just read indicate that?—A. Yes, they would indicate 
that.

Q. The next item I will not read because it was already dealt with by Mr. 
McPherson. It is a minute on page 8, where Mr. McPherson also explained that 
the obvious purpose of surveying had been to ascertain whether or not these 
lands would be suitable for the rehabilitation of returned men.

On page 10, there is the following quotation.
Mr. McPherson advised the committee that he had been in touch 

with Mr. Barnet and Mr. Barnet had stated that they were considering 
purchasing approximately 75 per cent of all the rural lands with particu­
lar reference to the Fraser Valley and the Delta.

All this would indicate, Mr. Shears, that the committee was really set 
up to ascertain fair value of this land, was it not? That was really the purpose 
of setting up the advisory committee?—A. Yes.

Q. I should like to read from the minutes of the second meeting- held in 
March, page 16—

Mr. Fleming: I wonder if, to save a little time, since Mr. Jaenicke has 
indicated he proposes reading excerpts from these minutes—

Mr. Cruickshank: That is good, you save a little time!
The Chairman : Order, gentlemen.
Mr. Fleming: Mr. Jaenicke has indicated he proposes to read certain 

extracts from the minutes. I propose to do the same tiling. Would it save time 
if, as Mr. Jaenicke is going along, we could have my excerpts entered at the 
same time. For instance, he has not included a couple of paragraphs on page 
11 which I intended to quote.

Mr. Jaenicke: I suggest you put that in later. My ideas on these things 
are, perhaps, different from Mr. Fleming’s ideas.

There was a second meeting held on March 18, 1943. At page 16.
Mr. McPherson reported that immediately after the last meeting he 

contacted Mr. Barnet and discussed with him the question of the Soldier 
Settlement of Canada taking over a percentage of the farm lands. Mr. 
Barnet indicated that his department had completed their survey and 
knew approximately what properties they required and had estimated 
the values of same in so far as any purchases by that department was 
concerned. He, of course, did not wish to disclose the values of any 
particular properties at this time but agreed that if a sale could be 
negotiated he would be prepared to disclose the values after the cus­
todian’s valuators had made their survey and prices could then be com­
pared and possibly a satisfactory price arbitrated with the approval of 
the committee.

Mr. McPherson explained that a special order in council was passed 
giving them authority to make a survey of the Japanese agricultural lands 
and that it further provided that they had the right to veto any dealings
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with such land. The obvious purpose of this survey being to ascertain 
whether or not these lands would be suitable for the rehabilitation of 
returned men.

A. Yes.
Q. What have you to say about that?—A. As I pointed out to the com­

mittee on Tuesday, the purpose of the order in council was set out in that order 
in council. It authorized the director of Soldier Settlement to make an appraisal 
of these properties, and also placed the director of Soldier Settlement in control 
of the sale or lease of those properties during the life of that order in council.

Q. It says: “The obvious purpose of this survey being to ascertain whether 
or not these lands would be suitable for the rehabilitation of returned men.”—A. 
I have no doubt that was a consideration; but the basic purpose of the order 
in council was to make an appraisal to determine as equitably as we could the 
equity of the Japanese people.

Q. Mind you, I do not make any objection to your stand, Mr. Murchison; I 
think it was your duty to make the best possible deal for the veterans; but I 
think that this committee is now considering the interest of the Japanese in this 
matter. That is all.

By Mr. Fleming:
Q. May I go back to one point? I think from what you have already said, 

Mr. Murchison, that it follows naturally that when you made those three sales to 
persons other than veterans at prices, I think, in all cases in advance of those 
paid in the block offer, you did not make any report on those sales to the cus­
todian?—A. No, I reported them to the Governor in Council.

Q. I am not saying whether you should or should not have; the fact of the 
matter is that you did not see any occasion to report that to the custodian? 
—A. No.

The Vice-Chairman: Are there any other questions?

By Mr. Cruickshank:
Q. Mr. Murchison, you endeavoured across Canada to buy property for the 

veterans, on behalf of the veterans, at as low a price as possible, did you not? 
—A. That was our effort.

The Vice-Chairman: Mr. Murchison—
Mr. Fleming: Nobody quarrels with that.
Mr. Cruickshank: Then I do not know what you are wasting all the time 

of this committee about.
Mr. Fleming: If it is not clear to my honourable friend he will learn by and 

by, if he keeps his ears open and uses another organ less.
Mr. Cruickshank: I do not have to take any abuse from any legal member 

from Toronto who has monopolized this whole meeting for political purposes.

By the Vice-Chainmin:
Q. Mr. Murchison, arising out of questions asked by Mr. Burton, I wonder 

if you could clear up one point to my satisfaction? You stated that you purchased 
these individual parcels of land at certain prices and then sold them at the same 
price or as near as possible?—A. Yes.

Q. In the event of your having to carry the lands for some considerable time 
and pay taxes, insurance and other sundry expenses, how would you debit those 
amounts?—A. They would have to be covered by our administration vote and 
absorbed by the department as a whole. I did not charge these tax disbursements 
against the lands in establishing the sale price to the veteran. That would
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have been an unsatisfactory policy to follow because in buying land at that time 
we did not know how long we would have to hold it before we sold it, and by 
pyramiding the cost of the land by tax disbursements for quite a period it could 
quite easily create a situation where the sales price of the land for the veteran 
would be in excess of its value.

By Mr. Probe:
Q. Would not any one of these lands be producing revenue during the time 

of final disposal?—A. There was revenue ; but unless I go into the details of the 
business I would say that the revenue received was not more than that required 
to meet ordinary carrying charges and taxes.

The Vice-Chairman: Gentlemen, if there are no further questions to be 
asked of this witness I will, with your approval, thanlc Mr. Murchison and 
release him. Now, Mr. Shears is here. Mr. Fleming, do you wish to ask any 
further questions of Mr. Shears?

Mr. Jaenicke: I do, Mr. Chairman.
The Vice-Chairman: Thank you very much, Mr. Murchison.

On page 17 there is the following quotation:—
Mr. Barnet felt that the proposed calling for public tenders on all 

properties and then giving the Soldier Settlement of Canada an oppor­
tunity to meet any individual bid might considerably embarrass the 
Soldier Settlement of Canada and might nullify their interest in the 
program—

Mr. Shears, was there any particular reason given as to why, at that time, 
values should not be disclosed?

The Witness: No, I do not think there was anything, of necessity, being 
hidden at that time. It was simply this; an appraisal had been made by the 
Soldier Settlement Board which Mr. Barnet had. They were starting negotiations 
for the purchase of this property. So, before saying, “Here are your 700 odd 
parcels against which is the price we are prepared to pay,” it was Mr. Barnet’s 
idea that should not be disclosed until an advisory committee on behalf of the 
custodian, first of all, came to a conclusion that they would consider the group 
offer from the Department of Veterans’ Land. Also, as indicated in the minutes, 
if the advisory committee of the custodian was going to make a valuation it 
would be better, in Mr. Barnet’s judgment, they should not know the price it 
was .intended to offer. First of all, the advisory committee, without knowing 
what the offer was, should obtain their own valuation.

By Mr. Jaenicke:
Q. Then, also on page 17,

Mr. Barnet indicated to Mr. McPherson that having given the matter 
considerable thought he felt that the Soldier Settlement of Canada by 
purchasing a 100 per cent of the properties might be able to re-group same 
and have more units available for returned men than they might obtain 
by individual purchases. In addition to this, a re-grouping would result 
in their having certain farms available for resale and he agreed that if 
any profit was made by the Soldier Settlement of Canada on such 
resale, provided the sales were made within an agreed period, the amount 
of the profit would be paid over to the custodian for the account of the 
former Japanese owner.

Mr. Barnet of course desires that it should be clearly understood 
by the committee that his opinion is not binding upon his department—

That is the point we discussed?—A. Yes. I do not want to throw out any 
misapprehensions here, and, in fairness to Mr. Barnet, it should be distinctly
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understood Mr. Barnet was not in attendance at any of these meetings. What 
you are reading from the minutes now is Mr. McPherson’s view.

Q. From page 18, I wish to quote the following:—
Mr. Barnet asked Mr. McPherson how the committee proposed to 

arrive at any values and Mr. McPherson stated that he thought the 
committee might be prepared to arrange for the making of spot valuations 
by taking a percentage of farms in each municipality—

Mr. McPherson stated that as a result of his discussion with Mr. 
Barnet he had not prepared a public notice of the proposed sale, nor had 
he given instructions for the preparation of a catalogue as he was 
instructed to do at the last meeting of the committee.

The chairman then called upon the members of the committee to 
express their opinion on the matter of the proposed 100 per cent sale.

Mr. MacKenzie stated that he thought that since the custodian’s 
policy generally was to advertise, if the custodian did not do so in this 
case, giving the public at least a chance to bid the committee might be 
subject to considerable criticism ... he was also of the opinion that 
there were many people waiting for the opportunity of buying this land 
and that they should be given an opportunity to do so.

Were there any offers received, any unsolicited offers received by your office 
for the sale of this land, Mr. Shears?—A. No, I would say not. It might be 
possible that some people had written in about the purchase of land, but they 
were not given any consideration until after this particular deal had been 
consummated. It was a month or two later than that that the properties 
generally were advertised and tenders called. No individual sale had been made 
by the custodian previous to that.

The Chairman : Mr. Jaenicke may I suggest to you, in all fairness, if 
you are quoting Mr. McPherson, you should complete the paragraph. I am not 
unmindful of what you said to Mr. Fleming.

Mr. Jaenicke: I do not want to be misinterpreted. I quoted the para­
graph in which Mr. Barnet stated it was clearly understood his opinion was 
not binding upon his department. I tried to be very fair and not try to pick 
out certain extracts.

The Chairman: I do not want to go all over this to put in the balance of the 
statements by Mr. McPherson, but I think the second portion of that paragraph 
you quoted has a direct bearing and would explain the reason for the first 
statement. If you do not wish to follow that policy, it is all right, but I thought 
I would suggest it to you.

Mr. Jaenicke: I have not all the minutes before me. I do not know 
what the paragraph is, but it is certainly satisfactory to me.

Mr. Cleaver : Following out your suggestion, Mr. Chairman, might it not 
be wise if, on any occasion the witness believes an additional sentence or con­
cluding paragraph should be added, to have the witness do that?

Mr. Jaenicke: I can assure the committee I am not doing this for any 
political purpose whatever. I believe we should be fair to the Japanese.

The Chairman: And to Mr. McPherson as well.
Mr. Jaenicke: I wish to be fair to all the officials.
Mr. Pinard: This paragraph to which the chairman was referring might be 

added now by the witness.
The Witness: “Mr. Barnet asked Mr. McPherson how the committee 

proposed to arrive at any values and Mr. McPherson stated that he thought 
the committee might be prepared to arrange for the making of spot valuations 
by taking a percentage of farms in each municipality and that prices valued in
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this way could then be prepared with the valuations of the Soldier Settlement of 
Canada and the percentage of difference estimated, and if agreed upon, such 
percentage could be added to the total purchase price.”

Mr. Jaenicke: Yes, I mentioned something like that previously. I come 
to that later, anyway. You refer in these minutes to a 100 per cent sale; what 
does that mean?

The Witness : That meant a 100 per cent sale of farm land in the Fraser 
Valley area.

By Mr. Jaenicke:
Q. One hundred per cent of the parcels or 100 per cent of the------ A. Of the

Japanese owned farm lands.
Q. Yes, but 100 per cent of the parcels or 100 per cent of the valuation of 

the S.S.B.?—A. It was really 100 per cent of the Japanese owned land in the 
valley with the exception, as has been pointed out by some member of the 
committee previously, there were a relatively few properties in that area which 
were somewhat expensive properties which were not suitable for the purposes for 
which these lands were being negotiated.

Q. On page 22 Mr. MacKenzie stated,—I will just read this into the record 
to show the attitude of some members of the committee.

Mr. MacKenzie stated that one of the principal objects of the com­
mittee was to see that there should be British fair play and that was the 
basis upon which he was prepared to consider the question and Mr. 
Yamaga could be assured that the committee would see that everything 
possible was done to protect the Japanese interests in their property.

What do they mean by “protecting Japanese interests”?—A. The advisory 
committee of the custodian was set up to give advice to the custodian and the 
custodian was there in the position of representing the Japanese evacuees. To 
that extent, I would say that the advisory committee did always have in mind 
the fair interest of the Japanese.

Q. So, what was meant was that a fair price should be obtained for the 
Japanese?—A. Yes, definitely.

Q. Now, I have some extracts from the minutes of the meeting held on 
May 19. I am reading from pages 25 and 26.

Mr. McPherson outlined the work that had been going on in Ottawa 
in regard to the Soldier Settlement of Canada. . . .

Mr. McPherson stated that the offer received was for $750,000. As 
previously mentioned he had only just obtained the statements which 
showed the basis on which this offer was made and that the statements 
were supplied on the condition that copies were not made.

On page 26 there is the following:
The offer covered 769 parcels.

Later, on the same page, there is the following:
The revenue from these lands at present under lease was approxi­

mately $83,000.
Mr. McPherson mentioned that the Soldier Settlement of Canada 

had appraised all these lands in 1942 upon the instructions of their min­
ister and Mr. Barnet stated at that time they did not know it was being 
done with a view to purchasing these lands.

Mr. McPherson said that he was placing this offer before the com­
mittee but that he did not wish to express any opinion as to whether he 
agreed with it or not. He thought that the committee should decide how 
they wished to check these valuations of the Soldier Settlement of Canada.
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Again, no copies were to be made. At that time, were valuations of the Soldier 
Settlement Board disclosed to the members of the committee?—A. This is the 
third meeting, is it?

Q. It is the third meeting on May 19.—A. Yes.
Q. I presume when Mr. McPherson talks about a statement supplied on 

condition copies were not made, it refers to the valuation by the Soldier Settle­
ment Board?—A. Precisely.

Q. Were the members of the committee given copies of it or were they 
advised erf the valuations at that time?—A. There was one copy lying on 
the table. It listed the 769 parcels and the values were placed opposite.

Q. Was there any promise made by the members not to disclose the values 
if they had seen them or something to that effect?—A. No, I do not recollect 
that.

Q. Then, on page 27------ A. Just a moment, it is suggested I should read
something in addition to what you have just quoted.

Mr. McPherson said he was placing this offer before the committee 
but that he did not wish to express any opinion as to whether he agreed 
with it or not. He thought that the committee should decide how they 
wished to check the valuations of the Soldier Settlement of Canada. 
He suggested that Mr. Yamaga’s property might be used as an example 
and he asked Mr. Yamaga what he would consider a fair price for his 
property so that it could be compared with the Soldier Settlement of 
Canada’s valuation. Mr. Yamaga said it depended upon the date the 
valuation was taken. If it was taken before May last, he would include 
his crop of raspberries and strawberries, thereby increasing the price by 
a few hundred dollars, but he thought about $2,000 would be a fair 
valuation. Reference to the Soldier Settlement’s statement showed their 
appraisal to be $1,614.

Q. I did not include that because we have, later on, the independent appraisal 
of the 17 parcels which I should like to place in evidence. I believe it works 
out to be about the same as Mr. Yamaga’s figure.

On page 27,
The chairman suggested that it might be well to have a subcommittee 

go out and value certain properties, taking a few from each municipality, 
and he suggested Mr. MacKenzie, Mr. Mcnzies and Mr. Yamaga could 
do this and report back to the committee at its next meeting and this 
was agreed to.

That committee was appointed and then went out to make its valuations, isn’t 
that right?—A. Yes.

Q. They made their report on May 24?—A. Yes.
Q. It is in the meeting of May 24 that you have the first letter from the 

Soldier Settlement of Canada offering $750,000 for the 769 parcels of land, 
upon certain conditions contained in that letter?—A. Yes.

Q. I think we should have this letter on the record. Mr. Fleming, I believe, 
wants it on the record.—A. This is the letter from Mr. I. T. Barnet, District 
Superintendent to the Custodian of Japanese property in the protected area in 
British Columbia, Vancouver, May 17, 1943. It is the one which commences:

On behalf of the directors—

By Mr. Pinard:
Q. What was the offer in that letter?—A. $750,000.
Mr. Pinard: If the offer was increased, I do not see the necessity for filing 

the letter.
Mr. Jaenicke: The terms were in that letter.
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Mr. Pinard: Due to the fact the offer was increased, I do not see the 
necessity for filing it.

Mr. Jaenicke: It came out in one of our meetings that there was a second 
offer then a third offer was made and the third offer, which was accepted, was 
not as good as the second offer. I referred to the terms in this letter.

Mr. Fleming: I think it would he just as well to have this letter go in if 
there is no objection to it. I referred to this letter in my questioning of Mr. 
Murchison at the last meeting. I think the letter should go in.

Mr. Pinard: I do not wish to enter any objection.
(The letter follows) :

SOLDIER SETTLEMENT OF CANADA
518 Rogers Building,
Vancouver, B.C., May 17, 1943.

The Custodian of Japanese Properties 
in the Protected Area in British 
Columbia, Vancouver, B.C.

Dear Sir: On behalf of the Director, the Veterans’ Land Act, and 
subject to Ottawa approval, I beg to submit an offer to purchase seven 
hundred and sixty-nine (769) parcels of land, together with all existing 
buildings and other improvements, tree, bush fruits, etc., growing thereon, 
more particularly described in the attached schedules (errors and omission 
excepted), and formerly occupied by persons of the Japanese race at and 
for the aggregate sum of Seven hundred and Fifty thousand ($750,000) 
Dollars subject to the following conditions:

(1) Delivery of title fee simple in the name of the Director, the 
Veterans’ Land Act, free from all encumbrances and setting forth legal 
boundaries in terms acceptable to the Director, and the Registrar of 
Land Titles for the district in which the land is situated ; delivery of 
titles to be completed by August 31, 1943 ;

(2) All taxes and charges to be paid or adjusted to May 31, 1943;
(3) Assignment to the Director, the Veterans’ Land Act, of all leases 

and unpaid rentals as at May 31, 1943;
(4) Assignment to the Director, the Veterans’ Land Act, of all exist­

ing fire insurance policies adjusted to May 31, 1943; (b) In the event of 
buildings having been removed, or destroyed by fire, subsequent to the 
appraisal made in 1942, the gross offer is to be reduced by the amount of 
the appraised value of the said buildings as established by the Director, 
the Veterans’ Land Act;

(5) In the event of the Custodian being unable to deliver titles to any 
of the lands listed in the attached schedules, the gross offer herein is to be 
reduced by the amount of the appraised value of such lands as established 
by the Director, the Veterans’ Land Act, in the appraisal reports made in 
1942;

(6) Possession upon delivery of titles subject only to condition 
number three (3) above;

(7) Acceptance of this offer, in writing, within thirty (30) days.
Yours very truly,

(Sgd.) I. T. BARNET,
District Superintendent.

89322—2
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By Mr. Jaenicke:
Q. Then, I wish to refer to the report of the subcommittee appointed to 

appraise the 17 properties. There are 17 properties which the committee valued 
at $43,100 and the S.S.B. valuation was $28,232. I find there are two appraisals 
made by the S.S.B. which are higher than the committee’s and those are in the 
municipality of Mission. I may say there were four parcels in the municipality 
of Surrey, five in Maple Ridge, four in Mission, two in Pitt Meadows and two 
in Matsqui.

The minutes read as follows:
It was noted that the valuation made by the committee was approxi­

mately 50 per cent above that offered by the Soldier Settlement of Canada. 
A. If you would permit me, for the purpose of the record, I should like to say 
that this valuation was made—is the date specified? In any event, it would be 
May or June of 1943, and the reference to the Soldier Settlement valuation 
would, of course, take it back to May of 1942.

Q. The committee’s valuation was made a little less than a year, say about 
ten months, after the Soldier Settlement valuation was made?—A. Yes.

Q. On page 32 of the minutes there is the following:
The chairman then asked for consideration to be given to the price 

and terms offered by the Soldier Settlement of Canada.
The feeling of all the members of the committee was that the offer 

was too low. Mr. MacKenzie pointed out that their committee had made 
what they considered a conservative valuation of the 17 properties which 
they had inspected and some members of the subcommittee considered 
that their valuations could have been somewhat higher.

I have no questions to ask on that. I just put it in as an observation.
I read from the next page,

At this point Mr. McPherson mentioned that the Regional Committee 
of the Veterans’ Land Act were at present meeting in New Westminster 
and that it might be possible to invite them to the meeting and discuss 
their offer.

Later, on page 34, the minutes apparently show the arrival of the committee.
At this point representatives of the Regional Board of the Veterans’ 

Land Act joined the meeting. The following attended :
Mr. T. Godfrey
Mr. E. Carncross
Mr. J. J. MacLennan.

There is an excerpt I wish to read from page 35 of the minutes.
After considerable discussion the advisory committee indicated that 

they might be prepared to accept an offer of $900,000 cash. Mr. Godfrey, 
on behalf of the Veterans’ Land Committee stated that they would be 
prepared to offer $800,000. The chairman suggested that it might be 
well for the two committees to consider a compromise of $850,000.

I presume, Mr. Shears, there was considerable discussion between the two com­
mittees?—A. Yes, there was.

Q. You would have a difficult time noting the different persons’ opinions and 
observations at that time?—A. Yes. I think this meeting lasted for two or 
three hours and this is really the meat of the discussion.

Q. You suggest that the advisory committee was prepared to accept $900,000 
cash. Can you recollect as to whether that was a unanimous opinion or decision 

of the advisory committee?—A. It was not put to a vote.
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Q. I am asking for your opinion ; do you think it was unanimous or did 
Mr. Yamaga object?—A. No, Mr. Yamaga did not specifically object at this 
meeting.

By Mr. Stewart (Winnipeg North).:
Q. He was at this meeting, was he?—A. He was there at this meeting, I 

will just check up, but I feel sure he was. Yes, Mr. Yamaga was there.
Q. The advisory committee tried to get the best possible price, I presume, 

and the soldiers’ representatives tried to get the smallest possible price?— 
A. Yes.

Q. And no decision was made at that meeting?—A. No, not at that meeting.
Q. Then in the extracts of the meeting of the 1st of June, on page 36 there 

is a letter from Mr. Yamaga to his honour Judge Whiteside which I will read into 
the record:

Vancouver, B.C.,
May 26, 1943.

Hon. Judge Whiteside,
Chairman of Advisory Committee

for Liquidation of Japanese Property,
New Westminster, B.C.
Honourable Sir: Judging from the atmosphere of the meeting held on 

24 May at Mr. McKenzie’s office New Westminster I fear the outcome 
of the Custodian’s negotiation with Soldier Settlement Board seems to 
bring unfair result to the Japanese owners and continuation of my service 
is no longer necessary.

Therefore I tender my resignation as a member of your committee.
Yours truly,

(Sgd.) Y. YAMAGA.”

Now with respect to the “atmosphere” of the meeting of the 24th of May 
was there a tendency to give in to the Soldiers Settlement people?—A. No, I 
would say the only possible reference there was a suggestion that some offer of 
less than the value of the Soldier Settlement Board would be given considera­
tion. I think it is fair to say here this letter came as a surprise to the committee 
when it was received. I mean to say that it was the feeling of the advisory 
committee, by and large, that Mr. Yamaga was not only in favour of the 
principle but that he did not express any radical opposition to the way the matter 
was being conducted. I do admit this letter would belie that statement.

Q. Now then there is a letter on page 38 from Mr. McPherson to Mr. Barnet. 
I do not know whether anyone else wants the whole letter put on the record but 
it is simply an explanation by Mr. McPherson to Mr. Barnet as to the hap­
penings in the committee and he indicated the committee would be pleased 
to recommend an offer of $1,000.000 with ten per cent reduction.

Mr. Fleming: For cash?
Mr. Jaenicke: Yes, for cash.
Mr. Fleming: I suggest that the whole letter go in.
Mr. Jaenicke: I was only picking out the last paragraph but if the whole 

letter goes in it is fine with me. On the same date Mr. Barnet wrote Mr. 
McPherson a letter, that is on page 38 and I presume that letter can go in.

The Vice-Chairman: Is it agreed that both letters shall go in?
Agreed.

89322—2i
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25th May, 1943.
Mr. I. T. Barnet,
The Soldier Settlement of Canada,
Rogers Building,
Vancouver, B.C.

Re: Japanese Agricultural Lands
Dear Sir: I have your letter of May 25 and your suggestion that 

I should advise you what offer the Custodian’s committee is prepared 
to accept.

It is, of course, understood that the Custodian’s committee will only 
recommend that the Custodian accept a satisfactory offer, and on this 
basis I would advise you that the committee indicated that they would 
be prepared to recommend acceptance of an offer of $1,000.000 with a 
possible reduction of 10 per cent for cash. I would appreciate your advice 
as to whether or not you are prepared to make an amended offer which 
could be submitted to the Custodian’s committee for their further 
consideration.

In the discussions yesterday the committee were advised that the 
Soldier Settlement of Canada are considered as official appraisers for 
various government departments, and in view of this expressed the opinion 
that your offer should at least be in the neighbourhood of your own 
appraised value, which they believe to be $867.000. I am of the personal 
opinion that if you make an offer of approximately somewhere between 
$850.000 and $900,000 the committee would be prepared to give it at 
least favourable consideration.

Yours truly,
(Sgd.) w. g. McPherson,

Executive Assistant.
Soldier Settlement of Canada

518 Rogers Building,

Vancouver. B.C., May 25, 1943.
G. W. McPherson, Esq.,
Custodian of Enemy Property,
675 Hastings' Street, W.,
Vancouver, B.C.

Japanese Agricultural Lands
Dear Sir: I have for acknowledgment your letter of May 25 in which 

you indicate that you believe your committee is prepared to favourably 
consider an offer in the neighbourhood of $850,000.

You will recall that when you first invited an offer on these lands 
I expressed the opinion that we would only be interested in a part of 
them and, when your committee was so informed, they indicated that 
favourable consideration would be given if an offer was received en bloc 
apart from schools, churches, co-operative plants, etc.

It has always been an accepted fact that the buyer who takes a 
large block of properties is entitled to discount for cash of from at least 
ten to twenty-five per cent. I am advised by my regional advisory com­
mittee that they offered your committee $800,000 yesterday for these 
lands in an attempt to close the transaction.
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On further consideration I beg to offer the sum of Eight Hundred 
and Twenty-five Thousand ($825,000) Dollars for the said lands on 
the terms and conditions set out in our letter of May 17.

Yours very truly,
(Sgd.) I. T. BARNET,

District Superintendent.

Mr. Jaenicke: Then there is a letter on page 40 from Mr. McPherson 
to Mr. Murchison.

The Witness: You mean Mr. Murchison to Mr. McPherson do you not? 
Mr. Jaenicke: Yes, I am sorry, from Mr. Murchison to Mr. McPherson. 

It is dated May 29. Do you want that letter to go in?
Mr. Fleming: It may as well.
The Vice-Chairman: I should think it should go in.

SOLDIER SETTLEMENT AND VETERANS’ LAND ACT 
Office of the Director

Ottawa, May 29, 1943.

G. W. McPherson, Esq.,
Executive Assistant, Office of the Custodian,
Department of the Secretary of State,
Ottawa.

Dear Mr. McPherson,—I have received your letter of the 28th 
instant advising me that the custodian is not prepared to accept our offer 
of $825,000 for the lands more particularly described in the schedules 
which accompanied our original offer in writing, dated May 17.

Advice received from Mr. Barnet at Vancouver indicates that your 
Vancouver committee consider these particular lands are worth approxi­
mately one and one-quarter million dollars, and I may advise you 
frankly that the director, the Veterans’ Land Act, is not interested in these 
lands at that figure.

My position in this matter differs materially from that of an ordinary 
purchaser for the following reasons:

1. A firm offer for cash has been made ftir 769 parcels of property and 
I have no reason to believe there is any other single agency or person in 
the market for that number of parcels.

2. Our appraisement of these lands was made on the basis of ordinary 
terms of sale and without regard to any temporary boom or speculative 
values brought about by a state of war. The offer which has been made 
represents only a minor cash discount on our valuations, and in ordinary 
land transactions a fair discount on ordinary terms for cash purchase is 
not uncommon.

3. The buildings on many of these properties are of cheap construc­
tion. Many of them are in poor repair and subject to more than ordinary 
risks of depreciation.

4. The offer to purchase these lands is made for the purpose of using 
them for the re-establishment of Canadian veterans after the war. Few of 
these properties can be used for this purpose without additional expendi­
ture for the repair of existing buildings or the erection of new homes 
suitable for the occupation of a Canadian veteran and his family.
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5. No one knows when the war will end, but if the lands are acquired 
now I must assume responsibility for the cost of administration, annual 
taxes, fire insurance, and depreciation, with no definite assurance that 
revenue from these lands will meet ordinary carrying charges.

As stated above, the director is not interested in acquiring these 
lands at the values which seem to exist in the minds of at least some of the 
members of your Vancouver committee, but with a view to closing this 
transaction, I am prepared to increase our latest offer by $25,000 to a 
total of $850,000, subject to the same terms and conditions which were 
set out in our xvritten offer on May 17. This is the final offer I am 
prepared to make for these particular properties in bulk.

I would appreciate your final decision in this matter at your earliest 
convenience.

Yours very truly,
(Sgd.) G. MURCHISON,

Director.

Mr. Jaenicke: And the part I am drawing to your attention is this “I am 
prepared to increase our latest offer by $25,000 to a total of $850,000 subject to 
the same terms and conditions as set out in our written offer of May 17.”

Then on page 41 we have a portion of the minutes which I think is rather 
singular. The committee stated the reasons as to why they would accept the 
offer and I should like to put this on the record and I quote from the minutes.

Mr. Fleming: Would you read the whole motion? I think the extract should 
be given at the top of the page where it says “after the committee had discussed,” 
etc.

After the committee had discussed the correspondence and the 
amended offer.

It was moved by Mr. MacKenzie and seconded bv Mr. Menzies— 
That having duly considered the revised offer of the Soldier Settle­

ment of Canada for the purchase of 769 parcels of land with all existing 
buildings and other improvements, trees, bush fruits, etc., more particu­
larly described in the attached schedules and formerly occupied by persons 
of the Japanese race for the sum of Eight Hundred and Fifty Thousand 
Dollars ($850,0001.

Having in view :
(а) That this committee concurs in the policy of liquidation of Japanese 

properties in the Protected Area of British Columbia as provided for 
in order in council P.C. 469.

(б) The purpose for which such lands are required.
(c) That the offer is not for selected individual parcels but for a block 

of 769 parcels which include a large proportion of uncultivated land 
and a considerable amount of bush land.

(d) That while the appraisals of 17 farms made by this committee were 
in excess of the appraisals of the Soldier Settlement of Canada that 
it was realized that present values are enhanced due to war conditions 
and do not represent ordinary land values as in normal times.

(e) That the present offer is for cash and can therefore be reasonably 
expected to be less than the appraised value in view of the interest 
which may accrue by investment of the purchase funds.

(/) That the Custodian will be relieved of the cost of administration, 
taxes, fire insurance, depreciation.
This committee is therefore of the opinion that the offer of Eight 

Hundred and Fifty Thousand Dollars ($850,000) is fair and reasonable 
and recommends to the Custodian the acceptance of same subject to the 
terms of their offer.
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The vote on this resolution was unanimous and it was agreed that 
the offer and recommendation should be written in the-minutes and signed 
by the committee and a copy be supplied to each member for his own 
record.

By Mr. Jaenicke:
Q. Consideration all of these clauses, a, b, c, d, e, and / does that not sound 

something like an apology for having accepted an offer that was not really a 
good one?—A. This was the conclusion which the committee arrived at and 
there was justification for recommending to the custodian that the offer be 
accepted.

Q. It appears there was some verbal discussion and then there is also a 
letter on record from the secretary of state, Mr. McLarty, to Mr. Murchison, 
dated June 22, 1943 and this letter defines the terms that were changed and I 
would like to have this letter on the record. It is on page 44.

Ottawa, June 23, 1943.
Gordon Murchison Esq.,
Director, Veterans’ Land Act,
Ottawa, Canada.

Re: Japanese Evacuee Lands
Dear Sir,—Your offer to purchase seven hundred and sixty-nine 

(769) parcels of land for eight hundred and fifty thousand ($850,000) 
dollars, subject to the terms and conditions set forth in your Mr. Barnet’s 
letter of May 17, as amended by your letter of May 29, is hereby accepted 
subject to the following conditions which I understand Mr. McPherson 
has discussed with you and with which you agree. These conditions are 
as follows:

1. All taxes, charges and fire insurance for the crop year of 1943 
will be assumed by you.

2. All rents paid or payable for the crop year 1943 will be assigned 
to you less such adjustments as may be necessary to take care of any 
taxes, charges or fire insurance paid for the 1943 crop year.

3. All existing lease agreements covering the lands included in your 
offer will be assigned to you by a general assignment, you already having 
duplicate copies of all such leases.

I would appreciate receiving a letter from you confirming these 
variations in the conditions of your offer.

Yours very truly,
(Sgd) N. A. McLARTY 

Secretary of State.

Q. The point which I would bring out is contained in the paragraph which 
reads :

All rents paid or payable for the crop year 1943 will be assigned to 
you less such adjustments as may be necessary to take care of any taxes, 
charges or fire insurance paid for the 1943 crop year.

You heard Mr. Murchison’s evidence at the last meeting?—A. Yes.
Q. And he seems to claim he got à better deal with $850,000 with adjust­

ments of rent and so on than he would have in the offer of $825,000? Do you 
agree with that?—A. All I can say in that connection is that it was only 
at this time that the Vancouver office received word of the final arrangements
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which had been made. A copy of Mr. McLarty’s letter was sent to the 
Vancouver office indicating that the deal was to be made on the basis of $850,000 
and adjustments were to be made as of January 1, 1943.

The Vice-Chairman: It is agreed that this letter shall go in?
Agreed.
Mr. Fleming: I think that the letter is already on the record. It was put 

in by Mr. Shears at a previous meeting.
Mr. Burton: It will be just as well to have it put in here.
Mr. Fleming: For continuity.

By Mr. Jaenicke:
Q. Your committee was not consulted regarding the terms of sale?—A. Not 

at that date.
Q. As far as you were concerned you were selling at $850,000 and the adjust­

ment was to be made as of May?—A. That was the committee’s recommendation.
Q. On page 64 there is one little paragraph that I would like to put on the 

record. It is an extract from the minutes of the meeting held on January 13, 1944.
Mr. Fleming: Did you say page 64?
Mr. Jaenicke: Yes.

Mr. Shears referred to a recent visit he had made to Ottawa and 
advised the committee that it was now the wish of the custodian that in 
view of the fact that the director, the Veterans’ Land Act was not likely 
to be interested in any further properties that an orderly liquidation of the 
balance of the properties vested in the custodian should be proceeded with.

What did you have in mind by “an orderly liquidation”?—A. Just this, and 
I think this should go on the record. The Soldiers’ Settlement appraisal or the 
order in council authorizing it was made in June of 1942. There was order 
in council, P.C. 469 of the 19th of January 1943 which, for the first time, clarified 
the custodian’s powers to include a policy of liquidation. Up to that time, 
although it was set out under order in council it was not the policy of the 
custodian to liquidate any property. The first liquidation of properties was this 
deal which at this stage had been consummated with the director of the Veterans’ 
Land Act. That, being completely out of the way, advice was then received 
that it would be in order now, under P.C. 469, to proceed with the sale of the 
other properties to individuals and therefore you "have the use of the expression, 
“orderly liquidation”.

Mr. Pinard: If I may interject, you have referred to P.C. 469 which has not 
been tabled. I suggest that it also be put in the record.

By Mr. Jaenicke:
Q. Mr. Shears, I am not laying any blame on you whatsoever. I think you 

have done a good job but this word “orderly”, does it not imply that the other 
liquidation was “disorderly” at least; or extraordinary?—A. The difference was 
as follows. Here was a group sale which had been made and I came to the 
committee and I passed on the information that the rest of the properties should 
be sold and that they were to be sold under the management of myself as 
director of the office and that it was to be proceeded with in an orderly manner. 
That would then bring in the question of the advertising and the calling for 
tenders and so on, matters which have all been referred to before this committee.

The Vice-Chairman: Do you think the expression “continued orderly 
manner”, would be better?

The Witness: Yes.
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By Mr. Cruickshank:
Q. I wonder if Mr. Shears has information as to the total acreage of those 

Japanese farms?—A. I am awfully sorry that I have not, sir. It has been 
established that there were approximately 10,000 acres involved in this particular 
deal.

Q. Have you any idea as to how many acres were under cultivation and 
how many acres were mountainous and on the side of hills? I wonder if you 
could tell us that for the benefit of my long-haired friends who have not seen 
a berry-farm?—A. In this particular deal, as I said, there were about 10,000 
acres of which about 4,000 were cultivated.

Q. Have you any idea how many acres were on the side of hills and 
mountains and so on?—A. I have driven through the country and I have seen 
that quite a few of them are on the side of hills.

Q. You are familiar with what I am referring to?—A. They are on the sides 
of hills, yes.

The Vice-Chairman : Are you through Mr. Cruickshank?

By Mr. Cruickshank:
Q. What I am driving at, Mr. Chairman, is this. The valuations are being 

questioned, the values of these farm lands at that time and at later periods, and 
I am asking Mr. Shears if he agrees that at that time there was no demand for 
this class of land on the general market? Is that correct as far as you know? 
—A. As far as I am aware there had been no keen demand for those properties 
at that time.

Q. Then you will agree, I presume, that class of land requires a lot of 
labour?—A. That is definitely true.

Q. And do you agree that at that time the labour was not available in the 
province of British Columbia? What I am driving at Mr. Chairman, is this. 
I think there is no dispute about it. If this land had been thrown on the open 
market it would not have been in great demand, except in one or two cases.

Mr. Jaenicke: That is not borne out by the minutes.
Mr. Cruickshank: It may not be borne out by the minutes but it may 

be borne out by some of us who belong to British Columbia.
Mr. Stewart: It is certainly not what I have gathered.
Mr. Cruickshank: Are you questioning the veracity of this gentleman 

and the evidence before this committee?
Mr. Stewart : I am going to take whdt I see in the minutes and I have my 

own idea of what you say.

By Mr. Cruickshank:
Q. I made the statement that this class of farm land was not in demand 

in that period. Am I not correct in that Mr. Shears?—A. I could not answer 
that question because as far as the custodian was concerned it had not been put 
to anv proof at all. It had not been tested out. I will say this however, when 
the Japanese were evacuated, in cooperation with the Pacific Cooperative Union 
and other unions, tenants were put on all these farms and many of them turned 
out to be not particularly satisfactory tenants.

Mr. Jaenicke: But you did collect $83,000 in rentals for that period, or 
approximately that amount?

The Witness: The rentals were about that much.
Mr. Cruickshank: In my opinion, coming from that district, these farms 

were not in demand at that time. Also I do not think the class of labour was 
available to farm the farms at that time. In other words, if you get $100
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an acre for a piece of land at that time, and I am using the $100 only as a 
figure of speech, two years later you might have got $200. I think you will 
agree that is fair.

Mr. Fleming: May I, for the benefit of my friend, the honourable mem­
ber from Fraser Valley who has seen a berry-farm, read an extract from page 31 
of these minutes which reads: “In reply to an enquiry from Mr. Yamaga, Mr. 
Shears stated that the 769 properties contain a total acreage of 9,859 acres of 
which 3,959 acres were cultivated and that the total assessed value was 
$1,225,703”.

That is just read in passing, but to complete the record may I cover four 
or five extracts which I think have not been read and which I think ought to 
go in to complete the record. The first extract is on page 11.

The Vice-Chairman : Will you give the full quotation in each case, Mr. 
Fleming?

Mr. Fleming: Yes. This is from the minutes of the meeting of March 15, 
1943 and it begins:

In order that the work of the committee might not be delayed, a 
general discussion took place as to the best method of advertising and 
the policy adopted by the custodian in the liquidation of motor vehicles, 
where a general advertisement was published and a catalogue prepared 
for examination, was considered and it was felt that subject to the 
decision of the Soldier Settlement of Canada, this might be a suitable 
policy to adopt in this case.

Mr. MacKenzie expressed the opinion that all sales should be for 
cash although he was of the opinion that such a ruling by the committee 
might result in considerable curtailment in the number of sales.

As to the method of valuing the property, Mr. McPherson pointed 
out that the Soldier Settlement of Canada had surveyed the property and 
valued same but that their values were as prospective purchasers and 
not vendors.

I turn now to page 19, an extract from the minutes of the meeting of 
March 18:

Mr. McPherson explained that the reasons why the Custodian 
adopted a policy of advertising enemy property were first to ascertain 
the market value, and thereby have an answer for the enemy owner as 
to the value received for his property, and secondly to avoid any criti­
cism by the public that by private sales individual persons in Canada had 
been given priority over the public generally. He pointed out that this 
policy was not to be interpreted that the Custodian recognized that any 
individual in Canada had any right to buy property from the Custodian 
or to demand that sales be made by public notice. He also pointed out 
that in many cases sales were made to government departments, pro­
vincial and dominion at appraised values without any public notice being 
given where it was considered that articles for sale could be of use in 
Canada’s war effort. For example, the sale of motor vehicles to the 
R.C.M. Police prior to the publication of a notice calling for tenders 
generally.

Mr. McPherson stated that a sale to the Soldier Settlement of 
Canada could not be eritized by any individual on the grounds that he 
had a right to bid against the Soldier Settlement of Canada and he was 
of the definite opinion that for patriotic reasons no private citizen in 
Canada could complain of a sale to the Soldier Settlement of Canada, the 
purpose of such sale being to rehabilitate returned soldiers. He suggested 
to the committee that in considering the desirability of adopting a

i
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policy of a bulk sale to the Soldier Settlement of Canada they should 
keep in mind the fact that the Custodian as a trustee for the Japanese 
evacuees is not primarily concerned with any supposed rights of white 
people to purchase their lands.

Then, on page 27. an extract from the minutes of the meeting of May 19. 
There was an extract read from this page, hut I should like to read this portion 
to complete the paragraph.

Mr. Mackenzie said that he could not understand why Mr. Barnet did 
not wish copies of his figures to be made.

May I interpolate at this point, this goes back to the discussion as to why 
the appraisals from the Soldier Settlement Board were not made available to 
the committee.

He thought that each member of the committee should have a copy so 
as to be able to make a thorough check. However, Mr. McPherson sug­
gested that in order to get an independent valuation the farms should be 
valued without seeing the list received from Mr. Barnet.

Then, on page 34, a sentence or two was read from this page, but I think 
the balance of the page ought to be read. The extract which was read was to 
this effect :

At this point representatives of the Regional Board of the Veterans’ 
Land Act joined the meeting.

This is the meeting, Mr. Chairman, of May 24. “The following attended ; 
then, it gives the names of the three men. The minutes then read as follows:

Mr. Godfrey outlined the methods under which they had made their 
appraisals and that the appraisers were considered to be exceedingly well 
qualified. He stated that their appraisals were not made by snap judg­
ment but after thorough investigation and survey and he stated that 
valuations had not been made with the idea that the Soldier Settlement 
of Canada would be prospective purchasers and that he considered their 
offer of $750,000 very fair.

Mr. Carncross also stated that the appraisers were well known to him 
and were trained and experienced men. He stated that if the war continued, 
revenues would be offset by taxes, depreciation and administration costs. 
While he believed the appraisers’ values of $867,000 could be considered an 
accurate and fair valuation, it included a lot of property which would be 
unsuitable for their purpose and require a great amount of rehabilitation 
and in view of the fact that their offer was for cash he considered that 
$750,000 wras a good offer.

Mr. J. J. MacLennan stated that only about 10 per cent of the Japanese 
properties were low land.

Those, Mr. Chairman, are statements from the three representatives of the 
Soldier Settlement of Canada.

On page 53, we have a letter written by Mr. Shears to Mr. Barnet dated 
October 30, 1943. It does not relate to the sale of the 769 parcels but perhaps 
it might be just as simple to put in the whole letter. I am concerned with one 
sentence in it.

1 he committee assume that the appraisals—
I take it that that is the Custodian’s committee.

—the appraisals were made on the same basis as before and they were 
definitely of the opinion that such appraisals were very conservative as 
to value.
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Now, Mr. Chairman, that leaves just two matters about which I should like to 
ask, with your approval.

The Chairman: The whole letter will go in, gentlemen. (The following is 
the full text of the letter.)

30 October, 1943.
I. T. Barnet, Esq.,
District Superintendent,
Soldier Settlement Board and Veterans’ Land Act,
518 Rogers Building,
Vancouver, B.C.

Dear sir: Your letters of October 4 and your two letters of October 13 
were duly received in which on behalf of the Director, The Veterans’ 
Land Act you submitted an offert as follows:—

No. of Properties 
33 

* 11 
1

Appraised Value 
$ 39,329.00 

6,834.00 
584.00

Offer
$ 35,000.00 

6,500.00 
500.00

$ 46,747.00 $ 42,000.00

These offers have been considered by the advisory committee under 
the chairmanship of Judge Whiteside.

The appraised value of the 769 parcels of land included in the recent 
deal with the Veterans’ Land Act was $867,000, the purchase price being 
$850,000. The advisory committee pointed out that the difference was 
approximately 2 per cent.

As noted the above total appraised value of the properties now 
under consideration is $46,747 and your offer is $42,000, an approximate 
difference of 10 per cent.

The committee assume that the appraisals were made on the same 
basis as before and they were definitely of the opinion that such appraisals 
were very conservative as to value.

They feel unable to recommend to the Custodian that your offer be 
accepted but if you would revise it and agree to purchase all the properties 
on your list to which the Custodian is able to deliver title, at 2 per cent 
less than the appraised value, they would be prepared to favourably 
consider such an offer.

I would therefore be glad if you would advise whether or not the 
Director, The Veterans’ Land Act would be interested in the purchase of 
these properties on the basis suggested and if so we will take the matter 
up further and recommend the acceptance of same to our department 
at Ottawa.

Yours truly,
(Signed) F. G. SHEARS, 

Director.

By Mr. Fleming:
Q. On page 41, Mr. Jaenicke asked Mr. Shears some questions about the 

minutes and the resolution approving the acceptance of the offer from the 
Soldier Settlement Board. I have a question or two on that. Mr. Shears, 
was this resolution prcparad in advance of the meeting?—A. No, it was not 
prepared—at the conclusion of the meeting, a draft was made, with all the 
members present. Those are the points that they wanted emphasized and, later
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than that, I think the chairman, Judge Whiteside, incorporated the whole thing 
in his recommendation to the Honourable Secretary of State. It was not pre­
pared, it was prepared from the meeting.

Q. Does it come down to this, then, the resolution which is quite a formal 
resolution, is it not?—A. Yes, and it was suggested it should be formal since 
this was the conclusion of the whole matter, and I think it states each member 
should have a copy of it.

Q. What I understand you to say is that this formal resolution was not 
prepared in advance of the meeting. There was a discussion at the meeting and 
the committee decided on the course it would take and the formal resolution was 
drafted?—A. Drafted, yes.

Q. Subsequently it incorporated in the minutes what was decided on 
there?—A. That is correct, the chairman and other members of the committee 
signed that particular part.

Q. The other question has to do with chattels which is one question on 
which you made some statements in earlier meetings before the committee as to 
the advisability of inventorying the chattels. There is an extract on page 10 
of the minutes upon which I should like to invite your comment, Mr. Shears. 
This is from the minutes of the meeting of March 15:

“Mr. Menzies stated that there was a very good market for second 
hand furniture at the present time and Mr. MacKenzie asked it there 
was a complete inventory of all chattels available. Mr. Wright explained 
that in view of the uncertainty as to whether or not the chattels were 
to be shipped, the Custodian had not considered it necessary or advisable 
to make a complete inventory of all farm chattels. Mr. Wright pointed 
out that in many cases chattels were stored in a particular room by the 
Japanese himself and they had not been disturbed and the Custodian 
did not feel he should accept the responsibility of inventorying them 
since this might prejudice his position in case the chattels were removed 
either by the tenant or some other persons over whom the Custodian had 
little control.

Mr. Shears pointed out that considerable inventorying had been 
done and could be proceeded with if a policy of sale were adopted.

Now, I invite your comment on that statement, Mr. Shears. It has been 
indicated that there was some inventorying of farm chattels done. It was 
done, in the first instance, on a voluntary basis, but reading that minute one 
would almost infer that you had expressed the opinion that an inventory of 
chattels was practicable. Would you care to make a comment on that?—A. Was 
practicable?

Q. Yes.—A. I do not know whether I get your point regarding that. Com­
plete inventories were not made in the first instance. One reason was that up 
until January 1943 there was no suggestion that there should be a liquidation 
of the chattels and therefore if the Japanese left his articles stored with a 
particular person an itemized inventory was not taken but what I did suggest I 
think, in my previous reference, and I wonder if you mind reading it again—

Q. You mean the whole reference?—A. No, just mine.
Q. “Mr. Shears pointed out considerable inventorying had been done and 

could be proceeded with if a policy of sale were adopted.”—A. Yes.
Q. Now the previous paragraph contains information given by Mr. Wright 

which seems to suggest that a full inventory of the chattels would not be 
practicable and the custodian did not accept responsibility for any inventory 
and you are expressing the opinion that the inventory was practicable and it 
could be proceeded with if desired?—A. Yes, if liquidation became a policy. I 
think Mr. Wright was probably emphasizing the fact that in view of the



226 STANDING COMMITTEE

individuals status quo there was no particular need for an inventory up to that 
time but once we proceeded with the policy of liquidation we had to know what 
we were selling and inventories had to be taken.

Mr. Cruickshank: Did that include trucks?
Mr. Fleming: Are you asking me that?
Mr. Cruickshank: No, I am not.
Mr. Fleming: There is no reference made to trucks, it speaks of farm 

chattels.
Mr. Cruickshank: I would like the point cleared up.
The Witness: Cars and trucks had previously been taken over by the Royal 

Canadian Mounted Police and had been disposed of.
Mr. Cruickshank: They were separate?
The Witness: They were separate from these chattels we are referring to 

now. In connection with matter of chattels and the taking of inventories it 
certainly is true that in many cases the Japanese left many quantities of chat­
tels placed in the care of individuals and there again, up to that stage of pro­
ceedings, the custodian had not stepped in to take accurate inventories.

By Mr. Fleming:
Q. Mr. Chairman, I think there is this final point to be raised. We have 

had reference in the early testimony this morning by Mr. Shears to the effect 
that P.C. 469, dated January 19, 1943, in effect withdrew the freezing of this 
property for the Soldier Settlement of Canada which had been imposed by 
P.C. 5523, dated June 29, 1942.—A. Right.

Q. Now here is the custodian’s committee meeting of March 15, 1943, two 
months after order in council number 4679 was made. In effect the freezing is 
lifted and yet we find this statement appearing in the minutes on page 8:

The position of the Soldier Settlement of Canada was then outlined 
by Mr. McPherson and he stated that it was his understanding in the 
meetings held at Ottawa, at which the chairman attended, that it was 
definitely indicated that as a matter of policy it was the government’s 
desire that the Soldier Settlement of Canada should have the first option 
to purchase any or all property if they so desired. The chairman stated 
that this was also his understanding of the situation. Mr. McPherson 
pointed out, however, that while the Soldier Settlement of Canada had a 
first option to purchase, it did not necessarily follow that they could pur­
chase at their price, that any sales to the Soldier Settlement of Canada 
would be for a reasonable price and that the custodian was anxious that 
the committee should consider and approve of any such sales.

Mr. MacKenzie requested information as to how the Soldier Settle­
ment of Canada had come into the picture at all and Mr. McPherson 
explained that a special order in council was passed giving them authority 
to make a survey of the Japanese agricultural lands and that it further 
provided that they had the right to veto any dealings with such land.

Now why, two months after the repeal of P.C. 5523, is the committee still 
recorded as talking in terms of an imposition of a veto on lands when the veto 
has been removed? Why, in particular, do we have a statement that the present 
policy of the government, as of March, 1943, is that the Soldier Settlement of 
Canada should have the first option to purchase?—A. I think what Mr. 
McPherson was doing at that meeting was explaining to the committee just 
what, had happened in the past. From the time of the order in council setting 
up the Soldier Settlement valuation, the Custodian was entirely removed from 
the picture. We were not able to lease property, nor rent property under that 
particular order in council. That had to be done by the Soldier Settlement. I 
think Mr. McPherson was pointing out to the committee that during the period 
under which order in council P.C. 5523 was in effect, the Custodian was entirely
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withdrawn from the picture. On the introduction of P.C. 469 on January 9, 
1943, the Custodian was back in the picture and Mr. McPherson came from 
Ottawa to say to the committee, “Now, at this time, the government is con­
sidering an offer which may be received from the Veterans’ Land to'purchase this 
land. It is the policy that this land should be sold.”

Q. Perhaps we can shorten it up, Mr. Chairman, this way : Even having 
regard for P.C. 469 and the repeal of P.C. 5523, it was still government policy 
that this land should not be offered freely to the public, but that it should be 
sold to the Soldier Settlement of Canada?—A. I think that is true, but I would 
also say, so far as the Vancouver office was concerned, it was not government 
policy at that time that any property should be sold. It was not until July, 
1943, that the general policy of liquidation became effective.

Q. We can go at least this far; it was government policy there should not 
be any sale to the public?—A. That is true.

Q. Of these farm lands?—A. Of these farm lands or any other lands.
The Chaibman : Gentlemen, is it your pleasure that I now excuse Mr. 

Shears? We propose next Tuesday, with the approval of the steering committee, 
to have a representative here of the Japanese cooperative committee.

Mr. Jaenicke: Should not Mr. Shears stay here in order to answer any 
assertions that gentlemen might make?

The Chairman: I thought perhaps Dr. Coleman or other members of the 
department could answer those questions.

Dr. Coleman : I think Mr. Wright would be competent to do that. He was 
in the Vancouver office from 1942 to 1945.

The Chairman: I think Mr. Shears can be excused.
The committee adjourned at 1.10 p.m. to meet again on Tuesday, May 27, 

1947.

APPENDIX A

Order in Council revoking P.C. 5523, dated 29th June, 1942, and P.C. 6885, 
dated 20th July, 1942—transfer to the Custodian of the property of persons of 
the Japanese race evacuated from the protected areas of B.C.

P.C. 469
AT THE GOVERNMENT HOUSE AT OTTAWA

Tuesday, the 19th day of January, 1943. 
present:

His Excellency The Governor General in Council—
Whereas by Order in Council dated 29th June, 1942, (P.C. 5523) amended 

by Order in Council dated 4th August, 1942, (P.C. 6885) Regulations were made 
imposing certain duties and responsibilities on the Director of Soldier Settle­
ment of Canada in relation to agricultural lands owned by persons of the Japan­
ese race ordinarily resident in the protected areas of British Columbia;

And whereas the Secretary of State reports that the appraisals of lands con­
templated by the said Order in Council as amended have been made and that 
it is the opinion of the Minister of Mines and Resources, to whom the Director 
of Soldier Settlement of Canada reports under the said Order in Council as 
amended, that the said Order in Council as amended, should be revoked;

That by Order in Council, dated 20th July, 1942, (P.C. 6247) it was pro­
vided that on anil after the 1st August, 1942, all unfinished business of the 
Committee under the Chairmanship of the Honourable Mr. Justice Sidney A. 
Smith of Vancouver, appointed by Order in Council of 13th January, i942, 
(P.C. 288) in respect of vessels or equipment vested in the Custodian under the
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said Order should be transferred to the Custodian, and the Custodian was vested 
with all vessels and equipment which had not been disposed of under the super­
vision of the said Committee;

That since the transfer was effected, question has been raised as to the 
authority of the Custodian to deal with unfinished business of the said Com­
mittee in relation to vessels or equipment disposed of prior to the 1st August, 
1942, and it is expedient to remove any doubts in this respect ;

That by Orders in Council relating to the property of persons of the Japanese 
race evacuated from the protected areas of British Columbia, the Custodian has 
been vested with the responsibility of controlling and managing property belong­
ing to persons of the Japanese race who have been evacuated from the protected 
areas, except deposits of money, shares of stock, debentures, bonds or other 
securities or other property which the owner on being evacuated from the 
protected areas was able to take with him; and

That the evacuation of persons of the Japanese race from the protected 
areas has now been substantially completed and that it is necessary to provide 
facilities for liquidation of property in appropriate cases.

Therefore, His Excellency the Governor General in Council, on the recom­
mendation of the Secretary of State, concurred in by the Minister of Mines and 
Resources, the Minister of Pensions and National Health, the Minister of 
Labour and the Minister of Fisheries, and under the authority of the War 
Measures Act, Chapter 206 of the Revised Statutes of Canada, 1927, is pleased 
to order and doth hereby order as follows:

1. Order in Council, dated 29th June, 1942, (P.C. 5523) and amending Order 
in Council dated 4th August, 1942, (P.C. 6885) are hereby revoked.

2. Paragraphs numbered 3 and 4 in Order in Council dated 20th July, 1942 
(P.C. 6247) are hereby rescinded and the following are substituted therefor:

3. The Custodian may, where he considers it advisable so to do, 
liquidate, sell or otherwise dispose of any such vessel or equipment on such 
terms and conditions as he deems advisable ; and any agreement entered 
into or document executed by the Custodian on or after August 1, 1942, 
and prior to the date of this Order, purporting to be an agreement for, or 
to be, a transfer, conveyance or other disposition of any such vessel or 
equipment or of any right, title or interest therein is hereby given full 
legal validity, force and effect as if the Custodian had full power to enter 
into such agreement or to execute such document, and as if such vessel 
or equipment or such right, title or interest therein, as the case may be, 
had been vested in the Custodian, at the time of the entry into such 
agreement or the execution of such document.

4. Without restricting the generality of the powers hereinbefore con­
ferred, all unfinished business of the said Committee is hereby transferred 
to the Custodian and shall be deemed to have been so transferred as on 
and from the 1st August, 1942.

Wherever, under Orders in Council under the War Measures Act, Chapter 
206 of the Revised Statutes of Canada, 1927, the Custodian has been vested with 
the power and responsibility of controlling and managing any property of persons 
of the Japanese race evacuated from the protected areas, such power and respon­
sibility shall be deemed to include and to have included from the date of the 
vesting of such property in the Custodian, the power to liquidate, sell, or other­
wise dispose of such property ; and for the purpose of such liquidation, sale or 
other disposition the Consolidated Regulations Respecting Trading with the 
Enemy (1939) shall apply mutatis mutandis as if the property belonged to an 
enemy within the meaning of the said Consolidated Regulations.

Certified to be a true copy.
A. D. P. HEENEY, 

Clerk of the Privxj Council.
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MINUTES OF PROCEEDINGS
Tuesday, May 27, 1947.

The Standing Committee on Public Accounts met at 11.30 o’clock a.m., 
the Vice-Chairman, Mr. Gordon B. Isnor in the chair.

Members present: Messrs. Boucher, Burton, Denis, Fleming, Gladstone, 
Golding, Green, Homuth, Isnor, Jaenicke, Johnston, Marshall, Pinard, Probe, 
Smith (Calgary West), Thatcher, Warren.

In attendance: Dr. E. H. Coleman, C.M.G., Deputy Custodian of Enemy 
Property, and Mr. K. W. Wright, Counsel ; Mrs. Hugh MacMillan, Secretary, 
and Mr. F. Andrew Brewin, Counsel, The Co-operative Committee on Japanese 
Canadians; Mr. George Tanaka, Chairman, Japanese Canadian Committee for 
Democracy.

Mr. Fleming moved,—
That an article published in The Globe and Mail of Wednesday, May 21, 

1947, written by Mr. Warren Baldwin and entitled Evidence B.C. Japs’ Lands 
Resold at 816 P.C. of Purchase Prices be printed as an appendix to this day’s 
minutes of proceedings and evidence.

After discussion, and the question having been put on the said motion, it 
was resolved in the negative.

Mr. Fleming filed a copy of The Globe and Mail of May 21, 1947.
Mr. Brewin was called, heard and questioned.
Mrs. MacMillan and Mr. Tanaka were called and questioned.
Mr. Tanaka filed a copy of a questionnaire sent to Japanese evacuees, which 

is printed as Appendix “A” to this day’s minutes of proceedings and evidence.
Mr. Tanaka produced eight files of completed questionnaires which were 

placed in the custody of the clerk of the Committee for examination by any 
member.

The witness retired.
At 1.20 o’clock p.m. the Committee adjourned to the call of the chair.

A. L. BURGESS,
Clerk of the Committee.
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MINUTES OF EVIDENCE
House of Commons,

May 27, 1947.

The Standing Committee on Public Accounts met this day at 11.30 a.m. 
The Vice-Chairman, Mr. Gordon B. Isnor, presided.

The Vice-Chairman : Gentlemen, we have a quorum and we will now 
proceed to call the meeting to order.

Mr. Fleming: Mr. Chairman, may I raise this matter. At our last meeting 
Mr. Murchison appeared and read a statement in which he complained in quite 
strong terms about an article which appeared in the Globe and Mail of 
Wednesday, May 21, reporting on the proceedings of this committee of the 
previous day. I do not know how many members of the committe had read 
that report before Mr. Murchison made his statement on it. For my part I 
had not read it. I am sorry I had not read it because while I think the com­
mittee wants to be abundantly fair to all witnesses and any witness who feels 
that he has not been fairly treated I am sure will receive a fair hearing by the 
members of this committee. I have, however, read the article over now and I do 
not find the ground for complaint to which Mr. Murchison has referred. Mr. 
Murchison’s statement has been included in the record and I am suggesting to 
the committee that the entire statement that he complained of should be a 
matter of record. That is to say that I think the article itself should be printed 
in our proceedings. Now it is an article written by a senior member of the press 
gallery, a very experienced member, who I am sure enjoys the respect of the 
members of the House and of this committee. I am sure if more members had 
read the article before Mr. Murchison made his statement there would have 
been more comment on the tone and the nature of Mr. Murchison’s statement. 
That is past now, but I do move, Mr. Chairman, that the article in question 
should be printed in the record of this committee.

Mr. Warren: Mr. Chairman, may I ask what paper that is taken from?
Mr. Fleming: It is the article that Mr. Murchison complained of.
Mr. Warren: Yes, but I was not here and I do not know anything about it.
Mr. Fleming: It is an article that appeared in the Globe and Mail on 

Wednesday May 21, and it is on page 8. Mr. Murchison made quite a lengthy 
statement about it and complained about it. For my part I do not know how 
many members had read that but I had not. I do say this; having read 
the article since Mr. Murchison made his statement, I cannot find in it the 
ground or the unfairness that he claimed to find in it. I think that while his 
statement is on the record the article of which he complains also should be on 
the record.

The Vice-Chairman: Are there any other comments?
Mr. Homuth: I second the motion.
The Vice-Chairman : You have heard the motion that the article appearing 

in the Globe ami Mail of Wednesday, May 21, 1947, written by Mr. Warren 
Baldwin entitled “Evidence B.C. lands resold at 815 per cent of purchase price” 
be printed in the minutes of the proceedings of our committee.

Mr. Jaenicke: Mr. Chairman, I do not see why we should bring all these 
newspaper articles into our proceedings. Surely they have nothing to do with 
the matter we are investigating.
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Mr. Pinard: I would like to know if the article refers directly to what 
happened in this committee?

Mr. Fleming: It does.
The Vice-Chairman: May I make this observation, gentlemen. I was 

one of those who had not read this article, prior to Mr. Murchison’s laying 
the newspaper on the table, I glanced at it quickly and suggested to him that I 
did not sec that any good purpose could be served by making an extended 
statement. More than that, if you will recall, I stood in my place as chairman 
and referred to the fact that he was making a statement, hoping that one of 
the members of the committee* might object to the statement. There was no 
objection taken so he made the statement.

Mr. Smith: I remember that very distinctly.
The Vice-Chairman: If you had objected I would have given a ruling 

against a continued lengthy statement being made. I think Mr. Fleming in his 
statement has brought forth a thought which is in the minds of the majority 
of the members. Statements written by well-known writers in the press gallery, 
while perhaps giving information to the public, contain nothing from our stand­
point and 1 should say there is no good purpose served by printing them in 
our proceedings.

Mr. Fleming: May I just say a word about Mr. Jaenicke’s point. If this 
matter were being reached now de nova, I do not think that anyone would think 
of bringing into the records a newspaper article. After all what guides this 
committee is what is brought in evidence before us. However, in view of the 
fact that Mr. Murchison was allowed to make a very lengthy and a very strong 
statement with respect to this article my point is that it would not be fair to 
leave this situation without putting the article on the record. I think anyone who 
has read the article since will find Mr. Murchison’s statement lacking in 
justification. If it was a case of this statement being submitted over again I 
think there is much to be said for Mr. Jaenicke’s point. If we were back to 
last Thursday and Mr. Murchison were undertaking to make his statement it 
would be different. However, Mr. Murchison has made a statement to the 
committee which does not do justice to the article so I suggest therefore, in 
fairness that this article ought to go on the record. I do not think the committee 
wants to take time at every meeting to receive complaints from witnesses about 
newspaper articles for we would then have to catch up with the newspaper 
articles ourselves and try to correct any unfair statement made by the 
witnesses.

Mr. Smith: May I put it into much broader terms. It seems to me that 
in this form, in this committee, it is utterly improper for anyone to comment 
on any printed matter unless we have before us the printed matter on which 
he is commenting. I think as a lawyer Mr. Jaenicke will agree with that. 
Frankly I want to see an end of it and I think we might have done very well 
had we accepted the hint that the chairman handed to us at the last meeting. 
We did not do that because I for one did not want to do it. I thought that 
someone would say “Here is that fellow plugging the Globe and Mail again”. 
Now, as the comment has been made on something that is not before us, it 
seems to me that we are in a very foolish position unless we have the article 
plus the comment.

Mr. Jaenicke: I do not know how the printing of this article will influence 
us in any manner, one way or another. The way I understand it is Mr. 
Murchison arose on a question of privilege the same way we rise in the House 
of Commons. He explained that he had been misinterpreted in this article. 
Now I know what Mr. Murchison said the day before or at the meeting before,
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and I do not see yet anything in the argument made by Mr. Fleming and Mr. 
Smith that we should clutter up our proceedings with this article. I cannot 
see it.

The Vice-Chairman: It was just on a question of privilege with respect 
to Mr. Murchison, but what is your pleasure now?

Mr. Homuth : This public accounts committee has developed into a different 
sort of committee from anything I know as a public accounts committee. We 
have witnesses come here to be examined on certain matters of government policy 
and government administration. Before he is ever examined, an employee of 
the government is allowed to stand up in this room and give a long dissertation 
on his administration and naturally he does everything he possibly can to 
whitewash the government. Mr. Murchison’s whole statement the other day 
was a direct whitewashing of everything with regard to the Japanese part of 
their policy. He did that, and it gets in the press and into this record and 
then we have to cross-examine him and the others on it. I think the time has 
come when witnesses should be brought here and interrogated by the committee 
on different matters but they should not be allowed to stand up and make 
statements such as Mr. Murchison made; and, furthermore, this is no place 
for Mr. Murchison, or any other employee of the government, or anyone else 
connected with this inquiry, to be allowed to come and rise on questions of 
privilege and take time trying to befog the committee in regard to articles which 
appear in the press.

Mr. Gladstone: Are you saying that he set out to be untruthful?
Mr. Homlth : I say that he set out to whitewash the government.
Mr. Warren : I do not think that should go on the record.
The Vice-Chairman: I think I should reply as chairman, Mr. Homuth. 

Any witness is privileged, I believe, if I read the rules correctly, to make a 
statement in reference to a matter of privilege. If I had to rule on that and 
that alone I would have to say to the witness “Yes, you are entitled to make 
a brief statement”, and then I would use my own judgment.

Mr. Homuth: Then he would be questioned on the statement?
The Vice-Chairman: Yes. Now, gentlemen, you have heard the motion, 

are you ready for the questnm? You have heard the motion put forward by 
Mr. Fleming, seconded by Mr. Homuth.

(A standing vote resulted in a tie.)
I am obliged to vote as I expressed myself a few minutes ago that I thought 

it was unnecessary to print such articles and I therefore declare the motion lost.
Mr. Fleming: Mr. Chairman, and gentlemen, if you arc not going to print 

it in the proceedings may I ask that it be tabled by us so that it may appear 
among our records?

The Vice-Chairman: That is quite all right.
I think that you have made a good statement Mr. Fleming and I think 

it covers the situation.
At the request of Mr. Fleming and Mr. Burton the matter of representation 

on behalf of the Japanese-Canadians was placed before us and it was decided 
to extend an invitation to their committee and I received—

Mr. Fleming: If you will excuse me that is not quite right; it was not an 
invitation, that is what we decided.

The Vice-Chairman : Will you allow me to complete what I was saying?
Mr. Fleming: I am sorry.
The Vice-Chairman: As a result of a request contained in a letter from 

Mrs. Hugh MacMillan signed as secretary of the co-operative committee on
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Japanese-Canadians, after consultation with the steering committee 1 issued 
instructions that we invite one of them to represent the views of this committee. 
We have with us to-day three representatives including Mrs. Hugh MacMillan, 
the secretary, Mr. F. Andrew Brewin, counsel for the committee, and Mr. George 
Tanaka, chairman of the Japanese-Canadian Committee for Democracy. Who is 
to be your spokesman?

Mrs. MacMillan : Mr. Brewin.
The Vice-Chairman: Thank you, then I would like to call on Mr. Brewin.

F. Andrew Brewin, counsel for the Co-operative Committee on 
Japanese-Canadians, called :

By the Vice-Chairman:
Q. Mr. Brewin, no doubt you know that we have already held nine meetings 

of this committee since April 28, 1947, and we have had before the committee 
such witnesses as the Honourable Mr. Gibson, Doctor Coleman, Mr. H. W. 
Wright, Mr. D. H. W. Henry, Mr. Shears, and Mr. Gordon Murchison. You 
have read their evidence.

Now, gentlemen, is it your pleasure to hear Mr. Brewin.
Agreed.
The Vice-Chairman: Mr. Brewin, will you give us your name in full and 

the name of those for whom you are acting?
The Witness: My name in full is F. Andrew Brewin and I am acting as 

counsel for the co-operative committee on Japanese-Canadians. I think I 
should open by telling you what that committee is.

Mr. Gladstone: Where do you live?
The Witness: In Toronto.
The co-operative committee on Japanese-Canadians is a committee that 

was originally purely a voluntary committee. It was originally formed mostly 
of church groups, Y.M.C.A’s and Y.W.C.A’s., who were looking after the needs 
of the Japanese-Canadians who re-settled in eastern Caanda and other parts 
of Canada. Then, when the proposal for deportation came up the co-operative 
committee on Japanese-Canadians received support and help from about 70 per 
cent of the groups across Canada. A great many of the groups contributed 
money to fight the battle of the Japanese-Canadian in regard to deportation. 
I will not attempt to give you all the organizations which have lent their support 
to the co-operative committee but a partial list includes:—

The Church of England in Canada 
The Catholic Archdiocese of Toronto 
The Baptist Federation of Canada 
The United Church of Canada 
The Church of Christ (Disciples)
The Presbyterian Church of Canada
The Evangelical Lutheran Church
The Salvation Army
The Student Christian Movement
The Intervarsity Christian Fellowship
The Canadian Council of Churches
The Society of Friends
The Young Men’s Christian Association
The Young Women’s Christian Association
The United Nations Organization
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The Canadian Welfare Council
The Canadian Association of Social Workers
The Canadian Association of Scientific Workers
The Canadian Jewish Congress
The National Council of Women
The Fellowship of Reconciliation
The Women’s International League for Peace and Freedom 
The Civil Liberties Associations of Vancouver, Winnipeg, Toronto, 

Ottawa, Montreal 
Canadian Congress of Labour 
Trades and Labour Congress 
Canadian Institute of International Affairs 
Workers’ Educational Association 
Canadian Association for Adult Education 
United Farmers Co-operative 
Ukranian Association of Canada 
Canadian Business and Professional Women 
National Citizens Forum 
Religion and Labour Foundation 
Ontario Older Boys’ Parliament 
Unitarian Fellowship for Social Justice 
Holy Blossom Temple, Toronto 
United Steel Workers of America 
Canadian Seamen’s Union 
United Packing Houses of America 
Canadian Legion
Leading newspapers in Montreal, Toronto, Winnipeg, London, Ottawa, 

Vancouver, etc.
Prominent individuals from all sections of society.

I mention these names merely to show that this committee, the co-operative 
committee on Japanese-Canadians, is broadly representative of those who have 
taken an interest in it. The problem of the Japanese-Canadians, from the point 
of view of the Japanese-Canadians, has been widely discussed and we have 
contacted a great many people. One of these committees, the Japanese-Canadian 
Committee for Democracy, in anticipation of a commission, has conducted what 
it calls an economic loss survey. It sent out forms some of which I have here.

Mr. Boucher: When you mentioned those names do you mean you speak 
for the head bodies of those organizations with respect to the churches and so 
on, or are they individual units?

The Witness: The national bodies sent support and contributed to the 
committee. People like Canon Judd of the Anglican Church, and Dr. Mutch more 
of the United Church and there were a great many more of the local groups. 
As the committee knows there was very wide interest in this matter when the 
problem of deportation was before the people of Canada.

Mr. Boucher: You are, in effect, saying that you are representing at least 
the head bodies or the representatives of the churches and institutions you have 
named. You are not just representing members of those organizations?

The Witness: Oh, yes. I say they have taken part in and supported the 
work of this committee. I cannot say that everything we did has been taken up 
with them but they have given official support and sent their contributions to 
the committee. We have no formal membership but those various churches and 
national groups did take part in that way.

Mrs. MacMillan : Yes, and our committee is representative of the larger 
denominations of the churches “Y’s” and labour unions.
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The Witness: Yes, in other words, gentlemen, I think I can say we do 
represent pretty fully those who have taken an interest right across Canada.

By the Vice-Chairman:
Q. Mr. B rewin, I do not want to interrupt you, and I would favour you 

completing your statement and then we can clear up the points raised. There 
is, however, a name on your list, the Baptist Federation of Canada. Do you 
know the Baptist Federation of Canada?—A. No, I do not, myself.

Q. They do not represent the Baptists of Canada.—A. Mrs. MacMillan 
could tell me the extent to which they do.

Mr. Burton: Previous witnesses have appeared before, the committee and 
they were allowed to make their presentation and then the members of the 
committee were able to ask questions. I think it would be better, much better, 
to follow that procedure.

The Witness: We will be glad to try to clear that up.
Mr. Jaenicke: If this lady has better information as to the constitution, 

perhaps Mr. Brewin could stand aside.
The Vice-Chairman : Perhaps Mr. Brewin should make his statement.
The Witness: I do say we represent them in the sense that they have 

supported this organization. The Japanese Canadian committee for democracy 
which is one of the constituent groups which have worked with our committee 
conducted this economic loss survey. They sent out forms some of which I can 
refer to in detail, asking Japanese Canadians who might have had any property 
losses to fill in these detailed forms. The form has a number of headings which 
I can show you. At the present time they have received about 600 replies from 
all across Canada. The committee emphasized in the instructions that went 
with the reports, that they were anxious that there should be no exaggeration 
or puffing of these claims, and that they wanted a sober survey of what the 
situation was. As I say, we have some 600 replies. We cannot, of course, vouch 
for the accuracy of the statements as we have not had an opportunity of 
checking them but they are summaries, by and large of what the Japanese 
Canadian committee for democracy have asked for. I think I should add that 
after the Prime Minister, on the 24th of January, made his statement that some 
compensation would be made, and some machinery set up to provide for the 
loss of property arising out of the evacuation, that we had discussions with the 
Secretary of State who was good enough to spend some time with us on the 
matter. We put our representations before him and received every courtesy 
and co-operation and we are putting before this committee more or less the same 
information that we put before the Secretary of State. If I may, I will put our 
submission in first before I go into the evidence that we have. What we are 
asking this committee to recommend is that when the government sets up a 
commission, as I believe it proposes to do, that the terms of reference of the 
commission should be broad enough to cover all the property losses naturally 
and reasonably arising out of the evacuation. We have not endeavoured to put 
the losses of the Japanese Canadians on the basis of any impropriety on the 
part of the custodian or any other official of the government. What we say is 
by reason of the evacuation orders and of the fact that a great many of the 
Japanese Canadians were required to leave the coastal area as a matter of public 
policy, and without any fault of their own, the losses of property which can be 
weighed and which are fairly definite should be provided for. We are not 
asking for speculative claims but these definite losses should in fairness and 
justice be paid ; and we would like to point out that that is a very much broader 
proposition than merely confining the issue to the action of the custodian, 
because it is our submission that no matter how carefullv or how well the
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custodian and his representatives act in seeking to protect property or how well 
they sought to make the result of the sales the inevitable result of the circum­
stances under which the sales were made and things that happened before the 
custodian stepped in; the deterioration of property, vandalism and various other 
things of that sort, makes it quite impossible for the custodian to have prevented 
losses arising through no fault of those who were required as a matter of govern­
ment policy and without any disloyalty or fault of their own to leave their 
homes, their farms and their businesses.

Now, I think we can put the situation, it may seem a little indirect, Mr. 
Chairman, as briefly and as well as we can by telling the committee that if it 
does not have this information already of the parallel situation in the United 
States—because the Prime Minister has said in dealing with this matter that 
similar conditions arose in the United States and that Canadian policy must in 
general terms be a continental policy—while there would not be an exact 
following of the American procedure some similarity of policy was necessary; 
and that the situation which existed in Canada also existed in the States. I would 
like, with the permission of the committee, Mr. Chairman, to read a letter which 
was sent by the Secretary of the Interior, Mr. J. A. Krug, representing the 
government of the United States, to the Speaker of the House of Representatives 
and a similar one to the Speaker of the Senate, inviting them to set up by act 
of their congress a claims commission with authority to investigate in broad 
general terms all things arising out of the evacuation order.

Mr. Fleming: Pardon me, what is the date of that letter?
The Witness: April 24, 1946.
The Vice-Chairman: What is your pleasure, gentlemen; shall the witness 

have permission to read the letter?
Carried.
The Witness:

THE SECRETARY OF THE INTERIOR 
Washington

April 24, 1946.
My dear Mr. Speaker,—Enclosed is a draft of proposed legislation 

to authorize the adjudication of claims of persons of Japanese ancestry 
against the United States for losses arising out of the evacuation or 
exclusion of such persons by the War Department from the West Coast, 
Alaska, and Hawaii during World War II.

In 1942, the War Department, acting under executive order No. 9066, 
ordered the exclusion of all persons of Japanese ancestry from the 
Pacific coast of the continental United States, Alaska and a portion of 
Arizona. Most of them were removed to relocation centres administered 
by the V ar Relocation Authority. They were joined later by over 
1,000 persons evacuated from Hawaii. For approximately two and 
one-half years, these American citizens and their alien parents, more 
than 100,000 in number, were exiled from their homes. After January 2, 
1945, the majority of them were allowed to return to the evacuated 
areas and to pick up the ravelled ends of the life they knew before the 
forced evacuation. By the end of 1945, about half of these people had so 
returned.

Mr. Chairman, that situation is not parallel here; at first, the Japanese- 
Canadians did not return.
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The remainder have been scattered throughout the country or, in 
the case of the thousands who are in the armed forces of the United 
States, are serving with the army of occupation in Europe or Asia. It 
is too early as yet to make a final estimate of actual financial and 
property losses sustained by the Japanese-Americans because of the 
evacuation, but it is well established that the losses have been heavy. 
Some lost everything they had; many lost most of what they had.

The chief military justification for the removal of these 110,000 
persons was the possibility of the existence of a disloyal element in their 
midst, the critical military situation in the Pacific which increased 
uneasiness over the possibility of espionage or sabotage, and the lack 
of time and facilities for individual loyalty screening. The persons 
evacuated were not individually charged with any crime or with dis­
loyalty, and subsequent experience has clearly demonstrated that the 
vast majority of them were and are good Americans. This is convincingly 
indicated by the outstanding record of our 23,000 Japanese-Americans 
who served in the armed forces in both the European and Pacific theatres, 
and by the fact that the records of the intelligence agencies show no 
case of sabotage or espionage by Americans of Japanese ancestry during 
the entire war.

Again, I might stop there and say that the experience in Canada, I believe, 
has been exactly the same. Our Japanese-Canadians have shown themselves 
to be loyal Canadians, and as far as I know there have been no cases of charges 
of sabotage against them.

Mr. Green : Of course, there are some internments.
The Witness: Yes, and I suppose the same thing happened in the United 

States. There was a small group which were affected at the very beginning of 
the war. I am talking now about the most of those in respect of which there 
was no internment.

The evacuation orders gave the persons affected desperately little 
time in which to settle their affairs. The governmental safeguards that 
were designed to prevent undue loss in these circumstances were some­
what tardily instituted, were not at once effectively publicized among the 
evacuees, and were never entirely successful.

I wonder if I might stop there to suggest to the committee that where people 
are scattered it is quite difficult effectively to publicize the steps that the govern­
ment takes. Some of these people, I suppose, were not literate, could not read 
English and the net result was that in many cases they were made aware of 
the evacuation orders a week, or in some cases just a few hours before they were 
required to be evacuated; and that, despite every effort to acquaint them with 
the policy.

Merchants had to dispose of their stocks and businesses at sacrifice 
prices. In a setting of confusion and hysteria, many evacuees sold per­
sonal possessions for a small fraction of their value.

That is particularly what happened in the United States, it also happened 
here. We have quite a large number of cases where people sold out businesses 
or personal possessions because of that sort of thing and when they received the 
evacuation order they sold what they had for the best they could get; and it 
was very natural that they should do that. No fault, I think, attaches to them 
and certainly not to the government agency because that happened ; and yet 
our submission is that was a loss that naturally arose out of the evacuation 
orders.

A large number had to accept totally inadequate arrangements for 
protection and management of property.
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The same thing happened here. People had to give up. They had to put 
someone in charge of their property, anybody they could find.

Mr. Smith: May I suggest, Mr. Brewin, that when you cease quoting 
you say “end of quotation”; and then when you resume “quote”? In that way 
we will know what part of the material is being read and what is your own 
interpolation.

The Witness: Thank you very much, I will do that. I am quoting now:
Valuable leasehold interests had to be abandoned.
Continued exclusion increased the losses. Private buildings in which 

evacuees stored their property were broken into and vandalized.
This committee, I believe, already has some evidence of that sort, that is 

the sort of thing which is bound to happen under the circumstances which existed.
Mysterious fires destroyed vacant buildings. Property left with 

“friends” unaccountably disappeared ; goods stored with the government 
sometimes were damaged or lost. Persons entrusted with the management 
of evacuee real property mulcted the owners in diverse ways. Tennants 
failed to pay rent, converted property to their own use, and committed 
waste.

That may have only happened to a small extent here, but under the circum­
stances it was inevitable that it should happen to some extent.

Prphibited from returning to the evacuated areas even temporarily to 
handle property matters, the evacuees were unable to protect themselves 
adequately. Property management assistance given by the War Reloca­
tion Authority on the west coast, although it often mitigated and some­
times prevented loss, could not completely solve the problem there, 
complicated as it was by difficulties in communication with absent 
owners and local prejudice.

In our view a precisely similar situation faces the custodian, and certainly 
through no fault of the agencies concerned.

Mr. Fleming: Mr. Brewin, have you a copy of that letter?
The Witness: I am sorry, I haven’t:—

In relocation centres the only income opportunities for evacuees 
lay in centre employment at wage rates of $12 to $19 per month, plus 
small clothing allowances. Many felt compelled to discontinue payment 
of life insurance premiums. Some found themselves unable to make mort­
gage or tax payments and lost substantial equities.

All of the foregoing examples of tangible loss to the evacuees 
are directly attributable to the evacuation and continued exclusion of these 
persons from their homes. Unlike our fighting men and their families, 
who also made financial and personal sacrifices in this war, this group 
was given no statutory right to ameliorating benefits. These persons have 
had to bear the losses occasioned by the evacuation in addition to the 
war-time deprivations they have shared with the rest of the American 
people. For the first time in our history, persons of Japanese ancestry 
are appearing in substantial numbers on the relief rolls.

I don’t believe that applies here at all. '
The least that this country can do, in simple justice, is to afford 

some degree of compensation for the measurable special losses that the 
evacuees have suffered.
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The only clear recourse which the evacuees now have, through the 
passage of private relief bills, is totally impracticable. The potential 
volume of evacuee claims, if added to the load under which the congres­
sional claims committees are already labouring, might well produce a 
virtually unmanageable burden. The obvious result would be to postpone 
the settlement of most evacuee claims for an indefinitely protracted 
period. To provide for adjudication of the claims by the court of claims 
would be an imposition on that court, because of the small individual 
amounts involved and the potential volume of claims, and unfair to the 
claimants, because of the expense of prosecuting a claim before the court 
of claims and the probable delay in adjudication. The most economical 
and practical solution—one which congress has adopted on numerous 
occasions in the past for the handling of case claims arising out of a 
special subject-matter—is the creation of a special tribunal to hear and 
determine the claims.

The enclosed bill would establish an evacuation claims commission 
as such a tribunal. In order to avoid increasing the number of inde­
pendent agencies and to benefit by the experience which this department 
has had with the entire evacuation and relocation problem, the bill would 
establish the commission within this department rather than as a separate 
federal agency.

The commission would have jurisdiction to adjudicate claims by 
persons of Japanese ancestry for damage to or loss of real of personal 
property, or other impairment of assets, that arose from or as a natural 
and reasonable consequence of the evacuation and exclusion program. 
This standard is sufficiently flexible to permit the commission to consider 
claims involving “property” losses only in the broad sense, such as the 
impairment of going-concern values. At the same time the standard 
excludes claims that are speculative and less definitely appraisable, such 
as claims for anticipated wages or profits that might have accrued had 
not the evacuation occurred, for deterioration of skills and earning 
capacity, and for physical hardships or mental suffering.

In determining the amount of relief to be granted, the commission 
would be required to consider other existing or intervening factors that 
affected the loss. Thus some losses, as in the case of businesses special­
izing in import of sale of Japanese goods, would have occurred even if 
there had been no evacuation. Likewise, damage may have been 
aggravated in some cases by failure of the evacuees to take steps which 
they reasonably should have taken, even in the abnormal circumstances, 
to protect themselves. On the other hand, there are numerous instances 
in which intervening factors immediately causing the loss, such as arson, 
theft, mortgage foreclosure, loss of goods while in government possession, 
or breach of trust, should not affect recovery, because the Situation giving 
rise to the loss would not have occurred had the ownerg been permitted 
to remain in possession.

Among the types of claims excluded by the bill from consideration 
by the commission are claims of persons who were voluntarily or 
involuntarily deported to Japan after December 7, 1941, or who are 
resident in a foreign country. Several hundred evacuees voluntarily 
repatriated to Japan during the war. Since termination of hostilities 
approximately 7,500 persons, most of them avaeuees, have at government 
expense voluntarily gone to Japan, chiefly from internment camps and 
the Tule Lake segregation centre. In addition, the Department of Justice 
has been determining who among the aliens (including "persons who 
renounced their American citizenship) should be deported to Japan. This
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processing is the culmination of the loyalty screening procedures to which 
the evacuees have been subjected since the evacuation. I do not believe 
that those repatriates and deportees have any moral claim upon this 
government. Similarly, I believe that persons who before the war went 
to Japan or elsewhere to establish residence have no claim for compen­
sation that we need recognize.

The remaining provisions of the bill are largely self-explanatory and 
I shall merely mention the more important. All claims would have to be 
filed within 18 months following enactment, and the commission would 
be required to complete its work within three and one-half years there­
after. The commission would have broad investigatory authority, 
including the power of subpoena, and each claimant would be entitled to 
a hearing. Assistance in preparing claims for filing could be extended by 
the commission to needy claimants. The commission’s adjudications 
would be conclusive and a bar to further recovery. Awards would be 
paid in the same manner as are final judgments of the court of claims, 
except that the commission would be authorized to pay small awards, not 
exceeding $2,500 in amount, in order to afford more expeditious relief to 
those whose need may be acute.

As a matter of fairness and good conscience, and because these 
particular American citizens and law-abiding aliens have borne with 
patience and undefeated loyalty the unique burdens which this govern­
ment has thrown upon them, I strongly urge that the proposed legislation 
be enacted into law.

The Bureau of the Budget has advised me that there is no objection 
to the presentation of this proposed legislation to the congress.

Sincerely yours,
J. A. KRUG,

Secretary of the Interior.

Hon. Sam Rayburn,
Speaker of the House of Representatives.

And now, may I say that in brief what we are asking this committee to 
recommend is a claims commission similar in general outline with similar 
general powers to be set up to investigate the situation in Canada which, 
roughly speaking, is a parallel. I may be allowed to point out now the differ­
ence in the United States where the Japanese-Americans were allowed to go 
back after January 5, 1945. You had a different situation in Canada.

Mr. Fleming: Are you going to tell us anything about the action which 
has been taken by the two houses of congress pursuant to Mr. Krug’s request?

The Witness: Yes. That is a matter on which I am not completely up- 
to-date. When the matter first came before it, it was reported favourably on 
by the judiciary committees of both the Senate and the House of Representa­
tives. I believe it was approved by the Senate but it was not approved by the 
House of Representatives. It came up at the fag-end of the session. I am not 
sure whether there was any discussion on it in the House of Representatives or 
not, but in any event I am informed that it did not pass that house and that it 
could only have passed had unanimous approval been forthcoming and that was 
not the case, so the bill was put over until the present session of congress. 
When I had an opportunity of seeing the Secretary of State at the beginning of 
this year—I think that was in March last—I raised this matter and he suggested 
that he had some information to the effect that the United States government 
and congress had not proceeded with the legislation. I wrote down to the
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Secretary of the Interior and some others who were familiar with the situation 
in the congress and I have received replies from them that the government was 
then going to present the bill in congress again with the full approval of the 
congress, and I have now received word back, with a copy of a letter from the 
President himself sending the bill to congress and asking that congress pass it. 
The only copy I have of that I sent to the Prime Minister in a letter to him 
and I am sorry that I haven’t a copy of it here. I don’t know, perhaps some­
body else knows, whether these bills finally have gone through yet; but all that 
I can say is that they were presented to this session of congress with the 
approval of the government and require the approval of the judiciary committees 
of both houses, and those who wrote to me said that there would be little doubt 
that the bills would go through. To the best of my information the bills have 
not gone through yet, and that is the most up-to-date information that I can 
give this committee.

Now, I want to deal with the economic-loss survey of our neighbour a 
moment, to try to show you that the losses were substantial. We have not 
made a summary of the 600 claims that have come in, because they have been 
coming in almost from day to day, but a survey was made on the 27th of 
January—I mean a summary was made on the 27th of January of the 200 claims 
that had come in up to that date. Now, I want again to say that we cannot, 
of course, vouch for the accuracy of these claims. Many of those who left their 
homes may perhaps, for obvious reasons, have put a higher value—naturally 
the optimism of a business man about a business he can’t carry on may be 
reflected in these figures. Nevertheless, they serve to show the nature of the 
claims, and we made every effort to ask them to be modest and conservative in 
their estimates.

Mr. Fleming: Oh, you asked them to be conservative?
The Witness: I mean, with respect to the amount that they claimed.
Mr. Pinard: Can you tell the committee how the forms were obtained?
The Witness: They were sent out through the mail to them.
The Vice-Chairman: You might file one, Mr. Brewin.
The Witness: I am sorry, Mr. Chairman, but I haven’t one of the forms

here. I was going to take some at random just to show you the nature of the
claim.

The Vice-Chairman: Would you file a copy of your questionnaire?
The Witness: Mr. Tanaka has a duplicate copy of his own and will be 

glad to make that available to the committee if it wishes to have it for its 
records.

The Vice-Chairman: Yes, you referred to it earlier.
The Witness : This is the form to which I referred:—

Form No. 1
ECONOMIC LOSS SURVEY OF BRITISH COLUMBIA EVACUEES

Japanese Canadian Committee for Democracy 

84 Gerrard Street East, Toronto 2, Ont.
All information supplied will be treated as confidential and used only for the purposes 

of presenting claims for restitution.
1. Name ................................................... Age .............. Citizenship .............................
2. Pre-evacuation address .....................................................................................................
3. Present address .................................................................................................................
4. Pre-evacuation occupation ...............................................................................................
5. Present occupation ...........................................................................................................
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6. Real estate (.residential):
Street address ....................................................................................................
Legal description (Block No........Lot No........ )............................................
Year of purchase ...................  Purchase price of property ................  $
Estimated value of improvements to property........................................ $
Estimated market value of property at time of evacuation ..............  $
Assessed value at time of evacuation .....................................................  $
Estimated present day market value of property .................................. $
Price sold by custodian ........................................................................... $
What payment, if any, have you received from the custodian ............. $
Was this property sold with your consent? Yes......... No.........
Are you satisfied with custodian’s sale price? Yes.........No...........

7. Business:
Name of firm ......................................... Type of business ......................
Street address .................................................................................................
Partnership; limited company ; or sole proprietor ....................................
If either of the former, give details................................................................

........................................................................................................... $

....................................................................................................................... S

............................................................................................................................... S
If owner of premises, state value at time of evacuation ....................... S
Price of premises sold by custodian ...........................................................  $
What payment, if any, have you received from the custodian ........... $
Estimated value of business at time of evacuation :

(a) Fixtures and equipment .....................................  $..................
(b) Inventories of stock ............................................  $..................
(c) Goodwill .............................................................. $..................

Total ..................................................................... $.................. $
8. Farm property:

Location ............................................................................................................
Legal description ..............................................................................................
Type of farm .........................................,......................  Acreage ................
Year of purchase ..............................  Purchase price of farm property. $
Estimated value of improvements............................................................ $
Assessed value at time of evacuation .............................. ........................ $
Estimated market value of farm at time of evacuation :

(a) Land and buildings ................................................ $
(b) Equipment and supplies ......................................... S.
(c) Livestock .......................................................... $
(d) Crops....................................................................... $

Total ..................................................................... t........
Price sold by custodian ...................................................................
What payment, if any, have you received from the custodian? .
Estimated present day market value of property ..........................
Was this property sold with your consent? ...................................
Are you satisfied with the custodian’s selling price? Yes....... No

9. Fishing vessels and gear:
Type of boat .............................................................................................
Length ...............................................................  Beam ...........................
Engine : Make ................................................................... Horsepower
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Estimated market value at time of evacuation ............................
Price sold by committee or custodian ..........................................
What payment, if any, have you received from the custodian ...
Estimated present day market value .............................................
Deductions connected with above sales..........................................
Net amount received ......................................................................

9a. Pithing gear:
Estimated market value at time of evacuation............................
Custodian’s selling price ...................................................................
What payment, if any, have you received from the custodian? .

10. Personal estate:
Estimated market value at time of evacuation :

(a) Automobiles, trucks, etc.......................................................
Custodian’s selling price ...................................................

(b) Furniture, fixtures, radios, cameras, etc..............................
Custodian’s selling price ...................................................

(c) Miscellaneous ....................................................................
Custodian’s selling price ...................................................

11. Loss of revenue (rent, income, wages, etc) :
1942 $............ 1943 $............. 1944 $............ 1945 $.........

12. Accounts uncollected (Rent, interest, loan, deposit, claims, etc.) :

S
$
s
s
$
$

$
s
s

5
S
$
s
s
$

1946 $

S...
$...

13. Fees paid (attorney or agent, storage, transportation, travelling, 
medical, education, funeral or any other service fees which can be 
directly attributed to evacuation) :

..................................................................................................................... S

.........................................................................................................  $

14. Personal loss due to: Cancellation, abandonment of insurance policies,
contracts, etc......................................................................................... S

............................................................................:...........................  $
15. Family allowances and relief deductions:

Had family allowances not been denied while in British Columbia, what
total payments would have been received since ............................

.........................................................................................................  $
Were relief payments deducted from your custodian account?............
If so, state amount .................................................................................. $

16. Comments:

To the best of my knowledge, the foregoing facts are true.
Date........................................ Signed........................................ ”

The Vice-Chairman: Is that form sworn to?
The Witness: No, we did not ask that.

By Mr. Pinard:
Q. Who prepared these forms?—A. The Japanese-Canadian Committee for 

Democracy.
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Q. Who are the members?—A. Mr. Tanaka here is chairman. Most of the 
members are in Toronto although they have started affiliated groups and con­
tacts in camps throughout the whole of Canada; but the actual executive and 
the important part of the work is done by a committee on behalf of the Japanese 
and they are largely resident in Toronto and district.

Q. Were these forms sent to those who interned?—A. I do not know that.
Mr. Tanaka: Mostly to people here.

By Mr. Pinard:
Q. How many forms did you send out?—A. We sent out altogether 4,000 

forms across the country.
Q. How many replies?—A. Six hundred. There are some areas where they 

have not replied yet but will reply.
Q. When were they sent out?—A. In December of last year right through 

to the present time. We sent them out first to Ontario and then extended it to 
other fields as we got committees in local areas to sit.

Q. A moment ago you were talking about 200 claims?—A. I was coming 
back to that and I want to say that I have a summary of the first 200 that we 
got in largely, I believe, from Ontario, the Toronto area. At that time it was 
London to Toronto. And according to the total estimated value of their real 
estate, business, farms, fishing equipment, and so on, the amount would total 
$1,400,000. That is their estimate. It may be a little high ; but it is what they 
think their various farms, properties and so on were worth. Then as to the 
amount that they received either in the way of forced sale or the custodian’s 
sale price—they included both—what they received was $351,000; so the total 
loss would be just over $1,000,000. Now, that was the summary of the first 200 
claims that came in. On investigation, no doubt, many of these claims may 
appear to include amounts that they cannot possibly establish, but we have a 
collection of these claims and I thought the committee might be interested to 
have one or two samples. There was one individual case of a person in Toronto 
that Mr. Tanaka brought to my attention. He secured the information ; I did 
not. It was the case of Mr. and Mrs. Cato, living in Toronto. In September 
1939 they purchased a 1928 model Oldsmobile sedan for $175. After purchase 
they overhauled the engine and installed a set of four tires. The owners were 
notified by the custodian on January 21, 1943, re file letter 12980, that the 
car had been sold for the amount of $15 and that administrative expenses 
totalled $15. So they received nothing for the car. I am not suggesting it is 
necessarily a typical of the other cases where the actual result of the sale 
was negligible. It may have been that by the time the custodian got hold of 
the car it was only worth $15 but we do not know about that. We do know that 
it was a sedan for which they paid $175 and they installed a new set of tires 
and the net result was that they got nothing for it.

By Mr. Pinard:
Q. When was it purchased?—A. It was purchased in September 1939.
Q. At a price of $175 at that time?—A. Yes, and they also overhauled 

the engine and installed a set of four tires. I am not trying to give any of these 
cases as shocking examples but rather as the sort of thing which has happened 
and which we submit requires investigation. Many of these claims are quite 
small. Now just a few minutes before I came into the room we ran through and 
picked out a few cases more or less at random from these forms and this is the 
sort of thing which is in them. Here is the case of a man named Robert Hoita, 
age 55, a Canadian veteran of the 1914-1918 war. He lived in Victoria. He i- 
retired now because of his 1914-1918 war wounds and he was a gardener before. 
He says he purchased a piece of property on Francis avenue, Victoria, for

90026—21



246 STANDING COMMITTEE

$1,200 and that he added $500 improvements. Then he estimates the market 
value at $2,000. The city of Victoria assessed the property at $1,700 and Hoita 
estimates the present market value at approximately $2,500. The sale price 
according to his information was $1,150 and he says it was not sold with his 
consent and he wants to know—some of them make comments on these forms 
here—why the custodian sold a residence of a 1914-1918 veterans.

Mr. Warren : Did you say it was sold with his consent?
The Witness : No, it was sold without his consent. Then he says the 

furniture and fixtures were worth $500 and were sold for $160. He signs the 
form. There again we just picked this out. Some of these forms show 
substantial losses but on the other hand some of them show practically no loss. 
Here is one re Nahamura, age 45, a Japanese national, living in Vancouver. 
He is now living in Gormley. He was a landscape gardener and he says he 
purchased property in Vancouver for $1,100 and he estimates the improvements 
at $600 at the time of evacuation, and he said it was worth $1,600. The 
assessed value was $1,600. He estimates the present value at $2,500 but the price 
it was sold for by the custodian was $1,050 and he received $600. In some 
cases there were deductions on account of relief payments to the family which 
would account for the difference, and we would suggest that the commission have 
power to look into these things. They were proper deductions at the time but 
I question whether those who had to leave their occupations and accept forced 
relief should have that money deducted from the sale price of the properties. 
Then Mr. Nahamura added some information. He says he had a Chevrolet 
pick-up delivery truck that he estimates was worth $600 which was sold for 
$400. Then he says he had furniture and fixtures, radio, etc. and he estimates 
their value at $1,000 and said that the custodian’s selling price must have been 
around $100 'because that was the amount of an unknown credit to his account. 
He deals with other expenses that he had and he summarizes his list. We have 
here also the case of Paul Suzuki. He was the sole proprietor of a cleaning and 
dressmaking business in Vancouver which he valued at $2.069.45.

The Vice-Chairman: How was it made up?
The AVitness: Furniture, fixtures and equipment, $569.45; good will, $1,500.
The Vice-Chairman: Good will.
The AVitness : It may be high, one does not know. Then he includes a 

Pontiac coach which he values at $1,563 and he said he made a forced 
individual sale at $505. Then he adds this comment “I am a Canadian by 
naturalization. The evacuation was based on reasons other than military 
security. The government of Canada should bear responsibility for the resti­
tution of the above losses”.

Perhaps the reason for expressing that view is because he also says “two of 
my Canadian born sons have served in His Majesty’s forces and true loyalty 
cannot be overlooked in considering the above losses.”

Then there are a good many business claims. Here is a man, Mr. Nasu, 
a Canadian, at Uclet. He says that he purchased property in 1940 for $2.000. 
He estimates that he added $2,000 in improvements and he estimates the market 
value at $2,500. The assessed value was $1,750 and he estimates the present 
market value of the property at $3,750. The price sold by the custodian was 
$720.85. Then he also has some details about fishing gear and furniture and 
fixtures.

Mr. Chairman, I do not know how much detail the committee wants. I 
could go on picking out cases at random.

Mr. Smith: You have given us enough.
The AVitness: The cases would show at least bona fide claims. In many 

claims, the amounts compare with the assessed value of the property and it is
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surely improbable that the assessment was at a great over-valuation and the 
amounts recovered in many instances were less than the assessed value. Some 
of these cases were businesses that had to be disposed of in a hurry. Some were 
very substantial businesses. We have a lot of fishing boat claims and we have done 
our best to collect this material as thoroughly as possible. There are no doubt 
some exaggerations and there may be some explanation for these things which 
is not revealed to us in the forms, but we feel in these 600 cases, quite apart 
from the individual cases themselves, the overall survey shows that there is 
something substantial to be investigated. It also shows that many of these 
losses were sustained from what might be called forced liquidation before the 
custodian entered the property. In some cases there was disappearance of 
property. In some cases they said that actually in the more remote parts they 
had to leave within twenty-four hours of the time they received the notice and 
that in the excitement of the moment they would dispose of their property in 
the neighbourhood as quickly as they could. All of these things have satisfied 
our committee that a broad commission with wide powers of reference, not 
restricted to the enquiry of cases where the custodian sold at too low a price 
might be able to make proper assessment of the loss. The property may have 
actually been sold at the best price possible but, after all, if a large group in the 
community is required to leave in something of a hurry, values in that neigh­
bourhood are going to go down very substantially apart from anything else at 
all. We request that this committee recommend to the government, it may be 
that it is your intention already, that a commission with powers at least as broad 
as the terms of reference in the bill before the United States Congress should be 
set up. In years to come there would be no feeling that we, as Canadians, and 
Canada as a country have not behaved properly to these people who are our 
fellow-citizens and who themselves, with the exception of a few at the beginning, 
have a clear record. We are very much convinced that is what the people in 
Canada would like to see done. The thing we are anxious about is that the terms 
of reference are not confined to a narrow scope so that a judge or commissioner 
sitting to determine the matters will not feel inhibited by the terms of reference 
when inquiring into the other aspects of the matter.

By Mr. Green:
Q. Have you worked out any terms of reference?—A. Yes, we have a 

suggestion to make to the government which follows very closely the American 
bill.

Q. Could you give the wording of your suggested reference?-1-^. We have 
suggested:—

1. There shall be constituted a commission under the general super­
vision of the secretary of state to be known as the “Evacuation Claims 
Commission”. The commission shall consist of a chairman, who shall be 
a person who holds or has held high judicial office, two other members to 
be appointed by the secretary of state (or the Governor in Council).

Actually that is a matter for the government to concern themselves with 
as to which department or who shall appoint the members of the commission.

2. The commission shall have jurisdiction to investigate and decide 
upon any claim by a person of the Japanese race, arising on or after 
December 7, 1941, when and to the extent that such claim has not been 
compensated for by insurance or otherwise, and is substantiated in such 
manner as the commission may prescribe for damage to or loss or destruc­
tion to the real or personal property including without limitation damage 
to or loss or destruction of personal property vested in the custodian, 
or other impairment of assets that fairly arise out of or is a reasonable or
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natural consequence of the evacuation of such person from the protected 
area in British Columbia by reason of the order of the minister of Justice 
under regulation 4 in the Defence of Canada Regulations or under 
P.C. 1665 of March 4, 1942, or any other law or order requiring the 
evacuation of the said area by persons of the Japanese race.

As used herein “evacuation” shall include voluntary departure from 
the protected area prior to but in anticipation of the making of any order 
under the regulations or orders in council above referred to.

The commission shall have power to consider in determining the 
amount of relief that would be fair and equitable according to the facts 
as they appear in each case, the existence or intervention of other causes 
effecting the damage or loss including action or non-action by the claimant 
or his representatives, and the action of the custodian of alien enemy 
property or his agents, and any monies paid over or held by the said 
custodian and deductions therefrom by way of commission or expenses 
or otherwise.

3. (a) The commission shall receive claims for a period of twelve 
months from the date of this order. All claims not presented within 
that time shall be forever barred.

(fc) The commission shall not consider any claim
(1) For damage or loss arising out of the internment under the

Defence of Canada Regulations of any person.
(2) For damage or loss on account of death or personal injury,

personal inconvenience, physical hardship or mental suffering.
(3) For damage or loss to any property vested in the custodian

by virtue of the trading with the enemy regulations.
4. The commission shall give reasonable notice to the interested 

parties, of an opportunity for them to be heard and present evidence 
before making the final determination of any claim, and shall be entitled 
to take evidence by way of affidavit or otherwise in its discretion.

It shall have for the purpose of any hearing or investigation authorized 
by this order, all the powers conferred under the Public Inquiries Act.

5. The commission shall dispose of all claims filed with it upon written 
findings of fact and reasons for the decision, and a copy of such claim 
shall be mailed to the claimant or his solicitor and shall be filed with the 
Secretary of State.

The amount of such claim, together with an allowance not to exceed 
10 per cent of such claim for costs to solicitor or counsel representing 
the claimant, together with all expenses or costs incurred by the com­
mission in connection with this order, shall be paid out of moneys, etc.

6. For the purpose of this order the commission may appoint the 
clerk and such solicitors, examiners, interpreters, appraisers and other 
employees as may be necessary to conduct the business of the com­
mission and may call upon all departments and agencies of the government 
of Canada to assist the commission in the carrying out of the duties 
imposed by this order.

By Mr. Green:
Q. Do you include in that those Japanese who were evacuated from the 

coast, repatriated to Japan, about 4,000 of them?—A. I do not know that we 
either include or exclude them, expressly. I do not think there is any language 
that covers them.

Q. Your reference covers them all?—A. I suppose it does; any claim by 
any person of the Japanese race. There would be, I imagine, a considerable
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difficulty over people repatriated to Japan, over their being able to present 
their claims. This is just the rough draft. No doubt the government have 
adequate draftsmen. This is an outline of what we thought from our point of 
view would be a medium which would establish fairness and justice to the 
Japanese-Canadians.

By Mr. Pinard:
Q. Do you think this should be included? Do you think they should be 

included?—A. There were several classes repatriated, some who were repat­
riated because they were disloyal to Canada—

Mr. Green : They were all repatriated.
The Witness: Some were repatriated because they were members of a 

family of old people and they had to go, but out of respect for their parents, 
or something like that. If they come back, if they are allowed to come back— 
it is a matter of government policy. When they are here, and they are Canadian 
citizens, we do not see any reason why they should not make a claim like 
anybody else. It all depends on the particular reasons for which they went. 
The government will decide its own policy with regard to it.

By Mr. Green:
Q. No, no; but everyone over sixteen years of age who requested repat­

riation was sent not because they were disloyal or for any reason of that kind, 
but because they asked to be sent over. I would like to know whether your 
committee believe that they should all be subject to the same rights of 
compensation as the Japanese who remained in Canada?—A. I do not think 
anyone who was deported for disloyalty should be.

Q. They were all deported at their own request.—A. I think it is a matter 
which should be considered on the basis of individual circumstances. If, as I 
say—and I am only extemporizing this, I have not obtained the view of the 
members of our committee—but as I say it is my information that quite a 
few of those who went away were the sons of aged parents and they all asked to 
go to Japan because it was a filial duty, because there would be no one to look 
after their parents over in Japan. They went voluntarily, they signed these 
forms and went. Many of them are still Canadian citizens. Certainly, I 
would not be one to say that they had not the right. However, perhaps that is a 
matter of detail. I don’t suppose that this commission would purport to go over 
to Japan and hear claims from people living there. Our primary concern is with 
those who remained in Canada as Canadian citizens and who, we think, should 
have fair treatment such as we would like to accord to any other Canadian 
citizen.

By Mr. Fleming:
Q. I see here you have a one-year period of limitation within which claims 

can be filed.—A. Yes, we suggested that because we thought there should be 
some period of limitation, but we also urged that that limitation of one year 
operate only from the time when the commission is set up.

Q. That is one thing on which we wanted to be clear, the one-year 
limitation you proposed would operate from the date of the establishment of 
the commission?—A. That is right; I mean, there has to be some period. The 
commission can’t go on for ever and ever. And we think that any Japanese- 
Canadian would have ample time within the period of one year in which to file 
at least some sort of a claim and get their names before the commission.

Mr. Green : Just one other question. -
The Vice-Chairman : Arc you through with your presentation?
The Witness: Yes.
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By Mr. Green:
Q. You spoke of Japanese being evacuated on twenty-four hours’ notice. 

Have you many cases of that kind which have come to your attention? I am very 
much surprised to hear that. —A. Again, Mr. Tanaka has the details more fully 
than I do. We had under the Forbes commission some cases, I would not say 
very extensive, of people on the coast in remote areas who did not receive word; 
and we may have some cases—there were notices that aliens would require to 
be evacuated and many Japanese-Canadians who were citizens thought they 
were not going to be avaeuated. Then there were some notices given, I think, 
by radio. Some heard them and some did not; and some naturally took the 
attitude that being Canadian citizens it did not apply to them. Then, of course, 
there were some who could not even read, who did not hear about it until the 
last moment. I think the actual order for evacuation was made on the 4th 
of March.

Q. It took some months to carry out the evacuations. I know that it was 
done in certain areas at certain times. I would be very much surprised if there 
were many cases where there was not longer notice than twenty-four hours.— 
A. I do not suppose that there were many like that, but we have had other 
cases where there was a week’s notice and cases where there was a notice of 
two weeks. You see, the process took place over a period of time. Yes, I see 
that I was right, the general order applying to all of Japanese ancestry was 
dated the 4th of March and I believe it would be on the 28th of March that 
public notice was given that they were required to evacuate—it would have been 
given a few days before that possibly, that Japanese nationals were required 
to remove from the lower mainland, were required to report on the 27th of 
March; naturalized were required to report on the 30th of March, and Canadian- 
born were required to report on the 31st of March. At that time they were 
generally given approximately twenty-four or seventy-two hours’ notice to be 
ready for evacuation from restricted areas.

Q. That was to report, that was not to be evacuated?—A. Yes; but in many 
cases they had to come from some distances with all their things and I do not 
think they got back again to their homes.

Q. Oh, yes.—A. Mr. Tanaka, who was there, said there were some who did 
not have an opportunity to get back.

Mr. Tanaka: In some cases they only had a half-hour’s notice.
Mr. Fleming: Would you mind speaking a little louder, please.
The Witness: In some cases, he said, they only got a half-hour’s notice. 

Of course, it would be a difficult thing to serve notices on a lot of these people.
Mr. Pinard: Don’t you think they were expecting it?
The Witness: No, many of them did not.
Mr. Lapointe: They knew we were at war. Didn’t they know about 

Pearl Harbour?
The Witness: They knew about Pearl Harbor. The first announcement 

of government policy was that Japanese aliens would be required to move from 
security areas. I submit that an announcement of policy like that would make 
some of them feel that they could continue to stay there because they were 
Canadian citizens. Perhaps some of them did not understand the implications 
of war. After all, lots of simple people do not understand what is going to 
happen when war circumstances arise.

By Mr. Green:
Q. The fishing boats were called in.—A. They were called in in January.
Q. They were called in in December. I heard the radio announcement 

myself, the 7th or 8th of December.- A. The order was made on the 15th of
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January. They were immobilized I understand at the outbreak of war, imme­
diately after Pearl Harbor, but I think the actual taking over was done in 
January. But even allowing the widest latitude there are bound to be quite a 
few who did not get satisfactory notice, who do not listen to radios. There are 
even people who do not read the newspapers ; and until they got a positive 
notice that they themselves were required to go they may have been hoping 
and expecting that it did not apply to them. In any event there are bound to 
be under those circumstances, it seems to me, hysteria, confusion and excite­
ment; they perhaps did what they would not otherwise have done. I think there 
is plenty of evidence of that.

By the Vice-Chairman:
Q. Mr. Brewin, would you tell us whether or not the United States took 

action along similar lines regarding sending out notices?—A. I am afraid that 
I haven’t got that information.

Q. Do you know if they took any action?—A. I cannot say that. We had 
all this extra machinery arüd the sending out of the notices was tardy. What 
was done in their case, I do not know.

Q. Do you know whether they appointed a custodian along the same 
lines?—A. Very similar. Apparently they appointed a War Relocation Authority 
given roughly the same authority as our custodian.

Q. When?—A. I could not give you the date. You will know the custodian 
was appointed in Canada and given responsibility at an early date, I take it 
that the custodian—I suppose he has already given evidence—I take it that 
it was some time before he could take over the physical protection of the assets 
committed to his care; and it was during that period Mr. Tanaka told me that 
for a time he left, at the time he was evacuated, there were many properties 
which the custodian or his representative had not yet had time to do anything 
with. That had nothing to do with the actual date of the evacuation. The 
custodian may have moved as quickly as he could to deal with the properties 
which came under his protection, but the mere passing of the order does not 
protect the property ; and some of these people, at any rate, were moved out 
before the custodian moved in. I believe you have taken evidence from his 
representatives as to that.

The Vice-Chairman : They were moved out before he had a chance to 
take over.

The Witness: They moved out at the order of the government ; naturally 
they had to move out because of the government order.

The Vice-Chairman: And they left their property in the charge of friends.
The Witness: Yes.

By Mr. Smith:
Q. May I ask one question : having regard to-the 200 claims to which you 

have referred, I understand they run to a total of around $700,000 to $800,000?— 
A. Around $1,000,000.

Q. Don’t you think that might be an average?—A. I think it might be a 
little higher than the average ; for this reason, that people submitting claims 
might have put a little higher value on them than was really justified, notwith­
standing the fact that we asked them to keep the claims, as I said, conservative; 
and, too, many included items which properly should not be there.

Q. If you compare the 200 with the 4,000 it just takes a little simple 
arithmetic to arrive at the answer ; it is going to take something like $20,000,000 
to $30.000,000 to settle these claims.—A. No, with great respect; that, in my 
view, is very unlikely. Out of the 4.000 that we sent out we have, so far,
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received only about 600 replies. We sent the forms out to everybody of whom 
we had knowledge because we wanted to make it as fair and complete as 
possible. Quite a few of those to whom we sent these forms have claims and 
there are quite a number of others who have not. As a matter of fact, we would 
be very much surprised if there were more than a thousand claims in all, from 
the information we have. That would mean, on the basis of the 200 claims of 
which we have made a summary, that out of the total of 1,000 claims which we 
expect you would have, on the basis of a rough average, a total amount of 
$5,000,000; and, as I said before, no doubt some of these claims would in the 
final analysis not amount to any substantial figure. In my estimation, that 
would be a rather high figure to put on it. We are not for a moment thinking 
in terms of $20,000,000 or $30,000,000.

Q. Then you do not think the 200 claims which you have summarized would 
be a fair average for the 4,000?—A. Certainly not. Of the 4,000 we sent out 
we have received so far only about 600. Then, as I say, we do not expect 
altogether that there will be more than about a thousand to file claims. We do 
not expect everyone to whom we sent the 4,000 questionnaires will have a claim 
to file, by any means. As a matter of fact, if one thousand out of the 4,000 
makes a claim we think that would be a very high average.

Q. On what do you base that statement?—A. On our experience to date. 
For instance, 200 claims came in out of 650, that was in an area in the Toronto 
district where the better-to-do tended to settle. Included in those to whom the 
questionnaires were sent were a lot of younger people who would have no property, 
so I thipk that would be a high average. We anticipate that there will be about 
1,000 claims, although there may be more.

Q. I want to ask you about one other matter, and that is all. These claims 
are being instituted against the dominion government. Let us take a family 
which I know very well who were evacuated from a point in British Columbia 
and settled in Alberta. They are at the present time to my own personal 
knowledge definitely better off farming than they would have been had they 
stayed on their own small piece of land in British Columbia. Do you not think 
that in a case of that kind that is something which should be taken into account; 
in other words, they benefited by the evacuation; should not that be taken into 
account?—A. We have suggested that the commission 'be given the power to take 
into account the widest variety of things under all circumstances with respect to 
those who were evacuated ; in other words, to define what is fair and reasonable 
in regard to each. When you are talking about property claims; if I have a loss 
on a car and have got perhaps only a fraction of its value, the mere fact that 
years later 1 may have got some benefit from the change does not make me feel 
that I should not get the value of the car.

Q. You are a lawyer, and so am I; if I do something to you which in 
effect increases your assets, that is taking into account in all circumstances, 
isn’t it?—A. I quite agree, that anything tangible that increases assets should 
be considered and we have projected that in our draft; but I do not agree that 
intangible things such as the fact that you may be doing a little bit better now 
than you were before should be taken into account. On the same parity of 
reasoning we would be able to present large claims for those who left prosperous 
businesses and skilled occupations but who are perhaps working on sugar 
farms in Alberta as common labourers. We are not asking to include those 
claims because we regard them as ineligible in that they are not tangible enough 
to make a basis for a reasonable claim. Now, by parity reasoning we do not take 
the whole thing intangibly. They did have the evacuation policy and there 
were many forced sales and so on, and that is the reason we have suggested 
the broad terms of reference so that the cases could be studied. Wc certainly 
do not think that a lot of intangible benefits should be included.
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Q. All right, but you have in one of your claims so much for the good-will 
of the business. Obviously that claim is based on the worth of the business at 
that time including an intangible thing called good-will. Surely that ends there. 
Now assuming that person, and I am not disputing this for a moment so please 
do not misunderstand me, but supposing that person was compelled to move from 
the coastal area with his family. He would have been undoubtedly better off 
if he had not done that. Do you not think there should be some consideration, 
or let us use whatever other word you like, given to him?—A. I think the com­
mission should hear evidence all about that and try to decide what is fair.

Q. That is all I wanted to know?—A. Yes, there are many things on both 
sides that have to be taken into accounts.

The Vice-Chairman: I want to ask Mr. Brcwin if he will be good enough, 
as have been previous witnesses, to table one complete folder?

The Witness: Yes, but I wonder if I might have it back. These are the 
only copies we have got and if we can get them back from the committee it 
would be fine.

Mr. Marshall: How many cases are there in the one folder?
The Vice-Chairman : There are twenty-four, they cover numbers 136 to 160.
The Witness: There may be a few fishing claims and something of that

sort.
Mr. Marshall : I think we should have samples of the various things, the 

small farms, and the fishing, and so on.
The Witness: We would be glad to leave all these claims with your com­

mittee if we can have the assurance that when the commission is appointed we 
can have them back. They are, as it were, the brief on which we are going 
to be replying. They are the instructions from our clients.

The Vice-Chairman: They will be in the custody of the clerk.

By Mr. Fleming:
Q. I would like to ask Mr. Brewin to clear up one point. Are there any 

claims being made for business losses? I gather from your remarks to Mr. 
Smith that there are no claims for business losses, but they might be related to 
good-will. Now we had evidence from the custodian and from the custodian’s 
representatives that they did not have the opportunity to buy and sell businesses 
as going concerns but what they sold was the assets of the business, the furniture 
and the fixtures and so on. Have you any comment to make on that?—A. If 
you are asking my1 personal opinion I think the good-will of the business enters 
into all valuations. If somebody requires me to leave suddenly and my business 
collapses there are principles of law by which the good-will can be estimated 
and I do not know of any reason why that should not be considered.

Q. Is the scope of the commission you are asking broad enough to cover 
that?—A It includes the impairment of assets and loss of property and I think 
it would be broad enough to cover that.

Mr. Green : Do you think there should be a set-off or claims for moneys 
that were advanced to an individual?

The Witness: That is one thing we want the commission to investigate, 
yes. There arc some claims. Take a man who was steadily employed and was 
required to be evacuated. He became virtually unemployed anil his family 
was put more or less on relief. We do not think in those circumstances that 
the relief should be charged against him. We want the commission to have 
power to investigate things like that and determine whether they think it is fair 
and whether such moneys should be allowed as a set-off or not. Certainly I 
would think it unfair if you had taken a person’s job away from him, through 
no fault of his own, and then charge him with the expense of keeping him and
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at the same time take it out of his property which is sold. After all, even when 
people are sent to jail for some crime they are not charged with their board ; 
true, they have substantial losses, but I do not think it is a sound principle that 
losses which come to them through no action of their own at all; that any 
tangible benefit should be deducted. All we ask is that the commission should 
be given broad enough scope to consider and determine what are proper deduc­
tions and proper expenses to be taken off.

The Chairman : Thank you.
Mr. Pinard: May I ask just one question ; are we going to come back 

this afternoon?
The Chairman: I was just going to ask if it was the wish of the committee 

that we sit again this afternoon.
Mr. Fleming: I imagine the witness is about through.
Mr. Marshall: I have one or two questions I wanted to ask.
The Chairman : Yes.

By Mr. Marshall:
Q. Of this $1,000,000 of which you spoke what percentage of that would 

actually relate to business?—A. Well, I can break it down. There is the loss 
that they estimate on real estate; that will be roughly $160,000; the loss that 
they estimate on business they put at roughly $600,000.

Q. In the particular case about which you spoke I think $1,500 represented 
good-will in the business; that was included in vour calculations, I take it?— 
A. Yes.

Q. Now, is it possible to find out how much of the $1.000,000 of the 
estimated loss in these 200 cases would represent good-will?—A. I could not 
give you that offhand.

Q. Could we get that?—A. The total here for business is $600,000, for that 
includes physical assets. How much of that is good-will I cannot tell without 
going to the forms and picking it out.

The Chairman: Would it be fair to suggest, Mr. Brewin, that of that 
amount 75 per cent would represent good-will?

The Witness: No.
Mr. Johnston : I do not think we should have any guessing about this 

thing. I think we should have the actual figures.
The Witness : I am sorry we cannot give you the figures. In the case to 

which reference was made I would not say the figure was typical because in a 
good many cases good-will was not estimated. They gave the physical assets 
of the business. In some cases you might say that they were just hoping, if you 
get what I mean.

The Chairman: Mr. Brewin, would you tell us if you personally or anyone 
on your committee, investigated any of the claims submitted?

The Witness : I think I can say fairly that we have not investigated the 
claims. We are in Toronto and most of the property is in British Columbia and 
we have just presented the claims. We have done everything we could to keep 
the claims modest and reasonable, and we think on the whole we have been 
successful ; and that is shown to be the case because in some of these claims the 
actual value claimed is the assessed value; which is a fairly good indication 
that in at least a good many cases they were very reasonable. We have not 
had the machinery to investigate the claims and that is why we want the 
commission.

Mr. Burton: That is wdiy you want the commission?
The Witness: Precisely.
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By the Vice-Chairman:
Q. What was the date of the president’s letter to the Prime Minister of 

which you say you have not got a copy?—A. I am sorry, I do not know.
Q. Well we can get a copy from the Prime Minister.—A. It was just a letter 

saying that the Japanese-Canadians had been loyal citizens and hoping that 
congress would pass this bill.

By Mr. Pinard:
Q. As far as the sale of businesses is concerned, do you think we should 

take this fact into consideration? If the Japanese had not been evacuated do 
you think they would have been able to keep their businesses as before? Due 
to the fact war had been declared do you think this angle should not be taken 
into consideration?—A. No, I do not think they should have to suffer special 
loss on account of the war. Many of these people about whom we are speaking 
are Canadian citizens, or loyal aliens, and it is perfectly true that the war 
situation might have reduced their property valuations or it might have increased 
them.

Q. I am not talking about property valuations, I am talking about the 
businesses.—A. As I stated, Mr. Krug in his letter, pointed out that a business 
that was say exporting to Japan or importing from Japan, would suffer a 
loss which would not arise out of the evacùation. That loss would have occurred 
at any rate. With regard to that sort of loss we would not press any claim 
because under the formula we have suggested it would not arise out of the 
evacuation orders. Generally speaking, however, war conditions improved values 
rather than reduced them.

Q. You say you sent 4,000 forms out and you got 650 answers. Do you 
think a portion of those who did not answer were satisfied with the situation 
as it was?—A. I do not think so. I think probably in some cases the claims 
were very small. Some of these claims we might not be able to appraise because 
they might depend on the loss of earnings or something like that, and because 
there is no perfect world from which they could recover their losses, they did 
not bother to send them in. I mean that people, after all, would not be bothered 
filling in the form and sending it in unless they were entirely dissatisfied. 
These reports, however, are pretty well all cases of people who feel, rightly or 
wrongly, that they have grievances.

Q Yes, but there were some 4,000 who did not have any complaint?— 
A. A lot of the claims are confined to assessment of property losses and the 
younger people would not have any claims.

By the Vice-Chairman:
Q. You have expressed your opinion quite freely Mr. Brewin, would you 

say that the average business as carried on by the Japanese population would 
more or less have dried up because of the war?

Mr. Fleming: You mean apart from the fact that the evacuation took 
place?

By the Vice-Chairman:
Q. If there had been no evacuation?—A. Well I do not think I am 

qualified to answer that question. In some cases it might have gone on, but it 
would depend on those special conditions that did arise, and whether it was felt 
that there might have been some danger in having Japanese-Canadians there. 
It is perfectly possible that there would have been some losses on that basis.

Q. Are there any further questions of the witness?—A. I am sorry I must 
explain to the committee that I have a business appointment in Windsor but 
the committe could hear Mr. Tanaka, who has had personal experience in all 
these matters.
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Mr. Pinard: Are we not through with the witnesses?
The Vice-Chairman: I had hoped we might be.
Mr. Fleming: Is there anything that Mr. Tanaka or Mrs. MacMillan 

want to submit to supplement the statement made by Mr. Brewin? Is there any 
further information that they feel is necessary or have we received it from 
Mr. Brewin?

Mr. Tanaka: No, there were certain instances when, if I had been asked, 
I could possibly have helped in the answering.

The Vice-Chairman: But you are satisfied?
Mr. Tanaka: Yes, I think it has been very well presented.
Mrs. MacMillan: With the exception of that question you asked regarding 

the Baptist federation. Perhaps you are aware that two years ago the Baptist 
Federation of Canada was formed to unite the western and central and maritime 
Baptists.

Mr. Green: I move, Mr. Chairman, that you and Mrs. MacMillan fight 
that matter out.

Mr. Fleming: I suggest that we adjourn now at the call of the chair 
which will be the subject of suggestion by the steering committee.

The Vice-Chairman: Agreed.
The meeting adjourned at 1.20 p.m. to meet again at the call of the chair.
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Appendix “A”
Form No. 1

ECONOMIC LOSS SURVEY OF BRITISH COLUMBIA EVACUEES

Japanese Canadian Committee for democracy 

84 Gerrard Street East, Toronto 2, Ont.

All information supplied will be treated as confidential and used only for the purposes 
of presenting claims for restitution.

1. Name .....................................................  Age ...............  Citizenship .................................
2. Pre-evacuation Address .............................................................................................................
3. Present Address ....................................................................................
4. Pre-evacuation Occupation ...............................................................
5. Present Occupation ..............................................................................
6. Real Estate (Residential) :

Street Address .....................:............................................................
Legal Description (Block No., Lot No.) ........................................
Year of Purchase................. Purchase Price of Property................
Estimated Value of Improvements to Property .........................
Estimated Market Value of Property at Time of Evacuation
Assessed Value at Time of Evacuation ......................................
Estimated Present Day Market Value of Property ...................
Price Sold by Custodian ...................................................................
What payment, if any, have you received from the Custodian?
Was this property sold with your consent? Yes .......... No .
Are you satisfied with Custodian’s sale price? Yes .......... No

5. Present Occupation ....................................................................
Name of Firm ...........................................  Type of Business
Street Address ............................................................................
Partnership; Limited Company; or Sole Proprietor:
If either of the former, give details............. .,........................

S.
s.
ss
s
$
$

If Owner of Premises, State Value at Time of Evacuation ........
Price of Premises Sold by Custodian ........................................
What payment, if any, have you received from the Custodian? 
Estimated Value of Business at Time of Evacuation :

(а) Fixtures and Equipment .................................. $
(б) Inventories of Stock ............................................ $
(c) Goodwill .................................................................. $

S.
$
$
S

Total .............................................................. /.... S.................... S.
8. Farm Property:

Location ............................................................................................................
Legal Description .........................................................................................
Type of Farm ................................................. Acreage ...........................
Year of Purchase ............................  Purchase Price of Farm Property $
Estimated Value of Improvements ........................................................... $
Assessed Value at Time of Evacuation ..................................................... $
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Estimated Market Value of Farm at Time of Evacuation :
(a) Land and Buildings ........................................ $
(t>) Equipment and Supplies .................................... $
(c) Livestock ........................................................... $,
(d) Crops ................................................................. S.

Total .................................................................... $.................  $
Price Sold by Custodian .......................................................................  $
What payment, if any. have you received from the Custodian? ......... $
Estimated Present Day Market Value of Property ....................... $
Was this property sold with your consent? ......................................
Are you satisfied with Custodian’s selling price? Yes......... Ne .........

9. Fishing Vessels and Gear:
Type of Boat .........................................................................................
Length .......................................... Beam .............................................
Engine : Make .............................. Horsepower ...................................
Estimated Market Value at Time of Evacuation ............................ S
Price Sold by Committee or Custodian ...........................................  S
What payment, if any, have you received from the Custodian? .... S
Estimated Present Day Market Value ..................................... ....... S
Deductions Connected with Above Sales ............................................. S
Net Amount Received ......................................................................... S.

9a. Fishing Gear:
Estimated Market Value at Time, of Evacuation ...................
Custodian’s Selling Price ...............................................................
What payment, if any, have you received from the Custodian?

10. Personal Estate:
Estimated Market Value at Time of Evacuation :

(a) Automobile, Trucks, Etc......................................................

Custodian’s Selling Price ...............................................
■ (b) Furniture, Fixtures, Radios, Cameras, Etc.....................

Custodian’s Selling Price ..................................................
(c) Miscellaneous .........................................................................

Custodian’s Selling Price .........................................
11. Loss of Revenue (Rent. Income, Wages. Etc.) :

1942 $ ............. 1943 S ............. 1944 $ ............. 1945 S

$
Ss

$s.
$.

s.
s.s.
s.
s.
$.

1946 $
12. Accounts Uncollected (Rent, Interest, Loan, Deposit, Claims, Etc.) : 

.................................................................................................................. :......... $

......................................................................................................... $
13. Fees Paid (Attorney or Agent. Storage, Transportation, Travelling, 

Medical. Education, Funeral or any other service fees which can 
be directly attributed to evacuation) :

S
$

14. Personal Loss Due to: Cancellations, Abandonment of Insurance
Policies, Contracts, Etc.

..................................................................................................................... S

......................................................................................................... $
15. Family Allowances and Relie I Deduction.

Had Family Allowance not been denied while in British Columbia, 
what total payments would have been received since

................................'............................................................................................ S.
Were Reliefs Payments Deducted From Your Custodian Account?
If so, state amount ........................................................................................ S.

16. Comments:

To the Best of My Knowledge, the Foregoing Facts are True. 
Date ........... ..............................................  Signed ........................
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MINUTES OF PROCEEDINGS
Friday, May 30, 1947.

The Standing Committee on Public Accounts met at 11.30 o’clock a.m., 
the Vice-Chairman, Mr. Gordon B. Isnor, presiding.

Members present: Messrs. Boucher, Burton, Case, Cote (Verdun), Cloutier, 
Dechene, Diefenbaker, Fleming, Gibson {Comox-Albemi), Gladstone, Golding, 
Homuth, Isnor, Jaenieke, Kirk, Picard, Pinard, Probe, Raymond (Wright), 
Rinfret, Smith (Calgary TFest), Stewart (Winnipeg Xorth), Warren, Winkler.

In attendance: Hon. C. W.«G. Gibson, Secretary of State and Custodian of 
Enemy Property, Dr. E. H. Coleman, C.M.G., K.C., Deputy Custodian of 
Enemy Property, and Mr. K. W. Wright, Counsel.

The Committee proceeded to an investigation of the administration of the 
property of illegal organizations.

Dr. Coleman was recalled.
The Vice-Chairman reported that an interim report respecting the admin­

istration of the Vancouver office of the Custodian was being drafted by the 
Steering Committee for submission to the Committee.

On motion of Mr. Homuth :
Resolved,—That the Steering Committee include in the proposed draft 

interim report a recommendation that the matter of losses sustained by Japanese 
evacuees as a result of the administration of their property by the Custodian 
be re fere d to a Royal Commission.

The Chairman, Mr. L. P. Picard, took the chair.
Mr. Smith explained that in the past he had acted on behalf of various 

interested parties and, by leave of the Committee, withdrew until the investi­
gation into the administration of the property of illegal organizations is com­
pleted.

Dr. Coleman was heard and questioned.
Mr. Wright was called and questioned.
Mr. Wright filed a copy of his report to the Custodian respecting the 

property of The Workers’ and Farmers’ Publishing Association Limited, dated 
February 1, 1946.

At 1.05 o’clock p.m. the Committee adjourned until Tuesday, June 3, at 
11.30 o’clock a.m.

A. L. BURGESS,
Clerk of the Committee.
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MINUTES OF EVIDENCE
House of Commons,
May 31, 1947.

The Standing Committee on Public Accounts met this day at 11.30 a.m. 
The Vice-Chairman, Mr. Gordon B. Isnor, presided.

The Vice-Chairman: Gentlemen, would you come to order.
You will recall that when the report of the steering committee was pre­

sented on May 8, it was suggested after having examined the officer in charge 
of the Vancouver office, Mr. Shears along with Doctor Coleman and others, 
that we should review the administration of property of illegal organizations.

Having completed the first item we now proceed to follow the recom­
mendation of the steering committee by calling on Doctor Coleman. Before 
he begins, however, I wish to advise the committee that I got in touch with 
the secretary of state, Colonel Gibson, requesting that he be present today. 
He has advised me, in a letter just received, that he will be unable to be 
present at the early part of the meeting but he will be here later.

Mr. Diefenbaker: Mr. Chairman, before you pass on to the next phase 
there are a couple of matters which I wish to bring to your attention. The
first phase, that is the phase dealing with the disposal of property of the
Japanese, is not finally concluded because of the fact Mr. Murchison was to 
produce figures on the resale of the land or the properties of Canadians of 
Japanese origin. When that return is brought down by him and those 
questions answered I suggest that we should still have available to us the right to 
recall Mr. Murchison for the purpose of cross-examining him on that state­
ment. Otherwise we would just have an ex-parte statement with respect to 
the matters which require clarification. They would be otherwise left un­
clarified.

Then there is another matter on which I would like to ask you a question. 
You recall that on the 14th of May the Right Hon. Mr. Mackenzie, the
minister, stated in the House, that he was going to appear before the com­
mittee. “I intend, sir, to ask the standing committee on Public Accounts 
which is now investigating questions having to do with the administration of 
the custodian of alien enemy property, to subpoena George C. McCulIagh, 
the editor of the Toronto Globe and Mail, to substantiate if he can,” the 
facts set out in a certain editorial. I should like to ask, sir, whether or not 
the minister has asked you or the members of the steering committee for 
the opportunity of appearing before this committee and whether it is intended 
that he appear before the committee having regard to the statement. I would 
also like to ask whether, before this matter is terminated, it is intended to call 
Mr. McCulIagh as the minister has stated.

Mr. Golding: The statement made in that editorial was retracted the 
next day.

Mr. Diefenbaker: I am not going to enter into that argument at all 
because, as I see it, the retraction was of no importance. There was a sur­
plusage of words and I think three or four unnecessary words were withdrawn. 
The general purport of that editorial as I remember it, and I have not got it 
before, me was in effect not changed but, I am not entering into that argument.
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I only mention it because my friend Mr. Golding brought it up. The questions 
I ask are: Is Mr. Murchison to be called after the figures on the sales of the 
properties by the Veterans’ Land Act Department have been given? Has 
Mr. Mackenzie carried out his affirmed intention as expressed in the House?

Mr. Fleming : Or threat?
Mr. Diefenbaker: I would not call it a threat, it was a statement of 

intention. I ask if he has expressed his desire or his intention to the steering 
committee or to you, sir, to have Mr. McCullagh brought before the committee?

The Vice-Chairman : In view of the fact that Mr. Diefenbaker has directed 
his remarks I think particularly to the chair, may I say in reply that it is my 
intention of course, to follow out the minutes and see that the report so 
prepared by Mr. Murchison is tabled for the benefit and information of the 
members of the committee. If, arising out of that report, the steering 
committee deems it necessary, or the members of this committee deem it 
necessary to recall Mr. Murchison it is quite within the authority of the 
committee. Dealing with the second question, as to the statement made 
by the Right Hon. Ian Mackenzie on the floor of the House, in respect to his 
remarks concerning an article contained in the Globe and Mail and his 
reference to Mr. McCullagh, we have taken no action to have Mr. McCullagh 
called before this committee. May I just express personally the thought, as 
I have done on previous occasions, that I can see no good purpose being 
brought about by the calling of Mr. Mackenzie or any other member before 
the committee to make statements of that kind when we have more important 
work to do.

Now, gentlemen, are you ready to proceed?
Mr. Fleming: Just one point arising out of what Mr. Diefenbaker said 

that I think does require some clarification. I think that you used the expres­
sion this morning that we had concluded, or words to that effect, the first part 
of the work of the committee in reviewing the administration by the custodian 
of property of Japanese Canadians. I do not think that was what you 
intended to sav, and it was brought out by Mr. Diefenbaker, because that 
matter is not concluded at all. The matter was discussed by the steering 
committee this week and it is clear that we still have some evidence to come 
in and the question will have to be considered as to whether it is appropriate 
to have a report at this stage before we go too far with other matters. The 
committee has a good deal more other work to do and it may be more convenient 
and practical to carry on with that work.

The Vice-Chairman: Shall we now hear from Doctor Coleman?
Agreed.

Dr. E. II. Coleman, K.C., recalled :
The Witness: Mr. Chairman, in the report dated Jan. 15, 1947, there was 

a section dealing with the property of what were called illegal organizations. 
I have very little to put before the committee by way of oral testimony sup­
plementary to that report. There is reference to a report of the advisory 
committee headed by His Honour, Judge McPhee. That reference is at page 67 
of the so-called McPhee report which was placed on the table of the House of 
Commons on April 24, 1944.

The Vice-Chairman : Doctor Coleman, may I interrupt. The chairman 
of this committee who has been absent has now returned to Ottawa. Last 
evening I spoke to him in regard to taking over his duties as chairman and I said
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I would be very pleased to have him do so at the next meeting. On thinking 
over the matter I feel in view of the fact that we are undertaking a new phase 
of the work this would be a proper time for him to assume his duties as 
chairman.

He is now present. I telephoned him this morning and advised him of my 
decision and he is here, I suppose to take over. In view of the change-over I 
wish to make a brief observation. I wish to thank the members as a whole 
for the very splendid cooperation which they have given to me as chairman.
I particularly wish to thank the members of the steering committee. It has 
been an interesting and pleasant task to work with them and to work with 
you all. In fact it has been an education to me with respect to the material, 
evidence, and statements which have been placed before this committee and 
I think we have established somewhat of a record in dealing with such an 
important bill as bill 22, entitled “An Act to Continue the Devised Regulations 
respecting Trading with the Enemy”. I refer to the brief time and to the full 
discussion which we have had in the commitee and the short period which it 
took to pass it through the House.

I remember Mr. Golding complimenting certain members on the cooperation 
and help they had given. I would like to add my remarks to those of 
Mr. Golding with regard to the splendid work and assistance given to me by the 
legal members of this committee. In dealing with that bill I fully realized, as 
a layman, that I was unfamiliar with many phases dealing with the legal points. 
We have already had eleven meetings and we have covered the situation almost 
to a conclusion I think, insofar as the property of Japenese on the west coast 
is concerned. We are now entering another important phase of our work with 
regard to illegal organizations. I had hoped that a report might have been 
prepared, and I still feel it should be prepared, covering the first phase of this 
matter which your steering committee has under consideration at the present 
time. I do wish also to add my thanks to Doctor Coleman, Mr. Shears, and 
others who gave statements in such a very intelligent and broad manner. 
Gentlemen, I am now going to take the liberty of asking Mr. Picard to take over.

Mr. Golding: Mr. Chairman, before you leave the chair I would like to take 
this opportunity on behalf of all the members of the committee of expressing 
to you, sir, our appreciation for the manner in which you have conducted the 
business of this committee as chairman. I am sure you have tried to be fair to 
everybody in connection with the handling of the business that came before the 
committee and we appreciate your fairness in dealing with these matters and 
again I want to compliment many of the members who made what I considered 
to be splendid contributions to the work of this committee. I speak specifically 
with regard to our fried Don. Fleming, as far as the bill is concerned, but I can 
assure you we do appreciate the services which you have rendered to this 
committee in the absence of the regular chairman.

Mr. Stewart: I should like to ally myself with the remarks made by 
Mr. Golding. This is the third session that I have participated in a committee 
when you have been in the chair and you have always been very fair and 
very impartial in your dealings. We know, of course, that Mr. Picard will 
try to be as fair.

Mr. Fleming: I would like very much to associate myself with the remarks 
that Mr. Golding has made. This committee has been a very pleasant com­
mittee to work in and I think you, Mr. Chairman, have set a tone here that 
has been appreciated by all members of the committee. I do not think, as 
far as the bill is concerned, that you need have said anything in a diffident 
tone about being a layman because you have conducted the business of the 
committee with what we all recognized as the utmost ability. 1 would like 
very much to be associated with the remarks concerning the fairness in which
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you have conducted the committee. I think that meant much to the members 
of the committee who have had to undertake this very difficult task. I think 
it is worth noting that when you heard at the steering committee meeting on 
Tuesday afternoon that Mr. Picard was returning, and was going to assume 
the chairmanship of the committee, it was typical of your conscientiousness 
to indicate that you felt that in laying down the gavel of the committee you 
should gather up the threads of the work done by the committee and prepare 
a report. Then Mr. Picard, in taking over the chairmanship, would not have 
to assume responsibility for work that has been done to date in reviewing 
the administration by the custodian in handling the assets of persons of the 
Japanese race. I think Mr. Isnor, as vice-chairman, intends to continue with 
that work and again I say that it is a sign or a mark of the readiness with 
which he has given his service to the committee.

Mr. Homuth: Mr. Chairman, personally I would like to see you continue 
in the chair as far as the Japanese situation is concerned. In view of what 
Mr. Fleming has said, that you are preparing an interim report, I think this 
committee ought, while you are still in the chair, to make some recommendations 
with respect to the setting up a commission, a royal commission or whatever 
you wish to call it, to deal with those losses. I would therefore like to move 
that, this committee recommend to the steering committee that motion be 
embodied in your interim report which you will submit as soon as possible to 
this committee. I will make that motion.

The Vice-Chairman: Gentlemen, you have heard the motion by Mr. 
Homuth and if I heard correctly Mr. Probe seconded it.

Mr. Probe : Yes, I would second that.
The Vice-Chairman : It is seconded by Mr. Probe. The motion is that 

this be placed before the steering committee for consideration and if deemed 
advisable it should be included in the report.

May I say there was no intention of presenting a report without first 
placing before you a draft of that recommendation.

All in favour of the motion?
Carried.
May I just, before standing aside, thank the members and express my 

appreciation for their kind words respecting my endeavours to carry out the 
work.

Mr. Picard, chairman, took the chair.
The Chairman : Gentlemen, when I was notified that bill 22 was being 

referred to this committee, of which I had been voted chairman, I had to notify 
the Whip that I was in the United States undergoing treatments and regaining 
my health. I asked that a vice-chairman be selected and I said that I hoped 
to be able to return soon. On my return a few days ago I thought it would be 
proper for Mr. Isnor to carry on until there was a change of the subject matter 
before the committee. I have tried to read as much as I could of the evidence 
that has been given before the committee up to now. I see, by the unanimous 
approval of his work, that he has done a splendid job and I will have a hard 
time to keep up his tradition. However, with your cooperation and help 
I think the committee will be able to carry on its work.

Mr. Fleming: May I just mention one point before Doctor Coleman goes 
further. I gather that Doctor Coleman was making a very brief report on 
the assumption that the contents of this report of January 15th had been read 
by the members of the committee. Now at an earlier meeting, Mr. Chairman, 
the question of having further copies of this report, of which I think there were 
only eight or nine at that time, was discussed. The copies of the report have
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not been made generally available and for that reason I suggest that Doctor 
Coleman make a more extended statement, not assuming that the pages of 
this report dealing with the administration of property of illegal organizations 
have been read by the members of the committee. I think he ought to make 
a fuller statement than apparently he had expected to make.

The Chairman: I quite agree with that. The secretary of the committee 
tells me it has not been possible to have copies made for all members.

The Witness: I think probably I should say that the section dealing with 
the substantive part is not very long. Perhaps if I read that it would almost 
suffice. I had only begun by referring to the so-called MePhee report and I was 
about to state that by direction of the steering committee I have handed to the 
secretary of this committee fifty copies of that report in mimeographed form.

Mr. Smith: Doctor, may I interrupt you for a moment. Mr. Chairman I 
am going to ask you to excuse me with respect to the discussion of this subject. 
The reason that I ask to be excused is that I acted on a commission which went 
through Canada on the matter. I acted in three cities in Alberta, Calgary, 
Lethbridge and Medicine Hat so I do not think that I should take any part of 
the proceedings. Will you excuse me?

The Chairman: Certainly. However, I might tell you Mr. Smith that I 
had the occasion to be the chairman of a subcommittee on which there was a 
gentleman who, for reasons like yours said that he wanted to withdraw. It was 
in connection with the war expenditures committee a year ago and we asked him 
to stay. He did stay and behaved very riicely and I am sure that the same 
situation would apply to you.

Mr. Smith: That was very commendable of him, but if you will excuse 
me I would appreciate it.

The Witness: I will now put in the narrative. Shortly after the order in 
council was passed in June, 1940, declaring a number of societies and organiza­
tions to be illegal, the Custodian was asked if he would undertake the adminis­
tration. The Department of Justice recommendation was made by the Minister 
of Justice appreciating that they did not have the machinery or facilities for 
administering the properties of these organizations scattered throughout Canada. 
It was not ordinarily within the scope of the custodian’s department but at that 
particular time every agency and part of the government which was requested to 
undertake any job felt obliged to do so. The first difficulty was to obtain par­
ticulars, more especially of the real property owned by the various organizations 
which had been declared illegal. The officers and the chief officials of these 
organizations, having regard to the action taken in declaring them illegal, were 
perhaps not unnaturally apprehensive as to the result. Therefore it was exceed­
ingly difficult to obtain information from any person or persons who would admit 
knowledge of the business affairs of the organization. What had happened 
apparently was that the police officers after the order had been passed had taken 
over the keys from whoever seemed to be the official in charge of a certain build­
ing at that time and no further members or officers of the illegal organizations 
came to the buildings. The task, therefore, of sorting out the information was 
an exceedingly laborious and extended one. It was not until on in 1940 that any 
comprehensive picture could be prepared. Mr. V. MacDonald, Dean of Dal- 
housie Law School who was called into our office, assisted in the tabulation of 
material as it was received and is preparing a preliminary report for the informa­
tion of the custodian. As I said, it was not until the early autumn of 1940 
that even this preliminary report could be completed. The file contained the 
name of each property or branch. These files, which I need hardly say are very 
voluminous, are open for examination by the committee or any representative of
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the committee. I cannot bring them because they would fill the wider end of this 
room ; but if any member of the committee wants to look at any particular file 
or branch we will gladly make it available.

After that preliminary report was made to the custodian we discovered 
that in relation to properties in some of the larger centres there were outstanding 
claims under mortgages ; by the municipality for taxes and by other creditors. 
Many of these creditors realizing that the properties were under seizure were 
pressing for payment of their claims and the custodian had then to consider what 
course he might follow. In cases where it was possible to secure satisfactory 
tenants who would pay sufficient rent to cover the annual expenses .he did not 
give any consideration to the question of sale. Unfortunately tenants prepared 
to pay adequate rent could not be secured at some of the major centres. Proper­
ties were located in some cases in districts of the city where there was little, 
demand for that type of equipment. In a few cases there was reason to appre­
hend interference with the property ; and there were accumulating taxes, charges 
.bv way of taxation, mortgages, fire insurance and other demands for payment 
of that description, so many of these were closed up, particularly during the 
Canadian winter of 1940. That was the great problem as to how they should be 
properly safeguarded, especially with respect to heating plant, and also with 
regard to securing fire insurance on unoccupied buildings of this type. During 
the summer of 1940 in quite a number of communities home guards were 
organized, and similar bodies of that nature, as members of the committee will 
recall; and in a number of cases they asked if they could not use these buildings 
as temporary headquarters. There were a few other small communities where 
there was no other hall available and Red Cross organizations, Boy Scouts and 
other patriotic societies applied for permission to enter and use them.

In the fall and winter of 1940 and 1941 the custodian found out that these 
charges were accumulating at a very rapid rate so he obtained reports from the 
agents as to the possibility of renting, and he did offer a number of properties 
for sale having had a report from the agents that they could not secure suitable 
tenants for them. In all cases I think without exception sales were made after 
extensive advertising and after making sure that a satisfactory tenant could 
not be obtained.

And now, in the report to which Mr. Fleming refers there is a list of the 
organizations declared illegal. I do not know whether I should read it, it is quite 
lengthy, on page 51 of the report.

P.C. 2363
dated June 4, 1940.

Exhibit “A”

The Auslands Organization of the National Sozialistische Deutsche 
Arbeiterpartei 

The Deutsche Arbeitsfront
The Canadian Society for German Culture (Deutschcr Bund fur Kanada)
The National Unity Party
Canadian Union of Fascists
The Communist Party of Canada
The Young Communist League of Canada
The Canadian Labour Defence League
The League for Peace and Democracy
The Ukrainian Labour Farmer-Temple Association
The Finnish Organization of Canada
The Russian Workers and Farmers Club
The Croatian Cultural Association
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The Hungarian Workers Club
The Polish People’s Association
The Canadian Ukrainian Youth Federation

P.C. 2527
dated June 12, 1940.
Exhibit “B”

Italian Fascio Abroad (Fasci Italian! All’Estero)
O.V.R.A. Opere Volontarie Repressione, Anti-Fascisto (National Organiza­

tion for the Repression of Anti-Fascism)
Dopolavoro (After Work Organization)
Associazione Combattent! Italiana (Italian War Veterans’ Association l
O. G.I.E. Organizzazioni Giovanili Degli Italian! All’Estero (Italian Youth

Organization Abroad)
The Italian United Moral Front (A combination of Italian and Italo- 

Canadian Societies in Montreal under control of the Canadian Fascio)

P. C. 2682
dated June 20, 1940,
Exhibit “C”

Technocracy Inc. 
P.C. 2943
dated July 4, 1940. 
Exhibit “D”

Jehovah’s Witnesses
It was known that some of the organizations operated in restricted areas 

in one or two of the provinces and others were national in scope, it was also 
known that many of them were incorporated and it would be difficult to secure 
accurate information as to their holdings. An obvious prerequisite to admin­
istration was the ascertainment of the property holdings of these organizations 
and their financial situation generally.

The first step towards assuming effectual and actual control of these 
organizations was the appointment of eight trust companies and accounting 
firms to represent the custodian in the various provinces (one of them was 
appointed for two provinces i.e. Nova Scotia and Prince Edward Island).

Each of these firms was appointed controller and inspector (under regula­
tions 17 and 7-8 of the Reguations re Trading with the Enemy) of the business 
of each or the organizations for its particular province.

Each controller and inspector was instructed to assume possession of all 
known ' property, to arrange for insurance coverage or physical protection of 
property where necessary, to investigate the property holdings and business 
affairs of the organizations.

At the same time arrangements were made with the Canadian Bankers’ 
Association and the Post Office Department, whereby all relevant information 
in the possession of banks, and all mail directed to these organizations would be 
sent to the appropriate controller directly. A similar arrangement was made 
with the Commissioner of the Royal Canadian Mounted Police to investigate 
the affairs and holdings of these organizations in all localities in Canada, and 
to submit reports not only to this office, but to the controllers in the provinces 
in which they operated.
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These arrangements were based on a policy of decentralization of details, 
and centralization of general control in the office of the custodian.

From these arangements, came a steady stream of information and queries 
from banks, post offices, police and controllers which enable Mr. MacDonald 
to keep in touch with investigations and problems throughout Canada, to direct 
further investigations and to suggest principles for the solution of those problems 
and methods for greater cooperation between all these agencies of investigation.

An officer of the custodian’s office was sent out as a field man to cooperate 
with the various controllers. Information was obtained of all illegal organization 
properties. On the return to Ottawa of this officer, the information was tabulated, 
and a proper inventory prepared.”

And it goes on to detail the kind of business involved.
As I was about to say, sir, when the more important of these organizations 

were removed from the list of illegal organizations in December of 1943 the 
Governor in Council authorized the custodian to appoint an advisory committee 
to look into the complaints which were made, in particular by the Ukrainian 
Farmer-Temple association and other organizations. This advisory committee 
was headed by His Honour Judge McPhee—the other members being 
Mr. Campbell of Edmonton and Mr. Thomson of Windsor. And, as I said, the 
reports submitted by this committee were placed on the table of the House of 
Commons on the 24th of April, 1944. The government as a matter of policy 
instructed the custodian to absorb debit balances where those occurred and 
directed that the custodian pay the claims recommended for payment by the 
advisory committee headed by Judge McPhee. These aggregated approximately 
$10,791.70. In connection with the Ukrainian Farmer-Labour Temple, for 
instance, it was directed that the custodian should pay to the municipalities 
one-half of the taxes for 1940. The organizations were declared illegal in 
June of 1940, and taxes for 1941, 1942 and 1943 on those properties on which 
tax payments were then in arrears and on which revenues had not been sufficient 
to pay them; and the payments, one, two, three, will be made from the funds 
held in trust by the custodian.

Subsequently, in October of 1944, the government again as a matter of 
policy decided to assist in the repurchase of certain Ukrainian halls which had 
previously been sold. The negotiations in respect of that were conducted by 
the minister on behalf of the government and not by any administrative member 
of the custodian’s staff; and they related to the property of the Ukrainian 
Farmer-Labour Temple located at Lachine, Toronto, Hamilton, Euclid Avenue 
in Winnipeg, Saskatoon, Edmonton and Vancouver; and Calgary, Lethbridge 
and Medicine Hat.

Now, I have with me a little memorandum which is a summary of the files 
about most of these properties, which I am going to read. It is a digest of the 
files. I have the files available if the committee want. them. In the meantime 
I can give you a few notes dealing with the principal properties.

The Chairman: I think it is quite desirable, because we cannot go into 
all the details at this stage.

The Witness : In regard to Lachine:
This was a two-storey building, constructed of cement blocks, and 

measuring 32' by 60'. While the assessed value in 1940 was given as 
$4,000, the agents, Messrs. McDonald, Currie & Co. of Montreal, stated 
that the present-day value at that time (October 1940), would be 
approximately $1,000.

The agents offered the property for rent but were unable to secure a 
satisfactory tenant, until an offer was received from the Salvation Army 
in April 1941. Certain tentative offers of purchase were made to the 
agents and accordingly they advertised the property for sale in the public
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press in May 1941. Two offers were reeeived, one from the Salvation 
Army for $2,000 and an offer from a clergyman for $1.100. The agents 
recommended the acceptance of the higher offer, $2,000 cash. 1 lie 
property was sold, therefore, to the Salvation Army.

The annual taxes on this property were approximately $170. As 
will be seen by the above, the only offer of rent, $10 a month, would not 
be sufficient to cover the taxes, not to speak of fire insurance and other 
necessary carrying charges.

The Chairman: May I ask, Dr. Coleman, if these properties were advertised 
through the press?

The Witness: Through the press, yes.
Then, the next one is Hamilton:

A one-storey brick stucco building, 30' by 60'. At the time the 
building was taken over there was a mortgage and a claim by the mort­
gagee aggregating $2.725. There were claims by other unsecured creditors 
of $1,700 or $1,800, so that the total liabilities exceeded $4,000.

As early as August 1940, the solicitors fur the mortgagee wrote 
the custodian concerning his client’s claim under the mortgage and asked 
permission to take proceedings.

In October 1940 the property was leased for six months to Ukrainian 
War Veterans. When this lease expired the Ukrainian War Veterans 
expressed a desire to purchase and offered the sum of $4,000, which was 
refused. The amount realized from the lease was insufficient to take 
care of the mortgage and other charges. Accordingly, the property wras 
advertised in the last days of September and early in October, 1941, 
and the highest cash tender for the property and contents was from 
the Holy Ghost Ruthenian Greek Catholic Church, $5,650 cash.

I may remark that a higher offer of $6,000 was received from 
Ukrainian National Federation but this called for a small cash payment 
and the balance on mortgage.

Mr. Fleming: That was sold then?
The Witness: It was sold.
Mr. Fleming: Have you got the assessment?
The Witness: I have it on the file but I haven’t got it on this statement.
Mr. Isnor: Is this the property on which there was an additional liability 

of $4,000?
The Witness: About $4,000; a mortgage of $2,725 and an unsecured 

creditor’s claim, $1,700.
The next is Toronto, at Bathurst street:—

“ This was a building of brick and concrete fireproof construction, 
45' by 125', assessed, land $4,500, building $32,000.

When the property was taken over in 1940, there was a first mort­
gage to the Imperial Bank of $8,400, a second mortgage to Workers 
Benevolent Association of $7,000, in respect to which it appears no claim 
was filed. Notice was given of notes and loans payable, amounting to 
$11.638.15. The second and third instalments of taxes for 1940, amounting 
to $874.65, had to be paid, and there were oustanding accounts amounting 
to $100 or so.

On the 18th June, 1940, the general manager of the Imperial Bank 
of Canada, holders of the first mortgage, advised us of the bank’s claim. 
On December 7th, the hall was leased by the custodian’s agents to the 
Lkramian National Federation, an unincorporated body, for a period
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of six months, at a monthly rental of $175. Before making the lease, 
the agents communicated with the Royal Canadian Mounted Police, 
who raised no objection to the leasing of the hall to this organization.

On the 25th of February, 1941, a delegation consisting of two 
members of parliament and a barrister called on the custodian’s agent 
in Toronto objecting that the Ukrainian National Federation had under­
taken to rent the property for six months, expiring 15th June, 1941, 
but had not been able to hold their meetings or haw any social gatherings 
on the premises because up to that time they had not been able to secure 
a public hall licence. Accordingly, the custodian’s agent took the matter 
up with the licensing authority of the Toronto police commission.

On May 21, 1941, the Ukrainian National Federation made an offer 
to purchase at $25,000, but it was decided that no private negotiations 
would be entered into for the sale. Accordingly, the custodian directed 
that an advertisement should be issued in the three Toronto daily 
newspapers, the Globe it Mail, the Star and the Telegram, two insertions 
each at least a week apart, for the purchase of the property. In response 
to these advertisements, two tenders were submitted, the Ukrainian 
National Federation of Canada, Toronto branch, $25.000. and an asso­
ciation, The Pride of Israel, $21,000 cash. It was felt that these offers 
were not sufficient and accordingly the tenderers were asked to submit 
amended offers. The Pride of Israel Sick Benefit Society did not submit 
any amended offer but the Ukrainian National Federation submitted 
an amended offer of $35,000, payable $15,000 cash and the balance, 
$20,000 to be secured on first mortgage with interest at 5 per cent. 
(The balance of this mortgage has now been paid.) The amended offer 
of the Ukrainian National Federation was accepted by the custodian 
on the 12th August, 1941.

Mr. Isnor: Would you mind repeating the amount of the mortgage held by 
the Impérial Bank?

The Witness: That was- $8,400.
Mr. Stewart: Was the amount to be paid by the association, $35,000, paid?
The Witness: Yes.
Mr. Fleming: Do you know whether the mortgage lias been paid off since?
The Witness: It was paid off. This memorandum which was prepared 

as a summary of the file says it was paid in 1944.
And, there were in Winnipeg two buildings. There was the Pritchard hall, 

which is known to anyone who has lived in Winnipeg, on Pritchard avenue. 
This hall could not be rented. No one wanted it. We endeavoured to ascertain 
if it could not be used by the military, the army, as an auxiliary to McGregor 
barracks. They examined it and said it was not adapted for their use. In 
respect to the Pritchard avenue hall there was a very large mortgage. The 
total assessed value of the Pritchard avenue hall was $36.770, and the balance 
payable on the mortgage was $37,122.82. This mortgage was held by the 
Workers’ Benevolent Association. 1 do not want to make any statement of 
fact; but members of the Workers’ Benevolent Association were in some degree 
similar to the Ukrainian Farmer-Labour Temple Association.

The Chairman: Were they the owners?
The Witness: They were not declared illegal. As I say, I do not want 

to make any statement of fact which I cannot prove; but they did operate 
a good ileal together. I do not cast any reflection whatever, but they had this 
very large mortgage.
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Mr. Fleming: That was the same organization that held the mortgage on 
the Bathurst property?

The Witness : Yes. I pointed out, they did not make any claim in respect 
to Bathurst street, but it appeared on the register, on the title.

Mr. Jaexicke: When did they take that mortgage?
The Witness: Long before. They foreclosed the mortgage on the Pritchard 

avenue hall. I come now to the Euclid Avenue property in Winnipeg.
This hall had outstanding taxes of nearby $500 for the year 1940, and 

was under mortgage to the Imperial Bank of Canada for nearly $12,000. In 
cooperation with the mortgagee, the bank, efforts were made to rent the property 
for an amount sufficient to pay the carrying charges. When this could not 
be done, the bank endeavoured to obtain a quit claim from the custodian. The 
custodian declined to give a quit claim and offered the property for sale by 
tender. No offers weje received in spite of extensive advertising, not only in 
the newspapers but by handbills.

Finally the bank, which held the mortgage, asked the custodian to advertise 
the property again, on the condition that the bank would pay the costs of 
advertising. In consequence of the later advertising the property was sold to 
the highest tenderer, the Ukrainian National Federation of Canada, Winnipeg 
branch, for $13,300.

I have a note on Edmonton.

By Mr. Fleming:
Q. You have not the assessment on the Euclid avenue property?—A. I 

have not it in this information, no. I have this information on Edmonton.
This was a two storey frame building, size 30 x 100. It was assessed, with 

the lot, at $6,490.
In July 1940, immediately after the property had been sequestrated, the 

agents in Edmonton reported an offer by the Ukrainian Greek Orthodox church 
to purchase the property and contents at $.3,000, under a four year lease option 
arrangement. The agents reported at the same time that it would cost at least 
$1,500 to put the building in reasonably habitable condition. They further 
reported that apparently part of the upper floor had been rented in rooms on 
a day to day basis, but that as soon as the U.L.F.T.A. was declared illegal this 
rooming arrangement came to an end. The agents pointed out that the building 
was a type which would rapidly deteriote and, since they could not obtain tenants 
at a figure which would cover the upkeep, they recommended sale. In 
September they had three different offers, one for $5,500, another for $4,200, 
and the third for $3,600.

When they advised the property, however, in December 1940, and early 
in 1941, only one tender was received, which was from Nick Todoruk, at 
$5,200, 10 per cent in cash and the balance to be paid within thirty days after 
acceptance. It subsequently developed that Nick Todoruk was purchasing on 
behalf of Ukrainian National Home of Canada.

I have not with me in convenient form references to the two halls which 
were sold where the advisory committee thought there had been some degree 
of carelessness.

In only two of the Ukrainian Labour-Farmer Temple Association 
cases did the committee express the view that the custodian's agents had 
sold the properties for an unduly low price. These cases were in Saskatoon 
and X ancouver. The committee thought the the agents had not felt it 
their duty to point out to the cusodian that the highest bid offered 
appeared unreasonably low in relation to the value of the property.
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I have the files relating to Saskatoon and Vancouver in the minister’s room. 
I would be glad to hand them to the secretary of the committee.

The Chairman : Do you not think it might be easier if some of your 
officers would prepare a short summary of them?

Mr. Fleming: A precis of the contents of the files can be very helpful, 
dealing with the salient points.

The Chairman: It would save a lot of time for the members of the com­
mittee if that can be done.

By Mr. Stewart:
Q. Is that file No. 180? Can the witness tell us if that is file No. 180?— 

A. I do not know.
Q. 805 Pender street, Vancouver?—A. Yes, that is it.
Q. I have a copy of it here if you would like to read it. Possibly Saskatoon 

is in there too.—A. The Vancouver property on Pender street was sold after
advertising for $6,000.

By Mr. Isnor:
Q. $50,000?—A. $6,000.

By Mr. Fleming:
Q. Which one is that?—A. Vancouver. This is just a financial statement. 

I donot think it will give me the particulars the members of the committee 
want. We have a copy of that. We will have a summary prepared on each of 
those. That property was sold by the trustee to the Ukrainian Greek Orthodox 
church, Holy Trinity. Vancouver, in Mav, 1941. The Saskatoon property was 
sold in July, 1941 for $1,500 to the Ukrainian Greek Orthodox church of 
the Holy Ghost. I will have a precis of those two sales prepared. Dealing 
with properties which have been sold you will observe that in that, report 
of the advisory committee they say:

We earnestly urge that the present owners should follow the 
course—

By Mr. Fleming:
Q. Will you give us the reference?—A. Page 69. I will go back a little bit.

In regard to the sales covering ten of the Uk rani an properties the 
advisory committee reported to the custodian:

It is our opinion that the present owners should agree to sell the 
property to the Ukranian Labour-Farmer Temple Association at the 
price paid by them for it provided further, however, that the present 
owners having made permanent improvements to the property, these 
should be paid for by the Ukranian Labour-Farmer Temple Association. 
We earnestly urge that the present owners should follow the course 
suggested, as a reasonable and fair solution of a situation which, 
otherwise, may accentuate difficulties in respecting harmony and good 
feeling among Canadians of Ukranian origin. On the other hand we 
urge that the Ukranian Labour Farmer-Temple Association in the 
negotiations which the present owners, should approach the problem 
in a broadminded spirit and should be careful to avoid recrimination 
and haggling over details.

Negotiations were instigated to comply with the recommendations 
of the advisory committee. These negotiations, however, were not 
successful with the result that the cabinet instructed the custodian to
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have an officer interview the owners of the various properties for the 
purpose of repurchase thereof. This was accomplished at a cost of 
$83,236.98.

It was recommended to the custodian.
1. That he should absorb debit balances where these occur in the 

accounts for maintenance. The amount so involved was $30,562.61.
2. That he should pay the claims recommended for payment by the 

committee. The claims amounted to $10,791.70.
3. That he should pay to the municipalities pne-half the taxes for 

1940 and all the taxes for 1941, 1942, and 1943 on those properties in 
which tax payments are in arrears. Taxes so paid amounted to $13,033.79.

Summary of the above Figures 
(Ukranian Labour-Farmer Temple Association only)

Damage claims paid ............................................ $ 10,791.70
Taxes for latter part of 1940, and all of 1941,

1942, and 1943 ................................................ 13,033.79
Cost re Purchase of Properties............................. 83,236.98
Debit balances ........................................................ 30,562.61

Total........................................................ $137,625.08
As I have already intimated have the files available for examination by 

the committee or any representative. I have told all I can. We will gladly 
supply a detailed report on the Saskatoon and Vancouver cases, or any other 
particular file.

The Chairman : V ou will bring the assessment of the two properties on 
which Mr. Fleming wanted to have information.

Mr. Stewart: There are some questions I should like to ask the witness. 
V ill he refer for a moment to page 71 of the report where it refers to a 
balance of $152,640.96? I should like to have a breakdown of that amount.

The Witness : Page 71?

By Mr. Stewart:
Q. Yes.—A. May I look at it?
Q. I should like to have a breakdown of that amount.—A. The $152,640.96?
Q. Yes, to whom the various detailed amounts were paid. Would it be 

possible to produce that?—A. I think so.
Q. I wish to refer specifically to one item on page 65 of the report. I shall 

read it so the committee will know what I am talking about. This organization 
is called The Workers’ and Farmers’ Publishing Association Limited. This 
is what the report has to say:

At the time this company was declared illegal, an inventory was 
prepared of all machinery and tools. The valuators employed by the 
agents for the custodian appraised these at $9,811. The equipment so 
valued was advertised for sale by tender and sold for $9,696.46. Later 
representations were made to the custodian, as a result of which the 
Hon. Paul Martin, in January, 1946, directed Mr. K. W. Wright to make 
an investigation, resulting in an"additional compensation of $20,000 being 
allowed.

This is a matter which I think we ought to investigate a little further. 
In the first place can the witness tell us who were the valuators employed?— 
A. Mr. Wright is here. He handled the whole thing, and he is prepared for 
your questioning. With the permission of the chairman I think Mr. Wright 
might take my place.

90028—2
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Mr. Stewart: First of all tell us where this property was situated.
Mr. K. W XX right: (Counsel for the Custodian) : This printing plant was 

located in a building known as the Pritchard Avenue Hall in XX’innipeg which 
was owned by the Ukranian Labour-Farmer Temple Association.

Mr. Stewart: XX’ho were the valuators employed?
Mr. XX right: The Toronto Type Foundry was engaged by our agents, the 

XX’estem Trust Company, to make a valuation in 1941.
Mr. Stewart: And who submitted the tender of $9,696.46?
Mr. XVright: The tenders that were received were not accepted, and later 

on as a result of private negotiations by the Western Trust Company two 
different offers were accepted on their recommendation by the custodian. One 
unit of the printing equipment was sold for $3,000 on a time basis, and the 
remaining was sold for $6,500. The difference of $100 odd is made up of interest 
which accrued on the unpaid balance for the first unit which was bought on 
time.

Mr. Stewart : Can you tell us to whom they were sold?
Mr. XX’right: The $6,500 unit was sold to XX’alter Lewi eke of XX’innipeg, 

and the duplex press was sold for $3,000 to the lTkrainian National Publishing 
Company of XX’innipeg.

Mr. Stewart: I assume this sale was authorized by the custodian?
Mr. XX’right: On the recommendation of the XX’estern Trust Company, our 

agent, yes.
Mr. Stewart: XX’hy was it that later another $20,000 had to be allowed?
Mr. XX’right: That was a matter which I was called upon to investigate 

by reason of the fact that the minister was confronted with a further valuation 
by the same company, the Toronto Type Foundry Company, addressed to the 
XX'orkers and Farmers Publishing Company. As examples I have selected five 
items. The valuation given to the custodian in 1941 for a particular unit known 
as the Acme Power Paper Cutter and motor on an as is where is basis was $75, 
piecemeal $100, and as a going concern $150. The letter produced to the minister, 
the Hon. Mr. Martin, indicated to Navis, who was the secretary of this 
organization, that it should have been valued at $850.

The Chairman: The same company made the two valuations?
Mr. XX’right: The same company, signed by different officers, as a matter 

of fact.
The Chairman : Then it is not only attorneys who differ in their opinions.
Mr. XX’right: Out of a long list of some 100 or more items I have selected 5. 

To Navis this one power paper cutter $850, as 1 said, and to the custodian $75, 
$100 and $150. A Miehle press, to Navis $1,800; to the custodian four years 
earlier $400 as is where is, piecemeal $600 and as a going concern $800. A 
cylinder motor, 1-A, to Navis $2,000; to the custodian $500, $700 and $900. 
A Hammond trim-saw, to Navis $750; to the custodian $60, $125, $175.

Mr. Fleming: May I interrupt with one question. XVas the second valuation 
made as of 1945 or as of the earlier date?

Mr. XX’right: That was the value at the time.
Mr. Fleming: At what time, 1945?
Mr. XX’right: 1941.
Mr. Stewart : The first valuation?
Mr. Fleming: I mean the second one.
Mr. XX’right: The second one was made in 1945 but it is a valuation 

as of 1941.
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Mr. Jaenicke: The same company?
Mr. Wbight: The same company.
Mr. Isnor: What about the fifth item?
Mr. Wright: A printing press, to Navis $7,500; to the custodian—and this 

is on an as is where is, piecemeal and going concern basis—$3,500. $3.500, $3.500. 
The five items total $12,900 to Navis but to the custodian $4.635, $5,025, $5,525.

Mr. Stewart: What did the custodian pay the Toronto Type people for 
the first valuation?

Mr. Wright: $20.
Mr. Stewart: Did you have any correspondence with them afterwards 

about that amazing discrepancy?
Mr. Wright: I did. "
Mr. Stewart: What was their excuse?
Mr. Wright: As a matter of fact, I had an investigation in Winnipeg that 

lasted several hours, and finally just before leaving for the east I obtained 
from them a letter which is incorporated in my 37-page report to the minister 
explaining as best they could the discrepancy, which did not satisfy me.

Mr. Stewart: Nor would it satisfy anybody else, I would imagine. There 
are one or two matters in connection with this I should like to ask you about. 
This was a publishing association which printed a paper, I believe?

Mr. Wright: A weekly paper.
Mr. Stewart: And in the editor’s office there would be a large number of 

books? There were a large number of books?
Mr. Wright: Yes.
Mr. Stewart: What happened to those books?
Mr. Wright: In my report I refer to it as the mystery of the missing 

books. What became of them no one knows.
Mr. Stewart: The Western Trust Company was responsible?
Mr. Wright: To a degree. As a matter of fact, after they took over in 

the first instance the R.C.M.P. authorized another group to go in for a number 
of weeks.

Mr. Stewart: What do you irfean by that?
Mr. Wright: I believe they were Ukrainians, and for a few weeks they 

published some paper pursuant to the authority of the R.C.M.P.
Mr. Stewart: Did the R.C.M.P. have authority to over-ride the custodian?
Mr. Wright: It was a matter of arrangement between departments.
Mr. Stewart: The story I have—and I do not say it is right or wrong— 

is that the R.C.M.P. seized a lot of this allegedly Marxist literature and destroyed 
the books. I have some of it on my own shelves and I think every reasonably 
intelligent person will have it. Do you know about that?

Mr. Wright: There were a number of books destroyed. They were taken 
to a waste paper company. Unfortunately the Western Trust Company did 
not keep an inventory of the books that were taken to the waste paper company.

Mr. Stewart: On whose authority were those books destroyed?
Mr. Wright: They were selected and thought to be subversive literature 

by agents of the Western Trust Company, and the custodian indicated they 
should destroy all subversive literature, and that was with the knowledge of 
the R.C.M.P.

Mr. Stewart: You have no idea of the titles?
Mr. Wright: I have no idea. That is a matter which is a mystery today.
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Mr. Stewart: The same thing happened in Germany only they had a 
different concept of subversive literature. They had a great book burning 
festival. It is rather regrettable the same thing should happen here under 
the guise of subversive literature.

Mr. Wright: There was a claim for $5,000 filed with the cutodian for the 
missing books. As a matter of fact, I awarded $1,000.

Mr. Stewart: So there must have been a large number of books destroyed?
Mr. Wright: Yes, there were a number of books destroyed.
Mr. Stewart: And it is beyond any question that such did happen. They 

were destroyed?
Mr. Wright: No question about that. I went to the waste paper company 

and they admitted having received two truckloads of books. They did not have 
a list. They were afterwards made into pulpwood.

Mr. Stewart : Your agents made an inventory of everything that was in 
those premises when they went in. Is that not correct?

Mr. Wright: Not a very satisfactory inventory. As a matter of fact, they 
asked the Toronto Type Foundry Company to make this inventory of the 
equipment, and as was pointed out by the Printers Ink Machinery Company, 
whom I afterwards engaged to make an independent appraisal, there were many 
articles not included in the first valuation, and also indicated that it would not 
have been possible for this company to carry on the operations which they 
conducted without that equipment. They had an extensive circulation. They 
published a weekly paper and they also did a great deal of job printing, and all 
that sort of thing. The inventory which was prepared by the Toronto Type 
Foundry was not complete according to the evidence which came before me in 
my inquiry.

The Chairman: Do you mean when you were faced with two different 
valuations for the same thing you asked a second company to give you another 
valuation?

Mr. Wright: Yes. The problem arose by reason of the presentation of a 
second valuation to the Hon. Mr. Martin. He called me and asked me if I 
had any knowledge of this illegal organization’s work. I said I had no 
knowledge whatever. I had been in Vancouver for the last four or five years. 
I was instructed to go to Winnipeg and make an independent impartial inquiry 
which I did.

The Chairman: There was just one valuation made there at the time? 
There was no check made?

Mr. Wright: One valuation made in 1941.
The Chairman : No check made on that valuation by another firm of 

valuators?
Mr. Wright: No.
The Chairman: Was there any check made on any other properties sold as 

to valuation?
Mr. Wright: In connection with—
The Chairman: Any of the other U.L.F.T.A. properties?
Mr. Wright: I have no knowledge of that. This is the only illegal 

organization file about which I have any information.
The Chairman: Later on, you got a second, independent valuation?
Mr. Wright: While I was in Winnipeg. I engaged the very best firm 

to get the information the custodian required. They submitted a complete 
report anil my report is based on their independent valuation which was made 
at the time of my investigation.
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The Chairman : Which company was this?
Mr. AA’right: This was the Printers Ink Machinery Company.
The Chairman : AA’ould their report be more similar to the first valuation 

made by the Toronto Type or to the second valuation?
Mr. AA’right: I presented them with the list from the Toronto Type and, 

as a matter of fact, cut off the values wliich had been placed by the Toronto 
Type on the list which- was furnished us. They had no information whatever 
of the values that had been given. Then, they came back later stating this 
was not complete, these people could not have carried on and, to our personal 
knowledge, they had many things beyond these. I then obtained from Mr. Navis 
a more complete list. He was in AVinnipeg at the time and I obtained a more 
complete list and furnished that to Mr. Reynolds, who is head of the Printers 
Ink Machinery Company. As I say, my findings are based on this independent 
valuation which was made by the Printers Ink Machinery Company.

Mr. Stewart : Have you any idea whether there was any vandalism on 
the property, apart from the destruction of the books? Had anyone broken in, 
let us say, and perhaps pilfered any equipment or supplies?

Mr. Coleman: If I might have the permission of the chairman of the 
committee, I believe I can state that the Attorney General of Manitoba insisted 
we put a watchman there. There had been instances. I know you are very 
familiar with the location of the property.

Mr. Stewart : Yes, that is why I asked. I had not heard of any.
Mr. Coleman: The government was very apprehensive of it and I think 

the Attorney General was greatly concerned about the matter.
Mr. Burton : Any vandalism which might have occurred would have 

occurred before Mr. AA’right had his independent valuation made?
Mr. Coleman : The property had already been sold and removed when 

Mr. AVright did that.
Mr. Stewart : I should like to refer—I do not know whether Mr. AVright 

would be the proper witness—to the inventories which were prepared of those 
properties. I should like to know if a valuation was placed on the equipment 
at the same time the inventory was prepared or was it merely a factual invent­
ory of the equipment and supplies which were in the property?

Mr. AA’right: You are speaking generally, now?
Mr. Stewart: Generally.
Mr. AA’right: As I say, this is the only file of which I have any knowledge.
Mr. Isnor : Before Mr. AVright leaves, may I ask what the actual date of 

the report was to which he referred?
Mr. AA’right: My report is dated February 1, 1946.
Mr. Isnor: AA’hat was the date of the first transaction?
Mr. AA^right: 1941.
Mr. Isnor: What month?
Mr. AA’right : December 10, 1941.
The Chairman : AVi 11 you also tell me at what page we can find your 

report?
Mr. Wright: It is not in there.
Mr. Stewart: You made a report, Mr. AA’right?
Mr. AA’right: Yes.
Mr. Stewart: I wonder if we could have that report tabled, Mr. Chairman.
The Chairman : That is the report to which reference is made on page 65?
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Mr. Burton : Before Mr. Wright leaves, may I ask him a question? 
I believe he made a statement that tenders had been advertised and received, 
but had not been accepted. Then, again, an advertisement was published for 
tenders. What was the reason ? Were the tenders first submitted too low?

Mr. Wright: The tenders were not satisfactory to the custodian.
The Chairman: Because of the price or because of the people who sub­

mitted the tenders ?
Mr. Wright: On account of the price.
Mr. Burton : There is one ot her point I wish to mention. I do not think 

you gave an answer.to the chairman when he asked how close the independent 
valuation was to the second valuation made by the Toronto firm. I should like 
to know the exact figures.

Mr. \\ right: The total valuation made by the Printers Ink Machinery 
Company was $29,773.55. This was the independent valuation which I obtained 
for the machinery alone. No account was taken of the office furniture or the 
books for the reason they had no knowledge of that. It was possible, in 
the course of hearing evidence of various witnesses, to determine what furniture 
\vas there. I found that they were not entitled to more than they had received 
for the office equipment.

I lie Chairman : So as to make it easier for us to compare would you 
kindly give us first price submitted by Toronto Type and the second one by 
Navis so we can compare them with the one submitted by Printer’s Ink.

Mr. Fleming: May I make a suggestion there. Mr. Wright gave us five 
examples, but would it not be better to have the whole list.

Mr. Wright: They are all inscribed in the report.
Mr. Fleming: But we are not going to have, presumably, the whole report 

typed in the record. There is only one copy to be tabled and would it not be 
better to have the complete list inscribed in the record.

The Chairman : I am personally of the opinion it would make the report 
a bit bulky but if we had at our disposal all the prices, and, if they were 
produced here, it would .'be all right.

Mr. Isnor : It could be tabled.
Mr. Fleming: I was not asking that the report itself be inscribed in the 

minutes but as the report is only being tabled and not inscribed, Mr. Wright 
might give us the full list of thirty-five articles.

Mr. Wright: There are more than that.
Mr. Fleming: How many are there?
Mr. Wright: Upwards of 100 articles. I selected only five.
The Chairman: There are about sixteen pages.
Mr. Wright: Would you like the comparison of the Toronto Type valuation 

and the Reynolds valuation and then the Printer’s Ink and Machinery valuation?
Mr. Fleming: Yes.
Mr. Wright: The total valuation submitted by Toronto Type Foundry— 

as is, where is, $4,271; piecemeal $6,448.50; sold as going concern $9,811.
Mr. Burton : That is their valuation?
Mr. Wright: Their valuation, yes.
Mr. Fleming: That is for the whole 100 odd articles?
Mr. Wright: That is for all of the equipment, that was $9,811. And the 

assets were later sold and realized $9,696. Mr. Reynold’s valuation, as you 
know, is head of the Printer’s Ink Machinery Company, amounted to $27,273.55 
for the equipment; some additional matrix equipment $1.500; which would bring 
the total to $28,773.55.
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I think I said before that it was $29.000.
The Chairman : Now the second one from the Toronto Type, and Navis, 

would you give that?
Mr. Wright: They wrote a letter to Mr. Navis which is incorporated in 

my report. In a letter of September 7, 1945 addressed to Mr. Navis, there is 
a selection of 17 articles and then in two separate paragraphs two other machines 
are dealt with. On page 9 of the report they referred to 11 items and from 
those I have selected five, which I thought would be a sort of cross-section, 
giving you an idea of the discrepancies and the problem which confronted the 
minister when he was faced with this second valuation.

Mr. Burton : Did the Toronto firm have any explanation?
Mr. Wright : Yes, finally they did write a letter explaining and this appears 

on page 30 of my report. I have one little note here. “October 1941, a year 
after our contact with the representative of the custodian it was apparently 
decided to definitely sell the plant and we made an offer for same which was 
not accepted; a higher offer than ours having been made and accepted. The 
purchaser of the newspaper press, we understand, was an organization of 
Ukrainians who had moved from Saskatoon and I believe it was other Ukrainians 
who purchased the rest of the plant.”

‘The paragraph of our letter of September 7, 1945, to which you make 
reference did not convey just what was intended and rather than referring to 
values in 1940 this should have been that such item or items w'ould have cost 
the purchaser the amounts as stated by us.”

Mr. Fleming: Mr. Chairman, it is one o’clock and I suppose we will be 
adjourning. May I mention this one matter so as to give Mr. Coleman an 
opportunity of preparing a report for the next meeting and save some time. 
The settlement to which Mr. Coleman has referred is a total of $137,625.08 to 
the U.L.F.T.A., covering ten properties altogether. We have just now' received 
a further statement in respect to the claim of the Workers and Farmers 
Publishing Association Limited. Are there any other settlements made to 
claimants?

Mr. Coleman : They are all given here.
Mr. Fleming: In other w'ords, there are just the ten properties of the 

U.L.F.T.A. and then one property of the Workers and Farmers Publishing 
Association.

Mr. Coleman : And the absorbing of the debit balances on taxes.
Mr. Fleming: Leaving out that absorbtion, those ten properties and the 

Workers and Farmers Publishing Company represent all the cases in which 
payments were made at the public expense to any of these claimants.

Mr. Coleman : And the $ 11,000 covered in the McPhec report.
1 he Chairman: Do you expect gentlemen to have any other questions to 

ask Mr. Wright?
Mr. I leming: Oh yes, I think we ought to carry on at the next' meeting 

where we are leaving off today.
I iie Chairman : May I'say, gentlemen, in my haste to resume the work 

of the committee I omitted to express to Mr. Isnor the thanks I should have 
expresse» 1 for handling the committee in such a capable manner while I was 
away. I have been told the committee could not sit on next Tuesday before
11.30 because no room is'availablc except this one and it is being used from
10.30 to 11.20. If it is agreeable to the committee, we will meet on Tuesday 
at 11.30 a.m.
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Mr. Isnor: The steering committee considered very carefully the hours 
at which sittings might be held. Due to the fact there were so many other 
committees it was felt 11.30 might work out to our advantage.

The Chairman: Since it is agreeable, we will meet on Tuesday at 11.30 a.m.

The committee adjourned at 1.05 p.m. to meet again on Tuesday, June 3, 
1947, at 11.30 a.m.
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MINUTES OF PROCEEDINGS

Tuesday, June 3, 1947.

The Standing Committee on Public Accounts met at 11.30 o’clock a.m., the 
Chairman Mr. L. P. Picard, presiding.

Members present: Messrs. Boucher, Burton, Cleaver, Cote (Verdun), 
Cruickshank, Fleming, Fraser, Gladstone, Golding, Isnor, Jackman, Jaenicke, 
Johnston, Marshall, Macdonnell, Picard, Pinard, Probe, Stewart (Winnipeg 
North), Thatcher, Warren.

In attendance: Dr. E. H. Coleman, C.M.G., K.C., Deputy Custodian of 
Enemy Property, and Mr. K. W. Wright, Counsel.

The Committee resumed its investigation into the administration of the 
property of illegal organizations.

Examination of Dr. Coleman was continued.
Dr. Coleman filed a statement of receipts and expenditures by the Custo­

dian on account of the property of illegal organizations as at December 31, 
1946.

Dr. Coleman filed a statement, The Ukrainian Labour-Farmer Temple 
Association, Some Particulars regarding Ten Properties that were Sold, Feb­
ruary 24th, 1947.

Mr. Wright filed statements respecting the sale of Ukrainian Labour- 
Farmer Temple Association halls at Vancouver, B.C., and Saskatoon, Sask., 
which are printed as Appendices A and B to this day’s minutes of proceedings 
and evidence.

At 12.55 o’clock p.m. the Committee adjourned to meet at the call of the 
Chair.

A. L. BURGESS, 
Clerk of the Committee.
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MINUTES OF EVIDENCE

House of Commons,

June 3, 1947.

The Standing Committee on Public Accounts met this day at 11.30 a.m. 
The Chairman, Mr. L. Philippe Picard, presided.

The Chairman: Gentlemen, may I call the meeting to order. Doctor 
Coleman will be with us in a short while, but after this morning’s meeting he 
has asked to be exempted for a certain period of time as he has been appointed 
to act as chairman of a special committee in connection with Mr. Truman’s visit. 
Until the visit is over he will be fully occupied by that committee; so, for the 
expected further meetings of this committee this week, I think it would be fair 
to exempt Doctor Coleman and we will adjourn at the call of the chair. Actually 
Doctor Coleman did not expect to be here this morning because he was welcoming 
some officials, but he will be able to stay with us until 1 o’clock-

Are there any questions on the proceedings of the last meeting?

Dr. E. H. Coleman, K.C., recalled :

By Mr. Fleming:
Q. Just to begin with and to get a bird’s-eye view of the whole picture 

may I ask Doctor Coleman a question or two of a general nature? You indicated 
at the last meeting settlement had been made in connection with the sales of 
the ten properties of the U.L.F.T.A. and sales had been made in connection with 
the Workers’ and Farmers’ Publishing Company of Winnipeg. Now actually 
there were a great many other properties that came into the hands of the 
custodian, were there not, Doctor Coleman?—A. Yes, but I would not say a 
great number; not many properties.

Q. Well, is it correct in all other cases, either the property was returned 
to the organization when the ban on those organizations was lifted in 1943, or 
1944. or the organization has accepted disposal of the property made by the 
custodian? Is that a fair generalization?—A. Yes, sir.

Q. So far as properties are concerned, where realization has been challenged 
by the organizations, there were ten properties of the U.L.F.T.A- and this printing 
plant and library of the Workers’ and Farmers’ Publishing Company Limited?— 
A. Yes.

Q. And there were claims received from other organizations, were there 
not; but in the light of the McPhee report no settlement was made of those 
claims?—A. I do not think there were any claims other than the Finnish ones.

Q. Would you just say a word about that; I am trying to confine the subject 
matter of the enquiry. I am thinking, for instance, about the claims reported 
on pages 5 and 6 of the McPhee report, damages to different units.—A. That 
is the U.L.F.T.A.?

Q. Yes; and on page 6 is the Finnish organization.—A. There was only 
one Finnish hall that was sold.
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Q. What was the upshot of any claim with reference to the disposal of 
that?—A. Well, you will see in the report:

With regard to the condition of the properties, we may say that 
at the sessions which the committee held in Toronto, the general secre­
tary of the Finnish Organization of Canada, Mr. G. Sundqvist appeared 
before us and stated that their halls had been released and when asked 
if they were making any claims or representations, replied, “No, we 
are well satisfied,” and he expressed the thanks of the organization for 
the manner in which their properties had been dealt with by the 
custodian.

Q. Then there was no claim from that organization?—A. There was a 
suggestion at one time; I do not know whether it was signified by a claim, but 
there was some suggestion there might be a claim which was abandoned after 
the McPhee enquiry and report.

Q. Then the ten properties of the Ü.L.F.T.A. and the plant of the Workers' 
and Farmers’ Publishing Company then represented the exceptions to the general 
experience of the custodian in the matter of claims?—A. Yes.

Q. Now you were going to bring to this meeting a breakdown of the 
$152,640.96 paid out in respect of those claims?—A. I have it here.

Q. Would you care to make a statement in general terms explaining the 
breakdown you are now following, Doctor Coleman?—A. Well, I think perhaps 
the simplest way is to go over each item as we have it here. There was an 
organization known as The Advocate which was banned. They had a bank 
account of $35.99 which was returned to them. There was an Italian associa­
tion, an association of Italian veterans, which had $118.38 which was returned 
to them. In connection with the Auslands organization we spent $15 in an 
investigation and there was a debit balance of that amount. The Canadian 
Labour Defence League had a bank account of $14.68. We had expenses of 
$55 which meant a debit balance of $40.32. The Canadian League for Peace 
and Democracy had $8.41 in the bank ; there were disbursements of $45.19: we 
returned to them $6.22, leaving a debit balance of $43.

Q. I do not know whether we need to go into all of these- Probably those 
mentioned by Doctor Coleman now would be representative examples of the 
different cases?—A. Yes, the small ones.

Q. Now look at the larger ones for instance, the Finnish Organization of 
Canada. You show total receipts of $55,213.08; disbursements of $52.832.74; 
would you say a word concerning that?—A. I will give what the disbursements 
were. The Finnish organization had a bank balance of $448.69 : cash in their 
buildings $419.11 ; there was an insurance rebate of $3.216.82; $50.201.74 was 
realized from rentals on real estate ; $461.72 was realized from the sale of 
chattels; $465.00 was realized from the sale of real estate; all of which makes 
total receipts of $55,213.08 which was expended as follows: interest and payments 
re mortgage and agreements for sale $4,776.75; sundry taxes $16.314; insur­
ance premiums $7,438.87; expenses re real estate $16,403.55; agents' fees 
$6,562.90.

Q. Just a word there, did you say agents’ fees?—A. Yes.
Q. That would be calculated on the percentage of the rentals collected?— 

A. That would be rental collection fees, yes. There was chattel mortgage and 
interest expense of $1,218.65, making a total disbursement of $52.832.74.

The Chairman: May I ask you a question there Doctor Coleman? You 
have receipts of $55,213.08 and disbursements of $52,832.74, amount returned 
by custodian $12,280.99 and there is a debit balance of $9,900.65. Is that pending 
some request by the organization to have the full amount returned?
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The Witness: Yes, there was a debit of $9.900.65 which represents payment 
authorized by the cabinet. If you deduct that from the amount remitted by 
the custodian you will see the exact difference between receipts and disbursements.

By Mr. Fleming:
Q. You actually remitted more than you had on hand?—A. That is right.
Q. Did you know that you were headed for a debit balance when the 

cabinet directed the remission of the $12,280.99 to the Finnish organization?— 
A. Oh, yes.

Q. That was part of the all-round settlement and conclusion of administra­
tion.—A. The order in council directed that we pay the taxes from the beginning 
of June, 1940, through 1941, 1942 and 1943. I think if you will take that figure 
$12,280.99 and deduct what you would call the tax allowance, I think you will 
find it makes exactly the difference between $55,213.08 and $52,832.74

The Chairman: Yes it does.
The Witness: Yes, exactly.

By Mr. Fleming:
Q. Well now that payment of $12,280.99 along with the taxes probably 

explains why the representative of the Finnish organizations indicated that their 
organization was satisfied with the outcome and no further claim was being 
made. Is that right? That all happened at the same time?—A. Approximately, 
yes.

Q. Am I right in thinking the taxes had not been paid in the interval from 
the time of the remission of the business by the custodian?—A. Yes, that is 
right, other than wherg there was revenue coming in from the properties.

Q. There was revenue here because you had large amounts of rents?— 
A. When you say there was revenue coming in there was revenue for certain 
properties but not others.

Q. Did you pay the taxes on properties yielding rents?—A. No. If they had 
a surplus on a particular property and it had been rented for sufficient to carry 
the taxes, mortgage and so forth there was no debit balance on that property.

Q. Am I clear on this Doctor Coleman? In the case of the Finnish organiza­
tion you were in receipt of substantial rents and you paid no taxes at all?— 
A. Yes, where there was revenue coming from rent sufficient to cover the taxes, 
the taxes were paid all the time to avoid penalties.

Q. Yes but I want to be clear. Where the revenue was sufficient to pay 
the taxes you did pay them?—A. Yes, to avoid penalties.

Q. That matter of agents’ fees, would you enlarge on that?—A. I would 
have to get further particulars on that I am afraid. There were fifty-seven 
units of real estate in the Finnish balls but I would have to get particulars on 
them.

Q. Can you give us the gross receipts against each of those, and the fees 
that were charged?—-A. Yes, rents were $50,201.74.

Q. Against which fees of $6,562.90 were charged?—A. Yes.
Q. Those fees I take it were in connection with renting the property and 

collecting the rents?—A. Yes, and the management of it.
Q. That represents about 13 per cent of the gross rent?—A. I beg pardon?
The Chairman: That includes, management, collection of rent, and admi­

nistration?
The Witness: Everything connected with the rental.
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By Mr. Fleming:
Q. Now is there anything more you want to say on the Finnish society?— 

A. I do not think so.
Q. You have the credit balance on hand at the time of settlement and you 

simply returned it?—A. Right.
Q. In the case of the International Bible Students’ Association, total receipts 

amounted to $10,153.48 and about half that went into disbursements and the 
other half was returned at the time this organization was taken off the illegal 
list.

Q. Then we go on to Jehovah’s witnesses. You received $2,082.88 and 
disbursements were $1,596.82?—A. Yes.

Q. You returned $1,339.20 and there was a debit balance of $853.14?—A. Yes, 
Jehovah’s witnesses had a bank balance of $1,296.44; cash of $53.48; $14.04 
were realized on an insurance rebate ; $90. was realized for rental on real estate; 
$628.92 were realized on sale of chattels total disbursements were $1.596.82.

Q. Then for the benefit of the members of the committee who have not got 
copies of this statement before them would you give the total receipts?—A. Total 
receipts were $228.662.89.

Q. I am speaking of the grand total for the whole statement? Receipts 
amounted to $228.662.89; total disbursements $365,056.46; you returned 
$36,584.39; there was a debit balance of $172,977.96 which was absorbed?— 
A. Yes.

Q. That includes the $137,625.08 paid to the U.L.F.T.A. is that correct?— 
A. Yes.

By Mr. Stewart:
Q. Before we leave this statement may I ask one or two questions. On 

page 2 of the financial statement opposite the heading ^Workers’ and Farmers' 
Publishing Company total receipts are shown as $6,913.97. Now this plant 
was sold I think for $9.500 plus accrued interest. Can the witness tell us 
where this discrepancy arises?

The Chairman: Where do you find that?

By Mr. Stewart:
Q. At page 2, at the bottom, just above the U.L.F.T.A.—A. That would be 

the net receipts I think, Mr. Stewart. I have not the details here but there was 
a lease on part of this machinery.

Q. And a mortgage of $4,240?—A. There was a chattel mortgage on it of 
$4,240.

Q. But in that case the figure for the total receipts then is wrong, is it not, 
because the total receipts arising from the Workers’ and Farmers’ Publishing 
Company were $11,149.96?—A. Yes.

Q. Has that happened in any other instance?—A. No, this is from the 
books kept at Ottawa and I fancy the other figure was that put in by the 
agent. Presumably the difference would be accounted for by the cost of the 
mortgage.

Q. It is very nearly the net, it is within $4.—A. Within $40 did you say?
Q. It is within $5.—A. That would be for discharging the mortgage.
Q. But the witness states that is the only case where the net receipts were 

put in; all the rest are gross?—A. Well as far as I know they are. I did not 
know this appeared in that form, to be quite candid, Mr. Stewart.

Q. Well I have no more questions to ask on the statement.
Mr. Macdonnell: Looking at the U.L.T.F.A., the last line on the page, 

the second figure under the heading of total disbursements is $243,511.54. Then 
go to the fourth and fifth columns under the heading of cost to custodian,
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property repurchased, there is an item of $160,014.65. Am I right in thinking 
the $160,014.65 is included in the $243,511.54 or is that additional?

The Witness: No, that is included in the $243,511.54.

By Mr. Fleming:
Q. Coming now to the U.L.F.T.A. properties and a breakdown of them 

leaving out of account the other factors that entered in the final settlement such 
as the absorption of the debit balance, the payment of taxes and so on, the net 
loss in connection with repurchase of the ten properties of the U.L.F.T.A. was 
$83,236.98 is that correct?—A. That is right.

Q. Now is that amount broken down as among the ten properties?—A. We 
could do that.

Q. Well I am not asking you if you could do it now but was it broken 
down at the time?—A. Yes.

Q. May we have a statement showing how those amounts were arrived at 
with respect to each of the ten properties?—A. Yes. Lachine, sale price $2,000, 
repurchase price $3,540.73, deficit $1,540.73; Hamilton, sale price $5,650, repur­
chase price $9,000, deficit $3,350; Toronto, sale price $35,000, repurchase price 
$65,819.92, deficit $30,819.92; Euclid avenue, Winnipeg, sale price $13,300, 
repurchase price $20,000, deficit $6,700; Saskatoon, sale price $1,702.76, repur­
chase price $7,000, deficit, $5,297.24; Alberta, Edmonton, sale price $5,739.61, 
repurchase price $14,440, deficit $8,700.39; Vancouver, sale price $6,000, repur­
chase price $12,000, deficit $6,000.

Then in relation to the Calgary, Lethbridge and Medicine Hat properties 
the following figures apply. Calgary, sale price $1,611.30; Lethbridge, sale 
price $1,060; Medicine Hat, sale price $1,500.

Those properties could not be repurchased because they had been con­
verted by the purchasers and an allowance was made of $25,000 to be divided 
among those three branches by the U.L.F.T.A. making a deficit there of 
$20,828.70. The total deficit was $83,236.98.

If it is agreeable to the committee, Mr. Chairman, I would file this state­
ment. It is in a very summary form.

Q. You have given ten properties there, Doctor Coleman, but Pritchard 
hall, Winnipeg, is not included, was that because it was foreclosed?—A. It was 
foreclosed by the organization that held the first mortgage.

Q. No claim was made by the U.L.F.T.A. in respect of that property?— 
A. No.

Q. Now you referred at the last meeting to the fact that the McPhee report 
indicated that satisfactory sale prices had been yielded in the case of all proper­
ties with the exception of, I think you said Vancouver and Saskatoon, is that not 
right?—A. Yes sir.

Q. \ ancouver and Saskatoon. Now leaving those two out for the moment, 
I would like to come back and ask questions on them later, but leaving them 
out for the moment, we have eight other properties?—A. Yes.

Q. V hen the government took matters into their own hands and directed 
the repurchase we find the average price paid, although it is pretty hard to 
strike an average, in some cases, would run nearly 100 per cent higher.

Mr. Stewart: 500 per cent.

By Mr. Fleming:
Q. 1 am leaving out Saskatoon and Vancouver. I am going back to those 

later as they were singled out in the McPhee report. In the case of the others 
a!11ij *n 'aDnK that the McPhee report stated satisfactory prices had been 
yielded from the sales?—A. I he report indicated at the time the property was 
suld, I do not want to put anything extra into the report of the writers, but it
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was to the effect that the custodian got the best price that seemed available at 
that particular time as far as they could see when looking back on the way 
the sales were handled.

Q. Just let us get the words of the report so that we will be fair to the 
committee. If you get the passage in the report, what appears in the minutes of 
our last meeting at page 271, you are reading from the memorandum at that 
point if you will remember “In only two of the Ukrainian Labour-Fanner 
Temple Association cases did the committee express the view that the custodian’s 
agents had sold the properties for an unduly low price. These cases were in 
Saskatoon and Vancouver. The committee thought the agents had not felt it 
their duty to point out to the custodian that the highest bid offered appeared 
unreasonably low in relation to the value of the property”.

Apart from these two eases I take it it was the view of the MePhee com­
mission that satisfactory prices had been yielded on the sales of the other eight 
properties. That is a good interpretation of the yiew of the committee. There 
was not at any time any recommendation from the MePhee commission to the 
government for payment of additional sums to the U.L.F.T.A. in respect to 
those other eight properties.—A. They recommended, as I think you will see—

Q. Repurchase?—A. Yes, repurchase. Now one circumstance, if I might 
say, Mr. Fleming, has to be kept in mind. These purchasers in 1940 purchased 
the properties after advertisement and call for tenders and they represented 
later that they had been made in some cases very substantial expenditures by 
way of improvements and reconverting the properties for their own needs. In 
the case of Calgary, Lethbridge, and Medicine Hat, reconversion was so whole­
sale that it was realized there was no chance whatever of repurchasing them in 
the form that would he convenient and suitable to the use of the original 
owners, the U.L.F.T.A. The Calgary hall had been one of the 'ordinary type of 
halls and it had been converted into a furniture warehouse. The Lethbridge 
hall had been converted, I think, into a dancing establishment. The Medicine 
Hat hall had been converted into a Roman Catholic church. The purchasers in 
these cases represented that they had expended very considerable moneys in 
making improvements or alterations for which they felt they had to be reim­
bursed. That explains paragraph 10 of the advisory committee report : “It is 
our opinion that the present owners should agree to sell the property to the 
l krainian Labour-Farmer Temple Association at the price paid by them for it, 
provided further, however, that, the present owners having made permanent 
improvements to the property, these should be paid for by the Ukrainian 
Labour-Farmer Temple Association.

We earnestly urge that the present owners should follow the course sug­
gested, as a reasonable and fair solution of a situation which, otherwise, may 
accentuate difficulties in restoring harmony and good feeling among Canadians 
of Ukrainian origin. On the other hand, we urge that the Ukrainian Labour- 
Farmer Temple Association in the negotiations with the present owners, should 
approach the problem in a broad-minded spirit and should be careful to avoid 
recrimination and haggling over details.

Then, following that report which, as I said came in early 1940, negotiations 
were attempted but did not get very far. The problem then came again before 
the government and one of the members of the MePhee committee, Mr. Camp­
bell of Edmonton, was brought here by the then secretary of state, on advice of 
his colleagues, to see if something could not be done with a view to examining 
the property and giving an opinion as to the value of the improvements. I 
think Mr. Campbell was selected because he had been in the lumber business 
and in the construction business and had been familiar with this type of 
building. He could not get very far. He made his report to the minister and in 
February of 194f> an order in council was passed providing for the expropriation 
of these properties.
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Q. Again you are speaking of the three Calgary, Lethbridge and Medicine 
Hat properties?—A. No. expropriation of all of them.

Q. All ten?—A. Yes, not just those in Calgary and Lethbridge and so on.
Q. I suggest that we make that order in council a matter of record, Mr. 

Chairman.
The Chairman: It will be filed.

By Mr. Fleming:
Q. Without taking any more time, I understand from the chairman that 

Doctor Coleman will file that order in council. Just while we are on the subject 
of the order in council, there are two others I suggest that we should have on 
the record. The first is P.C. 8022, dated October 14, 1943, which lifted the ban 
on the U.L.F.T.A. and the next is P.C. 8116 dated October 19, 1943. which 
contemplated the appointment of a man to deal with claims. Then on 
October 29, 1943, the appointment of the McPhee commission persuant to that 
order in council was made through the hand of the secretary of state.

The Chairman : They will be included.
By Mr. Fleming:

Q. Then, going on Doctor Coleman, summing the situation up, it became 
in 1944 government policy to bring about the physical restoration of all these 
former L'.L.F.T.A. properties, the ten of them, to the U.L.F.T.A. at prices, which, 
as it turned out, were substantially in excess of the pricçs that the McPhee 
commission considered reasonable. The exceptions were the two in Saskatoon 
and Vancouver. That is a correct generalization, is it not?—A. Yes.

Q. And this advance in price which the government was prepared to pay 
even in the face of expropriation was quite substantial. In the case of Lachine 
it advanced over 75 per cent, that is the amount the government paid compared 
with the amount realized on the sale in 1940, was it, have you got the dates 
there?—A. Yes, it was June 5, 1941.

Q. So the government provided therefore, an advance of 75 per cent. Now 
in the case of Hamilton the advance is about 60 per cent?—A. Yes.

Q. In the case of Bathurst Street, Toronto, the advance is about 90 per 
cent is it not?—A. Yes.

Q. In the case of Euclid avenue, Winnipeg, the advance is 50 per cent?— 
A. Yes.

Q. In Edmonton the advance is about 250 per cent?—A. No, the sale price 
was $5,000 odd and the purchase price $14,000 odd.

Q. Yes, well that is an advance of 250 per cent according to my calculation. 
Perhaps Mr. Stewart could check me on that. In the case of the group of three, 
Calgary Lethbridge, Medicine Hat, there is an advance there of about 600 per 
cent which you say is to be accounted for in part by reason of improvements 
made on the properties?—A. No, in that case, Mr. Fleming, they could not be 
repurchased on account of the changes.

Q. Yes, but I do not follow that.—A. That was a separate transaction 
altogether.

Q. That was a money payment made because the property was not 
physically restored to the U.L.F.T.A.?—A. That is right.

Q- But the difference between $4,200 and $25,000, the difference being 
$20.(XX) is to be explained in part as I followed your evidence, by saying there 
had been improvements made on the properties.—A. In relation to those three, 
the purchasers made very strong representations and complaints to the effect 
that they could not be repurchased because as I have said the purchasers had 
changed the entire type of building. The Calgary purchaser had made it into 
a furniture emporium or warehouse and the physical alteration was so great 
that it could not be repurchased as a hall. The Lethbridge one had done the same.
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Q Those facts, I take it, adequately explain why it was not physically 
possible to restore the properties to the U.L.F.T.A.—A. Yes.

Q. Those expenditures by way of improvements were made by the pur­
chasers?—A. Right.

Q. Why should that enter into the settlement which, I take it, was intended 
to reimburse the U.L.F.T.A. for some putative difference between the fair value 
when they were liquidated and the amount realized?—A. I was not suggesting 
with respect to these three properties that the question of improvements entered 
into it at all.

Q. It did not enter into the amount?—A. No.
Q. Well thanks, Doctor Coleman, that clears that up.—A. I do not know 

the details of how that amount was arrived at.
Q. In the case of these three properties the sales were made when, what 

date?—A. Calgary, April 4, 1941 ; Lethbridge, Januarv 30, 1941 ; Medicine Hat, 
April 29, 1941.

Q. The amounts yielded from those sales aggregated approximately $4,200? 
—A. That is right.

Q. And in 1944 it became government policy------ A. —1945.
Q. Well in the spring of 1945 it became government policy to pay the former 

owners of that property $25,000.
The Chairman: Before we leave that would you be prepared to tell the 

committee, before these new prices were fixed in 1945 which were higher than 
the original prices, did the government get any valuation by experts or were 
the experts of the department asked by whoever determined that policy to 
establish these prices?—A. I endeavour to explain, Mr. Chiarman, that Mr. 
Campbell, who had been one of the advisory committee with Judge McPhee, 
who was himself a lumber dealer and I think a contractor, and had been over 
the properties as a member of the McPhee committee, was requested by the 
government to return and to go over the properties with a view to ascertaining 
what the improvements might represent.

Q. These prices were arrived at after Mr. Campbell made his investiga­
tion?—A. Yes.

Q. And he was asked by the government.

By Mr. Boucher:
Q. Doctor Coleman, when was the improvement taken into consideration?— 

A. The government as a matter of policy decided they would restore the halls 
to the original owners. In the meantime this group of six or seven had been 
sold to people who had purchased them in good faith after tendering to the 
government and the government asked them “Will you sell them back to us?” 
and they said “No, we do not want to. We purchased these properties in good 
faith and for our own purposes. We have made improvements to suit our own 
needs and we do not want to sell them back.” As I have stated at a certain 
stage after the formal negotiations had not gotten under way an order in 
council was passed under the War Measures Act providing for expropriation. 
Then realizing the expropriation proceedings might be started negotiations were 
resumed and these figures arrived at.

Q. Can you tell us how these figures were arrived at and on what basis?—A.
I would think you would have to get Mr. Campbell to explain that.

Q. According to your statement Mr. Campbell was only giving you the 
figures on the value of the improvements and he was not giving you the 
figures on the value of the buildings?—A. I did not intend to limit my state­
ment to that.
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Q. You indicated, to me at least, that he was sent back to value the 
improvements and not the buildings?—A. He was brought back by the govern­
ment to endeavour to assist them in re-negotiating or negotiating a repurchase 
and one of the factors would be the value of these improvements.

By Mr. Fleming:
Q. That last answer, Doctor Coleman, has no application to the Calgary, 

Medicine Hat and Lethbridge properties?—A. No it has no application to 
Calgary, Medicine Hat and Lethbridge.

Q. Did Mr. Campbell make any report concerning those three properties?— 
A. No, not to my knowledge.

Q. Where did this figure of $25.000 come from?—A. There again the secre­
tary of state of the day, under instructions from the government, was dealing 
with the U.L.F.T.A. I was not in the negotiations nor was any officer in our 
office directly concerned in the negotiation.

Q. That waa in the spring of 1945?—A. 1945.
Q. That payment was finally made?—A. Yes.
Q. April 1945?—A. Yes.
Q. I think most of us will remember that season.
Mr. Isnor: Why should we remember that?
Mr. Fleming: I guess elections happen so often down in Halifax that they 

do not mean as much there as they do to some of us.
Well for some reason or other, without any assistance from Mr. Campbell, 

it became government policy to pay $25.000 to the U.L.F.T.A.? I do not wish to 
interrupt you but I am not certain as to whether Mr. Campbell was consulted 
about that or not. I could not say.

By Mr. Boucher:
Q. Did the government see fit to make that settlement without consultation 

or reference to your department?—A. Pardon?
Q. I say, did the government see fit to make that settlement without con­

sultation or reference to your department?—A. The government representative 
in the negotiations was responsible to the minister.

By Mr. Fleming:
Q. Referring to your evidence in the last meeting; at some point or other in 

the dealings with these properties the matter was taken out of the hands of the 
custodian and they were handled directly by the government; is that not correct, 
Dr. Coleman?

The Chairman : Of which properties are you speaking?
Mr. Fleming: I am speaking of this group of ten.
The Witness: The McPhee report was submitted to the minister and by him 

to his colleagues, and was later tabled in the House, and all the negotiations from 
that time forward were carried out, whatever the instructions were, it was con­
ducted by the Secretary of State of the day on the instructions of the government.

By Mr. Fleming:
Q. Can you give us those dates?—A. I find here a telegram dated October 10, 

1944. It reads as follows:
Ottawa, October 10, 1944,

George A. Campbell, Esq.,
10018-83rd Ave.,
Edmonton.

Government has decided to enter negotiations concerning purchase of 
certain Ukrainian halls sold STOP You are familiar with the représenta-
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tiens made STOP Will be grateful if you will advise me by wire if you 
could accept appointment to represent government in negotiations and if so 
whether you could come to Ottawa at early date to confer with me.

N. A. McLARTY 
Secretary of State

Charge:
Custodian’s Office

Q. Is that the first knowledge that you had that the dominion government 
policy contemplated repossession on behalf of the U.L.F.T.A.?—A. I would not 
say that. I cannot fix any date when I had first knowledge. I am, of course, 
aware that at that time that had been decided ; but exactly when it was decided 
I cannot tell you.

Q. Is this a fair statement, Dr. Coleman? The McPhee committee made its 
final report on Febuary 16, 1944?—A. Yes.

Q. Some eight months later the government invites Mr. Campbell, who has 
been a member of that committee, to represent the government in connection with 
certain negotiations looking into the repurchase of those properties?—A. Yes.

Q. And although the McPhee report had said that the price obtained on the 
sale of eight of the ten propereties was reasonable, or words to that effect.—A. At 
the time they were made, I think.

Q. Yes, at the time they were made; and nevertheless it became government 
policy then at the end of 1944 to recover these properties on behalf of the 
U.L.F.T.A., paying to the purchaser whatever they had expended on the properties 
by way of improvement or otherwise, and whatever was required to obtain a will­
ing sale of them back to the former owners; and then, in the case of these three, 
Calgary, Lethbridge and Medicine Hat, the government was prepared to pay 
$25,000 cash for the three properties which it had sold for a total of $4,200, at a 
price which the McPhee commission found to be not unduly low when sold in 
1941?—A. Yes.

By the Chairman:
Q. May I ask a question, "Mr. Fleming? A moment ago Mr. Fleming sug­

gested between February 16 and the time when government policy was changed 
eight months elapsed; during those eight months you knew that negotiations were 
proceeding?—A. Well, Mr. Chairman, that would be a difficult question for me to 
answer from memory. After the McPhee report the custodian’s staff on instruc­
tions from the minister, in turn from the government, implemented and carried out 
the terms ordered. Between then, and throughout the summer of 1944, I knew 
very well that representatives of the Ukrainian Labour Farmer-Temple Associa­
tion and others were—I don’t want to use this expression—were hammering at the 
door of the government and making complaints about their halls, that they wanted 
them back.

Q. At that time, Dr. Coleman, had the policy of the government changed, and 
had the government decided to hand these properties back to the original owners? 
—A. Yes; and during that summer there were negotiations carried on between 
the purchasers directly which were abortive.

Mr. Isnor: Which summer?
The Witness: Between the spring of 1944 and the fall of 1944; and it 

became apparent to the government which was still under pressure from the 
organizations interested—

Mr. Isnor: May I just pursue one point, Mr. Chairman?
The Chairman : We might let Dr. Coleman finish.
The Witness: There was no possibility of the parties getting together. That 

is why Mr. Campbell was brought back, because he had met the different
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parties when he was going to the country as one of the members of the committee 
and they thought he might be able to use his good offices and make a little 
headway.

The Chairman: In trying to get the two to agree?
The Witness: Yes, to see what the difficulties were.

By Mr. Isnor:
Q. Dr. Coleman, as I recall your statement following the question by Mr. 

Fleming, this Mr. McPhee was a member of—A. The McPhee commission.
Q. And he was familiar with the negotiations which led up to the sale of 

the different properties?—A. Yes.
Q. And the sales took place about how long prior to that?—A. That would 

be three and a half yeras. The majority of them were sold in 1941.
Q. That would be in 1941?—A. Yes.
Q. I was just thinking of the form of agreement used in the sale of 

properties by municipalities for taxes. In such forms there is usually a provision 
that they will be resold to the original owner at a set figure. Was there any 
such clause as that in these sales?—A. There was no such clause.

Q. So he only had to deal with the values as they stood in 1941 as compared 
to the values in 1944, plus the improvements?—A. Yes.

Q. Plus the improvements; and because of that there is a difference roughly 
of $20,000. Therefore it all simmers down to an assessment of the increase in 
value which came about from 1941 to 1944 or 1945?—A. That is quite right.

Q. Yes. I just wanted to clear up that point. Therefore, in fairness to the 
original purchaser the government felt he should be reimbursed to the extent 
of this increased value, the increment which had developed during that period; 
would that be a fair way of putting it?—A. I think that is quite fairly put.

By Mr. Fleming:
Q. You are saying in effect, Dr. Coleman, it was government policy to pay 

those who had purchased these properties in 1941 whatever they had expended 
on the improvements in the interval and give them the benefit of the rising 
market as between 1941 and 1945?—A. Yes.

Q. It means also then that it was government policy to restore the U.L.F.T.A. 
to the position it was in before being declared an illegal organization?—A. Well, 
in relation to these properties, yes.

Q. Yes; did Mr. Campbell make a report concerning these properties that 
he was handling?—A. Oh, yes; I know he did, to the then minister. I do not 
know whether we have a copy of them or not. I do not think so.

Q. I will not take further time on that now, but I would ask that these 
reports, whoever has them, should be tabled.—A. We can file them.

Q. So we may have an opportunity to scrutinize them?—A. Yes.
Q. Now, I want to ask you this; and, this is not a fair question so that if 

you do not care to answer it you may refrain from answering it if you wish. Is 
it your understanding that Mr. Campbell stood behind each of these settlements 
in 1945 that were recommended?—A. I do not know about the Calgary one, 
that $25,000 one. I do not think he was in that one. Yes, I am sure he did.

Q. In the light of the McPhee report I take it that you, for the custodian, 
felt fully justified in the sales that you had made of eight of these ten properties, 
the two exceptions being in Saskatoon and Vancouver.—A. Yes.

Q. And in the case------A. —When I say that, what we are concerned with
is that there was no suggestion that there has been any skulduggery, if you 
know what I mean.
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Q. No, I am not suggesting that for a moment. I am not questioning the 
price obtained for these properties. Every effort was made at the time to get the 
best possible price in the market?—A. Yes, every effort was made to secure 
at the time the best market price.

Q. And, as we have all your evidence, I think the committee will agree with 
me that you did try to get the best possible prices for these properties at the 
time they were sold over this period pursuant to the policy of liquidation, and I 
take it that your administration has been vindicated by the McPhee report ; 
at least, with respect to all the properties with the two exceptions of Calgary and 
Vancouver. Now, Dr. Coleman, I presume that the McPhee commission made 
another report during the time it was functioning; what you have produced 
here is only the Toronto report, there are a number of interim reports?—A. 
They made a report on each file.

Q. What are the dates of these interim reports?—A. They began their 
sittings early in the winter of 1943. The three members of the commission came 
to Ottawa. The minister I think gave them the use of his room, and the first 
thing they did, we turned over to them all the files relating to every one of these 
properties; and they looked over them and read them. In a great many cases 
all they said was: here you have $12.18, we recommend that you return that; 
and that was done. Then, of course, there were more elaborate claims; and then 
on certain dates the U.L.F.T.A. and others have been making complaints and 
they held public hearings. As I recall it they sat in Toronto, and I know they 
sat in Hamilton also; and certainly in Edmonton and Vancouver.

Q. I do not want to go into all that detail, the point I am getting at is this. 
There are interim reports which were made. This is just a sort of final or 
summary report ; and the real essence of the views of the committee on these 
various sales is to be found in the individual reports rather than in the general 
report?—A. Yes.

Q. I would suggest that these reports on the ten properties, Mr. Chairman, 
be tabled so that if there is anything in them we want to examine it will be 
available to us.—A. That will be done.

Q. Thank you. Theire is one other matter; you were of course—
The Chairman: Are you taking up another subject now, Mr. Fleming?
Mr. Fleming: It is just a sort of review of questions, Mr. Chairman. If 

this is taking up too much time ; I have some others I would like to ask, but I 
would prefer that somebody else take a turn. In this case, the U.L.F.T.A., the 
government sells the property of an illegal organization in 1941 and along in 1944 
and 1945, in the face of a report by a government commission that these properties 
were sold at fair prices, with the exception of two, it becomes government policy 
to put these illegal organizations back in the same position that they had been 
in had they not been declared to be illegal organizations. I would like you to 
comment on this, Dr. Coleman, if you are free to comment on it. I cannot 
harmonize that with the policies that your department followed on instructions 
from the government with reference to Japanese land. In the Fraser valley area 
the sale is made of land of persons who were evacuees and were not declared 
to be members of an illegal organization; sales were made in the worst period 
of the war at prices running 40 per cent below even the assessed value, and even 
further below the prices as reflected in subsequent sales of comparable properties; 
and yet when the war is over there is no move made that we have heard of as yet 
to put these people back in the position that they would have been in had there 
been no policy of liquidation followed.—A. I do not think, Mr. Fleming, I can 
comment on that; because you arc discussing questions of government policy.

The Chairman: May I ask you this?
Mr Isnor : It was their policy—
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The Chairman: Pardon me, Mr. Isnor; I am awfully sorry; I was just 
going to follow up the same point.

Mr. Isnor: All right.
The Chairman: In the case of the Japanese you were in a different position. 

In the case of the U.L.F.T.A. you have the McPhee report, but in the case of the 
Japanese you do not have any report like that?

The Witness: We did not have a de facto report. We had an advisory 
committee which recommended sale.

The Chairman: Well, yes; but they were not to be given back to them.
The Witness: They were not given back.
The Chairman: No, but Mr. Fleming in putting his question stated that 

they were sold much below market value.
The Witness: I do not think I want to comment on that.
The Chairman: But as I understand it, the benefit from the sale of that land 

was given to the owners?
The Witness: Oh, yes.
The Chairman: And you faced an entirely different situation with respect 

to this Ukrainian organization? In their case, the McPhee report suggested that 
the property be given back to them?

The Witness: Yes.
The Chairman: The case was not the same with the Japanese as it was 

with the U.L.F.T.A. In the latter case you first had the McPhee report, and 
apparently any action which has been taken resulted from the advice that the 
property should be returned to the former owners in order to bring about harmony 
between the Ukrainians and—

The Witness: I do not think I can go that far, Mr. Chairman. The McPhee 
report recommended the return of one which had never been sold. The McPhee 
report said that there had been sixteen sold, and about six of them there was no 
complaint whatever. As for the other ten they recommended that the purchasers 
should be induced to re-sell them to the U.L.F.T.A. That, I think, is as far as 
the McPhee report went.

The Chairman : Then it became government policy, as you suggested earlier, 
to have these properties handed back to the U.L.F.T.A. In the meantime the 
properties had increased in value and improvements had been made to some 
of them.

The Witness: That is right.
The Chairman: And these improvements greatly added to their value, 

and in some instances made them useless for the purposes of the U.L.F.T.A. 
Then, the purchasers who had bought them in good faith had to be given 
consideration for the improvements they had made, for the difference between 
the price at which they had bought these properties- and their present value in 
1945, let us say; and when it was found that negotiations for repurchase for the 
purpose of return to the U.L.F.T.A. were not successful this other method of 
adjustment was adopted.

Mr. Ileming: You are questioning the witness on matters which are not 
supported by evidence, at least not by the evidence which has come before us 
thus far.

The Chairman: I do not agree with that, Mr. Fleming.
Mr. Fleming: Your statements should be supported by evidence which 

is before us.
90315—2
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The Chairman : A\ hat do you mean by that? I am merely trying to 
review what has been done in the matter. If I am wrong, I am sure Dr. Coleman 
can put me right.

Then, after the government had decided the policy they would follow, as 
the interested parties were not able to reach agreement^ they called Mr. 
Campbell in to make a further investigation and report.

The Witness: He was called in to carry on negotiations after it became 
clear that the parties would not get together.

The Chairman: And subsequent to Mr. Campbell’s report the government 
decided to pay more, as suggested by Mr. Fleming, than it had received for 
the properties at the time of sale. Am I right; is that a fair statement of the 
sequence of events?

The Witness: I would think so.
Mr. Isnor: I have one other question. I was going to follow along much 

the same line. It is hardly fair for Mr. Fleming to say that there is a parallel 
situation existing as far as Japanese properties are concerned and these properties.

Mr. Boucher: I do not think this witness should be asked whether it is 
fair or not.

Mr. Isnor: There is no comparison between the return of Japanese proper­
ties, and there is no ground for support for the suggestion that they should be 
returned for similar reasons. I say that there is not a fair comparison of the 
two situations.

Mr. Fleming: I think that would be a matter of argument between my 
friend Mr. Isnor and myself. It is hardly a matter for this witness to pursue.

Mr. Isnor: If the witness does not wish to answer, he does not have to.
Mr. Stewart: I should like to refer to the matter of books and records' 

destroyed, to which previous reference was made. I should like to know why 
that action was taken with respect to the books of records of, for instance, of 
the Russian Workers and Fanners’ Club and other Communist organizations, 
and not with Fascist organizations?

The Chairman: Excuse me, Mr. Stewart; Dr. Coleman has to be excused 
because he must attend another meeting. The answer will have to be given 
by Mr. Wright in his absence.

Mr. Stewart: I have no questions to address to Dr. Coleman. I am 
perfectly satisfied with the report made by Mr. Wright.

The Chairman: I want to tell the committee that Dr. Coleman has to 
withdraw now' because his duties call him elsewhere.

Mr. Stewart: I have no questions to put to Mr. Wright. I have read his 
report and I wish to congratulate him on having made such an excellent report.

I would like to know, for instance, why books and records of the 
Russian Workers and Farmers’ Club were sold, realizing apparently $7.13; 
and why similar action w'as taken with respect to the books and records 
of Communistic organizations when apparently no similar action was taken 
with respect to Fascist organizations?

The Witness: I would not like to attempt to give an answer to that 
offhand, without reference to the files. I think there w'ere only two or three 
cases where there were complaints about the destruction of books. One was in 
Toronto. And this advisory committee of which Judge McPhee was the head 
made a special report on that. I think another place where that came up was 
Edmonton. I can get you their special reports on these two. I would be very 
glad to file them ; and I will make inquiries about the others.

Mr. Stewart: I want to know ; I wondered if the Fascists books and records 
were destroyed as well as the Communists.
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The Chairman : I do not know that we can make any further progress 
right now. If it is agreeable to the committee we will adjourn to the call of 
the chair. We do not know for sure just when Dr. Coleman will again be 
available to the committee.

Mr. Isnor: Just before you adjourn I want to bring up one matter. The 
clerk of the committee, who is generally very, very accurate and efficient has 
made what I think is a slight error in his reference to the motion made by Mr. 
Homuth with reference to a royal commission. I think it is merely set forth 
in the minutes of evidence—

The Chairman: Is that in the report of May 30, last Friday?
Mr. Isnor: Yes.
The Chairman: At what page?
Mr. Isnor: I think-you will find Mr. Homuth’s motion on page 264; in it 

he uses these words :
I think this committee ought, while you are still in the chair, to make 

some recommendations with respect to the setting up a commission, 
a royal commission or whatever you wish to call it, to deal with those 
losses.

My point, Mr. Chairman, is that it was not a royal commission that was 
covered in the motion; and, because the steering committee would have to 
deal with that, I think the report should be amended.

The Chairman: Your point is that the motion made by Mr. Homuth as 
reported on page 264, does not exactly correspond with the wording in the 
Minutes of Proceedings on page 259 as prepared by the clerk of the committee?

Mr. Isnor: Yes.
The Chairman: We will make sure of that.
Mr. Fleming: I don’t quite follow that.
Mr. Isnor: By the motion as recorded in the Minutes of Proceedings the 

steering committee would be obliged to consider, and to consider only a royal 
commission, as I read it. The motion made by Mr. Homuth was to the effect 
that "a commission, a royal commission or whatever you wish to call it,” be 
considered by the steering committee.

The Chairman: You mean, this leaves a choice between the many different 
kinds of investigational bodies there may be up to the steering committee to 
select?

Mr. Isnor: Yes.
Mr. Boucher: Before any alteration is made on that, in the absence of 

Mr. Homuth—I think he should be here, there might have been an error either 
place.

The Chairman: I do not intend to give orders to alter. That would not 
be within my power. The matter will, no doubt, be up for consideration before 
the steering committee and no doubt Mr . Homuth will be present. The point 
raised by Mr. Isnor is that the wording of the Minutes of Proceedings on page 
259 does not conform precisely with the wording of the motion as put by Mr. 
Homuth and as recorded on page 264, and referred to above.

Mr. Fleming: As Mr. Boucher said, Mr. Chairman, I do not think we can 
deal with this matter in the absence of Mr. Homuth.

The Chairman: Oh, no.
Mr. Fleming: Personally I do not see any difference between commission 

and royal commission, because it is, I think, obvious that any commission to 
be appointed would have to be a royal commission. I take it that the matter 
is not ended now by what has been said.
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The Chairman: There is no conclusion. As I stated, the matter will be 
referred to the steering committee and at a time when Mr. Homuth will be 
present; but the motion is as reported on page 264, or words to that effect.

Mr. Fleming: Where is the difference between a commission, or a royal 
commissiop, or whatever he may wish to call it?

The Chairman : There may be different kinds of inquiries, conducted, but 
whatever form it takes it would need the approval of the government.

The Witness : Mr. Chairman, just before the committee adjourns there are 
two statements I would like to file with you. One relates to the property at the 
corner of Pender street and Hawkes avenue, and the other to the property in 
Saskatoon.

The Chairman: If there are no further questions, we will adjourn, to meet 
again at the call of the chair.

The committee adjourned at 12.55 p.m. to meet again at the call of the
chair. i
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APPENDIX A

THE UKRAINIAN LABOUR-FARMER TEMPLE ASSOCIATION 
VANCOUVER, BRITISH COLUMBIA

The land is at the South East corner of Pender Street and Hawks Avenue. 
The frontage on Pender Street is 75 feet and on Hawks Avenue, 122 feet. There 
is a 20 ft. lane at the rear or northerly end.

The building erected in the year 1928 is of plain design and not well planned. 
The wood floors in the basement were showing signs of deterioration through dry 
rot. The roof had been leaking and although the occupants had made some 
repairs, more work was required in this connection. The Auditorium had been 
redecorated, but leakages had spoiled its appearance.

The assessed value in the year 1941 was $10,345.
Our agents advised that a fair valuation of the land and building would be 

$7,200. Another appraiser valued the property at $7,500.
The Custodian’s agent in this case was the Toronto General Trust Cor­

poration of Vancouver.
In March 1941 the Trust Company stated that they were having “For 

Rent” signs prepared for the property. Certain efforts were made by the 
Ukrainian Community Centre Association to obtain the use of the hall free of 
charge, but this suggestion was not acted upon in view of the carrying charges 
for taxes and insurance. It does not appear that any offer of rental was 
received.

Accordingly, in March 1941 the Custodian directed that the property should 
be advertised for sale by tender. This was done and in addition to advertise­
ments in the newspapers copies of the advertisements were sent to more than 75 
real estate agents in and around Vancouver. Only one tender was received, 
that of the Ukrainian Greek Orthodox Church, for $6,000. This offer was 
accepted.
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APPENDIX B

THE UKRAINIAN LABOUR-FARMER TEMPLE ASSOCIATION 
SASKATOON, SASKATCHEWAN

The assessed value, Land—$1,050, improvements—$3,520, on a 60 per cent 
basis. Our agents in the year 1940 were of the opinion, that a fair valuation 
would be $6,400 for land and improvements.

At the time the property was taken over, certain alterations were under 
way and were not completed. There was filed against the property a mechanic’s 
lien of about $400 and there were accrued taxes of nearly $500.

In 1940 the matter was looked after by our Provincial agents at Regina but 
it was felt desirable to have a local agent in Saskatoon make an effort to rent 
the premises. Accordingly, we wrote the National Trust Company but had a 
reply from that company that they had closed their Real Estate Department 
and had transferred their business to Stayner Agencies. Stayner Agencies were 
therefore engaged as local agents.

Cards advertising the property for rent were on the building but in 1940 
we arranged to have Stayner Agencies insert eight different advertisements 
offering the property for rent. In response to these advertisements there was 
only one “nibble”, the prospective tenant desiring to use the property for enter­
tainment purposes. This would have involved obtaining a licence from the 
city and the negotiations finally petered out.

In view of the fact that the property could not be rented, that there was a 
mechanic’s lien against it and that in the opinion of our agents it would deter­
iorate if left idle, it was advertised for sale in June, 1941.

Only one tender was received, from the Ukrainian Greek Orthodox Church 
of the Holy Ghost, for $1,500, and this tender was accepted.

The Advisory Committee heard evidence concerning the sale at sittings in 
Saskatoon on December 15, 1943. It will be remembered that in this case the 
members of the Advisory Committee orally expressed the view that the agent, 
Stayner Agencies, should have advised the Custodian that the tender of $1,500 
was quite probably less than a reasonable selling price for the property.
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REPORT TO THE HOUSE

Tuesday, June 17, 1947.

The Standing Committee on Public Accounts begs leave to present the 
following as a

Fourth Report

Your Committee held its first meeting on Monday, April 28, 1947, and this 
report covers the first eleven meetings, the last of which was held on Tuesday, 
May 27.

A steering committee, composed of the Chairman, the Vice-Chairman and 
Messrs. Burton, Fleming, Gibson (Comox-Albemi), Marshall and Stuart (Char­
lotte), was appointed to consider procedure and agenda, and its recommendations 
were approved by the main committee.

The first four meetings of the Committee were devoted to consideration of 
Bill No. 22, An Act to continue the Revised Regulations respecting Trading with 
the Enemy (1945). This Bill was reported to the House with amendments on 
May 6, 1947, and passed the House without further amendment on May 9.

The next seven meetings were devoted to a review of the general administra­
tion and liquidation of real property in British Columbia owned by Japanese 
evacuees. With a view to obtaining as complete a picture as possible of the 
Custodian’s activities in this respect, the Committee heard evidence from the 
Hon. C. W. Gibson, Secretary of State and Custodian of Enemy Property, Dr. 
E. H. Coleman, C.M.G., K.C., Deputy Custodian, Mr. F. G. Shears, Director, 
Vancouver Office, and Mr. K?W. Wright, Counsel ; from Mr. Gordon Murchison, 
Director, Soldier Settlement and Veterans’ Land Act; from Mrs. Hugh Mac­
Millan, Secretary, and Mr. F. Andrew Brewin, Counsel, The Cooperative Com­
mittee on Japanese Canadians, and from Mr. George Tanaka, Chairman, 
Japanese Canadian Committee for Democracy.

During these meetings, your Committee’s enquiry was confined to a study 
of the Custodian’s administration of the property of persons of the Japanese 
race as it applies to the West Coast, and more particularly to the area, known 
as the protected area, extending north several hundred miles from the United 
States Boundary and inland to the Cascade Mountains, and including Vancouver 
Island, the Queen Charlotte Islands and the group of small islands known as the 
Gulf Islands. The affairs of approximately 22,000 Japanese were involved, 
including the ownership of 1,700 parcels of real property as well as business, 
stock, equipment and household effects.

It is interesting to note that on December 10, 1941, three days after the 
Japanese attack on Pearl Harbour that brought the United States into the war, 
the Custodian opened an office in Vancouver.

Evacution of persons of the Japanese race from the protected area com­
menced in March, 1942, and continued until October of that year. In the period 
between December 7, 1941, and March 27, 1942, the date of Order in Council 
P.C. 1665 vesting control of their property in the Custodian many Japanese 
disposed of property at prices which were probably considerably below the 
market value. Immediately upon assuming control, the Custodian commenced 
a voluntary registration of all Japanese property, real and personal. A printed 

; form (Form “J.P.”, a copy of which is appended) was mailed to every Japanese 
evacuee with the request that it be completed and returned to the Custodian.

90822—11
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Great difficulty was experienced by the Custodian in identifying the per­
sonal property, such as chattels and personal effects, of these 22.000 Japanese 
and, undoubtedly, some confusion resulted. The reasons for this confusion 
were explained in evidence to your Committee.

The procedure followed in respect to the listing of personal property and its 
transportation from owners’ homes to storage and subsequent disposal was fully 
explained by the witnesses.

Some of the household effects and other chattels were advertised in the 
press and sold at public auction. From the evidence produced, there is no doubt 
that a certain amount of theft and vandalism took place both before control 
was vested in the Custodian and during the period of his administration.

Subsequent to the passage of the Order in Council establishing a protected 
area, two advisory committes were appointed: one under the chairmanship of 
Mr. Justice Sidney Smith, associated with Alderman Charles Jones of Van­
couver and a Japanese representative ; the other under the chairmanship of the 
late Judge David Whiteside, assisted by Mayor Mott, of New Westminster, Mr. 
D. A. Mackenzie, Mr. Harold Menzies and a Japanese representative. The 
Japanese representatives on the two committees resigned on being evacuated. 
Every negotiation for the sale of real estate was considered and reported upon 
by the committee over which Judge Whiteside presided.

Most of the discussion in your Committee centred around the sale of 741 
farm properties by the Custodian to the Director, The Veterans’ Land Act, for 
the sum of $836,250.

A summary of the cash which has been collected by the Custodian on behalf 
of Japanese evacuees, covering not only real estate but fishing vessels, fishing 
gear, cars and trucks, farm equipment, household effects and sundries, totals 
$5,373,317.64.

In view of the evidence adduced and in order that more information may 
be obtained as to the desirability of adjusting any apparent discrimination or 
loss which may have resulted from the taking over or sale of property of any 
kind, your Committee recommends that a commission be appointed under the 
provisions of the Inquiries Act to inquire into and report upon the claim of any 
person of the Japanese race now resident in Canada for alleged loss which 
resulted from the amount received by him being less than the fair market value 
of his property at time of sale or loss.

A copy of the minutes of proceedings and evidence to May 27 is appended.
All of which is respectfully submitted.

GORDON B. ISNOR, 
Vice-Chairman
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Form “JP’

Standing Committee

OFFICE OF THE CUSTODIAN 
Japanese Section

File No.

To be completed by persons of the Japanese race having property in any 
protected area. The proper administration of this property requires such persons 
to give full particulars as requested in this form.

Personal Information
Name .................................................................................................
Home Address ..................................................................................
Registration Number........................................ Sex.................. Age
Occupation ........................................................................................

(If any business or businesses carried on. state where, under what name and whether 
carried on by yourself or in partnership with anyone; if partnership, give partner’s 
name.)

Employer .............................................................................................................
Married? ...............................................................................................................
Name of Wife or Husband .................................................................................
Address of Wife or Husband .............................................................................
Names of Any Living Children .........................................................................

Address of Children ............................................................................................
Age of Children ..................................................................................................

Statement of All Real Property (Each parcel must be mentioned and particulars 
given)

1. Location and Description .............................................................................

2. Buildings and Other Improvements

3. Insurance (Give particulars; state where policies are) .............................

4. Taxes (Amount and where payable) .........................................................
5. Encumbrances (Including any unregistered claims or deposit of title

deed)

5. Sub-Tenants, If Any (Give name, address, rent and to what date paid)..
6. Occupancy and Leases (If vacant so state)................................................
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7. State Whereabouts of Title Documents..........................
8. State if any Other Person Has any Interest...................
9. If Farm Land Crops Sown...............................................

Statement of Real Property Occupied
1. Location and Description.................................................

2. Landlord’s Name and Address........................................

3. Particulars of Lease and Rent and Date to Which Paid

4. State Whereabouts of Lease.............................................

6. If Farm Land, Particulars of Crops Sown

Statement of Personal Property Owned:
1. Give Brief Description and State Location of Furniture, Fixtures, Equip­

ment and Machinery, Stock in Trade and Personal Effects:

2. Horses, Livestock and Other Animals, Poultry and Pets

3. Give the Name and Address of Any Person Having Any Interest in, or 
Claim on Any Such Property.....................................................................

4. Insurance Carried on Above Property

5. Mortgages, Liens and Other Claims on Property in Possession of Others

6. Moneys Owing to You (State if any of these debts assigned and if so, 
to whom).........................................................................................................

7. Bonds, Debentures, Shares, Stocks or Other Securities (State whereabouts)
................................................................................

8. Bank Accounts



PUBLIC ACCOUNTS 305

9. Life Insurance

10. Interest in Any Estates or Trusts

11. Safety Deposit Box 

Liabilities:
1. Personal Debts....

2. Trade Debts

I, the undersigned, hereby voluntarily turn over to the Custodian all my 
property in the protected area as set out above, excepting fishing vessels, 
deposits of money, shares of stock, debentures, bonds or other securities, 
if any.

I certify that the above information is true and complete and fully 
discloses all my property of every description in any protected area in 
British Columbia and sets forth all my liabilities direct and indirect.

Dated this............. day of..................................1943.

(Signature)

Witness

For Departmental Use





MINUTES OF PROCEEDINGS

Tuesday, June 17, 1947.
The Standing Committee on Public Accounts met at 11 o’clock a.m., the 

Chairman, Mr. L. P. Picard, presiding.
Members present: Messrs. Arsenault, Boucher, Burton, Cote (Verdun), 

Denis, Fleming, Fournier (Maisonneuve-Rosemont), Fraser, Gladstone, Golding, 
Grant, Hamel, Homuth, Isnor, Picard, Stuart (Charlotte), Thatcher, Warren, 
Winkler.

In attendance: Dr. E. H. Coleman, C.M.G., K.C., Deputy Custodian of 
Enemy Property, and Mr. K. W. Wright, Counsel.

The Chairman reported that, in accordance with an undertaking given the 
Committee at the meeting of May 22, the Director, The Veterans’ Land Act, had 
submitted a schedule showing the details of sales of former Japanese lands.

The Chairman also reported that the following documents, promised by 
Dr. Coleman at the last meeting, had been received:

certain Orders in Council relating to organizations declared illegal 
together with a copy of the document appointing the Advisory Committee 
under the Chairmanship of His Honour Judge McPhee, dated October 20, 
1943 (printed as Appendix “A” to this day’s minutes of proceedings and 
evidence) ;

particulars regarding sale and repurchase of the Ukrainian Labour- 
Farmer Temple Association properties together with the reports of the 
Advisory Committee relative thereto; and

report concerning libraries formerly owned by some illegal 
organizations.

By order of the Committee, strangers were requested to withdraw and the 
Committee proceeded to consideration of its fourth report to the House.

The Chairman submitted a draft report prepared by the Vice-Chairman, 
Mr. Gordon B. Isnor, and amended by the Steering Committee.

After discussion, further amendments were agreed to.
On motion of Mr. Fleming:
Ordered,—That the report, as amended, be adopted and presented to the 

House by Mr. Isnor.
Strangers were admitted and the oEcial reporters recalled.
The Committee resumed its investigation into the administration of the 

property of illegal organizations.
Examination of Dr. Coleman was continued.
Dr. Coleman filed minutes of a meeting of the Central Executive Committee 

of the Ukrainian Labour-Farmer Temple Association held at Toronto on 
April 7, 1945.

Dr. Coleman retired.
At 12.40 o’clock p.m. the Committee adjourned to the call of the Chair.

A. L. BURGESS,
Clerk of the Committee.
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MINUTES OF EVIDENCE

Hottse of Commons,
June 17, 1947.

The Standing Committee on Public Accounts met this day at 11.00 a.m. The 
Chairman, Mr. L. Philippe Picard, presided.

The Chairman: Gentlemen, may we come to order.
This morning we have received certain documents for consideration by the 

committee. We have received from Mr. Murchison a statement respecting the 
resale of Japanese land to veterans. This statement is received in answer to a 
previous request.

From Mr. Wright we have received copies of the orders in council promised 
by Dr. Coleman at the last meeting. There is also a report respecting libraries 
owned by illegal organizations requested by Mr. Burton and Mr. Stewart, and 
particulars concerning the sale and repurchase of the Ukrainian Labour-Farmer 
Temple Association buildings. These will be filed with the clerk of this com­
mittee for consideration by those members who want to consult them.

Mr. Fleming: Excuse me, Mr. Chairman, are you going on with those?
The Chairman: No, we are filing them officially.
Mr. Fleming: I was going to suggest on those, Mr. Chairman, that I think 

they ought to be printed in the record. Certainly the report of Mr. Murchison 
should be printed because it purports to comment on another table which is 
already a matter of record in the proceedings of the committee.

The Chairman: I am in the hands of the committee but I would say that 
this report from Mr. Murchison is a thing of at least forty-eight pages. It con­
sists of details, and, after all, those members of the committee who are to pass 
a recommendation at the end of our meetings, are entitled to see the reports but 
the whole public is not necessarily likewise entitled. The public does not have to 
vote on this and I submit that we might file it and leave the matter in abeyance 
for a week or two so that everyone will have time to consult the reports. I do 
not feel that it will aid the work of our committee if this forty-eight page report 
is published. I suggest, therefore, that we file it and have it at the disposal of 
the members of the committee who are, of course, entitled to know what is 
being done. As chairman, I submit that these should be filed only.

Mr. Fleming: My suggestion that it be printed is because that report follows 
up and refers to a document which is already filed as an appendix and extends 
the information of the appendix. The document I am referring to is one of those 
put on the record by Mr. Cruickshank, found at pages 163-174, of our proceed­
ings and Mr. Murchison’s report extends the information contained in that 
appendix. Having printed as part of our proceedings the first table, Mr. Chair­
man, I should think that we are almost bound to print the table prepared by 
Mr. Murchison that extends the information.

Mr. Isnor: Mr. Chairman, I think there may be something in what Mr. 
Fleming has to say but as he is the only one, as far as I know, who has had an 
opportunity of seeing the report, I favour your suggestion that for the time being 
the report be tabled and later it can be discussed by the committee and possibly 
then we can have it printed as part of our proceedings.

Mr. Fleming: Yes, we can bring it up later.
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The Chairman: Well, let us say that we will leave the matter in abeyance 
for two weeks and anyone who wishes can consult the reports and then, if it 
is the wish of the committee, the reports can be printed and to that I have no 
objection.

Agreed.
Now, gentlemen, two meetings ago we had completed our work on part 

of this committee’s business and it had been suggested that a report might be 
drafted by Mr. Isnor covering the first part of our work.

Mr. Isnor, who is the vice-chairman, has completed his report. He has 
come before the steering committee with the report which has been amended, 
altered, and approved by the steering committee. I submit that it might be a 
proper time for the committee to draft an interim report. I move that when 
we have the report for the House we give Mr. Isnor, who was acting as chairman 
during the period covered by the report, and who has presented the report, the 
compliment of presenting it to the House. If it is agreeable to the committee we 
will start considering the draft interim report. Now when these reports come 
before the committee it is in order that it be brought in in camera, because the 
reports should not go to the public until they have been seen by members. This 
is the first time we have discussed the report with the whole committee. You 
will have a chance to see it now, so I suggest that the committee go into camera 
and the reporter may go away. We will call him back later.

Agreed.
Mr. Isnor: Just before you close the record may I suggest that a state­

ment be included in the record to the effect that this report was made with the 
unanimous approval of the steering committee and recommended for your 
approval.

Mr. Fleming: I do not think it can be said to be quite that. We had quite 
a discussion and there were conflicting points of view expressed, but there was a 
spirit of conciliation on all sides in trying to arrive at the report. Although 
it met with general approval I think I expressed some reservations about some 
aspects of the report, but I do not wish to go quite so far as Mr. Isnor suggests.

The Chairman: Do you mean you were not expressing approval?
Mr. Isnor: Well I definitely stand on what I have said. The final report 

as amended and approved was approved unanimously by members of the steer­
ing committee for submission to the main committee.

Mr. Fleming: I do not want to be taken as agreeing and you will recall 
my remarks at the end of the meeting, Mr. Chairman. I said I would review 
the report again with a view to assisting in any way I could in making this report 
unanimous in the light of the changes that had been made. There were a number 
of points where I had expressed appreciation of the wishes of the members 
and I said I would do my best to find myself in concurrence with the other 
members of the committee, but I did not express myself, at that time, as 
agreeing to the report.

Mr. Isnor: Then I can only say that I was mistaken in Mr. Fleming’s 
attitude. I thought we had, as was so well stated by Mr. Fleming, given way on 
practically all points on which there appeared to be conflict. Mr. Burton held 
certain views, Mr. Fleming held certain views, the members including myself, 
held certain other views and so expressed them in preparing the report. There 
were minor changes made and then the report was finally unanimously approved, 
as I understood it, because there were no objections, except those expressed by 
Mr. Fleming who stated that he would review the matter and the report as 
amended has been submitted to this meeting. Now it rests there. In its present 
form, and for the time being, it comes from the steering committee as a report 
on which there was no objection taken.
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Mr. Fleming: I cannot assent to that.
Mr. Burton : Perhaps I might be allowed to enter into this discussion. I 

distinctly recall the reservation that Mr. Fleming made. He said that he 
appreciated the spirit of conciliation and willingness to consider the different 
proposals. I also recollect that he expressed considerable satisfaction and in 
making that statement I was under the impression that he was satisfied to have 
it come before the committee. His reservation lay in the fact that in the 
final analysis he was not sure whether everything would meet with his approval. 
There is where his reservation ended. At no time was I under the impression 
that the steering committee was to be called together again so that we could 
have a unanimous report, and I took it for granted that it was a unanimous 
report for the consideration of the whole committee. Mr. Fleming, in making 
his reservation, was saying that he would read it over to see whether the final 
alterations made met entirely with what he had in mind. I believe, Mr. Chair­
man, that we can proceed with the work.

The Chairman: My recollection, if I may be permitted to say so, was that 
I understood Mr. Fleming was reserving his right to come before the main 
committee and vary with some opinions expressed in this report. At the time 
several compliments were given and he expressed his satisfaction with the 
work of the steering committee. I did not understand that the report was 
unanimous but his reservation was to his right to come before the main com­
mittee and express his views even although he then approved of the report.

I understood you, Mr. Fleming, to say that you reserved your right to 
come before this committee and differ on some points, but at the moment 
you thought that this was a suitable report and that we might come before 
the committee with a unanimous report although you reserved the right to 
express a different view.

Mr. Fleming: Perhaps we are spending more time on it than it is 
worth and I think if we can get into the report my objections will become 
perfectly clear.

The Chairman: Then, with your consent, we will dispense with the reporter 
for the moment and proceed with the draft interim report.

(Discussion off the record).
The Chairman: Gentlemen, will you come to order and we will go on 

the record again. Dr. Coleman is now with us.
Mr. Fleming: May I ask first, Mr. Chairman, if the members will refer 

to the minutes of proceedings of evidence, No. 12, of June 3, on page 289 about 
the 7th line. In a question of my own, I am quoted as saying “Just while we 
are on the subject of the order in council, there are two others I suggest that 
we should have on the record. The first is P.C. 8022, dated October 14, 1943,”— 
then I spoke about P.C. 8116, and the chairman says “They will be included.” 
I suggested that we have these two orders in council on the record but they 
have not been printed in the record at all.

The Chairman : They were received after the proceedings were sent to the 
printer but they will be printed as part of to-day’s proceedings.

Mr. Fleming: That will be fine.
Then on page 294 about twelve lines from the end of a long question, and 

this is part of a broken sentence “it becomes government policy to put these 
illegal organizations back in the same position that they had been if they had 
not been declared to be illegal organizations”. The word “had” should obviously 
have been “would have”. It would then read “—back in the same position that 
they would have been if they had not been declared illegal organizations”.

The Chairman: Thank you Mr. Fleming.
Now Dr. Coleman is with us.



312 STANDING COMMITTEE

Dr. E. H. Coleman, called :
The Chairman: Have you any reports, Dr. Coleman?
The Witness: Since the last sitting of the committee at which I appeared 

we have filed with the secretary these reports.
I have copies of some supplementary material which contains communica­

tions addressed to the late Mr. McLarty, from Mr. Campbell and others, which 
seem rather bearing on the matter.

The Chairman : They will be filed.
The Witness: I think this completes the material which I was asked to 

produce.
The Chairman: Are there any guestions, gentlemen?

By Mr. Fleming:
Q. Mr. Chairman, we were dealing at our last meeting with the restoration 

of the properties to the original owners, the U.L.F.T.A., in the case of the three 
which could not be restored to the owners, namely Calgary, Lethbridge, and 
Medicine Hat, and the $25,000 paid to the U.L.F.T.A. in settlement. May I ask 
Dr. Coleman if the U.L.F.T.A. was incorporated?—A. I believe so, yes sir.

Q. In some of the correspondence there was reference to the payment of the 
trustees for the U.L.F.T.A.?—A. I know a general release was executed under 
seal by the U.L.F.T.A.

Q. Take the payment of $25,000 in settlement in respect of the properties 
at Calgary, Lethbridge, and Medicine Hat, who received the money and what, 
if anything, did the custodian do with respect to supervising the distribution of 
the proceeds?—A. A receipt was signed on behalf of the U.L.F.T.A. by Mr. 
John Boychuk, the secretary treasurer.

Q. Was that under the seal of the U.L.F.T.A.?—A. Our general release 
under seal has already been filed. I have a report from Mr. Campbell which has 
already been filed dated April 12, 1D45, addressed to Mr. McLarty,

Victoria Building,
7 O’Connor Street, 
Ottawa, Ontario,
April 12, 1945.

Illegal Organizations—Re: U.L.F.T.A. Halls at Medicine Hat, Lethbridge 
and Calgary, Alto.

Dear Mr. McLarty: As I have previously advised you I was not able 
to come to any amicable cash settlement with the Local Branches of the 
Organization for the non-return of the above properties, as recommended 
by the Advisory Committee. The Local units of the U.L.F.T.A. at the 
above places finally asked their Central Organization Executive at Toronto 
to act on their behalf in trying to reach a satisfactory settlement. I had 
several meetings, with members of the Central Executive, and have now 
come to an agreement with them whereby the custodian will pay to the 
Central Executive of the U.L.F.T.A. at Toronto the sum of twenty-five 
thousand dollars ($25,000) in full settlement for all the above properties, 
and all chattels contained in the halls at the time of placing of the “Ban” 
on the U.L.F.T.A.

The Central Executive is to apportion the amount of the $25,000 
each local unit will receive.

I think this arrangement will be satisfactory to all concerned, and 
trust it meets with your approval.

Yours faithfully,
(Sgd.) GEORGE A. CAMPBELL.
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Q. Is it then a correct inference, Dr. Coleman, that the $25,000 was paid to 
the central office of the U.L.F.T.A., in Toronto?—A. That is right.

Q. That organization apparently had some form of dominion incorporation?
—A. Yes. . ,

Q. And it was left to that organization to arrange to divide the proceeds 
up among the various local branches of the U.L.F.T.A. in Lethbridge, Calgary, 
and Medicine Hat?—That is right.

Q. Did the custodian assume any responsibility in over-seeing the 
distribution of the proceeds at all?—A. No sir, not to my knowledge.

Q. By the way, the release which the custodian received following payment 
of the $25,000 was executed by the corporation of the U.L.F.T.A. over the hand 
of the secretary of the incorporation, is that correct?—A. Here it is, the original 
document; I find it has not been put in. These are the minutes of a meeting of 
the Central Executive Committee of the Ukrainian Labour-Farmer Temple 
Association held at Toronto on April 7, 1945. There were present seven men as 
enumerated here. The following resolutions were passed :

(1) The following four members will proceed to Ottawa there to 
discuss with the Honourable N. A. McLarty, the Secretary of State, 
matters concerning the former U.L.F.T.A. properties : Peter Prokop, John 
Boychuk, Michael Dushney and Michael Mutzak.

(2) The above members are authorized to contract the final settle­
ment in respect to these properties.

(3) Any two of the above members be empowered to sign necessary 
documents.

Signed on behalf of the Central Executive Committee of the Ukrainian 
Labour-Farmer Temple Association.

PETER PROKOP,
Vice President.

PETER KRAWCHUK, 
Recording Secretary.

' Dated at Toronto, Ont.
April 7, 1945.

Attached to it is a memorandum. Paragraph 4 of the general release states : 
“It is a definite condition of this statement that the settlement is to put an end 
to all claims or demands, direct or indirect, by the association or by any of its 
branches or agencies throughout Canada in respect to any and all matters relating 
to the control, management, leasing or disposition by the custodian of any and 
all properties, real or personal, of the association and any and all of its branches 

I or agencies throughout Canada.”
And so forth, and there is a schedule dealing with each case.
Q. May I see the terms of the schedule, Dr. Coleman, in case there are any 

: questions that I might have on it?
I do not know whether anyone else has any questions of Dr. Coleman while 

I look this over.
The Chairman: Have any members of the committee any questions to ask?
I think, Mr. Fleming, the morning is yours.

By Mr. Fleming:
Q. Mr. Chairman, this memorandum I see covers the various properties as 

to the adjustments and I think probably for the record we better have the release 
print! d anil the documents that were part of it.—A. There is a memorandum on 
the top, and there is nothing secret about it, but it is not really part of the 

i release. It is addressed to me by Mr. McLarty, and I do not think it constitutes 
part of the document.
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Q. May I ask Dr. Coleman if he has some objection to us discussing this 
memorandum from Mr. McLarty?—A. I do not think it is really part of the 
document. It is a note from a minister to one of his officers.

The Chairman: Has it not been the rule of the House not to file, as public 
documents, communications from a minister, or a deputy minister, to their 
departmental officers. Has not that always been the rule under all governments ; 
whatever party was in power? Inter-departmental communications are of a 
private nature and are not to be made public but all documents are to be open 
to the House. They may become matters of record but not public record.

Mr. Fleming: I think in this committee, in some cases, there has been no 
objection to it, especially if it is necessary to understand the sequence of events.

The Chairman : Well it would then become part of the record and we are 
already printing considerable material which is not absolutely necessary. That 
is just a personal opinion and it does not reflect on any member who wants to 
print it, but I wonder about the advisability. It is your privilege to read and 
consult it.

Mr. Fleming: I would like to look it over.
The Chairman: Dr. Coleman himself has said that there is no objection 

to that.
Mr. Fleming: Well if there is no objection—
The Chairman : We are opening a field that might lead very far under any 

government if private communications between ministers and their depart­
ments are open to everybody and are to be printed. I know there is little 
use in bringing in personal references but I have been in the Department of 
Justice for a number of years where we were more or less administering the 
Mounted Police and in such cases memoranda were always considered as 
inter-departmental records and I think here we might be opening a very 
dangerous door.

The Witness: I am sure that you will understand, if you read it, that 
it is entirely an innocuous document but I felt it my duty to call to the 
attention of the committee that it was a memorandum, and it is not signed, 
although I have no reason to doubt its authenticity.

The Chairman: May we adopt this procedure? We will ask the reporter 
not to include this in the record at the present time and I will read the 
memorandum. Then we may discuss it and decide whether or not it will 
be included.

(Memorandum read.)
Mr. Fleming: Let us not worry about the memorandum then, because 

I am more concerned with what is attached to the release in that file.
The Chairman : The release can be printed but not this top letter because 

it is a personal note from a minister to his employee and I think that is opening 
a very vast field.

Mr. Fleming: I do not think it is really a very vast field.
The Chairman: Well the principle is there anyway and the document will 

be filed.

By Mr. Fleming:
Q. Now just to clear up a couple of points. Was there any doubt in the 

mind of the custodian at the time of the payment of the $25,000 on the return 
of those properties as to the right of the payee or the grantee to receive the 
money on the properties?—A. No, I do not think there was.

Q. Has any question been raised by the U.L.F.T.A. as to the right of the 
persons acting under the seal of the U.L.F.T.A. as they did?—A. No, sir, it has 
never been challenged that I know of.
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Q. Two matters were held over from a previous meeting. One was the 
assessment of the Hamilton property and the other was the assessment of the 
Euclid avenue property in Winnipeg and I wonder if Mr. Wright has those? 
We did not have the assessment on them.

While Mr. Wright is looking it up I could just go on with a couple of other 
questions.

Was it any part of the function of the custodian to inquire into the reasons 
why the ban had been put on these various organizations?—A. No, sir.

Q. The order was just issued banning these various organizations that 
were suspected of communist sympathies and it was no part of the custodian’s 
duty to concern with the reasons?—A. I could not say they were even suspected 
of communist activities or fascist activities.

Q. That was no part of the duty or function of the custodian?—A. No.
Q. The same would apply to the reasons for the lifting of the ban on 

them?—A. Quite.
The Chairman : Does that conclude the evidence of Dr. Coleman, 

gentlemen?
The Witness: I may give the answer to Mr. Fleming on the Hamilton 

property. The 1941 assessed value of the land was $1,500 and the building was 
$5,500; total $7,000.

By Mr. Fleming:
Q. It was sold for $5,650?—A. Yes. The Euclid avenue assessment on 

land was $1,500 and on buildings $10,700, a total of $12,200, and it was sold for 
$13,300. There was a mortgage as I pointed out, of $12,000 with the Imperial 
bank.

Q. There were two properties in Vancouver and Saskatoon which the McPhee 
commission found were sold at figures below their fair value. I do not know 
that we have been given the reasons for that. I notice in Judge McPhee’s 
report of February 19, 1944, he says of the Saskatoon property: “This hall was 
sold at a ridiculously low figure as the evidence discloses”. The sale price 
on July 16, 1941 was $1,702.76 and it was repurchased on May 12, 1946 for 
$7,000. Now who was responsible for the sale at what Judge McPhee calls a 
ridiculously low figure?—A. The property was advertised. As I understand 
the McPhee report, the agent reported the highest tender received was so much, 
and in the McPhee report, the views of the advisory committee were that the 
agent should have gone further to say, “Although we have advertised arid although 
this is the highest tender, we think the highest tender is below the appropriate 
value”. They made the same observation with respect to Vancouver.

Q. Who took the decision to sell that property in July, 1941, for $1,702.76? 
—A. The custodian of that day.

Q. Did he have any other advice on that?—A. He had the recommenda­
tion of the agent.

Q. Then in the case of Vancouver, the McPhee report of February 7, 1944, 
includes this sentence : “It is unfortunate that this hall was sold and the chattels 
included in the sale”.

You will recall that the property was sold on May 7, 1941, for $6,000 and 
repurchased for the custodian on March 29, 1945, for $12,000 for reconveyance 
to the U.L.F.T.A.?—A. I gathered the view of the advisory committee headed 
by Judge McPhee was that the same condition prevailed, that it was most 
unfortunate that the agent from Vancouver had not indicated that the highest 
tender was too low.
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Q. \ou sold it for $6,000?—A. It might have been inadvisable to sell it 
at that price. The McPhee Committee, you see, went to both Saskatoon and 
Vancouver and had before them or heard representations from all parties, 
including the agent.

Q. That had been advertised, too?—A. Every one of them had been 
advertised, sir.

Q. Was that decision made by the custodian on the advice of the agent? 
—A. On the advice of his agent.

Q. What chattels were included in the sale? Were they included in the 
sale of $6,000?—A. Yes, they were. The property and chattels were sold for 
$6,000.

Q. That would be the furniture in the building?—A. The furniture in the 
building.

Q. Was that included in the repurchase price of $12,000?—A. Yes.
Q. You got the same chattels back?—A. Oh, yes.
Q. And conveyed those same chattels to the U.L.F.T.A.?—A. Yes.
The Chairman: Gentlemen, I think this concludes part 2 of the agenda 

adopted on May 6 by the steering committee, which was a review of the adminis­
tration of the illegal organizations. We have two other items on our agenda. I 
think it might be proper for the steering committee to meet to-morrow or this 
afternoon to establish contact with the proper departmenal officials in charge 
of these items. The main committee would meet again on Friday or Tuesday 
of next week in order to give these officials time to prepare.

Mr. Fleming: Could I make a suggestion with regard to the statement of 
Mr. Murchison? We should make up our minds reasonably soon about 
including that in the record. I think if the members of the committee could 
take the occasion to look it over, they may decide it would be well to recall 
Mr. Murchison to explain some of the items in that long statement.

The Chairman: The fact that we have another item before us would not 
preclude us from going back to any of the other items to clean them up.

Mr. Fleming: It is important to avoid carrying these tag ends over too
long.

The Chairman : Yes, that is so, but it is open to the committee to go back 
to any item if it is desirable. Within a reasonable time, we should have a 
meeting of the steering committee to get in touch with the departmental 
officials and then we could call a meeting of the main committee. I shall 
declare the meeting adjourned to the call of the Chair.

I wish to express our thanks to Mr. Coleman and his assistants for the 
valuable help they have given us.

The committee adjourned at 12.40 p.m. to the call of the Chair.
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[2363]

APPENDIX “A”
Ottawa, Thursday, June 6, 1940. 

ORDER IN COUNCIL

AT THE GOVERNMENT HOUSE AT OTTAWA
Tuesday, the 4th day of June, 1940.

present:

HIS EXCELLENCY THE ADMINISTRATOR IN COUNCIL
Whereas the Minister of Justice reports
1. That he considers it desirable to amend the Defence of Canada Regula­

tions by adding to regulation 2 thereof a definition of the expression “justice of 
the peace’’, and amending sub-paragraph (h) of paragraph (1) of that regulation 
so as to permit an inspector of a police force in a city or town with a population 
of not less than ten thousand to exercise the powers of a senior police officer;

2. That he is advised that there are within Canada numerous organizations 
of a subversive character which are intended, or are likely, to be prejudicial to 
the safety of the State or the efficient prosecution of the War, certain of which 
organizations are hereinafter referred to or mentioned ;

3. That in these circumstances it is desirable that such organizations should 
be prohibited and that a regulation should be made for this purpose and added 
to the Defence of Canada Regulations ;

4. That it is considered desirable to make all commissioned officers of the 
Royal Canadian Mounted Police justices of the peace for the purpose of issuing 
search warrants.

Now, therefore, His Excellency the Administrator in Council, on the recom­
mendation of the Minister of Justice and under the authority of the War 
Measures Act, chapter 206 of the Revised Statutes of Canada, 1927, is pleased 
to amend the Defence of Canada Regulations made by Order in Council 
P C. 2483 of the 3rd September, 1939, and they are hereby amended as follows:—

1. By adding immediately after sub-paragraph (e) of paragraph (1) of 
regulation 2 the following—

(ee) “justice of the peace” includes a police magistrate, a stipendiary 
magistrate, or any person having the power or authority of two or more 
justices of the peace.

2. By revoking sub-paragraph (h) of paragraph (1) of regulation 2 and 
substituting therefor the following—

(h) “senior police officer” means any officer of the Royal Canadian 
Mounted Police not below the rank of inspector; any officer of like or 
superior rank of any provincial police force or of any police force of a 
city or town with a population of not less than ten thousand ; or any 
person upon whom the powers of a senior police officer are for the 
purposes of these Regulations conferred by the Governor in Council. 
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3. By adding immediately after regulation 39B the following—
39C. (1) The following associations, societies, groups or organiza­

tions are hereby declared to be, and shall be deemed to be, illegal 
organizations, viz.—

(а) The Auslands Organization of the National Sozialistische 
Deutsche Arbeiterpartei ;

The Deutsche Arbeitsfront ;
The Canadian Society for German Culture (Deutscher Bund fur 

Kanada) ;
The National Unity Party ;
Canadian Union of Fascists ;
The Communist Party of Canada;
The Young Communist League of Canada;
The Canadian Labour Defence League ;
The League for Peace and Democracy ;
The Ukrainian Labour Farmer Temple Association ;
The Finnish Organization of Canada;
The Russian Workers and Farmers Club;
The Croatian Cultural Association;
The Hungarian Workers Club;
The Polish People’s Association; and 
The Canadian Ukrainian Youth Federation;
(б) any association, society, group or organization which the 

Governor in Council, by notice published in the Canada Gazette, 
declares to be an illegal organization.
(2) Every person who after the publication of this regulation in the 

Canada Gazette continues to be or becomes an officer or member of an 
illegal organization, or professes to be such, or who advocates or defends 
the acts, principles or policies of such illegal organization shall be guilty 
of an offence against this regulation.

(3) In any prosecution under this regulation, if it be proved that 
the person charged has

(а) attended meetings of an illegal organization; or
(б) spoken publicly in advocacy of an illegal organization; or
(c) distributed literature of an illegal organization by circula­

tion through the Post Office mails of Canada, or otherwise;
it shall be presumed, in the absence of proof to the contrary, that 
he is a member of such illegal organization.

4. By adding to regulation 58 as paragraph (3) the following—
(3) For the purposes of this regulation every commissioned officer of the 
Royal Canadian Mounted Police shall be a justice of the peace.

A. D. P. HEENEY,
Clerk of the Privy Council.
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Ottawa, Thursday, June 13, 1940. 
ORDER IN COUNCIL

AT THE GOVERNMENT HOUSE AT OTTAWA
Wednesday, the 12th day of June, 1940. 
present:

HIS EXCELLENCY THE ADMINISTRATOR IN COUNCIL
Whereas by regulation 39C of the Defence of Canada Regulations certain 

organizations were declared to be illegal, including any association, society, 
group or organization which the Governor in Council, by notice published in the 
Canada Gazette, declares to be an illegal organization;

And whereas the Minister of Justice reports that there are certain Italian 
organizations of a subversive character which it is considered should be declared 
illegal organizations;

Now therefore His Excellency the Administrator in Council, on the recom­
mendation of the Minister of Justice and pursuant to the provisions of sub- 
paragraph (b) of paragraph (1) of regulation 39C of the Defence of Canada 
Regulations is hereby pleased to declare the following associations, societies, 
groups or organizations to be illegal organizations, namely:—

Italian Fascio Abroad (Fasci Italiani All’Estero) ;
O.V.R.A. Opere Volontarie Repressione Anti-Fascisto. (National 

Organization for the Repression of Anti-Fascism) ;
Dopolavoro. (After Work Organization);
Associazione Combattenti Italiani. (Italian War Veterans’ Associa­

tion) ;
O.G.I.E. Organizzazioni Giovanili Degli Italiani All’Estero. (Italian 

Youth Organization Abroad) ; and
The Italian United Moral Front. (A combination of Italian and Italo- 

Canadian Societies in Montreal under the control of the Canadian 
Fascio.)

His Excellency the Administrator in Council is further pleased to direct 
that a notice to the above effect be published in the Canada Gazette.

A. D. P. HEENEY,
Clerk of the Privy Council.

[2682]
AT THE GOVERNMENT HOUSE AT OTTAWA

Thursday, the 20th day of June, 1940. 
present:

HIS EXCELLENCY THE ADMINISTRATOR IN COUNCIL
W hereas by regulation 39C of the Defence of Canada Regulations certain 

organizations were declared to be illegal, including any association, society, 
group or organization which the Governor in Council, by notice published in 
the ( anada Gazette, declares to be an illegal organization;
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And whereas the Minister of Justice reports that there is an organization 
known as “Technocracy Inc.” which is considered to be of a subversive char­
acter and which should be declared an illegal organization.

Now, therefore, His Excellency the Administrator in Council, on the recom­
mendation of the Minister of Justice and pursuant to the provisions of sub- 
paragraph (b) of paragraph (1) of regulation 39C of the Defence of Canada 
Regulations, is hereby pleased to declare Technocracy Inc. to be an illegal 
organization.

His Excellency the Administrator in Council is further pleased to direct 
that a notice to the above effect be published in the Canada Gazette.

A. D. P. HEENEY,
Clerk of the Privy Council.

[2943]
AT THE GOVERNMENT HOUSE AT OTTAWA

Thursday, the 4th day of July, 1940. 
present:

HIS EXCELLENCY THE GOVERNOR GENERAL IN COUNCIL
Whereas by regulation 39C of the Defence of Canada Regulations certain 

organizations were declared to be illegal, including any association, society, 
group or organization which the Governor in Council, by notice published in 
the Canada Gazette, declares to be an illegal organization ;

And Whereas the Minister of Justice reports that there is an organization 
known as “Jehovah’s Witnesses” which is considered to be of -a subversive 
character and which should be declared an illegal organization.

Now, therefore, His Excellency the Governor General in Council, on the 
recommendation of the Minister of Justice and pursuant to the provisions of 
sub-paragraph (b) of paragraph (1) of regulation 39C of the Defence of 
Canada Regulations is hereby pleased to declare “Jehovah’s Witnesses” to be 
an illegal organization.

His Excellency in Council is further pleased to direct that a notice to the 
above effect be published in the Canada Gazette.

A. D. P. HEENEY,
Clerk of the Privy Council.

[4255]
AT THE GOVERNMENT HOUSE AT OTTAWA

Tuesday, the 27th day of August, 1940. 
present:

THE DEPUTY OF HIS EXCELLENCY THE GOVERNOR GENERAL
IN COUNCIL

Whereas by regulation 39C of the Defence of Canada Regulations certain 
organizations were declared to be illegal, including any association, society, 
group or organization which the Governor in Council, by notice published in 
the Canada Gazette, declares to be an illegal organization;
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And Whereas the Minister of Justice reports that there are certain organi­
zations of a subversive character which it is considered should be declared 
illegal organizations.

Now, therefore, the Deputy of His Excellency the Governor General in 
Council, on the recommendation of the Minister of Justice and pursuant to the 
provisions of sub-paragraph (6) of paragraph (1) of regulation 39C of the 
Defence of Canada Regulations is hereby pleased to declare the following 
associations, societies, groups or organizations to be illegal organizations, 
namely:

The Workers and Farmers Publishing Association;
The Road Publishing Company ;
The Croatian Publishing Company;
The Polish People’s Press;
The Serbian Publishing Association; and
The Finnish Society of Toronto.

The Deputy of His Excellency the Governor General in Council is further 
pleased to direct that a notice to the above effect be published in the Canada 
Gazette.

A. D. P. HEENEY,
Clerk of the Privy Council.

P.C. 289
AT THE GOVERNMENT HOUSE AT OTTAWA

Monday, the 13th day of January, 1941.
, present:

HIS EXCELLENCY THE GOVERNOR GENERAL IN COUNCIL
Whereas by regulation 39C of the Defence of Canada Regulations (Con­

solidation), 1940, certain organizations were declared to be illegal, including any 
association, society, group or organization which the Governor in Council, by 
notice published in the Canada Gazette, declares to be an illegal organization;

And whereas the organization known as “Jehovah’s Witnesses’’ was, by 
Order in Council P.C. 2943 of the 4th July, 1940, declared to be an illegal 
organization ;

And whereas the Minister of Justice reports that this organization is a 
part only of a general organization comprising the “Watch Tower Bible and 
Tract Society” and the “International Bible Students Association”; and

That it is considered advisable that the “Watch Tower Bible and Tract 
Society” and the “International Bible Students Association” each be declared 
an illegal organization.

Therefore His Excellency the Governor General in Council, on the recom­
mendation of the Minister of Justice and pursuant to the provisions of sub- 
paragraph (b) of paragraph (1) of regulation 39C of the Defence of Canada 
Regulations (Consolidation), 1940, is hereby pleased to declare each of the 
following associations, societies, groups or organizations to be illegal organiza­
tions, namely:

“V atch Tower Bible and Tract Society ; and
International Bible Students Association.”
His Excellency in Council is hereby further pleased to direct that a notice 

to the above effect be published in the Canada Gazette.
Sgd. A. D. P. HEENEY,

Clerk of the Privy Council.
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P.C. 582
AT THE GOVERNMENT HOUSE AT OTTAWA

Wednesday, the 29th day of January, 1941.
PRESENT :

HIS EXCELLENCY THE GOVERNOR GENERAL IN COUNCIL
Whereas by regulation 39C of the Defence of Canada Regulations (Con­

solidation), 1940, certain organizations were declared to be illegal, including any 
association, society, group or organization which the Governor in Council, by 
notice published in the Canada Gazette, declares to be an illegal organization;

And whereas the organizations known as “Jehovah’s Witnesses” and “Watch 
Tower Bible and Tract Society” and the “International Bible Students Associa­
tion” have, by Orders in Council P.C. 2943 of the 4th July, 1940, and P.C. 289 
of the 13th January, 1941, respectively, been declared illegal organizations;

And whereas the Minister of Justice reports that it is now ascertained that 
in addition to the above organizations the “Watch Tower Bible and Tract 
Society Incorporated” forms part of the same general organization; and

That is is considered advisable that the “Watch Tower Bible and Tract 
Society Incorporated” be declared an illegal organization.

Therefore His Excellency the Governor General in Council, on the recom­
mendation of the Minister of Justice and pursuant to the provisions of sub- 
paragraph (b) of paragraph (1) of regulation 39C of the Defence of Canada 
Regulations (Consolidation), 1940, is hereby pleased to declare the “Watch 
Tower Bible and Tract Society Incorporated” to be an illegal organization.

His Excellency in Council is hereby further pleased to direct that a notice 
to the above effect be published in the Canada Gazette.

Sgd. A. D. P. HEENEY,
Clerk of the Privy Council.

P.C. 1223
AT THE GOVERNMENT HOUSE AT OTTAWA

Wednesday, the 29th day of January, 1941. 
present:

HIS EXCELLENCY THE GOVERNOR GENERAL IN COUNCIL
Whereas by regulation 39C of the Defence of Canada Regulations (Con­

solidation), 1940, certain organizations were declared to be illegal, including any 
association, society, group or organization which the Governor in Council, by 
notice published in the Canada Gazette, declares to be an illegal organization;

And whereas the organization known as “The Finnish Organization of 
Canada” was declared to be an illegal organization by regulation 39C of the 
Defence of Canada Regulations;

And whereas the Minister of Justice reports that it is now ascertained that 
“The Finnish Society”, an organization incorporated under the laws of British 
Columbia, is of the same character as and for practical purposes formed part of 
The Finnish Organization of Canada ; and
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That it is considered advisable that the said “The Finnish Society” be 
declared an illegal organization.

Therefore His Excellency the Governor General in Council, on the recom­
mendation of the Minister of Justice and pursuant to the provisions of sub- 
paragraph (b) of paragraph (1) of regulation 39C of the Defence of Canada 
Regulations (Consolidation), 1940, is hereby pleased to declare “The Finnish 
Society” to be an illegal organization.

His Excellency in Council is hereby further pleased to direct that a notice 
to the above effect be published in the Canada Gazette.

Sgd. A. D. P. HEENEY,
Clerk of the Privy Council.

Order in Council amending the Defence of Canada Regulations 
(Consolidation) 1942

P. C. 8022

AT THE GOVERNMENT HOUSE AT OTTAWA

Thursday, the 14th day of October, 1943 

present:

HIS EXCELLENCY THE GOVERNOR GENERAL IN COUNCIL

His Excellency the Governor General in Council, on the recommendation of 
the Minister of Justice, and under the authority of the War Measures Act, 
Chapter 206 of the Revised Statutes of Canada 1927, is pleased to amend 
sub-paragraph (a) of Paragraph (1) of Regulation 39C of the Defence of 
Canada Regulations (Consolidation) 1942, and it is hereby amended by deleting 
therefrom, the names of the following organizations,—

The Ukrainian Labour Farmer Temple Association,
The Finnish Organization of Canada,
The Finnish Society of Toronto,
The Finnish Society,
Technocracy Inc.,
Jehovah’s Witnesses.
His Excellency in Council, on the same recommendation and under the 

authority above cited, is further pleased to order and doth hereby order that all 
property, rights and interests in Canada, or the proceeds thereof, vested in and 
subject to the control and management of the Custodian pursuant to the 
provisions of paragraph (4) of Regulation 39C of the Defence of Canada 
Regulations (Consolidation) 1942, be released to the organization or person from 
whom it was received where the name of the organization has been deleted from 
the sub-paragraph (a) of paragraph (1) of the said Regulation 39C.

Certified to be a true copy.

A. D. P. HEENEY,
Clerk of the Privy Council.
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Order in Council authorizing appointment of a committee to advise 
the Custodian in connection with the return of properties to 
organizations mentioned in P.C. 8022, 14th October, 1943.

P.C. 8116

AT THE GOVERNMENT HOUSE AT OTTAWA

Tuesday, the 19th day of October, 1943 

present:

HIS EXCELLENCY THE GOVERNOR GENERAL IN COUNCIL

Whereas by Order in Council, dated the 14th day of October, 1943, 
(P.C. 8022) it was provided that all property, rights and interests in Canada, or 
the proceeds thereof, of six organizations mentioned in the said Order in Council 
which had been vested in and subject to the control and management of the 
( 'ustodian pursuant to the provisions of paragraph (4 ) of Regulation 39C of the 
Defence of Canada Regulations (Consolidation) 1942. be released to the 
organization or person from whom it was received where the name of the 
organization has been deleted from sub-paragraph la) of paragraph (1) of the 
said Regulation 39C;

And whereas the Secretary of State reports that it is desirable in the public 
interest that the Custodian, in performing the duty imposed on him by the said 
Order in Council (P.C. 8022) should be advised by an Advisory Committee, to 
consist of not more than three persons, to consider and make recommendations 
to him with respect to the manner and means which should be used in releasing 
the properties referred to in the said Order in Council and to consider and advise 
him in respect to any objections or complaints in respect to dealing with claims 
filed and any conflicting claims as to the ownership of said properties or the 
proceeds of any properties which may have been liquidated.

Therefore, His Excellency the Governor General in Council, on the 
recommendation of the Secretary of State, concurred in by the Minister of 
Justice, and under the authority of the War Measures Act, Chapter 206 of the 
Revised Statutes of Canada 1927, is pleased to order and doth hereby order as 
follows:

1. The Custodian is hereby authorized to appoint an Advisory Committee, 
to consist of not more than three persons, to make recommendations to him with 
respect to the matters aforesaid and any other matters relating to the release or 
return of the said properties or the proceeds thereof which may be referred to 
the Advisory Committee by the Custodian.

2. The Chairman of the Committee shall be a person who holds or has held 
judicial office.

3. The Chairman or any member of the Advisory Committee may administer 
oaths and the Committee may receive and accept such evidence and information 
on oath, affidavit or otherwise as in its discretion it may deem fit and proper.

4. The Committee shall have all the powers and authority of a Commissioner 
appointed under Fart I of the Inquiries Act, Chapter 99 of the Revised Statutes 
of Canada 1927.

Certified to be a true copy.

A. D. P. HEENEY,
Clerk of the Privy Council.
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P C. 4476
AT THE GOVERNMENT HOUSE AT OTTAWA

PRESENT :

Tuesday, the 13th day of June, 1944.
HIS EXCELLENCY THE GOVERNOR GENERAL IN COUNCIL
His Excellency the Governor General in Council, on the recommendation 

of the Minister of Justice, and under the authority of the War Measures Act, 
Chapter 206 of the Revised Statutes of Canada. 1927, is pleased to amend 
sub-paragraph (a) of paragraph (1) of Regulation 39C of the Defence of Canada 
Regulations (Consolidation) 1942 and it is hereby amended by deleting 
therefrom the name “International Bible Students Association.”

His Excellency the Governor General in Council, on the same 
recommendation and under the authority above cited, is further pleased to order 
and it is hereby ordered that all property, rights and interests in Canada, or the 
proceeds thereof, vested in, and subject to, the control and management of the 
Custodian pursuant to the provisions of paragraph (4) of Regulation 39C of the 
Defence of Canada Regulations (Consolidation) 1942, received from the 
International Bible Students Association be released to that organization.

A. D. P. HEENEY,
Clerk of the Privy Council.

Order in Council vesting in His Majesty title to certain properties in 
Vancouver, Edmonton, Saskatoon, Hamilton and Toronto.

P C. 558
AT THE GOVERNMENT HOUSE AT OTTAWA

Thursday, the 25th day of January, 1945. 
present:

HIS EXCELLENCY THE GOVERNOR GENERAL IN COUNCIL:
Whereas it is deemed advisable, by reason of the state of war now existing, 

for the security, defence, peace, order and welfare of Canada, that the pro­
perties described in Schedule “A” hereto be appropriated by His Majesty;

Therefore, His Excellency the Governor General in Council, on the 
recommendation of the Secretary of State and under the powers conferred by 
the V ar Measures Act, is pleased to order and doth hereby order as follows:—

1. The properties described in Schedule “A” hereto are hereby appropriated 
by His Majesty and all right, title and interest therein is hereby vested in 
His Majesty.

2. Possession of the said properties shall be delivered, not later than 
April 30, 1945, to the Secretarv of State of Canada, who shall administer the 
said properties on behalf of His Majesty.

3. Compensation for the properties so appropriated shall, if no agreement 
is reached in respect thereof, be determined by means of a reference by the 
Minister of Justice to the Exchequer Court or to a superior or county court of 
the province within which the claim arises.

Certified to be a true copy.
A. D. P. HEENEY,

Clerk of the Privy Council.
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P.C. 558 

“Schedule ‘A’ ”
Parcel 1

That parcel or tract of land and premises situate in the City of Vancouver, 
and Province of British Columbia, and more particularly known and described 
as: Lots thirty-eight (38), thirty-nine (39) and forty (40), Block sixty-six (66). 
District Lot one Hundred and eighty-one (181). Group one (1), New West­
minster District, Plan 196, March 15, 1928. Certificate of Title 43663 K.
Parcel 2*

That parcel or tract of land and premises known as Lot seven (7) block 
nineteen 119) ; in River lots twelve (12) and fourteen (14) subdivision of the 
City of Edmonton, in the Province of Alberta, Dominion of Canada, of record 
in the Land Titles Office for this land Registration District as Plan “D”.

Lot eight (8) block nineteen (19); in River lots twelve (12) and fourteen 
(14) subdivision of the City of Edmonton in the Province of Alberta, in the 
Dominion of Canada of record in the Land Titles Office for this land Regis­
tration District as Plan “D”.
Parcel 3

That parcel or tract of land and premises known as lots 35 and 36 in 
Block 22, in the City of Saskatoon, in the Province of Saskatchewan, in the 
Dominion of Canada, according to a Plan of Record in the Land Titles Office 
for the Saskatoon Land Registration District as No. (C.E.) E.5618, Certificate 
Title No. 194 L.85, date 6th May, 1925.
Parcel 4

ALL AND SINGULAR those certain parcels of land and premises situate, 
lying and being in the City of Hamilton, in the County of Wentworth and 
being composed of Lots Numbers Three Hundred and Seventeen and Three 
Hundred and Eighteen, EXCEPTING the rear fifteen feet (15') from each lot 
according to a Plan of a subdivision in the City of Hamilton known as Central 
Survey and duly registered.

And also ALL AND SINGLTLAR that certain parcel or tract of land and 
premises situate, lying and being in the City of Hamilton, County of Went­
worth. Province of Ontario and being composed of the easterly one foot (V)
throughout from front to rear of Lot Number Three Hundred and Sixteen (316)
on the south side of Barton Street, according to the survey known as Central 
Survey registered Plan Number 477, excepting thereout the rear fifteen 
feet (15').

TOGETHER WITH a right of way over the southerly fifteen feet (15') 
of Lots Numbers Three Hundred and Fifteen (315) to Three Hundred and 
Thirty-four (334) inclusive for use as an alleyway.
Parcel 5

That parcel or tract of land and premises known as part Lots Nos. 9 and
10, Plan D-202, as described in registered instrument No. 40199 W.B., in the
Province of Ontario, in the Dominion of Canada, more particularly described 
as follows:—

ALL AND SINGULAR that certain parcel or tract of land and premises 
situate lying and being in the City of Toronto, in the County of York and 
being composed of Lot Number Nine (9) and the Southerly one foot and nine 
inches (1 ft. 9 inches) of Lot Number Ten (10) on the west side of Bathurst 
Street, in the said City of Toronto, according to registered Plan D-202, the 
said parcel having a frontage of twenty-six feet and nine inches (26 ft. 9 in.) 
on Bathurst Street and a depth of One Hundred and Twenty-eight feet (128 ft.) 
more or less to a land.
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Secondly: All and singular that certain parcel or tract of land and premises 
situate lying and being composed of the northerly ' twenty-three feet three 
inches (23 ft. 3 in.) of Lot Number Ten (10) on the west side of Bathurst 
Street according to a Plan registered in the Registry Office of the said City of 
Toronto numbered D-202 by a depth of one hundred and twenty-eight feet 
(128 ft.) more or less to a lane.

Order in Council amending the Defence of Canada Regulations.
(Consolidation) 1942

P.C. 3635
AT THE GOVERNMENT HOUSE AT OTTAWA

Tuesday, the 22nd day of May, 1945. 
present:

HIS EXCELLENCY THE GOVERNOR GENERAL IN COUNCIL

His Excellency the Governor General in Council, on the recommendation 
of the Minister of Justice, and under the authority of the War Measures Act, 
Chapter 206 of the Revised Statutes of Canada 1927, is pleased to amend 
sub-paragraph (a) of paragraph (1) of regulation 39C of the Defence of 
Canada Regulations (Consolidation) 1942, and it is hereby amended by 
deleting therefrom the names of the following organizations,—

Watch Tower Bible and Tract Society,
Watch Tower Bible and Tract Society Incorporated.

Certified to be a true copy.
A. D. P. HEENEY,

Clerk of the Privy Council.

Order in Council revoking certain of the Defence of Canada Regulations.

P.C. 5637

AT THE GOVERNMENT HOUSE AT OTTAWA
Thursday, the 16th day of August, 1945. 

present:

HIS EXCELLENCY THE GOVERNOR GENERAL IN COUNCIL

Whereas the Minister of Justice reports that, with the termination of 
hostilities, it appears to be desirable without delay to revoke certain of the 
Defence of Canada Regulations which impose restrictions on liberties normally 

• enjoyed by individuals in peace time ;
Now, therefore, His Excellency the Governor General in Council, on the 

recommendation of the Minister of Justice and under the authority of the 
V ar Measures Act, is pleased to revoke and doth hereby revoke the following 
Defence of Canada Regulations (Consolidation), 1942, namely :

Regulations thirteen, fourteen, fifteen, sixteen, seventeen, twenty-one, 
twenty-two, thirty-nine, thirty-nine A, thirty-nine B, thirty-nine C, 
sixty-three A.
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His Excellency in Council, on the same recommendation and under the 
authority of the War Measures Act, is further pleased to amend Order in 
Council P.C. 946 of the 5th day of February, 1943, and it is hereby amended 
by adding immediately after Regulation three thereof the following:—

“ 3A. (1) All persons of the Japanese race who were detained 
pursuant to the provisions of Regulation 21 of the Defence of Canada 
Regulations (Consolidation) 1942, prior to the fifteenth day of August, 
nineteen hundred and forty-five, and were so detained on the said 
fifteenth day of August, shall continue to be detained, and such persons 
while so detained shall be deemed to be in legal custody.

(2) The Minister of Justice may by order direct the release of any 
such person upon such conditions, if any, as he may consider advisable 
and necessary:”

A. D. P. HEENEY,
Clerk of the Privy Council.

THE SECRETARY OF STATE OF CANADA

I’nder the authority of Order of the Governor General in Council, approved 
19th October, 1943 (P.C. 81161. a copy of which is attached, I, the Custodian, 
hereby appoint His Honour Judge George W. McPhee, of Moose Jaw, Saskatche­
wan, George A. Campbell, Esq., of Edmonton. Alberta, and W. Gordon Thomson, 
Esq., of Windsor, Ontario, an Advisory Committee, with His Honour Judge 
McPhee as Chairman.

I hereby require the said Advisory Committee :
(1) To consider and make recommendations to the Custodian in 

respect to the manner and means which should be used by the Custodian 
in releasing the properties of the six organizations mentioned in Order 
of His Excellency in Council of the 14th October, 1943 (P.C. 8022), a 
copy of which is attached, or the proceeds thereof, and matters ancillary 
thereto.

In accordance with the terms of the Order of His Excellency in Council, 
approved 19th October, 1943 (P.C. 8116), the Chairman or any member of 
the Advisory Committee may administer oaths aiu{ the Committee may 
receive and accept such evidence and information on oath, affidavit or otherwise 
as in its discretion it may deem fit and proper, and, further, the Committee 
shall have all the powers and authority of a Commissioner appointed under 
Part I of the Inquiries Act, Chapter 99 of the Revised Statutes of Canada, 1927.

Dated this twentieth day of October, 1943.

(Signed) N. A. McLARTY,
Secretary of State and Custodian.
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MINUTES OF PROCEEDINGS
Tuesday, June 24, 1947.

The Standing Committee on Public Accounts met at 11 o’clock a.m., the 
Chairman, Mr. L. P. Picard, presiding.

Members present: Messrs. Boucher, Burton, Cleaver,. Cockeram, Denis, 
Gladstone, Golding, Picard, Probe, Stewart (Winnipeg North), Stuart 
(Charlotte), Thatcher, Warren, Winkler.

In attendance: Dr. E. H. Coleman, C.M.G., K.C., Deputy Custodian of 
Enemy Property, Mr. A. H. Mathieu, Assistant Deputy Custodian, and Mr. K. 
W. Wright, Counsel ; Mr. Gordon Murchison, Director, The Veterans’ Land Act.

The Chairman tabled a report by P. S. Ross and Sons on the Vancouver 
Office of the Custodian, covering the period from the opening of the office to 
December 31, 1946.

Mr. Murchison was recalled.
After discussion, it was agreed that questioning of Mr. Murchison respecting 

the resale to veterans of lands formerly owned by persons of the Japanese race 
be postponed until the next meeting.

Mr. Murchison was retired.
The Committee resumed its investigation into the administration of the 

property of illegal organizations.
Mr. Wright was recalled and questioned.
The Committee proceeded to an investigation of the Ottawa office of the 

Custodian.
Mr. Mathieu was called, heard and questioned.
Dr. Coleman was recalled and questioned.
At 12.45 p.m. the Committee adjourned to meet at the call of the chair.

A. L. BURGESS,
Clerk of the Committee.
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MINUTES OF EVIDENCE
House of Commons,

June 24, 1947.
The Standing Committee on Public Accounts met this day at 11.00 a.m. 

The Chairman, Mr. L. Philippe Picard, presided.
The Chairman: Gentlemen, I have here a copy of a report sent by Mr. 

Coleman. It is sent in answer to a question which was asked on May 13 by 
Mr. Stewart and, I think, by others at various times. It is the audit of the cus­
todian’s office at Vancouver. Dr. Coleman tolti us we would receive it as soon as 
possible and we have received it to-day. Since I assume the members of the 
committee are not ready to discuss it, if they feel so disposed, I will file it.

I should like to mention a discussion I had after the last meeting with 
some members of the press who reproached me for not communicating some of 
the figures which were deposited with the committee at the last minute. These 
figures were contained in Mr. Murchison’s report. Since this report had not 
been discussed by the members of the committee, I took it upon myself to ask 
the secretary not to reveal those figures to the press until the members of the 
committee had an opportunity of discussing them. I intend to do the same 
tiling with this report. I do not know what is in it, but I will file it and it will 
be at the disposal of the members of the committee. When the members of the 
committee have had an opportunity to discuss it at the next meeting, it will then 
be public property.

This morning I received a call from the Hon. Ian Mackenzie, who expressed 
surprise that our report on the first part of this committee’s work had already 
been tabled. He thought the whole of the committee’s work would be the sub­
ject of a report at the end of our deliberations. He said, since the report is in, 
it might be aw'kward for him to ask to appear before the committee, but he 
desired me to tell the committee that if it was the committee’s wish that he 
appear, he is ready to appear. Since he believed the report would be made 
upon the completion of our deliberations he had not, as yet, signified his intention 
of appearing before us. He said, however, I might tell the committee that if 
any of the members think he should appear or could be of any help to the 
committee, he wrould be willing to appear although the Japanese question upon 
which-he would appear has already been the subject of a report. If anyone, at 
any time, wants to call the minister he is at the disposal of the committee.

Towards the end of the last meeting Mr. Fleming expressed a desire that 
we should go as quickly as possible to the consideration of Mr. Murchison’s 
report. We had called a meeting for Friday, but some of the members could not 
attend. I had to go down to Quebec on some important business and some 
other members expressed a desire that the meeting be postponed so it was post­
poned until this morning. I have received a letter from Mr. Fleming stating 
he will not be here this morning. I think, since we have Mr. Murchison here, 
we should proceed with him. If he does not take up all this morning we will 
adjourn his evidence and. at the next meeting, w-hen Mr. Fleming is present, if 
he wants to question Mr. Murchison he will be at the disposal of the committee.

There was also a suggestion towards the end of the last meeting that the 
steering committee would meet to discuss the order of business before the com­
mittee. At the time, I was not aware that the steering committee had already 
drafted an agenda for this committee. At the last meeting the committee was 
adjourned to the call of the chair. I called the committee for Friday because I
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realized that on May 8, the steering committee had drafted the order in which 
the various matters would be taken up in our investigation of the custodian’s 
affairs. \\ e have completed the first two parts of that examination, the examina­
tion of the Vancouver office and a review of the administration of the property 
of illegal organizations. According to the decision of the steering committee 
on May 8, we wore to proceed with an investigation of the Ottawa office and 
then an examination of the custodian’s accounts.

When I learned this, I realized we did not need a meeting of the steering 
committee and I felt we should go ahead with our investigation of the Ottawa 
office of the custodian. This morning, therefore, if we finish with Mr. Murchison 
temporarily, until Mr. Fleming returns, we will carry on with the investigation 
of the Ottawa office.

Mr. Boucher: Would it not, be wise to wait until Mr. Fleming returns 
before taking Mr. Murchison’s evidence and continuing with the Ottawa office 
investigation this morning? Mr. Fleming has been very active in this investiga­
tion. I take it from your statement that the steering committee meeting was 
not called so Mr. Fleming may not have had advance knowledge of Mr. 
Murchison’s appearance this morning.

The Chairman: He knows about it and he told me he could not be here. 
Mr. Fleming asked if we could summon the steering committee in order that 
he may bring some matters to the attention of the committee which he believes 
should be investigated. He asked, if possible, that that meeting take place any 
time after Wednesday. If this meeting were held before then, he thought Mr. 
Smith or someone could attend in his place. I thought it would be courtesy to 
wait until Mr. Fleming returned.

Mr. Burton : When Mr. Fleming requested Wednesday afternoon, that 
would mean to-morrow?

The Chairman : Yes.
Mr. Burton : I suggest we have a steering committee meeting to-morrow 

at your convenience.
The Chairman : Yes, I have already asked the clerk to fix an hour 

to-morrow when we can meet, any hour which would be most convenient to the 
members of the steering committee. We would have that meeting to-morrow 
afternoon at which we could discuss any other matters.

Mr. Boucher: I have not been talking with Mr. Fleming, but it just occur­
red to me the procedure I suggested might be better.

The Chairman : He wrote to me and said he thought there would be a 
steering committee meeting before we had any further meetings, but there was 
no need for that meeting of the steering committee. As I said a moment ago, the 
order of business had already been set out. There is nothing to prevent us from 
going ahead, since we cannot finish any of this business in one day. If we do not 
sit once or twice a week at least, we will never finish. Last week we were unable 
to have our second meeting. With all due deference to Mr. Fleming, there are 
other members of the committee who are here, so we can go ahead this morning. 
At the next meeting Mr. Fleming can carry on with what we have started this 
morning and we can recall Mr. Murchison. I do not imagine the matters which 
Mr. Murchison is bringing to the attention of the committee will stir up any dis­
cussion. We can have Mr. Murchison recalled at any time and go ahead with 
what Mr. Fleming had in mind.

Therefore, if the committee is agreeable we will call Mr. Murchison as our 
next witness. He is ready to answer questions concerning his report.
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Mr. Gordon Murchison, Director, Soldier Settlement Veterans’’ Land 
Act, recalled :

Mr. Burton: Would Mr. Murchison have a statement he would care to 
make?

The Witness : I have no statement to make in addition to the brief note I 
sent over to the chairman accompanied by the details of the disposition we have 
made of the Japanese lands we took over from the custodian. Mr. Fleming 
has that schedule for study and probably that is one reason why it has not been 
incorporated in your printed proceedings. I have brought with me another copy 
of that return. It is very lengthy. It runs to 48 pages of detailed material and 
it follows the order of the return filed by the representative of the custodian as 
to his identification of the various properties. AA’e followed the same sequence 

•and recorded the disposition which had been made of the properties which have 
been sold. AVe found it necessary to attach an appendix to it to explain some 
minor discrepancies which exist. There are about a dozen pieces where there 
are minor differences between the price recorded by the custodian and the sale 
price recorded by ourselves.

An instance of that is something like this: custodian file 123, the custodian 
listed the sale price there as 82,054. Now, this particular transaction involved 
two separate pieces of property. The custodian was able to deliver title to only 
one. Therefore, our purchase price of $1,600 reflects the purchase price of the 
land we got. It does not include the other lot to which he was unable to 
deliver title.

AA’ith those few explanatory notes you will find you can study the schedule 
or factual report as to what happened to the Japanese property when it was 
taken over. I do not think there is anything further I can add to that, Mr. 
Chairman, unless there are some questions which the committee wishes to ask me 
this morning. I will leave this additional copy with the clerk.

By My. Burton:
Q. That is a similar copy to the one you have already filed, it is not sup­

plementary to it?—A. It is a duplicate of it.
The Chairman : Are there any other questions?
Mr. Stewart : I have no questions to ask Mr.. Murchison. I think he has 

told us everything he knows. The fact remains that Mr. Murchison had a duty 
to buy that land at the best possible price for his department and I assume that 
was done. Unfortunately, it was done at the expense of Canadians of Japanese 
descent, but that is not his responsibility. That responsibility belongs to a dif­
ferent department of government altogether. So far as we are concerned, there 
are no more questions to ask of Mr. Murchison.

The Chairman: Since I assume Mr. Fleming desires to ask Mr. Murchison 
some questions, we will excuse him for to-day and ask him to return when Mr. 
Fleming is here.

Mr. Stewart: Mr. Chairman, might I ask what we are proceeding with 
to-day?

The Chairman: Dr. Coleman, Mr. Mathieu and Mr. Wright, the counsel for 
the department, are going to speak on the third item of our agenda as established 
by the steering committee in May: investigation of the Ottawa office of the 
custodian. I understand they have a brief statement ready and then they will 
be at our disposal for questioning.

Mr. Burton : Is Dr. Coleman coming here to-day?
Die Chairman : Yes. AVe did not know how long we would take with Mr. 

Murchison so Dr. Coleman was not called immediately, but he is waiting in the 
minister’s office in this building now and he will be here in a few minutes.
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Mr. Stewart: Did Mr. Wright file a return to a question I asked which had 
to do with a report on the libraries which had been seized?

The Chairman: It was filed at the last meeting. All the statements that 
have been asked for by members of the committee have been produced.

Mr. Stewart : I should like to ask Mr. Wright one or two questions in this 
regard.

The Chairman : I understand that some members would like to ask some 
questions of Mr. Wright concerning the report on the libraries of illegal 
organizations.

Mr. Stewart: Perhaps I can ask some questions of Mr. Wright on this 
matter. I realize that some of these matters are outside his jurisdiction, but I 
would like to get the facts clear. I am rather perturbed about the destruction 
of books. I do not care what sort of books they are. As I said before, the 
burning of books was carried on wholesale in Germany, and I see no reason 
why we should follow such an example. According to the evidence which has 
been given us there was a large volume of books in Winnipeg belonging to one 
John Navis. These books came into the possession of the custodian. There­
after, if my memory serves me well, the Royal Canadian Mounted Police stepped 
into the picture. They took those books ; they examined them; and they con­
sidered them—all of them—at least all that I can find trace of—to be subversive. 
Accordingly, those books were bundled up—they weighed altogether around 
3,000 pounds—and all the books were sent to a paper company to be destroyed. 
The custodian got, I think, $7.08 for these hundreds if not thousands of volumes. 
Afterwards, when the matter was investigated more carefully $1.000 was paid, 
I think, on account of the destruction of those books ; is that right, Mr. Wright ?

Mr. K. W. Wright (Counsel, Department of the Secretary of State) : $1.000 
was the award, yes.

Mr. Stewart: $1,000 was the award. And now, I am going to ask you a 
question. You have given me a return in connection with the books of any 
organization of a Nazi or Fascist nature—it is a full return—and there is only 
one item which I should like to comment upon, and that is the organization which 
is known as the Deutscher Bund for Canada, one of the leading Nazi organiza­
tions in this country. A number of books were in the possession of this organiza­
tion when it was declared illegal, and the remarks in your return are as follows:—

In connection with sixteen of the books seized—see attached letter 
from the R.C.M. Police under date of June 6. 1947, which is self- 
explanatory. The balance of the books are in storage in care of the 
custodian’s agent viz: The Western Trust Company, Winnipeg, Manitoba. 
As soon as the proper officers of this organization can be located the books 
will be handed over to them.

Now, I think it is reasonable to assume in logie that if all the books in the 
possession of the U.L.F.T.A. were subversive, the books in the possession of the 
Nazi organization would be subversive. It is logieal that they are; it is the logic 
of events. I should like to know what books it is the intention of the custodian 
to hand over to those people who were the heads and directors of the Deutscher 
Bund for Canada? Would it be possible to give us a list of the books which you 
are going to return to the Nazi organization?

Mr. Wright: It would not be possible to give you this list this morning.
Mr. Stewart : No, but in the course of time.
Mr. Wright: The Western Trust Company have a number of books in their 

possession, and it will be easy to obtain a list from them and to furnish you 
with that list. •
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Mr. Stewart: I should be very glad if you would furnish me with that list 
because I am anxious to know what the Mounted Police conception of 
“subversive” is.

Mr. Wright: You will recall that there is a letter from the R.C.M.P. under 
date of June 6, 1947, as to the disposition of certain books, and this letter says 
in part:

As such they constitute a valuable record, not only of the N.S.D.A.P. 
activities abroad but also of the organizations which existed in Canada 
and which prior to the outbreak of hostilities were active in furthering 
Nazi ambitions in this hemisphere.

For this reason it is considered desirable that the books remain in 
our custody.

That is as to the disposition of sixteen books, the R.C.M.P. will retain all those. 
They have retained two others that did not come into the hands of the custodian. 
The R.C.M.P. are charged with the selection ; we are only responsible for those 
books which come into our possession ; and our agents, the Western Trust Com­
pany of Winnipeg, have the remainder of the books of the organization which 
you have mentioned, and I shall be glad to furnish you with a list of those.

Mr. Stewart: A list of titles?
Mr. Wright: Yes.
The Chairman: Do you mean to say that the books that were considered 

of a Communist nature have all been destroyed, while the books that were con­
sidered of a. Nazi or Fascist nature were stored?

Mr. Wright: The R.C.M.P. have-taken possession.
The Chairman : And they are the ones who decide on that matter?
Mr. Wright : Yes, they are the ones who decide.
The Chairman: They did the burning or the keeping?
Mr. Wright: Yes.
Mr. Stewart : That is not the responsibility of the custodian at all?
The Chairman : Now, gentlemen, Dr. Coleman is here, and also Mr. Mathieu 

and, of course. Mr. Wright, and we will hear evidence in connection with the 
investigation of the Ottawa office of the custodian. I shall call Dr. Coleman.

Dr. E. H. Coleman (Under Secretary of State) : Mr. Chairman and gentle­
men. at an earlier meeting of this committee on the 29th of April, I gave a rather 
general and perhaps lengthy outline of the general work of the office. At that 
time I spoke—I might venture to say—of the appreciation which we had of the 
work of the staff the active day-to-day operations of the officers in charge, and 
of Mr. Mathieu, the assistant deputy custodian, who is here to-day. We hardlv 
know what type of questions members of the committee would like to put, and it 
may be that some of the questions are matters which come peculiarly within my 
knowledge while others would come peculiarly within the knowledge of Mr. 
Mathieu; therefore, we are both available to answer alternatively to the best 
of our ability.

The Chairman: Would it he in order to have a statement from Mr. 
Mathieu? Have you any brief or any statement to make?

A. H. Mathieu, Assistant Deputy Custodian, Department of Secretary 
of State, cabed:

The Witness: Mr. Chairman, and gentlemen. I presume you have read the 
first part of the report we submitted to the minister which was first tabled in the 
House and then submitted to the committee. We endeavoured to give in that 
particular the outline of the set-up of the office, the work of the office under the 
present regulations, and the method employed in administering the property
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which was placed under our control. The present office is really a continuation 
of the custodian’s office which was set up by order in council in 1920. While 
there was practically a complete demobilization of staff in 1935. I remained in 
the office with counsel and two secretaries, and when this present trouble started 
in 1939 we endeavoured to reorganize the office to take care of the enemy pro­
perty that might come under our control under the regulations. Unfortunately, 
when we started we did not anticipate having to deal with countries like France, 
Belgium and Holland; countries that are really friendly countries but which, 
because of their occupation by the enemy, made it necessary that all property in 
Canada standing in the names of individuals residing in those countries had to 
come under our control forcibly, more as a protective measure. From then on 
we endeavoured to administer such properties in what we call in French “en 
bon pere de famille”—in an orderly manner—and endeavoured to benefit these 
accounts that remained. You will realize, of course, that a large volume of 
property came under the custodian’s control very rapidly; that no sooner was one 
country organized than we had to deal with one or two others which came in in 
vapid succession. We felt it would be advisable in the case of investment 
accounts to leave them in the hands of the banks—the chartered banks and trust 
companies—under our control ; and from then on the accounts were administered 
by these banks under our direct control. No disbursements were made, and no 
changes in the investments were made without the matter being brought to the 
custodian’s attention. We had several cases which created a certain amount of 
doubt. For instance, we had calls from bank managers who had received tele­
gram* from overseas, particularly from neutral countries, asking for transfers or 
remittances of funds. We felt we had to screen these requests very thoroughly in 
case the individual owner had been forced to make the request or had been 
robbed of his documents, and that the request was being made by enemies.

We had one glaring case where a bank manager in Montreal phoned me. 
He said, “I have received a telegram from Portugal signed by a man we know 
and we know the family very well—in fact, I visited him a few years ago, but I 
am a bit doubtful, and I am wondering how this man managed to get out of 
France and reach Portgual.” He did not know what to do. I said. “If you are 
satisfied that you are dealing with the customer the custodian would not object 
to giving him a remittance.” He claimed he wanted money to come to Canada. 
We had to take all the precautions necessary. In sending his replv the bank 
manager added one sentence to his telegram ; he merely asked, “How is your 
mother?” The reply came back that he was complying with the instructions 
received and he said that hi- mother was very well indeed. Now, the bank 
manager knew that his mother had died ten years ago. As a result of that that 
man did not get any money and the account remained under our control. We 
had many instances of that kind. Then, in the countries that were liberated, 
as they were liberated, we had to go into the matter of releasing the particular 
property and from that time on we started our releasing operations. There had 
to be special agreements with the governments concerned because of the restric­
tions imposed by those governments and also due to the foreign exchange require­
ments. Up to date we only have one of those agreements in force, that i* the one 
with France. It has been in force since March 22. 1946. and after a year and a 
half of application apparently we find it is not working to the satisfaction of 
both sides. We are now endeavouring to amend certain clauses in order to 
facilitate rapid releases so that the governments concerned may, in their ordin­
ary course of transactions, receive the benefits of the dollars concerned. Agree­
ments with other countries are still pending. They have not been fullv approved 
and we are waiting until all the discussions have taken place and approvals are 
given before we start releasing property. However, we are considering the 
individual releases in necessitous circumstances and in urgent cases, providing 
they supply us with the necessary information, statutory declarations and certi-
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fieates of the government of their country establishing proof, beyond any doubt, 
that there is no enemy interest involved. If that is satisfactory we then proceed 
to release the individual cases even though the agreements with that country 
have not been completed. We have a duty of course to return this property to 
the original owner and to him only, and that is what we are endeavouring to do. 
The figures given are of the date when this report was made at the end of 1946.
I think you also know in that report there are audited statements during the 
operation of our office. Of course we not only had the administration and con­
trol of property, but we also had certain factors for which we were responsible 
under the regulations such as commercial censorship, prohibited mailing lists, 
Canadian lists of specified persons, of black and suspect lists, and we had a 
special section dealing with that matter. There was a special committee called 
the black-list committee, on which I assisted, that governed the operation of 
that section of our work. There are several other factors that do not come to 
my mind at the moment.

By Mr. Stewart:
Q. May I ask a question here?—A. Yes.
Q. What happens in a case such as this. You have taken over funds in this 

country of a person who is friendly to our cause but who resides in a country 
that has been overrun by the enemy. That property remains intact but what do 
you do with the interest on that?—A. It depends on the nature of the property.

Q. Take for instance the case of bonds?—A. The interest would be credited 
to the account.

Q. How were the expenses of the custodian’s office paid out of the moneys?— 
A. The expenses were paid out of the investments made by the custodian of 
amounts representing non-interest bearing funds such as commercial debts 
which are not strictly interest bearing items.

Q What was the authority for such expenditures? As I see it the custodian 
is holding these properties in trust. Now what authority would there be to 
disburse such moneys?—A. Property vested in the custodian was owned by the 
Crown through the custodian so that the money paid into the custodian’s office 
was not then the property of the original owner.

Q. So there had to be no application to parliament for disbursements to pay 
for salaries, wages, or anything else?—A. That was all taken care of. It was 
decided in 1920, and we continued the practice that all such funds were to be 
held separate from public funds.

Q. In my original hypothesis what would happen if it was cash instead of 
bonds?—A. It would depend upon the nature of the cash.

Q. Bank deposits.—A. A current bank deposit is non-interest bearing. 
Under the regulations all moneys that were not strictly investment funds were 
returnable to the custodian. As a matter of fact had we taken over all invest­
ment funds, that would have required a tremendous organization in Ottawa and 
it was decided to operate them through banks where they were found who were 
responsible to the government. All bank balances or those amounts which were 
paid into the custodian as non-interest bearing items were invested. The funds 
collected through that source were dealt with in that way because the custodian 
had authority to invest them subject to the approval of the treasury board. 
Ye obtained a general order from that board to invest in government bonds 
as the Victory loans were issued. The interest on those investments was credited 
to administration account in order to provide funds, not only for the cost of the 
office and salaries and those things, but also to provide for any eventualities that 
we might be faced with under treaty conditions. For instance, the treaties 
might provide interest on debts and until that is decided by the treaties, and 
ratified by parliament, we merely credit interest earned to administration 
account. So that if, eventually, under the treaties, or other reasons, we have
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to allow certain rates of interest on these non-interest bearing amounts, we will 
have sufficient funds without having to go to parliament for a vote. That is 
the principle we have worked on since the very beginning with respect to the 
administration of foreign property which we feel, should not be a charge on 
the ( anadian taxpayer, as those funds should bear their own portion of the admin­
istration and cost. After the first war, we were able, through investments, after 
completing all conditions of the treaties, to return a surplus to the treasury to 
apply on the war account of over $13,000,000. That surplus was turned over to 
the treasury. The intention this time is practically the same, so that any 
surplus earnings or any surplus funds after paying all obligations and expenses 
may be returned to the treasury to apply on the war account.

By Mr. Boucher:
Q. I take it if they had any interest bearing investment left in the account 

of a resident of an occupied country it would not be charged anything for 
administration at all?—A. Yes, when the release is completed we have authority 
under section 44 of the regulations to make a charge of up to 2 per cent.

Q. If it was in a bank account the custodian could have it as invested 
capital but the owner gets no return on that at all?—A. That may be provided 
for later on by agreement or treaty.

Q. Then one other question. You gave us an illustration where an applica­
tion was made by telegram to a bank for money belonging to a resident of an 
occupied country who escaped to a neutral country. Have you had any 
difficulties of ever having paid anything to a person in the mistaken belief 
that it was the owner?—A. We have not met that situation. We have 
endeavoured to guard against that.

Q. You have not had any difficulty in that regard at all?—A. No.
Mr. Burton : Just before the witness leaves that, I can appreciate the 

statement that the witness made. It was the intention of the custodian’s office 
that, as far as possible, the administration of that department and those proper­
ties would not be a burden on the Canadian taxpayer, and I might say I appre­
ciate that fact and I believe it is good business on their part, but what I was 
wondering was on what basis did you see that the various forms of property 
carried their fair share of the expenses of administration? It strikes me rather 
peculiar that the person who happened to have his money invested in bonds 
gets his interest through the regulations, whereas the person not having his 
money invested in that form will have the money used, but the returns from the 
money used, the earning power of that money used, helps pay for the adminis­
tration. I was just wondering if you could enlighten us a little further?— 
A. Yes. We carry individual accounts in every case no matter what type of 
property or what country we are dealing with. We have an individual account 
for each case and in them we credit revenues and we make disbursements so 
that the cost of operating that account or any disbursements is reflected and is 
always set up in the individual account.

Q. That is in so far as the actual operating of that account is concerned?— 
A. Yes.

Q. But in the over-all picture how did you endeavour to have a certain 
amount of equity between the bearing of the overhead ? A. You have to take 
note of the two types of property, what we call belligerent enemy property and 
non-belligerent property. A non-belligerent property is the property of a person 
living in a liberated country. Up to the point of application for release we have 
charged the account with all disbursements and normal expenses and we have 
also credited to that account all ordinary revenues if there are any. When wc 
release the account, provided the information has been found satisfactory, 
we then charge an over-all administration fee of 2 per cent of the total value 
on the date of release.
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Dr. Coleman : Not exceeding 2 per cent?
The Witness: Not exceeding 2 per cent.
Mr. Boucher: 2 per cent per annum?
The Witness: No, 2 per cent of the total value on the date of release. In 

so far as belligerent enemy property is concerned the treaties will provide for 
the charges to be made. There is not very much I can add by way of a summary,
I have covered pretty well, I think, the operation of the office, except down to 
the point where you have seen statements of the total value of the assets. There 
are certain types of assets taken under our control such as the gold of govern­
ments of liberated countries. That was not actually taken in by us, but remained 
with the Bank of Canada under our control. When the governments were 
reinstated that gold was returned to them in all cases, but we retained the 
individual property.

Then we come to the method of audits.
Mr. Warren : Mr. Chairman, the witness named a sum that was returned 

to the treasury board, was it $13,000,000 or $30.000.000?
The Witness: $13,500.000 that was the result of the first war’s operations.

By Mr. Stewart:
Q. That was clear of any potential liability?—A. Yes. Now the method 

of the audit for the custodian’s office requires that I recite the procedure when 
the office first started. When we opened up in 1920, the first part of 1920, there 
were no funds available. The consolidated regulations of the 1914-18 period did 
not obligate the custodian to collect moneys, they were merely reported to the 
then custodian but not collected. The authority given to the custodian was in 
the Treaty of Peace orders of 1920. Those orders were ratified, I believe, in 
January of 1920, setting up the office as of April 1 and giving a period of three 
months, if my memory serves me right, in which to call in all funds due, such 
as enemy owned commercial debts, bank balances, securities and others. Until 
that we had no funds available to pay expenses of the office. The expenses 
were carried in the war appropriation’s account under the department of the 
Secretary of State. During the latter part of 1920-21 we had succeeded in 
collecting sufficient money. After a meeting with the under-secretary of state 
and the deputy custodian, the deputy minister of justice, the deputy minister 
of finance and the Auditor General, it was decided and concurred in by all 
that the funds being received and held by the custodian under Treaty of Peace 
orders were not to go into consolidated funds but were to be held by him as 
trust funds. The surplus after carrying out the obligations of the treaties was 
turned over to the treasury. During that period an audit of the funds in our 
office was carried on through the usual method and audit expenses were paid out 
of the \var appropriation account. After we had succeeded in getting sufficient 
funds it was decided that the war departmental war appropriation account would 
he reimbursed for all expenses up to that date. We did that and from then on the 
Auditor General had nothing further to audit because the funds we had were not 
considered public funds. It was then decided to appoint a firm of outside 
auditors, independent auditors, and the first auditors were Messrs. Edwards, 
Morgan and Go., of Toronto, who audited the accounts for the period from April 
1, 1920 to I ebruary 29. 1924. They rendered their audit statements and reports 
to the then secretary of state who was the official custodian. This method con­
tinued until December 31, 1926. when they were superseded by the audit board 
on the authority of a recommendation approved bv the treasury board.

Q w_hy did that happen?—A. In 1926, the latter part of 1926.
Q. Why?—A. Oh, why? It was decided because the audit board had the 

necessary machinery to carry on independent audits such as the Auditor General 
is now doing for the special corporations. It was so decided rather than to pay
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or engage outside firms because they had sufficient materials to carry on an 
audit, and the audit was so carried on from that time.

Q. Can you tell us why the audit board was instructed to make a complete 
audit from the 1st of April, 1920 onwards in view of the fact another auditor 
had already done the work.—A. Well it is usual, when a new auditor starts in, 
for him to go over the work and establish the figures he is taking over.

Q. I think I might take issue with you on that. It is not usual to do a 
complete audit. All the work has been done and the new auditor would just get 
the previous working papers and examine them.—A. Perhaps it was because of 
the very complicated nature of the work, and, in order to properly set up their 
accounts, they had to make a review of all the previous work. They could not 
very well take the last statement from the previous auditors and earn,’ on 
from there.

Q. I asked that question because it says here ‘‘The audit board were 
instructed to make a complete audit of all transactions” and I would assume 
that as Edwards and Morgan would have done the same it would be scarcely 
necessary to go over the same ground. It is water under the bridge really but 
I wondered if there was any special reason?—A. I do not think there was any 
special reason but I would have to go through the old records. I do not recall 
anything. Do you recall anything Dr. Coleman?

Dr. Coleman : I was not in the public service at that time.
The Witness: I do not think there was anything special.
Dr. Coleman: May I intervene to help clean up the point ? I think the 

audit board employed some outside auditors did they not?
The Witness : Yes, the audit board was composed of outside auditors. 

Men were picked from each of these firms to carry on the work of the custodian. 
The same thing was done when the audit board completed its work. When it 
was decided then to go back to the practice of engaging outside firms. The 
firm of Price Waterhouse, made a review of the past audits from the very 
beginning in order to set up their method.

I might say here there was no precedent established for this kind of work. 
It is rather unusual. It would not be fair to an audit firm to expect them to 
just accept the previous statements without any background. In order to make 
an intelligent audit it was necessary for them to go over the previous work to 
get all the details fully in their own mind in order to establish their system 
because it is a very unusual type of work.

Arc you satisfied on that question ?

By Mr. Stewart:
Q. Yes, but once you get on a little further you will find that Price Water- 

house took over the assets on the 31st of March, 1928. According to your 
statements they had to go back some years, too, and double up on the audit?— 
A. Yes, they actually spent three months in reviewing past audits in order to 
acquaint themselves with the material.

By Mr. Probe:
Q. Had not that a tendency to juggle the audit?—A. No, it was really 

necessary because of the complicated nature of the work.

By Mr. Gladstone:
Q. That would not be a review of the figures so much as a review of the 

other factors?—A. More in the nature of a review of the nature of the work 
because the accounts had been balanced at every audit year.

The audit board was abolished in 1930 and we then had to go back to the 
system of appointing an outside firm. Due to the international nature of the
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accounts, it was decided to appoint a firm which had branch connections through­
out the world. It was decided that Price Waterhouse, at that period, was the 
most likely firm to have those connections to carry on this work. They were 
appointed by order in council P.C. 1951, dated August 13. 1930. I hey began 
their audit work immediately. Their statement carries details from the 31st of 
March, 1928, that is the period I think of the last report of the audit board, 
and from then on they have carried on the work up until the present time. They 
are now completing the work for 1946 and we expect to have their report before 
the end of July.

By Mr. Stewart:
Q. They are still the auditors?—A. They are still the auditors under that 

order in council because that order in council has never been rescinded. They 
are still carrying on.

Q. Do you see any reason why the Auditor General could not take over 
that work?

Dr. Coleman : May I answer that question? It has been decided that, 
beginning with the 1st of January, 1947, the accounts will be audited by the 
Auditor General. Price Waterhouse are completing 1946. The Auditor General 
has now, as a result of the war, a much more comprehensive organization than 
he had prior to the war. He has been taking over the work of auditing the 
accounts of other departments, às the members of the committee know.

Mr. Burton : Will this mean that the Auditor-General will have to go back 
over these accounts again?

Dr. Coleman : I would not think so, but that will depend upon the view 
taken by the Auditor General when he comes in.

Mr. Boucher: It is a fact that when an auditor takes over, he goes back 
over the accounts to satisfy himself as to their condition prior to his taking over?

Dr. Coleman : Yes, but the Auditor General will not be responsible for 
anything happening before January 1, 1947.

The Witness: This is not the same type of auditing as an audit firm will 
meet in ordinary business. This is altogether new and it is most necessary to go 
over the previous ground to fully grasp the background of the whole thing.

Besides the usual audit by an outside firm, I explained in my report the set­
up of the office and, particularly, the system we have adopted in order to carry 
on an internal check and audit. No disbursements are made that have not been 
pre-audited. If I may read some of my report I think it will fully explain the 
procedure.

Due to the diversified nature of the assets under control, which may be 
compared with one of the larger trust companies in Canada, we had to adopt a 
more or less flexible system to take care of all the different types of accounts. 
This is covered by a running internal audit and checking system and backed 
by a yearly audit by an outside firm of chartered accountants. Of course, they 
go over the ground yearly as an outside firm.

By Mr. Stewart:
Q. Could you suggest what fee was paid to these auditing companies for the 

work they did?—A. I have not got the figures with me.
Q. Perhaps you could tell us later?—A. The accounting division is composed 

of eleven sections, each with its component part and the whole converges into a 
general control system of internal audit and checking. The general controls 
arc then merged into the master control division which is the ultimate internal 
audit of balances in all sections of the accounting division.

I or instance, a man may have real estate; he may have securities ; he may 
have bank balances or other interests, a diversified list of investments. This
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would go through the various sections of the accounting division and, in order to 
get that man's account established and to cover all the assets he may own in 
C anada, we have installed the master control division. Everything converges into 
that section. We can always tell the total amount up to date which a man owns 
in Canada and to which he is entitled.

Shortly after the set-up of the system it was realized it would be next to 
impossible to transfer to Ottawa all the investment portfolios, estate and real 
estate accounts. It was decided to leave those where they were found in banks, 
financial institutions, trust companies and responsible real estate agencies, etc., 
who continued the administration of such accounts under the control and direc­
tion of the custodian’s office. We have complete control of the transactions 
which may be required.

The banks and financial institutions report once a month to the custodian 
and those reports reflect the receipts, disbursements and other changes effected 
during the preceding months. Those changes are, in turn, incorporated in the 
individual accounts in the accounting division here.

In the case of trust companies and other agencies it was found advisable 
to accept the reporting system in force in such agencies and, in those cases, 
statements are rendered every six months in the case of trust companies and 
periodically for others, as the case may be.

By Mr. Stewart: •

Q. I wonder if you would care to explain that statement, please? “It was 
found advisable to accept the reporting system in force”?—A. Banks are 
equipped, of course, to render monthly statements to their customers. They 
carried on the same system with us. It did not mean a change-over in their 
system which might have been very cumbersome and embarrassing. The trust 
companies, as you know, do not report every month. Some of them report 
every three months; some report every six months and others, as the case may be.

In ordçr to establish a definite method which would permit us to keep good 
control over the transactions that might occur we decided, in all cases, that they 
should report every six months. This would permit us at least six months to 
record all the items and balance up the work for the year.

In the case of real estate operators and agencies, we had to employ those 
agencies because they had full knowledge of the property they were administer­
ing, we made them carry on under our control. They usually report every 
month or for any transaction in between, because they have to submit it to us 
before they take any steps.

By Mr. Denis:
Q. Do they segregate those funds into any special accounts?—A. They are 

all credited to the individual owner’s account. An accurate balancing of the 
accounts can be made only every six months because we have to wait until the 
reports come in and are recorded in the individual accounts. All disbursements 
are carefully checked, certified and pre-audited and approved by either the 
deputy custodian or myself. In most cases of released property the deputy 
custodian and myself both sign after the item has been certified and passed by 
the legal section who have examined the declaration and evidence produced to 
prove the applicant’s ownership.

By Mr. Stewart:
Q. In the case of cash disbursements, do you authorize them before the 

disbursements are made?—A. It is all checked and certified before the cheque is 
actually issued.

Q. From where are the cheques issued? Are they issued from a central 
point?—A. All from this office, the custodian’s office. There are two signing
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officers with substitutes in case of necessity. All cheques bear two signatures 
and they are covered by a requisition which has been signed by three officers. 
One is the officer requisitioning the cheque ; the other is a certification by the 
internal auditor and then, myself, usually or my substitute when I am not in the 
office, approving the issuing of the cheque.

Owing, to the very large volume of work involved it takes almost four 
months after the close of the year to receive all statements from depositaries 
and agencies and then to record, check and balance the accounts. When these 
are ready the auditors are notified and usually they send qualified men with a 
supervisor.

Q. May I ask a question at this point? You use the word, “usually” which 
would suggest they do not always send qualified men?—A. They do.

Q. The word, “usually”, is not necessary in that case?—A. Of course, this 
report was not intended as a report to be submitted to a parliamentary com­
mittee. This was a report to the incoming minister to give him an idea of the 
work of the office.

I might interject a remark here to illustrate the volume of the work. ' I 
think it would be a safe statement to make to say that due to the total assets 
and the diversification of the work, it would take at least three of our largest 
trust companies to cover the figure we have administered since the beginning.

When these are ready the auditors are notified and usually they send quali­
fied men with a supervisor. They carry on the general work of auditing for the 
previous year. They use the calendar year.

*The auditing usually lasts from two to three months, depending on the 
number of items to check and the receipt by the auditors of the verification 
certificates requested from the various depositaries. The auditors send out a 
form letter of request and receive the certifications from the various depositaries 
in due course. Some are slow and some come in very rapidly. The auditors 
cannot complete their report until all have been received by them.

I think that covers the whole of the system employed in the office covering 
the audit as well as the operation of the office.

Q. You seem to have a very good system?—A. The system has been, of 
course, set up with the help of public accountants. We have a chartered 
accountant, he is not a C.A., but he is a qualified accountant in charge as con­
troller of the accounting division. Then, we have technical men as heads of each 
division. We had to have specialists in banking matters, in security matters, in 
brokerage transactions and so on. We have, I believe, a very good staff of 
qualified technical men in each of our branches.

I do not think there is very much more I can add. If there are any ques­
tions the committee desires to ask, I will try to answer them if I can. If I 
cannot, we will have to go back and get specific information on any specific cases 
which may be brought up.

The Chairman: Are there any questions, gentlemen?

By Mr. Stewart:
Q Would the witness look at page 23, the bottom of that page. The head­

ing is “Restitution”:
Steps are now being taken to segregate claims for restitution of 

identifiable property from claims which are in the nature of reparation 
claims for damage or loss suffered. It is felt that claims for restitution, 
by their very nature, should rçceive immediate attention. Such claims will 
be pursued by the Department of External Affairs through regular diplo­
matic channels.

Will the witness please enlarge a little on that statement?—A. The claims sec­
tion of our work is another branch of the work which the custodian handles. 

91685—2
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\\ e have a register in which all possible claims against enemies are registered. 
There are various types of claims. There is no definite policy yet established 
and no policy is possible until the ratification of the treaties. Therefore, the 
custodian is charged with the duty of recording whatever claims are submitted 
voluntarily.

Q. May I interrupt here? Let us take another case of a Canadian who is 
working for a British company in Shanghai. He has his home, chattels and 
everything else there. The Japanese occupy his house and take over everything. 
He has come back to Canada after being released from a concentration camp. 
He has a claim to make against the Japanese. Would his claim be made 
through your department?—A. He would file his claim with us. We would place 
it on record until such time as a definite policy is established dealing with that. 
We may not be able to deal with it ourselves. It may be dealt with through 
some other method, depending upon whatever policy is established. Meanwhile, 
if he had properties that could be restituted, of course, that would be handled 
by the Department of External Affairs who are directly responsible for the 
foreign missions we have sent to those countries. Any person having such a 
claim would file his claim. It would be recorded on our register and also sub­
mitted to the External Affairs Department who would send the information to 
the mission who would investigate it and, in due course, report.

Q. How do individuals know to lodge claims with you? Did you advertise 
or do anything of that nature?—A. We have not advertised as yet for domestic 
claims for loss or damage. The Department of External Affairs has advertised 
for restitution claims and they are being recorded both in the External Affairs 
Department and in our department.

Dr. Coleman: If the chairman will permit me, may I say that this very 
morning I received a letter containing a claim from a citizen of Canada. He 
claimed he had inherited some property in Germany and that this property con­
sisted, I think, of an apartment house which he alleged had been destroyed. He 
has not been there, so he does not know. When that claim came in, we referred 
it to the Department of External Affairs. In due course, this department will 
send it to the Canadian mission in Germany headed by General Pope.

The first step which will be taken will be to have one of the officers of 
that commission go to see if the property is there; if it is damaged and if so 
to what extent. If it is standing there untouched, such measures will be taken 
as are practical to put the Canadian in possession of this property. If, on 
the other hand, it has been destroyed it may be a question for reparations 
which is still very largely in the air. As we all know, there, has been no treaty 
with Germany ; there has been no government in Germany. Whether the 
German government, if as and when it is set up will become responsible is a 
question which will have to await the termination of the very cloudy situation 
presently existing.

There is an inter-departmental committee on reparations on which the 
custodian is represented together with a large - number of other departmental 
officers from the Department of External Affairs, Trade and Commerce, 
Justice, Reconstruction and Finance. They are making reports to the 
government in relation to a policy, either of advertising and then setting up 
some agency or tribunal to sift claims or by some other method.

I need hardly suggest that it is doubtful whether many of these claims 
which have been presented can be regarded as proper claims to be submitted 
by the Canadian authorities. There are claims by unfortunate people classified 
as refugees who came to Canada after the war. It is a question how far the 
Canadian government, in due course, may feel disposed to go. Under the 
present regulations for the custodian, regulation 45, the custodian has the duty 
on him of recording the claim but the recording in no way commits the 
government to doing anything. It will require a great deal of sifting. Speaking 
quite frankly, and in the presence of Mr. Mathieu, I know he and I hope that
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the established agency which may be set up will not be connected with us. I 
assume there will have to be some sort of agency employed first, in accumulating 
the claims and then in sifting out and recommending what can be done.

By Mr. Probe:
Q. Does the Canadian government accept the onus for restoring the 

property which is in existence to a Canadian citizen who can prove his claim 
to that property?—A. I do not quite follow that question.

Q. Let us put it this way. Mr. Stewart mentioned a farm or apartment 
house, but assume it was a farm which would not be destroyed. This was 
expropriated by a foreign government which was at war and this farm 
belonged to a Canadian national. Does the Canadian national automatically 
receive the protection of this government to re-establish his ownership to a 
farm expropriated? I am using the illustration of a farm because it would 
not likely be destroyed, but it would apply to any property that is not destroyed 
and is still in existence?—A. I would say the government would be responsible 
to give him all the help necessary to repossess his property. If it cannot be 
done, of course, he would be entitled to file a claim for compensation for any 
loss he suffered. This would go through the usual method to be employed. 
Probably he would have a basis for a reparation claim.

Q. But the reparations claims, in my view, are not going to be very—A. I 
do not think it wrould be the responsibility of the government to refund him 
any loss he has incurred.

Q. I am not thinking of that, I am thinking of property that is still in 
existence?

Dr. Coleman: That, as I have tried to explain, is a matter which, at the 
moment is being handled by the Department of External Affairs. If there 
is property, say in Germany, which is there and which can be identified as the 
property of a Canadian, our mission headed by General Pope in Berlin will 
naturally take every step possble to see that the man is restored to the owner­
ship of his property. Until there is something in the nature of a definite peace 
treaty with Germany, there is no German government to whom one can go. 
The country is under military occupation and is divided into three or four 
zones. There are certan areas in which there is difficulty in securing definite 
information.

Mr. Boucher: Would it not be fair to say that the government does not 
act as a guarantor, but only lends its assistance?

Dr. Coleman: I would think so.
The Witness: That is all we can do at the present time.
Mr. Stewart : There is one specific item of information with which, perhaps, 

we can be furnished at a later date. I do not suppose you have it now. Could 
the witness tell us if the custodian received any royalties payable on the 
manufacture of the Bren gun after the outbreak of the war?

Dr.. Coleman: I can answer that definitely, Mr. Stewart, because we 
have not received any. I took the matter up with the Department of 
Munitions and Supplies and I was assured no royalties whatever were paid. 
I have a letter on that from the deputy minister of Reconstruction and Supply 
and you can look over the records. The question was asked in the House of 
Commons. I knew we had not received any, but I thought it wise to ascertain 
from the munitions people if anything had been paid. I also looked up the 
report of the royal commission in 1938, presided over by the late Mr. Justice 
Davis, which dealt with the original contract.

I think you will find a paragraph there to the effect that any royalty agree- 
ments^ which were made were made by the war office of the government of 
the United Kingdom with whoever may have owned the patents relating
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to that. I have a letter from the deputy minister of Reconstruction and Supply 
that no royalties whatever were paid by anyone in Canada who manufactured 
the Bren gun during the recent war.

Mr. Stewart: Either to Skoda or the British war office?
Dr. Coleman: If there is anything it is simply in the war office.
Mr. Stewart : If there were any to the war office, could they be ascertained 

by this committee or is it outside your jurisdiction?
Dr. Coleman: We could ask the Department of External Affairs to have 

the High Commissioner make enquiries. I will be very glad to submit the 
request.

Q. You will file that letter will you, please?
Dr. Coleman : I will get the letter.

By Mr. Stewart:
Q. On page 5 of the report it states,

The German assets under control in Canada at the present time 
amount to approximately $11,000,000.

What shape would these assets take? Are they property or are they moneys?— 
A. A variety, a very diversified list of assets. There would be very little securi­
ties taken over in this war. Of course a change took place in Germany from 
1933 on because the export of capital from Germany was prohibited, and we 
have found very little of actual securities in Canada, or other assets of that 
nature belonging to Germans, probably because of that factor. We may dis­
cover during the course of investigations that are still being carried on that 
property is held here with German interests, but so far we have only a report of 
approximately $11,000,000. That would cover real estate in some cases, com­
mercial accounts, bank balances, and securities. We have one operating com­
pany at present. We have also liquidated certain agencies, such as the shipping 
agencies and so on. There is a very diversified list.

Mr. Stewart : Have you any idea how much was paid the custodian as 
royalities for patents which were held by enemy nationals?

The Witness: We have a statement here but we have not got the break­
down of the assets under countries. We have listed the assets under countries 
but just in the total form.

Dr. Coleman : We could get that.
Mr. Stewart: The answer may be given later.
Dr. Coleman : I had it out two years ago for one of the members of the 

House of Commons, not a member of this committee, but the member for North 
Centre Winnipeg, and I think it could be easily brought up to date.

Mr. Stewart: I should be glad to see that.
Dr. Coleman : Oh, I have it here. There was one payment in respect of 

an Austrian patent of $1,931.02. Italy, two payments amounting to $55,000; 
and Germany, $71,000.

Mr. Stewart : That money is being held by you?
Dr. Coleman : Subject to the Treaty of Peace.
I realize that you are interested in I. G. Farbcn. There is one royalty of 

$473.62; another of $2,628.33 ; another of $761.44; another $2.320.27 ; and 
another $1,912.93. The largest item is not I. G. Farben but another company 
and it represents $31,000.

Mr. Stewart: A German company?
Dr. Coleman : A German company.
Mr. Stewart: Have you the name of that company?
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Dr. Coleman : Halle and company.
Mr. Stewabt: Can you tell us what the total amount lying at the credit 

of I. G. Farben in your account is?
Dr. Coleman: Well I would think it would be this total but we would have 

to check that. It would be about $8,000 roughly but we will get it definitely.
Mr. Stewart: Can you give us any indication of what the $55,000 of Italy 

was, and who it was paid to, or who it was credited to?
Dr. Coleman: Montecantini Company, Soc. Gen. per l’lndustria, Mineraria 

and Chemica.
That is very poor reading in Italian.
Mr. Stewart: It is Italian which I understand.
Dr. Coleman :/That amounts to $33,753.10 and the other one of the Soc. 

Gen. per l’lndustria amounts to $21.881.66.
Mr. Burton: Mr. Chairman, is this a royalty that the custodian’s office 

has collected and which he is holding in trust?
Dr. Coleman: Yes.
Mr. Burton: And what becomes of the patent if the patent has not expired 

at the time the Treaty of Peace takes place? Is that something that has to be 
dealt with?

Dr. Coleman: There was a special patent treaty agreement which was 
entered into in London last July, whereby all enemy patents which were not 
licensed at the 31st of July, in effect, fell into the public domain.

Mr. Burton: They all go to the public.
Dr. Coleman: They fall into the public domain, in essence. That was an 

agreement which was signed by me on behalf of Canada in so far as the Final 
Act is concerned, subject to ratification, by the government, which ratification 
was given before the stipulated time, in December 1946. I may state that the 
countries which were parties to it are Great Britain, the United States, France, 
Belgium, Germany, Holland, Luxembourg, Denmark, South Africa, Australia and 
Czechoslovakia.

Mr. Boucher: Norway, Sweden and Denmark?
Dr. Coleman: Not Sweden.
Mr. Burton: In the meantime you have been collecting and holding the 

money in trust?
Dr. Coleman: Yes, royalties received under existing contracts or contracts 

which existed before the war.
Mr. Burton: I was just wondering, Mr. Chairman, if Dr. Coleman could 

give us the comparison about the taking care of that property as compared to 
the case of some poor homesteader out in the bush who foolishly joined an 
organization that later on was declared illegal. The man may then have been 
put in a concentration camp and his stock and property confiscated or disposed of, 
and later on he was turned out of the concentration camp and was not in a 
position to go on as he otherwise would have been. I wonder if Dr. Coleman 
could give us the comparison of the handling of these patents on the one hand and 
the homesteader on the other hand.

Dr. Coleman: In 1939 when the regulations were made every Canadian who 
owed a debt to an enemy was required to report it and to pay it into the custodian. 
That is how we collected these amounts. In relation to the other matter I may 
state to the committee that on the outbreak of the war, the government, on the 
advice of the minister who had charge of security, interned certain individuals. 
No provision was made for looking after their property and at a subsequent 
date we were charged with that responsibility and did the best we could. I may
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further state also for this committee, at the outbreak of war, among other respon­
sibilities, I had the heavy one of dealing with internment operations from a 
civilian aspect. I had nothing to do with putting people in or letting them out, 
but only with the set-up of the camps. Early in September 1939, after a 
considerable number of persons had been interned, the then director of intern­
ment operations, General Panet, came to me and I pointed out that men, wage 
earners and the like, had been interned and their families in some cases were left 
without adequate means of support. On that occasion I went first to the Minister 
of Justice of the day, who also happened to be at that period my minister, the 
acting Secretary of State. I put the problem before him and pointed out that, 
with the war hysteria, there was a danger that these women and children and 
dependents would be going without nourishment and food. Under his instructions 
I went to the Minister of Labour of the day, Mr. McLarty, who notified all the 
provincial relief authorities. At that time the unemployment relief organization 
was still going and was administered by provincial authorities. In my presence, 
Mr. McLarty telegraphed every one of the provincial authorities supplying 
relief, directing that the same appropriations, the same amounts as received by 
families of unemployed persons, should be made available to these dependents 
at the expense of the Dominion of Canada. During the entire period of the war, 
while this condition lasted, there was an annual appropriation of parliament in 
the estimates of the Department of Labour for that purpose. Now, as you say, 
there were other cases where men were taken off remote farms. In some cass 
the neighbours purported to look after the stock, but it was obviously impossible 
for any agency of government to prevent casual pilfering and mismanagement 
although every effort was made to do so.

Mr. Stewart : Mr. Chairman, our quorum seems to have suddenly dwindled 
but I would like to say now that Dr. Coleman, Mr. Mathieu and Mr. Wright in 
giving us their answers, have been very frank. I would like to say thanks to 
them. These thanks must not be considered as approval of the policy they carried 
out however.

The Chairman: Thank you Mr. Stewart, and now we will adjourn at the 
call of the chair. There will be a steering committee meeting tomorrow at an 
hour to be arranged.

The meeting adjourned at 12.45 p.m. to meet again at t'he call of the chair.
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MINUTES OF PROCEEDINGS AND EVIDENCE

Thursday,. June 26, 1947.
The Standing Committee on Public Accounts met at 11 o’clock a.m., the 

Chairman, Mr. L. P. Picard, presiding.
Members present: Messrs. Burton, Coté (Verdun), Fleming, Fraser, 

Gladstone, Golding, Hamel, Homuth, Isnor, Jackman, Jaenicke, Kirk, 
Macdonnell, Picard, Probe, Warren, Winkler..

In attendance: Mr. Gordon Murchison, Director, Soldier Settlement and 
Veterans’ Land Act; Mr. K. W. Wright, Counsel to the Custodian of Enemy 
Property.

The Chairman presented the Fourth Report of the Steering Committee,
viz.:

Your Steering Committee met to-day and recommends :
1. That to-day’s meeting be devoted to (a) questioning of Mr. Murchison 

respecting the resale of lands formerly owned by persons of the Japanese race, 
and (6) further questioning of Dr. Coleman and Mr. Mathieu respecting the 
administration of the Custodian.

2. That the Auditor General, Mr. Watson Sellar, be called for the next 
meeting and, following his evidence, Messrs. Murchison and William Cleave 
be heard during the coming week concerning the operations of the Veterans’ 
Land Act in the Township of Sarnia, in the County of Lambton, Ontario.

On motion of Mr. Homuth:
Resolved,—That the Fourth Report of the Steering Committee be 

concurred in.
The Chairman reported that the following documents, promised by the 

Deputy Custodian at the last meeting, had been received :
copies of correspondence exchanged between the Deputy Custodian 

and the Deputy Minister of Reconstruction respecting royalties paid on 
Bren guns ;

inventory of books of the Deutscher Bund Kanada held in storage 
by the agents of the Custodian, The Western Trust Company, Winnipeg, 
and

statement of royalties received by the Custodian for the account of 
I. G. Farbeninsdustrics.

Mr. Murchison was recalled.
On motion of Mr. Fleming:
Ordered,—That the schedule showing details respecting the resale of lands 

formerly owned by persons of the Japanese race, submitted by Mr. Murchison 
and filed on June 17, be printed as Appendix “A” to this day’s minutes of 
proceedings and evidence.

Questioning of Mr. Murchison was resumed.
92278—1*
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Mr. Wright was recalled and questioned.
Mr. Murchison filed a supplementary statement to the schedule respecting 

the resale of Japanese lands, which, on motion of Mr. Fleming, is printed as 
Appendix “B” to this day’s minutes of proceedings and evidence.

It was agreed that Dr. Coleman and Mr. Mathieu be called for the next 
meeting, and that Mr. Sellar be heard at the meeting next following the 
conclusion of their evidence.

Mr. Murchison retired.
At 1 o’clock p.m. the Committee adjourned until Friday, June 27, at 

II o’clock a.m.

A. L. BURGESS, 
Clerk of the Committee.



MINUTES OF EVIDENCE

House of Commons,
June 26, 1947.

The Standing Committee on Public Accounts met this day at 11.30 a.m. 
The Chairman, Mr. L. Philippe Picard, presided.

The Chaibman: Gentlemen, we have a quorum, may I call the meeting 
to order.

We have before us three returns that have been filed by Mr. Wright, one 
concerning the Bren gun, in answer to a question by Mr. Stewart; one in connec­
tion with I G Farbenindustry, also in answer to a question by Mr. Stewart; and 
one concerning the list of books seized which were in the hands of the Deut- 
scherbund-Kanada.

Mr. Homuth: You do pretty well on that “Deutscherbund”.
The Chairman: Yes? Thank you. The only statement that remains to 

be filed concerns the details of payments of auditors and that will be ready 
to-morrow, it is quite lengthy.

Before this meeting opened there was a meeting of the steering committee.
(See minutes of proceedings.)
Now gentlemen, we have with us Mr. Murchison.
Mr. Fleming: Are you going to deal with the report of the steering com­

mittee, or the recommendation of the steering committee?
The Chairman: Does the report of the steering committee meet with the 

approval of the committee?
Mr. Homuth: I so move.
The Chairman: Moved by Mr. Homuth that the report of the steering 

committee meeting this morning be approved.
Carried.

Gordon B. Murchison, Director of The Soldiers’ Settlement Board 
and Veterans’ Land Act, called:

The Chairman: Are there any questions, of Mr. Murchison?
Mr. Fleming: Before I put any questions, there is one matter that I would 

like to mention first, on a question of privilege. I have the minutes of the 
evidence taken at the meeting on Tuesday last, at which I was not present. 
With my friend, the vice-chairman of this committee, I was sojourning in Halifax. 
I notice there was some discussion at the opening of the meeting about the print­
ing of a lengthy table which Mr. Murchison has submitted to the committee. I 
find that Mr. Murchison undertook to say, speaking of the table, “Mr. Fleming 
has that schedule for study and probably that is one reason why it has not been 
incorporated in your printed proceedings”.

I want to make two comments, Mr. Chairman, on Mr. Murchison’s statement. 
First of all there is nothing in that suggestion which he made. The fact of the 
matter is that the decision not to print the table was taken at the last meeting 
of the committee and the report of Mr. Murchison was sitting in front of you 
on the table when the decision was made. I borrowed the report from the
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secretary of the committee to prepare myself on it in order to save time at the 
next meeting. The second observation is this. I do not think that it is any 
part of the function of a witness appearing before a committee to make a state­
ment of that kind which has to do with the way that the committee conducts 
its business. It is purely a matter for the committee’s own decision and it is 
not a matter which requires a statement on the part of any witness. The com­
mittee is quite capable of looking after its own business without gratuitous 
suggestions of that kind.

Mr. Isnor: It might be a matter of human rights.
Mr. Fleming: What was that ?
Mr. Isnor: Nothing, let it go.
The Chairman: If I may say so, I do not think there was any discourteous 

intention. Mr. Murchison did not know how our business had been done and he 
just saw that it had not been printed. He was not in a position to know the 
motives.

The Witness: May I just make one observation? The only reason I made 
the statement which I did was because I had been asked by the secretary for 
another copy of the statement, because the one which I had previously filed had 
not been printed.

Mr. Fleming: I just make this observation. At the close of our second last 
meeting this matter was discussed, and I urged then that the table be printed 
as an appendix to the proceedings. The committee thought at that time it was 
not yet desirable that the table be printed but the matter could be raised later. 
The fact that the table was in my possession had nothing whatever to do with 
it not being printed, because it was not in my possession when the committee 
reached the decision.

The Chairman : You are perfectly right.
Mr. Fleming : As you indicated in the steering committee meeting, we want 

to complete our work on the sale of the Japanese property and I will try to 
make my questions of Mr. Murchison as brief as possible. I will renew my 
motion that the table be printed. You may prefer to leave that until after the 
examination in complete but I think it should go in. I do not think it is possible 
to properly follow the proceedings unless it is printed.

The Chairman: I think that is correct.
The matter of printing the table was postnoned at the last meeting until 

the questioning was all done and the intention was that it could then be 
printed. It is now moved by Mr. Fleming that the schedule produced by Mr. 
Murchison be printed in the proceedings.

Carried.
By Mr. Fleming:

Q. I may say the schedule does extend some additional information which 
is already tabled on the record and which was submitted by Dr. Coleman at an 
earlier date. It takes up that table from the point where he completed his 
information and then it gives the purchase price and the sale price by the V.L.A. 
It is additional information and this table is set up in precisely the same manner 
as is Dr. Coleman’s table.

Have you got a copy of this before you Mr. Murchison?—A. I have one 
here now, the secretary has just given it to me.

O. T will go over this as quickly as I can. Mr. Chairman. The first item I 
would like to ask you about it ,1. L. 143. that is on page 1. It is the sale to the 
Westminister Priory Ltd. for $5,500. I think that is one you told us about 
at a previous -meeting where you indicated that was a sale to a purchaser other 
than a veteran and the aggregate cost to the Soldiers’ Settlement Board I think 
was $1,425, and the sale price was $5,500.—A. I think that is correct.
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Q. The next one, if you will turn to page 8, it is partly on page 8 and partly 
on page 16, but it is the sale to William Minty.

The Chairman : What is the number of that sale?
By Mr. Fleming:

Q. J. L. 151 on page 8 and J. L. 147 on page 16. The note opposite these 
parcels is “These lots sold by public tender to William Minty for $3,050” and, 
if my figures are correct, the aggregate purchase price of the four parcels that 
were purchased by the Soldiers’ Settlement Board was $433. Is that correct Mr. 
Murchison? I do not claim to be a finished mathematician.—A. I think I gave 
the particulars of that sale in my previous evidence.

Q. Would you mind giving it again now and we will have it in line with 
this table? On page 8. under J. L. 151 you have an item of $46. an item of $94, 
and an item of $198. On page 16 under J. L. 147 you have an item of $95.— 
A. Yes.

Q. Now does that represent the total number of parcels sold to William 
Minty by public tender for $3,050?—A. That is my understanding.

Q. Well is there anything to be added to that?—A. I have nothing to add to 
that. The total cost of the lots is listed on page 8; $94. $198, and $46; and on 
page 16, §96. I think that would account, for the purchase price, the price paid 
to the custodian for those lots.

Q. That would total, according to my figuring, $434, do you agree?—A. Yes.
Q. And then on page 27 there is an item there, J. L. 693, the amount paid by 

the Veterans’ Land Act was $1,689, sold by the Veterans’ Land Act for $2,340, 
and the note there is “Purchase price $2,500. sale of granary for $160”. That 
means, I take it, there was a net of $2,340 for the land, is that correct?—A. Yes.

Q. Have you anything to add to that?—A. No.
Q. Did the figure of $1,689, the purchase price when you bought it, include 

the granary?—A. I could not say that without looking at the file.
Q. Then the figure $1,689 that you bought might compare either with the 

figure of $2,340, or the figure of $2,500 as the sale price when sold by you?— 
A. Yes.

Q. To whom was that sold? Was it sold to a veteran on a non-veteran?— 
A. Without checking the actual details on the file I am convinced it was a sale 
to a non-veteran, otherwise the sale price would have been the cost price to the 
director.

Q. Well are you drawing that conclusion by way of inference or are you 
making that as a statement of fact, that it was sold to a non-veteran?—A. By 
way of inference, because I cannot make it as a statement of fact without 
looking at the file. I cannot carry the details of 700 parcels of land in my head.

Q. You are making it by way of inference, then can I put it this way, Mr. 
Murchison? If it was a sale to a non-veteran you have made a profit on it of 
$700 or $900 in round figures, perhans §800 in round figures. If it was a sale to 
a veteran, which you do not think it was, because it was sold at a profit, that 
would then be out of line with the policy you followed all the way through with 
sales to veterans?—A. That is right.

Q. And you do not think it came within that latter class?—A. No.
Q. And then the next item is on page 30, J. L. 397. You bought it for $41 

and sold it for $100 to Kennedy Community Hall Association?—A. Yes.
Q. I ain offering you full opportunity to make any comment on any of these 

Mr Murchison, because, you will recall your previous statement to the com­
mittee that there were only three properties, and you were very emphatic on 
this, that sold at a price by you, or by your department, in advance of that 
paid, i ou stated there were only three instances and you objected to a reference 
in one oi the journals to the use of the word “examples”. Now I give you an 
opportunity to comment on any of these if you wish to do so. Is there anything
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you wish to say on that one, J.L. 397?—No, I have nothing to comment in 
connection with that.

Q. That was sold at a profit, at an advance of about 250 per cent on the 
price at which you bought it?—A. It was bought for $41 and sold for $100.

Q. Yes. which is an advance of about 250 per cent. The next one is on 
page 31. J.L. 438 and it appears that you bought that for $3,682 and sold it 
for $4,000 and there is a note opposite that line to the effect that the purchase 
price was $4.000. What is the meaning of that note?—A. That means we had 
to increase our price to the custodian to that figure to get title.

Q. Now was that not included among the 741 parcels? How did that come 
to be dealt with specially?—A. That happened to be a parcel, I imagine, where 
the encumbrances against the title were such that it required an increase over 
the original figure, to the figure you have quoted, in order to get title.

Q. A\ e have not heard of this before. We have not heard about any advance 
in the purchase price paid by your department on any of these parcels included 
among the total of the 741 farms. This is the first time we have heard there 
was any change made subsequently in the terms of purchase of anv of those 
parcels.—A. Yes.

Q. Were there others or is this the only one?—A. No, there were cases 
where it was necessary for us to make modest increases in order to secure title.

Q. Why was that necessary, in order to secure title?—A. It was because 
we could not get title otherwise because the encumbrances against the land 
were such that the custodian could not deliver title for the purchase price first 
offered. We deemed, in those cases, it was good business on our part to agree 
to a modest increase in price up to an amount that would produce title.

Q. Do you mean to say you went back and increased prices to the 
custodian?—A. That is right.

Q. Because we have heard nothing about that- from Mr. Shears in his 
evidence?—A. There were very few cases but there were some where it was a 
matter of either dropping the sale or increasing the purchase price to secure 
title.

I wish you would be more explicit as to why the sale price would be varied, 
because I understood the custodian had the equivalent of a statutory title, in 
the order in council passed under the War Measures Act. Would you just tell 
the committee how those increased prices became necessary in order to dispose 
of encumbrances for purposes of completing sale to veterans?—A. I do not 
know whether I can make it perfectly clear. I think I could perhaps best 
describe it this way. The total purchase price offered the custodian for the 
769 parcels was allocated in accordance with our appraised value. As I said to 
this committee before, the total appraised value was approximately $17,000 in 
excess of the offer the custodian accented for the 769 parcels. In the course 
of taking titles to individual parcels I have no doubt the custodian allocated 
specific amounts to each parcel on account of each Japanese. Now in doing 
that they found in a few cases the allocation to the purchase price was not 
sufficient to clear the title on that individual parcel and accordingly we increased 
our purchase price by a few hundred dollars in order to obtain title.

Q. Mr. Murchison, I take it the custodian was conveying to you subject 
to encumbrances, and, in the case of some parcels, certain questions were raised 
about encumbrances and there were some adjustments necessary?—A. That 
is right.

By Mr. Jaenicke:
Q. Is that answer correct? Was the conveyance subject to encumbrances?— 

A. No, it was not subject to encumbrances.
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Q. That was the question.—A. It was transferred to us in fee simple but in 
order to acquire title in some cases our purchase price had to be increased by 
small amounts in order to enable the custodian to deliver title.

The Chairman : We have Mr. Wright, counsel for the custodian, who is 
here, and he might clear that up.

Mr. Wright: The custodian took title subject to any mortgages, taxes, 
and subject to other encumbrances and at the close of the deal, just before it 
was closed, I recall that we submitted a list of those properties where the offer 
was not sufficient to take care of the adjustments necessary to obtain title. I 
cannot furnish you with the details but they were not numerous.

Mr. Fleming: That is the case where the purchase price did not cover the 
encumbrances?

Mr. Wright: Yes, that was the only case, and that information can be 
supplied to you.

Mr. Fleming: Thank you then Mr. Wright. We may take it in all cases, 
and they were not numerous, where the purchase price offered by the Veterans’ 
Land Act was not adequate to cover the encumbrances, the Veterans’ Land 
Act subsequently increased the purchase price on the particular parcel by an 
amount sufficient to cover the encumbrances?

Mr. Wright: Not in all cases. They refused in more than one case.
Mr. Fleming: Who refused?
Mr. Wright: The director of the Veterans’ Land Act refused, in a number 

of cases, to pay the required amount so the offer with respect to that particular 
parcel was withdrawn, and those would be included in the properties we after­
wards sold by public tender.

Mr. Fleming: It all comes down to this, eventually, of the total number of 
parcels sold by the custodian to the Veterans’ Land Act, in no case was the 
purchase price increased except in the odd case where the encumbrances 
exceeded the amount of the purchase price.

Mr. Wright: Where the director of the Veterans’ Land Act desired to 
obtain title.

Mr. Fleming: Were there any cases included in the 741, I am not speaking 
of the 769 but in the eventual 741, where the director of the Veterans’ Land 
Act did not choose to pay the additional amount required because of the 
encumbrances?

Mr. Wright: Not in those they actually acquired.
Mr. Fleming: We may take it in all those cases the director of the Veterans’ 

Land Act did increase his price to cover the encumbrances?
Mr. Wright: In the case of all those he eventually secured title to, yes. 

Otherwise we would not have conveyed.
Mr. Burton : Would Mr. Wright be able to tell us how many parcels 

would be involved in those increases?
Mr. Wright: I can obtain that information from Vancouver but I have 

not got it today.
Mr. Fleming: Can you find out the amount of the increases? I take it 

there would not be very many.
Mr. Wright: I believe we could go through the records and obtain that 

information.
Mr. Burton : Mr. Murchison would be able to tell us this. Were the 

veterans to whom those lands were sold charged with the increase paid to the 
custodian?

The Witness: Yes.



354 STANDING COMMITTEE

Mr. Burton : With the result that “A” bought a piece of land from the 
custodian that had been free of encumbrances for $100?

The Witness: That is right.
Mr. Burton: And “B”, buying adjoining property that was worth approxi­

mately the same amount, owing to the fact that there had been encumbrances 
on it, was forced to pay $150.

The Witness: That is possible.
Mr. Isnor: But, on the other hand, the Veterans’ Land Act may have 

purchased it for $75 but the encumbrances might have brought it up to $100.
Mr. Jaenicke: Arc you asking this in connection with the 741 parcels?
Mr. Fleming: Yes.
Mr. Jaenicke: Does not the list show how much the increases were?
Mr. Fleming: No, the list shows first of all the J. L. number, and then 

the name of the owner, the appraisal by the Soldiers’ Settlement Board valuators, 
then the sale price.

Mr. Jaenicke: Upon which the price is based.
Mr. Fleming: That is the price paid by the Soldiers’ Settlement Board 

to the custodian. Then column 5 is the V.L.A. file number, and the sixth column 
is the price sold for by the V.L.A., the seventh column is headed ‘‘Remarks”, 
and there are remarks opposite some cases.

Mr. Jaenicke: It has not got a column showing the expenditures made by 
the V.L.A. on some parcels for the building of houses and things like that.

Mr. Fleming: There would be an opportunity to put that in the remarks 
column if it was necessary.

Mr. Isnor: What is the total number of cases included in that report?
Mr. Fleming: I have not counted them all. I take it they are the 741 

which correspond with the total purchases made. I am going by Mr. Shears’ 
statement which was printed in the record by reason of a motion by Mr. 
Cruickshank.

By Mr. Fleming:
Q. Just before leaving that, Mr. Murchison, in those cases where you raised 

the price, you were prepared to raise the price paid to the custodian in order 
to get title to the property?—A. Yes.

Q. And this is one case where you were prepared to raise the price from 
$3,682 to $4,000 in order to obtain that parcel?—A. That is right.

Q. Now you mentioned that the purchase price was $4,000 in the remarks 
column. 1 take it that was sold to a veteran.—A. No, that remark means it 
was the purchase price paid to the custodian. What page is that on?

Q. Page 31, item J.L. 438. It is the last item that has a remark on it on the 
page.—A. Yes.

Q. Do I infer from that it was sold to a veteran for $4,000?—A. Yes. it is 
listed in the appropriate column as sold to a veteran for $4.000.

Q. Mr. Wright, 1 take it Mr. Chairman, will give particulars of those 
amounts and the increases. This is the first we have heard of it.

Now on page 34 there is an item I would like to ask you about. It is 
J.L. 462 at the bottom of the page. The Veterans’ Land Act paid $1,611 and 
sold what we are told was part only to the Secretary of State for $1. What is 
the explanation?—A. I am sorry, I would have to look at the individual file to 
explain that to you.

Q. I would be obliged if you would do that as it is the first we have heard 
of a sale back to the custodian. This is a piece of property which was sold 
back to the Secretary of State for $1.
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The Chairman: I understand Mr. Wright has particulars on that.
Mr. Fleming: I would stop now and ask Mr. Wright if he would explain? 
Mr. Wright: I have not the details, but relying on my memory, we sold 

a parcel out in Mission, to the director. It was a corner lot and on the corner 
property was a building which belonged to an association.

Mr. Fleming: What kind of an association?
Mr. Wright: One of the Japanese associations. We arranged with the 

director to have sufficient land returned to the Secretary of State in order that 
we might have land for the building and not be required to move it. We 
found that the orders in council which were passed did not cover association 
properties and we could not convey.

Mr. Fleming: In other words the order in council touched only the 
property of individuals?

Mr. Wright: That is correct.
Mr. Fleming: And this was a matter of a formal transaction, with the $1 

consideration being purely a formal recital.
Mr. Wright: In order to have enough land to avoid moving the building 

this transaction was put through.
Mr. Fleming: Was that conveyed to the Secretary of State as the custodian 

of enemy property? I was wondering how the Secretary of State enters into it.
Mr. Wright: In all conveyances the Secretary of State, acting in his 

capacity as custodian, conveys. We usually put in the transfer “The Secretary 
of State acting a custodian pursuant to the revised regulations”.

Mr. Fleming: Very well, we can take it this conveyance was obtained 
from the Veterans’ Land Act by the custodian in order to rectify a sale where 
he had stepped beyond his powers in selling property that was not vested in him.

Mr. Wright: Yes, in so far as the building referred to is concerned.
By Mr. Fleming:

Q. The next item I wish to ask about is on page 35, J.L. 463. Mr. 
Murchison, your department paid $678 and we are told it was sold by you for 
$231.85 and in the remarks column it says “Purchase price $800, one part sold 
(BC/2406-B), one part remaining subdivision—see appendix 3”.—A. Yes.

Q. Will you explain the purchase price? I will repeat that there is a 
reference to an appendix. Are we to understand the $800 was for a group of 
parcels and this item represents a particular parcel covered by the number 
J.L. 463.’—A. I am sorry to take up your time but I would like to see the 
reference to the appendix referred to in the remarks column.

Q. I have looked at appendix 3 and I do not see parcel J.L. 463 included 
in it, Mr. Murchison.—A. Neither do I. I have an explanatory note on another 
appendix. In the case of 463 the custodian’s sale price was $678 and the 
actual purchase price paid was $800. The explanatory note is that the cus­
todian was unable to deliver title and the offer was cancelled. It was sub­
sequently bought in December 1944 at $800.

Q. In other words you did eventually realize $800 on the sale of this 
parcel?—A. Not yet, we have made a partial sale of that lot for $231.85 and 
the balance of it is in a remaining subdivision which has not been sold.

Q. I do not quite follow you. Where does the $800 figure come from?—A. 
I have just explained at the outset the purchase price allocated to that lot was 
$678, but the custodian was unable to deliver title at that price and our offer for 
that parcel was cancelled. Those were negotiations in 1943 and it was 
subsequently bought in December 1944 at $800.
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Q. You bought it from the custodian at $800. Was that included then in 
the original 741?—A. It would not be included with the original 741 but it would 
included in the final list of Japanese property acquired.

Q. This was one where we can take it, as far as the total amount paid by 
you to the custodian was concerned, it was not included in the 741 for which 
you paid something like $848.000 approximately? I am just quoting that figure 
from memory. This was the subject matter of a subsequent purchase negotiated 
between you and the custodian, and, whereas the price on the basis of the 741 
purchased by you would have been $678, later, when you buy it from the 
custodian as a result of negotiations, for that particular parcel you are willing 
to pay $800?—A. Yes, a year later, over a year.

Q. I take it if there had been any others included—by the way, were there 
any others in the same class, purchases made by you subsequent to the 
conclusion of the 741 parcels?—A. Speaking from memory I believe there were 
a few, not a large number. There were those which were excluded or dropped 
from the first offer for reasons—1, that the custodian could not deliver title, or 
2, that the purchase price was beyond what we were prepared to pay. I would 
say that this was a case when a year later, the custodian was disposing of this 
by public tender, we decided to accept it at $800 whereas in the first place our 
offer was listed at $648. The number of cases similar to that would be limited.

Q. May I ask if Mr. Wright has a note of those particular parcels so we 
can see what advances there were in the prices?

Mr. Wright: I have not a list of those, Mr. Fleming, but in our return it 
is shown that the Veterans’ Land Act paid $836,256 and that might not include 
any subsequent offers made. There were very few.

Mr. Fleming: May I take it there were a few of those parcels that were 
the subject matter of sales subsequently arranged and not included in the 741, 
but included in the figure of $836,000?

Mr. Wright: That is possible.

By Mr. Fleming:
Q. Now that is something new, Mr. Chairman, I think we want to get to 

the bottom of that. We have understood all along, I say to both Mr. Murchison 
and Mr. Wright, that the figure of $836,000 was calculated on a pro rata basis 
on all 741 properties ; I say pro rata with reference to the appraisal made by the 
Solders’ Settlement Board valuators.—A. 768.

Q. And that was cut down to 741?—A. It was finally cut down to 741.
Q. Do I understand from Mr. Wright’s last statement, included in the 741 

there were some where the price was advanced for one reason or other beyond 
the price for which it would have been purchased on the pro rata basis?—A. 
Yes, and, if you will bear with me, I have some notes here which I think will 
cover the point you are raising.

Q. Is that a new table?—A. No. it is not.
Q. Is it in the statement?—A. Yes. On the custodian's file J.L. 145, the 

listed price was $1,352. Our note is the custodian was unable to deliver title 
and the parcel with withdrawn. It was subsequently bought in December, 1944, 
at $1,425, as against $1,352, the original figure. Item 173 of the custodian’s file; 
the original sale price was $1,132 and there was an error in computation. Our 
actual purchase price was $426 because there was a fire loss recovered by the 
custodian before the director got title to the land.

Q. That was an adjustment to the agreed price, it was not a change?—A. 
No. Our file number 180 shows the custodian’s sale price was $2.041. Now the 
original appraisal covered two lots. The custodian was unable to deliver title 
to one lot and therefore we purchased the other one for $1,465. There is a case 
where the custodian’s records show the sale price as $2,041 whereas the actual 
price paid by the director was $1,465 on only one lot of that property. In file
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number 175 there is a minor bookkeeping omission. The quoted sale price in 
the custodian’s return was $1,489.90 but the actual price paid was $1,489, a 

I difference of 90 cents. In connection with J.L. 123, that is another case where 
there were two lots involved in the appraisal in the one property. The sale 

■ price listed by the custodian was $2,054 and here again the custodian was able 
to deliver title to only one lot and, therefore, we paid $1.600 for that lot to which 
he was able to give us title. On item J.L. 693 the listed sale price was $1.689. 
This was a case where the custodian was unable to deliver title. The original 
offer was cancelled and the parcel was later bought in January of 1946 by the 
director for $2.500 from the custodian. I would just point out there that 
approximately two and a half years had elapsed between the original offer and 

â the time we had actually purchased the property, during which time there was 
a very great change took place in conditions. Item 438 shows the listed price 
by the custodian as $3.682. This was a case where the custodian was unable to 
deliver title and the parcel wras withdrawn. It was subsequently purchased in 
July 1945 by the director at $4.000.

Q. That is one we have already had.—A. Yes. In connection with item 
J. L. 447 there is a difference there of $10 between the price quoted by the 
custodian and the price paid by the director. $42 is the price quoted by the 
custodian while $32 is our record of the actual price paid. On file J. L. 463, 
you have dealt with that one before, the custodian’s price was $678 but it was 
subsequently bought by the director in December 1944 at $800. File 474 has I 
think a typographical error. The custodian’s sale price is listed at $3,004, and 
the actual price paid was $3,044. File 522 shows the listed price by the custodian 
as $591 and ourjecords show a purchase price there are $491. File J. L. 612 
shows the listed price by the custodian as $5,246. That is recorded in our books 
as being withdrawn at the time but it was brought by the director in August 
1945 at $6.000. Now that is all the information I have as to any increase in 

I' prices which took place following subsequent negotiations.
The Chairman : If I may say something at this point, I understand from Mr.

! Wright, that would be the only information he could get from Vancouver if he 
i requested it. I think, however, that it covers the point.

Mr. Fleming: I would suggest before we go any further that the table 
which Mr. Murchison has just read be printed in our .records and Mr. Wright 

' can check it. If he does find there is anything inaccurate he can report it to 
you and we will have it complete both from Mr. Murchison and Mr. Wright,

The Chairman: The table will be included in our records.
The Witness: I would not like to have it thought the figures I quoted cast 

any reflection on the custodian or Mr. Wright’s department. These figures arc 
as taken from our records and there are obviously a few bookkeeping omissions

Bin them, but I would be very glad to produce the statement here so that it can 
be checked.

Mr. Fleming: I think that it ought to be printed.
The Chairman: Mr. Fleming has moved that the table be printed. Is it 

carried?
Carried.
Mr. t\right: In our return, which is included in the report, there is an item 

of $836,256, from the Director, the Veterans’ Land Act, and the next item with 
respect to the sales of real estate is $1,868,080.66. Some of those subsequent sales 
may have been .included in the second item, and might not refer to the Veterans’ 
Land Act item. This would have to be cleared up by our Vancouver office. I 

I could get that information.
Mr. Fleming: I think it would be well to do that. Some of these advanced 

M prices referred to in Mr. Murchison’s table might not be reflected in the figuri' 
I of $836,000 odd.
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Mr. Wright: They might be reflected in the second item and I will 
endeavour to clarify that.

Mr. Fleming: The next item is on page 41, J. L. 539, Mr. Murchison.
Mr. Jaenicke: What is the name?
Mr. Fleming: Okimi.

By Mr. Fleming:
Q. There has not been any figure given of the sale by the Veterans’ Land 

Act but the remark is “sold by official administrator”. Can you explain that?— 
A. That would be a case where the property was in the hands of the administrator 
of the mentally incompetent and it was excluded.

Q. This would be one of those that were dropped when you reduced the 
gross of 769 to the net of 741?—A. That is correct.

Q. Then on the same page, J. L. 612, there is a list of properties that belong 
to the River Fish Company Ltd?—A. Yes.

Q. The sale price when sold to you by the custodian was a total of $5,049; 
$118; $79; which I make to be a total of $5,246. There is no note here of a sale 
by the Veterans’ Land Act administration but the remark is “total purchase 
price for three parcels $6,000”. Can you explain that Mr. Murchison, please?— 
A. I can only assume, sir, it was a case where it was necessary to increase the 
purchase price.

Q. In other words you are still holding the parcel?—A. Yes.
Q. The custodian has presumably received $6,000 perhaps for adjustments 

or for some other reason. The next one is on page 46, J. L. 795. There are two 
items under 795, the first parcel was purchased by you from the custodian for 
$2,926, and the second one was apparently purchased for $245. Your statement 
shows that the first one apparently has not been sold but that the second one 
for which you paid $245 was sold for $2,000 to Henry Frederick Rollings, civilian, 
as a cash sale.—A. I think that was one case I referred to in my opening 
statement in my evidence before the committee. It was a bush lot on Salt 
Spring Island.

Q. We are quite clear then that the original parcel for which you paid 
$2,926 you are still holding?—A. That is right.

Q. While the second item, for which you paid $245, you sold for $2,000 cash 
to Henry Rollings, a civilian.—A. I believe that sale was made last year.

Q. You have attached to your table some seventeen appendices. I do not 
know that I would like to take the time to comment on all those in detail but 
if there is any general explanation on those I think it would be useful to the 
committee if you would give it? Number one is the Haney subdivision. You 
put a number of these parcels together, 39 lots in all and you paid a total of 
$6,634 for the land, you sold the twenty lots for $6,106.59 and you are holding 
nineteen lots to realize a small balance of $527.41?—A. Yes.

Q. You are going to make a profit on those, obviously, when you sell 
them, do you not think, Mr. Murchison—A. No, because the lots which have 
been sold are the most attractive. Those which remain are rather outlying and 
hush covered and it would be our intention, if those lots are to be sold to 
veterans, they would be sold for what remains against the account.

Q. I take it when you put together a group of parcels for the purpose of a 
subdivision, when you sold the individual lots to veterans, you sold on a new 
plan and not by the old description? Am I right in that?—A. Yes.

Q. Therefore, when you made your individual sales on the new plan to 
veterans, you did not sell them or could not sell them on the basis on which you 
bought the lots.—A. Not in all cases. It would depend on the subdivision plan.

Q. I take it, in very rare cases only, a lot in the new plan would be ! 
identical with the lot on the old plan when you bought it?—A. Yes, but I 
do not think you should overlook the fact shown in the first appendix, in the j
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sales that have already been made in that Haney subdivision, existing improve­
ments, permanent improvements, are valued at $4,800 and were included in two 
lots which were sold. That takes up a very large amount for the twenty lots sold.

Q. Very well, we come down to this. Apart from this statement of improve­
ments you have made, you have realized from the sale of twenty lots practically 
the entire purchase price, and you have nineteen lots left which you arc- 
prepared to sell. Are you prepared to sell those to veterans for $527.41 or would 
it have to be $527.41 plus the $4,800?—A $527. The $4,800 are included in two 
lots already sold.

Q. Are those amounts in addition to the $6,059?—A. No it is represented 
by the sale of the twenty lots sold.

Q. Let us get that quite clear. The amount owing against the remaining 
nineteen lots, as far as your department is concerned, is $521 or is it a total of 
the $521 plus the $4,800?—A. The $521.

Q. That is all you have to get out of the lots to break even?—A. That is all.
Q. 1 take it what you said about the Haney subdivision will apply to the 

other cases? It will be a very rare case where a lot you sold to a veteran would 
be identical to the lots as you acquired it from the custodian?—A. Yes.

Q. And therefore, there is not, as regards these properties, any immediate 
available yardstick, by which you could measure whether you have sold to a 
veteran at the price at which you bought?—A. No more than I can give you 
my assurance that the price paid for the lot was properly apportioned impar­
tially on the sales to veterans. That is something for which we must take the 
responsibility.

Q. I know it is your responsibility but I want to understand that clearly. In 
the case where you sold the parcel under the same description under which you 
purchased it from the custodian, it is a simple matter for us to compare the price 
at which you bought it and the price at which you sold it to the veteran who 
was getting the benefit of the low price at which you purchased it, but, in the 
case of these lands which were grouped together and re-subdivided, it is not 
possible for us to have a ready yardstick for comparison. It is a matter of 
your system as to whether the veteran paid any more than a fair value to be 
assigned to that particular lot on a new plan?—A. That is right.

Q. Then on appendix number 2 you have acquired a total of thirty lots 
for $4,847 and you sold twenty-six of those lots for $3,912. You have also 
four lots to be sold at $935.—A. Yes.

Q. In appendix number 3 it is shown you bought thirty lots for a total of 
$15.453 and you sold eighteen lots for $14,508.80. You have twelve to be sold, 
which you are holding for $945.—A. Yes.

Q. In the fourth subdivision there were seven lots which you acquired 
for $4.937. You sold two lots for $5,590 and you are holding four lots for 
$1,346.05.—A. I think you have quoted me incorrectly. The total cost price 
was $4,937 and two lots were sold—

Q. I hree lots were sold in the subdivision and I gave you the figure of 
$3,590.—A. I thought you said $5,000.

Q. No $3,590.95.
Mr. Jaenicke: You said $5,000.

By Mr. Fleming:
Q. I am sorry, I was making a mental addition but vou are holding four 

lots for $1,346.05 —A. That is right.
Q. I take it you are not going to lose anything on this subdivision?
The Chairman : Why should they lose anything?
Mr. Fleming: Just a moment please.
The Witness: No, I do not think we will.
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By Mr. Fleming:
Q. If you are not aiming to make anything on the subdivision, there is a 

great difference in the lots on this plan and somebody is going to get the 
remaining lots for much less than the purchasers of the first lots which were 
sold?—A. I do not think that has been shown at all. As I say, we paid $4,800 
of the $6.600 which is represented by improvements on two lots. There was 
another one a moment ago where the sales of the lots totalled $14,508.80 out of 
a total cost of $15.461 for the bunch. In those sales, improvements valued at 
$13,100 were included in seven of the lots sold.

By Mr. Jaenicke:
Q. Have they all been sold in that case?—A. No, there are twelve lots left.
Q. Have you got a sample of where vou have a subdivision sold, all of it? 

—A. No.
Q. Showing what you paid for them, what improvements you made, and 

what the soldiers paid to you?—A. I have not got such a sample.
Q. There are always some left?—A. There will be some left until the tag 

ends are picked up. Obviously the most attractive pieces are in demand first.

By Mr. Fleming:
Q. Mr. Chairman, I do not think I need take the time of the committee to 

go over these appendices. This is all to be printed and it is part of Mr. 
Murchison's statement. It shows in each case where there was a subdivision, 
the number of lots on the new plan which have been sold and the part remain­
ing?—A. That is right.

Q. We will just take another as an example. Here is number 16. This is 
a case where there were seven lots that cost the D.V.A. $1,375 and six have been 
mid for a total price of $1,297.80. One lot remains to be sold for $77.20.— 
A. That is probably all it is worth.

Q. Well do you know the lot? Arc you saying that of your own personal 
knowledge?—A. No, I am saying that from the figures I see before me.

Q. It is an inference you are drawing from the figures?—A. Yes.
(j. Well let us confine ourselves to actual knowledge.
Mr. Jaenicke: All those lots do not show improvements? There was talk 

about the Veterans’ Land Act putting on improvements in some of these places. 
Does that show in the statement?

Mr. Fleming: There are just two subdivisions out of seventeen where 
improvements are made.

The Witness: Let me correct that, sir. They are not improvements made 
by the director of the Veterans’ Land Act, they are improvements which existed 
on the property when it was taken over by the custodian. None of those sale 
prices to veterans represented any improvements made by the director, or on 
behalf of the director.

Mr. Jaenicke: But you told us a few meetings ago that the veteran might 
have paid several hundreds or thousands more for the property because you put 
improvements on it?

The Witness: Yes, when wc come to sell bare land to veterans there might 
be an increase reflected by putting up a home or buildings.

Mr. Jaenicke: But the construction and the cost of it is separate from the 
figures you have given to-day.

The Witness : Yes.
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By Mr. Fleming:
Q. I think you have made that quite clear. The reason I mentioned the 

comparison I am seeking, is to try and draw a basis, or a line, respecting those 
sold with those which are left. Coming to the last appendix, number 17, I take 
that as an example that comes within the question asked by Mr. Jaenicke. There 
were four properties of Japanese apparently taken in that subdivision grouped 
together at a total cost price to the Veterans’ Land Act of $2,210, and the note 
is that these lands were sold to the Corporation of the District of Surrey as a 
sewage disposal plan, sale price $2,800—A. Yes.

Q. Did the sale embrace all the properties shown in appendix 17?—A. Yes.
Q. And therefore on this you made a profit of approximately $600 on the 

sale?—A. I would not call it a profit sir, I think we quite legitimately took into 
consideration carrying charges, administrative charges, and so on, from the time 
we took over the land.

Q. Now Mr. Murchison, that is a new angle which you bring up. You 
were asked previously when you were before the committee about cases of sales 
of any of these properties acquired from the custodian where there had been 
an advance of the sale price; when you sold over the price at which you bought—

Mr. Isnor: To veterans?
Mr. Fleming: These are sold to non-veterans. Three instances were given 

by Mr. Murchison with respect to sales of non-veterans.
Mr. Isnor: But the question was asked him in connection with veterans.
Mr. Fleming: The answer given to us by Mr. Murchison was with respect 

to sales to non-veterans, the first one was the Westminister Priory, the second 
was Mr. Rollings and I forget the name of the third one.

By Mr. Fleming:
Q. In any event this is another one, Mr. Murchison, which you bought for 

$2,210 and you have sold it to the District of Surrey for $2,800.—A. Yes.
Q. That one was not mentioned to us and you took strong exception to the 

use in certain quarters of the word “examples” as applied to the three instances 
you gave. Now you and Mr. Wright have given explanations, on several of 
these parcels, which I think called for an explanation in view of the remarks 
attached on your statement, and it looks in the net result as if there were about 
a dozen of these parcels altogether, or close to a dozen,—I am not saying that 
figure exactly—where the sale by your department was at a price in advance of 
that at which you bought? Now have you any comment to make on that Mr. 
Murchison?—A. I was speaking from the best information that had been given 
to me by my departmental officers when I made my statement.

Q. Well, Mr. Murchison, in fairness to the committee you did not say then 
that you were going on information given to you by someone else. You were 
very positive, so positive that you came back a second day and made a statement 
in very emphatic terms on the subject. Now it appears that your statement was 
incorrect and that there have been a number of other parcels, that I have men­
tioned that I think would number about a dozen, that were sold by your depart­
ment at a price in advance of the price you paid for them.—A. I do not think 
there were a dozen. I do not think you can find a dozen in these schedules.

Q. I am not saying it is an exact dozen but I have given you about a dozen 
examples this morning in the review we have made, and I am asking you now 
if you do not think the statement you made at the previous meeting was 
incorrect? It does not matter for a moment on whose information it was given.— 
A. I will admit the statement was incorrect in so far as the three parcels being 
sold in advance of the price they were purchased for is concerned.

Q. That is the question you were asked and that is the statement on which 
you were so emphatic to the committee. I am speaking of the sales to non-

92278—2
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veterans in advance of prices paid by the V.L.A. and I am now content with 
your statement when you say that it was incorrect.

The Chairman : Are there any other questions of Mr. Murchison?
I do not want the following remarks to be construed as a reflection on Mr. 

Fleming’s examination this morning but, as the chairman is entitled to express 
an opinion, I cannot see where all this leads us, except to the conclusion that there 
might be a correction to the statement he made the previous time.

Mr. Homuth : Just a moment.
The Chairman : I am not passing any judgment, I will give you an oppor­

tunity to speak when I am through.
Mr. Homuth: Well I would like—
The Chairman : I am just expressing a personal opinion, I am entitled to do 

that just as is anybody else.
Mr. Fleming: I take exception, Mr. Chairman, to that. If the time has 

come for general argument in the committee or general discussion, then it is 
within your prerogative to lead off on that discussion.

The Chairman : I have already asked if there are any other questions and 
before the witness goes out I can express an opinion. I cannot see that there has 
been anything wrong disclosed in this morning’s questions or anything that 
would be against the public interest.

Mr. Fleming : I just want to express this thought. If there are no other 
questions Mr. Murchison, may be excused as a witness and we are perfectly at 
liberty to discuss this.

The Chairman : I have asked the members if they had any other questions 
and there were none. I am now expressing an opinion which I should be entitled 
to express.

Mr. Jaenicke: Have you read the previous evidence in connection with 
the matter?

The Chairman: I have.
Mr. Jaenicke: You have?
The Chairman : Yes, perhaps not all of it but most of it.
Mr. Jaenicke: The purpose of Mr. Fleming’s examination was to show that 

the Veterans’ Land Act might have made profits out of soldiers on the sales, and 
that we have got to investigate. We have made a report as far as the Japanese 
are concerned and that is done with.

Mr. Fleming: No, it is not done with. Our report has been submitted to 
the House, or I should say it will go before the House when Mr. Isnor moves 
adoption of it. We had not completed the evidence on which we are basing the 
report and Mr. Cruickshank, in a motion, asked for the information which has 
been produced. There are two things here in my submission. We have additional 
evidence, and this is a matter of argument, and if we are now having argument, I 
say the additional evidence is to the effect that the price paid by the Veterans’ 
Land 9ct administration to the custodian for them any Japanese owners was not a 
fair price, and again, that some of those prices show an advance.

The Chairman: Is it inferred that there was not a fair price?
Mr. Fleming: We had some evidence and this is additional evidence pointing 

to that very fact. We had in the former evidence three cases where Mr. Murchison 
intimated there were sales at prices in advance of those at which he bought. Now 
we find, and I have brought them out, that there were around a dozen. It has 
also been shown, I submit, that the prices paid to the custodian by the director 
of the Veterans’ Land Act were not fair prices representing the market value of 
those properties.
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Mr. Jaenicke: I agree with you there.
Mr. Fleming: In the second place, Mr. Murchison’s statement on a previous 

occasion, was to the effect those three properties, which he then said were all 
the properties sold to civilians at prices in advance of those paid by the director 
of the Veterans’ Land Act. There has been no attempt made to pass over to the 
Japanese owners the benefit of that sale at an increased price. Now we find 
that there are not just three, but there are others, and still no attempt has been 
made to return to the original owners the proceeds of the sales at higher prices.
I think there is also an important question in the light of the proceedings of 
the committee, where a witness came before the committee and was very emphatic 
about the three sales. He came back at the next meeting and made a statement 
at some length with very great emphasis which, I think we felt should not have 
been before the committee but it went on the record. Mr. Murchison objected 
in the strongest terms, scathing terms, to the use of the word “examples” as 
applied to those three sales on the basis that there were only three. On that 
basis, and with that objection, he took up the time of the committee to belabour 
a journalist, a prominent member of the press gallery, respected by all of us, for 
using that expression. Now we find there were not only three examples, there 
were ten or a dozen. I think further we should go into this very carefully by 
reason of the fact that one department is dealing with another, for which the 
government, at cabinet level takes the responsibility, and very grave injustice has 
been done to people who could not protect themselves, namely these Japanese 
owners.

Mr. Jaenicke: I would like to state my opinion on a matter which Mr. 
Fleming has raised. The unfortunate publicity which we got was because the 
Veterans’ Land Act was accused of selling soldiers land for higher prices than 
those at which the pracels were bought. I do not think the evidence establishes 
that.

Mr. Fleming: I do not think that was ever the question.
Mr. Jaenicke: There were some sales to private individuals that were 

considerably more than the price paid and I say that the Japanese owners should 
be compensated, as we have already recommended. I, myself, was not satisfied 
with the report however.

Mr. Isnor: Were you not here when the report was approved?
Mr. Jaenicke: Unfortunately I was in another committee.
Mr. Isnor: It is unfortunate because it was unanimously approved.
Mr. Jaenicke: So I understand.
Mr. Isnor: There is no understanding about it, it is a fact.
Mr. Jaenicke: I think it could be made plainer. The strongest evidence we 

have concerning the Veterans’ Land Act and the fact that the property was bought 
too cheaply is at page 115 and 116 where these forty-three parcels were sold 
to private individuals for $82,000 as against the offer of the Veterans’ Land Act 
for $38,000. That, in my opinion, is the strongest evidence we have before this 
committee that the offer of the Veterans’ Land Act was away below the actual 
value. The three, or four, or half a dozen, or dozen, parcels which have been 
mentioned to-day are only additional evidence, as far as I can see, that the 
Japanese owners ought to be compensated and the matter should be investigated 
by parliament through a commission.

Mr. Warren: I have been wondering if Mr. Fleming is trying to indicate or 
to prove that it is something of a crime that some of these properties were sold at 
an advance of price to civilians. Has a crime been committed?

Mr. Homuth: Well it ought to go back to the individual owners.
92278—2J
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Mr. Fleming: We should not have been told there were not other sales of 
this kind with such emphasis.

The Chairman : There was also a great lapse of time during which there were 
taxes and administrative costs mounting up while they had the land.

Mr. Fleming: That has not got anything to do with this at all.
Mr. Probe: The director of the Veterans’ Land Act himself was prepared 

to raise his figure in purchasing certain of these properties to a point where his 
price exceeded the appraisal which his department put on the land. I think 
that is an important point, because it suggests, to my mind, that his appraisal 
had been exceedingly modest in setting the value on the various parcels on 
which the director offered to purchase. The director himself was perfectly 
satisfied that he could afford to pay more, because he did so for certain parcels. 
I did not intend to break in on the trend of the question but that was one thing 
that ran through my mind. The director himself thought he could pay more 
without doing an injustice to the clients he represented. I wondered if Mr. 
Murchison would care to comment on that?

The Witness: Mr. Chairman, I think, from the information I have pre­
sented here, that in any case where there was an increase agreed to, the amount 
was comparatively small. Without checking the details it is my impression 
that in no case was the increase in an individual parcel more than about ten per 
cent.

Mr. Probe: But undoubtedly you felt you had a safety margin and you 
could offer more?

The Witness: Yes, but in many cases where an additional price was 
demanded we declined to pay. The number of cases where we agreed to increase 
was, after all, very limited in relation'to the over-all size of the transaction.

Mr. Homuth: Might I ask Mr. Isnor when he is going to move adoption 
of the report.

Mr. Isnor: I was going to move it last Friday, but at the request of Mr. 
Fleming, a member of the committee who is very interested in the work, I 
postponed making the motion on that day.

Mr. Fleming: Thursday was the day.
Mr. Isnor: Yes, Thursday. Now that Mr. Fleming has returned I think 

it will be done in the very near future.
Mr. Fleming: I think I would like to add that, when speaking to Mr. Isnor 

on the matter of moving it on Thursday, a meeting was being called on Friday 
to hear Mr. Murchison’s evidence. I was here on Friday but Mr. Isnor and I 
agreed there was not much point in moving it when there was another meeting 
to finish up the evidence. Mr. Isnor very kindly agreed with that, and he and 
I both took it just as a matter of convenience.

Mr. Macdonnell: I have been away but I would like to ask a question. 
If I had been here I would have had the information, but is it the feeling that 
where an additional amount was received by the authorities over and above 
that given to the original owners, notwithstanding the considerations which 
have arisen, that any advance should go to the original owners?

Mr. Jaenicke: There was a suggestion in the correspondence but I do not 
think it was contained in the agreement. There is some evidence that the 
Veterans’ Land Act would turn over any profits.

Mr. Macdonnell: Would it be proper for this committee to express such 
a view and would that be the view?

The Chairman: I think that has been more or less covered by our recom­
mendation that an inquiry be held and a commission be set up to hear the 
claims. Those claims can come before the commission which we have 
recommended.
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Mr. Isnor: It is a big question which is raised by Mr. Macdonnell. We 
have discussed it at some length and I doubt whether it would be wise to reopen 
the question to-day. The purchases were made in 1941 and the sales made in 
1942, 1943, 1944, 1945, and 1946. Naturally prices have increased and I think 
the committee felt that was a feature which would have to be taken into 
consideration by the commissioner or the commission.

The Chairman: There is another angle to it. If we are to extend the 
benefit to the first owner of any advance in price, we might be led to consider 
what the actual price is now. The actual price is even higher now, and I under­
stand many of the individuals who purchased from the department have sold at 
a profit. If the Japanese could say the real value of our land would be so much 
now, it would open a wide field. I think that is one of the things which should 
be in the hands of the commission which would hear the cases and make repre­
sentations to the government. Are there any other comments?

Mr. Golding: Did you have some comment Mr. Chairman?
The Chairman : I think the only point is that it is quite late. We better 

not call the other witnesses and I move that we adjourn until to-morrow morning 
at 11.00 a.m. to hear Dr. Coleman and Mr. Mathieu. Mr. Fleming was not 
here when they appeared and I understand the other members were all through, 
but we agreed to postpone the balance of their evidence so Mr. Fleming could 
ask questions. I move that we adjourn until to-morrow so as not to have to 
change the agenda for next week.

The meeting stands adjourned until to-morrow.

The meeting adjourned at 1.05 p.m. to meet again Friday, June 27, 1947 at 
11.00 a.m.



APPENDIX “A”
(See also pp. 163-175, minutes of proceedings and evidence, May 13, 1947)

File No. J. L. Name Appraisal Sale Price VLA File Sold for 
by VLA Remarks

$ cts. $ cts. $ cts.

2862 92 Adachi, A ............................................... 988 00 970 00 BC/218-P
5058 9.3 Adachi, M. K.......................................... 1,222 00 1,222 00 B( 219 1’
5442 178 Amemori, A............................................ 855 00 839 00 BC/1880-A 839 00
5432 85 Araki, T ................................................ 850 00 834 00 BC/221-P
9363 110 Endo, 11.................................................... 419 00 411 00 BC/222-P
9363/4 111 Endo, T. and II...................................... 2,038 00 2,001 00 BC/223-P
2864 116 Fukami, K............................................... 1,400 00 1,374 00) BC/224-P
2864 116 Fukami, K............................................... 225 00 221 00/
2851 172 Fukami, K. M............................ 424 00 416 00 BC/225-P

11060 75 Fukawa, 8................................................ 1,158 00 1,137 00 BC/226-P
5573 31 Fujino, K........................ ......................... 2,085 00 2,047 00 BC/640-P
5573 31 Fujino, K.................................................. 125 00 12.3 (X)/

Int. 132 87 Hirai, S..................................................... 323 (X) 317 (X) BC/684-P Cancelled—Title not obtained.
2853 89 Hashimoto, II........................................ 1,560 (X) 1,532 00 BC/230-P
4999 82 Hayashi, G.............................................. 5.50 00 540 00 BC/231-P
6620 .33 Hayashi, K............................................ 977 00 959 (X) BC/232-P
.5438 14.3 Hashizume, E......................................... 570 00 560 00 BC/2.33-P 1
5438 143 Hashizume, E......................................... 2,326 00 2,284 00 BC/234-P l 5, .500 00 Westminster Priory Ltd.
5438 143 Hashizume, E......................................... 120 00 118 00 BC/235-P f
5438 143 Hashizume, E....................................... 1,795 (X) 1,763 (X) BC/236-P
4965 18 Hinatsu, Y............................................... 1,488 00 1,461 00 IK7237-P
4461 46 Hisaoka, I.............................................. 2.50 00 245 00 BC/1071-A 245 00
4461 46 Hisaoka, I.............................................. 1,351 00 1,327 00 BÇ/1071-A 1,327 00.5437 94 Ikebuchi, T............................................ 1,450 00 1,424 00 BC/2.39-P 926 00 1 part sold, 1 part remaining
.5444 50 Inouye, Y.............................................. 755 (X) 741 90 B C/662 P

(BC/2701-B).
6622 146 I to, D................................................ 2,000 00 1,964 00 BC/7.39 P To be cancelled—price too high.4612 84 Kadoyama, I........................................ 770 00 756 00 RC/242 P

13862 171 Kadonaga, T........................................... 731 00 718 00 BO/2158-B 718 (X)99.37 112 Kamimura, K..................................... 279 (X) 274 (X) BC/244-P
2859 117 Kato, K.................................................... 887 00 871 00 Bt 7663-P54.39 19 Kitagawa, Y.................................. 8.50 (X) 835 (X) Withdrawn—offer deficient,.5440 27 Konno, Y.................................................. 769 (X) 755 (X) RC/247 P
5440 27 Konno, Y............................................ 214 (X) 210 (X) RC/247 P
5574 118 Nagata, F........................................... 500 (X) 491 (X) BC/1071-A 491 006618 118 Kudo, M............................................. 668 (X) 656 00 BC/249-P
.5424 141 Kunimoto, K.............. ■................ 623 00 612 00 RC./250-P
.5424 141 1 Kunimoto, 8........................................ 1,835 00 1,802 (X) BC/2593-B 535 55 Land only—house destroyed by fire.2525 20 Mitsunaga, 'I................................... 610 00 599 00 BC/252-P
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2861
5441
5428
4741
4742 
2861

12875
2861

15607
•>419
2865
5430
2883
1352

10220
10220
10220
5435
5435
5575
5445

9332
5443
9331
28671
2705|

12227
4601
4601

133821
13587)
4616

5425
5578

9336 
2873 
3265 
5434 
3265 
2525 

Int. 1248 
Int. 713 
Int. 713 
Int.1111 
Int. 1111 

13693

32
24

107
108 

17 
17 
17

120
408

196
77
49

3
3
3

90
90

489
1

113
45

86

220
80
80
91

142

28
135

23
26

129

76

64
121
121
34
48
78

|/Morihama, T... 
Miyagatva, H... 
Miyagawa, T..
Mori, Y ............
Mori, Y. . ■■■•
Morivama, T . 
Moriyama, M . 
M oriyama, T . 
Nakamura, H 
Nakashima, T. 
N ishiyama, K . 
Nomura, Y 
Ogawa, K
Oda, K ...........
Ohashi, S..........
Ohashi, S..........
Ohashi, S..........
Okabc, D 
Okabe, D 
Okamura, M 
Okuma, Y.......
Oniskaki, S.......
Ohno, K............
Saito, K 
Saito. K 
Mrs. Shizu Saito 
Sakon, R. . 
Sakon, M 
Sakon, M

/Sakon, M............
(Sakon, I..............
Sasaki, C .........

Sato, S.................
Senda, K.............

Oikawa, M. N
Shimomura, T............
Shimoda, K

! Uycmura, I ................
■ Shimoda, K .............
Mitsunaga. T...........
Shiono, N. iIn Trust)
Shirakawa, T..............
Shirakawa, T..............
Towomura, M.............
Towomura, M...........
Tashiro, G...................

280 00 275 00

1,000 (HI 982 00
2,179 00 2,140 00

512 00 50,3 00
500 00 491 00
809 IK) 874 00

79 IKI 78 00
1,300 00 1,276 00

820 00 805 00
2,386 00 2,343 IKI
1,216 00 1,194 00

970 (HI 952 00
1,265 00 1,242 00
4,526 IK) 4,444 00

449 00 441 00
297 00 292 00

2,100 00 2,062 00
96 00 94 00

4,53 00 445 00
2,677 00 2,628 00

328 00 322 00
974 00 956 00

1,600 00 1,571 00
1,000 00 982 00

4,229 00 4,152 00
1,796 00 1,764 00

424 00 416 00
514 00 505 00

763 00 749 00

715 00 702 00
1,775 00 1,743 00

1,622 00 1,593 00
1,190 00 1,168 IKI

775 00 761 00

492 00 483 00

577 00 567 00
450 00 442 00

1,422 00 1,396 00
600 00 589 IKI
539 00 529 00

1,600 00 1,571 00

BC/253-P

BC/2084-R
BV/664 P
BC/256-P
BC/257-P
BC/2458-B
BC/1017-P
BC/259-P
BV/1423-A
BV/672-P
BC/262-P
BC/263-P
BC/2518-A
BC/265-P
BC/266-P
BV/267-P
BC/2134-B
BV/269-P

BC/271-P

BC/2088-R
BV/686-P
BV/274-P
BV/275-P

BC/233-A
BV/277-P
BV/278-V
BV/279-P

BC/280-P

BC/281-P
BV/665-P

BV/1651-R 
BV/284-P 
BC/285-P

BC/286-P

BV/287-P
BC/288-P
BC/289-P
BC/290-P
BC/291-P
BC/293-P

S74 (Kl

Cancelled—title not obtained
805 00

1,242 00

2,062 00

2,628 00 

322 00

4,152 00

520 80

1,743 00

1,189 55

Cancelled, not suitable.
(Sold in 2 parts) (BC/2304-B and 

BC/2482- B).

(1 part sold, 1 part remaining)
, (BC/2394-B).

Sold in two parts, BC/2644-A and -25 
acre pci. to Farmers' Association of 
Mission for sum of $150.00.

($403.95 received from timber sales).

Cancelled—title not obtained. 
Cancelled—title not obtained. 
Subdivision—see appendix No. 2.

Cancelled—title not obtained.
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File No. J. L.

2875 79
5579 21

Int. 5579 22
let. 1113 114

5576 25
4962 51
5581/
9320 136
5434 47
5434 47
3267 88
3267 88
2881 83
.5421 29
5421 29

Int. 736 181
5060 184
5060 184
2857- 145

2855 145
5433 173

6620 33
5437 94
1572 198
4529 169
2889 170
4963 119
4960 177
5441 179

5426 182
2287 183
.5445 1
5425 174
2871 144
5420 23
5420 23

13222 168
2879 180

Name

Tashiro, E...................
Tate be, K....................
Tate be, K....................
Tateyama, 8...............
Tsuji, K........................
Tsuji, T........................
Tsuji, S.........................
Umestu, K. (in trust)
Uyemura, I.................
Uyemura, I.................
Wat ana be, Y...............
Watanabe, Y...............
Yako, T.......................
Yanoshita, T..............
Yanoshita, T...............
Aoki, C.........................
Aoki, K....................
Aoki, K........................
Hattori, 8....................

Hattori, M...................
Hayashi, T..................

Hayashi, K............
Ikebuchi, T............
I to, Y.......................
Kirnura, I...............
Kinoshita, A..........
Kodama, T............
Matsushita, J........
Miyagawa, H........

Nakashima, U....
Okamura, 8...........
Okuma, Y..............
Sato, 8.....................
Shigehiro, K.........
Shikaze, K.............
Shikaze, K.............
Takamoto, 8.........
Yahiro, Kin..........

ppraisal Sale Price VLA File Sold for 
by VLA

$ cts. $ cts. t cts.

499 00 490 00 BC/294-P
1,100 00 1,080 00 BC/295-P

760 00 746 00 BC/296-P
565 00 555 00 BC/297-P
800 00 1,188 60 BC/2401-B 1,188 60
460 00 452 00

1,861 00 1,827 00 BC/300-P
260 00 255 00 BC/302-P

1,325 00 1,301 00 BC/301-P
1,200 00 1,178 00 BC/303-P

235 00 231 00 BC/304-P
360 00 353 00 BC/660-P

1,850 00 2,095 00 BC/742/P
555 00 545 00
195 00 191 00 BC/308-P
885 00 869 00 BC/309-P
188 00 185 00 BC/310-P

1,377 00 1,352 00 BC/311-P 1,425 00

110 00 108 00 BC/311-P
793 00 779 00 BC/313-P

368 00 361 00
615 00 604 00 BC/314-P
8.50 00 835 00 BC/315-P

1,420 00 1,394 00 BC/316-P
880 00 864 00 BC/317-P
880 00 864 00 BC/318-P

91 00 89 00 BC/319-P
340 00 334 00 BC/320-P 334 00

2,190 00 2,150 00 BC/321-P
299 00 294 00 BC/322-P
240 00 236 00 BC/323-P
130 00 128 00 BC/324-P

1,151 00 1,130 00 B< -125-P
1,875 00 1,841 00

552 00 ,542 00 BC/327-P
225 00 221 00 BC/328-P

1,785 00 1,753 00 BC/329-P 1,465 00

Remarks

Subdivision—see Appendix 2. 

Withdrawn.

Subdivision—see Appendix 2. 

Subdivision—see Appendix 2.

Withdrawn.

(1 pci.) Purchase price $1,425.00 
(BC/349-B).

Purchase price $426.00. Custodian having 
recovered $353.00 insurance on house 
destroyed by fire.

Sold June, 1942.

Sold in 4 parts (BC/62Ô-B, BC/2045-B, 
BC/2646-B and BC/2647-B).

Withdrawn.
Subdivision—see Appendix 2.

Sold in 2 parts—Cost price $1,465.00 
(BC/2432-B and BC/2503-B).
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11525
7008
8654
5993
27671
5992

12585

5318
5831
1263
5284'
6399,
2761
5069
MOI
3368
7348
3325

131
5431
M31
7346
4230
2281
4820
2860
7376
6930
6930
6930
. .564
6659
9374

767
4620
7000
7001
4833
4846
. 162
8794
8662
5403

5403
5-103
7352
1437
1302

=3353

Abe, M.......
Aomoto, !.. 
Arinobu, H. 
Arinobu, M. 
Arise, E.... 
Ariza, M... 
Fujii, Y.. . .

Fujita, H.............................
Nukano, R..........................
Iwato, S...............................
Otani, K...............................
Otani, Y...............................
Fujita, Y..............................
l'ujino, S..............................
Fuiishige, T........................
Fujiwara, T.........................
Fukuda, T.;........................
Fukunaga, S........................
Furuya, M. and Co. Ltd.
Furukawa, G......................
Furukawa, G......................
Furukawa, K.....................
F'uruse, K............................
Go, T....................................
Goryo, Y.............................
Goto, G...............................
Gyotoku, U........................
Ham aura, 8........................
Hamaura, 8........................
Hamaura, 8........................
Hara, K...............................
Hayami, M.........................
Hidaka, T..........................
Hidaka, K..........................
Hiramatsu, T ...................
Hirowatan, H...................
Hirowatari, T....................
Hisanaga, M...................
Hisanaga, M.......................
Hori, G................................
Hori, S ...... .........................
Horiuchi, Y........................
Hosaki, 8............................

Hosaki, 8___
Hosaki, 8 . 
Hoyano, T. 
Yamasaki, K. 
Okasakil, L

1,831 00 
1,885 (X) 

612 (XI

1,509 00

1,218 00

2,808 00

729 00

1,094 00 
1,537 1X1 
1,155 00 

264 00 
1,000 00 

25 (X) 
521 00 

1,400 00 
731 00 

1,700 00 
170 (IV 
257 00 
531 00 
6M 00 

1,127 00 
47 00 
96 00 

202 00 
836 (X) 

1,147 00 
292 00

203 00 
1,680 00 
1,680 00 

924 00 
150 00 
350 00

878 00 
3,170 00

285 00 
744 00

940 00

1,798 00 
1,851 00 

601 (X)

BC/6-P
BC/6-P

1,564 00 BC/1552-B 1,564 00
1,482 00 BC/8-P

1,196 00 BC/9-P 865 00

2,757 00 BC/196-A 2,757 00

716 00 BC/1909-B 716 00

1,074 00 BC/12-P
1,509 00 BC/1240-A 1,809 00
1,134 00

259 00 BC/14-P
982 (X) BC/15-P

25 (X) BC/16-P
512 1X1 BC/17-P

1,375 00 BC/2498-A 1,375 (X)
718 00 BC/2211-B 718 (X)

1,669 00 BC/1348-A 1,669 IK)
167 00 BC/21-P
252 (X) RC/22-P
522 00 BC/23-P
642 00 BC/24-P

1,106 00 BC/25-P
46 (XI
94 00 BC/26-P 3,050 00

198 00
821 00

1,126 00 BC/2150-B 1,126 00
287 00 BC/28-P

199 00 BC/29-P
1,650 00 BC/1551-B 1,650 00
1,650 00

907 00 BC/2420-B 907 00
147 00 NC 32-P
344 00 BC/1267-B 344 00

862 00 BC/1648-B 862 00
3,113 00 BC/35-P

280 00 BC/36-P
731 00 BC/2262-B 731 00

923 00 BC/2190-B 923 00

Cancelled, title not obtained.

1 part sold, 1 part remaining 
(BC/2710-B).

Sold prior to evacuation.

Cancelled, title not obtained. 
Cancelled, title not obtained. 
Cancelled, title not obtained.

Cancelled—title not obtained.

Subdivision, see appendix No. 8.
These lots sold by public tender to­

gether with J.L. 147 to William 
Minty (or $3 050.00.

Sold May 1942.

Only 1 property.

Subdivision—see appendix 5.
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File No. J. L.

7353 682
Int. 402 683

6988 314
0996 216
6933
6929 345
7378
6995 2.54
8823 366
9379 390
6990 309
6983 310
3413 376

736 358
3415 359
7349 35
8059 389

13606
12273 684
8791 342

14172/
8796 353
8667 149
5281 187
7342 194
8670 68
9386 1.54
4981 127

11970 138
8790 3.50
2759 175
2885 166
8272 246
8308 279
8673/
5283 263
6981
6980 176
6982
3425 348
2924/

Name

Hoyaho (Mrs.) Y
Ichikawa, H.........
Ikeda, K
Imada, K..............
Imada, T ...........

' Imada, K..............
Imada, T..............
Imada, Y
Iinuma, T..............
Inonyc, Y..............
Isoshima, T.........
Isoshima, Y. .
Itaya, W............
Iwamoto, T........
Iwamoto, 8.......
Iwase, T............

/Kajuira, H..........
Kajuira, D.........
Kanzaki, T...........

/Kato, K...............
Sato, S.................
Kato, 8................
Katsuno, C..........
Kawashima, A 
Kawamoto, M. 
Kawamoto, 3....
Kido, K...........
Kido, 8..........
Kik i, T 
Kobayashi, K
Koga, 8................
Koga, T...............
Kobara, C...........

/Kohy, T., Mrs ..
Kohy, Y..............
Kojima, I............
Kosaka, J............
Kosaka, T .........
Kosaka, M .. .. 

/Kosaka, K 
\ Kosaka, M..........

Appraisal Sale Price VLA File Sold for 
by VLA

$ cts. $ cts. $ cts. $ cts.

Remarks

3,635 00 
2,760 00 
1,9S6 00 
3,038 00

3,569 00 
2,710 00 
1,950 00 
2,983 00

BC/2196-A 
B( 72052-A 
BC/1733-B 
BC/2360-A

3,569 00 
2,710 00 
1,950 00 

916 78 Fire loss recovery $2,066.22.

392 00 385 00 BC/42-P

1,350 00 
252 00 

Nil 
860 00 

2,269 00 
.501 00 
306 00 
771 00 

1,305 90 
1,660 00

1,326 00 
248 00 

Nil 
850 00 

2,228 00 
492 00 
359 00 
757 00 

1,281 00 
1,630 00

BC/2698- A 
BC/771-B

BC/45-P
BC/1370-A
BC/47-P
BC/48-P
BC/49-P
BC/2636-B
BC/1592-B

1,326 00 
248 00 J. L. 354 also sold—same account.

2,228 00

1,256 00 
1,630 00

Fire loss recovery $25.00.

3,728 00 
49 00

3,661 00 
48 00

BC/52-P
BC/53-P

552 00 
1,870 00 

627 00 
270 00 

1,770 00 
1,000 00 
1,196 00 

.504 00 
281 00 

1,516 00 
1,434 00 

684 00 
1,558 00

1,571 00

.542 00 
1,836 00 

616 00 
265 00 

1,738 00 
982 00 

1,174 00 
405 00 
276 00 

1,489 90 
1,408 00 

672 00 
1,530 00

BC/2670-B
BC72053-B
BC/2317-B
BC/57-P
BC/58-P
BC/1425-C
BC/2350-B

.542 00 
1,836 00 

616 00

982 00 
1,174 00

BC/61-P
BC/2051-B
BC/2034-B
BC/64-P
BC/251-B

1,480 00 
1,408 (HI

1,530 00

Subdivision—see appendix 5.

Sold by Official Administrator. 

Purchased price, $1,489.00.

1,543 00 BC/2105-B 1,543 00

3,145 00 3,088 00 BC/67-P

496 00 487 00 BC/702-B 487 00

VLA records show the J.L. No. to be 
685.
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69041
6987
73621
9351
7361';
73601
9587
9587
9588 
4652 
7004 
5282 
2001 \ 
2633! 
8674 
8677 
5285 
.5402
7350 
3445 
4836

48311
4830
2757
34011
3403)
8797
3360
6986
6984
7366 
86801 
8682/
7351 
7351 
3409 
7375

201 
47961 
4832 
6977 
69721 

12001 
7354 
69281 

13467)
7367
7368 
5975 
5974

176

73

74

55
55

161
162
287

285
199

209 
686 
261 
284
36

346
270

264

210 
320

130
130
290
286
248
193

42
42

3.54
71

363
157

307

256
69

322

66

43 
43

K osaka, M 
Kosaka, K 
Kumamoto, H 
Kumamoto, T 
Kumamoto, K 
Kumamoto, T.
Kusano, K.......
lvusano, K.
M aehara, K 
M aehara, M 
Makino, M 
Matsume, T
Matsuo, K.........
Matsuo, S..........
Matauoka, T 
Miyasaki, M 
Matsunie, I 
Matsumoto, Y..
Mende. S............
Miki, Y...... .
Miahima, T.. ..

(Miyake, T..............
/Miyake, N..............
Mitani, H 
Miyanaga, Y 

\Miyanaga, Mrs. K.
Morishige, F...........
Nishikawa, S.........
Moehiiuki, N.........
Moehiiuki, S...........
Morikawa, K.........
Morikawa, M

\Morikawa, F..........
Mukai, O.................
Mukai, O.................
Mukaia, K
Mukuda, N ........
Naheta, M .......
Nahuto, F. Mrs. .
Nabuto, K ............
Yoshihara, 1 .......

1 Yoshihara, H
Nngao, M .......
Nakahara, H 
Nakamuar, M
Nakamura. H........
Nakano, A 
Nakano, A 
Nakano, J . 
Nakano, J................

418 00

1,482 00

701 00

430 00
2,241 00

,500 00
1,110 00
1,300 00
1,100 00

755 00

1,443 00
3,345 00

484 00
419 00
131 (X)
939 00

1,000 00

402 00

997 00
765 00

,503 00
722 (X)

2,258 00
2,074 00
3,156 00
1,577 00

2,384 00
590 00

2,558 00
894 00
212 00
466 00

1,000 00

1,728 00
2,405 00
2,187 (X)

1,000 00
818 00

2,913 00
Included

above

410 00 

1,455 00

688 00

422 00 
2,200 00 

491 00 
1,090 00 
1,276 00 
1,080 00 

741 00

1,417 00 
3,284 00 

475 00
411 00 
129 00 
922 00 
982 00

395 00

979 00 
751 00

494 00 
709 00 

2,217 00 
2,036 00 
3,099 00 
1,548 00

2,341 00 
579 00 

2,512 00 
878 00 
208 00 
458 00

982 00

1,697 00 
2,362 00 
2,147 00

982 00 
803 00 

2,560 00 
300 00

BC/69-P

BC/70-P

BC/71-P

BC/72-P

BC/2027-A
BC/2027-A
BC/75-P
BC/78-P
BC/2147-B

BC/298-B
BC/1378-A
BC/80-P
BC/81-P
BC/2558-B
BO/2.318-B
BC/84-P

BC/85-P

BC/86-P
BC/87-P

BC/88-P
BC/89-P
BO/2452 A
BC/2621-B 
BO/92-P 
BO/93-P

BC/1007-B
BC/95-P
BO/771-B

BO/98 P

BC/2374-B

BO/100-P
BO/101-P
BC/2554-A

BO/1682-B
BC/104-P
BC/661-A

Subdivision—soo Appendix 1. 

Subdivision—see Appendix 1.

Sold June, 1943.

129 00 
922 00 
452 00

491 00 
1,090 00

Fire loss recovery $738.75.

736 00 Fire loss recovery $5.00.

1,417 00 
3,284 00

1 part sold, 1 part remaining 
(BC/2526-B).

2,217 00 
2,036 00

2,341 00 

2,512 00

982 00

2,147 00 

982 00 

2,860 00

Subdivision—see appendix 1.

Sudbivision—see appendix 8.
J.L. 366 also sold—same account . 
Sold by Custodian prior to June/42.

Sold by Custodian July /42.

Subdivision—see appendix 5.

Subdivision—see appendix 1.
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e No.

7377
7364
7373
.04571
13949/
1937
5821
8047
3955
28391
2843/
8685
8689
86871
8688’

5230
8802
59721
8676,'
8695
4837
4838
484 If
5003
86921
8666'

4222
2837
5278
69741
6970/
6970
4980
8699
8698
2835
9214
2543
4835
6991

10105
7359
7374

Name

S':ik a no, 8.......
Sakano, Y....
Sakata, Y.......
Samba, A.......
Samba, S.......
Samba, M.......
Nikaido, M . . 
Natsuyara, K 
Nishimoto, K. 
Ddaguchi, F... 
Ddaguchi, E... 
Ddamura, T 
Odamura, T . . 
Odamura, T. ., 
Odamura, N...
Ogawa, 8.........
Ogawa, R.........
Ohta, Y............
Miyamota, 8..
Oike, K..........
Oka, S..............
Oka, T..............
Oka, M.............
Okabc, K........
Okada, T.........
Karatsu, N.... 
Okahaahi, M.
Okano, K........
Okano, M.......
Oki, H..............
Oki, T.............
Oki, T...............
Okubo, F.........
Omura, S.........
Omura, S.......
Onagi, K........
Mori, H. Mrs.. 
Osato, 8.. 
Oiamoto, M.
Ryoji, K........
Sakaki, T.......
Sakamoto, M. 
Sano, 8...........

:::}

ppraisal Sale Price VLA File Sold for 
by VLA Remarks

$ cts.

770 00

S cts.

756 00 BC/106-P

$ cts.

1,249 00 1,226 00 BC/1170-B 1,226 00
572 00 562 (X) BC/108-P

2,482 00 2,437 00 BC/1593-A 2,437 00

207 00 203 00 BC/2671-B 203 00
644 00 632 00 BC/lll-P

2,363 00 2,320 00 BC/112-P
250 00 246 00 BC/113-P
598 00 587 00 BC/217-A 587 00 J.L. 212 also sold same account.

2,955 00 2,902 00 BC/303-A 2,902 00
47 00 46 00 BC/116-P

304 00 299 00 BC/117-P

53 00 52 00 BC/118-P
1,343 00 1,319 00 B< V2386-B 1,319 00
1,050 00 1,031 00 BC/121FP

3,454 00 3,392 00 BC/121-P Subdivision—see Appendix No. G.
1,300 00 1,276 00 BC/1881 B 1,276 00
1,900 00 1,866 00 BC/1543-A 1,866 00

1,139 00 1,118 00 BC/1911-B 1,118 00
1,051 00 1,032 00 BC/125-P

133 00 131 00 BC/126-P Cancelled—title not obtained.
2,404 00 2,31X1 00 BC/2282 A 2,360 00 J.L. 163 also sold same account.

210 00 206 00 BC/128-P
1,579 00 1,551 00 BC/129-P

48 00 47 00 BC/130-P
947 00 930 00 BC/131-P
600 00 589 00 BC/132-P

3,010 00 2,955 00 BC/133-P
7.50 00 736 00 BC/2282-A 736 00 J.L. 186 also sold, same account.
330 00 324 00 BC/135-P

1,812 00 1,779 (X) BC/217-A 1,779 00 J.J. 247 also sold, same account.
995 (X) 977 00 BC/137-P

1,504 00 1,380 00 BC/1491-B 1,380 00
100 00 98 00 BC/139-P
268 00 263 (X) BC/140-P

2,145 00 2,106 00 BC/141-P
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3419 460 Sawada, T.............................................. 986
7369 10 Sawayama, G........................................ 847

Int. 879 304 Seko, S....................................................... 1,324
6989 214 Soo, M...................................................... 363
2887 38 Seto, M.................................................... 1,415
3370 362 Shigemi, T................................................ 901
2797 150 Shimizu, ,1................................................. 2,028

11297 129 Shimoda, K........................................... 507
8815 351 Shimizu, R............................................... 276
8703 258 Shimoji, S............................................... 918
9327 276 Shimoji, K................................................ 900
9401 123 Shin, S. Z.................................................. 1,861

9402 311 Shin, Y....................................................... ‘ 752
6993 282 Shishido, E............................................... 1,000
3417 360 Shono, K................................................... 699

12276 365 Shoji, G. Y............................................... 1,305
tot. 1347 147 Sunada, T................................................ 96

61611 280 /Tada, G....................................................\ 505
8706! \Tnda, T....................................................1
5453 378 Tahara, R................................................. 1,260
1496 415 Tahara, T.................................................. 102

11617 185 Tnkagi, D................................................. 525
4971 40 Takahash......................s......................... 1,116
8710 275 Takasaki, S.............................................. 1,200
8710 275 Tnkasaki, S............................................... 260
7357 15 Takashima, T.......................................... 1,300
8003 60 Takashima. Y......................................... 240
6409 70 Takashita, T............................................ 2,184
9612 134 Takeuchi, M............................................. 46x8
9410 133 Takeuchi, Y............................................. 833
9405 155 Tnkiguchi, H. (Mrs.)............................ 495
9405 126 Takiguchi, H........................................... 179
8714 101 Takimoto, Y............................................ N
6661 158 Kakumasu, S........................................... 274
6968 215 Tamura, J.................................................. 2,161
5280\ 224 Tamura. M............................................... 2,130
5316/ ITamura, Y................................................
5279V 72 J Tamura, M............................................... 676
5286j (Tamura, T................................................
4840 273 Tanaka, S.................................................. 750
4840 273 Tanaka, S.................................................. 522
4840 273 Tanaka, S.................................................. 1,797
4844 272 Tanaka, Y................................................. 1,125
4845 271 Tanaka, M ........................................... 196
5287 262 Taniguchi, R............................................ 2,572
5287 262 Taniguchi, R............................................ 96
6978 241 Tateishie, T.............................................. 295 83

88
88

88
 8 8

88
"8

88
88

88
8S

8S
8S

 S 8
SS

SS
 8SS

SS
SS

SS
38

S 968 (X) BC/142 P
832 00 BC/143-P

1,300 00 BC/2542 -B 1,300 00
356 (X) BC ) 145 P

1,389 00 BC/488-B 1,389 00
885 00 BC/147-P

1,991 00 BC/148-P
498 00 BC/149-1*
271 00 BC/160-F
901 IX) BC 151 P
884 (X) BC 152 P

1,827 00 BC/2058-A 1,593 16

738 00 BC/154-P
982 (X) BG/155-P
686 00 BC 2110 B 686 00

1,404 28 BC/167-P
95 00 BC/158-P 3,050 00

496 00 BC/159-P

1,237 00 BC/269-B 1,237 00
100 00 BC/161-P
516 00 BC/162-P

1,180 00 BC/163-P
1,178 (X) BC/372 B 1,178 00

255 00 BC/164-P
1,277 01) BC/1589-B 1,277 00

236 (X) BC/2568- B 236 00
2,145 00 BC/168-P

460 00 BC/169-P
818 00 BC/170-1*
486 00 BC/171-P
176 00 BC/172-P
Nil

269 00 BC/173-P
2,122 00 BC/1996-A 2,122 00
2,091 00 BC/175-P

664 00 BC/l-P

736 00 BC/176-P
513 (X)

1,765 00 BC/525-B 1,765 00
1,105 00 BC 2359-B 1,105 00

192 00 BC/179-P
2,525 001 BC/745-A 2,619 00

94 0(1!
290 00 BC/181-P

Cancelled—title not obtained.

Purchase price $1,600., sale of stumpage 
$6.84, J.L. 132 also sold, same account.

This lot sold by public tender together 
with J.L. 151 to William Minty.

Subdivision—sec Appendix No. 0.

Subdivision—see Appendix 1. 

Title not obtained.
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File No. J. L. Name Appraisal Sale Price VLA File Sold for 
by VLA Remarks

$ cts. $ cts. $ cts.

5958 52 Tazumi, A................................................ 1,200 00 
175 00

1,178 00 
172 00

BC/182-P
BC/183-P
BC/184-P
BC/185-P
BC/4-P
BC/2623-B

Subdivision—see Appendix 8.
5958 52 Tazumi, A................................................
2925 379 Tokuyasu, Y........................................... 388 00 381 00
4220 102 Teramura, N........................................... 930 00 913 00
2852 152 Tomita, M................................................ 1,012 00 994 00
3399. 131 JIkeda, Ÿ................................................... 488 00 479 00 479 00
3411/ Tsujita, T...................................
3411 344 Tsujita, T................................................. 605 00 594 00 BC/187-P

BC/188-P
BC/189-P
BC/2058-A
BC/191-P
BC/192-P

13554 37 Tsujiura, T............................................... 336 00 330 00 Cancelled, title not obtained.
9321 160 Tusuyuki, I.............................................. 434 00 426 00
9321 132 Uchimaru, I . ..................................... 1,219 00 

174 00
1,197 00 

171 00
1,197 00 J. L. 123 also sold, same account.

4821 323 Uchimaru, K..........................................
9416 347 / Umetsu, K............................................... 1,088 00 1,068 00 Purchase being cancelled.

Int. 1414/ Umetsu, T................................................
4842 189 Ura, I........................................................

Utsonomiya, G.......................................
1,265 00 1,242 00 BC/1918-B 1,242 00

4839 206 1,750 00 
503 00

1,718 00 BC/194-P
BC/195-P
BC/196-P
BC/197-P
BC/198-P
BC/199-P
BC/200-P

Int. 366 124 Uyeno, H................................................. 553 00
3366 380 Wada, K................................................... 293 00 288 00
4823 392 Wakahara, S............................................ 1,580 00 

2,720 00 
1,514 00 
1,222 00

1,551 00 
2,677 00 
1,487 00

13057 97 Wakayama, K........................................
5451 364 Yakashiro, T..........................................
5451 356 /Yakashiro, T.......................................... 1,200 00
3405/ Taniguchi, K.....................................
6660 253 Yamaga, Y.............................................. 1,614 00 

50 00
1,585 00 

49 00
BC/2597-B
BC/202-P
BC/202-P
BC/1912-B
BC/204-P
BC/2316-B
BC/206-P
BC/207-P

1,585 00
7371 44 Yamamoto, K........................................
7371 44 Yamamoto, K........................................ 50 00 49 00
7370 62 Yamamoto, R.................................. 1,416 00 

685 00
1,390 00 

673 00
1,390 00

11243 207 Yamamoto, T. now Taku, T.............
8716 278 Yamamoto, U........................ ............. 2,080 00 

590 00
2,042 00 

579 00
2,042 00

8717 139 Yamasaki, N..........................................
6992, 315 /Yamasaki, G.......................................... 738 00 725 00

12228/ 1 Yoshizaki, Y...........................................
6663! 165 /Yokoyama, A......................................... 1,028 00 1,009 00 BC/208-P
6664/ \ Yokoyama, T.....................................
6662 218 Yokoyama, T......................................... 775 00 741 00 BC/209-P

BC/210-P
BC/211-P
BC/1272-A

6976 291 Yoneyrna, R........................................... 1,420 00 
978 (X)

1,394 00 
960 008719 312 Yoshida, G..............................................

8721 208 Yoshida, M.............................................. 2,765 00 2,715 00 2,715 00
5288 190 Yoshida, Y............................................ 1,681 00 1,651 00 BC/1939-B 1,651 00
6975 104 Yoshida, E.............................................. 1,925 00 1,890 00 BC/2163-A 1,890 00
6972 691 Yoshihara, R......................................... 3,689 00 3,622 00 BC/215-P

BC/1544-B7383 99 Yoshikawa, B........................................ 1,550 00 1/522 00 1,522 00
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Int. 1357 
10660 
7373 
376 

5095 
5994 
9364 
3941 
5089 
5990 
6685 
5988 
4965 
6977 

13930 
13930 
4988 
4498 
4618 
4528 
5983

Int. 305 
«618 

13387 
5981 
86521 
3961/ 
6430 
5979

6624
8675
4524
3945
4506

7366
4990 
5976 
3957 
3955 
4512 
4512 
4496;

Int. 1268) 
4226 
7832 
3949
4991

257 Yoshino, K............................................... 1,705 00
9 Yoehioka, A........................................... 1,822 (X)
8 Yoshioka, K........................................ 1,376 (XI

231 A intake, S................................................ 943 (M)
228 Adachi, Y............................................. 431 1X1
205 Amano, S................................................... 475 00
109 Kudo, T..................................................... 1,081 (X)
244 Eto, S......................................................... 2,887 (X)
227 Fugikawa, S............................................. 1,255 00
202 Fugikawa, G............................................ 980 00
266 H and a, M 78 (X)
743 Haraga, M. 1,246 00

18 1 linntsu, Y................................................ 57TT00
191 Morizaki, F............................................... 1,694 00
678 Imamura, K 1,006 00
678 I mamm a, K............................................. 1,649 00
295 Imamura, K............................................. 389 00
293 Inouye, S. 840 (X)
112 Kami mura, K. 1,379 00
301 Katsura, 8................................................. 1,251 00
340 Kawana, K....................... 2,094 (X)
234 Kinoshita. M............................................ 4.85 00
200 Kodama, S....... 2,114 00
265 Kunimoto, 8........................................... 1,639 00
245 lxusano. A.. 1,653 (X)
252 Maruyama, S....................................... .1

Maruyama, S........................................
726 (X)

269 Masuda, S.................................................. 797 (X)
221 Matsui, I.................................................... 1,385 00

203 Matsumoto, S. ................................ 340 00
238 Matsuoka, H............................................ 738 00
679 Miki, M.................................................... 2,555 (X)
251 Mimura, T. J............................................ 666 00
225 Miyasaki, S............................................... 2,255 00

248 Morikawa, K............................................ 998 00
294 Morikawa, T............................................ 1, (X17 (XI
233 Murakami, 11....................................... 450 00
298 Nakamura, S. 1,250 00

65 Nishimoto, K. 2,942 00
267 Noda, G..................................................... 192 (X)
267 Noda, (1..................................................... 1,075 00
237 , Ogata, K... .... ........

\ Nakagawa, G...........................................
2,224 00

239 Oka, Ü. (Mrs.).................................... 488 00
250 Orida, 1. 620 00
249 Orida, M............................................... 063 00
300 Oye, C........................................................ 2,100 00

1,674 00 BC/2047-B 1,674 00
1,789 (X) BC 185-P.
1,351 (X) lie 97 I*

020 (M) BC/353 1’
423 (K) B( ' 2264-A 423 (XI
466 (HI BC 2520- B 466 (XI

1,061 (X) B( ' 356 1*
2,835 (XI BC 7357-1*
1,232 (XI BC 358-1*

962 (XI BC 2267-B 962 (XI
76 (X) B( ' '300-P

1 22S 00 H( 301 R
854 (XI BC/362-P

1,663 (XI BC 363 1*
991 00 BC/384-P

1,619 (XI B( ' 215-A
382 (X) BC 365-V
825 (X) B( ' 366-P

1,854 (III BC 367-1*
1,228 (X) B< 7368-P
2,056 00 B( ' 2048-A 2,056 00

476 (XI BC 370-1*
2,076 (X) BC/371-P
1,609 (X) BC 600-P
1,623 (X) BC 372-1*

713 00 BC/373 P

783 00 BC/661-P
1,360 00 BC/374-P 1,061 40

334 00 BC/736-P
725 00 BC/375-P

2,509 (X) BC/376-P
644 00 BC 377-P

2,214 00 BC/2152-A 2,189 00

080 00 BC/379-P
989 00 BC/380-P
442 (X) BC/381-P

1,227 (X) BC 382 1*
2,889 00 BC/383-P

189 (X)
1,055 00 BC/2151-A 1,055 00
2,184 00 BC/385-P

479 00 BC/386-P
609 00 BC/387-P
651 00 BC/388-P

2,062 00 BC/343-A 2,062 00

Subdivision sec Appendix No. 9.

Subdivision—soc Appendix No. 4. 
Subdivision—see Appendix No. 4.

V.L.A. records this as L.J. 197.

Subdivision—see Appendix No. 9.

1 part sold, 1 part remaining 
(BC/2441-B).

0-888 acres sold to Munie, of Matsqi 
for $25.00.

Title not obtained.

Cancelled, title not obtained,



File No. J. L. Name Appraisal Sale Price VLA File Sold for 
by VLA Remarks

$ eta. $ eta. $ cts. $ eta.

9310 260 Saito, T.......................................................... 792 00 778 00 BC/390-P
5577 222 Sameshima, M............................................ 1,892 00 1,858 00 BC/391-P
5964 223 Sasaki, R....................................................... 3,278 00 3,219 00 BC/392-P
7038 174 Sato, S............................................................ 1,555 00 C527 00 BC/393-P
5184 204 Shilaze, Y..................................................... 390 00 382 00 BC/394-P
5436 204 Shikaze, Y.................................................... 292 00 287 00

Int. 713' 121 /Shirakawa, T............................................ \ 1,826 00 1,793 00 BC/395-P Cancelled, title not obtained.
4602] Inaba, M...................................................... /
5961 230 Sugiyama, K................................................ 1,849 00 1,816 00 BC/396-P
4653 302 Tahara, S...................................................... 726 00 713 00 BC/397-P
4500 303 Taise, H......................................................... 812 00 797 00 Foreclosed.
5531 292 Tajiri, K........................................................ 475 00 466 00 BC/398-P
8708 201 Takake, K.................................................... 610 00 600 00 BC/399-P
7040 324 Tanaka, T..................................................... 456 00 448 00 BC/400-P
4504 319 Taniyama, S................................................ 921 00 940 00 BC/401-P

148851 (Tateishi, Ï. (Dec’d)..............................
3941 226 Eto, S............................................................ 672 00 660 00 Withdrawn—died prior to 26/2/42.
.5000 Okabe, T.....................................................

13380 259 Tsutsumi, H................................................. 2,067 00 2,030 00 BC/402-P
4502 299 Tsutsumi, M................................................ 1,266 00 1,204 00 BC/403-P

14041 296 Yamada, S................................................... 2,370 00 2,327 00 BC/404-P Subdivision—see Appendix No. 4.
13385 240 Yamamoto, I......................................y.. l’340 00 1,316 00 BC/405-P
5044 268 Yamamoto, K............................................ 800 00 785 00 BC/2567-A 785 00

13142 235 Yamamoto, S.............................................. 1,795 00 1,762 00 BC/2468rA 1,762 00
5582 232 Yanoshita, S................................................ 470 00 461 00 BC/2596-B 461 00
5953 229 Yasumatsu, K............................................ 2,453 00 2,409 00 BC/409-P

Int. 725 297 Yonemitsu, K. (in U.S.A.).................. 1,555 00 1,527 00 BC/410-P
3965 371 Abo, K ................................ 735 00 722 (X) BC/283-P
8052 333 Akaye, K...................................................... 161 00 158 00 BC/298-P Cancelled, title not obtained.
333.1 335 Chiba, K....................................................... 245 00 241 00 BC/299-P
8653 394 Eto, B............................................................. 1,136 00 1,115 00 BC/2674-C 1,115 00
3967 370 Eto, K.......................................................... 1,732 00 1,701 00 BC/2598-A 1,701 00
3967 370 Eto, K............................................................ 453 00 455 00 BC/2598-A 455 00
6642 332 Fujimoto, M.............................................. 1,659 00 1,629 00 BC/1440-A 1,629 mi

Int. 1276 336 /Tshikawa, J................................................ 1 200 00 196 00 BC/469-C 196 00
7384 Ishikawa, I................................................
8646 327 Kinoshita, S............................................ 1,483 (X) 1,456 (X) BC/331-P
3923 328 Fu ko mo to, K.............................................. 1,290 00 1,207 00 BC/2065-A 1,267 (X)

10225 330 Kamaehi, O................................................. 1,000 00 982 (X) BC/333-P
3959 334 Kinoshita, K............................................. 1,263 00 1,240 00 BC/2312-B 1,240 00
3959 334 Kinoshita, K............................................. 50 00 49 00 BC/2312-B Cancelled, title not obtained.13004 1 326 Kinoshita, K............................................. 465 00 456 00 BC/335-P
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13004 326 Kinoshita, K....................................... 110
3921 676 Kitagawa, M..................................... 2,080
9053 744 Masuhara, A ....................................... 1,303
86.50 381 Mockizuki, T......................................... 569

11544 373 Morishita, N............................................ 2,654
3119 339 Nagara, G.............................................. 182
8648 406 Nako, H................................................ 1,867

11519 329 Nishiguchi, M. Co. Ltd....................... 120
11519 329 Nishiguchi, M. Co. Ltd....................... 660
11519 320 Nishiguchi, M. Co. Ltd..................... 1,023
3963 372 Nitta, M.............................................. 1,481

lit. 1377 337 Oseki, N.................................................... 31X1
1656 338 Oshivo, E................................................ 174
8981 325 Ota, V...................................................... 496
9072 355 Oyama, S. ........................................... 1,833
8645 393 Sakamoto. Y......................................... 750

11415 382 Shibata, C .............................................. 607
3947 404 Shigchiro, O........................................... 986
3943 369 Takaoka, H.......................................... 1,312
3953 368 Takeda, F............................................... 2,242
3953 368 Takeda, F.. 1,173
3969 331 Yokoyama, M....................................... 1,495
7551 719 Asano, M ................................................... 111
8786 692 Fujino, B................................................... 1,021

5401 63 l'ujishigc, T............................................ 546
4939 587 Furutani, C.......................................... 1,915
8630 652 Goto, B.................................................. 589

Int. 1298 717 Goto, M....................... 56
.5612 588 Goto, T...................................................... 425
8644 6.50 Goto, Y................................................... 23
8644 650 Goto, V................................................... 1,567

13566 718 Goto, Y................................................. 598
4891 553 Hamanishi, S........................................... 121

Int. 959 641 Hashimoto, A......................................... 46
4938 434 Hikida, K............................................. 3,284
5592 590 Ibuki, M.................................................... 2,411

12519 591 Ikeda, T.................................................... 94
6897 646 Inaba,T.................................................. 1,910
4942 673 Inaba, Y.................................................. 1,285
4931 674 Kamada, T............................... 1,728
7545 439 Katsumi, K.............................................. 56
8663 663 Kawata. T............................................ 1,836

13673 693 Koizumi, Y. (Dec’d).......................... 1,720

8643 716 Maruyâma, T........................................... 1,045
6895 647 Miyazaki, S.............................................. 613 88

 888
8S

8S
SS

88
3S

S8
8S

8S
 SSS

SS
SS

S8
SS

3S
8S

8S
SS

Sold, July, 1042.

108 00 
2,042 00 
1,011 00 

559 (X)

BC/335-P
BC/2387-A 2,(M2 (K)

BC/541-B 559 00
2,606 00 B( 7289-A 2,64)6 IX)

179 (X) B< 7339-P
1,833 IX) 

118 00)
BC/554-A 1,833 00

648 00 
1,005 00

BC/341-P

1,454 (X) BC/342-P
295 tXl BC7343-P
171 tXl lit 72555-A 171 00
487 00 BV/344-P

1,800 00 BC/11S2-A
BC/346-P

1,800 00
786 00
596 00 BC/1494-B 596 (XI
968 IX) BC/422-A 968 00

1,288 (X) Bt 7350-B 1,288 IX)
2,201 tX) BG 2555-A 2,201 (X)
1,152 IX) BC/351-P
1,468 00 BO/1139-A 1,468 00

109 00 BC/617-P
1,002 00 BC/618-P 1,002 00

536 00 BC/1701-A 536 00
1,880 00 BC/620-P

578 00 BC/621-P
55 00 BC/2167-A 55 (X)

417 00 BC/473-P
23 00 

1,539 00/
BC/1375-B 1,620 90

587 00 BC/1D03-B 587 00
119 00 BC/623-P
45 IX) BC'624-P

3,225 00 BV 625-P
2,367 00 BC/1641-A 2,367 00

92 00 BC/626-P
1,875 00 BC/2251-B 1,875 00
1,262 00 BC/1680-B 1.262 00
1,697 00 BC/2440-A 1,697 00

55 00 BC/628-P
1,803 00 BC/2474-B 1.803 00
1,689 00 BC/2449-A 2,340 00

1,026 00 BC/2429-A 1,026 00
620 00 BC/2289-B 602 CO

Cancelled, title not obtained.

J. L. 368 also sold, same account.

J. L. 338 also sold, same account.

Sold in two parts.
(BC/2404-B and BC/2031-B).

J. L. 709 also sold, same account. 

P.I. Effected *58.90.

Purchase price *2,500.00 sale of granary, 
for $160.00.

PU
BLIC AC

C
O

U
N

TS



File No. J. L. Name

86211 JMukai, Y..................................................
6183; Mukai, K................................................ /
8640 094 Naga, H....................................................
5591 665 Nagamori, M...........................................
5599 604 Nagasaka, K.........................................
8051 [Nishiyama, T........................................1
7035) 593 Nishiyama, M.......................................r
4.588, Nishiyama, Y.......................................J
8632 040 Note, K....................................................
4948 651 Oikawa, E................................................
5613 608 Oikawa, H...............................................
3377 635 Oikawa, T..............................................
5590 715 Oikawa, U................................................
8639 GGG Okabe, K..................................................
16541 /Onotera, H.............................................
5127/ lOnotera, T.................................... .../
8617 634 Otsuki, N.................................................

10352 595 Oyakawa, T.............................................
8626 714 Sakai, S.....................................................
5125 632 Sakurai, S.................................................
7544 006 Sakurai, S.................................................
8631 596 Sano, N.....................................................
6896 631 Saruwatari, H.........................................

8629 667 Sato, K.....................................................
5598 607 Sasaki, K.................................................
8638 695 Sato, M..............................................
8635 668 Shudo, 8...................................................

Int. 190 712 Sugawara, U............................................
4944 669 Sumioka, T..............................................

5607 552 Suzuki, G...........................  ................
4945 670 Suzuki, K...............................................
4945 670 Suzuki, K.............................................  j
5602 598 Suzuki, S...............................................
5557 598 Suzuki, J........................................... . /

11499 633 Suzuki, T..................................................
7540 713 Suzuki, G.................................................
8625 599 Tagushi, K...............................................
4893 630 Takahashi, K.........................................
8620 711 Takahashi, S...........................................

Appraisal Sale Price VLA File Sold for 
by VLA Kkmarkb

t ct-s.

780 00
1,380 00 
1,610 00 
2,066 00

2,634 00

269 00 
240 00 
183 00 
144 00 

1,601 00 
1,963 00

626 00
5,533 00 
2,845 00 
1,206 00 

190 00 
474 00 

1,775 00 
1,241 00

2,337 00 
652 00 
524 00 
447 00 

47 00 
926 00

285 00 
1,394 90 

384 00
418 00

1,967 00 
116 00 
376 00 
242 00 
791 00

$ cts. $ cts. $ cts.

766 00 BC/2033-B 766 00
1,355 00 
1,581 00 
2,029 00

2,586 00

BC/2635-A
BC/2395-A
BC/442-P

BC/1980-A

1,355 00 
1,581 00

2,580 00

264 00 
23G 00

BC/1948-B
BC/428-P
BC/429-P
BC/1306-B
BC/071 B
BC/2111-A

204 00

ISO 00
141 IX)

1,572 00 
1,927 00

141 00 
1,572 00 
1,927 00

615 00 BC/630-P
5,433 00 
2,793 00 
1,184 00 

187 00 
405 00

BC/2410-A
BC/631-P
BC/1388-B
BC/1360-B
BC/601-P
BC/330-P
BC/420-P

5,433 00

1,184 00 
187 00

1,743 00 
1,219 00 1,050 00

2,295 00 
G40 00

BC/1962-A
BC/452-P
BC/1599-B

2,295 00

514 00 
439 00

514 00

4 G (X) BC/634-P 
BC/423 P909 00 909 00

280 00 BC/455-P
BC/2496-A1,369 00 

377 00/ 1,746 00

410 00 BC/414-P
BC/275-B
BC/635-P
BC/2499-B
BC/630-P
BC/005-P

1,931 00 
114 00

1,931 00

3G9 00 
238 00

369 00

777 00 487 00

J.L. 632 also sold, same account.

J.L. 035 also sold, same account.

1 part sold, 1 part remaining 
(BC/2709-B)

Withdrawn

(Sold in 2 parts) (BC/2396-B and 
BC/2444-B).

1 part sold, 1 part remaining 
(BC/2383-B)

H
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1894 601 Taka ta, IT. Y.......................................... 681 00
8034 675 Takahashi, T.......................................... 1,013 1)0
8623 671 Takayama, Y.......................................... 1,287 (X)

5148 628 Takahashi, S........................................... 948 (X)
8636 710 Takenaka, S............................................. 1,042 (X)
9518 600 Tamaki. F................................................ 2.057 (X)
9518 (XX) Tamnki, K................................................ 269 00
9518 (XX) Tamaki, 1........................................ 94 (X)
8618 672 Uno, A....................................................... 1,908 (X)

1718 629 Vra, T........................................................ 148 00
49261 mo J \\ akai, S.................................................. 1 1,786 00

5421 29 Yanoshita, T.......................................... 45 (X)
4928 709 Yukawa, Y....... .................... 1,011 (X)
8042 554 Yukawa, Y"............................................... 1,380 (X)
5606 402 Enta, T...................................................... 1,459 00
7531 437 Fujii, Y...................................................... 606 (X)
3839 445 Fujiki, H................................................... 083 (X)

13800 397 Fujinami, S............................................... 42 (X)

4929 568 Fukunaga, G............................................ 455 00
6893 485 Fukushima, T.......................................... 1,112 00

7882 621 Hasebe, Y................................................. 53 00
9831 435 Hashimoto, N.................................. 222 (H)

10034 589 Higa, K................................................... 2,115 (X)
4938 424 Hikida, K............................................. 1,476 (X)
3841 477 Hirasawa, T............................................. 2,421 00

4890 547 Hirose. A................................................... 36 00
4940^
494 Ï/ 572 \Hirose, C................................................ /

10036 906 Honda, G.................................................. 575 00
3912 413 Hoshiko, T............................................... 1,476 (X)

3912 413 Hoshiko, T........................................... 55 00
3885 436 Ikeda, G.................................................... 308 00

440 Imahashi, I 2,026 00
6906 471 Imahashi, T 3,693 00
5080 441 Imamasu, H. Y...................................... 376 00
4979 433 Inokuchi. Y.............................................. 1,650 00
8788 653 Inouye, Z................................................... 3,980 (X)

10039 638 Ioki, Il ..................................................... 679 00
3875 401 Ito, G......................................................... 1,041 00

009 no 
995 00 

1,204 (K)

921 00 
1,023 (K) 
2,020 (K) 

261 00
92 (H) 

1,970 00

145 00 
1,754 00

44 00 
993 (K) 

1,355 00 
1,433 (K) 

595 00 
671 00
41 00

437 00 
1,092 00

52 00 
218 00 

2,077 (K) 
1,449 00 
2,377 00

35 00 
610 00
565 00 

1,449 00

54 00 
302 00 

1,989 00 
3,626 00 

369 00 
1,620 00 
3,908 00 

667 (X) 
1,022 00

BC/480-P
B( ' 2078 B 955 00
BC/003 1* 1,264 (M)

BC/2049 B 931 00
BC/2382 A 1,023 (X)

BC/610-P

BC/735-P 1,970 (X)

BC/637-P
BC/411-P
BC/638-P
BC/2167-A 993 (X)
B( ' 2103-B 1,355 (X)
B< 72247 -1! 908 (X)
BC/515-P

BC/517-P 100 00

BC/516-P
BC/450 P 900 (X)

BC/520-P
1U M 238 1! 2,077 00
lit V1879 A 1,449 (X)
BC/522-P 1,823 84

BC/523-P
BC/2582 B 610 00
BC/525-P
BC/240 P 1,089 00

BC/240-P
1U7526-P
BC/527-P
BC/528-P
BC/2142-B .369 00
BC/1910-B 1,620 (X)
BC/SSOtP
BC/1274 II 667 00
BC/532-P 912 00

Subdivision—seo Appendix No. 10.

Sold in 2 parts (BC/2131-B and 
(BC/2145-B).

Sold in 2 puits (BC/1788-B ami 
(BC/1955-B).

Subdivision—see Appendix No. 10.

J.L. 717 also sold, same account, 

l'iro loss recovery $525 00 .

Withdrawn
Sold to Kennedy Community Hall 

Association.

1 part sold, 1 part remaining 
(BC/2225-B).

Cancelled—not suitable.

1 part sold, 1 part remaining 
(B< /2241-A).

Subdivision—see Appendix No. 17.
Five lots of this subdivision sold— 

Three lots remaining to be sold 
(BC/1356 B, BC/1385-B, BC/1391-B, 
(BC/1426-B and BC/2037-B).

Sub-division. See appendix No. 11. 
Sub-division. See appendix No. 3.

2 parts sold, 1 remaining.
(BC/2065-B and BC/2686-B).
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e No.

4240
4242

6894
13495
4935
11862
7545
6916

7991
1249/
3845
6910
7.558
3851
3851
6892

3877

3881
7719
6903
42361
3873/
7532
6904
3847
3847
6899

13433
10203
6366
9602
7041
3320
8555
4943
4936
1652
8989
1186

Name

I to, K....................
I to, S....................

Kado, S..............i
Kado, 8...............
Kanai, F..............
Kato, T................
Katsurni, K........
Kirnura, T..........
Kimura, S...........
Imahori, K.........
Kosugi, U............
Kubodera, Y....
Kurahara, C.......
Kurio, K.............
Kurio, K.............
Maeno, K............

Maruno, T...........

Mori, S.................
Morimoto, 8.......
Morioka, K.........
Mo to faune, K....

Naganobu, C.... 
Nakamura, H... 
Nakamura, J.... 
Nakamura,.J....

Nakano, S. H .. 
Nishiguchi, M ..
Nishihata, J.......
Nishioka, 8.........
Nobuhara, Tj....
Ghana, E.............
Ghana, K............
Ohori, M..............
Ohori, Y..............
Onishi, E.............
Oniahi, T.............
Ono, 8..................

Appraisal Sale Price VLA File Sold for 
by VLA

$ cts.

228 00

$ cts.

224 00 BC/533-P

$ cts.

3,777 00 3,709 00 BC/534-P 3,709 00

1,101 00 1,081 00 BC/535-P
382 00 375 00 BC/536-P

3,750 00 3,682 00 B( 72699-A 4,(XXI (XI*
296 00 291 00 BC/2430-B 291 00
617 00 006 00 BC/538-P
225 00 221 00 BC/1811-C 221 00
472 00 463 00 BC/372-C 463 00

1,060 00 1,041 00 BC/458-P
1,430 00 1,404 00 BC/2595-A 1,404 00

502 00 493 00 BC/1647-B 493 00
95 00 93 (XI BC/541-P

799 (XI 785 00 BC/541-P
1,870 00 1,836 00 BC/542-P 1,125 00

1,325 00 1,301 00 BC/543-P 815 00

661 00 649 00 BC/544-P
5.50 00 540 (X) BC/1553-B .540 00

3,373 00 3,312 00 BC/546-P
387 00 380 00 BC/1685-B 380 00

1.159 00 1,138 00 BC/632-B 1,138 00
2,992 (X) 2,938 00 BC/549-P

21X1 (X) 33.5 00 B( 72443 -R 335 00
245 00 241 (X) BC/550-P

1,600 00 1,571 (X) BC/437-P
299 (X) 294 (XI BC/551-P

3,822 00 3,753 (XI B( 7652-P
757 (XI 743 00 BC/1418-B 743 00

3,513 (X) 3,449 (XI BC 7558-P
821 (X) 8(Xi (X) BC/3-P
150 00 147 (X) BC/554-P
525 00 516 00 BC/438-P

1,994 (XI 1,9.58 (XI BC/2212-A 1,958 00
214 (X) 21(1 (XI BC/555-P
225 00 221 (X) BC/656-P

1,045 (X) 1,026 (XI B( 72149-B 1,026 00
1,114 00 1,094 00 BC/558-P

Remarks

Sold in 2 parts. (RC/785-A and 
BC/1140-A).

Cancelled. Title not obtained. 
Purchase price $4,000.

1 part sold, 1 part remaining 
(BC/2604-R).

1 part sold, 1 part remaining 
(BC/26G4-B).

Subdivision—see appendix 3.

Subdivision—see appendix 3.

Subdivision—see appendix 3.

Subdivision—see appendix No. 17. 
Subdivision—see appendix No. 7.

Subdivision—sec appendix No. 3.
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Int. 1186 405

3628 482

5615 469
3769 470
8982 450
4626 450
7528 449
6902 583
3835 • 506
3887 482
7536 476
3918 412
7338 597
2298 488
6908 483
1506 486
3914 545

14856 447
14856 447
3879 642
8782 636
4937 740

3853 575

906 481
8780 680
4930 480

10156 581
7424 462
5614 544

3837 507
8781 510
6900 540

11116 472
7527 463
7527 463

5447 570
3889 484

12336 479
3783 422
3783 422
3362 396

’Xi îX V\\ Viv*j.;,

Ono, S...................................

Onodera, K........................

Osaka, G.............................
Otani, T...............................
Otsuki, S.............................
Otsuki, T............................
Riujin, M.............................
Sano, S...................................
Sassa, T.................................
Sato, A..................................
Sato, T....... ...........................
Shigehiro, S.........................
Shimamoto, T.....................
Shinmoto, S.........................
Shinohara, K.....................
Shintani, N...........................
Takahashi, M......................
Tamaki, K.........................
Tamaki, K...........................
Tanaka, G............................
Tanizaki, M..........................
Tashima, H..........................

Tomita, H. (In trust)........

Tsuchida, S........................
Tsuchimoto, Y....................
Tsukishima, II....................

Tsumura, A..........................
Tsumura, C..........................
Ujiye, F.................................

Ujiye, S..................................
Urano, S................................
Watanabe, T.....................
Watanabc, U........................
Yamasaki, S........................
Yamasaki, S........................

Yamashita, M.....................
Yasui, S.................................
Yoshioka, Y........................
Fujii, H..................................
Fujii, H..................................
Hinatsu, K............................

1,357 00 1,232 00 BC/559-P

1,060 00 1,041 00 BC/443-P 1,041 00

178 00 175 00 BC/560-P
250 IK) 246 00 BV 561-1*

3,346 00 3,286 00 HC 562-P
669 00 657 00 B( 72114-B 657 IK)
737 IK) 724 00 B( '/1410-B 724 00

1,618 00 1,7)89 IK) BC/470-P
800 00 785 (K) BV/564-P

1,278 00 1,255 (K) B( ' 1360-A 1,255 00
3,579 00 3,514 00 BC/566-P
1,114 00 1,094 00 UC 234-B 1,094 00

418 00 411 IK) B( 72132-B 411 00
1,064 00 1,045 00 BC/1890-B 1,045 00
1,587 00 1,558 00 R( V569-1*

346 00 340 00 BC/467-P
565 00 555 (K) BC/570-P
50 00 49 00 BC/571-1*
32 00 42 00 BC/571-P

650 00 638 00 BC/412-1*
1,000 00 982 00 BC/479-P
1,342 00 1,318 00 BC/572-P 1,318 00

1,402 00 1,377 00 BC/469-P 1,183 72

1,194 00 1,173 00 BC/2351-B 1,173 00
525 00 515 00 BC/641-1*
816 00 801 00 BC/574-P 564 50

143 00 140 00 BC/575-P
1,641 00 1,611 00 B( 7745-1* 1 00

824 00 809 00 BC/475-P 249 88

179 00 176 00 BC/577-P
1,611 00 1.582 00 BC/1026-A 1,582 00
1,488 00 1,461 00 BC/2166-A 1,461 00
3,037 00 2,982 00 BC/580-P

116 00 114 00 B('/466-P
691 00 678 00 BC/466-P 231 85

1,617 00 1,588 00 BC/576-P
691 00 678 00 BC 573-1*
270 00 265 00 BI/519-P
750 00 800 00 BC/487-P

1,741 00 1,850 34 B< ' 2260-B 1,850 34
2,492 00 2,447 00 B(_7294-A 2,447 00

Subdivision—see appendix No. 3—pur­
chase price $1,332.00.

(2 pts.) V.L.A. records show J.L. 582 for 
(BC/2201-B and BC/2393B) this 
property.

Subdivision—see appendix No. 13. 

Subdivision—see appendix No. 13.

Cancelled—title not obtained.

Purchase price $32.00.
Cancelled—title not obtained. 
Subdivision—see appendix No. 17.
(Sold in 2 parts) (BC/1561-B and 

BC/1G35-B.).
2 parts sold, 1 part remaining (BC/2340- 

B and BC/2590-B).

1 part sold, 1 part remaining 
(BC/2292-B).

(pt. only) to Secretary of State.
2 parts sold, 1 part remaining. 

(BC/2123-B and BC/2173-B).

Subdivision—see appendix No. 11.

Purchase price $800.00, 1 part sold 
(BC/2406-B), 1 part remaining.

Subdivision—see appendix 3.

Subdivision—see appendix No. 12.
LO
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c No.

4064
0465
7363
10657
3765
8664
4218
3830
4603

10987
4216
4206
7380
8679
7281
8684
1540
7379
1482
4204
4200
4198
1720
4240
4247/
8273
5969
4235
4235
4233
42311
3663j
4209
5002
5005
5004

10835
3293

741
3319

12136

Name

Hirashima, Y.
Hosaka, C.......
[to, M...........
Kaita, K.........
Kaita, S...........
Kaita, T..........
Kamiya, J.......
Kateumoto, J.
Kishiyama, K 
Kitagawa, 3... 
Kohavashi, 8..
Minaki, K.......
Miyada, Y.......
Mori, K
Nagamatsu, I) 
Nagamatsu, G 
Nagamatsu, S. 
Nagamatsu, 8. 
Nagamatsu, T 
Nishizawa, U. 
Nishiziki, T... 
Osaki, K.........
Osato, F. 8...
8aito, 8..........
Saito, T..........
Saito, 8_____
Sakamoto, K
Suzuki, 8.......
Suzuki, 8 
Tatsumi, 8. 
Teramura, O. 
Teramura, K 
Umemoto, Y 
Yamada, K.. 
Yamada, Y 
Yamasaki, I 
I)oi, T 
Kbata, G....

Fujino, M 
F’ukushima, .1 
Kurukawa, 8.

}

}

Appraisal Sale Price VLA File Sold for 
by VLA Remarks

$ cts.

892 00

$ cts.

876 00 BC/847-B

$ cts.

876 00
985 00 967 00 BC/2553-B 967 00
373 00 366 00 BC/492-P
241 00 237 00 BC/493-P
778 00 764 00 BC'494-P

1,200 00 1,178 00 BC/416-P
Subdivision—see appendix No. 12.1,024 00 1,005 00 BC/495-P

775 00 761 00 BC/496-P
700 00 687 (XI B< ,/497-P

Cancelled, title not obtained.614 00 603 00 BC/498-P
727 00 714 00 BC/499-P
800 00 785 00 B( 1/440-P
883 (X) 867 00 B( 7500-P

1,465 00 1,439 (X) BC/1450-A 1,439 00
2,723 (X) 2,674 (XI BC/272-B 2,674 (X)

775 (XI 761 00 B< 7503-P
550 00 

93 00
.540 00 

91 00 BC/504-P
Sold February, 1943.

1,224 (X) 1,202 (X) BG/1352-B 1,202 00
600 00 
809 00

589 00 
794 (X)

BC/505-P
BC/506-P

852 (X) 837 (XI BC/1249-A 837 (X)
838 (X) 823 (XI BC/675-P

1,103 00 1,142 00 BC/2618-A 1,142 00

776 (XI 761 (X) BC/508-P
2,089 (X) 2,051 00 BC/509-P
1,238 00 1,216 00 BC/328-B 1,216 (X)

363 (K) 356 00 BC/510-P
850 (X) 835 00 BC/424-P

Purchase price $$00.00.422 00 414 00 BC/6678P

83 00 82 (XI BC/511-P
Subdivision—see appendix No. 12.3,(XII 00 2,947 (XI BC/512-1*

421 00 413 (XI BC/2673 B 413 (X)
790 (XI 775 (XI BC/513 P

1,800 (X) 1,767 IX) 11(72424 B 1,767 00
Subdivision—see appendix No. 15—3,100 00 3,004 (X) BC/643-P

80 (X) 79 (X) BO/274-B 79 (X)
Purchase price $3,044.00.

J. L. 734 and 738 also sold, same account.
2,066 (X) 2,029 (X) B(7426-P •
1,009 (XI 982 00 BC/2268-B 982 (X)
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1396
6643

12252
3385
4967
4970
4973

330S] 
1467 
29151 
70391 
33081 

Int. 1401/ 
112751 
7039/ 
33081 

Int. MOI 
112751 
7039] 
3429

1755
6646
1414
4972

1608
5552

2304
691

1786
1758
99431
1785/

5133 
Int. 484 

5448 
2296

4976

45851
10056/
14369

525 Hamamoto, U......................................... 1,350 00
734 Hainaura, M............................................ 2,081 00
533 Hashimoto, Y......................................... 700 00
519 Hayashi, E............................................... 600 00
515 Hayaashi. 1! ........................................... 1,998 00
566 Hikida, M 1,800 00
561 Hikida, T.............................................

Hikida, Y.................................................

1,198 00

Yasui, lT....................................................
355 00103 ]Shivakawa, K..........................................

[Takahashi, G..........................................
/Hikida, Y ...............................................
'.Yoshida, S................................................
I Koshiba, T. ...........................................
[Takahashi, G..........................................
Hikida, T ...............................................

491 3,828 00

491 i Yoshida, ................................................
Ï Koshiba, T...............................................
Takahashi, G..........................................

1,006 00

620 Hirata, I.................................................... 1,712 00

562 Hirosc, T................................................... 201 00
735 Horn mura, K 133 1X1
493 Nakamura, G.................... 1,000 00
524 Kawabata, B......................................... 1.2(H) 00

736 Kawamoto, C ...................................... 137 00
543 Kawaso, T................................................ 10,568 00

.548 Kobavnshi, K......................................... 3,100 00
555 Kochi, Y 500 00
707 Komori, H...............................................

Komori, E............................ ..........
1,779 00

473 fKomori, M................................................
'.Komori, T................................................

3,419 00

565 Konishi, !.. .................................. 2,650 00
517 Koyanagi, R........................................ 2.58 00
737 Kovanagi, S.............................................. 84 00
505 Kumagai, S............................................ 1,793 00

527 Matsuba, S................................................ 1,105 00

556 /Miyampto, M...........................................
Mivamoto, H).........................................

675 00

514 Mincoka, T............................................... 2,026 00

1,320 00 
2,043 00 

687 (K) 
589 00 

1,962 00 
1,767 00 
1,176 00

349 00

3,759 00

988 00

1,681 00

197 00 
131 00 
982 00 

1,178 00

134 0<) 
10,377 00

3,044 00 
491 00 

1,747 00

3,357 00

2,602 00 
253 00 
82 00 

1,761 00

1,085 00

663 00

1,989 00

BC/673-P
BC/274-B
BC/2280-B
BC/2143-B
RC/2453-R
BC/.594-P
BC/668-P

BC/2400-R

BC/645-P

2,043 00 
687 00 
589 00 

1,962 00

1,176 00

349 00

BC/585-P 1,706 00

BC/690-P
BC/040-P
BC 7229-P
BC/647-P 614 00

BC/648-P
BC/478-P 10,377 00

RC/1922-B 3,044 00
BC/681-P
BC/669-P

BC/4S6-P 3,437 00

BC/270-B 2,602 00
BC/606-P
BC/649-P
BC/435-P 1,200 00

BC/600-P 906 20

BC/650-P

BC'651-P 1,889 00

Cancelled—title not obtained.
J.L. 738 and 732 also sold, name account.

Sold in 2 parts. (BC/2214-B) and 
(BC/23S8-B).

Cancelled—title not obtained.

Withdrawn—died prior to 26 February, 
1942.

■09 acre of non-Jap. property at $25.00— 
same account.

Subdivision—see appendix No. 15.
1 part sold, 1 part remaining. (BC/2245- 

B).

Sold in 2 parts (BC-1974-A and 
BC/2543-A).

Cancelled—title not obtained.

Sold in 4 parts—$80. P.I. effected 
(BC/205O-R, BC/2038-B, BC/1997-B, 
BC/2217-B).

Part sold to British Columbia Electric 
Railway Company.

2 parts sold, BC/2106-C, BC/2428-B, 
1 part remaining.

1 part including bldgs, sold, 1 part re­
maining (BC/1020-B). w
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File No. J. L. Name Appraisal Sale Price VLA File Sold for 
by VLA Remarks

$ cts. f cts. 1 cts. S cts.
49691 Mori, M.........................
4975 V 605 Mori, K......................................... 2,3.50 00 2,307 00 BC/595-B
4489J Mori, S...........................
7294 662 Mori, T.............................................. 80 00 79 00 BC/652-P
3465 738 Motomura, K........................ 80 00 79 00 BC/274-B 79 00 J. L. 732 and 734 also sold, same account.
3917 549 Murakami, A..................................... 2,945 00 2,892 00 BC/1645-B 2,892 00

661 536 Murakami, I........................................ 575 00 565 00 BC/2479-B
661 536 Murakami, I................................ 896 00 880 00 BC72479-B .880 00

13720 537 Murakami, K................................ 1,407 00 1,382 00 BC/1725-B 1,382 00
689 615 Myxuguehi, D..................................... 80 00 79 00 BC/654-P9062 656 Nakade, S.............................................. 050 00 638 (X) Withdrawn, sold prior to offer.

5551 559 Nakane, M....................... 2,776 00 2,726 00 BC/266-B 2,726 00
11009 518 Naruse, H K.................................. 4,150 00 4,075 00 BC/1172-P Si<h-division—rpp Appendix 7.
9208 564 Nishida, M......................... 1,500 00 1,473 00 BC/596-P
9208 564 Nishida, M............................... 1,000 00 982 00 BC/596-P
4966 541 Nishii, K...................................... 2,125 00 2,086 00 BC/483-C 2,086 003919 523 Nishi, S....................................... 1,500 00 1,473 00 BC/301-B 1,473 00
4997 531 Nishi, S....................... 975 00 957 00 BC/2599-C 957 003919; 522 /Nishi, S............................................... ; 500 00 591 00 BC/677-P Purchase price $491.00.3859/ ;Nishi, H.................................
5150 542 Nishii, T....................... 877 00 861 00 BC/678-P 587 33 2 parts sold, 1 part remaining (BC/2114-

B, BC/2270-B).4968 535 Okamoto, II............... 218 00 214 (X) Rf’,/9089 R
4968 535 Okamoto. H.................... 417 00 409 00 BC/2353-B 409 0013542 539 Okimi, N................................ 1,100 00 1,080 00 Sold by Official Administrator.8837 612 River Fish Co. Ltd............................... 5,142 00 049 00
8837 612 River Fish Co. Ltd............................ 120 00 118 00 BC/750-P Total purchase price for 3 parcels,
8837 612 River Fish Co. Ltd......................... 80 00 79 00 $6,000.6225; ,'Sakiyaraa, F......................................... 1 850 00 835 00 BC/680-P4586/ , Sakayama, K......................................../
5408 503 Sasaki, C................................. 701 00 747 00 BC/587-P.5408 509 Sasaki, G. C................... . 1,135 00 1,114 00 BC/655-P13806i Sasaki, S............................. 1,589 00 1,560 00 Withdrawn—died prior to 26/2/42.1516/ UUU ,Sasaki, T........................................
5963 504 Sasaki, 8........................... 1,391 90 1,366 00 RG/58S P
1512 497 Sato, I.................................... 3,033 00 2,978 00 RO/581 P
5571 558 Shiho, S....................................... L100 00 L080 00 BC/2082-B 1,120 00 $40 P.I. effected—J.L. 535 also sold,
1739 516 Shimano, K............................. 1,912 00 1,877 00 Rn/Aon-p

same account.
17431 529 /Shirnano, S...................................... 725 00 712 00 BC/591-Pm! 529 i Shirnano, M........................................... /
4608 551 Shoji, T................................... 875 00 859 00 BC/1411-B 859 00
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9861 061 Sammoto, Y............................................ 1,640 00
5457 501 Suda, K 1,268 IK)

12885 532 Suzuki. Y................................................ 912 IN)
6684 550 925 (K)

him 530 Takahashi, 1' 2,695 00
11929 502 Takeda, 11................................................ 1,032 IK)
13490 521 Tomnishi, F............................................ 1,062 00

3889 739 Tcshima, N ....................................... 2,076 00
4974 538 Yamamoto, V 1,927 00
49641
6095/ 513 Yamamoto, Y .....................................1

Yamamoto, M...................................... j
1,920 00

4229 .531 Yoncda. H 1,300 00
1733 609 Yonemoto, G........................................... 1,500 00
4593 660 Yoshida, K.............................................. 1,512 IK)

Int. 1401 492 Yoahida, S................................................ 2,092 00

Int. 1041 492 Yoshida, S................................................ 3,875 00

Int. 7221 520 i Yoshisaki, Y..........................................\ 1,570 00
23151 Isomura, T............................................. !

1,075 0096081
11337/ 306 /Tsuchihashi, G......................................\

\Yasuda, T.............................................../
10583 236 Adachi, A.................................................. 7,213 00

Int. 1352 140 Nagamine, N........................................... 191 00
5491 408 Nakashima, T......................................... 3,829 00
5420 23 Shikase, K................................................ 875 00
2312 407 Shikaze, M................................................ 1.440 00
2877 114 Tatevama, I............................................. 2,867 00

6623 409 Yamanouchi, K....................................... 467 00
6623 409 Yamanouchi, K...................................... 1,543 00
4647 465 Akagawa, Yr.............................................. 478 00

Int. 422 452 Konishi, K................................................ 102 00

12S95 512 Kumagai, M............................................. 203 00
12900 511 Kumagai, J............................................... 3,112 00

1626 451 Matsushita, C.......................................... 570 00

11490 496 Mitsui, S.................................................... 2,457 00
4241 386 Sakamoto. M......................................... 450 00

10021 466 Takahira, S.............................................. 1,231 (K)
1759 490 Takahira, K.lt......................................... 169 00

Int. 1342 495 Yasuzawa. S............................................. ,50 00
12995 742 Hamagaki, I............................................. 110 00
1696 746 Kawasaki, M. ........................................ 1,710 00

10873 74S Konshii, II................................................ 1,547 00
10873 748 Konishi, H................................................ Nil

1,610 00 BC/1371-B 1,610 00
1,245 00 BC/465-P

896 IK) BC/1273 B 890 00
908 00 BC/1653-B 908 00

2,646 (X) BC/472 V
1,013 IK)
1,043 00 BC/658-P 1,043 00

2,038 00 BC/2323-B 2,038 00
1,892 IK) BC/2341 -N 1,892 IK)
1,885 00 BC/434-P

1,277 00 BC/2583-B 1,277 00
1,473 (K) BC/1334-C 1,473 (K)
1,485 00 BC/656-P 1,485 00

2,054 00 BO/485-P 2,054 00

3,805 00 BC/485-P 3,805 00

1,542 00 BC/657-P

1,056 00 BC/1921-A 1,056 00

7,083 00 BC/2560-A 7,083 00
189 00 BC/608 -P

3,760 00 BC/609-P
859 00

1,414 00 BC/610-P
2,815 00 BC/611-P 2,040 00

459 00\ BC/2046-A 1,974 00
1.515 00
4,000 00 BC/792-B 4,000 00

100 00 BC/245-P 50 00

199 00/ BC/236-B 3,255 00
3,056 00\

560 00 BC/255-P 247 60

2,413 00 BC/258-P
442 00 BC 261 P

1,209 00 BC/270-P
166 00 BC', 273-P
49 00 B( ' 282-P

108 00 BC/1S62-B 108 00
697 00

1,519 00 BC/139-A 1,519 00
Nil

Subdivision—see appendix 14, 
Withdrawn.
Sold in 2 parts (BC/2189-B and BC/ 

221Ô-B).

Sold in 2 parts (BC/13G7-B and BC/ 
1999-B).

Sold in 2 parts (BC/2403-B and BC/ 
2578-B).

Sold in 4 parts (BC/1639-B, BC/1605-B, 
BC/1863-B, BC/1812-B).

Withdrawn—offer deficient.

1 part sold, 1 part remaining 
(BC/2666-A).

Error in original appraisal. 
fl part sold, 1 part remaining 
1 (BC/2489-B).
Cash sale.

2 parts sold, 2 parts remaining 
(BC/1529-B & BC/1479-B).

Subdivision—see Appendix No. 16. 
Subdivision—see Appendix 16.

Cash sale.
Sold June, 1943.
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File No. J. L. Name

10875 747 Konishi, S....................................................................
10875 749 Konishi, S....................................................................
3441 741 Yamazaki, B............................................................

768j

768
68

700

5427 925 Ayukawa, K............................
4611 918 Ayukawa, S.....................................................
5437 091 /Ikebuchi, T..................................................
5333/ Hayasbi, T......................................................... /
9781 920 Takahashi, Y..................................
5.580 912 Tomomitsu, H........................................................
5.580 913 Tomomitsu, H..........................................
5.581 919 Tsuji, S. T.......................................
.3006 911 Yamada, S.................................................
9340 924 Nakashima, F...................................
6909 917 Hinatsu, Y....................................
48161 /Ikeda,A.............................................
4983/ 910 Ikeda, R............................................................. J
4241 386a .Sakamoto, M.....................
1534 799 Morisawa, N.................................
5511 ■ «A /Tamura, T..................................................... \
5452/ 1 amulta, K...............................
9599 800 Nishimura, C...............................

11357 804 Sakata, M........................
5201 80S Yoshida, C...........................
5360 775 Nakashima, E................................
1362 771 Nagain, K ......................
5959 902 Sumi, C...................................

4996 762 Kato, F. T...................
Int. 1251 760 Uchiyama, T....................................
Int. 1251 760 Uchiyama, T.........................

4004 574 Tateishi, I......................

Appraisal Sale Price VLA File
Sold for 
by VLA

$ cts. * $ cts.

750 00 
196 00 
48 00

736 00 
193 00 
48 00

865,672 00 849,999 00i 
3,818 22/

865,672 00 853,817 22
62,684 00 61,552 00

802,988 00 792,265 22

708 00 694 00
1,434 00 1,405 00

BC/733-P
BC/734-P

BC/685-P
BC/2672-B 1,405 00

477 00 
752 (H) 
640 00 
123 00 
3.50 00 
863 00 
935 00 
207 00 
345 00

467 00 BC/730-P
737 00 BC/729-P
627 00 fBC/260-B 627 00
121 00 BC/250-B 121 00
343 00 BC/693-P
846 00 BC/697-P
916 00 BC/1646-A 916 00
203 00 BC/170.3- B 203 00
338 00 BC/696-P

.584 00 
594 00

572 00 BC/698-P 
582 00 BC/707-P

1,127 00 
1,052 00 

867 00 
964 00 
550 00 
746 (HI 

1,454 00

1,104 00 
1,031 (X) 

860 (X) 
945 (X) 
530 (X) 
731 IX) 

1,425 00

11(7717 P 
BO/721-11 
11(772(4 P 
BC/7I9-F 
BC/7I8-P 
BC/723-F 
BC/722-P 760 00

1,041 00 
2,148 00 

616 00 
1,616 00

1,020 00 BC/2I33-B 1,020 00
2,105 00 B( 72367- B 2,106 00

604 (X) BC/2367-B 604 00
1,584 00 BC/725-P

Remarks

Sold October, 1938.

Cancelled—title not obtained.

(3 parts sold) 6 parts remaining 
(BC/1895-C).
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49521 fKohavakawa, M................................. X
Int. 1330/ 

3273 781
\Kobavakawa, II................................. J
Midnda, M................................................

1364 782 Murakami, K........................................
3277 783 Murakami, T.........................................
3277 784 Murakami, T.........................................
3269 780 I to, N.........................................................
3275 785 Murakami, M.........................................
3281 795 Okano, K..................................................
32811 fOkano, K..............................................\
2139/ /Okano, M............................................../
2137 801 Okano, J S.............................................
5141 794 Minamide, B..........................................
51411 Minamide, B........................................\
5162/ 797 \Minamide, M......................................./
5166 813 Nagata. K..............................................
5139 796 Sumi, K..................................................
5143 792 Sumi. J. K..............................................
5158 800 Kadonaga, T..........................................
2869 793 Sasaki, K................................................
5164 814 Konishi, K.............................................

12

41

1,400
1,576
1,310
1,008

177
089

2,390
2,986

250

193
2,840

1,516
3,000
1,174
1,932
1,689

661
200

45,484 00 
594 00

44,890 00

88
88

38
8 88

 8 8
8S

88
S8

S 1,372 00 
1,544 00

988 00 
174 (HI 
969 00 

2,342 00 
2,926 00

245 00

189 00 
2,783 00

1,486 00 
2,940 00 
1,150 00 
1,893 00 
1,656 00 

648 00 
196 00

44,573 00 
582 00

43,991 00

BC/724-P
BO/492-B 1,544 00
BC/2361-B 1,284 00
BC/711-P
BC/712-P
1H72079-B 969 00
B< 72277-A 2,342 00
BC/714-P

BC/715-P 2,000 00

BC/716-P
BC/700-P

BC/702-P
BC/704-P
B( 7701-P
BC/1336-A 1,893 00
BC '703-P
BC/705-P
BC/706-P

Sold to Henry Frederick Hollings, 
Civilian, as a cash sale.
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STANDING COMMITTEE

HANEY SUB-DIVISION
Appendix No. 1.

File Vendor Purchase
Price

J.L. 24S Morikawa, K............
J.L. 72 Tamura, M. & T... 
J.L. 73 Kumamoto, H. & T. 
J.L. 74 Kumamoto, K. & T. 
J.L. 122 Nakano, A.................

$ 3,099 00
664 00 

1,455.00 
668.00 
803.00

Total Cost Price..............................................................................$ 6,709.00
Less $75.00 for buildings sold........................................................... 75.00

20 Lots sold—Total Value 

19 Lots to be sold at.........

$ 6,634.00
6,106.59

$ 527.41

N.B.—Existing Permanent Improvements valued at $4,800.00 included in 2 of Lots sold.

MISSION SUB-DIVISION
Appendix No. 2.

Purchase
File Vendor Price

J.L. 22 Tatabe, K........................................................................................ * 746.00
J.L. 34 Tonomura. M...................................................................................... £89 00

J.L. 88 Watanabe, Y....................................................................................... 1,178.00

Total Cost Price..............................................................................$ 4,882.00
Less Sale of Buildings on J.L. 22 ..................................................... 35.00

$ 4,847.00
26 Lots sold at................................................................................... 3,912.00

4 Lots remaining to be sold at total of........................................... $ 935 00

Appendix No. 3.

File Vendor Purchase
Price

J.L. 471 Iinahashi, T.J.L. 400 Ono S ........................................................................................$ 3,626.00
J.L. 405 jg Ono, S.. !.   1.094.00J.L. 570 Yamashita, M.........   1,332.00
J.L. 475 } Nakamura, S..........    1,588.00
J.L. 644 Morioka, K..........   î’fji'SS
J.L. 643 Nakamura, H............ 3,3,1-,00

Total Cost Price..............................................................................$ 15,461.00
Less Sale of Fencing from J.L. 644 .................................................. 7.20

$ 15,453.00
IS Lots sold—Total.......................................................................... 14,508.SO

12 Lots to be sold at.........................................................................$ 945.00

N.B.—Existing Permanent Improvements valued at $13,100.00, included in 7 of lots sold.
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Appendix No. 4.

Purchase
File Vendor Price

J.L. 296 Yamada, S..........................................................................................$ 2,327.00
J.L. 678 Imanura, K.......................................................................................... 991.00
J.L. 678 Imamura, K.    ................................................................................ 1,619.00

Total Cost Price ....................................................................$ 4,937.00
2 Lots Sold Prior to Sub-Division at........................................... 3,005.10
1 Lot Sold Alter Sub-Division at..................................................... 585.85

4 Lots remaining to be Sold at ............................................... . . . .$ 1,346.05

N.B.—Existing Permanent Improvements were included in first 2 lots sold.

Appendix No. 5. 

Purchase
File Vendor Price.

J.L. 69 Nakahara, H.................................................................................... $ 2,362.00
J.L. 105 Hosaki, I.............................................................................................. 3,113.00
J.L. 68 Kawamoto, S....................................................................................... 1,738.00

Total Coot Price............................................................................... $ 7,213.00

6 Lots sold—Total Sale Price........................................................... 6,259.30

4 Lots remaining to be sold at total of............................................ 953.70

N.B.—Existing Permanent Improvements included in 3 of the 6 lots sold.

Appendix No. 6. 

Purchasing
File , Vendor Price

J.L. 39 Dike, JK................................................................................... $ 3,392.00
J.L. 70 Takashita, T...................................................................................... 2,145.00

Total Coot Price...............................................................................$ 5,537.00
8 Lots sold for.................................................................................... 5,303.12

1 Lot to be sold at.............................................................................$ 233.88

N.B.—Existing Permanent Improvements included in the Lots sold.

HERBERT SUB-DIVISION
Appendix No. 7.

, Purchasing
rue V endor Price

J.L. 518 Naruse, H. K..................................................................................... $ 4,075.00

This parcel combined with the E. H. Herbert property for Sub-Division purposes. Lots 
sold at their proportionate cost.

Appendix No. 8.

File
J.L. 61 
J.L. 52 
J.L. 42

Vendor
Purchasing

Price
Gyotoku, U. 
Tazumi, A.. 
Mukai, O...

$ 1,106.00 
1,178.00 

579.00
Total Coot Price. ........................................................................$ 2,863.00

3 Lots sold, Total Sale Price............................................................ 1,709.10

4 Lots remaining to be sold at total of............................................$ 1,153.90
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Appendix No. 9. 

Purchasing
1 île Vendor Price

J L. 244 Eto, S.................................................................................................$ 2,835.00
J.L. 245 Kusano, A.......................................................................................... 1,623.00

Total Cost Price.................................................................... $ 4,458.00
Total Sale Price.................................................................... $ 4,458.00

(4 lots)

Appendix No. 10. 

Purchasing
File Vendor Price

J.L. 601 Takata, H. Y....................................................................................$ 669.00
J.L. 602 j Wakai, S. and)

\Wakai, C. /.................................................................................. 1,754.00

Total Cost Price............................................................................... $ 2,423.00
1 Lot sold at...................................................................................... 671.00

4 Lots to be sold at.......................................................................... $ 1,752.00

N.B.—Existing Permanent Improvements included in Lot sold.

Appendix No. 11.

File Vendor e Purchasing
Price

J.L. 440 Imahashi, I.......................................................................................$ 1,989.00
J.L. 472 Watanabe, U..................................................................................... 2,982.00

J_________
Total Cost Price............................................................................... $ 4,971.00

4 Lots sold—Total Value................................................................. 2,879.00

2 Lots to be sold—Total Value....................................................... $ 2,092.00

Appendix No. 12. 

Purchasing
File Vendor Price

J.L. 422 Fujii, H............................................................................................... $ 800.00
J.L. 677 Yamada, K....................................................................................... 2,947.00
J.L. 455 Kamiya, J.......................................................................................... 1,005.00

Total Cost Price................................................................................. $ 4,752.00
4 Lots sold—Total Sale Price.......................................................... 4,477.00

*3 Lots remaining to be sold for total of.............................................$ 275.00

•Existing Permanent Improvements were included in the 4 lots sold.

Appendix No. 13. 

Purchasing
File Vendor Price

J.L. 506 Sassa, T.............................................................................................$ 785.00
J.L. 476 Sato, T.............................................................................................. 3.514.00

Total Cost Price.....................................................................$ 4,299.00
5 Lots sold—Total Value................................................................. 2,021.42

3 Lots to be sold for Total of.......................................................... $ 2,277.58
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Appendix No. 14.

Purchasing
File Vendor * Price

J.L. 530 Takahashi. F......................................................................................$ 2,646.00
3 Lots sold—Total Sale Price........................................................... 2,071.00

*2 Lots remaining to be sold for total of........................................... $ 575.00

•Existing Permanent Improvements included in the 3 Lots sold.

Appendix No. 15. 

Purchasing
File Vendor Price

J.L. 474 Ebata, G........................................................................................... $ 3,044.00
J.L. 493 Nakamura, G..................................................................................... 982.00

Total Cost Price.................................................................................$ 4,026.00
Less Sale of Buildings on J.L. 474 .................................................... 50.00

$ 3,976.00
Less Fire Loss Recovery on J.L. 493............................................... 700.00

$ 3,276.00

N.B.—These parcels combined with the Jessie Tait property for Sub- 
Division purposes. Lots sold at their proportionate cost.

Appendix No. 16.

Purchasing
File Vendor Price

J.L. 466 Takahira, S..................................................................•..................... $ 1,209.00
J.L. 490 Takahira, S........................................................................................ 166.00

Total Cost Price.............................................................................................................................................$ 1,375.00
6 Lots sold—T otal Sale Price........................................................... 1,297.80

1 Lot remaining to be sold for..........................................................$ 77.20

N.B.—Existing Permanent Improvements in Lots sold.

Appendix No. 17.

File Vendor
Purchasing

Price
J.L. 578 
J.L. 579 
J.L. 906 
J.L. 636

Ghana, K............................................................................................ $
Ghana, E.............................................................................................
Honda, G............................................................................................
Tanizaki, M........................................................................................

516.00
147.00
565.00
982.00

Total Cost Price t 2,210.00

These lands sold to the Corporation of the District of Surrey as a Sewage Disposal 
Plant Site.

Sale Price............................................... $ 2,800.00
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APPENDIX "B"

According to Veterans' Land Act files, Appendix “A” requires amendment in the following particulars 
to record actual sale prices:— •

Custodian's
file

JL

V.L.A.
file

BC

Custodian’s 
sale price

Actual
V.L.A.

purcha.se
price

Remarks

$ cts. $ cts.

145 311-P 1,352 00 1,425 00 Custodian unable deliver title and parcel withdrawn; 
subsequently bought in December, 1944, at 
$1,425.00.

173 313-P 1,132 00 426 00 The increase of $353 recorded should be a decrease 
representing fire loss recovered by the Custodian 
before sale to Director.

ISO 329-P 2,041 00 1,465 00 Original appraisal covered 2 lots. Custodian unable 
deliver title to one lot. The figure recorded as 
an increase should be shown as a decrease.

175 2051-B 1,489 90 1,489 00

123 2058-A 2,054 00 1,600 00 Appraisal covered 2 lots. Custodian able to deliver 
title to but one lot. The increase of $227 should 
be shown as a decrease.

693 2449-A 1,689 00 2,500 00 Custodian unable deliver title and original offer 
was cancelled. Parcel later bought in January, 
1946, at $2,500.

438 2699-A 3,682 00 4,000 00 Custodian unable deliver title and parcel withdrawn. 
Subsequently purchased in July, 1945, at $4,000.

447 571-P 42.00 32.00

463 466-P 678 00 800 00 Custodian unable deliver title and offer cancelled. 
Subsequently bought in December, 1944, at 
$800.

474 643-P 3,004 00 3,044 00

522 677-P 591 00 491 00

612 750-P 5,246 00 6,000 00 Recorded as withdrawn but bought by Director 
in August, 1945, at $6,000.

Ottawa, June 6, 1947.
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MINUTES OF PROCEEDINGS

Friday, June 27, 1947.
The Standing Committee on Public Accounts met at 11 o’clock a.m., the 

Chairman, Mr. L- P. Picard, presiding.
Members present: Messrs. Burton, Boucher, Case, Cloutier, Fraser, Glad­

stone, Golding, Hamel, Homuth, Isnor, Jaenicke, Macdonnell, Picard, Rinfret, 
Warren, Winkler.

In attendance: Dr. E. H. Coleman, C.M.G., K.C., Deputy Custodian of 
Enemy Property, Mr. A. H. Mathieu, M.B.E., Assistant Deputy Custodian, and 
Mr. K. W. Wright, Counsel-

The Committee resumed its investigation into the administration of the 
Ottawa office of the Custodian.

Dr. Coleman and Messrs. Mathieu and Wright were recalled.
Mr. Wright filed a statement showing particulars of sales of certain proper­

ties owned by persons of the Japanese race, which, on motion of Mr. Warren, 
was ordered to be printed as Appendix “A” to this day’s minutes of proceedings 
and evidence.

Mr. Mathieu filed a statement of audit fees paid by the Custodian, which, 
on motion of Mr. Warren, was ordered to be printed as Appendix “B” to this 
day’s minutes of proceedings and evidence.

Questioning of Mr. Mathieu was resumed.
The Chairman thanked the witnesses for their cooperation.
Dr. Coleman, on behalf of himself and officers of his department, thanked 

the Committee for the consideration shown them in their examination.
The witnesses retired.
It was agreed that Mr. Watson Sellar be examined at the next meeting-
At 12.30 o’clock p.m., the Committee adjourned until Tuesday, July 1, at 

11 o’clock a.m.

A. L. BURGESS,
Clerk of the Committee.

92281—lj





MINUTES OF EVIDENCE

House of Commons,
June 27, 1947.

The Standing Committee on Public Accounts met this day at 11.00 a.m. 
The Chairman, Mr. L. Philippe Picard, presided.

The Chairman : Gentlemen, I will call the meeting to order. First of all 
I want to state that Mr. Wright, counsel for the custodian, has supplied some 
of the information that was asked for yesterday by Mr. Fleming, concerning 
the sales of properties which were made subsequent to the Director V.L.A. offer 
for the numerous parcels listed on pages 174 and 175 of the minutes of 
proceedings of May 13. I have also a document, tabled by Mr. Mathieu, 
setting out auditing fees paid by the custodian for World War I and World 
War II. Now I think it might be in order if somebody would make the motion 
to have these printed in the record.

Mr. Warren moves that this return be printed in the record and it is 
seconded by Mr. Golding.

Is it carried?
Carried.
We have with us this morning Dr. Coleman, Mr. Mathieu and Mr. Wright. 

Now most of the members of the committee were through with questions on the 
aspects of the custodian’s office in Ottawa and the accounts of the custodian. 
At the meeting before last we had agreed, as a courtesy to Mr. Fleming, who 
has taken quite a part in the work of this committee, to have these gentlemen 
back before us. Mr. Fleming did not finish early enough yesterday with the 
other part of his work, and we could not call these gentlemen who had been 
waiting and we adjourned the meeting, with Mr. Fleming’s consent, until this 
morning. Now I see Mr. Fleming is not here.

Mr. Macdonnell: Mr. Fleming asked me to say to you that family ties 
had called him to Toronto and I am to express his apology to you. He asked 
me if I would ask a few questions with regard to the subject matter of the 
committee’s considerations this morning, and, with your permission, I will go 
on with those questions. Unfortunately, Mr. Chairman, I have been away 
a good deal and if I ask questions which have been covered before please stop 
me.

The Chairman: You are entitled to ask any questions you wish.
Mr. Macdonnell: Yes, but I have no desire to ask questions on matters 

which may be repetition.
The Chairman: The witness himself may refer to the fact that he may 

have answered the question previously.

A. H. Mathieu, M.B.E. Assistant Deputy Custodian, called :
By Mr. Macdonnell:

Q. I wish to ask a few questions arising out of the evidence of Mr. Mathieu 
on June 24, Tuesday last. I will first ask one or two general questions 
regarding the growth of the department. I would like to have an idea of the 

j staff which was in existence in 1939 and how much it grew? During the war,
393
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I realize, Mr. Chairman, that a great deal of work was done, and I think wisely 
so, through banks, trust companies, and institutions of that kind, but could I 
just have for my own information, knowledge as to how much the staff did 
grow?—A. A\ hen the office started up in September 1939 there were four 
employees, myself, the counsel, and two secretaries. We then set out to organize 
the office and it increased gradually from those four to a peak, I am not 
quite sure of the figures and I would have to look them up—

Q. Just give me a general idea?—A. The peak staff of the office I think 
was 129.

Q. You state “the office started up.” My understanding is that it was a 
continuation and had been carried on since the last war?—A. Yes, but in 1935 
I believe, the staff was disbanded because the work of the first world war 
and the reparations commission had been completed at that time and so, 
gradually from 1930 to 1935 the staff was disbanded and we just retained 
myself, a counsel and two secretaries.

Q. Yes, well then on the other question regarding the procedure, I under­
stand in the case of securities you dealt with them in the manner indicated 
in the evidence which seems to me very wise. When you actually ran into 
growing concerns, if you did run into businesses which were growing concerns, 
what did you do?—A. The first step would have been to appoint an inspector 
to examine the situation and it would depend on his report whether we 
appointed a supervisor or a full time controller.

The Chairman: You mean the supervisor would be on a temporary basis?
The Witness : Yes, to supervise the operation of the business. In the case 

of say, a limited company, the board of directors were continued but they would 
carry on their operations under the supervision of an officer appointed by us 
and always under the direct control of our office.

By Mr. Maedonnell:
Q. There were not very many of such cases?—A. There were very few going 

concerns which we took over in that way.
Q. It would be a comparatively small number?—A. A few of them were 

liquidated in the earl)' stages because it would not have been advisable to 
continue the business. One or two were continued for some time, and we still 
have on German company under active control.

Q. Now coming to page C-l of the evidence, may I read you just a short 
extract from what I think you said, Mr. Mathieu and then I will ask a question 
on it. You are speaking of dealing with countries that had been liberated and 
I will read you a sentence from your evidence:

Then, in the countries that were liberated, as they were liberated, we 
had to go into the matter of releasing the particular property and from that 
time on we started our releasing operations. There had to be special 
agreements with the governments concerned because of the restrictions 
imposed by those governments and also due to the foreign exchange 
requirements. Up to date we only have one of these agreements in force, 
that is the one with France. It has been in force since March 22, 1946, 
and after a year and a half of application apparently we find it is not 
working to the satisfaction of both sides.

And then reading a little further you say, “Agreements with other countries are 
still pending.”

Could you sav a word as to why it takes so long, and by the way, there is one 
other thing I would like to interject here and you may include it in your answer? 
You say “We arc considering the individual releases in necessitous eases—provid­
ing they supply us with the necessary information and a certificate of the
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government of their country establishing beyond any doubt that there is no 
enemy interest involved”.

When you say “no enemy interest” does that refer to our former enemy 
countries?—A. Belligerent enemies. There are two classes of enemies.

Q. Would you just make it a little clearer as to why it takes so long with 
the liberated countries to reach an agreement? I realize it is not in your depart­
ment but I am anxious to know what the situation is?—A. Discussions had been 
going on since 1945. At that time, of course, there was a draft procedure 
submitted to these governments and further discussions took place on the various 
clauses and the effects of those clauses in the proposals. The only country that 
accepted the proposal was France and that was signed, I believe, early in April 
and made retroactive to the 22nd of March, 1946. From then on we carried out 
the procedure of releasing property on direct application from the owners.

Q. That is in France and the liberated countries too?—A. No, France.
Q. Only in France.—A. The other governments had not yet approved of the 

procedure and they have been negotiating ever since.
Q. Have you got readily available the amounts involved in France and the 

other chief countries? Are they large amounts?—A. You have a statement in 
my report.

Mr. Burton : What page is it on if I may inquire?
The Witness: Page 12 of the report. You have a list of the allied territories, 

occupied allied territories. The assets reported for Belgium total $30,781,239.63. 
Then you have the other countries such as the Netherlands, Luxembourg, Norway, 
Polan. Czechoslovakia, and the far east countries—China—representing a total 
over-all of $2,071,952.72.

Mr. Macdonnell : I do not want to take the committee’s time on a lot of 
detail, but you have given an idea of the magnitude involved. What appeals to 
me, as a layman, is just what is the difficulty which is holding us up. You say 
the other governments have not agreed, and in the meantime the citizens are 
being hampered by this delay. I would like to know if there is not some way, I 
know international arrangements are not as simple as arrangements between 
two individuals, but is there not some way it would be speeded up?

The Witness: I think it could be stated in a very few words that the delay 
is really due to the desire of the foreign countries to control the assets of their 
nationals which are vested in the Canadian government.

The Chairman: In the case of the treaty with France do they let their 
nationals freely negotiate with you?

The Witness: No.
The Chairman: It still goes through the government?
The Witness: They insist on having complete control of the property in 

Canada belonging to their nationals here. On the other hand the custodian must 
return those properties to the original owner and not to the government of the 
owner.

By Mr. Macdonnell:
Q. Is that true whether it is a liberated friendly country or an enemy 

country?—A. Well, enemy country property would be dealt with under the 
conditions set out in the treaties to come. In the case of liberated countries 
there would be not treaty but only an agreement.

Q. XV hat were the assets involved in the last war of property returned to 
enemies'*—A. In the last war there were only straight enemy properties involved. 
X\Te did net have invaded territories and the custodian had only property that 
belonged to persons in enemy countries.
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Dr. Coleman : Holland was not occupied—excuse me for interrupting.
The Witness: No, I was referring to France.

By Mr. Macdonnell:
Q. hat was the principle? Was it to return everything, the property of 

enemies, or did we do anything to confiscate?—A. Under the treaties we did 
credit the German government with the proceeds of liquidation of the German 
property in Canada.

Q. Am I correct in thinking the figure of $13,000,000, shown as a surplus 
paid over to the Consolidated Revenue Fund, was the proceeds of operations in 
the first war?—A. Yes.

Q. And how would we have a profit?—A. Through surplus of funds which 
were invested after the war, those that were invested in the war period but not 
directly under the control of the custodian and just reported in the negotiations, 
and the fees that were charged on the release of properties to the three satellites 
of Germany at the time. Under the conditions of the Versailles Treaty Germany 
obligated itself to be responsible for the debts to its satellites, and the assets of 
certain countries such as Austria and Bulgaria were returned to them under a 
special agreement. We were entitled to charge, under that agreement, a fee of 
2 per cent on the value of the property returned after liquidation.

Q. In other words it was part of the terms that Canada would get a fee of 
2 per cent for looking after enemy property?—A. Yes.

Q. I see.
Dr. Coleman : I should like to be permitted to elaborate just a little on Mr. 

Mathieu’s answer, with your permission, Mr. Chairman. What is probably 
not made quite clear is, that there was set up, at the end of the last war, a clear­
ing office in London, and the debts owing to Germany were set off against the 
debts owing to Canada. Am I right?

The Witness: Quite right.
The Chairman: I was just about to ask a question about reparations we 

got from Germany. If we realized on some German assets in Canada which 
should have been balanced with what they owed us on reparations, that was 
done?

The Witness: Yes.
Dr. Coleman: The actual returns were laid on the table of the House of 

Commons at an earlier session. It was computed at one time that in interpreting 
the Treaty of Versailles, Germany undertook to pay reparations they owed 
Canada of something like $1,000,000,000 but we never were able to collect it. 
The Canadian government was not able to collect it.

Mr. Case: Did we collect any part of it.
Dr. Coleman: We collected something like $30.000.000 under the Treaty 

of Versailles. The enemy undertook to recompense Canada and the other allied 
powers for what they paid in carrying on the war, and that would be the whole 
war expenses, pensions and everything, and as I say, the aggregate was computed 
about 1935, which was the first time I had to make up a return. At that time it 
was something like $1,000,000,000.

Mr. Case: They sent over enough paper marks to pay the whole thing.

By Mr. Macdonnell:
Q. I do not, want to press but just to clear up the point would it be correct 

to say this, the amount of $13,000,000 was built up from the percentage? Is 
not that wliat you said Mr. Mathieu? I think you said it was built up?— 
A. Partly.

Q. Partly, well at any rate whatever there was of that nature was applied 
but it> is a very small payment on reparations.
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The Chairman : May I ask what the actual amount of reparations claimed 
is, not including as Dr. Coleman, said the cost of war pensions and so on, but 
just the actual (claims of the Canadian government to compensate Canadian 
individuals for reparations.

The Witness: Well, Mr. Chairman, I did not expect questions on that 
feature of our work and you will excuse me if I did not make it quite clear in 
the first instance. This is all ancient history and it is so long ago that it is 
hard to go back to it, as we have been terribly busy in this war as compared to 
the last war.

Mr. Macdonnell: I do not want to press this.
The Witness : The point is that reparations would be clearly defined. 

Reparation moneys did not come into the custodian’s -office. It is not really a 
matter that concerns the custodian’s office. That money went direct, I would 
presume, to the war appropriations account of the last war, but the chairman 
probably had in mind the so-called claims field with the reparation commission.

The Chairman: That is right.
The Witness: Those are what you might call domestic claims for war losses, 

damage, loss of life, and various other categories that were accepted by the 
reparations commisison. That was a separate body from the custodian’s office 
and the awards made by that commission were paid out of a vote of parliament 
and not out of moneys that the custodian held. We carried out the mechanics 
of paying the awards in our office because it was more or loss correlated with our 
office. The actual money to pay the domestic claims, as I might call them, was 
provided by parliament. The first commission that made its award completed 
its work in 1929 and the total award was approximately $6,500,000. Now to 
get the exact figure I would have to go back to the books.

The Chairman : It is just approximately that figure?
The Witness: That is approximately the figure that was awarded. As a 

result of that report being tabled in the House a lot of new claimants came 
forward. If you will look at page 30 of the report the total amount granted was 
$6.750,000. Subsequent to that, the Friel report, and when I say Friel report, 
that is the first commission that made awards, upon being made public a large 
number of further claims that had not shown up previously were then reported 
and a third commission was then appointed in 1930 under commissioner Judge 
Errol McDougall. Judge McDougall completed his work and made his official 
report in 1933 whereupon the custodian made payment of all amounts awarded 
as well as the expenses of the commission out of a special fund provided by 
parliament w-hich amounted to $4,200,000. Out of the Friel report four claims 
remain outstanding, amounting in all to $3,057.64, due to the fact that the 
claimants have never come forward to claim the money awarded to them by 
the Friel commission. The total balance held in the special reparations account 
a- of this date is $5.177.13. the difference between the amount of outstanding 
claims yet to be paid and the amount stated before represents interest, adjust­
ments and refunds of advances received during the life of the commission.

The Chairman: So we received about $13,000,000 actually from those 
pi operties and a little more than $10,000,000 of that amount was assigned by the 
reparations commission?

1 he Witness: Yes, in payment of domestic claims.

By Mr. Jaenicke:
C \\ e got a little away from the subject on which I was trying to interrupt 

before but ii you will allow me, Mr. Chairman, I should like to ask the witness 
about a particular French company that I understand was under the control of 
the custodian. 1 he matter came up in the Banking and Commerce committee
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last Tuesday. The company is an insurance company called La Foncière 
Compagnie d’Assurance Mobilières et Immobilières. Did you have that 
company under your instructions.—A. Yes, through the superintendent of 
insurance.

Q. Do you still have that company?—A. It is in the process of being released
now.

Q. If you release it do you have to get the consent of the French govern­
ment?—A. We require a certification by the French government, a consent of the 
French government is implied by the certification.

Q. Before the assets are turned back?—A. In other words the form is sent 
in by the applicant company, or its officers, and attested before L’Office des 
Changes which is the foreign exchange body in France, a branch of the French 
ministry of finance, empowered to look after these matters in all countries. On 
page 4 of the application form, the officer of L’Office des Changes signs a 
certificate that there is no enemy interest involved in any part of that company. 
On the basis of the declaration by the applicant, and certification, the custodian 
can then proceed with the release of the particular property of that concern.

Q. The French government has not yet consented to the transfer of that 
property?—A. That I am not sure of. There is a letter on my desk today but 
I have not had a chance to read it. The French officers of the company were in 
to see me some time ago and they stated an application had been duly made 
and it was going through the French Embassy. I presume that if it has not 
reached the office that it is just about to be received and, according to the 
advance information I have, it seems there will be no objection to releasing 
control.

Q. As far as the French government is concerned?—A. As far as the 
Canadian government is concerned.

By the Chairman:
Q. Have you had many claims from French nationals since this new agree­

ment has been passed?—A. Unfortunately, no. We have a total of roughly 
15,7(18 French accounts under our control. The last survey we made showed that 
only about 3.000 applications had been received out of the total number, and 
such applications we have received have been mostly for small amounts under 
$3.000; which you see by clause 4 of the application is clearly excepted from the 
certificates of l’Office des Changes. Apparently the French people who had 
money in this country, for certain reasons in their own country, due I believe to 
the French laws existing in France, were very reluctant to come forward and 
ask for certification of l’Office des Changes. We arc receiving letters practically 
every day saying that they do not feel like going to l’Office des Changes to make 
application for release because they are satisfied that their funds are in good 
hands in Canada and they would prefer to leave them there.

The Chairman: That is quite a compliment.
The Witness: For reasons of their own, I suppose.
Mr. Macdonnell: They would prefer to have you operate them than go 

to l’Office des Changes.

By Mr. Isnor:
Q. I would like to inquire from the witness as to the jurisdiction of the 

custodian in respect to Japanese bonds held by people in Canada, whether 
there has been a fund set up to take care of that. You know what I mean?—A. 
That would no doubt be covered by the treaty with Japan which has not 
been made yet.

Q. Have you similar treaties with other countries for claims already filed?— 
A. No treaties have as yet been ratified by parliament.
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Q. Are you accepting claims from individuals regarding bonds of other 
countries?—A. Yes, we are receiving claims. They are recorded on a register of 
claims filed by individuals and entered by countries.

Q. And the same thing would apply to those holding Japanese government 
bonds?—A. Oh yes, they would claim for the bonds, and even cash ; but no 
policy has as yet been laid down on account of the fact that no policy can be 
defined as to the treatment of these claims until treaties have been ratified by 
parliament. But under our regulations we are maintaining a register of claims 
that have already been filed. I may say that in comparing notes with other 
countries, such as Great Britain and the United States, because we are working 
this thing up in preparation for the work when the treaties are ratified, we do 
find that Canada is a little ahead of the others in maintaining records for future 
purposes. Of course, we are probably in a fortunate position owing to the fact 
that there was no break between the two wars, tlv office continued; therefore, we 
were able to profit by the experience of the first war and set up records in such 
a way that we would have available all the information possible. We are now 
getting all the material ready for the interdepartmental committee preparing a 
recommendation to the government with respect to certain steps which must be 
taken until the treaties are ratified with a view to formulating or recommending 
rather to the government the policy which should be followed in dealing with 
these claims for this war.

Q. Has there been anything considered whereby Canadians holding bonds 
such as I have mentioned can negotiate loans on a guarantee from the govern­
ment or from the custodian’s office?—A. Not that I know of.

Q. That has not been considered?—A. Do you refer to bonds held in Canada?
Q. In Canada, yes.—A. No. The bonds, of course, would be the property of 

the owner; and providing "the individual owner had not been interned, even 
"though he is a Japanese national, he would not be classified as an enemy, he 
would be entitled to retain his property.

Q. No. I refer to a committee of business men holding Japanese govern­
ment bonds.

The Chairman : By that do you mean bonds of the Japanese government?
Mr. Macdonnell: Can he not deal in them freely?
The Witness: He can deal in them freely if he can find any institution which 

will advance him money on the collateral represented by the bonds ; I have no 
doubt he could have the benefit of them.

By Mr. Jaenicke:
Q. There is another question I would like to ask the witness. You mentioned 

a lot of French people who had money here and wanted you to keep it; do you 
invest that money?—A. Do you mean all accounts, or are you speaking of invest­
ment accounts?

Q. T mean just French accounts.—A. You are referring to the non-belligerent?
Q. Those French people to whom you referred who want you to keep their 

money for them.—A. With the regard to the accounts which come under our 
control the accrued revenue has been capitalized from time to time. Since the 
resumption of correspondence or communications has again been permitted the 
owners are in correspondence with their former agents in Canada, such as a 
bank or a trust company ; and they would probably give that agent directions 
to invest accruing funds in certain types of property or securities. That is 
always referred back to us for permission or refusal, depending on the circum­
stances. In the case of French property, or as I should say French accounts, 
we usually permit the transaction, providing it is not a speculation which might 
endanger the value of the account.
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Mr. Macdonnell : Why would you not allow them to speculate if they want 
to, provided it is not injurious to our national interest?

The Witness: Because this property is vested in the custodian and the 
owner has no title to it. We merely recognize the fact that because he is not an 
enemy some day he may be wanting the return of his property. We accept his 
directives providing they are reasonable.

By Mr. Jaenicke:
Q. What rate of commission do you charge on that now?—A. No commis­

sion. On that type of transaction we merely charge a fee for administrative 
purposes when we release the property.

Q. That is the two per cent?—A. It may be up to two per cent.
Q. On all the years you hold it?—A. No matter how long we have had it, 

on the total value of the property- on the date of release.
By the Chairman:

Q. And you consider that percentage adequate to meet your cost of opera­
tion?—A. Yes.

Q. Does that cover all your expenses?—A. Well, of course the enemy 
property will have to carry its proportion of expenses, over all expenses.

Mr. Isnor: May I ask one other question in connection with these Jap­
anese government bonds to which I referred. If they are payable in London or 
New York would the claim be entered in England or the United States respec­
tively; or, would it be entered through the Canadian office?—A. A Canadian 
holding a bond of that nature in Canada would be entitled to file his claim with 
the custodian here, even though the bond may be held, say, in London or New 
York. If a British subject in London holds the same type of bond in London 
he would have to file his claim with the London authorities.

By Mr. Macdonnell:
Q. Just at a matter of interest, you refer to the fact that you, the custodian 

here, carried out the instructions received from principals in France, and you 
used the words “providing they were reasonable” speaking of investments. 
May I ask what you would consider reasonable? For instance, suppose a man 
wanted to sell his government bonds and invest the proceeds in stock; would you 
consider that reasonable?—A. Yes. What I had in mind in making the refer­
ence to reasonable requests were cases where the individual was asking for the 
transfer of funds outside the country.

Q. Oh, I see.—A. We would not permit a transaction of that kind.
Q. Oh, no; I can see that. But so far as investments in this country are 

concerned.—A. We would not object to them at all.
Q. Then I have one other question. On page C-8 of the report of Tuesday 

last this statement is made by the witness—I think it is speaking about the 
first war, as a matter of fact:

During that period an audit of the funds in our office was carried 
on through the usual method and audit expenses were paid out of the war 
appropriation account. After we had succeeded in getting sufficient 
funds it was decided that the departmental war appropriation account 
would be reimbursed for all expenses up to that date. We did that and 
from then on the Auditor General had nothing further to audit because 
the funds we had were not considered public funds.

I think I understand the principle involved there, but let me ask you this 
question : you say, they were not considered public funds. Would I be correct 
in saying that that meant that all during the business of the war, that applies 
to this war, too, the custodian was carrying on his operations free from any 
control or outside investigation of any kind, except the audit by private firms
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from year to year; would that be a correct statement?—A. The purpose of the 
statement I made at the last meeting was to show the difference between actual 
public funds going into the consolidated revenue fund and the trust funds w'hich 
were paid directly to the custodian.

Q. Then that leads me to ask this question: the result of that seems to 
me to be that the custodian came into the control of huge amounts of money, 
and that this two per cent of capital realized and no doubt received by you as 
income—I will ask you to tell us what that was in amount ; was he free to hire 
people on his own terms or were the civil service regulations applied; or, just 
what did you do about that?—A. The civil service regulations were not applied 
to the officers or the staff of the office of the custodian.

Q. Why was that?—A. Because of the terms of the order in council. Reg­
ulation 6(3) covering the establishment of the custodian’s office reads:

6. (3) The custodian may establish and maintain such office or 
offices as he thinks proper for the administration of these regulations 
and such other matters as may be delegated to him and may attach 
thereto such officers, clerks and advisers as he selects and they shall be 
paid such remuneration as the custodian determines.

Q. Yes, that is the first point; and at this stage I shall not ask you to 
make any comment on it. I will just give my opinion, if I may, Mr. Chair­
man. It seems to me it left the custodian very, very wide open indeed; and 
one wonders why they were given such wide powers without any restriction of 
any kind, apparently, and why such broad powers were necessary.

The Chairman: That is along the same lines, is it not, as the income tax 
office?

Mr. Macdonnell: Pardon?
The Chairman: This procedure was along the same lines as that followed 

in the income tax office where the personnel do not come under the civil service 
commission.

Mr. Fraser: May I ask this question at this point: was consideration 
given veterans in employment?

The Witness: Always.
By Mr. Case:

Q. Was there sufficient revenue from the enemy property to maintain the 
office of the custodian; or, from what sources did you obtain funds with which 
to pay the expenses of the custodian’s office?—X. That is derived from the 
investments of the custodian—bank balances, victory bonds—this money was 
coming in, and most of it was coming into the office of the custodian and it 
represented non-interest-bearing moneys. They accumulated in bank accounts 
in Ottawa, and any time a government issue was made we received authority 
through the treasury board to invest in bonds of that issue, and the interest 
derived from that type of investment was credited to the administration account 
to take care of the expenses of the office; salaries, including all expenses; and 
for the purpose of creating a fund in case treaties imposed certain obligations, 
such as interest on debts—which usually is not an interest-bearing item—or 
other such commitments with which the custodian might be faced in the future, 
depending on the conditions set out in the treaties. The detail breakdown of 
investment is on page 15 of the blue book report. We have $22,651,500 invested 
in various victory loans. The interest on these bonds goes directly to the admin­
istration account pending final results, final disposition; meanwhile all expenses 
are charged to that administrative fund.

Q. In other words, you have always obtained sufficient revenue to maintain 
the office?—A. Always.
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Q. Now then, what becomes of the surplus—I suppose you cannot always 
get an even balance—what becomes of the surplus earnings of the invested 
funds? Is that turned over to someone or is it held by you?—A. That is to 
remain in our hands until the work is wound up when any surplus will be 
returned to the treasury.

Q. And yet it never was wound up 'between the first and second war?— 
A. It was, to a certain extent. In 1930 there was a secondary treaty with 
Germany returning the then unliquidated property. It didn’t amount to very 
much, of course; but we had left at that date property unliquidated. That is 
what you might call unmarketable securities, such as securities for which there 
was no market whatever. You could not sell them and you could not dispose 
of them. They were returned to the German government. There were a few 
parcels of real estate that were not completely liquidated.

Q. Did that close out the account?—A. That closed out the operation 
between the clearing offices proper and the return of the unliquidated property 
—that was under a second treaty, which was for the purpose of closing out the 
account. That left the adjustment of certain things which were then pending; 
claims by third parties, for instance, for the return of securities which had been 
vested in the custodian and which formerly belonged to German nationals.

Q. Well, in 1939 had the account been completely closed out; I mean, at 
the time of the new war with Germany?—A. We still had an amount of, roughly, 
half a million dollars set aside to take care of outstanding claims which had 
not been completely wound up.

Q. And with the outbreak of the second war that would simply become— 
A. That was retained in the first war account.

By Mr. Homuth:
Q. Are there any limitations as to the time which may elapse between the 

making of claims?—A. None whatever.
Dr. Coleman : I might state for the information of the committee, Mr. 

Chairman, that there is a motion before the Exchequer court to-day for the 
purpose of disposing of one of these claims which came up in 1937.

The Chairman: That is out of the first war.
Dr. Coleman : My predecessor, Mr. Mulvey, told me that in 1928. when he 

was in England he had some contact with the British Board of Trade on this 
matter of claims carried over from the first great war, and I think he mentioned 
to them the delay in not being able to get a lot of things cleared up. The 
officials took him to an adjoining room where there were two or three gentlemen 
working, and they said to him: you may be interested to know that those 
gentlemen are winding up accounts of the Crimean war.

By Mr. Case:
Q. Am I to understand from what you have said that the claims arising out 

of the first great war are kept entirely separate from those arising out of the 
second great war?—A. Yes.

Q. And then, what is the purpose of the fund to which you have just 
referred?—A. That is to cover claims which have been filed, or possible claims, 
from the first great war which have not been completed or wound up.

Q. Do you keep the amount of the claims in connection with the first great 
war separate?—A. Quite.

By Mr. Fraser:
Q. I wanted to ask you what the income was last year from the account 

you held ; have you got that? It would be over a million dollars I imagine. 
That would include the per cent earned.—A. On page 16 of the blue book 
report there is a breakdown of administrative accounts.
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Q. You will recall, Mr. Chairman, that only certain members received 
copies of that report.—A. We have 'an item here; this is in the assets : “accrued 
interest on Dominion of Canada bonds $180,335.06.

Q. Didn’t you say that you had $51,000,000 in bonds?—A. $22,000,000.
Q. Oh, pardon me; I thought you said $51,000,000—$22,000,000, I see.

By Mr. Macdonnell:
Q. Mr. Chairman, might I ask this question?—Would the witness tell us 

just what total income has accrued to the custodian from the commissions which 
have been paid so far? How much of property has the custodian handed over 
liquidated? The total amount of that would be some billions of dollars ; do 
you have that at hand—A. The total amount up to December 1946 is $989,149.23.

Q. Only $989,-?—A. 149.23.
Q. That is the commission you had coming?—A. That was the commission 

on the assets realized up to that period.
Q. Then the assets realized would be how much; roughly, fifty times that, 

I suppose?—A. Yes.
Dr. Coleman : Yes, roughly $7,000,000.

By Mr. Macdonnell:
Q. Would you indicate the total amount which came into your hands?—A. 

The peak amount was roughly, $1,500,000,000; that, of course, included state- 
owned gold.

The Chairman : Perhaps Mr. Mathieu would want to reconsider the 
questions asked by Mr. Fraser as to the interest earned. Can you give him 
that figure?

The Witness: The exact figure—I had not turned over the page to the 
proper statement. The interest on investments—that would cover the interest 
on the bonds—the total up to the end of December 1946 is $3,139,332.66. That 
would include interest on bonds in Ottawa and bonds held by Vancouver, and 
similar investments made in London, England, where we carried an account 
in sterling and that would have to be converted to Canadian dollars, as was 
done in this statement.

Mr. Case: You say, “up to”; what was it for 1946?
The Chairman: Excuse me, gentlemen. May I have your permission to 

ask Mr. Rinfret to take my place for a few moments?
(Mr. E. Rinfret assumes the chair.)
The Witness: I haven’t got the detailed amounts.

By Mr. Case:
Q. You haven’t got the detailed amount?—A. No.
Q. What period does “up to” cover ; you said up to the end of 1946?—A. 

From the beginning of the war right up to then.
Q. That is from 1939?—A. Yes.

By Mr. Fraser:
Q. That surplus which was held in 1939 would not be included in that?—A. 

No. All accounts for the first war are necessarily held quite separate from 
these accounts.

By Mr. Macdonnell:
Q. A ou have told us your income to date; and when I say income I am 

referring to the commission you charge as separate from the money coming 
in by way of interest earning; and I understood you to say that was probably 
$990,000. You have been in operation nearly eight years. Of course, your 
staff was not anything like as large when you began. Can you tell me what
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the total expense of operating your office has been since it was opened in 1939? 
I would like to know how it compares with the commission which you are" 
getting. In other words, I want to know whether you are carrying on business 
within the margin of the charge; what have been your total disbursements?—A. 
Total disbursements, including all the various sections, amount to $1,854,465.53.

Q. Well then, in other words, you have spent $1,854,000; and your com­
missions up to date amount to $989,000 ; the balance then, I take it, is taken 
out of moneys from time to time in your hands?—A. The total revenue, 
including interest on bonds and on investments, and the interest on the bank 
accounts and the penalty interest which we receive during the course of 
operations—

Q. That all presumably belongs to the owners?—A. No.
Q. I mean, you are intending to return that to them when you give them 

back their money, apart from your commission?—A. Not necessarily. The 
owner will get the exact amount which was coming to him.

Q. I am afraid I have not made my question clear. The point I was trying 
to make is this: we do this business—if one may call it business—and collect 
a fee. These assets were received without remuneration, aside from the 
remuneration of the two per cent on the capital of the money finally turned 
over.—A. That is correct, but only on release of the property.

Q. I see. Now so far, the commissions which you have received have fallen 
about $900,000 short of paying the cost of the office. Now the deficiency you 
pay out of income which comes into your hands, income or capital for that 
matter, which comes into your hands from those assets. I asked you whether 
you did not refer to those assets as belonging to individuals but you say no, 
and I understand the sense in which you say no, but equitably, and morally, 
does not that property belong to these people? Is that not the basis we are doing 
this on? It is property which comes into our hands as a nation and we look 
after and charge a fee for doing it. You surprise me, or what upsets my ideas 
is that it looks as if we were not charging enough in getting this 2 per cent.
I thought it was enough to cover the cost of the business but you tell us it is not 
enough.

Mr.Case: We have not had the total revenue.
The Witness: I was merely asked concerning the revenue on bonds. We 

have other revenue outside of that. The total revenue including bank interest 
and penalty interest and the administration fees charged on releasing property, 
discounts and bond purchase premiums, and profits on bonds sold, makes a 
total revenue of $4,490,000 odd.

The Acting Chairman: Would it be a fair statement to make that you 
have sufficient property on hand, on which you can charge 2 per cent, and the 
revenue from that 2 per cent will be more than the difference between the 
$1,854,000 and the $989,000?

Mr. Bouchard: I think probably he could answer in another way. I take 
it the $989,000 is an accumulation of money on property which you have 
already transferred back but there is a very substantial portion yet to be 
transferred on which you will charge your 2 per cent, which will more than 
overcome the difference.

Mr. Macdonnell: That docs not seem to be a bit clear because they have 
transferred half the property back now and even if you charge the full 2 per cent 
on the whole of it you would only get, if my figuring is correct, about the amount 
which they have already spent running the department. You have spent 
$1,854,000 and there would be only 2 per cent on $1,500,000,000. Now you have 
got $989,000 transferred, and $700,000,000—let us multiply that by two— 
that would give you just about the amount which you have spent now, or a 
little over, but we are not near the end of the course yet. My question is this,



PUBLIC ACCOUNTS 405

it seems surprising to me, and I will not say it is unsound, but it was a surprise 
to me how you seem to intermingle those funds as you do. You use funds 
which I thought was the property of or beneficial to the owners, to pay your 
ordinary expenses. If, in fact, as Mr. Case originally suggested, you are 
satisfied that the 2 per cent, when you come to the end of the course, will cover 
the position, that answers my question. I do not think I need to press it further 
except for this, and we hope we will not have any more wars, but I take it one 
of the points here is to learn any lessons we can for the future, and I do ask 
the question for consideration.

By Mr. Case:
Q. What is the attitude of the other countries and their custodians towards 

assets they may be holding of ours? Do they operate on the same basis?— 
A. The Americans are operating on the same basis as we are. On all property 
that is vested they are going to charge probably more than 2 per cent when 
they return it.

Q. Is that optional to the custodian?—A. No, it is under the law of the land. 
There is a bill which is going to be put through, I believe it has gone through 
congress now, permitting the custodian to return property, otherwise he would 
not have the right to return the property because it is vested in the government.

Q. Each country makes its own laws? There is no international arrange­
ment, and they are pretty well all on the same basis? ?

Dr. Colfmax : Great Britain charges 2 per cent and I think the rate in the 
United States is 3 per cent.

Mr. Burton : Mr. Chairman, if I may interrupt, and .1 hesitate to do it 
as I do not want to appear to be trying to shut off the discussion. That is 
the farthest thing from my mind, but since this committee has been set up I 
have attended every meeting. Yesterday I had to leave before the meeting 
was over and it was with a considerable amount of surprise, although being 
on the steering committee and it met previous to the meeting yesterday, that I 
received notice that this meeting was being called to-day. I was here before the 
chairman was here and I was quite prepared to be here. I have accepted my 
responsibility in serving on the committee but the greater part of this discussion, 
I submit Mr. Chairman, with all due deference to those who have been carrying 
it on, has been covered in previous meetings that we have had. In so far as 
interest on invested funds retained by the custodian is concerened, that has 
been explained in previous meetings. The reason why I recall it is that I raised 
the question at the time, and the answer was where persons had invested money 
in bonds, such persons would get interest from those bonds, but money that had 
been turned in to the custodian that had not been invested in those kinds of 
securities did not receive returns. I must say that in the hour which I have 
spent here this morning, outside of the odd little detail which has been creeping 
into the answers, I have received very little benefit from this meeting and I 
wish to tell you, Mr. Chairman, that I have other work to do.

The Acting Chairman : I think the members of the committee will realize 
you are correct.

Mr. Macdonnell: As I said at the outset, and I would like to remind the 
chairman of this, I had been away. I asked the chairman to point out to me my 
error when I was covering ground which had already been dealt with.

The Acting Chairman : You chose a time when there was another chairman.
Mr. Macdonnell: I thought I guarded myself against repetition but, in any 

event, I am through.
The Acting Chairman: Is there any further discussion?

92281—2
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Mr. Fraser: Mr. Chairman, the statement regarding these people that have 
bonds was to the effect that they were going to get the interest, but it looks as if 
they are not going to get their interest.

The Witness: Perhaps I had better explain the difference between the two 
types of funds. Those paid into the custodian’s office at Ottawa are non-interest 
bearing items.

Mr. Fraser: Non-interest bearing?
The Witness: Yes. Those that are bearing interest in investments are 

investment accounts, set up before the war, that came under our control but 
remained in the hands of banks. We could not set up an organization wide 
enough to take in, and transfer all those securities, and look after them in Ottawa, 
so it was decided, banks being responsible bodies as are trust companies, that 
they should retain the accounts, continue administration and - collection of 
dividends, and the changing of stocks where required, (where stock was called 
for redemption), and other ordinary procedures in the administration of security 
accounts. Those securities were left in the hands of banks under our control. 
No transactions took place, and no requests for transfers of funds were met, 
without the custodian being informed and giving his consent or refusal. The 
moneys that were in Ottawa were those that could no be maintained outside. 
They represented non-interest bearing items, so that those amounts were immedi­
ately credited to the account of the owner. For instance, a commercial debt was 
collected from a debtor in Canada and placed to the credit of the French owner 
and that amount is all the Frenchman is entitled to ask for. Meanwhile those 
funds accumulated in the bank accounts in Ottawa and they were the ones 
that were invested in bonds to pay the necessary costs of administration. While 
we may charge up to 2 per cent that will not cover all the expenses of the office, 
with the result that the revenue derived from the investment on the funds that 
belonged to the custodian—and mind you those funds were vested in the custo­
dian, the owner had lost his rights under the regulations—will serve to make up the 
difference in cost of administration and the other commitments that we may 
have to meet under treaties, whether private treaties or treaties with enemy 
governments. A large proportion of the funds that were paid in were funds 
belonging to straight enemies and they will have to be disposed of under conditions 
of the treaties. A smaller proportion of them would be for non-belligerents, for 
instance commercial debts with France, Holland, Belgium, and other countries 
that were occupied. The enemy accounts had to be collected and retained by the 
custodian until they are disposed of under conditions of the treaties to come.

Mr. Boucher: Notwithstanding what my honourable friend says about 
wasting time, I do feel we would get some place if we discussed this point. You 
say the non-interest bearing funds, in effect, reached the hands of the custodian 
and were invested by the custodian. The revenue received by them was treated 
as part of the custodian’s earnings, leaving two classes of people, one, those who 
had money invested in Canada in interest bearing sources, and the other those 
who had money in Canada not invested or invested in non-interest bearing 
quarters. Consequently you are asking, or, our policy is to ask those who had 
money in Canada in the hands of the custodian not having been invested, to bear 
some of the expenses of administration on behalf of those who had funds invested?

The Witness: I am speaking there in general terms of the over-all picture.
Mr. Boucher:1 Really is not that the situation in principle?
The Witness: The owner will get his money back if he is not an enemy.
Mr. Jaenicke: That is it, you must distinguish between the one who is an 

enemy and the one who is not an enemy. That is where the confusion arises.
Mr. Boucher: There is a little more than that. If is a fact that you have 

had his money invested.
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Mr. Jaenicke: If he is an enemy we take his property.
The Witness : His property remains here and will be applied against the 

reparations account.
Mr. Boucher: That has been a worry to me and I am not quite sure on 

it yet.
By Mr. Jaenicke:

Q. I have a concrete case of a Canadian Norwegian, a resident here, who 
was caught in Norway during the war. The custodian took over his farm and 
collected his rentals I presume. Now how was that collected?—A. The rent 
is collected and passed to his credit as it comes in.

Q. And you would keep his account?—A. We keep an individual account 
for each individual owner.

Q. Did you charge him for collection of that rental?—A. We only charged 
the collection commission due to the agency that was looking after the 
administration of the property in the field.

Mr. Fraser: That would be 5 per cent, usually?
The Witness: Yes.
Mr. Jaenicke: I do not think they would charge 5 per cent.
The Witness: No, some of them did not charge 5 per cent; they would 

only charge the usual bank rate for handling the business.
Mr. Jaenicke: The property of which I speak has been returned and I 

have no complaint to make. I was just asking about it for information and 
the man was not an enemy. He was a Canadian citizen but a Norwegian 
originally.

By Mr. Case:
Q. Do you mean to say an individual whose country was our enemy would 

lose his property on reparations?—A. Depending on the terms of peace.
Q. I am speaking now of a German national, who has no association with 

the German government except that he is a citizen of Germany, and if he 
owned property in Canada and it was seized by the custodian, does he forfeit 
that property pending reparations?—A. That would be covered by the 
Reparation Act which was signed early in 1946.

Dr. Coleman: May I answer that with your permission, Mr. Chairman? 
It would entirely depend on the treaties of peace. Under the Treaty of 
Versailles, Germany undertook to make reparations and Germany said to the 
victorious countries who were the other parties, “you will keep whatever German 
property you have in your hands and apply it on your reparation account 
and we, in turn,”—that is the German government,—“will undertake to com­
pensate our individual nationals”. Actually when they did, owing to the 
inflated currency, I am afraid—I do not know whether that is the right verb,— 
but I am inclined to think the individual German got very little out of his 
property.

Mr. Homuth: In fact we are sure of it.
Mr. Boucher: Is it not a fact also, Dr. Coleman, in that regard, only the 

initially realized price on that property was credited to the reparation account 
and the other investment on the part of the custodian was not considered, it 
was considered otherwise as accruing to the expenses?

Mr. Jaenicke: You did not take over any property of Germany nationals 
who were otherwise peaceful citizens of Canada?

Dr. Coleman : Except for the persons interned, all properties were returned. 
We had nothing whatever to do with the ordinary German in Canada who 
behaved himself.
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The Witness : The only restriction imposed on that type of man was he 
could not buy stocks in a Canadian company to try and get control of a 
Canadian company as a German national.

Mr. Picard resumed the chair.
The Chairman: Are there any other questions gentlemen?
Well, this will be practically the last meeting with these witnesses. 

We have covered most of this phase of the work and there remained only 
the custodian’s office in Ottawa and the accounts. If the committee members 
are satisfied that we are through we will release the witnesses.

I am sure I express the opinion of the committee in thanking Dr. Coleman, 
Mr. Mathieu, and Mr. Wright for their willingness to answer our questions 
all the way through. They have given us the best information they could.

Dr. Coleman: Mr. Chairman, may I, on behalf of the witnesses from 
the custodian’s office, thank not only you but your predecessor, Mr. Isnor, 
and all the members of the committee for their courtesy. I assure you that 
if there is any further information that you want and which is within our power 
to produce we will be very glad to supply it, if you will just let us know.

Mr. Burton : Mr. Chairman, you fully expressed the appreciation of all 
the members of the committee but there is just one other question I would like 
to ask before you call the adjournment. Is it the intention of the committee 
to proceed along the lines we did before when we had completed one phase of 
our investigation? Is it the intention to prepare another further interim 
report?

The Chairman: I am quite prepared to assume the work. Since we are 
changing entirely the subject matter of work on Tuesday at 11.00 a.m., we will 
see Mr. Sellar for a general broad outlook of his work.

Mr. Homuth: On Tuesday?
The Chairman: On Tuesday at 11.00 a.Ai. and immediately after we finish 

with Mr. Sellar’s general outlook of the programme we will take up the matter 
that has been brought forward by Mr. Fleming respecting the Veterans’ Land Act 
administration in Sarnia.

Mr. Homuth : That will be on Tuesday morning?
The Chairman: On Tuesday morning Mr. Sellar will be here and if we do 

not get through with him at one session I might suggest, to please Mr. Fleming, 
that we have a second meeting on Wednesday and on Thursday or Friday we 
that has been brought forward by Mr. Fleming respecting the Veterans’ Land Act

The meeting stands adjourned until Tuesday at 11.00 a.m.

The meeting adjourned at 12.20 p.m. to meet again on Tuesday, July 1, 
1947. at 11.00 a.m.
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APPENDIX “A”

June 27, 1947.

Memorandum, for the Public Accounts Committee
In compliance with Mr. Fleming’s request, the following information has 

been obtained from the Custodian’s Office in Vancouver in regard to sales of 
properties which were made subsequent to acceptance of offers for numerous 
parcels listed on Pages 174 and 175 of Minutes of Proceedings before Public 
Accounts Committee, May 13, 1947.

Original
Offer

Final
Offer Date Remarks

$1,325.00 $1,425.00 December, 1944 Sale based on valuation by Mr. H. Menzies, Haney, B.C.

678.00 800.00 December, 1944 Sale based on valuation by Mr. Ansell, of New Westmin­
ster, B.C.

9,117.00 10,100.00 December, 1944 Property advertised in Catalogue published by Cus­
todian.

Properties obtained through Official Administrator who took out Letters 
of Administration to Japanese Estates:

Original Final
Offer Offer Date Remarks

$3,682.00 $4,000.00 July, 1945 Public Tender.
1,689.00 2,-500.00 June, 1946 Public Tender.

The Director, Custodian’s Office, Vancouver, further advises that receipts 
from sales of these five parcels are included in Summary of Realization of Assets, 
listed on page 57 of the General Report under Item “Real Estate Sales” which 
totals $1,868,080.66.
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AUDIT FEES PAID BY “THE CUSTODIAN” 

RE: WORLD WAR I

Periods Covered

To
Edwards,
Morgan,

& Company

To Price, 
Waterhouse 
Company 
Montreal

Audit Board

From inception to February 29, 1944...............................
March 1, 1924 to November, 30 1924 . ........................
December 1, 1924 to November 30, 1925........................
December 1, 1925 to December 31, 1926.........................
Audit Board from January 1, 1926 to February 29,1928

$2,975.80 
960.48 

1,526.52 
1,245 80

Paid by 
Treasury 
not by 
Custodian’s 
Office. No 
information

March 1, 1928 to September 30, 1930 
October 1, 1933 to March 31, 1931 . 
April 1, 1931 to December 31, 1931..
1932 ....................................................................
1933 ....................................................................
1934 ..................................................
1935 ...................................................................
1936 ....................................................................
1937 ....................................................................
1938 ....................................................................
January, February and March, 1939..........
April 1, 1939 to December 31, 1940............
January 1, 1941 to August 31, 1944 
September 1, 1944 to December 31, 1945..

$13,094.25 
2,597.30 
1,833.74 
1,185.90 
1.178.35 
1,562.49 
1.202.99 

940.45 
652.52 
568.68 
141.70 
275 00 
528.62 
100.00

in
Custodian’s
Office.

RE: WORLD W AR II

Periods Covered

Price, 
Waterhouse 

& Co m pan y, 
Montreal

Price, 
Waterhouse 

& Company, 
Vancouver

P. S. Ross 
& Sons, 

Vancouver

Interim Report covering period of September 2, 1939 
to December 31, 1940 $ 5,567.65

13,718.57
14,480.53
10,906.05
7,472.83
9,734.20

4,109.61

Official Report for period of September 2, 1939 to 
December 31, 1941............................................................
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1943
1944.. ..
1945
Japanese Rnnmy Section Audit. Pee. . 2,500.00
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MINUTES OF EVIDENCE

House of Commons,

July 1, 1947.
The standing Committee on Public Accounts met this day at 11.00 a.m. 

The Chairman, Mr. L. Philippe Picard, presided.
The Chairman: Gentlemen, shall we call the meeting to order.
We have with us this morning Mr. Watson Sellar, Auditor General, and we 

would ask him to make a statement if he has one to make?
Mr. Sellar will afterwards be at- the disposal of the members to ask 

questions. It has been agreed that this discussion would be on general terms. 
Mr. Sellar has the floor and is at your disposal.

Mr. Watson Sellar, C.M.G., Auditor General, called :
The Chairman: I suppose it would be in order to ask Mr. Sellar if he has 

a few words to say.
Mr. Isnor: Yes, I think it would be nice to have a statement.
The Witness: Mr. Chairman, you have before you the report for the fiscal 

year 1945-46. The items can be divided into various headings but I imagine 
you are particularly interested in those concerning you as representing the 
House of Commons in this committee. There are, in that regard, certain 
transactions to which I think you should give a little thought. There are several 
o: them noted on page 2 of my report. One is: “Payments totalling $7,735,000 
(Canadian) were made to the United States government to the end that 
Canadian service forces may, up to March 31, 1947, select items from surplus 
stores and equipment of the United States service forces. No deliveries were 
made in the fiscal year. The effect is to relieve 1946-47 appropriations of the 
cost of such stores and equipment as may be selected.”

Gentlemen, the effect of that transaction, a good business transaction which 
I am not criticizing as such, is that we took $7,000,000 U.S. funds, lodged it with 
the secretary of the treasury in Washington, and authorized the army, navy, 
and the air force, to select from the surplus stores of the United States army 
and navy, for delivery in Canada and use in Canada, various surplus stores. Had 
that been done, had the selection and deliveries been made in the fiscal year, I 
would have said nothing, but no deliveries were made in that fiscal year and 
therefore, in effect, the government, instead of letting the appropriation lapse, 
is using $7,000.000 for future years. Actually, relatively little of that money 
was spent in the fiscal year last ended and the period has been extended to 
December next. That from the viewpoint of parliament, is of interest to you 
because the general law is that all appropriations lapse on March 31st.

Mr. F raser : On that point, at the present time the Minister of National 
Defence has announced that his department has bought just lately $50,000,000 
odd worth of equipment. How is that covered?

The Witness: You are quite right, sir. My objection to this is a technical 
one. I say that it should be a charge to the appropriation for 1947-48 and not 
to 1945-46. It is merely from the viewpoint of control of the fund. I think we 
are getting big value for the money and my objection is just from your point 
of view in having control of public trusts.

411
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Mr. Isnor: It is a matter of judgment and business.
The Witness: It is just one transaction.
The next one is contained in the following paragraph which deals with the 

settlement with the Netherlands. Under that settlement we owed the Nether­
lands government in round figures, $33,000,000 for services rendered to our army 
in the Netherlands. I think again the govemfhent made a very sensible and 
practical settlement. They sold $29,000,000 worth of surplus army stores, 
vehicles, equipment and so on in the Netherlands, to the Netherlands govern­
ment. There is a debt there that is not reflected in the appropriations and that 
is the only explanation I have on the matter. We settled up by delivering stores 
instead of reflecting it in a cash transaction'in our accounts.

Furthermore there was a sum of approximately $4.000,000 which was to 
settle any future claims. That was set up in an account, a sundry account, and 
that is held by the Department of Reconstruction for settlement. Belgium has 
the same sort of transaction.

Mr. Isnor: Before you leave that if that was set up in Public Accounts 
it would have shown a credit of $4,000,000.

The Witness: We would show first a sale of $29,000,000 worth of articles.
Mr. Isnor: Yes.
The Witness: The issue of payment to the Netherlands is charged to the 

appropriation in that amount. As it is we show merely a sale and we do not 
show any charge to the appropriation.

Mr. Isnor: But you have mentioned it was not reflected in the books, 
the one item was $33,000,000. In other words the expenditure of $29.000.000 
therefore.leaves a credit of $4,000,00.

The Witness: Yes, and the $4,000,000 has been set up as a credit for 
settlements covering the period in the year 1946 after the 1st of April. It is 
not a serious matter but in principle you might take a little exception. The 
other item which I do not like at all, gentlemen, is to be found in paragraph 72.

Mr. Fraser: What page is that?
The Witness: Page 27. In connection with that transaction what happened 

was this. By an arrangement between the governments, the Netherlands gov­
ernment issued “X” quantity of guilders for the purpose of financing our army 
in the Netlierlands. As we all know the soldiers went into black market opera­
tions and as a result the government is obliged to redeem $16,000.000 more of 
Dutch guilders than we had officially issued for army purposes. The Nether­
lands government is disputing their liability to redeem funds converted by the 
army into sterling through auxiliary services canteens and paymasters. The 
Department of Finance is actively seeking to get a settlement of this matter, 
but it does seem to me that should not have been covered up in a general army 
expenditures charge. In England they had a very large item of the same nature 
and a few months ago they went to parliament and asked for a special vote 
to cover the particular item.

Mr. Winkler: How large was the item in England?
The Witness: I am speaking from memory but I think $100,000,000.

By Mr. Macdonnell:
Q. Was it disputed?—A. I did not read the Hansard.
Q. But there they did ask for a special vote whereas here— A. We merely 

charge it to the account.
Q. We show it two years later.—A. It is set out in Public Accounts and 

the controller of the treasury draws attention to it. There was no effort of 
concealment by anyone. No one is happy of course. I am not criticizing it 
from the viewpoint of the department report, but I do feel the transaction should
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be made the subject of a special item so that you gentlemen have control over 
the consolidated revenue fund.

Q. When the Canadian paymasters acquired that, as set out in paragraph 
72, were they acting without any authority at all? Did they just go ahead 
and convert it?—A. In my opinion they were, but on the other hand we have 
got to be fair to the man. He would not know the total number of guilders 
being redeemed, he would just have the number which he received. I think 
the control at the top should have known when the total was reached. The 
individual field cashier, and I am not criticizing him, would just know that he 
had “X” numbers of guilders on hand.

Mr. Fleming: There was nothing in the guilders to distinguish between 
thosé within the quota and those not within?

The Witness: As I understand it they were just the standard currency 
of the Netherlands and they were not specially marked.

By Mr. Macdonnell:
Q. Am I right in this, the guilders which came into the possession of the 

paymasters were converted into sterling by the army. In other words what 
happened is that Canadian troops were doing big business and came along and 
asked the paymasters to have their money converted?—A. Yes.

Q. Was that the ordinary arrangement?—A. Yes, that was the ordinary 
arrangement.

Q. So, as Mr. Fleming has implied, it was difficult to know what they 
should convert and what they should not?—A. Yes.

Q- They had no total check against it?—A. That was the situation as far 
as the individual was concerned. My view is that the control at the top 
of this thing should have put on the pressure at the right moment.

The Chairman: If there had been a stop at a certain amount what would 
have been the result in dealing with guilders that had been acquired legally or 
legitimately by the troops, and what would have happened to the canteen 
funds? How would they have been converted?

The Witness: I know you have got to take a loss on such matters. 
Having been a soldier in the first war I know that human nature is human 
nature, but I do think this control that I am speaking about might have been 
put on earlier than at $16,000,000. That was my thought.

Mr. Fleming: It was a question of control.
The Witness: Yeti.
Mr Fleming: Then there is the matter of reporting to parliament and 

the authorization, Mr. Sellar?
The Witness: It was just charged as a war expenditure charge to national 

defence under the heading of army services and you will find it at page N-12 
of the book.

The Chairman : In England when they asked for the special vote, you gave 
us the figure of $100,000,000, how did it arise?

The Witness: I would not like to say until I looked up the English 
Hansard and got the text. I actually read it in the Times and having read 
the article, I sent it down to the controller of the treasury, who was dealing 
with the thing. I am going from memory.

By Mr. Macdonnell:
Q. When you said there was a full disclosure at all points and therefore 

there was nothing to criticize from that point of view, when the payment was 
originally passed by the authorities and when I say by the authorities, I a in 
not quite sure what authority I mean and perhaps you could tell me, but was
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it not, at the time, within the knowledge of the people at the top who were 
approving expenditures that it was approval of which there was no authority? 
—A. I would think so but I have never been able to establish that.

Q. Must it not have been so?—A. I would feel it was. Here is what the 
controller of the treasury reports in his report. I had not seen it when I wrote 
mine. It is found at page N-17 down near the bottom of the page opposite the 
letter I. “Surplus Currency Dutch Guilders—This amount represents the 
Canadian dollar equivalent of the 40,155,455.50 Dqtch guilders acquired by the 
Canadian army authorities in excess of the amount made available by the 
Netherlands government for payment of Canadian troops in Holland. This 
surplus was developed through acceptance by Canadian army paymasters and 
field cashiers of guilder receipts accumulated by auxiliary services and 
regimental canteens and from the Canadian troops. Satisfactory arrangement 
for reduction of this currency by the Netherlands government had not been 
completed at the fiscal year end.”

Q. Those amounts began to pile up and assume very formidable 
proportions?1—A. Yes.

Q. From time to time those amounts must have been uncovered or was it 
possible because during wartime there was one over-all appropriation and they 
just dipped into a common pot and took money?—A. Yes.

Q. Where was the usual authority, the treasury board at this time? Did 
those amounts have to go before them?—A. No, those amounts would be made 
out of issues from London.

Q. Was London just given a pot of money which they used as they liked? 
—A. London was given “X” dollars for the cost of the field forces in Holland.

Q. Then as far as you are concerned this had all been done when it came 
back to your notice, of course?—A. Yes.

Q. Done many months before?—A. Yes.
Q. Mr. Chairman, I think perhaps it may not be out of order to ask rather 

broad questions here. What bothers me is that we come onto these things when 
they are about two years old and I would ask Mr. Sellar whether there is any 
way in which this ancient history feature can be changed, so that we can be 
brought nearer to the present, or whether there could be some closer running 
supervision? I suggest that the question could be answered, not at length now, 
but if there are others on this committee who think the same as I do we might 
ask the Auditor General to consider that question.

The Chairman : May I say we had the War Expenditures Committee 
running during the war and if anyone had any question on matters of that 
nature they could have brought it to the attention of the committee.

Mr. Macdonnell: But did they know then?
Mr. Fleming: You would not have the knowledge of it other than receiving 

a report from an official.
The Chairman: The Public Accounts Committee and the War 

Expenditures Committee were running and these matters could have been 
brought up.

Mr. Fleming: That is just one aspect but there has still got to be some 
method of expediting the reports.

The Chairman: I am in agreement with you if you are trying to prevent 
these things happening.

Mr. Isnor: I think Mr. Macdonnell’s comment is, as I see it, to bring us 
closer to the actual picture at a reasonable date.

Mr. Macdonnell: Yes.
Mr. Isnor: I think we are all in accord.
The Witness: As the law is today I am required to produce a report to 

the House of Commons by the 1st of November.
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Mr. Isnor: November 1st.
The Witness: This year I am giving you a report covering the period up to 

March 31st and that can be done as far as I am concerned very easily. The big 
problem is the printing of this big volume. The actual audit work of the old 
year’s accounts, as far as I am concerned, will be done in another thirty days. 
We are carrying our audit currently in the office and we are just cleaning up 
the accounts. The books are not closed yet officially by the Department of 
Finance and therefore we have not got a balance sheet or anything of that 
kind, but as far as I am concerned there would be no difficulty in giving you 
my actual report on any date in October in any year.

Mr. Macdonnell: The chairman has raised a very interesting point. 
During the war there was a committee which met currently.

The Chairman : The War Expenditures Committee, to which any matter 
could be referred.

Mr. Macdonnell: Well it does not seem as if the War Expenditures Com­
mittee could have been given this information in time. It does not seem as if 
they were given it currently and that is something which we may properly 
pursue. My question is this: why should there not be some kind of duplicate 
in peacetime to the War Expenditure Committee? Why should there not 
be some running current check in peacetime, not on every trivial detail but on 
anything which is unusual? Now is there any reason why it should not be done 
in peacetime as well as in wartime?

The Witness : Well this is a subject which has been up in England in 
the last six months and they received a very extended report. The clerk of the 
House of Commons has recommended that, the Public Accounts Committee 
and their Estimates Committee be combined into a single committee so they can 
deal with things currently.

Mr. Macdonnell : Is that report available now?
The Witness: Yes sir, it is printed.
The Chairman: We do not have an Estimates Committee.
The Witness: No. The report, however, did not receive very favourable 

comment in certain quarters in England, but it is an effort to speed things up.
Mr. Isnor: Did you say their estimates come under Public Accounts?
The Witness: They have in England an Estimates Committee that acts 

every year. It checks the estimates of the year for the purpose of surveying 
certain departments and it takes three or four departments e^ich year. It does 
not act from the point of view of passing on particular items or recommending 
expenditures but it makes recommendations to the government with respect to 
matters where expenditures can be avoided.

Mr. Isnor: We h§ve something like that in our conynittee of the whole. 
Mr. Fleming had in mind the fact that your estimate fbr this year is such 
and such an amount, but what we want to know is the actual expenditure for 
the past year so as to be able to make a comparison of the expense last year 
and the actual expense this year. The comparison would enable us to say 
whether it is a reasonable amount. Is not that what you had in mind, 
Mr. Fleming?

Mr. Fleming: Yes, and I think it has been shown by experience that 
the committee of the whole is an unworkable body. It is too big for that 
purpose. I think, even at the expense of doing away with some of the committees 
we have, one or two of them might be replaced by an Estimates Committee 
that would review the estimates, and it may be the function of that committee 
could be combined with the function of this Public Accounts Committee.
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Mr. Isnor: In connection with the War Expenditures Committee, they 
investigated as best they could, all matters that were brought to their 
attention but there were many items of which they had no knowledge.

The Chairman: And as I say this could have been brought up if someone 
had had the information.

Mr. Isnor: I recall in the report that was made by the chairman on behalf 
of the committee, the recommendation was made that the work of the War 
Expenditures Committee be combined with the Public Accounts Committee, 
so as to have a review of the current expenditures for that particular year. 
As it is now we can only review expenses which are covered in the report, 
and, because of the fact that the report is at least twelve months old when 
it is passed to us, we are always twelve to fifteen months behind the current 
work. Is that a fair statement?

The Witness: Yes, but I would say, of course, that it does not necessarily 
need to be twelve months behind you. It is because of the fact that the House 
does not meet in November.

Mr. Isnor: Yes, but that is the situation as it exists to-day.
The Witness: If I might be permitted to interrupt there, when you are 

discussing estimates it is outside my field, but I do think your details on 
estimates are practically worthless. The details on estimates should be such 
that any member of the House of Commons can sit in his office quietly and 
read through the details, and, when he goes into the House, he knows the 
details that he would ordinarily have to get through questions to the minister. 
He should be able to have a full running story printed in the details so that he 
goes in very fully briefed, and I do not think that is possible at all under the 
present system.

Mr. Isnor: No. Sonie of the provinces at the present time, in presenting 
their estimates, include in brackets the actual amount expended the previous 
year.

The Witness: I go way beyond that, I would give a running story of what 
is involved in the estimate.

Mr. Fleming: That sort of thing now is only drawn out by questions 
taking considerable time and that makes some people in the big committee very 
impatient if they are not interested.

The Witness: And further than that I think the members are not sure 
on what items they would like to speak. I think the members would be in a 
stronger position to criticize estimates, and frankly, criticism of the estimates 
is useful to all of us.

Mr. Fleming: It is the very essence of the function of the House of 
Commons.

The Witness: I am speaking from my own viewpoint.

By Mr. Jaenicke:
Q. I would like to go back on the $16.000.000 as I do not understand it. 

Does that $16,000,000 represent the profits which our soldiers made on black 
market operations in Holland?—A. The presumption is that it was acquired 
that way but to say yes, I could not do it. No one could prove it.

Q. As I understand it we were assigned a certain number of guilders?— 
A. Yes.

Q. Which Holland was to redeem later on?—A. Yes.
Q. And there are 40,000,000 more guilders than were issued. That amount 

is the profit that our soldiers made on black market operations?—A. Whether 
they made it on black market operations is something you could not prove but 
the presumption is that it arose through the black market.
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Mr. Fleming: It would not necessarily be all profit?
The Witness: Some Dutch family may have given one of our service men 

1,000 guilders for some service rendered by him and that is not a black market 
operation.

Mr. Jaenicke: But some of our boys might have sold a lot of cigarettes?
The Witness: Well, here we have 40,000,000 guilders in our vaults which 

the issuing government refused to redeem. Now I feel that the holding of that 
sum, 40.000,000 guilders, should be something of which parliament approved.

By Mr. Jaenicke:
Q. When did we find out we had 40,000,000 guilders more than we should 

have; had?—A. I found out at the tail end of my audit last year, which would 
have been the month of May.

Q. Could it" have been reported sooner?—A. I am speaking from memory 
and I am going back quite a period of time so do not tie me down too closely, 
but my memory is the treasury and the army sent people over to the continent 
to size up the general operations of this nature about December of 194Ô. They 
were there through December, January and February, and then withdrew. It 
would be in that period this whole thing would come to light. I would not 
swear I am right on my months but it was just about that time.

Q. In the previous discussion the complaint seems to be this came a little 
late. Now, it would seem to me, this is about the first time that it could have 
been brought up. After all, we were acting under war conditions. I would 
presume it would not be possible to delay a matter of this sort for such a long 
time in peacetime?—A. No, it would come out of my next report as far as I 
am concerned.

Mr. Fraser: Mr. Sellar, now that this has been brought to light, is there 
any provision the government can make, if we are to have another war, which 
we will likely have sometime, or is there any chance of having something 
written in our provisions regarding defence forces, so that this could not happen 
again?

The Witness: Well you can put anything you like on paper but human 
nature is human nature. I think the boys would do that sort of thing again.

Mr. Fraser: Well, it is not that, it is changing Canadian money into 
Dutch guilders. Is there any way our troops could have had Dutch guilders 
that were marked definitely so -that there would not have been that difference?

The Witness: In some areas they did get specially marked currency.
Mr. Fraser: Yes, I understand they did.
The Witness: It runs in my mind that in Italy there was special currency.
Mr. Fleming: There was special invasion currency issued when they went 

into Normandy.
The Witness: I do know this, and please do not think I am trying to be 

critical of the government and what it is trying to do, and I do know the 
Department of Finance is getting to work and trying to get a solution for this 
with the Netherlands government.

Mr. Isnor: Is it not reasonable to suppose that they set up an over-all 
control in regard to this amount placed to their credit/but, because of the 
activities being so widely spread, it simply went on and on, and they found 
themselves with this depreciation on their transactions and they were saddled 
in the end with a debt over which they had no control?

The Witness: I agree with every word of that only I have a feeling that we 
should have discovered it a little faster, before it got up to $16,000,000, because 
after all, $16,(XX),000 is a lot of money.

Mr. Jaenicke: What could you have done to prevent this accumulating?
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The Witness: I was not there and therefore I am guessing, but the only 
thing you could have done was to put a limit on what a man could buy in the 
canteen and what he could convert.

Mr. Fleming: Could not the command have issued warnings to the troops 
that they were running grave risks in acquiring Dutch guilders because conver­
sion might have been refused?

The Witness: They may have issued those warnings.
Mr. Winkler: I doubt if Mr. Sellar has the answer to the question but I 

think we should find out when the British first dealt with the matter.
The Witness: I would say in the month of February or March of 

this year. x
Mr. Isnor: In other words they are in exactly the same position as we are.
The Witness: If you read the News Week magazine of last week you will 

find an item there referring to $250,000,000 that the U.S. army has got of like 
character, and they are wondering how they are going to dispose of it.

Mr. Isnor: If they had stopped the traffic in all their canteens and so on, 
would that have done it?

The Witness: My opinion is that it should have been put in as a special 
estimate before the House.

Mr. Fleming: There are two distinct points raised here out of the dis­
cussion and one is whether this practice should not have been exposed and 
reported sooner, and the other is what steps should now be taken. I understand 
on the second point Mr. Sellar is saying this should have come before parliament 
as a special item, appropriated for the purpose, instead of permitting the Depart­
ment of National Defence to dip into general funds for the purpose.

The Witness: That is my feeling.
Mr. Gladstone: Just in passing there, Italy and Normandy were planned 

invasion operations, whereas the operations which extended up into the Nether­
lands were continuing operations. With respect to Italy and Normandy there 
was advanced planning for everything, but perhaps in the midst of a terrific 
campaign there would not be the same thought given to these operation' in 
the Netherlands.

Mr. Fraser: What are Dutch guilders worth to-day?
The Witness: I do not think they have fluctuated greatly over that value.

I am under the impression there have been recent negotiations between the 
Department of Finance and the government of the Netherlands and I am 
hoping that they will make a settlement.

Mr. Fraser: Perhaps they will take less value?
The Witness: I think the settlement may be that we will not demand 

from them pounds or dollars but we will get the goods or something like that.
Mr. Fraser: That is fair enough.

By Mr. Fleming:
Q. There are several things arising out of the things Mr. Sellar has said. 

You have spoken about the delay between the time you complete your audit, 
we will say about the end of July or August, and the time it comes before 
parliament. Is there anything that you can suggest that could be done to 
expedite t he report ? Do you oversee the printing of this volume?—A. No.

Q. That does not come within your scope at all?—A. No, I could oversee it 
but generally, .as the comptroller of the treasury has the larger part, he looks 
after the printing.

Q. From that point on you have no control over the audit being tabled 
in the House of Commons?—A. No, but I make sure that I have a printed
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copy or a carbon copy ready to hand to the minister on the opening of par­
liament so that my report can be tabled within the allotted number of days.

Q. Having regard to the fact that parliament does not normally sit in 
the fall, is there any concrete suggestion you can make for expediting the sub­
mission of the printed report to the members?—A. Well, of course that is a 
matter, I might say, of pride of the members, and we are instructed to give the 
reports to parliament before we give them to anybody else. If we give it to 
the members we have got to hand it to the newspapers. You see, as it stands 
now, anyone who writes in and asks me for information is told that I have got 
the information but I am to provide it first of all to the House of Commons. 
Until I have tabled my report I cannot give them anything. Now I believe 
years ago, I am not sure but I think it was 1933 or 1934, Mr. Cahan was sec­
retary of state and he gave the order that all departmental and other reports, 
as soon as they were printed, were to be mailed to the members.

Mr. Fraser: That is a good idea, a splendid idea.
The Witness: I would say that was twelve or thirteen years ago.

By Mr. Fleming:
Q. Was that just for one year?—A. No, it continued for a couple of years.
Q. Then it was stopped?—A. Well we never went back to as strong 

adherence to the old statute until the war came along and printing delays were 
such that we never had our reports ready.

Q. Is it a fair question to ask you if you have any views as to the suitability 
of the period from April 1st to March 31st as the fiscal year in relation to the 
customary dates of the sittings of parliament?—A. The logical year, of course, 
would be the calendar year but that would mean the House of Commons would 
have to meet in the month of December to vote the interim supply, to pass the 
interim supply votes for the period after the 1st of January, and you do not 
meet until a month later, usually late in January or early in February. The 
adoption of the "calendar year would mean that you would have to come here 
before Christmas.

Mr. Macdonnell : That was the practice many years ago.
The Witness: I could not say that. I can only recall one year, 1926, when 

parliament met before Christmas that year, after an election.

I
 By Mr. Isnor:

Q. Certain branches of the government still continue to use the calendar 
year. Is that a confusion to you Mr. Sellar in making up your accounts?—A. 
No. \ou see the National Harbours Board is using the calendar year and it is 
very handy to me because I have not got the pressure on then and I can audit 
their books and get them out of the way before we come to the normal year 
end. Just now I am under terrific pressure.

Q. If that is so would it be worth considering a review of the whole set-up 
so as to provide certain departments closing their year at different times?—A. 
I do not think you could do that, sir.

Q. Staggering the accounting?—A. I do not think you could do that as far 
as the departments are concerned.

Q. \ ou are doing it in two cases, and you say it works to advantage?—A. 
l es, but you and I are talking about different things. Under the Crown 

C ompanies Operations Act which you passed a year ago you make March 31st 
the end of the fiscal year, but under the Act, you direct that we must produce 
the report by the 1st of July. I do not mind telling you for the last six weeks 
I have sweat blood to get those out, and as a matter of fact I have not got War 
Assets out yet. We are waiting for one item and then we are going to be ready. 
Instead of saying the fiscal year should be March 31st if you set December 31st
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îoT the C.B.C. and others, we should have all those ready for you by the 31st 
of April with the greatest of ease.

Q. That is the idea I had in mind. Suppose we did that with Crown 
companies, close them at the end of December, would it not make it easier?—A. 
Yes it would.

Mr. Fleming: And boards?
Mr. Isnob: Yes.
Mr. Fleming: There is a very practical application on that point. The 

C.B.C. affairs are studied by a committee of the House of Commons. That 
committee has not yet got the audited statement for the fiscal year ending 
March 31st, 1947, and it has been sitting all this spring and it will not get the 
report before it rises. If the C.B.C. were on a calendar basis, then the committee 
sitting in the spring would have the audited report for the fiscal year last closed.

The Witness: It would make it a lot easier for us.
Mr. Fraser: Mr. Chairman, can you, when your steering committee makes 

the report, make that suggestion to the government?
The Chairman: Yes. Do I understand Mr. Sellar recommends it for all 

boards and Crown companies.
Mr. Isnor: I was suggesting it to him.
The Chairman: I know you are proposing it, but I am just asking Mr. 

Sellar if he is willing to recommend it.
The Witness: I am not the auditor for all, but those for which parliament 

has named me the auditor, I certainly would prefer December 31st. Take the 
custodian of enemy property, that is a new account and I think it is 
December 31.

Mr. Fleming: You are just starting on that.
The Witness: Yes, Price and Waterhouse are finishing last year’s audit 

and we will then start. It make it much easier for me to spread my work.
By Mr. Fraser:

Q. Mr. Sellar, when you are making up your reports on Crown companies, 
etc., would it not be possible to make the balance sheets conform more to the 
balance sheets of ordinary business institutions as they are put out at the present 
time?—A. Of course our difficulty is that it is ridiculous to look at share capital 
on Crown company balance sheets and see $50 worth of share capital. That is 
ridiculous. You have not got capital stock to start off with and therefore your 
balance sheets start on a rather absurd position but we are trying to improve 
that. We hope these we are putting out this year will be better than 
previous ones.

Q. They have been hard to get anything out of in the past?—A. I quite 
agree.

Q. You cannot get the picture at all.—A. No.
Q. And you cannot come to a true balance on them.—A. Yes, but you have 

got to bear this in mind. Throughout the war the profits of those companies 
were never certain because Munitions and Supply had not yet settled the prices 
for them and they just had to build prices. Then again we have this big 
problem, we face it particularly in Polymer. We have got $50,000.000 invested 
in Polymer in round figures. It is owned by the government of Canada and it 
is not owned by Polymer. We cannot set up a depreciation account because 
Polymer does not own the property. If we had all those companies set up, 
just as I think they should be, it would take into consideration everything, 
their assets and all other things. There should be set up a proper depreciation 
account, and a proper reserve account so that you could see at a glance what the 
true situation is, and I would be much happier.
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Q. I think it would be better for members of parliament and others if it 
was done that way?—A. To me it is ridiculous to carry Polymer at $50,000,000 
without taking into consideration such things.

Mr. Macdonnell: Do the receipts and disbursements from Polymer just go 
into the public funds?

The Witness: Not new, they retain their surpluses.
Mr. Lsnor: During the war you could not have shown the regular balance 

sheet or a profit and loss statement. It was never intended to show a surplus in 
the accounts because they simply dumped the money into the public treasury to 
carry on the job at the time.

The Witness: Yes, and I am a great believer in Crown companies. I believe 
they serve a definite purpose and I do think we should set up all their accounts 
in such a way that they set out the picture. What is of concern to parliament is 
a proper reflection in the Public Accounts.

Mr. Macdonnell: Was I wrong in getting the impression that you were 
singling out Polymer because it was so difficult, or does what you say apply 
to all?

The Witness: You find the same thing in others, take Eldorado for 
instance.

Mr. Jaenicke: Do I gather from what you say Polymer does not own the 
buildings?

The Witness: No.
Mr. Jaenicke: Who owns them?
The Witness: The government of Canada.
Mr. Jackman : It leases them>
The Witness: It gets them without rental, it uses the buildings, and we 

have the confusing situation of making appropriations and additions to capital 
assets of the government of Canada.

Mr. Fraser: It would be very hard then to say what is costs to produce 
rubber? !)

The Witness: That is my feeling.
Mr. Fraser: That is what I have felt all the time.
The Witness: I know the Department of Reconstruction are hoping in 

due course, not this session, but to have legislation straightening out these 
companies.

S
Mr. Jaenicke: You have made representations to the government to that 
effect?

The Witness: I have, to the Department of Reconstruction. We agree 
too much, however, so we cannot have a fight.

By Mr. Fraser:
Q. Polymer will certainly have to get down to real costs soon, because 

there is going to be a lot of competition.—A. My view is that there is not an 
asset of $50,000,000. For the purpose of production we should write off “X” 
millions and then compute so much into our costs for the sale of rubber.

Q. Have you got the exact figures of what the Dominion of Canada has put 
into Polymer?—A. Yes, sir.

Q- Including the buildings and all that?—A. Yes.
Q. You have got that?—A. Yes.
Q. I hat is what should really be shown on the balance sheet or the financial 

statement should it not?—A. Yes, and against that there are, let us say a 
$1,500,000 of extraordinary costs incurred in the construction of the buildings,
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by reason of the emergency at the time they were built, which should have been 
written off as accelerated depreciation or whatever you like to call it. What I 
think is this, sir. We should take Polymer and value it at its residual use to the 
country at the end of the war and recapitalize it on that basis. In effect we 
should put it through an enforced liquidation and set it up again.

Mr. Macdonnbll: How can you find the value if you do not know what 
the cost of manufacture of rubber was?

The Witness: JVe do know.
Mr. Jackman: Is the amount of money spent on Polymer carried as an 

asset?
The Witness: No, it is written off as an expenditure, but we have put into 

the balance sheet of Canada the advance made in connection with Polymer as 
an active asset at around $50,000,000.

Mr. Jackman: The actual cost is in excess of that?
The Witness : The actual cost is, but as I say Polymer has spent $2,000,000 

or $3,000,000 of its own money which is not reflected in the account.
By Mr. Fraser:

Q. Do Polymer’s buildings belong to the government ?—A. Yes.
Q. Do they come under the Public Works Department?—A. No, sir.
Q. It is entirely separate?—A. Polymer is under the control of the Minister 

of Reconstruction.
Mr. Jackman : When Polymer takes off its own operating statement to see 

whether it is operating at a profit or a loss, does it deduct from the cost of 
operations the amount of its capital expenditure, this $2.000,000 or $3,000,000 
that you have mentioned? Is that part of the operating cost?

The Witness : No, that is separate. I do not know whether their report has 
been tabled in the House but last week I saw a press statement and we have 
signed the balance sheet for Polymer this year. The annual meeting has been 
held and that item is shown separately.

By Mr. Fleming:
(j. To revert from questions on Polymer, I would like to turn to a subject 

that has arisen out of an answer of Mr. Sellar’s, when he spoke about the 
relationship between the review of Public Accounts and budgeting both being a 
proper function of the parliamentary committee. On pages 16 and 17 of Mr. 
Sellar’s report he deals with the question of lapses and he catalogues lapses of 
votes of the various departments that total roughly, last year, something like 
$66,000,000, then at the conclusion of paragraph 41 there is a significant sentence, 
on page 17 “Parliament’s control over public money is, to a degree, dependent 
on the efficiency employed in calculating estimates. Attention is therefore 
drawn to the fact that with respect to comparable votes, $26,258.295.96 lapsed 
in 1944-45 and $43,572,665.97 in 1945-46.” The amount lapsed shown this past 
year apparently was larger. Now I would like to ask you, Mr. Sellar, to be as 
concrete as you can in making proposals as to how the control of parliament 
can be further extended in this matter. Mr. Isnor referred to one subject a while 
ago which has troubled me, and that is the review of estimates in the committee 
of the whole. Wo are never given anything in the printed book of estimates 
except the estimates of the previous fiscal year. We are never given the expendi­
tures. We depend to a large extent on the efficiency of the task performed by the 
treasury board and we may or may not individually think they are doing 
sufficient, work in checking the estimates. Now, looking at it from the point of 
view of a parliamentary committee, for instance, are there means by which 
control, control by parliament can be made really effective? Could Mr. Sellar 
make some proposals that we might usefully consider?
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The Witness: Well I will take the post office estimates to illustrate my 
answer. In the post office expenditures for the fiscal year that you now have 
before you, in round figures $3,000,000 lapsed out of a total expenditure of 
about $60,000,000. It so happened that in the month of March of that year you 
appropriated $1,000,000 for the post office as a supplementary estimate. Now 
I think, had the post office estimates, instead of being shown in seven estimates, 
been bulked in one, you certainly would not have had to have a supplementary 
estimate of $1,000,000 and you would not have had to have as large a cash 
vote. I would think the post office estimates might be amalgamated into a few 
estimates to reduce that risk. Looking at the estimates generally, sir, you have 
got a lot of services that were rendered for the benefit of private individuals. 
Now in England they have had a practice since 1892 or 1893 which I think is 
a very sensible one, that is where you have a service that is supposed to be for 
the benefit of private individuals and they pay fees for it, parliament only votes 
the difference between the expected amount of the fees and the actual 
cost of the service. In other words in a great many instances parliament merely 
vof-es £1 so that it has the service before it for the purposes of debate if it 
wants it. The service is self-supporting and I think the great advantage of that 
is when you have a service that is self-supporting, you have got definite needs 
of people who are willing to use the service, and who are ready to pay for it 
and therefore it is a useful service. However, when you have a service that is 
not self-supporting or people do not want to pay for it then you are put on 
your guard. You may have a luxury service or an extravagantly operated 
service. I think the time is coming in this country when instead of having 
over 400 or 500 estimate items a year—

Mr. Fleming: It is more than that. It is 700.
The Witness: I am talking of the main estimates—that we should reduce 

the number of estimates to a lesser number and that the details should set out 
the actual expenditures up to December 31st. It should state that as well as 
the previous year’s expenditures. You should have your known expenditures 
for at least nine months of the fiscal year. You should have a full explanation 
of everything that a vote is intended to provide for; what Acts of parliament 
regulate it; what its revenues are going to be. Take the fisheries vote, for 
example. I know the maritime provinces members and the B.C. members are 
always interested in what it costs to run this ship and that ship in a service. 
That sort of thing should all be set out in the detail. You are not really 
interested in how many clerks they have in their establishment because the 
Civil Service Commission can change that situation over night. You do not 
care whether we have ten grade IV clerks or so many grade III clerks.

Mr. Macdonnell: Will the nine months’ expenditures really be good 
enough? Will they not be defective first of all because I think it is very 
natural that expenditures may accumulate toward the end of the year and 
certain items may be held over ; and will not the minister inevitably say, “We 
have three months still to come”? In other words, is anything short of a full 
year going to be of much help?

And does not that bring us back to this: is it really essential to have our 
financial year end three or four months after the calendar year? It seems 
to me that these questions are going to be vastly more important in the years 
facing us because of the tremendous ideas of expenditures, as I see them, which 
are abroad?

The Witness: I will grant you that there is strength in your argument 
with regard to the three months still to come ; but on the other hand every 
department has to register commitments for its future expenditures for which 
it has contracted and those are all registered; therefore, the amount of new 
stuff that will originate in the last three months of the year would not be 
large.

92392—2
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By Mr. Fleming:
Q. It would not be disproportionate?—A. No, it should not be dispropor­

tionate. There are times; but I am assuming you continue on your present 
fiscal year. If the members have known actual expenditures up to December 
31st and registered commitments for the balance of the fiscal year, you have 
something, and you can go on examining the next year’s estimates.

Mr. Macdonnell: That is better than at present.
The Witness: Yes.

By Mr. Isnor:
Q. I agree, except that instead of having nine months I say that the twelve 

months should be included. There is no real advantage in showing nine months’ 
expenditures where you are dealing with twelve months because of the extra­
ordinary expenditures which might take place in the following quarter which 
would throw the thing completely out of place. I may say further that in the 
example you have quoted, the Post Office Department, you have taken the qne 
department where you possibly could make a change along the lines you have 
suggested, but the same thing would not apply, I do not think, as far as the 
Department of Public Works is concerned, where there are extraordinary 
requirements from time to time in an emergency and very large amounts require 
attention.—A. I do not say that that could be applied to all; but take the 
Department of Public Works. I claim that it should be applied with respect 
to the telephone services in the Department of Public Works. That should be 
a revenue service

By Mr. Fleming:
Q. We had an example of revenue service with regard to the Department 

of National Health and Welfare a fortnight ago. I think it was called Marine— 
A. Sick Mariners’ Hospital.

Q. Yes. Actually, if I remember rightly, the amount appropriated by 
parliament for expenditure is about $450,000 a year and against that there is a 
revenue of approximately $300,000.

Mr. Isnor: There is a cross-entry from one department to another, and it 
works out.

Mr. Fleming: No, not from one department to another ; it is for the same 
department.

The Witness: It is all connected.
Mr. Fleming: And unless you go and ask the minister about the revenue 

you do not hear about that. I take it that what Mr. Sellar is saying is that 
in the estimates that come before the House there should be substantially 
enlarged information accompanying the bare bones of the figures submitted.

The Witness: Yes.
The Chairman: In the present estimates in all departments they give us 

the amount that has not been spent for Public Works and then they mention 
in brackets a revote of so much. You may have a case where last year they 
voted $25,000 and this year they bring in a vote of $305,000, but they mention 
in brackets the $25,000, which means that the $25,000 voted last year has not 
been spent. I wonder if that could be applied to all the departments. How­
ever, under Public Works you see Westview harbour improvements with a vote 
here in 1945-46 of $231,000; voted in 1946-47, $95,000, but there is a revote 
of $20,000 which means that out of the $231,000 voted last year $20,000 has 
not been spent. Your idea, Mr. Fleming, is that we should have the full item 
together with the amount that was not spent the year before?
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Mr. Fleming: Yes, we should know the actual expenditure because it is 
a very poor basis of comparison to compare with last year’s estimates because 
last year’s estimates might have been very inaccurate.

The Chairman: We have that in some items in Public Works. When the 
sum is not all spent it is shown as a revote.

Mr. Fleming: There was one item in National Health and Welfare estimates 
which we had a fortnight ago where last year the appropriation was $300,000 
and the actual expenditure was $21,000 and yet so far as the estimates were 
concerned we are being asked to vote $150,000. The only comparison was the 
$300,000 last year. It looked like a saving of $150,000, but when you actually 
came to compare the figures you saw how utterly inaccurate last year’s estimate 
was. I think if parliament has to bear the responsibility for voting these 
tremendous sums of money on the estimates there has got to be a drastic change 
in the set-up of the estimates in the way they are handled.

The Chairman: I think we are all in agreement as to the point about getting 
the details as to what has been spent out of the previous year’s estimate. That 
would be most important in order to arrive at a conclusion in the present year.

Mr. Fleming: Unless we can get that information we have to just sit down 
and keep the questions going indefinitely by asking the minister questions on 
every item. This year I asked the Minister of National Health and Welfare 
to give us this set-up of the expenditures of the department and he would not 
do it, so I had to ask him questions on every single item. Now, if you apply that 
procedure to 600 or 700 items you are taking a long time. It takes a long time 
in a big committee like a committee of the whole or a committee of supply, and 
everybody becomes impatient because only a certain number of members are 
interested in a particular department.

The Chairman: That brings us back to one of the recommendations made 
by Mr. Sellar, that there should be more detail in the estimates so that we would 
not have to ask for all the details in the committee of the whole.

Mr. Fleming: I will ask Mr. Sellar for some further consideration of his 
views with regard to the method by which parliament, through a committee or 
otherwise, should handle this matter of the review of estimates. Again I come 
back to that statement that “parliament’s control over public money is to a 
degree dependent on the efficiency in calculating estimates. Let us assume that 
there is a great deal more information about actual expenditures given about 
a particular vote. Now, with that in the hands of parliament and with the 
experience Mr. Sellar has had with public accounts, I would like to ask his 
opinion, if he will express it, as to the desirability or practicability of combining 
the function of reviewing the public accounts and a detailed review of the 
estimates in one committee?

Mr. Gladstone: In relation to that question may I ask this one? Does it 
come within the purview of the Auditor General or the Civil Service Commission 
to say whether a department may be overstaffed? In parliament a minister may 
be questioned on the estimates of his department. I presume that he relies on the 
heads of branches in his department and sometimes the departmental head may 
not be zealous as to economy in connection with the number of persons employed 
in his branch. Is there any check for parliament, other than the questioning 
that comes up on the consideration of the estimates?

The Witness: Well, I have no authority or statutory power in that regard, 
Mr. Gladstone. The Civil Service Commission, of course, have a statutory duty 
to review the establishments from time to time and to recommend adjustments 
in them; but I think in actual experience the departments must originate any 
action that is taken to cut down staff.

92392—21
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Mr. Gladstone: I also think that there is not in government the willingness 
to fire incompetent persons such as we find in ordinary business; that when a 
person secures a government position, unless there is some serious misdemeanour 
committed, other than inefficiency, there is a tendency just to have that person 
continued on?

The Witness: Of course, sir, you have to bear this in mind: in business you 
are dictated to by the amount of money that comes into your cash box, and if 
you are not making sufficient money you are going to cut down your overhead. 
In the government offices our cash box is the estimates that parliament pass. 
If you give us the money we will spend it. We are only human. Therefore, the 
real control in regard to economy in the public service is dictated by the amount 
of money appropriated annually. Now, the government goes over the estimates 
with great care and whittles them down. You were talking about staff. When 
the estimates came down for this year there were drastic cuts here and there ; 
staff went down in the month of April. There was a sharp cut in staff in the 
month of April, amongst other reasons, because estimates were cut. If we have 
the money to spend, sir, I am afraid we spend it, no matter how good our 
intentions may be.

Mr. Fleming: Mr. Gladstone is getting away from my question entirely.
Mr. Gladstone: I really wish to relate my question to what Mr. Fleming 

has stated, that there does not seem to be any real opportunity in parliament for 
consideration of the estimates so as to get down to the real efficiency of the 
operation of the departments.

Mr. Macdonnell: May I interject, just along the line Mr. Fleming has 
apoted? I have often wondered whether you can get a realistic scrutiny 
of the size of the departments unless somebody from the outside can look in.
I heard of a man who carried out a little plan. He was a manufacturer and his 
theory was that the only people who really mattered were the producers, 
and by producers he meant the people who produced things that pay. He 
went into a new company, and the first thing he did was sack the clerical 
staff, and he took back those who were considered necessary. I am not 
suggesting anything as extreme as that, but I was shocked when I found out 
about the office of economies. I said, “Now, that is what I am looking for"; 
and I discovered that the office of economies which I had hoped was an outside 
or separate critical body—discovered that it dealt with the purchase of fur­
niture and stationery and that sort of thing—what I call chicken feed. However,
I do not want to get away from Mr. Fleming's question ; I am really pursuing 
the same line.

The Witness: In that regard, sir, you have to bear this in mind, that 
practically all our administrative statutes are predicated on the rule that the 
Governor in Council shall authorize this or that; therefore, we place the 
onus and the weight on the cabinet ministers to as great an extent as on 
council. If they authorize something, naturally we, down below, do not criticize 
that. Those above have too big a picture to cover.

Coming back to Mr. Fleming’s point, I did not know that this matter 
was coming up to-day, but I was. living in hopes that something of the kind 
might be brought up—

Mr. Fleming: It is a bit of telepathy, perhaps.
The Witness: —and I had taken the liberty of drafting a little memo that 

I would like to place before this committee if I have an opportunity to do so.
I had it mimeographed, and its purpose is to suggest to you what you might 
prudently consider recommending to the House when the government revises 
the Consolidated Revenue and Audit Act to bring it up to date; because in my 
opinion it was a good Act covering the period of 1931 when it was made, but
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it is not a good Act in 1947 in view of the volume of business we have to-day 
and the time the House has to devote to other things. I have this memorandum 
here and I could circulate it or read it into the record if that is your desire.

Mr. Fleming: You can do both.
Mr. Jackman : In view of the fact that the government in some respects 

is now somewhat analogous to a business corporation, do you think it would 
be better if each department was on its own feet rather than drawing on the 
Department of Public Works and other departments for special services? For 
instance, Mr. Macdonnell asked the other day in connection with the Public 
Works estimates about a large item for telephones. Apparently, the department 
merely requests an additional line or two and the Department of Public Works 
arranges with the Bell Telephone Company to supply that service and the 
department pays for that sendee, which means that we do not get a break­
down of the telephone services, and perhaps many other services in connection 
with each individual department. Now, would it be better if each department 
looked after its own affairs and paid for its own services out of its own 
appropriation rather than drawing upon the Department of Public Works?

The Post Office Department is a good example. The Post Office Department 
is supplied with all its buildings, some of which are ornamental. Would it be 
better for the Post Office Department to pay out of its own appropriation for 
its own buildings or space rather than have the Department of Public Works 
give those buildings to them gratuitously?

The Witness: Your example with regard to telephones, sir, is not exactly 
right. Unfortunately, we have a most involved system for getting a telephone. 
If a department wants a telephone the deputy head is supposed to make a 
preliminary inquiry and to recommend to his minister who must sign the form 
in triplicate. That form is then sent to the Treasury Board and an official of 
the Treasury Board goes over and makes an actual inquiry as to whether or 
not they need a telephone and then, so help me, the recommendation is approved 
by the Treasury Board formally and they are authorized to get a telephone. 
Then it is charged to Public Works. But generally speaking, I think you are 
on very sound ground with respect to the post offices. The Post Office Depart­
ment, to my way of thinking to-day, is keeping superior quarters to what it 
needs in most places. That is to say, the ordinary post office building is a 
high-class building which represents a large expenditure of money, and so far 
as the service to be rendered is concerned they could use a much humbler 
building. Local pride demands that sort of post office building. I do not think 
the Post Office Department should be saddled with that part of our local pride.

The Chairman: If I may interject, I do not think most members from 
rural constituencies would agree that the post offices are well housed, because 
I think there is a lack of accommodation and poor quarters in most places.

Mr. Fraser: I can bear you out on that.
The Witness: Well, then we come to the burden placed on the post office 

in carrying the mails for the departments, the free mails. I honestly think that 
if the departments had to pay for their postage they would not frank nearly as 
much stuff and the mail boxes would not be nearly so full of literature from the 
departments if they had to actually put a three-cent stamp on an envelope in 
which they put a circular.

Mr. Jackman: You are not suggesting doing away with the franking 
privilege, are you?

The XX itness : I think within the government services they should be called 
upon to pay postage for carrying their own mail.
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By Mr. Fleming:
Q. Would you say that government property should pay municipal taxes 

where buildings are occupied, to give a fair reflection of the cost?—A. If the 
provincial governments wrouId do that as well I would agree ; but the muni­
cipalities are creatures of the provincial governments, and until the provincial 
governments pay taxes I say that the government would be foolish to pay taxes. 
In England, where there is no intervening provincial government, the British 
government has a scheme and it has worked for years. They refuse to 
recommend any law for municipal taxes or local rates, as they are called, but 
they appropriate each year a large sum of money in lieu of taxes for the local 
authorities. They have a department whose sole function is to go out and assess 
the government buildings in every municipality and to compare that assessment 
with local valuations used for local assessment purposes. They then come to an 
agreement with the municipalités as to how much the government will contribute 
in lieu of taxes for that particular property in that particular locality, and that 
is worked out very efficiently.

Let us take, for example, the city of Halifax and the town of Esquimalt. 
They take a terrific punishment by reason of the extent of our Crown property. 
Those are two outstanding examples.

Mr. Fleming: I think in 1938 there was a figure of $112.000,000 for 
Halifax.

Mr. Isnor: Over 51 per cent is exempt in Halifax.
The Witness: I think that is a matter where the provinces have to agree 

to come into before the dominion. I think the dominion would be suckers—to 
use a common phrase—to do so if the provinces did not.

By Mr. Jackman:
Q. With regard to the question I asked and the proposition I broached, is it 

practicable to put the post office on its own feet? If you want ornamental 
buildings in some places it might be that the Post Office Department would be 
given a grant in aid from the consolidated revenue fund in order to cover the 
difference between utility and beauty. Do you think that it is practicable to 
put these government departments on their own feet financially—including 
telephones? With regard to the matter of putting postage on departmental mail, 
I am afraid you would have to add a lot of clerks to find out how much the 
cost of departmental mailing services would be. Do you see the feasibility of 
the question I asked?—A. I think it could be done, sir. In some places it would 
not be relative as regards price; you would have to calculate too fine; but in 
general I see no reason against it. Let us take my own little office—because I 
do not want to criticize another department—I have a staff of roughly 200 
people. We are located in various buildings in Ottawa. In some cases those 
buildings arc government owned and in other cases they are rented properties. 
Now, I think the Public Works Department should handle the rental situation, 
but I think I should have to contribute out of my appropriation sufficient to 
cover the maintenance charges in connection with buildings the department 
owns in which I am located or, in the case of rental, where I am in a rented 
building. The reason I say that is this: it would bring out the true cost of my 
office. Secondly, it would cause me to be a little more careful in allotting space 
if I had to pay the shot. I would be a little more careful in my estimates. As it 
is now I can ask the Department of Public Works to get me a thousand feet of 
space where perhaps I would get along with five hundred if I had to pay the 
shot.

Mr. Macdonnell: If a thrifty fellow like you does that, just think 
what other people must do.
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Mr. Gladstone : Would the procedure in a city outside of Ottawa, in the 
case of a public building, be that the ownership of the building would be vested 
in Public Works, and that Public Works would build the post office, pay rent, 
pay taxes, and pay for the light, heat and water?—A. I would not say it should 
have a breakdown of the items to arrive at the over-all cost of running that 
building according to the value of the space occupied. I would not think of 
going into a breakdown to the last cent.

Mr. Isnor: Would you be in agreement with the thought of this committee 
of recommending as a start that the Post Office Department be placed on its 
own feet and operated along the lines of a Crown company?

The Witness: Yes, I have heard that in the memo.
The Chairman: I think the time has come to get the general picture.
Mr. Jaenicke: It is now almost half-past twelve. Do you not think we 

had better study this document?
The Chairman: I think it would be a good thing to permit the Auditor 

General to read that memorandum and we can ask him questions on it at the 
next meeting.

Mr. Jackman: What is the advantage of having it read if we do not ask 
questions about it?

The Chairman: We are doing this for the record. Our practice has been 
to permit the witness to read his statement.

Mr. Fleming: This memorandum goes back to the question I asked.
The Chairman: I think it will be following the course which the com­

mittee has adopted to permit the witness to go ahead and read his memorandum 
and we will question him to-morrow.

The Witness:
1. The Consolidated Revenue and Audit Act dates from 1878. Its purpose 

is to regulate consolidated revenue fund transactions to the end that parlia­
ment preserves control over the public purse. In my opinion the time has come 
when, in its own interests, parliament should consider again the provisions of 
the Act.

2. There may have been a time when the Committee of Supply minutely 
examined estimate items, but demands now made on the time of the House of 
Commons are such that complete examination of estimates is impracticable. 
Estimates should now be presented in such a form that members do not have to 
guess purposes to which votes will be applied.

3. It is suggested that, instead of members of parliament having to seek 
explanations from ministers, “details” printed with the estimates should be in 
narrative form, setting out:—

(a) the objects and purposes of the items,
(b) explanations of increases,
(c) the Acts, if any, which will regulate application,
(d) the anticipated .revenues,
(e) comparisons with previous years, and
(/) such other information as is necessary to permit members to familiarize 

themselves with the purposes and implications before items are called 
by the chairman of the Committee of Supply.

Existing legislation merely directs that the estimates “shall be for the services 
coming in course of payment during the fiscal year".

4. In the past ten years the number of items had increased. Using main 
estimates items, the number was 295 in 1937 and 484 in 1947. This increased



430 STANDING COMMITTEE

use of items dates from the session of 1938 when the number jumped from 295 
to 440—although the total sum voted in 1938 was only $10,000,000 greater than 
in 1937. The purpose was to confine departments more strictly to objects of 
expenditure. While results were thereby attained, I feel consequences were:—

(a) inflations in sums sought, by reason of departments including con­
tingent reserves in every item, as protection against unforeseen demands 
arising in the year; and

(b) some difficulty to members in identifying the items on which they 
wish to put questions or make observations.

5. May I illustrate my thoughts on the subject by making reference to post 
office accounts. Parliament appropriated approximately $61,500,000 for the 
postal service in 1946. The application of the votes was:—

"ote No. Purpose Voted Spent Lapsed
231 Departmental Administration 811.425 743.756 67.669
232 Post Offices ............................... 22.126.090 22.126.090
670 Supplementary to 232 ............ 1,234.720 1.039.400 195.320
233 Inspection and Investigation 953.750 912.938 40.812
234 Railway Mail Service .......... 14.651.279 13.498.441 1.152.838
235
230

Air and Land Mail Services .... 
Money order, savings bank and 

other activities including

19,862,725 17,724,216 2.138.509

237
printing ...............................

Compassionate allowances for 
juries ...................................

in-
1.876,181

5.000

$61,521.170

1.649.718

$57.694.559

226.463

5.000

$ 3.826.611

A glance at the foregoing shows that:—
(a) if votes had been consolidated, the year-end supplementary of 

$1,234,720 to vote 232 would not have been necessary ; and
(b) after all unanticipated expenses had been discharged, the Post Office 

Department had unused balances of $3.826.611—an excessive amount 
in my opinion.

6. Adding various small expenditures, authorized by various statutes, total 
appropriation expenditures of Post Office were about $58.000,000. But the Post 
Office Act provides that certain classes of postmasters be paid directly from 
revenue. In the year the amount was about $15,000,000. Thus, direct Post 
Office disbursements were about $73.000,000. Should study go further, it would 
be noted that the cost of certain steel equipment, etc., and the provision of all 
office accommodation is borne by appropriations for the Department of Public 
Works. That cost is not segregated in the accounts but. on a costing basis, may 
total $3,000,000. Thus the real cost may have been $76,000.000.

7. Gross revenues approximated $83.800.000. If the value of postage stamps 
used for cheque tax purposes amounted to $3.500.000—it is impracticable to 
establish an exact figure—the real revenue of Post Office was about $80.000.000. 
A subtraction of estimated operating costs of $76,000,000 leaves a profit of 
$4,000,000. But section 20 of the Post Office Act fixes 2 cents as the first- 
class letter rate between places. The other 2 cents is a tax imposed for 
revenue purposes by the Special War Revenue Act. First-class mail produces 
approximately 50 per cent of the total revenue. Therefore, if one were to 
distinguish between the “service” charge and the “tax” charge, Post Office 
had an operating deficit. In turn, part of this deficit is due to the fact that 
about 28 million pieces of first-class mail matter and 100 tons of third-class 
matter for departments of government are franked. Were postage paid, the 
revenue would be about $1,500,000.
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8. It is submitted that it would be in the interests of the House of Commons 
were the financial requirements of the Post Office presented in all-inclusive 
form. That is to say, instead of estimates details consisting of accounting 
breakdowns, there would be a distribution of estimated income and disburse­
ments to the various services in a manner which is self-explanatory and does not 
necessitate accounting calculations to disclose the true position.

9. The Board of Grain Commissioners’ transactions afford another illustra­
tion. Its revenues were approximately $2,000,000 and expenditures a little over 
$1,900,000. In addition, government elevators had an operating income of 
about $650,000 and operating expenses of $380,000. The volume of business is 
dependent on the grain crop; yet the board must prepare its estimates long 
before seed is in the ground. As practice now is, the board presumably calculates 
its estimates on the possibility of a crop a little above the average. Two 
consequences may result:

(a) in the event of a big crop, it must seek supplementary votes to meet 
extra operating costs ; or

(b) in the event of a small crop, it has larger appropriations than are 
needed.

My thought is that in cases of this type, parliament could have a safeguard 
against over-staffing, etc., were appropriations so devised that the sum available 
is determined by the effort which administrative officers put forth to make their 
activities self-supporting. If he who benefits is prepared to pay the cost, a service 
is no burden on the taxpayer. On the other hand, when experience Remonstrates 
that those who benefit are not prepared to pay the cost, then the House has 
notice either that there is no real need for the service or that it is extravagantly 
organized.

The Regulation of Revenues

10. The Consolidated Revenue and Audit Act’s directions with respect to 
the management of revenues are few: (a) collecting officers are to make deposits 
daily, and (b) the Auditor General is to satisfy himself that revenue collected 
is “fully accounted for”. The Act makes the comptroller of the treasury answer- 
able for the regularity of departmental expenditures; but no officer has a like 
responsibility for revenue transactions. There is no audit obligation to establish 
that all moneys, which should have been collected, were gathered in. In most 
departments the revenue audit does go beyond the statutory obligations, but 
until recently the Income Tax Division insisted on observance of the text. It is 
for this reason that the audit' certificate of revenues, so far as Income Tax 
Division account- are concerned, is qualified by paragraph 25. (Some months 
ago the audit office was informed that all taxation records are now to be 
regarded as open to inspection.)

11. It is my opinion that more specific legislative directions with respect 
to revenues are desirable. A reason is provided by paragraph 19, which refers 
to the situation with respect to fines collected by the courts. Another is to be 
found in paragraph 16, where it is noted that departments regard $5,000,000 
of accounts receivable as uncollectible (exclusive of income tax), yet they 
cannot be written off because there is no authority so to do. The mayors of 
various places would probably be surprised were they to learn that the govern­
ment accounts list their municipalities as owing money because of the use of 
the militia in times of local unrest. Using a geographic selection, with dates 
in brackets, to illustrate: Nanaimo, B.C., $255,313 (1913-14); Sault Ste. Marie, 
Ont.. $8,308 (1903); Buckingham, Que., $2,350 (1906), and Glace Bay, N.S., 
$36,644 (1909-10).
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Valuation of Assets

12. In paragraph 11 of the audit report for 1946 attention is drawn to a 
reserve of $150,000,000 set up in the balance sheet “for possible losses on ultimate 
realization of active assets”. While it is a bookkeeping reserve, it is suggested 
that there should be legislation regulating the valuation of assets for balance 
sheet purposes. A convenient illustration is provided by paragraph 101, which 
relates to the accounts of the National Harbours Board. The loans and advances 
from the government of Canada, as of December 31, 1945, were, in round
figures:

Halifax .................................................................. $12,500,000
Saint John.............................................................. 17,000,000
Chicoutimi..................................................... t.... 3,800.000
Quebec .................................................................... 27,800,000
Three Rivers ......................................................... 4,000,000
Montreal ................................................................. 60,000.000
Vancouver............................................................... 25,000.000

If you are interested, that totals $150,100,000. The balance sheet of Canada 
incorporates, as active assets, only the investment in the ports of Montreal 
and Vancouver. This inconsistency takes its origin in the fact that prior to 
1936 the harbour commissions of Montreal and Vancouver alone paid interest 
regularly. In 1936 all harbour properties were declared Crown property; eon- 
quently, it may be argued that:

(a) the value of the Montreal and Vancouver properties for balance sheet 
purposes should be that established by physical valuations made by 
appraisals engineers;

(t>) the same treatment should be applied to the public property in the 
other ports;

(c) if some commercial properties of the Crown are treated as assets for 
balance sheet purposes, then all commercial properties of the Crown 
should be treated likewise.

Stores and Equipment

13. In paragraph 10 of the audit report it is noticed that balance sheet 
assets do not include the value of departmental stores and equipment other 
than stores inventories of the departments of Public Printing and Stationery 
and Transport. The reason why the inventories of these two departments are 
set up as assets is because legislation fixes a maximum sum which may be 
invested in the year-end inventories and thus an annual monetary valuation is 
made. Stores are not infrequently the equivalent of money. In other words, if 
other departments have balances in appropriations which will not be required 
in the year, there is no legal impediment against stores being acquired to offset 
a possible cut in the next year’s estimates. A special instance is noted in 
paragraph 3, where reference is made to a payment of $7,735,000 to the United 
States to permit service forces to make selections in the fiscal year 1947 from 
the surplus stores and equipment of the United States government. In my 
opinion it would be in the interests of parliament were there general legislation 
with respect to all stores, etc., of departments.

14. Summarizing the foregoing, my view is that there sould be legislation 
to regulate:—

(a) the form of estimates and the printed 
explanations associated therewith;
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(b) the use of revenue arising out of services 
performed for the direct benefit of individuals;

(c) the management of revenues;
(d) the valuation of assets;
(e) the management of stores and equipment inventories.
Mr. Jackman: I would like to ask a question regarding the Dutch guilders.

By Mr. Isnor:
Q. Before you come to that I would like to ask one question arising out of 

paragraph 11 of the statement which has just been read. XVhat is represented in 
the amount of $36,664 at Glace Bay?—A. What is it made up pf?

Q. Yes?—A. It is the cost of sending troops down for a strike. All these 
are in connection with strikes.

Q. I thought that was cleaned up in 1929?—A. No, that dealt with the 
more recent case and the power the attorney general to send for troops. There 
are others. This is not an exaustive list and I just pointed that one out.

By Mr. Jackman:
Q. In connection with the case of the Dutch guilders presented by our troops 

in Holland, may I ask Mr. Sellar exactly how our government went about 
financing our troop expenditures in Holland? Did we present the Dutch govern­
ment with so many Canadian dollars or so much sterling, as the case may have 
been, and did we get in exchange for that Dutch guilders?—A. Pardon me, sir, 
do you need that answer this morning? I would like to be sure of the facts and 
I am going by memory. I would like to verify my facts and bring them in 
to you.

Q. What I want to get at is how the figures compare, the Dutch guilders 
presented for rejection in comparison with the total expenditures by our govern­
ment in Holland?—A. I have not got that figure in my head.

Q. And I want to know, if I can, what the final result of this excess of 
Dutch guilders was? We have so many more guilders than we should have had 
apparently and did the Dutch government not allow us the use of those guilders 
to purchase materials in Holland as an offset, or were they worthless to us at the 
end?—A. That is wThat I understand. They are just being held, but I know there 
have been discussions within the last six weeks in the East block with a 
representative of the Netherlands government, and I would like to bring myself 
up to date on the subject.

Q. We have to assume the currency our troops and our government used was 
not Canadian currency, and what I had in mind was a news item which appeared 
recently in connection with the American army finances. The Americans had 
apparently lent the Russians their plates for printing American money in the 
occupied territories, and they now find far more American dollars were printed 
than was originally permitted under their licence. We had nothing of that 
nature? We did not use Canadian dollars?—A. No.

The Chairman: Are there any other questions on this morning’s report?
Mr. Fleming: May I ask Mr. Sellar not a question but something for 

to-morrow’s meeting. Mr. Sellar has given us a very useful memorandum with 
some concrete recommendations which I think helps the committee very much. 
Could he put forward his views on another matter we have discussed this 
morning. The matter I refer to is this question of the fiscal year and how far 
it is practical to extend the rule that the financial year shall be the calendar 
year for crown companies, government boards, and government departments. 
Also I would mention this matter which Mr. Fraser raised about making the 
balance sheets of those crown corporations conform more closely to the normal 
corporate practices outside the government.
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Mr. Macdonnbll: May I add to that, so that Mr. Sellar will not run out of 
work, a request that he make comments upon the necessity and the possibility 
of having something corresponding in peacetime to the War Expenditures 
Committee? His answer may be that he does not think it is useful.

Mr. Isnor: I think that has already been covered.
Mr. Fleming: It is a matter of getting any concrete recommendations that 

Mr. Sellar has.
Mr. Isnor: It was the recommendation by the War Expenditures Committee 

that the two committees should be combined.
Mr. Fleming: That would include Mr. Sellar’s recommendation on my 

question about combining the functions of the two in one, Estimates and Public 
Accounts.

The Chairman: Well, I think we will adjourn until to-morrow morning at 
10.30 a.m. if wou do not mind. We have only one more meeting with Mr. Sellar.

Mr. Macdonnell: Could I just say Banking and Commerce is meeting 
to-morrow at 10.30 a.m. and I know there are going to be other members of the 
committee there.

Some Hon. Members: 11.00 a.m.
Mr. Fleming: There was some mention yesterday. Mr. Chairman, about 

meeting on Thursday regarding U.L.A.
The Chairman: From what we can see now I think it will have to be on 

Friday.
Mr. Fleming: I would suggest that we arrange the meeting respecting the 

Veterans’ Land Act for Friday and then Mr. Murchison and Mr. Cleve can be 
notified now to be here on Friday.

The Chairman : We will assume the committee concurs and the meeting 
stands adjourned until tomorrow morning 11.00 a.m.

The meeting adjourned at 12.55 p.m. to meet again to-morrow, Wednesday, 
July 2, 1947, at 11.00 a.m.
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MINUTES OF PROCEEDINGS
Wednesday, July 2, 1947

The Standing Committee on Public Accounts met at 11 o’clock a.m., the 
Chairman, Mr. L. P. Picard, presiding.

Members present: Messrs. Bradette, Cleaver, Cote (Verdun), Cloutier, 
Fleming, Fraser, Golding, Homuth, Jackman, Jaenicke, Macdonnell, Murphy, 
Picard, Probe.

In attendance: Mr. Watson Sellar, C.M.G., Auditor General.
The committee resumed its investigation into the Report of the Auditor 

General for the fiscal year ended March 31, 1946.
Examination of Mr. Sellar was continued.
Mr. Sellar furnished the Committee with information promised at the last 

meeting relating to certain transactions by the army in Netherlands currency, 
and with memoranda containing suggested amendments to the Consolidated 
Revenue and Audit Act, 1931.

At 12 o’clock p.m., the Committee adjourned until 4 o’clock p.m., this day.

AFTERNOON SITTING

The Committee resumed at 4 o’clock p.m., the Chairman, Mr. L. P. Picard, 
presiding.

Members present: Messrs. Bradette, Cleaver, Cruickshank, Fleming, Fraser, 
Gibson (Comox-Albemi), Gladstone, Golding, Jackman, Jaenicke, Macdonnell, 
Murphy, Picard, Probe, Warren, Winkler.

In attendance: Mr. Watson Sellar, C.M.G., Auditor General.
Mr. Fleming filed the following documents which are printed as appendices 

to this day’s minutes of proceedings and evidence:—
Appendix “A”—Sessional Paper No. 1350 dated Friday, March 7, 1947.
Appendix “B”—Sessional Paper No. 135A dated Thursday, February 27, 

1947.
Appendix “C”—Sessional Paper No. 38C dated Thursday, March 13, 1947.
Appendix “D”—Order in Council P.C. 6359 dated Tuesday, October 2, 

1945.
Appendix “E”—Order in Council P.C. 4450 dated June 22, 1945.
Mr. Sellar undertook to furnish the Committee with a supplementary 

memorandum containing further suggestions regarding amendments to the 
Consolidated Revenue and Audit Act, 1931, which was ordered to be printed as 
Appendix “F” to this day’s minutes of proceedings and evidence.

It was agreed that the steering committee draft a report for submission to 
the main committee embodying the suggestions made by Mr. Sellar relating to 
amendment of the Consolidated Revenue and Audit Act, 1931, and to the manner 
in which the estimates are presented to, and dealt with by, the House.

Mr. Sellar retired.
At 4.45 o’clock p.m., the Committee adjourned until Friday, July 4th, at 

11 o’clock a.m.
A. L. BURGESS,

Clerk of the Committee.
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MINUTES OF EVIDENCE

House of Commons 
July 2, 1947.

The Standing Committee on Public Accounts met this day at 11.00 a.m. 
The Chairman, Mr. L. Philippe Picard, presided.

The Chairman: Gentlemen, we have with us again Mr. Sellar who has 
brought with him the answers to some of the questions he was asked yesterday. 
One question concerned the amount of Dutch guilders in circulation ; another one 
concerned the dates of the fiscal year period and the third concerned the 
consideration of the estimates and public accounts. I think it would be in 
order if we asked Mr. Sellar to read the first answer, since it came ahead of the 
matter with which we were dealing at the end of the previous meeting. After 
that, we can go ahead with questions on the memorandum which Mr. Sellar 
produced yesterday at the end of the meeting.

Mr. Watson Sellar, C.M.G., Auditor General, recalled :
The Witness : On the question of Dutch guilders, I was asked as to the 

general history of the amount involved. My memorandum is as follows:
The army, when it commenced pay in Netherlands currency, received 

20,000,000 guilders to finance day-to-day money requirements. From the date 
payments in guilders commenced to October 31, 1945, (as of November 1st a 
new guilder was put into circulation) pay issues amounted to 13,101,313.91 
guilders. Other official issues brought the total to 17,987,874.84. With respect to 
the “old” guilders, army authorities redeemed 57,279,074.30 guilders. A 
classification of the redemptions, by sources, is:—

Canteen Sales .................................................... 253,269.03
Bronco................................................................... 6,036,586.02
Flower services.................................................... 1,587,336.05
Excess funds from field post offices..................... 12,209,291.60
Surplus regimental funds..................................... 1,253,508.91
In trust for deceased personnel........................... 48,830.13
Exchanges............................................................. 35,752,265.58
Miscellaneous....................................................... 137,986.98

In addition, the army itself held 864,259 guilders. Thus a total of 40,155,455.40 
guilders is established.

Gentlemen, I might say that my second to last sentence is a catch-baskqt 
one. I could put in qualifications as to the distribution of the 800,000 guilders 
but, for convenience, I just merged it as though the army held it all.

At this point Mr. Cote assumed the chair.

By Mr. Jackman:
Q. Mr. Sellar, when the Canadian army got 20,000,000 guilders for day-to- 

day expenses, what did they give the Dutch government in return for those, 
Canadian dollars or sterling?—A. Sterling, sir.

Q. At the then rate of exchange, I presume?—A. Yes.
Q. When the accounts were officially balanced, it was found the Canadian 

government had over how many guilders?—A. We had acquired 57,000,000 
guilders.

435
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Q And the Dutch government refused to give us credit or purchasing power 
for the 57,000,000 net over?—A. For the 40.000.000 altogether.

Q. So, we had acquired 37,000.000 Dutch guilders which we should not have 
acquired, is that it?—A. Which the Dutch government refused to take anyway.

Q. Why would the Dutch not honour their own currency in that way?— 
A. Remember, my knowledge is somewhat limited but as I understand it, on 
October 31, 1945, the Dutch government cancelled its old currency and 
substituted a new guilder. The government allowed six or seven days for the 
redemption of the old guilders and after that they were outlawed.

Q. We did not turn them in fact enough, is that the only reason?—A. No, 
sir, perhaps that may be true to a degree, but the real complaint was that the 
undertaking of the Dutch government was 20,000,000 guilders. We had 
57,000,000. We had acquired guilders for purposes other than army purposes.

By Mr. Fleming:
Q. I suppose the Dutch would take the stand that their resources in foreign 

exchange were pretty limited. I suppose to redeem another 40,000,000 old 
Dutch guilders would have been a terrific on their resources of foreign exchange? 
—A. Further, you have to bear in mind that whatever they did with the 
Canadian government they would have to do with the other governments which 
had troops in the Netherlands.

By Mr. Homuth:
Q. What do you mean by army and other purposes? What do you mean 

by other purposes?—A. You mean the difference between 13,000,000 and 
17.000,000?

Q. Yes.—A. Those would be ordinary charges they would have to pay for 
services. I did not try to break it down. It is miscellaneous payments the 
army would make from day-to-day.

By Mr. Jackman:
Q. I understand why the Netherlands government would not have sterling 

or dollars available, but I do not understand why we did not have a credit in 
Dutch guilders spendable in Holland?—A. The Dutch refused to recognize the 
old currency at all.

Mr. Probe: Is it not true that a regulation had been put into effect by the 
army which forbade the trafficking in guilders or in the currency of the countries 
we were in at the time. At the time the troops were in that country that 
regulation, was it or was it not still in effect at the time Mr. Sellar is referring 
to, after October 1, 1945? I think that is the answer as to where the money 
was accumulated. There was an element of exchange, cigarettes for Dutch 
guilders and so on. Was that army regulation or service regulation still in effect 
which forbade Canadian troops to have commercial relations with the Dutch? 
I think that is the key as to where the money came from.

Mr. Fleming: That was mentioned yesterday.

By Mr. Murphy:
Q. Would there not he a day-to-day check, Mr. Sellar, through the different 

channels as to the amount expended or exchanged?
By Mr. Probe:

Q. Mr. Sellar has not answered my question yet.—A. I do not know about 
the regulations or what they were. You have to bear in mind that the Nether­
lands people were a friendly, allied people as distinct from the German people.
I do not know what army orders were in respect to what we might call 
fraternizing. .
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Q. We had the same orders in Normandy and Belgium when I was there. 
We were fraternizing in the accepted sense, but we were forbidden to traffic. 
There is quite a difference?—A. As to that, I know nothing. My interest in 
this item and the reason I brought it before you is that in round figures we have 
$16,000,000 in currency. In ordinary bookkeeping accounting it should be 
reflected in credit or cash in the bank. It is not; it is just charged off as a cost 
of running the army. I think that should have been identified in public 
accounts and that is my reason for putting it before you.

By Mr. Fleming:
Q. It has never been before parliament at all?—A. No, not directly. How­

ever, it is disclosed in the public accounts. The department set it out them­
selves.

By Mr. Gladstone:
Q. What is the procedure? I do not understand what happened. A Cana­

dian soldier traded cigarettes and came into possession of guilders, what is the 
next step? How do the guilders get into the possession of some authority and 
what consideration is given a soldier for turning over the guilders?—A. My 
understanding is this ; when a soldier left the Netherlands he was stripped of 
Netherlands currency and given the currency of the country to which he was 
going or else he received credit in his pay account. I think that is true, but 
if you want to be sure you should call somebody from the Department of 
National Defence.

By Mr. Jaenicke:
Q. When the Dutch issued that new currency you said they called in the 

old currency, is that right?—A. They refused to convert the old currency 
after a certain date.

Q. When they did convert the old currency into new currency, at what 
rate did they convert it?—A. I do not know.

Q. Did they give a guilder of the new currency for a guilder of the old 
currency?—A. I do not know.

By Mr. Homuth:
Q. Had we got in under the date line, we would have received sterling or 

dollars for the guilders we had?—A. No, the Dutch government refused to 
take them.

Q. But had we got in under the date line . . . .?—A. No, the Dutch govern­
ment said 20,000,000 guilders were their liability.

By Mr. Ashby:
Q. You do not know how they arrived at that figure?—A. Of the 20,000,000?
Q. Yes.—A. That was our request, that would be the army request in 

the first instance for money. I am told, this is hearsay, that the army people 
first became disturbed over the situation by the degree of absenteeism from 
pay parades showing the troops did not need money.

By Mr. Fleming:
Q. Mr. Chairman, as Mr. Sellar stated yesterday this matter is still under 

negotiation between the two governments. The story is not necessarily closed?— 
A. No, sir, I know the Department of Finance has had conversations with the 
representative of the Netherlands government within recent weeks.

By Mr. Jackman:
Q. The guilders were perfectly good spendable currency as long as they 

were in the hands of the troops, but once they got into the hands of the 
government in excess of 20,000,000 guilders which were exchanged officially
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for Canadian dollars or sterling, then the guilders became worthless appar­
ently?—A. Yes, the troops got the money. The troops were paid.

By Mr. Fleming:
Q. The government is being called upon to take the loss by reason of 

signing this agreement with the Netherlands government and putting this 
ceiling of 20,000,000 on exchangeable currency?—A. That is the situation, yes.

By Mr. Jackman:
Q. In the original contract between the Canadian forces and the Dutch 

government there was a ceiling. We were just given the fact that 20,000,000 
Dutch guilders were to be at the disposal of the Canadian forces in exchange 
for another currency. Was there anything in the .contract of which you know, 
Mr. Sellar, which said 20,000,000 will be the amount which the Dutch govern­
ment will honour when our troops withdraw from that land?—A. I have never 
read the document to that extent, so I would not like to say, sir.

Mr. Probe: I am sorry I was not here yesterday, but what is the object 
of enquiring into this? Are we to make some recommendation to the House 
of Commons in respect to the amount of money apparently that the Dutch 
government is refusing to honour because of the Dutch guilders we find in our 
possession? Is our enquiry with respect to the disposal of this money or is it to 
trace how that money came into the hands of the Canadian troops?

The Acting Chairman : Mr. Picard will be in a better position to answer 
you than I am. I was at the industrial relations committee yesterday.

Mr. Fleming: Mr. Sellar brought it out as an illustration.
The Witness: I have it in my report. It is item 72. I draw attention to 

this transaction because here is currency charged to a parliamentary appropria­
tion and it is not reflected in the cash balances held.

Yesterday, I said they had a similar transaction in England. I may have 
misled you when I said a similar transaction because that transaction deals 
with Reich marks and Austrian currency. The Netherlands was not specifically 
mentioned. The British dealt with it by supplementary estimates and quite 
recently the House of Commons authorized £20,000,000 to be written off as 
balances irrecoverable and claims abandoned.

The explanation given was as follows:—
In addition to the increased expenditure brought about by the above

changes...
They were dealing with the changes in army costs.

...it is necessary to make provision for substantial losses incurred on 
accumulation of surplus marks and schillings in Germany and Austria. 
On the 20th May, 1946, the Secretary of State for War informed the 
House of Commons of these losses and announced the introduction of 
the British armed forces special vouchers scheme. The supplementary 
estimates provides £20,000,000 to cover such of the losses as were incurred 
during the current year prior to the introduction of the special vouchers 
scheme.

The British government has written this off as a total loss, but they are dealing 
with Reich marks and Austrian currency.

At this point Mr. Picard resumed the chair.
By Mr. Fraser: •

Q. The British were dealing with enemy countries and not with allies?— 
A. Yes.

Q. The way I look at it our troops overseas have evidently benefited by 
this money. I do not blame them a bit. However, I think it is up to your
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department to try and work out some way by which that cannot happen again in 
another war. I feel that this Canadian Commercial Corporation may possibly 
recover some of that money for us when they are buying goods overseas.

Mr. Fleming: I think there are two things which are entirely separate and 
between which we must distinguish. The first one is the administration problem 
of the armed services, in regard to whatever control they exercised over the 
troops and their transactions. Mr. Sellar’s problem is a different one. It is to 
see that if money is to be issued for these purposes it must be appropriated for 
the purpose and should not just represent dipping into a general army pot. 
It is a matter which should be specifically voted by parliament.

Mr. Probe: Has this already been done? Have we already balanced the 
deficit? The Canadian government has already paid this?

The Chairman : This item of $16,000,000 or something like that is included 
in the army estimates which are to be voted. It is reported in the Auditor 
General’s report here. The witness is bringing it to our attention because he 
feels this should have been the subject of a special war entry and a special 
vote by parliament as has been done in England. He has just brought our 
attention to the procedure which might have been followed. Does that answer 
your question, Mr. Probe?

Mr. Probe: Yes, thank you.
The Chairman: Now, gentlemen, we might pass on to the next item.
The Witness: The next answer deals with the fiscal year periods. I am 

not sure what I was asked for, but I assumed you wanted a list of the various 
companies and boards with the end of their fiscal years. Now, I have circulated 
the list and have divided them between those which I audit and those which 
are audited by commercial auditors. Do you wish me to read this list of these 
various companies?

The Chairman : No, you can dispense with that.
Mr. Fleming: But it will go into the record.
The Chairman: Yes, we will have it put in the record but you can dispense 

with reading it.
(The list of companies to be included in the record is as follows) :

1. Active Crown corporations and instrumentalities with fiscal year 
ending March 31 are:—

Audited by Auditor General 
Canadian Arsenals Limited 
Canadian Broadcasting Corp.
Canadian Commercial Corp.
Commodity Prices Stabilization Corporation
Federal District Commission
National Battlefields Commission
Park Steamship Company Limited
Polymer Corporation Limited
War Assets Corporation
Wartime Housing Limited
Wartime Shipbuilding Limited
Yukon Council.

Audited by Commercial Auditors 
Canadian Farm Lean Board.

2. Like bodies with fiscal years ending December 31 include:
Audited by Auditor General

Custodian of Enemy Property 11947)
Export Credits InsuranSe Corp.



♦40 STANDING COMMITTEE

’Eldorado Mining k Refining ( 1944) Ltd.
Foreign Exchange Control Board 
National Harbours Board 

•Northern Transportation Co. Ltd.
Audited by Commercial Auditors 

Bank of Canada 
Canadian National Railways 
Central Mortgage and Housing Corporation 
Trans-Canada Air Lines

3. A few have year-end dates at other periods. They are:
Audited by Auditor General

Canadian Sugar Stabilization Corporation Ltd. (probably 
August 31).

Audited by Commercial Auditors
Canadian Wheat Board (the crop year—July)
Industrial Development Bank (September 30)

The Witness: Then, I will start reading at paragraph 4.
4. Corporate bodies which are treated as departments use March 31. 

These include: National Film Board, National Gallery, National 
Research Council and Unemployment Insurance Commission.

5. From the viewpoint of the Audit Office, it would facilitate its 
work were the fiscal year-end of all corporations which are audited by 
it designated as December 31st. The reason is that all of such accounts 
would be out of the way before the final examination was commenced 
of the accounts of the government.

6. With respect to the suggestion that the fiscal year-end of the 
government be December 31st, obstacles which present themselves 
include:—
(a) Parliament would have to meet in November or December to vote 

interim supply.
(b) In view of our climate, field work starts in the spring months, there­

fore departments would have to estimate far in advance of actual 
requirements.

(c) The dominion and the provinces have many interlocking interests, 
and as a result, the provinces are progressively adopting the 
March 31st date in order that statistics and financial statements and 
arrangements are easily reconcilable.

Those were the three points which I could see, Mr. Macdonnell, which I 
thought you should weigh from my angle.

By Mr. Fleming:
Q. Do I take it you are recommending to the fullest extent possible that 

the corporate bodies should have a fiscal year corresponding to the calendar 
year?—A. It would certainly be a convenience to me. It might present a little 
problem when you are comparing the financial reports of a corporation dated 
December 31st and the Public Accounts of Canada dated March 31st. You 
might see an advance from the government reflected in the books of the 
corporation at a certain figure and then when you looked at the public accounts 
you would see a different figure because of the three months interval, but I do 
not think that is imperative.

•Planning to change to March 31st.
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Q. How is that situation met at the present time in the case of Crown 
corporations which are on the calendar year basis?—A. Well, take the National 
Harbours Board; it is the simplest one. We show a figure as of December 31st 
for the National Harbours Board. The Department of Finance shows the figure 
as of March 31st. There is sometimes a difference. If a person did not notice 
they were two different dates, he might say the figures were in conflict. I do not 
regard it is a serious problem.

I have put down here the Sugar Stabilization Board as having a fiscal year 
date of August 31st; that is the end of the sugar year. I am told they are 
playing with the idea of accepting March 31st, but I have no official notice of it 
so I put it down as August 31st.

Q. Has this matter been the subject of discussion between you and the 
governmental officials responsible?—A. No, sir.

Q. The matter has not been recently discussed?—A. No.
Q. Was there any discussion with you or any discussion of which you are 

aware when these various Crown corporations were set up as to what might be 
the best fiscal year in each case?—A. We will use the munitions companies, 
if you will localize it to that extent. I think it was discussed. We took the 
view, as those companies were going to be financed out of war appropriations it 
would be well to have their dates coincide with all of the departments.

Q. That would be March 31st?—A. March 31st, but that situation has 
changed now as the result of the Government Companies Operation Act.

The Chairman : Are there any more questions on that memorandum?
By Mr. Jackman:

Q. To the list of those audited by commercial auditors, I suppose you could 
add the name of the Canadian West Indies Steamship Company?—A. Yes.

Q. And the Hudson Bay Railway?—A. Yes. The Hudson Bay Railway 
Company is treated as part of the Canadian National Railways for adminis­
trative purposes.

Q. And audited by independent, outside auditors?—A. Yes. We are 
interested to the extent there is a parliamentary appropriation to make good any 
deficit. We are interested to that extent and beyond that we are not.

There may be various companies I have omitted from the summary, such 
as the Aero Timber Products, which is just a standby company now.

By Mr. Macdonnell:
Q. Mr. Sellar, I presume you would say that by and large this system is 

working out pretty well, but you would like to see in connection with these 
ancillary operations, the calendar year used?—A. Yes, I am a little selfish in 
this regard because it means my staff work could be better distributed.

By the Chairman:
Q. For parliament to have an exact picture of the reports that would not 

matter, as you said a moment ago?—A. You would have the reports. Take the 
National Harbours Board, I have signed all the reports for all the ports and 
delivered them. I think the last was three weeks agb.

By Mr. Macdonnell:
Q. You have pointed out that there is this lapse of time which means that 

you certify accounts as of the end of the year; then all that goes into the 
government’s account itself three months later. If there is any likelihood of the 
three months period being untypical so the thing was a great deal distorted 
at the end of the three months period, we would get a false picture in public 
accounts and that would be important but I gather from you you do not expect 
there would be anything of that kind?—A. The chances are that would arise, 
unfortunately, in the case of the Canadian National Railways because if the
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Canadian National Railways happens to be running in a deficit position it might 
mean a rather heavy advance from the government in January, February and 
March because those are the winter amounts and the hard months. You already 
face that situation with respect to the Canadian National.

Q. It is better that we should get a less favourable picture rather than a 
more favourable picture.

Mr. Fleming: There is another advantage, apart from the one which Mr. 
Sellar has said he was putting from a selfish point of view. I should like his 
comments on this ; if these Crown corporations were put on a calendar year 
basis and the books closed on December 31st, parliament would receive their 
annual reports and their audited statements during the session then next ensuing 
which would be the spring following. As it is now, when these companies are on 
the government fiscal year basis ending March 31st, we do not get the advantage 
this current session of parliament of these reports except in very rare cases. 
Usually, it is a matter of going over until the following session just like public 
accounts.

The Witness : Well, of course, the idea is and your legislation of last year 
was, that these would be all tabled by the first of July.

By Mr. Fleming:
Q. That is for the corporations which are operating under the Crown 

Corporations Act, but there are all these others which are set up under a 
special act and are operating on the government fiscal year basis. I think it is 
a matter of considerable importance. I instanced yesterday the Canadian 
Broadcasting Corporation. Here is a committee sitting this year going into the 
affairs of that organization and the last complete report before that committee 
is for the fiscal year 1946. Here we are sixteen months later, supposed to be 
reviewing those affairs and we can get only an approximate statement for the 
fiscal year ending March 31, 1947. It is not a finally audited statement of the 
company. It seems to me, quite apart from the matter of facilitating the 
internal operation of Mr. Sellar’s department, this is a matter of the very 
highest importance for the working of the House of Commons. We are working 
with stale information part of the time?—A. Take the C.B.C. or any others, the 
statement for every one of them would be out not later than four months 
after the end of the year without any additional staff.

By Mr. Fraser:
Q. You would mean by that you would issue two books of this nature; one 

for the Crown companies and one for the ordinary accounts, would you?— 
A. No sir, because you already require the minister over these companies or in 
the case of the C.B.C., the governors to present to parliament a report including 
the financial statement. It is already in.

By Mr. Fleming:
Q. They are tabled separately?—A. You get them separately.

By the Chairman:
Q. How soon after the end of the year, if it was fixed at December 31st, 

could you bring a report that could be tabled in parliament?—A. If the year 
was fixed at December 31st, the first company’s report would be ready in 
February; the next company report would be ready a week later and perhaps 
it would progress in that manner up to four months.

By Mr. Fleming:
Q. That is to say, if parliament was sitting beginning at the end of 

January it would receive a continuous string of reports of the operations for a 
period that would not be more than a month or two months, or at the very 
most, four months?—A. Yes, they would not be—
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Q. We would be working with up to date information instead of the stale 
information with which we work far too often now?

The Chairman: The reports Mr. Sellar brings would result in our sitting 
here until August or September. If we received one in July it would form a basis 
for further questioning.

Mr. Fleming: That is the reason for moving it back to December 31st.
The Chairman: You want to advance the time you are here. If we get a 

report for say 1946, with the year ending the 31st of December, we would not 
get the report let us say until July.

Mr. Fleming: Mr. Sellar said it would take four months.
The Chairman: It would mean you would be keeping parliament here 

longer.
Mr. Fleming: No, it would mean keeping parliament a shorter time because 

we would get the last of these corporation reports around April. We would 
be receiving these reports in February, March and April instead of having them 
come in now on the eve of prorogation of parliament or perhaps even after.
I understand the C.B.C. report will not be ready until August of this year.

The Chairman: We will receive all these corporation reports, but we will 
not receive the general audit so we will be one year late as we arc now.

Mr. Fleming: That is a different matter.
The Chairman: Are there any other questions, gentlemen, on this item? 

Shall we go on to the next item?
By Mr. Jaenicke:

Q. If all the accounts were audited by you, Mr. Sellar, the accounts which 
are now audited by commercial auditors, how much additional staff would you 
require? Have you ever figured that out?—A. No, sir, I have never tried to 
figure it out. Parliament having decided that certain bodies should be audited 
by commercial auditors, I did not pay any more attention to it. The big con­
sideration, of course, would be the Canadian National Railways.

By Mr. Macdonnell:
Q. I just ask you if it would be fair to sum up what you say, Mr. Sellar, 

by saying you are in favour of using the end of the year for these Crown 
corporations in spite of the very slight disadvantage there would be. Would 
that be a fair summary?—A. Yes.

Mr. Macdonnell: I take it this is not the .proper time to suggest any 
action by the committee. The time for that will come later, Mr. Chairman?

The Chairman: Yes. Do I understand, Mr. Sellar, you are personally 
making a recommendation to that effect?

The Witness: Yes, so far as the companies I audit are concerned, I am 
not in a position to know the internal machinery of the other companies.

The third memorandum, gentlemen, I present with some diffidence. Mr. 
Macdonnell asked me yesterday to give my observations on a point beyond 
my knowledge or field. It is in connection with the estimates. He asked 
whether there were any means by which the estimates and public accounts may 
be discussed while still fresh. I think that was his thought.

The following is the memorandum I have prepared:—

RE CONSIDERATION OF ESTIMATES AND PUBLIC ACCOUNTS
1. The Consolidated Revenue and Audit Act, 1931, contemplates 

that the accounts be closed on May 31st. During the war the date was 
always much later, because of closing entries with respect to overseas 
accounts, etc. The accounts for 1946-47 arc not closed yet.
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2. The mechanical eide of printing requires four months at present. 
It would be prudent to add at least one month for first copy for the 
printers. Consequently, only by an early closing of the accounts can the 
volume be available before the new year. Of course, the Public Accounts 
of Canada are much more detailed than is general for national govern­
ments. Were it considered that some detail could be eliminated, a shorter 
time would be required for production.

3. So far as the Auditor General’s report is concerned, it can be 
produced within six weeks after the balance sheet is proffered for 
certificate.

4. As to the question of the same committee considering current 
estimates and the public accounts, it appears that such a plan is receiving 
serious consideration in England. The report of a Select Committee on 
Procedure (ordered printed October 31, 1946) deals with the question 
and recommends:—

For these reasons your committee consider that the functions of 
the committee of public accounts and the estimates committee would 
be better performed by a single committee. Such a committee would 
have no powers beyond those possessed by the separate committees 
now, and there would be no change in the position or duties of the 
Comptroller and Auditor General, either in relation to the depart­
ments or the committee. The advantage of combining both functions 
in a single committee working through sub-committees is twofold. 
First, the knowledge and experience gained by examination of the 
accounts would be brought to bear upon the examination of current 
expenditure, and vice versa. Secondly, a single committee with sub­
committees provides a method for co-ordinating the whole work of 
the examination of expenditure, for which neither overlapping 
membership nor any other method of liaison is a satisfactory 
substitute. The result would be a strengthening of parliamentary 
control of expenditure and it might be that fewer members would 
be needed for this work. As to the number of sub-committees needed 
and the division of the work, your committee think that these details 
would be better settled by the committee itself in the light of its own 
experience.
5. It is, of course, to be borne in mind that supply procedure at 

Westminster differs from that followed in Canada. Twenty sittings are 
set aside for estimates; items are selected for discussion by the opposition 
and the debate is on public policy. On the last day, or August 5th, at the 
latest the balance of the estimates are automatically passed.

6. I doubt if such a procedure would now be regarded as satisfactory 
in Canada. At the same time, one cannot ignore the time demands made 
on the House of Commons. My suggestion therefore is that thought might 
be given to:—
(o) reducing the number of votes, in order to facilitate debate and to 

permit closer estimating.
(b) requiring more extensive printed explanations to be provided to 

members ;
(c) dividing the estimates into groups, one group consisting of items 

which may be financed out of operating revenues;
Id) the House referring to a committee for examination and report 

(before consideration by Committee of Suppy) :
(i) all items for which a minister is not directly answerable for the 

estimate. For example, the items for the House of Commons, 
the Senate, the Library, the Auditor General’s Office, the Chief 
Electoral Office, the Civil Service Commission, the Courts, etc.;
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(ii) all items to be financed out of operating revenues. This would 
include such bodies as the Post Office, the Board of Grain 
Commissioners, the Patent Office, etc.;

(iii) all items where administration is not directly controlled by a 
minister or by the Consolidated Revenue and Audit Act. For 
example, the National Research Council, the National Film 
Board, or any grants to the National Harbours Board, the 
Federal District Commission, the Canadian Broadcasting 
Corporation, or a Crown company, etc.;

(iv) any grant which will not be accounted in detail to parliament. 
For example, grants to associations, fairs, steamship subventions, 
etc.;

(v) any grant to be administered by a provincial government or by 
a municipality ;

(vi) any grant which the Speaker is of the opinion gives rise to the 
question: Is the purpose within the phrase “for the public 
service” of Canada?

I have taken the phrase which I quoted from the B.N. A. Act.
By Mr. Fleming:

Q. Item No. 1 in that last group, Mr. Sellar, an item for which the minister 
is not directly answerable for the estimate. You have given some examples. 
What about the statutory items, those items in the book of estimates marked 
with an “S”. Do you include those?—A. You cannot do anything about them 
unless you are going to amend your Act. They are just included now for your 
information.

I am now working on my report for the next fiscal year. I am very seriously 
considering recommending to you that you should take a look at one statutory 
item for $160,000 paid annually to the fishermen of the maritimes. It is 
supposed to be the equivalent of the Halifax award which was allotted or was 
paid back 60 years ago, over 60 years ago. The basis of the distribution was 
then set down. Conditions have changed materially since and I think there 
may be some way that the $160,000 could be of greater benefit than as now 
applied. I do not say I am right, but I say it should be considered.

Otherwise, you have not got before the committee on supply an official 
statutory item at all. They are just there for your information.

Q. But they are linked with the item for administration of that particular 
department. They come up for consideration with the administration item?— 
A. For every vote, you start off with the minister’s salary.

Q. I am thinking about a statutory item. For instance, under the Depart­
ment of National Health and Welfare you have the old age pensions. You 
have two items, one for administration and then you have the statutory item 
which is the actual amount of the pensions paid?—A. Yes, that is there just 
for your information.

Q. But so far as discussion is concerned, you get it on the administration 
item?—A. Yes.

By Mr. Macdonnell:
Q. There is one item on page 2 of this last memorandum, (d),

The House referring to a committee for examination and report------
Am I right in thinking that would be substantially a committee like the single 
committee which is mentioned on the preceding page; the same kind of thing in 
general?—A. I have not tried to reason that out, sir. My only thought was 
this; that there should be one committee to deal with them all and not send 
some estimates to the external affairs committee; some to the industrial relations 
committee; some to the fisheries committee, the agricultural committee and 
so on. I thought they should all go to the same committee, whatever it was.
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Q. Would it be a committee which might be generally described as dis­
charging the functions of the committee on public accounts and estimates, as 
they call it in England? Would it be generally like that?—A. I would say yes, 
that would be my thought. What the thought would be from the point of view 
of the House of Commons, I do not know.

By Mr. Fleming:
Q. You might possibly use subcommittees. There is no reason why, in the 

case you mentioned, external affairs estimates could not be referred by the 
main committee on estimates to the committee on external affairs as a sub­
committee to perform the functions of a subcommittee and report back to 
the main committee?—A. I agree with you there. Your idea is to be critical 
of the estimates. You want to promote economies in the estimates.

Q. And obtain information, too?—A. Yes, I know, but if you send the 
estimates to a committee—I am not using the words in an insidious way— 
but a committee that has a hobby would be partial towards the estimates of 
that department. Let us say the fisheries committee were considering the 
fisheries estimates. All the members of the committee would feel that the 
estimates were too low for the proper maintenance of the fishing industry.

Q. Yes, and you need not limit it to fisheries, you could use agriculture as 
an illustration?—A. I would not draw the line anywhere. You would want 
to see the estimates go to a cold-blooded committee rather than a friendly 
committee.

Mr. Bradette: When the estimates went before the external affairs com­
mittee we did not find the state of mind which has been mentioned by the 
witness. We were very careful in scrutinizing as thoroughly as possible all 
the estimates and enquiring into all the ramifications of the Department of 
External Affairs. We always had in mind keeping the expenditure as low as 
possible. I just want to correct that impression because we have had the 
external affairs estimates before us for the last three years.

Mr. Macdonnell: But do you not think that is because that is money 
which is being spent outside the country?

Mr. Bradette: It may be, but we have been good watch dogs. So far as 
economies were concerned, we were willing and ready to use the broad axe if 
necessary. The members of the committee were not backward in stating their 
feelings on the subject.

As Mr. Sellar has suggested, it might be very different if we were dealing 
with an agriculture or fishery committee. In a committee such as external 
affairs, the members are dealing with a question in which they are all interested 
but in a different way from a member sitting on a committee such as agri­
culture. If you were a farmer sitting in the agriculture committee, you would 
want to see as much money go to the farmer as possible.

Mr. Fleming: I should like to bear out what Mr. Bradette has said. This 
committee did perform a useful function in getting out the information about 
the workings of this department as well as questioning the estimates. Informa­
tion was obtained concerning the department which had not been brought out 
before. You cannot possibly do that in a committee the size of the committee 
on supply.

Mr. Bradette : In a committee such as the House committee on supply, you 
only receive information indirectly. It is conveyed sotto voce to the minister 
and then expressed to the members of the committee. In a special committee, 
you have direct information from the officials concerned. This fulfils 
two great functions. It relieves the poor minister from a lot of drudgery 
and it gets direct information to the members of the committee quickly. The 
procedure followed in the House is not a businesslike one. In the committee on
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external affairs, we had expert officials who knew the situation. XV e secured 
the information quickly and in a very clear, forceful way.

Mr. Fleming: And directly.
Mr. Bradette: Yes, and directly. It was a marvellous experience for me 

and I believe the other members of the committee as well.
Mr. Fleming: The minister did not even come to those meetings. The 

officials were there.
Mr. Bradette: Yes, he was saved a great deal of the burden. All the 

members of the committee were bright and quick in expressing their opinions 
on each item of the estimates. They expressed their opinions clearly and 
forcibly.

Mr. Jaenicke: I agree with that, but at the moment, I agree that if you 
were to go into the estimates thoroughly a committee such as Mr. Sellar 
suggests would be more advantageous. After all, we can investigate the workings 
of the departments when going through the estimates. In my opinion, we can 
call the officials. One thing about our foreign service ; our legations and embassies, 
things of that nature, so far as external affairs are concerned we can call those 
officials for that information. So far as criticizing expenditures are concerned,
I am of the opinion that Mr. Sellar’s idea of having a general committee to 
investigate all the expenditures is much better than referring those expenditures 
to departmental committees. I think we are very just and mutually impartial 
in the external affairs committee, but I certainly think if you referred the 
agriculture estimates to the agriculture committee and the fisheries estimates 
to the fishery committee you would find those committees were interested in 
those particular industries and would certainly be partial, as has already been 
indicated by Mr. Sellar.

Mr. Fleming: Mr. Chairman, I do not know that the two ideas, I think 
Mr. Sellar agrees, are necessarily exclusive. If you had this committee specially 
charged with a review of the estimates and a review of public accounts, it 
might want to farm out some part of its work, specialized work for instance, 
to the external affairs committee.

In the case of the External Affairs Departmental estimates, it might be 
that there is so much work to.be done by that committee, if it did a thorough 
job, it might need assistance from some of the other standing committees. The 
standing committees could review the estimates of the departments closest 
to them. I do not think the ideas are necessarily exclusive. I think they could 
be harmonized in the light of experience. I think it is very important in the 
light of our experience with estimates, of which I can only speak in this 
present parliament, to have some standing committee do a really serious job of 
reviewing the estimate. I think the way we are handling our estimates in the 
House, as I said some little while ago, is little better than a farce.

Apart from a rare case, we do not sit down and check over the estimates 
at all. There are general discussions on policy. All members bring forward 
some particular problem which may have no relation to the actual expenditure, 
but which is simply related to the department. There is no committee or any 
body around here at all officially charged with the checking of the expenditures.

The Chairman : Many of the questions asked in the committee on supply 
are sort of fishing expeditions to get information more than actually checking 
on the estimates.

Mr. Fleming: It takes a lot of time because a lot of members in the 
House are not interested in the particular item under discussion. They become 
restless and the result is that the member who is trying to get information is 
harried.
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Mr. Bradette: I have been a chairman of the committees of the House and 
from my experience I would say that what Mr. Sellar asks now is something 
which might prove to be very beneficial. No one can study our estimates under 
present conditions. Our estimates are not thoroughly scrutinized for the simple 
reason when any new department is brought in, the first item is administration. 
This always brings forth a general discussion and the chairman has practically 
no means by which he can curtail the discussion in any way.

There is a suggestion in Mr. Sellar’s report, in section 5, which says,
It is, of course, to be borne in mind that supply procedure at 

Westminster differs from that followed in Canada.
If we follow the British procedure we will be far ahead of the game, and 

then that committee will have reasonable opportunity to go into all matters. 
That will happen through the discussion we have on practically all items, 
not only administrative, but all items which will have to be concentrated before 
the committee. These discussions will take place before the committee and 
experts will give us all the information necessary. I believe the curse of the 
House of Commons in the Committee of Supply has been the repetition of 
discussion on the very same items. When it is stated at the end of the session 
that we have passed millions of dollars without scrutiny, it is absolutely unfair 
to the members of parliament. We spend three or four or five days, and, I 
have even seen us spend eight days, on on item of only $50,000. meaning that 
the department concerned was thoroughly discussed. When it comes to the 
end of the session the items we pass so rapidly are really statutory items, and 
I want to be fair to their adoption. Generally speaking members of parlia­
ment have been very, very careful indeed in the discussions of public funds, 
even going so far as to curtail unnecessary travelling that thev thought occurred 
in a department. In many cases it has turned out the other way. Perhaps 
more money is needed for a certain constituency and I am interested if it is my 
constituency. That is the human factor we must deal with. I would repeat 
again that the suggestion may lead to a change in our rules of procedure, but 
we must necessarily do that if we want to have proper discussion and to truly 
discuss the items.

Mr. Fleming: I think Mr. Bradette is referring to the fact that we would 
save a lot of time in the House if the estimates were accompanied by printed 
explanations after the manner Mr. Sellar has suggested.

Mr. Bradette : I am not sure that it may not lead to more discussion.
Mr. Fleming: It might lead to more intelligent discussion.
Mr. Gladstone: The consideration of estimates before a special com­

mittee and the bringing of officers of the department before the committee 
centainly would tend, in my opinion, to promote efficiency. According to our 
present method of considering estimates now in the Committee of Supply, 
what actually happens is that we put the minister and the government on the 
defence, together with those officers whom we are criticizing. It seems to me 
that is a long distance from the methods employed in ordinary business. I 
think it should be the desire of members of parliament to discover weaknesses 
if there are any weaknesses in departments and to correct those, in the interests 
of promoting efficiency and saving public money.

Mr. Fraser : I would like to ask Mr. Sellar a question. In this report 
on page 2, it reads: “All items where administration is not directly controlled 
by a minister or by the Consolidated Revenue and Audit Act”.

Included in the list is the National Film Board. In our ordinary estimates 
we have the National Film Board under the National Revenue Department. 
Why do you put that in there?

The Witness : I used that to illustrate the point. The National Film 
Board is administered by a board consisting of two members of the Privy
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Council and, I think, six private individuals, three of whom are to be selected 
from the public service of Canada and three who have no connection with the 
sendee of Canada. That body administers the National Film Board. Now 
Dr. McCann is, at the present time, the Chairman of the National Film Board. 
Therefore he is the minister who has to pilot that estimate through the House, 
yet he is not like the Dr. McCann, the Minister of National Revenue who is the 
supreme head over his department. He is just a member of the board of eight, 
and that is why I was drawing the distinction.

Mr. Fleming: I have several questions, not on these memoranda sub­
mitted by Mr. Sellar this morning, but on the more general aspects of his 
report.

Mr. Fraser: May I ask another question with respect to the Film Board. 
Why is the Film Board estimate in our estimates? Take the other corpora­
tions—they are not in our estimates.

The Witness: The National Film Board is not a corporation in the true 
sense of the word. It is financed entirely out of parliamentary appropriations. 
I do not think it should be listed under National Revenue at all, because you 
have got to know the minister who is chairman before you can find it.

Mr. Fraser : Yes, I think you are right. It used to be under War Sendees.
The Witness: Yes, and I think it should be under its own name and not 

under a minister at all.
The Chairman : I think it applies to many items. Under item 3, the 

broadcasting corporations are discussed before the House.
Mr. Fraser: Yes, but we have not got the broadcasting corporations in 

our estimates.
The Chairman : But they are discussed before the House in the report 

of the minister.
Mr. Fraser: Not under the Canadian Broadcasting Corporation. I think 

we can only bring them in under an item of the Minister of Transport, along 
with the short wave stations down on the coast.

The Witness: Plus any capital loan—if you have a vote for the capital 
loan you may bring them in.

By Mr. Macdonnell:
Q. I have just two short questions. On page 2, item (c) says “dividing 

the estimates into groups, one group consisting of items which may be financed 
out of operating revenues ;—” and so on.

(d) concerns the House referring to a committee for examination and 
report and then we have subsections (i), (ii), (iii), (iv), (v), (vi).

What are the substantial omissions from (d) and where are they set out?
Are they very important items?—A. Well, standard services, where it is 

purely a ministerial policy or governmental policy I have excluded—
Q. For example------ A. Take the Department of Finance for example, which

is purely an administrative service. The government is answerable for that but 
I do not think it would be consistent with our idea of ministerial responsibility 
for departments if the minister had to deal with details when he faced the 
House of Commons.

Q. It is very hard to draw the distinction in finance. You have some 
ancillary things like Wartime Prices and Trade Board, however, do not let 
me press that.—A. I was influenced by that a number of years ago, shortly after 
I came to Ottawa. Dr. McGibbon, who is a member of your constituency—

Q. My former constituency?—A, —moved a resolution that there should 
be an estimates committee that should deal with the estimates and it was on 
the basis of that debate that I was prompted to try and draw a dividing line
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between governmental service in the true sense of the word, and others that 
might be regarded as requiring a little difference in financing.

Q. Another question is in regard to the fiscal year periods, I notice in 
paragraph 2 one of the bodies still being audited by civilian auditors is Central 
Housing and Mortgage. That seems to me to be purely government policy. 
The Bank of Canada is different, the Canadian National Railways are different, 
and Trans-Canada Air Lines are different, but it seems to me that Central 
Mortgage and Housing Corporation is purely a government operation, and I 
wondered whether or not we are not losing something by not having the benefit 
of the Auditor General’s comments on that. I would like to raise the question 
as to just why this is dealt with that way?—A. You passed that last year, 
sir, in your Acts of 1946. You put it in then.

Mr. Fleming: Do you approve of it?
The Witness: I have no opinion. I do not mind telling you now that 

Central Mortgage and Housing Corporation has all the houses of wartime 
Housing, and the board of directors of Wartime Housing consists of Central 
Mortgage and Housing personnel. I told Mr. Howe he should get his Act 
amended to take away my responsibility for auditing Wartime Housing.

Mr. Fleming: Will there have to be two different sets of auditors?
The Witness: I do not care how they do it, but, having decided that 

Central Mortgage and Housing should be audited by outside auditors, it seems 
to me that Wartime Housing should be dealt with in the same way.

Mr. Fleming: I obtained a return in the House on the employment of 
auditors by Central Mortgage and Housing Corporation. They have employed 
two different auditors.

The Witness: Yes, the section of the Act is quite detailed.
'The Chairman: Are there any other questions on these memoranda or 

can we go back to the one submitted yesterday by Mr. Sellar.
Mr. Fleming: I would like to ask Mr. Sellar a question about the nature 

of the audit that his department conducts.
By Mr. Fleming:

Q. Mr. Sellar, you said yesterday you had a staff of two hundred. Is it a 
complete audit that is conducted or is it what is commonly called a spot audit?

Mr. Jackman: Or a balance sheet audit?

By Mr. Fleming:
Q. Yes, or a balance sheet audit?—A. Certain transactions are naturally 

100 per cent; those dealing with securities and so on are 100 per cent. Other­
wise we proceed by means of test audits. If we find things are in order after 
we make a reasonable test we stop. If we do not find that is the situation, we 
keep following through until we are satisfied we have the picture. The staff 
are located in the departments. They are not centralized and they audit from 
the working records. As a rule our audit runs about a week to a month behind 
the actual transaction.

Q. In all cases it is a running audit?—A. Yes.
Mr. Macdonnell: I)o you mean your audit representatives are in the 

various departments and to all intents and purposes look like the member of 
the department.

The Witness: No, they do not look like them. They have a separate office 
and I keep changing them. I do not allow any man to stay too long so that 
he will get too familiar with the people he is auditing.

By Mr. Fleming:
Q. That is the answer. The next question I think, is this. It is about the 

follow-up that may or may not result from your recommendations. Now I take
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it that the recommendations that you make as a result of your audit are not 
necessarily all contained in your formal report?—A. No, most of the problems 
we raise are settled long before the books are closed.

Q. Now where do you draw the line between those that are made on the 
spot and those that are reserved for formal treatment in your annual report !— 
A. We record anything that concerns policy in relation to the responsibility 
of the House of Commons over the Consolidated Revenue Account. Such things 
should be reported to the House.

Q. Do you report those to the department concerned in advance?—A. The 
departments see my report before it is printed. They are asked if that is a 
fair statement of the facts, not whether they agree, with it, but whether it is 
a fair statement of the facts. If they say it is not a fair statement of the 
facts we ask them where we are wrong. We may adopt their suggestions or we 
may not adopt them. We tell them we want a fair statement because our 
report is going out in print and our statement will carry more weight than their 
denial later on, and we ask for their statement before it is printed.

Q. Do you have many cases of difficulty in reconciliation of the two posi­
tions?—A. No.

Q. In other words when we pick up your annual report the facts stated are 
common ground between you and the department concerned, but the views or 
opinions expressed are yours, and yours alone?—A. Yes.

Q. Well I am concerned about the follow-up in the department, both in the 
cases of the recommendations that go from you direct to the department, and 
also those that appear in your annual report. Are you concerned about the 
follow-up, or is that purely and simply a matter for the departments con­
cerned?—A. No, we keep following it up. If remedial action is not taken in a 
year and we consider it sufficiently important, we will draw it to your notice a 
second time. If you pay no attention to it two years in a row, we form the 
opinion that you are not very much concerned and we withdraw the note.

Q. You are addressing parliament now in what you say.—A. Yes.
Q. I am thinking now of cases where you have recommended certain things 

regarding a particular department. Is it any concern of yours to follow that 
recommendation up with the department?—A. We make it our business. We 
are on very good relations with the departments and, as soon as our report 
comes out, the departments go after these various things because no department 
likes publicity that is critical, and they try to remove the opportunity for that 
criticism being repeated. Secondly, if it is expenditures, the comptroller of the 
treasury staff also may put on the pressure. Our own people, as I say, also 
get to work on it and very few things are not settled to the satisfaction of all 
concerned.

O. What is the responsibility of the comptroller of the treasury with respect 
to following up recommendations which you make?—A. You could not find it in 
the statute. It is his job to see things are in proper order.

Q. That is he assumes responsibility of taking your recommendations and 
following them up where he considers they are legitimate?—A. Where he con­
siders thev are important but he may decide against me. Usually he does not.

Q. Does that often follow?—A. No, but I was the first comptroller, and 
the present comptroller was my assistant and we think rather along the same 
lines.

Mr. Macdonnell: Like Hitler and Dr. Schact.
Mr. Fleming: There were several items in your report that I was interested 

in from that point of view. I do not want to take the time of the committee 
to go into detail but on page 21, I will just mention the items quickly in 
parsing. About half-wav down page 21. item No. 54, vote 230. The last 
paragraph savs “order in council P.C. 5528 of August 9, 1945, accepts as of 
October 31, 1945, the resignation of John Grierson, Government Film Commis-
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sinner.” Then there was an expenditure of ”£85 for the trans-Atlantic passage 
of Mr. Grierson from Prestwick to Montreal. The expenditure is recorded as a 
charge to vote 230 although Mr. Grierson was no longer in the sendee of the 
National Film Board when the trip was made”.

Now did something follow that recommendation?
The Witness : The National Film Board immediately took up the matter; 

so did the comptroller of the treasury7. They referred the matter to the treasury 
board for instructions and the treasury board on November 8, 1946, directed 
that “payment of travelling expenses incurred in 1946 would not be warranted. 
As you will be aware it is not the practice to pay travelling expenses of officers 
after resignation.” Therefore the National Film Board was ordered" to recover 
the amount from Mr. Grierson.

Mr. Macdonnell: Who originally authorized the item?
The Witness: It was authorized in London, England.

By Mr. Fleming:
Q. By whom?—A. They had an office over there.
Q. The National Film Board?—A. The National Film Board had an office 

in London. Mr. Grierson acted in perfectly good faith in that respect. He had 
an understanding with the National Film Board that if they wanted him to come 
back his expenses would be paid, and it had been intimated to him that they 
wanted to discuss certain matters with him. He was off the payroll and, as far 
as I was concerned, it was a wrong expenditure, but Mr. Grierson had quite a 
reasonable explanation in that case.

Q. Now on page 28, and I would say that I am mentioning this item out of 
order, but the last paragraph on that page reports that in September 1944, the 
National Film Board sent an officer to London to act as co-ordinator of newsreels. 
Accountable advances for expenses were made to him from time to time. For 
the period September, 1944. to April 15, 1945, he proffered an accounting of 
$5,134.36, which included $949.59 disbursed for entertaining. As of March 31, 
1946, an accounting had not been accepted for $1.167.19. The Consolidated 
Revenue and Audit Act. 1931, requires that all outstanding accountable advances 
be repaid within sixty days after the close of the fiscal year. That was not done 
in this case, but deductions, first of $40 a month and later increased to $100 a 
month, are being made from his salary since April, 1946.”

That is the first case. Then the second case concerns another officer. 
“Another officer was accredited in June, 1944, to the armed services film unit 
overseas as a war correspondent. A per diem living allowance of $8 was 
authorized for him while in London. He returned from this assignment in 
November 1945. Net advances of $6.627.36 were made and his accounting for 
$4.248.23 was accepted. Thus, at the year end, $2.379.13 remained to be 
adjusted. The officer has left the employment of the National Film Board.”

Again I am concerned about the follow-up. I take it in the first case a 
portion of the expenses of the officer were disallowed and recovery is being made 
by monthly deductions from his salary.—A. Coupled with that was the amount 
that should be allowed for entertaining. That item was referred to the treasury 
board in the last fiscal year and on March 21, 1947, the treasury board authorized 
the department to aecept $500 as entertaining expenses out of that $900 odd and 
the account is now settled.

Q. And he has, in other words, paid about $400?—A. Yes.
Q. What is the explanation of the line of distinction between the $400 and 

the $500?—A. The distinction was this. He was pretty generous in his enter­
taining and we thought some of it was unnecessary. The treasury board, having 
reviewed the matter,—I was not there, of course,—apparently decided $500 of 
that expenditure could be justified as entertaining and they allowed that, and 
told him to refund $400. He had actually spent the other $400.
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Q. Did that arise out of an audit of yours or a recomendation from you. or 
did it arise out of an investigation by the treasury board, or the controller 
general?—A. That orginated on an observation of my man in London, England. 
In examining these accounts, he came across them and notified the National Film 
Board of the extent to which this entertainment was running. He notified the 
National Film Board in Ottawa. They took action to correct it forthwith. When 
the accounts were submitted, the comptroller of the treasury, the National Film 
Board and ourselves, had a mutual interest. I reported it but it was the National 
Film Board and the comptroller of the treasury that dealt with it, in bringing it 
to the treasury board notice.

Q. Now take the second case, involving the $2,379.13 where the officer lias 
left the employment of the National Film Board. Was that never recovered?— 
A. That amount has been reduced down to $264 but I am afraid there is an 
additional amount in connection with expenses in Greece and other countries.

Q. Expenses of the same individual?—A. Yes.
Q. Entertaining expenses?—A. No, just travelling expenses. He was 

supposed to operate through the army services but for some reason or other he 
went to hotels when he might have gone, to the ordinary billets provided by 
the army. These accounts have just come in or at least they are 1946-47 
accounts and I heard about them the other day.

Q. How much do they amount to?—A. I do not know.
Q. Are they substantial sums?—A. No, I do not think so.
Mr. Fraser: Are the claims fully paid?
The Witness: The man has received the moneys and he is now proffering 

the accounts in settlement.

By Mr. Fleming:
Q. You expect that you will have to recover from him?—A. Well I am told 

that. This is by way of information because you asked the question. I have 
not seen the accounts and I have formed no opinion on them. They have, 
however, dealt with the old ones and the amount as I say, is $264 which is due 
on them.

Q. In other words an attempt is being made to recover the money from him? 
A. Yes.

Q. On page 22, I will just pass quickly over this, but paragraphs 59 and 
60 are of interest to me. The votes are 418 and 426.

Vote 418.—Construction was undertaken in 1945 of anproximately 
2.200 houses for purposes of the Veterans’ Land Act. Practising architects 
were commissioned to prepare 22 designs. The fee was generally $160, 
this giving the department the right to use a design 16 times. After that, 
$10 was paid the architect for each time a design was used. The architects 
had no responsibility with respect to actual construction. The $10 fee was 
paid 1,437 times with respect to 7 designs. Therefore, in addition to the 
initial fee, four architects received $14,370 for seven plans. The depart­
ment has since acquired the designs under an arrangement which permits 
use without further payment.

Now I take it your purpose in setting that out in your annual reports was 
to draw attention to the basis of payment which you considered to be unsound? 
A. It seemed to me to be an extravagant thing to pay for a design over and over 
again when the department was absorbing the costs of making the blueprints. 
That was so especially in connection with a simple house and where we were 
paying this large sum out over a long period.

Q. XVhat about the follow-up there?—A. In that case one architect, whose 
plans were used extensively, agreed to the department using his three plans 
indefinitely without any charge but he is the sole legal owner of the plan.
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Q. I have some returns on that. I will put the return on the record. It is 
sessional paper 135A.—A. The Winnipeg firm had a cash settlement made to 
them and we bought the plan. The same thing occurred with the Calgary firm 
and the A ancouver firm. Cash settlements were made. The Ottawa man did not 
ask for cash.

Q. There is a sessional paper on that and perhaps it would save time if it 
were made part of the record.

The Chairman: Do you think this should go in the appendix in the form 
of questions and answers?

Mr. Fleming: Yes, in the appendix. I think it ought to be in our record 
somewhere.

Then, the next item is 426. You deal with this matter of the construction 
of nine houses at Boucherville, Quebec.

In May, 1945, tenders were invited by the director of the Veterans’ 
Land Act for the construction of nine houses at Boucherville, Quebec. 
Bids ranging from $45,884 to $70,200. were rejected as excessive. On 
August 30, 1945, a contract was made with the contractor who submitted 
the lowest firm price bid. This contract called for the construction of 
17 houses at cost, with the contractor receiving $175 per unit for his 
services. In the fiscal year $87,018.10 was paid by way of progress pay­
ments. Administrative officers advise that this contract is under 
investigation; consequently the payments have been accepted in the audit 
subject to that qualification. Further claims of $103.820.85 with respect 
to the contract were, at the time of audit, in the department.

Now, what was the thought in reporting on that, Mr. Sellar?
The Witness: I had to qualify my report because I did not know whether 

payments were going to be right. In this particular case the contractor is suing 
the government for $109,000. That case is now before the Exchequer Court. The 
department, in addition, has instigated criminal proceedings against three 
individuals. There are two convictions and there is a case pending.

By Mr. Fleming:
Q. Again, Mr. Chairman, there is a sessional paper No. 135-C on that item. 

It would perhaps save some time if we perhaps put it in the appendix to our 
proceedings.

There is one other matter upon which I wanted to enquire. It is dealt with 
on page 24 of the Auditor General’s report and concerns national housing 
administration. I had better not take the time to read all of it, but it deals with 
the reconversion plan on properties located in three different places. The first is 
a property on St. Jean Street in the city of Quebec: the second is a property on 
Burnaby Street in Vancouver; the third property is located on West 14th Avenue 
in Vancouver. I think it is fair to say that the gist of your comment here is 
that the price which is proposed to be charged to the government vastly exceeds 
the amount of the tender. What is your comment on that again? There was a 
sessional paper 38-C dealing with that matter. From the point of view of Mr. 
Sèllar, 1 should like him to say how this comes to be in his annual report?—A. 
Because this whole conversion plan was set up under an order in council which 
contemplated that the rent would be fixed at rates sufficiently high that in a 
period of eight years the government would recover its investment. The rents, 
in these cases, are not adequate to recover this investment as the cost of the 
project as authorized has greatly exceeded the estimate.

Mr. Braoette: Pardon me, but are these orders for return?
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Mr. Fleming: They were sessional papers, but none of these were printed 
in Hansard. I would not be putting them in the record this way if they were 
printed in Hansard. They are sessional papers which were not printed.

The Chairman: Do you feel that all these reports are needed for the actual 
work of the committee? They are quite bulky. Do you think you could refer 
to them in the evidence rather than have all this material printed? I do not 
object, personally, but we are going outside our general practice.

Mr. Fleming: There are two reasons for offering them, Mr. Chairman, and 
the first is that I happen to have these papers because I put in the questions. 
I thought the other members would like to have them. Then secondly. I do not 
want to take up any more time at this particular moment questioning Mr. Sellar.

The Chairman: The witness might possibly give us more information.
The Witness: No, I am no longer the company’s auditor.
The Chairman: If we have a competent official, certainly from the 

Veterans’ Land Act, could we not get the information from him rather than have 
the questions and answers merely printed from the sessional paper without 
comment. We have the proper official. If we put this paper in, I think in all 
fairness to the Veterans’ Land Act people we might ask questions from the 
auditor, as you have already done about the vote for $18.426. It would be better 
than leaving this on the record without any comment.

Mr. Probe : Are we going to have the officials of the Veterans’ Land Act 
before the committee again?

The Chairman: I did not mean the Veterans’ Land Act, I meant the Auditor 
General. He is responsible for the two items here. These items have been 
included in his report and I think he is the right person to question. If we have 
any other person we want to call, we can do so.

What do feel about that, Mr. Fleming? I think if we were to put this in 
without asking pertinent questions of the person who is responsible for the audit, 
it serves no purpose. You have the auditor and you have the report. You have 
the opportunity to ask him any questions you care to ask. Merely having these 
reports printed without any reference or any scrutiny of them by the auditor 
may leave a wrong impression. You have the auditor here, so why don’t you go 
ahead and ask him any questions you care to ask concerning these two matters?

Mr. Fleming: We are going to take a lot of time if we do that, Mr. 
Chairman.

The Chairman: I think it would be fairer to the officials concerned. We 
have the auditor here and he is the one who has put in that item. Why don’t 
you ask him any questions, since that is another way of putting this information 
before the committee? If you just print these papers without any comment, you 
can draw any inference you want from them. While the auditor is here, why 
not ask him the questions?

Mr. Fleming: If the auditor wants to look those over, he may or may not 
be in possession of additional information, I do not know.

The Chairman: It would be more in accordance with our practice. You 
have some parliamentary returns and you have a witness here from whom you 
can get the information you want. I do not see the purpose of merely printing 
these papers when you have the proper official to give you the answer.

Mr. Fleming: My answer to that is this; these are sessional papers 
prepared by the department concerned. Having the information, the questions 
are based on the statement in Mr. Sellar’s report.

The Chairman: That is right, but you have Mr. Sellar here.
Mr. Fleming: Mr. Chairman, again may I say these are lengthy questions.
The Chairman: We have given you all the possible time before the 

committee. We are sitting again to-morrow or, at least, we plan to do so, so I
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do not see why we should not get all this information in the proper form by 
asking questions of the official who has reported on that matter. I am not 
restraining you or any member of the committee. It would not be my duty to 
do so and I am not trying to do so. On the contrary, I offer you an opportunity 
to ask questions and give you all the time possible that is available to the 
committee. Just putting those two questions in without any comment from the 
proper official permits us all to form our own judgment without having the 
information we might have received from the man who can give it to us. I 
think that is just fair.

Mr. Fleming: Has Mr. Sellar any information bearing on these papers?
The Witness: Nothing in addition to what is there.
The Chairman: If you have any questions to ask, you can ask them.
Mr. Fleming: It seems to me a waste of time.
The Chairman: Mr. Sellar can answer these questions.
Mr. Fleming: Mr. Sellar says they are all there and says they are correct. 

It is just that I hoped to put them in the record.
The Chairman : After you have asked the questions and received the 

answers, you can make any deduction you want. Why don’t you ask the 
questions of the auditor while he is here.

Mr. Probe: Just to regularize this matter because I was interested in these 
matters raised by Mr. Fleming, but he was doing a first class job on these 
questions, I should like to ask a question with respect to the return on national 
housing administration on page 24 of the Auditor General’s report. This deals 
with the conversion of the properties which were recently mentioned. Speaking 
of the St. Jean Street property in the city of Quebec, you say.

‘‘The Crown was to pay $36,000 and the owner $34,000.” Then, it turned 
out that the actual cost of the work was $107.000. The question I wish to ask 
Mr. Sellar in connection with that is; where it says the Crown was to pay 
$36.000, I presume that would be covered by a contract as between the owner 
of the apartments and the Crown?

The Witness: And the local representative at Quebec.

By Mr. Probe:
Q. How can your department explain, I do not suppose it is up to you to 

explain or justify it, but can you explain how that contract involved the govern­
ment to the extent of $36,000 when it actually paid $73.766.51 on this conversion 
plan? Would there be a supplementary contract after the work had progressed 
to such a state it was found that the estimate was far too low? Would there be 
two contracts?—A. There was a second order in council authorizing the change.

Q. There is no order in council mentioned in your comment here?—A. I will 
give you a little office note which I have which might explain it to you. The 
original agreement fixed $36,000 as the Crown ceiling. Order in council P.C. 
6359, of October 2nd, 1945, reversed this, fixing $34,000 as the ceiling for the 
owner because, and this I put in quotes, “by mutual mistake the terms of the 
said lease and contract varied from the original informal agreement of the 
parties set out in a letter dated March 27th, 1944 from E. Raymond, Regional 
Director of Housing, to R. D. MacDonald, owner, with respect to the respon­
sibility for any additional cost of conversion over the estimate.” The new 
agreement is for ten years so as to enable the Crown to amortize one-half of 
the additional cost of conversion over a total period of ten years. That is my 
note on it.

Q. Well then there is one other question; this possibly does not come within 
your department, but the Crown’s original estimate of $36,000 would be based 
on the opinion of the inspector on the spot?—A. Yes, sir.
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Q. Is that the same inspector who was again consulted at the time he made 
this additional recommendation to the government? It would seem to me that 
he did not know his job, that is the whole thing—A. I think that may have been 
the case. The original deal was that no matter what the cost of this conversion 
should be the government cost shall not be more than $36,000 ; then it reversed 
and later on stated that regardless of what the cost of this conversion may be, 
the cost to the owner shall not be more than $34,000; therefore we were stuck 
with a very large sum. The original plant was estimated to cost $70,000, not 
$36,000.

Q. That is right, and the estimates turned out 50 per cent short of what they 
should be, it was 53 per cent higher.

The Chairman: You said the change was made by order in council because 
the previous agreement, the contract, was not in accord with the first agreement.

The Witness: That is evident by a letter.
•

By the Chairman:
Q. You mean that under the first arrangement with Quebec the Central 

Mortgage corporation had agreed in a letter that its part of it would be $34,000?— 
A. Yes.

Q. And as the result of later negotiations or developments the arrangement 
was to reverse the order of the first agreement?—A. At that time the scheme 
was administered by officers of the Minister of Finance, not the Central 
Mortgage and Housing Corporation. Consequently, there was a division of 
responsibility between local and headquaters officers.

Q. It was what you called.—A. It was this emergency housing project, and 
Mr. Nichols was then with that.

Mr. Fleming: Now, Mr. Chairman, I would like to go back to this other 
matter ; are we going to have this material put on the record or not? This is 
information which I think all members of the committee will want, and it is here 
in the form of sessional papers.

The Chairman: I think we should deal with that when we have a quorum 
present; we only have four here just, now, and I think we should adjourn until 
tomorrow morning at eleven o’clock when that will be the first order of business 
before the committee.

Mr. Fleming: Could we not have a meeting this afternoon?
The Chairman : We have only three members present now; so we cannot 

decide anything. We could try sitting this afternoon, but if we do not get 
a quorum we will have to adjourn ; and the time is very short in which to issue 
notices to the members.

Mr. Jackman: Might I ask the Auditor General, in addition to the officers 
of his own department who are appointed to the various departments of govern­
ment for continuous audit purposes, what other officers of the Comptroller of the 
Treasury department are in the various departments ; including those who are 
permanent or temporary in the other department; those who check expenditures ; 
together with an indication of their duties and functions?

The Chairman: Mr. Jackman, I have already pointed out that there is not a 
quorum present. We will adjourn until four o’clock this afternoon.

The committee adjourned at 12.50 p.m. to meet again at 4 p.m. this day.
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AFTERNOON SESSION

The Chairman : Gentlemen, I think we have a quorum and we are ready 
to start. Mr. Fleming had the floor I believe, when we adjourned.

Mr. Fleming: Mr. Chairman I would just like to go back to the matter 
of the returns. There were three returns, sessional papers, which had not been 
printed anywhere in the proceedings of the House which relate to the three 
items on which I questioned Mr. Sellar. The items were paragraphs 59. 60 
and 67 of his report. Mr. Sellar has seen these and has knowledge of them 
and says they are correct. I propose, Mr. Chairman, that they be filed and 
printed as an appendix to the proceedings to-day. I think the information 
is of interest to members and there are a lot of figures here and it is not 
practicable to attempt to read them. •

The Chairman: I have no personal objection as I stated this morning, 
but I expressed the view that this is a departure from the rules of committees 
as far as sessional papers are concerned. As far as I am concerned I have no 
objection, and, if it is the desire of the committee, we shall have them printed. 
The objection I raise is that any member who wishes to obtain information 
which is bulky, and which is furnished in the form of a sessional paper, may 
then come before a committee, and pass a motion that it be printed in the 
records of the committee. Outside of that feature I have no objection.

Mr. Jaenicke: What is the purpose of putting it in?
Mr. Fleming: It will save a good deal of time. There are three items on 

which I was questioning this morning and the papers expand the information 
that is contained in the report, explaining it in some detail. In the Boucherville 
case. No. 60, Mr. Sellar’s report is a short paragraph which raises the question 
as to how these claims, running over $100,000 grew out of a contract for which 
the bids extended from $45,000 to $70,000, all of which incidentally were 
rejected as excessive.

Mr. Jaenicke: That is in connection with housing?
Mr. Fleming: Yes. The work has proceeded and it turns out that over 

$87,000 is paid out in program payments, and, in addition to that, there are 
further claims of over $100.000. The answers to the questions in the sessional 
paper give you further information about these tenders and how they came to be 
made, on whose certificates as to progress reports substantial progress payments 
were made, and also the proceedings by petition of right, and so on.

The Chairman: The document is already public property as it has been 
tabled, and of course it is quite all right. I am only objecting because it is 
voluminous and my objection was that we would be open to publishing any 
report or sessional paper. Outside of that I have no objection.

Mr. Fleming: The only time sessional papers would be relevant would 
be when we were dealing with the auditor’s report.

The Chairman: But every member would have the same right as Mr. 
Fleming would have. You may be interested in something which may mean a 
return of fifty pages. Now you are entitled, as well as Mr. Fleming, to get it 
printed. What I say is it is a precedent. It is not a question of this particular 
item, but you could publish anything you want to, and my point is we are 
starting a new policy in the committee and it would be bound to extend to 
the privilege being given to any member of publishing any return, and that 
may result in very voluminous reports.

Mr. Jaenicke: I do not think it would establish a precedent. I think we 
could consider each case on its merits.
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Mr. Fraser: I think this one has merit.
Mr. Fleming: I think it is all relevant.
Mr. Jaenicke: Is that the case where the criminal proceedings are pending?
Mr. Fleming: Yes.
Mr. Jaenicke: Does that show in the return?
Mr. Fleming: It shows the contractors.
The Chairman : What page is it?
Mr. Fleming: It is in answer to question 12, and the contractor has issued 

a petition of right. I should not have said it showed the criminal proceedings. 
It says “the contractor has issued a petition of right and served it on the 
Attorney General of Canada on the 16th January, 1947, claiming $109,837.76 
on the basis of his contract with the director, Veterans’ Land Act”. Then it 
goes on “on the advice of the Department of Justice, the Department of 
Veterans’ Affairs is denying liability in the suit”.

And then No. 16 “until the present investigation by the Royal Canadian 
Mounted Police and law officers of the Crown for the purposes of the court 
proceedings is completed no further investigation will be made”.

I think the criminal proceedings were launched after this date.
The Chairman : I think Mr. Sellar might say a word on this. The report 

says the investigation stopped there.
Mr. Murphy: I was wondering if Mr. Fleming was tabling another return 

which might deal with that?
The Chairman : We are dealing with this one. This is about Boucherville.
Mr. Fleming: I told the committee that they are all strictly relevant.
The Chairman: Let us deal first with Boucherville. I was asking Mr. 

Sellar whether proceedings had been taken against the parties.
Mr. Murphy: Just a moment, Mr. Chairman—
The Chairman: Do you mind waiting a moment? I have asked a question 

of Mr. Sellar and I will get the answer and then you may address the meeting.

Watson Sellar, Auditor General recalled :

The Witness: My information comes from the solicitor for the Veterans’ 
Land Act or the Department of Veterans Affairs. I asked him the other day 
respecting the state of the prosecutions. The solicitor said they got a conviction 
in one case and I gathered it was over theft of supplies. They got a conviction 
in a second case involving bribery, and a third case is pending.

Mr. Jaenicke: Against the contractors?
The Witness: I did not a«k the name of the parties. I do not think the 

contractor was involved. He was not one of those prosecuted.
Mr. Jaenicke: Is this the person that asked for the petition of right 

in court? Is it the same person?
The Witness: I do not know who the parties were. I gathered they were 

two employees of the Department of the Veterans’ Land Act that were prosecuted 
but I did not ask the names.

Mr. Jaenicke: The criminal proceedings would not affect the civil pro­
ceedings.

The Witness: The civil proceedings are by the contractor against the 
department, he is suing the department.



460 STANDING COMMITTEE

Mr. Jaenicke: The civil proceedings would not be affected unless the parties 
are the same as those involved in the criminal case.

The Witness: They are not the same parties as are involved in these 
criminal proceedings.

The Chairm an : Now the Boucherville sessional paper, No. 135C, is here- ' 
with produced with a motion that it be printed. Is the motion carried?

Carried.

The second one is sessional paper 135A and the third one is sessional paper 
No. 38C. It is moved by Mr. Fleming that these papers be printed herewith.

Carried.

Mr. Jaenicke: What were they again?
The Chairman : The second one concerns paragraph 59, vote 418 and the 

third one is concerning paragraph 67, page 24, the National Housing Administra­
tion, which was mentioned this morning by Mr. Fleming.

Now at the recess I asked the Auditor General whether he had the orders 
in council mentioned as having been passed in connection with those items in 
paragraph 67. Now he has brought herewith the orders in council and I think 
it appropriate that they be printed, together with the other papers, and I would 
so move. They are Nos. 4450 and 6359. The first one deals with the property 
at Nanaimo. In paragraph 67 the first item deals with St. Jean street in Quebec. 
The order in council is 6359 and it is produced herewith. On the second there 
is no order in council. On the third paragraph there is an order in council, 
P.C. 4450 which is produced herewith.

Mr. Fleming: That is the one relating to the West 14th avenue in Van­
couver?

The Chairman: Yes.
Mr. Fleming: I would include those in my motion.
The Chairman : Now, gentlemen, shall we revert to the memorandum that 

was produced and read to the committee yesterday by the Auditor General, as 
to his different recommendations? Are we through with the other items that we 
dealt with this morning?

. Mr. Fleming: The motion regarding the orders in council was carried?
The Chairman: Yes, this motion was carried.
At the end of the meeting yesterday, the Auditor General read into the 

record his memorandum on different questions in which he was interested and 
he made some valuable suggestions. It was agreed that we would delay question­
ing until the next meeting. We did not reach that stage this morning, so if 
anyone has any questions to ask on this report this would be the appropriate 
time.

By Mr. Fleming:
Q. Mr. Sellar, there are a couple of changes which I would like to propose 

in the scope of your suggestion. Suggestion No. 3, or paragraph 3, on page 1 
of your memorandum proposes that details be printed with the estimates in a 
narrow form, setting out “(b) explanations of increases.’’ Should it not include 
decreases as well? If there is some spectacular decrease I think the members 
would be interested in that as well?—A. I would not have any objection.

Q. Perhaps you think a decrease has never happened?—A. Well, my idea 
in putting this together was to keep it as short as possible but to give you
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gentlemen ample information. That was my thought. You should have as much 
information as the minister, except for all the minute listings, and you should 
be informed on any item.

Q. (e) deals with comparisons with previous years.
The Chairman : Where is that?

By Mr. Fleming:
Q. On the first page. Comparisons with both estimates and actual 

expenditures of previous years. I do not say how many years should be shown 
but I think it is important that it should be the actual expenditure.—A. I think a 
three-year comparison is the safest comparison to make, because then you do not 
run the risk of an abnormal year not balancing itself out.

Q. Would you be willing to amend your proposal to make it more definite? 
—A. My proposal was really this, sir. I did not think this committee would 
want to commit itself to a definite plan which the government would introduce. 
You want to hold your freedom of criticism. This whole thing revolves around 
whether the Consolidated Revenue Act should be revised. If so, the committee 
might suggest to the government that it be revised and then you could criticize 
the revision which was brought in. If you were to ask me what all I thought 
should be done to the Consolidated Revenue Act I would take a lot more pages 
than this to set out my thoughts because there are a lot of administrative pro­
visions that I think should be buried.

Q. Speaking for myself, and having regard to the fact that we are pretty 
late in the session, I think with the weight that stands behind your recommenda­
tions here, that the committee might wish, and I hope it may wish, to forward 
these recommendations to the House, and perhaps make them the basis for 
recommending of revision of the Act, probably to a broader extent than is 
covered by the recommendations you have set forth in these memoranda.

The Chairman: I suggest that if we are going to pass on a definite set of 
recommendations, in detail, I think we would need more than a morning’s work, 
and we would need more evidence from Mr. Sellar. He himself may want to put 
it in different shape and be more precise as to just what he has in mind. It does 
not prevent us from passing a recommendation, but he might have to go into 
more detail. I think if we want that we might ask Mr. Sellar to reconsider the 
matter. He has left it, in some ways, more or less open.

Mr. MacDonnell: Mr. Chairman, what I think Mr. Fleming had in mind 
and what I had in mind, (and I hope the rest of the committee have the same 
thing in mind) is that we certainly do not want this matter to fall to the ground.

The Chairman: I do not'think anyone wants that.
Mr. Macdonnell: I have in mind what Mr. Sellar says. The committee 

should report that these questions arose, and that Mr. Sellar has made certain 
tentative suggestions, and that he urges that the whole legislation he reviewed 
and revised in the light of these suggestions and perhaps others. Now that puts 
forward a very definite suggestion on behalf of this committee. Also, it does not 
tie us, or Mr. Sellar, down tightly but it indicates that we think these are 
important matters for consideration.

The Chairman : I do not think that Ls quite the point. If we are going to 
go into details we had better notify Mr. Sellar and bring him back before us to 
explain exactly what he wants. Otherwise we should make a general 
recommendation which we can very well do. However, if we are going to go 
into details we will all want to study exactly what those recommendations are 
to be.

Mr. Macdonnell: Do you not think we might just, without going into 
detail, indicate the subjects which Mr. Sellar has dealt with in these 
memoranda, and to which he objects, and which he has outlined would be
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desirable to have changed. Our request would then be that these be gone into 
further and action taken as has already been suggested. We are all free then 
to say what we think about the details.

The Chairman: On page 4. section 14, “Summarizing the foregoing, my 
view is that there should be legislation to regulate:

(a) the form of estimates and the printed explanations associated 
therewith”. . .

and so on. This item here could be very well the basis of a recommendation, 
hut if we are going into detail and explain exactly what should be done, we 
would have to take more time. However, the members are here and they can 
speak for themselves.

Mr. Warren: Mr. Chaiman, I have been wondering if it is not possible 
that we might, unintentionally, crowd Mr. Sellar, who is a government official, 
into a position of laying down something that is really government policy. It 
would not be a very happy position for Mr. Sellar to be placed in or to be 
crowded into.

The Chairman: That can be decided amongst ourselves later on. We have 
a witness here and if we have any other questions to ask this is the time to ask 
them.

Mr. Fleming: May I ask Mr. Sellar if you have further thoughts on the 
subject of necessary amendments to the Consolidated Revenue and Audit Act 
in written form? Have you them available?

The Witness: My answer to that is this, Mr. Fleming. When the Act 
was revised in 1931, I held, nominally, the senior office in the Department of 
Finance. I was not really the senior officer but the deputy minister was dead 
and I held the new appointment. We were asked to revise the Consolidated 
Revenue Act and get it ready for the session. We did so, but we worked against 
time, and I was never satisfied with our job. We had to work too fast.

Ever since then I have kept on my desk a dummy bill with the thought 
that if I were ever asked to reconsider the bill again I would have it. So I 
have on my desk a draft bill, hut no one has ever criticized it and it is no good. 
It expresses the opinion of only one individual. A bill is no good until it has 
been picked to pieces and rewritten. I am sure you would not subscribe to all 
that I have set out in the draft bill and I am sure the government would not 
subscribe to it either, because I have taken the bureaucrat’s point of view.

Mr. Fleming: And what viewpoint is that?
Mr. Gibson: He was anticipating you, probably.
The Chairman: Are there any further questions?
Mr. Fleming: Well, Mr. Chairman, perhaps you would allow a little bit 

of discussion for a moment, in view of the last answer given by Mr. Sellar.
I think we have got to face reality and the fact we are pretty close to the 
end of the session. We have another subject we are starting on in this com­
mittee on Friday that may take several meetings. I am thinking it is not 
feasible at this particular stage, to enter into a detailed consideration of this 
extensive revision of the Audit Act. Mr. Sellar has prepared a precis and I 
am wondering if we would not be helping the House, and helping the govern­
ment, if we did pass it on to the House in the form of another report from 
the committee. Now, this memorandum from Mr. Sellar, with his ideas in it, 
would ask that the government, before the end of the next session, consider 
those proposals.

The Chairman: You mean we should pass on the text of Mr. Sellar’s 
report?

Mr. Fleming: Yes, with his recommendations which are embodied in it.
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The Chairman: Just as it is?
Mr. Fleming: The memorandum as it stands, with its recommendations, 

and referring also to the fact that Mr. Sellar in his evidence to the committee 
has recommended that the Consolidated Revenue and Audit Act be revised.

The Chairman : That is surely one recommendation that we could make ; 
that he said it should be revised.

Mr. Fleming: And we, as a committee, recommend before the end of the 
next session that the government give consideration to the recommendations. 
That would mean the recommendations of Mr. Sellar would be put before the 
government for study, and then when another session comes around, if the 
government thought the recommendations were worthy of action, in the ordinary 
course the bill would come to this comnyttee after second reading. If the 
government has not taken steps in that direction, the committee itself next year 
could take up the detailed work of reviewing the Act.

The Chairman : If we are going to do that, I think it would be fair to ask 
Mr. Sellar whether he would be prepared to let this go as it is or, whether 
he wants to extend it, or add to it, or if he has any particular reasons why it 
should be not made part of the report.

The Witness : As a matter of fact it is now part of the record. I under­
stand that you file your evidence with your final report. I honestly believe in 
what I have stated there, and I should be prepared to stand behind it. I do 
not think any useful purpose would be served by enlarging on it and perhaps 
adding another dozen or so points. I believe it is quite sufficient for parliament. 
My efforts have been to see that the House may retain control over public 
moneys and public property.

Some Hon. Members: Hear, hear.
Mr. Fleming: May we infer from what you have just said, when you 

speak about an extensive revision of the Act, that this memorandum contains 
the backbone of the revisions you would put in the Act.

The Witness : Let me illustrate what I have in mind. In 1931 the debt of 
Canada was administered by the Department of Finance. In 1938 or 193d 
the management and the servicing of the debt were transferred to the Bank 
of Canada. There are no statutory regulations dealing with the debt to-day. 
Now, as an outside agency has the service of that debt, I say there should be 
pertinent regulations in the Consolidated Revenue Act.

Q. Would it he a very great task for you to supplement this memorandum 
with an additional one reviewing points such as you have just mentioned?—A. 
I could give you that with the greatest of ease.

Q. I think, along with your suggestions that would be definitely helpful. 
Mr. Chairman. We are not going to have the time to write a report based on 
picking things out of a memorandum, and if Mr. Sellar would prepare the 
memorandum it would certainly help.—A. As I say, I have it on my desk and all 
I have to do is go through the various things I consider merit change. 
Another point on which I might speak is the fact that the Governor in Council 
is overloaded in making orders in council on routine matters. Now I think a 
lot of the work should be passed to the treasury hoard and let that body be 
the final authority. As I say that is an internal matter but it involves a great 
deal of routine.

The Chairman: In order to put this in concrete form, let us say we seem to 
be in agreement that a report should be made by Mr. Sellar along these lines. 
We will give him an opportunity to submit it to the steering committee.

The Witness: Would you just treat that as a supplementary statement 
which you could do with as you like? You could read it into the record 
or use it for your own information.

92494—3
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Mr. Fleming: Information supplementary to Mr. Sellar’s proposal for 
revision of the Consolidated Revenue Act.

The Witness: Yes.
The Chairman : And you could forward that to us.
The Witness: Yes.
The Chairman; And if we need you, we can call you back?
The Y\ itness: I would like a day for the preparation of it.
The Chairman: The steering committee could meet next week, after we 

have received this, and come to an understanding or agreement on what the 
terms should be, and it could be submitted to the general committee.

Mr. Cleaver : I think, Mr. Chairman, any report we make without study 
should not either oppose or give blessing to these recommendations. I think that 
would be as far as we could go without study. We have not enough material 
before us to say whether all these recommendations are agreed to, or what ones 
we disagree on.

Mr. Fleming: May I ask Mr. Cleaver if he means anything more than 
we should not go beyond saying in the report that we recommend the govern­
ment give consideration to these recommendations before the end of the next 
session?

Mr. Cleaver : Yes, I entirely agree with that, but I do not think the 
committee should express an opinion with respect to the validity or the advisa­
bility of implementing these decisions until we have studied them.

Mr. Macdonnei.l: That is my understanding of what we would do, Mr. 
Cleaver. We would say this, matter is before us and it merits attention of the 
government, and Mr. Sellar has put forward his proposals.

Mr. Cleaver : I will illustrate what I mean. Just last week an emergency 
rose in regard to berry boxes. I do not know whether all the members are 
aware of this but we have a terrific crop of berries this year, and owing to the 
shortage of steel we have not enough boxes, and we need to import them from 
the United States. Under the present order in council an arrangement may be 
made for the remission of the duty on those boxes which we need to bring in. 
Now I am not sure the treasury board would be so susceptible to public 
opinion or public need, as perhaps the minister would be, and I do not know 
whether I would like to have that type of authority taken away from the 
minister and placed with the treasury board.

The Witness: The authority w with the treasury board now. I mean that 
the Minister of National Revenue recommends to the treasury board certain 
things, and the treasury board considers them and recommends to the Governor 
in Council. That is section 33 of the Consolidated Revenue and Audit Act.

Mr. Cleaver : Did I understand you correctly that the recommendation 
should be changed from a ministerial recommendation to a direct recommen­
dation of the treasury board?

The Witness: No, instead of the Governor in Council having to pass 
several hundreds of orders in council retiring civil servants, accepting resigna­
tions, and so on the treasury board would act for the Governor in Council.

Mr. Cleaver : You would make the order on the recommendation of the 
minister?

The Witness: Yes.
Mr. Cleaver : That would be quite satisfactory.
Mr. Fleming : I do not think we are at odds, Mr. Chairman, on the scope of 

the recommendation. I think we appreciate we cannot go exhaustively into the 
details, but Mr. Sellar has made out a very impressive case for the revision of 
the basis of preparation of estimates, and also the method whereby the House
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of Commons may maintain control, in the House, of public money and public 
property. I think we are serving a purpose by saying we are forwarding the 
recommendations and urging that the government give consideration to them 
before another session of the House.

The Chairman : Let us say then that we will have two meetings of the 
steering committee next. week. One meeting will consider the report on the 
other part of our work concerning the custodian’s office, and then another meeting 
will consider the report presented by Mr. Sellar. Now if I may ask the members, 
has anyody any suggestion as to what should go in the report concerning the 
custodian’s office? If they have, would they kindly get in touch with me this 
week or with the clerk of the committee so that we may embody as much as we 
can in our first draft. The ideas of the members may contain some conflict but 
we can always iron them out and discuss them. It would facilitate the work 
of the steering committee if any member who has definite ideas as to what should 
go in the report will submit suggestions.

Mr. Macdonnell : Is it possible for us to take some cognizance of the 
memorandum which Mr. Sellar gave us this morning dealing with the other 
matter of Estimates and Public Accounts?

The Chairman: They have been circulated among the members have 
they not?

Mr. Fleming: We are speaking of the four of them.
The Chairman: Yes, his suggestions in general.
All right gentlemen, we will adjourn.

The meeting adjourned at 4.45 p.m. to meet again at the call of the chair.





APPENDIX “A”

SESSIONAL PAPER NO. 135C

Friday, March 7, 1947

Mover:—Mr. Fleming, M.P.

Question:—

1. Were tenders invited by the Director of the Veterans’ Land Act for 
the construction of houses at Boucherville?

2. Who was the Director of the Veterans’ Land Act at that time?
3. Who is the Director to-day, and what are his qualifications and salary?
4. If tenders were invited, when were they invited, and for how many 

houses, and on what terms?
5. What tenders were received and who submitted them?
6. Which of these tenders were rejected?
7. Was a contract entered into, and if so, with whom as contractor, and 

for the erection of how many houses, and on what terms as to price and 
payment?

8. If such contractor was a corporation, who were its directors and officers 
at that time? If it was a partnership at the time, what arc the names of the 
partners?

9. Were any tenders invited for the construction of the number of houses 
and on the terms set out in the answer to question 7?

10. What payments have been made pursuant to the said contract, and 
on what dates?

11. What record of progress had been made and submitted at the date of
each such payment, and by what Government inspector or inspectors was the 
same made or provided in each case? Are all such inspectors still in the employ 
of the Government? __ ^

12. What further claims or requisitions for payment have been made by 
the contractor, and for what amounts, and on what dates, and on what basis?

13. What is the Government’s intention with reference to such claims?
14. Are any further claims expected, and if so, for what and in what 

amount?
15. What investigation of this contract and the circumstances surrounding 

it has been made, and by whom, and at what expense to the Government to
date?

16. What further investigation is intended, and by whom is it intended 
that it shall be made, and when is it expected to be completed and at what 
estimated expense?

The attached information has been received by the Secretary of State 
of Canada from the Department of Veterans Affairs.

92494—4
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Answer From Department of Veterans Affairs
1. Yes.
2. Mr. Gordon Murchison.
3. Mr. Gordon Murchison. Practical farming experience 1909 to 1914; 

joined staff of Soldier Settlement Board in Province of Saskatchewan July, 1919 
as Land Inspector and was successively appointed to positions of Loan Adviser, 
Chief Appraiser, Assistant Superintendent and District Superintendent; Manager 
of Canadian Farm Loan Board in Alberta 1935 to 1938; Director of Soldier 
Settlement 1938 to date, and Director of Veterans’ Land Act from inception of 
operations under that Act to date. Salary $8,000 per annum.

4. Tenders were invited by advertisement as follows:—
Montreal Daily Star, May 26, 28, 29, 1945.
Daily Commercial News, May 29, 30, 31, 1945.
La Presse, May 26, 28, 29. 1945.

Copy of the advertisement attached.
5. Tenders were received from the following, for nine houses :—

O. Boisvert. Shawinigan Falls ............................................................... $45.884.00
Leclair-Dupuis. Montreal ....................................................................... 52,257.14
J. L. Guay, Montreal ................................................................................. 53.476.00
Douglas Bremner, Montreal ...................................................................... 54,707.00
Deakiu & Stewart, Montreal ................................................................. 61,010.00
K. & B. A. Ryan. Montreal .................................................................... 63.180.00
Archambault, Montreal ............................................................................ 70.200.00

6. All of the tenders were rejected.
7. A contract was entered into, after negotiations, with the lowest of the 

original bidders, O. Boisvert, for the erection of 17 houses. The contract was on 
cost plus fixed fee basis, the fee being $175.00 per house, plus plant and equipment 
rental fee of $70.00 per house.

8. Contractor was neither a corporation nor a partnership.
9. No. See answer to Question 7.
10. Payments made pursuant to the contract :—

Date Name Amount
2il September. 1945 O. Boisvert ...................$58.956.90
18 October. 1945 O. Boisvert ................... 28,061.20 $87.0H8J0
13 August. 1946 ('. Asselin ................................................... 263.25
13 August. 1946 Howard Air Con'ding............................... 3.183.00
14 August. 1946 Cote Bros. Reg............................................ 1.386.52
15 August, 19-46 E. Barbyson .............................................. 662.64
2-3 August. 1946 C. Proulx & Co. Ltd.................................. 360.08

4 September, 1946 C. Frignon & Fils....................................... 2,627.00
4 October, 1946 .1. Dube ...................................................... 77.34

14 January. 1947 Northern Electric ..................................... 180.03

Total Payments to Date ............................. $95,757.96

11. Records of progress were made weekly from:—
10th August, 1945 to October 5, 1945, by L. Lapointe and J. C. Lacroix. 
12th October, 1945 to March 8, 1946 by J. G. Leblanc.
8th March, 1946 to May 3, 1946 by P. Richard.

Messrs. J. C. Lacroix and L. Lapointe are no longer employed by the 
Department having been released in November, 1945.

12. The contractor has issued a Petition of Right and served it on the 
Attorney General of Canada on the 16th January, 1947, claiming $109,837.76 on 
the basis of his contract with the Director, Veterans’ Land Act.

13. On the advice of the Department of Justice, the Department of Veterans’ 
Affairs is denying liability in the suit.

14. No. ‘
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15. As there were indications that costs under the contract were running 
unduly high, departmental inquiries were initiated in September, 1945. 
On October 15 and 16 an “on site” investigation was conducted under 
supervision of the Chief of the Building and Construction Branch, Veterans’ 
Land Act, and the Chief of the Construction Section, Inspection and 
Audit Division of Treasury. This led, on 23rd November, 1945, to the 
suspension of certain privileges and led the Royal Canadian Mounted Police 
being requested to make an independent investigation. Such investigation 
is continuing. No accounts for expenses have yet been received. Two 
convictions have already been obtained of persons implicated, and the 
prosecution of others is pending.

16. Until the present investigation by the Royal Canadian Mounted Police 
and the law officers of the Crown for the purposes of the Court proceedings is 
completed, no further investigation will be made.

Tenders

Sealed Tenders, addressed to the District Superintendent, Veterans’ Land 
Act, Montreal, Room 111, Confederation Building, and marked Tender for 
Boucherville project will be received up to 12 o’clock noon, June 11, 1945, for the 
construction of nine (9) houses and approximately 1500’ of road for veterans on 
lots 43-3. 43-4. 43-5, 43-6, 43-7, 43-8, 43-9. 43-Ï0. 43-11, Township Parish of 
Boucherville, County Chambly, Province of Quebec.

Plans, specifications and form of contract to be entered into may be seen, 
and tender forms obtained on application to the District Construction Supervisor 
at Montreal.

Plans, specifications may be obtained from the above official upon receipt of 
an accepted cheque, made payable to the Receiver General of Canada for the 
sum of 825.00 (Twenty-five dollars). This cheque will be returned upon the 
return of the plans and specifications in good condition.

Each tender must be accompanied by a certified cheque on a chartered 
Canadian Bank equal to ten per cent (10%) of the tender price, payable to the 
order of the Receiver General of Canada, which cheque will be forfeited in the 
event of the tenderer refusing to enter into a contract on the basis of his tender, 
if called upon to do so, or failing to satisfactorily complete such a contract. 
Cheques of unsuccessful tenderers will be returned.

The Department does not bind itself to accept the lowest or any tender.

G. MURCHISON,
Director,

The Veterans’ Land Act.

Department of Veterans Affairs,
Veterans’ Land Act,
May 25, 1945.

92494—41
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APPENDIX “B-’

SESSIONAL PAPER No. 135A

Thursday, February 27, 1947.
Mover :—Mr. Fleming, M.P.

Question:
1. What architects were commissioned in each year to prepare designs for 

houses under the Veterans’ Land Act?
2. On what basis were the architects selected?
3. What fees were paid to each by years?
4. On what basis were such fees calculated?
5. Who has owned the designs since they were submitted?
The attached information ha< been received by the Secretary of State 

Department from the Department of Veterans Affairs.
Answer:

Department of Veterans Affairs

1. In 1944 the following architects were commissioned to prepare designs 
for V.L.A. houses:—
C. B. K. Van Norman, B.C. Rule-Wynn-Rule, Alta.
Moody and Moore, Manitoba G. Adamson, Ontario
W. K. Humphrys, Ontario Marcel Parizeau, P.Q.
A1 ward and Gillies, Maritimes
Owing to pressure of their other business Messrs. Adamson and Parizeau did 
not supply sufficient and suitable designs so withdrew ; consequently in 1$M5 
Mr. P. J. Savard of Montreal was commissioned to prepare plans.

2. Architects were selected after discussions with the officers of the Royal 
Architectural Institute of Canada.

Year Rule-Wynn- C.B.K.
Rule Yon Norman

Moody & 
Moore

W. K. Ahvard A P. J. 
Humphrys Gillies

Savard

1944-1945. . .. 800 00 1.60(1 00 750 00 ............... 490 00
1945-194(1.. ..
194(5-1947.. ..

7.490 00 4,150 Oil
........... 1.200 00

4.800 00 4.710 00 440 00 780 00

8,290 00 6,950 00 5.550 00 4.710 00 930 00 780 00

4. Minimum of $100.00 per plan, and $10.00 per house after the first 
16 houses were built from the plan. A further fee was paid to some of the 
architects in order to buy the plans outright.

5. All architects retained ownership of their designs until the following 
agreements were made in 1946:—a final fee was paid to Messrs. Van Norman, 
Rule-Wynn-Rule, and Moody and Moore, and ownership of certain of the 
plans prepared for V.L.A. by these firms was ceded to V. L. A. Ahvard and 
Gillies ceded ownership without a further fee. W. K. Humphrys retained 
ownership but granted full rights to V.L.A. to use any of the Humphrys’ designs 
for V.L.A. without further fees of any kind. P. J. Savard retained ownership. 
These designs and those not purchased outright from Van Norman, Rule-Wynn- 
Rule, and Moody and Moore may be used by V.L.A. upon payment of a $10.00 
fee each time the plan is used.
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APPENDIX “C”

SESSIONAL PAPER No. 38C

Thursday, March 13, 1947.
Mover: Mr. Fleming, M.P.
Question:—

As to each of the following buildings:—
(a) on St. Jean Street in the City of Quebec;
(b) on Burnaby Street in the City of Vancouver;
(c) on West 14th Avenue in the City of Vancouver which were the 

subject of agreements for conversion into apartments on the home 
conversion plan—

1. With whom as owner was the agreement made for conversion of the 
building into apartments?

2. If the owner was a corporation, who are its officers and directors and 
where is the head office located? If the owner was a partnership, who were the 
partners?

3. What was the estimate of the cost, and who prepared it, and what were 
the shares agreed to be borne respectively by the Government and the owner?

4. Who checked the estimate on behalf of the Government?
5. What was the actual cost of the conversion and in what shares has it 

been borne by the Government and the owner?
6. What payments have been made pursuant to the said agreement and on 

what dates?
7. What record of progress had been made and submitted at the date of 

each such payment, and by what Government inspector or inspectors was the 
same made or provided in each case? Are all such inspectors in the employ of 
the Government or Central Mortgage and Housing Corporation?

8. What investigation of this agreement, and of the estimate of cost and of 
the actual cost of conversion, has been made by or on behalf of the Government?

Answer of the Department of Reconstruction and Supply
1. (a) 197-199 St. Jean Street, Quebec—Ronald D. MacDonald, and

63 St. Jean Street, Quebec—Joseph J. Bourque.
(b) 1281 Burnaby Street, Vancouver—Hugh F. Lumb ;

1185 Burnaby Street, Vancouver—Beatrice Moore, and 
1340 Burnaby Street, Vancouver—Emma V. Smith.

(c) 435 West 14th Avenue, Vancouver—Thomas and Mary C. Ellis, and 
905 West 14th Avenue, Vancouver—John S. Mulcahy.

2. Not applicable.
3. (a) 197-199 St. Jean Street, Quebec

Estimate of cost—$70,000.00
Prepared by—A. Deslauriers & Fila Ltée.
Shares agreed to be borne by:—

Owner —834.000.00 
Government—Balance of cost 

63 St. Jean Street, Quebec 
Estimate of cost—$14,000.00 
Prepared by—Albert Noel, Contractor 
Shares agreed to be borne by :—

Own er—$3,500.00 
Government—Balance of cost.
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(b) 1281 Burnaby Street, Vancouver
Estimate of cost—$24200.00
Prepared by—Herbert P. Falls, Contractor
Shares agreed to be borne by:—

Owner—nil
Government—Total cost 

1185 Burnaby Street. Vancouver 
Estimate of cost—$25,000.00 
Prepared by—Herbert P. Falls, Contractor
Note:—'The effect of the agreement between the Government and the owner 

as to their respective shares is a matter of dispute between the parties. 
1340 Burnaby Street, Vancouver 

Estimate of cost—$19,000.00 
Prepared by—Marwell Construction Co. Ltd.
Shares agreed to be borne by:—

Owner—$2,500.00 
Government—Balance of cost.

(c) ' 435 West 14th Avenue, Vancouver
Estimate of cost—$5281.80 
Prepared by—The Armstrong Co. Ltd 
Shares to be borne by :—

Owner—nil
Government—Total cost.

905 West 14th Avenue, Vancouver 
Estimate of cost—$12.000.00 
Prepared by—James G. Moffatt 
Shares to be borne by :—

Owner—$3,000.00 
Government—$9,000.00 

4. (a) 197-199 St. Jean Street, and 
63 St. Jean Street, Quebec.
Mr. E. Raymond, District Representative, N.H.A.

(t>) and (c)
1281 Burnaby Street 
1185 Burnaby Street 
1340 Burnaby Street 
435 West 14th Street, and 
905 West 14th Street, Vancouver 
Mr. J. Davidson. District Representative, N.H.A.

5. (o) 197-199 Sit. Jean Street, Quebec
Actual cost of conversion—$107,763.85 
As follows:—

Construction cost ............................................. $ 97.020.11
Equipment (Stoves and Regrigerators) .......... 7.063.09
Rent paid to owner during conversion ............ 3.680.65

$ 107,763.85
Shares were borne as follows:—

Owner .................................................................. $ 34.000.00
Government ........................................................ 73.763.85

63 St. Jean Street, Quebec
Actual cost of conversion ........................................ $ 42,811.38
As follows:—

Construction cost ............................................... $ 39.770.58
Equipment (Stoves and Refrigerators) ............ 1.747.80
Rent paid to owner during conversion ............ 1.293.80

$ 42,811.38
Shares were borne as follows:—

Owner .................................................................. $ 3,500.00
Government ........................................................ 39.011 05
Extras requested by owner ............................... 270.33

(b) T281 Burnaby Street, Vancouver
Actual cost of conversion ........................................ $ 37.072.28
As follows:—

Construction cost ............................................... $ 31.462.01
Equipment (Stoves and Regrigerators) .......... 4.393.50
Rent paid to owner during conversion ............ 1,216.77

Complete cost was borne by the Government.
$ 37,072.38
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1185 Burnaby Street-, Vancouver
Actual cost of conversion..........................................$ 38.300.36
As follows:—

Construction cost ............................................... $ 34.545.31
Equipment (Stoves and Refrigerators) ............. 2.671.83
Rent paid to owner during conversion ............. 1.083.22

Shares were borne as follows:—
Owner ................................................
Government .......................................

Note:—The matter of further recovery 
answer to Question' 3(b).

1340 Burnaby Street, Vancouver
Actual cost of conversion.......................................... $
As follows:—

Construction cost ................................
Equipment (Stoves and Refrigerators)
Rent paid to owner during conversion

$ 38500.36

.............. $ 9.000.00

.............. 29.300.36
from the owner is in dispute. See

$

27,360.08

24.631.20
2288.88

440.00

$ 27560.08

.$ 2.500.00
24,860.08

.$ 7,901.77

.$ 6.661.23
949.25
291.29

$ 7,901.77

Shares were borne as follows:—
Owneii ...........................................................
Government ................................................

(c) 435 West 14th Avenue, Vancouver
Actual cost of conversion ..................................
As follows:—

Construction cost ................................................$
Equipment (Stoves and Refrigerators) ...
Rent paid to owner during conversion ....

Complete cost was borne by the Government.
905 West 14th Avenue, Vancouver

This conversion project was abandoned after officials of the N.H.A. were of 
•the opinion that the owner had violated the terms of the said lease and that the 
contractor had violated the terms of the contract. The owner and the contractor 
disputed the validity of the notice of cancellation given them by the N.H.A. 
officials. After negotiations the owner and contractor agreed to release all claims 
against His Majesty the King in respect of the said lease and contract upon 
payment to the contractor of the sum of $4.000.00—authority by Order in Council 
P.C. 4450 dated 22nd June, 1945.

6. (a) 197-199 St. Jean Street, Quebec 
Construction—

Payments to contractor :—
July 3. 1944 ........................................................ « 2.500.00
August 22, 1944 ................................................... 3.250.00
September 9, 1944 ................................................ 6.000.00
October 10. 1944 ................................................. 8.000.00
November 24. 1944 .............................................. 9,000.00
March 16, 1945 ..................................................... 6.250.00
October 4. 1945 ....................................................... 20,000.00
October 24, 1945 5.636.08

Total .......................
63 St. Jean Street, Quebec 
Construction—

Payments to contractor:— 
November 24, 1944 
December 13, 1944 ...
March 9. 1945 ...........
April 6, 1945 ..............
June 4, 1945 ..............
June 4, 1945 ..............
June 4. 1945 ..............
October 31, 1945 .......
October 31, 1945 .......
October 31. 1945 .... 
March 27, 1946 .........

$ 60,636.08

$ 890.00
4550.00 
2,000.00 
2.000.00 
4,000.00 
1.984.00 
1.232.00 
2,697.00 

977.69 
324.42 

14.009.02
Total $ 34,665.71
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(b) 1281 Burnaby Street, Vancouver 
Construction—

Payments to contractor;—
October 9, 1943 .................................................. $ 4,117.05
November 17, 1913 ............................................ 3,191.04
December 16, 1943 ............................................ 2,952.00
February 2, 1944 ................................................. 3,927.00
February 16, 1944 ............................................. 5,896.64
March 30. 1944 ................................................... 3.689.94
June 29. 1944 ..................................................... 2.152.44
July 25. 1914 ..................................................... 4.895.12
January, 1945—Credit ........................................ 36.79

Total .............................................................$ 30.794.44
1185 Burnaby Street, Vancouver 
Construction—

Payments to contractor:—
February 2, 1944 ...............................................$ 3,638.00
Feb u try 16, 1944 ............................................... 2.924.41
March 13. 1914 ................................................... 2.947.86
April 22, 1944 .................................................. 1,076.02
May 22, 1944 .................................................. 1.996.37
September 20, 1944 ............................................ 7.000.00
October 25, 1944 ................................................. *098.24
November 30, 1944 ............................................. 1.000.00
Owner’s share paid to contractor....................... 9,000.00

Total ............................................................. $ 33.680.90
1340 Burnaby Street, Vancouver 
Construction—

Payments to contractor:—
‘ August 31. 1944 .................................................. S 2.129.91

August 10. 1944 .................................................. 2.609.09
October 27, 1944 ................................................. 3.813.65
November 30, 1944 ............................................. 5,941.30
January 24, 1945 ........................   6,061.74
January 31, 1915 ................................................. 587.95
April 2, 1945 ........................................................ 3.086.67

Total .............................................................$ 23.330.31
(c) 435 West 14th Avenue, Vancouver 

Construction—
Payments to Contractor

' October 3. 1944 ............................................... $ 628.14
November 1. 1944 ............................................ 978.SO
November 30, 1944 ........................................ 1.587.26
January 11, 1945 ............................................. 765.16
January 31, 1945 ............................................ 1,794.64
March 9, 1945 ................................................. 581.28

Total .............................  $ 6,335.28
905 West 14th Avenue, Vancouver 

See answer to Question 5 (c).
7. (a) 197-199 St. Jean Street, Quebec.

After the first of each month the contractor submitted an estimate of material 
delivered and used together with the payrolls of personnel employed on the 
job in the previous month. The N.H.A. inspectors, Messrs. L. Blouin, L. Pouliot 
and C. H. Soucy carried out daily inspections of the project checking on con­
struction. delivery and use of materials, and the time sheets of men employed 
by the contractor. The inspectors signed the delivery slips for materials used 
for the conversion and counter-signed all the invoices submitted by the contractor 
certifying that the materials had been expended on this project. The contractor’s 
estimate was then checked against invoices and payrolls and if found to be in 
order, it was forwarded together with supporting documents to Treasury Depart­
ment, Ottawa for payment.

Before payment of the last and final payment was made, the entire account 
including all invoices, payrolls, etc. was audited by Treasury Department, in 
Ottawa. When the District Representative, N.H.A. certified that the work was 
satisfactory and the costs fair and just, the Treasury Department made payment 
of the final estimate and holdback sum if the account was correct.
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, The inspectors named above were formerly employed by N.H.A. having 
been obtained through the Civil Service Commission, on a temporary basis. They 
are not employees of Central Mortgage and Housing Corporation.
63 St. Jean Street, Quebec.

Sale procedure as above.
The inspectors assigned to this project included Messrs. J. E. Morency, 

T. Nadeau L: Pouliot and L. Blouin. They were fromerly employed by N.H.A. 
but they are not employees of Central Mortgage and Housing Corporation.

(b) 1281 Burnaby Street, Vancouver
The contractor submitted a monthly estimate with supporting invoices and 

payrolls for work done in the previous month. Mr. A. R. Taylor, the N.H.A 
inspector assigned to this project kept a running check on the men, their hours 
of work, rates of pay and checked his own records against the payrolls submitted 
by the contractor. Mr. Taylor also countersigned all invoices for materials as 
having been expended on the job and submitted a weekly report on the progress 
qf construction.

The contractor’s estimate was then checked against the invoices and pay­
rolls and if found in order, it was forwarded with supporting documents to 
Treasury Department, Ottawa for payment.

Before final payment was made, as in all other cases, an audit was made 
of the entire account by Treasury Department, Ottawa. When the account was 
found to be in order and after the District Representative, N.H.A. certified 
that the work was satisfactorily completed according to plaas and specifications 
and that the prices were fair and just, final payment together with the holdback 
sum was made to the contractor.

Mr. A. R. Taylor, the inspector on this job was formerly an employee of 
N.H.A. and Central Mortgage and Housing Corporation. At present he is not 
an employee of Central Mortgage and Housing Corporation.
1185 Burnaby Street, Vancouver

Same procedure as above.
Mr. J. Valentive, the inspector on this project was formerly employed by 

N.H.A. He is not an employee of Central Mortgage and Housing Corporation. 
1340 Burnaby Street, Vancouver.

Same procedure as above.
The inspector on this job was Mr. G. A. Copley, who was formerly employed 

by N.H.A. He is not an employee of Central Mortgage and Housing Corporation.
(c) 435 West 14th Avenue. Vancouver

Same procedure as in (b) above.
Mr. W. P. Colbert was the inspector assigned to this project. He was 

formerly employed by N.H.A. and then by Central Mortgage and Housing 
Corporation. He is not an employee of Central Mortgage and Housing Corporation 
at the present time.

8. (a) 197-198 St. Jean Street, Quebec
Before the agreement was drawn up, an investigation of the credit and 

reputation of the contractor was made and a legal search of title carried out as 
to title of the property concerned. When the District Representative was satisfied 
with the finding of this investigation, the agreement was then assigned by the 
contractor and the owner and forwarded to Head Office, N.H.A. Ottawa for 
approval. Head Office, N.H.A. then submitted it for signature by the Minister 
of Finance.

The District Representative, N.H.A. together with a local architect inspected 
the property in question to investigate the qualities, possibilities and probable 
costs for successful conversion. If the District Representative, N.H.A. was satisfied 
that the net income of the property as a converted unit warranted the cost of 
conversion, the architect then proceeded to draw up the plans and specifications. 
Tenders were then called for from various contractors. The District Representative, 
N.H.A. was responsible for awarding the contract subject to final approval of the 
Minister of Finance.

The contract was awarded on a cost plus fixed fee basis. N.H.A. representatives 
were daily present on the job to check on progress and costs.

Any change in plans and/or specifications effected by unforeseen defects 
in the building which affected the estimate was referred to the District Repre­
sentative, N.H.A. who, after consultation with the architect, was responsible 
for approval of same, subject to final approval by Head Office, N.H.A.
63 St. Jean Street, Quebec.
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Before the agreement was drawn upL and investigation of the credit and 
reputation of the contractor was made and a legal search of title carried out 
as to title of the property concerned. When the District Representative was 
satisfied with the findings of this investigation, the agreement was then signed 
by the contractor and forwarded to Head Office, N.H.A., Ottawa for approval. 
Head Office, N.H.A. then submitted it for signature by the Minister of Finance.

The District Representative, N.H.A. together with a local architect inspected 
the property in question to investigate the qualities, possibilities and probable 
costs for successful conversion. If the District Representative. N.H.A. was 
satisfied that the net income of the property as a converted unit, warranted the 
cost of conversion, the architect then proceeded to draw up the plans and specifica­
tions. Tenders were then called for from various contractors. The District 
Representative, N.H.A. was responsible for awarding the contract subject 
to final approval of the Minister of Finance.

The contract was awarded on a cost plus fixed fee basis. N.H.A. representatives 
were daily present on the job to check on progress and costs.

Any change in plans and/or specifications effected by unforeseen defects in 
the building which affected the estimate was referred to the District Representative, 
N.H.A. who, after consultation with the architect, was responsible for approval 
of same, subject to final approval by Head Office, N.H.A.

(b) and (c) 1281 Burnaby Street 
1185 Burnaby Street 
1340 Burnaby Street, and 
435 West 14th Avenue, Vancouver
The same investigation as for 63 St. Jean Street, Quebec, as in 8(a) 
above.

APPENDIX “D”

P C. 6359
AT THE GOVERNMENT HOUSE AT OTTAWA

Tuesday, the 2nd day of October, 1945.

Present:
His Excellency

The Governor General in Council
Whereas under the provisions of Order in Council P.C. 6812 dated August 30, 

1943, the Minister of Finance entered into a lease dated 3rd May, 1944, with 
R. D. MacDonald of tlie City of Quebec of certain property situate in that 
City, whereby the Minister on behalf of His Majesty in right of Canada leased 
the said property from the owner for a term of five years subject to a right to 
renew for an additional term of three years, and the Minister entered into a 
contract dated the 22nd of April, 1944, with Henri Deslauriers, Contractor, and 
the said R. D. MacDonald, to have certain alterations made to the buildings 
on the said property, estimated to cost $70,000, in order to provide additional 
housing accommodation in the City of Quebec ;

And whereas the Minister of Finance reports that by mutual mistake the 
terms of the said lease and contract varied from the original informal agree­
ment of the Parties, set out in a letter dated March 27, 1944, from E. Raymond, 
Regional Director of Housing, to R. D. MacDonald, with respect to the responsi­
bility for any additional costs of conversion over the estimate; whereas the 
original informal agreement between the Parties provided that the owner should 
be responsible for a portion of the cost of conversion in an amount not exceeding 
'$34,000, the Crown being responsible for the balance, the terms of the formal 
contract provided that the Crown should be responsible only for an amount of
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$36,000 of the costs of conversion and that the owner should be responsible 
for the balance of the cost of the work over and above the amount payable by 
the Crown ;

That due to certain hidden defects in one of the buildings being converted 
the costs of conversion exceeded the estimate of $70,000 by approximately 
$24.000; and

That the owner is agreeable, in consideration of the Crown correcting the 
mistake in the formal contract to accord with the intent of the Parties, to 
extend the term of the lease for an additional two years so as to enable the 
Crown to amortize one-half the additional costs of conversion over a total 
period of ten years.

Therefore, His Excellency the Governor General in Council, on the recom­
mendation of the Minister of Finance and under and by virtue of the War 
Measures Act and pursuant to Order in Council P.C. 6812 dated August 30, 1943, 
is pleased to approve and doth hereby approve the revision of the said lease 
and contract to provide that the term of the lease be extended to a total term 
of ten years and that the Crown pay all costs of conversion over and above 
an amount of $34,000 which shall be paid by the owner.

(Sgd.) A. D. P. HEENEY,
Clerk of the Privy Council.

APPENDIX “E”

P.C. 4450
Certified to be a true copy of a Minute of a Meeting of the Committee of the 

Privy Council, approved by his Excellency the Governor General on the 
22nd June, 1945.
The Committee of the Privy Council have had before them a report, dated 

20th June, 1945, from the Minister of Finance, representing:—
1. That by Orders in Council P.C. 4579 of June 4, 1943; P.C. 8305 of

October 26, 1943; P.C. 6814 of August 29, 1944; and P. C. 7742 of 
October 6, 1944, the Minister of Finance was authorized to lease 
suitable buildings in Vancouver, Victoria, Nanaimo, and contiguous 

• municipalities, and to convert the same into housing units to be sublet 
to suitable tenants for the relief of the housing shortage in the said 
Cities;

2. That pursuant to the said Orders in Council the Minister of Finance, by
indenture dated the 29th day of November, 1943, agreed to lease from 
John Shirley Muleahy (hereinafter called the Owner) of the City of 
X ancouver, the premises known as Lot 11, Block 436, subdivision of 
District Lot 526, Group 1, New Westminster District, according to 
the registered map or plan thereof deposited in the Land Registry 
Office at the City of Vancouver, Province of British Columbia, and 
numbered 1276, for a term of five years from December 1, 1943, but 
no rental has been paid to the owner for the said property;

3. That by Agreement dated November 30, 1943, James George
Moffatt (hereinafter called the Contractor) agreed with the Minister 
of Finance to provide all the materials and perform all the work to 
alter the said premises for the cost of the work together with a fee 
of $700;
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4. That the said Agreement with the Contractor was by mutual agreement
cancelled and replaced by an Agreement dated July 15, 1944, under 
which the Contractor agreed to provide the materials and perform 
the said work for the sum of $12,000 of which amount $3,000 was 
payable by the owner;

5. That during the course of the alterations, and after the Contractor had
furnished part of the material and performed part of the work, the 
officials of the Housing Administration were of the opinion that the 
Owner had violated the terms of the said lease and that the Contractor 
had violated the terms of the said contract, and notices were given 
by the said officials to the said Owner and Contractor cancelling the 
said lease and contract;

6. That both the Contractor and the Owner disputed the validity of the
said notices and claimed damages from His Majesty the King in right 
of Canada for wrongful repudiation of the contract and lease;

7. That after negotiation the Owner and Contractor have agreed to release
all claims against His Majesty the King in respect of the said lease 
and contract upon payment to the Contractor of the sum of $4,000; 
and

8. That in the opinion of the Minister it is advisable and in the best
interest of the Crown that the said claims should be settled.

The Committee, therefore, on the recommendation of the Minister of 
Finance, advise that under and by virtue of the War Measures Act, the 
Minister of Finance be authorized to pay from moneys appropriated for the 
purposes of carrying out the provisions of P.C. 7742 of October 6, 1944, the 
sum of $4,000 in full settlement of all claims which John Shirley Mulcahy 
and James George Moffatt have against His Majesty the King in right of 
Canada under lease dated November 29, 1943, between the said John Shirley 
Mulcahy and the Minister of Finance and under contracts dated November 30, 
1943, and July 15, 1944, between James George Moffatt and the Minister of 
Finance.

(Sgd.) A. D. P. HEENEY,
Clerk of the Privy Council.

APPENDIX “F”

July 3, 1947.
The Secretary,
Public Accounts Committee.

Dear Sir.—At the meeting in the afternoon of July 2nd, it was suggested 
that 1 file with you a memorandum outlining the various changes which I 
consider might usefully be made to the Consolidated Revenue and Audit Act, 
1931. This is the memorandum.

1. The name of the Act be changed to “Public Finance Act’’, and repeal 
the Board of Audit Act, c. 10, R.S.; Contingencies Act. c. 31. R.S.; Department 
of Finance and Treasury Board Act, c. 71, R.S., and c. 48, Statutes 1931; Public 
Lands Grants Act, c. 114, R.S. ; Ordnance and Admiralty Lands Act, c. 115, R.S. ; 
Consolidated Revenue and Audit Act, c. 27, Statutes 1931; Department of 
Transport Stores Act, c. 16, Statutes 1937, and Government Companies
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Operation Act, c. 24, Statutes 1946, and also various financial sections in other 
statutes. In short, my thought is that all pertinent directions be brought 
together in a single statute. It is for such reasons that I think “Public Finance 
Act” would be a more appropriate title

2. Change the title “Comptroller of the Treasury” to “Comptroller of 
Accounts”, because many people confuse the work of the Comptroller with the 
activities of the Treasury Board. The Board is composed of Ministers, and 
should not be confused with the activities of an administrative office.

3. In a great many statutes an order of the Governor in Council is required 
to signify a decision. The mass of such routine is now of proportions that it 
must make serious inroads on the time of the Cabinet. My thought is that the 
Governor in Council be vested with a power to delegate to the Treasury Board 
the exercise of such of its functions as it might from time to time decide.

4. It would be desirable were revenue accounts to remain open for ten 
days after March 31st, in order that current receipts in transit be related to the 
proper year.

5. A great many services are rendered for the benefit of individuals. In 
many cases there is no clear authority to make charges. I wrnuld empower the 
Governor in Council to fix scales of charges and, on publication in the Canada 
Gazette, it be obligatory to collect.

6. Section 33 of the Consolidated Revenue and Audit Act permits the 
Governor in Council “whenever he deems it right and conducive to the public 
good” to remit any “duty or toll”. I would broaden that to cover any tax, 
impost, duty or toll. I would also provide in the same section a means to 
compromise or write-off bad debts, etc.

7. At the present time there is no clear authority to permit the Minister 
of Finance to invest, temporarily, idle cash balances in his bank accounts. I 
would give him such a power, but prohibit him from buying Government 
securities listed at substantial premiums, as such purchases bring speculation 
into a transaction.

8. At present no officer has any general responsibility with respect to revenues. 
My thought is that the Comptroller of Accounts should be required to keep 
constantly under review assessing, collecting and accounting practices of each 
department. His reports would be to the Minister of Finance.

9. It is my opinion that it is an undesirable practice to amend legislation 
by means of an item in an Appropriation Act, therefore I would insert a section 
prohibiting the submission of Estimates including such an item.

10. I have already outlined my thoughts with respect to Estimate’s 
explanations.

11. In a previous memorandum it has been suggested that a practice of 
credits-in-aid appropriations be introduced for those services which have 
material “service” revenues—as distinct from taxes.

12. Instead of cheques being drawn on the Receiver General of Canada, it 
would be better to draw on the Bank of Canada and thus permit cashing banks 
to clear at all bank clearing centres.

13. There should be legislation to govern the cases where securities should 
be given by contractors and the use which may be made of such deposits.

14. Likewise, the situation should be clarified with respect to powers of 
attorney tendered to the Government.

15. Parliament must consent before the Government may borrow. In my 
opinion, there are too many borrowing authorities tacked on to statutes. In 
addition, there are general borrowing statutes—mainly to refinance, but permit­
ting new borrowings. A maturity might properly be refinanced without fresh
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legislation, so long as the principal amount is not increased. This would 
eliminate refinancing of debts statutes.

16. The method of handling loan issues—door-to-door sales and pay-roll 
deductions—presents the risk that, by theft or bankruptcy, a small purchaser 
may be defrauded without recourse on the Government. Provision should be 
made that, in either of the foregoing contingencies, the collector be regarded as 
an agent of the Crown.

17. The present statute was enacted when the Debt was serviced by the 
Department of Finance. As a result of the Bank of Canada Act, the activity is 
now performed by the Bank. For that reason, Debt Servicing regulations, which 
are of concern to the public, should be statutory.

18. In my opinion, the stores of all major departments should be regulated 
in such a manner that they are tied-in with the Balance Sheet of Canada. 
Likewise, I am of opinion that commençai real property should be periodically 
valued and controlled by the Balance Sheet. Property which is unsaleable 
might be ignored—forexainple, the Parliament Buildings, the canals, etc.

19. The functions of the Deputy Minister of Finance have outgrown the 
keeping of accounts. That task might be performed by the Comptroller of 
Accounts.

20. A single accounting office should be operated for Senate, House of 
Commons and Library accounts and the Comptroller of Accounts required to 
post monthly in that office a statement of transactions for the information of 
Senators and Members.

21. It should be a statutory duty on the Auditor General to examine all 
accounts receivable, etc. (at present his duty is to examine actual collections).
I would also make it necessary that he examine stores and property accounts 
to a much greater degree than is now required; also, require him to report on 
systems, or practices followed by departments in administering revenue 
collections, stores, etc.

22. The present retiring age of the Auditor General is 70. I would reduce 
it to at least 65, and believe it should be 60, because no man should occupy the 
position too long.

23. The present officers’ guarantee fund is based on an Appropriation Act 
item. A comprehensive plan in a statute would be preferable.

24. It would remove criticism were a Minister authorized to recognize writs 
for attachment of civil servants’ salaries, when issued after judgment, up to a 
percentage of salary.

25. All corporation budgets should be annually submitted to the appropriate 
Minister for approval in those cases where parliamentary approval is not 
required by legislation or usage. Further, limits as to what the budget might 
provide might be set out. Purpose : to avoid deficit planning.

26. I would adopt a recent American statute and require the accounts of 
all corporations owned or controlled by the Crown to be audited by the Auditor 
General, and require him to report on any ultra vires transactions—the expense 
of aduit to be shared.

27. Title to Crown property, administered by a corporation, be vested in 
that body, leaving to the Courts the question of liability for taxes.

28. Make the calender year the fiscal year for Crown corporate bodies.
Yours faithfully,

WATSON SELLAR,
Auditor General.
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MINUTES OF PROCEEDINGS

Friday, July 4, 1947.
The Standing Committee on Public Accounts met at 11 o’clock a.m., the 

Chairman, Mr. L. P. Picard, presiding.
Members present: Messrs. Beaudry, Boucher, Bradette, Burton, Coté 

(Verdun), Cloutier, Denis, Fleming, Fraser, Gladstone, Golding, Hamel, Homuth, 
Jeanicke, Maedonnell, Murphy, Picard, Probe, Rinfret, Stuart (Charlotte), 
Warren, Winkler.

In attendance: Mr. Gordon Murchison, Director, Soldier Settlement and 
Veterans’ Land Act; Mr. William T. Cleave.

It was agreed that a meeting of the steering committee be held on the 
afternoon of Tuesday, July 8, to consider an interim report dealing with the 
affairs of the Ottawa office of the Custodian of Enemy Property and with his 
administration of the property of organizations declared to be illegal.

The Committee proceeded to an investigation into the operations of The 
Veterans’ Land Act in the Township of Sarnia, in the County of Lambton, 
Ontario.

Mr. Murahieor. was called and questioned.
Mr. Fleming filed a copy of Sessional Paper No. 1351, dated Wednesday, 

April 16, 1947, which, on motion of Mr. Fleming, was ordered to be printed 
as Appendix “A” to this day’s minutes of proceedings and evidence.

Mr. Fleming filed a copy of Sessional Paper No. 135L, dated Thursday, 
May 22, 1947, the last page of which, Average Cost for each Basic Floor Plan in 
each Province, on motion of Mr. Fleming, was ordered to be printed as 
Appendix “B” to this day’s minutes of proceedings and evidence.

Mr. Murchison undertook to furnish the Committee with copies of contracts 
and other information relating to the construction of houses by his department 
at Sarnia.

Mr. Murchison retired.
At 1 o’clock p.m. the Committee adjourned until 4 o'clock this day.

AFTERNOON SITTING
The Committee resumed at 4 o’clock p.m., the Chairman, Mr. L. P. Picard, 

presiding.
Members present: Messrs. Beaudry, Burton, Case, Coté (Verdun), Cloutier, 

Dechene, Denis, Fleming, Gladstone, Golding, Grant, Homuth, Jaenieke, 
Murphy, Picard, Probe, Rinfret, Stuart (Charlotte), Warren, Winkler.

In attendance: Mr. William T. Cleave.
The Committee continued its investigation into the operations of The 

Veterans’ Land Act in the Township of Sarnia.
Mr. Cleave was called, sworn and questioned.
Mr. Cleave retired.
At 6.10 o’clock p.m. the Committee adjourned until Wednesday, July 9, 

at 11 o’clock a.m.
A. L. BURGESS,

Clerk of the Committee.
92665—u
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MINUTES OF EVIDENCE

House of Commons,
July 4, 1947.

The Standing Committee on Public Accounts met this day at 11.00 a.m. 
The Chairman, Mr. L. Philippe Picard, presided.

The Chairman: Gentlemen, before we start this morning I think it might 
be well if we would set up an agenda on this particular item because it has 
come quite late in our work. According to the wishes expressed by most of the 
leaders in the House we want to get through the work of parliament as soon as 
possible and I wonder if we could have an idea from Mr. Fleming as to how 
many meetings he thinks his particular angle of this question might consume? 
We would then have an idea how we should set up our agenda for next week 
because the time is pressing.

Mr. Fleming: Mr. Chairman, it is a little difficult to say, but the best 
estimate I could give in advance of hearing any of the evidence would be 
perhaps about three meetings of the committee.

The Chairman : I see, now is that assuming that you will take all three 
meetings for yourself?

Mr. Fleming: No, no, no.
The Chairman : I am not asking that as a joke but I am asking you 

frankly. You actually might want to take the three meetings for yourself.
Mr. Fleming: No, I hope I would not do that, Mr. Chairman. If we can 

do better than three meetings I am sure we will all want to do so. If we were 
to sit more than once a day it would not mean sitting three days, and I am 
only talking about three meetings. That is my present impression but it is a 
little difficult to say in advance.

The Chairman : Well, I had a talk last night with some of the members of 
the committee and I understand it would be agreeable to many of them to sit 
twice to-day. Also, I have had the feeling expressed by many of the members 
that they would not want to sit on Monday, and on Tuesday we have the 
External Affairs Committee where most people will want to be. Then, we 
have the reports to be brought in about the work we have done previously. I 
think, therefore, Tuesday afternoon might be devoted to a meeting of the 
steering committee and I would then submit reports on the angles of our work 
not covered already by reports. One is the illegal organizations question, 
another is the custodian’s office in Ottawa, and then we have Mr. Sellar’s 
evidence and recommendations. I think we might on Tuesday afternoon and 
perhaps Tuesday night have two meetings of the steering committee on those 
features. Then we might sit twice on Wednesday and twice on Thursday to get 
rid of this particular work.

Mr. Golding: Why could you not sit a couple of times to-morrow?
The Chairman : Most of the members have expressed the idea that they 

cannot be here but if that is desired now we could take a vote.
Mr. Fleming: I would think Mr. Chairman we will have to sit either 

to-morrow or on Monday because there may be quite a bit of pressure in the 
House once you get past the middle of the week and if there were any dis­
cussions on any of these reports, I am not anticipating that there should be, but
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I think the reports should be in the hands of the House in time to permit such 
discussion.

The Chairman: You mean the reports of our committee?
Mr. Burton : Mr. Chairman, if I may be allowed to say a word in con­

nection with that I would make the suggestion that we proceed with this meeting 
to-day and see the course it is going to take and how important it may become. 
For my part I am not going to agree that we need four or five meetings until 
we see what develops. Furthermore, under the circumstances, I do not see 
that the members should be asked to sit twice in this committee to-morrow after 
the work we have had in the House and the work we have had during the past 
week on other committees that we have had to attend. My suggestion is that 
we proceed with the work and make our plans later.

The Chairman: That is agreeable to me. The only point in bringing this 
up at the start of the meeting is that during the meeting many of the members 
go away and when we reach the end of the meeting we do not even have a 
quorum to decide what we will do next. Very often these members do not 
have a chance to say whether they want to sit on such and such a day or not.

Mr. Macdonnell: Does that make the next meeting illegal if there is no 
quorum to fix the date?

The Chairman: I would not say that. Then, gentlemen, let us say that 
we will agree to Mr. Burton’s suggestion of going ahead with this morning's 
work and at the end of the meeting we will decide what to do next. We will 
call first Mr. Cleave.

Mr. Fleming: I believe there are two witnesses here, Mr. Murchison, and 
Mr. Cleave. Perhaps we might have Mr. Murchison first on some of the back­
ground of this enterprise.

Mr. Golding: I think you are reversing it.
Mr. Fleming: No, Mr. Chairman, Mr. Murchison is the logical person to 

call first because he has the background information. Mr. Cleve has the 
immediate information about the properties as he was dealing with them but I 
would not think he has personal knowledge of the background and I think it 
would be more logical to have the background first. I therefore suggest we call 
Mr. Murchison first.

The Chairman : Mr. Murchison is here.

Gordon B. Murchison, Director of The Soldiers’ Settlement Board and 
Veterans’ Land Act, called :

Mr. Fleming: Shall I start Mr. Chairman?
The Chairman: Yes, go ahead.

By Mr. Fleming:
Q. Mr. Murchison, what is your official office with the Veterans’ Land Act 

administration?—A. I am the director.
Q. And you have held that office how long?—A. Since November 1942.
Q. As a matter of fact you have held it ever since the Act was passed and 

the administration was set up?—A. Yes.
Q. And you have personal knowledge of the operations of the Veterans’ 

I,ami Act administration in Sarnia township, the county of Lambton, Ontario?— 
A. I have a good general knowledge.

Q. How many houses were built there by the Veterans’ Land Act.’ — 
A. Twenty-five in that township.

Q. In Sarnia township? Now how many of those had been built up until 
April last?—A. All of them.
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Q. All of them? Are you quite sure about that? We are speaking simply 
of Sarnia township?—A. Sarnia township, Lambton county.

Q. Yes.—A. Perhaps I should say we have approved of loans for that 
number of houses in that township. I should not have said those houses are 
completed but we have approved the loans on those houses.

Q. Are you familiar with sessional paper 1351 dated April 16, 1947? I will 
read to you question 1(a) and the answer. These are questions by Mr. Murphy.

What is the total cost of each home under the Veterans’ Land Act 
in (a) Sarnia township, Lambton county...

and the answer shows “eight houses constructed”.—A. That must refer only 
to the project of eight houses in a group that was built near the city of Sarnia.

Q. Let us concern ourselves with that group of eight houses built in Sarnia 
township. I just interject that those other ones you speak of must be some­
where else than Sarnia township. I do not think they are in the township or 
else this return was not complete in April last.

Take this group of houses, what was the size of those houses?—A. They 
were 4, 5, and 6 roomed houses I believe.

Q. Well have you got the actual information there?—A. No I have not.
Q. Well that is not very much help to us then. Do you happen to have an 

indication on your records regarding the plans on which they were con­
structed?—A. I have the identification of a house plan by a code number but 
nothing further than that.

Q. Would that indicate to you what plan was used in the construction of 
those houses?—A. Yes.

Q. Perhaps I could help you? Is it not a fact that there were four plans and 
there were two houses built according to each plan?—A. That is right.

Q. Now you say there are four plans of 4, 5, and 6 roomed houses?—A. Yes, 
that is my recollection, or 5 and 6 roomed houses.

Q. Well I am told there are 4 and 6 roomed houses but no 5 roomed houses?— 
A. I would not argue with that,

Q. Well now you know what plans they were, can you give an indication 
to the committee as to the size of the houses?—A. Can I give the over-all 
dimensions?

Q. Yes.—A. No, I would not care to say precisely what the over-all 
dimensions were.

Q. Well you know what the plans werç, are you familiar with the size of 
the houses according to those plans?—A. Not the precise dimensions of them.

Q. What you are saying is you have not got the plans?—A. That is correct.
Q. I think we will have to ask you to produce those plans unless we can 

shorten things up to this extent, they are 4 and 6 roomed houses. Do you know 
how many floors there are?—A. Storey and a half and bungalows.

Q. But without further records you cannot give us the dimensions of the 
houses?—A. No.

Q. I will have to ask you to get that for us. Now have you the dates on 
which construction was commenced and completed?—A. I have the date of the 
contract under which the houses were constructed.

Q. They were all built under one contract?—A. That is right.
Q. Can you give us the date?—A. The date of the contract was July 21, 

1945.
Q. July 21, 1945 and the name of the contractor was —?—A. Ryan Home 

Builders, of Detroit street, Windsor.
Q. I to ink we better have the contract or a copy of it filed, Mr. Chairman. 

We will probably have to come back to that later.
The Chairman : Will you have a copy prepared, Mr. Murchison? This one 

belongs to the file so we will not ask Mr. .Murchison to take that out.
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By Mr. Fleming:
Q. Do you have a copy that you could take out of your file?—A. No, this 

is the original but I could let you have a copy later.
Q. Very well. Is that the only contract with respect to these eight houses, 

or were there other contracts entered into with the same contractor or anyone 
else in relation to those eight houses?—A. Not for the original construction. 
Any additional contracts developed here would be by way of sub-contracts 
under the prime contract.

Q. Is the Veterans’ Land Act interested in the sub-contracts?—A. Only to 
the extent that they approve them as submitted by the prime contract.

Q. Will you submit to the committee copies of these sub-contracts? Do you 
happen to know how many there were?—A. No.

Q. We can take it these supplementary contracts all were with the Ryan 
Home Builders Ltd., Windsor?—A. The prime contracts were with Ryan Home 
Builders Ltd. but the sub-contracts were arranged by Ryan and approved by 
our representative.

Q. Have you got a copy of those sub-contracts?—A. I believe so.
Q. I understand, apart from the sub-contracts, there were two supple­

mentary contracts entered into with Ryan Home Builders by the Veterans’ 
Land Act?—A. For what purpose?

Q. In relation to those houses.—A. Yes, that appears to be right, sir.
Q. What are the dates of the supplementary contracts?—A. One is the 

21st of July, 1945, and one is the 14th of September, 1945.
Q. Are there any others?—A. Those are all I see on my file.
Q. Will you search your file, Mr. Murchison, and submit any supple­

mentary contracts with the builder as well as the sub-contracts please?
You gave us the date of the contract as July 21, 1945. Have you the date 

the construction, and I am principally concerned about the date of completion, 
the period of the contracts covered?—A. I cannot give you that precise date, 
sir, because the houses were allocated, according to my information in some 
cases, before the contract was completed. For all practical purposes I believe 
the houses were constructed by some time in December, 1946.

Q. December, 1946, that was about a year and a half after the contract 
was let. Were the houses all completed then by December, 1946, all eight of 
them?—A. I believe so.

Q. And were they allotted then to veterans?—A. Yes.
Q. And when did the veteran enter into occupation?—A. I have not got 

the exact date of that but it would be about that time.
Q. Now what was the nature of the contract with Ryan Home Builders 

Ltd.? Was it on a cost plus fixed fee basis?—A. Cost plus management fee, 
or fixed fee basis.

Q. That will appear------ A. That will appear in the contract.
Q. Is that the basis upon which houses were being constructed under the 

Veterans’ Land Act at that time?—A. That is right, not all cases, but in the 
majority of cases.

Q. Well from the time P.C. 1728 was passed on April 2. 1946. it became the 
standard basis of contract did it not for the Veterans’ Land Act?—A. P.C. 1728 
is it, which you mention?

Q. Yes.—A. I do not think that has any reference to the type of contract 
that was entered into.

Q. It has reference to it.—A. It has reference to the adjustment of con­
struction costs incurred under cost plus contracts after the date of that order.

Q. That is the basis you were dealing, under the Veterans’ Land Act, 
at that time, cost plus fixed fee?—A. Yes.

Q. Now in these particular cases without reading over the contract -in full, 
can you indicate what that fixed fee amounts to in terms of these eight
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houses?—A. The fixed fee, I believe, was $225 per unit which was the payment 
for supervision and management of the contract.

Q. When was the land purchased?—A. 1945.
Q. 1945, and on whose recommendation?—A. On the recommendation of 

the advisory committee at London, Ontario.
Q. And did the construction of the eight houses completely cover the 

parcel of land that was purchased?—A. By no means.
Q. What was the basis upon which the land was appraised when bought?— 

A. When we purchased the land?
Q. Yes.—A. There were two adjoinipg parcels of land, one consisted of 

34-71 acres. That was purchased from a Mr. McNally at $295 an acre. 
31-4 acres were purchased from a Mr. Durance at $285 per acre.

Q. What price has been assigned by V.L.A. to the eight parcels on which the 
eight houses are erected?—A. $178.

Q. $178?
By Mr. Gladstone:

Q. Who are the advisory committee at London?—A. I am sorry I cannot 
give you their names offhand, with one exception; Mr. England, the investment 
manager of the London Life is the member of our advisory committee.

By Mr. Jaenicke:
Q. Was that $178 per acre? How much is there in a housing unit?—A. 

Half an acre.
By Mr. Fleming:

Q. In other words, you priced each of those eight parcels at $178?—A. Yes.
Q. Can you give me the total cost of the land that was purchased, totalling 

about 66 acres? If you have got it------ A. I have it right here. $19,310.45.
Q. Can you give the committee the cost of the eight houses to V.L.A.?
Mr. Probe: Are you referring to the contract now?
Mr. Fleming: I want the total figure. You can give us the total figure 

and the breakdown afterwards.
The Witness: $62,235.10.

By Mr. Fleming:
Q. $62,235.10 for the eight houses?—A. Yes.
Q. Does that include land?—A. No.
Q. Is that just house construction?—A. Yes.
Q. House construction only. Have you got the breakdown of that as 

between the eight houses according to the four plans?—A. No, I am sorry, I 
have not got that with me, sir.

Q. Perhaps I can help you. It appears on this return, sessional paper 1351, 
dated April 16. 1947. Perhaps you can cheek this if it is correct: two at $7,759.36 
each; two at $7,928.57 each; two at $7,081.95 each and two at $8,200.54 each. 
That is the cost of the house only. I think those figures work out.

Mr. Fraser: It is $9,000 on the return I have.
Mr. Fleming: There is a question in the return as to whether the figure 

is $7,081.95 or $9,081.95. You might check that when you arc covering these 
figures, if you like.

By Mr. Fleming:
Q. 5: ou gave us a total of $62,235.10 for the houses, and that is for the house 

construction only; it does not include land?—A. That is right.
Q. Does it include anything for overhead?—A. Yes, that would include all 

the approved items of construction, and overhead was allowed of course in the 
cost plus contract.
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Q. Does it include specifically any project overhead?
Mr. Boucher: Do you mean overhead to the contractor or to the Veterans’ 

Land Act?
The Witness: Overhead to the contractor.

By Mr. Fleming:
Q. It includes overhead to the contractor, and it is included in the cost 

the Veterans’ Land Act?—A. That is right.
Q. What about other items? Apart from the figure you have given as to 

the cost of the houses, does that include anything for the construction of roads? 
A. No.

Q. Sidewalks?—A. No.?
Q. Water connection—water mains and connections?—A. In addition to 

these house costs, according to the figures before me, there would be additions as 
follows: land $187 . . .

Q. What is that? You gave us a figure of $178.—A. That is a transposition; 
that should not be there—roads $281, water $163.93, grading $285. House service 
charges have also been assessed against these lots in the amount of $367.60. This 
figure is made up of connecting water to the house, $142.85, driveway $79.75 
and landscaping $145. I might say, though, that some of these figures here, 
whilst they are taken into account as cost, have not yet been disbursed.

By Mr. Warren:
Q. Might I interject a question here? Just about what amount of cash 

would the veteran have to pay out of his own pocket or what percentage would 
lie be receiving from the government ?

The Chairman: That is a pertinent question.
Mr. Warren: I think so.
The Witness: The costs of these eight houses, the land on which they are 

situated, and the services which were charged to these eight houses are dealt 
with by the Deputy Minister of Veterans Affairs and myself under the 
provisions of order in council 1278 and the sale prices of these homes were 
established including the land, as follows: selling prices were, $6.047. $5.493, 
$6,359, $5,493, $6,056, $6,324, $6,324. There was one other at $6,504 of the 
same model as I have just mentioned for $6,359—an additional item of $145 in 
that particular house. These sale prices called for a down payment of $600 
each, and the monthly payment terms were as follows: $27.11, $24.34, $28.66, 
$24.34, $29.39, $27.15, $28.48, $28.48 per month respectively for twenty-five 
years.

Mr. Warren: A very modest rent.
Mr. Homuth: The houses are worn out.
Mr. Warren: Oh, no.

By Mr. Fleming:
Q. I take it that to each of these figures you have given now must be 

added the sum of $l,4tK), which is the conditional grant, to give you the total 
figure?—A. When I gave you the selling price of $7,447 inclusive in making 
that sale the conditional grant of $1,400 is allowed for, and the terms payable 
by the veteran are based on the cost to the director less that amount of subsidy.

Q- In other words, the sale price that has been established would be— 
check these figures if you wish—two at $7,723.96, two at $7,891 96, two at 
$7,455.96 and two at $7,758.96. * In the sale to the veteran the conditional 
grant of $1,400 would be deducted in each case to arrive at the figures you 
gave Mr. Warren now?—A. Yes.
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Q. Coming back to the point prior to that question, these figures you are 
giving on the cost of land, roads, water, grading, service charges, landscaping 
and so on—are those costs per house or for the group?—A. Per house.

Q. And have you figured what this aggregated per house?—A. 1916.93 per 
house.

Q. Let us check this again, because I understand there is some difference 
of opinion as to the total. Land. $180?—A. $187.

Q. You gave us a figure of $178 before; which is the correct figure?— 
A. I am sorry. I cannot tell you whether it is $178 or $187. Pardon me, there 
is an explanation here. There is only one lot on lot 9 north. The land devel­
opment costs amounted to $907.93. which included an item of $178 for land, 
while on the remaining seven lots the charges are $916.93, consisting in part of 
a land cost of $187. There is a difference of $10 between one lot and the other 
seven.

Q. I want to check those figures.
By Mr. Boucher:

Q. You say $916.93 for services includes the price of the land?—A. Yes.
By Mr. Fleming:

Q. Will you check those figures: land $187, roads $281, water $163.93, 
grading $295------ A. $285

Q. Sen-ice charges $367.60?—A. Yes.
Q. Driveway $79.75?—A. Connecting water to the house $142.85, driveway 

$79.75, landscaping $145, making a total of $367.60.
By Mr. Warren:

Q. Is not that taken care of in the rent that is paid over twenty-five years 
—those extras—by the veteran?—A. It is written into the over-all cost of the 
unit and benefited by the conditional grant of $1,400.

By Mr. Fleming:
Q. I cannot agree with your total ; I think you are about $360 out, are 

you not? Land $187, roads $281, water $163, grading $285, and these various 
service charges $367.60. It comes to something like $1,300. Have you got that 
total? I am told, Mr. Murchison, it comes to $1.283—not $916.—A. That is 
right; it would in total. The land, roads, water and grading total $916.93. 
The other item of $367.60 would be taken into account in the cost of the house.

Q. The total figure for these items that enter into the cost of construction 
is $1.283?—A. That is right.

Q. You said, in effect, that the figure of $1,283 plus the figure previously 
given totalled in the case of the eight houses $62,235; by the way, let’s just 
reckon that up, that $1,283 in the case of the eight houses would give you 
$10,264 approximately, wouldn’t it?—A. Might I check on that?

The Chairman : Just on that point, Mr. Murchison ; is the $1.283 additional 
to the $963 cost; of course, that is included in the cost of $62.235?

Mr. Fleming: I am trying to get the accurate figure on the cost of con­
struction and I do not think that figure is in there twice.

The Chairman : That is what he just said.
Mr. Fleming: He should make that clear, then.
Mr. Jaenicke: Might I interject here, Mr. Chairman; Mr. Fleming said 

he was going to get the background from Mr. Murchison and then go into 
details. Maybe the other official who is here has more expert knowledge.

Air. Fleming: The other gentleman is not an official, he is one of the 
veterans.

Mr. Jaenicke: Oh, I see.
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The Witness : I suggest, Mr. Chairman, that it might be better for the 
purposes of the record and to clarify some of the questions asked by Mr. 
Fleming if I were to be given an opportunity to give you a certified breakdown 
statement of the total cost of these houses. It would appear from the questions 
so far that the situation is none too clear.

The Chairman: Could we ask Mr. Fleming to put a direct question as to 
exactly what he wants so you will be able to prepare a memorandum? You will 
then be in a position to bring in a report giving him everything he wants.

By Mr. Fleming:
Q. Mr. Murchison, I want you if you will to prepare a detailed statement 

of all these items of cost. I want to arrive at the figure in the aggregate and 
at the figure per house which I think will follow quite simply from the state­
ment you have just given ; and as to the first item $367.60, there is some sug­
gestion that that has already been included in the cost and should not be 
included in here. I want to point out to you this sessional paper No. 1351, 
question 6, which reads: “What was the cost per unit of project overhead and 
how was the same made up?” Then one figure we have here is $1,736.22 which 
you can see is vastly different from the figure $916.93.—A. I do not think they 
refer to the same thing at all.

Q. I think you have added them together.—A. I do not think they refer 
to the same thing, project overhead.

The Chairman: Is that project overhead?
The Witness: The contractor’s overhead charges into it.
The Chairman: Yes.

By Mr. Fleming:
Q. I want to clear that up, it is obviously not any too clear; in other 

words, what you are saying is this; the items which you have given total $1,283, 
and they are no part of project overhead but they are items which enter into 
the cost of the houses and the land?—A. Yes.

Q. And the figure, $1,736.22 indicates project overhead per house?— 
A. That is what they are. That is what I mean.

By the Chairman:
Q. Would that be included in the cost of the houses you mention?— 

A. Yes.
Q. It is included in the cost, it is not above the cost?—A. No.
Mr. Fleming: You say that in each case it is included in the cost running 

from $7,759.36 per house up?
The Chairman: That is right.
Mr. Fleming: You forget that, I take it. I want to assist Mr. Murchison 

in clearing that up for us, and I want you to check up very closely to see 
whether or not your last answer is correct because apparently by this sessional 
paper No. 1351 I think you will see that in reply to question No. 1: costs are 
given as:

1. (a) 2 at $7,759.36 each 
2 at 7,928.57 “
2 at 7,081.95 “
2 at 8,200.54 “

Cost of house construction only

So perhaps you had better not put on the record that $1,376.26 per house as 
including that until you have checked on it, Mr. Murchison.

The Witness: Thanks very much.
Mr. Jaenicke: May we be clear as to what you mean by overhead? I do 

not appear to understand it.
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Mr. Fleming: Perhaps I can help my hon. friend by referring to the 
sessional paper which describes overhead in the following terms—

Mr. Jaenicke: Why don’t you just let us have a statement of claim so that 
we will know what the charges are?

Mr. Fleming: I would be very happy to file this return to the House and a 
couple of others. I thought the best way to proceed would be by question and 
answer. You see, this question was asked in the sessional paper, I refer to 
question No. 6, which reads:

6. Q. What was the cost per unit of project overhead and how was 
the same made up?

A. Average per unit at Sarnia $1,736.22. Project overhead includes 
the following items: temporary buildings, salaries of staff located on 
the project including superintendents,—

Mr. Jaenicke: That is the V.L.A. overhead?
The Witness: No.
The Chairman: No, that is the contractors.
Mr. Jaenicke: I thought the contractor was $225 overhead per unit.
The Witness: That is the supervision fee.
Mr. Fleming: That is the fee after cost.
Mr. Jaenicke: Then there is nothing to be paid there, is there?
Mr. Fleming: That is included in the cost'.
Mr. Jaenicke: It is obviously included in the cost to the government.
Mr. Fleming: Mr. Chairman, had I better continue reading how project 

overhead is made up. I got down as far as “superintendents”; it continues:
—accountants, bookkeepers, stenographers, timekeepers, material checkers, 
first aid attendant, watchman, and water boys. Miscellaneous expenses 
incurred at job office in direct relation to the project include travelling 
expenses, telegrams, and telephone calls.

I do not think they overlooked anything there.
The Chairman: No, practically everything they can think of is in that. 

I would like to clear up one point, if possible, relating to the cost which was 
given to us per unit of $7,000-odd; did that include the contractor’s overhead?

The Witness: Yes.
The Chairman: It does?
The Witness: That is what we want to make clear.
Mr. Fleming: That is just what we want to get at, Mr. Chairman; because 

this return, sessional paper No. 1351, gives a very different impression.
The Chairman: Does it say in the return that the overhead is included 

in the cost of the house? What I want to get clear is, just what overhead, 
what kind of overhead is charged into these houses.

Mr. Fleming: Answer No. 1 says, “cost of house construction only”; and 
for purposes of emphasis the words “house” and “only” are underscored." I take 
it from that that it includes only the cost of the dwelling and not the land and 
services.

The Chairman: That is what I want the witness to make clear to us. What 
portion of overhead is charged into each house?

Mr. Fleming: The witness had better check up on that, Mr. Chairman. 
I simply pointed out for his assistance that when he comes to look into this 
that the figures given in the sessional paper appear to be quite different from 
those he has been giving to us here this morning. The figure here is $1,730.22; 
and the sessional paper details the items which are included in overhead.
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Mr. Fraser: May we find out if the management cost is included in this 
table on the cost of house construction here?

The Chairman: What do you mean by management cost?
Mr. Fraser: Management cost.
The Chairman: Not the overhead cost?
Mr. Fraser: No, the management cost.
Mr. Probe: He refers to the fee of $225.
Mr. Fraser: Is that included in that?
The Witness: Yes.
Mr. Fraser: Then there is cost plus; what is that based on, their cost plus 

the fee on each of these houses?
The Witness: That was cost, plus a management fee of $225.
Mr. Fleming: Could we leave that now, Mr. Chairman, and give the 

witness an opportunity of getting the facts on that and then we will not be 
wasting time.

Mr. Gladstone: Mr. Chairman, there has been so much reference to this 
sessional paper, do you not think it would be a good thing to have it put on 
the record?

Mr. Fleming: I will be very glad to put it in, and I have a couple of 
others which I will also be glad to put in.

The Chairman: I do not- see that there is any objection at all. The only 
point is that we might have from the witness at our next sitting a report giving 
exact details to the answers that have been put to him this morning. It seems 
to me that we will not be able to arrive at any exact conclusion until we get 
his report. For that reason I suggest that we defer further questioning on this 
matter until the information which has been asked for is before us.

Mr. Fleming: That is what I was going to suggest. I think perhaps it 
would be just as well if I were to have this sessional paper put on the record 
now, sessional paper No. 1351, dated April 16, 1947.

Sessional paper No. 1351—Appendix A.
Mr. Warren: Mr. Chairman, may I ask if time is being taken up on 

complaints based on the tearful, weepy story that was given in a speech by 
Mr. Murphy in the House of Commons with respect to eight houses out of the 
thousands of houses that have been built under the V.L.A.?

Mr. Homuth: Well now, Mr. Chairman; we don't want anything like that. 
We are not going to stand for a thing of that kind—

The Chairman: Mr, Homuth, at least let the member speak; you can 
speak afterwards.

Mr. Homuth: Well, Mr. Chairman, if Mr. Warren is going to get up and 
make a speech on this subject, well, everybody here is going to do the same 
thing.

The Chairman: That is not the point. Mr. Warren has the floor, and I 
propose to let him continue. You can say whatever you have to say after he 
has finished. What you are doing may be good tactics or policy in the House 
of Commons, but it is not in this committee. In this committee when a member 
has the floor he is not going to be shouted down.

All right, Mr. Warren, will you continue?
Mr. Warren: Does this thing all rise out of the complaints of the veterans 

there at Sarnia? If anyone here wants to go into that sort of thing all they 
have to do is to go out the Merivale road and look at the 400-odd families who 
have been located out there. I was out and I had a look at them. The houses 
there were built in what looked like a bog-hole when I saw it last summer.
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Mr. Fleming:* Mr. Chairman, I object on a point of order.
The Chairman: What is the point of order?
Mr. Fleming: Mr. Chairman, we have a definite agenda set for this 

committee which was determined by the committee. The agenda was to inquire 
into the V.L.A. operation in Sarnia township, Lambton county, in particular.

Mr. Warren : I am not going back to that.
Mr. Fleming: My second point is this; it has been the rule followed in 

this committee from the outset that comments be reserved until the close of 
questions. At the moment we are on questions. Mr. Warren is not asking a 
question.

The Chairman: Mr. Warren was asking a question as to whether—
Mr. Fleming: But that is not a question directed to the witness.
The Chairman:—whether we were considering the eight houses or 

whether we were going into the whole field of V.L.A. construction.
Mr. Homuth : Now, I rise to a point of order. Mr. Warren said nothing 

of the kind. Mr. Warren got up and asked if we were going to deliberate on the 
type of weepy speech made by Mr. Murphy in the House.

The Chairman: Don’t you think we have given enough time to this?
Mr. Murphy: On a point of order, Mr. Chairman ; I object to the statement 

made by the hon. member (Mr. Warren) regarding the speech I made in the 
House of Commons. He will find that the complaints in my speech apply to 
over 90 per cent of the V.L.A. homes.

The Chairman: You mean you object to the use of the word “weepy”?
Mr. Murphy: I do. I think that speech applied to over 90 per cent of the 

houses constructed by V.L.A. throughout Canada.
The Chairman : Mr. Warren, could we come to the point of your remarks?
Mr. Warren : Well, in that connection, I just wanted to point out that in 

mv opinion there would be many other houses which will also have to be 
considered.

Mr. Fleming: That is not the question.
The Chairman: Well, I haven’t heard all he had to say, so I do not know 

whether it is a question or not.
Mr. Fleming: It is not a question.
Mr. Warren : For example, there is the case of the door that didn’t work.
Mr. Homuth : What is the question?
Mr. Y arren : There are a lot of these houses which are unsatisfactory and 

on which they are having to do a lot of repair work already.
Mr. Fleming: That is not a question, is it?
Mr. Warren : Well, I don’t know what you’d call it if it isn’t.
Mr. Fleming: Mr. Chairman, may we proceed with the questions called 

for this morning?
The Chairman: Yes.

By Mr. Fleming:
Q. Now, Mr. Murchison, I want to get down to the matter of your 

experience with the veterans who purchased these houses. I understand you to 
say that the veterans to whom these houses were allotted entered into occupation 
around December last?—A. Yes.

Q. Were the contracts signed at that time with them?—A. If my memory 
is right there were only two.

Q. Only two out of eight signed contracts?—A. Yes.
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Q. Is it not rather unusual for occupation to be taken by the veteran 
without the signing of a contract?—A. It has been quite common practice in 
our construction because we have had a great deal of pressure all over Canada 
from veterans demanding access to these houses the moment they are habitable 
rather than when they were fully completed ; and in some cases, ill-advisedlv as 
it turns out, we gave way to that pressure and allowed a good many veterans 
to get occupation of these homes before they were fully completed. Xhat did 
not simplify the completion of the house but it did give the veteran plenty of 
opportunity to submit everything to a minute inspection and to voice his 
complaints as to what he found wrong here and there.

Q. You would not deny to the veteran the right to make a minute 
inspection of the house for which he was going to pay—A. Not at all.

By Mr. Stuart (Charlotte) :
Q. Did the veteran sign this agreement of his own free will and accord?— 

A. Absolutely.
Q. He knew what he was getting?—A. He inspected it before he went in.
Q. And he signed the contract of his own free will and accord—A. If he 

has signed.
Q. I mean, if he did.—A. Yes.

By Mr. Fleming:
Q. Are you sure that even two contracts were signed?—A. Yes—I am not

sure.
Q. Perhaps you will check that up also. You are speaking as though you are 

under the impression that two contracts were signed.—A. They may not have 
been signed the day they went in. It is my information that there were two 
veterans on contract, who had signed contracts.

Q. All right, let us stick to that for the moment. Have contracts ever been 
signed by the others?—A. No.

Q. Did the veterans who went in refuse to, sign contracts?—A. Yes.
Q. Did they give reasons for the refusal?—A. They criticized the quality 

of construction and the price.
Q. They criticized the poor quality of construction and the price, and 

then I take it they refused to sign contracts?—A. That is right.
Q. And that situation has persisted ever since they refused to sign the 

contracts?—A. I believe so.
Q. Whatever the reason, they were not signed; were they completed in 

the sense of performance according to the terms of the contract; had the 
veterans paid the additional amount of $600 down?—A. No.

Q. I take it then that the situation as to the two cases is that you think 
that contracts were signed, but if they were signed the veterans refused to make 
any further payments?—A. I would have to check on that.

Q. Could you give the veterans’ reasons for refusal to make payments?— 
A. The only answer I can give to that would be with respect to the four or five 
who would not sign contracts.

Q. I am speaking now about the two who did.—A. I would have to check 
to make sure that they are not making their monthly payments.

Q. You are not sure about that so we had better leave it until you have 
an opportunity of looking into it.—A. Yes.

Q. I would like you also to be prepared to produce any correspondence or 
documents in your departmental files relating to these eight houses and relating 
to the efforts to obtain equalized contracts, and the correspondence you have 
had since with veterans, if any, as to their reasons for non-payment or refusal 
to sign contracts. What have you done in the light of these complaints from 
veterans ?—A. We have undertaken a very close survey by experts of the
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deficiencies or the defects in construction, and the work has been carried out 
and is very close to completion.

By Mr. Stuart (Charlotte) :
Q. Might I ask you a question or two there, Mr. Murchison, as to the six 

veterans who have not signed contracts ; has there been any pressure on the 
veteran to sign a contract for these houses?—A. No, he can move out to-morrow 
if he wishes.

Q. He can move out any time if he wishes?—A. Yes.
Q. He has not got to sign the contract?—A. No.
Mr. Fleming: Have you asked a veteran to move out in those cases?
The Witness: I could not say as to that point in recent weeks, but we 

are at the point of having completed all defects which we have been able to 
identify and we feel the time has arrived where these veterans should either 
purchase the homes or pay reasonable rent for their occupancy, or move out.

Some Hon. Members: Hear, hear.
Mr. Jaenicke: They have not paid anything on them?
The Witness: No.
Mr. Jaenicke: How long have they been in?
Mr. Golding: Since about December 1946.

By Mr. Fleming;
Q. Did you make similar demands on them before the payments were 

made?—A. I think there was a request to each of them to sign their purchase 
agreements on the assurance that all defects that were noted would be taken 
care of by the department without any increase of the sale price.

Q. Was that done by letter?—A. I could not say whether it was done 
by letter in this case or by interviews.

Q. Well I suggest, Mr. Murchison, if there are any letters or memoranda 
of any kind that you produce them so we can see them. You can check your 
information on that and we will have more than an impression on it.

Now when did you decide you were going to undertake repairs? You say 
at some stage you undertook to make repairs and that the repairs are about 
completed.—A. Just bear with me a moment while I look this up. A detailed 
inspection was made of these houses either late in December or early in January 
of this year.

Q. That is just after the time you told us earlier that the houses were 
completed?—A. Yes.

Q. Yes, and at whose request or instigation was that inspection made?— 
A. At the request of our district superintendent at Toronto.

Q. And did he act on anybody’s request?—A. He was under general 
instructions from me to see to it that defects in any and all of these houses 
were corrected just as quickly as it could be undertaken. We anticipated in 
every one of these houses that there would be certain adjustments required, 
depending on the standards of labour employed and the standards of materials 
required. We knew as soon as these houses were heated that some defection 
would occur and it was just a matter of departmental policy that these cor­
rections be looked after as quickly as possible. That was the general instruction 
to our superintendents and it applied to an equal degree to ^these houses 
in Sarnia.

Q. Do you mean to say in these cases you acted in advance of the com­
plaints from veterans?—A. I would not say whether it was before or just after, 
but it was shortly after the veteran went into occupation of the house.

92665—2
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Mr. Beaudry: Mr. Murchison, I would infer from one of your earlier 
answers, that clue to pressure it did happen in some cases through anxiety on 
the part of the prospective tenants or owners, that they entered the houses 
when it was uninhabitable or when it was not fully finished, but your standards 
had to be complied with?

The Witness: Yes.

By Mr. Fleming:
Q. What you say in a general way regarding the standards applying all 

across Canada you would undertake to apply to these houses?—A. Yes.
Q. You said these houses were completed in December, 1946. That was 

your statement earlier this morning, that they were completed in December,
1946?

Mr. Gladstone: He said they were mostly completed in December, 1946.

By Mr. Fleming:
Q. He said they were completed in December, 1946.—A. Anyone who 

knows anything about construction, knows that a new house may be ready 
to move into, but when it is heated, and if the house is absolutely green, there 
are bound to be certain adjustments necessary, but in the meantime the house 
is quite habitable. ,

Q. If you are going to speak about these houses and not apply to them 
the same reference to your general experience across Canada, I want to be 
quite clear on it. I doubt in the light of some of your answers that you are 
prepared to be very definite about what you are describing applying to these 
houses. If there is any doubt in your mind I suggest you leave it and we 
will take it up in another meeting.

The Chairman: That is also a comment of the same nature the other 
members were making a moment ago.

Some Hon. Members: Hear, hear.
Mr. Fleming: I think we have had a number of suggestions of this kind.
The Chairman: You are doing it now, and that is what the other people 

did a moment ago.
Mr. Fleming: Yery well, but we can tell the witness what we are requesting 

in the way* of further information.
The Chairman : This doubt you express as to whether the witness should 

be able to answer or not is just a comment of the same nature to which you 
objected from other members.

Mr. Boucher: He made it as a suggestion but, in fact, it is a question.
Mr. Fleming: The witness has made two answers not in harmony and I 

suggest to him before he becomes too positive that he should check.

By Mr. Burton:
Q. Mr. Chairman, may I be allowed to ask a question to clear up some­

thing in my mind regarding an answer given by Mr. Murchison. These houses 
as you stated previously were completed in December of 1946?—A. That is 
right.

Q. By that do you mean your departmental inspector- or whoever was 
in charge had inspected and was prepared to make a settlement with the con­
tractor on the contract?—A. He was not prepared to O K. the final progress 
payment on the contract but I believe he was prepared to accept the house as 
being completed within the terms of the contract.

Q. That was in December?—A. Yes.
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Q. That was what you had in mind when you said the houses were 
completed?—A. That is right.

Q. Then what was the reservation your inspector had?—A. The same 
reservation as we will have in all contracts. You like to hold a little bit back 
for hidden defects.

Q. That the contractor would be responsible for?—A. Yes.
The Chairman : Usually for a period of a month or two or three months 

before the final payment is made. That is in all government contracts as well 
as in many private contracts.

The Witness: Yes.

By Mr. Fleming:
Q. When was the last progress payment made to the contractor?—A. I 

could not give you the date.
Q. I would ask you to get that date if you will. Now in coming back 

with this additional information there is one thing I would want you to be 
quite clear upon, if you will, Mr. Murchison, and that is the date on which 
the decision was taken to undertake the repair work. I am going to suggest to 
you—

Mr. Rinfret: Do not suggest.
Mr. Fleming: It is a perfectly proper form of questioning as Mr. Rinfret 

well knows.

By Mr. Fleming:
Q. You are going to get us the dates of the final progress payments and 

the report you referred to in reply to Mr. Burton’s question made in December 
that preceded what you would call the completion of the houses in that month, 
and I think it would be well if you would complete that picture by giving us 
the dates of the payments all the way through, the dates of the progress 
reports indicating when payment was made in each case. Now I want to ask 
you some general questions, and one is suggested in part by Mr. Warren’s 
question earlier, as to your experience with regard to costs and the degree of 
satisfaction that you had from the construction of the houses here. Did that 
degree of satisfaction compare favourably or unfavourably with your experi­
ences generally elsewhere? Do you call this an extraordinary case in your 
experience under the Veterans’ Land Act?—A. Yes I would, sir.

Q. You say this is particularly bad?—A. This was particularly expensive.
Q. Particularly expensive? Have you any reasons to give?—A. Delays 

in getting the necessary labour on the job by the contractor; delays in getting 
deliveries of materials; construction during winter conditions; and I will frankly 
concede in my judgment there was some lack of supervision on the part of 
the contractor and some lack of supervision on the part of our own people, the 
inspectors.

Mr. Golding: How did you find wages in Windsor district, compared with 
other districts?

Mr. Fleming: Sarnia.
Mr. Golding: Yes, Sarnia.
The Witness: I cannot give a precise answer on that, but we were obliged 

to pay standard labour rates as authorized by the Wartime Labour Board.
Mr. Golding: There is a difference in wages in various districts.
Mr. Probe: It might be better to get that by a table of the representative 

wages in the different districts.
Mr. Fleming: Are you saying the labour costs in Sarnia are higher?
Mr. Golding : He is not saying that, I am suggesting it.

92665—24
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By Mr. Fleming:
Q. I want to get Mr. Murchison’s comment. Are wages in Sarnia higher 

than in some of the areas where you have had construction work?—A. I would 
not say the rates were higher but there might be a difference in the efficiency 
of people who draw the same pay.

Mr. Burton : There would also be a difference as to the amount of labour 
available in different places?

he AVitness: That has been a difficulty that we have been faced with during 
the last two or three years, but everyone faces that difficulty.

By Mr. Fleming: ,
Q. Well Mr. Murchison, did you give any other contracts to the same 

contractor?—A. Yes, the same firm built one hundred houses in the Windsor 
area and eight at Chatham.

Q. What was your experience then in comparison?—A. They were less 
expensive.

Q. Less expensive. Would there be anything attributable to the selection 
of the site in explanation?—A. No, there was not.

Q. Did you give any contracts to this firm after December, 1946?—A. No.
Q. And what do you say about your experience with the other houses, in 

the light of your experience on the Sarnia township job?—A. That is a question 
I must be very careful in answering sir. We have not made final financial settle­
ment with this contractor and I must be very careful as to what I say at this 
stage, in a public meeting, because there may be some litigation on these points 
before it is cleared up, and for that reason I wish to be excused from making any 
definite statement.

Q. I do not want you to say anything that is going to prove embarrassing to 
yourself or to the government if there is going to be litigation. You indicated 
a moment ago that you thought some blame attached to the officials of your 
department or to your own inspectors here.—A. Yes.

Q. I take it there was failure on their part to detect and report defects, 
is that what you mean?—A. Yes, they accepted work they probably should 
not have accepted.

Mr. Warren : On that point, if you are putting in concrete in the winter­
time it may look perfect but, as has been said, when you heat up the house, 
or even when spring comes, defects will perhaps show up.

Mr. Homuth : Good contractors can pour concrete anytime of the year.
Mr. Fleming: Well Mr. Chairman, I would like to carry on.
Mr. Homuth : Even in forty below zero weather.
The Chairman: Order, order.

By Mr. Fleming:
Q. Continuing the questions, I would like to pick up the story again at the 

point where you spoke about the repair work being undertaken this year, in 
1947. Now you are going to check up more fully on the date when that was 
decided upon and what led up to it. To follow that up, you did undertake work 
to put these places in proper condition did you not?—A. Yes.

Q. Was that done by contract?—A. I believe some of it was corrected by 
the prime contractor but mainly it was undertaken by contract labour under 
the supervision of a practical builder whom we engaged to supervise the work.

Q. When it was undertaken the department carried out the work itself?— 
A. The major part.

Q. In the case of the work done by the contractor was any charge made for 
that, or did he do that as part of the price?—A. He did that as part of the price 
according to my understanding.
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Q. Are you in a position to give us the breakdown between the work the 
contractor did and the work undertaken by the department?—A. No, I have 
not got those details with me.

Q. Have you the amount of the cost to date of the work done by the depart­
ment on these houses?—A. Approximately $770 per house.

Q. Approximately $770 per house,—that is roughly $6,000 in the 
aggregate?—A. About that.

Q. Does that represent progress payments to date, the complete cost?—A. 
That represents a firm estimate on the completed cost.

Q. A firm estimate on the complete cost made by whom?—A. Our con­
struction superintendent.

Q. Made by your construction superinténdent, and how close to completion 
is he on the various houses?—A. According to my most recent information I 
believe the work, with the exception of the drainage of the project, that is the 
installation of new tile drains, is approximately 95 per cent complete.

Q. And when do you expect the balance to be completed?—A. Just as 
quickly as the work can be carried out.

Q. Are you in a position to say what type of work was done, to give a 
physical description?—A. Well there was a great deal of work done on the 
concrete floors, on the taping of the wallboard, on the adjusting of the doors, 
and I believe there was some work done on the furnaces. I believe there was 
considerable work done on the concrete floor slabs and probably some painting, 
a good deal of painting, carried out under expert supervision.

Q. Is that painting in addition to the original paint?—A. Yes.
Q. Repainting?—A. Yes.
Q. And all that is within a matter of six months of the alleged completion 

of the houses?—A. Yes.

By Mr. Jaenicke:
Q. And the department paid for that?—A. Yes.
Q. Would not the contractor be liable for that if it needs painting already? 

A. That is the point upon which we may have some serious negotiations.
Q. That would be faulty paint? — A. Not necessarily because in 

construction using dry wallboard which requires taping at the joints and 
corners, if there is any shrinkage at the corners it breaks the taping and there­
fore destroys interior decoration. It must be either painted over or renewed.

Mr. Fraser: The shrinkage of the wallboard and the floors occurred owing 
to the fact that green lumber was allowed to be used in the construction of the 
houses?

The Witness: Green lumber, and some inefficiency of the labour employed 
on the job.

Mr. Fraser: Well does your department, in all these buildings, allow the 
use of green lumber?

The Witness: We are in the position of using whatever is available.
Mr. Fraser: A contractor should never use green lumber.
Mr. Bradette: Houses would never be built at all.
Mr. Fraser: Yes, lumber can be cut and kiln dried in forty-eight hours.
Mr. Fleming: Mr. Chairman, may I come back to my questions?
Mr. Golding: It has just got to be used.
Mr. tV arren : If there is going to be an argument on that I will give you 

an example.
Mr. Fleming: I can see that we are going to have a lot of difference of 

opinion among the experts in this room.
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By Mr. Fleming:
Q. Mr. Chairman, in my last question I used the wrong date. I said all 

this had occurred within six months of completion but actually we are talking 
now of a period after the completion of this work which amounts to only two 
or three months?—A. Yes.

Q. Now you did not mention any pumping in these additional costs. Did 
you include anything for pumping? I understand there was some sump 
pumping?—A. Yes, there was an error in judgment somewhere in the excavation 
of the basement for these houses. This particular land has a water-table very 
close to the surface. The foundations were excavated on an average of fifteen 
inches too deep and as a consequence there was a tremendous water pressure 
developed on those basments and a good deal of pumping became necessary. The 
only way that can be corrected, and it is under way at the present time, is to 
put in drainage on the project which will relieve the water pressure on the 
basement. A fully qualified drainage engineer is preparing plans. We know 
exactly what is to be done. The work would have been under way before this 
had it not been for the exceptionally wet spring but the plan has been developed 
and it is under way.

By Mr. Jaenicke:
Q. Whose mistake was it? Who made the mistake in connection with the 

basements?—A. I do not want to do any naming but it might have been the 
contractor who was responsible under this contract but it is probable that our 
building inspector or engineer must assume some of the responsibility, because 
he was there and he saw the basement excavated.

Q. Did the contractor contract to supervise the excavation of the basement? 
—A. No.

By Mr. Homuth:
Q. The cost of the drainage then, will be in excess of all other costs you 

have mentioned?—A. It will not be charged to the veterans.
Q. I am not asking that, it will be charged to the project?—A. That is

right.
Q. Over and above what has already been charged?—A. That is right.
Q. Have you any estimate of the cost?—A. About $2,500.
Q. For the whole project?—A. Yes.
Mr. Gladstone: How high is this land above the river level?
The Witness: I could not say as to that. It conforms to the general 

level of the land around Sarnia, which is not high above the level of the river.
Mr. Jaenicke: When were the basements dug?
The Witness: In the summer of 1945.
Mr. Jaenicke: Would the water not show up as that was being done?
The Witness: Apparently not, they were dug in the dry est part of the year.

By Mr. Fleming:
Q. Is it not customary in cases of this kind, a project of eight houses, to 

have some survey of the water-table in advance, by the contractor?—A. Yes, I 
would say a good contractor wrould do that.

Q. Was that done here?—A. 1 would say evidently not.
Q. As far as you know was any check made on what he had done in that 

respect before the basement floors were laid?—A. I can only assume his work 
was inspected by the building inspector who was assigned to the project.

Q. You arc saying, in effect, that the biulding inspector should have checked 
on that and should have caught it before it went any further?—A. Well of 
course if the grounds were dry, we are speaking about a condition that may
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or may not have existed over two years ago, but if the basements were 
excavated and no water showed, I doubt very much whether any local building 
inspector would say the work was unsatisfactory.

Q. I am speaking about your departmental inspector when I talk of the 
building inspector?—A. Yes.

Q. Is that building inspector still with your department?—A. No.
Q. When did he leave?
Mr. Gladstons: Where does he live?
The Witness: I could not tell you.
Mr. Fleming: I say when did he leave?
Mr. Gladstone: Where did he reside?
The Witness: I cannot answer that without searching our records. We 

have had about 95 per cent turnover in our construction staff.
Mr. Homlth : According to this project you should have had.

By Mr. Fleming:
Q. I would like to complete these questions if I can. This estimate you 

have given now of $2.500 for pumping-------A. No, that is for drainage.
Q. For drainage. When completed will it provide these dwellings with dry 

cellars?—A. That is the purpose of it but I do not guarantee a dry basement 
anywhere.

Q. Maybe there are degrees, but in this particular case you obviously have 
undertaken something at government expense because you think the cellars 
were not properly constructed. Now are you telling the committee that, in your 
opinion, this $2,500 expenditure will leave those cellars in good condition, or 
are you contemplating the possibility of further expenditure, government expen­
diture, on them?—A. I am depending on the expert advice on which this drain­
age plan is based. By the way the plan comes from the head of the drainage 
department at Guelph College.

Q. Now will you, with the other documents, produce the report of the 
engineer and his plan, Mr. Murchison?

When was any complaint first made by your department to the contractor 
about the houses,—that would include the cellars and other things which have 
been the subject of expenditure by the government and necessitate repair 
work?—A. It would be during January or February of this year.

Q. Yes, and can you give us the gist of what passed between your 
department and the contractor from that time on?—A. No. I have no corres­
pondence of that nature with me.

Q. Was there any correspondence with the contractor?—A. I have none 
with me.

Q. Who would have if you do not?—A. The district office in Toronto, or 
the regional office in Windsor. I could search our files to see if there arc any 
letters on that subject.

Q You could get your files from the district office with any correspondence 
from the director?—A. Yes.

Q. Would you do that please?
Mr. Gladstone: The trouble with the doors and floors and walls would 

be mostly due to the green lumber.
Mr. Homlth: The floors were not made of lumber, they were made of 

cement.
The Witness: The framework of the house caused trouble due to unsea­

soned lumber. The basement trouble was due to water pressure but I do not 
tnimc there was anything wrong with the quality of the cement.

Mr. Probe: Were they water-proofed on the outside?
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Mr. Fleming: Mr. Chairman, I think we can leave the rest of the questions 
until we can get the documents.

By Mr. Rinfret:
Q. Did you have many applications for these eight houses from veterans?— 

A. I could not answer that question because there are a great many veterans 
in Sarnia, like many other citizens, who are sorely in need of housing. It 
would be a guess on my part to say there would be probably one hundred 
veterans in Sarnia in need of houses of this class. There were only eight houses 
available and our standard procedure was to screen .the applications and 
allocate houses to the veterans, who had the qualifications under the Act, 
having the greatest obvious need.

Q. Would you say these eight people were the lucky ones out of the 
number?—A. I would say so.

Mr. Fleming: Lucky?
Mr. Rinfret: Would you find that out and bring it to the committee, 

and will you also find out how many veterans have applications in at the 
present time and who would gladly take the place§ of those eight veterans.

Mr. Boucher: You mean occupying the houses without paying any rent?
Mr. Probe: Mr. Chairman, I would like to ask a question of Mr. Murchison, 

a question or two, supplementing those already asked.

By Mr. Probe:
Q. What, arc the factors considered by your department in the selection 

of the site for building? I believe, in my lav mind, that not enough emphasis 
has been put on that feature of the discussion, and possibly there is something 
wrong with the site at Sarnia. What features decide your purchase of land 
for building?—A. Well, for a project .of this kind location is of paramount 
importance; that is, location relative to prospective employment. A small 
holding nine or ten miles out in the country where a man must depend on 
outside employment for most of his income becomes more or less meaningless, 
whereas if you located him on the fringe area of a large employment centre 
then location, of course, is a very important factor.

Q. I am not very familiar with your places here in this part of the country 
as to what constitutes a proper building site, and that is why I would like to 
know—drainage is a factor, did you take that into consideration in connection 
with the site at all?—A. Oh, yes.

Q. Well, is this land—-for which you paid nearly $300 an acre—a very 
considerable amount of it, 66 acres—located in a swampy area, a marsh, or is 
it level country there?—A. It is quite flat, like the land in that area. It is flat.

Q. Ami this land has not been let free to build in the past because of what 
might be unsuitable conditions for building?—A. This was farm land.

Q. Oh, it was farm land?—A. This is outside of the city limits of Sarnia.
Q. Well, there is another project, the Deschenes road project out here.

I visited it and many of the features of the Sarnia project which are being 
discussed here are applicable to the Deschenes road project as well, as you 
perhaps know. What was the reason given by the architect or the builders, 
what was their attitude, what was the reason they built in an area of this kind ; 
and, what precautions are taken in a case of this kind to make sure you have 
sound footings and underpinnings, foundation; what is the usual procedure here 
after you have selected a site to guarantee suitable conditions; what are the 
preliminary precautions taken?—A. I am afraid that I should have to call 
in an engineer to answer that for vou. I am not a construction man.
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Q. There is no preliminary drainage—or what preliminary drainage was 
there to overcome the difficulties that have been encountered with respect to 
the foundations of these buildings; I presume some precautions would be 
taken?—A. Yes, I would think so.

Q. And that was not taken into consideration by your inspector?—A. Not 
on that project.

Q. And apparently I think it was not in the case of this other one on the 
Deschenes road.—A. Well, definitely the Deschenes road project needs some 
additional drainage and provision has been made to provide it.

Q. To my inexperienced eye there is a portion of the Deschenes road pro­
ject that I would not have selected for building on. Some of it looks all right 
but some of it seems to be definitely on swampy ground and swampy ground 
to my mind is not suitable for building on. Can you drain it at a reasonable 
cost?—A. We believe so.

Q. Let us revert for a moment to the contractor and his qualifications; 
what experience has this particular firm had—the Ryan Construction Company 
I think you called them?—A. The Ryan Home Builders, of Windsor.

Q. What qualifications did they have for doing a job of this importance?— 
A. I believe they built a great many wartime houses in Windsor.

Q. With reasonable satisfaction?—A. I believe so.
Q. I know that in building there is not 100 per cent satisfaction, and they 

work under difficulties. I presume that this supplementary contract referred 
to by Mr. Fleming as having been given to the Ryan Construction Company— 
to build 108 or 100-odd other houses—was given to them before it was recognized 
by your department that they had through some circumstances done an 
inefficient job?—A. Yes.

Q. I see. We can’t blame you on that score then. With respect then to the 
cost, which to me seems very high for all of these projects as compared with a 
similar one in my own city where we seem to be having reasonable satisfaction— 
I refer to Regina—when you let a contract did you indicate to the contractor 
where or at what price he is to acquire the materials which he uses, since it is 
cost plus work ; it would seem to me that as business people you arc going to 
give certain specific instructions as to the basis tin which materials are acquired.— 
A. That was done even in this case. I might say for the information of the com­
mittee that during 1944 after considerable difficulty I was able to proceed with 
the free purchase of some 20,000,000 feet of lumber.

Q. This was stock-piled by the V.L.A. or the board?—A. It was stock-piled 
by the dealers. And the lumber which went into this project at Sarnia was 
shipped from the firm of Hill, Clark & Francis of New Liskeard, to their local 
agent at Sarnia or Windsor at a price which was in keeping with the price which 
we contracted to buy the lumber at from Hill, Clark & Francis.

Q. Is this the wholesaler about whom you are speaking now, or was it 
retailed?—A. Yes, I believe their local agent was allowed to take a percentage 
of 10 per cent.

Q. Did that not suggest that this material, the lumber portion of it, was 
seasoned material?—A. It was not entirely green, and it was not fully seasoned.

Q. What about the mill work, was that green stuff, or was that also previ­
ously contracted for?—A. There was no previous contract for mill work.

Q. You have the usual labour cost stipulation; that is, the going wages 
of the district are to be paid? You made reference to the fact that the labour 
on this particular job might have been—you did not say it was, but you left the 
inference that it was perhaps inefficient labour compared to the labour in other 

' construction work. Would you be in a position to table the labour cost portion 
of each of these jobs? I believe you have it that way. I think you have a break­
down of it that way. I think I have seen it on some of my sheets.—A. I believe 
we can furnish copies of the payrolls.
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Q. I do not want the detailed payroll, just the aggregate payroll of the 
craftsmen employed. I think we could well table that. I would like it for com­
parative purposes because I have the labour costs on construction work in the 
other parts of Canada.

Mr. Murphy: There is a return to the house on that.
Mr. Probe : Oh, there is a return to the House on that? I did not know 

that. If we could have that for these eight houses.
The Witness: I do not remember whether the labour costs at Sarnia were 

included in the return we made for Mr. Murphy or not. I know thçre were two 
tremendous bundles of material.

By Mr. Probe:
Q. Mr. Murphy says he has that. It would not be too extensive to table, 

I presume ; and, with that, could we have the aggregate labour costs?—A. We 
will endeavour to get that for you.

Q. I believe for purposes which I think the committee should have in mind 
we should be afforded material on this to make a comparison of the cost of the 
homes for veterans in the various parts of the country, and I am going to ask 
the chairman if he will consent as appropriate to this occasion if I would ask 
Mr. Murchison to-put on the record comparative costs for the Regina area where 
they have had satisfaction with V.L.A. I am not upholding Mr. Murchison. I 
am not criticizing him at the moment ; but the figures that we are given here 
and other figures with which I am not familiar, they are scandalous and out of 
proportion with other figures which I also have.

Mr. Fleming: There is a return to an order of the House, requested by Mr. 
Murphy. It bears the date of February 17, 1947—Votes and Proceedings No. 13, 
sessional paper No. 135L. That has attached to it the average costs for each 
basic floor plan in each province and gives a breakdown of the average cost in 
all the provinces of Canada of the houses constructed by V.L.A. under the 
different plans.

Mr. Probe : That might be useful. I have, not seen it.
Mr. Fleming: There are a number of plans other than the houses built at 

Sarnia included in this statement so that it would not give us an immediate 
comparison.

The Chairman: Would it give us the actual cost or the estimated?
Mr. Fleming: It is giving the average cost of the average basic floor plan. 

They are given for each of the nine provinces. It gives the average cost of 
construction according to each plan.

Mr. Probe: I had specifically in mind the Regina scheme, because the 
Regina scheme to the best of my information and from ray inspection and the 
comments of veterans was a satisfactory scheme on the whole, and I would 
like to have that for purposes of comparison.

Mr. Fleming: Mr. Chairman, could I file this with the clerk?
The Chairman: You might file it, but we will not print it.
Mr. Probe: I simply want from Mr. Murchison, if he would, the name of 

the contracting firm on the Regina project, the V.L.A. project—there was only 
the one to my knowledge—the details of the total final construction cost per 
house to the contractor: his fees for the work, because I wanted to be able to 
make a comparison of the two areas; any extra cost on each house paid by the 
V.L.A. to the contractor or paid by V.L.A. supplementary to the contractor’s 
charges; then, also, the cost per unit of the land on which the buildings were 
placed ; whether on acreage basis or a lot basis—provided the described for 
dimensions and, finally, the cost of these to the veterans. I would like to qualify 
that in this way ; that we would stick to the four types of houses that were
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used, I mean built at Sarnia, then we would not need the detail for all the 
houses built in Regina, we could take the average cost for houses or these 
particular four types, I mean similar to those built at Sarnia, and compare 
them with the Regina project. I think that would be of value to the committee.

The Chairman : That would enlighten the committee and give the 
committee a basis of comparison.

Mr. Probe: I think comparison of that kind would be valuable at this time 
because there may be other cases.

The Witness : I will be very glad to get that for you. I have some figures 
here with me this morning which I might let you have in the meantime. They 
answer largely the questions asked by Mr. Probe. These are the average house 
costs by provinces and by districts across the Dominion:

Location No. houses Average
built cost

Vancouver 576 $5,479
Alberta 280 5,230
Saskatchewan 80 5,184
Winnipeg 240 6,166
London 223 6,475
Toronto 721 6,365
Ottawa 148 6,155
Montreal 147 6427
Maritimes 1140 6,091

Mr. Fleming: Are these the average of floor plans used at Sarnia?
The Witness : No, these were about 2,600 houses built across Canada.
Mr. Probe: I would like to have it on the four Sarnia floor-plans, and I 

would also like to have the Regina prices.
The Witness: I am not so sure that all of those four plans were used at 

Sarnia. I would have to check on that.
Mr. Fleming: Let us check on that first.

By the Chairman:
Q. Excuse, Mr. Murchison; when you referred to house cost, do you mean 

just the cost of construction of the building, or do you include in that the other 
items of the type we were discussing this morning, the cost of developing the 
property?—A. I mean just what I say, Mr. Chairman; it is the cost of the 
houses ; and that would include the cost of connecting the water or the sewer 
or the septic tank, as the case may be. It does not include the cost of the 
installation of water mains, sewer mains and things of that kind.

Mr. Fleming: It does not include the land and these items of overhead 
that we have been talking about?

The Witness: No.

By Mr. Homuth:
Q Your figures for British Columbia would, of course, not include the 

tremendously high cost of the repairs that arc being done on those houses out 
there; they would not include anything of that nature?—A. None of them do.

Q Mr. Murchison, when you started the Sarnia project you bought 66 
acres of land. You used four acres of that land, what about the other 62 acres?— 
A. Depending on future demand, we may use all of it.

Q. And in the meantime you are just holding it?—A. We are holding it 
because we feel that construction costs at the present time are too high.

Q. Is it being used in any way?—A. Not in any revenue way.
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Mr. Golding: Mr. Chairman, I think that Mr. Fleming’s request is a 
reasonable one and one which I think should be complied with; that is, to give 
the costs on the same type of houses in other districts as the ones built in the 
Sarnia district.

The Witness: How far would you want to carry the comparison?
The Chairman : Right through, for the same type of house.
Mr. Boucher: Give us Ottawa, Regina, Montreal and a few places like

that.
Mr. Fleming: Mr. Chairman, referring to the sessional paper (No. 135L)— 

which you ruled should be filed and not printed ; I suggest it would be of interest 
to the members of the committee if they could have at least the table on the 
last page of the return. It shows the average cost for each basic floor plan in 
each of the nine provinces. I think it will be a good thing for the members of 
the committee to have that.

The Chairman: I agree with you entirely. When I first glanced at it I 
just saw this long list of names in it and I did not see any reason why they 
should be printed. We will have the table printed.

Appendix B—table showing average cost for each basic floor plan in each 
province.

Mr. Burton : Mr. -Chairman, we are drawing fairly close to the time for 
adjournment. Mr. Murchison has been on his feet for quite a while and I 
suggest that he be allowed to rest for a minute, and I am going to ask 
Mr. Fleming if it is his intention to call Mr. Cleave as a witness ; and if so, I 
was wondering if he would be prepared to put him on this afternoon when we 
resume at four o’clock. I suggest that by examination of Mr. Cleave we would 
have a better background to this whole matter, and then Mr. Murchison returns 
at a later date he could table such information as he has an opportunity to 
prepare for the use of the committee.

• The Chairman: I think that is an excellent suggestion because I am 
quite sure it will take Mr. Murchison some'little time to gather and prepare the 
material the committe has requested.

Mr. Fleming: I agree entirely that Mr. Murchison will require some time 
in which to prepare the material for which we have asked. May I say for the 
information for members of the committee that Mr. Cleave is one of the 
veterans concerned. I have not met Mr. Cleave, but I understand that Mr. 
Cleave is here, and he lias come here from Sarnia and I think he would like 
to get back: and if the committee would consent to hear Mr. Cleave at four 
o’clock this afternoon it would accommodate him.

Mr. Burton : That is what I thought we might do when we meet at 
four o’clock.

By Mr. Fraser:
Q. There is one question I wanted to ask Mr. Murchison ; do they have 

septic tanks in these houses?—A. Yes.
Q. Then there must have been a survey made by your department as to 

the drainage for these tanks before they were installed?—A. Septic tanks 
properly installed don’t require to have drainage.

Q. You have to have weepers ; if the cellars are flooded now there must 
be some of that sewage seeping back into those houses?—A. I am afraid you 
are getting a little too technical for me.

The Chairman: Are you an expert on that, Mr. Fraser?
Mr. Fraser: I am.
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Mr. Sir art (Charlotte) : Would it be possible to get the figures as to the 
rentals charged for houses of a similar type in this area so that we could compare 
it with the payments these veterans make?

Mr. Probe: This is not on a rental basis, it is a question of purchase.
Mr. Stuart (Charlotte) : I know it is a question of purchase, payable over 

25 years at so much a month. Just the same I would like to get the rental 
charge for a similar house in the locality.

The Witness: I can give you some information on that.
Mr. Fleming: And don’t forget that he has to make a $600 down payment.
Mr. Stuart (Charlotte) : I know that, but I want to know what the 

veteran would be charged in the way of rental for a house of a similar type 
in that area.

Mr. Fleming: And, of course, you mean in the same condition as these were 
in when the veteran took them over.

Mr. Stuart (Charlotte) : No, not in the condition in which they were when 
they were taken over by the veteran ; I mean for the average house of a 
similar type in that area.

The Chairman: Are there any other questions?

By Mr. Stuart (Charlotte) :
Q. Have you got that available?—A. Yes.
Q. I would like to have it.—A. I am reliably informed that the rental 

rates for houses built by Housing Enterprises, Limited, for houses of approxi­
mately the same type as this, built at Sarnia, are $42.50 per month for the 
cottage size—four rooms and bath; and $52.50 per month for the story-and-a- 
half size—five rooms and bath.

By Mr. Fleming:
Q. From whom did you get that information?—A. From Central Mortgage 

and Housing Corporation.
Q. How did you come to get that?—A. I inquired for it.
Q. On your own behalf?—A. Absolutely.
Q. When did you get that information?—A. About six weeks ago.
The Chairman : If members are allowed to ask questions I think administra­

tive officers are also allowed to inquire from other departments for information 
useful to them.

Mr. Probe: I think Mr. Murchison’s table was not quite complete ; can 
he include in the statement which he is to prepare for us the cost of the 
land in each of these provincial projects, and the cost of developing that land?

The Witness: Yes, we can do that.
Mr. Probe: I believe that should be included in the table to give the 

complete story, that it should be all there.

By Mr. Murphy:
Q. Mr. Chairman, I have just one question I would like to ask: the figures 

you quoted, Mr. Murchison, gives the average cost of these houses, you emphasize 
that is the cost of the house only?—A. That is right.

Q. That would not include project overhead?—A. No. I cannot make it 
any more clear than I did; it is the cost of the house and does not include 
the land or land development.

The Chairman: Then, in preparing your statement, would you include, for 
my own satisfaction as well as that of Mr. Fleming and other members, the 
cost of what comes under the generic term “overhead”.
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Mr. Fleming: You mean “project overhead.”
The Chairman : “Project overhead”, yes.
We will meet again at four o’clock.
The committee adjourned at 12.55 p.m. to meet again at 4.00 p.m. this day.

AFTERNOON SESSION

The meeting resumed at 4.00 p.m.
The Chairman: Gentlemen, we have a quorum.
Mr. Homuth : Just a quorum.
Mr. Fleming: Are we going to call Mr. Cleave?
The Chairman: Yes, we have Mr. Cleave as a witness. He is from Sarnia, 

Ontario.

William Cleave, called and sworn :

By Mr. Fleming:
Q. I wonder if Mr. Cleave could stand over there, Mr. Chairman?
Mr. Cleave where do you reside?—A. I live at the V.L.A. project in 

Sarnia township.
Q. The one we were discussing this morning?—A. That is correct.
Q. Were you present this morning and did you hear the evidence of Mr. 

Murchison?—A. Yes sir.
Q. Are you a veteran?—A. I am.
Q. What service do you have?—A. Four and a half years, but my service 

was all in Canada.
Q. What age are you?—A. I will be thirty-one on November 6th.
Q. Are you married?—A. Yes.
The Chairman: Do you enjoy a veteran’s preference?
The AVitness: That is right sir.
The Chairman: Even although your service is in Canada?
The Witness : Yes sir. “
Mr. Cote: I wonder if the witness would speak a little louder?
The Witness: I am sorry, gentlemen, my voice is a little weak, I realize

that.

By Mr. Fleming:
Q. What is your present occupation, Mr. Cleave?—A. I am an accountant 

by trade.
Q. When were you allotted one of these houses in Sarnia township?—A. I 

moved in on November 12, 1946. I was allotted the house three or four days 
before that date.

Q. Were you told you could move in then?—A. that is right, sir.
Q. It was not a case of you rushing in before you were told the house was 

ready?—A. No sir.
Q. Do I take it you were told by the Veterans’ Land Act people that the 

house was ready before you moved in?—A. I was told bv Mr. Biggs, who was 
the veterans’ officer, and he gave me the keys and told me I could move in 
whenever I wished.
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Q. Did he tell you the house was ready?—A. Presumably, yes. They were 
not working on the house when I moved in.

The Chairman: Will you kindly speak a little louder?
The Witness : I will try.

By Mr. Fleming:
Q. You say they were not working on the house when you moved in?— 

A. No sir.
Q. Was any work being done on the other houses after you moved in?— 

A. Not until they started to repair the houses.
Q. That was this year?—A. They did some work, the contractor came 

back I think in the latter part of 1946 and did some minor repairs, such as 
painting a board here and there, or sticking a chunk of quarter-round over a 
crack or something like that.

Q. Did you sign a contract for the purchase of this house from the 
Veterans’ Land Act?—A. No sir.

Q. You heard Mr. Murchison’s statement that he thought two out of the 
eight veterans had signed contracts? Have you any knowledge of that?

The Chairman: The witness should not be able to answer for the others.
Mr. Fleming: I think he knows.
The Witness : That is right.

By Mr. Fleming:
Q. You are not one of the two?—A. No sir, I am not.
Q. What was the reason for you not signing a contract?—À. Well the 

reason I did not sign is that in the first place 1 did not consider t.he houses were 
worth the money and there were considerable repairs required on the houses. 
Each time Mr. Parkinson approached us, he was the Veterans’ Land Act 
representative from London, he told us they were going to repair the houses 
but he would not put it in writing.

Q. When was that?—A. That would be, oh I would say in the latter part 
of December.

Q. Well when you moved in I take it you did not have a contract?— 
v No sir.

Q. Did you make a payment of $600 down?—A. That is correct. Before you 
could move in you had to send a certified cheque to the Department of Veterans’ 
Affairs for $600.

Q. And that was done?—A. That is correct.
Q. Do you know if the others did the same?—A. They were all required to.
Q. That was a matter of regulation?
The Chairman : Mr. Fleming, how can you ask questions from this 

witness about the others?
Mr. Fleming: He may know.
The Chairman: Well he does not.
Mr. Fleming: He has not said he does not know.
The Chairman: But he did not sign the other leases. He can talk for 

himself but he cannot talk for the others. He is not the chairman of a group 
and how can he know.

Mr. Fleming: Mr. Cleave, to what extent have your affairs, that is the 
affairs of the eight owners in respect to the eight houses, been a matter of 
common discussion up there?

The Witness: Oh, we have talked all the time since we have been there.
Mr. Jaenicke: Just as a matter of procedure, I noticed that this witness 

was sworn. This is the first witness that has ever been sworn in a committee
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at which I have attended and if he is going to give legal evidence he cannot 
give hearsay evidence. I do not know if that is the rule but why was he 
sworn?

The Chairman : The point is this. The witness can speak for himself but 
what can he know about the reasons affecting the others. You are a much 
better lawyer than I am Mr. Fleming, and you know in court that would not be 
accepted.

Mr. Fleming: Well, Mr. Chairman, if evidence of that kind is being excluded 
I am bound to say this is the first time it has happened. You know these 
witnesses from government departments have been here from time to time- 
take Mr. Murchison—where he has been before us three times. We took his 
evidence the first time and it turned out to be all hearsay and had to be revised. 
He corrected it the second time. Now if you want to apply the rule, all right, 
but there has got to be some consistency.

The Chairman: I think it is an absolutely different thing when you ask 
Mr. Murchison whether he is informed on this or that at a certain time. But 
you should be more precise when you have a witness here who is in Mr. Cleave’s 
position. The only idea I have is that you should ask what he knows personally. 
I am not trying to prevent you from asking any questions on which he has 
knowledge but it is not right to ask him what was the feeling of the others.

Mr. Fleming: I did not ask him about the feeling of the others.
The Chairman: You asked him why the others refused to sign and could 

he answer?
Mr. Fleming: He can if he has the knowledge.'
However, let us go and we will come back to this matter again.

By Mr. Fleming:
Q. You have indicated the reasons you refused to sign and referred to a 

regulation required that there be a down payment of §600 before you got 
possession. Now you got into possession in November?—A. That is right,

Q. The contractor was Ryan Home Builders Ltd. and they came back to 
do a little work, a little painting and so on, in December?—A. That is correct.

Q. Now when, if at all, did you first make complaint to the Veterans’ 
Land Act about the condition of the house that had been assigned to you?— 
A. That is a hard question to answer, sir, because there were Veterans’ Land 
Act representatives and inspectors—I do not know who they were—but they 
came through there by the hundreds after we moved in. They would come 
around and ask you what was wrong with the house and make notes, and 
tlfe very next week there would be another gang around making notes again, 
but practically no action whatsoever was taken. I think to really getting down 
to making a complaint to the Veterans’ Land Act, it is not just when the men 
came around, it would be at the time Mr. Parkinson contacted us to sign our 
contracts, which I believe was in the latter part of December.

Mr. Burton: Would you allow me to interrupt? You do not really 
mean “by the hundreds”?

The Witness: It was over a hundred, I will bet that. Counting the work­
men, the inspectors, the Veterans’ Land Act representatives, and so on, who 
came through the house, there was well over a hundred.

The Chairman: Apparently they were very keen in making you com­
fortable and inquiring if you were well before you complained?

Mr. Jaenicke: Was that before you complained?
The Witness: No, they came quite frequently. There was somebody 

there practically every day of the week from the time we moved in until about 
roughly three weeks ago, when the workmen presumably completed the repairs,
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but since then there has been nobody there that I have seen myself. My wife 
has mentioned there were a couple out yesterday but they did not go through 
the house and there has been nobody around of any account in the last three 
weeks. The workers left, the contractor left, and the Veterans’ Land Act 
representatives overseeing the work left three or- four weeks ago.

Mr. Jaenicke: When those workers or supervisors were going through, 
did you discuss with them whatever you thought was wrong in the house?

The Witness : We pointed out everything so many times that—well our 
wives were getting fed up. They got to the point of refusing to allow anybody 
else in. The people had no regard for the floors and came in in muddy 
weather, which it was all the time in the fall and spring. They never took off 
their rubbers or anything.

The Chairman : You say “in the fall” but you moved in in November?
The Witness: On November 12, 1946.

By Mr. Fleming:
Q. You indicated that when Mr. Parkinson came around that you made 

something of a formal complaint to him about the place?—A. At the time he 
met us there was six of us. There were only six houses occupied at the time 
Mr. Parkinson was there.

Q. I think you said this was December?—A. This was the latter part of 
December or early in January, one or the other, and one fellow refused to sign. 
He told Mr. Parkinson he was moving out, and Mr. Parkinson met the other 
five of us at one of the fellow’s houses to present our contracts to us, at which 
time we all refused to sign except one fellow. Mr. Parkinson had contacted one 
of the fellows at his place of business that day and he saw the rest of us that 
night. The fellow whom he contacted during the day at the office signed and 
one of the other fellows signed that night. It was left this way. We were 
supposed to be given a week in which to make up our minds so we told Mr. 
Parkinson if we did not let him know by the following Monday, then nobody 
was going to sign. He was supposed to come down and see us again and 
present the contracts and there would be somebody to sign them. On Saturday, 
Mr. Murchison and Mr. Woods were going to be in Windsor, so two of us took 
a trip to Windsor to find out what was happening down there.

Q. Did you see them?—A. Well we did see them but we did not talk to 
them. They were just on an inspection tour and they had no comments to 
make.

Q. Excuse me, did you have a chance to tell them your story?—A. No, we 
did not that day sir.

Q. Yes?—A. Mr. Parkinson apparently saw our pictures in the paper on 
Saturday evening and he called up one of the fellows about 9 o’clock on 
Saturday night.

Q. When was that?—A. I think it was a Thursday night, towards the latter 
part of December that he presented the contracts. On the following night he 
called up one of the fellows and he was quite put out that we had gone to 
Windsor and that we were causing trouble. He told us if anyone wanted to sign 
our contracts we could come up to London and sign them. Consequently we 
went no further to notify him not to come down with the contracts on Monday 
and he never showed up.

The Chairman: And you did not go to London?
The itness: We did not go to London, no.
Mr. Fleming: Very well, what was the next step?
The Witness: I believe the next step—

92665—3
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The Chairman: May I ask a question there. About what period do you say 
you complained officially to Mr. Murchison? That is one of the questions 
Mr. Fleming asked?

The Witness: Shortly after that, within the next few days, we wrote a 
letter to the Minister of Veterans Affairs. Now I am not sure whether I have 
a copy of that letter but in that letter we pointed out our reasons for not 
wanting to sign the contracts, which were to the effect that when Mr. Murchison 
and Mr. Woods were in Windsor, they intimated to the fellows in Windsor 
that unless the houses were completed and the actual repairs were done they 
would not be asked to sign.

Mr. Fleming: When you speak about the fellows in Windsor, you mean the 
men allotted to Veterans’ Land Act houses on the project there?

The Witness: That is right, the men in Windsor. We pointed out to the 
Minister of Veterans Affairs and explained to him we thought we should be given 
the same consideration because at the time Mr. Parkinson contacted us he told 
us if we did not sign within a week we were to lose our back rent. We had 
to pay back rent from the time we moved in, and, if we did not decide to take 
the houses over in two or three days, that money would be lost to us. In any 
event we had to move on the first day of May to a rental basis. So we got a 
letter written back. It was written for the Minister of Veterans Affairs and the 
letter told us a report would be prepared and we would hear from him later. 
To date we have not heard an answer to that letter.

Mr. Coté: What were the dates of the two letters you referred to?
Mr. Fleming: Is this thç letter you refer to written on behalf of the 

minister Mr. Cleave?—A. This is the reply of the minister, signed by Mr. 
Senior, executive assistant. This letter is dated January 23, 1947, and it says:

This acknowledges letter of January 20th, addressed to the Minister 
of Veterans Affairs and signed by yourself and three other veterans. 
A report is being asked for in order that the minister may reply to your 
inquiry.

Q. Have you got a copy of the letter you wrote to the minister to which this 
is a reply?—A. I believe it is over there. No, I have it here, sir. It reads 
as follows :

January 20, 1947.
Sarnia, Ont.

The Minister of Veterans Affairs,
Ottawa, Ont.

Dear Sir: On January 15, Mr. G. H. Parkinson of your London office 
interviewed the occupants of the homes in the NcNally-Durance sub­
division of the V.L.A. project in Sarnia, Ont. He read part of a general 
directive from Ottawa and asked the various veterans to sign the final 
contracts for taking over their homes.

You no doubt are aware that there are a good many faults in these 
houses, largely due to poor workmanship on the part of the contractor. 
These particular faults have been brought to the attention of repre­
sentatives of both the contraetor and the government on many occasion* 
in the past, but to date comparatively little action has been taken to 
remedy them.

Although Mr. Parkinson assured us that these faults would be 
corrected, it was felt by the undersigned that a list of the minimum 
repairs required for each individual house should be signed by an
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authorized government official and given to the occupant as a guarantee 
that the work would be done. Mr. Parkinson stated that this request 
could not be granted.

Since that date w'e have been informed that Mr. Gordon Murchison, 
Director of V.L.A., stated to the veterans in Windsor, Ontario, that 
they would not be required to sign until such time as the repairs 
to their homes had been completed to the satisfaction of the occupant. 
In view of this we feel that possibly Mr. Parkinson misinterpreted 
the instructions from Ottawa, and that naturally, we will not be 
required to sign until the repairs on our houses have been completed 
as is the case in Windsor.

May we have the above clarified at your convenience.
Yours truly,

(sgd) S. V. ANTENBRING 
(sgd) W. T. CLEAVE 
(sgd) R. K. TIMS 
(sgd) W. H. PICKETT

CC Mr. G. H. Parkinson 
London, Ont.

Reply to W. T. Cleave 
Pt. Edward, Ont.

By Mr. Beaudry:
Q. Mr. Chairman, would the witness mind clearing up a point on which 

I am not quite clear? He mentioned a moment ago some alternatives which 
were discussed at the time when the contract was proffered to them. The 
alternatives are not clear in my mind. Would you mind telling us what they 
were?—A. Well, here are the alternatives ; one thing we could do was to sign 
our contract and commence payment as of the first of February, 1947. We 
wrere told we could move out within one week at which time the $600 down 
payment which we had made would be refunded to us, less any depreciation or 
what-you-may-call-it that had happened to the house since our occupancy. This 
was to be determined by the government. If we did not move out 
within a week we were presumably going to be charged rent from the time we 
went into the homes ; and, in any event, we had to vacate the houses by 
May 1, 1947.

Q. You were going to be charged rent from the time of your original 
occupancy up until the first of May?—A. They didn’t mention that specifically, 
but presumably we would be charged the rentals set by the government; and 
our $600 that we had put up as a down payment would be refunded to us, less 
this depreciation.

Q. At what amount was this depreciation to be set?—A. The only thing 
that I could give you on that is that one of the fellows that signed a contract 
wrote a letter I think to the Minister of Veterans Affairs. I haven’t a copy of 
the letter although I did see it—asking for a cancellation of his contract. He 
received a reply in which they asked him to reconsider his withdrawal and they 
pointed out to him that if he did get a cancellation of his contract he could be 
charged rent, and the rent which the government or Veterans Affairs had tenta­
tively decided on was 7 per cent on the land and 10 per cent on the value of the 
house. Now, I figured that out on my,house, on the value they set on the 
house, and it came I think to $63 and some odd cents a month rent.

Q. But you personally had no direct information as to what the govern­
ment would have asked you to pay in the from of rent?—A. No, I have no 
information as to what the rent would have been, aside from that.

92665—31
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By Mr. Fleming:
Q. That case you spoke of was one of the veterans who had signed a 

contract?—A. That is right.

By the Chairman:
Q. You mean 10 per cent of the payment?—A. No, that would be based on 

10 per cent of the cost of the house and 7 per cent of the cost of the land.

By Mr.Fleming:
Q. That would bring your statement down to I think the 23rd of January, 

around that?—A. That is correct, sir.
Q. Just carry the issue down from that point, Mr. Cleave, in your own 

words, will you?

By Mr. Case:
Q. Might I interrupt for one moment? You say the letter was signed by 

yourself and four others?—A. Three others, four of us signed it.
Q. And that represented those who were having difficulties?—A. There were 

only six of the eight houses occupied at the time when we were approached to 
sign these contracts. No, there were only—there were, just before they came 
together and asked us to sign the contract one of the fellows had moved out 
and a new fellow had moved in, but that still left two vacant houses. There 
have been two vacant houses there all the time; outside maybe the week 
of overlap.

Q. That means then that this letter was signed by four of the six occupants? 
—A. That is right.

Mr. Fleming: Very well then, we will just take it from then on, from the 
23rd of January.

The Witness: I think the next step was when we got in touch with our 
local member, Mr. J. W. Murphy, our member of parliament.

The Chairman : About what time was that, about what date?
The Witness: It must have been around the first of February, around in 

there I guess. It was the first part of February anyway. And we presented our 
case to Mr. Murphy and told him what our troubles were and he kindly came 
cut and looked at the houses himself and a couple of contractors and then he 
went to Ottawa and brought it up on the floor.

Mr. Fleming: I can give you the date of his speech . . . February 4th.
The Witness: Well then, it must have been in the latter part of January. 

Only about a week or so elapsed from the time we wrote this letter.

By Mr. Fleming:
Q. Well, now, just to complete our information up to that point when Mr. 

Murphy took the case up in the House of Commons, would you give the com­
mittee a description of the defects in the houses, as you saw them?—A. Well, 
they are quite varied. I have a list here of some of them in my house. Water in 
the basement, which was discussed this morning.

Q. How much water?—A. I had two electric sump pumps running ever 
since the break-up. I won’t say ever since the break-up. First there was a water 
sump pump in for one month. Then they came in and put in an electric pump 
and that ran right through until about, I would say, about the first week in 
June—both running—then one shut off; and on the 20th day of June my last 
pump shut off and has not been running since.

Q. Did the V.L.A. put the sump pumps in or was it the contractor?—A. 
No, it was done at the time they were—I mean the contractors were there.

Q. Just go on with that . . .
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By Mr. Beaudry:
Q. You say these pumps continued to operate until some time in June of 

this year?—A. The 20th day of June the last one shut off. One of the pumps 
w as running until then.

Q. Was that because there was no further need?—A. 1 hat is correct, the 
water level got below my basement floor then.

Q. When did the pump start operating?—A. I forget, in the spring of the 
year. I suppose it would be in March, I am not sure.

By the Chairman:
Q. And up to March your basement was not flooded?—A. That is correct. 

When we went into the house last fall the water level I would say was about 
six or eight inches below my basement floor. " Right now it is about one or two 
inches, just below the basement floor. The floor is still damp but the water is 
not coming in.

Q. When you came in there was no water?—A. That is right.
Q. It just started in the spring of the year?—A. Around the time of the 

breakup, I presume that was in March.

By Mr. Fleming:
Q. How do you detect the water level?—A. Well, the sump pump is placed 

in a hole which is made in the basement floor and you can see the water level 
in that.

Q. And you can see down through the hole, can you?—A. It was there 
when I moved in in November but it was completely cemented in, the one they 
had was a water pump. It was roughly about a foot square. When they put in 
another electric sump pump, which they did in the spring of the year after the 
water started to come into the basement, they had to make a bigger pump hole. 
They put in a big sump pump. They tore a hole in the basement floor and the 
water came up like a fountain, it put about a foot of water in- my basement \in 
about fifteen minutes and they immediately rushed around to get a gasoline 
motor pump—I do not know what its capacity was, but it had a tremenrous 
capacity—and started pumping the water out of my basement and it took four 
or five days.

Mr. Beaudby: I do not think the witness in answering Mr. Fleming’s 
question as to the state of affairs which they found quite got the point Mr. 
Fleming was trying to make.

By Mr. Fleming:
Q. Could we get on with that, Mr. Cleave; can we continue with that 

particular set of conditions of which you complained and because of which you 
declined to execute a contract?—A. Yes. I am sorry I got away from that. The 
water was one of the things we complained about at that time.

Mr. Gladstone: Mr. Chairman, would it not be well now completely to 
cover the matter of water in the basement while they are on that point?

Mr. Fleming: We can come back to that. I think Mr. Beaudry’s point 
was well taken, that we should deal with conditions as they were at that time 
and follow it through.

Mr. Stvart (Charlotte): Do the V.L.A. pay for the installation of the 
pumps?

The Witness: That is correct. But they did not pay the hydro bill.

By Mr. Fleming:
Q. Will you give us a description, outline some of the things in the way of 

repairs and so on that led you to refuse to sign the contract in January?—
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A. The interior decoration. I do not know whether you know it or not, but the 
houses have been finished inside not with plaster but with plaster board, and the 
plaster board requires joint taping and filling, which is very poorly done, even 
to the nail holes—in my house they showed like someone had squirted the walls 
all over with oil from an oil can. It was a very bad job.

Q. And you mentioned earlier that after moving into the house after 
November 12, three or four days later, but after you had been allotted the 
house the contractor came back in 1946 at your request, did he?—A. I think 
it was at the request of the V.L.A. representative from London who came 
down, and they had asked us what our complaints were and I think he 
contacted the Ryan Construction Company, or the Ryan Home Builders, and 
had them bring some workmen back who were supposed to do this repair 
work.

Q. Was the type of work they were supposed to do repair work or building 
work?—A. It was definitely repair work, not building.

Q. Can you give us the nature of the repairs?—A. Yes. For example, 
the doors did not close. Another example, my bathroom sink started to come off 
the wall, so they took some plaster of paris and filled the crack in behind ; 
and there were some cracks along the doorsills and they filled those with 
plaster of paris. There were big-headed nails driven into the hardwood flooring 
and they attempted to countersink them and in countersinking them split the 
flooring; and they puttied up cracks in the chimney. In one of the houses the 
kitchen cupboard has started to settle, it had settled about a half an inch or 
more so they moved the quarter-round—they didn’t move it, they hit it with a 
hammer and knocked it down flush again.

The Chairman: Was that the time you moved in, around the 12th of 
November? About what time would that be?

The Witness: This would be during the latter part of December and in 
January, I would say.

By Mr. Beaudry:
Q. This would normally have been the type of work that would have been 

necessary and probably would have been obvious to everybody if the house 
had been allowed a month to settle instead of you moving in as soon as it 
was habitable.—A. No, sir. There were two or three of the fellows who were 
in those houses for a month or two months before I moved into mine. Naturally 
the interior decoration, and so on, was there when we moved in. That had not 
changed, but as to this bathroom sink I was telling you about in my house 
that happened after I moved in. It would not have mattered whether the house 
had settled for six years.

Q. When you moved in did you notice the state of the doors you com­
plained about?—A. Yes, I noticed it. I knew some of the defects but there 
were other defects which I did not know. I assumed that seeing as the house 
was built by the government for veterans that there was not any reason for me 
to go and inspect every little thing minutely because we believed they were 
properly constructed.

By Mr. Burton:
Q. But you did go out and inspect the house and look it over before you 

went in?—A. I had been through the house.
Q. Did you notice anything then?—A. I had noticed the interior decoration 

was not what it should have been, but there were a lot of other things I did 
not look for. It was a brand new home built by the government for the veterans, 
and I figured they would have done a good job.
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By Mr. Beaudry:
Q. Yet some of the defects were so obvious that you could not miss them? 

Take the doors, for instance?—A. Yes, the warped doors. There are two 
warped doors in my house which I knew were there when I moved in.

Q. You moved in under the assumption those would have to be repaired?— 
A. That is correct.

By Mr. Case:
Q. Who was with you when you made your first inspection, your pre­

liminary inspection before you moved in? Who accompanied you?—A. No one.
I merely went in to see the veterans officer in Sarnia. I told him I was interested 
in purchasing one of the houses. He said, “There are two vacant out there. 
Here are the keys. You go out and look at them.” I wrent out and looked at 
them and came back and told him wffiich house I wanted.

By Mr. Jaenicke:
Q. You went out and looked at them?—A. Yes.
Q. Were you then told just about what the price would be?—A. Yes. I was 

told then the price would be $7,800 and some odd dollars. I was informed of 
the price at the time.

By the Chairman:
Q. After you had inspected the house?—A. That is correct.
Q. At that time you wrere willing to pay that for it?—A. Yes.
Mr. Probe: May I interject at this stage? Is the witness sufficiently 

expert in building matters that he Would be able to make anything but a 
superficial inspection?

The Chairman : As any new owner would.
The Witness: I am not a contractor or a builder, and I did not know. 

To-day I have a better idea of what to look for than I had then.

By Mr. Beaudry:
Q. I should like to ask a further question. It follows from that when you 

did move in you knew that some repairs had to be made?—A. That is correct. 
I was not even certain they would be made. About the only thing I noticed 
was a couple of warped doors and that the interior painting job wras not what 
maybe ten or fifteen minutes one evening after work.
it should be. I did not look much further than that. I was only in the house

Q. But you were under no false impression ; you knew you were moving 
in a house where some repairs were obviously meeded?—A. Mr. Biggs informed 
me they had not come back to do any repair work, and he understood there 
would be minor adjustments that would be fixed up at a later date.

By Mr. Jaenicke:
Q. Did you notice the nails in the hardwood floors?—A. I did not, not 

at that-time.

By the Chairman:
Q. You could have spent more time had you wanted to than that 15 

minutes?—A. I could have spent two or three days if I had wanted to.
Q. After 15 minutes you thought you could take the house, and at that 

time assuming there would be repairs made you believed the price would be all 
right, since you took it?—A. I do not want to bring up personal affairs, but 
at the time I took that house this was the situation. I had been out to the
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project in the middle of the summer and had looked over the homes and had a 
rough idea of what they were going to cost. At that time we had definitely 
decided we would not take one, but as it happened we wrere living in a two- 
room summer cottage with a sun porch on it which was glassed in, and it had 
no foundation under it. The floors were very cold, and so on. My little girl 
woke up one Sunday afternoon crying with pains in her legs. Naturally we 
were afraid of polio, wdnch everybody thinks of. We called a doctor. The doctor 
came out and informed us that she had rheumatic pains. He said it was not 
rheumatic fever but it would definitely develop into that unless we did some­
thing about it and, of course, he recommended moving out of where we were 
living. I guess the housing condition is the same in Ottawa as it is in Sarnia. 
It was impossible to find anything else. I knew I could get one of these homes 
so I got it. That was my reason. Everybody else living out there took them 
more or less against their better judgment but they had to have houses.

By Mr. Fleming:
Q. You were cataloguing a number of things that you said were wrong 

with the house at the time of the exchange of the correspondence in January. 
I do not think you had finished when there were some other questions.—A. Well, 
the paint job and the plastering and the taking of the joints. I mentioned that. 
The windows have not been fitted properly into the sashes. They leaked rain 
in a bad wind storm. They told one of the fellows there they did not leak 
with storm windows on but he said, “Am I supposed to leave the storm windows 
on all summer”? That was one of the contractor’s workmen who said that. 
As to my stairway they spray-painted the house inside. The stairway is boards 
which have been stained and varnished, but they neglected to clean off the spray 
spots before they varnished. Consequently I have a lot of light paint on the 
stairs. It looks just like the painters had moved out yesterday and did not get 
around to cleaning it up. It cannot be cleaned without being sanded.

Then there were the warped doors. There was plywood that was broken 
in one bedroom upstairs. The bathroom sink was coming off the wall. The 
floors were very badly done with big-headed nails showing through which 
naturally you cannot resand while they are showing through.

Q. What about the chimmey?—A. You can hold a match up to any place 
practically in the chimney—I will bet in my chimney there are fifty places 
from the top of the house to the ground—and it will suck the flame off the 
match. They tell us the chimneys are lined. I do not know, but I cannot see 
how they would suck air if they are.

Q. What about the sub floors?—A. There is plywood in the kitchen.

By Mr. TFnrren;
Q. Before you leave the chimney, is there tile inside the chimney?—A. They 

tell us there is, but xve cannot figure out if there is tile there how it is that 
it will suck air through the cracks in the mortar.

Mr. Stuart (Charlotte) : It would be easy enough to see if it is tile lined.
The Witness: You can climb up and see that there is a tile at the top.

By Mr. Case:
Q. Do you get a good draft for your furnace?—A. Yes. there is a good 

draft "in the chimney. There is no fault with that. You were talking about the 
sub-flooring. There is plywood flooring in my house upstairs and in the kitchen 
downstairs. The sub-flooring which you can see in my kitchen is slats one hv 
six placed twelve inches apart. I am only talking of a house similar to mine 
where they had to break in to get at the water pipes. They had to tear out some 
of the ceiling upstairs, and I saw there that it was the same sub-floor upstairs
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under the plywood as there was downstairs. I presume it is the same in my 
home and the rest of them so far as I know, but you cannot see what is in 
the upstairs without tearing some of the wall or ceiling out to look at it.

By Mr. Fleming:
Q. Was it a full sub-flooring?—A. No, there is a full sub-floor just under 

two rooms in my house, but underneath the kitchen and the upstairs it is only 
a slat sub-flooring one by six placed twelve inches apart. That is the sub­
flooring. I know when they were putting my electric range in they were drilling 
a hole to put a cable through and one fellow downstairs hollered up to the 
fellow upstairs to watch out where he put that drill or the stove would be 
coming down. That is what it looked like. There are boards one by six and 
they are twelve inches apart. That is the sub-flooring underneath the kitchen.

Q. What about the beams and joists?—A. In my house you cannot see 
the bathroom upstairs, but in all of the houses that have the bathrooms down­
stairs, which I believe is in every house except one like mine, they cut off 
the floor joists and put in headers when they put the plumbing in. When they 
put the hot air pipes through in all of the houses they cut the main beam half 
way in two. As you know the main beam is square. They started at the bottom 
corner and came out at the top corner to put in the hot air pipe which means 
they have taken away at least half of the support of that beam.

By the Chairman:
Q. You have seen that yourself?—A. Yes.

By Mr. Fleming:
Q. Does that complete the enumeration of the defects in your house at 

that time? I am speaking of January now.—A. Yes. They promised us light 
fixtures which we did not have.

Q. Did you not have any light fixtures?—A. No, sir, just the porcelain 
socket to screw the bulb in. That is all that was there. They also talked 
about landscaping. Of course, at that time we realized they could not landscape. 
Then they told us they were not going to landscape them. They had some 
arrangement made where they were going to give us $140 and we could do the 
landscaping ourselves. I do not know anybody who has done anything with 
their landscaping who has got it done at that price. It will cost you $500 
or $600 to get a place that size landscaped.

Q. A ou were told this morning there was a definite charge made for 
landscaping.

By Mr. Burton:
Q. Before you go on with that do you know whether your house is insulated? 

—A. One of the workmen told me my house has two inches of rock wool in the 
walls and in the ceiling. It has now. When I moved into the house I did not, of 
course, inspect the house to see if it was insulated. One of the other fellows 
looked up in the attic to see if there was any insulation and it was all piled 
down in the far end of the attic and had not been spread. He spread the 
insulation himself. He told be about it and I got up in my attic and looked 
in my attic.

By the Chairman:
Q. Try to tell us what you have seen yourself.—A. In my house?
Q. In these other houses, too, if you have seen it.—Â. I saw that, too, 

but there was no insulation in the attic of my house up until about a month 
and a half ago when they did put it in.
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Q. That two inches of rock wool in the ceilings and the walls was not 
there?—A. Presumably it was in the walls. I do not know. I have only been 
told by the workmen it was. It was not in the ceilings at first but it is now.

By Mr. Burton:
Q. Did they put that in after you had drawn it to their attention?—A. I drew 

it to their attention about two or three weeks after I moved in and it was put in a 
month ago or maybe six weeks ago.

By Mr. Warren:
Q. Before you get too far away from the flooring, do you mean to say all 

the flooring is nailed down with large headed nails or just the occasional nail 
here and there?—A. I do not know how the floors were laid in my house. 
It appears they started in the centre of the floor and there were two boards 
nailed down the centre of the floor with big headed nails through them all the 
way through my living room, through the hall and into the other room, and all 
the way through the other room. In the hallway as to the landing right at the 
bottom of the stairs there were all kinds of boards with big headed nails in 
them and also in other boards as well.

By the Chairman:
Q. Was that hardwood?—A. That is in the hardwood floors. Talking about 

the hardwood floors the workmen were out there and when they tried to counter­
sink the nails they split all kinds of boards. There were two or three of them 
that were past filling so they had to replace them. The workman was out there 
to put in some new boards in the floor. He took out the boards and shoved his 
hand under the floor like this and raised the hardwood floor up like that.

By Mr. Fleming:
Q. You are waving your hands but that cannot go on the record. To what 

height could he move the floor?—A. I do not know. He pushed his arm under­
neath the floor and lifted it up an inch or two inches. Since then I was talking 
to one of the fellows who worked laying the floors. He informed me—I do not 
know this—at the time the floors were laid they laid five or six boards down, 
pushed them together with a crowbar and then nailed the last board, and then 
laid five or six more and pushed them together with a crowbar.

By Mr. Burton:
Q. Hardwood floors?—A. Yes.

By Mr. Fleming:
Q. I asked about the septic tank.—A. My septic tank shortly after I moved 

in stopped operating. Of course, the breather pipe off the tank is in my front 
lawn, and it started to overflow in my front yard. I could not have that so I 
went into town and I saw the veterans officer. He said, “The best thing you can 
do is to get a plumber to fix it and see about getting the bill paid afterwards"
I went down to a plumber and had him come out and fix the septic tank. At the 
time he took it up he found that tank was tipped the wrong way. It was tipped 
towards the house instead of away from the house, and that some oi the 
insulation off some of the BX cable they were using in the wiring had got down 
when the workmen were there and plugged it.

Q. What did you do about the bill for the plumbing?—A. I was not going 
to say that, but at the time I told them it was a V.L.A. house and presumably 
the V.L.A. was going to pay for it, but anyway they had to have an order from 
me. I signed the order for the bill or, at least, for the work to be done. I think
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the bill amounted to $18 and some odd cents so I asked them to send three copies 
of the bill to the Veterans’ Land Act, the Department of Veterans’ Land Act 
in London which they did. I have not asked them within the last week or three 
weeks but I know up until a month ago that bill had not been paid yet. 1 hat 
was, I believe, the first part of December it was dug up.

Q. You have given a description of the house in January when that letter 
was written by yourself and the three other owners—that letter should not have 
been taken away?—A. It was written I believe on January 20th.

Q. Did you have occasion to see with your own eyes the condition of the 
other houses in this group of eight at the same time?—A. Yes, sir, I have been 
through the others many times.

Q. Will you describe the conditions of these other houses at that time, still 
late in January?—A. Now, the houses, the faults in my house are general for 
all the houses except there are some odd ones in the others. There is one house 
next door to me and the rain leaks in the top window and runs down on the wall 
Apparently they left the tin flashing out of the top of the window.

By Mr. Gladstone:
Q. Is there a house number there?—A. No, sir, we are living out in the 

country. The houses are numbered from one to eight and I live in house No. 7.
Mr. Homuth : Swamp No. 1 Sarnia Township.

By Mr. Burton:
Q. You said you had been in all the houses?—A. Yes, I have been through 

them all.
Q. Are you here to-day representing the others? Did you have any 

discussion with them and did they ask you to speak on their behalf?—A. They 
were not—I did not get the notification in time to even get around and see all 
the fellows. I did talk to them all except one and tell them I was coming down 
to Ottawa. We have talked so much about this. They knew I was pretty 
familiar with the faults in the houses. I did not get any authority from them 
to talk for them, no.

By the Chairman:
Q. You have visited the houses yourself?—A. I have beqp in the houses 

many times.
Q. I think Mr. Gladstone’s question was directed towards asking you to 

speak of the houses by number?—A. My own house is house No. 7.

By Mr. Fleming:
Q. The one you mentioned, the house next door?—A. House No. 8, which 

is the one next door to me has practically all the same faults as mine. They 
won’t have the loose bathroom sink. Their water situation of course which is 

, not supposed to be in here, is the same as mine. Their walls were the same; 
their floors were the same and they have this one window which leaks at the 
top with any kind of rainstorm that comes from that direction. Their bathroom 
tub—apparently the workmen stood on the edge of it with hobnailed boots 
while they were putting on the plaster board in the bathroom. It is terribly 
scratched. There are no light fixtures there, of course. The seams in the wall 
show through.

By Mr. Gladstone :
Q. V hat do you say about the roof?—A. The roof of the house, the roofs 

arc asphalt shingle. I am not sure of the weight but I do not imagine they are 
210 pounds a square, because during the war I do not believe that was available 
but they are asphalt shingles. They look to be fairly good shingles.
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Q. Any trouble with leaks at all?—A. There has been no leaking roof so far. 
\\ e had quite a severe wind storm in the spring of this year. Those shingles 
were put on in the summer time and should have been cemented down by now. 
Wc had quite a wind storm in the spring of the year and the shingles on 
every house except one—this house happened to be sitting the other way to the 
wind—the shingles on every house except one turned up. This one house had a 
line all the way across the roof on one side of shingles turned up and mine had 
only a few shingles across the top peak turned up, but every house has shingles 
turned up except the one.

Q. Did they remain turned up?—A. No, they came back down.

By Mr. Warren:
Q. Were the shingles put on in the cold weather?—A. No, they were put on 

in the hot weather and should have been cemented down by now.

By Mr. Fleming:
Q. Would you just complete your review of the houses?

By Mr. Gladstone:
Q. Any trouble with the septic tank in the house next door?—A. No, they 

have had no trouble with the septic tank. In house No. 6, their upstairs window 
leaked water. The water pours under the front door, which they were supposed 
to fix. The other day I had occasion to be in the house and the house was 
flooded. It has ruined the hardwood flooring. His kitchen cupboard has sunk 
away, sunk down from the wall a good inch. You could stick your finger under­
neath the quarter round and that is the house where they pounded the quarter 
round down to meet it. When we came to find out why the sinks were sinking, 
sinks the size they are, they are the large double sinks and they have two parts 
to the sink; they have the deep well and the shallow part. They are quite heavy. 
Contractors have told me they are supposed to be built in the framework with 
2 by 4 or 2 by 2 to support them. In our house they are set in the one inch 
boards which the top of the cupboards are made of ; that is apparently the reason 
they are not standing up. The back door won’t open in house No. 6. This 
house No. 6 is one of the houses which has this beam which is half cut away 
and also the floor studding which h^s been cut away to put in the plumbing. The 
chimney leaks there. The seams in the wall show. There is no floor under the 
bathtub which you can see in his house because his bathtub is downstairs. 
There is no floor whatever under the bathtub. You can go down in the basement 
and see the bathtub sitting there. It is sitting on some kind of support, I suppose.

Q. Will you go on, Mr. Cleave?—A. House No. 5, which is Mr. Embrum’s 
is a house of the same style as house No. 6. By the way, Mr. Embrum is moving 
out. He has given up. I have not got the number of this house it is the one 
that the fellow assigned his contract. It is a four room bungalow. The paint 
job is very bad; their doors and windows leak. There is a bow in the kitchen 
wall which, I would say, bows out easily three inches. You stand at the 
doorway going between the kitchen and the living room and look down and the 
kitchen wall comes out a good three inches. That was pointed out at the time 
they were around looking at it. They said, “Well, you would not want to go to 
all the expense of straightening that wall up. Look at what it would cost. You 
would not. do it if it were your house.” Well, probably you wouldn’t. He is 
also the fellow who asked for cancellation of his contract and has not received 
a reply to it. The only thing he has gotten on his contract is about two months 
after he signed his contract lie got a letter telling—no, I guess it was about a 
month after—saying he owed the first instalment. About the first of February 
was the date he wrote for the cancellation of his contract and he got a letter to 
it throe days ago asking for his back payments.
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By the Chairman:
Q. Did you not say one of them asked to have his contract cancelled and 

did not they say it was possible to cancel it but he would be charged rent?— 
A. Yes.

Q. Is that the same man?—A. Yes, I am sorry, he said he did get that letter 
back but they did not cancel his contract.

Q. They told him he could cancel it and then they, would charge him rent. 
That is what you said previously?—A. Yes, that is so. There are no garages, 
of course, in this subdivision. The sidewalks they put in, what they call gravel 
sidewalks—I do not know if you know what gravel sidewalks are, but it is 
all sand. It is nothing but sandhills all around there. They went and dug up 
some of the dirty sand there and brought it. Then, they dug a trench of about 
three inches deep and laid the sand in it. It is worse than the yard itself.

By Mr. Fleming:
Q. Where did they get the plastering sand for this work?—A. They took 

it from a portion of the subdivision in a sandhill. They used that to putty up 
along the sill of the house.

Q. That was for the repair work later on?—A. Yes.
Q. I do not know whether you mentioned houses 1, 2 and 3 in your 

enumeration, did you? Is 'there anything about the condition of those?-r— 
A. Houses 1, 2 and 3—I am not sure of the numbers over there. One of those 
houses is occupied by a fellow who assigned his contract and has stayed out of 
it altogether.

By the Chairman:
Q. Stayed out of what?—A. He has never had any part in the argument or 

fight which we had about the houses. He has existing circumstances, I 
understand—

Q. You cannot say about that?—A. The other two houses, there is one 
exactly like my house which has never been lived in to date. The other house 
is the house the fellow moved out of at the time Mr. Parkinson came around 
to get the contract signed.

By Mr. Homuth:
Q. You would say, in view of the fact that one house has never been lived 

in and there are 100 veterans around Sarnia, they have not been clamouring 
for them?—A. That is correct. One fellow came out and enquired about getting 
a house. They told him they were not going to do anything about the houses 
in the way of selling any more of them until they got the repair work completed. 
That may explain the fact that there are not veterans after them, but I am a 
little dubious about the number of veterans after these houses.

By Mr. Fleming:
Q. How many houses are vacant to-day?—A. Two now and one fellow is 

moving out. There were two vacant when I left Sarnia.
Q. Those are the eight lucky vets who were described this morning?— 

A. Yes, sir.
Q. You have not spoken about septic tanks; what kind of tile did you 

find there?—A. They came back this spring and they found out a lot of the 
tile had not been put in and what had been put in was in too close to the 
ground and had broken during the winter with the frost. I think in practically 
every case, so far as I know, the other houses had new tile put in. At my 
place they dug a ditch for this tile which was full of water. They laid the tile 
in this water and filled it in again, so I do not know whether tile laid in water 
is good or not. I will grant you it was a wet spring.
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Q. The situation as you have described it to us is the situation as it 
existed in January?—A. That is correct.

By the Chairman:
Q. Except for the water?—A. Except for the water.

By Mr. Fleming:
Q. You heard what Mr. Murchison said this morning about the repair 

work that was undertaken and has been going on, I think he said for the past 
couple of months and is just about complete?—A. Yes.

Q. Have you anything to say about the course of events from January on?— 
A. I would say roughly about two months ago there was a representative from 
the V.L.A., I understand he was from Toronto, and a contractor from Toronto 
came down and informed us they were going to do all the necessary repairs 
on the houses. They said this.time they were going to make a job of it and 
do it right.

Q. Is that the first time that anything has been done about repairs from 
January until the time you mentioned about two months ago?—A. That is a 
pretty hard question to answer, sir. They were there week in and week out. 
There would be a man come in and paint a little board, put a chunk of quarter 
round here and he would be gone again. They were there every week doing 
something.

Q. You would call these the little patching jobs?—A. That is right, it 
was patch work ; trying to cover up the defects.

Q. Apart from these little patching jobs, do I understand nothing was 
done of a major nature down until two months ago?—A. That is correct, sir.

By the Chairman:
Q. What do you mean by a serious nature? The septic tank was repaired 

before that. It was repaired when?—A. It was repaired the first part of 
December.

Q. And the kitchen sink and so on, all these other things, all the repairs
were made before the end of the year? What repairs were made in January
and so on? We want to have an exact picture. Now, Mr. Fleming has asked you 
a question whether these repairs were made only in the last two months, and 
you said you had men coining and going at all times. You said that the septic 
tank was repaired in November. We just want to get the picture.—A. Well 
the repairs that they were doing up until two months ago were of a minor 
nature.

Q. That includes the septic tank?—A. Yes, well we will forego the septic 
tank—actually the V.L.A. did not fix it, .the gentlemen paid for it, up until a
month ago at least. Outside of the septic tank then they were very minor
repairs that they did. They took a plane and planed the door off so it would 
close and where there was several broken boards along the windows, that is just 
the sash board, they replaced those and daubed a little bit of paint on them.

Q. When did they fix the joints and the taping of the walls? Within the last 
two months?—A. That is correct.

Q. And the fitting?—A. That is correct.
Mr. Jaenicke: Is that taping satisfactory now? Did they make a good 

job of it or do the nails still show?
The Witness : They still show. They are much better than they were, 

but they are far from good.
Mr. Beaudry: What is the present condition of your house?
Mr. Fleming: Excuse me, we are down now to two months ago and I 

thought we might carry on until we reached the present stage.
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By the Chairman:
Q. Each time you made a complaint, to whom did you make it, one of the 

inspectors coming around?—A. Generally to Mr. Parkinson, one of the V.L.A. 
representatives in London. He was. the man that came out frequently to Sarnia.

Q. You said nearly a hundred men came out to the house. They must not 
have come there on their own. They were officials?—A. Well I don’t believe 
at the time we moved in the whole house had been inspected, anyway not the 
final inspection. It had not been completed at the time.

Q. No.—A. No, and there were representatives from Toronto and London,
I do not know whether there were any from Ottawa at that time.

Q. You made your representations to these representatives?—A. Yes, to 
anyone that came.

Q. And the next man would come to repair what he had seen and he would 
see something else?—A. Yes.

Mr. Fleming: You were not hiding your complaints under a bushel?
The Witness: No sir, we told everybody.
The Chairman : And there were plenty of people coming to hear them.
The Witness : Yes, there were plenty coming to hear them.

By Mr. Fleming:
Q. Now you are down to this time two months ago and did you say any­

thing about the hinges and door jambs?—A. Well the strap-hinges, hinges that 
you use on chicken house doors or other doors out in the backyard, are the 
type of hinges that they used upstairs. Upstairs off the bedrooms they have 
doors made so you can get out underneath the eaves for storage space, and. 
they used these strap-hinges. They are about so long, put in with three or four 
screws with a pin in the centre. They were used upstairs in my house, I am 
not sure of the other houses, some of the rest of the houses may not be the same.

Q. What about the door jambs, were they supported properly?—A. The 
door jambs on my house, one of the cracks they filled up but, a crack appeared 
in the door jamb, three or four door jambs and you can take hold of the door 
jamb like this and put your weight on it and the crack would spread open like 
this. On one of the other houses it was shown to the workmen and they looked 
at it and admitted the 2x4 supporting the door jamb had not been put in, and 
the door jamb was merely nailed to the plaster. I do not know whether that 
is the case in my house or not but the door jambs do give.

Q. Would you just complete the picture down to two months ago when 
something is undertaken?—A. Approximately two months ago this contractor 
from Toronto, or the Veterans Land Act officer I believe he was, from Toronto, 
came around and informed us they were going through the houses and really 
going to repair them this time and fix them up. I would say they must have 
been there two months. One of the houses, they put a new basement floor in it, 
and naturally they redecorated every house completely all the way through. 
They put in new tile to replace tile that was broken. They scarified our lawns 
There was some clay fill put on our lawn, the front lawn around the house, 
but since then it has been dug up so often, and scarified once, there is nothing 
but sand left. They sanded the floors and they plastered the chimneys in the 
basement where you could see.

By Mr. Burton:
Q. How would they sand the floor with these big nails showing?—A. They 

counter-sunk the nails and split a lot of the boards with the nails doing it.
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Q. You mean they drove the heads down?—A. That is right, they drove 
the nails down into the floor far enough to do the sanding. The floors have been 
sanded twice. The first time was the original time and again, since, my floor 
has been sanded.

The Chairman : The nails must be pretty far down now?
The Witness: Yes.
Mr. Fleming: Maybe the sanding is catching up with the nails?
The Witness: They certainly made an awful mess, I am not kidding you. 

In my house my brother lives with me and we had a cousin who came over 
from England and she was living with us at the time and there are three in 
my family, my wife, myself and one child. They came into the house to 
redecorate and my brother and the girl—they cleared out and my brother com­
muted to and from work fifty miles from Grand Bend to Sarnia. It was the 
only place he could go. The girl went to live with a friend in her apartment, 
and we moved the baby not a baby but a young girl, over to her aunt’s and 
they went ahead and redecorated the house and our furniture was all there. 
In my house they did a brush job but on the others they used spray. I think 
I was most fortunate because the others had spray painters. They certainly 
made a mess spraying the furniture in the house and there were spots—

The Chairman : Did they do anything to protect it?
The Witness: They had four or five different paint gangs and when one 

would go another would come. I was lucky. I hit two painters who had 
clean tarps and drop sheets and they were very good fellows and did the job 
as well as they could with what they were given to do it.

The Chairman : Do you know whether these people belonged to the 
original contractors?

The Witness: No.

By the Chairman:
Q. They were under the Veteran’s Land Act?—A. As far as I know they 

were hired by this contractor on the V.L.A. job. The painters that came into 
my house wanted to do the house a certain way but they would not let them 
do it. They had their own ideas.

Q. When you say “they” who do you mean?—A. I mean the contractor,— 
I won’t say the contractor—because at the time my house was being painted 
the other contractor was not there, but the Veterans’ Land Act officer was and 
he had his own opinion as to how the paint was to be mixed, and how it was 
to be put on, and the painters did the best job they could, but it was terrible 
for a new job. It is terrible. They came in to re-plaster over the joints and nail 
heads and they sanded off a few spots in some of the rooms. They are showing 
through worse than before in some of the rooms, but other rooms are better. 
The painter people say in two or three months the spots will be showing 
through because they did not allow for putting size on.

Q. When you say “they” do you mean the V.L.A.?—A. The painters who 
did the job. ,

Q. When you say “they” who do you mean?—A. Well while my house 
was being painted there was only the Veteran’s Land Act man. The contractor 
was also responsible for the work done in Windsor and he was in Windsor at 
the time my house was being finished.

By Mr. Fleming :
Q. Ryan Bros., of Windsor?—A. No.
Q. These men did it for the V.L.A.?—A. Yes.
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Mr. Burton : You mentioned a moment ago about the furniture being 
left in a mess, I do not think you evaded it but what did they have for 
covering the furniture? What steps did they take to protect it?

The Witness: They had drop sheets, I think all the painters had, but 
some of them were very careless about how they used them. The people next 
door to us, his wife was in the hospital with a new arrival at the time. They 
were not in the house. He was in town. They moved their furniture out. These 
painters moved the living room furniture on the front lawn and it was snowing 
that day and my wife got so mad that she went over and they covered it with 
a tarpaulin, but they did get paint over a tremendous amount of furniture 
little spray spots all over the furniture. I don’t know why they didn’t cover it.

The Chairman : Why did not the people in the house prevent them? If you 
were in your house you would make sure it was all right.

The Witness: It is pretty hard to keep up with them. They are painting 
in a room and they cover your furniture with sheets and they go ahead and 
start painting. As they move around the sheets get knocked off some pieces 
of furniture and they do not bother to put them back on and in the case 
next door they were not there to instruct them anyway.

Mr. Rinfret: You tell us that was done in the last two months?
The Witness : That is correct, the last two and a half months.
Mr. Rinfret: Did it snow in your vicinity since the first of May?
The Witness: Let us see, what is this—May, June,—well there was a 

snowstorm this one afternoon when the furniture was out. I don’t know whether 
there was snow in May or not.

The Chairman : Are you sure the repairs were made in May?
The Witness: I am pretty sure there was snow in May in Sarnia, one 

afternoon in May.
Mr. Fleming: We had snow in May here if I remember rightly.
The Witness: I think that is so.

By Mr. Fleming:
Q. What is the condition of the stairway to-day?—A. I will speak only for 

mv own stairway. I think I mentioned before, when the painters were there, 
after they got done painting the walls and so on, they neglected to clean the 
paint and the plastering from the wallboard off the stairs before they stained 
and varnished them. When the painters came in this last time they were of the 
impression the sander was coming to do the floors and they would sand my 
floors and fix them up and so they were not very careful to cover the stairs 
to keep the paint off, and the consequences of that is they never did sand the 
floor and it looks terrible. You can walk in the front door and it looks like my 
wife has not cleaned the stairs for six months.

Q. What is the condition of the basement to-day?—A. The basement is 
beginning to dry up but you can imagine what it would be like with water 
lying in the basement the last two or three months. It smells, the floor is slimy, 
and my wife had to send the laundry out for about two months because she 
could not do the washing in the basement.

Mr. Homuth: Excuse me, are there any laundry tubs?
The Witness: No, there are no laundry tubs and no outside taps what­

ever to use for the lawns and no taps in the basement. We had to put them 
in ourselves so we could wash down there.

Mr. Winkler: You could not use laundry tubs in the basement with a 
sceptic drain?

92665—4



528 STANDING COMMITTEE

The Witness : Yes, because they use a sump pump to pump the water out 
of the basement. That is the method they use to get the water out of the 
basement.

Mr. Case: There is one thing you would have lots of water in the basement 
anyway.

The Witness : That is correct. We measured the capacity of those speed 
pumps, me measured the capacity of the pumps—there are two pumps working 
in my house together, and have for two months at least and each pump was 
pumping fifteen gallons per minute so that was thirty gallons a minute coming 
out of the basement. One pump on rare occasions would shut off for just a 
moment and then click back on. My hydro bill, I used to pay for water before 
I went there, but now it is about double what it used to be.

By the Chairman:
Q. Have you made any claims to the Veterans’ Land Act?—A. No, sir, I 

didn’t. One fellow did but he didn’t get any satisfaction so he paid the bill. I 
have a bill in my pocket for $6.84.

Q. Did you claim for that?—A. No, sir, I paid the bill, there is no use, and 
you would not get anywhere.

Q. How do you know?—A. The fellow next door did and he had a water 
bill higher than that, and he made a complaint but couldn’t get anywhere.

Q. To whom did he make it?—A. To the office in London, or I am not sure 
whether it was the Veterans Affairs or the Veterans’ Land Act office.

Q. In your case you did not make a complaint?—A. I didn’t make a com­
plaint. I have the figures here since January 30th. The fellow next door sold his 
water sump pump which he shut off three weeks ago because it was using too 
much water. From January to date he has had 75,660 gallons of water through 
the sump at 40 cents a 1,000 gallons, for use in pumping water out of the cellar, 
and water they use in the house.

Mr. Gladstone: Did you have the city of Sarnia water connection?
The Witness: That is right, I think? I am not sure whether it is the city 

of Sarnia or whether they have rural water but it is the same water anyway.
Q. Mr. Cleave, just a word about the dimensions of these houses. There are 

eight houses, I understood you to say. I think you heard Mr. Murchison’s 
description of them this morning, and if I remember rightly, I am speaking 
from memory, he said four of them were one-storey cottages and four were 
bungalows. Am I right in my recollection?—A. Two of them were four-roomed 
houses—either six- or well—my house has three rooms downstairs or five rooms, 
my house and another one like it. Six, are four- or six-roomed houses. The 
six-roomed have an extra bedroom.

Q. Can you give us the overall dimensions of the houses, give us some idea 
of the size?—A. My house is 18 feet by 30 feet; that is 18 feet wide and 30 feet 
long.

By Mr. Homuth:
Q. Did you say 18 feet wide?—A. That is correct, sir; and 30 feet long.

By Mr. Fleming:
Q. And the price they asked you to pay for this house?—A. The only fair 

price I can give to you, the only one that was quoted to me, was the one they 
quoted to me at the time when they got my receipt for my $600 original down 
payment, the letter back thanking me for it—they laid out the contract price 
there at $7,849.05; that is, without the grant off; naturally I would have the 
$1,400 grant that they gave me and my $600 down payment and that left it 
something like $5,849.05.

Q. They still have your $600. Have you made monthly payments at all?— 
A. No, sir.
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Q. How do you stand at the moment with the department; I mean, how 
do matters stand at the moment between you and the department with respect 
to payment and occupation?—A. We know nothing at all, sir; whether we 
owe them money or they owe us money or what. We don’t know what to go by. 
We don’t know what is going to happen.

Q. When was the last word you had from the department on the subject 
of contractual relations with them?—A. I believe the last correspondence we 
had from the government—I think the letter is there—it was written in Toronto 
and at that time—

Q. Is this the letter to which you refer, a registered letter dated March 3?— 
A. That is correct.

Q. Do you mind if I read that, Mr. Chairman.
The Chairman : Why not have the witness read it?
Mr. Fleming: All right, would you read that for us?
The Witness: This letter reads as follows:

SOLDIER SETTLEMENT AND VETERANS’ LAND ACT

465 Bay Street,
Toronto 2, Ontario,

3 March, 1947.
Registered
Mr. W. T. Cleave,
Lot 41 S,
Briarfield Sub-division,
Sarnia, Ontario.

Dear Sir,—In recent months you have been allocated lot 41 S on the 
Briarfield sub-division, and at that time you signed a formal application 
for assistance in which you requested financial assistance to purchase the 
above mentioned property under the terms of the Veterans’ Land Act, 
at the price as shown on your application.

It might be pointed out to you at this time that one clause in your 
application for assistance reads as follows:

I have personally inspected the land with respect to which this 
application is made, at a time when the snow was off the ground and 
a thorough examination was possible and I am satisfied that it fulfils 
my requirements and that it is suitable for the purposes for which 
it is to be used.
This application was signed by you in the presence of a commissioner 

for taking affidavits and the department can only assume that you com­
pleted this document in the best of faith.

In spite of the above, you refuse to sign the agreement of sale which 
was presented to you in the course of the past few days, and in view of 
this, the department has no alternative but to take steps to make the 
home in which you are presently residing, available to another veteran 
who is agreeable to completing the agreements presented.

If on receipt of this letter you have reconsidered the whole matter 
and have decided to sign your agreement you may do so at the regional 
office of the Veterans’ Land Act at 211 Richmond Building, London, within 
five days of the date shown on the letterhead. If however, you still are 
not prepared to sign, you may vacate the premises within one week from 
the date shown on the letterhead, and if you do so, no rental will be 
charged from the date of occupancy until the date the Director has vacant
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possession. The property will be appraised however, and should there be 
any depreciation through your possession, a reasonable amount will be 
assessed for any depreciation caused by your occupancy.

If you do not elect to leave the premises within the seven days as 
outlined above, the department will arrange for the collection of a reason­
able rental from the date of occupancy until such time as you sign the 
agreement, or the 1st of May whichever is the earlier. The rental paid in 
this manner cannot be applied against your contract indebtedness but will 
be paid into the national revenue fund, and hence will be a total loss to 
you even though you should decide to complete your agreement at a later 
date.

Should your agreement not be signed by the 1st of May, 1947, the 
Director will insist upon vacant possession as of that date, and you may 
consider this letter as your formal notice in this respect.

Yours very truly,
(sgd) J. A. GOODCHILD,

For District Superintendent.
By Mr. Beaudry:

Q. What is the date of that letter?—A. Well, it is dated March 3, 1947, 
and it was sent by registered mail.

By Mr. Burton:
Q. On what date did you receive the letter?—A. I received the letter five 

days after the date shown on the letter.
Q. That would be on March 8?—A. It was on March 8th that we received 

the letter.
By the Chairman:

Q. Did you answer the letter?—A. No, sir, I did not answer the letter.
Q. Can you give the committee the reason wrhy you did not?—A. Imme­

diately upon receipt of that letter of course we got in touch with the Legion.
Q. “We”—you mean by that that the others received letters also?—A. That 

is correct.
Q. That is through your own personal knowledge?—A. To my own per­

sonal knowledge, outside of the two who had already signed.
The Chairman: That is all right.
The Witness: We went and got in touch with the Legion and the Legion 

called the V.L.A. place in London and told them that it was impossible even if 
we wanted to for us to sign our contract. Now, this was Saturday morning and 
it was impossible for us to get up to London and sign the contract before the 
closing date.

The Chairman: You mean, within the week.
The Witness: Within the seven days allowed. On the other hand the 

Legion man was told—the man he was speaking to told him to tell us to let 
the matter drop for the time being because he had been informed that Mr. 
Murchison and Mr. Woods were coming down for a personal inspection of the 
properties.

By the Chairman:
Q. You were told that by the Legion man in London?—A. Yes. I was 

there at the time he was talking to the other man, I mean when he was talking 
to the V.L.A. man.

Q. I mean that you were told that by the V.L.A. man?—A. That is correct ; 
we were told that Mr. Murchison and Mr. Woods were coming down there for an 
inspection.



PUBLIC ACCOUNTS 531

Q. Pardon me, I did not quite get you; you said that the V.L.A. man told 
you not to bother about that?—A. He said for us not to worry about it.

Q. What did the Legion man have to do with it?—A. He was the man 
who called London for us.

Q. And the V.L.A. man in London answered the Legion man to tell you 
not to worry?—A. That is right ; not myself but the Legion man told me not to 
sign them, that Mr. Murchison and Mr. Woods were coming down on a tour of 
inspection ; and Colonel Parrish was with them ; he was a contractor from 
Montreal, I believe, and we brought up the subject at that time; and, now, 
I am not sure whether it was Mr. Woods or Mr. Murchison or who it was that 
informed us then that we had no need to worry about that letter until such time 
as they made their final report to the Minister of Veterans Affairs and then we 
would hear what the outcome was.

By Mr. Fleming:
Q. Have you heard further?—A. We have not heard anything further.
Q. Apart from yourself do you know if any of the other veteran occupants 

of those houses have heard?—A. No, sir. The only one that I know of is the 
one chap who got a letter three or four days ago asking for his back payments.

By the Chairman:
Q. And you have not been pressed for payments either?—A. No, sir.
Q. And you haven’t received anything yet?—A. We have never been asked 

for any further money.
By Mr. Fleming:

Q. And you have been biding your time waiting to hear from the depart­
ment as to what the outcome of this inspection was?—A. That is right.

Q. And that letter was written and it was received by you before any of 
this repair work was undertaken?—A. That is correct, before Mr. Murchison 
and Mr. Woods made their inspection.

Q. I am speaking of the major repair work which you said began two 
months ago.—A. The major repairs were started after that letter was written.

Q. They were demanding of you that you sign a contract at the time the 
property was in the condition of disrepair which you have described this 
afternoon?—A. That is correct, sir.

Q. And the contract that you were being asked to sign under those 
circumstances called for a price of $7,859?—A. Now, I am not certain. There 
is a slight drop in the payment—I don’t recall just what it was, it varied from 
$40 to $100 perhaps in the price. Yes. At one time when they asked us to sign 
our contract—at the time of that letter there was no copy of the contract. 
I have never had a copy of the contract yet. I have no figures outside of what 
was shown on my original receipts for my $600. That is the only figure I have 
ever had from the government in writing to say how much my house was going 
to cost. My payments I think were to be $29.12 per month.

By Mr. Homuth:
Q. You said there was a hole in the floor of the cellar; was that there when 

you moved in—A. It was put there for the sump pump.
Q. It was there when you moved in?—A. Yes, about a foot square.
The Chairman: It was cemented around?
The Witness: Definitely, yes.
Mr. Homuth : When they put that hole in there they must have realized 

that they had built a house below water level.
The Chairman : That again is guesswork. Ask him about facts. He is not 

the one to decide whether it was or not. You should ask the contractor about 
that.
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The Witness : There is one house, I believe, only one which is built up on 
a kind of a rise where they have no trouble with water, and the contractor did 
not put a sump pump in that house.

By Mr. Homuth:
Q. So the idea was that they put a hole in the cellar floor, because of the 

water danger, the water menace, and the whole was put there so that you would 
be able to pump it out?—A. That is correct, the sump pump was there, too.

Q. The pump was there ; there is no question about it, the contractor who 
was responsible for the building knew that there was going to be water.—A. It 
was filled in.

Q. Now, just a minute; I think that one of the complaints you had when 
you moved in was that you knew that your basement floor was below water 
level. How far was the water level below the floor?—A. I would say it was six 
or eight inches.

Q. And how was it, let us say, around Christmas time or later on in the 
spring?—A. It remained at a constant level all the time until spring, the spring 
breakup, and then it came in.

By Mr. Beaudry:
Q. How did you ascertain the water level?—A. You could see it in the

hole.
Q. Did I understand you to say that the hole was-covered with cement.?— 

A. The hole was covered and the pump that was originally put in the water sump 
pump, the water expulsion pump which operated off the water system ; the water 
drained off by using the water itself to operate the sump expulsion pump. That 
sump pump required a hole a foot square. The electrical sump pump required 
a bigger hole and they cut the hole right through the cement floor, that was 
the only way they could put it to work, was by cutting a hole in the floor.

By Mr. Murphy:
Q. And that accounted for the high hydro bill?—A. That is correct, $6.84 

in one month.
Q. I have just one other question ; you did not tell the committee the type 

of construction of these houses?—A. Eight homes have all got Johns-Manville 
asbestos shingles on the sides. They have asbestos shingle roofs. They are 
finished with plasterboard inside, plywood flooring in all the rooms upstairs in 
the houses that have an upstairs, and plywood floors in every bathroom and in 
every kitchen of the homes. There are hardwood floors in the rest of the rooms.

By Mr. Case:
Q. What kind of a foundation?—A. Cement block on a cement footing.
Q. Are there cement floors in the basement ?—A. Cement floors in the 

basement.
Q. Is it frame construction?—A. Frame construction, yes.

By Mr. Murphy:
Q. Is there a sub-floor under the plywood floor in the kitchen?—A. No, sir, 

there is not. There are slats there one by six and twelve inches apart.
Q. In other words, about one-third sub-floor under the kitchen.—A. 

Roughly, one-third, I presume.

By Mr. Homuth:
Q. Do you mean to say that the walls are just Johns-Manville siding?— 

A. Yes. What is under that siding I do not know. I imagine they are sheeted 
underneath. I do not know.

Q. They are not brick or stucco, just Johns-Manville siding?—A. You 
know the white shingles.
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By the Chairman:
Q. There must be board sheeting underneath otherwise if you only had 

that covering it would not hold its place.—A. I presume there is sheeting 
underneath. I hope there is sheeting underneath.

By Mr. Burton:
Q. You would not know whethy the sheeting is half inch or an inch.— 

A. I have no idea what it is. I know the wind blows in beside my wall plug 
in the kitchen which is right beside the table.

By Mr. Case:
Q. You would not know whether it is solid sheeting or spaced sheeting 

such as you have under the sub-floor?—A. No, I do not know.
Q. But there is insulation between that and the plaster boards?—A. There 

is supposed to be two inches of rock wool.
By Mr. Burton:

Q. Have you any idea of the dimension of the studs? Are they two by four 
or two by six?—A. Down in the basement I believe it is two by eight studding. 
What is in the upstairs floor I could not say.

By Mr. Case:
Q. What is the centre between the studding or joists downstairs?
Mr. Homuth: You are talking about joists?

By Mr. Case:
Q. Is it 18 inch or 12 inch centre between the joists?—A. I imagine they 

are the same although I do not know.
Q. You do not know how far apart the joists are in the basement?—A. I 

do not believe I ever measured them.
Q. But you think they are two by eight?—A. They are two by eight in 

the basement. I know that.

By Mr. Jaenicke:
Q. I do not understand about that hole in the basement. A little while 

ago you gave me the impression that hole was put there because they expected 
water to come in. Then you told us there was a smaller hole first for some 
other purpose and a pump was there for some other purpose?—A. The only 
purpose I can think of why the hole was there and the pump was there was 
because they anticipated water in the spring of the year. That is the only 
reason I can see that it would be there.

Q. Then you made another remark about tearing up the floor.—A. I 
believe you are referring to the fact that somebody said you could not have 
laundry tubs in the basement because you could not drain them.

The Chairman: He is referring to afterwards when they came and dug 
a larger hole.

By Mr. Jaenicke:
Q. No, the smaller hole was there for some purpose with a pump to take 

out some water.—A. Somebody mentioned you could not have laundry tubs in 
the basement because there was no place to drain them and I mentioned 
you could use your sump pump to drain because we did use the sump pump 
to drain our laundry water. You could not carry it upstairs in pails and take 
it outside.

Q. Did you say it was put there for that purpose?—A. I do not believe 
it was put there for that purpose because there were no taps put in the base­
ment and there were not laundry tubs.
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By Mr. Case:
Q. You apparently have no natural drainage there in these cellars?—A. 

Apparently not. We had to wait until the water level gradually went down 
with the sun and the wind.

By Mr. Gladstone:
Q. What determines the water level there?—A. Lake Huron, I imagine.
Q. How far are you from the river or lake?—A. I would say we are 

about a mile or a mile and a half from Lake Huron and we are possibly two or 
two and a half miles from the river.

Q. How far are you from the post office in Sarnia?—A. We are on rural 
route No. 3. One of the fellows has a mail box there, but we are a long way 
back in from the road. I use Point Edward which is really our nearest place. 
I think the rest of them have general delivery, Sarnia, for their mail.

Q. What is the distance?—A. From Sarnia? Well, from the outskirts of 
Sarnia I guess we are maybe slightly over a mile but from uptown we are 
about four miles.

Q. It is very flat country there, is it not?—A. Yes, quite flat.

By Mr. Burton:
Q. Is there a paved road or a gravel road near the property?—A. There is 

a gravel road which they constructed to take care of these houses. It comes 
off a gravel road. I suppose we are 500 yards from that gravel road. Taking 
the back way, which we have to take to the bus, we are about a mile from the 
bus, between three-quarters of a mile and a mile from the bus. We have that 
to walk to catch the bus.

By Mr. Murphy:
Q. You were here this morning when Mr. Murchison referred to some war­

time houses that were for rent within a mile and a half of your place?—A. 
Housing Enterprises Limited houses. He is correct. They are about a mile and 
a half from where we are. They are on the outskirts on Sarnia. We are further 
out again, but they are still within the city. They have sewers and they have 
a paved road running by them.

By Mr. Burton:
Q. Sidewalks?—A. Sidewalks, yes; I believe all the sidewalks are now 

completed there.
Q. What was the rent for anyone having a house similar to yours in that 

location? Do you know what any of your friends paid for rent?—A. It is too 
much. I think for a house similar to mine it was $48.50. .1 understand there 
has been some raise since they took the ceiling off the houses completed since 
the 1st of January, but that is a scandalous rent. That is far more than War­
time Housing. A Wartime Housing house like mine is renting for around 
$25 to $30.

Q. There is Wartime Housing in the same vicinity?—A. They are over 
in another section of the city, but they are in the city. They are having 
trouble there, but they have sewers, sidewalks, things like that, a bus service.

Mr. Beaudry : If I may interrupt, did we not have a figure quoted by Mr. 
Murchison as to the rental of the houses put up by Wartime Housing, that it 
was set at $52.50 a month?

Mr. Fleming: That is the one that is in the city of Sarnia.
Mr. Beaudry : The witness just said he thought the rentals were around 

$25 a month.
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The Witness: For Wartime Housing. I know definitely that Housing Enter­
prises Limited are renting a house that has a' kitchen, living room, bedroom 
downstairs and bath, and two bedrooms upstairs for $50 a month now.

By Mr. Case:
Q. How much land have you with your house?—A. Half an acre presumably. 

It has never been measured out. I do not know where it runs.
By Mr. Fleming:

Q. Is it fenced?—A. No.
By Mr. Case:

Q. Is that general with the houses built there? Do they each have half 
an acre?—A. They are supposed to have half an acre to each home.

By Mr. Gladstone:
Q. What is the character of the top soil?—A. Sand, beach sand.
Q. What is the lower part? To what depth does the sand go?—A. All the 

way down, I think, as far as anybody has ever dug, anyway. A cotiple of 
fellows tried to plant a garden. One fellow is lucky. He has a little bit of land 
at the back of his house, away back at the back end of it, right over on the 
far side of the subdivision, where there is apparently some black loam. He is 
the only one out there who has a garden. Another fellow attempted a garden 
and it is not growing at all.

Q. If the sand goes down that far the water level must be determined by 
the height of the water in the river.—A I would say the lake. I do not know. 
It all depends whether there is a clay bank between there and the river or the 
lake.

By Mr. Jaenicke:
Q. Is the water level in the river and the lake exceptionally high this year? 

—A. I really could not answer that. I am not sure.
By Mr. Coté:

Q. How old are these houses of a similar type which are rented for $25 and 
$30 a month?—A. That is Wartime Housing. I believe some of those were just 
completed in 1946. In fact, I am sure they were completed in 1946. I think 
there were about 150 homes completed in 1946 and rented at that time. I 
would not like to say to the exact figure because I do not know, but I under­
stand they rented between $25 and $35. Of course, they are a different size 
home. I think they rent as cheaply as $22 in some cases.

By Mr. Burton:
Q. But they are not the type of house you expected yours to be when you 

moved in?—A. No. These wartime houses were not completed as well as ours. 
For instance, in our kitchen we have built-in cupboards which I do not believe 
they have in Wartime Housing. They may be built in but I do not believe 
they have doors on them.

By Mr. Case:
Q. I do not think they have a basement either.—A. No, a lot of them do 

not have a basement. Those I am talking about do not have a basement.
By Mr. Beaudry:

Q. I am not disputing your grievance and the difficulties you have had, 
but when you went in to purchase that house did you go in to invest $7,800
roughly as a lifetime proposition or-------A. Well, yes. Naturally when I went
in there I knew I was assuming an obligation for 25 years. I presume I could
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have broken the contract. If I had broken the contract I would have lost all 
the money I had put up, also my V.L.A. and my rehabilitation credits.

Q. Was the actual ownership of that house the motive—and again I am 
not questioning the motive—or was it the stronger motive that you needed 
accommodation at that time?—A. That is correct. I practically had no other 
choice. I had to get a place to live. My little girl was sick.

By Mr. Jaenicke:
Q. How is she now?—A. She is fine.

By Mr. Beaudry:
Q. You went in there and you were going to invest that amount of money 

and yet you said you took very little time to examine the house.—A. I had been 
through the houses before. I looked through them in July, but when I went 
in I was not looking for beams cut off, floor joists cut off, insulation not there, 
and all that kind of thing, because I knew that before the war when you built 
under the National Housing Act, when the government was having a house 
built the supervision was very strict, and I assumed that this house, at least 
the stuff I could not see, was in good shape.

Q. A ou took it for granted?—A. I took it for granted that the house was 
properly constructed.

Q. And that you did not have to examine the house or have it inspected?— 
A. I knew the price was high but I assumed I was getting a good house when I 
bought it. That was my attitude. That is what I told my wife, “At least we 
will know it was built by the government for veterans. At least we will know 
that.”

By Mr. Burton:
Q. It was built by a contractor?—A. Yes.
Mr. Fleming: Under contract with the government.

By Mr. Denis:
Q. On the third of March when you received that letter did you know how 

much it would cost you to get that house?—A. The only price I had was the 
original figure.

Q. On the third of March when you received your last letter did you know 
how much it would cost you to get that house?—A. They did not state it in 
the letter but I knew what it was roughly. I could not lay my finger on a 
figure and say, “That is it.”

Q. You could have inquired at that time to ascertain how much it would 
cost you exactly to get the house?—A. I presume I could have written to 
London.

Q. That was not the question.—A. I could have found out. I did not try. 
I suppose I could have, I guess.

Q. Can you figure the amount it would cost you to get that house?— 
A. I think there is a slight decrease in the cost but roughly $7.800 is the original 
cost less $1,400 grant.

Q. If I understand you you were not satisfied with the condition of the 
house at that time on the third of March. Is that right?—A. The house had 
not been—

Q. You were not satisfied with the house on the third of March when you 
received that letter?—A. That is correct, I was not satisfied.

Q. In that letter it is mentioned that if you are not satisfied with the 
house you could vacate it within seven days. Is that true?—A. That is true.

Q. You did not vacate the premises?—A. Where could I vacate to?
Q. You did not vacate?—A. No, I still live there.
Q. You still live there?—A. Yes.
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Q. According to the letter if you had vacated the premises you would not 
have to pay rent?—A. If I vacated within a week, yes, I would not have to pay 
any back rent.

Q. So you could cancel the contract without it costing you one cent?— 
A. Unless they deemed there was some depreciation.

Q. Some depreciation because of your own fault?—A. That is correct.
Q. But according to what you say you did not do anything like that. 

You did not cut any floors in the house?—A. No, sir.
Q. You do not—-----A. I do not think I have damaged the house in any way.
Q. You did not scratch the walls?
Mr. Homuth: They would be sure to notice that if he did.
Mr. Denis : We have a right to question the witness. He is here for 

every member.
Mr. Homuth: I am trying to help you out.
Mr. Gladstone: I think everyone has a right to expect a good house, and 

I am sure it is the feeling of every member of this committee that veterans 
everywhere should have a good deal on the houses they buy. Now, concerning 
the question of water: it is reported generally that the water level in our great 
lakes is at perhaps the highest point that has been known. It is also true 
that all over western Ontario people have had water in their basements. I 
know even in the hilly country such as that in which I live at Guelph, there has 
been water in the basements this year. However, that is not unusual. It is 
almost to be expected that in the low, flat country around Sarnia with the river 
and lakes unusually high, there would be water in the basements?—A. Yes, for 
a few days, sir, not for a few months.

By Mr. Beaudry:
Q Does the water fluctuate that much? I do not mean in the house, I mean 

in the lakes?—A. My wife’s aunt and uncle live out in the country. They have 
had water in the basement in the spring of the year. It comes in and stays there 
for two or three days and then goes out again.

By Mr. Homuth:
Q. The very fact there is a hole in the cellar floor and a sump pump there 

it leaves no question—
The Chairman : You cannot say “no”.
Mr. Homuth: It leaves no question about the reason why a sump pump 

was put in there was to pump the water out.
Some Hon. Member : Let us have the contractor here and find out.
The Chairman: Why don’t you summon him?

By Mr. Gladstone:
Q. What organization did the contractor have in Sarnia? Did he have an 

inspector there when the homes were being built?—A. I could not tell you, sir, 
I was not there.

Q. When were those houses built?—A. I believe in 1945 and 1946. I did 
not get discharged from the army until February 1946. I was not there when 
the houses were started.

Q. Did the contractor maintain an organization in Sarnia?—A. I under­
stand he did. He had a time office and had a building up there.

Q. Who would be the men who were continually going out to do these 
minor repairs?—A. Well, they were men from Windsor, sir. I believe the 
contractor himself or his superintendent did hire a few men locally from Sarnia 
but the most were brought up from Windsor.
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Q. You said they were there every day doing something? Would they come 
from Windsor every day?—A. They would come up for a couple of days, stay in 
the hotel over night and come up in the morning and do a little work. Sometimes 
they would go home to Windsor at night and come back the next afternoon.

By Mr. Case:
Q. Have you ever had any experience building houses yourself?—A. My 

father is just in the process of building one and I have helped with that.
Q. You have some knowledge of building?—A. A slight knowledge, yes.
Q. Do you know anything about the cost of building to-day?
The Chairman: Do you think that is a fair question to ask this witness? 

His father is building the house.
Mr. Case: He can say yes or no.
The Witness: I have had prices given me by contractors of what it would 

cast to duplicate my house, if that is what you mean. I think they were 
reliable contractors. There was no reason for them to misquote the house. 
There was none of them over $4,500.

By Mr. Fleming:
Q. From how many contractors did you get prices?—A. I got prices from 

two contractors and also from a man who was in the contracting business. He 
was a supervisor of work, I think, for the government—no, he worked for the 
contractors on wartime housing for a considerable time in Sarnia.

Q. Those are the three people from whom you got prices?—A. Yes.
By the Chairman:

Q. Did they just figure out the price or did they quote you a price for 
which they could build the houses? There is a lot of difference between those 
two things. Did you say, “This house would cost so much” or “I can build 
that house for that sum ; there is a quotation”?—A. I merely told the contractors 
we were having an argument about the price of the houses and I want to know 
what you would build that home for.

Q. Did he visit the home or did he see the plans?—A. Two of them were 
there and one was not there. I described the house to him.

By Mr. Beaudry:
Q. None of these contractors thought you were asking for a quotation 

with the intention of building yourself?—A. That, I would not know.
Q. You would know because you were the one asking for the information?— 

A. They knew we had complaints.
By the Chairman:

Q. They were not quoting a figure to you saying that they could, to-morrow, 
build a house for $4,500?

By Mr. Beaudry:
Q. Were they willing to sign a contract with you for $4,500?—A. I did 

not ask for that.
By Mr. Fleming:

Q. You say you asked them what it would cost to build that house?—A. 
What they would charge me.

Q. You say the highest of the three was $4,500?—A. Yes.
Q. Wlmt were the other two?—A. $4,500. They did not get it down to 

fine figuring, but between $4,000 and $4',500.
Mr. Case: The point I want to arrive at is this; he has some knowledge 

of building.
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The Chairman: What kind of knowledge of building? Before you state it 
ask him when he worked in the building trade.

Mr. Case: He has said.
The Chairman: He has never said that he worked in the building trade.
Mr. Case: He said he helped around his father’s place.
The Chairman : His father has started to build a house.

By Mr. Case:
Q. Let me put the question this way; if you knew that this house cost 

$10,000 to build that would influence you in expecting a good house?—A. That 
is correct, sir.

Q. It is bound to influence anyone whether that person has any knowledge 
of building or not. If a fellow says it cost $10,000 to build a house, a person 
would expect a reasonably good house.

By Mr. Coté
Q. On the other hand, do you know that under present conditions con­

tractors have most of the time to be satisfied with second and third grade 
material and a low quality of labour?—A. I realize that, sir. I am thoroughly 
aware of the fact.

Q. While I am on my feet, there is a point I should like to clear up about 
your agreement of sale. Did you at any time go over the terms and conditions 
of that agreement which the department wanted to make you sign?—A. At 
the time Mr. Parkinson was up and met the fellows in this one house he had 
the contract there. I asked him if I could see my contract and he said yes. 
I took it and read it in part. I read quite a bit but there was a lot of fine 
print which I did not bother to read. It was an ordinary bill of sale with a 
mortgage clause in it and so on.

Q. Did you discuss any of the clauses of that contract or any of the provisos 
in it?—A. No, sir. The only thing/as was in that letter, we thought it was only 
good business if you were buying a house from me and there were some repairs 
required on the house and you said, “Oh well, sign the contract and I will fix 
it up afterwards”; it was only good business to have that in writing. That is 
what we asked from the government originally, that they put down the minimum 
repairs required in each home and put it in writing, give us a list of them.

Q. That was your pre-requisite condition?—A. That is what we asked for 
that night and that is what Mr. Parkinson told us he could not get. He said 
he was not in a position to get it. We asked for some official who would have the 
power to sign that agreement.

Q. In the estimate given by Mr. Murchison this morning of $780 for repairs 
since you made that, a fair estimate?—A. That is hard for me to say. I think 
I have here some exact figures. These were the figures submitted by the V.L.A. 
man who was there when the contractor was there fixing them up these last two 
or three months. I know he used this estimate of repairs. He told me that was 
the figure he had submitted to the department himself. It was on my house, for 
instance, to date, this was from January 1st up until the date of this sessional 
paper 135-J dated May 14th, there was $460 repairs which had gone into my 
house. There was an estimated $340 still to be done.

Q. The major repairs only started after that date?—A. It started after the 
first of January but they were partly done on May 14th when this estimate was 
given.

Q. Did you, yourself, may any minor repairs of any kind?—A. Not of any 
consequence, sir, no.

Q. You just waited for the government officials?—A. Well there was a 
repair man around there fixing up things. They told us they were going to fix 
this or that. Naturally, there was one door which was scrubbing on the hard-
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wood floor and I took it off and planed it off so it would not ruin the floor. I did 
minor things like that.

Q. To get back to your personal matters about which you have told us, has 
your little girl improved or got worse since you moved into that house?—A. 
She has decidedly improved.

Mr. Homuth : But she does not walk around on the cellar floor.
The Witness: It is dry upstairs.
Mr. Coté: I merely wanted to have your answer to that as a basis of 

comparison as between the health conditions of the place where you are now 
and where you were before?

The Witness : I was living in a two roomed cottage with a sun porch. It 
had one floor and it had no basement. It was only built for summer living.

By the Chairman:
Q. Is this house well heated?—A. Yes, it was quite comfortable all winter.

By Mr. Warren:
Q. Was there a furnace in it?—A. Yes.
Q. That went as part of the house?—A. Yes.

By Mr. Gladstone:
Q. Did the water interfere with the firing of the furnace?—A. No, but it 

interfered with my coal. They have put in a water-proofing coat of cement on the 
basement floor and part way up the wall in my house to keep out the water, but 
they neglected to put it in the coal bin. This floor is about an inch or better 
thick and consequently I have about an inch of water which lies in my coal bin. 
It cannot get over this rise to drain into the sump pump. Outside of that, the 
sump pump gets the water out of the basement. It did not get to any height 
in the basement.

By Mr. Beaudry:
Q. From these contractors who gave you the quotations did you ascertain 

whether they could build for you now at that figure?—A. I have not asked 
anyone within the last four or five months.

Q. It would be interesting to find out whether you could build that same 
house for $4,500 instead of paying $7,900 for the house. You should not overlook 

. that opportunity?—A. It would be, but what do I do in the meantime while 
they are building my house.

Q. But you are under no obligation to anyone. You have resided in the 
house . . .

Mr. Fleming: But the government has his $600.
By Mr. Murphy:

Q. When you made application for the house, it was with the intention of 
carrying out the deal?—A. Yes.

Q. You entered into the contract in good faith?—A. Yes.
By the Chairman:

After visiting the property?—A. Yes.
By Mr. Gladstone:

Q. When did you go through all these eight houses?—A. It was during the 
summer of 1946, July or August. I had decided not to buy one.

Q. You were allotted the house on the ground of veteran’s preference; you 
said you got the house because of your veteran’s preference?—A. According to 
the observation of the Veterans’ Land Act people that is what Mr. Murchison 
said. Now, they started that way in Sarnia. They took out eight veterans who



PUBLIC ACCOUNTS 541

were to take these houses and the eight veterans were supposed to be allocated 
a house. They turned them down.

By the Chairman:
Q. Do you know that for a fact?—A. I know that for a fact.

By Mr. Beaudry:
Q. Do you know the reason?—A. Why they turned them down? I think 

the price chiefly at that time. There was quite a bit in the papers about it,
I do not know whether it got in the papers here. Then, these houses dropped 
out of the news. They remained vacant, I think, for another month or so. 
Nobody seemed to be taking them up. Gradually somebody had to have a 
house and one by one they were applied for.

By the Chairman:
Q. And accepted, and as you told Mr. Murphy they took the obligation 

to pay $7,900 for the house?—A. That is correct, sir.

By Mr. Denis:
Q. Did you ever send a list of the repairs to be made to your house to 

the contractor or to the department?—A. No. We gave those to the V.L.A. 
officials when they were there on the spot.

Q. You never sent any written list of the repairs to be made to your 
house at any time?—A. I do not think we did. We gave it to the V.L.A. 
officials who wrote it down and made a list themselves.

Q. So, neither the contractor nor the department refused to make these 
repairs because you did not send them in?—A. No, they didn’t refuse to make 
them, oh, no.

Q. If you were trying to help yourself, to send a list of the repairs to the 
contractor or to the department, do you not think it would help you to get an 
answer yes or no?—A. I do not believe it would, because—

Mr. Fleming: Would you let him finish.

By Mr. Denis:
Q. Do you not think it would be the normal way to help yourself out?— 

A. Well, I tell you sir, Mr. Woods, the Deputy Minister of Veterans Affairs, 
Mr. Murchison who was the director of the Veterans’ Land Act, and Colonel 
Parrish, I am not sure whether he is a contractor or a contract engineer from 
Montreal, came down to the Veterans’ Land Act project there to inspect the 
houses. Colonel Parrish made a list of everything that was wrong with the 
houses.

Q. Talk about your own house.—A. I was there with them at the time they 
made the inspection.

Mr. Rinfret: When was that inspection made?
Mr. Fleming: He gave that earlier.
The Witness: That would be around I would say the 10th of March or so.
Mr. Rinfret: So up to the middle of March you had made no complaint 

to the department that these things were wrong?
The Witness: It all depends what you mean by the department. We had 

written to the Minister of Veterans Affairs and told him why we should not 
sign the contracts because the repairs were not completed. The Veterans’ Land 
Act officials were there day in and day out and if you made a list they told us 
they were going to fix them. We told everybody that came around but we did 
not send a list to Ottawa, no.

Mr. Homuth: You would not deem it necessary when these inspectors came 
out to get the information?
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The Witness: They were not inspectors, they were Veterans’ Land Act men.
Mr. Gladstone: I think we would wish to thank Mr. Cleave for the manner 

in which he has given us a report on the situation and express the hope that it 
will be adjusted in all fairness.

The Chairman: If there are no more questions of the witness we will 
adjourn.

Mr. Homuth: When are we going to meet again?
The Chairman: Mr. Murchison cannot come as a witness before Tuesday 

at least. Tuesday morning is the meeting of External Affairs and I wanted to 
leave Tuesday afternoon open for meetings of the steering committee so I 
suggest that we meet Wednesday morning and Wednesday afternoon.

Mr. Burton: Just one question before you decide on that. I have been 
following Mr. Cleave’s evidence fairly carefully and I may say that I was 
certainly impressed by what he had to say. As the story unfolds I am under 
the impression that if at all possible we should have the contractor here.

The Chairman: You mean we should see the contractor?
Mr. Burton: Just allow me to finish this. In so far as examining wit­

nesses is concerned, I believe he is the person we should have on the stand. 
When it comes to the evidence Mr. Cleave gave about speaking to other 
contractors that would build a house for him, unless he was prepared to go into 
arrangement with them, I believe we could forget about that, but I do want, 
if at all possible, to have the man that constructed that house for purpose of 
the record. There are different things that were stated here to-day both this 
morning and this afternoon, and I think we should have an opportunity to 
enquire from the contractor.

Mr. Beaudry: We already have Mr. Murchison’s statement this morning 
that the department was not satisfied with the work.

The Chairman: We have Mr. Murchison’s statement that he has yet to 
arrive at an understanding with the contractor and we were advised it might 
lead to litigation, so, as far as we are concerned, after hearing that, I do not 
think I would want the house myself, but that is beyond the point.

Mr. Murphy: I wonder if it would not be embarrassing to Mr. Murchison 
to have the contractor here in view of the litigation.

The Chairman: In view of the litigation pending we would want a clear 
statement as to that. I do not think we can meet before Wednesday because 
we have asked for quite a lot of data from Mr. Murchison and I have asked 
him to be prepared for Wednesday at 11 o’clock if that is agreeable to the 
members.

The meeting adjourned at 6.10 p.m. to meet again on Wednesday, July 9, 
1947, at 11.00 a.m.
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APPENDIX “A”

SESSIONAL PAPER No. 1351, WEDNESDAY, APRIL 16, 1947 
Mover:—Mr. Murphy, M.P.

QUESTION
1. What is the total cost of each home constructed under the Veterans’ 

Land Act in (a) Sarnia Township, Lambton County; (b) Roseland and Oliver 
farm areas, Essex County?

2. Who was the contractor or contractors in each of the above areas?
3. How many homes were built under the V.L.A. in (a) Sarnia Township; 

(61 Roseland and Oliver farm areas?
4. What is the present proposed sale price of each home in the same area?
5. What is the original price asked in each case?
6. What w^s the cost per unit of project overhead and how was the same 

made up?
7. Have any veterans made deposits on proposed purchases and later 

declined to proceed with the purchase of such holdings? If so, by whom and 
why were said deals not completed?

8. Who were the government inspectors in each of the above areas and 
what was the term of employment and salary of each inspector?

9. What qualifications did the inspector have to become an inspector under 
V.L.A. ?

10. Is the purchase price asked any veterans in excess of the cost to the 
government? If so, how much and what units are affected?

11. Does the government permit veterans to obtain half-acre plots and 
build homes on same under V.L.A., in (a) Sarnia Township area; (6) the 
Roseland and Oliver farm areas?

12. Has the government received any complaint about construction or 
price of homes in (o) Sarnia Township area; (b) Roseland and Oliver farm 
areas?

13. Has the government been requested for new price contracts or rental 
agreements by veterans in these areas?

14. On whose advice were the locations for veterans’ homes chosen?
15. Who recommended the sites chosen in (a) Sarnia Township area; 

(b) Roseland and Oliver farm areas?
The attached information has been received by the Secretary of State of 

Canada from the Department of Veterans Affairs.
ANSWER OF DEPARTMENT OF VETERANS AFFAIRS

1. fa) 2 at $7,759.36 each
2 “ 7,928.57 “
2 “ 7,081.95 “
2- “ 8,200.54 “

Cost of house construction only.
(b) House costs not yet finally determined by Cost Inspection and Audit 

Division of Treasury.
2. Ryan Home Builders Limited.
3. (a) 8.

(b) 100 (Roseland, 60; Oliver, 40).
92665—5
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4.
Sarnia Roseland Oliver

2 at $7,723.96 8 at $7,342.13 4 at $7.481.03
» 2 at 7,891.96 8 at 7,496.81 4 at 7,635.71

2 at 7,455.96 8 at 6,573.80 4 at 6,712.70
2 at 7,758.96 4 at 6,469.79 2 at 6.608.69

4 at 7 170.73 2 at 7,401.81
4 at 7.262.91 2 at 7,515.71
4 at 6,286.55 4 at 6,425.45
8 at 7,074.59 4 at 7,263.49
4 at 6,600.26 4 at 6,739.16
4 at 6,325.23 4 at 6,464.03
4 at 6,308.80 4 at 6.447.70

Price includes dwelling, land and services.
The conditional grant of $1,400,000 has not been deducted.
5. Same as number 4.
Average per unit at Sarnia $1,736.22.
Project overhead includes the following items :—Temporary buildings 

salaries of staff located on the project including superintendents, accountants, 
bookkeepers, stenographers, timekeepers, material checkers, first aid attendant, 
watchman, and waterboys, miscellaneous expenses incurred at job office in 
direct relation to the project include travelling expenses, telegrams and 
telephone calls.

Re Roseland and Oliver projects, see reply to 1 (b).
7. Yes. •

Project
Sarnia
Roseland

Oliver

Project
Sarnia

Roseland
and

Oliver

Name of Veteran
Hudspith, F. J. 
Derrick, W. J. 
Underwood, A. 
Towers, C. B.

Rigney, M. W. 
Reid, W. A.

ATame of Inspector 
Methven, J,

Earl, Charles

Harper, A. W.

Southwick, L. G.

Thibeault, J. T. L.

Reason
Moved out but has not yet requested refund. 
Has house in city.
Not completely satisfied.
Change in his position requires move from 

Windsor.
Moved to Collingwood, trucking business. 
Opportunity to buy house in Windsor more 

convenient to his work.
Term of Employment Salary
July 19, 1945 to 
Sept. 11, 1946. 
June 11, 1945 to 
May 31, 1946 
June 5, 1946, to 
Aug. 31, 1946 
Sept. 16, 1946, to 
Nov. 6, 1946. 
Nov. 4, 1946 to 
the present date

$2,400.00 per annum 

260.00 per month 

2,400.00 per annum 

2,124.00 per annum 

2,124.00 per annum
9. Methven, J.—Employed with: Rowland Anderson & Paul Architects, 

Edinburgh, Scotland—1907 to 1913—as Architect’s assistant and supervisor; 
Hooper & Davis, Architects, Winnipeg—December, 1913 to June 1914—as 
draftsman; Province of Manitoba—June, 1914 to December, 1915—as drafts­
man; Dominion Sugar Co., Chatham,—November, 1916 to January, 1918— 
draftsman and supervisor 1918 to 1945—in business for himself as architect.
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Earl, Chas.—Employed with Wells & Gray, Engineers and Contractors, 
Toronto, June, 1914 to March, 1923, as superintendent of building construction 
of industrial plants, storage plants, abbattoirs, banks, private residences and 
general construction work of all kinds. Partner with Allan & Earl, General 
Contractors, Windsor, March, 1924 to March, 1931. Employed by Allan 
Construction Company, Windsor, 1931 to 1943, superintending the erection of 
industrial buildings, residence, public buildings and remodelling. Employed by 
D. T. Cameron, Architects, Windsor, 1943 to 1945, as Inspection Superintendent, 
supervising construction of wartime houses in Windsor.

Harper, A. W.—Employed with Noranda Mines, Ltd., Noranda, P.Q., April 
1934 to June, 1946, as Building Supervisor, supervising maintenances of company 
owned dwellings, business blocks, schools, etc., making specifications for such 
buildings and inspecting the construction. Town assessment commissioner and 
building appraiser.

Southwick, L. G.—Employed intermittently as carpenter from 1936 to May, 
1946. General contractor, May, 1946 to September, 1946. Since leaving the 
service Mr. Southwick has returned to his own contracting business.

Thibeault, J. T. L.— Carpenter, 1934 to 1941, with the exception of a 5-year 
period when he was in the general contracting business with his father. Can­
adian Army 1942 to 1946.

10. ÎÇo.
11. Yes.
12. (a) and (b)—Yes.
13. Yes.
14. Property was subdivided by Mr. R. W. Code, O.LS. of London, Ont. 

Building lots were selected by Mr. J. C. Angus, District Construction Supervisor, 
and Mr. P. R. Buesned, Resident Engineer, and approved by Mr. C. M. Nixon, 
District Superintendent.

15. Purchase of the properties was approved by the District Superintendent 
following appraisal by Mr. Peter Love, and consideration by the Regional 
Advisory Committee.



APPENDIX “B”
Average Cost for each Basic Floor Plan in each Province

Design B.C. Alta. Sask. Man. Ont. Que. N.B. N.S. P.E.I.

Humphrys—
1........................................................................

t cts.

6,586 73 
6,566 64 
6,197 01 
5,179 65

4,815 40 
6,521 81

t fits.

5,734 39 
6,003 69
5,.509 27
5,134 39

4,617 68 
5,597 35 
6,065 57

$ cts.

6,070 02

$ cts. $ cts.

6,713 84 
6,648 94 
5,947 05 
6,048 23

5,882 55 
6,605 22

$ cts.

6,904 64 
6,788 81 
5,750 08 
5,652 94

6,956 91

$ cts.

6,090 82

$ cts.

5.940 57

$ cts.

5,894 15
2......................................................................
3.......................................................................
4..............

Rule Wynn Rule—
1, 1A, IB. 1C. ID............................................

5,396 12

5,219 19 
5,952 35

5,597 64 5,246 39

5,220 31 
5,989 01 
5,045 35 
6,396 57

6,326 59

5,490 57

5,270 56 
6,284 44

6,517 21

6,5.54 68

5,315 12

5,294 82 
6,071 092, 2A, 2B, 20...........................................

3.......................
5............................. 6,669 53

6,752 72
A1 ward & Gillies—

2....................................................... 6,891 14 
6,939 43

5,309 29 
5,160 27 
4,818 88

4,737 90 
4,859 97 
5,537 22
5,235 78 
4,078 89 
4,884 95

2A..................
4 A ....................... 4,382 36

Moody & Moore—
1...................................
2..................................... 5,190 55
3................................. 6,787 83 6,860 00 7,2.58 94
4. . 6,409 94
5 ...............
6.................................................... 6,054 14 5,526 52 

6,199 137.....................

Van Norman—
1 and 2....................................................... 4,962 20

5,Ml 38
5,179 25

5,519 36 
6,680 34 
5,712 19 
5,536 15

5,411 88 
7,118 83 
6,282 00

4,344 36
6,184 043 and 4.................................................... 5,595 22 6,367 89 6,528 42

6.....................................
7 and 8........................................... 5,390 83 

5,402 339.............................

Savard—
Al, A2. A3........................................... 5,638 37 

6,879 29 
7,775 39

Bl, B2, B3.................................
Cl, C2,C3...............................

(Subject to adjustment on completion of cost audit.)
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REPORTS TO THE HOUSE

Wednesday, July 9, 1947.

The Standing Committee on Public Accounts begs leave to present the 
following as a

FIFTH REPORT

Your Committee, following the agenda adopted at a meeting of the Steering 
Committee, on May 8, undertook during its meetings of May 30, June 3, 17, 24, 
the study of the administration, by the Custodian of Enemy Property, of the 
property of illegal organizations.

During the meetings of June 24 and 27, your Committee investigated the 
administration of the Ottawa Office of the Custodian, as well as the Custodian’s 
accounts.

On these subjects, your Committee heard evidence from Dr. E. H. Coleman, 
C.M.G., K.C., Deputy Custodian of Enemy Property, Mr. A. H. Mathieu, 
Assistant Deputy Custodian, and Mr. K. W. Wright, Counsel.

The willingness of these witnesses to supply all possible information was 
appreciated by your Committee.

ILLEGAL ORGANIZATIONS

Shortly after an Order in Council was passed in June, 1940, declaring a 
number of societies and organizations to be illegal, the Custodian was entrusted 
with the administration of their properties scattered throughout Canada. The 
first task was of obtaining particulars as to the real property owned by the 
various organizations and that extended work was completed in the autumn 
of 1940.

The preliminary report showed that, in some cases, there was reason to 
apprehend interference with the properties as there were accumulating taxes, 
claims under mortgages, and other charges.

It became necessary, in order to assume effectual and actual control of these 
organizations, to appoint eight trust companies and accounting firms throughout 
Canada to represent the Custodian. Arrangements were made with the Cana­
dian Bankers’ Association, the Post Office Department and the Royal Canadian 
Mounted Police, whereby all relevant information in their hands would be 
reported to the Custodian and his controllers.

The property of fifty-three organizations, considered illegal as a result of 
different Orders in Council, was under the control of the Custodian of enemy 
property through his agents who administered it until the ban was removed by 
Orders in Council, in the years 1943, 1944 and 1945.

As of December 31, 1946, the financial result of these operations, in the 
case of 51 of these organizations, showed a net debit balance to the Custodian of 
$15,015.88. The total receipts were $112,267.94; the total disbursements $99,- 
309.05; but an amount of $27,974.77 was returned to them by the Custodian.

Most of the discussion of your Committee centered on the administration and 
disposal of the property of the two other organizations, The Ukrainian Labour- 
Farmer Temple Association and the Workers’ and Farmers’ Publishing Co., 
as the ten properties of The Ukrainian Labour-Farmer Temple Association and

92756—li
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the plant of the Workers’ and Farmers’ Publishing Co., represented the excep­
tions to the general experience of the Custodian in the matter of administration 
and claims.

THE UKRAINIAN LABOUR-FARMER TEMPLE ASSOCIATION

Upon assuming control, the Custodian was advised that certain properties 
could hardly be operated profitably and had better be sold. Sixteen properties 
of The l krainian Labour-Farmer Temple Association and other organizations 
were thus sold and every effort was made at the time to get the best possible 
price in the market. In only two of The Ukrainian Labour-Farmer Temple 
Association cases did the Committee express the view that the Custodian’s agents 
had sold the properties for an unduly low price. These cases were in Saskatoon 
and Vancouver. The Committee thought that the agents had not felt it their 
duty to point out to the Custodian that the highest offered appeared unreason­
ably low in relation to the value of the property. As to six of those, there was 
never any complaint whatever. The ten others were the subject of much con­
sideration by your Committee. These ten properties, whose combined assessment 
in 1940 amounted to $91,380 were sold by the Custodian in 1941 for $73,563.67.

When this organization was removed from the list of illegal organizations in 
December of 1943, the Governor in Council authorized the Custodian to appoint 
an advisory committee to look into the complaints which were made by it as 
well as by others. The advisory committee was headed by His Honour Judge 
George W. McPhee, of Moose Jaw, Sask., the other members being Mr. Geo. A. 
Campbell, of Edmonton, Alta., and Mr. W. Gordon Thomson, of Windsor, Ont.

The advisory committee recommended the payment of claims amounting 
to $10,791.70 and expressed the opinion that the new owners should agree to 
sell the property to The Ukrainian Labour-Farmer Temple Association at the 
price paid for it, provided, however, that if the new owners had made permanent 
improvements to the property, these should be paid for by The Ukrainian 
Labour-Farmer Temple Association, all with a view to restore harmony and 
good feeling among Canadians of Ukrainian origin. It was further recommended 
to the Custodian that he should absorb debit balances where these occurred in 
the accounts for maintenance. The amount so involved was $30.562.61. It was 
also recommended that he pay to the municipalities one-half the taxes for 1940 
and all the taxes for 1941, 1942, and 1943, on those properties in which tax pay­
ments were in arrears. Taxes so paid amounted to $13,033.79.

When the negotiations carried on between The Ukrainian Labour-Farmer 
Temple Association and the new owners proved unsuccessful, the Custodian dele­
gated Mr. George Campbell, a member of the McPhee Committee, to help in 
the negotiations. In October, 1944, the Government, as a matter of policy, 
decided that every effort was to be made to restore its properties to The 
Ukrainian Labour-Farmer Temple Association and that it would assist in the 
repurchase when needed. In some cases, substantial improvements had been 
made to the properties and it was the task of Mr. Campbell to value these 
improvements and arrive at a final settlement. These negotiations were thus 
conducted personally by the Custodian through Mr. Campbell.

As a result of these steps, the ten properties, assessed for $91,380 in 1940 
and sold in 1941 for $73,563.67, were repurchased by the Custodian in 1945 for 
a sum of $156,800.65. The cost to the Government on the purchase of these 
properties amounts, therefore, to $83,236.98. to which must' be added $30.562.61 
for the debit balances. $13,033.79 for the taxes for the latter part of 1940 and 
all of 1941, 1942 and 1943, and $10,791.70 for damage claims recommended by 
the McPhee Commission, totalling a debit balance of $137.625.08 on the Custo­
dian’s handling of The Ukrainian Labour-Farmer Temple Association properties. 
To^al receipts were $109,480.98 and total disbursements were $247,106.06.
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Special attention was given by your Committee to the handling of properties 
at Calgary, Lethbridge and Medicine Hat. For different reasons, it was impos­
sible for the Custodian to repurchase these properties, which had been sold in 
1941 for a total sum of $4.171.30, including chattels valued at $311.55. The Cus­
todian arranged for a sum of $25,000 to be paid to The Ukrainian Labour- 
Farmer Temple Association to compensate for the non-return of these properties 
as recommended by the Advisory Committee. It is to be noted that the 
assessed total value of these properties in 1940 was $15,615.

workers’ and farmers’ publishing association limited

At the time this company was declared illegal, an inventory was prepared 
of all machinery and tools. The valuators employed by the agents for the 
Custodian appraised these at $9,811. The equipment so valued was advertised 
for sale by tender and sold for $9,696.46. Later representations were made to the 
Custodian, as a result of which Mr. K. W. Wright, Counsel of the Custodian, 
was directed to make an investigation as to this sale. It appeared that the same 
company, The Toronto Type Foundry Company, who had valued the plant at 
$9,811 in 1941, at the request of the Western Trust Company, Agents for the 
Custodian, had given in 1945 a report to the Workers’ and Farmers’ Publishing 
Association that the plant was worth at least $45,000. A further appraisal was 
made at the request of Mr. Wright by the Printers’ Ink Machinery Company, 
who valued the plant at $28,773.55.

As a result of Mr. Wright’s investigation, an additional compensation of 
$20,000 was allowed by the Custodian in January, 1946.

SUMMARY

The financial statement of the Custodian as to this organization shows a 
a debit balance of $20,337.

The overall operations by the Custodian’s Agents of the properties of illegal 
organizations show total receipts of $228,662.90; total disbursements of $365.- 
056.46 ; total amount returned by the Custodian to the organizations of $36,- 
584.39; thus resulting in a total debit balance of $172,977.96.

The opinion was widely expressed in your Committee that the treatment 
given to illegal organizations and particularly to The Ukrainian Labour-Farmer 
Temple Association and The Workers’ and Farmers’ Publishing Company in 
regard to their property, subsequent to the McPhee Report, was somewhat more 
generous than that accorded to the Japanese-Canadian evacuees.

Your Committee was apprised of the fact that 3,500 pounds of books seized 
in the editor’s office of the Workers’ and Farmers’ Printing Association, Ltd., 
Winnipeg, in the care of the Custodian’s Agents, were destroyed, as they appar­
ently were considered by the R.C.M.P. to be subversive literature.

On the other hand, 349 books seized from the Dcutschcr Bund Kanada 
Organization and alleged to be Nazi propaganda literature, have been pre­
served, sixteen being confiscated by the R.C.M.P. The remainder were returned 
to the Custodian’s Agents.

Your Committee was startled by the difference in treatment given to alleged 
Communist and alleged Nazi propaganda and cannot but express surprise that 
destruction of books was carried on in Canada as it was in Germany.

PROPERTY OF JAPANESE EVACUEES

As to the purchase by the Veterans’ Land Act Administration, from the 
Custodian, of lànds formerly owned by Japanese evacuees, your Committee was 
given further detailed information completing the evidence which has been the 
basis of its Fourth Report.
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Part of the meeting of June 24 and the meeting of June 26 were assigned 
to the completion of evidence by Mr. Gordon Murchison, Director, Soldier 
Settlement and Veterans’ Land Act, concerning the purchase and resale to 
veterans of lands formerly owned by Japanese evacuees.

Further evidence concerning the sale of such lands by the Veterans’ Land 
Act Administration disclosed that some sales were made to civilians at a profit 
over the purchase price but it is reasonable to assume from the evidence that 
no such profits were made on sales to veterans.

ADMINISTRATION OF ENEMY PROPERTY *

The administration of enemy property during the war is the primary 
function of the Custodian of Enemy Property and it is to be noted that all the 
evidence adduced up to this point before your Committee had to do with duties 
entrusted to the Custodian, which were not specifically relevant to his functions 
as such.

Your Committee, during the course of two meetings, was given an account 
of the work of the Custodian in his official capacity as foreseen by the Revised 
Regulations respecting trading with the enemy.

The office of the Custodian, which was set up in 1920 under the Treaty 
of Peace (Germany) Order, was not closed between the two Great Wars, but its 
staff had been reduced to two officials and two stenographers. These were the 
nucleus around which was built a staff of 129, who took charge of the adminis­
tration of considerable interests and properties at the inception of the war and 
is still pursuing its work. The bulk of the administration was carried on with 
the help of inspectors, supervisors, controllers and firms of chartered accountants, 
appointed throughout Canada.

The property of the governments, associations, business and industrial 
concerns and citizens of enemy countries and occupied territories were, since 
September 2, 1939, under the control of the Custodian. The total amounts of 
these assets reached a figure nearing $1,500,000,000 but, by gradual release of 
state funds and gold belonging to the governments of former proscribed countries 
as well as property belonging to persons who were able to establish that they 
could no longer be considered enemies under the Regulations, the total assets 
under control at present day valuation was approximately $320,000,000, as of 
December 31, 1946.

The diversified nature of the assets under control necessitated a flexible 
system of administration and audit.

It is to be noted that the Custodian's administration has been self-support­
ing and no money was drawn from public funds, but separate individual accounts 
are kept and the cost of operating charged to them. A different course was 
followed as between belligerent enemy property and non-belligerent enemy 
property, that is property of persons or societies of a liberated country. In this 
latter case, up to the application for release, the account has been charged, 
besides the disbursements and normal expenses, an over-all administration fee 
of two per cent of the total value on the date of release. In so far as belligerent 
enemy property is concerned, the treaties will provide for the charges to be made.

According to Section 6 of the Final Act of the Paris Conference on Repara­
tion, which came into force January 14, 1946. and which was formally signed by 
Canada on January 30, 1946, this country is entitled to “hold or dispose of 
German enemy assets within its jurisdiction in manners designed to preclude 
their return to German ownership or control, and shall charge against its 
reparation share such assets”.

The solution of most problems of how and when to release the property at 
present under control must necessarily await the coming into force of the treaties 
with the so-called satellite countries and the treaties with Germany and Japan.
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As to the liberated countries, it is expected that agreements will be arrived at 
between them and the Canadian Government on this matter. Up to this moment, 
such an agreement has been made with France, which has been in force since 
March 22, 1946.

As to royalties on enemy owned patents collected since the end of the war, 
they are governed, until the peace treaties are signed, by the clauses of an 
agreement signed, in July, 1946, between Great Britain, the United States, 
France, Belgium, Germany, Holland, Luxembourg, Denmark, South Africa, 
Australia, Czechoslovakia and Canada.

Your Committee was impressed by the magnitude of the work of adminis­
tering enemy property and the success of the operations carried on by the 
Custodian or under his control.

All of which is respectfully submitted.
L. PHILIPPE PICARD, 

Chairman.

Wednesday, July 9, 1947.
The Standing Committee on Public Accounts begs leave to present the 

following as a

SIXTH REPORT
Your Committee at its meetings of July 1 and 2 heard evidence from 

Mr. Watson Sellar, Auditor General of Canada and wishes to express its 
appreciation of the constructive suggestions submitted by him.

Many items of the report of the Auditor General were the object of your 
Committee’s attention and the information gathered conduces to a better under­
standing of the work, as well as of the important functions of this office.

Your Committee is of the opinion that consideration should be given by 
the Government to the desirability of amending existing legislation as more fully 
explained in Mr. Sellar’s memorandum dated July 1, 1947, with a view to 
regulating:

(a) the form of Estimates and the printed explanations associated therewith ;
(b) the use of revenue arising out of services performed for the direct 

benefit of individuals;
(c) the management of revenues ;
(d) the valuation of assets ;
(e) the management of stores and equipment inventories.
Your Committee is also of the opinion that consideration should be given 

by the Government to amending the Consolidated Revenue and Audit Act, 1931, 
in the light of Mr. Sellar’s memorandum dated July 3, 1947, supplementing the 
oral evidence given by him on July 2.

Copies of these two memoranda are attached hereto and form a part of 
this report.

Your Committee is also of the opinion that the Government should explore 
the desirability of establishing a Standing Committee on Estimates.

A copy of the minutes of proceedings and evidence from May 30 to July 2, 
inclusive are tabled herewith.

All of which is respectfully submitted.
L. PHILIPPE PICARD,

Chairman
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ADMINISTRATION OF ENEMY PROPERTY

The administration of enemy property during the war is the primary 
function of the Custodian of Enemy Property and it is to be noted that all 
the evidence adduced up to this point before your Committee had to do with 
duties entrusted to the Custodian, which were not specifically relevant to his 
functions as such.

Your Committee, during the course of two meetings, was given an account of 
the work of the Custodian in his official capacity as foreseen by the Revised 
Regulations respecting trading with the enemy.

The office of the Custodian, which was set up in 1920 under the Treaty of 
Peace (Germany) Order, was not closed between the two Great Wars, but its 
staff had been reduced to two officials and two stenographers. These were the 
nucleus around which was built a staff of 129, who took charge of the administra­
tion of considerable interests and properties at the inception of the war and is 
still pursuing its work. The bulk of the administration was carried on with the 
help of inspectors, supervisors, controllers and firms of chartered accountants, 
appointed throughout Canada.

The property of the governments, associations, business and industrial 
concerns and citizens of enemy countries and occupied territories were, since 
September 2, 1939, under the control of the Custodian. The total amounts of 
these assets reached a figure nearing $1,500.000.000 but, by gradual release 
of state funds and gold belonging to the governments of former proscribed 
countries as well as property belonging to persons who were able to establish 
that they could no longer be considered enemies under the Regulations, the 
total assets under control at present day valuation was approximately 
$320.000,000, as of December 31, 1946.

The diversified nature of the assets under control necessitated a flexible 
system of administration and audit.

It is to be noted that the Custodian’s administration has been self-supporting 
and no''money was drawn from public funds, but separate individual accounts 
are kept and the cost of operating charged to them. A different course was 
followed as between belligerent enemy property and non-belligerent enemy 
property, that is property of persons or societies of a liberated country. In this 
latter case, up to the application for release, the account has been charged, 
besides the disbursements and normal expenses, an over-all administration fee 
of two per cent of the total value on the date of release. In so far as belligerent 
enemy property is concerned, the treaties will provide for the charges to be made.

According to Section 6 of the Final Act of the Paris Conference on 
Reparation, which came into force January 14, 1946, and which was formally 
signed by Canada on January 30, 1946, this country is entitled to “hold or 
dispose of German enemy assets within its jurisdiction in manners designed to 
preclude their return to German ownership or control, and shall charge against 
its reparation share such assets.”

The solution of most problems of how and when to release the property at 
present under control must necessarily await the coming into force of the 
treaties with the so-called satellite countries and the treaties with Germany and 
Japan. As to the liberated countries, it is expected that agreements will be 
arrived at between them and the Canadian Government on this matter. Up to 
this moment, such an agreement has been made with France, which has been in 
force since March 22, 1946.

As to royalties on enemy owned patents collected since the end of the war, 
they arc governed, until the peace treaties are signed, by the clauses of an 
agreement signed, in July, 1946, between Great Britain, the United States, 
France, Belgium, Germany, Holland, Luxembourg, Denmark, South Africa, 
Australia, Czechoslovakia and Canada.
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ADDENDUM

July 1, 1947.

1. The Consolidated Revenue and Audit Act dates from 1878. Its purpose 
is to regulate consolidated revenue fund transactions to the end that parlia­
ment preserves control over the public purse. In my opinion the time has come 
when, in its own interests, parliament should consider again the provisions of 
the Act.

2. There may have been a time when the Committee of Supply minutely 
examined estimate items, but demands now made on the time of the House of 
Commons are such that complete examination of estimates is impracticable. 
Estimates should now be presented in such a form that members do not have to 
guess purposes to which votes will be applied.

3. It is suggested that, instead of members of parliament having to seek 
explanations from ministers, “details” printed with the estimates should be in 
narrative form, setting out:—

(a) the objects and purposes of the items,
(b) explanations of increases,
(c) the Acts, if any, which will regulate application,
(d) the anticipated revenues,
(e) comparisons with previous years, and
(/) such other information as is necessary to permit members to familiarize 

themselves with the purposes and implications before items are called 
by the chairman of the Committee of Supply.

Existing legislation merely directs that the estimates “shall be for the services 
coming in course of payment during the fiscal year.”

4. In the past ten years the number of items had increased. Using main 
estimates items, the number was 295 in 1937 and 484 in 1947. This increased 
use of items dates from the session of 1938 when the number jumped from 295 
to 440—although the total sum voted in 1938 was only $10,000,000 greater than 
in 1937. The purpose was to confine departments more strictly to objects of 
expenditure. While results were thereby attained, I feel consequences were :—

(а) inflations in sums sought, by reason of departments including con­
tingent reserves in every item, as protection against unforseen demands 
arising in the year; and

(б) some difficulty to members in identifying the items on which they 
wish to put questions or make observations.

5. May I illustrate my thoughts on the subject by making reference to 
post office accounts. Parliament appropriated approximately $61,500,000 for 
the postal service in 1946. The application of the votes was:—

Vote No. Purpose
231 Departmental Administration ........

Post Offices ........................................
Supplementary to 232 ......................
Inspection and Investigation ........
Railway Mail Service» ....................
Air and Land Mail Services ........
Money order, savings bank and 

other activities including
printing .......................................

Compassionate allowances for in­
juries .........................................

232 
670
233
234 
233 
236

237

Voted
811.425

22,126,000
1,234,720

953.750
14.651.279

Spent
743.756

11,126,090
1.030.400

912,938
13.493.441

Lapsed
67,699

195,320
40.812

1,152.838
19,862,725 17,724,216 2,138,509

1,876,181 1.649,718 226.463

5,000 5,000

$61,521,170 $57,894,559 $ 3,826,011
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A glance at the foregoing shows that:—
(a) if votes had been consolidated, the year-end supplementary of 

$1,234,720 to vote 232 would not have been necessary ; and
(b) after all unanticipated expenses had been discharged, the Post Office 

Department had unused balances of $3,826.611—an excessive amount 
in my opinion.

6. Adding various small expenditures, authorized by various statutes, total 
appropriation expenditures of Post Office were about $58.000.000. But the Post 
Office Act provides that certain classes of postmasters be paid directly from 
revenue. In the year the amount was about $15,000,000. Thus, direct Post 
Office disbursements were about $73,000,000. Should study go further, it would 
be noted that the cost of certain steel equipment, etc., and the provision of all 
office accommodatoin is borne by appropriations for the Department of Public 
Works. That cost is not segregated in the accounts but. on a basis, may 
total $3,000,000. Thus the real cost may have been $76,000.000.

7. Gross revenues approximated $83.800,000. If the value of postage stamps 
used for cheque tax purposes amounted to $3.500,000—it is impracticable to 
establish an exact figure—the real revenue of Post Office was about $80.000,000. 
A subtraction of estimated operating costs of $76.000.000 leaves a profit of 
$4,000,000. But section 20 of the Post Office Act fixes 2 cents as the first- 
class letter rate between places. The other 2 cents is a tax imposed for 
revenue purposes by the Special War Revenue Act. First-class mail produces 
approximately 50 per cent of the total revenue. Therefore, if one were to 
distinguish between the “service” charge and the “tax” charge. Post Office 
had an operating deficit. In turn, part of this deficit is due to the fact that 
about 28 million pieces of first-class mail matter and 100 tons of third-class 
matter for departments of government are franked. Were postage paid, the 
revenue would be about $1,500,000.

8. It is submitted that it would be in the interests of the House of Commons 
were the financial requirements of the Post Office presented in all-inclusive form. 
That is to say, instead of estimates details consisting of accounting breakdowns, 
there would be a distribution of estimated income and disbursements to the 
various services in a manner which is self-explanatory and does not necessitate 
accounting calculations to disclose the true position.

9. The Board of Grain Commissioners’ transactions afford another illustra­
tion. Its revenues were approximately $2.000.000 and expenditures a little over 
$1,900,000. In addition, government elevators had an operating income of 
about $650,000 and operating expenses of $380.000. The volume of business is 
dependent on the grain crop ; yet the board must prepare its estimates long 
before seed is in the ground. As practice now is, the board presumably calculates 
its estimates on the possibility of a crop a little above the average. Two 
consequences may result:

(o) in the event of a big crop, it must keep supplementary votes to meet 
extra operating costs; or

(b) in the event of a small crop, it has larger appropriations than are 
needed.

My thought is that in cases of this type, parliament could have a safeguard 
against over-staffing, etc., w.ere appropriations so devised that the sum available 
is determined by the effort which administrative officers put forth to make their 
activities self-supporting. If he who benefits is prepared to pay the cost, a service 
is no burden on the taxpayer. On the other hand, when experience demonstrates 
that those who benefit are not prepared to pay the cost, then the House has 
notice either that there is no real need for the service or that it is extravagantly 
organized.
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The Regulation of Revenues

10. The Consolidated Revenue and Audit Act’s directions with respect to 
the management of revenues are few: (a) collecting officers are to make deposits 
daily, and (b) the Auditor General is to satisfy himself that revenue collected 
is “fully accounted for”. The Act makes the comptroller of the treasury answer- 
able for the regularity of departmental expenditures; but no officer has a like 
responsibility for revenue transactions. There is no audit obligation to establish 
that all moneys, which should have been collected, were gathered in. In most 
departments the revenue audit does go beyond the statutory obligations, but 
until recently the Income Tax Division insisted on observance of the text. It is 
for this reason that the audit certificate of revenues, so far as Income Tax 
Division accounts are concerned, is qualified by paragraph 25. (Some months 
ago the audit office was informed that all taxation records are now to be 
regarded as open to inspection.)

11. It is my opinion that more specific legislative directions with respect to 
revenues are desirable. A reason is provided by paragraph 19, which refers to 
the situation with respect to fines collected by the courts. Another is to be 
found in paragraph 16, where it is noted that departments regard $5,000,000 
of accounts receivable as uncollectible (exclusive of income tax), yet they 
cannot be written off becaûse there is no authority so to do. The mayors of 
various places would probably be surprised were they to learn that the govern­
ment accounts list their municipalities as owing money because of the use of 
the militia in times of local unrest. Using a geographic selection, with dates 
in brackets, to illustrate: Nanaimo, B.C., $255.313 (1913-14) ; Sault Ste. Marie, 
Ont., $8,308 (1903) ; Buckingham, Que., $2,350 11906), and Glace-'Bay, N.S., 
$36.644 (190900).

Valuation of Assets

12. In paragraph 11 of the audit report for 1946 attention is drawn to a 
reserve of $150,000,000 set up in the balance sheet “for possible losses on ultimate 
realization of active assets”. While it is a bookkeeping reserve, it is suggested 
that there should be legislation regulating the valuation of assets for balance 
sheet purposes. A convenient illustration is provided by paragraph 101, which 
relates to the accounts of the National Harbours Board. The loans and advances 
from the government of Canada, as of December 31, 1945, were, in round 
figures:

Halifax........
Saint John .. 
Chicoutimi .
Quebec ........
Three Rivers 
Montreal ... 
Vancouver ..

$12,500,000
17.000.000
3,800,000

27,800.000
4.000.000

60.000.000
25,000,000

If you are interested, that totals $150.000.000. The balance sheet of Canada 
incorporates, as active assets, only the investment in the ports of Montreal 
and \ aneouver. This inconsistency takes it oricin in the fact that prior to 1936 
the harbour commissions of Montreal and Vancouver alone paid interest 
regularly. In 1936 all harbour properties were declared Crown property ; con­
sequently, it may be argued that:

(a) the value of the Montreal and Vancouver properties for balance sheet 
purposes should be that established by physical valuations made by 
appraisals engineers;

(b) the same treatment should be applied to the public property in the 
other points ;
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(c) if some commercial properties qf the Crown are treated as assets for 
balance sheet purposes, then all commercial properties of the Crown 
should be treated likewise.

Stores and Equipment

13. In paragraph 10 of the audit report it is noticed that balance sheet 
assets do not include the value of departmental stores and equipment other 
than stores inventories of the departments of Public Printing and Stationery 
and Transport. The reason why the inventories of these two departments are 
set up as assets is because legislation fixes a maximum sum which may be 
invested in the year-end inventories and thus an annual monetary valuation is 
made. Stores are not infrequently the equivalent of money. In other words, if 
other departments have balances in appropriations which will not be required 
in the year, there is no legal impediment against stores being acquired to offset 
a possible cut in the next year’s estimates. A special instance is noted in 
paragraph 3, where reference is made to a payment of $37,735,000 to the United 
States to permit service forces to make selections in the fiscal year 1947 from 
the surplus stores and equipment of the United States government. In my 
opinion it would be in the interests of parliament were there general legislation 
with respect to all stores, etc., of departments.

WATSON SELLAR,
Auditor General.

July 3, 1947.

The Secretary,
Public Accounts Committee.
Dear Sir:

At the meeting in the afternoon of July 2, it was suggested that I file with 
you a memorandum outlining the various changes which I consider might 
usefully be made to the Consolidated Revenue and Audit Act, 1931. This is the 
memorandum.

1. The name of the Act be changed to “Public Finance Act”, and repeal the 
Board of Audit Act, c. 10, R.S. ; Contingencies Act, c. 31, R.S.; Department of 
Finance and Treasury Board Act. c.71, R.S., and c.48, Statutes 1931; Public 
Lands Grants Act, c.114, R.S. ; Ordnance and Admiralty Lands Act, c. 115, R.S.; 
Consolidated Revenue and Audit Act, c.27. Statutes 1931 ; Department of Trans­
port Stores Act, c.16, Statutes 1937, and Government Companies Operation Act, 
c.24, Statutes 1946. and also various financial sections in other statutes. In 
short, my thought is that all pertinent directions be brought together in a single 
statute. It is for such reasons that I think "Public Finance Act” would be a more 
appropriate title.

2. Change the title “Comptroller of the Treasury” to “Comptroller of 
Accounts”, because many people confuse the work of the Comptroller with the 
activities of the Treasury Board. The Board is composed of Ministers, and 
should not be confused with the activities of an administrative office.

3. In a great many statutes an order of the Governor in Council is required 
to signify a decision. The mass of such routine is now of proportions that it must 
make serious inroads on the time of the Cabinet. My thought is that the 
Governor in Council be vested with a power to delegate to the Treasury Board 
the exercise of such of its functions as it might from time to time decide.

4. It would be desirable were revenue accounts to remain open for ten 
days after March 31, in order that current receipts in transit be related to the 
proper year.
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5. A great many services are rendered for the benefit of individuals. In 
many cases there is no clear authority to make charges. I would empower the 
Governor in Council to fix scales of charges and, on publication in the Canada 
Gazette, it would be obligatory to collect.

6. Section 33 of the Consolidated Revenue and Audit Act permits the 
Governor in Council “whatever he deems it right and conducive to the public 
good” to remit any “duty or toll”. I would broaden that to cover any tax, 
impost, duty or toll. I would also provide in the same section a means to 
compromise or write-off bad debts, etc.

7. At the present time there is no clear authority to permit the Minister 
of Finance to invest, temporarily, idle cash balances in his bank accounts. I 
would give him such a power, but prohibit him from buying Government securities 
listed at substantial premiums, as such purchases bring speculation into a 
transaction.

8. At present no officer has any general responsibility with respect to 
revenues. Mv thought is that the Comptroller of Accounts should be required to 
keep constantly under review assessing, collecting and accounting practices of 
each department. His reports would be to the Minister of Finance.

9. It is my opinion that it is an undesirable practice to amend legislation by 
means of an item in an Appropriation Act, therefore I would insert a section 
prohibiting the submission of Estimates including such an item.

10. I have already outlined my thoughts with respect to Estimates’ 
explanations.

11. In a previous memorandum it has been suggested that a practice of 
credits-in-aid appropriations be introduced for those services which have material 
“service” revenues—as distinct from taxes.

12. Instead of cheques being drawn on the Receiver General of Canada, 
it would be better to draw on the Bank of Canada and thus permit cashing 
banks to clear at all bank clearing centres.

13. There should be legislation to govern the cases where securities should 
be given by contractors and the use which may he made of such deposits.

14. Likewise, the situation should be clarified with respect to powers of 
attorney tendered to the Government.

15. Parliament must consent before the Government may borrow. In my 
opinion there are too many borrowing authorities tacked on to statutes. In 
addition, there are general borrowing statutes—mainly to refinance, but 
permitting new borrowings. A maturity might properly be refinanced without 
fresh legislation, so long as the principal amount is not increased. This would 
eliminate refinancing of debts statutes.

16. The method of handling loan issues—door-to-door sales and pay-roll 
deductions—presents the risk that, by theft or bankruptcy, a small purchaser 
may be defrauded without recourse on the Government. Provision should be 
made that, in either of the foregoing contingencies, the collector be regarded as an 
agent of the Crown.

17. The present statute was enacted when the debt was serviced by the 
Department of Finance. As a result of the Bank of Canada Act, the activity is 
now performed by the Bank. For that reason, Debt Servicing regulations, 
which are of concern to the public, should be statutory.

18. In my opinion, the stores of all major departments should be regulated in 
such a manner that they are tied-in with the Balance Sheet of Canada. 
Likewise, I am of opinion that commercial real property should be periodically 
valued and controlled by the Balance Sheet. Property which is unsaleable 
might be ignored—for example, the Parliament Building, the canals, etc.

19. The functions of the Deputv Minister of Finance have outgrown the 
keeping of accounts. That task might be performed by the Comptroller of 
Accounts.
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20. A single accounting office should be operated for Senate, House of 
Commons and Library accounts and the Comptroller of Accounts required to 
post monthly in that office a statement of transactions for the information of 
Senators and Members.

21. It should be a statutory duty on the Auditor General to examine all 
accounts receivable, etc. (at present his duty is to examine actual collections). 
I would also make it necessary that he examine stores and property accounts 
to a much greater degree than is now required ; also, require him to report on 
systems, or practices, followed by departments in administering revenue collec­
tions, stores, etc.

22. The present retiring age of the Auditor General is 70. I would reduce it 
to at least 65, and believe it should be 60, because no man should occupy the 
position too long.

23. The present officers’ guarantee fund is based on an Appropriation Act 
item. A comprehensive plan in a statute would be preferable.

24. It would remove criticism were a Minister authorized to recognize writs 
for attachment of civil servants’ salaries, when issued after judgment, up to a 
percentage of salary.

25. All corporation budgets should be annually submitted to the appropriate 
Minister for approval in those cases where parliamentary approval is not 
required by legislation or usage. Further, limits as to what the budget might 
provide might be set out. Purpose : to avoid deficit planning.

26. I would adopt a recent American statute and require the accounts of 
all corporations owned or controlled by the Crown to be audited by the Auditor 
General, and require him to report on any ultra vires transactions—the expense 
of audit to be shared.

27. Title to Crown property, administered by a corporation, be vested in 
that body, leaving to the Courts the question of liability for taxes.

28. Make the calendar year the fiscal year for Crown corporate bodies.
Yours faithfully,

WATSON SELLAR,
Auditor General.



MINUTES OF PROCEEDINGS

Wednesday, July 9, 1947.

The Standing Committee on Public Accounts met in camera at 3 o’clock 
p.m., the Chairman, Mr. L. P. Picard, presiding.

Members present: Messrs. Beaudry, Boucher, Burton, Cleaver, Cote {Ver­
dun), Denis, Fleming, Fraser, Gladstone, Jaenicke, McCubbin, Murphy, Picard, 
Warren, Winkler.

In attendance: Mr. Gordon Murchison, Director, Soldier Settlement and 
Veterans’ Land Act.

The Chairman reported that, at a meeting of the Steering Committee held 
on July 8, drafts of the fifth and sixth reports to the House had been adopted 
unanimously for submission to the Committee. The Steering Committee had 
also agreed to recommend that the first part of to-day’s meeting be devoted to 
consideration, in camera, of these draft reports and that the Committee then 
proceed with the examination of Mr. Murchison respecting the operations of the 
Veterans’ Land Act Administration in the Township of Sarnia, Ontario.

The Committee proceeded to consideration of its Fifth Report.
Moved by Mr. Jaenicke,—
That the first paragraph on page 7 be deleted and the following substituted 

therefor:
Further evidence concerning the sale of such lands by the Veterans’ 

Land Act Administration disclosed that some sales were made to civilians 
at a profit over the purchase price but it is reasonable to assume from the 
evidence that no such profits were made on sales to veterans.

After discussion, and the question having been put on the said motion, it 
was resolved in the affirmative.

Further minor amendments were agreed to, the report adopted and the 
Chairman ordered to report to the House accordingly.

The Committee then proceeded to consideration of its Sixth Report.
On motion of Mr. Cote,—
Resolved: That the draft report be amended by the addition of the follow­

ing paragraph :
Your Committee is also of the opinion that the House should explore 

the desirability of establishing a Standing Committee on Estimates.
The report, as amended, was adopted, and the Chairman ordered to report 

to the House accordingly.
The meeting was opened to the public and the Committee resumed its 

investigations into the operations of the Veterans’ ‘Land Act Administration in 
Sarnia Township.

Mr. Murchison was recalled.
Mr. Murchison filed the following documents: Subdivision Plans, Project 

0-246/P. Sarnia. Ont.; House Plans: Humphrys No. 1 A, Humphrys No. 4A, 
Moody-Moore No. 3, Van Norman No. 3B ; a folder containing the following 
statements, memoranda, etc.:—
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1. Construction drawings of the following house plans:
Humphrys No. 1A 
Humphrys No. 4A 
Moody-Moore No. 3 
Van Norman No. 3B

2. Construction data—date commenced and date completed.
3. Copy of contract for house construction between V T. A and Ryan

Homebuilders of Windsor, Ontario.
4. Two supplementary contracts between V.L.A. and Ryan Homebuilders

of Windsor, Ont.
5. Copy of approvals for sub-contracts let by Ryan Homebuilders and

approved by V.L.A.
6. Date houses occupied.
7. Statement indicating the cost of building each design of house.
8. Statement explaining increases in house construction cost, as set forth

in item 7 over those quoted in sessional paper 135 I.
9. Statement indicating the make up of project overhead. (This does

not include the management fee of $225.00 per house—section 3 of the 
contract, nor does it include an item of $55.00 for equipment per 
house erected, refer item (I) of “Schedule A’’ of contract).

10. Letter dated December 10, 1946, addressed to all district superintend­
ents, V.L.A., by the Director regarding agreements for sale and struc­
tural defects.

11. Letter dated March 3, 1947, originating in Toronto district office 
addressed to all veteran occupants of houses on the Sarnia project 
relating to the completion by them of agreements for sale.

12. Letter dated March 19, 1947, addressed to the District Superintendent, 
V.L.A., Toronto, regarding repairs of structural defects in houses.

13. Progress payments.
14. Correspondence relating to proposed drainage scheme on this project 

together with report made by engineer staff member of Guelph Agri­
cultural College supported by blueprint showing plan.

15. Information regarding whether or not two veterans are keeping pay­
ments up to date.

16. Exchange of correspondence between Canadian Corps Association and 
the Director.

17. Letter dated December 19, 1946, to Regional Supervisor, London, by 
the District Construction Supervisor, Toronto.
Letter dated December 17, 1946 to Ryan Homebuilders Limited by the 
District Construction Supervisor, Toronto, supported by final inspec­
tion report for each house.

18. Regional War Labour Board authorizing wage scale.
19. Copy of proposed contract for tile drainage installation.
20. Statement of qualification certificates for small holdings issued through 

the London Regional Office (Sarnia).
21. Cost of labour on Sarnia project.
22. Statement showing sale price of houses.
23. Statement showing name of contractor on Regina "project.
24. Comparative statement indicating cost of constructing four designs 

of houses similar to those at Sarnia, on typical projects in each province 
where constructed.

25. Subdivision plans—see separate docket.
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Moved by Mr. Beaudry:
That the Committee recommend that two or three experts be appointed to 

visit the houses constructed by the Director, The Veterans’ Land Act, in the 
Township of Sarnia and to report on their fair value, taking into consideration 
their imperfect construction ; and that after impartial examination a devaluation 
be made to purchasers or prospective purchasers, and that the burden of this 
devaluation be borne by the contractor if he is found to be at fault.

Discussion followed.
At 6.05 o’clock p.m. the Committee adjourned until 8 o’clock p.m. this day.

EVENING SITTING
The Committee resumed at 8 o’clock p.m., the Chairman, Mr. L. P. Picard, 

presiding.
Members present: Messrs. Beaudry, Boucher, Bradette, Burton, Cleaver, 

Cote I Verdun), Denis, Fleming, Fraser, Gladstone, Golding, Jaenicke, McCubbin, 
Murphy, Picard, Pinard, Warren, Winkler.

In attendance: Mr. Gordon Murchison, Director, Mr. A. D. Wymbs, Acting 
Financial Superintendent, and Mr. W. G. Wurtle, Chief Treasury Officer, Soldier 
Settlement and Veterans’ Land Act.

Examination of Mr. Murchison was continued.
On motion of Mr. Fleming:
Ordered,—That the following documents, filed by Mr. Murchison this day, 

be printed as appendices to this day’s minutes of proceedings and evidence :
Appendix “A”: Statement showing dates on which houses in the 

Sarnia Project were occupied ;
Appendix “B”: Statement indicating the cost of building each 

design of house ;
Appendix “C”: Statement explaining increases in house construction 

cost, as set forth in Appendix “B”, over those quoted in Sessional Paper 
135 I;

Appendix “D”: Statement indicating the make up of project over­
head.

Mr. Wymbs was called and "questioned.

On motion of Mr. Cleaver, at 10.35 o’clock p.m. the Committee adjourned 
until Thursday, July 10, at 3 o’clock p.m.

A. L. BURGESS,
Clerk of the Committee.
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MINUTES OF EVIDENCE
House of Commons,

July 9, 1947.
The Standing Committee on Public Accounts met this day at 4.40 p.m. 

The Chairman, Mr. L. Philippe Picard, presided.
The Chairman: First of all I have here the documents filed by Mr. 

Murchison at the request of members of the committee, particularly Mr. 
Fleming. There are house plans, and then subdivision plans on the Sarnia 
project. There is also in one book all the answers to the various questions that 
have been asked and the documents that have been requested. Mr. Murchison 
will need them during the course of the afternoon. They will remain in the 
possession of the clerk of the committee afterwards.

Mr. Fleming: I do not quite understand about that last one.
The Chairman: This is a book containing all the reports you have asked 

for. You have asked for documents. They have all been put into one volume, 
and they are filed with the clerk of the committee, but in the meantime Mr. 
Murchison might need them during the course of the afternoon.

Mr. Fleming: When he is giving his evidence.
The Chairman: Yes. He may want to refer to them. Therefore I say 

they are still in his hands, but they are filed with us for reference afterwards.
Mr. Burton: In the event that we do not conclude the evidence of Mr. 

Murchison to-night they will be left with the committee?
The Chairman: They will be left with the clerk. They are filed from now 

on. These documents will remain the property of the clerk from now on. It is 
merely that Mr. Murchison may want to refer to them.

Mr. Fleming: Does that include the contracts?
Mr. Murchison: Yes.
Mr. Fleming: Is there an index that can be read out so we will have an 

idea of the contents of the volume?
The Chairman: You have 25 items.
Mr. Fleming: Do yoù mind reading them?
(See Minutes of Proceedings).

Gordon Murchison, Director, Veterans Land Act, recalled:

By Mr. Beaudry:
Q. Mr. Murchison, we have not got the printed minutes of your last 

evidence. Do I recall correctly that in your last evidence you stated that you 
or the officers of your department were not fully satisfied with the state of the 
houses, either as to their physical state or as to the cost arrived at for the 
building of those houses, and that on that account you had withheld complete 
payment to the contractor, and that there was a possibility that you might 
enter into litigation with the contractor?—A. Yes, I recall saying somehing 
to that effect.

Q. Is that definitely what you said, perhaps not in my words but in yours?
Mr. Fleming: I think the record will have to speak for itself as to what he 

said at the last meeting.

92756—2i
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Mr. Beaudry: Unfortunately we have not got the record.
Air. Fleming: It will be out in due course. There are the typewritten 

minutes.

By Mr. Beaudry:
Q- May I ask Mr. Murchison if I am repeating fairly closely what he 

said?—A. According to my best recollection that is the substance, I think, of 
what I stated.

Q. It has developed from other evidence that apparently there was dis­
satisfaction throughout with these houses, on the part of the tenants particularly. 
\\ ill you tell me how many of the tenants—we already know from the evidence 
that one has signed a contract and presumably has met his obligations—have 
not signed contracts but are at present residing in the houses under discussion 
without paying rental?—A. In reply may I say our records disclose two 
occupants who have signed their agreements. The first was signed on the 
16th of January, 1947, with interest to accrue from the 1st of January, 1947. 
The first monthly payment was due on February 1, 1947. No payments have 
been received from that purchaser up to the 5th of this month. In the second 
case the agreement for sale was signed by the veteran on the 16th of January, 
1947, with interest to accrue from the 1st of January, 1947. The first monthly 
payment was due on February 1, 1947. Again no payment has been received 
under that contract. The remaining veterans in occupation have not signed 
contracts and have not paid rent.

Q. Has it come within your personal province to see these houses?—A. Yes.
Q. Was the conclusion you came to one to the effect that they were not 

completely what you in your capacity had a right to expect.-—A. Not being a 
construction man I could not answer that precisely. It was my impression on 
superficial examination of these houses that there had been some poor work 
done that would have to be corrected.

Q. In other words, you yourself as head of your department were not fully 
satisfied.—A. No.

Q. That the country had a fair deal or that the veteran was getting a fair 
deal for the price?—A. No, I would not sav that. I feel that the veteran was 
getting a fair deal for the price quoted if the defects in the houses were 
corrected.

Q. And on the other side the corollary is they were not getting exactly 
their money’s worth?—A. Yes, you can put it that way, until the defects were 
corrected.

Mr. Beaudry : If I am not out of order, we have had Mr. Murchison’s 
previous statements and his statements to-day—

Mr. Fleming: We have not had all his statements.
Mr. Beaudry: I say we have listened to some previous statements, and 

these particular statements. We have listened at our last meeting to one of the 
tenants of these houses who is obviously very dissatisfied. May I move that 
this committee recommend, in view of the fact that the tenant is dissatisfied, 
and in view of the fact that the director is also not fully satisfied, that two or 
three experts be appointed to visit these houses and value them, taking into 
consideration their imperfect construction, if I may use that word, and from that 
impartial figure a revaluation in cost to the tenants, purchasers, or prospective 
tenants or prospective purchasers, be arrived at, and that the burden of this 
revaluation be carried on to the contractor .if he is found at fault. In that 
way I think we would arrive at our purpose which is making sure that the 
veterans are getting proper treatment from this country, that they are paying 
what should be paid, and making sure also that the country and the taxpayers 
are not being burdened with excess costs in the building of these houses.
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By Mr. Fraser:
Q. May I say a word in regard to the evidence just given? It was stated 

no rental was paid, but did these veterans not pay $600 down to begin with? 
That should be included there.—A. Yes, that was the deposit a<ked for when 
they made their applications to purchase these houses.

Q. So they paid $600.
Mr. Beaudry : Is there not also in the previous evidence, or if it is not 

there is it included in the documents filed now, a statement to the effect that the 
prospective tenants or purchasers when they were tendered their contracts and 
upon refusing apparently to sign those contracts, were told in writing that they 
were entitled to a refund of the $600 payment they had paid perhaps less a 
depreciation figure to be set.

Mr. Fleming: I suggest the letter will speak for itself on that.
Mr. Beaudry : May I have an answer to that from the witness?
Mr. Fleming: The letter will speak for itself. I take objection to any 

further questions on that point.
Mr. Beaudry : I should like to get an answer from the witness.
Mr. Fleming: The witness cannot give an answer as to the contents of a 

letter when the letter is on file. The letter will speak for itself.
Mr. Beaudry : Would the witness be good enough to refer to the letter and 

read it to me?
Mr. Fleming: On a point of order, Mr. Beaudry has asked certain 

questions and then has proceeded to make a statement and a proposal of con­
siderable importance. I was on my feet, and I ask the right to discuss the 
proposal he has made at this particular time.

The Chairman : Before—
Mr. Beaudry : My question is only following up one of my neighbour’s.
The Chairman : Gentlemen, I will ask both members to sit and the judge 

will speak. Immediately after Mr. Beaudry made his proposal Mr. Fraser 
started to ask questions, and one of them was on the $600 paid. Mr. Beaudry’s 
next question was pertinent to that. He was asking whether there had been 
a refund or whether there was a letter sent to them concerning that. It is pertinent 
As soon as that has been cleared by the witness Mr. Fleming will be in order 
to make any comments or ask any questions. Would the witness read that 
letter and answer the question asked by Mr. Beaudry?

Mr. Beaudry : We have that from Mr. Cleave’s evidence.
The Witness: With your permission, Mr. Chairman, I should like an 

opportunity to try to clarify, for the information of the committee, the situation 
which existed not only in Sarnia but in various other places.

Mr. Fleming: I take objection to that.
Mr. Beaudry: I should like, if I can, to get an answer to my question.
The Chairman : The witness should first answer the question which has 

been asked by Mr. Beaudry. Later on we may give him an opportunity of 
making a statement. It is his right to do so but, at the moment, a question has 
been directed to the witness to which we should get an answer.

The Witness: The letter is dated March 3. 1947, and I think that is the 
letter to which reference has been made, originating in our Toronto office. It is 
addressed to each of the occupants of the Sarnia subdivision—do you wish me 
to read this letter?

The Chairman : Yes.
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The Witness:
In recent months you have been allocated lot 18N on the Brierfield 

project—
This is addressed to the proper veteran.
... at that time you signed a formal application for assistance in 
which you requested financial aid to purchase the above mentioned 
property under the terms of the Veterans’ Land Act at the price as shown 
on your application. It might be pointed out to you at this time that one 
clause in your application for assistance reads as follows:

I have personally inspected the land with respect to which this 
application is made at the time when the snow was off the ground 
and a thorough examination was possible and I am satisfied that 
it fulfills my requirements and that it is suitable for the purposes 
for which it is to be used.
This application was signed by you in the presence of a Commissioner 

for taking affidavits and the department can only assume that you com­
pleted this document in the best of faith. In spite of the above you 
refused to sign the agreement of sale which was presented to you in the 
course of the past few days and in view of this the department has no 
alternative but to take steps to make the home in which you are presently 
residing available to another veteran who is agreeable to completing the 
agreement presented.

If on receipt of this letter you have reconsidered the whole matter 
and have decided to sign your agreement you may do so at the Regional 
Office of the Veterans’ Land Act at 211 Richmond Building, London, within 
five days of the date shown on the letterhead. If, however, you still are 
not prepared to sign you may vacate the premises within one week from 
date shown on the lettçrhead and if you do so no rental will be charged 
from the date of occupancy until the date the Director has vacant pos­
session. The property will be appraised, however, and should there be 
any depreication through your possession a reasonable amount will be 
assessed for any depreciation caused by your occupancy.

If you do not elect to leave the premises within seven days as outlined 
above the department will arrange for the collection of a reasonable rental 
from the date of occupancy until such time as you sign the agreement, or 
the first of May. whichever is the earlier. The rental paid in this manner 
cannot be applied against your contract indebtedness but will be paid into 
the National Revenue Fund and hence will be a total loss to you even 
though you should decide to complete your agreement at a later date.

Should your agreement not he signed by the first of May, 1947 the 
Director will insist upon vacant possession as of that date and you may 
consider this letter as your formal notice in this respect.

Mr. Jaenicke: It is the same letter we had at the last meeting.
Mr. Fleming: It is the letter.

By Mr. Beaudry :
Q. May I ask if, following that letter, there was a verbal commitment, 

if I may call it a commitment—
The Chairman: You will limit yourself to this particular item.

By Hfr. Beaudry:
Q. Yes, contrariwise to some of the statements in the letter and more 

particularly as to eviction. From previous testimony and from the letter one 
would normally expect information that the tenants who had received their
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letters on March 3rd or at some early subsequent date, not having signed their 
contract or not having paid rental, would have been evicted. Has that hap­
pened? In other words, have the recipients of those letters who were tenants 
or would be proprietors on March 3rd when you wrote the letter, who have 
not since complied with the terms of this letter as to signatures of the contract 
been evicted?—A. No.

Mr. Fleming: I want to comment on the proposals which Mr. Beaudry 
has made. I may say I want to question Mr. Murchison. I have a number of 
questions for him, but as Mr. Beaudry has undertaken to submit a proposal 
tio the committee which has nothing to do with questions and answers, I think 
that matter should be discussed now.

The proposal is a very interesting one. It is particularly interesting to me 
in view of the fact I told my friend Mr. Beaudry this morning that I was going 
to ask for a Royal Commission to be recommended by this committee to 
investigate all these V. L. A. operations, not only in Windsor, but all across 
Canada. I want to say most emphatically that the scope of the Royal Com­
mission which this committee hope will recommend ought to include doing 
justice to the veterans by writing downward the contracts of these exorbitant 
prices they are being asked to pay in the light of the information we have as 
to the real value of the property. However, that does not go nearly far enough.

We have had enough evidence before this committee already, I trust, to 
leave no doubt in the mind of the committee that the scope of any investiga­
tion ought to go further and find out whether the responsibility actually lies 
in this department or outside this department for permitting deals of the kind 
we have learned about here to be perpetrated on the veterans of Canada.

The Chairman : What do you mean?
Mr. Beaudry: I do not want to interrupt Mr. Fleming at various stages 

but I suppose you would prefer—
Mr. Fleming: I should like to make my comments. Then, there will be 

discussion in the committee on it. What I have said is, in the light of the 
information we have already, it is perfectly clear a shameful deal has been 
perpetrated on the veterans in Sarnia Township. It is the duty of this committee 
either itself to get to the bottom of the responsibility for that or to recommend 
the appointment of a Royal Commission to get to the bottom it.

The same question was raised at the last meeting as to whether the situa­
tion which we have disclosed at Sarnia is an isolated situation or a typical situa­
tion. Some of the members undertook to express their opinions in advance 
of hearing evidence that it was an isolated situation and not typical. I want 
to submit to the committee that it is not an isolated situation; that you can 
duplicate this situation in many places in Canada. It is the duty of this com­
mittee, either itself to investigate these conditions or if there is not opportunity 
by reason of the fact we are close to prorogation, then I submit it is the duty 
of the committee to recommend the appointment of a Royal Commission to 
investigate that very thing.

The Chairman: May I ask you one question? When you mention the 
fact it is not an isolated case, are you in a position to place the same statement 
on the record as you made when you asked for the investigation of the Sarnia 
project?

Mr. Fleming: Pardon?
The Chairman: Are you in a position, or do you intend to make definite 

complaints about other projects similar to the one you have made previously 
about Sarnia?

Mr. Ileming: I am coming to that. I am going to enumerate a number of 
them.
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Now, dealing with this question, I may say to the committee that this 
question was discussed at the meeting of the steering committee last night, 
as to how far we were going to have time to go in the light of the fact that
prorogation is in sight within the next three or four days or a week at the very
most. I indicated then that I proposed to ask for the calling of other witnesses 
from other projects. I mentioned one in particular last night, Windsor, and that 
if the committee felt we were too late in the session now to undertake that 
kind of investigation, I would propose to the committee that a Royal investiga­
tion be recommended by this committee to the House.

The chairman asked me then, as he has now, if I am prepared to point
to conditions in other projects where I was prepared to state the veterans
had not received justice and where they were being charged, in the light of 
real values, exhorbitant costs and given shoddy workmanship.

I mentioned these. I have not seen these properties myself but my colleagues 
in the House have, Mr. Chairman, and I am asking that the committee recognize 
a responsibility as the Public Accounts Committee of the House of Commons 
to investigate these conditions in V.L.A. housing projects in these locations; 
Braefoot, that is Vancouver Island; Lulu Island, that is outside Vancouver ; 
Valley view, that is at Kamloops ; Boucherville, Quebec ; Charleswood, at 
Portage la Prairie; Kingston, Ontario; London, Ontario; Windsor, Ontario.

Now, I should like to make it perfectly clear—
Mr. Burton : That Charleswood, is it at Portage la Prairie or Winnipeg?
Mr. Fleming: I am sorry, it is the one outside Winnipeg.
I should like to make it quite clear to the committee, Mr. Chairman. I do 

not suggest for a minute that is an exhaustive list. There may be others. Those 
arc the projects which I have had the time to list since I discussed this matter 
with the chairman last night.

Outside the city of Toronto, on Dawes Road, there is a situation which I 
should like to mention to the committee. I have before me a letter which was 
written just a year ago to the Prime Minister by the Brigadier O. M. Martin 
Branch No. 345, Canadian Legion, B.E.S.L. It reads:

Right Honourable W. L. Mackenzie King,
Prime Minister of Canada,
Ottawa.

Right Honourable Sir,—I am instructed, by resolution adopted at 
the last regular meeting of the Brigadier 0. M. Martin Branch No. 345, 
Canadian Legion, B.E.S.L., to advise you that there is serious discontent 
among members of the Canadian Legion and returned service men 
generally in this area regarding the government plans for the building 
of homes for veterans and assistance to veterans regarding home building.

By resolution passed and unanimously adopted the government’s attention 
was called to the following:

1. That men are being overcharged for homes built on half-acre lots 
with prefabricated materials, the charge of these homes being out of 
proportion with the cost of other homes built in this area.

2. That service men are being urged to occupy their homes before 
they are properly finished and then are faced with a great deal of 
difficulty in securing completion of work.

3. It is urged that service men who are building mechanics should 
be assisted financially to the same extent in building their own homes 
as they are when having them built by contractors and thus be able to 
save contractors’ charges for profits.
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4. That service men should be assisted financially at veterans’ loan 
rates, to finish, or complete, homes started prior to enlistment instead of 
being forced to borrow money from private sources at much higher rate 
of interest.

5. That veterans should be given priorities—
I could read the rest of the letter. It goes round to other questions rather than 
the V. L. A. Perhaps you would prefer I complete the reading of the letter? 

The Chairman: It will have to be filed anyway.
Mr. Fleming:

5. That veterans should be given priorities to secure materials for 
the building, or completing, of their homes instead of having to secure 
these through large home building organizations.

A case was brought to the attention of the meeting of one man, 
who is a veteran of the First Great War, being forced to demolish his 
garage to supply material to his son, who is a veteran of the last war, 
to enable him to put a roof on his basement home because he was unable 
to secure materials to finish the building.

We trust that you will see that proper action is taken to alleviate 
the distress and feeling of neglect which has been caused and aroused 
by the government’s failure to assist veterans along the lines cited in 
the foregoing resolution.

Yours respectfully,
(Sgd) JOHN HOLLINGER,

for Soldiers’ Advocate Committee.

I think I have indicated enough, Mr. Chairman, to suggest to the committee 
that this is not an isolated case of which we have had evidence at the last two 
meetings. I remind the committee that the suggestion of Mr. Beaudry comes 
just as the committee is about to commence the examination of Mr. Murchison 
on a great many matters.

He has brought forward a substantial volume of material which will have 
to be perused and I am sure it will be the subject matter of quite lengthy 
examination. Now I do not propose for myself, Mr. Chairman, to acquiesce 
to any suggestion coming from any quarter of this committee that we should, 
at this stage, stop our examination of the situation at a certain Veterans’ Land 
Act Project, Sarnia or any other, and simply appoint a committee that, in the 
nature of things could not possibly report before this session of parliament 
prorogues.

May I summarize the views I am putting forward as to the suggestion 
Mr. Beaudry makes. I suggest it comes prematurely in the midst of the 
examination, that this committee cannot simply hold its hand at this stage 
when it is confronted with a duty to carry on an investigation, and the sug­
gestion in the third place is a very incomplete one. It will go some measure 
toward doing belated justice to some veterans, namely those at Sarnia on 
whom very great injustice has been perpetrated, but it is very incomplete 
justice, Mr. Chairman.

The Chairman: Up to now there has been no injustice. If it is carried 
on it may be termed injustice, but at the moment they are living there without 
rent.

Mr. Fleming: They have paid the $600.
The Chairman: Well, they would get that back.
Mr. Fleming: Well, if you want to argue on that I am prepared to argue.
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The Chairman: I am not arguing, but I just wanted to say a word if you 
did not mind.

Mr. Fleming: I am summarizing my position and if you want me to 
stop and discuss that feature I will be very happy to do so but at the moment 
I am summarizing my position. The remedy proposed by Mr. Beaudry’s 
motion, I suggest, is very, very incomplete and it will not do anything except 
close the door to examination by this committee and investigation by this com­
mittee or a royal commission which we might,—and I say we ought,—to recom­
mend. concerning the other projects I have indicated, and I submit there are 
others as well.

In other words, this committee, at this particular stage cannot permit 
itself to be stifled in the important duty that is laid upon it in the light of 
the information it has already received, and I am sure there is much more 
information it realizes it must seek.

Mr. Beaudry: Mr. Chairman, I resent the implication of some of the 
words Mr. Fleming used, which perhaps he did not mean.

Mr. Fleming: I did not mean to give personal offence to my friend, I 
assure him.

Mr. Beaudry: I do not think .my suggestion is, as Mr. Fleming says, 
either incomplete or premature. I am dealing with the case of eight houses 
in Sarnia and I am dealing with that alone. That is the only point under 
consideration by this committee at this time and during the last two sittings 
of the committee. It was my opinion, far from being incomplete or premature, 
that perhaps my suggestion was late in so far as the eight houses are concerned. 
We have had two expressions of opinion, one from a tenant. He is what I 
might call a tenant in name only, since he is not being asked to carry out his 
financial obligations other than the $600 which has been offered back to him. 
The onus on him is extremely small, if any. We also have his admission, an 
important admission in the light of everything going on in this committee, at 
the time of his entrance in this House, of the desire to rent a house or purchase 
it. We have his signed statement that he had fully examined it and that he was 
quite satisfied that he was purchasing the house he wanted at the price he 
wanted to pay, but his motives were not so much to acquire a house as to 
acquire a roof. He has stated himself he had an ailing daughter whose health 
he wanted to protect. We are all in sympathy with that, but if we are in 
sympathy with that, we can also understand the other point of view, the 
point of view of those whose task it was to provide a roof, even perhaps for the 
sake of celerity, providing roofs and doors.

The Chairman: Warped doors.
Mr. Beaudry: Perhaps even warped doors, and doors hanging from very 

peculiar hinges. However, it was my opinion from the testimony Mr. Cleave 
gave last week, what had been uppermost in his mind was to get a roof over his 
head to protect his daughter's health. I am sure we arc all in sympathy with 
his statement the house was not perfect. Mr. Murchison has already admitted 
as much, or almost as much. In view of the fact there are five or six tenants 
now living in a state of uncertainty, not being owners because they have not 
signed the contracts and on the other hand by not paying rental, feeling the 
homes arc not fit for living, and not satisfied with the purchase price which 
was asked for them, I do not think my suggestion is premature at all. I say 
let u- go on and let us find some means of deciding whether in Sarnia, in the 
case of these eight houses under discussion, the contractor was at fault. The 
tenant claims so. The tenant claims either the contractor or the dominion 
was at fault. The department says in its testimony that dissatisfaction has 
been felt, if not expressed, and that some corrective measures have been taken in 
withholding payment in anticipation of possible litigation. I do not think I am
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at all incomplete or premature in suggesting to this committee that we take 
up at once the case-of the eight houses in Sarnia. If any other member of the 
committee feels that throughout the land there should be some other type of 
investigation that is a point on which I am not competent to express on opinion 
at the moment. I am discussing only the eight houses in Sarnia which we 
have been discussing now for two meetings. May I say this. From the figures 
supplied by Mr. Murchison, Sarnia is obviously a glaring exception, but I 
am not prepared to say, because of this exception of Sarnia, a rule which 
might have been applicable to Sarnia is to be found applicable to the rest 
of the country. Mr. Murchison at the last meeting quoted figures to the effect 
that the average cost of these houses throughout the country, from Vancouver 
to Halifax, was somewhere,—and I am approximating here,—around $2.000 
less per house than the assessed cost of those houses in Sarnia. Now from 
that I think it would be very unfair to the department and to the other con­
tractors, from this exorbitant case,—and I say exorbitant because I presume 
it is the word Mr. Fleming would use,—this exception of eight houses running 
to a cost of over thirty-three and one-third per cent or perhaps a little more, 
to come to the conclusion that the building practices throughout the country 
have been based on exactly the same type of figuring, on the same type of 
labour, the same type of work, and have approximated the same results. For 
that reason Mr. Chairman I do not think my suggestion is either incomplete or 
premature.

Mr. Fleming: Would my friend permit a question?
Mr. Beaudry: Definitely.
Mr. Fleming: What would my friend propose should happen first, while 

this committee or the committee that he proposes is going to Sarnia to make up 
its report, and secondly what happens when the report comes back and the 
House is between sessions.

Mr. Beaudry: I can answer that fairly easily, Mr. Chairman, but I would 
like to say two things. First, the original use for which these houses were built 
was to give satisfaction to veterans. I am intent on securing that as soon as 
possible. My other point is that the purpose of this committee is to make 
sure that no public money is squandered.

Mr. Fleming: I still don’t know what the answer is.
Mr. Beaudry: My suggestion is before the committee. It is up to the 

committee to act on it. The sooner it is considered the sooner you will get 
your answer. We are not dealing with complaints or objections that are 
3,000 miles away.

Mr. Boucher: Speaking to this motion, I do not want to prolong an 
argument between members of the committee. We should bear in mind that 
this is Wednesday and it is the intent or hope that the House may prorogue 
on Saturday next or' very shortly thereafter. That being the case it is also 
hoped, and I think it is very necessary, that we as a public accounts com­
mittee having gone into all the matters of veterans’ homes should file a report 
with the government this session. In investigating veterans’ homes I think we 
should look at it from two points. First, justice to our veterans and, second, 
justice to the Canadian people. Our investigations so far are really only 
started. We have not even completed our investigation of the eight homes in 
Sarnia. And by admission of Mr. Murchison, and I think perhaps exaggerated 
by Mr. Beaudry, a glaring injustice has been done. You may ask me, what 
injustice has been done to the people of Canada. My learned friend, Mr. 
Beaudry, is no doubt going to ask what injustice is being done to the veterans. 
May I answer that first. For any member of this committee to appreciate 
the position of these veterans they have only to take what is shown bv the 
evidence of Mr. Cleaver; that he sought on behalf of his wife and family
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immediate shelter; having sought immediate shelter in this area in Sarnia the 
only way in which he could get immediate shelter was by depositing $600 under 
a purchase agreement to purchase a house that is incomplete ; and by the 
evidence of Mr. Murchison, corroborated by Mr.. Beaudry, in a shockingly 
incomplete state.

Mr. Beaudry: Are you quoting my words?
Mr. Boucher: I understood you to put it that way. What further 

injustice is being done? Is there any landlord with an ounce of reasonable 
common sense in this country who would debar a man from a home he had 
gone to so much trouble to get so that he might have shelter for his family; 
would any landlord with an ounce of common sense ask a man in those cir­
cumstances to sign a letter, or expect a veteran to sign a letter to do the things 
such as this letter asks him to do? Or would there be any man who would 
feel that a veteran would get into such a desperate condition if he did not have 
a desire for shelter knowing that he was liable to lose not only his $600 but 
also to be charged rent as well at a figure of he knew not what?"

Mr. Beaudry: That is in the evidence.
Mr. Boucher: That is in the evidence, I know that. That is what the 

letter says in effect; if you don’t get out in seven days, or if you vacate within 
seven days you get some portion of your $600 back after taking off depreciation 
or damage to the house.

Mr. Cote: That is all in evidence.
Mr. Beaudry: The letter does not say that.
Mr. Boucher: But that is what it says.
The Chairman: Yes, he will be repaid the money put in.
Mr. Beaudry: What it says is, you have to sign the contract, you have 

to make your payments as agreed, or else you have to get out within seven 
days.

Mr. Boucher: It is also stated—
Mr. Beaudry: Anyway, the letter speaks for itself.
Mr. Boucher: I for one as a member of this committee will not feel that 

any veteran is getting a square deal of a kind which the people of Canada 
ought to give to any veteran when he gets a letter like that.

Mr. Beaudry: And there is the further fact, that they are in these houses 
without paying rent.

Mr. Boucher: By virtue of their being in these houses and not paying 
rent they are now in the position of not knowing what is going to happen to 
them. Why, gentlemen, the government of Canada has passed regulations 
freezing rentals, keeping homes for people, people who are not even veterans. 
This is not the same policy, these arc not that type of people. What arc they 
going to do? Now. Mr. Beaudry -uggests that we send experts to investigate 
eacli home and make a recommendation and bring in a report and let the 
public accounts committee of the House of Commons waive its responsibility 
in this problem to a committee of experts to be set up to do it for them. I 
object to that. I feel that we having gone into it as a committee, having taken 
first the cases of the eight homes and having heard evidence disclosing their 
condition, I think we as a committee in all fairness have a responsibility to 
the people of Canada to investigate other homes and see that justice is done not 
only to the veterans but to the people of Canada: and the three experts sent 
to investigate these eight homes will not do that, in my opinion. That being 
the ease I do feel that we should not waste any further time, that we should 
complete our examination of the eight homes and as many other homes as we
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in our capacity can examine and we should report to parliament the situation 
we have found and the fact that we cannot, because time does not permit, 
go to others.

Mr. Burton: Mr. Chairman, I would like to have a little direction first as 
to what your intention is before I proceed with what I have to say. First of 
all, we have gone by what is usually known as the dinner hour.

The Chairman: It is only 5.20, Mr. Burton.
Mr. Burton: Pardon?
The Chairman: It is only 5.20, not 6.20.
Mr. Burton: So much the better, Mr. Chairman. I am glad you drew it to 

my attention. If I said everything that I feel like saying at the present time, 
Mr. Chairman, I would speak beyond six o’clock.

First of all I want to say this, that while I have no reason to believe 
that those who brought this Sarnia question before us did so for any 
motives other than the intention of seeing that there was justice done to the 
veterans—

Mr. Beaudry: Thank you.
Mr. Burton: —and if there were other intentions they so far at least 

have been hidden from my view. But I want to say this to the committee 
in all frankness and in all bluntness; and, mind you, I am not skilled with 
leading questions and putting under cover part of my meaning; I am saying in 
all frankness and bluntness that in my twelve years experience of public 
affairs I have never seen such a crude attempt as I have seen this afternoon 
in trying to sidetrack work that has been commenced by a committee of this 
nature.

Mr. Beaudry: What do you mean?
Mr. Burton: I would say this much, that the titles appended to Mr. 

Beaudry’s motion, as being premature, and his own later of its being late, 
are both applicable. They both fit very well. And I want to say that when 
this committee sat the last time definite steps were taken at that time for Mr. 
Murchison to appear before this committee and produce certain documents 
to be prepared, and to discuss those in answer to questions pertaining to them. 
We come here to-day and right crack out of the box before anyone had any 
time to examine Mr. Murchison or even examine into the further evidence he 
was supposed to bring before us we have this other motion placed before us. I 
say, Mr. Chairman, that in so far as Mr. Beaudry’s motion is concerned I would 
not consider that quite in order. Had he or one of his colleagues got up and 
made such a motion when we adjourned at the last meeting it might have 
been in order, but we had made arrangements to have this man here to-day 
for the purpose for which he is appearing and that motion now in my opinion 
is nothing else but a deliberate attempt to sidetrack the issue.

Mr. Beaudry: May I interrupt, Mr. Burton, for a moment? I am afraid 
that Mr. Burton either through my fault perhaps in expressing myself, or for 
some other reason, must have misunderstood me.

Mr. Burton: Mr. Chairman, I am not finished.
The Chairman: I know.
Mr. Beaudry: My purpose, and I hope Mr. Burton and the other members 

of the committee will take my statement for it, was not to shut off any 
investigation; my purpose was merely an attempt to save the time of the 
committee so that we might have two investigations proceeding simultaneously 
so that we might get as complete information as possible as quickly as we 
could. We have been listening to Mr. Murchison, and we will hear further 
statements from him. We also have Mr. Cleave’s story of the defects in his



574 STANDING COMMITTEE

house. We have no impartial means and we have no personal means of ascer­
taining the extent or the value of the material now before us, either with 
respect to the statements by Mr. Murchison or Mr. Cleave. In other words, we 
are in no position ourselves at this time in my opinion to deal intelligently or 
finally with the question that has been raised. We have still to question Mr. 
Murchison on some documents that he has brought before us to-day but even 
so we are not in a position to question whether the items under discussion; 
at least, in my mind, whether the sum of $2,000 which is the amount the cost 
of the houses in Sarnia is in excess of the average cost of similar houses 
throughout the country is right or whether or not it can be justified. AYe have 
no yardstick to go by, other than the rule of our own common sense. I would 
like to remove from the minds of any members of the committee any thought 
that I was trying to sidetrack the work of this committees by any suggestion 
such as the one I made that we get an independent opinion. As I see it, 
securing that type of information would only further our efforts and help us 
to formulate a conclusion and give us a clearer picture of the truth. That 
is the only purpose I had in mind, Mr. Chairman ; and I do hope that the 
committee will accept my statement that my only purpose was to obtain some 
dependable basis on which we could resolve this issue.

Mr. Burton : Mr. Chairman, I have listened with all due respect to Mr. 
Beaudry presenting I believe one of the longest points of privilege I have heard 
in a committee for a considerable while without interrupting him. I want to 
assure him that on the basis of his explanation I am prepared to accept his 
word as a gentleman of this committee. But let me continue from where I was 
at the time I was interrupted. As I was pointing out at that time the proper 
time to have moved a motion of that kind would have been at the conclusion 
of the last meeting; having failed to have done that I say that in all decency 
and courtesy the only thing that we could do was to wait until we had concluded 
the purpose for which this meeting was called, until we had finished dealing 
with those matters which we had intended further to examine into to-day. If 
at the conclusion of the meeting, or if the steering committee failed to act in 
bringing in an appropriate report concerning this—

The Chairman: How could the steering committee prepare a report yet? 
Our work is not finished. I do not think that is justified.

Mr. Burton : Pardon me, Mr. Chairman, I want to make it clear. After 
the conclusion of to-day’s sittings, or later on, the steering committee might 
prepare a report on our work.

The Chairman: Later on.
Mr. Burton: Yes. We have had to-day submitted to the committee a fifth 

and sixth report, prior conclusions of the committee. If the steering committee 
feel justified in incorporating something of that nature in a further report then 
I say a motion of that kind would be in order; but I certainly feel that it is 
not in order at the present time.

Mr. Beaudry: If I might interrupt, I agree to a great extent with what 
Mr. Burton says. If it is satisfactory to the committee I am quite willing 
to postpone making this motion until we have completed the examination; 
if that is what Mr. Burton would like to have done.

Mr. Burton : I do not like to be rude to people. I try to follow the rules 
as far as I could.

The Chairman: That has been my experience with you, Mr. Burton.
Mr. Burton : And I have endeavoured not to interrup other people 

to any greater extent than I could avoid ; but Mr. Beaudry this afternoon 
apparently has not seen fit to follow the rules to quite that extent. I want to 
say this much, that 1 am not prepared to go into any argument on the points
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raised between Mr. Beaudry and Mr. Fleming. But I do want to give notice 
here that if I have the floor I intend to keep the floor until I am through with 
my subject. I object to the propriety of bringing in a motion of that kind 
at the present time ; and had Mr. Beaudry just held his peace a little while 
longer he would have heard the point I was trying to make; that this motion 
of Mr. Beaudry’s be tabled until we have concluded our examination of 
Mr. Murchison.

Mr. Murphy: Mr. Chairman, I am going to be very brief. In the first 
place I want to say that in my opinion the statements that have been made by 
Mr. Murchison have been fair. And I want to say as one responsible for having 
made a speech which was termed “weepy” on the floor of the House that I think 
it is quite evident that the facts that have been revealed here at the present 
time substantiate what I said. I do not think the committee should lose track 
of the admission made by both Mr. Murchison and by his minister of the lack 
of supervision. They have both admitted that. Now, while I am on my feet, 
I want to thank Mr. Burton for his kindly reference to myself. And now, Mr. 
Beaudry a while ago made the suggestion that we have experts examine and 
appraise these homes. I am wondering, Mr. Chairman, if we as a committee 
have the power to appoint experts to value these homes?

The Chairman: AA'e could recommend that experts be appointed.
Mr. Murphy: How, to the House?
The Chairman: To make the recommendation to the House would require 

too long. The committee could send a report to the department, to the 
minister, and ask the minister to appoint three men to go there right away 
and see what this is all about.

Mr. Murphy: Now, just on that motion of Mr. Beaudry’s: when it was 
first put I was reminded of a well-known phrase applied to Gar Wood, of 
“beating the gun”. It occurred to me also that it has somewhere been referred 
to as “a smart Yankee trick,”—

Mr. Beaudry: I would like to object to that, Mr. Chairman.
Mr. Murphy: I am just saying that is a thought that occurred to me at 

the time.
The Chairman: Well, Mr. Murphy, that is imputing motives.
Mr. Murphy: Well, Mr. Chairman, I would not like to do that. Some 

of the evidence that we have had submitted regarding the Sarnia houses— 
and I also referred to the Windsor homes, as Mr. Fleming has stated—I think 
we could bring evidence in here along the same lines with respect to them as 
we have produced concerning the Sarnia homes. Again referring to Mr. Beaudry’s 
motion, I must put it on record here I think in fairness that, as I said on a 
previous occasion, I would be prepared to have local realtors empowered by 
the minister to evaluate these homes. I think then that the veterans would have 
been satisfied to have taken the homes at their valuation. That was not done. 
There is one other point raised by Mr. Beaudry which I must clear. I have seen 
these homes, and I have seen the homes in Windsor, and I have talked to the 
veterans. He made one point respecting Mr. Cleave which I think should be 
cleared up from his own evidence. Mr. Cleave said when he entered into 
the purchase of the home he paid $600 down in good faith with the intention of 
completing the contract. I am going to agree with what has been said by 
Mr. I leming. I think that this committee, in view of the evidence already 
taken, would be doing its duty, as I see it, in asking for a royal commission to 
investigate not only the Sarnia area but all other areas about which complaints 
are or can be made. AX ith that I am going to take my seat.
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Mr. Cote: I should like to have the privilege of saying a few words at 
this particular point. I have been surprised, indeed, to see such a drama being 
built up around the suggestion from Mr. Beaudry which appeared to me to be 
quite natural, and a very constructive suggestion. He has put it as a sug­
gestion more than a formal motion. He did not demand any immediate action 
on his suggestion. Further on he explained that it was not his intention to 
curtail examination of the witness, or any other witness on this particular 
matter of the Sarnia houses. I am inclined to agree fully with what Mr. 
Beaudry has said. I think the suggestion put before the committee by Mr. 
Beaudry will help to shorten the business of the committee on this particular 
matter of the Sarnia houses and allow us to pass on to other matters within 
the scope of our work.

I completely disagree with those who are recommending the institution of 
a royal commission with the amount of evidence which is actually before the 
committee. I think it would not be a responsible recommendation of this com­
mittee to the House to ask for a royal commission when you have produced 
evidence only to particularize an isolated case. The letter which Mr. Fleming 
has produced coming from the Canadian Legion is not legal evidence. It 
should be produced by the writer of that letter whom we could examine at 
length as we did with Mr. Cleave and Mr. Murchison or would with any other 
witness.

Mr. Fleming: Will my friend permit me to say I think he has mis­
understood what I said about a royal commission. What I said was I was 
building up to asking for a royal commission. I did not say I was asking for 
it at this point. That is all the more reason why we should go on with the 
evidence so we can make up our minds whether we want to have a royal 
commission.

Mr. Cote: I am referring to Mr. Murphy in his remarks a few moments 
ago. His last words were that a royal commission should be instituted, that 
we had enough evidence to justify the recommendation of a royal commission. 
Those were his words.

Mr. Murphy: On a point of order, my reference to that was coupled with 
the statement that I made to the effect that we could produce evidence regard­
ing Windsor, having seen it myself, and other areas where complaints have 
been made.

Mr. Cote: Until such time as we have some evidence on other so-called 
unjustifiable cases of injustices to veterans I think that the suggestion of Mr. 
Beaudry is a good one. In the light of that suggestion we could terminate 
our examination of Mr. Murchison—

Mr. Fraser : Oh no.
Mr. Cote : Take action on that suggestion immediately and then continue 

our work. We have just a short time to live as a committee and we should 
find any possible way of speeding up our work.

Mr. Cleaver : Before this motion is put, I should like to say a word, if I 
may. I must alologize to the committee for not being able to be here when the 
evidence was given but I was at work on other committees. I fear that it might 
be an unwise thing for this committee to carry Mr. Beaudry’s motion. You 
see, many hundreds of these homes have been built. I have had something 
like a hundred in my own riding so I know something about them.

When you set a general contractor at housebuilding, you get an article in 
time and you get it built in a hurry, but the house costs you far more money 
than it would cost if built by a home builder. If we were to carry this resolu­
tion to recommend that these houses should be valued and should be written 
down to their values compared with homes built by private contractors, then,
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bless you, we would have to do the same thing for every veteran’s land home 
built in Canada which was built under the Veterans’ Land Act. I have not 
any hesitancy in saying that I have no doubt but what every house built by 
a general contractor of the type we are discussing would cost at least $1,000 
more money than if the same house was built by a home builder who builds 
eight or ten houses in a year. These general contractors have their overhead 
costs which they must figure in. Then, too, they do not have the same skilled 
type of carpenters, bricklayers and the like on their staffs that the little home 
builder has.

Speaking again from knowledge which I have gained in my own riding, 
there is no veteran compelled to buy these homes. The veterans who have 
bought them, many of whom are friends of mine, know they have bought a 
house for which the purchase price is higher than it should be if they had time 
to get a local contractor to build it. But, on account of other considerations 
which flowed to them as the result of the Veterans’ Land Act they are very 
much better off to buy the house to-day costing $1,000 more than it should cost. 
Their monthly payments are a little more than half what they would pay 
in rent. As you men know, there is a gift of something like $1,400. I am only 
speaking from memory. The interest rate is only 3 per cent and it is amortized 
over a long period of years. If you check in the Windsor area and find out 
what the monthly payments are, you will find no veteran is paying a monthly 
amount commensurate with the rent of the district.

I am afraid, Mr. Chairman, we would be opening the gateway looking for 
a lot of trouble if we carried this resolution moved by Mr. Beaudry. I would 
urge the committee to think it over carefully and to visit one of these sub­
divisions.

I have gone over the Queensway subdivision in my riding. The boys were 
disappointed at the start. Many of the things which were wrong were made 
'right. I would say a large percentage of them now are quite contented. They 
all know that the purchase price is higher than it should be, but they are 
quite content to pay it. Under the circumstances, these houses had to be 
gotten and had to be gotten in a hurry. The only way you can get houses in 
volume is to have a general contractor build them.

Mr. Fleming: May I ask my honourable friend a question? Did he hear 
the evidence given by Mr. Cleave last Friday?

Mr. Cleaver: No, I did not. I will gladly read it.
Mr. Cote: This suggestion was made because of the fact these houses have 

cost $2,000 more than the average cost for V.L.A. houses of a similar character 
across the country.

Mr. Beaudry: May I also remind the committee that I made a statement 
as to the manner in which I wanted you to treat my suggestion.

Mr. Cleaver: There was one thing I omitted to say and that is this. 
I am sure that every member of this committee is most interested in the end 
result and the end result that we want to achieve is that we will, by the build­
ing of these homes, supply this urgent need. The object was to attain comfort­
able homes for these men who needed them very badly. The net result we 
hoped to achieve, and want to achieve, is that the veterans will have been 
fairly dealt with. I think the most important thing, and I hope in the main
it has been done,—if it has not it should be done,—but the most important
thing is to make any alterations, repairs, or corrections, to these homes to
make them good permanent, livable homes. Having done that I suggest that
the committee should look at the over-all picture, the entire scheme, of all 
these homes built by these general contractors. We should not be led astray 
or not be led to do something that will cause future trouble, but we should 
view the whole scheme and then make up our minds what shall be done. It
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may be, after the committee has all the information, they might think there 
should be a principal reduction in the selling price, not just of the houses in 
the Sarnia area or the Windsor area, but on all of the houses that have been 
built in this present emergency. Now if the director had not gotten busy and 
awarded these hundreds of contracts for homes to be built at once, we would 
have scored him and criticized him just as roughly as we are doing now. I 
have not heard a breath of suspicion or criticism of any improper relations, 
or of not having done the job as best we could, and I think it is up to every 
member of the committee to fully co-operate in seeing that the problem is 
studied long enough and thoroughly enough that our recommendation will 
be fair, not only to our veterans but fair to the very live and efficient organiza­
tion that has been handling the Veterans’ Land Act. I want to say quite frankly 
I have had scores of veterans come to me and praise the government, and 
praise the department, for the benefits they are getting under the Veterans’ 
Land Act.

Mr. Fraser: Mr. Cleaver stated the veterans in his riding were quite 
satisfied with those houses, but I had a return on them and, if I remember 
rightly, the government, after they were built, in order to hand them over to 
the veterans—took off $1,000 from the cost of each house.

Mr. Cleaver: I think you will find this, Mr. Fraser, and again I am 
speaking from memory and I do not say I am right, but I think you will find 
in the Queensway development at Freeman, there was a lot of money that had 
to be spent bringing municipal water from the town of Burlington to the 
Queensway development. A lot of money had to be spent draining water so 
the cellars would be dry and perhaps some adjustments had to be made in 
what I would term local improvements. There is the reason why these 
veterans’ houses cost so much. The ordinary builder will go into a community 
and he will buy a twenty-five or fifty acre parcel of land but he does not spend 
his own money putting in the water, the sewers, and the sidewalks and so on. 
He takes it up with the municipal council under the Loca llmprovements Act and 
he gets his sewer and water mains and sidewalks all built under the Local 
Improvements Act. The owner is then charged in taxes, a special improvements 
rate in his taxes, over a period of fifteen to twenty years or whatever it is. 
In the end result the owenr pays that money but he does not realize it. Now 
in the Queensway development at Freeman it cost $20,000 or $25,000 to bring 
the water from Burlington.

Mr. Fleming: I would like to ask one thing?
The Chairman: Mr. Winkler was on his feet.
Mr. Winkler: Both Mr. Beaudry and Mr. Fleming have offered sug­

gestions here calculated to shorten the time and not to add hours to the 
session. I think both of them have resulted in us wasting time. I believe we 
should go on and get the full details of the picture as Mr. Murchison has it 
before we make any decisions on the matter whatever.

Mr. Fleming: Mr. Chairman, I want to say just a word on Mr. Winkler’s 
last remark, which adds interest to my point. What I said was that this com­
mittee had no right at this stage to stop taking evidence, it ought to go on and 
hear evidence. I think Mr. Winkler was here at the time I made that statement.

The Chairman: I do not think it has been the intention not to continue 
taking evidence.

Mr. Fleming: There is one issue and one issue alone involved here. It is 
crystal clear. It would appear from the results of the discussion that we are 
going to discontinue the taking of evidence. If this motion goes through that 
will be its effect.

The Chairman: Mr. Fleming, no one intends to stop evidence.



PUBLIC ACCOUNTS 579

Mr. Fleming: Mr. Chairman, we are not talking about anybody’s inten­
tion, we are talking about fact.

The Chairman : It would not necessarily stop the taking of evidence. Of 
course, wre have to deal with facts. That does not stop the hearing of evidence.

Mr. Fleming : I submit that the effect of passing the motion will be 
arbitrarily to stop the taking of evidence. We appear to be forgetting the pur­
pose for which we are here. In my opinion, if the motion were to carry it 
would stop the taking of this evidence.

The Chairman : Not at all, Mr. Fleming.
Mr. Fleming: Well, Mr. Chairman, that is my submission.
The Chairman : Yes, it may be, but it is not the fact.
Mr. Fleming: I do not ask you to agree.
The Chairman : My submission is that your submission is not a fact.
Mr. Fleming: That is the effect of the motion, to stop the taking of 

evidence. I say that for this committee to stop taking evidence, to turn aside 
and ask the House to set up a committee in any field, particularly where it is 
known that it would not be possible for it to bring in a report in view of the 
near approach of prorogation, would be for this committee to turn its back 
on its plain duty in face of the facts.

Mr. Beaudry : What Mr. Winkler was suggesting would not be any turning 
aside.

Mr. Fleming: I suggest that we have evidence given by Mr. Winkler then.
Mr. Beaudry: What Mr. Winkler said was that he wanted to see it 

through.
Mr. Fleming: Yes, I think w'e are going to get an opportunity to see it 

through ; and if we do, then I suggest that we ought to go on and hear evidence 
from Windsor.

Mr. Beaudry : Mr. Chairman, perhaps I could—
Mr. Cote: Close the debate.
The Chairman : Perhaps the chair will have a word to say about that.
Mr. Beaudry: Perhaps instead of carrying out Mr. Fleming’s suggestion 

we would achieve the same purpose by securing an appraisal from someone 
in the neighbourhood, an independent authority who could give us an estimate 
of the present value of the eight houses under discussion at Sarnia. That is 
what I was driving at in the first place. I personally have no knowledge of 
construction. I do not think that I would be capable of arriving at a figure at 
all, certainly not either from the statements given to us by Mr. Murchison or 
Mr. Cleave, or anyone else for that matter, unless it is followed up by the 
estimate of a qualified real estate expert who could tell me exactly what 
houses of the type under discussion are worth at the present time.

Mr. Fleming: That is what Mr. Murphy asked for.
The Chairman : Might I be permitted to say a few words. With all due 

respect for the members who have spoken I think personally this has been a 
tempest in a teapot, and that perhaps expressions have been used which possibly 
might better have been left unsaid. Maybe the way Mr. Beaudry worded his 
intentions was not quite clear, but I think that the suggestion that he made 
while not limitative was timely. I think what he wanted to get at was a way 
of determining the exact situation there; and, furthermore, he wanted to find 
a solution to this very difficult problem. I think we all want to help find a 
solution to the veterans’ problem. As was stated by Mr. Boucher, these veterans
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want to know where they stand, and I think they have a right to know that as 
soon as possible. I think the motion was not limitative. The intention was as 
stated by Mr. Beaudry.

Mr. Fleming: I object to your making statements, Mr. Chairman.
The Chairman: As chairman I have the same right as other members of 

the committee have.
Mr. Fleming: You are the chairman of the committee. You have no 

right to give evidence.
The Chairman: I am not giving evidence. I have the same right here as 

any member of the committee.
Mr. Fleming: I am sorry, Mr. Chairman—
The Chairman: I am in my position as chairman expressing my views, 

just the same as any other member of the committee would have the right 
to do.

Mr. Fleming: I just want to say this, that I do not think that that is a 
function of the chairman of a committee.

The Chairman: Mr. Fleming, I think the chairman of the committee 
has the same privilege as any other member in expressing his views on problems 
that arise.

Mr. Fleming: I am sorry, I do not agree.
The Chairman: And I am further of the opinion—
Mr. Fleming: The Speaker of the House does not do it, either.
The Chairman: —that Mr. Murchison in coming before the committee has 

the right to make a full statement of the facts even before questions are put. 
If the committee had permitted him to make the statement which he has 
prepared a great deal of time would have been saved and many of the questions 
which have been asked would have been answered by that statement. Many 
of the points raised by Mr. Cleave also would have been dealt with. Now, as 
to Mr. Beaudry’s motion, he may not have taken the right way in presenting 
it. We have been a long time discussing the motion which suggests that we 
should send people there to examine the properties. Discussing it does not 
expedite matters one way or the other. It is not a question of our taking 
evidence from Mr. Murchison. I think first of all he should also be given 
a chance, as he asked for when he arrived this afternoon, to make a statement 
to the committee, and after that questioning on all the documents that he has 
brought should be carried on at the next meeting which I suggest might be 
to-night.

Mr. Fleming: I do not think Mr. Murchison has the right to make any 
statement. He is summoned here as a witness to answer questions.

Mr. Fraser: Absolutely.
The Chairman: I think any witness has a right to make a statement. 

He is the director of the Veterans Land Act.
Mr. Fraser: Absolutely not.
The Chairman: If at the first meeting, before any questions were asked 

Mr. Murchison, he had made a statement as to the whole thing upon the letter 
sent to me by Mr. Fleming, instead of it coming out gradually through ques­
tioning, we would have had much more quickly a better picture of the whole 
situation than we have had over a long time.
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Mr. Fleming: I want to say this about your statement. I do not admit 
that any witness summoned before this committee has the right to come forward 
and make a statement. The committee may admit that if it wishes but no such 
witness has the right to make a statement. Mr. Murchison is summoned here 
as any other witness. He is a witness. He is not in any preferred position 
because he happens to be director of the Veterans Land Act. He is not in a 
preferred position. I want to say this further—and with this I conclude— 
that I for one have had enough of Mr. Murchison’s statements. We had an 
experience with Mr. Murchison’s statements on a previous occasion in con­
nection with the inquiry into the sale of those lands in the Fraser Valley. 
We know what happened. Mr. Murchison made his statement. Then later when 
we got the facts we found that the statement could not be backed up. I for one 
do not want any more of Mr. Murchison’s statements. Let him come as a 
witness when he is called and answer the questions that are put to him.

Mr. Cote: It is up to the committee to decide.
The Chairman: My point in stating that any official of the government 

can come before a committee and make a statement is that that has been the 
practice of all committees. We have had Dr. Coleman and Mr. Wright and 
others who, before being questioned, were asked to make a statement.

Mr. Fraser: That is a different proposition when they are asked to make 
it but we do not want it forced on us.

Mr. Burton: I wish to say that in my opinion Mr. Murchison has every 
right to ask the permission of the committee to make a statement, and I think 
in all fairness and courtesy he should be heard. I would go this far though 
that I do not believe it is in order for him, as happened this afternoon, in 
the midst of answering a question to want to branch off and make a statement. 
That should be avoided, but I do believe if Mr. Murchison wants to make 
a statement all he needs to do is to ask this committee, and as far as I am 
concerned I certainly want to hear it. Whether or not I believe him remains 
to be seen; whether or not I want to question him further on it remain^ 
to be seen.

Mr. Boucher: Certainly any witness has a right to ask a committee to 
make a statement, but certainly it is up to the committee to decide.

The Chairman: Certainly. I said he has the right to ask.
Mr. Boucher: Let me have the floor for a minute.
Mr. Jaenicke: Where are the rules for all this?
Mr. Boucher: This is Wednesday. We are adjourning, we hope, on 

Saturday, and we are into a matter that is quite serious to the veterans of 
Canada. Are we going to continue hearing statements or are we going to get 
the particulars that we asked for as a committee and that are being held in 
pamphlet form by Mr. Murchison in preparation to proceeding to answer 
questions and divulging them. There is the question, is it not?

Mr. Cleaver: What time do we meet to-night?
The Chairman: Eight o’clock, as we have so much to cover.
Mr. Cote: I move we adjourn.
The Chairman: The meeting stands adjourned until 8 o’clock to-night.
The committee adjourned at 6.05 p.m. to resume at 8 o’clock, p.m.
The committee resumed at 8 o’clock, p.m.
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EVENING SESSION

The Chairman : We have Mr. Murchison before us.

Gordon Murchison, Director Veterans Land Act, recalled.

By Mr. Fleming:
Q. May I ask Mr. Murchison certain questions? I may say that I have had 

the opportunity during the dinner adjournment to look over this volume 
that Mr. Murchison has, and if I may look over your shoulder I think we can 
go along fairly quickly. First, Mr. Murchison, will you turn to the second item 
and give the construction history, please? These are the items on the eight 
houses, I take it.—A. Yes. July 12, 1945, contract with plans, specifications and 
site plans forwarded to Ryan Home Builders Limited. July 31, 1945, contracts 
completed by the Director of the Veterans Land Act and returned to the Toronto 
district office. August 27, 1945, priority rating A. P. H. No. 44, issued by the 
Department of Munitions and Supply. That would relate to the materials 
required for the construction of these homes. September 1, 1945, Ryan Home 
Builders Limited started physical work. September 14, 1945, approval to Ryan 
Construction Company (sub-contractors) to proceed with excavations and 
foundations. August 1, 1946, Toronto district office advised that houses 
completed sufficient for occupancy. December 10, 1946, final inspection report 
by representative of the department.

Q. Before we leave that, Mr. Murchison, the physical work actually began 
on September 1, 1945 Is that correct?—A. That is right.

Q. And eleven months later, on August 1, 1946, the Toronto district office 
reports that the houses are completed sufficient for occupancy.—A. That is the 
information I have.

Q. And then on December 10th you got your final inspection report?— 
A. Yes.

Q. Then, I have a question or two on the contract which comes next in 
your brief. This is the contract between Ryan Home Builders and yourself 
dated July 21, 1945. Will you put on the record section 3 of the contract 
relating to the terms of payment?—A. Do you wish me to quote from the 
contract?

Mr. Fleming: Mr. Chairman, I do not know whether it would save time 
merely to have this typed in. There arc three sections in the contract I think 
ought to be put on the record. They are about half a page each.

The Chairman : We should put in only what is absolutely needed because 
of the matter of printing.

Mr. Fleming: I have gone over the contract itself, and these sections ought 
to go on the record. I wondered if you wanted to take the time to have the 
witness read them.

Mr. Cote: We would like to follow your examination.
The Chairman: And in order to know exactly what you are aiming at, I 

think it will be better that way. They will be in the evidence in that way.

By Mr. Fleming:
Q. I will ask Mr. Murchison to read No. 3 headed “Price”.—A.:

The Director covenants and agrees (n) to pay to the contractor the
cost of the work as defined in “schedule A” hereto attached, which cost
as so defined is hereinafter referred to as “cost of the work”; (b) to pay
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to the contractor a fee of $225 for and in respect of each house to be 
erected, payable 50 per centum on the certificate of the inspector that ,50 
per centum of the work has been completed, 25 per centum on completion 
of an additional 25 per centum of the work, and the balance within a 
reasonable time after the work has been completed, and has been accepted 
and passed by the inspector ; (c) the said fee referred to in subsection 
(t>) hereof shall be deemed to cover the entire profit of the contractor 
and the necessary services of all executive officers of the contractor and 
also all overhead expenses of the contractor at its general offices, and in 
any regularly established branch office, including but without limiting the 
generality of the foregoing, the services of the purchasing, accounting, 
estimating and contract departments of such general offices or branch 
offices, and the travelling or other expenses incurred by head office 
employees or members of the contracting company for the purposes of 
inspecting the work.

Q. Would you then read section 7, please. That is headed “Checking and 
Auditing”?—A.

The contractor shall check all materials and labour entering into 
the work and shall keep such full detailed accounts as may be necessary 
to proper financial management under this contract, and shall keep 
records of the cost of the work in a manner satisfactory to the inspector 
or to a cost auditor appointed or approved by the director. The inspector, 
or the auditor and their time-keepers and clerks shall be afforded access 
to the work and to all the contractor’s books, records, correspondence, 
instructions, drawings, receipts, vouchers and memoranda relating to this 
contract and the contractor shall preserve all such records for a period 
of one year after final payment hereunder.

Q. Will you then read section 8 headed “Payments.”?—A.
(а) As promptly as possible after the 1st and 15th day of each 

month during the prosecution of the work the contractor shall furnish 
to the director a certified statement or progress claim of the cost of the 
work (determined in accordance with schedule A) for the preceding 
period, such statements to be accompanied by two copies of all payrolls, 
vouchers and invoices, and such other information as the director may 
require, and thereupon if such statement is satisfactory to the director 
the contractor will be paid the amount which may be due within ten 
days after such statement or process claims has been received by the 
director.

(б) Payments shall be made only on the production and delivery 
by the contractor to the director of a certificate in writing signed by the 
inspector, and if required by the director by a cost auditor appointed 
or approved by the director, certifying the amount to which the con­
tractor is entitled as aforesaid.

(c) The contractor shall when making his third and succeeding 
requisitions for payments, furnish to the inspector satisfactory evidence 
supported by an affidavit in form satisfactory to the director, that all 
invoices and accounts, whether for wages, materials supplied or other­
wise howsoever listed in the second preceding requisition, have been 
duly paid.

(d) The final payment shall not become due until the inspector, and, 
if required by the director, a cost auditor appointed or approved by the 
director, shall have issued a certificate that such payment is due and 
the contractor shall have proof satisfactory to the director that no lien 
does or can exist against the work.
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Q. Let me ask you generally about those sections of the contract. Were 
those provisions of the contract fulfilled? Were the terms of the contract lived 
up to by both parties?—A. I could not answer that question from my own 
personal knowledge. This work was under the observation of our construction 
division. The costa of the work were under continuous audit by the cost and 
audit division of the Treasury Department of the dominion government and 
I assume that the payments made to the contractor were in accordance with 
the contract. That is all I can say.

Q. We got into trouble once before with assumptions. I think we had 
better stick to your knowledge. You have not personal knowledge of the 
details of this?—A. No.
i Mr. Cleaver: I think it would be just as well if he would add “I believe” 
so that nobody will be misled by the testimony. As to anything he does not 
know he should qualify it in some way, but he should give the evidence.

Mr. Fleming: The chairman checked Mr. Cleave the other day on giving 
hearsay evidence and I think we had better avoid having this witness state 
what may not be within his knowledge.

Mr. Cleaver: Very well, as long as it goes on the record that there is a 
blank to be filled in by somebody.

The Chairman: Mr. Fleming is right. I objected previously to hearsay 
evidence.

Mr. Cleaver: I am quite content as long as there is an indication on the 
record that there is a blank, that the answer is not a complete one.

By the Chairman:
Q. Has Mr. Murchison with him now any official who might be able to 

answer this question from personal knowledge?—A. No.
Q. Here in Ottawa?—A. No.
Q. You never called anyone. Even expecting this they were not brought 

to Ottawa?—A. No.

By Mr. Burton:
Q. Did any of your officials report to you that any part of this contract 

had not been lived up to?—A. Yes.

By Mr. Fleming:
Q. You had better expand on tlfat. Just before we go into the expansion 

of that may I ask the witness one question. Where is this person located you 
referred to a moment ago as being responsible for the supervisory performance 
of the contract?—A. The head office of the Treasury Department, of course, 
is in Ottawa.

Q. It was your construction department?—A. The district construction 
supervisor’s office would be in Toronto.

Q. Will you just take the question Mr. Burton asked you and amplify 
your answer to it. You said in reply to him that non-performance in certain 
respects, at least, had been reported to you. What reports did you receive 
and when?—A. When I answered this question, Mr. Chairman, that it was 
reported to me, it was in fact reported by our inspectors to our district con­
struction supervisor in Toronto.

Q. When was that?—A. On December 19, 1946.
Q. That was after the completion of the contract?—A. Yes.
Q. After the completion date you have already given to us?—A. Yes, on 

final inspection. The completion date I gave you was when the houses were 
fit for occupancy. I did not say they were completed.
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Q. You are referring now to a statement contained in the final certifi­
cate?—A. Yes.

Q. The completion certificate. I think Mr. Burton intended to ask you if 
you had any complaints or reports prior to that time. I will come back to 
that final certificate later. Did you have any reports then prior to that time?— 
A. Nothing in writing.

Q. Did you have any oral reports?—A. Yes, there were some oral reports 
I believe from the district superintendent at Toronto that complaints were 
being made about defects in the construction at Sarnia.

Q. Over what period were you receiving those complaints?—A. I do not 
recall precisely.

Q. Approximately?—A. I could not answer that even approximately.

By the Chairman:
Q. Mr. Murchison, you knew this was coming and that you would not be 

in a position to answer directly some of these questions. Did it ever occur 
to your mind, even though we did not summon other witnesses, they might be 
helpful to the committee if they were here and able to answer questions 
directly? The committee is anxious to know many of the details. Would it 
not have been good policy when the date of the meeting was set, to have those 
people who knew about the facts here?—A. It would have been had they still 
been in the employ of the director, but they are not.

Q. None of them are now in the employ of the director?—A. No.
Q. Nobody in the district office in Toronto would have those files which 

would permit them to answer questions quickly?—A. Not to my knowledge.

By Mr. Fleming:
Q. Were the complaints a matter of record in either your office or the 

Toronto office?—A. Not in writing so far as our files go.
Q. Did nobody ever make a memorandum of those complaints in the 

Toronto office or in your office when they were conveyed to you from the 
Toronto office?—A. I could not answer that. I have not got the files in front of 
me.

Q. Have you looked at your Ottawa files?—We do not maintain details 
on our Ottawa files.

By. the Chairman:
Q. Where are those details maintained?—A. In Toronto.
Q. Could not the files have been sent here to Ottawa? We have had three 

or four meetings and questions asked which could not be answered directly. 
Would it not have been good policy in the public interest to be able to give 
definite answers when they were asked?—A. Probably it would, but this 
enquiry was based on an item in the public accounts directed towards the 
settlement operation of the department in Sarnia Township. That was all the 
information I had upon which to base any calculations as to what information 
the committee might require. At your last meeting, I was asked a number of 
questions and I am here to-day with the answers to those questions.

Q. 'Ves, but after the scope which the committee investigation had gained, 
would it not be in the interest of the committee to have all the files here so 
we could dig into them right away?

By Mr. Fleming:
Q. You have not them here and you have not personal knowledge?— 

A. No.
Q. Well, Mr. Murchison, do you mean to tell the committee that where 

complaints are coming in contending that the contract is not being carried
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out by the contractor, that owing to the practice under your supervision in 
the 1 oronto office and in the Ottawa office, that is simply a matter of word of 
mouth? There lias never been a memorandum made of it?—A. No, I did 
not say anything of the kind.

Mr. Cleaver: If I might interrupt, I understood the witness to say that 
all these records would be at the local office. Now, it is obviously a physical 
impossibility for Mr. Murchison to have personal knowledge of all of the 
details. If those files are not here, I think we are really wrasting our time. I 
think Mr. Murchison should now be asked to have them brought to Ottawa.

By Mr. Fleming:
Q. Mr. Murchison did not know, in reply to an earlier question, whether 

there would be any memorandum kept of complaints of this kind of breach 
of contract. I am asking him if the practice prevailing in the department under 
his direction does not call for or require the keeping of memoranda or some 
form of record of complaints of this kind? Does it or does it not, Mr. 
Murchison?—A. Of course, we keep records.

Q. Then, you say there were complaints made?—A. Yes.
Q. Are you prepared to say then whether the office practice that you laid 

down for your branch or your department does or does not require the 
keeping of memoranda or notes of record with relation to alleged breaches of 
contract which are reported to you?—A. I did not follow that very closely.

Q. You determine the rules, I take it, for those who are serving in your 
department?—A. Yes.

Q. Do you require any record to be kept by officials of your department 
where complaints are made that a contract is not being carried out by a 
contractor?—A. Absolutely, that is contained in the reports of our inspectors.

By Mr. Jaenicke:
Q. Who made the complaints?
Mr. Fleming: In the first instance?

By Mr. Jaenicke:
Q. Those complaints about which you are talking?—A. The complaints 

were coming from the veterans on the project.
Mr. Burton : Mr. Murchison answered me before when I asked him 

whether any officials had made complaints to him and he said yes.
Mr. Jaenicke: Mr. Fleming, you are talking about complaints while con­

struction was going on and the witness is talking about complaints after it 
was finished.

Mr. Fleming: He has not said that yet.
Mr. Jaenicke: It was the veterans.
The Chairman: The veterans might have complained after they went to 

the buildings. You are wondering whether the complaints were made to the 
director by some of his officials in respect of the property.

By Mr. Boucher:
Q. Let us be brutally frank on this. This contract calls for reports every 

fifteen days and certificates before payments were made and inspection. They 
may not be termed complaints, they may be termed reports. Would the witness 
not be able to tell the committee whether, in his administrative capacity, he 
does not require reports every fifteen days and certificates before payment, 
and if he does not require his officials to live up to their duty and report in 
accordance with the terms of the contract and whether or not that was done?



PUBLIC ACCOUNTS 587

By Mr. Gladstone:
Q. As part of that question, were payments made from the Ottawa or the 

Toronto office?
Mr. Fleming : Let him answer the question.
Mr. Gladstone: This is part of the question.
The Witness : Payments were made from our Toronto office, yes.

By Mr. Fleming:
Q. On what?—A. On the production of a certificate by an inspector that 

the payment would be in order.
Q. Now let us just clear this before you go any further. You have been 

talking about complaints, in reply to Mr. Burton’s earlier question. When you 
gave your answer to him, were you simply referring to anything noted in the 
progress reports or are you talking about complaints from other sources reported 
to you?—A. I am talking about the reference to complaints in discussions with 
my district superintendent in Toronto, emanating from veterans.

Q. When did they begin to come in?—A. I should say around last 
Christmas.

Q. Then we will have to ask you to look and see if you have a record of 
those and, if you have not got a record, then it would be proper to ask you why, 
in keeping with good office practice, you did not keep a record?

Mr. Warren : Mr. Chairman, may I ask this. A complaint might come in 
from an inspector. Now is there any special reason why that should go down 
in a book somewhere if that official gave orders that the situation be corrected? 
On the other hand, most of these complaints that we heard around this com­
mittee table, regarding these particular houses we are talking about, appeared 
months after the building was completed, due to weather conditions.

Mr. Boucher: Mr Warren, you do not say the inspector, the district 
inspector, who reports the progress and supplies certificates, would give oral 
reports and not written reports when they have to verify the accounts and the 
payment of them?

The Chairman: We might ask the witness?
Mr. Warren: If the frame is put up how does the inspector know the 

lumber is green and is going to dry and cause splitting in the wallboard and 
that sore of thing? How could he put that in a report?

Mr. Boucher: Is that the full answer to my question?
Mr. Warren : What is your question?
Mr. Boucher: You heard it.
Mr. Fleming: I submit we should put our questions to the witness. We 

have asked the witness to get certain information and to look up certain reports. 
Now have you got the reports there of the progress payments?

The Witness: The date of all progress payments to Ryan Home Builders 
Ltd.: The first progress payment, on September 7, 1945, $14,265.40; The second 
one is February 1, 1946, $16,706.81 ; the third is March 1, 1946, $8,430.61 ; the 
fourth is May 1, 1946, $9,802.38; the fifth is June 17, 1946, $5,574.02; the sixth 
is July 12, 1946. $1,827.98; the seventh is September 6, 1946, $3,265.35; the 
total being $59,872.55. The final amount not yet paid is $2,069.20.

Mr. Jaenicke: That is all you are holding back?
The Witness : That is all.

By Mr. Fleming:
Q. 't ou are holding back $2,069.20 against a total contract of $61,941.82?— 

A. Yes.
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Q. And you made a payment as late as the 6th of September, 1946, of 
$3,265.35, bringing your total payments at that date to $59,872.55?—A. That 
is what I said.

Mr. Boucher: May I ask another question here. Before each of these 
payments were made did you secure from your inspector, who was on the job, 
a certificate that the work was satisfactory, giving you authority to make these 
payments according to the contract without complaint?

The Witness : Whilst I have not seen those progress reports personally, I 
would say that the accounts could not have been paid unless there wTas a 
satisfactory report by the inspector, because the treasury division would refuse 
to disburse it.

Mr. Cote: Your are expressing a belief?
The Witness: I am expressing standard administrative practice.
Mr. Fleming: You are drawing an inference.
The Witness : I am telling you what our administrative practice was.
Mr. Boucher: That is not an answer.
Mr. Warren : May I ask this? Could it not be perfectly true the house, at 

that time, would look perfectly all right and the inspector would be perfectly 
right in giving his report.

Mr. Cleaver: I suggest with deference, all this criticism of the witness for 
making general opinion answers is because the question was an improper one 
in the first place. This witness should not be asked that type of question, as 
to whether every individual payment was predicated on a proper inspector’s 
report. It would be a physical impossibility for this director to say to his branch 
office “before any payments are made I want the inspection reports to come 
into my office”. So I say this criticism of general answers by Mr. Murchison 
is most unfair and the criticism should be directed to the member of the com­
mittee who asked the question.

The Chairman: That may be all right if the witness did not know that we 
wanted this information.

Mr. Cleaver : The witness said it was an administrative practice and 
payment would not otherwise be made.

Mr. Boucher: That was in answer to my question, and he said it was 
administrative practice.

Mr. Cleaver : But you said the question was not properly answered and 
the reason it was not answered was because it should never have been asked.

Mr. Fleming: I would like to say this. I think my friend Mr. Cleaver, 
who was not here at the last meeting, may not be aware of the fact that 
the witness was asked to bring along these progress reports.

Mr. Cleaver : Perhaps I should not be interfering at all, but when we hear 
questions asked such as Mr. Boucher asked a moment ago, I say it is not fair 
to chastise the witness because the witness gave the only type of answer he 
could give, namely a general answer.

Mr. Fleming: Let us ask the witness if he has the progress reports on 
which the certificates were issued leading to these payments.

Mr. Fraser: Mr. Chairman, the witness said the treasury board would 
have to pass those payments, and, therefore, they would come to Ottawa.

Mr. Fleming: Well let us ask the witness about that?
The Chairman: One question at a time, Mr. Fleming has asked a question.
Mr. Fleming: Let us have an answer with respect to the progress reports.

I am trying to get over this as quickly as I can. I have been through the file 
during the dinner hour and I am trying to bring the information out for the 
committee.
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Mr. Cleaver: If you keep Mr. Boucher and the others quiet while you get 
answers to your questions you will get along all right.'

Some Hon. Member: Speak for yourself, John.

By Mr. Fleming:
Q. You haven’t got them there?—A. No.
Q. I’ve got to ask you again to get those, Mr. Murchison. I want to ask 

you again why you held back that figure of $2,069.27, of the contract amount 
held back by you?

Mr. Cleaver: I wonder if you would ask him who it was held it back; 
did he hold it back or was it held back by his Toronto office?

Mr. Fleming: His answer will give us that.
Mr. Cleaver: I would expect he did not hold it back at all.
The Witness: The answer to that is found in the official letter from the 

district supervisor at Toronto to the Director under date of December 17, 1946. 
Might I read this letter?

The Chairman: Yes, please.
Mr. Fleming: Just a moment. I am coming to that.

By Mr. Fleming:
Q. This letter was written December 17, 1946?—A. Yes.
Q. And this payment was held back from September on?—A. Yes.
Q. Before you come to the December letter was there anything in the 

meantime happened by reason of which that payment was held up, held back 
for three months before the letter was written on December 17, 1946?—A. It 
was held back pending an inspection of the houses by representatives of the 
department.

Q. Who made the inspections up to that time; was it not done by a repre­
sentative of your department?—A. Yes, the building inspector on the job; 
but in making the final inspection of the houses, that inspection was made 
jointly by a qualified building inspector accompanied by an administrative 
officer.

Q. I think this is the point at which we would like to hear the report to 
which you have just referred about these eight houses.

Mr. Jaenicke: Wouldn’t that depend on the contract? Would it not 
provide for the holding back of certain payments? Didn’t we hear something to 
that effect in one of the clauses which was read by Mr. Murchison which pro­
vided that there should be a hold-back of final payment until inspection and 
so forth had been made?

Mr. Fleming: This is for each payment.
Mr. Jaenicke: That is the usual provision in a contract of that kind, 

is it not?
Mr. Warren: Can we not have that letter now?
Mr. Fleming: Would you not want to hear the reports which preceded 

the letter, and on which the letter was based?
The Chairman: Yes.
Mr. Fleming: I suggest then that we ask the witness to read the reports. 

They are his reports, one on each house, by the inspectors just referred to by 
the witness. I suggest that he read these reports identifying the property in 
each case by the name of the tenant.

The Witness: The name of the occupant of the first one is F. P. Moden 
It reads as follows—
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Mr. Fleming: Will you give the date of these reports? These are the 
final inspection reports, aren’t they?

The Witness: Yes, this is not dated.
Mr. Fleming: These are not dated but they preceded the letter written 

on December 17, 1946, is that correct?
The Witness: Yes. The first one reads:
“Lot No. 10S—Name, Moden, F. P.—Subdivision, McNally-Durrance, 

Sarnia.—
1. All basement walls at plate to be pointed up.
2. Collar to be put on smoke pipe at chimney.
3. Back main door to be adjusted.
4. No gravel walks. Front walks included in foundation contract.
5. All nails showing through hardwood flooring to be properly countersunk

and filled.
Signed: F. CUMMINGS 
Signed: N. EAR VIE.

Instructions t.o general contractor
All items with the exception of items No. 1, No. 2, and (No. 4 rear door 

walk) are the responsibility of the general contractor. Item No. 3 shall be 
paid through progress payments. The contractor shall secure prices (two for 
each item if possible) for item No. 1 mastic caulking between top of foundation 
walls and plates, and item No. 4 gravel walk to rear door, forward tenders for 
the above two items to this office for approval.”

Then the second one:
“Lot No. 45N—Name, VACANT—Subdivision, McNally-Durrance, Sarnia.
1. All basement walls at plate to be pointed up.
2. Moulding in kitchen to be sanded and repainted.
3. Floor in front vestibule to be sanded and refinished.
4. Entire front hall to be redecorated.
5. All wallboard taping in stairway to the upstairs to be removed and 

properly applied and finished.
6. Closet door in south bedroom upstairs to be adjusted.
7. Bath and kitchen floors to be sanded and stained.
8. Wallboard over rear hall by bottom of newel post to be plastered over 

and touched up.
9. Pipes broken by frost, all plumbing to be checked.

10. No gravel walks. Front walk included in the foundation contract.
11. All nail heads showing in hardwood flooring to be countersunk and 

properly filled.
12. Proper hot air registers to be installed.

Signed: F. CUMMINGS 
Signed: N. EAR VIE.

Instructions to general contractor
All items with the exception of items No. 1, No. 6, No. 9 and (No. 10 rear 

door walks) are the responsibility of the general contractor. The general 
contractor shall secure prices (two for each item if possible) for item No. 2 
mastic calking between the top of the foundation walls and the plaster, and 
item No. 10 gravel walk to rear door. Forward tenders to this office for 
approval. Items No. 6 and No. 9 shall be paid through progress payment."
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The third one reads:
“Lot No. 18N—Name, Pinkett, W.—Subdivision, McNally-Durrance, 

Sarnia.
1. Outside of back door to be sanded down and repainted.
2. All basement walls at plate to be pointed up.
3. Wire on pipes in basement to be replaced by proper hangers.
4. All nail heads showing in hardwood flooring to be countersunk and 

properly filled.
5. Proper hot air registers to be installed upstairs.
6. All wallboard taping in living room and stairway and upper hall to 

be removed and properly applied and finished.
7. Cupboard door in kitchen and two kitchen doors to be adjusted to fit.
8. No gravel walks. Front walk included in foundation contract.
9. House is equipped with receptacle for frig. Will we supply it?

10. Attic to be properly insulated.
Signed: F. CUMMINGS 
Signed: N. HARVIE.

Instructions to general contractor
All items with the exception of items No. 2. No. 7, (No. 8 rear door walk) 

and item No. 9 are the responsibility of the general contractor. The general 
contractor shall secure prices (two for each item if possible) for item No. 2 
mastic caulking between the top foundation walls and the plate, item No. 8 
gravel walk to rear door. Item No. 7 shall be paid through progress payment. 
Disregard item No. 9, the veteran is required to make application to regional 
office for refrigerator.”

Then the next one:
“Lot No. 41S—Name, Cleave, W.—Subdivision, McNally-Durrance, Sarnia.

1. Flooring by entrance door to rear hall to be raised to level of nosing 
on top of stair.

2. All basement walls at plate to be pointed up.
3. ires on pipes in basement to be replaced by proper hangers.
4. One window stop at each kitchen window to be replaced.
5. Baseboards in kitchen to be sanded and repainted.
6. Living room floor to be resanded and redressed.
7. Broken panel mould inside of front door to be replaced.
8. Treads and handrail of main stair to be cleaned off and refinished.
9. Proper hot air registers to be installed throughout upstairs.

10. North bedroom upstairs and upper hall and stairway also underlining 
windows taping to be removed and properly applied and finished.

11. Broken window stop in bathroom to be replaced.
12. One kitchen light to be repaired.
13. All nails in hardwood flooring to be countersunk and properly filled.
14. Living room and dining room to be repainted.
15. Switch in south bedroom upstairs to be repaired.
16. Broken glass in rear outside door to be replaced and door to be 

outside repainted.
16A. Rear door weatherstripped.
17. No gravel walks. Front walk included in foundation contract.

Signed F. CUMMINGS,
Signed N. HARVIE,
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Instructions to general contractor
All items with the exception of items No. 1, No. 2, No. 4, No. 7, No. 11, 

No. 16, No. 16A and (No. 17 rear door walks), are the responsibility of the 
general contractor. Items No. 1, No. 4, No. 7, No. 11 and No. 16 shall be paid 
through progress payments. The general contractor shall secure prices (two 
for each item if possible) for item No. 2 mastic caulking between the top of the 
foundation walls and the plates. 16A weatherstripping rear door and item 
No. 17 gravel walk to rear door. Forward tenders for the above three items 
to this office for approval.”

Another one, the fifth:
“Lot No. 9 N—Name, Hudspitch, F. J.—Subdivision McNally-Durrance 

Sarnia—
1. Under kitchen sink to be closed in and door installed.
2. All wall board taping in kitchen and living room, dining room, stairway 

and upper hall to be removed and properly fitted and finished.
3. Door to south bedroom to be adjusted also clothes closet door in south 

bedroom.
4. Underneath top nosing on stairway both sides to be finished in a work­

manlike manner, workmanship very poor in this particular case.
5. New top nosing to be installed to fit,
6. Floor has sagged under west corner of door leading to cellar to be 

raised to proper level and put six inch square cap on top of post in basement 
after floor has been raised to proper level.

7. All basement walls at plate to be pointed up.
8. Proper hot air register to be installed in north bedroom upstairs.
9. All nail heads showing in hardwood flooring to be countersunk and 

properly filled.
10. Connection on water pipe from bathtub leaking to be repaired.
11. No gravel walks. Front walks included in foundation contract.

Signed F. CUMMINGS.
Signed N. HARVIE,

Instructions to general contractor
All items with the exception of items No. 3, No. 6, No. 7 and (No. 11 rear 

door walk) arc the responsibility of the general contractor. Items No. 3, No. 6, 
shall be paid through progress payments. The general contractor shall secure 
prices (two for each item if possible) for item No. 7 mastic caulking between 
top of the foundation walls and the plates, forward tenders to this office for 
approval.”

“Lot No. 15W—Name, Sntenbring, S. V.—Sub-division, McNally-Dtirrance 
Sarnia.

1. All basement wralls to be pointed up at plate.
2. strip to be fitted between casing and wall inside of front door.
3. New front door lock to be provided.
4. To be puttied under front windows in living room.
5. Proper registers to be installed in both bedrooms upstairs.
6. Corners of upstairs hall to be plastered over corner beads.
7. All wallboard taping to be removed and properly applied and plastered 

over upstairs and downstairs.
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8. Downstairs rear bedroom and hallway floors to be resanded and refinished.
9. All nail heads showing in hardwood flooring to be countersunk and 

properly filled.
10. Flashing leaking around chimney to be repaired.
11. Hot water heater to be insulated.

(Signed) F. CUMMINGS.
(Signed) N. HARVIE.

Instructions to General Contractor
All items with the exception of items No. 1, No. 2, No. 3 and No. 4 are 

the responsibility of the general contractor. Items No. 2, No. 3 and No. 4 shall 
be paid through progress payments. The general contractor shall secure a price 
(two if possible) for item No. 1 mastic caulking between top of foundation walls 
and plates. Forward tender for item No. 1 to this office for approval. Item No. 11 
hot water heater installation approved some time ago.”

“Lot No. 40N—Name, Vacant—Sub-division, McNally-Durrance, Sarnia.
1. All basement walls to be pointed up at plate.
2. Smoke pipe at chimney to be cemented.
3. All nail heads showing in hardwood flooring to be countersunk and 

properly filled.
4. Door casing leading from kitchen to front hall to be fitted properly 

against wall.
5. All wall board taping to be removed and properly applied and plastered 

over upstairs and down.
6. Kitehen floor to be sanded and stained.
7. Wall warped between kitchen and living room.
8. Bathroom door badly warped to be satisfactorily adjusted or replaced.
9. Bathroom floor to be sanded, stained and finished. Hole in floor to be 

repaired.
10. No gravel walks. Front walk included in foundation contract.

(Signed) F. CUMMINGS.
(Signed) N. HARVIE.

Instructions to General Contractor
All items with the exception of items No. 1, No. 4 and (No. 11 rear door 

walk) are the responsibility of the general contractor. The general contractor 
shall secure prices (two for each item if possible) for item No. 1, mastic caulking 
between top of foundation walls and plates, and item No. 10 gravel walk to rear 
door. Forward tenders for the above two items to this office for approval. Item 
No. 4 shall be paid through progress payments.”

“Lot No. 40 N—Name, Vacant—Sub-division, McNally-Durrance, Sarnia.
1. All basement, walls at plate to be pointed up.
2. All wallboard taping in north bedroom upstairs to be removed and 

properly applied and finished.
3. Door to attic in south bedroom upstairs to be adjusted.
4. All wallboard taping in north west bedroom downstairs and stairway 

leading upstairs to be removed and properly applied and finished.
5. Stringer at top of stair to second winder step to be faced with $" basswood 

and properly fitted to treads.
6. Door leading to cellar to be adjusted.
7. Under kitchen sink to be closed in and door fitted.
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8. Pipes broken due to frost, all plumbing to be checked, kitchen and living 
room floors to be cleaned.

9. No gravel walks. Front walk included in foundation contract.
10. All nail heads showing in hardwood floors to be countersunk and holes 

filled.
11. Proper hot air registers to be installed throughout the upstairs.

V. . (Signed) F. CUMMINGS.
(Signed) N. HARVIE.

Instructions to General Contractor
All items with the exception of items No. 1, No. 3, No. 5, ÿo. 6, No. 7, No. 

8 and (No. 9 rear door walk) are the responsibility of the general contractor. 
Items No. 3, No. 5, No. 6, No. 7 and No. 8 shall be paid through progress payment. 
Then general contractor shall secure prices (two for each item if possible) for 
item No. 1 mastic caulking between the top of foundation walls and the plates 
and item No. 9 gravel walk to rear door. Forward tenders for the above two 
items to this office for approval.”

By Mr. Fleming:
Q. You agree that that is a pretty formidable list of the eight houses?
Mr. Warren : Might I ask this question of the witness?
Mr. Fleming: Let him answer me first.
Mr. Warren: I want him to answer first.
Mr. Fleming: This question has already been asked.
Mr. Warren: No, not that one.
Mr. Fleming: My question has already been asked.
The Chairman: Mr. Fleming’s question should be answered first and then 

Mr. Warren’s question will come next.
The Witness: Yes, I would say as an administrator and not as a con­

struction man that that is quite a list.

By Mr. Warren:
Q. This is my question. I know my friend Mr. Fleming is getting a lot 

of amusement out of this formidable list—it is formidable on paper—but if we 
were to get two good men—and there are plenty of them—in North Renfrew, 
could they not do any of these repairs on any one of these houses within a 
week?—A. Again, speaking as a layman, I should say that that could be done 
on this list.

Mr. Boucher: What did you pay for repairs? What have you already paid 
for repairing them? Tell us what you have already paid for making these 
repairs.

Mr. Cote: That has been given before.
Mr. Boucher: Let him give it again.
The Witness: I should like to complete this report.
Mr. Fleming: Answer the question what actually did it cost you to put 

these places in shape? It was a little over $6.000, was it not, Mr. Murchison? 
You gave it to us at the last meeting.

Mr. Boucher: Mr. Warren says two Renfrew men could do it in a week.



PUBLIC ACCOUNTS 595

By Mr. Fleming:
Q. Is that correct?—A. Yes, it is my recollection that is the figure I placed 

on the record a few days ago.
Q. Your manner suggests that perhaps you are not too sure of it. Is 

that the figure or is it not?—A. I would like to consult the statement I placed 
on the record the other day.

Q. I think I can tell you that the figure that you gave was; it was over 
$6,000.—A. All right.

The Chairman: Has anybody got a copy of the evidence of the other day?
Mr. Fleming: Mr. Cleaver has the copy.
The Chairman: The witness might quote from it.
Mr. Fleming: If there is any doubt in the witness’s mind as to the figure 

being over $6,000 I suggest that he look it over.
The Chairman: The evidence is over there. Mr. Cleaver, would you 

mind letting us have it?
Mr. Beaudry : Mr. Fleming, are you speaking of repairs of the amount 

mentioned at a previous meeting as being the amount of necessary repairs to be 
added to the cost of construction when the costs were broken down?

Mr. Fleming: That is the figure to which my friend refers—the figure 
for repairs made this spring.

Mr. Beaudry: That is the figure you are referring to now?
Mr. Fleming: That is the figure the witness has confirmed, as I under­

stand it. Mr. Chairman, if the witness is going to read through the evidence 
we are going to be here a long time. If the witness has any doubt about it 
we will go on. Mr. Chairman, perhaps Mr. Murphy or Mr. Cleaver could look 
over it and we can get on.

The Chairman: Yes, that is right.

By Mr. Fleming:
Q. Mr. Murchison, these reports do not say anything about cut beams, 

do they?—A. No.
Q. Not a word said in any of these reports about cut beams?—A. I did not 

notice any. I do not recall seeing any.
Q. There is no date on any of these reports. All we know so far is they 

were written some time prior to December 17. Is that correct?—A. Yes. •
Q I will have to ask you to check on that and get the dates of those 

inspections and reports. I want to ask you what action was taken by your 
department on receipt of these progress reports in the light of the reports.— 
A. On December 17, 1946, the following letter was sent to Ryan Home Builders 
headed “Re final inspection report.”

Q. Is this the first letter that has gone to Ryan Home Builders about the work 
they were doing under the contract?—A. I would not say that. I am quoting 
from a letter referring to the final inspection report.

Q. Are there any letters to your knowledge prior to that date?—A. No.
Q. Are you saying there were none?—A. No, I say there were no letters, 

according to my knowledge, went to the Ryan Home Builders prior to that 
date, complaining of these particular defects.

Q. Not merely these defects but any earlier letters sent to Ryan Home 
Builders?—A. I could not say without consulting the construction files.

Q. We will ask you to check that, too, for other correspondence.
Mr. Cote: Letters from whom, from the director?

92756—4)
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Mr. Fleming: Either the director or the local office.
Mr. Cote: You had better specify.

By Mr. Fleming:
Q. I want all letters written to Ryan Home Builders about the progress 

of the work or the houses in general, their condition or otherwise. I think we 
asked for those letters at the last meeting.—A. “Re final inspection report.”

Mr. Jaenicke: What date is that?
Mr. Fleming: December 17, 1946. This is a letter written from the district 

office at Toronto to Ryan Home Builders Limited.
The Witness:

We are enclosing a copy of a report submitted by Mr. F. Cummings, 
independent building inspector, appointed by Soldier Settlement and 
Veterans’ Land Act, for the purpose of making the final inspection in 
connection with the eight houses on the McNally-Durance property, 
subdivision 0-52 and according to plans, specifications and contract signed 
on the 21st day of July, 1945, between Ryan Home Builders Limited, 
contractors, and the director, the Veterans’ Land Act. In order to com­
plete your contract, it is requested that you arrange with your sub­
contractors to carry out the work described in the attached report with 
all possible despatch and to complete the work to the satisfaction of the 
director. The final payment shall not become due until the inspector 
and, if required by the director, a cost auditor appointed or approved 
by the director shall have issued a certificate that such payment is due, 
and the contractor shall have proof satisfactory to the director that no 
lien does or can exist against the work. Kindly advise this office when 
this work is completed in order that a check may be made and arrange­
ments made for the final payment.

By the Chairman:
Q. That final payment was the $2,000 which you mentioned a moment ago? 

—A. Yes.
Mr. Fleming: I did not hear the witness’ answer.
The Witness: That would refer to the final payment mentioned in the 

breakdown of the progress payments.

By Mr. Fleming:
Q. What ensued upon the writing of that letter?—A. Here I must rely on 

oral or written reports to me by the district construction supervisor that the con­
tractor was very tardy in going ahead with the correction of the difficulties 
which were listed.

By Mr. Jaenicke:
Q. Did they reply to that letter?—A. I have no acknowledgment on my 

file here.
By Mr. Fleming:

Q. Have you any letters from Ryan Home Builders Limited after December 
17, 1946?—A. I could not say without a search of the construction file.

Q. I would ask you if you would do that. You had some correspondence 
with your local office?—A. Yes.

Q. In which they indicated they were tardy. Was there anything else? 
Was there any other follow-up on your part or your local office?—A. There was



PUBLIC ACCOUNTS 597

a constant follow-up by our building inspector for the district who had reported 
delay by the contractor in tidying up these defects, and the final result was 
that instructions were issued to our construction department to proceed to 
do this by direct labour ourselves.

Q. Am I right in inferring that Ryan Home Builders Limited never did 
any work pursuant to that letter of December 17?—A. I would not say that. 
They had men there doing some work spasmodically, but not to the satisfaction 
of our inspectors.

Q. Do you know exactly what work they did?—A. No.
Q. And what part of the work they left undone?—A. No.
Q. Is there any record of that anywhere?—A. I could not say.
Q. Will you have a look for such a record?—A. Right.
Q. On what date did you give instructions to do the work with your own 

staff in your own department?—A. The first instructions issued by the director 
are contained in a general letter dated December 10, 1946, which went to our 
Toronto office in addition to others across the dominion.

Q. Wait a minute. I wonder if we are at cross purposes. I am asking 
you for the date on which you gave instructions for this work to be done at 
the direct charge of the government and by your own department, not by 
Ryan Home Builders Limited. What was the date?—A. I would have to search 
the construction records to establish the date when those instructions were 
issued.

Q. Would you do that, please? How soon after those instructions were 
given by you did this construction work begin that was done directly by your 
own department?—A. I should say it commenced in the month of March, but I 
would want to check on that, too.

Q. Well, you are going to get us the report with the particulars, if any, 
as to what Ryan did, if anything, after he got your letter of December 17th?— 
A. Yes.

Q. Now, we heard something about drainage. As I recall it you said that a 
drainage report had been obtained before the work was completed. Is that 
correct?—A. A drainage report was obtained this spring.

Q. You did not have a drainage report when the work of construction 
was being carried on?—A. No, not that I know of.

Q. Then, may we take it that the first report on drainage conditions, a 
report as to the water table in the area, was obtained in the spring of 1947?— 
A. That is right.

By the Chairman:
Q. Nobody enquired into that before the building was started, during the 

course of the building or at any time ; that is, as to the water level in the area?— 
A. Construction started in September, 1945. It is my understanding that there 
was no water encountered during the excavation of the basements. I think it 
was stated here a few days ago by Mr. Cleave there was no water in his 
basement when he went into occupation and that no water came into it until 
the spring break-up of this year.

Q. In the spring of 1946 when they were constructing the buildings, there 
was no report of the water?—A. Oh, I could not say as to that.

Mr. Fleming: I must offer a correction to you. Mr. Cleave did not say 
anything about the water at the time of the excavation because he was not 
there.

The Witness: No, but he said there was no water when he went into his 
house.
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By Mr. Fleming:
Q. We have your statement as to when the first report about the water 

table was obtained in item 14. Will you tell the committee—
Mr. Cleaver: I think it is common knowledge that there was a very 

abnormal water level this Spring.

By Mr. Fleming:
Q. I thank my friends for their very expert advice concerning this spring. 

I think we can look now at the report of the expert retained for the purpose of 
making this report. It was Mr. Robert C. Warren, was it not?—A. I should 
say Dr. Ferguson, head of the Farm Branch Division, Ontario Agricultural 
College, agreed to provide a drainage survey. Mr. Warren is on Dr. Ferguson’s 
staff.

Q. Then, Mr. Warren made the report?—A. Yes.
Q. Have you got the date of the report?—A. His report is not dated.
Q. But it was attached to a letter dated May 16, 1647?—A. Yes.
Q. So presumably it was made just before that date, is that correct?— 

A. I would presume so.
Q I am not going to ask you to read the whole report as it is lengthy, 

Mr. Murchison, but I will ask you to begin reading the report from the bottom 
of page 1. Will you read the balance of the report from there?—A.

The only way in which the basements may be kept free of water is 
by lowering the height of the water table. This can be done by different 
methods—the most satisfactory method being by a systematic drainage 
installation. The water flows into the cellar faster than a standard pump 
will remove it, making the cost of removing the water, by means of 
pumps alone, an expensive proposition.

The house built on the south half of lot 41 is built upon a spring 
and at the present time it requires two sump pumps, working continu­
ously, to keep the water below the cellar floor. The house on the north 
half of lot 45 had 84 inches of water in the basement, while at the 
north half of lot 9. the water in the basement was 44 inches deep at 
the time this survey was made.

Aquallizing should be carried out on the walls and the floors of the 
basement of all but the house on lot 15 west, in conjunction with the 
drainage system.

In respect to the use of the land for gardens, under present con­
ditions the soil is of little value. If, however, the water table was 
lowered the land could be made productive.

Care should be taken to use gravel, cinders, or clay over and around 
the tile before filling in, so that the sand will find its way into the tile. 
It is recommended that four silt basins be installed in the main drain 
so that the sand may be cleaned out periodically.

There are a number of Buckeye Traction Ditchers in the Sarnia 
area, any one of which could be hired to do the work. The Drainage 
Inspector should be on hand to inspect the elevations before the tile 

are covered to ensure the maintenance of proper grades.
The tile required to do the system would be as follows:

18,375 feet of 4 inch 
1,010 feet of 6 inch 
480 feet of 8 inch 
430 feet of 12 inch
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There would be a total of 20,295 feet of digging required which 
would cost approximately 55 cents per rod for straight digging, bringing 
the cost of the digging itself up to approximately $811.00. There would 
be required some labour for hand digging where the tile pass under the 
watermains as well as for cleaning out the outlet ditch, removing the 
soil from the area mentioned previously and making the necessary fill 
in the three low areas.

In conclusion we would stress the fact that the soil water conditions 
are very bad and require immediate attention. The drainage system 
as outlined above and drawn up on the accompanying plan would correct 
this condition and would definitely enhance the value of the property in 
question. Failure to recognize that this water table must be considerably 
lowered will mean that the basements of these houses may be full of 
water to a depth of up to two feet for a period of five months in each 
year.

Q. Then, having received that report » letter was written by Mr. Nixon 
your district superintendent at Toronto to you?—A. Yes.

Q. Dated May 16, 1947. I think we had better have that letter read for 
the information of the committee?—A.

Dear Mr. Murchison: Enclosed herewith is drainage plan and 
report completed by Mr. R. C. Warren of the drainage staff of the 
Ontario Agricultural College.

Until a week ago, Mr. Warren and his assistant were working on 
the Roseland and Oliver properties at Windsor but as the tidying up on 
the Sarnia houses was nearing completion and we were anxious to 
Analyze the drainage problem on this property in one way or another, we 
requested Mr. Warren to move to Sarnia and make a survey of the 
property in order that the work might be proceeded with as expeditiously 
as possible.

The enclosed report would appear to indicate that the only satis­
factory solution to the drainage problem on this property is sufficient 
tile drainage to power the water table and in order to lower the water 
table sufficiently on the lots where the eight houses are now situated, 
it will be necessary to drain an area including forty-three lots as 
indicated in the plan. Apparently the physical properties of this soil 
are such that the water travels very readily through the soil and hence 
the necessity of tiling such an extensive area.

It would appear that when these basements were first excavated, 
very little attention was given to the water table and it certainly is most 
unfortunate that this added expense is necessary at the present time when 
it might have been avoided by having the basements eighteen to twenty 
inches higher.

I have discussed with Mr. Cummings the possibility of raising the 
basement walls and filling the floors in to a depth of twenty inches 
however, it is our feeling that the cost of doing this would be entirely out 
of the question as it might run as high as $1.000 per house and even if 
that were done, the soil on the lots would still be of very little use for 
garden purposes.

I would appreciate having your comments on the advisability of 
letting contract for tile draining as indicated. No action however will 
be taken until I have heard from you in the matter. Mr. Warren, of 
course, will be available to check the entire system before back-filling 
is done and hence we can be assured that the system will be a workable 
one. Anticipating an early reply in this matter, I remain,
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Q. Then, what action did you take on receipt of that letter and 
report?—A. I wrote Mr. Nixon on the 22nd of May.

Replying to your letter of the 16th, to which was attached copy 
of report submitted by Mr. R. C. Warren and the plan of the proposed 
drainage scheme, it is obviously important that this work be proceeded 
with as quickly as possibly. This letter therefore will be your authority 
that the work be placed in hand. Copy of the blueprint you forwarded 
is being retained on the file on the assumption that you have another 
copy available.

As this project is now located in the London, Ontario district you 
may wish to pass this matter over to Mr. Armstrong, District Super­
intendent, and if so, such an arrangement will be quite satisfactory.

Q. Then, will you turn to No. 19 in your brief?
Mr. Cleaver: It is almost impossible to hear at this end of the room. Is 

there any chance of a short adjournment or closing the windows? I wonder 
if Mr. Murchison would mind re-reading the last paragraph or so of that letter.

Mr. Fleming: Do you mind if I read it for him?
Mr. Cleaver: Just tell us what was done. Was the drainage scheme 

completed?
Mr. Fleming: We are coming to that. This is a letter from Mr. Murchison 

dated May 22nd.
Replying to your letter on the 16th, to which was attached copy of 

report submitted by Mr. R. C. Warren and a plan of the proposed 
drainage scheme, it is obviously important that this work be proceeded 
with as quickly as possible. This letter therefor will be your authority 
that the work be placed in hand. Copy of the blueprint you forwarded 
is being retained on the file on the assumption that you have another 
copy available.

As this project is now located in the London, Ontario district you 
may wish to pass this matter over to Mr. Armstrong, District Superin­
tendent, and if so such an arrangement will be quite satisfactory.

Yours very truly,

(Sgd.) G. MURCHISON,
Director.

Mr. Cleaver: Thank you very much, Mr. Fleming.
Mr. Fleming: Proceeding now to No. 19.
Mr. Jaenicke: Mr. Fleming, are you going to leave this matter of drainage?
Mr. Fleming: No, I am following that through.
Mr. Jaenicke: I have a few questions I would like to ask.
Mr. Fleming: Would you mind if we just completed the record on the 

subject of drainage?
Mr. Jaenicke: I would like to ask a few questions on drainage.

By Mr. Fleming:
Q. Well the next step is the issuance of a contract for the drainage work?— 

A. There was this draft contract forwarded to us by the Toronto office. In 
substance it is all right but it is my information that our legal branch reduced 
it to a little better wording and sent it out for completion by the contractors.
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Q. Mr. Warren submitted the contract to your office at Toronto with 
a letter dated June 17, 1947?—A. Yes.

The work on this property so far as the drainage is concerned has 
been arranged for and is awaiting suitable weather conditions before 
operations are commenced.

A contract has been signed and work will commence possibly by 
the first of August, 1947. I would like to state that this is merely a matter 
of waiting until the land becomes dry enough so that there will be no 
delay once it gets under way.

Then he encloses an agreement for an installation system of tile drains 
according to the specifications in the drainage agreement. The cost of the 
work as covered by the enclosed plan is to be $2,055.75?—A. Yes.

Mr. Cleaves: Would you care to ask, Mr. Fleming, as to how many lots 
that tile drainage scheme would service?

The Witness: Forty-five.
Mr. Jaenicke: That figure appeared in the previous report, 

f The Chairman: Yes.
Mr. Fleming: The final price on this work was determined at $2,053.75?
The Witness: That is the contract that was arranged by Mr. Warren.
The Chairman : Mr. Jaenicke, you have some questions?

By Mr. Jaenicke:
Q. Mr. Murchison, is there anything in the contract, any clause in the 

contract with the contractor about the depth of the basements, or anything 
in the specifications or plans, to show what depth the basements were to be?

Mr. Murphy: You mean the original ones?

By Mr. Jaenicke:
Q. The original plans. Somebody dug the basement but got instructions in 

the matter of depth, whether it was to be six feet or seven feet, and I want to 
know who determined how deep the basements were to be?

Mr. Fraser: Are the plans still here?
The Witness : Here are the specifications as to the excavations and 

related work, which is part of the contract.
1. The contractor shall remove from the building area all trees, 

stumps, debris, boulders, fences, old structures and other obstructions 
covered by the work. The building area is defined as that rectangular 
area 25 ft. beyond the foundation wall lines.

2. The top soil to a depth of 6 in. and for 10 ft. beyond the foundation 
wall lines shall be removed and stock piled for re-use in finished grading 
around the building area.

By Mr. Jaenicke:
Q. That is six feet?—X. Yes.
Q Who drew up the specifications?—A. The chief of our building division.
Q. Did he go there and inspect the ground before he drew up the specifica­

tions?—A. No, I would say these are standard specifications for practically all 
contracts.

Q. He did not care what the ground was, he did not investigate the water- 
table, the depths of the water-table?—A. No.

Q. Did the contractor comply with these specifications?—A. The best I 
can say in that, and I am not trying to be facetious, is that he at least struck 
water.
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Mr. Boucher: That did not answer the question at all.

By Mr. Jaenicke:
Q. I)id he strike water when he was digging the basement?—A. There was 

a lot of complaint about water in the basement.
Q. When he was digging the basements?—A. I could not say that.

By Mr. Boucher:
Q- Let us not be facetious. Did the contractor in doing the work, comply 

witli the specifications? There is no room for facetiousness in that question.— 
A. Well, not having the report in front of me in that particular question I could 
not say.

Q. Did you get a report on that?—A. The work was done under the super­
vision of our inspector.

Q. We do not want any facetiousness about questions like that.
Mr. Warren: Well how could he know?
Mr. Boucher: Well why does he not know?
Mr. Warren : He does not keep all that at his fingertips.
Mr. Boucher: Well I do not want that sort of thing in this committee.
I he A\ it ness: Shall I go on with the rest of this?
Mr. Jaenicke: Yes.

3. Excavation shall be carried out as shown on the drawings and 
cross section details and for a depth of 6 in. below the basement floor slab. 
Excavation for foundation walls surrounding unexcavated portions of 
the building shall be carried down to a minimum depth of 4 ft. below the 
grade line and to solid bottom for all footings. All excavation shall be 
made at least 12 inches clear of the outside face of foundation walls.

4. Before placing the footing the excavations must be inspected by 
thhe inspector, and if in his opinion it should be continued to a greater 
depth to provide for a solid footing, do all such work as instructed.

5. Rock shall be removed by drilling and wedging as far as possible. 
Where blasting is required the work shall be done by experienced work­
men and all necessary precautions taken to ensure the protection of all 
persons, neighbouring buildings, trees, property, etc. The contractor shall 
supply all mats, locks, chains, etc., as may be directed by the inspector 
for proper protection from blasting.

6. All excavated areas shall be kept free from standing water.
7. The contractor shall supply and erect any necessary shoring 

required to prevent the caving in of excavations. It shall be securely 
erected and maintained for the time of its required purpose.

8. When approved by the inspector, the contractor shall backfill 
against all basement walls, footings, water, gas and sewer lines, etc., with 
good clean earth, thoroughly rammed at every foot of height to the fin­
ished grade line. Care must be taken not to damage or displace water 
lines or drainage pipes. Any water or drainage lines so damaged shall 
be replaced at the contractor's expense.

9. The contractor shall remove and spread on property where 
directed by the inspector all excavated material except that required for 
back-filling or grading.

10. The contractor shall be responsible for protection of any existing 
water, gas, sewer, or electrical services encountered during excavation. 
Any renairs necessary for any of these services so damaged shall be 
replaced at the contractor’s expense.
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11. Where required the contractor shall excavate for all septic tanks, 
drains and disposal fields, and back-fill for same after these drain pipes 
are installed.

The balance under this heading comes under the items of grading and walks.
By Mr. Jaenicke:

Q. Did all those homes have water in the basement this spring? Mr. 
Cleave complained of that.—A. With the exception of one I believe the 
answer is yes.

Q. Just one?—A. Yes.
Q- He would be on a higher level of ground would he?—A. I would 

imagine so.
Q. And you had no complaints during the course of construction as to 

water in the excavation?—A. None to me, not to my knowledge.
Q. Did your inspectors inspect those basements or those excavations in 

the course of construction?—A. Yes, I believe they did.
Q. There is no report from them as to any water?—A. I have no report 

on this file sir, that I could substantiate that with.
Mr. Winkler: I would just like to ask a question on the matter of water 

levels. I think perhaps Mr. Murchison in his experience, with country housing 
could answer this. In Manitoba the average rainfall is about twenty inches 
and the cellars in the rural districts get water in them on an average of about 
once every five years. I imagine in districts where the rain is heavier, and in 
rural districts where they do not maintain the water level below the average 
basement, most of the country homes would have water in them some part of 
the year in certain years at any rate. In your experience, Mr. Murchison, have 
you had reports about water seeping into the cellars of country homes con­
structed under your jurisdiction over the years? Have you any records that 
would show approximately the average number of days per year or number of 
times in a certain number of years that water did seep into cellars?

The Witness: I have no consolidated data of that kind; but we do know 
in construction work in opening up what are nominally farm lands putting in 
full basements that we very frequently encounter water conditions during the 
spring months of the year. That difficulty has been greatly accentuated in our 
construction because of the abnormally wet conditions of the fall of 1945 and 
the wet conditions this spring; until back filling becomes stabilized, properly 
'set, surface water will seep down the walls of the houses instead of running away 
because the back fill had not had time to settle. That is one of the contributing 
factors.

Mr. Fraser: In regard to this drainage of the 43 lots and the tiling, who 
would keep up the repair of that drainage and tiling? Would that be the 
D.V.A. or would the veterans have to do that?

Mr. Cleaver: If properly installed no repair or maintenance is required.
Mr. Fraser: I would like to have Mr. Murchison answer that question.
The Witness: The upkeep of the tile drains on individual properties would 

be the responsibility of the purchaser. The main drains which probably follow 
the line roads—I would have to look up the blue prints to confirm that—would 
be taken over by the municipality along the roads when negotiations to 
that end are completed; but it would definitely in my opinion be the responsi­
bility of the individual to maintain the tile on his own property.

By Mr. Boucher:
Q. Is provision made for the municipality maintaining the main drains 

along the roads?—A. That is the arrangement with the municipalities; when 
we instal the roads and pay the capital cost of them we turn them over to 
the municipalities for maintenance.
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Q. And the agreement provides that they will maintain these drains?
Mr. Fraser: That is what I am getting at now; because, in spite of what 

Mr. Cleaver has to say, that there won’t be any maintenance if they are 
properly installed, I have seen a great number of tile laid for drainage and in 
about five years’ time they have to be repaired. A lot depends on how the tile 
is installed and where it is, and if you have a winter with very little snow 
and very heavy frost the tile will go to pot.

Mr. Cleaver: Mr. Fraser, in our part of the country we don’t lay tile that 
wav,- and our tile drains do not go to pot. Every four or five years the sand 
wells must be cleaned out ; otherwise, we have no maintenance. I was just 
following up the inquiry Mr. Fleming made a few moments ago.

By Mr. Fraser:
Q. Now I would like to ask if the septic tanks were installed by the 

contractor?—A. Yes.
Q. And on account of this flooding now the septic tanks won’t be function­

ing, if they are flooded on top they cannot siphon.—A. They certainly wouldn’t 
function satisfactorily if there were pools of water lving over the disposal 
field.

Q. Yes, or if the siphon end of it,—if the water is higher than the siphon 
itself, the drainpipe being as it is, that siphon could not function and the 
septic tank instead of running away as it should would go into the field, the 
solids would go into the field. That is something there which should be 
checked on.

Mr. Fleming: I hadn’t quite finished.
The Chairman : Has the witness an answer to that?
Mr. Cleaver: Have you finished with that, Mr. Fraser?
Mr. Fraser: Yes.
The Chairman : Were you expecting an answer, Mr. Fraser, or were you 

making a statement?
Mr. Fraser: I made a statement. I do not think anybody can con­

tradict it.
Mr. Cleaver : I will be pleased to contradict it. If the tank is built 

properly the solids will not leave the tank, they will be digested in the tank. 
They do not leave the tank in any event.

Mr. Fraser : But here we have a case of the water rising to the top level 
of the septic tank.

Mr. Pinard: I suggest that you gentlemen exchange correspondence about 
it.

Mr. Fraser: I think the draining tile from the septic tank should be 
checked before the whole business is handed over to the veterans.

The Chairman: Mr. Fleming—
Mr. Cleaver : In the septic tank the solids are all digested.
The Chairman: Mr. Fleming has the floor; order, gentlemen.

By Mr. Fleming;
Q. Mr. Murchison, you told Mr. Winkler a moment ago that you had 

experience on other construction work with V.L.A. with water in the course of 
construction; this is not unusual, this water condition?—A. No.

Q. Then will you tell the committee why construction was permitted to 
begin here and be carried through without making a thorough investigation 
into the water table?—A. No, I cannot give vou an answer to that.
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Q. Do you agree that there was gross negligence on somebody’s part in 
not seeing to checking the water table very definitely before construction was 
commenced?

Mr. Warren: Mr. Chairman, may I ask a question?
The Chairman : We will have an answer to that first.
The Witness: I would not say it was gross negligence, I would say it 

was negligence.
Mr. Fleming: Negligence on somebody’s part; but, whose part?
The Witness: On the part of the administration.
Mr. Warren: Might I ask my question now? Might it not be true, Mr. 

Murchison, that any ordinary individual, unless he was one who went there 
as an engineer with special knowledge, who went there to inspect the property 
and test the water level might at certain times of the year find that there 
was no water there at all?

Mr. Boucher: Anything might be true with this director. œ
Mr. Fleming : I suppose there are blind people, Mr. Chairman.
Mr. Warren: It is high land and poor soil.
Mr. Boucher: Those are good men you have up there, that would make 

a difference.
The Chairman: Next question, please.

By Mr. Fleming:
Q. Thank you. Now on this matter of the report, Mr. Murchison, we have 

a statement on the report of Mr. Warren attached to Mr. Nixon’s letter of 
May 16, 1947, in which he has indicated the quantity of tile required to con­
struct these drains ; he said that there would be 20,295 feet of digging required 
at a cost of 55 cents per rod; that would cost approximately $811. Now, how 
many properties do you say that covers?—A. According to the letter sent to 
me by Mr. Nixon it would include 43 lots; and that would be borne out by 
the copy of the plan prepared by the engineers.

Q. In the 43 lots you referred to, now is that the whole 62 acres of the 
subdivision area?—A. That would be the part of it, I believe, that has been 
developed.

Q. And it was in contemplation you say when the work was laid out and 
the construction commenced, you were expecting to develop a project involving 
43 houses; is that correct?—A. I might say that where the lot was bought, 
the 67 acres, I believe the intention was to use it all if there were demands. 
W e subdivided 43 lots and built roads and services for that number of lots. 
We built 8 houses.

By the Chairman:
Q. And you did not get demands for more than the eight houses?—A. I 

cannot answer that question.
Q. I mean, would there be 20, 30, 8, 10 or 12?—A. I cannot answer that.
Q. Could you not even make a guess?—A. No.
Mr. Gladstone: Houses are under construction in groups of 8 in many 

places.

By Mr. Boucher:
Q. Was it just for these 8 houses that you bought the 60-acre farm?— 

A. I rom my short visit to the project in March I believe, as I say, that the 
land that was developed is a fair average of the whole.
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By the Chairman:
Q. If you had foreseen the development of 45 or 63 houses, whatever it 

was, can you give us a reason why you limited it to eight houses?—A. The 
only reason I can give for that is that we felt at the time that eight houses 
were all we should build on that project.

Q. All that you needed to meet the demand?—A. No, I would not say 
that was all that was needed to meet the demand. It just happened to be an 
arbritrary decision for distribution of a large program throughout Canada and 
it was decided to build eight units at Sarnia.

By Mr. Fleming:
Q. Why did you purchase so much land? After all you told us at the last 

meeting you purchased—
Mr. Cleaver : Are you through with the matter of drainage?
Mr. Fleming: No, I am not.

By Mr. Fleming:
Q. You purchased 66 acres. Why did you purchase all that acreage?— 

A. Because we were looking to a program that might extend over many years.

By the Chairman:
Q. Do you mean the program has been stopped by now?—A. No.

By Mr. Beaudry:
Q. How much time elapsed between the purchase of the land and the 

decision to build eight houses only?—A. I could not answer that precisely. 
The land was purchased in the summer of 1945. The decision was made to 
proceed with the construction of eight houses—a start was made on them in
1945.

I By Mr. Jaenicke:
Q. Was all that purchased from one owner?—A. No, two.
Q. Two owners. How much was in each parcel?
Mr. Fleming: We received that information at the last meeting: 34-71 

acres in one case at $295 per acre, and 31-4 acres at $285 per acre in the other 
case. Now, I think Mr. Cleaver has a question to ask about drainage.

By Mr. Cleaver:
Q. Mr. Murchison, how close is this development to Sarnia?—A. A mile 

and a half from the city limits.
Q. Who in your department had the responsibility for engineering on this 

project? Is there one man here in the office or was the engineering done at the 
individual district office?—A. Our administrative staff for construction consisted 
of a chief engineer responsible for all construction matters throughout Canada 
and in each province, attached to each office, was a construction engineer, 
and under that local engineer there were the staffs of inspectors and checkers 
and things like that.

Q. Had you the typical construction contract prepared at Ottawa that 
was used in all the districts, or did each district have the responsibility for 
carrying out its own contract?—A. We had a standard contract in Ottawa 
that I believe might have been modified in this or that respect as to the 
general conditions depending u]>on the particular project.

Q. And who was responsible in Ottawa for directing the terms in this 
typical contract?—A. The chief engineer and our legal adviser.
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Q. And who was your chief engineer?—A. Mr. G. L. Magee was; he is 
no longer in the service of the department.

Mr. Boucher: Since when?
The Witness : Since the 1st of May.

By Mr. Cleaver:
Q. Could you tell me as to whether in this typical contract any provision 

was made for the installation of weeping drains outside of the footings? I am 
referring to the typical contract for which Mr. Magee was responsible for the 
terms.—A. (reads) :

Drainage and Sewage Disposal
All clauses of the General Conditions apply to and govern the work of this 

trade.
Tile Drainage

1. All main drains under the building and for a distance of 3 ft. 
beyond the foundation walls shall be laid with cast-iron pipe or vitrified 
tile with cemented joints. All drains outside of buildings shall be of 
best quality glazed vitrified pipe with smooth interior surface, straight 
or evenly curved as required, truly circular in section and free from 
cracks and flaws of any description.
Drains

2. Drains shall be laid to suit the requirements of the site, but the 
fall in no case shall be less than 1 ft. to 100 ft.
Layin

3. Each pipe shall be laid on a firm bed and in perfect alignment 
and grade. A shallow transverse chase or sinking shall be cut in the 
bottom of the trench immediately beneath the socket joint of each pipe 
so that the barrel of the pipe may rest solidly on its bed.
Joints

4. All tile pipe shall be laid to butt tightly one against the other, and 
in bell and spigot pipe, the spigot shall be placed centrally in the socket 
of the adjoining section. Such joints shall be filled with cement mortar 
and shall be water tight and neatly finished up to an even surface 
around the pipe. All pipes shall be carefully cleaned by drawing a 
tightly fitting scoop wad through the pipe as the work proceeds.

Q. I take it then that there is no provision?—A. Just a moment, sir, there 
is an item here. No. 7:

Weep drains
7. Where designated on plans are called for by the Engineer, place 4" 

agricultural tile drains at the base of the exterior concrete foundation 
walls where shown and connect to gravel filled sump. These drains shall 
have a fall of not less than l'O" in 40'0".

Lay the tile drains apart and cover joints with creosote treated 
burlap or tarpaper.

Where no basements are called for, connect down-spouts only to a 4" 
vitrified tile 18" below grade and run to sump with 4" agricultural tile.

Mr. Boucher: Are those tiles you arc speaking of—have they anything 
to do with the disposal beds ?

Mr. Cleaves: No. S'i
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By Mr. Cleaver:
Q. Is there any provision in the general typical contract for a drain leading 

away from the gravel sump to which the weeping tiles were to be laid?—A. I 
would say not. I do not see it in these specifications, in this contract.

Q. If there had been your drainage problem could not have arisen as it 
did arise in Sarnia?—A. I am not sure of that, sir.

Mr. Fraser: The water would be two feet or so above the sump, according 
to the evidence.

The Witness: I think it has been clearly shown, Mr. Chairman, that the 
difficulty which arose at Sarnia—the real difficulty was the excavation of the 
basements by 15 or 18 inches too deep having regard to the water table which 
prevails there at certain seasons of the year.

By Mr. Cleaver:
Q. Yes, but the contract provided for the installation of a 4-inch weeping 

tile on the outside of the footings, provided that the tile should lead to a gravel 
sump. Now, is there any provision made in the contract for draining the gravel 
sump?—A. I cannot see any.

Q. I suggest to you with deference your engineer let you down rather 
badly on that point. Are you aware that the water level in all of the Great 
Lakes, and certainly in Erie and Ontario, is now over three feet higher than 
normal.—A. I have heard that report.

Q. How far is this development from Lake St. Clair?—A. It is quite a 
distance from Lake St. Clair. I believe it is about a mile and a half from 
Sarnia bay.

Q. Have you any idea how far it would be from River St. Clair?—A. I 
could tell from the charts.

Mr. Murphy: It is about two miles.
Mr. Cleaver: Perhaps our member from that district might tell us—
Mr. Murphy: About two miles.
Mr. Cleaver: —how much higher is the water now in River St. Clair 

than normal?
Mr. Murphy: I can only go by the reports. I think the Goderich report 

is around seventeen inches.
Mr. Cleaver: I have had very serious complaints of shore damage. All 

water levels with us are up about three feet.
Mr. Murphy: The only report we get for that area is the Goderich report 

which would apply here.

By Mr. Cleaver:
Q. I have one more question while I am on my feet. It has nothing to 

do with drainage. I have not had an opportunity of reading over all the 
evidence given on the 4th of July, but I am curious to know if all repairs 
have been made as to the defects indicated in these lists of complaints you 
read, the defects in these houses?—A. I believe I stated a little while ago 
that the prime contractor failed to carry out all the repairs that were listed.

Q. I understand that, and that you later issued instructions for your 
own organization to have it done by day labour. Have those repairs been 
made?—A. I believe they are practically completed with the exception of 
two houses where they are waiting on the installation of this main drainage 
work before they complete the balance of the items on those two houses.

Q. Has a cost record been kept of the repairs?—A. Yes.
Q. As to repairs I will cite you one example to show what I mean. I 

recall when you were reading that list one instance where a certain quality of
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wallboard had to be removed and suitably reinstalled indicating there was 
defective workmanship in the original installation of the wallboard. Would 
that item be charged to the veteran or charged back to the contractor where 
it was faulty construction?—A. It would be charged back to the contractor.

Q. As to the beam a complaint was made in the evidence by the owner, Mr. 
Cleave, that the main beam in his house had been cut in half when certain 
hot air ducts from the furnace were installed. Can you tell me as to whether 
that complaint has been looked into, as to whether it has been remedied, and 
as to whom the cost was charged?—A. It is my information that the defect 
has been dealt with by our construction division. I cannot give you the 
particulars as to how it was corrected.

Q. Dealt with by the installation of an additional pillar or post?—A. It 
might have been. I cannot tell you how it was dealt with.

Q. Do you know to whom the expense of that repair was charged?— 
A. I could not tell you exactly where that item would be charged. If it is not 
recovered from the contractor it would be borne by the department.

By Mr. Fraser:
Q. Mr. Cleaver mentioned the water level. I think on one of the maps 

it shows the water level in Lake Huron is 581 feet and the property level where 
these buildings wrere put up at 600 feet.—A. That is right.

By Mr. Jaenicke:
Q. Following up a question by Mr. Cleaver just a minute ago it is in 

evidence that you paid a little over $6,000 for repairs. You also read the eight 
reports which indicated that most of the repairs should be charged to the 
contractor. Is that included in the $6,000?—A. I would say yes. It should 
be included.

Q. What was the date of the contract again?
Mr. Fleming: July 21, 1945.

By Mr. Jaenicke:
Q. Did you previous to that date, previous to July, 1945, have any experi­

ence of water going into basements built by you under the Veterans Land Act?— 
A. We had not built any before that.

Q. Pardon?—A. We had not built any before that.
Q. You had not?—A. No.
Q. Is this one of the first schemes?—A. We did not start any construction 

under the Veterans Land Act until the summer of 1945.
Mr. Cleaver: I move we adjourn until to-morrow morning.
The Chairman: We have so much to cover that I think we should sit for 

a while if we want to finish. I do not want to impose my views, but I think 
we should adjourn for five minutes and then carry on until 11.

Mr. Fleming: I would urge that we carry on. I think I can finish with 
what I have in the space of about twenty minutes.

Mr. Cleaver: I think it is hardly fair to the witness to ask him—
Mr. Jaenicke: Ask him if he can go on.
Mr. Cleaver: I suggest with deference it is not fair to the witness to ask 

him to stay here until 11 o’clock. He has done a full day’s work. As far as 
I am concerned I am tired, and I have not been doing half the work he has.

Mr. Fleming: I can make it fairly short. I know his brief. I can put on 
the record fairly simply the things I want out of the brief, and it will save him.

The Chairman: We will take a recess of five minutes if we are going to 
have a twenty minute session.

92756—5
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Mr. Jaenicke: A recess of five minutes and call it at 10.30 sharp.

The committee adjourned at 10 o’clock for a five minute recess.
On resuming:

By the Chairman:
Q. I think the witness can answer a question which was put a moment ago 

as to exactly where the project lies. Mr. Murchison might say a few words 
and illustrate them with the photograph he has?—A. This it a folio containing 
the maps prepared by the Department of National Defence showing the 
respective elevations of Lake Huron, Sarnia Bay and this V. L. A. project and it 
was accompanied by an aerial photograph which I was fortunate in being able to 
borrow. I brought it along because I thought it might be of interest to the 
committee to see at a glance, from the aerial photograph, the location of this 
V.L.A. project in relation to Sarnia and the lake. I had to give an undertaking 
to the people from whom I borrowed the aerial photograph that I would return 
it. I should like the permission of the committee to return this aerial photograph 
to them.

The Chairman: That is all right.
Mr. Fraser : Are you going to pass the photograph around so we can see 

it? Is it indicated on the photograph just where this spot is?

By Mr. Boucher:
Q. Perhaps the witness could, from that photograph give us some information 

so we would have something on the record about it. I do not know whether you 
can do that or not?—A. I am not an expert on reading aerial photographs. The 
location of the project is clearly shown on the photograph itself in relation to 
Sarnia Bay to the north, the city of Sarnia to the south and to the outskirts of 
Point Edward to the north and west. It also indicates the extent of the housing 
development or residential area between this project and Lake Huron, over a 
distance of about a mile and a half. The housing continues right down close to 
the shore of the lake. If the committee would care to have a look at the photo­
graph, I would be'glad to pass it around. As I said, I should like to return the 
photograph to the people from whom I borrowed it.

By Mr. Fleming:
Q. Mr. Murchison, referring to the plans just briefly, there were four plans 

altogether followed here, were there not?—A. Yes.
Q. Am I right in saying, in order to save time, Mr. Chairman, that two 

were according to the Van Norman 3-B plan?—A. Yes.
Q. Two according to the Moody Moore No. 3 plan?—A. Yes.
Q. Two according to the Humphrys No. 4 A plan?—A. Yes.
Q. And two according to the Humphrys No. 1 A plan?—A. Yes.
Q. Then, if you will refer to this folio containing the plans, you will be 

able to check these figures I am about to give you. The Van Norman 3 B plan 
calls for one and a half storeys with the following outside dimensions; 28 feet 
10 inches by 24 feet 10 inches ; number of rooms, six plus bathroom?—A. That 
is right.

Q. The next one, the Moody Moore No. 3 calls for one and a half storeys 
with outside dimensions of 30 feet by 24 feet; number of rooms, six plus bath­
room?—A. That is right.

Q. The next one, Humphrys No. 4 A, was a bungalow construction with 
outside dimensions of 31 feet 8 inches by 25 feet and calling for four rooms and 
bathroom?—A. Yes.
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Q. The Humphrys No. 1 A plan called for one and a half storeys with 
outside dimensions of 32 feet by 18 feet 9 inches with five rooms and bathroom ? 
—A. Yes.

Q. I think Mr. Cleave had that last plan of five rooms and bathroom. \Ve 
have had evidence as to the date of the contract. Will you turn now to the 
supplementaries? There were several supplementary contracts signed in addi­
tion to the main contract as you testified at the last meeting. The main contract 
is with Ryan Home Builders Limited, dated July 21, 1945 ; correct?—A. Yes.

Q. There was a further contract with Ryan Home Builders Limited, dated 
September 14, 1945?—A. There was a supplementary contract with Ryan Home 
Builders on the 21st of July, 1945, in addition to the main contract.

Q. Yes. Then, the second supplementary contract with Ryan Home 
Builders Limited is dated September 14, 1945?—A. Yes.

Q. The first supplementary provided for the excavation by Rvan Contract­
ing Company Limited, a company associated with Ryan Home Builders 
Limited?—A. That is right.

Q. The second supplementary on September 14, 1945, provided for the 
provision of the gypsum board, insulation, siding, roofing materials and other 
building materials of a similar nature by Ryan Fuel and Supply Limited# 
another company associated with Ryan Home Builders Limited ; that is correct? 
—A. That is correct, at wholesale prices.

Q. And the signing officer for all those three companies is the same person, 
Leo J. Ryan; is that correct?—A. I have not personal knowledge of that, but 
I would not dispute it.

Q. If you will look at the file you will find that is so, but I do not want 
to take time on it.—A. Yes, his signature appears on it.

Q. Yes, now will you put No. 6 on the record, the occupational possession 
of these eight properties. Mr. Chairman I do not know whether we can save a 
little time but there is a statement, No. 6 in the brief which I submit should go 
on the record. It gives the eight properties, the names of the veterans, seven 
of them, the eighth is vacant, and it gives the dates of possession.

Mr. Beaudry: Mr. Fleming, may I interrupt, although I do not wish to 
change your trend of thought could Mr. Murchison give us the various cubic 
capacities of these houses, the 31 x 25 and the 30 x 24 and so on?

The Witness: I have not got them with me.
Mr. Beaudry : Will you get that?
The Witness: Yes.
Mr. Fleming: These dates of possession vary from, I think the first is 

August 25, 1946, and the latest is January 13, 1947, and it shows Mr. Cleave 
as having gone into possession on November 11, 1946.

The Chairman: Were there some people in there as early as August 1?
The Witness: Yes.
The Chairman: One of those who signed the contract with your 

department?
The Witness: Yes.
Mr. Fleming: Perhaps you had better give the committee the dates of 

possession, without giving the names, because they will appear on the record. I 
will read them: October 19, 1946; November 1, November 11, November 15, 
August 25, August 28, January 13, 1947, and the eighth one is vacant.

Now I would like to turn to the subject of costs. You have a table No 7 
which gives the costs of construction, is that correct Mr. Murchison.

The Witness: Yes.
,(rpi _Mr- Ileming: That is item No. 7 in your brief and it bears the notation, 

l his statement shows construction costs only”. Is that correct?
92756—5i
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The Witness: Yes.
Mr. Cleaver: I wonder should that not go on the record?
Mr. Fleming: Yes, as a matter of fact the two other tables with this 

I think ought to go in fully. I suggest tables 7, 8 and 9 ought to all go in the 
record.

Just to tie this in with the evidence we had at the last meeting,—
The Chairman : Those tables will go in as appendices at the end of the 

proceedings.

By Mr. Fleming;
Q. Dealing with No. 7, this is a sheet headed “form C” dated July 1, 

1947, and to relate it to the evidence at the last meeting, it gives the break­
down of the cost of construction only of the eight houses. The land cost in 
each case is $187 with the exception of the first one which was $178. The 
cost of road construction in each case is $281 and the cost of water,—I presume 
that is installation— A. That is the installation of the water main.

Q. Is $163.40; grading $285 for each house?—A. Yes.
Q. Total for lot is $916.93 except for the first one which is $907.93. The 

total cost per house ranges from, I better give the eight figures,—$7.965.23; 
$7,118.61; $8,237.69; $7,796.02.

There are two houses to each of those costs. Then added to that is the 
cost of the house services in the case of each house for water $142.85; drive­
ways, $79.75; landscaping, $145.00?—A. That has not been disbursed yet.

Q. It is not disbursed but it is included in the cost which you will have 
to meet to complete the houses?—A. Yes.

Q. In the cost of the fifth house you had included $145 for a refrigerator. 
I take it that is part of your contract for the sale to the veteran?—A. Yes.

Q. Then the total cost for the eight houses to vour department are as 
follows: $9,240.76; $8,403.14; $9,522.22; $8,403.14: $9.667.22—that is the one 
that includes the refrigerator; $9,249.76; $9.080.55; $9.080.60. And the total 
is $72,647.39.

Mr. Boucher: Does the total cost include the cost of repairs as well?
Mr. Cleaver : Mr. Chairman, I suggest to Mr. Fleming that it would be 

very nice for a continuity of the record if there was available a breakdown 
of the house costs into labour, material and into the subtrades, but apparently 
that is not here.

The Witness: No.
Mr. Boucher: Let me understand these costs. These are original costs 

as of December 16, 1946.
Mr. Fleming: The statement is dated July 1, 1947, and the witness has 

stated that the cost of driveways and landscaping has not been disbursed but 
this is the estimated cost.

The Witness: I do not include driveways.
Mr. Fleming : I am sorry, just the landscaping, the driveways have been 

taken care of.
Mr. Boucher : In other words this is the total cost to date including 

the estimate for work that is contemplated?
Mr. Cote: Just the landscaping.
Mr. Fleming: This does not include, Mr. Murchison, the cost of repairs 

in this current program of some $6.000.
The Witness: I would like to ask my financial superintendent on that.
Mr. Wymbs (Acting financial superintendent V.L.A.: No, that does not 

include the cost of repairs.
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Mr. Boucher : Nor drainage?
Mr. Wymbs: Nor drainage.
Mr. Boucher: Nor does it include the work yet to be done by the con­

tractor, or having been done by the contractor between the last payment in 
September and the present time?

Mr. Wymbs: It includes the estimated cost of that project.
Mr. Boucher: Mr. Murchison told us the contractor had done certain 

work after the last inspection and I am wondering if there was a cost of 
construction for that?

Mr. Wymbs: You have asked us, sir, to get that information for you.
Mr. Boucher: Is that included in this?
Mr. Wymbs: No.
Mr. Fleming: Down lower on the same sheet we have a total land 

development cost and house service showing, in all but the first case, land 
development costs, including land, roads, water, grading, total $916.93; and 
the house service, including water, driveways, landscaping, total $367, or a 
total of $1,284.53.

The Chairman: Those are not included in the prices you have quoted. 
Mr. Fleming: They are, yes. There is a further notation, the manage­

ment fee of $225 per house and plant rental fee of $55 per house are not 
included in the project overhead.

The Witness : That is right.
The Chairman: So they are included in the number you have just 

mentioned?
Mr. Fleming: No, I should think not, Mr. Chairman.
The Chairman: Are they?
Mr. Fleming: No.
The Chairman: I just wanted to clarify the position.
Mr. Wymbs: They are included in the house cost, sir.
Mr. Fleming: That is included in the total?
Mr. Wymbs: Yes, I think it is.
Mr. Fleming: House cost?
Mr. Wymbs: That is right.
Mr. Fleming: Which in the case of the first house is $7,965.23; those 

items are included?
Mr. Wymbs: Yes.

By Air. Fleming:
Q. The next table, No. 8 in the brief, gives us a further breakdown. I do 

not know that we need to take each item on this one. You have the prices 
given here for the various houses under headings “C. I.” and “A. P.” what do 
those headings stand for?—A. That is the inspection and audit division code. 
They supervise our construction.

Q. And the relationship of these figures to those of the previous state­
ment is, what?

The Chairman: When we have an official of the department here who 
knows the figures, why not let him give them to us directly?

Mr. Jaenicke: You said you would be through in 20 minutes, Mr. Fleming? 
Mr. Fleming: I have not had 20 minutes yet.
Mr. Burton: Is it the intention to have Mr. Murchison here for another 

meeting?
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The Chairman: Of course, if we do not finish it means that we will have 
to have him here again.

Mr. Burton : I have questions to ask which would take about 10 minutes.
Mr. Cleaver : Any information asked of Mr. Murchison he has promised 

to give the committee and he will be back anyway.
The Chairman: Mr. Fleming said he would take about 20 minutes and 

Mr. Burton told me he would want about ten. It is apparent now that he will 
have to come here again. I thought we might adjourn now, but if you like we 
can go on until eleven. If we adjourn now we will have to meet some time 
to-morrow. We have very little time left before the committee must present 
its report to the House. I think we should sit for another half hour.

Mr. Cote: I do not see any hope of concluding this examination to-night.
The Chairman: No; but we might finish at least one topic. I am in your 

hands. If there is a motion to adjourn I will put it.
Mr. Fleming: What time did you say we would meet?
Mr. Jaenicke: I thought to-morrow afternoon.
Mr. Cleaver : I would move that we adjourn until four o’clock to-morrow 

afternoon.
The Chairman : Would you mind making it three o’clock.
Mr. Cleaver: Three o’clock then.
The Chairman : What is your pleasure, gentlemen?
Carried.

The committee adjourned at 10.35 p.m. to meet again to-morrow, July 10, 
1947, at 3 p.m.
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APPENDIX “A”
Occupational Possession by Veterans 

SARNIA
1. Pinkett, W. H., 19th October, 1946—Lot 18 N.
2. Antenbring, S. B., 1st November, 1946. Veteran has given Notice to 

Quit and Request for return of downpayment—Lot 15 W.
3. Cleave, Wm. T., 11th November, 1946—Lot 41 S.
4. May, John E., 15th November, 1946—Lot 17 S.
5. Hudspith, F. J., 25th August, 1946—($600.00 Deposit Returned 15/3/47). 

Now purchased by James M. Simpson, Deposit $600.00 paid June 25th, 1947— 
Lot 9 N.

6. Moden, F. P., 28th August, 1946—Lot 10 S.
7. Tims, R. K., 13th January, 1947—Lot 40 N.
8. Vacant—Lot 45 N.



APPENDIX “B”
NOTE-THIS STATEMENT SHOWS CONSTRUCTION COSTS ONLY 

Plan No. 0-52 T.O. No. 0/246.P. Sheet No. 1 of 1.

No. of Lots: 45—one-half acre lots developed. Property: McNally-Durance. FORM “CM

No. or Houses: 8. Area: Sarnia. Date: 1 July, 1947.
(1) (2) (3) (4) (5) (6) (7) (8) (9) (10) (11) (12) (13) (14) (15) (16) (17) (18) (19) (20) (21) (22) (23)

Lot
No.

De­
sign

Land Development Costs

Total 
per lot Cost 3

ADJ.
House
Cost

13

House Services

Total 
Cost 

to Dir. Pay
Con.
Grant

Selling 
Price 

to Vet-

Balance
Pur-

Price

Month-
ly

Pay-
Land
Cost Roads Water age

Grad­
ing Sewers Water Refrig- ™;.e

9N VN 3B 178.00 281.00 163.93 285 00 907.93 7,965 23 142.85 79.76 145.00 9,240.76

10S H4 187.00 281.00 163.93 285 00 916 93 7,118 61 142.85 79.76 145.00 8,403.14

15W MM 3 187.00 281.00 163.93 285 00 916 93 8,237.69 142 86 79.75 145 00 9,522 22

178 H4 187.00 281.00 163 93 285.00 916 93 7,118 61 142 85 79.75 145.00 8,403.14

18N MM 3 187.00 281.00 163.93 285 00 916 93 8,237 69 142 85 145 00 79.75 145.00 9,667.22

40N VN 3B 187.00 281.00 163.93 285 00 916 93 7 965 23 142 85 79,75 145 00 9,249.76

418 HI 187.00 281.00 163.93 285 00 916 93 7,796 02 142.85 79.75 145.00 9,080.55

45N HI 187.00 281.00 163.93 285 00 916 93 7,796 02 142.90 79.76 145.00 9,080 60

1,487.00 2,248.00 1,311.44 2,280.00 7,326 44 $62,235.10 1,142.85 145.00 638.00 1,160.00 72,647 39

Land Development Costs:

Roads......................................................
Water.......................................................
Grading..................................................

Lot No. 9N

....................... 178.00

....................... 28100

........................ 163.93
....................... 28500

907.93

House Services:
Water.......................................................
Driveways.............................................
Landscaping...........................................

............................ 142.85

........................ 79.75

............................ 145.00
367.60

1,275.63

Ix>te No. 10S, 15W, 17S, 18N, 40N, 41S Lot No. 45N

187.00 .......... 187.00 ..........
281.00 .......... 281.00 ..........
163 93 .......... 163.93 ..........
285.00 .......... 286.00 ..........
--------  916.93 --------- 916.93

142 85 .......... 142.90 ..........
79,75 .......... 79,75 ..........

145.00 . 145.00 ..........
--------  387.60 --------- 367.65

1,284.53 1,284.58

kNot included in Project Overhead.Management Fee $225.00 per house 
Plant Rental Fee $55.00 per house.
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APPENDIX “C”

0/246 P McNally-Duran ce Property

Sarnia—8 Houses
June 1947

House Type No. of 
Houses

C.I. and 
A.D. 

House 
Costs

Adjust­
ment

Actual 
Cost per 
Treasury 
Records

Total

t cts. $ cts. $ cts.

H-1A.............................................................. 2 7,759 36 36-66 7,796 02 15,592 04
H-4................................................................. 2 7,081 95 36-66 7,118 61 14,237 22
VN-3B........................................................... 2 7,928 57 36-66 7,965 23 15,930 46
M & M—3...................................................... 1 8,200 54 37-15 8,237 69 8,237 69
M & M—3...................................................... 1 8,200 54 37-15 8,237 69 8,237 69

62,235 10

Note: This statement shows cost of House Construction and reconciles the figures quoted in Sessional 
Paper 135 I with those quoted before Public Accounts Committee on July 4th, 1947.

(1) Note: Above costs do not include cost of Refrigerators supplied to project.
(2) Note: The amounts shown in Column headed “Adjustment” represent the value of material purchased

by V.L.A. and issued to the project for house construction.

“J. A. Lynas”,
District Treasury Officer.
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Appendix I

SARNIA PROJECT
Detailed Costs including Project Overhead

The following are the details of the project overhead costs as requested by 
the Committee last Friday according to Ryan Home Builders’ statement as 
audited by the Treasury Cost Audit: —

Summary of Indirect Labour, Material and Expenses
Indirect Labour—

Superintendence! including supervision from Windsor (675.00) $ 3079.36
Clerical J
Watchmen ............................................................................................ 2644.15
Waterboys, Checkers, etc..................................................................... 494.60
Field Foreman .................................................................................... 398.48
Temporary Buildings ......................................................................... 194.30
Handling Material ............................................................................. 1758.28
Trucking ................................................................................................. 12.00
Temporary Roads and Layout .......................................................... 406.02 $ 8987.19

Indirect Materials and Expenses—■
Gasoline and Oil .................................................................................. 27.24
Temporary Buildings............................................................................... 99.90
Temporary Water ................................................................................ 38.08
Temporary Power ................................................................................ 50.82
Temporary Heating ............................................................................... 208.81
Telephone and Telegraph ................................................................... 187.45
Trucking and plant rental other than per house allowance .......... 2050.33
Building Permits .................................................................................. 40.00
Car Allowance ...................................................................................... 66.00
Postage ................................................................................................... 34.22
Sundry supplies and expenses.............................................................. 39.38
Travelling ............................................................................................... 1043.18 3885.41

Payroll Charges—
Unemployment Insurance ................................................................... 118.08
Vacation Pay ........................................................................................ 339.77
W.C.B. Assessment .............................................................................. 501.71
P.L. & P.D. Insurance ...................................................  78.21 1032.77

Total Indirect Labour, Material and Expenses ....................................... $13,905.37
Discount earned ........................................................................................... 15.60

$13,889.77

This total of $13,889.77 divided by 8 gives an average overhead cost per 
house of $1,736.22, which agrees with the figure shown on Sessional Paper No. 
135 (i).
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MINUTES OF PROCEEDINGS
Thursday, July 10, 1947.

The Standing Committee on Public Accounts met at 3 o’clock p.m., the 
Chairman, Mr. L. P. Picard, presiding.

Members present: Messrs. Beaudry, Boucher, Bradette, Burton, Cleaver, 
Cote (Verdun), Denis, Fleming, Fraser, Gibson (Comox-Alberni), Gladstone, 
Golding, Grant, Jaenicke, Kirk, Macdonnell, McCubbin, Murphy, Picard, 
Pinard, Raymond (Wright), Rinfret, Stuart (Charlotte), Warren, Winkler.

In attendance: Mr. Gordon Murchison, Director, Mr. A. D. Wymbs, Act­
ing Financial Superintendent, and Mr. W. G. Wurtle, Chief Treasury Officer, 
Soldier Settlement and Veterans’ Land Act.

The Committee resumed its investigation into the operations of the 
Veterans’ Land Act Administration in the Township of Sarnia.

Examination of Messrs. Murchison and Wymbs was continued.
On motion of Mr. Fleming:
Ordered,—That a statement of selling prices to veterans, Project No. 

0/246-P, filed by Mr. Murchison on July 9, be printed as Appendix “A” to this 
day’s minutes of proceedings and evidence.

Mr. Fleming filed Sessional Paper No. 135E, dated Friday, March 21, 1947, 
which was ordered to be printed as Appendix “B” to this day’s minutes of 
proceedings and evidence.

On motion of Mr. Fleming:
Ordered,—That a statement filed by Mr. Murchison on July 9 showing 

costs of four types of houses in various parts of the Dominion be printed as 
Appendix “C” to this day’s minutes of proceedings and evidence.

Mr. Murchison filed copies of Orders in Council P.C. 1278, dated April 2, 
1946, and P.C. 1811 dated May 16, 1947, which were ordered to be printed as 
Appendices “D” and “E” to this day’s minutes of proceedings and evidence.

At 6 o’clock p.m., the Committee adjourned until 8 o’clock p.m. this day.

EVENING SITTING
The Committee resumed at 8 o’clock p.m., the Chairman, Mr. L. P. Picard, 

presiding.
Members present: Messrs. Beaudry, Boucher, Burton, Cleaver, Cote 

(Verdun), Denis, Fleming, Fournier (Maisonneuve-Rosemont), Fraser, Glad­
stone, Grant, Jackman, Jaenicke, Murphy, Picard, Stuart (Charlotte), Warren. 
Winkler.

In attendance: Mr. Gordon Murchison, Director, Mr. A. D. Wymbs, Act­
ing Financial Superintendent, and Mr. W. G. Wurtle, Chief Treasury Officer, 
Soldier Settlement and Veterans’ Land Act.

Examination of Messrs. Murchison and Wymbs was continued.
93313—11
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Mr. Wurtle was called and questioned.
On motion of Mr. Fleming:
Resolved,—That the Committee meet at 3 o’clock on Friday, July 11, to 

continue examination of Mr. Murchison.
Mr. Fleming moved that two witnesses resident on the Roseland project at 

Windsor be summoned to appear before the Committee on Monday next.
Discussion followed.
On motion of Mr. Burton, at 11.05 o’clock the Committee adjourned until 

Friday, July 11, at 3 o’clock p.m.
A. L. BURGESS, 

Clerk of the Committee.
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MINUTES OF EVIDENCE

House of Commons,
July 10, 1947.

The Standing Committee on Public Accounts met this day at 3.00 p.m. 
The Chairman, Mr. L. Philippe Picard, presided.

The Chairman: Gentlemen, I think Mr. Fleming has stated he has some 
more questions to ask.

Mr. Fleming: Mr. Chairman, I suggest that since the next questions are 
in regard to the cost, perhaps we might have Mr. Murchison’s financial assistant 
Mr. Wymbs, assist us.

A. D. Wymbs, Acting Financial Superintendent, called:

By Mr. Fleming:
Q. What is your office, Mr. Wymbs?—A. Acting Financial Superintendent.
Q. Of?—A. The Veterans Land Act.
Q. Last night we were dealing with these documents in the brief, Nos. 

7 and 8.
The Chairman: Gentlemen, will you be quiet, please? There is enough 

noise outside.

By Mr. Fleming:
Q. Mr. Wymbs, in dealing with this sheet dated July 1, 1947, and the 

figures on house costs for the 8 houses totalled $62,235.10. Secondly, the total 
cost to the director was $72,647.39. We have a note on that statement, “Shows 
construction cost only”. What do you say as to the inclusion or exclusion of 
overhead in those figures?—A. I say, sir, that the overhead is in those figures.

Q. What kind of overhead?—A. There is a detailed statement on that 
in this file, sir, which explains it.

Q. Could we have that? You are referring now to this statement which 
is marked in the brief as No. 9 but is not dated headed, “Sarnia project, 
detailed costs including project overhead”. “The following are the details of 
the project overhead cost as requested by the committee last Friday according 
to the Ryan Home Builders statement as audited by the Treasury cost audit.” 
Those particulars then were taken from a statement submitted by Ryan Home 
Builders Limited?—A. Yes, which was audited by the treasury cost audit.

Q. What was the date of the statement by Ryan?—A. I have not that 
with me.

Q. You saw the statement when you prepared this particular statement 
before you now?—A. The statement was prepared by the chief treasury office 
and handed to me.

Q. You have no idea of the date?—A. No, but it is available.
Q. We would ask you if you would get that. Then, the statement proceeds: 

“Summary of indirect labour, material and expenses”. Then, we have three 
headings. The first heading is, “Indirect lalbour” with a lot of subheadings 
totalling $8,897.19. The second heading is “Indirect materials and expenses”, 
with another dozen items totalling $3,885.41. The third heading is “Payroll
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charges” with an item totalling $1,032.77. The total indirect labour and 
material expenses amount to $13,905.37, less a discount earned of $15.60. Do 
you know what that was? Was that pre-payment?—A. I cannot say, sir.

_ Q Leaving a net total of $13,889.77. Then, there is a note at the bottom, 
“This total of $13,889.77, divided by 8 gives an average overhead cost per house 
of $1,736.22 which agrees with the figure shown on sessional paper 135 (i). That 
sessional paper was filed at an earlier meeting, Mr. Wymbs. You are saying, 
in effect, in the statement, I take it, there is an average overhead cost of $1,736 
for each of these houses. Now, do you say that figure is or is not included in 
the cost of the houses as shown in the statement dated July 1, 1947.—A. I say 
it is included.

Q. Is included. Have you seen sessional paper 135 (i) ?—A. No, sir.
Q. A copy of which is on file. This is another copy. Question No. 1 asks. 

“What is the total cost of each home constructed under the Veterans Land 
Act in (a) Sarnia Township, Lambton County?” Then, we have the figures 
given: 2 houses at $7,759.35 each; 2 at $7,928.57; 2 at $7,081.95; 2 at $8,200.54. 
Those do not quite jibe with the figures given. There are some minor differences? 
—A. That is true. Do you want me to explain it?

Q. I am not concerned now with that. The differences are small. I was 
not going into that at the moment. The notation is “Cost of house construction 
only”, on this statement dated July 1, 1947. It bears the note, “This statement 
shows construction cost only”. Then, question No. 6 on the sessional paper 
135 (i) reads: “What was the cost per unit of the project overhead and 
how was the same made up?” Therefore, we have the answer, average per 
unit at Sarnia $1,736.22, the figure you have just given from statement No. 9. 
Then, the details of the amount are shown. Now, bearing in mind that the 
statement of July 1, 1947, stresses in red type the note that it includes 
construction costs only, do you still say that the figures shown on statement 
No. 9 are included in the figures given on statement No. 7 given on July 1, 
1947?—A. Yes, sir.

By the Chairman:
Q. If you have an answer to make, let us have it.—A. We used this term, 

“Construction cost only”, to differentiate from a similar form which is for 
selling prices. That is why I use that general term loosely, if you will, just to 
differentiate between the sheet of this type which is used for selling prices. That 
term, “Construction only” is to differentiate from selling only.

By Mr. Fleming:
Q. You have checked into these?—A. Yes, I am satisfied as to that, sir.
Q. You have already told us statement No. 9 was prepared from a record 

of Ryan Home Builders Limited which went through the Treasury Department 
Audit ?—A. Yes.

Q. You saw that statement?—A. I saw it briefly, I have not examined it in 
detail. This statement was prepared on information obtained1—

Q. You say “this statement”. To which one are you referring?—A. State­
ment No. 7, form C was obtained from information supplied by the District 
Treasury Officer in Toronto, and it is figures which he had obtained in turn from 
the statement supplied by Ryan Home Builders which was audited bv the Cost 
Audit Division.

Q. Did lie tell you in preparing this statement No. 7 that he was including 
the figures appearing on statement No. 9?—A. No, sir.

Q. He did not tell you that?—A. No, sir.
Q. So you are drawing an inference as to the inclusion of the figures on 

statement No. 7?—A. I made the statement on the strength of my knowledge 
of the general procedure, sir.
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Q. What you are saying is, if the normal procedure had been followed the 
figures in statement 9 would be included in statement 7?—A. That is quite true.

By the Chairman:
Q. Do you know positively in this case if they are included or not? That 

is what we want to find out. In this statement, the figures from both are included 
in this one? I mean, the figures from that statement No. 9 are included in this or 
are they not, to vour knowledge?—A. To my knowledge, it is.

Mr. Fleming: That is not what you said a moment ago.
The Chairman: That is what he says now.

By Mr. Fleming:
Q. When the chairman says, “To your knowledge” he means do you know 

that to your actual, personal knowledge?—A. I actually examined the set of 
figures which would include these and would add up to that.

The Chairman: Even the Auditor General cannot go into the courtyard 
and make sure the people have delivered 2,000 feet of wood. He takes the state­
ments of his sub-officials and bases a statement on that. That is what I was 
asking. In your capacity as auditor—what is it?

The Witness : Financial superintendent.

By the Chairman:
Q. In your capacity as financial superintendent can you state if those figures 

from statement No. 9 are included in this one?—A. The figures included in No. 7 
are supplied to me by the district treasury officer in Toronto and he supplied me 
with the figures. They have been subjected to an audit by the Cost Audit 
Division. I accepted those figures in good faith and put them in this statement.

Q. And those figures you think are correct?—A. I have fulfilled my duty 
and accepted my senior official’s word for it. They are in there.

By Mr. Fleming:
Q. Did you, yourself, prepare statement No. 7?—A. Yes, I better make 

it perfectly clear. This was prepared in Toronto.
Q. I think probably the simplest way to save time is to have you check that 

with the official in Toronto. Just check this one point. It is a simple point, now.
The Chairman: I want to find out the truth, whether it is included or not.

By Mr. Fleming:
Q. It will be a comparatively easy matter to get that?-»-A. I have a signed 

statement by the head office. I can produce this statement.
The Chairman : It would be important to have the facts.
Mr. Fleming: Quite. We want that information, Mr. Chairman, but I am 

saying I had better not take further time questioning the witness now and he can 
get the information. We can have it later.

The Chairman: Yes.
Mr. Fleming: Then, just to complete the information for the committee 

on the subject of prices, will you give the information you have in item No. 22 
in regard to the sale price to the veteran? Again, Mr. Chairman, this is a state­
ment with a number of figures on it and I would submit it ought to be printed 
in the record.

The Chairman: Yes, as an appendix.
(See appendix “A”).
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Mr. Fleming: It gives the eight properties, the total selling price, the condi­
tional grant for each of $1,400, and the amount payable by the veteran. The 
initial deposit in each case is $600 and it gives the figure of the balance payable 
in instalments. The total selling prices are as follows. These are the gross 
prices charged by the director.

The Witness: Yes.
The Chairman: To the veteran ?
Mr. Fleming: Yes, against which the $1,400 is included to arrive at the 

price for the veteran. I will just put these figures on the record for the information 
of the members.

The first one is $7,447, and the list goes on, $6,893, $7,759, $6,893. $7,904, 
$7,456, $7,724, $7,724.

By Mr. Fleming:
Q. Now I want to ask you about some further items of cost. In making 

up the figures in statement 7 and in statement 22, which have just been made 
a matter of record, have you included anything for the additional drainage 
work that has to be done?—A. In statement 22, sir?

Q. In either statement 22 or statement 7?—A. No, sir; with respect to both 
statements the answer is no.

Q. And have you included anything in respect of the repair work which 
is to cost about $6,0001>—A. No, sir; and it applies to both statements.

Q. Have you included anything to cover the cost of road construction 
to the project?—A. The road construction costs or estimated costs within the 
project are included.

Q. Now do you happen to know anything about the construction of a road 
to the project?—A. No, sir.

Q. Do I correctly understand your answer to be that you are not including 
the cost of construction of the road to the project?—A. No.

Q. No, and what construction costs in respect of roadways are included? 
—A. To the best of my knowledge and belief only roads constructed within 
the boundaries of the project.

Q. Only roads constructed within the boundaries of the project?—A. There 
may be some few yards in addition, with which I am not familiar.

Q. Have you the figures of cost of construction of the roadways within the 
project area?—A. I have the estimated costs, yes, sir.

Q. Have you them here?—A. No, sir.
Q. Can you get them?—A. Yes, sir.
Q. Would you have access to the figures on the costs of road construction 

to the project?—A. I would, yes.
Q. Could you get those for us?—A. Yes.
Q. What about local improvements, are they included?—A. I am not a 

building man, just what do you mean by that?
Q. I will take some examples. First of all, are there any sidewalks?— 

A. No, there are no sidewalks as we know them, but there may be sidewalks 
from the driveway to the entrance of the house.

Q. Is the cost of those included?—A. Yes, that would be included in the 
cost of the house.

Q. You are saying that definitely?—A. Yes, sir.
Q. Arc they completed?—A. I do not know, sir.
Q. If they are not, would you say something has been included by way 

of an estimate?—A. Yes
Q. The contract price includes the cost of construction of the sidewalk 

into the house?—A. Yes, from the driveway, just on the property.
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Q. In other words there is no public sidewalk constructed paralleling the 
roadway?—A. I have no knowledge of that but I think there are none.

Q. What about the construction costs of the water main?—A. They are 
included in this case.

Q. Now let us be quite clear on this matter of the water main. You have got 
certain facilities in the houses, and then you have got the facilities connecting 
the house outlets with the main in the street under the roadway?—A. That 
is true.

Q. Then of course, you have the main under yie roadway?—A. Yes.
Q. Do you say those are all included?—A. The mais in the roadway is 

included. The connection from the main to the house is included in the water 
costs and the inside plumbing is included in the house costs.

Q. And you say all these figures are included in statement 7 and 22?— 
A. Yes.

Q. Now in making up your statements, did you allow anything for depart­
mental overhead in any of these cases?—A. Not in the statement.

Q. You did not charge for instance the salaries of any inspectors on the 
work?—A. No, sir.

Q. Nor any part of the cost of carrying on the district offices?—A. No.
Q. In other words there is no departmental overhead of any kind included 

in this. You are simply taking the costs on the site?—A. That is right.
Q. Probably you have no method of obtaining the costs of departmental 

overhead on these jobs?—A. The records are not set up to take the care of 
it at the moment, sir.

Q. In statement No. 9, Mr. Wymbs, on indirect labour, the first general 
heading we have is superintendence, including supervision from Windsor, $675, 
a total of $3,079.36. It is “superintendence and clerical”, and what does that 
represent?—A. I would say it covers the superintendent, the foreman, and 
the office staff and so on.

Q. Of the contractor?—A. Yes.
Q. Of the contractor only?—A. Yes.
Q. That does not represent employees of the Veterans’ Land Act?—A. No.
Q. Similarly any costs appearing in statement No. 9 you would say, are 

costs of Ryan Home Builders only?—A. That is true.
Q. I think those are all the questions I have of Mr. Wymbs but there are 

some I would like to put to Mr. Murchison now, Mr. Chairman.

By the Chairman:
Q. Do you mean that the main, the water mains are included in the cost on 

statement 22?—A. Charged to each house.
Q. Do you say the water mains are included in the cost of each house on 

statements 7 and 22?—A. Part of them are included, yes.
Q. Not only the water connection in the house, but you mean the water 

piping in the street is charged to each house?—A. That is right, sir, part of it.

By Mr. Gladstone:
Q. A proportion?—A. Yes, not all of it.
Q. Was there any agreement with the municipality in connection with the 

water mains?—A. I am not in a position to answer that, I am sorry, sir.
Mr. Fleming: You no doubt have access to those figures you have been 

speaking of on water mains, water connections and so on, the sidewalks, road­
ways', and everything that comes under the general description of local 
improvements? Could you get those figures.

The Witness: In detail?
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Mr. Fleming: Yes.
The Witness: Yes.
Mr. Fraser: In that you would also want the figures on the project and the 

city water mains, there would be a connection there.
The Witness: Yes.

By Mr. Fleming:
Q. Will you include the project area and city connection? Are you on the 

Sarnia city connection there?—A. I believe we are, sir.
Q. The Sarnia township connection, I believe? Well you will give us, 

Mr. \\ yrnbs, those figures in detail in each case?—A. Yes, we will endeavour 
to obtain them, sir.

Gordon B. Murchison, Director of the Soldiers' Settlement Board and 
Veterans’ Land Act, called:

By Mr. Fleming:
Q. Mr. Murchison, you indicated a day or two ago that there had been no 

contract to the Ryan firm, that is Ryan Home Builders Ltd., after December 
1946. That was your statement on July 1946?—A. Yes, to the best of my 
knowledge.

Q. Does that apply to the other Ryan companies that were referred to in 
the supplementary contracts as well?—A. Yes, I would say so.

Q. Were any contracts awarded to Ryan Home Builders Ltd. during 1946? 
—A. My recollection is only one contract was given to Ryan Home Builders 
which included the construction of 100 units at Windsor, a number at Kingston, 
I forget whether it was 10 or 20, and 8 at Chatham, on a cost plus fee basis.

Q. You could check that and see if they had any other contracts with 
your department, could you?—A. Yes.

Q. When you awarded these contracts, what led up to awarding the contract? 
Did you ask for any tenders or did you negotiate with any other contractors? 
—A. If I could give you a brief outline of the situation that occurred there I 
think it would be the best way I could answer, Mr. Chairman. In the early 
spring months of 1945 we endeavoured to obtain firm bid contracts for this 
work in various places throughout Canada with very limited success. Any firm 
'bids, or most firm bids we received were for prices which we considered to be too 
high by a considerable margin, and in other cases we received no bids at all. 
Consequently it was decided then to proceed on the basis of cost plus fee contracts, 
under the best arrangement we could make with the contractors who were willing 
to undertake the job. That applied in the case of Ryan Home Builders Ltd. 
This contract was negotiated by our chief engineer, Mr. McGee, personally.

Q. I do not think you followed my question. I think you gave that informa­
tion at the meeting of July 4th, but I am asking if, when yeu got down to the 
stage of proceeding by cost plus fixed fee, did you attempt to negotiate with any 
other contractors or was the firm of Ryan Home Builders Ltd. the only firm 
with which you negotiated or talked of a contract?—A. I would say it was the 
only firm with whom negotiations were made for that particular contract.

Mr. Jaenicke: Mr. Fleming, he gave that evidence already, according to my 
recollection. He said they were the lowest or they were not accepted, and that 
is why they were dealt with.

Mr. Fleming: That is not what he is saying at all.
Mr. Jaenicke: That is what he said when he was asked about it first. I 

remember the evidence. LTnfortunately we have not got it with us, and that is 
the trouble. He certainly gave the evidence before.
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Mr. Fleming: May I ask my friend, Mr. Chairman, if he means that was 
the situation that applied after they decided to proceed on the basis of cost 
plus fixed fee?

Mr. Jaenicke: They asked for tenders, received tenders which they 
considered too high, and the Ryan people were the lowest and they dealt with 
them; that is my understanding, I may be wrong. He was asked that question 
before.

Mr. Fleming: Do you want to look that over? (handing file.)
Mr. Jaenicke: Oh, gosh!
Mr. Fleming: Whatever was said in that respect is on the record, what 

the witness said.
Mr. Jaenicke: I do not know whether or not questions should be repeated. 

The answer might be just a little different.
Mr. Fleming: What the witness has said now, and I am dealing with 

the point at which they decided to proceed on a cost plus fixed fee basis, 
and the witness has said from the time they started to proceed on that basis 
they negotiated with only one firm known as Ryan Home Builders, Limited.

The Witness: There were no tenders from others.
Mr. Jaenicke: There were no tenders from others?
Mr. Fleming: No, he did not say that.
Mr. Jaenicke: That is my recollection. I don't know.
The Chairman: Have you any comment to make on that?
The Witness: My only comment is this, that I do not recall having made 

the statement Mr. Jaenicke mentioned.

By The Chairman:
Q. When you asked for tenders did you get many tenders on that Sarnia 

project?—A. We did not call for tenders on the Sarnia project.
Q. You did not call for tenders on the Sarnia project?—A. No.

By Mr. Fleming:
Q. Just get that, Mr. Murchison; you said yesterday in reply to a question 

by Mr. Beaudry that you saw these houses yourself?—A. Yes.
Q. When was that?—A. I think it was in March this year. I cannot recall 

the precise date.
Q. You think it was in March, not until March?—A. No.
Q. Was that before any of the repair work had been undertaken?—A. No. 

There had been some repairs undertaken by the Ryan people, but obviously 
they were not proceeding very quickly or very satisfactorily in my judgment 
when I saw the houses.

Q. Was it as a result of your visit that you gave instructions to have the 
work of repair undertaken at the charge of your department?—A. Yes.

Q. Have you considered revaluation of those properties?—A. No.
Q. You have not done anything on that at all?—A. We have dealt with 

them under the provisions of order in council 1278 which authorizes the 
Deputy Minister of Veterans Affairs and myself to review the cost of the 
houses and to reduce that cost to a price that in our judgment represents a 
fair value. That has been done in connection with the Sarnia houses and it 
was reflected in the statements that have been laid before you in these documents; 
that is to say, on document No. 7—

Q. That is the statement on form C, dated July 1, 1947?—A. Yes. The 
total cost is shown there as being $72,647.39, for local improvements, house 
construction and so on; whereas the sale prices which have been quoted to 
the veterans with respect to these same properties—I think it is No. 22, I
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haven t got it as to the total selling price—the final selling price is the difference 
between thèse total selling prices as shown on statement No. 22 and the total 
cost on document No. 7 and represents the amount that will be written off the 
cost of that project under that order in council.

The Chairman: Could we have that?
Mr. Fleming: I was going to take that house by house, Mr. Chairman. I 

think we will need that anyway. They are not in the same order, anyway.
The Witness : We can identify them by lot numbers.

By Mr. Fleming:
Q. Yes. No. 1, the total cost to the director according to the statement 

is $9,240.76?—A. And the selling price, $7,447.
Q. Just pausing there for a moment, maybe we had better complete the 

total first; No. 2, total cost to the director, $8,403.14.—A. Selling price, $6.893.
Q. No. 3. cost to the director, $9,522.22.—A. Selling price, $7,759.
Q. No. 4, cost to the director, $8.403.14.—A. Selling price, $6,893.
Q. No. 5, cost to the director, $9.667.22.—A. Selling price, $7.904.
Q. No. 6, cost to the director, $9.249.76.—A. Selling price, $7.456.
Q. No. 7. cost to the director, $9,080.55.—A. Selling price, $7,724.
Q. No. 8, the last one, cost to the director, $9,080.60, again.—A. Selling 

price, $7,724.
Q. While we are waiting for some mass statistics to deal with this—
Mr. Beaudry : Might I ask you to be kind enough to repeat some of those 

figures?
Mr. Fleming: Oh, did I go too fast? I will run over the figures again.
Mr. Beaudry : Would you be good enough to let me have Nos. 1, 2 and 8?
Mr. Fleming: They are $7,447, $6,893 and $7,724.
Mr. Beaudry: Would you also give me Nos. 5 and 6?
Mr. Fleming: Which price?
Mr. Beaudry : The selling price.
The Witness: They are $7,904 and $7,456.
Mr. Beaudry: May I interrupt again, or you may leave that until later, if 

you prefer, Mr. Fleming; the question I would like to ask is, on what is the 
abnormal difference in price between No. 5 and No. 6 based, I am referring to 
the relationship between the cost and the sale price?

Mr. Fleming: I was going to ask him to deal with the two projects, and 
if there is anything abnormal about one item we will reach it.

The Witness: The difference is in the difference between the designs of the 
houses.

Mr. Beaudry: That is not my question.
Mr. Fleming: No, I appreciate that, Mr. Beaudry. The answer to your 

question is that in the en<e of one house there is an allowance for a refrigerator 
while in the other one there is not.

Mr. Beaudry: I appreciate that, but No. 7 showed a cost of $9,080.55.
Mr. Fleming: That is the price of construction.
Mr. Beaudry: No. 6 shows a cost of construction of $9,249.76, while the 

sale price is $7,456, yet statement No. 7 shows a cost price of $9,080; is that 
right?

Mr. Fleming: Yes, statement No. 7 does, yes.
Mr. Beaudry: And it shows a sale price of $7,500—
The Witness: $7,724.
Mr. Beaudry: In other words a house which cost $9,200 sells for $7,400 

while the one which costs $9,600 sells for $7,700.
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The Chairman : Now, what Mr. Beaudry wants to know is why one of 
hese which cost you more has been priced to the veteran at less than the other 

one which cost less to you?
The Witness: Speaking from my best recollection the sale prices were 

established on the basis of cubic foot content of the house itself.

By Mr. Beaudry:
Q. On which, did you say?—A. On cubic content.
Q. Would not the construction cost also depend on the cubic content, 

reasonably so?—A. Yes, it should.

By Mr. Fleming:
Q. Would you tell the committee, Mr. Murchison, generally on what basis 

you proceeded to review to arrive at these revisions of price?—A. We established 
a cube rate, which in our judgment represented a fair charge under conditions 
as they existed when these houses were built and by using that as a guide we 
arrived at the amount which in our judgment should be written off the cost of 
the houses in order to arrive at a fair selling price to the veteran.

Q. Do I understand then that you arrived at some general basis of revision 
which you applied uniformly over the whole eight houses?—A. Yes.

Q. Then you did not look at each of the houses and assess in the terms of 
the conditions of that particular house the reduction that ought to be made in 
the selling price?—A. I would not say that.

Q. Put it this way, you did not do it on an individual basis, you did it on 
a broad basis applied to all these houses?—A. The cube rate would vary as 
between designs of these houses because some of these houses are more expensive 
to build than others. The cube rate, I think we can produce it, that was used in 
connection with this project would vary probably from 40 cents to as high as 44 
or 45 cents a cubic foot.

Q. Depending on the type of construction, do you mean?—A. That is right.
Mr. Beavdry: I am sorry to interrupt you, but I have one question if you 

don’t mind.
Mr. Fleming: Go ahead.

By Mr. Beaudry:
Q. Are these sale prices you quoted a moment ago the revised sale price 

or the original sale price?—A. The original sale price. There is only one set 
sale price established.

Q. I understood you to say a few moments ago that a scale had been set 
by yourself and the deputy minister under the order in council?—A. No, that 
is not what I said.

By Mr. Fleming:
Q. Then you did not answer my question because I was asking you what 

reductions, if any, made by you, or what approach you had made to a revalua­
tion of the properties as a result of these troubles. What you are indicating to 
the rommittee, I take it, is these reductions in figures were made before these 
troubles ever arose; is that right?—A. Yes.

Q. What would be approximately the date on which these figures were 
established as the price of sale to veterans?—A. Probably during September. 
I would have to get you the certificate signed by myself and the deputy minis­
ter; some time in September or October of 1946.

0. That was in September or October of 1946; coming back now to the 
question T asked you. are we to take it. then that since these troubles arose 
after those men went, into occupation in the fall of 1946 that there have been no

faken looking toward any revaluation of the property to the veterans?__
A. No.
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Q. Is any in contemplation?—A. No.
Q. Anil is the department proposing to continue to ask the same price for 

the properties that the veterans were asked to pay in September of 1946?— 
A. Yes. There is a concrete illustration in these documents—if I may locate 
it, sir.

Q. And I take it your answer applies to all the eight properties, and your 
answer is, yes?—A. Yes.

The Chairman: If the witness wants to qualify his answers you should give 
him a chance.

Mr. Fleming: He wants to give an illustration.
The Chairman: All right, let him.
The Witness : Lot 9 N, that was originally allocated to a veteran by the 

name of Hudspitch on the 20th of August, 1946, who vacated the premises. That 
property has now been purchased by James N. Simpson, on June 25, 1947, at the 
same price as that at which it was allocated to the first purchaser.

Mr. Beaudry: May I interrupt? Following that answer are we to under­
stand that in view of these peculiar circumstances that the department’s intention 
is not to revise the price because it is the intention of the department not to ask 
any of these veterans to fulfil their obligations until their houses are in such 
physical condition as to be worth in the eyes of the purchaser the amount by 
which you have reduced the value?

The Witness: We regard those prices—
Mr. Beaudry : In other words, to make my question simpler—
Mr. Fleming: He had already started to answer.
The Witness: We regard the prices which have been set as fair and reason­

able under the terms of the Act, and we undertake to take care of the cost of 
correcting any defects there were in the houses without reducing the sale price 
of those houses.

By Mr. Beaudry:
Q. In other words, you do not wish to change the price but you do wish to 

correct the houses?—A. That is right.

By Mr. Fleming:
Q. I want to be quite clear that the answer you gave me a moment ago 

applies to all these houses, and that from the time the prices, to which you have 
referred in statement No. 22, were determined in August or September, 1946. the 
department has not considered and is not now considering any revaluation of the 
properties whatever?—A. That is the situation.

Q. You suggested in your evidence on July 4th that there was in this case 
as well as others pressure on the part of veterans to whom the houses were 
allocated to get into occupation, and that had resulted in premature occupancy. 
Do you recall your evidence on that?—A. Yes.

Q. Do you say that was the case with these projects now after the evidence 
you have heard?—A. On this particular project it is not the case.

Q. It is not the case on this project?—A. No.
Q. Therefore the answer you gave on July 4th in that respect is not to be 

applied to this project at all?—A. There is one house on the project that is 
vacant. That speaks for itself.

Q. Just give me an answer to that question. The evidence you gave on 
July 4th about premature occupancy being taken by veterans does not apply to 
any of these eight houses in the Sarnia project?—A. No, I would not say so.
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Q. As a matter of fact, looking at statement No. 2. and bearing in mind 
that statement shows that on August 1, 1946, your Toronto district office 
advised that the houses were completed sufficient for occupancy, and. that the 
admission to occupancy as set forth in—

Mr. Warren: Sufficient for occupancy—did you ever live in a lumber camp?
1 have.

Mr. Murphy: Did you have any bedbugs or lice?
Mr. Warren : We had plenty of them.

By Mr. Fleming:
Q. Just continuing my question—and that the first house to 'be occupied, 

No. 5, was not occupied until August 25, 1946, and that the last to be taken 
into occupancy was not occupied until January 13, 1947, I think you will agree 
it is quite clear there was no undue haste in taking occupancy of these properties, 
and they were fully completed before anybody got into any of them.—A. There 
was a good deal of agitation going on locally that nobody should move into them.

Q. Just answer the question.
Mr. Warren : Do not be so particular. Let the man say a word and give 

a little explanation. Why not?
Mr. Fleming: Probably we can overlook this irrelevant interjection and the 

witness could answer my question.
The Chairman: W’ill you answer the question? Then Mr. Beaudry has one.
The Witness: What was the question, please?
Mr. Fleming: I said—
Mr. Warren : That is the trouble. Your questions are too long.
The Chairman: Order, please.

By Mr. Fleming:
Q. In the light of the information contained on statements 2 and 6 it is 

quite clear, I suggest to you, Mr. Murchison, that there can be no question 
here about the properties being taken in occupancy until they were fully ready 
and according to the department passed for occupancy?

Mr. Warren: What do you mean “fully ready”? Heavens, we often lived 
with just a roof over our head up in the north country.

Mr. I leming: Perhaps this is a good place for my friend to go away and 
get on with his business.

Mr. Warren: That is where I live.
The Chairman: We want to get ahead with the work of the committee. 

Kindly give the witness a chance to answer.
Mr. Warren: That is where I live.
The Witness: No, I would answer that by saying that there is nothing 

here which would suggest pressure by veterans to get into occupation of these 
houses.

Mr. Beaudry : I did not quite catch the date.
Mr. Fleming: Which date?
Mr. Beaudry : The date of the statement of occupancy or availability for 

occupancy.
Mr. Fleming: That is in statement No. 2. August 1, 1946, Toronto district 

office advised that houses completed sufficient for occupancy.
Mr. Beaudry: I take it that is the group?
Mr. Fleming: Yes, that is the eight.
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By Mr. Fleming:
Q. Then you have indicated, Mr. Murchison, that there is some prospect 

of litigation with Ryan Home Builders Limited over this contract?—A. I made 
that statement.

Q. W hat is the position exactly ? What steps have been taken, if any, 
by your department in the way of making a claim or setting up a claim against 
Ryan Home Builders Limited.—A. None as yet.

Q. You indicated yesterday that from the time you wrote one letter 
Ryan Home Builders Limited—I have forgotten the date of it now—

The Chairman: The 17th of February or of March.
Mr. Fleming: 1 thought it was February—that you have had no letter 

in reply, and so far as you were aware no letter has been written to them?
The Witness: No.

By Mr. Fleming:
Q. Am I right in that?—A. I believe I said we would have to search our 

construction files in Toronto or London office to determine whether such a 
letter had been received from Ryan Home Builders, or any further correspondence 
passed between our office and Ryan Home Builders on that subject.

Q- In any event, I take it from your previous answer that there has been 
no letter written to Ryan Home Builders Limited making any claims upon 
them.—A. Not yet.

Q. Not yet?—A. No.
Q. Is any in contemplation?—A. Not until we have an opportunity to 

examine very carefully the details of all the remedial work that was done 
on the houses, and to decide in our judgment those which represent structural 
defects which should be chargeable to the contractor and those which represent 
normal construction defects which should be allowed in the cost of the 
construction.

Q. When do you expect to receive that statement?—A. Oh, I would say 
within a month.

Q. Do I take it then when you have received that statement as to the 
outlay on the property, $6,000, that it is your intention to have it broken down 
between what is repair proper, and what is to be ascribed to remedying structural 
defects, and that you will then decide whether any claim should be made against 
Ryan Home Builders Limited in respect of the latter amount.—A. I shall 
probably have to consult the Department of Justice.

Q. In any event, that matter is one that no decision has been taken 
on yet?—A. No.

Q. You say you are not in a position to take a decision on it at the 
moment?—A. No.

Q I should like to ask you if, in view of what you have heard and now 
know about this Sarnia project, you are prepared to say on the basis of the 
prices established in August or September, 1946, as set forth in statement 
No. 22. that the veterans on the basis of those prices are going to get their 
money’s worth.—A. On the terms of those sale prices?

Q. Yes.—A. I say “yes”.
Q. Why were the reductions made that you say were made in August 

or September, 1946, to arrive at the selling prices shown in statement No. 22? 
—A. Well, because we considered there were a lot of costs disclosed in this 
construction which did not represent value, a good deal of this project’s 
overhead, the cost of labour, delays in getting materials, costs of winter 
construction, and so on, that would not represent normal value. Those were 
the factors that were taken into account.

Q. Did you take into account the condition of the houses based on any 
inspection or report at that time?—A. No, we based our calculations on the
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assumption that the houses had been certified by the construction division in 
Toronto as being ready for occupancy, and we assumed that they were fit 
for occupancy.

Q. I take it from your last answer that things like beams and joists that 
had been sawed through were not taken—

Mr. Warren : Just half-way.

By Mr. Fleming:
Q. —into account in arriving at those reductions?—A. Not in that 

sense, no.
Q. When you were up there did you notice the way the beams and joists had 

been sawed into?—A. I do not recall specifically on the Sarnia project. I 
know I spent a good deal of time discussing the general situation there with 
people outside of the houses. I was accompanied by a construction expert, and 
for that reason I did not pay a great deal of attention to the minor details.

Q Who was the construction expert?—A Colonel Parrish.
Q. You are familiar with his report, are you not, to the Minister of Veterans 

Affairs?—A. Yes.
Q. You have seen that?—A. Yes.
Q. You recall that he spoke about the joists?—A. Yes, he spoke *bout them 

there and at other places.
Q. In other words, this matter of sawing through joists or beams to make 

way for pipes was not confined to the Sarnia project?—A. No, there were 
instances of it in other places. These beams were not sawn through. They 
wrere cut out. They were trimmed to make room for a hot air duct.

Q. You know enough about construction to know that very seriously 
weakens the strength of your structure?—A. Yes. I should say so.

Mr. Cleaver: If you do not mind I think it would be wise to break 
down your question to joists and beams separately because it is quite normal 
construction to cut a joist and put a header in.

By Mr. Fleming:
Q. Now that the point has been raised perhaps you will recall that there 

were three persons appointed by the Minister of Veterans Affairs to make a 
review of conditions in these V.L.A. projects across Canada, and that you made 
a sample inspection of a number of selected properties across Canada?—A. Yes.

Q. And the three persons on that team were the deputy minister, Mr. Wood, 
yourself, the director of Soldier Settlement and Veterans’ Land Act, and Colonel 
Parrish, to whom you have referred as an expert on construction?—A. Yes.

Q. And you recall a sentence in Mr. Woods’ report reading thus, based on 
this cross section review of projects right across Canada.

We encountered illustrations of careless or inexperienced workman­
ship such as joists having been cut in two to make room for heating 
ducts.

Do you remember that?—A. I am looking for my copy of the report by Mr. 
Woods. If Mr. Fleming has his report before him—

Q. I have the original report which was tabled as a return in the House. 
I do not know whether your paging is the same as mine. There are a couple of 
sentences I was going to read from this document. I will ask the witness for 
his comment on them. The first sentence that I will read is—

Mr. Cleaver : Which report is this, Colonel Parrish?
Mr. Fleming: The one I just read is from the deputy minister’s report. 

I may say to my friend that the three members of the team each wrote separate
93513—2
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reports, and the report was tabled as sessional paper No. 135-E. Then, in the 
report of Colonel Parrish I think you will recall there was a similar statement 
on this matter of cutting. I am referring now to a statement on page 18 of his 
report, and bearing in mind that this is based on a cross-section of the whole 
of Canada.

Sites where workmanship is of inferior class, defects of a more serious 
nature were noted such as, careless framing and uncontrolled cutting of 
structural members to allow passage for pipes, this has caused deflection 
in the floors; careless framing for chimneys where the wooden joists 
and beams have been allowed to touch the chimney, this constitutes a fire 
hazard ; rough, and in some instances thin plaster which is cracking and 
falling off the walls and ceilings already; roughly finished and badly 
cracked basement floors. These and other major defects which were 
noted can not only be blamed to bad workmanship, but show a lack of 
competent supervision and careful inspection on the projects where 
they occur.

The Chairman : What report is this?
Mr. Fleming: The second quotation is from the report of Colonel Parrish.
The Chairman: The one you have just read is from Colonel Parrish’s report?
Mr. Fleming: Yes, the first one I read is from the report of the deputy 

minister and the last one is from the report of Colonel Parrish. Both of them are 
in the combined report which is sessional paper 135-E.

Mr. Cleaver : I am wondering if it would not be wise, in order that our 
records be complete, that this sessional return be incorporated in our records.

The Chairman: As an appendix.
The Witness: Mr. Chairman, if I might make an observation at this 

juncture, the material being referred to by Mr. Fleming contains extracts from 
the reports of Mr. Woods and Colonel Parrish. I have the minister’s authority to 
file with this committee the full texts of all three reports made by myself, Mr. 
Woods and Colonel Parrish.

Mr. Fleming: The sessional paper is there, Mr. Chairman.
The Chairman: If it is not complete and there is a complete report, we can 

add it.
Mr. Fleming: This is a sessional paper.
The Chairman : Does it contain in full the three reports?
Mr. Fleming: It is supposed to, Mr. Chairman.
Mr. Cleaver : Is it understood, before we leave that point, that the complete 

report will be attached if the sessional return is in any way incomplete? It will 
be supplemented by the material added by the witness now. (See appendix ‘‘B”)

Mr. Fleming: I may say on that, Mr. Chairman, the sessional paper was 
filed in compliance with a motion passed in the House for tabling of the full 
report.

The Chairman: The reports of the three?
Mr. Cleaver: It should be a full report.

*

By Mr. Fleming:
Q. It is a full report, I think. I wanted to ask one or two general questions, 

Mr. Murchison. You have had experience with the construction of these V.L.A. 
projects all across Canada?—A. Yes.

Q. Is it not your experience that construction costs tend to be higher in 
Ontario than in the other provinces?—A. In certain parts of Ontario that is true.
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Q. I am speaking of a comparison of costs in Ontario with cost of construc­
tion prevailing in other provinces. Of course, there are areas in which there are 
minor variations?—A. Wide variations. •

Q. I am speaking of the generality of your experience. Have you not had 
the experience of finding construction costs of houses in Ontario higher than in 
the other provinces?

Mr. Warren: We have had that.
Mr. Jaenicke: He filed a list of them.
Mr. Fleming: We will come to the other points. I am asking the witness 

a general question.
Mr. Cleaver: I would think it would be practical if we were to have the 

actual cost right across Canada and not leave it to anyone’s opinion.
Mr. Jaenicke: He has filed that already.
Mr. Cleaver: Since it is on the record now, why ask about it?
Mr. Warren: It is on the record. Why ask him to give it again?
Mr. Fleming: It is not all on the record. I am asking the witness a question, 

Mr. Chairman. I think he will be able to answer it easily.
Mr. Jaenicke: He gave that evidence on cross-examination by Mr. Probe 

the first time he was here.
Mr. Fleming: Then, it will not do any harm to have him answer the 

question.
Mr. Warren: After all, it is on the record. Why ask the question again? 

Just read the record.
Mr. Fleming: This particular question was not asked in this particular 

form.
Mr. Warren: You have the information if you care to read the record.
The Chairman: Our job it to get the real costs. If it is a supplementary 

question to try to discover whether the costs were given correctly or not, it is 
a proper question, Mr. Fleming. Let us have the question, first.

Mr. Warren: You heard the question.
The Witness: The question, as I understand it, is whether I, in my experi­

ence, found the cost of construction in Ontario higher than in the other parts 
of Canada.

By Mr. Fleming:
Q. The construction of general houses higher than in other parts of Canada? 

—A. I can only answer that in this way, Mr. Chairman, that the costs of 
construction in certain parts of Canada are higher than they are in other parts 
of Canada and there are parts of Canada where costs of construction are equally 
as high as they are in any part of Ontario.

Mr. Boucher: Let him explain that because I do not think it is consistent.
Mr. \\ arren : You have your answer, what more do _you want?
Mr. Fleming: Probably my friend will permit me to answer that. You 

have your records of construction down by provinces, have you not?
The Witness: Yes.

By Mr. Fleming:
Q. I think it is much simpler then to give me an answer based on the 

province of Ontario rather than single out particular parts. I am asking for 
your general experience, as to whether or not it has indicated to you that the 
cost of constructing houses in Ontario is higher than the cost in other parts of 
Canada, other provinces?—A. No, I cannot concede that.

93313—2J
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Q. Then, will you turn to statement No.-----
Mr. Beaudry: I am sorry, Mr. Fleming, to interrupt, but I should like to 

ask Mr. Chairman if this point should be left to the opinion of the witness in a 
case where we have definite figures quoted by the witness, within his province 
and within his experience with this project, showing the actual cost in Ontario 
has been higher. I do not know whether it is fair to the witness to ask him 
to go by any other standard to give his answer.

Mr. Fleming: The witness at the last meeting was asked to prepare a 
statement of this kind. My question was a very simple one and it could have 
been answered as simply as that leading up to the statement which is here and 
which we are going into now.

Mr. Beaudry: Has he not answered it already?
Mr. Warren: What do you want it again for.
Mr. Jaenicke: He was asked to prepare a statement of the relative costs 

of those four houses in the other parts of Canada.

By Mr. Fleming:
Q. You have before you now, Mr. Murchison, statement No. 24 in your 

brief indicating the experience you have had, I take it, with the four houses 
constructed according to the four plans to which these eight houses at Sarnia 
were built?—A. YTes.

Q. Mr. Chairman, these are quite lengthy statements to go on the record. 
If the committee wishes, there are four of them, one for each plan giving a 
break down; British Columbia, Alberta, Saskatchewan, none in Manitoba, of 
this particular plan; Ontario, Quebec and the Maritimes.—A. It only refers to 
Sarnia in the Ontario one.

Q. You have not made up the whole of Ontario?—A. No.
Q. Then, your statement will not give the answer to my question.—A. I 

think the question was asked by Mr. Probe, if I could give a statement of the 
cost of the same designs of houses built in other parts of Canada for com­
parison with the cost of building at Sarnia.

Q. You have interpreted that as excluding the rest of Ontario?—A. He men­
tioned you would like to get what it cost in Saskatchewan, British Columbia and 
other provinces to build the same design of house as we built at Sarnia.

Mr. Boucher: And at the same time, I asked about the cost in Ottawa, 
for instance.

By the Chairman:
Q. These four houses were built elsewhere in Ontario?—A. Yes.
Q. We ought to have prices for Ontario as well as this.
Mr. Fleming: I would ask that that information be supplied by the wit­

ness based on these four plans.
The Witness: I should like to know if you want an average price for 

these designs of houses for everyone that was built in the province of Ontario 
or whether you want to localize it to Toronto, Guelph or Ottawa or Sault Ste. 
Marie?

By the Chairman:
Q. How have you proceeded in the other provinces? Is that an average 

for the province?—A. No, we took this particular designed house and deter­
mined what that house cost to build in Kamloops in British Columbia.

Q. Did you build it in other places in British Columbia, that same house?— 
A. Yes.

Q. You did not take that eost?—A. We did not give you an average. We 
were not asked for an average.
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Q. In that case, we might be getting the lowest or the highest price. I think 
we should have the average for each province for that design. Would that meet 
your wishes?

Mr. Fleming: Yes, I thought that was what we were getting, not basing it 
on a selection of projects in each of the other provinces. Could that informa­
tion be prepared?

The Witness: Yes, very readily.
Mr. Fleming: I would suggest that in Ontario it would be useful for us 

to have the costs of other projects as well as the provincial average.
The Chairman : Ask for exactly what you want in this statement so he will 

bring it.
Mr. Fleming: If the information is all ready, then the simplest thing to do 

is to have the witness bring the cost construction basis of these four plans on all 
the projects where these four plans were used.

Mr. Burton : Mr. Chairman, in view of the fact that—
The Witness: Pardon me, Mr. Chairman, but just before I lose the thought 

of the last request made by Mr. Fleming, we are to produce a break down of the 
cost of building these designs of houses in every case where they occurred 
throughout Canada. Now, that is quite a job. It will mean sorting these four 
designs out of some 2,650 houses.

Mr. Pinard: What would be the purpose of that, may I ask?
Mr. Fleming: It gets down to the question which has been raised by some 

members of the committee as to whether or not what happened at Sarnia is 
typical. To establish whether it is typical it is necessary to get similar informa­
tion on houses built according to these four plans.

Mr. Pinard: Would it not be possible, Mr. Murchison, to give a figure, 
even if it is not exact, as the average price?

The Witness: That would be a good deal more simple than a statement 
on the detail of every house of that design in every province.

Mr. Fleming: But you would have to have the details in arriving at the 
average.

The Witness: I think the way our records are maintained, it would be 
simpler to get that average.

By The Chairman:
Q. How did you proceed to select a project in a province? Did it just 

occur to you there were houses of that kind in Kamloops and give us the figures 
or did you select the lowest or how did you arrive at that table?—A. We 
regarded construction conditions at Kamloops in British Columbia as being 
the closest, relatively, to conditions in Ontario. I might mention there that 
in the Fraser Valley we built many houses without any basements. These 
houses that we selected at Kamloops are all houses with full basements. The 
construction is comparable to that in Sarnia. We selected Edmonton where 
our costs, generally, I think, have been lower than the average throughout 
Canada. In Saskatchewan we used Regina because Mr. Probe specifically 
asked for the cost of those designs built at Regina, his home city. We submitted 
Sarnia ; we submitted North Ascot near Sherbrooke, Quebec, where costs are 
quite high. We submitted Truro in the maritimes which is a fair average of 
maritime construction. We endeavoured to do so to give the committee a 
fair cost of construction of this design of homes in the various parts of Canada. 
If you want to go ahead and get the average cost of constructing these four 
designs throughout Canada every time they occurred we can get it, but I will 
say it will mean examining the details in connection with 2,660 units of 
construction.
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Mr. Fleming: I want to be reasonable about this. I thought M- 
Murchison indicated the information was reasonably available but apparently 
he did not intend that to apply to all this information. I think the committee 
should have some information on which they can decide whether any selection 
is a fair and typical selection or not. We should get the provincial average, 
and I would suggest in addition, the highest and the lowest in each province.

Mr. Warren : That is already on the record.
Mr. Fleming: It is not already on the record, and Mr. Warren is not 

giving facts.
Mr. Warren : Well I heard it.
Mr. Fleming: Well Mr. Warren has heard something none of the rest 

of us have heard. However, if it will lighten the burden, I will be content 
that we be given the provincial average in connection with the four plans, the 
high or the most expensive for the province, and the lowest cost in the province.

Mr. Boucher: I think you will find if you get the most expensive and the 
lowest price he might as well give us each project, because he will have to 
look them up. Would it not satisfy us if he gave the average of each type of 
house on each project?

Mr. Fleming: Is there much difficulty getting the high and the low? You 
have to get that to get the average.

The Witness: We can get it.
Mr. Fleming: I will ask you for that.
The Chairman: If we cannot receive it within the next two weeks it will 

not be of much use.
Mr. Fleming: I would then ask this question in order to get it on the 

record. I ask that we be given the provincial average, the high for the 
province and the low for the province, and, in the case of Ontario, the provincial 
average. I think in Ontario we ought to be given some further projects as 
examples. I would like to have Windsor, London, and Mr. Boucher has 
mentioned Ottawa. I think that would be a fair cross-section.

Mr. Cote: Are you still referring to the same type of house as in Sarnia?
Mr. Fleming: Yes, built according to the four plans.

By the Chairman:
Q. The statement has been shown, as between the witness and Mr. Fleming, 

and I would like to know what the price is at Kamloops for these types of 
houses. We will have that on the record but, in the meantime, I would like 
to know the price quoted there for these types of building?—A. The house 
cost for the Humphrey No. 1A was $7,674.59 and adding on the cost of land 
and services, the total cost was $8,431.35.

Q. That is in Kamloops?—A. Yes.
Q. And the next place?—A. The next one is at Edmonton, $7.143.
Q. The same plan?—A. Yes. Regina, $7,397: Sarnia. $9,080.55; North 

Ascot, near Sherbrooke, Quebec, $8,759.49; at Truro, in the maritimes, $6,618.80.
Those figures include the cost of land and service.
Q. The next plan is what?—A. The next plan is the Humphrey No. 4A, 

with land and service included, S7.924.69.
Q. That is at Kamloops?—A. At Kamloops. At Edmonton, $6,494.84; 

Regina, $6,811.38; Winnipeg, Charlcswood, $6,750; and Sarnia, $8,403.14; 
Lennoxville, Quebec, $7,469.59; Truro, $6,278.95.

The third one, the Moody Moore design No. 3, cost of land and service 
is included.

Mr. Fleming: This is a different one in B.C.?
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The Witness: This is at Vernon, B.C, within about 50 miles of Kamloops. 
We did not build this design of house at Kamloops but the cost at Vernon was 
$8,574.05; Edmonton, $6,654.15; Sarnia, $9,522.22; North Ascot, Quebec, 
$8,926.39.

The Van Norman design, 3B, all inclusive. Kamloops, $8,837.14; Edmonton, 
$6,714.45; Sarnia, $9,249.76; North Ascot, $8,986; Truro, $7,168.75.

Mr. Warren: Mr. Chairman, I think this is a fair question. What would 
these houses cost the average veteran? That is what I would like to know.

Mr. Fleming: The average veteran?
The Chairman: The veteran would build under the government plan 

himself instead of buying a house built by V.L.A. Administration. Are you 
in a position to answer that question?

The Witness: Part of the answer has already been placed on the record 
here with regard to the houses at Sarnia. The sale prices have been established.

The Chairman: I do not know if you exactly understand Mr. Warren’s 
question.

Mr. Warren: My question is this. Mr. Murchison has given the cost to the 
government for building the houses, but what did the house cost the veteran, 
the average veteran who has had five years overseas?

The Chairman: That has been given, for Sarnia.
Mr. Warren: He had better give it again.
The Chairman: For Sarnia it was placed on the record half an hour ago.
Mr. Warren: It is a matter of probably a couple of thousand dollars 

reduction.
The Witness: We just have the sale prices on this design.
The Chairman: He does not have it but it will be supplied.
Mr. Fleming: Would it not be simpler to give the conditional grant?
The Chairman: But these houses may have been lowered in price or the 

price may have been refixed.
The Witness: Yes, these are our cost prices.

By Mr. Fleming:
Q. That was the purpose of getting that statement of comparison costs 

to the director of the Veterans’ Land Act. Mr. Murchison you had experience 
on other projects of having to do repair work after the completion of the 
contract?—A. Yes.

Q. And you had some money appropriated by the Governor in Council for 
this very repair work across Canada, did you not?—A. Yes.

Q. Can you give the amount of the funds appropriated,?—A. I do not think 
it is broken down in the order in council as to how much is available for repairs. 
The first'order in council, I believe it was P.C. 1728, dated April 2, 1946, provided 
funds of $1,000,000, and that a committee comprised of Mr. W. S. Woods, the 
deputy minister, and Mr. Gordon B. Murchison, director of the Veterans’ 
Land Act be authorized to approve adjustments in cost on a basis in their 
judgment which represents reasonable sale value under the provisions of the 
Veteran.-’ Land Act, such adjustment not to exceed a total of $1,000,000.

Q. Do I understand that is the fund out of which provision was made 
for the reduction such as you have indicated on sheet 22?—A. Yes.

Q. Well, I was dealing rather with the appropriation for repairs.
Mr. Fraser: There was another sum voted, an amount of something like 

$500,000.
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Mr. Fleming: You better give us the whole story.
Mr. Warren: You mean for Mr. Murphy’s draughts under doors?
The Witness: There was a second order in council this spring.
Mr. Cleaver: P.C. No.—
The Witness: I have not got it with me. It provided an additional fund of 

$850.000 to complete adjustments on costs and also cover the cost of repair. 
Now I may te^l the committee in submitting that order in council to the minister, 
it was estimated that the sum of $350,000 would be required for repairs, and 
the balance of the fund it was estimated, would be required to complete adjust­
ments in the construction costs, the original construction costs.

By Mr. Fleming:
Q. Was there anything further done following that?—A. That is the way 

the situation stands at the moment. We are proceeding with the further 
adjustments as they come in, submitted to us by the treasury and the cost 
audit division. In the meantime we are proceeding to carry out the repairs 
necessary. When those costs are determined they will be absorbed under that 
order in council.

Q. Have you any figures on repairs to date, cost of repairs to date, and on 
the total expenditure on adjustments to date?—A. All I have are the estimates 
with wide variations in them. In the province of British Columbia the average 
estimated cost of .remedial work is only a total of $204.

Q. I was speaking of the total for the dominion. Have you any figures yet? 
—A. No, not yet. We have no official figures.

Q. Can you give any indication to the committee about these repairs as to 
what they have amounted to to date or what the estimates are that you have? 
You have indicated you had $300,000 voted?—A. $350.000.

Q. For repairs, in the proper sense of the word. Now have you any 
information as to whether that is going to be adequate for the purpose or not? 
—A. No.

Q. You have not any information?—A. I have no information as to whether 
it is adequate or whether it will be more than is required.

Q. Can you give any estimate to the committee as to what the necessary 
repairs will run to?—A. Without seeing the final figures from our district office 
I cannot. I have no reason to believe the costs are going to greatly exceed the 
cost put forward as the basis of the order in council.

Q. Which was?—A. $350,000.
The Chairman : Mr. Burton was on his feet but may I just put something on 

the record. I have asked the clerk to figure out an average on the figures which 
were read a moment ago concerning the devaluation between the actual cost to 
the director and the cost to the veterans. The devaluation amounts to 18-8 per 
cent in Sarnia, in the. eight houses we have been discussing here. The total cost 
to the director is established at $73,647 and the total charge asked from the 
veterans was $59,800 which means a devaluation of 18-8 per cent.

Mr. Boucher: I think that answer was subject to another consideration.
The Chairman: What do you mean ?
Mr. Boucher: First of all, the Sarnia project repairs are not all done yet.
The Chairman: No. What we have done is to take the relationship between 

what the houses actually cost according to report No. 22, and compare it with 
the revised cost as shown in table No. 7 and that indicates a reduction of 18-8 
per cent on the basis of the figures that were given to us.

Mr. Boucher : Oh, on the construction costs only.
The Chairman: Yes, in other words the difference between the prices at 

which they were revalued and their cost i- 18-8 per cent.
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Mr. Fleming: That would not have anything to do with the repairs.
The Chairman: No.
Mr. Fleming: Might I ask, Mr. Chairman, that we might be given some 

information as to the proportion or percentage of reduction in valuations? Could 
the witness get that for us when he is getting the other information?

The Chairman: Yes.
Mr. Beaudry: Mr. Chairman, I did not get Mr. Fleming’s last question ; his 

last question was addressed to the witness while he was turning his back to this 
end of the room.

Mr. Fleming: I have forgotten what it was; oh, yes, I asked him if he was 
in a position to assist the committee with information as to what the cost of these 
repairs, in the proper sense, might amount to.

The Chairman: Mr. Burton has the floor.
Mr. Cleaver: Just clearing up Mr. Fleming’s question, I would like to ask 

if the witness would file with the committee order in council No. 1278, and.also 
the other order in council with regard to the $850,000.

The Chairman: Yes, that can be put in as an appendix.
(See appendix “A”)
Mr. Fleming: Were there any others? Are those two the only ones?
The Witness: Just these two.
The Chairman: Now, Mr. Burton, you have the floor at last.
Mr. Burton : Mr. Chairman, in view of the fact that those of us who serve 

on the steering committee of this committee may have a little more difficult time 
on our hands in framing or wording our next report than we had with the 
preceding interim reports, I felt throughout the meeting yesterday and again 
to-day that certain points would need clarification in my mind in anticipation of 
what we may have to consider in the meetings of the steerng committee. May I 
say, Mr. Chairman, that is I had been given time to ask my questions last night, 
I would not have had so many of them. During the course of the night I thought 
of a number I would not have thought of last evening; but I would think, Mr. 
Chairman, that my night’s sleep was much better than that of my friend Mr. 
Fleming, because I have not thought of so many questions as he has thought of 
since we adjourned last night—

Mr. Flemng: I did not have a very good night, I can assure you.
Mr Burton : —as I see that his 20 minutes which he has anticipated has 

stretched into an hour and a half. However, in all fairness to Mr. Fleming may 
I say that he has asked some of the questions that I would otherwise have had 
to ask.

By Mr. Burton:
Q. Now, if I may have Mr. Murchison’s attention for a few minutes I 

would like to ask him if he ever, directly or indirectly, had anything to do with 
building construction known as Wartime Housing.—A. No, no.

Q. A\ hen did you or your department commence the construction of the 
first buildings under the V.L.A., work similar to what we were discussing at 
Sarnia?—A. There was a small pilot project built at New Westminster, 
commencing I believe in January 1945, merely to test out the cost of construction, 
but the main program was not launched until some months later, June, 
July and August of 1945.

Q. Then this project at Sarnia is one of the first that was undertaken?— 
A. Yes.

Q. Did your department endeavour to obtain advice from competent 
people in the various provincial services or otherwise as to the most suitable
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type of construction for any given locality, and especially as to safeguards 
necessary in meeting conditions peculiar to the various parts of the country?— 
A. Yes, sir. We consulted the leading architectural firms in the various 
provinces, and invited them to submit plans and specifications of houses which 
in their judgment could be built at approximately $5,000. These firms are all 
members of the Architectural Institute of Canada.

Q. But part of my question dealt with people in connection with various 
provincial services of the departments of the provincial government?—A. Not 
in connection with houses.

Q. In that way you did not approach the provincial departments that 
might be interested or in all probability would have some very informative data 
on hand.—A. Probably so. ÂVe did consult the national housing administration 
for the checking of the plans and specifications of the houses, and we approached 
all these various architects to get their approval of these plans and specifications.

Q. Now, if I remember correctly, yesterday you said in answer to a question 
that you had obtained the advice of some person—I forget his name—connected 
with the Ontario provincial drainage board or something of that nature; he 
was supposed to be an expert in drainage matters, and although he is 
connected with the provincial government he is not working for them.—A. He 
is, I think, associated with the Ontario Agricultural College at Guelph.

Q. You had no difficulty obtaining views from him at that time, did you? 
—A. We have just recently secured his services. We had no difficulty in 
obtaining him.

Q. AA'hat struck me as so funny yesterday was why you did not approach 
some people like those prior to the time that you started construction rather 
than after you had got into difficulties.—A. I can only explain it this way. sir; 
that in appointing a chief engineer of the department a great deal of reliance 
was placed on his reputation as a senior engineer and on the qualifications of 
the engineers who were appointed in each of the provinces to supervise con­
struction in each province. I felt administratively that we had taken reasonable 
precautions to employ staff with the necessary technical knowledge and practical 
knowledge to carry out this program ; and reliance, of course, was also 
placed on the reputation of large contracting firms whom we employed to do 
the work.

Q. I can understand that, Mr. Murchison ; but I want you to understand 
that I believe that in starting out with a project of the kind you people had in 
hand you should have had competent engineers in charge; but in what I still 
feel the question is, with that competent engineer and his staff under him, that 
in various provinces there are in the provincial services men who were familiar 
with local conditions; and in my opinion all that your engineer and his superin­
tendents would have had to do would have been to ask the proper people and in 
that way you could have saved yourself a lot of trouble and possiblv the country 
a lot of expense. But I do not want to carry this on any further; you say 
that you did not do it and that your department did not do it?—A. No.

Q. Now when you did obain the advice of this person who was referred 
to in regard to drainage work at Sarnia—yes, I understand his name is Warren 
(T understand he is no relation of the member of the committee by the same 
name)—it was suggested here yesterday that the high level of the water in the 
lake and the river would interfere with obtaining suitable drainage?—A No.

Q. You recall that at times the level of the water in the lake and the river 
was considered to be the cause of the difficulty, and your people that you had 
in consultation had difficulty in installing this drainage system.

Mr. Boucher: I think you arc going a little far in saying that the level 
of the water contributed to the difficulty.

Mr. Burton : The inference is there. What I was getting at is this. You 
have the river over here, and you have a rise of water in the lake and in
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the river, and it is going to rise in this sandy land quite a bit. I cannot for the 
life of me see that installing a drain under those conditions is going to take 
the water down to the river.

The Witness : That is not the report of the engineer.
Mr. Burton : That is not the report of the engineer, that is one point I 

would like to get definitely clear; that they have given you assurance now that 
there is not going to be any difficulty in draining that water off either to the 
lake or to the river.

Mr. Fleming: There is a difference of 19 feet there, is there not?
The Witness : That is right.
Mr. Burton : I am a farmer, Mr. Murchison, and we like to speak our 

own language. We farmers have an expression we often use when one of us 
pulls a “boner” “there is no use in locking the door of the stable after the horse 
has been stolen.” I think that your department should have in these various 
counties—now, in Sarnia you have your water table there which is causing you 
trouble. In other parts of the country there are certain conditions which will 
either make construction more costly or will have results not as satisfactory 
unless you take steps to meet those conditions; and so I suggest again, Mr. 
Murchison, that in future your department endeavour to make use of these 
services which I am satisfied will be only too willing to co-operate with you.

Mr. Murphy: Mr. Burton, may I point out that the engineer’s report to 
which he referred dealt with surface drainage only, not basement drainage. That 
is what the report dealt with, and I think it goes on to say that the general 
drainage of the project will of course simplify basement drainage by lowering 
the water table.

By Mr. Burton:
Q. I do not want to get confused in my line of thought. I have-a number of 

things floating around that I want to try and get a reasonable answer to and at 
the same time if possible help your department. It was with that object in mind 
that I made the suggestion I did a moment ago. You may act on it or not as you 
see fit, for whatever it may be worth. Yesterday in answer to a question by 
Mr. Fleming you stated that you had received reports from your officials that 
work on this Sarnia project was not in accordance with the terms of the contract 
and it later developed that these reports are complaints, by your inspectors or 
whatever you call them, given in the month of December 1946, when the houses 
should have been ready for final inspection in fact; and then you told Mr. 
Fleming a fen- moments ago that you had proper officers inspecting these houses 
during the early stages of construction.—A. Yes, we did.

Q. I should like you to explain to me why your inspector, whom you no 
doubt had on the job, did not advise you from time to time as to the unsatisfac­
tory workmanship and lack of suitable materials which were going into these 
houses. Can you explain that?—A. I am sorry I cannot. I must admit that 
has not been done. That was bad supervision on his part. I readily concede that.

Q. You are now quite satisfied that there was a need for your department 
to receive such reports?—A. Yes.

Q. Because surely you would not have gone to the extent of holding back 
the money from the contractor which would otherwise be due to him, and above 
all you certainly would not have gone to work and spent another $6,000 on the 
houses in this project if you were not now satisfied that the inspector who was on 
the job should have furnished you with better reports, more accurate reports 
than he apparently did.—A. Yes.

Q May I ask you what steps have been taken to rectify anything of that 
nature? Mind you, I am not much of an advocate of having inspectors inspecting 
inspectors, but I do believe that we need to have people on whom we can depend.
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and we also need in our various departments certain safeguards to see that 
accidents, if I may call them that, do not happen. Can you explain to me what 
steps your department has taken to rectify that?—A. The services have been 
discontinued of inspectors whom we found to be unsatisfactory in the performance 
of their work.

Q. That would be your first step?—A. That would be the first step. We 
have also accepted the resignations of two of the district engineers, and we have 
also accepted the resignation of the chief engineer at Ottawa.

Q. As to those who are going to act in their places, have you endeavoured 
to work out a system by which you will get better results from their work? 
—A. Yes, sir.

Q. We can have that assurance from you?—A. I can give you that assurance 
very definitely.

By Mr. Fraser:
Q. What qualifications do you require of these inspectors and engineers you 

have?—A. The chief of the construction division was an engineer of some 
standing. He had been in the employ of large construction firms for several 
years, and for some years prior to his employment with our branch he was 
employed by the dominion government in the Department of Transport. This 
gentleman was well known to the construction industry throughout Canada. 
On the selection board which dealt with his application for employment the 
technical adviser to myself was the president of the Canadian Construction 
Association, so we felt that we were getting the services of an engineer with the 
qualifications required to supervise quite a large program.

Q. Before you leave him was he a construction engineer on housing projects 
or on railway projects?—A. This particular engineer has supervised the construc­
tion of a large number of airport buildings right across the country from the 
maritimes to the northwest territories, including dwelling houses and offices and 
things of that sort on airports.

By Mr. Burton:
Q. I was going to ask you a question along those lines but in a little different 

way. I am satisfied that your department certainly would endeavour in the first 
place to get in charge of these various projects people who would have standing 
in their profession. I admit that sometimes even then you get a bum one who 
may let you down, but I am thinking of the man on the actual job. the man who 
is there every day. Possibly his salary is only sufficient to give him a decent 
living and just get by if he is careful. Those are the men who are in contact
daily with what is going on.—A. They arc the key men.

Q. The man who sits in the swivel chair by reason of the opportunity he 
has had over the years may specify and direct, and he is the man who is 
drawing down a big salary. He may have everything according to Hoyle, 
as we say, but the man who is right on the job and who is only getting a
living wage, if he is getting that, is the man who can see whether the contractor
is giving your department 100 cents on the dollar for your expenditure.— 
A. Quite true.

Q. I want to ask in the first place if any of these inspectors you had on 
the job knew anything about building. Were they architects? Had they had 
practical experience in building or were they just picked up from any walk of 
life?—A. They were architects, former building superintendents, foremen car­
penters, men of that class, the best we could get for the wages we could pay. 
We were competing with a great many other construction agencies in securing 
a staff. We had the unhappy experience on several occasions where we would 
get a good man at the salary we could pay him who would promptly resign 
on the invitation of some other agency and accept a higher salary than we 
could pay.
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By Mr. Murphy:
Q. Did you have any architects on the Sarnia project?—A. I believe the 

inspector was an architect?
Q. He was an architect?—A. Yes.

By Mr. Fleming:
Q. Do you know his name?—A. I think there is an item here I could put on 

the record on that.

By Mr. Burton:
Q. While they are looking for that possibly we might be able to proceed. 

May I ask if you have received any complaints from your officials with regard 
to unsatisfactory workmanship or lack of suitable materials being used in 
connection with any of your other projects?—A. Oh yes.

Q. From your inspectors?—A. Yes.
Q. Covering how many projects?—A. I can only give you a general reply 

to that, but I can say that out of all the projects we built in Canada there 
would not be one that was completely free of any objections by our inspector 
as to the type of construction on this or that minor detail. That is what he 
was there for.

Q. And as a result of those reports was there action to have the con­
tractors turn in a better job?—A. So far as we could.

Q. Would you say that this Sarnia project was the worst you had?
Mr. Cote: He has already stated that.
The Witness : I would say it was probably one of the worst.

By Mr. Murphy:
Q. I think he has the answer to that question. Have you the name of the 

architect on the Sarnia project?—A. The name of the inspector there was 
Methven.

Q. Was he a registered architect?—A. He had been employed with firms 
in Scotland as an assistant architect and draftsman, had been in business for 
himself in Chatham as an architect from 1912 to 1945.

Q. How long was he with you in Sarnia?—A. Taken on on the 19th of 
July, 1945, and left on the 11th of September, 1946.

Q. He was there during the total construction?—A. Yes.

By Mr. Burton:
Q. You will recall a few days ago you placed on the record of this com­

mittee the number and average cost of the houses constructed for your depart­
ment in the various provinces. That is touching on some of the questions that 
were asked you this afternoon. I have no desire to cover that angle, but there 
are other angles to that question that I should like to clear up. Am I right 
in saying that all of these houses in all the different provinces, from one coast 
to the other, were constructed by contractors for your department?—A. Yes.

Q. You have no construction crews working solely in your department 
under proper management?—A. Only on the carrying out of such repair work 
as may be necessary.

Q. Only on repair work, for instance, as developed in Sarnia where you 
felt.the contractor was not going to attend to it?—A. That is right.

Q. Outside of that in the actual construction of the houses you have no 
work crews who are working solely under your direction?—A. No.

Q. You will recall that yesterday you placed before this committee four 
different types of plans. You were also discussing those this afternoon. I
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noticed in going over the list of those plans and the houses that as to one of 
them—I forget the number because I am not interested in that respect— you 
gave no figure for the amount that plan had cost under construction in Sas­
katchewan. The other day you told us that your department under V.L.A. had 
constructed eighty or more houses in the province of Saskatchewan. You will 
recall that my colleague, Mr. Probe, expressed considerable satisfaction here 
to-day with the houses that had been built in Regina. You will also recall 
that the average cost of those eighty housing units in Saskatchewan, as I 
understood it at the time—and I wish you would correct me if I am wrong— 
was $5.100 per unit. Did I understand that correctly?—A. Did I give you the 
cost or the sale price?

Q. It was not the sale price. In fact, I do not think that even the land­
scaping entered into it. I understood you to say that it was for the construction, 
and that it was $5,100 per unit. As I size that up—and I will be quite interested 
in getting the figures that Mr. Fleming has asked for to-day—it would appear 
to me that in Saskatchewan it cost you $2.000 and up less money than what 
it cost you to build houses in the other provinces. Coming from Saskatchewan 
where we are accustomed to paying exorbitant prices for many things I was 
astounded to hear that your department could construct houses in Saskatchewan 
for $2,000 less than what they were costing you to construct them in other 
provinces inasmuch as we have to haul lumber a great distance, and cement has 
to be hauled a great distance. In fact, at Regina where you had a project you 
could not dig your sand out of the basement like we were told you could do 
at Sarnia, and make use of it. It has to be shipped in by railroad a con­
siderable distance. Consequently I was astounded to hear that you were able 
to get such a reasonable figure.

My colleague, Mr. Probe, and I are inclined to be more or less critical 
of some things that are going on, but he got up and told you that as far as 
he could ascertain these houses met with the approval of the people, the 
satisfaction of the people who were in them. I should like to ask you if you 
do not think that in view of the fact that the Saskatchewan housing corpora­
tion operating under the provincial government has provided considerably over 
500 living units for veterans and their families during the past few years that 
has not taken the pressure off as far as the demand made on you for housing, 
and that as a result your department had ample time to have these things done 
in a proper businesslike manner.—A. I do not think the activities of the 
Saskatchewan housing authorities to which you refer had very much relation 
to the small program we undertook in Saskatchewan. I believe we built 30 
houses in Regina, if my memory is right, 20 or 30.

Q. It is a total of 80 or a little better than 80?—A. Yes, that represents 
only a very small construction of the potential veterans demands for houses in 
the city of Regina. 1 know from my association with the inter-departmental 
housing committee that the problem in Regina of housing was handled more 
satisfactorily all around than in any other city in Canada. The local authorities 
there, particularly the city authorities, co-operated fully in supplying emergency 
housing? They did not set their sights too high. There were families there pre­
pared to move into small units which cost very little. Generally, they made a 
first class job. I just say the number of veterans we established in Regina was 
such a very small percentage of the total.

Q. Yes, but we must hear in mind, too, that the population as a whole of 
Saskatchewan is not to be compared with that of s me other provinces in which 
you have had activities. When you have co-operation from the various bodies, 
the municipal and provincial, I believe you can get a whole lot further, can 
you not? You had a provincial department of reconstruction there which took 
the pressure of ever 500 veterans and their families which would run into a
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number of people since they were all married. Then, the various cities were 
prepared to work not only with the provincial department but also with your 
department with the ressult you did not have the pressure, although you had 
just as many veterans and possibly more in percentage of population as you 
had in other provinces, you did not have the extreme pressure there of trying 
to move in before you had proper coverage over the cellar?—A. I think we had 
plenty of scolding about not allowing them in soon enough.

Q. In connection with this whole project at Sarnia and with your other 
projects which you have all throughout the country you expect to have a final 
return, as I understand, with in a month or so?—A. That is right.

Q. How many projects have you in operation in the dominion which are 
not yet completed, approximately?—A. I would say there was only a small 
percentage of them fully completed. A great many of them are very close to 
completion.

Q. May I ask one final question? How many units would that represent? 
—A. Roughly 2,600.

Q. That would be completed or nearing completion?—A. That is right.
2 660, I think is the figure.

Mr. Boucher: He did not give us any estimate of how many projects they 
had undertaken.

By Mr. Burton:
Q. Would you answer that?—A. We have undertaken the tidying up of 

every project.
Q. But how many throughout the country have you had?—A. 118, is the 

number. It varies from very small to quite large.
Q. Just a final question, Mr. Chairman, and I wish to thank you for your 

courtesy as well as the other members of the committee. I will be quite prepared 
to sit back and listen to their questions. One final question I should like to ask 
Mr. Murchison: in any other project have you found it necessary to hold money 
back from the contractor which would otherwise be due to him?—A. Yes.

Q. Are there some of them still unsettled?—A. A large number of them.
Q. Quite a number of them?

By Mr. Murphy:
Q. Mr. Murchison, just one question ; you gave the committee the total 

cost of construction of these eight houses as *72.647.39. Now then, just to get 
to the unit cost you add the repairs $6,073. Is that right?—A. We do not add 
anything to that. We just disburse that for these repairs and absorb it in the 
cost reduction fund.

Q. $6,073 should really be charged to that project except that you charge 
it to a departmental fund?—A. That is right.

Q. The other addition to that total is $2,050 for drains?—A. That is right.
Q. Any other additions to that?—A. Not to my knowledge.
Q. That totals;- Mr. Murchison, $80,770.—A. Does it? Have you added 

it up?
Q. Yes.—A. All right, I accept that.
Q. So. for the 8 units that makes $80,770 and the actual cost per unit 

then is $10.100 each.—A. If that is the total you have, sir, I have not added 
it up.

Q. ould you mind adding it then? Those are the figures you gave.— 
A. I do not think you have the right figure there. I think it is $6,100.

Q. What is the unit cost, then, for Sarnia, the average?—A. Si0.106.
Q. $10.106 average ; that does not include any departmental overhead?— 

A. Not a cent. «
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Mr. Cleaver : There has been a lot of discussion going on which we 
could not hear. May I ask that Mr. Murphy’s statement be put in the record 
so we will know what his questions were based upon.

The Chairman : The figures submitted by Mr. Murphy which were the 
basis for that question should go in.

By Mr. Beaudry:
Q. I asked you yesterday if you could supply me with the cubic footage 

of the housing involved and, perhaps, of all your houses?—A. The Humphrys 
No. 1 A, 13,800; Humphrys No. 4 A, 13,600; Moody Moore No. 3, 16.100; 
\ an Norman 3 B, 15.900. I should say, Mr. Chairman, whilst we have many 
other designs of houses, they are all in the same category of bungalow or 
story and a half houses and these cubic content figures Ï have given you 
would be representative of them all because there is not any great difference 
in the size of them.

Q. In other words your answer is that to calculate the cubic footage of 
the various houses throughout your projects, we would arrive at a fairly 
reasonable figure by averaging these four different plans. Do I understand 
your answer is to that effect? Have you got among the projects much larger 
houses and much smaller houses in cubic footage?—A. I should not like to 
give you an answer on that, Mr. Beaudry, that might be misleading. When you 
are dealing with construction costs of a bungalow and particularly one of the 
types of bungalow we built, you must use a substantially different cube rate 
than you would for a house.

Q. I am not asking about the rate, I am asking about the cubic footage.— 
A. I tried to say that those figures we have given are fairly representative of 
all the houses we have built.

Q. In other words, in answer to my question, you would say yes?—A. Yes.
Q. I am not trying to quibble, but you gave me 16,100 feet or rather, for 

the construction of 3B you gave me 15,900 feet and in going over the plans, 
I do not claim to be a mathematician, I arrive at a figure of 16,800. Would you 
care to look over the plan?

Mr. Cleaver: I wonder if Mr. Beaudry would mind asking the witness 
on what basis he worked the cubage, whether he took in the full basement?

The Witness: These cube rates were worked out by fully qualified 
architects so I accepted them as being correct.

By Mr. Beaudry:
Q. I will take your figure as I assume it will be a satisfactory one. In 

the earlier part of your testimony you gave us a list of the houses built in your 
various projects throughout the country. I will not read it but it started off 
as British Columbia, 576 houses at, I assume an average cost of $5,479. Then, 
do you recall, without referring to the testimony, if the figure I am quoting is 
the cost figure or whether that was the sale price to the veteran? You gave a 
schedule and I will recall it to you. I have it down here but, unfortunately,
I have not the heading. British Columbia, 576 houses at an average of $5,479. 
Then, you gave Alberta and so on?—A. I would have to see the statement 
I have made. I do not recall whether I identified those as the sale prices or the 
cost prices. I am sorry my memory is not sufficiently sharp for that.

Q. Would Mr. Fleming who asked the question be able to help us?
Mr. Fleming: I can help you to this extent that the information was 

given at the meeting of July 4th, it was not yesterday or to-day. All I had 
time to take note of when I was on my feet was those were completed. Whether 
it was the completed cost of construction or the cost to the veterans, I do not 
know. 1
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Mr. Cleaver: Mr. Gladstone has a note on it and his heading is that 
these figures are exclusive of land and exclusive of land development.

By Mr. Beaudry:
Q. Then, they are building costs. It is important that I get a fairly 

categorical answer on it. We will work on that assumption and I think the 
assumption is correct, that this is what you call your complete cost exclusive 
of land and exclusive of other pieces of development which have been put on. 
Would you tell me if the houses in Sarnia, the eight houses under discussion 
now, are included in this break down and if they are, whether they would be 
included under the heading of London, 223 houses, $6,047 or Toronto, 321 with 
an average of $6,359?—A. They would be included in London.

Q. Those were included?—A. They were included in London.
Q. And from memory, we would also assume this does not include the 

land, landscaping and other charges which have been put down to service, this 
would be the actual construction cost.

The Chairman: Mr. Beaudry, I have here the evidence of July 4th, and 
the witness said, on the figures which you have just quoted, that those are 
average costs by provinces distributed across the dominion and that it did not 
include land or land development, so it is only really the cost of construction.

Mr. Beaudry: Later on, at the same meeting—I am sorry it is necessary 
to ask because we have not got the printed- evidence and I am trying to refresh 
my memory—but there was a quotation given that I was led to believe, until 
earlier today, represented the sale of their eight houses to the veterans under 
discussion in Ontario beginning with $6,047 ; $5,493; $6,359; $5,493;—

Mr. Murphy: What was the first figure.
Mr. Beaudry: $6,047.
Mr. Murphy: Was that the sale price to the veteran?

By Mr. Beaudry:
Q. I think so. I have not got the table and I have not got the record. 

Perhaps I can clarify my question by asking you if these prices were the prices 
charged to the veteran after his grant had been made by the Department of 
Veterans Affairs?—A. That would be after.

Q. In other words that would be the capital left for him to amortize over 
a period of twenty five years?—A. That is right.

Q. Yes, that is the price to the veteran, that would be amortized by the 
veteran over twenty-five years?

Mr. Fleming: But his $600 down payment comes off that?
Mr. Beaudry : Is that to be added to that?
Mr. Fleming: No, the $600 down payment comes off and the balance then 

remaining is amortized.
Mr. Beaudry : In other words the house on which we have a price quoted 

of $6,047, would be sold at a price of $6,047 plus $600?
Mr. Fleming: No.
The Witness: No, no, $6.047 is the original amount. A down payment of 

$600 leaves a balance of $5,447 to amortize.
Mr. (.leaver: And what would be the monthly amortization payment?
Mr. Beaudry : We will come to that.

By Mr. Beaudry:
Q. Now would you please tell me this. I believe you said, and I am not 

sure whether you quoted it for all of these houses at the same price, but it was
93313—3
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quoted in the ease of Mr. Cleave’s home, that the monthly cost of amortization 
was #27.12 or $27.13. Would you refresh my memroy on that please?—A. I can 
get that for you very quickly but I have not got it worked out in the monthly 
payments for eacli of these houses.

Q. So far as I recall it was quoted for one house, but would this be the 
standard figure, or would the price vary from each house? If so, would you tell 
us how you arrive at the amortization? Is it merely the yearly interest and 
the capital divided by twelve?—A. These things are all worked out by the 
standard printed amortization tables. As a very close guide to the monthly 
payment if you will multiply the amount to be amortized by six and divide 
the result by twelve and you will get the monthly payment because the interest 
is at 34 per cent. I will give you an illustration of it in a moment sir.

Mr. Cleaver: Do you not carry that six out to two or three decimal 
points.

The Witness: It is 6.012 I think, but I just used the six. It does not make 
very much difference. The monthly payments on $5.447 would be very close to 
$25.57 a month.

Mr. Beaudry : For the purpose of simple reasoning, or simple questioning, 
you would divide your capital by twelve times twenty-five to arrive at your 
capital. Your procedure of multiplying by six point something might work out 
for your purposes, but it does not tell us the fashion of arriving at the figure.

The Witness: As I say, Mr. Chairman, we have amortization tables at 
all rates of interest, and for different periods, which provide the formula under 
which you establish the monthly rate required for a given amount of money 
nver a given period of time if the rate of interest is so and so.

The Chairman: May I say this, in connection with what Mr. Beaudry was 
asking. The monthly payment terms in Sarnia are already given as $27.11: 
#24.34; $28.66; $29.39; $27.15; $28.48; $28.40. Those were the payments for 
the Sarnia project.

By Mr. Beaudry:
Q. In other words would you say throughout the country, and in Sarnia, 

the veterans purchased houses valued by the department at anywhere between 
$6,000 and $8.000 for a cash consideration of $600, plus a monthly rental fee 
for twenty-five years of anywhere between $24 and $28?—A. Yes, anywhere 
from $17 to $28.

Q. Well in the case of Sarnia it was $24 to $28.
Now yesterday regarding the progress reports Mr. Murchison, I believe 

you gave the date of your last progress report as sometime in December. I am 
referring to the progress report in which there was a list of complaints.

Mr. Fleming: That was a final report.
Mr. Beaudry: But would you call it a final report. The last report was 

in August and the final report was in December. You had a list of complaints 
there, presumably made by your inspector, or through the inspector or whoever 
was the authority in the field. It was a list of defects or complaints which 
appeared to him should be reported in December.

Mr. Fleming: We do not know the date, the witness was to find out.
Mr. Beaudry: Are we to assume it was in December?
Mr. Fleming: It was one of the things the witness was to find out.
The Chairman: It was attached to a letter dated the 18th of December.

By Mr. Beaudry:
Q. Had these reports come to your knowledge at the date in December?— 

A. They came to the notice of our Toronto superintendent and our district 
construction superintendent but they did not come to my personal knowledge.
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Q. It would have come to the knowledge of your departmental officer in 
December. Presumably reports were made to you on the strength of similar 
reports up to this time, and my question is, would these reports be filed at 
the source by some official?—A. Yes.

Q. Was it normal procedure to have an official carry on from the beginning 
of these progress reports until the conclusion?—A. I did not catch that.

Q. I ask was it normal procedure for some officer to follow on and 
approve from the time of the first reports until the end?—A. That was the 
procedure.

Q. In other words the same individual was responsible for the final reports 
and complaints?

Mr. Jaexicke: No, he was fired by that time.
The Witness: The inspector on the Sarnia project resigned. I believe 

I said he resigned in September when the contract work was deemed to be 
completed. The final inspection report was made by Mr. Gumming and Mr. 
Harvie, different people all together.

Mr. Murphy: Was that the architect you referred to?
The Witness: No, the architect I referred to was the inspector on the 

job from July of 1945 until September, 1946, I think.
Mr. Beaudry: In other words the man who led you or led your depart­

ment to make the payments to the contractors in June, or more specifically 
in March, then in May, on the 17th of June, on the 12th of August, on the 6th 
of September, was not the man who was there when the final report had to be 
made?

The Witness: No, he had resigned.
Mr. Jaexicke: Was he asked to resign?
The Witness: I could not say as to that, Mr. Jaenicke.

By Mr. Beaudry:
Q. Would it be a fair question to put to you as head of your department 

to ask if the obvious discrepency—I say obvious because I assume there was 
a discrepency between the final report and the progress report showing these 
things incomplete and badly done, is it a fair question to ask if the particular 
individual filing the progress reports would have been at fault, or is at fault, 
for that discrepancy?—A. Not necessarily, sir. The inspector who was in charge 
of the works reported things as he could see them. I think it is recognized 
by construction people that there are minor defects which will come to light 
three or four or five months after a house is completed that cannot be seen 
and which really do not exist at the time of the last inspection.

Q. I will refer to one aspect that has been brought up. I have no experience 
in construction but this may be one of the cases you are referring to now. 
I will speak of the floor in the living rooms, and perhaps elsewhere, which 
apparently had large nailheads protruding, and which had to be sanded, once, 
twice, or three times. Would that be the type of defect apparent at the time 
of the progress report in June or July or, in any event, at the time of the 
last progress report?—A. Yes, I should say they should have been apparent 
then.

Q. Well, therefore, would not that imply that since this defect existed in, 
let us say September to settle on a date, at the time of a report to you in 
December by another official of your department they would have existed just 
as glaringly?—A. I think that is reasonable.

Mr. Boucher: May I ask a question here?
Mr. Beaudry : May I complete my questioning?
Mr. Warren: Follow up the nail question?

93313—3è
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By Mr. Beaudry:
Q. Well is it fair to assume we can place the blame for that report, or 

the negligence in not reporting of these defects on, the individual who was 
personally in charge as inspector?—A. Yes, I think that would be a fair stand 
to take.

Mr. Fleming: That is Mr. Methven.
Mr. Boucher : Is it- not a fact you have no information as to when these 

progress reports were filed, or what date, they were filed and what the contents 
of them were?

The Witness: I think we have those here.
Mr. Beaudry : I am not sure this could be interpreted that way because 

in another answer you said that no payment could be made through the 
financial set-up of the department without progress reports having been made.

Mr. Warren : May I ask a question?
Mr. Beaudry: If you will bear with me a few moments, I will be very brief.
Mr. Warren : I just want to ask a question about the nails in the floor.

By Mr. Beaudry:
Q. You mentioned a moment ago that your plans do not vary a great deal 

in giving capacity and therefore that the four houses under discussion at Sarnia 
represent a fair average of the housing plans undertaken throughout vour 
project; would you tell me, was the Sarnia project among your total scheme of 
projects, your project of eight houses, in itself one of your smaller projects or 
a normal or a large one?—A. One of the smaller ones.

Q. One of the smaller ones; would you say that these eight houses built 
on these four plans from among twenty odd plans, represent the larger or more 
expensive, or the smaller and less expensive types or were they a fair average?

Mr. Murphy: If I might interrupt?
The Chairman: Just a moment, please; do not distract the witness until 

he gives the answer.
The Witness: Yes, I would say they were a fair average.
Mr. Murphy : I was just going to say that there is a report showing the 

number of times each plan was used.
Mr. Warren : I want to ask about the nails in the floors.

By Mr. Beaudry:
Q. You would say that it is a fair average?—A. A fair average.
Q. In other words, these four houses were selected, when these four plans 

were selected for a project of eight houses there was no thought of making this 
project one of your better ones—I am talking about materials and cost of the 
houses—or one of your cheaper ones; it was, in your opinion, a fully, normal, 
average cross-seetion of any of your projects?—A. Yes.

By Mr. Jaenicke:
Q. Did you say that the plans were all prepared for houses to cost $5,000? 

—A. That was the original intention.
Q. I mean, when they were drawn up by the architects?—A. Yes.

By Mr. Beaudry:
Q. And your answer to me, Mr. Murchison, is—?—A. I forget the question,

I was interrupted.
Q. My question was did these eight houses in your opinion represent a 

fair cross-section of any one of your other projects in the country?—A. Yes, I 
would say it would.
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Q. You mentioned also, in answer to Mr. Fleming earlier, that by order 
in council an amount of some $350,000 has been appropriated, I think you said 
for repairs?—A. Yes, but it is not so stated in the order in council. The order 
in council provides an additional sum of $850,000 to complete the work of cost 
adjustment and to pay for the cost of repairs, but it is not broken down in the 
order in council under separate headings.

Q. What would you call your cost price and your cost adjustment, would 
that be for a cost over the original estimates?—A. Not necessarily ; it would 
be the cost which in judgment of a responsible committee administering the 
order in council did not represent value ; winter conditions, delays in deliveries 
of the materials resulting in increased cost, excessive watchmen’s charges 
brought about by prolonged delays in construction, also transporting labour 
to and from the job, cost of heating the houses during the winter when still 
under construction ; these are things which do not reflect value in a house and 
they are all important items of cost.

Q. Yes; but at the time of the signing of the contract I understood you 
earlier to state that it was standard practice to sign contracts on a cost plus 
basis?—A. Yes.

Q. And at no set price?—A. The only set price was the management fee 
which varied from $180 to $225.

Q. In these cases it is a relatively negligible payment for my purposes.
I am trying to arrive at what stage would indicate the amount of money that 
constituted excess cost.— A. They must proceed on a basis of valuation. As I 
pointed out to the committee earlier today, we established a formula based on 
cubic foot values.

Q. Would that amount be represented by the amount of money indicated 
when you deduct the present value from the original cost to the director?— 
A. That is right.

Q Did you also say that from that amount of money—that figure of 
$350,000 sticks in my “crop”—is that the figure you stated as being approxi­
mate amount needed for repairs?—A. That is the amount I estimated it would 
cost the department to take care of the repairs on these various properties.

Q. That is from the list you have recently submitted of 2,555 houses?—A. 
That is right.

Q. In other words, an average of—I haven’t figured it out exactly—it would 
be an average of somewhere around $120 per house?—A. It works out at about 
that.

Mr. Warren : Might I ask my question now, Mr. Chairman?
Mr. Beaudry: I have three more questions, Mr. Warren ; then you may 

go straight after your nails.

By Mr. Beaudry:
Q. This is another question which may or may not be in order and 

which I would like to refer to the chairman, the committee and perhaps to the 
witness. From what has been said before is it your impression as director of 
the board that at times, because of resignations and perhaps dismissals—that 
does not reflect on your attitude—your department in its construction project 
has been badly served by subordinates?—A. There has been evidence of that, 
sir.

Q. Would you call it frequent evidence, or unusual?—A. I would say fre­
quent, in the province of Ontario.

Q. Frequent in the province of Ontario?—A. Yes.
1 he Chairman: It is now two minutes to six o’clock. I suggest that we 

adjourn until the noise across the river stops.
Mr. Beaudry : If I may make a pledge for myself similar to what others 

have made before, I will try to confine myself to five minutes.
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The Chairman: We will meet again at eight o’clock to-night.
The committee adjourned at 6 p.m. to meet again at 8 p.m.

EVENING SESSION
The committee resumed at 8.00 p.m.
The Chairman : Gentlemen, we have a quorum so I think it is quite in order 

to proceed. Mr. Beaudry had the floor when we adjourned.

By Mr. Beaudry:
Q. Mr. Murchison, I do not know whether it came within your sphere 

at the time, but could you tell me if you had any experience with construction 
previously, let us say, to 1939?—A. Personally?

Q. Not necessarily-—well, answer yes or no as to personally first.—A. No.
Q. Did you have any knowledge of conditions in the building trade 

throughout the country as of that time? I am not necessarily speaking of 
specific, technical knowledge but were you interested in some fashion in con­
struction figures, values and such at that time, previous to 1939?—A. Not of 
this type of construction.

Q. In any type of construction?—A. In the administration of the Soldier 
Settlement Act we disbursed a great deal of money by way of loans for 
permanent improvements on farms but that, of course, would be on a much 
more moderate type of construction than is the case under the Veterans’ Land 
Act small holdings.

Q. It would not embody so much house building as other types of con­
struction?—A. Small houses, improvements to existing buildings, the con­
struction of barns and so on.

Q. Does that experience extend over some years previous to 1939?—A. I 
should say it extended from 1919 when I joined the staff of Soldier Settlement 
up until 1939.

Q. That, therefore, placed you in perhaps what I might call a favourable 
position to have some knowledge about building, the building position, cost and 
such, over a period of 20 years?—A. It would be of some practical appreciation 
in construction problems. ✓

Q. I have to come back to a topic which is not pleasant to you, to me and 
probably not to the committee. The last question I asked you before we 
recessed at six o’clock was to try to ascertain from you, whether in your opinion, 
you perhaps had been badly served by subordinates through your department, 
particularly regarding the project at Sarnia?—A. Yes, I feel we were poorly 
serviced.

Q. You were poorly serviced—I am excluding the contractor temporarily— 
by some men in the employ of the department?—A. Yes.

Q. Would those men have been employed on a temporary basis, more or 
less?—A. Yes.

Q. Their employ was necessitated by the unusual project contemplated 
by your department?—A. That is right.

Q. Did you have any difficulty at the time, I assume that this project 
along with other projects was actually contemplated about the beginning of 
the ycaf 1945; am I right?—A. Yes.

Q. Did you have any difficulty in getting men for what was temporary 
occupation at that time?—A. Yes, we had considerable difficulty.

Q. Not only did you have difficulty in getting men, but did you experience 
difficulty in getting the calibre of men you would require for the kind of money 
you could afford?—A. Definitely.

Q. Was that typical of general conditions throughout the country or was 
it perhaps more typical in the building trades? That mav not be a fair
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question to ask because I may be told that is a matter of opinion. Was there 
a resurgence of activity in the building trade at the start and in the middle 
of 1945 or did you find that in your experience?—A. There very definitely was 
a resurgence of building activity of all kinds.

Q. You mentioned earlier it has been your experience and that of your 
department that in some instances perhaps frequent, you did not qualify that, 
you found it difficult to retain qualified men you had in your employ on account 
of competition you had from independent builders?—A. Yes.

Q. Was that on an extensive scale in your experience, so far as your 
department is concerned?—A. Yes, I would say it was fairly extensive.

Q. Outside of personal qualification did you have any other specifications 
as to the employment of men on, I assume, a temporary basis?—A. We followed 
the practice, so far as we could, of confining our temporary appointments to 
veterans of either World War I or World War II.

Q. Did you actually secure any veterans?—A. I could not answer that 
question without a search of the personnel records.

Q. Did you go through sessional paper 135 (i), which we dealt with earlier 
during this testimony? I am referring particularly to question 8 and its answer. 
Question 8 is,

Who were the government inspectors in each of the above areas and 
what were the terms of employment of each inspector?

This paper has already been produced as evidence. Dealing further with 
the qualifications because of a notation there, in the light of your answer; you 
have five inspectors in the Sarnia project and apparently only one was a war 
veteran, Mr. Thibaudeau. There is another one, Mr. Southwick, who is referred 
to as since leaving the service. I assume that is your service and not the armed 
forces?—A. Yes.

Q. Do I understand from your answer that preference was definitely given 
in connection with this work in your department to veterans?—A. Yes, if we 
could find veterans whom we felt had the qualifications.

Q. Did you ever have complaints from contractors or from other sources 
to the effect your method of selection either could, generally speaking, or did, 
definitely exclude some contractors who could have built for you at reasonable 
prices either equal or cheaper prices than those for which you have built, or on 
the terms upon which you have built?—A. I do not recall specific instances, sir, 
but I do recall representation having been made that these houses in this or 
that locality could be reproduced at a cheaper cost.

Q. That is not the question.—A. That is the best I can do for you.
Q. My question is, at the time of allotting contracts or subsequently or at 

any time, were representations made to you by serious contractors, I mean 
contractors you would consider as builders or other sound sources which might 
have led you to believe that you might have excluded some contractors unjustly? 
—A. No. I do not recall anything of that nature, the way you put it.

Q. The way I put it—you almost seem to qualify it. I will try to simplify 
my question. Has it come to your knowledge that anyone has complained to 
the effect that your method of allotting contracts or the terms of allotment to 
those contractors was detrimental to people who were in a position to try to 
acquire these contracts themselves?—A. I would have to answer no to that.

Q. As the director of the Veterans’ Land Act you were, I assume, the final 
authority in a great many cases under the deputy "minister and the minister?— 
A. Right.

Q. And in matters of administration, I assume that the major part of the 
work was left in your hands?—A. Quite.

Q. And a great many decisions had to be taken under your own 
responsibility?—A. Yes.
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Q. Did you ever have to make a decision, as to whether it was imperative 
in the light of your knowledge of conditions and requests for housing, where 
items of quality had to be sacrificed for celerity or speed?—A. Yes.

Q. Yould that quality apply to material or did it apply to both material 
and the type of workmanship that in some cases you employed?—A. It would, 
apply to materials, because labour is an unknown factor until it has been put 
to use.

Q. So you are telling me that in some cases, in order to provide housing as 
soon as possible, and since it was needed badly, you deliberately sacrificed 
quality in order to obtain speed?—A. I deliberately approved the purchase of 
the best materials available on the grounds of speed.

Q. \\ ith the knowledge that it was not necessarily the best material 
obtainable, if you had had all the time in the world to wait for the material?— 
A. That is right.

Q. Can you clarify that statement by saying to the committee, and I know 
you cannot give a very definite answer, but can you tell the committee the 
value of the element of time in regard to those decisions you had to take? In 
other words how much time saving was implied by your decisions as against 
another possible decision to wait for what would be first class, satisfactory, top- 
notch material?—A. First of all, sir, there was no guarantee available at that 
time that any first class materials would become available, in view of the 
over-all demand for supplies which existed. We were faced with the time 
element in relation to the demobilization of the forces and the problems that 
would very definitely arise on the return of the veterans from overseas who 
wished to set up their home establishments.

Q. In other words, influencing you in your decisions beyond your know­
ledge and capabilities was the fact that the end of the war at a particular date, 
prompted you to build houses as soon as possible in order to give lodgings to 
those men coming back?—A. That was the purpose.

Q. Without giving regard to quality which you would normally consider, 
and I am excluding the price element?—A. Yes.

Q. Do you read the newspapers?
Mr. Fleming: Is that a relevant question?
Mr. Beaudry : You are a practising attorney Mr. Fleming?
Mr. Fleming: Yes.
Mr. Beaudry: Well I am not, and you will find the relevancy if I may ask 

another question.

By Mr. Beaudry:
Q. Did you read the newspapers between the period of January, 194Ô, and 

September, Î945?—A. Yes.
Q. Did the newspapers express, at that time, to your knowledge, or did 

you read at that time, newspaper reports from various sources including this 
parliament, that it was felt generally, throughout the country, that housing 
had to be provided at the earliest opportunity? This is not perhaps, a news­
paper commentary but it is a corollary. Housing, and perhaps not the very 
best quality, but that which was better than just a harbour for people coming 
back from overseas, had to be provided at once?—A. I cannot give you the 
names of the newspapers or the precise dates, but I would agree that material 
of that nature appeared in the newspapers.

Q. I am not asking you to give me the names of the newspapers. My 
question is this. You are a human being like the rest of us and you have 
been dealing with returned men now for over twenty years, almost thirty years.
I would take it that it would be natural that you would lie influenced, whether 
you chose to be or not, by the general pressure of the public throughout Canada,
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by pressure from parliament, and that which may have been brought about by 
these agencies dealing with returned men or men about to return, and that 
through that fact it would have been fairly normal for you, as it would have 
been for perhaps any member of this committee, perhaps to take measures 
which in the normal course of events over a period of twenty years of peace 
time and other normal conditions would not have been undertaken. That 
was the purport of my question, that is the way you answered.—A. That 
is right.

Q. Thank you. Now, apart from that and including that are you satisfied 
as director of the Veterans’ Land Act that all necessary precautions were taken 
to ensure that in the light of what was previously said all measures were taken 
and all precautions were taken to ensure that all veterans got as speedily as 
possible the best possible lodging available at the earliest date possible and 
at the price to this country which was not unduly great considering the circum­
stances. It is always possible—

Mr. Fleming: Mr. Chairman, you have made a ruling—
The Chairman: May I have your point of order, first, please?
Mr. Fleming: Mr. Beaudry was asking a question. I would prefer to let 

him complete his question first. «
The Chairman: No. Go ahead.
Mr. Fleming: I wanted to take objection on a point of order to that 

question because it is just putting a lot of evidence in the mouth of the witness. 
That is not questioning, that is just putting the whole story into his mouth 
and asking him to say, yes.

The Chairman: On this point I might say—
Mr. Beaudry : Excuse me, that is not what I was doing. I was coming to 

a question.
The Chairman:—that the chairman has been lenient in that he has allowed 

members from all sides to put a lot of comments in the mouths of witnesses and 
ask them to agree. And I think I may say further that all members of the 
committee have more or less done that. They have made general statements 
and then asked the witness to say, yes or no. That has been a fairly general 
practice and I do not think I should make an exception with respect to one 
member.

Mr. Boucher: I think you have to recognize that there is a limit to it 
somewhere.

The Chairman: But it is very difficult to draw the line.
Mr. Boucher: I think this is going too far.
The Chairman: We have listened to questioning which has been very legal 

and very nicely done but along the same lines and under similar conditions. 
Mr. Fleming did that and I did not interrupt him. He even answered for the 
witness. He would make a statement and then he would ask the witness to say 
yes to it. I am just following the same practice in allowing Mr. Beaudry 
to put his question in similar form, and I think I should at least let him go 
ahead until we know exactly what he is leading up to. I think that we should 
let him continue.

Mr. Fleming: Mr. Chairman, I think you will agree that in all cases 
where I was concerned I was simply reading from a document, the witnesses 
own documents, and asking him to confirm what I read.

The Chairman: Yes, and at times you would remind him while not 
quoting the evidence, did you not say this or did you not say that, without 
quoting directly from the evidence ; until finally he would say, I did this or that.

Mr. Boucher: I think, Mr. Chairman, you realize it is a matter of degree; 
this is a little greater degree than the other cases.
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Mr. Beaudry: If I may satisfy both Mr. Fleming and Mr. Boucher; if I 
appear to do it badly it is simply because I have not got the fine legal training 
that some of my hon. friends on this committee have. My question purported 
to be this—

Mr. Fleming: Ask a question, don’t make statements.
Mr. Beaudry: I am asking a question and not making a statement; and 

when you will hear it I think you will agree that it is a fair question, one that 
does not attempt to bring any influence to bear upon the witness. I am trying 
to find out if, because of his own experience as director of the Veterans’ Land 
Act he is satisfied that every necessary precaution has been taken to ensure the 
full discharge of his duty to the country and to the veteran whom he is trying 
to help. I do not think there is anything leading in that.

The Witness : I do, sir.
Mr. Murphy: He says there is nothing leading in that.
Mr. Jaenicke: Is this a court of law? If you are a prosecuting attorney 

or a defence counsel you could not ask any leading questions on examination, 
but I suppose on cross-examination you could ask anything you liked. This is 
a committee, it is not a court of law. I think we are doing all right.

Mr. Burton : It is a committee of enquiry.
The Chairman : I do not think we should impute motives to anyone. Let’s 

carry on.
Mr. Beaudry: I have a very few questions to ask Mr. Murchison. I am 

sorry if I appear to be a little long. I am expressing my own opinion about this 
to the effect that very few of us have a completely clear picture of the purport 
of every one of the figures which have been submitted to us and I would recap­
itulate as briefly as possible some in order to ask you one question which perhaps 
will be my last question. At some stage of the evidence it was stated, I believe, 
it was also stated on the sessional paper, a copy of which Mr. Murphy was kind 
enough to lend to me, that the cost of the eight houses built at Sarnia and under 
discussion totalled $61.661.68. Pardon me, I am referring to sessional paper No. 
1351. This is the answer to a question reading as follows—

Mr. Boucher: What is the number of the question?
Mr. Beaudry: That is what I am trying to ascertain. I am sorry, I am 

referring to the wrong answer. The question is: What was the total cost of each 
home in Sarnia township, and the answer was : $7,759 multiplied by two; $7,928 
multiplied by two : $7,081 multiplied by two and $8.200 multiplied by two. I am 
sorry, I am wrong, I thought the figuring was down here. I think they come to 
almost the same figure, about $52,000. This is evidence in answer to a question 
put to him by either Mr. Murphy or Mr. Fleming. We arrived at the total cost 
—I assume that total cost included every single item that has been discussed 
before this committee—a total cost of $10.106. I am trying to establish in my 
mind—

Mr. Murphy: That is per unit?
Mr. Beaudry: Yes. I am trying to establish in my mind how we arrived 

at an earlier cost of some $7.374 per unit.

By Mr. Beaudry:
Q. What costs have been added to this $7,300 to bring it up to $10,100 in 

round figures, to make up that full construction cost?—A. There would be added 
the cost of the main roads, water and drainage.

Q. Pardon me, if you will go slowly. We have already the assessed cost of 
the land by your figures at $187?—A. Yes.

Q. Then, the next item is roads, which was —A. $281.
Q. And $163 for water mains?—A. Yes, $285 for grading.
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Q. Yes.—A. $142.85 for water connections.
q Yes.—A. $79.75 for driveways.
Q. Yes.—A. $145 for landscaping.
q Yes.—A. To those totals should be added the cost of repairs which I 

think was placed on the record at $6,160 for the eight houses.
Q. Was that *778 each?—A. $770.
Q. Yes.—A. I believe the contract cost for the installation of the project 

drainage was $2,050.
Q. But divided by 43; if I recall your evidence correctly that is to be 

divided by 43.—A. That is right.
Q. We had better leave that for a minute. That is a part of the evidence 

I am quite willing not to include now because there are not 43 houses. I am in 
full accord with that. We will leave that for the minute. Will you pass on to 
the next item? You are down to repairs, $770.—A. That is all. The only 
remaining item is the cost of drainage.

Q. We have reached, between land, road, water main, grading, water 
connections, drivewavs, landscaping and the additional repairs, the sum of 
$1.686.—A. No.

Q. Perhaps I added it wrongly—A. $10.000—
Q. I am sorry, it is $1.282.—A. $1,284.53.
Q. We have reached $2,052 added in all cases to the other costs?—A. Yes.
Q. In the case of the two homes at $7,759 we go to $9,811. We are still 

$300 odd below, taking it roughly. We are exactly $285 out on our total cost 
assessed at $16.106. How do we arrive at that $285?—A. I think your difficulty 
there is that you are developing your totals on individual cases while the figures 
developed this afternoon were based on a total of $62,335.10 for the house costs 
plus $1.487 for land, $2.248 for roads, $1.311.44 for water, $2,280 for grading, 
$1,142.85 for water, $638 for driveways, $1,160 for landscaping. Adding that 
total up it comes to $72.643.39 for the eight houses. To that was added $6.160 
for repairs and $2,050 for drainage, and the grand total was divided by eight 
to get the average for the eight houses.

Q. This may,be very boring and repetitious to a great many, but if I take 
your original construction cost of $62,000—

Mr. Boucher: Even calculating as you have figured it it brings the total 
to almost $10,000. In the answer to question 4. one-sixth of the total would 
make $7,307 per house, and then you add $2,052. That is $9,352 per house 
even on your figures.

Mr. Beaudry : We have arrived at a total for land, roads, grading, water 
mains, driveways, landscaping of $1,282 multiplied by eight, plus repairs of 
$770 multiplied by eight or a total for both of $16,416 added to $62,000 for 
construction which gives us $78,000 odd. We reached this afternoon a full 
total of $80,000 odd. In other words, your $2,000 odd for drainage is now 
being divided eight ways but at the same time it may be divided by 43 to 
arrive at the actual figure.

The Witness: That is right.

By Mr. Beaudry:
Q. This sounds almost like quibbling because we are not going to change 

the total a great deal but without going into the full figures we arrive at a 
figure of. somew'here around $7,800 average for the cost of construction for 
the eight houses in Sarnia excluding land, excluding everything else. I am 
placing myself in the position of a man who has a plot of land and has had 
landscaping or does not choose to have it landscaped. He has a plot of land 
on a street where the water mains are already installed. I am trying to arrive 
at this answer from you, and I hope Mr. Fleming will not find this leading.
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A man in that similar position would spend $7,800 to erect his home, to erect 
a comparable home, if you want to put it that way, according to those figures. 
Am I assuming properly? To put it differently under other conditions if you 
went to a different type of land located elsewhere and differently developed 
you could have erected that same house under the same conditions with the 
same contractor for roughly $7,800, or could you?—A. If we did not pay the 
capital cost of putting in roads and the water mains the cost to us would have 
been substantially less for the project.

Q. In other words, in that price of roughly $7,800 for the construction 
of the house there are some costs which are not actually costs of house con­
struction. Is that your answer?—A. No. I have gone over this over and over 
again.

Q. Let us understand one another.
Mr. Fleming: Look at the statement here. You will find it much easier. 

The whole thing is on the chart. Come on up here.

By Mr. Beaudry:
Q. I think I will ask Mr. Murchison’s help. My cost of construction, 

or the one I had in mind is the original one of $62,000 divided by eight.— 
A. There it is there.

Q. And it includes—A. None of this.
Q. It includes none of that?
Mr. Fleming: For the record do not say “none of this”, because you are 

pointing to something.
Mr. Beaudry: Perhaps this might be kept off the record. It is all in the 

record already. I am only asking for an explanation.
The Witness: The figure of $62,235 for the cost of erecting eight houses 

does not include the cost of land, roads, water and drainage.

By Mr. Beaudry;
Q. You did mention to me a moment ago that erecting these same houses 

on a different plot of land already developed, already supplied with sewers and 
with water, would have brought this price down. I do not think you under­
stood my question correctly. Would it have?—A. No.

Mr. Murphy: What price?
Mr. Beaudry : The price of $62,235.10.

By Mr. Beaudry:
Q. In other words, this is the actual labour, if you want to put it that way, 

and—A. And materials, that is right.
Q. Is it $62,532?—A. $62,235.10.
Q. I suppose $7,800 really is close enough. I made a statement, Mr. 

Murchison, yesterday I think, to the effect that the cost of these houses has 
been roughly—and I made the statement in the light of other figures you 
submitted to us—has been roughly $2,000 higher than had been the average 
throughout the rest of the country. Also in keeping with your figures I find 
that the total of 2,555 houses you built throughout the country on various 
projects divided into the cost gives us as against this 777 and a fraction a 
figure of $5,962?—A. Could I make an explanation here, Mr. Chairman?

The Chairman: If you wish.
The Witness : I do not recall what appears in the transcript of the 

evidence covering this statement, but if the words “adjusted costs” do not 
appear in the transcript it should have.
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By Mr. Beaudry:
Q. In connection with which cost?—A. With the average costs by provinces 

for the construction of 2,381 houses.
Q. The adjusted costs. Does the word “adjusted” mean following necessary 

repairs or following other revision?—A. Following revision of costs and writing 
off some of the costs. Now, I would like to make that very clear to the com­
mittee that the average costs before there was any write-off were as follows: 
576 units in British Columbia ; average cost $5,999.62.

Q. That was the original cost?—A. Yes.
Q. I am sorry if I am interrupting you perhaps rudely, but I do not 

think we have to repeat the whole list of costs. If you will tell us—
Mr. Warren : I would like to hear them.

By Mr. Beaudry:
Q. It would appear it is roughly in this particular case in British 

Columbia—it is $500 higher than the revised cost?—A. Approximately so.
Q. Is that the rule throughout the nine provinces on an equivalent basis?— 

A. No.
Q. If you give us figures would you give us the motives for those revisions? 

—A. Because it was the judgment of the committee dealing with it that that 
was the amount by which those costs should be reduced to bring the selling 
price down to a fair figure to the veteran.

Q. Now, when you say that the cost should be reduced, in what fashion 
can these costs be reduced except at the contractor’s expense?—A. That was 
the purpose of order in council 1278 which I put on the record this afternoon 
and therefore that $1,000,000 was provided for that purpose.

Q. You are not reducing the actual cost ; you are transplanting.—A. That 
is right.

Q. —the source of payment?—A. That is right.
Q. You are not reducing the cost.
Mr. Boucher: He is recounting the fair price.
Mr. Beaudry: Are you a witness?
Mr. Boucher: Is not that correct?
Mr. Beaudry : That is not what I want to know.

By Mr. Beaudry:
Q. I assume that when you gave us the costs in British Columbia of 

$5.479—you^ call it now a revised cost—I assumed throughout that that was 
the cost. Now you say it is not the cost ; it is a cost determined apparently 
by taking from some fund so many dollars which would contribute towards 
paying for the actual cost but without showing the cost.—A. I do not think that 
is the situation.

Q. I will put my question differently. How much does the contractor 
get paid for building the houses which you now assess have cost $5,407? Did 
he get $5,479 or $5,979?—A. $5,999.62.

Q. That is the cost?—A. That is the cost.
Q. In the light of that—
The Chairman: In the evidence at page E-6 of July 4 the witness 

answered: “These are the average house costs by provinces and by districts.” 
We were assuming that those were the costs. Now you want to give us a list 
of costs. That was the revised cost.

Mr. Fleming: The adjusted price.
The Witness: If I did not use the words “adjusted cost” T should have, 

because I was quoting from a schedule here showing those costs after they had 
been adjusted.
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By Mr. Beaudry:
Q. Let us forget the veterans and the occupants, and let us think of the 

amount of money which is involved by the taxpayer to pay for these houses. 
I assume you have got those ligures? Ï do not want the revised figures. What 
did these houses cost in actual payments from somebody’s treasury?—A. The 
total cost?

Q. No. Give me these revised figures or these figures before they were 
revised in the same order that you gave us the revised figures. What about 
British Columbia’s 576 houses?—A. British Columbia : 576 units; cost, S5.999.62. 
Alberta: 280 units; cost, $5,378.01: Saskatchewan: 80 units; cost, $5.961.61. 
Winnipeg: 240 units; cost, $6,508.07. London: 128 units—

The Chairman: On the record here it says 223 as the number of houses 
built.

The Witness: That is an error in the transcription, because I have the 
figures in front of me. 128 units: cost, $7,319.54.

By Mr. Beaudry:
(j. If the figures are of that type I certainly cannot keep on with my 

questioning and I certainly cannot arrive at a decision in my mind. I do not 
know how the committee can unless we get some revised figures and postpone 
the present meeting until some other date.

Mr. Burton : Mr. Chairman, on a point of order, I think Mr. Beaudry 
causes a considerable amount of that trouble himself, because here is a case 
where the witness has an opportunity of correcting any errors that might 
unavoidably have crept into the record, and we want to know these figures, 
and he stops him half way through.

Mr. Beaudry: I will correct that. I did not mean to stop this. I mean 
to say this. We are getting a completely new set of figures to make up our mind 
on. Definitely, 1 want to get those figures; I do not want to curtail their pro­
duction; but what I am trying to point out first for Mr. Burton and for every 
other member of the committee is that we are dealing now, or will be when the 
production o these figures is completed, with a problem altogether different rom 
what it was until the production o those figures was begun.

Mr. Boucher: We will not know which set of figures to rely on.
Mr. Beaudry: I am not trying to prevent any figures being shown ; I asked 

for ‘ these figures myself.
The Chairman : Let us get on with Toronto. Toronto, 664 units. $7.316 07; 

Ottawa, 148 units, $7,345.27 ; Montreal, 130 units, $8,688.38; Saint John, for 
the Maritime provinces, 135 units, $6,687.84.

Mr. Beaudry: I am in duty bound to point out to the witness there are 
a lot of discrepancies between the figures he gives now and the ones we were 
given previously which are on the record. In London, the figure I took down 
was 223 homes and now the figure is 128. For Toronto, I have 721 and now 
the figure is 664. For Montreal the original figure was 147 and now it is 130. 
For the maritimes, the original figure was 140 and now it is 135. It is 
absolutely impossible, with due deference to every member of this committee, 
to try to bring some reasoning to bear on the problem. I find myself in 
difficulty with two entirely different sets of figures.

Mr. Fleming: This statement Mr. Murchison is now reading from must 
have been prepared at a different time from the statement he gave us yesterday 
which includes some other figures involving these adjustments but, apparently, 
it was not prepared at the same time as the statement he gave us yesterday 
because, as Mr. Beaudry says, there is a difference in the number of units.

The Witness: What are the total units?
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Mr. Beaudry: The total units according to one report with which I was 
dealing were 2,555 homes made up of 576 for British Columbia ; 280 for Alberta ; 
80 for Saskatchewan ; 240 for Manitoba; London, 223; Toronto, 721 ; Montreal, 
148; Ottawa, 147; and the maritimes, 140.

The Chairman: That is all in the evidence of July the 4th.
Mr. Fleming: That must have been taken from a later statement than the 

one Mr. Murchison is reading from now.

By Mr. Jaenicke:
Q. Mr. Murchison, were there some units which were not adjusted? Were 

they all adjusted?—A. No, there were a number of projects where there was nu 
adjustment in costs.

Q. Maybe these later figures just show the ones that were adjusted?— 
A. The purpose of this statement was to disclose the average house cost in the 
various provinces.

The Chairman : That was given, but as to the previous figures they 
should have been qualified by the word “revised”.

The Witness: I would have to ask my chief treasury officer who is here 
if this statement which is in my book now is a revision from the statement I 
quoted on July 4th. This is a statement which was pasted on the outside 
cover of this book.

Mr. Wurtle : Gentlemen, if I may speak on this thing, when we got the 
transcription the other day I noticed the word “adjusted” was out. I drew it 
to the director’s attention and suggested that that word “adjusted” should be 
put back. We then revised this list leaving out those houses which had not been 
before the committee. That is the reason for the discrepancy in the number 
of houses.

Mr. Boucher: What do you mean by “houses that had not been before the 
committee”?

Mr. Wurtle : Before the committee composed of the deputy minister .and 
the director. Certain of these projects have not progressed to the stage where 
the prices could be adjusted.

Mr. Boucher: According to that then, no set of figures we have is 
correct? You have not given us a complete set of figures on all houses on all 
projects according to payments made or incurred debt?

Mr. Wurtle: Mr. Boucher, the reason for that is—
Mr. Boucher: Is that right?
Mr. Wurtle: That is not right.
Mr. Boucher: Do you mean to say that the statement the witness gave 

us to-night includes every house on every project across Canada?
Mr. Wurtle : No.
Mr. Cleaver : How would it be if we listened to the witness and let him 

answer?
Mr. Wurtle: This statement is prepared in this way because it went on to

give the adjusted costs. Now, it was unfair to put adjusted costs in Imre for
those ones which had not been before the committee.

Mr. Cleaver : I think that explains it quite fully.
Mr. Jaenicke: It is just as I thought it was.
Mr. Wurtle: Those are the actual costs less the cost of land and land 

development.
Mr. Cleaver: \ ou obviously cannot show adjusted costs until the adjust­

ments have been made.
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Mr. Boucher: V e did not ask for adjusted costs, we asked for actual costs.
Mr. Warren : I asked for the actual cost to the veterans.
The Chairman: Well, let us carry on.
Mr. Beaudry: I do not know whether I can carry on from here. I am 

sorry and I apologize. If I wanted to try to find out how many hours of labour 
at 60 cents per hour have gone into putting in a floor, what figure would I 
work with?

The Chairman: Do you care to carry on with your examination?
Mr. Beaudry: So far as I am concerned, definitely not. I will have to 

ask permission, I do not know whether it is in order but I hope the committee 
will be kind enough to do it, I will have to ask for a few moments to go over 
these figures again.

The Chairman : Well somebody else may ask questions in the meantime 
and we will give you the floor later. Mr. Cleaver was supposed to be next.

Mr. Cleaver : Mr. Jaenicke said that he had about five minutes question­
ing that he would like to get on with.

The Chairman: Very well.

By Mr. Jaenicke:
Q. Mr. Murchison, I wish to ask about an answer you endeavoured to 

give but you were stopped. You said there was a certain amount of agitation 
around Sarnia that nobody should move into these houses. I think you ought 
to tell us about that.

Mr. Warren : A very good idea.
The Witness: Well it is common knowledge among our construction people 

and our administrative officers at London and Toronto, that Mr. Cleave has 
been very active in agitating against the signing of any agreements, and bring­
ing pressure to bear in order to have a reduction made in the price of the house.

Mr. Fleming: Mr. Chairman, in all fairness, I hope you realize this is 
hearsay evidence and you have ruled out hearsay evidence.

Mr. Jaenicke: I do not think we exactly ruled it out and I was just 
asking what the agitation was.

By Mr. Jaenicke:
Q. Now you also mentioned a report of Colonel Parrish, is that right?— 

A. Yes.
Q. In the report a number of defects in the different units in all Canada 

were included?—A. Yes.
Q. When was that report made?—A. In March.
Q. In March of this year. Have all those defects now been rectified?— 

A. Not all, but they are moving rapidly to completion.
Q. Now have you had any refusals and if so how many, from other parts 

of Canada, similar to this refusal in Sarnia respecting the signing of the con­
tracts?—A. We have had a somewhat parallel experience on a small project 
on Vancouver Island known as the Braefoot project. We have had a similar 
situation at Windsor, Ontario.

Q. Just those two places?—A. We had some objection for a time on 
Charleswood at Winnipeg, but I understand that situation has cleared up.

Q. And arc the inspections now being made by the committee mentioned 
by the other gentleman, for the purpose of adjusting the prices to the veterans, 
made at the request of the veteran or at the initiative of your department?—
A. They are made on our instructions.

Q. Pardon?—A. They arc made on our instructions.
Q. Without request from the veteran?—A. No.
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The Chairman : May I say Mr. Jaenicke, the papers here show that the 
inspection on which Colonel Parrish reported was made from January 7, 1947 
to March 12, 1947.

Mr. Fleming: You mean that is the period they covered in their tour 
across Canada.

Mr. Jaenicke: You will note, Mr. Chairman, that I have not overstepped 
my time.

Mr. Cleaver: Mr. Chairman, is it your wish that I should carry on now?
The Chairman: I have no wish. Mr. Boucher asked for the floor but you 

had asked earlier, and if you want to leave it to him now it is all right.
Mr. Cleaver : Well I am quite ready to go on.

By Mr. Cleaver:
Q. I would like to trouble Mr. Murchison, for some general information 

leading up to the commencement of this project of building houses or small 
holdings for veterans. Would you please give the committee a general historical 
background leading up to the decision to commence work?—A. I might say in 
my capacity as director of the Act, almost from the time of its enactment by 
parliament, it became my duty and responsibility to try and foresee some of 
the problems that would confront us in the administration of this Act immedi­
ately upon the cessation of hostilities. It. was a standard practice during the 
war that all branches of the service had what is known as Auxiliary Sendees, 
and Chaplain Sendees, through which a great deal of counselling was done by 
way of explaining the various measures being developed by Canada for the 
rehabilitation of the veterans. In the month of January, 1944, I was asked by 
my minister of that time, the Honourable T. A. Crcrar, Minister of Mines and 
Resources, to proceed overseas with a view to making it clear to the counselling 
sendees in the forces in England just what the Veterans’ Land Act program 
was all about, because it appeared from reports coming back to us that there 
was some misconception in the minds of certain counselling services. That trip 
was made. It was part of my official duty during the war to take an active part 
in the administration of Dependents’ Allowance Regulations by way of an 
investigational service, and through that activity it was very abundantly clear 
to me that there were many men in the forces, who, prior to their enlistment, 
had no homes of their own.

Q. I do not like to interrupt Mr. Murchison, but you have been standing 
all day. Would you rather sit?—A. I am all right for a little while, sir. This 
Act itself was given a great deal of study by an important subcommittee for a 
period of approximately two years before it was enacted and I can modestly 
say I was one of the originators of this whole Act.

Q. Would you care to tell us the names of the subcommittee?—A. Mr. 
W. S. Woods, the present deputy minister, was chairman of the subcommittee. 
Mr. McGowan, the superintendent of immigration and agriculture for the 
Canadian National Railways; Dr. Barton, the deputy minister of agriculture 
for Canada ; Mr. Joslyn, head of the land department of the Hudson Bay 
Company ; Mr. McLean, president of Canada Packers, Mr. D’Arcy Leonard, 
president of the Dominion Mortgage and Loan Association, Dr. MacLean, 
chairman of the Canadian Farm Loan Board, Mr. Fred Frier, treasurer of the 
Great West Life Insurance Company, investment division, of Winnipeg. There 
may have been one or two more but those are the ones I recall.

The Chairman: There might have been Jean Baptiste Couture, of St. 
Charles de Bellechasse. I just put that to you because it may look better in 

* the record to have a French name there, representing the French people in 
Canada.

93313—4
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The T itness: I would like to assure the chairman there was a very- 
worthy French Canadian on the committee.

The Chairman : I did not hear the name and that is why I interrupted.
Mr. Cleaver: This committee made an extensive study, you were telling 

us.
Mr. Burton : Did you have a dirt farmer on there?
The Witness: We had a lot of people with experience in land settlement 

matters, sir.
It was with that background of knowledge and appreciation of the housing 

situation, as it would be immediately on the conclusion of hostilities, that it was 
decided to undertake a program of constructing 3,000 units in advance of any 
specific application by veterans. I may say at that point the purpose of this 
program was not to meet the needs of veterans who had served in Canada, 
but it was designed specifically to meet the emergent needs of the boys who 
were serving overseas. That being so, we decided to put the program into 
motion before these boys returned. However, on the 10th of May, 1945, before 
this program was really launched, before these large contracts were entered 
into, an Order in Council, No. P.C. 3409 was enacted on the 10th of May, 1945. 
This order reads as follows:

Whereas by Order in Council P.C. 10797, dated November, 26, 1942, 
a Housing Co-ordination Committee was established and its duties 
specified;

And whereas the Minister of Finance and the Minister of Reconstruc­
tion report that, in view of recent legislation and of the changing functions 
of departments and agencies of the Government concerned with housing 
and shelter, it is desirable to reconstitute the said Committee and to give 
to it such duties and powers as will enable it to co-ordinate and correlate 
more effectively the activities of the various departments and agencies 
of the Government concerned with matters affecting housing and the 
use of building materials, to deal more effectively with problems of 
planning and coordination which may arise in the future, and in particu­
lar to further government policy to assist in providing essential housing, 
accommodation for war workers, members of the armed forces, dependents 
of members of the armed forces, and veterans and in producing and 
procuring materials and equipment for the construction of houses in the 
post war period; ■

Therefore, His Excellency the Governor General in Council is 
pleased to revoke and doth hereby revoke Order in Council P.C. 10797, 
dated November 26, 1942.

Mr. Boucher: Mr. Chairman, may 1 rise to a point of order; after all, 
are we sitting here in the dying days of this session to hear the whole long 
story of how we came to embark upon the Veterans’ Land Act and building 
construction program. I think we should proceed with this Sarnia episode, 
not with government policy.

The Chairman : I do not think we should go into any speech that is going 
to last an hour; and on the other hand it is, I think, a pertinent question, that 
we should know the background of how this program has been brought about. 
We have been told that it was one of the first projects that came soon after 
the decision to do it. I think we can dispense with some of the detail.

Mr. Boucher: The witness is reading a big file.
The Chairman : We can dispense with some of the details. I think it is - 

all right to have the background of what has been done.
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Mr. Cleaver: And in order that the members may not be unduly alarmed 
about time wasting I want to draw to the attention of the committee the fact 
that I started my examination at 9.15. I do not need to remind the committee 
of the time that has already been spent by the members of the committee.
I would like to say to Mr. Boucher that I will take full responsibility for the 
questions which I ask in this committee, and I do not welcome interruptions.

Mr. Boucher: I will raise a point of order any time I wish to raise it. 
Mr. Cleaver : If you want to waste time that is your business.

By Mr. Cleaver:
Q. You may go on, Mr. Murchison.—A. This is the text of the order.

1. (a) A committee, to be known as the “Inter-departmental Hous­
ing Committee” is hereby established and shall consist of the following:
(i) the Deputy Minister of Finance;

(ii) the Chairman of the Wartime Industries Control Board, Department 
of Munitions and Supply, and the Co-ordinator of Controls, Depart­
ment of Reconstruction ;

(iii) the Chairman of the Wartime Prices and Trade Board;
(iv) the Deputy Minister of Labour;
(v) the Director, National Housing Administration, Department of 

Finance;
(vi) the Director, Veterans Land Act;
(vii) the President of Wartime Housing Limited; and
(viii) such other person or persons as may be recommended by the com­

mittee and approved by the Minister of Finance and the Minister of 
Reconstruction. ,

That was the make-up of the committee. I will not read the full order. 
I will just refer to the purposes of that committee:

5. (a) This committee shall co-ordinate and correlate the functions 
and activities of all departments and agencies of the government in 
matters relating to housing accommodation with a view to ensuring united 
and co-operative action by such departments and agencies for the 
utilization to the best advantage of available housing accommodation 
and supplies of materials, facilities and services required for the con­
struction or other provision of new or additional housing accommodation.

(6) To this and such departments or agencies, before undertaking 
any project involving the construction or other provision of new or 
additional housing accommodation, the cost of which will exceed one 
thousand dollars, shall submit to and receive recommendations from 
the committee on such project. Such departments or agencies as may 
be approving, permitting or licensing the construction or other provision 
of new or additional housing accommodation shall, before doing so, sub­
mit to and receive recommendations from the committee on an entire 
program or on each specific project.

Q And, did that committee meet and study the problem as instructed by 
the order in council?—A. It did.

Q. And as a result of their meetings did this interdepartmental committee 
which is composed of our leading men in war work and in the work of govern­
ment; did that interdepartmental committee approve of the project which was 
by way of building these 2,500 homes for veterans on small holdings?—A. That 
is right. In the minutes of that committee of Wednesday, May 23, 1945, there 
is the following item:

Mr. Murchison presented a report on housing activities under the 
Veterans’ Land Act (copies distributed) and on his motion the committee 
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recommended that a program for the building of 3,000 houses on small 
holdings be proceeded with immediately, on whatever basis Mr. Murchi­
son considered most favourable. Mr. Murchison drew attention to the 
effects of higher costs upon his program and intimated that it might 
be necessary for him to implement section 21 of the Veterans’ Land Act 
which authorizes the director to sell at less than cost.

Q. Then, having received the approval of this very able interdepartmental 
committee to this project, and having proceeded with it, would you not give 
the committee some clear idea as to how the different members of the organiza­
tion were acquired.

Before going into that, I understand that Mr. Beaudry has arranged to 
complete his examination and is ready to proceed now, so I would defer my 
questions.

Mr. Beaudry: That is very kind of you, Mr. Cleaver.

By Mr. Beaudry:
Q. To come back to your earlier testimony, would you tell me if the 

following are correct construction costs of houses throughout your project in 
Canada will be taken by this committee to be as follows ; and this committee 
will take that construction cost as including the cost of the construction of the 
houses, labour, material, contracting supervision, but no other costs such as 
cost of land, roads, water mains, grading, water connections, driveways, land­
scaping or repairs; is my premise sound? In other words, I am going to quote 
to you a list of houses, divided by provinces, showing against each the amount 
of the house, by provinces, the average actual construction cost not the revised 
cost, but the actual construction cost based or claimed or stated to be the 
amount due 'to him by the various contractors who have built these projects 
and these figures will not include the cosfs of land, roads, watermains, grading 
watermains, driveways, landscaping or repairs; and the first figure will be for 
British Columbia, an average amount of cost, $5,995.62. Is my premise right?— 
A. Well, sir, the cost figures which have been supplied to me by my treasury 
officer; the above cost figures include house connections from sewer and water 
mains, driveways, septic tanks where no sewers are available, hydro insulation; 
and, landscaping in the following districts: Toronto. London, $145 per house ; 
in Saskatoon, $50 per house and Winnipeg, average $17 per house. Now, with 
that qualification that $5,999 represents the cost of the houses and the services 
I have described according to the information supplied to me by my chief 
treasury officer.

Q. I am very sorry, Mr. Murchison, but what procedure could we follow 
or could you follow to tell this committee what the average cost was for labour, 
material, and superintendence on the project? I refer to what constitutes to 
the average layman, and in the normal sense of the word, the cost of building a 
house without thinking about landscaping or other improvements not connected 
necessarily with the building of a house. I refer to a place where you do i,ot 
have to spend $500 to see to it that your house gets water. My question is what 
procedure can you follow to tell us what this house cost,—A. It would involve 
a complete analysis of all of the cost schedules in the possession of the cost and 
audit division containing all payrolls, all invoices for materials, and things 
of that sort.

The Chairman: We do not want to go into that. We have had seven sets 
of figures. We would like to know how much each of these houses costs. Do 
not tell us we have to go through all the figures.

By Mr. Beaudry:
Q. If you want we will go through the motions. In the figure of $5,999.62, 

the average cost of construction for 576 houses in British Columbia, how much
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has to be taken off in order to arrive at the actual construction cost? If you 
will itemize them we will take them down.—A. I will have to turn that over to 
my treasury people.

Mr. Jaenicke: I do not see how you can do that in five minutes.
Mr. Beaudry : We have asked all along for those figures. We have met 

with two sets of figures. In my opinion the original set of figures—and I assume 
it is the opinion of the majority of the committee—for 576 houses in British 
Columbia at an average cost of $5,479 I think led all members of the committee 
to believe that that was the figure for construction, for labour and materials 
and that other figures for landscaping or connecting sewers or watermains 
were to be added to that. After my earlier question we come now to a state­
ment by the witness that this figure of $5,479 is not the average cost but is the 
cost scaled down. Then we come, to the actual construction costs of $5.999, 
but then we are told that includes more than the house. I do not think it is 
unfair to the witness or to the committee to try to find out what the houses cost.

The Chairman: I suggest since we have the officer responsible here it 
might be better to call him to give the figures. I do not want to take up the 
committee's time but I do not think any of us can arrive at a sensible con­
clusion otherwise.

Mr. Wurtle: I think I can answer Mr. Beaudry’s question pretty quickly. 
These costs we got out here attempt to bring out what it would cost on an 
ordinary city lot where roads, sewers and water mains already exist. That 
may not possibly be true with the small item of landscaping in three provinces.

Mr. Beaudry: Is it possible for you to determine approximately, not 
necessarily actually, what amount is involved in each one of these sets of ten 
or eleven figures for the expenditure you now mention? In other words, what 
amount should be deducted—I will take British Columbia—from the amount 
of $5,999.62 shown as the construction cost? How much approximately should 
be deducted from that and be allocated to other expenditures than the actual 
materials and labour and the general cost of building a house from the ground 
up?

Mr. Wurtle: These are the costs that it would cost to put a house on an 
already developed subdivision where roads existed, sewers and water mains.

Mr. Beaudry : You say the cost it would cost. We are not dealing with 
estimates.

Mr. Wurtle : These are the actual costs. We have eliminated what we 
call land development costs. Land development costs arc those costs that are 
normally a local improvement charge on a property, such as roads, sewers 
and water.

Mr. Beaudry : In other words, do I interpret your answer to mean that 
this cost of $5,999 is the cost that it would have cost your department under the 
same contract, with all other things being equal, to build that same house— 
forgetting the cost of the land—on one very well developed street in the 
centre of Vancouver?

Mr. Wurtle: Yes, with the one exception possibly of landscaping which 
is small. I have those figures. We have them right here if you want to take 
them off.

Mr. Beaudry: Give me the approximate figure as to how much of that total 
of $5,999 we, the members of the committee can take in our minds as being 
the cost for the extras, if you want to call them that, which add to your cost of 
building out of town rather than in town. How much money is involved, 
$200, $300, $400, $500?

Mr. Wurtle: The cost extra out of town?
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The Chairman : If I may say so I think what Mr. Beaudry means is from 
the $5,999 what do you have in mind should be taken from it to reduce it? 
You said landscaping. Is there anything else?

Mr. Wurtle: Landscaping is not in British Columbia. There is land­
scaping in Toronto, London, Saskatchewan and Manitoba only.

The Chairman: So for Vancouver $5,999 is the figure.
Mr. Beaudry: For instance, what amounts have been added to your actual 

construction costs to arrive at your total of $5,999? Have you those amounts 
broken down? I am only trying to arrive as close as possible at the actual 
construction figure.

Mr. Wurtle: I can develop that very quickly. The cost of roads, for 
example, in the province of British Columbia for 576 houses was $203,000.

Mr. Beaudry: Have you those figures broken down?
Mr. Wurtle: No, I am sorry, I have not.
Mr. Beaudry: From that original starting figure can you approximate the 

amount? Would it be $500 per house? Perhaps Mr. Murchison can help you 
answer that.

Mr. Wurtle: It would take a long time to divide that because I have 
also got to take into consideration that there were 369 vacant lots as well. 
It cost $203,000 for roads.

The Chairman : Let us leave aside all the questions that have been put 
up to now. May I ask Mr. Beaudry exactly what it is you want to know?

Mr. Beaudry : I will put it in a very funny way. I am trying to find 
out how much it cost to build these houses.

The Chairman : It is $5,999.
Mr. Beaudry: No, that represents the house plus the roads.
The Chairman : Let us wait for the witness to answer that. Is the $5,999.62 

for the house?
Mr. Wurtle: That is the house including, where it is required, a septic 

tank.
The Chairman: That is just the house and a septic tank?
Mr. Wurtle : Where no sewers are available. Where hydro installation

is—
The Chairman : Let us take Vancouver. You must know what this $5,999 

is. Is it the cost of a house or if it is more than the house what should be
deducted to arrive at the cost of the house? That is what Mr. Beaudry wants
to know.

Mr. Gladstone: You have the connection to the street.
The Chairman : Let us try not to complicate it.
Mr. Wurtle: It is very difficult to explain it. It is what it would cost 

if you brought a contractor in to put a house up on one of these subdivisions.
Mr. Beaudry : That is not what I am asking. Let us suppose you erect 

a house on a street where there arc water mains, where there is electricity and 
everything else. You ask that same contractor that you employ, using the 
same materials and the same labour, to put up a house. How much of that 
$5,999 would it cost to put up that house?

Mr. Wurtle : It would cost him $5,999 with a fully developed place where 
he had his sewers, his water and his road. It would cost him $5,999.

Mr. Beaudry : That is my original question. The $5,999 is the con­
struction cost of a house without including development costs, if I may term 
them that.
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Mr. Wvbtle: That is so. It includes a small sewer connection you have 
got to take from your lot line into your house which you would do in any case. 

Mr. Beaudry: Which you would do in any case.
Mr. Fraser: And the hydro connections?
Mr. Wurtle: Yes.
Mr. Beaudry: Which you do in any case. There might be a small amount 

of landscaping?
Mr. Wurtle: Not in British Columbia.
Mr. Beaudry : But throughout the rest?
Mr. Wurtle: Throughout three others only.
Mr. Beaudry : Would the amount be relatively negligible?
Mr. Wurtele : I have the exact figures for landscaping.
Mr. Beaudry : Please give them to me.
Mr. Wurtle: In Toronto and London you deduct $145 per house. 
Mr. Beaudry : In Toronto and London—
Mr. Wurtle: In the Toronto district and the London district.
Mr. Beaudry: Out of 792 you deduct?
Mr. Wurtle: $145. Those are the exact figures.
Mr. Beaudry: In round figures we would come to $12,000?
Mr. Wurtle: In Saskatchewan you deduct $50. In Manitoba you deduct

$17.
Mr. Beaudry : According to these figures, from the total cost which comes 

to $15,000,000 and some odd—I am submitting this because it will be useful 
at a later date—there will he a total of somewhere around $131,000 to be 
deducted and to be divided by 23,000 houses—

Mr. Wurtle: In these figures we have spoken of?
Mr. Beaudry: These figures total roughly $131,000.
Mr. Wurtle: That is the landscaping?
Mr. Beaudry: Yes.
Mr. Wurtle: Yes.
Mr. Beaudry : Now I wish to continue examining Mr. Murchison.

By Mr. Beaudry:
Q. Mr. Murchison, I will preface this with the hope that we will finally 

arrive at a set of figures according to your second listing of costs in British 
Columbia, Alberta, Saskatchewan and Manitoba. You have already listed 
these. You built 2,376 houses?—A. The total I have here is 2,381.

Q. I am not going to quibble about four. Your total cost has been 
$15,911,661. This is going to throw out my computations by $130,000 for land­
scaping which I had not foreseen in the light of earlier answers. In other 
words, the construction cost of these 2.376 or 2,381 houses has been $6.694?— 
A. XX hat was the figure you calculated for deductions on landscaping?

Q. You have 792 multiplied by $145—I said roughly $125,000.—A. XVc will 
call it that. .

The committee took a short recess.
On resuming—

The Chairman: Gentlemen, shall we resume the work of the committee?
By Mr. Beaudry:

Q. Mr. Murchison, we have arrived at a set of figures supplied by you 
showing a total cost for 2,381 houses throughout the country divided by prov­
inces as per your earlier statement, a cost exclusive of land and land develop-
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ment such as water mains, sewers and so on but including service connections, 
septic tanks and such where sewers are not available, of $15,914,707, less land­
scaping charges as pointed out a moment ago for three different projects amount­
ing in total to $144.960, bringing the total cost for 2,381 houses, the construction 
cost, to $15,769,747 or a per unit cost of $6,623.13. That is from'-the figures 
available and is correct, I assume?—A. Yes, I believe Mr. Wurtle has just 
worked those figures out for you.

Q. We have had an earlier statement that the four houses included in the 
Sarnia project and described by you by plans as IA, 4A Moore—I forget the 
right names, and I believe 3B, represent a fair average as to the type of con­
struction which has been made by you throughout the various projects in the 
country both as to average cost of the group and as to average cubic content?— 
A. I do not think I made that statement, Mr. Beaudry. I made a statement 
regarding Sarnia, that our costs there were one of the highest.

Q. 1 am sorry, I did not imply by my question that those four houses for 
Sarnia, that the cost of building at Sarnia was an average cost. I implied that 
these four houses in Sarnia were, in the total picture of the group of houses 
that you built, of the 20 or 24 plans you have, that those four particular plans 
represent an average as to the average cost over the country and as to the 
cubic content, across the country among these 20 or 24 houses?—A. Not as to 
average cost, sir. They represent an average picture o the type o house built on 
the projects.

Q There again perhaps you misunderstand me. I am not discussing the 
cost in Sarnia. I will phrase my question differently. Those four houses, 
distributed in a complete plan of the 20 odd plans you have represent, amongst 
those 20 odd plans, an average house ; average as to the 24 of them as to cost 
and as to cubic content? I believe you said that this afternoon?—A. Not as 
to cost, sir, but as to cubic content.

Q. Would they be more expensive or less expensive?—-A. It is shown that 
the total cost of those units in Sarnia averaged something like $10.000, if my 
memory is correct as to the figures we put on the record here this afternoon.

Q. I am expressing myself badly, I suppose, because you have already 
answered this question this afternoon. You told me those houses throughout 
the country cost no more, if you want to put it that way, than the average 
house in any other project. Those houses, in any other project, cost no more 
and no less than the average houses in that project, not in Sarnia we are taking 
in Canada, those houses cost no more than they cost throughout the rest of the 
country? Do you follow me?—A. I am afraid I do not if you are bringing in the 
cost of the houses in Sarnia as being typical.

Q. Forget Sarnia. Elsewhere in Canada those houses 1 A, 4A, 3B. say in 
Moncton and in Vancouver, did they cost more than the average house that you 
put up in Vancouver or Moncton? In other words, I am referring to the plan 
of the house and its cubic content. You told me this afternoon that those 
houses represented a fair average, a fair cross-section of the houses put up both 
as to normal cost and as to normal cubic content. If it would shorten the time 
consumed, T will put my question differently before you refer to your figures.

These four plans represent in total. 60,400 cubic feet. 1A is 13,800 feet ; 
4A, 13,600; Moore 16,100 and 3B, 15,900. The total for those four plans is 
60,400 feet or an average of 15,100 feet. Does that figure of 15,100 feet represent 
the average cubic content of the 24 or 25 plans?—A. Yes, I would say that 
would be approximately.

Q. That answers that part of my question. Would you say then, on that 
basis these four plans would normally represent an average normal cost for 
construction of any one of your 26 houses?

The Chairman: Outside of Sarnia?
The Witness: Yes.
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By Mr. Beaudry:
Q. Therefore, we come to my earlier question or part of my question. 

Throughout the country you have built 2,381 houses at an average construction 
cost of $6,623.13 or per cubic foot, since the average cubic footage is 15,100 
feet, at an average cost of 44 cents per cubic foot?—A. I have not worked that 
out.

Q. I will spare you the mathematics. I think it is accurate and it can be 
checked.

The Chairman : So that the financial officer can verify it, would you 
repeat your figures?

Mr. Beaudry: 2,381 houses were built at a cost of $15,769,747. That is 
a cost arrived at by multiplying the amounts mentioned a few moments ago 
by the witness, by the number of houses in each province, and adding to that 
the amount that has already been subtracted, $144,960 for landscape develop­
ment in three projects. We therefore arrive at a figure of 44 cents per cubic 
foot for building 2,300 odd houses on your various projects throughout the 
country.

Mr. Gladstone: What was the average cubic content?
Mr. Beaudry: The average was 15,100 feet.
Mr. Murphy: I wonder if I could rise on a point of order?
The Chairman: On a point of order, yes.
Mr. Murphy: I do not think the figures that are being put on the record 

now will show a true picture. They would show a true picture if we had the 
exact number of houses built according to each plan, but the four different 
plans have four different cubic contents.

The Chairman : It is an over-all picture, it is not an exact picture.
Mr. Murphy : I know you are referring to the over-all picture but even 

your estimate is not arrived at properly.
The Chairman: It is not perfectly accurate of course, because the averages, 

for instance of the 576 houses in Vancouver, is multiplied by the average content. 
We know it does not give an exact picture.

Mr. Murphy: I appreciate that, but there may be twice as many houses 
built on one plan with smaller cubic content.

The Chairman : Yes, but it would not vary throughout the country if the 
average is 15,000 more or less.

Mr. Murphy: I just wanted to be clear.
Mr. Beaudry : I am guided by the witness’ answer. In Sarnia we have 

come to quite a higher figure. YVe have come to that by using the same 
standards of totalling the costs of construction per house, $7,778 and using the 
same gauge of cubic content. We arrive at a cost of somewhere around 53 cents 
per cubic foot. I have the exact figure here, it is 51 cents per cubic foot.

The Witness: I have not worked out the mathematics on it but if you 
have done so, Mr. Beaudry, I would accept it.

Mr. Murphy: It is 51-6 cents.
Mr. Beaudry : 51-6 for Sarnia, and throughout the country it is 40-4.

By Mr. Beaudry:
Q. Now you have already stated, to make up the average throughout the 

country, and also including the eight houses in Sarnia where the cost is higher 
than average, it would bring down the normal average across the country 
perhaps a cent or a fraction of a cent lower. There is an actual discrepancy 
on the eight houses of some 7 cents. I would only like to put on the record the 
cost of construction on these houses. The actual cost of material and labour
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lias been, throughout the country approximately 44 cents per cubic foot and 
in Sarnia, in the case of these eight houses, it has been 51 cents per cubic foot. 
Would you prefer to have your adviser check that?—A. Yes.

Q. And put that on the record himself?—A. Yes.
Mr. Beaudry: Then, Mr. Chairman, will you see to it these figures are 

checked and put on the record.
The Chairman: Very well. ,
Mr. Cleaver: The figure is 15 per cent higher there. Are you through, 

Mr. Beaudry?
Mr. Beaudry: Yes.

By Mr. Cleaver:
Q. Mr. Murchison, will you come back now to some general questions? 

Why was it decided by this inter-departmental committee that the government 
should launch into a building scheme, rather than that the veterans should 
individually build their own homes?—A. It was recognized that under this 
particular scheme great difficulty would be encountered by the veterans in 
quickly locating and purchasing an individual parcel of land, and there would 
be great difficulty in arranging an individual contract for the construction 
of the houses.

Q. What about materials?—A. Part of the difficulty would be to get a 
contractor to construct the house,—a very material difficulty.

Q. I take it in the light of all of the existing conditions, and at that time 
they were including a shortage of materials, the time element and all the 
other existing features, it was decided the government should enter the field 
and build a large number of these homes?—A. Correct.

Q. Now why did you not let firm contracts for the houses rather than cost 
plus contracts?—A. Because the firm bids we received in testing out the con­
struction industry were, in my judgment, too high. We felt that the bids we 
received would represent a cost higher than was justified and the alternative 
was to accept the risks of building on a cost plus basis under supervision

Q. My memory goes back to those days and I am going to ask another 
question on that point. Were you able to get firm bids in all localities?—A. No.

Q. At any price?—A. At no price.
Q. Now having reached the decision that you would have to proceed under 

cost plus contracts, what course did you follow in choosing your contractors 
to do the work for you?—A. Our chief engineer, with his wide knowledge of 
construction firms throughout Canada, approached firms of the status of Hill, 
Clarke and Francis, of New Liskeard; Ryan Construction Co.. Frontenac Con­
struction Co., the Ogilvy Construction Co. of Montreal, the Bird Construction 
of Winnipeg, the Western Construction Co. of Edmonton, and the firm of 
Bennett and White of Vancouver. All of these firms I believe had carried out 
quite extensive construction operations during the war under the program 
of Wartime Housing and wartime building generallv.

Q. I take it then in general that your answer is you took the advice of 
your engineer?—A. That is right.

Q. Then what guided you in the choice of your staff, your district engineers, 
inspectors and the like?—A. Again, I relied on the judgment of the chief 
engineer for the department, and we were also assisted under that heading hv 
the Civil Service Commission in the holding of competitions for the emplovment 
of district construction supervisors and the certification of building inspectors 
by representatives of the Civil Service Commission, although we were g'ven 
the right of what they term “local selection”, they had to be approved by a 
representative of the Civil Service Commission.

Q. Did the Civil Service Commission fix a man’s salary or wages you 
could pay to these different groups of employees?—A. Yes.
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Q. And you told the committee that you had some rather unfortunate 
experiences in losing some of your best inspectors and the like because you 
were not able to pay them enough money for that kind of work?—A. That is 
true.

Q. And you say their salaries were fixed by the Civil Service Commis­
sion?—A. Yes.

Q. So that to that extent, at any event, you were powerless to retain the 
better employees?—A. We could not compete with the wages offered by other 
agencies who required their sendees.

Q. When it became apparent to you that the cost of these houses was 
becoming excessive what steps did you take?—A. When I had the opportunity, 
in November of 1945, of making a general examination of the disbursements 
up to that time in their relation to the progress of construction it was clear to 
me then that the final cost of these houses would very substantially exceed 
the estimate upon which we had proceeded in the first instance.

Q. Yes?—A. These costs arose through difficulty in getting prompt deliv­
eries of materials, and more particularly the serious difficulty of securing 
adequate skilled labour. We received handicaps in that section in conducting 
construction operations outside of the limits of a rather urban centre. The 
average workman prefers to work inside the city where he is closer home, where 
he can get to and from work on the streetcar ; so that any project like ours 
where we were building outside of the city.limits not only faced the difficulty 
of inducing labour to go outside of the city to work but we were also unde* 
the painful necessity of having to pay travelling and transportation to that area. 
That was one of the most serious difficulties that we ran up against. I should 
say that the most serious handicap all the way through has been the difficulty 
of retaining adequate skilled labour on the job.

Q. Then, I suggest to you that concurrently with this problem of excessive 
costs, another problem developed, the problem of faulty construction. Did 
both of these problems more or less come to a head about the same time? 
The reason I ask that question, I see that in March of 1947, and many months 
after the committee was reported to have made a report in regard to difficulties; 
did the difficulties become apparent after the excessive costs became apparent; 
or which came first?—A. The costs became apparent first because you will 
recall construction commenced generally in late June or July and it had not 
progressed to any point of finality by November of that year, but it was clear, 
to me from the costs or the disbursements at that time relative to the progress 
of the work itself that the finished product was going to cost very considerably 
in excess of the original estimate.

Q. As a result of that I take it vou made representations to your minister, 
and the end result was P.C. 1278 being passed?—A. That is right.

Q Now, in allotting or determining the amount that should be written off 
from the actual cost when fixing the actual selling price to the veteran what 
rules did you follow?—A. We followed the rule of using a cubic foot cost which 
we regarded as being fairly arrived at on the basis of present-day costs of con­
struction under favourable conditions. Now, if that quantum resulted in an 
excess cost that cost was absorbed under the adjusting order in council.

Q. Did you use the same rule right across Canada; or, did you raise or 
lower that rule to meet local construction costs?—A. We varied it.

Q. You varied it?—A. Yes.
Q. As the-result of following that rule, can you without too much trouble 

give the committee the amount of the reduction per house which you made in 
the different provinces?—A. I haven’t got that answer in detail or summarized 
form.

Q. Could you get that, please; the average amount of reduction by prov­
inces?—A. I haven’t got it worked out in averages.
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Q. Would you care to give it to us in any condensed form in which you 
may have it?—A. The adjustments made in the province of British Columbia 
on Ô76 houses under that order in council was $209,461.

Q. Have you the average amount?—A. I haven’t worked it out on the basis 
of averages.

tj. How many houses?—A. 576.
tj- ^ es, and the total?—A. $209,461.10. That would be rather lass than

$500.
Q. Now, Alberta—take it in the order you have it in your book; I don’t 

care what order you give it in, but I would like to get it by provinces.—A. In 
Alberta on 280 houses the deduction was $64,553.72.

Q. Yes.—A. Saskatchewan on 80 houses—
Q. How many?—A. 80, $68,952.
Q. Yes.—A. Manitoba, 240 houses, $23,998.
Q. Yes.—A. London district, 128 units, $115,961.88.
Q. Yes.—A. Toronto district—
Q. Would it be more convenient for you to table the rest of those? I am 

content.—A. Yes, it would be a little.
Mr. Burton : I wonder if Mr. Cleaver could tell us how much longer he 

thinks he might be. Last night we adjourned at this time. I do not mind 
saying I am quite tired.

Mr. Cleaver : I am quite content to stop now. I am not finished, but I 
am quite content to stop now.

Mr. Fleming: How long do you think he will be? 
ask you to stop.

Mr. Cleaver : I would think it would take perhaps twenty minutes.
The Chairman: If the twenty minutes is like Mr. Fleming’s twenty minutes 

and Mr. Beaudry’s five minutes we can assume it will be an hour and a half 
so we might adjourn shortly. That is not’said with any offence intended.

Mr. Fleming: If the committee is going to adjourn now there is one question 
I should like to raise at this point. I think we will have to be thinking in 
advance and planning our work. It is now Thursday night. I believe any 
thought of prorogation by Saturday, as the Prime Minister indicated was the 
target, has been abandoned now, and it will be going over until next week. I 
indicated yesterday when speaking on Mr. Beailtiry’s motion that if there is 

’ any doubt in the minds of the members of the committee that the situation in 
Sarnia is not a mere local or isolated situation but is a situation that can be 
duplicated elsewhere we should go on to call witnesses as far as time permits 
before prorogation from other projects. I should like to propose to the com­
mittee that we do call witnesses from the Windsor project. I am prepared to 
submit the names of two competent witnesses to be called from the Vi indsur

Mr. Burton: How long will it take you to finish up? I do not want to 
project. If we are going to continue our meetings next week, as I take it we 
can. and the secretary communicates with those witnesses I am sure they could 
be here available for our meeting on Monday.

The Chairman: May I ask one question? You do not have to answer 
this but is it to establish the question of cost or the question of defects in the 
project? As to the eosts we already have competent witnesses here. Is it to 
establish the cost?

Mr. Fleming: No. As to the costs we have had them principally from Mr. 
Murchison and his staff. It would be to give evidence similar to that received 
from Mr. Cleaver as to the actual experience of the veterans in the project 
with the houses and with the department. I would urge that those witnesses he 
called. There is some further evidence, of course, to he completed with Mr. 
Murchison. T would take it we will be meeting tomorrow for that purpose. 
Mr. Cleaver has some more questions. I have a few that have been suggested
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by the examination since I sat down earlier in the day. There is some more 
evidence Mr. Murchison is to bring in the form of statements and information 
he did not have available yesterday and today. I think probably there is enough 
with Mr. Murchison for tomorrow.

Mr. Burton: Would it be possible to have only one sitting tomorrow? 
We have a lot of work to attend to.

The Chairman: As to witnesses that might not necessarily be limitative. 
Any other member of the committee who may want to ask for other witnesses 
may do so.

Mr. Fleming: I have two witnesses in mind from the Windsor project 
whom I would like to call.

The Chairman: Other members may have more.
Mr. Cleaver: I would think if it is the intention to call witnesses from any 

given project that out of fairhess to the contractor we perhaps ought to call the 
contractors from that district.

The Chairman : The only objection that was raised by Mr. Murchison at 
one time about the contractor at Sarnia was that they expected litigation between 
the department and those contractors, and did not want to prejudice their 
rights.

Mr. Cleaver: That point may be well taken. I will be glad to think it 
over, but what is worrying me is the end result. What is going to be the end 
of this inquiry? What sort of report are we going to bring in? I would think 
we would want to spend two or three days in argument on the evidence after 
we have heard the evidence because I venture to suggest every member of this 
committee has views on what we should recommend. I have had an opportunity 
of reading over the evidence taken and I quite freely admit I have very decided 
views, and I intend to make an argument to the committee on what I think 
this committee should bring in by way of a report looking to the end result, 
namely the welfare of the veterans. I have over 90 of these homes in my riding.

Mr. Burton: If I may be allowed to say a word in that connection I might 
say that as far as I know I have no desire to call any witnesses from my 
province at the present time. If the session were to drag out much longer and 
this committee’s work were to drag out much longer we might even go that far. 
I have listened to the evidence that has been brought before this committee by 
Mr. Murchison and some of his officials as well as by Mr. Cleave. As far as I 
can judge I do not think there is a single member of the committee who would 
get up and argue that the houses at Sarnia had not cost the government on 
the one hand, and possibly the veterans on the other hand, more money than 
what they should have. I do not think there is a single member of the 
committee who will argue that.

Consequently I would say that in so far as the Sarnia'business is concerned 
we could take the evidence we have now and not have any member at a loss to 
know what the situation is in Sarnia. As to the suggestion that there may be 
other places that is a matter that members of the committee might want to 
know about before they would proceed with the recommendation that they 
would be prepared to make as members of the committee. I am giving that 
to you for what it is worth. As far as I can see I think I would be prepared

Btn accent my responsibilities in so far as the Sarnia matter is concerned bv 
adonting a certain report along those lines. If there are difficulties in other 
parts of the dominion, having regard to the limited time we have I do not think 
we should go into that as fullv as we have in this case because the time left 
simply will not permit us to do so.

Mr. Cleaver: In view of the fact that the House will wind up next week 
do you think that this committee would have time to do any more than to 
wind up and to bring in a recommendation in regard to Sarnia? I would hate 
to start in on Windsor or any other place and not finish it, as far as I am 
concerned.
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Mr. Burton: I have heard your question. I am glad you brought it up, 
and in answer to that, Mr. Chairman, I would say that because of the circum­
stances under which this committee has to operate, the distance which we are 
away from the project and with the other work that we have to do to get 
information—and then when the officials bring it to us we find thaf they have 
misunderstood what we wanted or that we did not make ourselves plain about 
it—I contend, Mr. Chairman, that two or three qualified men properly examining 
into that business could go to the respective places where they are necessary 
and could do more in one day than we could do here in a week. All that we 
need to satisfy ourselves in our own minds—at least in my opinion—is to have 
it established that something needs to be examined and then have somebody 
do it for us. Does that answer your question?

Mr. Cleaver: Do you think we can do any more than finish the Sarnia 
case?

Mr. Burton : I do not think, Mr. Cleaver, that we can even finish Sarnia 
as a committee. I do not think so. I think it will take people who are more 
expert than we are to finish that.

Mr. Warren : Mr. Chairman, in considering this question I do not think 
that this committee ought to lose sight of the fact that a sum of money has 
been set aside and it is being used to correct any grievances that arise from 
coast to coast. What my friend Mr. Burton and I can do other than to ask 
questions and to figure, I do not know. If these things are already being done 
by the department—

Mr. Cote: I do not think we ought to start arguing the case tonight. We 
are discussing procedure.

The Chairman: Yes. Has anyone else any remarks to make? My only 
point is this: This committee has been sitting since April 28 and for many 
weeks it sat only once a week and during some weeks it did not sit at all, but it 
never sat more than twice a week up until about a week ago; yet this very 
important matter which we are dealing with now was brought to our attention 
only about two weeks ago. Now, I contend that it is important—and Mr. 
Fleming and Mr. Murphy brought this to the attention of the House long ago—
I contend that if it had been Mr. Fleming’s intention to bring Sarnia and the 
whole picture before us it might have been done before when we would have 
had more time. This speech was made in February, and if this matter was 
coming up I imagine the vice-chairman at the time while I was away would 
have asked the committee to sit more frequently.

Mr. Cleaver: Or appointed a subcommittee.
The Chairman: Or appointed a subcommittee. Or>even sat more often 

so as to get rid of the other part of the work which we finished only a week 
or so ago. I contend that this is a late hour to introduce this matter, and I 
wonder what we are gaining by this procedure. Now, if it is to show that 
witnesses are very dissatisfied at Windsor I suppose people will be dissatisfied 
all over Canada for one reason or another. But if we want to do something 
constructive we should bring a report before the House. Now, if we are 
going to hear witnesses from Windsor or witnesses who might be called from 
somewhere else it will keep the matter in abeyance and we shall not have time 
to report to the House. I think it is important to better the conditions of the 
veterans to go into this thing thoroughly, but I do not think we will have time 
to go thoroughly into the whole picture if we start bringing in individual 
witnesses from all parts of the country. I submit to the committee that it will 
be of advantage to the veterans and everybody concerned if we can bring in a 
report, and I do not believe we will be able to bring in a report if we start 
hearing witnesses on a new matter, say, on Monday supposing that the House 
should rise on Thursday. That is my opinion.
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Mr. Denis : Mr. Chairman, do you not think that we should all go and 
visit these houses and get a better understanding of the situation? It we want 
to help the veteran why don’t we timsh the repairs now so that the veteran 
at least will be satisfied, and later on we can decide the department’s responsi­
bility and the contractor’s responsibility. We have been talking for days on 
the defects of the houses and on the defects of the contractors, and it has always 
resulted in the same thing: what was said one day was repeated the next day; 
if we keep repeating what has been previously said we will never get through. 
We have heard Mr. Murchison as a witness and we have a right to hear the
contractor and other veterans who are satisfied or who are dissatisfied with the
houses.

We have been talking about Sarnia; but if we are going to talk about the 
full project why not bring witnesses from all over the country? Wc started 
to deal with houses—eight houses—and sometimes we have not been discussing 
the eight houses. If we keep on we will be here all summer. We have tried to 
show that Mr. Murchison was at fault and we have not succeeded. Maybe
there were some details on which he was not versed, because he had not
looked at the nails. We found fault with the subordinates and we got the 
dismissal or the resignation of them. We know that the contractor did not 
complete the work as we would have wished him to do. We are still talking 
about that and we could talk for weeks about that. I would like to know if the 
repairs are going on. May I ask the question of Mr. Murchison? Are those 
repairs going on?

The Witness: They are.
Mr. Denis: So, there is nothing else we can do to help the veterans more 

than that—complete the repairs or let them vacate the premises or buy the 
premises—there is nothing else we can do to help them. The only thing left is 
to see who is responsible; what are the defects in the contract?

Mr. Stuart: Mr. Chairman, if more witnesses are to be called from any 
project I think there should be some veterans called here—and some contractors 
—who are satisfied, in fairness to the department. I think it is all wrong to 
get one side of the story. If other witnesses are going to be called I certainly 
would insist on bringing witnesses from my own county. I can assure you that 
they are satisfied. In fairness to the department and the officials of the depart­
ment I think that should be done; and I would not be satisfied in any other 
way.

Mr. Boucher: Mr. Chairman, we have gone into the eight houses in Sarnia 
and it is very evident that every member of our committee feels there was a 
big expenditure there. I think most of us feel that even under present conditions 
the price asked of the soldier was too high.

Mr. Cleaver: Speak for yourself.
Mr. Boucher: I think we agree that the soldier is there on sufferance 

and under bad conditions. I think the director has stated that Sarnia is one 
of the worse problems which would indicate there are other problems of that 
nature too. So, it would be very unfair to ourselves if we did not report the 
Sarnia project this session and make recommendations for the good of the 
soldier and to give some guidance to that project.

Secondly, we should find out whether there are other projects which should 
be gone into. \\ e cannot go into those. That beine the case and Windsor 
being nearby, it might be wise for us to have a few witnesses from Windsor 
in order to ascertain whether or not we should continue at a later date an 
investigation into Windsor or have somebody else do it.

The Chairman: Mr. Pinard told me this afternoon if any more witnesses 
were called from, say Boucherville, Quebec, he might find some people who arc 
not satisfied. Whv should we take Windsor? . Why should we not call people 
from all over? There miuht be people who are dissatisfied. We have to be
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fair to all people. Is it fair, at this late date, to try to do that? Let us assume 
there is a proportion of people who are not satisfied and work accordingly. 
Of course, I am in the hands of the committee but I do not think our work 
will be as constructive as if we expedited the investigation which we have 
started. Assuming that there are defects elsewhere and there are things which 
may be wrong elsewhere, if we start to hear witnesses there will be no end to it. 
We will have no report. If we make no report to the House, how will the 
veterans’ position be improved? I think the method by which we can help the 
veteran is by bringing in a report, whatever it will be after we have discussed 
and agreed on some of the clauses of it, suggesting some remedies. If we talk 
until Friday, and it may very well be that we will, then there will be no report. 
This will not help the veterans at all. That is my humble opinion.

Mr. Cote: I think this discussion is premature at this time. I think we 
ought to conclude our examination of Mr. Murchison some time to-morrow. 
If the committee decides to bring other witnesses for Monday, well there will 
be time to decide that to-morrow. We will have a better idea when the 
examination of the witness is finished, whether we should do so. I would 
suggest we conclude that and, if necessary-, we can discuss procedure again at 
the meeting to-morrow- morning or afternoon.

Mr. Fleming: I just want to say a word. We have had discussion on this 
and I do not want to prolong it. We have all got our minds made up on this 
situation. I just want to deal with one point you mentioned and that is about 
raising this question late. I wnt to make it perfectly clear that I was not an 
original member of this committee. I came on this committee at the time the 
first reference was made to this committee by the House, namely, the govern­
ment bill to enact the regulations pertaining to trading with the enemy. That 
was an urgent matter and the committee decided it must be given the right 
of way over everything else.

The Chairman: We could have sat more often had we known we had a 
heavy agenda. Very often the committee sat only once a week.

Mr. Fleming: The only time the committee sat once a week was on an 
occasion when Mr. Coleman w-as not available.

Mr. Cote: We could have divided into subcommittees as they did in the 
War Expenditures Committee during the war.

Mr. Fleming: I do not want to belabour the point, but I do not think 
there has been any belated approach to this problem so far as I am concerned.

I do want to make this quite clear. The idea that the enquiry should be 
more widely extended, I think was given rise to by reason of the course of the 
deliberations of the committee on this Sarnia question. I proposed that the 
evidence we heard on the Sarnia question was ample to suggest that there 
ought to be a thorough-going investigation, not simply here, but all across 
Canada. Now, some members of the committee quite early in the deliberations 
of the committee on the Sarnia question said they were not prepared to consider 
this as more than a local isolated situation. They were not prepared to assume 
it was typical. I want to answer that by bringing the most accessible witness 
from another project. I should like an opportunity of establishing to the 
satisfaction of the committee that that is not a local or peculiar situation at, 
Sarnia but it is a situation, as I said yesterday, which could be duplicated 
many times over on a number of other projects from which I am prepared, 
if time permits, to bring witnesses to establish that fact. There is not time to 
go over them all. We all recognize that.

Here is a case where witnesses are readily available. I suggest we make 
up our minds now because this is Thursday night, to call them for Monday 
afternoon. Then, they are properly warned. We can assure carrying on. We 
have had discussion and probably to bring the matter to a head and dispose 
of it I should like to move now—
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The Chairman : Mr. Warren, just a moment please?
Mr. Warren : Might I ask this question first?
The Chairman : Let Mr. Fleming put the motion and then anybody can 

talk on it.
Mr. Fleming: I will move first that we meet to-morrow at say three 

o’clock, the same hour as to-day, to continue with the evidence we have been 
hearing from Mr. Murchison and his officers.

The Chairman: Carried.
Mr. Fleming: Secondly I would move that we meet on Monday at an hour 

to be decided upon by the committee, and that we summon to appear before 
the committee two witnesses resident on the Roseland project at Windsor. 1 
will give the names of two suitable witnesses to the clerk.

Mr. Cleaver : Might I suggest to you—
The Chairman : There were two other people on their feet.
Mr. Cleaver: I am sorry.
Mr. Warren: I want to ask if Mr. Murphy has examined the Windsor 

houses you have been talking about?
Mr. Murphy: Yes, I have seen them.
Mr. Warren : If Mr. Murphy has seen them then that settles it. He has 

seen the odd crack under the door and so on.
Mr. Murphy: On a point of order,- in view of the discussion had it 

arisen, and I am only going to take a minute. I have been prepared to say 
that I did go through the Windsor areas the same as I did in Sarnia, but not 
to the same extent. I have discussed the matter with the Windsor veterans.

Mr. Warren: Looking for discontent.
Mr. Murphy: I am quite prepared to say the Windsor veterans will pretty 

well substantiate what has been said from Sarnia.
Mr. Beaudry: I cannot fully agree, and I hope Mr. Fleming will not 

take this to heart, but I cannot agree with the premise or conclusions that he 
has put forward. For the sake of argument we will make the concession, 
which I will do without prejudice as I would if I were talking legally, that we 
have uncovered something that is extraordinary in Sarnia. If we are to go 
through the country we would not expect to uncover the same things, because, 
in spite of his information and in spite of his words, we have the actual figures 
given to this committee which substantiate very soundly my contention to the 
contrary. By the very light of those figures Sarnia, in to to, is a very extra­
ordinary project. We have uncovered the fact that Sarnia, for instance, for 
eight houses, has brought about a cost to the department of some $2,000 or 
perhaps more, over the average construction cost of some 2,400 other houses. 
I am afraid I have come to the conclusion, and I imagine the rest of the 
members of the committee will have that this consideration alone is sufficient 
to strongly disapprove Mr. Fleming’s contention that what we find in Sarnia 
we will find everywhere else. We may find what has been termed as discontent 
but, on the other hand, I get the feeling from the evidence that has been given 
by Mr. Murchison that it would be almost impossible for us to expect otherwise 
in connection with houses built under circumstances under which they were 
built, at prices which I think are very normal and reasonable prices, taking into 
consideration the pressure put on by the returned veterans and by the need 
for houses. I repeat I do not think we would find more than perhaps 50 pei; 
cent of the veterans or occupants of those homes would be willing to state that 
they were perfectly satisfied. If we asked the members of this committee who 
bought or who rented homes that they inhabit deliberately, I do not imagine we 
would get more than 50 per cent of those members answering that they were
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fully satisfied with their homes. So I do not think we should expect any more 
of inhabitants of buildings built by the government; and for that reason I do 
not think that we need to labour the point and try to find how many complaints 
we can get against these houses. We want to help the veterans. We want to 
help the taxpayers’ situation and if we find that the situation of the taxpayers 
should be corrected, do so. We are merely wasting more time otherwise. I am 
afraid, Mr. Chairman, that I will not be able to support Mr. Fleming’s motion.

Mr. Burton: I suggest with all due deference that it is now eleven o’clock 
and we have had a pretty long day here and I believe that we could give better 
consideration to this to-morrow rather than trying to settle it here and now.

Mr. Cleaver: I will only take a moment. I was going to suggest to Mr. 
Fleming that the arguments which he has advanced, Mr. Chairman, are argu­
ments which support the contention I raised a moment ago, that we haven’t 
time to do more than make a bare attempt at taking care of the Sarnia problem. 
I have not heard anyone suggest anything but that the Sarnia problem is 
perhaps the worst part of the entire project.

Mr. Fleming: Mr. Murchison says it is one of the worst.
Mr. Cleaver: If we take adequate steps through our committee report 

properly to correct the situation at Sarnia I submit we will have taken care 
of the entire problem.

Mr. Cote: He said last week it was the worst.
Mr. Fleming: But then he qualified it and said it was one of the worst.
Mr. Murphy: Regarding the Windsor picture, the same firm built the 

homes in Windsor as built them in Sarnia—
Mr. Gladstone: That is a fine thing for anyone coming from Windsor 

to say.
Mr. Murphy: In the second place, Mr. Chairman—
Mr. Burton : Let the court people deal with it.
Mr. Rinfret: Yes.
Mr. Murphy: There is also the question of the Windsor veterans not having 

signed a contract and I think we should bring before this committee supporting 
evidence. We are anxious to know where some of the liability lies. And 
furthermore I do not think that the veterans at Windsor should be asked to 
sign contracts until they have had an opportunity of appearing and giving 
evidence. In support of that may I say this, that the Windsor city council 
passed a resolution at a regular meeting supporting my demand that a royal 
commission be appointed. I did not ask them to do that.

The Chairman: There is no such demand before the committee now.
Mr. Murphy: I am just using that in support of my argument that we 

should call witnesses from Windsor.
Mr. Burton: Mr. Chairman, with all due deference to Mr. Fleming I do 

point out that it is time to adjourn and that we will all be in clearer mood to 
discuss this to-morrow. I move that we adjourn until three o’clock to-morrow.

The Chairman: A motion to adjourn comes ahead of any other motion. 
What is your pleasure?

Carried.
Mr. Fleming: On division.
The Chairman: The committee stands adjourned untl 3 o’clock to-morrow 

afternoon.

The committee adjourned at 11.05 to meet again to-morrow, July 11, 
1947, at 3 p.m.
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APPENDIX “A”

PLAN No. 0-52—PROJECT No. 0/246-P 

PROPERTY—McNALLY - DURANCE - SARNIA 

Statement or Selling Prices to Veterans

Lot
No. Design

Total
selling
price

Cond’l.
grant

Amount
payable

by
veteran

Initial
deposit

Amount
payable

in
instalments

$ t » » s
9 N VN. 3B 7,447 1,400 6,047 600 5,447

10 S H. 4 6,893 1,400 5,493 600 4,893
15 W MM. 3 7,759 1,400 6,359 600 5,759
17 S H. 4 6,893 1,400 5,493 600 4,893
18 N MM. 3 7,904 1,400 6,504 600 5,904 Includes Refrigerator $145
40 N VN. 3B 7,456 1,400 6,056 600 5,456
41 S H. 1 7,724 1,400 6,324 600 5,724
45 N H. 1 7,724 1,400 6,324 600 5,724

APPENDIX “B”

DEPARTMENT OF VETERANS AFFAIRS 
REPORT ON 

VETERANS’ LAND ACT
SMALL HOLDINGS CONSTRUCTION CONTRACTS

BY

Deputy Minister of Veterans’ Affairs 

Director, Veterans’ Land Act 

Colonel C. E. Parish of Montreal 

Tabled by
minister of veterans affairs

March 21, 1947.
Confidential

March 18, 1947.
The Right Honourable Ian Mackenzie,

Minister of Veterans Affairs 
Re—V eterans’ Land Act Small Holdings

Pursuant to your instructions the writer, accompanied by Mr Gordon 
Murchison, Director of the Veterans’ Land Act, and Mr. Charles E. Parish, 
Special Adviser to you on building construction, visited all provinces of the 

the exception of the Maritimes during the month January 7th 
to February 8th. \\ e then visited the Maritimes during the third week in 
February. Following this we visited Sarnia and Sault Ste. Marie during the 
week ending March 15th.
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The purpose of our visit was to inspect small holding projects and report 
to you on tne condition of the houses and the iairness, or otherwise, ot the 
price at which they are being sold to veterans. Mr. Murchison and I acted 
in our capacity as Departmental officials inspecting the Department's operations 
and reporting to you thereon. Mr. Parish was appointed by Urder-in-Council 
as a technical adviser to you on house construction.

This memorandum comprises the writer’s report to you embodying his 
views on our examination of the work. Mr. Murchison, the Director, and Mr. 
Parish, your Construction Adviser, will make their reports to you separately.

Report on Our Inspection

Our examination was directed mainly toward the 2,600 houses that were 
completed in 1946 in small holding projects or groups. We visited 53 projects 
and personally inspected approximately 250 houses or more than 10% of the 
whole number of houses constructed in these projects. It was obviously 
impossible for us to inspect every house. This would have taken over a year.

Our purpose was to make a test check, and although we were guided by 
the advice of the local association of veterans in the project as to houses we 
should see and also by the Canadian Legion in many areas, for the main part 
we selected houses at random in order to get a fair cross-section of the work.

At this point I should like to say that the attitude of the veterans in the 
projects visited was generally fair and reasonable. They were a good type 
and sincere in their desire to acquire a home. We were greatly impressed with 
the calibre of the families, particularly the British war brides, who are taking 
such pride in the furnishing and care of their new homes.

Difficulties in Workmanship and Materials

We encountered illustrations of careless or inexperienced workmanship, 
such as joists having been cut in two to make room for heating ducts; floors 
having been varnished without proper cleaning after sanding; cases of rough 
mill work used in kitchen cabinet work, door and window frames; poor quality 
plaster, improperly applied; improperly finished basement floors. Practically 
all tli" foregoing can be corrected by skilled artisans.

Then we encountered defects due to the shrinking of unseasoned lumber, 
such as cracks developing where the gvproc wallboard meets in the corners, 
and badly fitting doors and windows. Colonel Parish will no doubt report to 
you in detail on the foregoing, but it is the writer’s opinion, and this has been 
supported by those who should be competent to know wherever I have discussed 
the matter, that the Director of the Veterans’ Land Act was faced with the 
choice of using such material and help as was available or deferring construction 
on a large scale until skilled labour and seasoned and scarce materials were 
available in adequate quantity. He chose the former course and it is the 
writer’s opinion that., broadly speaking, the buildings were as good as could 
be expected in the circumstances.

T do not wish to convey the impression that in my judgment the buildings 
are of poor quality or poorly constructed. On the contrary I am of the opinion 
thev measure up to present-day standards. Furthermore, practically all the 
defects referred to can be corrected resulting in the purchaser receiving a 
modern home of good standard quality and providing him with attractive, 
comfortable and permanent accommodation.

Drainage, Sewage, etc.
Where houses are not tied in with city drainage and sewage this becomes 

a very important consideration. We encountered some proiocts where water in 
the basement was giving them trouble. Tn this connection it should be pointed 
out that the back-fill is soft and not vet settled down, resulting in easy infiltra­
tion of water around the basement footings.
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We encountered some cases where the aifiuent from septic tanks was backing 
up and entering the basement. It was impossible, of course, since drainage 
tile and septic tank disposal beds were covered, for us to form any opinion 
as to the source of the trouble. This, however, should be examined, when 
weather conditions permit, and corrected.

Stbuctubal Defects

We visited some homes where certain structural defects were apparent. 
These will be dealt with, no doubt, by Colonel Parish in his report and can, 
I am informed, be corrected at no great expense.

Insulation

We encountered some homes where the insulation had been sketchily done 
and this, too, can and should be corrected at no great expense. For the main 
part, however, it may be said that the houses were warm and comfortable.

General Conclusions

It is the writer’s opinion that if the authority contained in P.C. 1278 on 
April 2, 1946, were extended somewhat, the defects in workmanship, material 
and construction can be corrected. The Order-in-Council referred to authorizes 
the writer and the Director of the Veterans’ Land Act to approve adjustments 
in cost to a basis which, in our judgment, represent reasonable sale value. 
$677,500 has already been expended from the $1,000,000 authorized.

Sale Price to the Veteran

It was not uncommon, particularly in some projects, to hear complaints 
from the veterans that in their opinion the price set on the property was too 
high. In this connection I should point out that Mr. D. Mansur, President of 
the Central Mortgage and Housing Corporation, informs me that the present 
cost of construction depending upon the area in which construction takes place, 
exceeds the cost in 1939 by a range of from 57% to 73%. I suggest that 60% 
increase over the costs in 1939 would be a very conservative basis from whifh 
to review this question.

If this be accepted, it means that a $5,000 house erected in 1939 would 
cost $8,000 to erect today. From figures furnished me by the Director, the 
average cost of a one and a half story house to the veteran, without taking into 
consideration the $1,400 grant provided by the Act, would be about $7,000. 
When his 10% and the conditional grant is deducted, his monthly payment 
covering principal and interest on the net amount is approximately $25. I 
have no hesitation in saying that similar accommodation could not be rented 
at anything like this amount. I am also very doubtful if the average one and a 
half story house we inspected could be reproduced today at a cost of $7.000.

General Observations

When reviewing these small holdings and the terms under which they are 
constructed and sold to the veteran, a reference to the Veterans’ Land Act of 
1942 displays Parliament’s intention in the matter. Preamble to the Veterans’ 
Land Act states: “And whereas part-time farming coupled with other employ­
ment is an increasingly important aspect of rural and semi-rural life in 
Canada. . .” It was obviously intended that those who settled upon small 
holdings should engage in part-time farming and the conditional grant provided 
in the Act was in recognition of the fact that those engaging in agriculture 
cannot be expected to carry a 100% overhead debt. The Act provided, there­
fore, that a conditional grant could be allowed the settler, whereunder he is
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required to pay 10% of the cost of land and buildings, plus two-thirds of the 
gross cost thereof. Thus, if land and buildings cost $6,000, the veteran is 
required to put up 10% or $600, plus two-thirds of the gross cost, namely 
$4,000. The enterprise, therefore, cost him $4,600 and his grant amounts to 
$1,400.

Veterans on small holdings, for the main part, are participating in this 
grant insofar that in most cases they will receive a $1,400 rebate on the cost of 
their houses to the Director. Now it must be admitted that the bulk of these 
small holdings have the complexion of purely suburban housing projects. 
Although it is true we visited them in the winter, the writer doubts very much 
if any revenue to speak of has been derived from their agricultural development. 
Some doubt has been expressed to me as to whether, generally speaking, any 
appreciable revenue will be derived from developing them along agricultural 
lines so long as the veterans are in full-time employment.

Having this in mind, it is suggested that the Veterans’ Land administration 
has not been ungenerous in granting this $1,400 conditional grant, that was 
intended to help those following agricultural pursuits, to veterans on small 
holdings without regard to whether or not such holdings will be developed 
along agricultural lines.

In this connection it is pointed out that aside from the 2,600 veterans who 
are acquiring homes on these small holding projects, over 30.000 have used their 
Re-establishment Credit, averaging $445, to purchase and build homes on their 
own account. These men, of course, do not get the $1,400 conditional grant 
from the Veterans’ Land Act. On the other hand, they are subject to the 
inflation in the cost of homes, to which I have referred in an earlier part of 
this report.

As another general observation, I must record that in no project we visited 
was there any complaint on the price of the land. There appears to have been 
excellent work done in the purchase of the various properties on which these 
homes are built, and although we did not inspect farms as such, general opinion 
was expressed to the writer wherever we went that the land purchasing for 
farms and small holdings had been exceptionally well done.

Total settlement under the Veterans’ Land Act amounts to 22,000 settlers, 
including small holdings, at the end of 1946.

Braefoot Estate

You will recall that some discussion has taken place with respect to the 
Braefoot property adjoining Victoria, B.C., atid that you appointed a special 
committee to examine that project, comprising a local architect, a representative 
of the Canadian Legion and a representative of the veterans in the project 
and the Veterans’ Rehabilitation Committee, combined.

I attach hereto this Committee’s report to you from which it will be seen 
that they have found no complaints regarding the construction that cannot be 
easily and quickly corrected by competent craftsmen.

After studying the costs of the houses, the Committee recommended that 
the house cost be reduced by 20%. The Chairman of this Committee informed 
me personally yesterday that the Committee did not mean that the net cost 
to the veteran be reduced by 20%, but that the gross cost to the Director 
be so reduced.

When I pointed out that in the case of a $7,000 home the Act provided 
a conditional grant of $1,400, which represented 20%, he agreed that this took 
care of his Committee’s recommendation.

He points out in his report, however, that the drainage situation should be 
cleared up and such defects as faulty plastering and shrinkage cracks, etc., 
should be corrected.
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Conclusions

I would recommend that a competent drainage engineer or engineers be 
engaged to survey drainage and sewage on the properties that require it. I 
would further recommend that steps be taken towards the correction of defects 
in the buildings to which I have referred without additional cost to the veteran. 
This work should be done efficiently, by skilled craftsmen, and under the 
direction of competent construction engineers.

Respectfully submitted,
W. S .WOODS,

Deputy Minister.

P.S.—A considerable quantity of factual material respecting the projects 
visited is being retained by me as being too voluminous to form part of this 
report.

P.C. 1278
Certified to be a true copy of a Minute of a Meeting of the Committee of 

the Privy Council, approved by His Excellency the Administrator on the 2nd 
April 1946.

The Committee of the Privy Council have had before them a report, dated 
29th March, 1946, from <he Minister of Veterans Affairs, stating as follows :

1. Sections 7 and 7A of the Veterans Land Act 1942, authorize the Director, 
The Veterans’ Land Act, to purchase land, buildings and building materials 
and to enter into a contract with any person, firm or corporation for the 
erection of buildings and for effecting such other improvements as he may 
deem necessary.

2. Under authority so granted, the Director during the years 1944-45 pur­
chased land deemed necessary by him for the establishment of veterans in 
part-time farming and for the purpose of providing homes and other 
improvements on lands so acquired. The construction of such small holdings 
or homes was distributed amongst the Provinces as follows: British 
Columbia, 572 units; Alberta, 275 units; Saskatchewan, 79 units ; Manitoba, 
240 units; Ontario, 1,033 units; Quebec, 187 units; New Brunswick, 74 
units; Nova Scotia, 30 units and Prince Edward Island. 15 units. The 
construction of these small holdings and homes was distributed in 86 
localities in Canada.

3. In the inception of the construction program referred to in (2) above, a 
number of tenders were advertised for in the usual way for contracts on a 
firm price bid but the bids quoted were generally at prices which were 
exorbitant or alternatively, no bids were received. Construction on firm 
price contracts was approved for 160 housing units in Alberta ; 10 in 
Manitoba; 56 in Ontario, and 30 in New Brunswick.

4. Following the failure to obtain reasonable contracts on firm price bids, 
recourse was had to contracts arranged on a cost plus fixed fee basis along 
the lines followed by the Department of Munitions and Supply. The fixed 
fee was arranged at a reasonable figure and the operation of all cost plus 
fixed fee contracts were from the outset placed under the disbursement 
control of the Audit Division of the Treasury Department and under the 
structural supervision of representatives of the Director.

5. The Director, The Veterans’ Land Act has npw reported that as a result of 
difficulties confronting building contractors and the administration occa­
sioned by the cost of Materials, delays in obtaining deliveries of essential 
materials, excessive labour costs, and abnormally wet weather during 
critical stages of construction in certain areas, the total cost of the con­
struction operations referred to will exceed the estimated costs. Costs have
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shown substantial variations for identical dwellings located in the same 
area built by different contractors and substantial variations in costs of 
like designs in different areas, all of which present problems in the sale of 
these holdings to qualified veterans as provided by section 9, The Veterans’ 
Land Act.

6. The Director further reports that construction has progressed to a point 
where completed units are becoming available for sale and that close 
calculation of costs already incurred and careful estimates of the additional 
costs to be met show that adjustment should be made of costs at which 
many of these holdings can or should be sold to veterans.

7. Section 21, The Veterans’ Land Act, provides as follows:
“21. If the Director deems that any land or other property acquired 

by him cannot or ought not to be sold subject, whether as to sale price or 
otherwise, to the provisions of Section 9, he shall report to the Minister 
the circumstances, with a statement of the cost of such property and shall 
recommend another sale price or other terms of sale, whereafter any sale of 
such property shall be made for such sale price, or upon such terms, to 
any person as the Governor in Council may approve.”
The Committee, therefore, on the recommendation of the Minister of 

Veterans Affairs, advise:
A. That the overall costs of the construction program referred to above be 

reduced by a sum not in excess of One Million Dollars, ($1,000,000) ;
B. That a Committee comprising W. S. Woods, Deputy Minister Department 

of Veterans Affairs, and G. Murchison, Director, The Veterans’ Land Act, 
be authorized to approve adjustments in costs to a basis which in their 
judgment represents reasonable sale value under the provisions of The 
Veterans’ Land Act, such adjustments not to exceed a total of One Million 
Dollars ($1,000,000) ; and

C. That the Director, The Veterans’ Land Act be authorized to arrange sales 
to veterans of any small holdings referred to herein, the adjusted cost of 
which is in excess of $6.000 on the basis of a minimum down payment of 
$600.00. but providing that in such cases the conditional grant shall not 
exceed the limits provided by Section 9, The Veterans’ Land Act.

A. D. P. HEENEY,
Clerk of the Privy Council.

March 18. 1947.

REPORT OF SMALL HOLDING PROJECTS
CONSTRUCTED UNDER THE VETERANS LAND ACT

In accordance with the intent of P.C. 76, dated January 9, 1947, the w-riter 
accompanied Mr. W. S. Woods, Deputy Minister and Charles E. Parish on a 
general inspection of small holding projects in Canada which were constructed 
under cost plus fixed fee contracts arranged during the summer months of 1945. 
This inspection commenced in the Ottawa district and concluded on the 26th 
of February. 1947. These projects are located at approximately eighty [mints 
throughout the Dominion. They consist of from four to one hundred units 
each. They total 2.663 separate units of housing located on an acre or half 
acre of high grade land. The total construction program involved the con­
struction of eightv-nine miles of roads, one hundred miles of water mains, and 
twenty-four miles of sewer mains in addition to the construction of the 2,663 
houses. The program, therefore, wras of considerable magnitude.
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It was impossible during the time available to visit every project or to 
visit every home on each project which was visited. All that could be done and 
all that needed to be done to establish a general pattern as to the standards 
of construction carried out, was to view those projects which contain approxi­
mately 80 per cent of the total and to sample from ten to fifteen per cent of 
the homes on the projects visited. Fifty-five separate projects located in 
twenty-nine localities and comprising twenty-one hundred housing units were 
seen. Approximately two hundred and fifty individual units were subjected to 
detailed examination.

The houses inspected were chosen at random or where contact was made 
with the representatives of the veterans occupying these homes (which occurred 
in many instances) inspection was made of samples chosen by these repre­
sentatives. It is important to note that this inspection was carried out during 
a season of the year when climatic severity would disclose structural defects 
which might not otherwise be readily apparent.

No attempt is made in this report to recite a mass of details, but to confine 
comment to general terms based on:—

1. The intent of the construction program ;
2. A realistic appreciation of the difficulties inherent in a construction program 

of this magnitude ;
3. The genuineness of the complaints which have been made with respect to 

these houses as to quality of construction and the sale prices quoted to the 
veterans in occupation ;

4. The action which has been taken.
5. Recommendations.

Findings are as follows:—
1. The intent of the program was to more readily meet established demand 

by veterans interested in establishment on small holdings who would be rapidly 
demobilized after cessation of hostilities. The houses were to be of sound, 
durable construction and of good architectural design. To locate and purchase 
individual parcels of land, all serviced with water and roads, and to secure 
contractors to build individual units, would have been impossible within the 
time during which the need was paramount. Therefore, the purchases of com­
paratively large tracts of land sub-divided into small units and the adoption 
of more or less mass construction methods, was the only practical alternative 
to doing nothing under the heading of new construction so far as the Veterans’ 
Land Act wras concerned. This is borne out by the fact that during the calendar 
year 1946 no new project developments were undertaken by the Department, 
but 1,750 individual loans were approved for the purpose of home construction, 
onlv 224 of which were actually completed. This was due entirely to the 
difficulty confronting the Administration and veterans in obtaining individual 
units of land, firm bids from small contractors and the difficulty confronting 
the Administration, veterans and contractors alike in obtaining materials and 
labour required. The fact that the main program of 2,663 units extended over 
a considerably greater period of time than was originally estimated, does not 
detract from the force of what is stated above.

2. With regard to a realistic appreciation of difficulties, it is observed that 
these project developments, while for the most part located near the larger urban 
centres of Canada, are at some distance from municipal limits, thus giving rise 
to the nroblem of providing for a potable supply of water and sanitation to 
meet local and provincial health regulations. It also gave rise to the problem 
confronting contractors in securing the services of sufficient skilled workmen 
to carrv out construction wdiich involved travelling outside of urban limits 
while there was ample demand for their services nearer home. This led to the 
necessity of the Administration having to bear transportation costs and 
travelling time, which in some instances amounted to very substantial sums.
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It gave rise to the problems involved in obtaining prompt and regular deliveries 
of materials. Many delays under this heading occurred, which prevented the 
works being carried on with proper sequence and scheduling of operations. 
Delays in material deliveries with consequent confusion in maintaining adequate 
manpower on the job, forced construction during critical stages into winter 
conditions, which of course gave rise to further problems, such as the necessity 
of working under excessive mud conditions, supplying winter heat, and a 
general slowdown in operations. It was a condition precedent in the purchase 
of the various sites for these project developments that the land must be of 
good agricultural quality and this in turn created problems of drainage which 
could have easily been avoided if soil quality was a secondary consideration.

3. With regard to the genuineness of the complaints which have been made 
with respect to these houses, it is necessary to deal separately with them under 
the headings of construction and sale price.

Dealing first with construction, it is frankly admitted that many minor 
deficiencies were seen. At the same time it would be decidedly unfair to the 
Administration to assume that all these deficiencies were being ignored. These 
are all new houses, built under many trying conditions. As is the case with 
all new construction of this kind, time is required for the settling of back-fill 
against basement walls and for the shrinkage which occurs in building material 
which was not thoroughly dried. For the most part the veterans went into 
occupation of these homes during the late summer months and it was not until 
furnace heat was applied during winter months that this drying out process 
could commence. Meanwhile, it would be largely a waste of public funds to 
proceed with correction of construction of deficiencies until their real extent 
could be determined.

Construction deficiencies fall within the groupings of basement structures, 
interior finish, drainage and sewage disposal. Quality of concrete in basement 
walls is in my opinion excellent, but there is some defective concrete in basement 
floor slabs which will require replacement. I believe this is largely traceable to 
construction under winter conditions and to excessive water pressure until 
drainage is improved. In certain designs of houses additional beam supports 
are indicated and some minor alterations in the framing of joist structures 
close to brick chimneys. Sump pumps have been or are being installed in all 
cases where the need is indicated.

Interior finish varies in ratio to the extent of skilled mechanics employed, 
the quality of materials available and the degree of close supervision by the 
contractor of construction details. There are some poorly fitted doors or 
windows. There has been some rough work in the installation of high grade 
heating equipment. There is evidence here and there of some carelessness in 
the application of insulating material. There are some poorly finished hardwood 
floors, and in some cases in the Toronto area where the use of softwood flooring 
was ordered bv the Timber Controller it will have to be replaced due to 
excessive shrinkage. There is some trim in these houses that was not sanded 
to a smooth finish. There has been some corner opening of gyproc wallboards 
caused by shrinkage of studding. In the province of British Columbia there 
are cases where wet plaster was used when gyproc board was not available and 
evidence was seen of unsatisfactory workmanship. To add to this difficulty 
it appears that lime used for a putty coat was taken from a cargo which has 
shown defects where used in housing projects other than the Veterans’ Land Act.

Under the heading of drainage and sewage disposal it can be said that 
wet basements here and there will continue to occur until back-fills have settled 
and there is a general improvement in the drainage of the whole project con­
cerned. All these works were not completed by freezeup last year. There are 
occasional septic tank installations which require correction. These defeets 
are due to some faultv installations; some due to impervious clav conditions 
and others directly related to main project drainage.



PUBLIC ACCOUNTS 691

The above is a rather formidable list of deficiencies but they do not occur 
in every case by any means. They are defects which can all be remedied and 
should not be regarded as defects which seriously affect the structural soundness 
of these homes.

These houses are of good design and contain the maximum of comfortable 
living space within their overall dimensions, and it was reassuring to the 
Director to note the pride that is being taken by veterans and their wives who 
have heretofore been forced to pay exhorbitant rents for second or third rate 
living space or indeed having been forced to live as dispersed family units. 
Criticisms or complaints by these people do not derive from a dislike of their 
new homes but from an intense desire to keep them and to have minor faults 
corrected. With very few exceptions the attitude of these people, the taste 
displayed in their choice of their home furnishings and the high standards of 
comfort could leave no other impression.

To sum up, so far as construction deficiencies are concerned, there are very 
very few which cannot be easily and quickly corrected by competent workmen.

With regard to sale prices, it was frankly conceded by responsible people 
everywhere that homes of this class and the land and services which came with 
them are not available elsewhere at the sale prices and terms quoted. The sale 
prices which have been quoted to these veterans reflect the adjustments in costs 
made pursuant to P C. 1278 which, as of January 10th, amounted to a total 
of $677,429.63. They also reflect a further conditional subsidy as provided by 
Section 9 of the Veterans’ Land Act which, in the case of a holding which 
cost the Director $6,000 or more, amounts to $1,400. The annual interest rate 
is 3£ per cent and the end result of these things is a monthly purchase rate 
varying from as low as $16.50 per month to a high of approximately $28.00, 
or an average of approximately $22.00. In addition to this the annual rate of 
municipal taxation is in the average case very substantially less than is levied 
against comparable housing within urban limits.

The inescapable conclusion is, in my view, that the veterans occupying and 
purchasing homes provided under the Veterans’ Land Act, admitting whatever 
construction deficiencies there may be, are in an infinitely better position than 
those who must seek to solve their home requirements under other auspices. 
But there are two cardinal matters which should be observed :—

Firstr—to satisfy within reason the veterans who are in occupation of these 
homes by correcting construction deficiencies. Sales contracts extend 
over a long term and it is essential that harmony be established between 
these veteran purchasers and the Administration at the commencement 
of their contracts.

Second—it is in the public interest that capital investment in these homes 
by the State be protected by prompt correction of construction 
deficiencies.

4. With regard to the action which has been taken to correct construction 
deficiencies, instructions were issued by the Director on the spot to his admin­
istrative and construction staff to proceed quickly, efficiently and generously 
to correct all minor faults and the very few structural faults which exist. The 
veterans individually or collectively were given the assurance that this would 
be done and that the costs involved would not result in an increase in the sale 
price which had been quoted to them.

Where it can be done the contractor who built these homes or the sub­
contractors employed by the primary contractor will be expected to correct 
these faults, but in the majority of cases it appears to be a matter for direct 
action by the Administration. Having regard to the continuing scarcity of 
skilled workmen, present-day wage rates and the rising costs of materials, it is 
difficult to formulate an accurate estimate of the cost involved. In many cases 
the cost should be more or less nominal; in many the cost will be modest ; and 
in others it may be fairly substantial.
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5. Recommendations
Order in Council P.C. 1278 established a cost reduction fund of One Million 

Dollars in order to absorb excess costs where construction got out of line for 
one or more reasons. As of January 10, 1947, costs in connection with 1,797 
housing units had been reviewed and the sum of $677,429.63 had been absorbed 
under this order in council. There is thus a balance of $322,571.00 remaining 
to complete whatever adjustments are required plus the additional cost for 
repairs and correction of construction deficiencies. . Until this is done it is 
impossible to estimate precisely just what these costs will be but it is believed 
that the sum of an additional $500,000 will be required. The original amount 
asked for by the Director in February 1946 was One and One Half Millions, 
and following the inspection which is referred to in this report it is the opinion 
that this is the amount which will be required to complete this operation.

Respectfully submitted,
G. MURCHISON,

Director.
Confidential

Ottawa, Ont.,
March 18, 1947.

The Right Honourable Ian A. Mackenzie,
Minister of Veterans Affairs,
House of Commons,
Ottawa, Ont.

Dear Sir: The writer, having been appointed as Special Advisor on 
Building Construction by authority of P.C. 76, dated January 9, 1947, has 
completed an inspection of the houses erected by the Director of the Veterans’ 
Land Act, particularly those houses which were constructed in large groups 
or projects.

The inspection was made in the company of Mr. W. S. Woods. Deputy 
Minister of the Department of Veterans Affairs, and Mr. G. Murchison, 
Director of the Veterans Land Act. As limited time would not permit a visit 
to each of these projects an itinerary prepared by Mr. Murchison was followed, 
this itinerary gave a fair example of the projects in all sectors of the country 
Again it was not possible to inspect every house in the projects visited, hence 
houses were selected at random for inspection. Where the Veterans, established 
on the sites, had formed a Committee, this Committee was consulted and par­
ticular houses Selected by them were also inspected. In this way it is felt 
that a fair impression of the standard of construction on each <ite visited was 
obtained. The list of the projects visited and the number of houses inspected 
is submitted ns Appendix “A” to the following report. You will note that 51 
projects were visited and 202 houses were inspected.

The report as submitted below is confined to findings of general application 
under the following headings:
1. Rites, Drainage and Services.

The land selected as sites for these developments is generally of good 
value but it annears that it was selected with agricultural qualities as the 
first consideration. The problems of drainage, sewage disposal and water 
supply which are of maior importance in large seale housing developments 
such as these was not given careful study before construction of the houses 
was started. As a result the drainage on several sites is unsatisfactory 
and a large number of the basements are flooded in the wet weather.
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Sewage disposal is also faulty on some sites where the type of soil 
will not handle the affluent quickly and on others where proper disposal 
beds have not been provided and the affluent is allowed to drain into ditches 
at the rear of the property, this will create an unsanitary condition unless 
a satisfactory method of sewage disposal is developed, the land here is 
not considered to be suitable for satisfactory disposal beds.

2. Designs and Working Drawings.
Approximately twenty-eight (28) different designs of houses were used 

on these projects and while they give variety and present a very attractive 
appearance it is felt that a smaller number of designs, with careful planning 
as to grouping, would have achieved the same result and would have 
allowed the benefits of mass production in construction. On some projects 
as many as eighteen (18) different types of houses were erected which 
meant that the builder was forced to treat each house individually with 
the resultant higher cost. The individual designs allow maximum floor 
space, light, and air, but in some cases they lack simplicity and call for 
rather complicated framing and present difficult problems for insulation. 
In several instances the designs are not workable in their present state, 
there being structural weaknesses around the basement stairs which requires 
the addition of wooden posts to prevent deflection in the floors.

The working drawings sent to the field lack complete details and as q 
result it has been left to the ingenuity of either the builder or the supervisor 
to work out his own solution to the construction problem, hence there is a 
lack of uniformity. In many cases where the builder or the supervisor 
did not give this sufficient attention bad construction has resulted.

The heating lay-out is very sketchy and difficulty was found in making 
the installation of furnaces and ducts in almost every case.

3. Specifications and Control.
The specifications are very general and allow for many variations in 

material and methods of construction, added to this the scarcity of materials 
made certain changes in specifications necessary on various projects. It 
is apparent that no rigid specification was followed in construction of the 
houses and the contractor and the local inspector were left to proceed 
without sufficient guidance or control. The result is definite lack of 
uniformity in quality and details of construction. Each project should have 
been provided with specifications applicable to the type of construction and 
materials available in the district; all changes should have been recorded and 
the inspectors instructed to stricly enforce these revised specifications.

4. Materials.

Materials generally while not of first, class quality are, with a few 
exceptions, up to the standard obtainable in the present day market. The 
difficulty of obtaining materials in a steady flow, however, was a most 
important factor in the construction of these houses. Due to slowness 
of deliveries the completion of most projects was delayed from four to 
eight months. This loss of time meant that a great deal of work was 
carried out under winter conditions and in many cases the houses suffered 
due to exposure of the interior to dampness and cold. The costs were 
increased by the loss of efficiency in the workmen and the necessity for 
providing temporary heat for the houses that were near completion.

The following are general observations of the quality of the different 
types of material as found in the houses inspected.
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(a) Concrete
In most cases of sufficient density and strength for the purposes 

used.
(b) Lumber

On most projects the lumber, while not of top grade, was found 
to be equal to the quality which can be obtained in the present market. 
It was not well dried and hence the shrinkage is greater than would 
be found in pre-war houses where dry lumber was obtainable. While 
this shrinkage will cause cracks to appear in the finished walls, it is 
not a serious defect, as when the lumber has dried in the houses, no 
further shrinkage will take place and these cracks can be filled with 
no fear of repetition. An exception to this is the lumber used on a 
few projects where it is of inferior quality with many knots and 
shrinkage checks. A great deal of this should have been culled.

(c) Millwork
The quality of trim, cupboards, doors, and windows supplied is 

definitely poor. A great deal of the trim is poorly sanded ; kitchen 
cupboards and medicine cabinets are rough and not well assembled. 
Some windows and doors, due to the difficulty in obtaining good dry 
lumber, have shrunk and warped. This lack of good millwork is 
found in all construction in Canada today due to the great demands 
which are placed on the mills and due to the lack of suitable dry 
lumber. It is felt, however, that where the millwork is decidedly poor 
it should have been rejected either by the contractor or the inspector.

(d) Flooring
Birch or edge grain British Columbia fir flooring has been used 

except in some of the Ontario projects. This flooring while not com­
parable with pre-war quality is as good as can be obtained today and 
is generally satisfactory. On some Ontario projects ordinary tongue- 
and-groove spruce has been laid in kitchens, bathrooms, and rooms 
on the upper floor. This material is not satisfactory as flooring as it 
will shrink and twist excessively. Cracks have developed in these 
floors up to in width.

(e) Insulation
In all cases inspected 2" rock wool or equivalent material was 

used. This is excellent insulation.
(/) Roofing

In most cases asphalt shingles were used which while probably 
not of the weight specified (210 lbs.) they are the standard shingles 
being produced by the manufacturers today. On other projects good 
quality cedar shingles were used.

(g) Paint
The paint on the exterior is generally of good quality, the interior, 

with the exception of the kitchens and bathrooms, is painted with a 
caseine base water paint which does not give a very satisfactory finish 
for houses of this class. This, however, was specified with the intention 
of providing a cheap finish which would suffice until the cracks due 
to shrinkage had fully developed, then the owner could decorate to his 
taste with no further cracks developing.

5. Workmanship, Supervision, and Inspection.
There is a great variety in the quality of workmanship found on the 

different projects, running from exceptionally high quality on some projects, 
to very inexpert quality on other projects. In the majority of cases the 
workmanship is of average quality and equal to that which can be expected 
in construction work carried out at the present time.
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Most of the defects caused by poor workmanship are of a minor nature 
affecting the finish of the house only, such as: badly fitted doors, and care­
lessly applied trim which shows hammer bruises and rough surfaces, which 
should have been sandpapered ; badly finished floors, and rough joint filling 
in the gyproc wallboard. These minor defects can be corrected with very 
little expense and effort and are normal problems in house construction.

On the sites where the workmanship is of inferior class, defects of a 
more serious nature were noted Such as, careless framing and uncontrolled 
cutting of structural members to allow passage for pipes, this has caused 
deflection in the floors; careless framing for chimneys where the wooden 
joists and beams have been allowed to touch the chimney, this constitutes 
a fire hazard; rough, and in some instances thin plaster which is cracking 
and falling off the walls and ceilings already ; roughly finished and badly 
cracked basement floors. These and other major defects which were noted 
can not only be blamed to bad workmanship, but show a lack of competent 
supervision and careful inspection on the projects where they occur.

6. Costs.
After examining the Cost Statements presented by Mr. G. L. McGee, 

Chief of the Building and Supplies Division, Veterans Land Act, the fol­
lowing points were noted:—
(а) Cost of House Construction

These costs vary greatly due to the various designs and to the 
various conditions under which the houses were built. The average 
cost of the six-room houses varies from $8,300.00 to $6,000.00, while 
four-room houses cost between $6,700.00 and $4,700.00. Cubic costs 
of the most expensive designs vary from 55c. per cubic foot to 41c. 
per cubic foot, with other designs showing cubic costs below these 
figures. It is felt that the average of these costs, approximately 
$7,150.00 for the six-room house and $5,700.00 for the four-room house 
is reasonable cost in today’s market.

It is noted that where the cubic costs have exceeded 48c. per cubic 
foot the cost to the purchaser has been reduced to this figure by 
“write offs” to cover unusual conditions such as transportation of 
labour and temporary heating, this brings the costs generally within 
the sums mentioned above. As most projects were located some 
distance from the city somewhat higher costs of construction can be 
expected.

(б) Land and Services

The cost of the land in all cases has been found to be exceptionally 
low and in many instances the value would be 25% to 30% more if 
purchased today.

Drainage, sewage disposal, water supply, and construction of roads, 
are items of considerable cost on all projects, and these have been 
taken into account when considering the final cost of the small holding. 
Again reductions have been made in cases where the cost of these 
improvements has reached a higher than average figure due to unusual 
conditions.

(c) Financing

Another item considered in the final value of the small holding 
is the cost of financing; in this case the interest rate is but ZY’/o. 
This low rate helps to balance the inflated construction costs due to 
existing conditions.
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(d) Contractors Profits
All contracts with one exception were let on a cost plus fixed fee

basis and the fees, as reported to the writer, were fair and reasonable.
7. Organization.

In order to carry out a house building program of this magnitude 
with despatch and efficiency a fairly large and experienced organization 
is necessary. During the inspection it was apparent to the writer that some 
of the engineers in charge of large divisions of the work were inexperienced 
at house construction, and others had too many developments in their 
charge to be able to give the necessary personal attention to the work 
while it was under construction.

As a result, on some projects, the responsibility for this control of the 
work lay entirely with the contractor and in some instances the contractor 
has not given the project the best supervision or his closest personal 
attention.

It was also found that on some projects where the purchasers are 
showing some discontent that, had the local inspector proceeded quickly 
with the correction of the minor deficiencies, a feeling of confidence would 
have been built up between the administration and the purchaser.

CONCLUSIONS

After due consideration of the points mentioned above, the following
conclusions have been reached:
(a) With certain specific exceptions, the houses, considering the present shortage 

of materials and skilled labour, are generally well built and materials and 
workmanship are equal to those obtainable on today’s market.

(b) The defects which have been noted in some houses can be corrected, but 
in some cases the services of competent superintendents will be required 
to properly organize and supervize the work.

(c) The cost of correcting these defects is difficult to estimate. On some projects 
the expense will be considerable while on others very little expenditure 
will be required.

(d) Several sites will require a complete survey as to drainage, with possibly 
the construction of large drainage ditches or storm sewers to prevent the 
flooding of basements.

(e) Some other projects will require a complete check-up on possible installation 
of a new sewage disposal system.

(/) The revised costs of the small holdings when the defects in the houses have 
been corrected arc reasonable and when the low cost of land, the contingent 
grant, and the low interest rates given to the Veteran, are considered, it is 
felt that it would be impossible for him to find housing of equal value for 
the price he is now paving. In no cases do the monthly pavments exceed 
$30.00.

(g) The administration of the Veterans Land Act undertook the building of 
these houses without experience in the construction of large scale housing 
developments and due to the urgent demand for houses, no time was allowed 
to build up an efficient organization to handle this work. Insufficient time 
was also given to the planning before the work started.
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(h) Despite this lack of experienced organization and despite difficult labour 
and material conditions two thousand six hundred (2,600) dwellings, which 
would not otherwise have been available, have been provided for sale to 
Veterans.

RECOMMENDATIONS
In keeping with the above conclusions the following recommendations are

submitted for your consideration. •
(а) That, on sites where many basements are subject to flooding due to poor 

drainage, a careful study be made of this problem and work be undertaken 
to provide efficient drainage schemes and that this cost should not be 
charged to the purchaser.

(б) On projects where there is inefficient sewage disposal, that this problem 
be corrected by either the installation of new disposal fields or by con­
nection to municipal sewerage systems.

(c) That the houses having minor, or in a few cases major structural defects, 
be put into first class condition as quickly as possible and that where 
necessary, competent superintendents be retained to carry out this woçk 
efficiently and that the cost of this work should not be charged to the 
purchaser.

(d) That the temporary soft wood flooring which was laid when hardwood 
flooring was unobtainable, be replaced by suitable hardwood flooring as 
soon as this material is available.

(e) That no over-all reduction in the selling prices be made but that the present 
policy of “writing off” costs due to unusual conditions on a particular 
project, be continued.

Respectfully submitted,
C. E. PARISH, B.Eng., M.E.I.C.,

Member of the Corporation of Professional Engineers of Quebec.

83313—6
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APPENDIX “A”

TO REPORT ON V.L.A. HOUSING PROJECTS PREPARED BY C. E. PARISH, M.E.I.C.
FEBRUARY 28, 1947

Listed below are Projects visited, the houses inspected and the dates of inspection:—

Date Location Project
Number 
of houses 
on project

Number 
of houses 
inspected

Jan. 7 Ottawa, Ont............................... Carleton Heights... 88 11
9 Montreal. Que............................. Pointe Claire.............. 103

r>\
10“ 10 Sherbrooke, Que........................ Rock Forest........“ 10 Sherbrooke, Que........................ North Ascot.................. 18 i 8

10 Sherbrooke, Que........................ Lennox ville............................. 7J
12413 Toronto, Ont... Humber Lea . 3« 13 Toronto, Ont............................... R iseborough.......................... 30 4“ 13 Toronto, Ont............................... Wedge wood............................ 84 2

13 Toronto, Ont.............................. Dunn View............................. 50
14 Toronto, Ont............................... Homeland.............................. 88 5
14 Toronto, Ont.............................. Gordon vale............................ 26
16 St. Catharines, Ont.................... Brae Leath............................. 20 5
16 Hamilton, Ont........................... Spring Valley......................... 93
16 Hamilton, Ont............................ Queensway............................. 97 5
17 \\ indsor. Ont...... Roseland.. . 60 8
17 Windsor, Ont.............................. 40 5

Winnipeg, Man............................ Charleswood........................ 90 5
23 Winnipeg, Man............................ St. Vital................................. 72 4
23 Winnipeg, Man............................ West St. Paul ....................... 56 3
24 Saskatoon, Sask......................... Montgomery Place................ 24 4
25 Prince Albert. Sask................... Victory Place......................... 7 4
25 Prince Albert, Sask................. Normandv Park.................. 8 4
27 Edmonton, Alta......................... Pleasant View........................ 4
27 Edmonton, Alta......................... Grierson................................. 45 6
29 Kamlooos, B.C.......................... Pleasant Valley..................... 30 5
30 Vernon, B.C. . Vernon.................................... 20 6
30 Kelowna, B.C............................ Bankhead............................... 30 4
31 Vancouver, B.C' ........................ Tait........................................ 103 6

Feb 1 Vancouver, B.C............. . Cora Brown........................... 50 5
1 Vancouver, B.C ........................ Gray....................................... 35

Vancouver, B.C .. Grauer.................................... 40 1
1 Vancouver, B.C... Hebert.................................... 12 1
1 Vancouver, B.C..........................

Victoria, BA'.............................
Thompson.............................. 65

3 Braefoot................................. 28 S
3 Victoria, B.C James..................................... 4 1
3 Victoria, B.C 21 3

« 3 Victoria, B.C.............................. Claussen................................. 10 1
“ 4 lluney, B.C................................ Haney Merger........................ 13 2

4 Haney, B.C................................ Morikawa............................... 7 i
4 Mission, B.C' Ta tube.................................... 11 i
4 Mission, B.C...................... Shikaze.................................. 3 i
4 Mission, B.C .......................... Wanatabe............................... 11 i
4 Chilliwack, B.C...... Ward Ayling.......................... 3
6 Calgarv, Alta. . . Bowness .. ......................... 45 5
6 Calgarv, Alta............................. Tuxedo Park.......................... 75 3

19 Moncton, N.B 11arris ville............................. 20 5
“ 20 Sack ville, N.B................. ....... Sack ville................................ 15 6

21 Sussex, N.B. 5« 26 Hull, Que. . . Deschenes.............................. 40 5
Mar. 11 Sarnia, Ont . . M c N all v- Durrance................ 8 6

12 Sault Ste. Marie, Ont............... Brookefield............................ 30 6
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APPENDIX “C”
HUMPHRYS No. 1A

Province—

Project—

British Columbia

Kamloops

Alberta

Edmonton-Martin

Saskatchewan

Regina
Manitoba

Ontario

Sarnia

Quebec

North Ascot

Maritimes

Truro

$ eta.

175 00

49 92 
432 56

1 cts.

175 00

$ cts.

164 00

1 cts.

164 00

1 cts.

75 00

86 00 
543 08 
671 06

1 cts.

75 00

1 cts. 1 cts. $ cts.

187 00

281 00 
163 93

$ cts.

187 00

1 cts.

150 00

189 52 
281 75 
290 25

1 cts.

150 00

761 52

,156 50

1 cts.

185 00

$ cts.

185 00

2. Land Development 
Costs—

A*°‘u^............. 331 98 
221 32~:iU1....................

..................
285 00

729 93Plectric Power.............. 482 48 65 10

33 00 
22 00

618 40 31 00

53 92 
68 45

1,331 14

142 85 | 78 50

78 00

3. House Service Cost—
11 95>> me i v. on net i ion.........

45 17 79 75 
145 0050 00

367 60
< PniHipptinns 13 76 

75 56 144 32 172 37House Grading.............. 42 66 99 78

TV,-tat 1 _L04_Q 757 26

7,674 59

926 72

6,217 17

1,578 51

5,818 73

1,284 53

7,796 02

1,068 02

7,691 47

185 00

6,433 80
1 OTAL lT"T'J...............................

4. House Cost........................ 7,674 59 6,217 17 5,818 73 7,796 02 7,691 47 6,433 80

Total.......................... 8,431 85 7,143.89 7,397 24 9,080 55 8,759 49 6,618 80

Number of Acres..................

Total Land Cost...................

Total Land Development 
Cost..........................

229-73

115,000.00

141,493.32

124-436

123,000.00

193,171.83

24-357

1 2,993.00

152,005.79

160-2

126,875.00

155,083.00

66-19

119,211.25

122,301.93

33

1 8,750.00

126,893.59

22

1 3,300.00

Nil
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HUMPHRYS No. 4A S

Province—

Project—

British Columbia

Kamloops

Alberta

Edmonton-Martin

Saskatchewan

Regina

Manitoba

Winnipeg-
Charleswood

Ontario

Sarnia

Quebec

Lennoxville

Maritimes

Truro

1. Land Cost.........................

$ cts.

125 00

49 93 
432 56

$ cts.

125 00

$ cts.

148 00

$ cts.

148 00

$ cts.

85 00

86 (X) 
543 08 
671 06

$ cts.

85 00

$ cts.

200 00

227 00 
206 00

$ cts.

200 00

$ cts.

187 00

281 00 
163 93

$ cts.

187 00

$ cts.

66 00

131 60 
483 40

$ cts.

66 00

$ cts.

185 00

$ cts.

185 00

2. Land Development
Costs—

Hoads...............................
Water............................... 328 38 

218 92Sewer...............................
Drainage.........................
Grading........................... 285 00
Electric Power.............. 482 49 65 10

33 00 
22 00

612 40 31 00

53 92 
68 45

1,331 14 433 00 729 93 615 00

3. House Service Costs— 
Water Connection......... 11 94 83 00 142 85
Sewer Connection.........
Driveways..................... 45 16 79 75 

145 00
100 00

Landscaping................... 50 00 37 00
Gas Connection............. 11 21 

74 47House Grading.............. 42 65 99 75 140 68 172 37 120 00 367 60 100 00

Total 1+2+3................ 707 24

7,217 45

901 08

5,593 76

1,588 51

5,222 87

753 00

5,997 00

1,284 53

7,118 61

781 00

6,688 59

185 00

6,093 954. House Cost.......................

Total..........................

7,217 45 5,593 76 5,222 87 5,997 00 f118 61 6,688 59 6,093 95

7,924 69 6,494 84 6,811 38 6,750 00 8,403 14 7,469 59 6,278 95

.

Number of Acres..................

Total Land Cost.................

Total Land Development 
Costs..............................

229-73

115,000.00

141,493.32

124-436

123,000.00

$93,171.83

24-357

t 2,993.00

$52,005.79

160-2

$26,875.00

$25,083.00

66-19 {

l

$19,211.25

$22,301.93

100 nr res 9,000-00 
15,000 sq. ft.

for road 100-00

$ 9,100.00

$12,709.50

1
1 22i

$ 3,300.00

Nil
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MOODY - MOORE No. 3

Province— 

Project—

1. Land Cost.

Land Development 
Costs—

Roads.......................
Water........................
Sewer........................
Drainage..................
Grading ..................
Electric Power...

3. House Service Costs- 
Water Connection... 
Sewer Connection...
Driveways................
Landscaping..............
Gas Connection.......
House Grading........

Total 1+2+3.

4. House Cost...

Total.........

Number of Acres. 

Total Land Cost .

Total Land Development 
Cost.....................................

British Columbia 

Vernon

$ cts 

Nil

97 63

232 83 
13 17

15 00

52 71

16 35

8,146 36

$ cts 

Nil

343 63

84 06 

427 69

8,146 36

8,574 05

33-7

Donated by the 
City of Vernon.

$16,172.55

Alberta 

Edmonton-Martin

$ cts 

119 00

265 98 
177 32

$ cts

119 00

65 10

33 00 
22 (Ml

13 02 
83 28

5,875 45

508 40

151 30 

778 70

5,875 45

6,654 15

124 436 

$23,000.00 

$93,171.83

Saskatchewan

$ cts. $ cts

24-357 

$ 2,993.00 

$52,005.79

Manitoba

$ cts $ cts.

160-2

$26,875.00

$55,083.00

Ontario

Sarnia

$ cts. 

187 00

281 00 
163 93

285 00

142 85

79 75 
145 00

8,237 69

$ cts 

187 00

729 93

367 60 

1,284 53

8,237 69

9,522 22

66-19

$19,211.25

$22,301.93

$ cts. 

150 00

189 52 
281 75 
290 25

M untunesQuebec 

North Ascot

78 50 

78 00

7,858 37

$ cts

150 00

761 52

156 50 

1,068 02

7,858 37

8,926 39

33

$ 8,750.00 

$26,893.59

$ cts. $ cts.

22

$ 3,300.00 

Nil
o
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VAN NORMAN DESIGN No. 3B

Province—

Project—

British Columbia

Kamloops

Alberta

Edmonton-Martin

Saskatchewan Manitoba Ontario

Sarnia

Quebec

North Ascot

Maritimes

Truro

1. Land Cost.........................

2. Land Development
Costs—

Roads...............................

S cts.

125 00

40 93 
432 56

$ cts.

125 00

$ cts.

119 00

$ cts.

119 00

$ cts. $ cts. $ cts. $ cts. $ cts.

187 00

281 00 
103 93

$ cts.

187 00

$ cts.

100 00

189 52 
281 75

$ cts.

100 00

$ cts.

185 00

STAN
D

ING C
O

M
M

ITT
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Water............................... 265 98 
177 32Sewer............................... 290 25

Drainage.........................
Grading........................... 285 00
Electric Power.............. 482 49 65 10

33 00 
22 00

508 40 729 93 761 52

3. House Service Costs— 
Water Connection......... 11 95 142 85 | 78 50

78 00
Sewer Connection.........
Driveways..................... 45 17 79 75 

145 00Landscaping...................
Gas Connection............. 10 77 

84 90House Grading............. 42 67 99 79 1.50 67 367 60 156 50

Total 1+2+3................ 707 28

8,129 86

778 07

5,936 38

1,284 53

7,965 23

1,018 02

7,967 99

185 00 g 

6,983 754. House Cost.......................

Total..........................

8,129 86 5,936 38 7,965 23 7,967 99 6,983 75

8,837 14 0,714 45 9,249 76 8,986 01 7,168 75

Number of Acres.................

Total Land Cost...................

Total Land Development 
Cost......................................

229 73

$15,000.00

$41,493.32

124 36

$23,000.00

$93,171.83

24-357

$ 2,993.00

$52,005.79

160-2

$26,875.00

$55,083.00

66-19

$19,211.25

$22,301.93

33

$ 8,750.00

$20,893.59

22

$ 3,300.00

Nil
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APPENDIX “D”
* P.C. 1278

Certified to be a true copy of a Minute of a Meeting of the Committee of the 
Privy Council approved by His Excellency the Administrator on the 
2 April, 1946.

The Committee of the Privy Council have had before them a report, dated 
29th March, 1946, from the Minister of Veterans Affairs, stating as follows:

1. Section 7 and 7A of The Veterans’ Land Act 1942, authorize the Director,
The Veterans’ Land Act, to purchase land, buildings and building 
materials and to enter into a contract with any person, firm or corpora­
tion for the erection of buildings and for effecting such other improve­
ments as he may deem necessary.

2. Under authority so granted, the Director during the years 1944-45 pur­
chased land deemed necessary by him for the establishment of veterans 
in parttime farming and for the purpose of providing -homes and other 
improvements on lands so acquired. The construction of such small 
holdings or homes was distributed amongst the Provinces as follows: 
British Columbia, 572 units; Alberta, 275 units; Saskatchewan, 79 
units; Manitoba, 240 units; Ontario, 1,033 units; Quebec 187 units; 
New Brunswick 74 units; Nova Scotia, 30 units and Prince Edward 
Island, 15 units. The construction of these small holdings and homes 
was distributed in 86 localities in Canada.

3. In the inception of the construction program referred to in (2) above,
a number of tenders were advertised for in the usual way for contracts 
on a firm price bid but the bids quoted were generally at prices which 
were exorbitant or alternatively, no bids were received. Construction 
on firm price contracts was approved for 160 housing units in Alberta; 
10 in Manitoba; 56 in Ontario, and 30 in New Brunswick.

4. Following the failure to obtain reasonable contracts on firm price bids,
recourse was had to contracts arranged on a cost plus fixed fee basis 
along the lines followed by the Department of Munitions and Supply. 
The fixed fee was arranged at a reasonable figure and the operation 
of all cost plus fixed fee contracts were from the outset placed under 
the disbursement control of the Audit Division of the Treasury Depart­
ment and under the structural supervision of representatives of the 
Director.

5. The Director, The Veterans’ Land Act has now reported that as a result
of difficulties confronting building contractors and the administration 
occasioned by the cost of Materials, delays in obtaining deliveries of 
essential materials, excessive labour costs, and abnormally wet weather 
during critical stages of construction in certain areas, the total cost 
of the construction operations referred to will exceed the estimated 
costs. Costs have shown substantial variations for identical dwellings 
located in the same area built by different contractors and substantial 
variations in costs of like designs in different areas, all of which present 
problems in the sale of these holdings to qualified veterans as provided 
by Section 9, The Veterans’ Land Act.
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6. The Director further reports that construction has progressed to a point
where completed units are becoming available for sale and that close 
calculation of costs already incurred and careful estimates of the 
additional costs to be met show that adjustment should be made of 
costs at which many of these holdings can or should be sold to 
veterans.

7. Section 21, The Veterans’ Land Act, provides as follows:
21. If the Director deems that any land or other property acquired 

by him cannot or ought not to be sold subject, whether as to sale 
price or otherwise, to the provisions of Section 9, he shall report 
to the Minister the circumstances, with a statement of the cost 
of such property and shall recommend another sale price or other 
terms of sale, whereafter any sale of such property shall be made 
for such sale price, or upon such terms, to any person as the 
Governor in Council may approve.

The Committee, therefore, on the recommendation of the Minister of 
Veterans’ Affairs, advise:

A. That the overall costs of the construction program referred to above
be reduced by a sum not in excess of One Million Dollars, ($1,000,000) ;

B. That a Committee comprising W. S. Woods, Deputy Minister, Depart­
ment of Veterans Affairs, and G. Murchison, Director, The Veterans' 
Land Act, be authorized to approve adjustments in costs to a basis 
which in their judgment represents reasonable sale value under the pro­
visions of The Veterans’ Land Act, such adjustments not to exceed a 
total of One Million Dollars (1,000,000) ; and

C. That the Director, The Veterans’ Land Act be authorized to arrange
sales to veterans of any small holdings referred to herein, the adjusted 
cost of which is in excess of $6,000 on the basis of a minimum down 
payment of $600.00, but providing that in such cases the conditional 
grant shall not exceed the limits provided by Section 9, The Veterans’ 
Land Act.

Sgd. A. D. P. HEENEY,
Clerk of the Privy Council.
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APPENDIX “E”

P.C. 1811

Certified to be a true copy of a Minute of a Meeting of the Committee of the 
Privy Council, approved by His Excellency the Governor General on 
the 16 May, 1947.

The Committee of the Privy Council have had before them a report dated 
5th May, 1947 from the Minister of Veterans Affairs, stating that Order in 
Council of the 2nd April, 1946 (P.C. 1278), dealt with the cost of homes being 
erected on small holdings pursuant to the provisions of the Veterans’ Land Act, 
1942, and certain cost-plus fixed fee contracts, and provided :

A. That the overall costs of the construction program referred to above
be reduced by a sum not in excess of One Million Dollars ;

B. That a Committee comprising W. S. Woods, Deputy Minister of
Veterans Affairs, and G. Murchison, Director, The Veterans’ Land Act, 
be authorized to approve adjustments in costs to a basis which in 
their judgment represents reasonable sale value under the provisions 
of The Veterans’ Land Act, such adjustments not to exceed a total of 
One Million Dollars; and

C. That the Director, The Veterans’ Land Act be authorized to arrange
sales to veterans of any small holdings referred to herein, the adjusted 
cost of which is in excess of $6,000.00 on the basis of a minimum 
down payment of $600.00, but providing that in such cases the con­
ditional grant shall not exceed the limits provided by Section 9, The 
Veterans’ Land Act.

The Director, The Veterans’ Land Act, has now reported to the Minister 
of Veterans Affairs,—

1. That the sum of One Million Dollars authorized as shown has been 
found inadequate for the purposes required. Since the passing of the said 
Order constantly increasing difficulty has been encountered in the completion 
of these small holding projects. These difficulties have resulted in substantially 
increased costs of construction and in deficiencies or defects in construction 
which must be remedied. The Director reports that the difficulties referred to 
centre on the following principal factors;

(а) The demand for building materials resulting from the greatly expanded 
program of industrial, commercial and housing construction throughout 
Canada, commencing in the spring months of 1946 and continuing to 
the present time. The difficulty confronting the Director in obtaining 
adequate and regular supplies of materials was accentuated by various 
suppliers failing to honour, or to honour promptly, the priorities issued 
under Federal authority in favour of Veterans’ Land Act requirements;

(б) Delays in deliveries of materials due to labour troubles in Canada 
and the United States. These affected deliveries of steel products 
electrical goods, glass and lumber ;

(c) Authorized increases during 1946 in labour rates and in the prices of 
building materials designated as millwork;
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(d) The scarcity of skilled labour and the inefficiency of available labour ;
(e) The difficulty in obtaining and retaining the services of adequate, 

qualified inspection staff due to the more attractive remuneration 
offered by private industry or other agencies;

(/) Lack of adequate supervision or management on the part of prime 
contractors.

2. That the final completion of all details of the various contracts has 
delayed the submission of final cost figures duly audited by the Cost and Audit 
Division of the Treasury Department. In the meantime, the homes under 
construction on these small holdings were allocated to veterans as rapidly as 
they were habitable in order to ease the pressing needs of qualified veterans 
for housing accommodation. In allocating these holdings to veterans tentative 
sale prices were quoted on the basis of the best available cost figures at the 
time.

3. That action has been taken to survey, estimate the cost, and proceed 
with the correction of construction defects or deficiencies and to negotiate 
settlements with contractors for construction defects or deficiencies which are 
properly their responsibility.

4. The Director estimates that in addition to the sum of $1,000,000 provided 
by P.C. 1278 an additional sum of $850,000 is required to complete adjustments 
in accordance with the intent of P.C. 1278 and to provide for the cost to the 
Director of correcting construction defects or deficiencies.

5. Section 21 of The Veterans’ Land Act provides as follows:
21. If the Director deems that any land or other property acquired by 

him cannot or ought not to be sold subject, whether as to sale price 
or otherwise, to the provisions of section nine, he shall report to the 
Minister the circumstances, with a statement of the cost of such 
property and shall recommend another sale price or other terms of 
sale, whereafter any sale of such property shall be made for such 
sale price, or upon such terms, to any person as the Governor in Council 
may approve.

The Committee, therefore, on the recommendation of the Minister of 
Veterans Affairs, advise;

1. That the overall cost of the construction program referred to herein 
be reduced by the sum of $850,000, in addition to the sum of $1,000.000 prev­
iously authorized;

2. That a Committee comprising the Deputy Minister of Veterans Affairs 
and The Director, The Veterans’ Land Act. be authorized to approve adjust­
ments in costs to a basis which in their judgment represents reasonable sale 
value under the provisions of The Veterans’ Land Act, such adjustments not to 
exceed the total of an additional $850,000 as aforesaid and

3. That the Director, The Veterans’ Land Aet be authorized to arrange 
sales to veterans of any small holdings referred to herein, the cost or the 
adjusted cost of which is in excess of $0,000 on a basis of a minimum down 
payment of $600 but providing that in such cases the conditional grant shall 
not exceed the limits provided in Section 9 of The Veterans’ Land Act.

(Sgd.) A. D. P. HEENEY,
Clerk of the Privy Council.
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REPORT TO THE HOUSE

Tuesday, July 15, 1947.
The Standing Committee on Public Accounts begs leave to present the 

following as a
Seventh Report

Arising out of consideration of the Public Accounts for the fiscal year 
ended March 31, 1946, your Committee undertook an investigation of the 
building project carried on in the Township of Sarnia. County of Lambton, 
Ontario, by The Veterans’ Land Act Administration. Your Committee held 
meetings on July 4, 9, 10 and 11 and sat for six hours on each of these days 
and evidence was given by Mr. Gordon Murchison, Director, Soldier Settlement 
and Veterans’ Land Act, Mr. A. D. Wymbs, Acting Financial Superintendent, 
and Mr. W. G. Wurtle, Chief Treasury Officer; and by Mr. William T. Cleave, 
one of the veterans who occupy the houses built at Sarnia. It sat also on July 
14 to study the terms of its report.

Although its hearings mainly centered on the Sarnia project, your Com­
mittee gave attention to housing facilities provided for veterans throughout 
Canada.

For a better understanding of the problem facing your Committee, it is 
to be noted that the Sarnia project is one of 114 similar projects undertaken 
by The Veterans’ Land Act Administration throughout Canada, as a result 
of which 2,381 houses were provided for veterans.

Canadian veterans may use either of two plans to purchase houses. They 
may use their reestablishment credit to help pay for a house, whether already 
built, whether contracted for privately or whether acquired through the facilities 
of the National Housing Act, or they may choose to buy a house through The 
Veterans’ Land Act, whether built privately or a< part of a departmental project. 
L'nder the provisions of the Act, a veteran who waives his reestablishment 
credit may use a special maximum grant of $1.400.00 to be applied as part 
payment of a small holding, intended to be sold to him at cost or at a readjusted 
price considered by the Department as the real value of the property. After 
assessment of the value is arrived at, the grant of $1,400.00 is deducted from 
it, the veteran is asked to contribute a cash payment of 10 per cent up to 
$600.00, after which a monthly payment is made by him over a period of 
25 years to cover the balance of the price, with interest at the rate of three 
and one half per cent.

The Veterans’ Land Act Administration has spent $15,769,747.00 for the 
construction of 2,381 houses, exclusive of the cost of land and project develop­
ment, such as water mains, sewers, etc. The average construction cost per 
unit of about 15,000 cubic feet is, therefore, $6,623.13 or about 44 cents per 
cubic foot.

Your Committee’s investigation has disclosed that the eight houses built 
on The Veterans’ Land Act project at Sarnia have cost substantially more 
than the overall average for Canada and that the construction has been 
unsatisfactory.

From the admission of the Director, The Veterans’ Land Act, Mr. Gordon 
Murchison, it is apparent that the defects in construction of the houses at the 
time they were sold to veterans resulted from negligence on the part of officials 
working under his direction, from faulty workmanship, from the use of unsatis­
factory materials and, possibly, also from faulty engineering.

Your Committee is of the opinion that the higher cost of these houses, 
58 cents per cubic foot, as compared with the Canadian average could not be

707
93323—1J



708 STANDING COMMITTEE

entirely attributable to higher wages prevailing in the district, nor solely to 
other local conditions. Your Committee recommends that the Government 
refer the matter to the Department of Justice with a view to determining what 
action, if any, may be taken if the contractors are considered at fault, and of 
collecting from them such amount of the increased cost as may be attributable 
to the contractors’ fault.

Your Committee considered hearing witnesses concerning the construction 
defects on the Rosedale project located near Windsor. The feeling of your 
Committee was that disclosure of any defects in houses located in Rosedale 
or elsewhere could not materially add to its conclusions and that opening of 
another question might lead to a large number of witnesses asking to appear 
with the result that your Committee might not have time to bring in a report 
before the end of the session, and your Committee agreed on the urgency of an 
immediate report.

Your Committee regrets that this matter was not brought to its attention 
in time to have evidence by veterans of other projects. Your Committe hopes 
that remedial measures taken as a result of its report may satisfactorily adjust 
defects which may have occurred in other projects.

Your Committee was not favourably impressed by the way evidence was 
given by Mr. Gordon Murchison, Director, The Veterans’ Land Act.

Your Committee feels that the facilities given by Canada to veterans under 
The Veterans’ Land Act and other measures are such as to compare favourably 
with the treatment granted veterans by other allied countries. It, therefore, 
all the more regrets the inconveniences suffered by some of the veterans who 
have in good faith purchased houses on projects where faulty construction has 
been encountered, and your Committee urges that corrective remedial action 
should be taken at once.

Your Committee is of the opinion that the repair program, although extens­
ive, has been conducted in a haphazard manner and that such repairs as were 
considered urgent by the special departmental report of Mr. W. S. Woods, 
Deputy Minister of Veterans Affairs, and Colonel C. P. Parrish be completed 
at once. All corrective measures should be expedited and carried out without 
cost to veterans.

Your Committee recommends that the veteran shall have the option of 
completing his purchase within one month after all the defects in his house 
are corrected. Should he decide not to purchase, then the house in question 
should be vacated so as to be available to another veteran and the withdrawing 
veteran should receive a return of his deposit less a reasonable occupancy rent 
which, in case of dispute should be subject to appeal to the Deputy Minister.

Your Committee recommends that a board of three men be appointed 
consisting of real estate and building experts, none of whom shall have had 
previous connection with the Department of Veterans Affairs, or with any 
other governmental building projects, to pursue the work undertaken by your 
Committee, with a view to giving justice and fair treatment to veteran pur­
chasers and all parties interested in this question, and to recommend to the 
Minister any remedy it may consider fit to correct the situation.

Such hoard should first investigate the Sarnia project, as your Committee 
considers it important to clarify the situation there at as early a date as 
possible.

Subsequent to its investigation of the Sarnia project, the board, in the 
opinion of your Committee, would do well to examine other projects which may 
be brought to its attention.

A copy of the minutes of proceedings and evidence from July 3 to date is 
appended.

All of which is respectfully submitted.
L. PHILIPPE PICARD,

Chairman.
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MINUTES OF PROCEEDINGS
Friday, July 11, 1947.

The Standing Committee on Public Accounts met at 3 o’clock p.m., the 
Chairman, Mr. L. P. Picard, presiding.

Members present: Messrs. Beaudry, Burton, Cleaver, Cote (Verdun), 
Denis, Fleming, Fournier (Maisonneuve-Rosemont), Fraser, Gladstone, Golding, 
Grant, Green, Hamel, Jackman, Kirk, Macdonnell, McCubbin, Murphy, Probe, 
Stuart (Charlotte), Winkler.

In attendance: Mr. Gordon Murchison, Director, Soldier Settlement and 
Veterans’ Land Act, Mr. A. D. Wymbs, Acting Financial Superintendent, and 
Mr. W. G. Wurtle, Chief Treasury Officer.

The Committee resumed its investigation into the operations of The 
Veterans’ Land Act in the township of Sarnia, Ontario.

Examination of Messrs. Murchison, Wvmbs and Wurtle was continued.
On motion of Mr. Burton, the Committee thanked the witnesses for the 

courteous manner in which they had answered questions put to them.
The witnesses were discharged.
Moved by Mr. Fleming, that the Committee summon two witnesses from 

the Roseland project at Windsor for Monday next.
After discussion, Mr. Cleaver moved in amendment that inasmuch as there 

is not time at this session to call further witnesses, and to present a proper 
report to the House, that the Committee now proceed to prepare its report.

After discussion, Mr. Murphy moved, in amendment to the amendment, 
that the Steering Committee be instructed to submit to the Committee as soon 
as possible a draft report on the present inquiry, and to include therein a 
recommendation that a Royal Commission be appointed to investigate all 
aspects of administration under the Veterans’ Land Act.

The Chairman ruled the amendment to the amendment to be out of order.
After discussion, and the question having been put on Mr. Cleaver’s amend­

ment, it was resolved in the affirmative.
And the question having been put on Mr. Fleming’s motion, as amended, 

it was resolved in the affirmative.
At 6.10 o’clock p.m., the Committee adjourned until 8 o’clock p.m., this day.

EVENING SITTING
The Committee resumed, in camera, at 8 o’clock p.m., the Chairman, Mr. 

L. P. Picard, presiding.
Members present: Messrs. Beaudry, Burton, Cleaver, Denis, Fleming, 

Fournier (Maisonneuve-Rosemont), Gladstone, Golding, Grant, Jackman, 
Jaenicke, Kirk, Murphy, Winkler.

The Committee proceeded to consideration of its Seventh Report.
It was agreed that the Steering Committee prepare a draft report for 

presentation to the Committee at the earliest opportunity, and the various mem­
bers of the Committee present expressed their views as to the significance of 
the evidence adduced.

At 11.15 o’clock p.m., the Committee adjourned to the call of the Chair.
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Monday, July 14, 1947.
The Standing Committee on Public Accounts met in camera at 8 o’clock 

p m., the Chairman, Mr. L. P. Picard, presiding.
Members present: Messrs. Beaudry, Bradette, Burton, Case, Cleaver, Cote 

(1 erdun), Cloutier, Denis, Fraser, Gladstone, Kirk, Probe, Rinfret, Stewart 
(Winnipeg North), Warren.

The Chairman reported that a meeting of the steering committee had been 
held during the afternoon and had unanimously adopted a draft Seventh Report, 
a copy of which was thereupon distributed to all members.

The Committee proceeded to consideration of the said draft report.
Mr. Beaudry moved that the final paragraph on page two be deleted and 

the following substituted therefor:—
Your Committee is of the opinion that the higher cost of these houses, 

58 cents per cubic foot, as compared with the Canadian average could 
not be entirely attributable to higher wages prevailing in the district, 
nor solely to other local conditions. Your Committee recommends that 
the Government refer the matter to the Department of Justice with a 
view to determining what action, if any, may be taken if the contractors 
are considered at fault, and of collecting from them such amount of the 
increased cost as may be attributable to the contractors fault.

After discussion, and the question having been put on the said motion, it 
was resolved in the affirmative.

Consideration of paragraph three, page three followed.
Mr. Boucher moved that the paragraph as approved by the steering com­

mittee be adopted.
Mr. Rinfret moved, in amendment, that the paragraph be deleted and the 

following substituted therefor:
Your Committee was not favourably impressed by the way evidence 

was given by Mr. Gordon Murchison, Director, The Veterans’ Land 
Act.

After discussion, and the question having been put on Mr. Rinfret’s amend­
ment, it was resolved in the affirmative.

And the question having been put on Mr. Boucher’s motion, it was resolved 
in the affirmative.

Mr. Beaudry moved that the last garapraph on page three be deleted.
After discussion, and the question having been put on the said motion, 

it was resolved in the affirmative.
Mr. Boucher moved that the following paragraph be inserted immediately 

following paragraph three, page three:
Your Committee believes that the magnitude of the task of con­

structing over 2,000 houses under the then existing labour and material 
supply conditions was not fully appreciated by the directors and that 
adequate engineering and inspection services were not secured. It is 
possible that Civil Service regulations as to salaries, etc., precluded the 
hiring of qualified employees by the directors but a project of this size 
should not have been undertaken without sufficient qualified engineering 
and inspeetional staff.
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After discussion, and the question having been put on the said motion, it 
was resolved in the negative.

Mr. Beaudry moved that paragraph three, page four, be deleted.
After discussion, and the question having been put on the said motion, it 

was resolved in the affirmative.
Mr. Boucher moved that the following paragraph be inserted immediately 

following paragraph two, page four:—
Your Committee feels that any price readjustment should be uni­

versally applied and considers that a yardstick of comparable local values 
for houses of similar construction should apply throughout the country. 
Any adjustments in price would have to be carefully considered having 
in mind the general situation faced by other veterans who secured houses 
through other plans.

After discussion, and the question having been put on the said motion, it 
was resolved in the negative.

On motion of Mr. Cleaver, it was agreed that the second paragraph on page 
five be deleted and the following substituted therefor:—

Subsequent to its investigation of the Sarnia project, the Board, in 
the opinion of your Committee, would do well to examine other projects 
which may be brought to its attention.

Mr. Rinfret moved in amendment that the paragraph be further amended 
by the addition of the words and recommend price readjustment if found 
necessary.

The Chairman ruled that Mr. Rinfret’s motion was out of order inasmuch 
as it dealt with a matter already decided by the Committee.

Mr. Cleaver’s motion was adopted.
Further minor amendments were agreed to.
The report as amended was adopted on division, and the Chairman ordered 

to present it to the House forthwith.
At 11.40 p.m., the Committee adjourned to the call of the Chair.

A. L. BURGESS,
Clerk of the Committee.
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MINUTES OF EVIDENCE
House of Commons,

July 11, 1947.
The Standing Committee on Public Accounts met this day at 3.00 p.m. 

The Chairman, Mr. L. Philippe Picard, presided.
The Chairman: Gentlemen, we have a quorum so we may start.
Mr. Cleaver: Mr. Chairman, I believe I was examining the witness when 

the committee swung over to a discussion of procedure. Mr. Beaudry says he 
has one corrective question that he would like to submit. Is he here?

Mr. Sarto Fournier: He will be back in a moment.
Mr. Fleming: While we are waiting for Mr. Beaudry to come baek I would 

like to discuss the question of what we are going to do after today. I think 
probably it is the wish of all members of the committee to know as soon as 
possible, exactly what we are going to do. We had some indication down in the 
House in the last few' minutes that prorogation may come a little earlier than 
was expected yesterday, and that the House may not be in session more than two 
days next week. I think probably it is the desire of all members to know 
exactly where we stand on the matter of our meetings. I indicated, Mr. Chairman, 
when we were discussing the question of procedure on Wednesday afternoon, 
that I was going to ask the committee to recommend to the House in its 
report, that a royal commission be appointed to investigate the administration 
of the Veterans’ Land Act with a view to three things. The first is to see that 
justice should be done to the veterans in the matter of prices to be charged to 
them and the quality of construction which they are entitled to expect. The 
second is to see that justice has been done to the taxpayers of Canada and that 
they are not being mulcted unmercifully. The third concerns operations within 
the department in that they should be carried on without negligence, if it is 
no more than of the kind exposed in the case of Sarnia.

The Chairman: I do not want to interrupt you, but I think if we are 
going to discuss the whole of our wrork up to now we should first finish the 
evidence. If I may be permitted to say so at this moment, if we want to talk 
of what we are going to do for the next few days, all right, but I do not think 
the moment has arrived to discuss what we are going to put in our report. 
That will be the subject of a special meeting.

Mr. Fleming: I was nearly finished, Mr. Chairman, and I merely men­
tioned I was going to ask the committee to appoint a royal commission for the 
purpose I have outlined. The matter of calling witnesses from Windsor which 
I asked last night does not affect that. In other words I am going to ask for 
a royal commission whether we hear the witnesses from Windsor or not, based on 
the evidence we have already had concerning the Sarnia project. The proposal 
that we should call witnesses from another project, namely Windsor, was 
suggested by me because some of the members felt or expressed the view that 
the evidence we had heard from one project was not enough, because that project 
or experience might not be typical. If the committee is going to take the view 
there is not time to hear witnesses from Windsor or anywhere else, I suggest 
that we decide that as soon as possible. I want to be perfectly frank to the 
committee by saying that I am going to ask that a recommendation be included 
in our report to the House regarding the royal commission whether we hear the 
witnesses from Windsor or not. I just mention that the time is short and that 
we should plan our meetings accordingly.
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The Chairman: If wo want to ask questions about Windsor we have two 
witnesses here. A\ e can get the costs and we can learn if there have been 
complaints. Why should we, at this particular moment, call witnesses to make 
our meetings longer, especially if the House is adjourning on Wednesday. We 
will not have too much time for this. We should take and complete the evidence 
to-day. \\ e will not have much time to have two or three more meetings and 
then bring down a report. You know we will have to talk about it before the 
steering committee meets and then the steering committee will bring its report 
which has to be approved by the full committee. If it involved only one meeting 
that would be all right, but it would be three meetings, one to approve the 
procedure, one to cover the steering committee’s report, and one meeting for 
the main committee to approve the matters discussed in the other meetings. 
It means discussion in at least three or four meetings. For myself I submit we 
might as well go on. We have not completed the evidence on this particular 
matter and we have got two people here, Mr. Boucher and Mr. Cleaver, who 
have questions to ask, and perhaps the others will have some questions. I think 
we should carry on and at the end of this meeting this afternoon we can deter­
mine what we shall do next week.

Yes, Mr. Beaudry?
Mr. Beaudry: I quite agree with what you say. I suggested to Mr. Fleming 

that if it was agreeable to the committee, when we go into an investigation on 
other points outside of Sarnia, we will, to some extent I suppose, find things 
which would bear out the evidence regarding Sarnia. On the other hand, we 
will not destroy the evidence which is on the record concerning some of the 
aspects throughout the country at large. In my humble opinion we would only 
be adding to the Sarnia evidence without gaining anything which would change 
our vision on the proposition generally. I think we have enough evidence about 
Sarnia to justify our looking into the matter.

Mr. Cleaver : I believe you had one corrective question to ask?
Mr. Beaudry : Yes, thank you for reminding me. There was a mistake 

in the calculations last night that I would like to amend on the record. When 
we figured the cost over all of Canada of the 2,381 houses from which there 
was to be deducted an amount for landscaping, specified for London, Toronto, 
Saskatchewan and Manitoba, there should be one correction made which will 
slightly alter the total. The correction is that landscaping was charged at the 
rate of $145 per house for 792 houses in and about London and Toronto, instead 
of 944 houses. This ajnount was deducted from the original figure of $15,914,707, 
and divided by the number of houses it will bring up the cost of construction 
per house from $0,623.13 to $6,632.42. In other words there is an increase of 
roughly $9 per house. I do not think that will reflect to any considerable* 
extent the cost per cubic foot.

Gordon B. Murchison, I>irector of the Veterans’ Land Act and the 
Soldiers’ Settlement Board, called :

By Mr. Cleaver:
Q. When the committee stopped taking evidence last night I was obtaining 

from you the number of homes and the amount of capital adjustment that 
was made, by provinces, in arriving at the actual selling price to the veterans. 
Have you that table ready?—A. Yes. This summary is by provinces. British 
Columbia, 576 houses, the reduction is $208.428.49; Alberta, 280 houses, the 
reduction is $53,106.95; Saskatchewan, 80 houses, $70,089.07 ; Manitoba, 240 
houses, $65,767 ; Quebec, 170 houses, $206,294.25; Maritime provinces, 135 
houses, $55,482.04 ; Ontario, 900 houses, $487,227.82. That makes a total of 
2,381 units and a total reduction of $1,146,295.62.
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Q. Who are the members of the committee charged with the responsibility 
of making those adjustments, those capital adjustments?—A. The deputy 
minister of Veterans Affairs, and the director of the Veterans’ Land Act.

Q. And I take it the entire $1,000,000 provided by P.C. 1728 has been used 
up and that you are now on the second vote of $850,000?—A. That is right.

Q. Are you in a position to express an opinion as to whether that will 
provide enough money to effect capital adjustments for all of those veterans 
homes on all of the projects?—A. Oh, it will be more than ample to provide 
for the adjustments on the contract cost, and I am reasonably hopeful that 
there will be enough to cover the costs of remedying defects.

Q. Can this committee have, and I should not ask for an assurance, but 
if you should run a little bit short, what are your personal views about coming 
back for sufficient money to treat everyone alike?—A. I would have no hesita­
tion in doing so.

Q. Now, in turning to the other part of the problem, the repair of the 
defects, I believe I saw yesterday, a joint report of the deputy minister, the 
director, and Mr. Parrish. Could I have that again?

The Chairman: Here it is.
Mr. Cleaver: Thank you.

By Mr. Cleaver:
Q. Mr. Murchison, who is Colonel Parrish?—A. I believe Colonel Parrish 

is a member of—I cannot recall the name of the construction firm in Montreal,— 
but he is a graduate in engineering from the University of McGill and an 
engineer who has had quite considerable experience in superintending construc­
tion of homes, individual homes of the luxury class, and in the construction of 
several hundred wartime houses in the Montreal area.

Q. Who appointed him as one of the committee of three to make the 
inspection of the veterans’ land homes made in the spring of 1947?—A. I believe 
it was by the Governor in Council on the recommendation of the Minister of 
Veterans Affairs.

Q. In looking over this report, there are just one or two questions I would 
like to ask you. I am reading, Mr. Chairman, from page 19 of Colonel 
Parrish’s report, as follows:—

After due consideration of the points mentioned above, that is about 
the defects, the following conclusions have been reached :—
(a) With certain specific exceptions the houses, considering the present 

shortage of materials and skilled labour, are generally well built, 
and materials and workmanship are equal to those obtainable on 
to-day’s market.

Keeping that finding in mind, he makes certain recommendations and I 
want to know whether you agree with those recommendations and to what 
extent they have been implemented? In the matter of recommendations on 
page 20 he says:—

Keeping that finding in mind, he makes certain recommendations and I 
want to know whether you agree with those recommendations and to what 
extent they have been implemented? In the matter of recommendations cm page 
20 he says:

In keeping with above conclusions—
I just read the summary, I did not read all the details—

the following recommendations are submitted for your consideration:— 
(a) That on sites where many basements are subject to flooding due 

to poor drainage, a careful study be made of this problem and 
work be undertaken to provide efficient drainage schemes and that 
this cost should not be charged to the purchaser.

Has that been done?—A. That is under way. The work has not been completed.
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Q. Could you give the committee an estimate as to when all of this 
necessary drainage work will have been completed? The reason I am anxious 
to have that and am rather pressing for it is that I very much doubt whether 
the veteran should be asked to make up his mind until this work is completed.— 
A. There will probably be some drainage work carried over into the month 
of Septemer but we are pressing for the completion of all of these drainage items 
during the most favourable month.

Q. Would I be safe in saying then that you have every expectation that 
the drainage work will be completed by the end of September?—A. Yes.

Q. Very well ; then subparagraph (6):—
On projects where there is inefficient sewage disposal, that this 

problem be corrected by either the installation of new disposal fields or 
by connection to municipal sewerage systems.

Has that been done?—A. We have replaced quite a number of septic 
tank disposal fields. We have replaced a number of septic tanks which were 
defective. It is not possible for us to connect up with municipal drainage 
systems unless we would undertake at very great expense to bring the sewage 
systems to our project, but where a municipal sewage system is available close 
to the project we have hooked up to it.

By Mr. Croll:
Q. Who paid the expense?—A. If it was originally in the construction it was 

taken into construction cost, but in the correction of these defects the costs 
are borne by the department and it will not produce any increase in the sale 
price to the veteran.

By Mr. Cleaver:
Q. Do I understand you correctly then as to all homes where defects 

have arisen in regard to this matter that these defective septic tanks as well 
as the defective dispose! beds have been or are now being put into proper 
working order?—A. They are being gone over and are being put into first class 
order just as quickly as we can get it done.

Q. Could you give me a deadline date on that?—A. Approximately the 
end of August. A great many of them, however, have already been corrected.

Q. And the next recommendation is:—
(c) That the houses having minor, or in a few cases major structural 

defects, be put into first class condition as quickly as possible and 
that where necessary competent superintendents be retained to carry 
out this work efficiently and that the cost of this work should not be 
charged to the purchaser.

—A. That work is under way on that basis.
Q. Can you give the committee the finishing date on that?—A. We had 

expected that all that sort of remedial work on houses would be completed 
by the end of July. There may be a little carried over into August, into the 
holiday season. The work is very well advanced and I am quite confident that 
there will be no important part of it remaining to be done at the end of this 
month.

1 ,i The- T *ake it from what you have said that the $350,000 in the last 
grant should be ample to take rare of that type of work?—A. That is my 
expectation ; that is my estimate, s'r.

Q. And the final recommendation with which I wish to deal is this:—
That the temporary softwood flooring which was laid when hardwood 

flooring was unobtainable, be replaced by suitable hardwood flooring 
as soon as this material is available.
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What happened in regard to that recommendation?—A. To my knowledge 
there has been no new hardwood flooring purchased, principally because it is 
extremely scarce; and I just doubt at the present time whether we could under­
take to replace any softwood flooring used in upstairs houses throughout the 
dominion.

Mr. Wabren: I wonder if I might be permitted to interject one question.
I would like to ask Mr. Murchison, does he know anything that is wrong with 
dry basswood flooring or dry pine flooring, as compared to hardwood flooring? 
My experience is that if you put in hardwood flooring—

Mr. Fleming: Is this a question, Mr. Chariman?
Mr. Fraser: There is a great difference between hardwood flooring and 

that kind of stuff.
Mr. Warren : I would like an answer ; does he know anything that is 

wrong with good pine or basswood flooring used in these houses?
The Chairman : Let the witness answer.
The Witness: I do not know anything wrong with it for upstairs flooring 

if it is dry material that is properly laid.
Mr. Warren : Many of us have been raised on worse than that.
The Witness: I agree to that.
Mr. Warren: Is there anything wrong with it being used downstairs in 

place of hardwood ; is there anything better than good pine or basswood? What 
is wrong with it?

The Witness: It is not a question of what is wrong with it, it is in the 
specifications, that we would use hardwood flooring downstairs, and we were 
unable to secure hardwood flooring for upstairs use on account of the orders 
of the timber controller of Canada.

By Mr. Cleaver:
Q. If Mr. Warren will wait for one or two more questions I think I will 

have cleared it up. Is it not true, Mr. Murchison, that the reason Colonel 
Parrish made that recommendation in regard to softwood flooring upstairs was 
because he found that much of it was so green when it was laid that you could 
put a cigarette quite handily into the cracks in the flooring?—A. There was 
some question of that kind.

Q. I take it that that is what Colonel Parrish refers to when he recommends 
a replacement. You see, you have a floor that was laid so green that the 
cracks are so wide you could do that, you could not even cover them properly 
with linoleum if you laid it over the top of the floor possibly even if you were to 
sand it, the linoleum would wear away on the ridges and cracks. I will concede 
at once that you could get nothing nicer than a good white pine floor; but, can 
anyone tell we where to go to get good white pine flooring to-day?—A. We will 
have to re-lay some of the more unsatisfactory softwood floors in the unstairs.

Q. Yes; now, what is your plan—I concede at once that hardwood flooring 
is not available ; now, what are your plans as to giving a firm undertaking to 
the veteran specifying what will be done in regard to this flooring, because you 
will want them to sign contracts, and you cannot very well ask them to do that 
until some sort of a satisfactory adjustment has been made. Have you con­
sidered giving them a letter saying you would put the new flooring in when 
you were able to get it?—A. Our proposal is that we re-lay these floors where 
there has been serious shrinkage by using dry material of the same type; 
tightening up these floors and finishing them in a satisfactory way.

By Mr. Probe:
Q. Whether there were contracts or not is that floor question being con­

sidered whether the veteran has signed his contract or not.—A. Oh yes.
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By Mr. Cleaver:
Q. Have you considered giving the veteran a written undertaking in that 

regard so that he will know what he is entitled to?—A. I would be prepared 
to do that, I do not know that it is necessary.

Q. I think it would be highly advisable to do that. And now, in regard 
to these defects, dealing with the minor ones first; how do you determine what 
defects should be remedied and what defects were so minor that they were not 
worth troubling with; was the owner called in consultation?—A. Yes. The 
inspection of the houses was made by a competent practical carpenter, carpenter 
foreman or building inspector, accompanied by an administrative officer and 
in consultation with the veteran or his wife; to go over the house and list the 
items which appeared to them to require correction; and I believe that in a 
great majority of the cases that the list of items as agreed to was agreed to 
and approved by the veteran himself.

Q. You say that that practice has been followed right across Canada?—
• A. It is the general practice, according to my information.

Q. Members of your staff, your employees, would consult with the owner 
and generally make up a list of what was to be done and that is the list being 
used?—A. In quite a number of cases I believe they have gone considerably 
further than some of the veterans themselves expected.

Q. Well now, in regard to the serious defects and defects which in the 
opinion of the inspector were of a type on which the contractor should make 
good; what has been done in regard to them? Take a question where a beam 
was badly warped. Would you instal a new one?—A. I could not give you 
the details as to just what has been done. I would have to call in the con­
struction people to advise you on that.

Q. Have these all been corrected?—A. Either corrected or listed for 
correction.

Q. Has any record been kept from day to day of defects and the cost of 
repairing them which in the opinion of your staff should be corrected by the 
contractor?—A. Those were the instructions issued to our administrative officers 
throughout Canada ; that they should endeavour very carefully to identify the 
items of defect which in their judgment or in the judgment of their construction 
superintendent reflected bad work on the part of the contractor as distinct 
from normal construction defects such as a crack in the corner of a wall or 
something of that kind.

Q. After all this work is completed and that list of repair work which you 
believe should be charged this contractor is also completed, what is the intention 
then; do you intend to refer to Justice?—A. My intention first is to discuss it 
with the contractor in question.

Q. And endeavour to effect a settlement?—A. Yes.
Q. Then in that settlement with the contractor what is your plan?—A. To 

refer the matter to Justice.
Q. And then, to come to my next point, it is this. I take it from the 

information already before the committee as a result of this inquiry that most 
of the veterans now are entirely satisfied with the suggestions that have been 
made as to the matter of defects and the steps you have taken to correct them. 
What about the service men who are still not going to carry out their bargain? 
What do you propose to do as to releasing them?—A. I think I can only answer 
that, Mr. Cleaver, by saying that I will have to proceed in accordance with 
the terms of the Act in the case of a veteran who has been granted occupancy 
to one of these homes based on a formal application in writing by himself 
accompanied by his down payment and acceptance of that application and 
granting him occupancy of the premises. I regard that as at least an executory 
contract. It has not been reduced to writing formally in the form of an 
agreement, but all the elements of a contract seem to exist.
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Q. I have a suggestion to make and I want to know whether you would be 
prepared to go this far with me. I would like to suggest to you that after all 
this remedial work is done and capital adjustment is made, if the veteran is 
still not satisfied I think he should be released on terms from his contract; 
and I think the terms should be that he should receive back his down payment 
subject to an adjustment, not of rent at the going rental but of the actual taxes 
and actual payments he would have made under the contract for the period. 
Are you prepared to go that far?—A. I am prepared to take that under 
consideration.

The Chairman : Who would have final say on that?
The Witness: That is a matter which I think I will be obliged to refer to 

the minister because there is a matter of important policy involved in it. On 
the other hand, we have a provision in the Act to have these cases referred to 
an advisory committee consisting of the district court judge as chairman, a 
representative nominated by the Canadian Legion and one representative of 
the director, to whom the facts of these cases could be deferred; and they might 
under the Act, I believe, determine conditions which these veterans should 
fulfil. Failure on their part to fulfil such conditions as laid down by the 
committee would authorize the director to proceed to regain possession of the 
property by lawful means.

By Mr. Cleaver:
Q. I can only speak for my cwn district, but I do know that as to the 

Queensway development, where you have something over 90 homes completed, 
there is quite a waiting list, and if there is any veteran who is not now satisfied 
there will be three or four others waiting to take that house off his hands. Can 
you see any reason why you should net relieve the chap who is dissatisfied on 
ternie under which you will lose no money? If you are allowed to deduct -from 
his deposit the actual taxes plus the actual payments that he would have paid 
undi v the contract had he signed the contract then you ; re in exactly the same 
position with respect to that house when vi u re-sell it at the same amount, 
exactly the same position as if this other chap had not intervened at all.— 
A. I would have one reservation on that. There are cases Ivre and there where 
some of these houses are not being given any too good care by their occupants. 
\\ e have encountered this sort of thing, that after doing a thorough tidying up 
job and refinishing and repainting there have been cases where veterans, accord­
ing to their own lights, have seen fit to sublet a part of the house to take in 
another family and to set up a second housekeeping establishment in the place. 
The result is damage occurs to the house, and if it is going to be turned over to 
another veteran there is a redecorating job to do again. I feel in cases of that 
kind if we were to consider a settlement on the basis of the monthly payments 
he would have made had he signed the contract we should at least be entitled 
to some compensation for the cost of redecorating that house again for another 
veteran.

Q. I entirely agree on that, but leaving aside what I would sav are 
exceptional cases and coming to the ordinary run of ea-es where a veteran has 
simply used the house for his own occupancy and has not brought in a sub­
tenant, and the house is in reasonably good repair, can you see any objection to 
treating him in that way, because I noticed in the evidence somebody made the 
suggestion that the veteran should be charged the going rent, and the going rent 
was double the amount of the payment under the contract.—A. The reason for 
that was we felt some reasonable relationship should be maintained between the 
rentals being paid by a veteran in occupation of a V.L.A. house and the rental 
being paid by another veteran in a house constructed by Housing Enterprises 
Limited or owned by a private individual. Here is a veteran half a mile away, 
or closer than that, who is maybe paying $50 or $60 a month for three room.-
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whereas you have a veteran in a V.L.A. house, a new house, a five or six room 
establishment, and you are suggesting he should have occupancy there maybe 
at a rate of $20 a month. That creates some degree of discrimination in favour 
of a small preferred group. That is the reason why we felt there should be some 
differentiation in the charges where a veteran is simply paying rent rather than 
purchasing the property.

Q. I do not want to appear too stubborn on this matter, but I do want 
to get over my viewpoint for what it is worth. I think where-the veteran 
moves into a house that is not yet finished that he ought to have an opportunity 
to make up his mind when that house is finished and decide whether he is going 
on with the contract. I have one other point.

The Chairman : May I ask a question?

By the Chairman:
Q. On the point of the committee you mentioned which is composed of a 

judge and a representative of the veteran is it the case that it is just provided 
for in the Act or is it in existence now?—A. It exists. It has never been called 
to meet.

Q. Who can appeal to that board? Can a veteran appeal to the board
himself or has it got to be the administration which appeals to the board?—
A. The Act provides that before any action is taken by the director to cancel
an agreement of a veteran he must refer the particulars to that board. We
expect that when that board meets that a veteran can appear himself or be 
represented before the board to give evidence in defence to the action.

Q. Could a veteran appeal himself to that board in order to have the 
price readjusted? Has he that privilege himself?—A. That board would not 
have the power to adjust debts due the Crown.

,Q. The board has the privilege of making a recommendation. It is not 
just appointed to look after the facts. It has to make a report on those facts 
to the minister?—A. It is a provincial advisory board appointed to deal with 
cases where the veteran is in default under the terms of his agreement.

Q. It does not provide the right for a veteran to appeal himself to the 
board if lie wants to cancel his contract?—A. No.

Q. And to have his house revalued?—A. No.

By Mr. Cleaver:
(j. If I recall correctly in reading Mr. Cleave’s evidence he either said 

himself that he was going to be charged something like $45 a month if he 
moved out and gave up the deal or that some friend of his was going to be 
charged that amount. Can you, without too much trouble, definitely determine 
as to what that house is, and as to whether on that house there was a 
duplication of tenants?—A. I could find that out.

Q. You will find it in the evidence on July 4. I should like to have that 
if I can. I have one more point, and that is in regard to the local improvements. 
By local improvements I refer to water mains, sewers, road improvements and 
the like. You, of course, know that in the normal development of real estate 
a builder will buy a large plot of raw land, and he will petition the local 
municipality to put in all of those improvements, and that the costs of those 
improvements are then collected back by the municipality in annual local 
improvement rates spread over perhaps fifteen or twenty years.—A. Yes, I am 
familiar with that.

Ij. You did not follow that practice in your development. You as a 
department made all of that capital expenditure yourself.—A. With a few noted 
exceptions.

Q. But by and large that was what happened?—A. That is right.
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Q. I suggest to you that the end result is that the veteran will have a house 
with a purchase price all the way from $500 to $1,000 more than the normal 
purchase price, but he is no worse off at the end of the year. Instead of paying 
these extra local improvement rates in taxes he pays them in extra monthly 
rates to the Veterans Land Department ; is that right?—A. That is the practical 
situation.

Q. Could I have the average figures—and I am talking now to your account­
ant—of the capital cost of those local improvements which normally are installed 
by a municipality, and for which recovery is made in annual taxes?

Mr. Wurtle: I worked that out and it comes to an average of $499.36 
for each of the 2,381 houses across Canada. That represents the equivalent 
of $2.50 on his monthly payments.

Mr. Cleaver : Multiplying 500 by 5 or close to 5 we get the amortization 
period and that would be $25 or less in taxes and more in payments to the 
veterans land department as a result of the tax reduction.

Mr. Wurtle: It would be $30 a year.

By Mr. Burton:
Q. Before you leave that there is one question following that. I did not 

want to interrupt Mr. Cleaver, but when you gave that figure on the basis 
of your houses you bore in mind some of those houses where you did not make 
local improvements in places where you were conveniently located with regard 
to water mains and hydro?

Mr. Wurtle: Yes, there are quite a few houses where there were existing 
water mains and sewers that we could use.

Mr. Burton : With the result you did not need to make any capital 
expenditure in connection with those.

Mr. Wurtle: No.
Mr. Burton : But taking the sum that you did spend on that development 

in places where it was needed and then dividing it among all of your houses 
you do not arrive at the exact figure.

Mr. Cleaver : The end result would be that the figure would be too low.
Mr. Burton : Yes.
Mr. Cleaver: It might be $600.
Mr. Wurtle: Yes, it would be.
Mr. Burton : I wanted to get that cleared up. The main reason why I 

asked your permission, Mr. Chairman, for the floor was that I again wanted 
to express my opinion that after hearing this evidence over not a considerable 
number of days but a considerable number of meetings per day I believe that 
we have this picture fairly clear in our minds if we are ever going to have it. 
I may say I have what to my mind is an important question to ask after certain 
things have been disclosed here, but I suggest to you in all fairness that possibly 
we might go on for weeks that way and one thing would lead to another.

By Mr. Burton:
Q. Mr. Murchison, the original intention of your department was to provide 

houses for veterans under V.L.A. at cost, was it not?—A. That is right.
Q. And after you had constructed this number of houses that you have 

on a number of occasions placed on the record you along with some other gentle­
men were named as a committee to examine the whole picture. Then you gave 
us the write-off figure by which you had reduced the capital expenditure. I 
believe the amount was $1,146,395.—A. Yes, sir.

Q. When your committee decided on that write-off of the capital expendi­
ture was it your intention to give the veterans who were interested in this their
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houses at that much less than cost?—A. That was not the intention. The 
intention of the write-off was to give that house to the veeran at our opinion 
of its value.

Q. At a fair valuation.—A. At a fair valuation.
Q. The question immediately came to my mind when I visualized to myself 

that was your purpose in doing it. If the original figure was not a fair valua­
tion then somewhere, somehow, somebody has not given fair value to the 
veterans or the people of this country. Your department has evidently paid in 
material and labour costs $1,146,395 by your own estimation more than fair 
value.—A. That is right.

Q. That amount more than a fair price for those houses?—A. That is 
right.

Q. You mentioned a moment ago that your officials were charged with the 
responsibility of keeping track of some of the defects and repairs that had to 
be made as to what could reasonably be charged to the contractor and what 
should be borne by the department, but yet at the same time I cannot see that 
enters into this picture of a figure of very nearly one and a half million dollars. 
In my mind I feel that something needs to be done to find out whether the tax­
payers of this country have to pay for something for which there is no value. 
I should like to ask Mr. Murchison a question as to whether your inspectors 
were instructed to do something which, in my opinion, they should have been 
doing right along; has your department taken any steps to recover from any 
of these people who may have part of this million and a half dollars for which 
the taxpayers of Canada and the veterans did not get any value?—A. We have 
retained very substantial amounts on the contract costs which have not yet been 
released.

Q. On any of the projects, have any more definite steps been taken than 
those which were taken on the Sarnia project?—A. Nothing more definite than 
declining to make any further progress payments to the contractor, sir.

Q. On the Sarnia project you have retained, you told us yesterday, the 
sum of $2,000?—A. That is right.

Q. In the meantime you have already spent $6,000 on that project since 
the contractor finished with it. I should like to know whether the other projects 
which are in question where money is being held back are in the same light 
or in a better condition?—A. They would be in approximately the same light. 
The amount held back varies as between projects.

Mr. Cleaver: I think perhaps I might help you a little on that score. While 
I have been listening to the examination I have extended five of the provinces, 
that is the capital adjustment. In British Columbia the amount per house is 
only $364 as compared with $906 per house in the London area. I would say 
this London-Sarnia area is by far the worst.

Mr. Burton: That is possibly true yet, at the same time, we have not 
gotten from Mr. Murchison any definite steps which have been taken except 
that a small amount has been held back from the contractor.

Mr. Cleaver: You will also be interested in noticing that your whole 
province, Manitoba, has the best record.

Mr. Burton: My province is Saskatchewan.
Mr. Cleaver: Well, I had better not say anything about that.
Mr. Fleming: Let us have the answer.
Mr. Cleaver: In Saskatchewan it is $860 and in Manitoba it is only $80.
The Chairman: That is a political as well as a geographical error.

By Mr. Burton:
Q. Mr. Murchison, have you anything further to say to this committee 

as to what the committee with which you are associated in making capital
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adjustments had in mind should be done to recover for the taxpayers of the 
Dominion of Canada a good portion of that one-half million dollars?—A. That 
is not the purpose of that committee, sir. It does not come within the terms 
of reference of that committee. That committee was appointed under the 
provisions of the Act, section 21, and empowered to make use of the adjustment 
fund, first of a million dollars, to write off costs which did not represent value. 
That committee had no power to proceed to recover from the contractors.

Q. That is what I wanted to know, whether something was being done 
in that respect. I appreciate the answer I received that nothing is being done 
in that respect.

By Mr. Warren:
Q. I wonder if I might be permitted to ask Mr. Murchison whether this 

could be true? The department in all good faith gave a contract and the 
contractor accepted the contract in good faith believing he could get materials 
as he required them. On the Sarnia project I think it is true that labour was 
difficult to obtain—

Mr. Fleming: Ask your question.
The Chairman : May I just say one thing? We will have discussion a 

little later and I will give you the floor, but at this moment we are having a 
question period.

By Mr. Warren:
Q. The question is this: could the contractor not be faced with this situa­

tion; believing he could get dry pine or dry spruce as specified in the contract 
and when he goes around looking for dry pine or spruce with his gang of men 
waiting at high wages, he cannot get anything but green Balm of Gilead or 
green poplar, something of that kind. He has to do the best he can. When it 
comes to the question of nails the contractor, being faced with the situation 
as we know it and it had application all over Canada, could not find a nail 
in a hardware store in the whole of Canada. Is that it?

Some Hon. Member: He had a priority.
Mr. Warren : A priority did not matter. If the nails were not there, you 

could not get them. I am asking you, Mr. Murchison, if that side of the 
picture could not be true?

The Witness: It could be true. It was true.

By Mr. Beaudry:
Q. May I ask Mr. Murchison this: in view of the fact that at some time 

your committee arrived at a proper valuation figure which, in the eyes of the 
committee was somewhat lower than the actual cost and in view of the fact, 
as Mr. Burton suggests, of a discrepancy amounting to a write-off of a little 
more than $11,000 which appears to be a complete loss and appears from your 
answers to be not recoverable from any source, could it be construed that the 
amount it represents, somewhere between 6 and 7 per cent of the total cost 
of construction, might be looked at in the light, if you want to call it that, 
of a premium payable in order to obtain delivery of houses on certain specific 
dates or earlier on account of the urgency of the need; earlier than could have 
been the case if you had tried to save the taxpayers that premium of 6 or 7 
per cent?—A. I would agree with that statement.*

Q. I did not make a statement, I was asking a question. I will repeat my 
question. In the light of what I call a premium could you, yes or no, consider 
that in the light of a premium? Could it be so considered by this committee 
or would you consider it a premium?
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Mr. Fleming: Those are inferences for the committee to draw rather 
than for the witness to draw.

Mr. Beaudry: The witness was one of the persons in charge of disbursing 
the money. The witness lias been asked at times whether people thought that 
the money was, apparently, ill spent. I think it is my right and the right of 
the committee to know in what light that money was spent.

Mr. Fleming : It is a matter of inference for the committee. It is not a 
matter for questioning the witness. It is a matter upon which every member 
can make up his own mind.

The Chairman: The witness has been asked so many indirect questions 
that it is hard to draw the line.

Mr. Beaudry: I am asking you, as one of the agents for spending that sum 
of money whether that sum of money could be regarded as a premium and 
whether it was regarded as a premium in your mind?

Mr. Cote: You are asking for an expert opinion.
Mr. Fraser : Mr Warren asked the witness in regard to material which 

the contractor would have to buy. He said if the contractor could not buy 
dry stuff he would have to buy wet stuff. Then, if that is true, he would have 
to use it. If the contractor used materials which were not according to the 
specifications, then it was the duty of the inspectors for the V.L.A. Department 
to check that. It would be your department all the way through which would 
oe at fault.

Mr. Cleaver : You just have to weigh a balance as to whether the urgency 
at the moment of occupancy was strong enough to offset the loss which was 
obvious.

By Mr. Fleming:
Q. Mr. Murchison, in your testimony last night, you said that the inspector 

on the job, Mr. Mcthven, who had been the architect is no longer on the staff 
of your department?—A. That is right.

Q. You also mentioned that the Ottawa chief inspector of those days is no 
longer on the staff of your department?—A. No.

Q. Are there anv other members of the staff of those days who had anything 
to do with the Sarnia project?—A. The district construction supervisor for the 
Toronto district.

Q. Those three?—A. And I believe a substantial number of building inspec­
tors.

Q. Have any of those whom you have mentioned been discharged for neglect 
of their proper duties in connection with the Sarnia project or did they all leave 
of their own accord?—A. Not specifically in relation to the Sarnia project 
because the Sarnia project was only one where there were defects.

Q. Did they leave of their own accord?—A. They resigned.
Q. Did they leave of their own accord?—A. Well, that is what I call a 

resignation.
Q. Then you could answer my question with a very simple yes. They 

did leave of their own accord?—A. Yes.
Mr. Cleaver: They were, perhaps, eased out.
Mr. Fleming: His answer is yes.

By Mr. Cote:
Q. Were they invited to resign?—A. In three cases they were asked for 

their resignations by me.
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By Mr: Fleming:
Q. What three eases?—A. The chief of the division, district construction 

supervisor for Ontario and the district construction supervisor for the province 
of British Columbia.

Q. The British Columbia man had nothing to do with the Sarnia work?— 
A. I know that.

Q. The other two Ontario men, the district construction superintendent 
at Toronto, what was the reason for inviting his resignation?—A. On account 
of the number of complaints and defects which arose in connection with Ontario 
matters in Ontario.

Q. What projects did those complaints arise from?—A. Sarnia, Windsor, 
I believe one in Scarboro Township; a small one at Port Hope ; those are the 
chief ones which I can recall.

Q. You have indicated you had a number of complaints from veterans 
at those spots?—A. Yes.

Q. What was the nature of the complaints there?—A. Complaining about 
defects in the houses ; complaining about matters such as drainage or the 
functioning of this or that septic tank.

Q. Were they complaints similar in kind to those we have heard about 
from Sarnia?—A. Yes.

Q. Now, those are for the second and third men you have mentioned. The 
first man you mentioned of the three whom you had personally invited to 
tender his resignation was who?—A. Chief of the construction division.

Q. At Ottawa?—A. That is right.
Q. What was the occasion of your inviting his resignation?—A. There were 

two reasons ; the first centred on the amount of criticism which had developed 
by the members of the House of Commons ; criticisms expressed in the 
Canadian press and criticisms coming from individual veterans. That was one 
of the first reasons. The second was that these projects as such were nearing 
completion. There had been no new project developments undertaken since the 
first of January, 1946, nor was there any indication of going ahead with any 
new projects of that character. Our construction operations from that date 
onward, so far as new houses were concerned, would relate entirely to individual 
units where they would be built on a firm bid by a small contractor. Conse­
quently, the need for a chief engineer with the experience and training of the 
gentleman I had on my staff at head office was disappearing.

Q. Well I take it that by reason of the fact that the program did not 
occasion any need for a man of his qualifications, he was surplus to your staff 
at that stage. Is that correct?—A. Yes.

Q. Now you have indicated you had complaints from a number of these 
other sources similar in kind to those you received from Sarnia. When did 
you ask for these resignations?—A. Speaking from memory I believe it was 
about the end of March.

Q. Of this year?—A. Yes.
Q. Were the resignations promptly forthcoming, that is of these three men 

you are speaking of now?—A. Yes.
Q. Let us go back to Mr. Methven. You indicated vesterday that he was 

an architect by training?—A. Yes.
Q. And was the inspector of the Sarnia project, I think vou said? Is that 

correct?—A. Yes.
Q. I)o you recall his salary there?—A. $2.400 a year.
Q. Did you take him on the staff?—A. I had no personal association.
Q. I take it you were head of the department when he was taken on the 

staff of the department?—A. Yes.
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Q. Do you know from what previous employment you took him?— 
A. According to the records before me he was in business by himself as an 
architect at Chatham, Ontario.

Q. At Chatham. Now when did he leave your staff?—A. August 17, 1946.
Q. And he has not been on the staff of your department now for eleven 

months?—A. I believe not.
Q. Do you know to what employment he went when he left your depart­

ment?—A. I do not know. I have no information before me as to what he is
doing.

Q. Will you check on the information that has come to me, because 1 
think it is important that you should? I am informed that he went into the 
employ of Ryan Home Builders Ltd. when he left your department?—A. Is 
that so?

Q. Would you make a point of checking that through your local sources? 
—A. I do not know that I have any authority to do that.

Q. Pardon?—A. Do you think I am justified in doing that? He is not 
an employee of mine.

Q. Well I think the committee may be interested in knowing something 
more about Mr. Methven. You have people in the district who can make 
enquiries of that kind, have you not?—A. Yes, I think I have.

Mr. Beaudry : I object to that question. I think employees who have left 
the employ of the witness are beyond his sphere. I think Mr. Fleming should 
take other means to obtain the information.

Mr. Cleaver: I think if Mr. Fleming makes the statement himself we 
should accept it. If you will make that statement we will accept it.

Mr. Fleming: That is my information, and I asked Mr. Murchison if he 
had the opportunity of checking on the information. I asked, with his facilities, 
could he find the information?

Mr. Warren: I do not think it would be of interest to us.

By Mr. Fleming:
Q. You indicated yesterday there was a total of 118 projects in Canada, 

Veterans’ Land Act projects, involving construction or contemplated construction 
of 2,660 units?—A. Yes.

Q. On how many of those has the contractor completed his work?—A. I 
could not give it you readily in projects. I think it would be more readily 
available in the number of housing units.

Q. I would take an approximate figure if you could give an approximation 
Mr. Murchison?—A. 282 houses.

Q. The contractors have completed 282 houses?—A. 282 are not completed.
Q. 282 are not conrplcted? That would mean, I take it, the great majority 

of the projects arc completed?—A. Yes.
Q. Would you care to say if it would be as many as 100 out of the 118? 

—A. I can get you the precise information if you would care to give me time 
to check up on it. I do not care to guess at it.

Q. I thought you might be able to give me an approximation if you are 
close to completion of the objective?—A. 282 units are not yet completed by 
the contractor.

Mr. Cleaver : That is a little over one per cent.
Mr. Fleming: 10 per cent. It is actually about 11 per cent.
Mr. Beaudry: Would you be good enough to ask the witness to clarify. 

You are asking about projects under way.
Mr. Fleming: I asked about projects not completed and he said there 

were 282—
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The Witness: 282 houses.
Mr. Beaudry: But we are discussing projects already undertaken.
Mr. Fleming: I will try to make it clear. I refer to his testimony last 

night in which he said there were 118 projects involving construction or con­
templated construction of 2,660 units, and, in commenting on the construction 
of units by the contractor, he has indicated that they are all completed except 
282 but he does not want to commit himself on the number of projects that arc 
not completed.

Now on that information the indication is that about 89 per cent of the 
units are completed as far as the contractor is concerned. I should like to ask 
you what the total amount is which you are holding back from the contractors’ 
prices? What is the total holdback?

Mr. Cleaver: The contractor did not set a price ; they are cost plus jobs.
Mr. Fleming: But there is a holdback. The witness has been talking about 

a holdback. He talked about it this afternoon and he talked about it yesterday.
Mr. Cleaver: But your question is a holdback on cost and these are cost 

plus jobs.
Mr. Fleming: The cost is arrived at, based on the inspections. We have 

examples at Sarnia and a total is reached, but there is a holdback applied to the 
total. We had that in the statement from Mr. Murchison last night.

The Chairman: A holdback against price.

By Mr. Fleming:
Q. Yes, well that is all right. It is a holdback on the.cost to the Veterans’ 

Land Act.—A. Yes on road construction, house construction, and on all types 
of construction. I am informed by my chief treasury officer the sum of half 
a million dollars is involved in holdbacks on the contracts.

Q. What percentage is that of the total commitment?—A. I could not 
answer that without doing a lot of calculating.

The Chairman : What is the total? That should be readily given.
Mr. Fleming: What is the total? You can estimate that readily enough?
The Witness: I cannot give the total commitment.
Mr. Fleming: Could one of your financial advisers give it?
The Witness : It would take a little time to dig it up.
The Chairman: Do you mean at any point in the program you cannot 

say, for instance in the month of July, that we have committed ourselves to so 
much.

Mr. Cleaver: I would like to make this point clear. I do not want the 
committee to be confused as to the 10 or 11 per cent. The houses are not 
finished but that does not mean there is nothing done on them. These houses 
represented by the 10 or 11 per cent may be 95 per cent finished. You see how 
confusing the percentages may be.

By Mr. Fleming:
Q. We will clear that up. Did you reply to the chairman’s question? He 

asked if you were in a position at any given moment to indicate the commit­
ment in the whole of Canada?—A. I am not in a position to give that here. 
Our district offices and our district treasury office have that information in 
complete form at all times.

Mr. Beaudry: May I suggest—
The Chairman: If you do not mind, I would like to pursue this.
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By the Chairman:
Q. Each district inspector has the figure in his district on his over-all 

picture, but then would you not ask, like the general manager of a store, how 
much money you owed at the end of each month and what your commitments 
were at the end of each month? Would it not be within the scope of the 
duties of the head of a department to know exactly the position, not perhaps to 
the cent or to the dollar but for instance to the ten dollars?—A. That is informa­
tion which I can get at any time. All our disbursements are controlled by 
financial encumbrances and disbursement control is exercised by the department 
of the treasury.

By Mr. Fleming:
Q. Well, Mr. Murchison, taking the 89 per cent that are fully completed, 

have you got the information here or is it in the hands of the official advisers 
who are present, which will enable you to say what the holdback is on these 
completed units?—A. I have not got that information here.

Q. You have not. Can you say what the basis of the holdback was? How 
was it arrived at? Was there a uniform basis applied?—A. I should say it 
was a rather arbitrary basis. Following the inspection, the general inspection 
of the project this winter, by myself, Mr. Woods, and Colonel Parrish, it was 
thought that action should be taken to defer any further payments to the 
prime contractors until the whole question of the responsibility for some of 
these conditions were properly clarified.

Q. Arc we to understand from the time Colonel Parrish wrote his report 
you have not made any further payments?—A. No, I would not say that.

Q. On the completed project?—A. I would not say that.
Q. There were some?—A. There were some payments made, quite legiti­

mately, where there was no justifiable reason for withholding.
The Chairman: You made a report at the end of 1946 of your activities 

for the year. Have you got one prepared at the end of March? Each depart­
ment must make once a year a report as to its activities. Now at the time of 
the last report you had to prepare, what were the commitments for the con­
struction of houses?

The Witness : I would have to consult the annual report, sir.
Mr. Beaudry: Mr. Chairman, may I interrupt Mr. Fleming? We had 

last night tile figure of $15,914.707, including total construction costs for, I would 
assume, the completed project, the 2.381 houses. That is out of a total of 2.600 
odd something. Could you arrive at your percentage of holdback against 
that figure?

By Mr. Fleming:
Q. Does that figure which has just been quoted by Mr. Beaudry represent 

the total commitment in respect to the completed houses, cifnipleted units?— 
A. Yes.

Q. The $15,000,000 odd?—A. That is right.
Q. But you have just said you could not give the committee the holdback 

against those completed units?—A. No, because some of our holdback relates to 
road construction where the contract has not yet been completed and where 
there is still work to be done.

Q. It looks as though we will not get the figures this afternoon.
The Chairman: Would the figure I wanted be the one that was supplied 

by a member of the committee as $15,000,000 odd?
The Witness: I could, probably with a little delay, give you the holdbacks. 

All that we have is against the prime contractors who constructed these houses.



PUBLIC ACCOUNTS 729

That would not apply to the entire holdback that we have because, as I have 
mentioned, these holdbacks also relate to road contracts where construction 
has not been completed.

By Mr. Beaudry:
Q. Those would not be the holdbacks proper, they would not be anything 

more than the progress payments?—A. That is right.
Q. That would be included in that also?—A. That is my information.

By Mr. Burton:
Q. I think what the committee wants to know is if we by either progress 

reports or final payments owe the contractors the sum of $1,000,000. What I 
would like to know as a member of the committee is how much of that $1,000,000 
is being held back until justice has been done in respect to fulfilling the con­
tracts?—A. I can supply you with a list of those holdbacks for the house 
contractors.

Mr. Fleming: Very well, then, we will pass on from that.

By Mr. Fleming:
Q. The total available now for repairs on completed houses is how much ? 

I thipk you said $350,000 is presently available?—A. No, that is not the 
situation. That is the estimate as to the amount that would be required to 
cover the cost of repairs. There is no breakdown on that in the order in council 
providing the additional $850,000.

Q. How much of the $850,000 is available for doing repairs to those 
properties where the contractor did not complete building and where the holdback 
is not adequate to provide for full completion of repairs?

Mr. Cleaver: And a part of that is also for price adjustments.

By Mr. Fleming:
Q. Is that included in the $8.50,000?—A. That is what it is for. It is not 

for the completion of houses alone.
Q. You gave us a figure of $1,000,000 in the order in council yesterday.— 

A. I am very sorry I have to keep going over these things; there are two orders 
in council, the first one, P.C. 1278 dated the 2nd of April, 1946, which established 
the first fund of $1,000,000.

Mr. Cleaver: Purely for price adjustment?
The Witness: For price adjustment; P.C. 1278 passed on the 16th of May, 

1947, supplemented by P.C. 1811 authorizing an additional $850,000 to be made 
available to the purposes of the committee.

By Mr. Fleming:
Q. And that is a total of $1,850,000?—A. Yes.
Q. And the purpose of the second amount of $850,000?—A. I will quote 

you the order in council:
2. That the final completion of all details of the various contracts 

has delayed the submission of final cost figures duly audited by the cost 
and audit division of the treasury department. In the meantime, the 
homes under construction on these small holdings were allocated to 
veterans as rapidly as they were habitable in order to ease the pressing 
needs of qualified veterans for housing accommodation. In allocating 
these holdings to veterans tentative sale prices were quoted on the basis 
of the best available cost figures at the time.
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Q. Excuse me, Mr. Murchison, you are reading the preamble ; cannot you 
go directly to the section which states what that $850,000 is to be used for?— 
A. To continue:

4. The director estimates that in addition to the sum of $1,000,000 
provided by P.C. 1278 an additional sum of $850,000 is required to com­
plete adjustments in accordance with the intent of P.C. 1278 and to 
provide for the cost to the director of correcting construction defects or 
deficiencies.

Q. Then the $850,000 is available for taking care of whatever may be 
necessary to complete the building structurally; and. do I assume for repairs as 
well?—A. No. ' V

Q. May I see that order? To which section are you referring?—A. Page 2.
Q That is not what I am getting at. You have not read the operative 

property order at all, that is just vour report which is quoted in the preamble 
of the order.

Mr. Cleaver: Is not that argument? It is all in the record.
Mr. Fleming: I want to ask a question about the amount that is available. 

Under the terms of the order $850,000 is available and you estimated in your 
testimony of I think it was two days ago that $350,000 would be required 
to repair houses.

The Witness : Yes.

By Mr. Fleming:
Q. Is it your thought that the $350.000 will be adequate to take care of 

the repairs, out of this amount of $850,000 provided by the second order?— 
A. That was my estimate, yes.

Q. That is your understanding of the source of the $350,000. On how 
many projects do you estimate that sum of money must be expended by way 
of repairs of units?—A. To a greater or less degree on them all.

Q. On all these completed ones?—A. Yes.
Q. And you have indicated that 89 per cent of the units are completed ; 

do I take it that the same remark applies by and large in different parts of 
Canada?—A. I do not expect it will apply to these remaining 282 units because 
I can assure you they are being closely supervised.

Q. Exactly, we are speaking about the completed ones, we are not speaking 
about repairing the ones which are now under construction. We are talking 
about the 89 per cent completed as far as construction operations are concerned. 
Now, your expectation of repairs to these houses, you have indicated this will 
apply across Canada?—A. Yes.

Q. Fairly uniformly as between the different areas of Canada?—A. With 
quite wide variations.

Q. With quite wide variations; but I take it from your answer that they 
arc to be found in all parts of Canada?—A. That is correct.

Q. The need for repair of houses that have been completed is what we 
are concerned with.—A. Yes.

Mr. Cleaver : Why do you always keep going back and repeating?
Mr. Fleming: I am not asking any of ray friends for any testimony on 

this point, Mr. Chairman ; we will all draw our own conclusions. You were 
asked if you would produce a statement, a breakdown of the cost as between 
the different figures. I think Mr. Wymbs has that.

Mr. Wymbs: T^iat is in the course of preparation.
Mr. Fleming: I thought you said you had it last night.
Mr. Wymbs: I had hoped to be able to get it for you.
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Mr. Fleming: I thought it was a breakdown of the Sarnia project as 
between labour, materials and so on?

Mr. Wymbs: Yes.
Mr. Fleming: That is the one I wanted. You are producing now a state­

ment of the breakdown of costs on the Sarnia project in respect to floor plans 
used. I suggest, Mr. Chairman, this might go on the record, but for the 
information of the members I can just indicate the five items in the breakdown. 
Can this go on the record?

The Chairman : Yes.
Mr. Fleming:

Sarnia Project 
0/2460

Direct labour—subcontracts ........
Direct material .............................
Direct overhead .. -.......................
Equipment allowance...................
Management fee ...........................

M & M 3 
$3,752.55 

2,325.26 
1,842.73 

55.00 
225.00

$8,200.54
I will just give you the totals for the others. Plan H-1A, $7,759.36; Plan 

H-4, $7,081.95; and Plan VN-3B, $7,928.57. Then, adding adjustment for 
material supplied by V.L.A. brings the total to $62,235.10.

Yesterday you gave an answer indicating that including the cost of 
construction and the cost of land, landscaping and so on, plus the cost of repairs, 
plus the cost of drainage, and so on, the final figure you arrive at is $10,100?

Mr. Wymbs: Yes.
Mr. Fleming: You testified to-day, or perhaps it was Colonel Wurtle, that 

in addition—at least I take it to be in addition—there is a Canada-wide average 
of $499 in respect of what I called local improvements ; was that included in 
the figure of $10.100?

Mr. Wymbs: Yes.
Mr. Fleming: Now, I asked yesterday or the day before for some additional 

information on the cost of roadways and so on. Have you got that available 
here? * •

Mr. Wymbs: Are you referring to the cost of roads beyond the boundaries 
of the project?

Mr. Fleming: Yes, the cost of roads outside the project.
Mr. Wymbs: You asked me if there was any cost of roads in connection 

with the V.L.A. project beyond the boundaries of the project; in other words, 
do we have to construct the roads? The answer is that that is being investigated.

Mr. Fleming: Then we will not spend any more time on that. You haven’t 
got the cost of the roadways constructed on the project?

Mr. Wymbs: For those completed.
Mr. Fleming: In other words, do I take it that the roadways on the project 

are completed, the roads that were built to service these 43 lots?
Mr Wymbs: But they have not been paid for so I can only give you an 

estimated cost.
Mr. Fleming: Are they included in the figure of $10,100?
Mr. Wymbs : Yes, sir.
Mr. Fleming: Can you give us the total cost of roadways for the project?
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Mr. Wymbs: I haven’t got those figures here. I can get that for you if you 
wish.

Mr. Fleming: If you haven’t got them with you we will not ask for them
now.

By Mr. Fleming:
Q. Now, Mr. Murchison, I take it that you are having to do repairs on 

many of these projects all across Canada?—A. Yes.
Q. And you said to Mr. Burton yesterday that in the light of your 

experience of all kinds—quality of construction, cost and so on—that Sarnia 
was one of the worst experiences that you had?—A. As to cost, yes.

Q. As to cost; do you qualify it by a limitation to cost; what about these 
problems of defective workmanship and defective construction?—A. Well, that 
is inclusive in the term “cost.”

Q. Very well ; you are saying that in respect of quality of construction 
and higher cost Sarnia was one of your worst experiences?—A. Yes.

Q. Can you give us some others which should share this doubtful distinction?
Mr. Warren : I wonder if I might be permitted to ask a question here?
Mr. Fleming: Perhaps if you would wait until I am through with my 

questions.
The Witness: We have a situation near Montreal at Boucherville which 

is presently before the courts, and which I cannot discuss.

By Mr. Fleming:
Q. I am not asking you to go into details. I am asking you for an enumera­

tion of some of the others that would come within this doubtful distinction of 
being among your worst experiences. You mentioned Boucherville. What 
others?—A. One at Sackvillc in New Brunswick, a small project there. A small 
project in Braefoot on Vancouver Island.

By the Chairman:
Q. They are all among the worst?—A. Yes. I think those would be all 

that would be of the class of Sarnia.

By Mr. Fleming:
Q. I mentioned a couple of others yesterday. You have not mentioned 

them in your enumeration of the others that are the worst in your experience. 
Are they a little bit better in your experience? I mentioned Lulu Island in 
Vancouver.—A. There is no comparison at all.

Q You think it is not in that class.—A. Not at all.
Q. What about Valley view. Kamloops. -A. No. it is not in that class.
Q. You think it is better?—A. Yes.
Q. What about Windsor?—A. Better as to cost.
Q. Better as to cost?—A. Yes.
Q. What about your other experience.—A. We have had a good deal of 

criticism from veterans at Windsor of an organized type. We arc fully aware 
of its source, of course.

Q. I am asking you about your experience with regard to the quality of 
construction and cost. You have said your cost experience was a little better.
I am asking you about your experience with quality of construction.—A. Again 
it is better than it was in Sarnia.

Q. How much better? Would you say, a little better or much better?
Mr. Gladstone: You had better be specific.
Mr. Fleming: I thought he might be able to give an answer.
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The Witness: I can give it to you approximately, that it is better by 
approximately $300 a house.

By Mr. Fleming:
Q. $300 a house?—A. Yes.
Q. Does that include repairs?—A. Yes.
Q. Are you having a similar experience so far as repairs are concerned at 

Windsor?—A. I am speaking of Windsor.
Q. I am asking you if you are having a similar experience as regards the 

cost of repairs at Windsor as at Sarnia?—A. Not as high by $300.

By the Chairman:
Q. That is on repairs?—A. Yes.

By Mr. Fleming:
Q. That is repairs, not the cost of the project?—A. No.
Q. Then I think we misunderstood you. What you are saying in effect 

is that the cost at Windsor was as high as at Sarnia, the cost of construction, 
but that on repairs whereas at Sarnia you are paying about $760 a house for 
repairs at Windsor you are paying about $460? Is that it?—A. Our cost of 
construction was not as high at Windsor as it was at Sarnia, and the cost of 
repairs, according to the best estimates I have, would be $300 per house less 
than your cost at Sarnia.

Q. Are we to infer from that the cost of repairs of the Windsor houses 
averaged about $460 a house?—A. Approximately.

By the Chairman:
Q. The cost of the houses was lower than at Sarnia?—A. Yes.
Q. The cost of construction?—A. Yes.
Q. Does it compare with the projects throughout Canada or is it near 

Sarnia?—A. It was a good average of western Ontario.

By Mr. Fleming:
Q. You mentioned Boucherville. What is the average cost of repairs per 

house there?—A. I am not doing any because the whole matter has been in 
the hands of the courts for several months.

Q. Then we will go on to Braefoot. What is your average cost of repairs? 
—A. I have not got the final estimate from there yet.

Q. What about Sackville?—A. There were three units at Sackville which 
were quite expensive because the floors of the basements had to be relaid.

Q. Were the prices to the veterans at Braefoot readjusted?—A. It was 
adjusted; it was not readjusted.

Q. It was adjusted before repairs?—A. Yes.
Q. But not readjusted in the light of conditions that necessitated repairs 

later?—A. No.
Q. Are there any projects where you have readjusted the price in conse­

quence of defective construction?—A. No.
Q. In no case have you adjusted the price on account of defective con­

struction?—A. No.
Q. The only basis of adjustment was the general policy that applied 

regardless of construction which you testified to yesterday?—A. I do not know 
whether I understand your question right, but when sale prices were established 
by the committee set up by the order in council those sale prices have stood, 
and they are not being altered as a result of the cost of repairs either up or 
down.
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Q. They are not being altered as a result of conditions discovered which 
have led your department to undertake repairs?—A. No.

By Mr. Warren:
Q. I should like to ask a question. I am not going to ask the witness to 

put his answer on record if he does not care to but in talking about the cost 
of the Sarnia project could it be possible that as far as labour is concerned 
in that particular district they might be Canada’s worst as far as efficiency is 
concerned, and as far as the rate of pay they would demand and the results 
they w'ould give for it?

Mr. Boucher: Anything is possible.
The Chairman : Let the witness answer.
Mr. Warren: He does not have to answer as far as I am concerned.
The \\ itness: I do not think it would be fair for me as a public official 

to express that opinion about Windsor or Sarnia or any place else.
By Mr. Fleming:

Q. There is one thing that I should have asked. It relates to the last 
question I asked. I see in the final paragraph of Colonel Parrish’s report this 
is his final recommendation.

“(e) that no over-all reduction in the selling prices be made but 
that the present policy of ‘writing off’ costs due to unusual conditions on 
a particular project be continued.”

A. Yes.
Q How do you explain that in the light of your answer to my last question? 

—A. Because at that time the committee authorized to deal with those matters 
had only dealt with some 1,500 houses throughout Canada, and that is the 
purport of that recommendation, that we continue to deal with the balance of 
them as costs became known.

Q. I can follow you on the first part of it when Colonel Parris says, “that 
no over-all reduction in the selling prices be made”, but what about the next 
part where he says, “but that the present policy of ‘writing off’ costs due to 
unusual conditions on a particular project be continued.” He is not talking 
about any over-all adjustment policy applied right across Canada. He is very 
specific. He says “the present policy of writing off costs due to unusual 
conditions on a particular project.”—A. All I can suggest is that you had better 
call Colonel Parrish to explain his report. I told you what the purport of it 
was according to my understanding, and I was travelling with him, that the 
policy should be followed to go ahead and deal with projects which had not 
yet come before the committee, but having set the prices that there be no write­
off following establishment of prices.

Q. Then I take it the interpretation which you have applied to Colonel 
Parrish’s recommendation and which you have put into effect in your administra­
tion since is the one you have just indicated, that there is to be no adjustment 
in price as a result of conditions in any project necessitating repairs?—A. No.

By Mr. Beaudry:
Q. Mr. Murchison, I am returning to that question of hold-backs which you 

discussed some time ago with Mr. Burton and Mr. Fleming. I believe you gave 
evidence to the effect that in the case of Ryan home builders on the Sarnia 
project at this date there was still a hold-back, if I recall correctly, of $2,100.
Is that correct?—A. I believe you are right. That is the approximate figure.

Q. Your procedure for effecting payments following progress reports was,
I believe, from the earlier evidence, that your payments to the contractor were 
made only following substantiation of payment.—A. Right.



PUBLIC ACCOUNTS 735

Q. By him of what he in turn asked for payment from you. So that in 
all cases whenever you did make a payment to a contractor following the 
schedule that you supplied us with some days ago, it had been ascertained either 
by your department or the treasury department that the contractor in turn 
had effected those payments for which he asked for reimbursement, or am I 
correct on that?—A. Or he had incurred claims for which he asked payment. 
They were all substantiated by proper vouchers.

Q. You required proof of payment by him or proof of debt?—A. Right.
Q. And the proper amount due in all cases was ascertained by your 

department or the treasury department?—A. Right.
Q. You said you were operating on a cost plus basis. Did you at any time 

mention what the plus percentage was?—A. The plus is $225 a house as a 
supervisory fee, management fee. In other words, it is intended to take the 
place of a profit.

Q. In other words, on homes which represent approximately $8,000 the 
profit allowed the contractor was $225? Do I understand that to be right?—A. 
That is right as you put it, but this contractor had a contract to build not 8 
houses but 8 at Sarnia, 100 at Windsor and 20 at Chatham, and his fee in all 
cases was $225 per house.

Q. In so far as Sarnia is concerned, however, his profit for building these 
8 houses was $1,800 at the rate of $225 per house? Do I understand that 
correctly?—A. That is right.

Q. On which I assume he added as a profit to himself the cost of rental 
of his equipment valued at $55 for the purposes of this contract?—A. Yes.

Q. Was there any other profit to be made by him on direct labour, on 
direct materials or on direct overhead?—A. No, not to my knowledge.

Mr. Fleming: I do not think you are quite right about the equipment. 
That is not the whole charge for equipment.

Mr. Beaudry : It is not? Where does that charge come in?
At this point the committee took a short recess.
On resuming:
The Chairman: I think we can get along now and finish part of the 

evidence.

By Mr. Beaudry:
Q. I will assume, so you will correct me if my assumption is wrong, from 

previous evidence that the final request for payment was made by the 
contractor at the date of the final progress report. Am I correct in that?— 
A. Yes.

Q. Which would be some time last November?—A. Yes.
Q. You are now withholding the sum of $2,100?—A. Yes.
Q. You have been withholding that for approximately ten months?—A.

Yes.
Q. That sum represents all at least if not more than what is the contractual 

profit of the contractor?—A. That is right.
The Chairman: Any further questions?

By Mr. Burton:
Q. Just one minute; Mr. Beaudry has placed on the record something which 

I do not think was fully answered. The sum of $225 per unit is the contractor’s 
profit and the sum of $2,100 being more than that, I do not think the question 
was fully answered. Different statements filed by Mr. Murchison contain items 
which show that the contractor received more than $225. Would you mind 
looking over those statements until you get the contract which shows the 
labour, material and there is another item in there which I forget.
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The Chairman: There was direct labour, $3,752.55; direct material, 
$1,325.25; overhead, $1.842.73; equipment allowance, $55 and management fee 
$225. The total was $8,200.54.

By Mr. Burton:
Q. Would Mr. Murchison please explain those items which go into the 

overhead?—A. I think there was a statement filed that described those items.
The Chairman: He wants to know what the overhead is.
Mr. Beaudry : There was a statement filed which included supervising, 

houses on the project for housing these guardians or inspectors and so on.
The Witness: If I could read from the terms of the contract itself—
The Chairman: I doubt if we should go into that again.

By Mr. Burton:
Q. I just wanted to have the committee remember that the $225 does not 

represent all the contractor was in a position to get from the contract on the 
houses?—A. No, I filed this statement document No. 9; a summary of indirect 
labour, material and expenses. It included such items as, indirect labour, 
indirect materials and expenses and payroll charges. That statement was filed 
with the committee.

The Chairman: Even though this is filed, a very few people have a chance 
to see it. It lies in the secretary’s room and therefore people ask you questions 
concerning it.

Mr. Burton: Would you read the details.
The Witness: Superintendence, including supervision from Windsor, 

$3,079.36.
Mr. Fleming: Perhaps I can assist Mr. Beaudry. We had all that. We 

had an average figure.
Mr. Beaudry: We had it I know, and I did not request this.
Mr. Burton: The reason I brought this up was because of a statement 

Mr. Murchison made when he answered a question of Mr. Beaudry’s to the 
effect that the sum of $2,100 was in excess of the contractor’s profits on the 
construction of the houses. Mr. Chairman, I contend by pointing to that one 
item alone it shows there was more received by the contractor in profit than 
just $225.

The Chairman : Yes, but his overhead may not be profit. We should like 
to get a break down to show what it is.

Mr. Burton : If the committee wishes to go into the details, all right. For 
my part, I am not concerned with it except that if Mr. Beaudry insists on 
having Mr. Murchison’s answer to him stand, then I want to go into it.

Mr. Cleaver: I do not think you will find a dollar of profit to the contractor 
in overhead.

Mr. Burton: I would not be prepared to argue the details unless we are 
prepared to go into them thoroughly. I would ask Mr. Murchison this question. 
You have an item for labour in the contract?

The Witness: Yes.
The Chairman : Labour is $3,752.55.

By Mr. Burton:
Q. In connection with that item, does not the contract entered into by 

the department with Ryan Home Builders Company give the company an 
opportunity of having a certain percentage of the labour cost?—A. No.
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Q. You mean to tell me, Mr. Murchison, that every cent listed there was 
actually paid to labour for labour?—A. That is my understanding. Even the 
payrolls were audited and every payroll was signed by every employee 
acknowledging payment of the money listed in the payroll.

Mr. Cleaver: I am very glad that this point was brought up. There is 
not a dollar of profit there.

Mr. Burton: I am very glad to have it cleared up. Would that apply 
to material as well?

The Witness : That would apply to the material.

By Mr. Burton:
Q. Would the contractor be in a position where he would also be the 

supplier of the material?—A. In connection with this contract I filed with the 
committee two supplementary contracts, one of which approved the supplying 
of certain materials by a subsidiary company. That contract provided that the 
cost chargeable would be wholesale prices authorized by the Wartime Prices 
and Trade Board plus a mark-up of 10 per cent.

Q. Would you mind, without going into the details, run over the overhead? 
What did the overhead consist of?—A. Superintendence, clerical, watchmen, 
water boys, checkers, field foremen, temporary buildings, handling material, 
trucking, temporary roads—

Q. Trucking by whom?—A. By the contractor ; gasoline and oil, temporary 
buildings, temporary water, temporary power, temporary heating, telephone 
and telegraph charges, trucking and plant rental other than for house allowance, 
building permits, carloads, postage, sundry supplies and expenses, travelling 
expenses. If I could just refer for a second to the contract, this is clearly 
covered by the terms of the contract as well.

Q. That is right. Then, in addition to that you have the sum of $55 a 
year for equipment?—A. Yes. Then there is unemployment insurance, vacation 
pay, W.C.B. assessment, that is Workmen’s Compensation Board assessment 
and insurance. There is a discount of $15.60 which I believe was a discount 
on the payment of the electric light bill or something like that. This totals 
$13,889.77 which produced the average of $1,736.22 and that agrees with the 
sessional paper to which Mr. Fleming referred.

The Chairman : Now, is the period of questioning over? We can excuse 
the witness and say that we thank him.

Mr. Burton : I should appreciate it, Mr. Chairman, if you allowed me to 
say a few words before the witness retires. I may say that before I came to 
Ottawa to represent the constituency of Humboldt, I had heard of Mr. 
Murchison. Some of the stories I heard led me to believe he was a tough 
customer and others again that he was not quite so tough. I do want to say 
that, after having the pleasure of knowing the man and having him with us 
during these past days, I wish to move a vote of thanks to Mr. Murchison ; 
also to Mr. Wymbs and Mr. Wurtle for the courteous manner in which they 
tried to answer our questions.

The Chairman : I think the motion carries unanimously.
The Y itness : May I make one correction? A few moments ago, I referred 

to this general contract including 20 units at Chatham. That was an error on 
my part as there are 18 at Chatham.

Mr. Fleming: Could we take up tho question of procedure now?
The Chairman : Yes.
Mr. Fleming: There is on the agenda from last night my motion with 

respect to calling two witnesses from Windsor. There has been some expression 
on that, Mr. Chairman, and 1 do not propose to argue the question any further. 
\\ e have our minds made up on it, Mr. Chairman

93323—3
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I should like to introduce this question—
The Chairman : Are there any comments on the proposal? I will read 

Mr. Fleming’s motion.
Moved by Mr. Fleming that the committee summon two witnesses 

from the Roseland project at Windsor for Monday, next.
Any comments?

Mr. Warren: If there are any comments, I oppose that and I will tell you 
why. We have a very solid background of communism in this country and 
this proposal is just—

The Chairman : We cannot impute motives to any other member. Let us 
discuss the proposal itself.

Mr. Warren : Anyhow, what is the object? To get around the veterans 
and find out the dissatisfied ones. If they are content, create discontent. That 
is what is happening in this committee. Mr. Murphy finds a spot where he 
can, if discontent did not exist—

Mr. Murphy: I object to that.
The Chairman : We cannot impute motives to any members. That is a 

rule for everybody and I apply it to others. I would not allow them to say 
anything against you, either.

Mr. Warren: In that case, it is just a proposal for the creation of dis­
content among our war veterans who are getting the best deal that any 
individual country has given the veterans of this war. We had a witness here 
the other day, Mr. Cleave. Mr. Cleave, I presume, performed his duty as a 
veteran, if you call it that, but not an overseas veteran. He never served 
outside Canada. My boy served five years flying fighters.

Mr. Cote: Mr. Warren, would you allow me to say a word? You may 
continue your remarks after that. You may have been away at the last 
stage of the meeting yesterday when the motion was argued. If my recollection 
is correct, I think we have concluded our argument on the merits of the motion 
and we practically agreed that we should vote on it today without arguing 
any further on it. I do not want to curtail your remarks.

Mr. Warren: I think we ought not to extend this dissension. Our war 
veterans have been very well treated. I am absolutely opposed to it. If there 
is a house wrong and any individual member thinks there is a crack in the 
wall or a draft under the door, send Mr. Murphy—

Mr. Murphy: I object to that.
The Chairman: No comments on the members, please.
Mr. Beaudry : May I interject for a moment? This matter was brought 

before the committee with a definite purpose of obtaining redress for the veterans. 
I respectfully submit unless we try to implement all the work we have done 
so far by something concrete which would be a report, unless we are in a 
position to present a report .to the House within a very few days, perhaps hours, 
we will have practically wasted our time. If we go on to call further witnesses 
from Windsor, I assume the other members of the committee will choose to call 
witnesses from other sections of the country. We will not be in a position to 
implement any findings we have made within the last two or three weeks.

The Chairman: Gentlemen, those in favour?
Mr. Cleaver: I should like to move an amendment to that if I may. My 

amendment is this ; that the committee now proceed to prepare its report in as 
much as there is not time to call further witnesses and to present a proper report 
to this session of the House.

The Chairman: Just a moment, the clerk will have to put it in writing 
for me.
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Mr. Fleming: If Mr. Cleaver will permit me, I do not think that is a 
proper amendment to this particular motion. I think we should dispose of this 
motion and then go on.

The Chaibman: It is in order because it just qualifies the previous three 
lines. It does not change them. It just adds to them.

Mr. Burton : If you will allow me to speak on the amendment which is 
before the committee, I may say while I do not question Mr. Cleaver’s right 
to move this amendment, it is a departure from the procedure that had been 
followed by this committee in the reporte which have been brought in. After 
a certain phase of the work has been done by the committee, the steering 
committee endeavoured to draft a report and then presented it to the committee.
I submit, Mr. Chairman, that although I am rather hesitant about speaking, 
being a member of the steering committee myself, the steering committee 
followed that practice.

Mr. Cleaver: I am quite content in your suggestion that the committee 
proceed to prepare its report. I am quite willing to add the words “according 
to our established practice”.

Mr. Burton : Well you admit your amendment was not completely new.
Mr. Cleaver: I am in accord with that suggestion.
Mr. Burton : Well in so far as the rest of it is concerned I feel most of 

the members of the committee find themselves in a difficult position. First of 
all, as has been mentioned on more than one occasion to-day and yesterday, 
prorogation is coming near and most of the members arc anxious to get on 
their way. On the other hand we have before us some very important business 
in this committee and I, for one, not wishing to impute any motives to anyone, 
feel that every member of this committee is desirous of doing a thorough job.
I feel that if some further investigation is necessary or considered desirable by 
the members of this committee there should be an opportunity given for it. 
In saying that I wish to take strong exception to what has been said a little 
while ago by Mr. Warren, that anyone supporting this idea was lending himself 
to causing discontent and fomenting discontent among the veterans. I contend, 
Mr. Chairman, that the best way to avoid discontent, and situations of that 
kind, is that where there are complaints they should be given a reasonable 
hearing and reasonable steps Should be taken to make an adjustment or to see 
that redress is made possible. For that reason, Mr. Chairman, and I notice 
you are getting a little nervous—

The Chairman : I want to proceed.
Mr. Burton : For those reasons I want to say I am prepared to vote in 

favour of the motion and to vote against the amendment.
The Chairman : I think we ought to understand from this moment, after 

I put this amendment and the motion, the time has come for the committee 
to discuss what should go in its report. From that moment, the committee 
of course, as is the practice when the committee discusses its report, goes into 
camera.

Mr. Fleming: I have another motion.
The Chairman: Your motion concerns the report. The moment we finish 

we shall decide whether we will deal with the Windsor project or not. We 
will vote first on the amendment and then on the motion and after that, my 
ruling is that the committee goes into camera for whatever other work there is 
because we have finished the evidence here.

Mr. Fleming: Excuse me, Mr. Chairman, my motion is not t,o be made in 
camera is it?

The Chairman : Well then I would have to see it in advance before it is 
given to the committee because we have finished a stage of proceedings. The
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questioning and the evidence is finished. We are now entering on part of our 
report where we have to deal with the report itself. It is a rule of committees 
when that moment comes they go into camera.

Mr. Fleming: I will just tell the committee what it is.
The Chairman : I object to that, as chairman, because I have made a ruling 

that we are going into camera after this vote. If there is to be any motion I, as 
chairman, should have it to decide whether or not it shall go before the whole 
committee.

Mr. Fleming: All I am asking is that you do not rule in advance, now, 
and that we not go into camera immediately after these two motions are 
disposed. Will you let me put my motion and then you can rule?

The Chairman : Just a moment, I have this in mind. The moment the 
evidence is finished and the witnesses are gone the meeting goes into camera.

Mr. Fleming: No, no.
The Chairman : That is my ruling and I will ask whether the members of 

the committee approve.
Mr. Fleming: You mean that we are to exclude the reporter before we 

vote on these motions?
The Chairman: I say that we will vote on these two motions and then 

we will go into camera because the evidence is finished. We are starting our 
work in reviewing the evidence, to prepare a report, and then will be the 
moment to receive any motions that should go in the report.

Mr. Cote: That is unless the main motion is carried.
The Chairman : Yes, if the main motion is carried we have more witnesses 

to come but, my ruling is made and Mr. Fleming appeals from my ruling.
Mr. Fleming: No, no.
Mr. Murphy : Then may I move an amendment to the amendment?
The Chairman: Are there amendments to amendments?
Mr. Murphy: That the steering committee be instructed to submit to the 

committee, as soon as possible, a draft report on the present enquiry and to 
include therein a recommendation that a royal commission be appointed to 
investigate all aspects of the administration under the Veterans’ Land Act.

The Chairman : That is a motion that does not go in at this moment at all. 
We have finished our work. That is an attempt to get around the difficulty I 
knew was coming but I have ruled that the evidence is finished. Now, if this 
amendment does not carry, and if the motion carries about Windsor, the 
evidence part of our work is not finished and it starts all over again.

I will put the question in the meantime.
Mr. Cote: Do I understand that the sub-amendment is out of order?
The Chairman : The sub-amendment is out of order.
Mr. Fleming: On what grounds?
The Chairman: On the ground that it comes at a moment w'hen it is not 

appropriate. It does not come at the right moment but it will be all right, when 
the committee is in camera, to make that proposal. It will be studied by the 
committee, by the steering committee, and the steering committee will then 
report on it and we can vote for or against it in the main committee.

Mr. Fleming: I just want to make this one point. I do not want to 
misunderstand your ruling. Mr. Cleaver's motion is that a report be drafted.

Mr. Cleaver: The said amendment is an indication to the committee as 
to what part of our report should be.

Mr. Fleming: I just want to make two comments because we do not want 
to spend too much time on this and we want to get it disposed of. There are
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two grounds on which I submit Mr. Murphy’s sub-amendment is in order; 
the first one is that it is in peri materia in sum and substance exactly ; the 
second thing is this, that a similar motion exactly on all fours with this one was 
passed some meetings ago in connection with instructions by the committee to 
the steering committee when preparing its report on the administration of the 
property of Japanese.

The Chairman : That does not create a precedent at all.
Mr. Cote: If I might just interject a word, and the amendment to the 

amendment suggests that this committee should instruct the steering committee 
to act in a certain way, to make a certain recommendation in its final report. 
Any motion in committee here is debatable. If we were to go on and discuss 
the sub-amendment moved by Mr. Murphy we would open the door wide to a 
discussion of recommendations by this committee and at this stage that, I 
submit, would be irregular, because a committee always discusses recommenda­
tions in camera. That is the second stage of our work which comes after the 
taking of evidence is completed.

The Chairman : Now, on the sub-amendment presented by Mr. Murphy, 
as I see it, it is out of order for these reasons: first, it assumes that the amend­
ment is carried and on that ground it would be untimely. Second, it is in itself 
a direction to the subcommittee as to what it should include in its report, and 
as Mr. Cote has pointed out that is a matter which has to be dealt with 
when we are in camera discussing our report.

Some Hon. Members : Question.
The Chairman: I will read the motion and the amendment.
The question is on the amendment.
Amendment carried.
Motion as amended carried.
I declare the amendment carried and the committee will proceed in camera.

At 6.10 o’clock p.m. the Committee adjourned until 8 o’clock p.m. this day.




















